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About BrokerCheck®

BrokerCheck offers information on all current, and many former, registered securities brokers, and all current and former
registered securities firms. FINRA strongly encourages investors to use BrokerCheck to check the background of
securities brokers and brokerage firms before deciding to conduct, or continue to conduct, business with them.

· What is included in a BrokerCheck report?

· BrokerCheck reports for individual brokers include information such as employment history, professional
qualifications, disciplinary actions, criminal convictions, civil judgments and arbitration awards. BrokerCheck
reports for brokerage firms include information on a firm’s profile, history, and operations, as well as many of the
same disclosure events mentioned above.

· Please note that the information contained in a BrokerCheck report may include pending actions or
allegations that may be contested, unresolved or unproven. In the end, these actions or allegations may be
resolved in favor of the broker or brokerage firm, or concluded through a negotiated settlement with no
admission or finding of wrongdoing.

· Where did this information come from?

· The information contained in BrokerCheck comes from FINRA’s Central Registration Depository, or
CRD® and is a combination of:

 o information FINRA and/or the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) require brokers and
brokerage firms to submit as part of the registration and licensing process, and

 o information that regulators report regarding disciplinary actions or allegations against firms or brokers.

· How current is this information?

· Generally, active brokerage firms and brokers are required to update their professional and disciplinary
information in CRD within 30 days. Under most circumstances, information reported by brokerage firms, brokers
and regulators is available in BrokerCheck the next business day.

· What if I want to check the background of an investment adviser firm or investment adviser
representative?

· To check the background of an investment adviser firm or representative, you can search for the firm or
individual in BrokerCheck. If your search is successful, click on the link provided to view the available licensing
and registration information in the SEC's Investment Adviser Public Disclosure (IAPD) website at
https://www.adviserinfo.sec.gov. In the alternative, you may search the IAPD website directly or contact your
state securities regulator at http://www.finra.org/Investors/ToolsCalculators/BrokerCheck/P455414.

· Are there other resources I can use to check the background of investment professionals?

· FINRA recommends that you learn as much as possible about an investment professional before
deciding to work with them. Your state securities regulator can help you research brokers and investment adviser
representatives doing business in your state.

·
Thank you for using FINRA BrokerCheck.
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MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER
& SMITH INCORPORATED

CRD# 7691

SEC# 8-7221

Main Office Location

ONE BRYANT PARK
NEW YORK, NY  10036
Regulated by FINRA New York Office

Mailing Address

100 N TRYON ST
NC1-007-14-30
CHARLOTTE, NC  28255

This firm is a brokerage firm and an investment
adviser firm.  For more information about
investment adviser firms, visit the SEC's
Investment Adviser Public Disclosure website at:

Business Telephone Number

800-637-7455

https://www.adviserinfo.sec.gov

Report Summary for this Firm

This report summary provides an overview of the brokerage firm. Additional information for this firm can be found
in the detailed report.

Disclosure Events

Brokerage firms are required to disclose certain
criminal matters, regulatory actions, civil judicial
proceedings and financial matters in which the firm or
one of its control affiliates has been involved.

Are there events disclosed about this firm? Yes

The number of disclosures from non-registered
control affiliates is 173

The following types of disclosures have been
reported:

Type Count

Regulatory Event 595

Civil Event 5

Arbitration 874

Firm Profile

This firm is classified as a corporation.

This firm was formed in Delaware on 11/10/1958.

Its fiscal year ends in December.

Firm History

Information relating to the brokerage firm's history
such as other business names and successions
(e.g., mergers, acquisitions) can be found in the
detailed report.

Firm Operations

Is this brokerage firm currently suspended with any
regulator? No

This firm conducts 21 types of businesses.

This firm is affiliated with financial or investment
institutions.

This firm has referral or financial arrangements with
other brokers or dealers.

This firm is registered with:

•    the SEC
•    9 Self-Regulatory Organizations
•    53 U.S. states and territories

www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance
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This firm is classified as a corporation.

This firm was formed in Delaware on 11/10/1958.

CRD#

This section provides the brokerage firm's full legal name, "Doing Business As" name, business and mailing
addresses, telephone number, and any alternate name by which the firm conducts business and where such name is
used.

Firm Profile

Firm Names and Locations

Its fiscal year ends in December.

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

SEC#

7691

8-7221

Main Office Location

Mailing Address

Business Telephone Number

Doing business as MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

800-637-7455

Regulated by FINRA New York Office

ONE BRYANT PARK
NEW YORK, NY  10036

100 N TRYON ST
NC1-007-14-30
CHARLOTTE, NC  28255
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This section provides information relating to all direct owners and executive officers of the brokerage firm.

Direct Owners and Executive Officers

Firm Profile

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Is this a public reporting
company?

Position Start Date

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

BAC NORTH AMERICA HOLDING COMPANY

SHAREHOLDER

75% or more

No

Domestic Entity

01/2015

Yes

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Is this a public reporting
company?

Position Start Date

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

ALAM, SYED FARUQE

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Less than 5%

No

Individual

09/2019

No

2394838

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Position Start Date

FAHMY, NANCY MONIR

DIRECTOR

Less than 5%

Individual

01/2024

2689751

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):
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Direct Owners and Executive Officers (continued)

Firm Profile

Percentage of Ownership

Is this a public reporting
company?

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

Less than 5%

No

Yes

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Is this a public reporting
company?

Position Start Date

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

GUARDINO, JOSEPH ANTHONY JR

CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER & FINOP

Less than 5%

No

Individual

04/2015

No

2907957

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Is this a public reporting
company?

Position Start Date

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

HANS, LINDSAY DENARDO

STATE DESIGNATED PRINCIPAL & DIRECTOR

Less than 5%

No

Individual

01/2019

Yes

4429443

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):

HEATON, DAVID CARLETON JR

5972432

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):
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Direct Owners and Executive Officers (continued)

Firm Profile

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Is this a public reporting
company?

Position Start Date

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER

Less than 5%

No

Individual

05/2019

No

5972432

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Is this a public reporting
company?

Position Start Date

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

KARAM, MICHAEL RICHARD

CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Less than 5%

No

Individual

01/2024

No

5845148

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Position Start Date

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

LEVINE, ARON DANIEL

DIRECTOR

Less than 5%

Individual

05/2019

Yes

4715408

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):
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Direct Owners and Executive Officers (continued)

Firm Profile

Is this a public reporting
company?

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

No

Yes

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Is this a public reporting
company?

Position Start Date

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

SABBIA, LORNA ROSE

DIRECTOR

Less than 5%

No

Individual

05/2019

Yes

1873495

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):

Position

Percentage of Ownership

Is this a public reporting
company?

Position Start Date

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

SCHIMPF, ERIC A

DIRECTOR & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, STATE DESIGNATED PRINCIPAL

Less than 5%

No

Individual

04/2023

Yes

2494318

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):
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This section provides information relating to any indirect owners of the brokerage firm.

Indirect Owners

Firm Profile

BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

SHAREHOLDER

NB HOLDINGS CORPORATION

75% or more

Yes

Domestic Entity

10/1998

Yes

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Company through which
indirect ownership is
established

Relationship to Direct Owner

Relationship Established

Percentage of Ownership

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

Is this a public reporting
company?

NB HOLDINGS CORPORATION

SHAREHOLDER

BAC NORTH AMERICA HOLDING COMPANY

75% or more

No

Domestic Entity

10/2008

Yes

Legal Name & CRD# (if any):

Is this a domestic or foreign
entity or an individual?

Company through which
indirect ownership is
established

Relationship to Direct Owner

Relationship Established

Percentage of Ownership

Does this owner direct the
management or policies of
the firm?

Is this a public reporting
company?
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Firm History

This section provides information relating to any successions (e.g., mergers, acquisitions) involving the firm.

No information reported.
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Firm Operations

Registrations
This section provides information about the regulators (Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), self-regulatory
organizations (SROs), and U.S. states and territories) with which the brokerage firm is currently registered and
licensed, the date the license became effective, and certain information about the firm's SEC registration.

This firm is currently registered with the SEC, 9 SROs and 53 U.S. states and territories.

SEC Registration Questions

This firm is registered with the SEC as:

A broker-dealer:

A broker-dealer and government securities broker or dealer:

A government securities broker or dealer only:

This firm has ceased activity as a government securities broker or dealer:

Yes

Yes

No

No

Federal Regulator Status Date Effective

SEC Approved 03/12/1959

Self-Regulatory Organization Status Date Effective

FINRA Approved 01/26/1937

Cboe BYX Exchange, Inc. Approved 10/04/2010

Cboe BZX Exchange, Inc. Approved 08/18/2008

Cboe EDGA Exchange, Inc. Termination Requested 06/14/2019

Cboe EDGX Exchange, Inc. Termination Requested 06/14/2019

Cboe Exchange, Inc. Approved 06/17/1981

Investors' Exchange LLC Termination Requested 06/27/2019

Nasdaq Stock Market Approved 07/12/2006

New York Stock Exchange Approved 11/17/1982
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Firm Operations

Registrations (continued)

U.S. States &
Territories

Status Date Effective

Alabama Approved 10/24/1981

Alaska Approved 03/24/1960

Arizona Approved 06/16/1962

Arkansas Approved 08/12/1941

California Approved 01/01/1970

Colorado Approved 02/01/1983

Connecticut Approved 03/11/1940

Delaware Approved 10/06/1981

District of Columbia Approved 02/26/1965

Florida Approved 04/27/1983

Georgia Approved 09/21/1981

Hawaii Approved 01/12/1959

Idaho Approved 01/01/1967

Illinois Approved 01/12/1959

Indiana Approved 10/20/1981

Iowa Approved 07/14/1983

Kansas Approved 01/17/1974

Kentucky Approved 07/16/1982

Louisiana Approved 04/20/1983

Maine Approved 02/13/1984

Maryland Approved 10/03/1981

Massachusetts Approved 07/31/1981

Michigan Approved 02/02/1983

Minnesota Approved 07/15/1982

Mississippi Approved 10/14/1981

Missouri Approved 07/18/1983

Montana Approved 04/20/1983

Nebraska Approved 10/08/1981

Nevada Approved 07/18/1983

New Hampshire Approved 02/02/1983

New Jersey Approved 07/13/1983

New Mexico Approved 10/07/1981

New York Approved 01/02/1985

U.S. States &
Territories

Status Date Effective

North Carolina Approved 07/15/1982

North Dakota Approved 10/21/1981

Ohio Approved 07/16/1982

Oklahoma Approved 07/17/1982

Oregon Approved 10/24/1981

Pennsylvania Approved 01/12/1959

Puerto Rico Approved 09/01/1984

Rhode Island Approved 02/01/1983

South Carolina Approved 10/28/1981

South Dakota Approved 07/15/1982

Tennessee Approved 08/17/1981

Texas Approved 06/28/1983

Utah Approved 04/21/1983

Vermont Approved 02/13/1984

Virgin Islands Approved 04/11/2005

Virginia Approved 09/22/1981

Washington Approved 04/20/1983

West Virginia Approved 09/30/1981

Wisconsin Approved 05/27/1920

Wyoming Approved 05/22/1965
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Firm Operations

Types of Business
This section provides the types of business, including non-securities business, the brokerage firm is engaged in or
expects to be engaged in.

Other Types of Business

This firm currently conducts 21 types of businesses.

Types of Business

Exchange member engaged in exchange commission business other than floor activities

Broker or dealer making inter-dealer markets in corporation securities over-the-counter

Broker or dealer retailing corporate equity securities over-the-counter

Broker or dealer selling corporate debt securities

Underwriter or selling group participant (corporate securities other than mutual funds)

Mutual fund retailer

U S. government securities dealer

U S. government securities broker

Municipal securities dealer

Municipal securities broker

Broker or dealer selling variable life insurance or annuities

Solicitor of time deposits in a financial institution

Put and call broker or dealer or option writer

Broker or dealer selling securities of non-profit organizations (e.g., churches, hospitals)

Investment advisory services

Trading securities for own account

Private placements of securities

Broker or dealer selling interests in mortgages or other receivables

Broker or dealer involved in a networking, kiosk or similar arrangment with a: bank, savings bank or association, or
credit union

Broker or dealer involved in a networking, kiosk or similar arrangment with a: insurance company or agency

Other - THE APPLICANT ENGAGES IN OTHER SECURITIES & NONSECURITIES BUSINESS THAT ARE NOT
LISTED IN ITEM 12, INCLUDING: TRANSACTING IN COMMERCIAL PAPER, OTHER SHORT TERM
INSTRUMENTS, EXEMPTED SECURITES & PRECIOUS METALS; OFFERING FINANCIAL PLANNING TOOLS;
ENGAGING IN TRANSACTIONS, SUCH AS REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS, REVERSE REPURCHASE
AGREEMENTS; AND ENGAGING IN FINANCIAL ADVISORY SERVICES & CLEARING SERVICES.

11©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User GuidanceOther Types of Business

This firm does effect transactions in commodities, commodity futures, or commodity options.
This firm does engage in other non-securities business.

Non-Securities Business Description: THE APPLICANT ENGAGES IN OTHER NONSECURITIES BUSINESS THAT
ARE NOT LISTED IN ITEM 13, INCLUDING: TRANSACTING IN SHORT
TERM INSTRUMENTS & PRECIOUS METALS; OFFERING FINANCIAL
PLANNING TOOLS; MARGIN LENDING ON SECURITIES; AND FINANCIAL
ADVISORY SERVICES.

12©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Firm Operations

Clearing Arrangements

This firm does hold or maintain funds or securities or provide clearing services for other broker-dealer(s).

Introducing Arrangements

This firm does refer or introduce customers to other brokers and dealers.

Name: BOFA SECURITIES, INC.

Business Address: ONE BRYANT PARK
NEW YORK, NY  10036

CRD #: 283942

Effective Date: 05/13/2019

Description: AS A RESULT OF THE BROKER-DEALER SEPARATION PROJECT
DETAILED TO FINRA IN BOFA SECURITIES, INC.'S FORM NMA APPROVED
12/22/2017 (FILING ID 1205963) AND THE APPLICANT'S FORM CMA
APPROVED ON 9/28/2018 (FILING ID 1339941), THE APPLICANT IS
ENTERING INTO VARIOUS AGREEMENT WITH BOFA SECURITIES, INC.
ADDRESSING THE MATTERS OUTLINED IN ITEMS 7.
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Firm Operations

Industry Arrangements

This firm does have books or records maintained by a third party.

Name: 4U PLATFORM, LLC

Business Address: 613 TALCOTT AVE.
LEMONT, IL  60439

Effective Date: 05/01/2020

Description: THE FIRM HAS ENTERED INTO AN ARRANGEMENT WITH 4U TO KEEP OR
MAINTAIN CERTAIN MARKETING RECORDS.

Name: SAP AMERICA INC.

Business Address: 601 108TH AVE NE, SUITE 1000
BELLEVUE, WA  98004

Effective Date: 11/21/2016

Description: THE FIRM HAS ENTERED INTO AN ARRANGEMENT WITH SAP TO KEEP
OR MAINTAIN CERTAIN EXPENSE RECORDS.

Name: RR DONNELLEY

Business Address: 35 WEST WACKER DRIVE
STE. 3600
CHICAGO, IL  60601

Effective Date: 03/01/2022

Description: THE FIRM HAS ENTERED INTO AN ARRANGEMENT WITH RR DONNELLY
TO MAINTAIN CERTAIN INSTITUTIONAL RETIREMENT CLIENT EMPLOYEE
COMMUNICATION RECORDS.

Name: PROOFPOINT, INC.

Business Address: 592 ROSS DRIVE
SUNNYVALE, CA  94089

Effective Date: 08/01/2020

Description: THE FIRM HAS ENTERED INTO AN ARRANGEMENT WITH PROOFPOINT,
INC. TO KEEP OR MAINTAIN DOCUMENTATION RELATING TO
ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS RECORDS.

Name: REGED, INC.

Business Address: 2100 GATEWAY CENTER BLVD.
SUITE 200
MORRISVILLE, NC  27560
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Firm Operations

Industry Arrangements (continued)

Effective Date: 07/28/2019

Description: DOCUMENTATION RELATING TO THE REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF
MARKETING AND ADVERTISING COMMUNICATIONS.

Name: ORANGE LOGIC, INC.

Business Address: 19100 VON KARMAN AVE.
SUITE 900
IRVINE, CA  92612

Effective Date: 12/31/2018

Description: THE FIRM HAS ENTERED INTO AN ARRANGEMENT WITH ORANGE
LOGIC TO PROVIDE A DIGITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT SYSTEM THAT
SERVES AS A REPOSITORY FOR VARIOUS MARKETING MATERIALS
INCLUDING TEMPLATES AND ARTWORK.

Name: GENPACT, INC. (F/K/A RAGE FRAMEWORKS, INC.)

Business Address: 3 ALLIED DRIVE
SUITE 230
DEDHAM, MA  02026

Effective Date: 04/01/2015

Description: THE FIRM HAS ENTERED INTO AN ARRANGEMENT WITH GENPACT, INC.
(F/K/A RAGE FRAMEWORKS, INC.) TO KEEP OR MAINTAIN CLIENT
PERFORMANCE REPORTS.

Name: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Business Address: 100 N. TRYON ST, SUITE 170
CHARLOTTE, NC  28255

Effective Date: 01/01/2009

Description: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION PROVIDES OPERATIONAL
FACILITIES AND SUPPORT, DATA PROCESSING AND RECORD-KEEPING
FUNCTIONS FOR APPLICANT.

Name: IRON MOUNTAIN (RECALL)

Business Address: 1501 HOOD BLVD.
JACKSONVILLE, FL  32254

Effective Date: 06/01/2012

Description: POSITION RECORDS:  MISSING, LOST, STOLEN, OR COUNTERFEIT
SECURITIES REPORTS.

Name: IRON MOUNTAIN (RECALL)

Business Address: 2500 HENDERSON DR
SHARON HILL, PA  19079
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Firm Operations

Industry Arrangements (continued)

This firm does not have accounts, funds, or securities maintained by a third party.

This firm does not have customer accounts, funds, or securities maintained by a third party.

This firm does not have individuals who control its management or policies through agreement.

This firm does not have individuals who wholly or partly finance the firm's business.

Control Persons/Financing

Business Address: 2500 HENDERSON DR
SHARON HILL, PA  19079

Effective Date: 06/01/2012

Description: POSITION RECORDS:  MISSING, LOST, STOLEN, OR COUNTERFEIT
SECURITIES REPORTS.

Name: SMARSH INC.

Business Address: 851 SW 6TH AVE., SUITE 800
PORTLAND, OR  97204

Effective Date: 01/02/2012

Description: COMMUNICATIONS:  ELECTRONIC CORRESPONDENCE BOTH SENT AND
RECEIVED; AND  ALTERNATIVE TRADING SYSTEM RECORDS:  NOTICES
PROVIDED TO ATS CUSTOMERS

Name: BROADRIDGE FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, INC.

Business Address: 5 DAKOTA DRIVE, SUITE 300
LAKE SUCCESS, NY  11042

Effective Date: 05/08/2015

Description: ACCOUNT RECORDS -- CONFIRMS OF PURCHASE AND SALE OF
SECURITIES
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates
This section provides information on control relationships the firm has with other firms in the securities, investment
advisory, or banking business.

This firm is, directly or indirectly:

· in control of
· controlled by
· or under common control with
the following partnerships, corporations, or other organizations engaged in the securities or investment
advisory business.

No

Yes

No

12/08/2021

ONE BRYANT PARK
NEW YORK, NY  10036

316331

BOFA SECURITIES PRIME, INC. is under common control with the firm.

AFFILIATE UNDER COMMON CONTROL, ESTABLISHED IN CONNECTION
WITH PRIME BROKER-RELATED SERVICES

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

CRD #:

Yes

Yes

FRANCE

Yes

11/12/2018

112 AVENUE KLEBER
PARIS, FRANCE  75116

BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE SA is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

BOFA SECURITIES, INC. is under common control with the firm.
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

Yes

Yes

No

01/23/2018

ONE BRYANT PARK
NEW YORK, NY  10036

283942

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

CRD #:

No

Yes

SINGAPORE

Yes

02/02/2015

50 COLLYER QUAY
#14-01 OUE BAYFRONT
SINGAPORE, SINGAPORE  049321

MERRILL LYNCH MARKETS SINGAPORE PTE. LTD. is under common control with the firm.

MERRILL LYNCH MARKETS SINGAPORE PTE. LTD. IS A SUBSIDIARY OF
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

Yes

Yes

LUXEMBOURG

Yes

07/29/2010

ATRIUM BUSINESS PARK
33 RUE DU PUITS ROMAIN
BERTRANGE, LUXEMBOURG  L-8070

MERRILL LYNCH EQUITY S.A.R.L. is under common control with the firm.

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

Yes

MERRILL LYNCH EQUITY S.A.R.L. IS A SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

No

Yes

SAUDI ARABIA

Yes

01/15/2011

KINGDOM TOWER
20TH FLOOR
RIYADH, KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA  11623

MERRILL LYNCH, KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA COMPANY is under common control with the firm.

MERRILL LYNCH, KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA COMPANY IS A SUBSIDIARY
OF BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

CAYMAN ISLANDS

Yes

12/01/2014

HARBOUR CENTRE, 4TH FLOOR
NORTH CHURCH STREET, PO BOX 1164 GT
GEORGE TOWN, CAYMAN ISLANDS  KY1-1102

MERRILL LYNCH BANK AND TRUST (CAYMAN) LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

MERRILL LYNCH BANK AND TRUST (CAYMAN) LIMITED IS A SUBSIDIARY OF
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

08/01/2013

20TH FL, UNIT 4, C.R.C. TOWER, ALL SEASONS PLACE
87/2 WIRELESS ROAD, LUMPINI, PATUMWAN
BANGKOK, THAILAND  10330

MERRILL LYNCH SECURITIES (THAILAND) LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

No

Yes

THAILAND

Yes

08/01/2013

MERRILL LYNCH SECURITIES (THAILAND) IS A SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

No

Yes

AUSTRALIA

Yes

01/22/2013

LEVEL 34, GOVERNOR PHILLIP TOWER
1 FARRER PLACE
SYDNEY, NSW, AUSTRALIA  2000

MERRILL LYNCH MARKETS (AUSTRALIA) PTY. LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY-OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, APPLICANT'S PARENT COMPANY.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

AUSTRALIA

Yes

04/23/1971

LEVEL 34, GOVERNOR PHILLIP TOWER
1 FARRER PLACE
SYDNEY, NSW, AUSTRALIA  2000

MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) PTY LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

No

Yes

IRELAND

Yes

01/01/2009

2 PARK PLACE
HATCH STREET
DUBLIN, IRELAND  2

BANK OF AMERICA CUSTODIAL SERVICES (IRELAND) LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

BANK OF AMERICA CUSTODIAL SERVICES (IRELAND) LIMITED IS A
SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT
COMPANY.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

Yes

Yes

No

01/01/2009

100 NORTH TRYON ST
SUITE 170
CHARLOTTE, NC  28202

BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION is under common control with the firm.

BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION IS A SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

SINGAPORE

Yes

01/01/2009

50 COLLYER QUAY
#14-01 OUE BAYFRONT
SINGAPORE, SINGAPORE  049321

BANK OF AMERICA SINGAPORE LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

No

Yes

SINGAPORE

BANK OF AMERICA SINGAPORE LIMITED IS A SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

No

Yes

MEXICO

Yes

11/01/2010

PASEO DE LA REFORMA 115-19
COL. LOMAS DE CHAPULTEPEC, C.P.
MEXICO CITY, MEXICO  11000

BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO, S.A., INSTITUCION DE BANCA MULTIPLE is under common control with the
firm.

BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO S.A., INSTITUCION DE BANCA MULTIPLE,
GRUPO FINANCIERO BANK OF AMERICA IS A SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

Yes

Yes

HONG KONG

Yes

01/01/2009

52/F CHEUNG KONG CENTER
2 QUEEN'S ROAD CENTRAL
HONG KONG, HONG KONG

BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES ASIA LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

BANC OF AMERICA ASIA LIMITED IS A SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

Yes

Yes

ARGENTINA

Yes

08/10/1971

TUCUMAN 1
PISO 4
BUENOS AIRES, ARGENTINA  1049

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH DE ARGENTINA SOCIEDAD ANONIMA, FINANCIERA,
MOBILIARIA Y DE MANDATOS is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

No

06/18/1976

250 VESEY STREET
NEW YORK, NY  10281

MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL LLC is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

No

10/07/1974

ONE BRYANT PARK
NEW YORK, NY  10036

MERRILL LYNCH VALUATIONS LLC is under common control with the firm.

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

No

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

No

Yes

BRAZIL

Yes

12/31/2004

AV. BIGADEIRO FARIA LIMA 3400 - 16TH FLOOR
ITAIM BIBI
SAO PAULO, BRAZIL  04538-132

MERRILL LYNCH S.A. CORRETORA DE TITULOS E VALORES MOBILIAROS is under common control with the
firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

TURKEY

Yes

01/27/2006

KANYON OFIS, KAT: 11 BUYUKDERE CAD.
NO: 185 34394 LEVENT
ISTANBUL, TURKEY

BANK OF AMERICA YATIRIM BANK AS is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

01/09/2007

7 PETROVKA STREET
MOSCOW, RUSSIA  107031

OOO MERRILL LYNCH SECURITIES is under common control with the firm.

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

No

Yes

RUSSIA

Yes

01/09/2007

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

No

Yes

AUSTRALIA

Yes

10/27/1988

LEVEL 34, GOVERNOR PHILLIP TOWER
1 FARRER PLACE
SYDNEY, NSW, AUSTRALIA  2000

MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) FUTURES LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

AUSTRALIA

Yes

01/20/1997

LEVEL 34, GOVERNOR PHILLIP TOWER
1 FARRER PLACE
SYDNEY, NSW, AUSTRALIA  2000

MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

No

Yes

SINGAPORE

Yes

01/11/1995

50 COLLYER QUAY
#14-01 OUE BAYFRONT
SINGAPORE, SINGAPORE  049321

MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD. is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

Yes

Yes

TAIWAN

Yes

09/01/2008

9F & 17F (PART)
207 TUN HWA SOUTH ROAD, SECTION 2
TAIPEI, TAIWAN

MERRILL LYNCH SECURITIES (TAIWAN) LTD. is controlled by the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

Yes

CHILE

Yes

07/18/2008

APOQUINDO 3500
PISO 9, LAS CONDES
SANTIAGO, CHILE

MERRILL LYNCH CORREDORES DE BOLSA SPA is under common control with the firm.

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

No

Yes

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Yes

No

No

02/27/2007

101 HUDSON STREET
9TH FLOOR
JERSEY CITY, NJ  07302

142558

MANAGED ACCOUNT ADVISORS LLC is controlled by the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

CRD #:

Yes

Yes

INDIA

Yes

10/23/1975

GROUND FLOOR, A WING, ONE BKC
G BLOCK, BANDRA KURLA COMPLEX, BANDRA (EAST)
MUMBAI, INDIA  400 051

BOFA SECURITIES INDIA LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

55/F CHEUNG KONG CENTER
2 QUEEN'S ROAD CENTRAL
HONG KONG, HONG KONG

MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

Yes

Yes

HONG KONG

Yes

12/19/1972

55/F CHEUNG KONG CENTER
2 QUEEN'S ROAD CENTRAL
HONG KONG, HONG KONG

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

SPAIN

Yes

06/13/1996

CALLE MARQUES DE VILLAMAGNA, 3
TORRE SERRANO, PLANTA 8
MADRID, SPAIN  28001

MERRILL LYNCH CAPITAL MARKETS ESPANA, S.A., S.V. is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

INDONESIA

Yes

12/05/1994

INDONESIA STOCK EXCHANGE BUILDING, 18/F
JI. JEND. SUDIRMAN KAV. 52-53
JAKARTA, INDONESIA  12190

PT MERRILL LYNCH SEKURITAS INDONESIA is under common control with the firm.

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)
No

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

No

Yes

SOUTH AFRICA

Yes

02/28/1995

138 WEST STREET
SANDOWN
SANDTON, SOUTH AFRICA  2196

MERRILL LYNCH SOUTH AFRICA PROPRIETARY LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

MEXICO

Yes

01/09/1995

PASEO DE LA REFORMA NO.115-19
COL. LOMAS DE CHAPULTEPEC
MÉXICO CITY, MEXICO  11000

MERRILL LYNCH MEXICO, S.A. DE C.V., CASA DE BOLSA is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

02/21/1995

TWO PARK PLACE
HATCH STREET
DUBLIN, IRELAND  2

BANK OF AMERICA EUROPE DAC is under common control with the firm.

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

No

Yes

IRELAND

Yes

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Yes

Yes

HONG KONG

Yes

01/16/1987

55/F CHEUNG KONG CENTER
2 QUEEN'S ROAD CENTRAL
HONG KONG, HONG KONG

MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LTD. is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

ARGENTINA

Yes

02/17/1995

DELLA PAOLERA 265
PISO 11
BUENOS AIRES, ARGENTINA

MERRILL LYNCH ARGENTINA S.A. is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

Yes

No

UNITED KINGDOM

Yes

09/16/1960

2 KING EDWARD STREET
LONDON, UNITED KINGDOM  EC1A 1HQ

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH LIMITED is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

JAPAN

Yes

02/26/1998

NIHONBASHI 1 - CHOME MITSUI BLDG
NIHONBASHI CHUO-KU
TOKYO, JAPAN  203-8230

BOFA SECURITIES JAPAN CO., LTD. is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

Yes

No

AUSTRALIA

Yes

01/12/1985

LEVEL 34, GOVERNOR PHILLIP TOWER
1 FARRER PLACE
SYDNEY, NSW, AUSTRALIA  2000

MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL (AUSTRALIA) LTD is under common control with the firm.

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

Yes

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

No

Yes

UNITED KINGDOM

Yes

11/02/1988

2 KING EDWARD STREET
LONDON, UNITED KINGDOM  EC1A 1HQ

MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

No

Yes

CANADA

Yes

08/26/1998

BROOKFIELD PLACE
181 BAY STREET, SUITE 400
TORONTO, ON, CANADA  M5J 2V8

MERRILL LYNCH CANADA INC. is under common control with the firm.

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

Business Address:

07/04/1997

AV. BIGADEIRO FARIA LIMA 3400 - 18TH FLOOR
ITAIM BIBI
SAO PAULO, BRAZIL  04538-132

BANK OF AMERICA MERRILL LYNCH BANCO MULTIPLO S.A. is under common control with the firm.

Effective Date:

Business Address:
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

No

Yes

BRAZIL

Yes

07/04/1997

WHOLLY/MAJORITY OWNED INDIRECT SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ULTIMATE PARENT OF APPLICANT.

Description:

Investment Advisory
Activities:

Securities Activities:

Country:

Foreign Entity:

Effective Date:

This firm is directly or indirectly, controlled by the following:

· bank holding company
· national bank
· state member bank of the Federal Reserve System
· state non-member bank
· savings bank or association
· credit union
· or foreign bank

Effective Date:

Business Address:

Description: BAC NORTH AMERICA HOLDING COMPANY IS THE PARENT COMPANY AND
SOLE SHAREHOLDER OF MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED.

BAC NORTH AMERICA HOLDING COMPANY is a Bank Holding Company and controls the firm.

01/01/2015

100 NORTH TRYON STREET
CHARLOTTE, NC  28202

Effective Date:

Business Address:

Description: NB HOLDINGS CORPORATION IS A BANK HOLDING COMPANY AND THE
SOLE SHAREHOLDER OF BAC NORTH AMERICA HOLDING COMPANY.

NB HOLDINGS CORPORATION is a Bank Holding Company and controls the firm.

10/13/2013

100 NORTH TRYON STREET
CHARLOTTE, NC  28202

Effective Date:

Business Address:

BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION is a Bank Holding Company and controls the firm.

01/01/2009

100 NORTH TRYON STREET
CHARLOTTE, NC  28022
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Firm Operations

Organization Affiliates (continued)

Effective Date:

Description: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION (56-0906609) IS A MULTI-BANK HOLDING
COMPANY REGISTERED UNDER THE BANK HOLDING COMPANY ACT OF
1956 WITH ITS PRINCIPAL ASSETS BEING THE STOCK OF THE
SUBSIDIARIES. ONE OF ITS WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES IS NB
HOLDINGS CORPORATION.

01/01/2009
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Disclosure Events

All firms registered to sell securities or provide investment advice are required to disclose regulatory actions, criminal or
civil judicial proceedings, and certain financial matters in which the firm or one of its control affiliates has been involved.
For your convenience, below is a matrix of the number and status of disclosure events involving this brokerage firm or
one of its control affiliates. Further information regarding these events can be found in the subsequent pages of this
report.

Final On AppealPending

Regulatory Event 0 595 0

Civil Event 1 4 0

Arbitration N/A 874 N/A
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Disclosure Event Details

What you should know about reported disclosure events:

1. BrokerCheck provides details for any disclosure event that was reported in CRD. It also includes
summary information regarding FINRA arbitration awards in cases where the brokerage firm was
named as a respondent.

2. Certain thresholds must be met before an event is reported to CRD, for example:
 o A law enforcement agency must file formal charges before a brokerage firm  is required to disclose a

particular criminal event.
3. Disclosure events in BrokerCheck reports come from different sources:

 o Disclosure events for this brokerage firm were reported by the firm and/or regulators. When the firm
and a regulator report information for the same event, both versions of the event will appear in the
BrokerCheck report. The different versions will be separated by a solid line with the reporting source
labeled.

4. There are different statuses and dispositions for disclosure events:
 o A disclosure event may have a status of pending, on appeal, or final.

§ A "pending" event involves allegations that have not been proven or formally adjudicated.
§ An event that is "on appeal" involves allegations that have been adjudicated but are currently

being appealed.
§ A "final" event has been concluded and its resolution is not subject to change.

 o A final event generally has a disposition of adjudicated, settled or otherwise resolved.
§ An "adjudicated" matter includes a disposition by (1) a court of law in a criminal or civil matter,

or (2) an administrative panel in an action brought by a regulator that is contested by the party
charged with some alleged wrongdoing.

§ A "settled" matter generally involves an agreement by the parties to resolve the matter.
Please note that firms may choose to settle customer disputes or regulatory matters for
business or other reasons.

§ A "resolved" matter usually involves no payment to the customer and no finding of
wrongdoing on the part of the individual broker. Such matters generally involve customer
disputes.

5. You may wish to contact the brokerage firm to obtain further information regarding any of the
disclosure events contained in this BrokerCheck report.

Regulatory - Final

This type of disclosure event involves (1) a final, formal proceeding initiated by a regulatory authority (e.g., a state
securities agency, self-regulatory organization, federal regulator such as the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission,
foreign financial regulatory body) for a violation of investment-related rules or regulations; or (2) a revocation or
suspension of the authority of a brokerage firm or its control affiliate to act as an attorney, accountant or federal
contractor.

Disclosure 1 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 ("ADVISERS ACT")
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("MERRILL") AND BAC NORTH AMERICA HOLDING CO. ("BACNAH"),
COLLECTIVELY "RESPONDENTS." THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT FROM
JANUARY 2009 TO NOVEMBER 2019, MERRILL FAILED TO FILE CERTAIN
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY REPORTS ("SARS") IN VIOLATION OF THE BROKER-
DEALER BOOKS AND RECORDS PROVISIONS OF EXCHANGE ACT SECTION
17(A) AND RULE 17A-8.  MERRILL, AS A REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER,
WAS REQUIRED TO FILE SARS ON TRANSACTIONS CONDUCTED OR
ATTEMPTED BY, AT, OR THROUGH IT INVOLVING OR AGGREGATING TO AT
LEAST $5,000 THAT IT KNEW, SUSPECTED, OR HAD REASON TO SUSPECT,
AMONG OTHER THINGS, INVOLVED THE USE OF MERRILL TO FACILITATE
CRIMINAL ACTIVITY. BACNAH, A SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION ("BAC") AND THE PARENT COMPANY OF MERRILL,
ASSUMED RESPONSIBILITY FOR CREATING AND IMPLEMENTING
MERRILL'S SAR POLICIES AND PROCEDURES AND FILING MERRILL'S SARS.
DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, HOWEVER, BACNAH'S FRAUD
INVESTIGATIONS GROUP USED A $25,000 THRESHOLD, INSTEAD OF THE
PROPER $5,000 THRESHOLD, WITH RESPECT TO TRANSACTIONS OR
ATTEMPTED TRANSACTIONS SUSPECTED OF USING MERRILL TO
FACILITATE CRIMINAL ACTIVITY WHERE THERE WAS NO SUBSTANTIAL
BASIS FOR IDENTIFYING A SUSPECT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SUSPECTED
CRIMINAL ACTIVITY ("NO-SUSPECT CRIMINAL ACTIVITY").  THE NO-
SUSPECT CRIMINAL ACTIVITY CONCERNED MERRILL CUSTOMERS WHO
WERE VICTIMS OF UNAUTHORIZED DEBIT CARD WITHDRAWALS, FORGED
OR ALTERED CHECKS, ACCOUNT INTRUSIONS, IDENTITY THEFT, AND/OR
PHONE OR INTERNET SCAMS. AS A RESULT, BACNAH FAILED TO FILE
HUNDREDS OF SARS FOR MERRILL ON SUCH ACTIVITY. AS A RESULT OF
THE WRONG THRESHOLD BEING USED FOR NO-SUSPECT CRIMINAL
ACTIVITY SARS, MERRILL FAILED TO FILE HUNDREDS OF SARS AND
THEREBY WILLFULLY VIOLATED EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 17(A) AND RULE
17A-8 THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Date Initiated: 07/11/2023

Docket/Case Number: 3-21524

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 ("ADVISERS ACT")
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("MERRILL") AND BAC NORTH AMERICA HOLDING CO. ("BACNAH"),
COLLECTIVELY "RESPONDENTS." THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT FROM
JANUARY 2009 TO NOVEMBER 2019, MERRILL FAILED TO FILE CERTAIN
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY REPORTS ("SARS") IN VIOLATION OF THE BROKER-
DEALER BOOKS AND RECORDS PROVISIONS OF EXCHANGE ACT SECTION
17(A) AND RULE 17A-8.  MERRILL, AS A REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER,
WAS REQUIRED TO FILE SARS ON TRANSACTIONS CONDUCTED OR
ATTEMPTED BY, AT, OR THROUGH IT INVOLVING OR AGGREGATING TO AT
LEAST $5,000 THAT IT KNEW, SUSPECTED, OR HAD REASON TO SUSPECT,
AMONG OTHER THINGS, INVOLVED THE USE OF MERRILL TO FACILITATE
CRIMINAL ACTIVITY. BACNAH, A SUBSIDIARY OF BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION ("BAC") AND THE PARENT COMPANY OF MERRILL,
ASSUMED RESPONSIBILITY FOR CREATING AND IMPLEMENTING
MERRILL'S SAR POLICIES AND PROCEDURES AND FILING MERRILL'S SARS.
DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, HOWEVER, BACNAH'S FRAUD
INVESTIGATIONS GROUP USED A $25,000 THRESHOLD, INSTEAD OF THE
PROPER $5,000 THRESHOLD, WITH RESPECT TO TRANSACTIONS OR
ATTEMPTED TRANSACTIONS SUSPECTED OF USING MERRILL TO
FACILITATE CRIMINAL ACTIVITY WHERE THERE WAS NO SUBSTANTIAL
BASIS FOR IDENTIFYING A SUSPECT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SUSPECTED
CRIMINAL ACTIVITY ("NO-SUSPECT CRIMINAL ACTIVITY").  THE NO-
SUSPECT CRIMINAL ACTIVITY CONCERNED MERRILL CUSTOMERS WHO
WERE VICTIMS OF UNAUTHORIZED DEBIT CARD WITHDRAWALS, FORGED
OR ALTERED CHECKS, ACCOUNT INTRUSIONS, IDENTITY THEFT, AND/OR
PHONE OR INTERNET SCAMS. AS A RESULT, BACNAH FAILED TO FILE
HUNDREDS OF SARS FOR MERRILL ON SUCH ACTIVITY. AS A RESULT OF
THE WRONG THRESHOLD BEING USED FOR NO-SUSPECT CRIMINAL
ACTIVITY SARS, MERRILL FAILED TO FILE HUNDREDS OF SARS AND
THEREBY WILLFULLY VIOLATED EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 17(A) AND RULE
17A-8 THEREUNDER.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 07/11/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING
ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE ACT
SECTION 17(A) AND RULE 17A-8 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, IS
CENSURED, AND SHALL, WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER,
PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $6,000,000 TO THE SEC
FOR TRANSFER TO THE GENERAL FUND OF THE U.S. TREASURY.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE
 "OFFERS") WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. AS A
RESULT OF THE WRONG THRESHOLD BEING USED FOR NO-SUSPECT
CRIMINAL ACTIVITY SARS, THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE HUNDREDS OF SARS
AND THEREBY WILLFULLY VIOLATED EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 17(A) AND
RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT
THE FIRM CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE ACT SECTION
17(A) AND RULE 17A-8 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER; IS CENSURED; AND
SHALL, WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $6,000,000 TO THE SEC FOR
TRANSFER TO THE GENERAL FUND OF THE U.S. TREASURY.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $6,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (SEC) ALLEGED THAT
FROM JANUARY 2009 TO NOVEMBER 2019, (1) MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPF&S) FAILED TO FILE CERTAIN
REQUIRED SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY REPORTS (SARS), IN WILLFUL
VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER, IN CONNECTION
WITH THE APPLICATION OF AN INCORRECT MONETARY THRESHOLD FOR
CERTAIN TYPES OF SAR FILINGS; AND (2) BAC NORTH AMERICA HOLDING
CO. (BACNAH) CAUSED MLPF&S'S VIOLATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/11/2023

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 3-21524

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (SEC) ALLEGED THAT
FROM JANUARY 2009 TO NOVEMBER 2019, (1) MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPF&S) FAILED TO FILE CERTAIN
REQUIRED SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY REPORTS (SARS), IN WILLFUL
VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER, IN CONNECTION
WITH THE APPLICATION OF AN INCORRECT MONETARY THRESHOLD FOR
CERTAIN TYPES OF SAR FILINGS; AND (2) BAC NORTH AMERICA HOLDING
CO. (BACNAH) CAUSED MLPF&S'S VIOLATIONS.

Resolution Date: 07/11/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPF&S AND BACNAH
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS OR ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER, MLPF&S WAS CENSURED,
AND MLPF&S AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $6,000,000. THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPF&S AND BACNAH
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS OR ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER, MLPF&S WAS CENSURED,
AND MLPF&S AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $6,000,000. THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $6,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 2 of 595

i
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Disclosure 2 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/11/2023

Docket/Case Number: 2020066667001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT APPLIED AN
INCORRECT SAR FILING THRESHOLD FOR MORE THAN A DECADE BY
INCORRECTLY APPLYING THE $25,000 MONETARY THRESHOLD
APPLICABLE TO NATIONAL BANKS RATHER THAN THE $5,000 THRESHOLD
APPLICABLE TO BROKER-DEALERS TO DETERMINE WHEN TO FILE A
CATEGORY OF SARS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM AND A BANK
MERGED, AT WHICH TIME THE BANK ASSUMED RESPONSIBILITY FOR
INVESTIGATING SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY AT THE FIRM AND FILING ANY SARS.
FOR SUSPECTED CRIMINAL ACTIVITY NOT INVOLVING INSIDER ABUSE AND
WHERE A SUSPECT COULD NOT BE IDENTIFIED, THE FIRM INCORRECTLY
APPLIED THE $25,000 THRESHOLD APPLICABLE TO NATIONAL BANKS
WHEN DETERMINING WHETHER TO FILE A SAR FOR BOTH BANK AND
BROKERAGE ACCOUNT ACTIVITY. THE PROCEDURES RELATING TO SAR
FILINGS ONLY REFERENCED THE $25,000 THRESHOLD APPLICABLE TO
NATIONAL BANKS AND DID NOT IDENTIFY THE $5,000 THRESHOLD
APPLICABLE TO BROKER-DEALERS. THE SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY THAT
WENT UNREPORTED INCLUDED UNAUTHORIZED DEBIT CARD
WITHDRAWALS, FORGED OR ALTERED CHECKS, ACCOUNT INTRUSIONS,
IDENTITY THEFT, AND PHONE OR INTERNET SCAMS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND IMPLEMENT POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO DETECT AND CAUSE THE
REPORTING OF SUSPICIOUS TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/11/2023

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $6,000,000. CONTEMPORANEOUSLY
WITH THE ISSUANCE OF THE AWC, THE FIRM IS SETTLING AN ACTION
WITH THE SEC PURSUANT TO AN ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDINGS ADDRESSING THE SAME MISCONDUCT AND IMPOSING A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $6 MILLION. IN DETERMINING SANCTIONS, FINRA
CONSIDERED THE ADDITIONAL SANCTIONS IMPOSED BY THE SEC FOR
THE SAME MISCONDUCT. FINE PAID IN FULL ON JULY 19, 2023.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $6,000,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/11/2023

Docket/Case Number: 2020066667001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY ALLEGED THAT
BETWEEN JANUARY 2009 AND NOVEMBER 2019, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH (MLPF&S) FAILED TO FILE CERTAIN SUSPICIOUS
ACTIVITY REPORTS (SARS) DUE TO THE APPLICATION OF AN INCORRECT
MONETARY THRESHOLD FOR REPORTING AND FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
IMPLEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
DETECT AND CAUSE THE REPORTING OF SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY AS
REQUIRED BY 31 CFR § 1023.320(A)(2), IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE
3011(A) AND FINRA RULES 3310(A) AND 2010.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 07/11/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPF&S AGREED TO
THE IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE AND A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$6,000,000. THE FINE WILL BE PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE AWC.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPF&S AGREED TO
THE IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE AND A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$6,000,000. THE FINE WILL BE PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $6,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 3 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF STATE BUREAU OF
SECURITIES REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/02/2023

Docket/Case Number: I-2022000023

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF STATE BUREAU OF
SECURITIES REGULATION (NHBSR) ALLEGED THAT CERTAIN
REPRESENTATIVES OF MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH (THE
FIRM) WHO WERE ENROLLED IN THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL ADVISOR
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM AS TRAINEES DID NOT PROPERLY EMPLOY
FIRM-PROVIDED TECHNOLOGY TO PRE-SCREEN POTENTIAL UNSOLICITED
TELEMARKETING CALLS AND/OR DID NOT COMPLY WITH SCREENING
RESULTS THAT IDENTIFIED PROHIBITED NUMBERS ON THE NATIONAL DO
NOT CALL REGISTRY OR THE FIRM'S INTERNAL DO NOT CALL LIST
THEREBY RESULTING VIOLATIONS OF CERTAIN FINRA RULES, IN
VIOLATION OF NEW HAMPSHIRE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED (N.H.
RSA) 421-B:4-406(K).

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 05/02/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COSTS OF INVESTIGATION

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO:
(A) CEASE AND DESIST FROM  FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF N.H. RSA 421-B:4-
406(K) THROUGH FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS REGISTERED
AGENTS PERTAINING TO TELEMARKETING PRACTICES, (B) PAY A FINE IN
THE AMOUNT OF $650,000, AND (C) PAY THE NHBSR'S COSTS OF
INVESTIGATION IN THE AMOUNT OF $50,000. THE FINE AND COSTS OF
INVESTIGATION WILL BE PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE
ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO:
(A) CEASE AND DESIST FROM  FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF N.H. RSA 421-B:4-
406(K) THROUGH FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS REGISTERED
AGENTS PERTAINING TO TELEMARKETING PRACTICES, (B) PAY A FINE IN
THE AMOUNT OF $650,000, AND (C) PAY THE NHBSR'S COSTS OF
INVESTIGATION IN THE AMOUNT OF $50,000. THE FINE AND COSTS OF
INVESTIGATION WILL BE PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE
ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $650,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 4 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT ITS
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WHO WERE ENROLLED IN ITS FINANCIAL
ADVISOR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM AS TRAINEES PLACED THOUSANDS
OF TELEMARKETING CALLS TO PHONE NUMBERS THAT APPEARED ON
THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-CALL REGISTRY AS WELL AS THE FIRM'S DO-NOT-
CALL LIST. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH
AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE THAT TRAINEES DID NOT PLACE UNSOLICITED TELEMARKETING
CALLS TO INDIVIDUALS ON THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-CALL REGISTRY AND
THE FIRM'S DO-NOT-CALL LIST. THE FIRM CONDUCTED A MONTHLY
REVIEW OF 200 RANDOMLY-SELECTED TRAINEES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH
TELEMARKETING RULES. HOWEVER, THIS REVIEW WAS NOT
REASONABLE BECAUSE THE FIRM ONLY CONSIDERED THE SUBSET OF
CALLS MADE BY THOSE TRAINEES THAT HAD BEEN PLACED TO NUMBERS
THE TRAINEES HAD DESIGNATED AS BELONGING TO PROSPECTIVE
CLIENTS IN THE FIRM'S CONTACT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM, A SYSTEM IN
WHICH TRAINEES COULD DESIGNATE LISTS OF TELEPHONE NUMBERS AS
BELONGING TO PROSPECTIVE CLIENTS AND SCREEN THEM AGAINST THE
DO-NOT-CALL LISTS. IF A TRAINEE FAILED TO ENTER A PHONE NUMBER
INTO THE CONTACT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM AS A PROSPECTIVE CLIENT,
THE FIRM DID NOT IDENTIFY CALLS TO THAT NUMBER AS PART OF THIS
MONTHLY REVIEW, OR OTHERWISE REVIEW THE CALL FOR COMPLIANCE
WITH TELEMARKETING RULES, EVEN IF THE TRAINEE ENTERED THE
NUMBER INTO A SEARCH TOOL THAT TRAINEES COULD USE TO IDENTIFY
IF AN INDIVIDUAL PHONE NUMBER APPEARED ON A DO-NOT-CALL LIST,
AND EVEN IF THE NUMBER WAS INCLUDED ON THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-
CALL REGISTRY OR THE FIRM'S DO-NOT-CALL LIST. AS A RESULT, THE
FIRM'S MONITORING PROGRAM DID NOT DETECT THOUSANDS OF
OUTBOUND CALLS ITS TRAINEES PLACED TO TELEPHONE NUMBERS THAT
WERE LISTED ON THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-CALL REGISTRY OR THE FIRM'S
DO-NOT-CALL LIST. THE FIRM DID NOT REVIEW THESE CALLS FOR
COMPLIANCE WITH TELEMARKETING RULES AND DID NOT DETERMINE
WHETHER THE CALLS WERE MADE SUBJECT TO AN EXCEPTION FROM
FINRA RULE 3230. THE FIRM WAS ALERTED TO THIS ISSUE BY A FORMER
EMPLOYEE AND INITIATED AN INTERNAL REVIEW OF TRAINEE CALLING
ACTIVITY AND ITS ASSOCIATED PROCESSES. THE FIRM SUBSEQUENTLY
SELF-REPORTED THE CONCLUSIONS OF ITS REVIEW TO FINRA. THE FIRM
LATER IMPLEMENTED ENHANCED CALL SCREENING AND SUPERVISORY
REVIEW TECHNOLOGY, ADOPTED ENHANCED SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES, CONDUCTED ENHANCED TRAINING, AND BEGAN
MONITORING ALL OUTGOING TRAINEE CALLS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH
FINRA RULE 3230.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/01/2023

Docket/Case Number: 2019062900001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT ITS
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WHO WERE ENROLLED IN ITS FINANCIAL
ADVISOR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM AS TRAINEES PLACED THOUSANDS
OF TELEMARKETING CALLS TO PHONE NUMBERS THAT APPEARED ON
THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-CALL REGISTRY AS WELL AS THE FIRM'S DO-NOT-
CALL LIST. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH
AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE THAT TRAINEES DID NOT PLACE UNSOLICITED TELEMARKETING
CALLS TO INDIVIDUALS ON THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-CALL REGISTRY AND
THE FIRM'S DO-NOT-CALL LIST. THE FIRM CONDUCTED A MONTHLY
REVIEW OF 200 RANDOMLY-SELECTED TRAINEES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH
TELEMARKETING RULES. HOWEVER, THIS REVIEW WAS NOT
REASONABLE BECAUSE THE FIRM ONLY CONSIDERED THE SUBSET OF
CALLS MADE BY THOSE TRAINEES THAT HAD BEEN PLACED TO NUMBERS
THE TRAINEES HAD DESIGNATED AS BELONGING TO PROSPECTIVE
CLIENTS IN THE FIRM'S CONTACT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM, A SYSTEM IN
WHICH TRAINEES COULD DESIGNATE LISTS OF TELEPHONE NUMBERS AS
BELONGING TO PROSPECTIVE CLIENTS AND SCREEN THEM AGAINST THE
DO-NOT-CALL LISTS. IF A TRAINEE FAILED TO ENTER A PHONE NUMBER
INTO THE CONTACT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM AS A PROSPECTIVE CLIENT,
THE FIRM DID NOT IDENTIFY CALLS TO THAT NUMBER AS PART OF THIS
MONTHLY REVIEW, OR OTHERWISE REVIEW THE CALL FOR COMPLIANCE
WITH TELEMARKETING RULES, EVEN IF THE TRAINEE ENTERED THE
NUMBER INTO A SEARCH TOOL THAT TRAINEES COULD USE TO IDENTIFY
IF AN INDIVIDUAL PHONE NUMBER APPEARED ON A DO-NOT-CALL LIST,
AND EVEN IF THE NUMBER WAS INCLUDED ON THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-
CALL REGISTRY OR THE FIRM'S DO-NOT-CALL LIST. AS A RESULT, THE
FIRM'S MONITORING PROGRAM DID NOT DETECT THOUSANDS OF
OUTBOUND CALLS ITS TRAINEES PLACED TO TELEPHONE NUMBERS THAT
WERE LISTED ON THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-CALL REGISTRY OR THE FIRM'S
DO-NOT-CALL LIST. THE FIRM DID NOT REVIEW THESE CALLS FOR
COMPLIANCE WITH TELEMARKETING RULES AND DID NOT DETERMINE
WHETHER THE CALLS WERE MADE SUBJECT TO AN EXCEPTION FROM
FINRA RULE 3230. THE FIRM WAS ALERTED TO THIS ISSUE BY A FORMER
EMPLOYEE AND INITIATED AN INTERNAL REVIEW OF TRAINEE CALLING
ACTIVITY AND ITS ASSOCIATED PROCESSES. THE FIRM SUBSEQUENTLY
SELF-REPORTED THE CONCLUSIONS OF ITS REVIEW TO FINRA. THE FIRM
LATER IMPLEMENTED ENHANCED CALL SCREENING AND SUPERVISORY
REVIEW TECHNOLOGY, ADOPTED ENHANCED SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES, CONDUCTED ENHANCED TRAINING, AND BEGAN
MONITORING ALL OUTGOING TRAINEE CALLS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH
FINRA RULE 3230.

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 05/01/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $700,000. FINE PAID IN FULL ON MAY
16, 2023.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $700,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/01/2023

Docket/Case Number: 2019062900001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY ALLEGED THAT
BETWEEN JANUARY 2018 AND JANUARY 2020 REPRESENTATIVES OF
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH (THE FIRM) WHO WERE
ENROLLED IN THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL ADVISOR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
AS TRAINEES PLACED THOUSANDS OF TELEMARKETING CALLS TO
TELEPHONE NUMBERS THAT APPEARED ON THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-CALL
REGISTRY AS WELL AS THE FIRM'S DO-NOT-CALL LIST, IN VIOLATION OF
FINRA RULE 3230 AND 2010; AND THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
THAT TRAINEES DID NOT PLACE UNSOLICITED TELEMARKETING CALLS TO
INDIVIDUALS ON THE NATIONAL DO-NOT-CALL REGISTRY AND THE FIRM'S
DO-NOT-CALL LIST, IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULES 3110 AND 2010.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
45©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 05/01/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO
THE IMPOSITION OF A
CENSURE AND A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $700,000. THE FINE WILL BE PAID
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE AWC.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO
THE IMPOSITION OF A
CENSURE AND A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $700,000. THE FINE WILL BE PAID
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $700,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 5 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND SECTIONS
203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL" OR "RESPONDENT"). THE COMMISSION FINDS
THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF UNDISCLOSED FEES THAT
MERRILL CHARGED ITS ADVISORY CLIENTS FOR TRANSFERS OF FUNDS
TO OR FROM THEIR ADVISORY ACCOUNTS REQUIRING FOREIGN
CURRENCY EXCHANGES ("FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGES") FROM AT
LEAST MAY 12, 2016 THROUGH JUNE 29, 2020 (THE "RELEVANT PERIOD").
SPECIFICALLY, MERRILL OFFERED THESE CLIENTS WRAP FEE PROGRAMS
IN WHICH CLIENTS PAID MERRILL A PROGRAM FEE BASED ON A
PERCENTAGE OF ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT (THE "WRAP FEE") IN
EXCHANGE FOR A RANGE OF INVESTMENT ADVISORY SERVICES,
INCLUDING FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGES. AS PART OF THE CLIENT
AGREEMENTS AND ACCOMPANYING BROCHURES FOR THESE ADVISORY
PROGRAMS (COLLECTIVELY, THE "ADVISORY AGREEMENTS"), MERRILL
DISCLOSED ADDITIONAL FEES AND CHARGES THAT WERE NOT COVERED
BY THE WRAP FEE. AS IT RELATED TO THE ADDITIONAL FEES FOR
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGES, MERRILL MATERIALLY MISSTATED IN
THE ADVISORY AGREEMENTS THAT IT CHARGED A MARKUP OR
MARKDOWN ON THESE TRANSACTIONS WHILE NOT ALSO DISCLOSING
THAT IT CHARGED AN ADDITIONAL FEE REFERRED TO AS A PRODUCTION
CREDIT. FOR THE VAST MAJORITY, OR OVER 80% OF THE RELEVANT
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD,
THIS PRODUCTION CREDIT WAS EQUAL TO OR GREATER THAN THE
MARKUP OR MARKDOWN. DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, MERRILL
CHARGED ITS ADVISORY CLIENTS APPROXIMATELY $4,134,610 IN
UNDISCLOSED PRODUCTION CREDITS ON OVER 15,000 SEPARATE
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGES IN APPROXIMATELY 4,874 ADVISORY
CLIENT ACCOUNTS. MERRILL PAID A PERCENTAGE OF THESE
PRODUCTION CREDITS TO ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS AND, IN FACT,
REFERRED TO THIS CHARGE AS A COMMISSION IN INTERNAL
DOCUMENTS. AS A RESULT OF MERRILL'S CONDUCT, MERRILL WILLFULLY
VIOLATED SECTIONS 206(2) AND 206(4) OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE
206(4)-7 THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final

46©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/03/2023

Docket/Case Number: 3-21356

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND SECTIONS
203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL" OR "RESPONDENT"). THE COMMISSION FINDS
THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF UNDISCLOSED FEES THAT
MERRILL CHARGED ITS ADVISORY CLIENTS FOR TRANSFERS OF FUNDS
TO OR FROM THEIR ADVISORY ACCOUNTS REQUIRING FOREIGN
CURRENCY EXCHANGES ("FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGES") FROM AT
LEAST MAY 12, 2016 THROUGH JUNE 29, 2020 (THE "RELEVANT PERIOD").
SPECIFICALLY, MERRILL OFFERED THESE CLIENTS WRAP FEE PROGRAMS
IN WHICH CLIENTS PAID MERRILL A PROGRAM FEE BASED ON A
PERCENTAGE OF ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT (THE "WRAP FEE") IN
EXCHANGE FOR A RANGE OF INVESTMENT ADVISORY SERVICES,
INCLUDING FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGES. AS PART OF THE CLIENT
AGREEMENTS AND ACCOMPANYING BROCHURES FOR THESE ADVISORY
PROGRAMS (COLLECTIVELY, THE "ADVISORY AGREEMENTS"), MERRILL
DISCLOSED ADDITIONAL FEES AND CHARGES THAT WERE NOT COVERED
BY THE WRAP FEE. AS IT RELATED TO THE ADDITIONAL FEES FOR
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGES, MERRILL MATERIALLY MISSTATED IN
THE ADVISORY AGREEMENTS THAT IT CHARGED A MARKUP OR
MARKDOWN ON THESE TRANSACTIONS WHILE NOT ALSO DISCLOSING
THAT IT CHARGED AN ADDITIONAL FEE REFERRED TO AS A PRODUCTION
CREDIT. FOR THE VAST MAJORITY, OR OVER 80% OF THE RELEVANT
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD,
THIS PRODUCTION CREDIT WAS EQUAL TO OR GREATER THAN THE
MARKUP OR MARKDOWN. DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, MERRILL
CHARGED ITS ADVISORY CLIENTS APPROXIMATELY $4,134,610 IN
UNDISCLOSED PRODUCTION CREDITS ON OVER 15,000 SEPARATE
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGES IN APPROXIMATELY 4,874 ADVISORY
CLIENT ACCOUNTS. MERRILL PAID A PERCENTAGE OF THESE
PRODUCTION CREDITS TO ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS AND, IN FACT,
REFERRED TO THIS CHARGE AS A COMMISSION IN INTERNAL
DOCUMENTS. AS A RESULT OF MERRILL'S CONDUCT, MERRILL WILLFULLY
VIOLATED SECTIONS 206(2) AND 206(4) OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE
206(4)-7 THEREUNDER.

Resolution Date: 04/03/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST ON DISGORGEMENT

Sanction Details: THE FIRM SHALL CEASE AND DESIST, IS CENSURED, AND SHALL PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF $4,134,610, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $760,104,
AND A CIVIL PENALTY OF $4,800,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,800,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Sanction Details: THE FIRM SHALL CEASE AND DESIST, IS CENSURED, AND SHALL PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF $4,134,610, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $760,104,
AND A CIVIL PENALTY OF $4,800,000.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. ACCORDINGLY, IT
IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: MERRILL CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTIONS 206(2) AND 206(4) OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 206(4)-7
THEREUNDER; MERRILL IS CENSURED; AND MERRILL SHALL PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF $4,134,610, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $760,104,
AND A CIVIL PENALTY OF $4,800,000.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/03/2023

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 3-21356

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("SEC") ALLEGED, THAT
FROM MAY 12, 2016 TO JUNE 29, 2020 (1) CERTAIN CLIENT AGREEMENTS
AND ADV BROCHURES FOR CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") ADVISORY PROGRAMS CONTAINED
MATERIAL MISSTATEMENTS BECAUSE WHILE DISCLOSING THAT MLPF&S
CHARGED A MARKUP OR MARKDOWN ON FOREIGN CURRENCY
EXCHANGES, THE DISCLOSURES DID NOT ALSO STATE THAT AN
ADDITIONAL FEE REFERRED TO AS A PRODUCTION CREDIT WAS ALSO
CHARGED, IN WILLFUL VIOLATION OF  SECTIONS 206(2) AND (4) OF THE
INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 ("ADVISERS ACT") AND ADVISERS
ACT RULE 206(4)-7 THEREUNDER AND (2) MLPF&S FAILED TO ADOPT AND
IMPLEMENT WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO PREVENT VIOLATIONS OF THE ADVISERS ACT IN
CONNECTION WITH DISCLOSURES RELATING TO CURRENCY TRANSFERS
REQUIRING FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGES THAT IT PROCESSED FOR
ITS WRAP FEE CLIENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 04/03/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPF&S AGREED TO:
(A) CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS
OR ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 206(2) AND (4) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AND ADVISERS ACT RULE 206(4)-7 THEREUNDER, (B) BE
CENSURED, (C) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$4,800,000, AND (D) PAY DISGORGEMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $4,134,610
AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST IN THE AMOUNT OF $760,104. THE CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY, DISGORGEMENT, AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST
WERE PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPF&S AGREED TO:
(A) CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS
OR ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 206(2) AND (4) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AND ADVISERS ACT RULE 206(4)-7 THEREUNDER, (B) BE
CENSURED, (C) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$4,800,000, AND (D) PAY DISGORGEMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $4,134,610
AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST IN THE AMOUNT OF $760,104. THE CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY, DISGORGEMENT, AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST
WERE PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,800,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 6 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: THE SEC DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST BOFA SECURITIES, INC.
("BOFAS") AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MLPFS") (COLLECTIVELY "RESPONDENTS" OR "BAML").
IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENTS HAVE SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT THAT THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. RESPONDENTS ADMIT THE
FACTS SET FORTH HEREIN, ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEIR CONDUCT
VIOLATED THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, ADMIT THE COMMISSION'S
JURISDICTION OVER THEM AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE
PROCEEDINGS, AND CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS
AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER. ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND
RESPONDENTS' OFFER, THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF THE WIDESPREAD AND LONGSTANDING
FAILURE OF RESPONDENTS' EMPLOYEES THROUGHOUT THE FIRMS,
INCLUDING AT SENIOR LEVELS, TO ADHERE TO CERTAIN OF THESE
ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE FIRM'S OWN POLICIES. USING THEIR
PERSONAL DEVICES, THESE EMPLOYEES COMMUNICATED BOTH
INTERNALLY AND EXTERNALLY BY PERSONAL TEXT MESSAGES OR OTHER
TEXT MESSAGING PLATFORMS SUCH AS WHATSAPP ("OFF-CHANNEL
COMMUNICATIONS"). FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 2021,
BAML EMPLOYEES SENT AND RECEIVED OFF-CHANNEL COMMUNICATIONS
THAT RELATED TO THE BUSINESS OF THE BROKER-DEALERS OPERATED
BY BAML. RESPONDENTS DID NOT MAINTAIN OR PRESERVE THE
SUBSTANTIAL MAJORITY OF THESE WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS.
RESPONDENTS' FAILURES WERE FIRM-WIDE, AND INVOLVED EMPLOYEES
AT ALL LEVELS OF AUTHORITY. AS A RESULT, RESPONDENTS VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A4(B)(4)
THEREUNDER. BAML'S SUPERVISORS, WHO WERE RESPONSIBLE FOR
PREVENTING THIS MISCONDUCT AMONG JUNIOR EMPLOYEES,
ROUTINELY COMMUNICATED OFF-CHANNEL USING THEIR PERSONAL
DEVICES. IN FACT, DOZENS OF MANAGING DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
SUPERVISORS RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTING BAML'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES AND FOR OVERSEEING EMPLOYEES' COMPLIANCE WITH
THOSE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, THEMSELVES FAILED TO COMPLY
WITH FIRM POLICIES BY COMMUNICATING USING NON-FIRM APPROVED
METHODS ON THEIR PERSONAL DEVICES ABOUT THE FIRM'S BROKER-
DEALER BUSINESS. BAML'S WIDESPREAD FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT ITS
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT PROHIBIT SUCH COMMUNICATIONS
LED TO ITS FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES WITHIN
THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT. DURING
THE TIME PERIOD THAT RESPONDENTS FAILED TO MAINTAIN AND
PRESERVE OFF-CHANNEL COMMUNICATIONS ITS EMPLOYEES SENT AND
RECEIVED RELATED TO THE BROKER-DEALER'S BUSINESS, BAML
RECEIVED AND RESPONDED TO COMMISSION SUBPOENAS FOR
DOCUMENTS AND RECORDS REQUESTS IN NUMEROUS COMMISSION
INVESTIGATIONS. AS A RESULT, BAML'S RECORDKEEPING FAILURES
LIKELY IMPACTED THE COMMISSION'S ABILITY TO CARRY OUT ITS
REGULATORY FUNCTIONS AND INVESTIGATE VIOLATIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS ACROSS THESE INVESTIGATIONS.
COMMISSION STAFF UNCOVERED BAML'S MISCONDUCT AFTER
COMMENCING A RISK-BASED INITIATIVE TO INVESTIGATE THE USE OF
OFF-CHANNEL AND UNPRESERVED COMMUNICATIONS AT BROKER-
DEALERS. BAML HAS INITIATED A REVIEW OF ITS RECORDKEEPING
FAILURES AND BEGUN A PROGRAM OF REMEDIATION.

Current Status: Final
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THE SEC DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST BOFA SECURITIES, INC.
("BOFAS") AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MLPFS") (COLLECTIVELY "RESPONDENTS" OR "BAML").
IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENTS HAVE SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT THAT THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. RESPONDENTS ADMIT THE
FACTS SET FORTH HEREIN, ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEIR CONDUCT
VIOLATED THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, ADMIT THE COMMISSION'S
JURISDICTION OVER THEM AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE
PROCEEDINGS, AND CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS
AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER. ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND
RESPONDENTS' OFFER, THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF THE WIDESPREAD AND LONGSTANDING
FAILURE OF RESPONDENTS' EMPLOYEES THROUGHOUT THE FIRMS,
INCLUDING AT SENIOR LEVELS, TO ADHERE TO CERTAIN OF THESE
ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE FIRM'S OWN POLICIES. USING THEIR
PERSONAL DEVICES, THESE EMPLOYEES COMMUNICATED BOTH
INTERNALLY AND EXTERNALLY BY PERSONAL TEXT MESSAGES OR OTHER
TEXT MESSAGING PLATFORMS SUCH AS WHATSAPP ("OFF-CHANNEL
COMMUNICATIONS"). FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 2021,
BAML EMPLOYEES SENT AND RECEIVED OFF-CHANNEL COMMUNICATIONS
THAT RELATED TO THE BUSINESS OF THE BROKER-DEALERS OPERATED
BY BAML. RESPONDENTS DID NOT MAINTAIN OR PRESERVE THE
SUBSTANTIAL MAJORITY OF THESE WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS.
RESPONDENTS' FAILURES WERE FIRM-WIDE, AND INVOLVED EMPLOYEES
AT ALL LEVELS OF AUTHORITY. AS A RESULT, RESPONDENTS VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A4(B)(4)
THEREUNDER. BAML'S SUPERVISORS, WHO WERE RESPONSIBLE FOR
PREVENTING THIS MISCONDUCT AMONG JUNIOR EMPLOYEES,
ROUTINELY COMMUNICATED OFF-CHANNEL USING THEIR PERSONAL
DEVICES. IN FACT, DOZENS OF MANAGING DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
SUPERVISORS RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTING BAML'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES AND FOR OVERSEEING EMPLOYEES' COMPLIANCE WITH
THOSE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, THEMSELVES FAILED TO COMPLY
WITH FIRM POLICIES BY COMMUNICATING USING NON-FIRM APPROVED
METHODS ON THEIR PERSONAL DEVICES ABOUT THE FIRM'S BROKER-
DEALER BUSINESS. BAML'S WIDESPREAD FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT ITS
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT PROHIBIT SUCH COMMUNICATIONS
LED TO ITS FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES WITHIN
THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT. DURING
THE TIME PERIOD THAT RESPONDENTS FAILED TO MAINTAIN AND
PRESERVE OFF-CHANNEL COMMUNICATIONS ITS EMPLOYEES SENT AND
RECEIVED RELATED TO THE BROKER-DEALER'S BUSINESS, BAML
RECEIVED AND RESPONDED TO COMMISSION SUBPOENAS FOR
DOCUMENTS AND RECORDS REQUESTS IN NUMEROUS COMMISSION
INVESTIGATIONS. AS A RESULT, BAML'S RECORDKEEPING FAILURES
LIKELY IMPACTED THE COMMISSION'S ABILITY TO CARRY OUT ITS
REGULATORY FUNCTIONS AND INVESTIGATE VIOLATIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS ACROSS THESE INVESTIGATIONS.
COMMISSION STAFF UNCOVERED BAML'S MISCONDUCT AFTER
COMMENCING A RISK-BASED INITIATIVE TO INVESTIGATE THE USE OF
OFF-CHANNEL AND UNPRESERVED COMMUNICATIONS AT BROKER-
DEALERS. BAML HAS INITIATED A REVIEW OF ITS RECORDKEEPING
FAILURES AND BEGUN A PROGRAM OF REMEDIATION.
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/27/2022

Docket/Case Number: 3-21166

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE SEC DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST BOFA SECURITIES, INC.
("BOFAS") AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MLPFS") (COLLECTIVELY "RESPONDENTS" OR "BAML").
IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENTS HAVE SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT THAT THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. RESPONDENTS ADMIT THE
FACTS SET FORTH HEREIN, ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEIR CONDUCT
VIOLATED THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, ADMIT THE COMMISSION'S
JURISDICTION OVER THEM AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE
PROCEEDINGS, AND CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS
AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER. ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND
RESPONDENTS' OFFER, THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF THE WIDESPREAD AND LONGSTANDING
FAILURE OF RESPONDENTS' EMPLOYEES THROUGHOUT THE FIRMS,
INCLUDING AT SENIOR LEVELS, TO ADHERE TO CERTAIN OF THESE
ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS AND THE FIRM'S OWN POLICIES. USING THEIR
PERSONAL DEVICES, THESE EMPLOYEES COMMUNICATED BOTH
INTERNALLY AND EXTERNALLY BY PERSONAL TEXT MESSAGES OR OTHER
TEXT MESSAGING PLATFORMS SUCH AS WHATSAPP ("OFF-CHANNEL
COMMUNICATIONS"). FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 2021,
BAML EMPLOYEES SENT AND RECEIVED OFF-CHANNEL COMMUNICATIONS
THAT RELATED TO THE BUSINESS OF THE BROKER-DEALERS OPERATED
BY BAML. RESPONDENTS DID NOT MAINTAIN OR PRESERVE THE
SUBSTANTIAL MAJORITY OF THESE WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS.
RESPONDENTS' FAILURES WERE FIRM-WIDE, AND INVOLVED EMPLOYEES
AT ALL LEVELS OF AUTHORITY. AS A RESULT, RESPONDENTS VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A4(B)(4)
THEREUNDER. BAML'S SUPERVISORS, WHO WERE RESPONSIBLE FOR
PREVENTING THIS MISCONDUCT AMONG JUNIOR EMPLOYEES,
ROUTINELY COMMUNICATED OFF-CHANNEL USING THEIR PERSONAL
DEVICES. IN FACT, DOZENS OF MANAGING DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
SUPERVISORS RESPONSIBLE FOR IMPLEMENTING BAML'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES AND FOR OVERSEEING EMPLOYEES' COMPLIANCE WITH
THOSE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, THEMSELVES FAILED TO COMPLY
WITH FIRM POLICIES BY COMMUNICATING USING NON-FIRM APPROVED
METHODS ON THEIR PERSONAL DEVICES ABOUT THE FIRM'S BROKER-
DEALER BUSINESS. BAML'S WIDESPREAD FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT ITS
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT PROHIBIT SUCH COMMUNICATIONS
LED TO ITS FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES WITHIN
THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT. DURING
THE TIME PERIOD THAT RESPONDENTS FAILED TO MAINTAIN AND
PRESERVE OFF-CHANNEL COMMUNICATIONS ITS EMPLOYEES SENT AND
RECEIVED RELATED TO THE BROKER-DEALER'S BUSINESS, BAML
RECEIVED AND RESPONDED TO COMMISSION SUBPOENAS FOR
DOCUMENTS AND RECORDS REQUESTS IN NUMEROUS COMMISSION
INVESTIGATIONS. AS A RESULT, BAML'S RECORDKEEPING FAILURES
LIKELY IMPACTED THE COMMISSION'S ABILITY TO CARRY OUT ITS
REGULATORY FUNCTIONS AND INVESTIGATE VIOLATIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS ACROSS THESE INVESTIGATIONS.
COMMISSION STAFF UNCOVERED BAML'S MISCONDUCT AFTER
COMMENCING A RISK-BASED INITIATIVE TO INVESTIGATE THE USE OF
OFF-CHANNEL AND UNPRESERVED COMMUNICATIONS AT BROKER-
DEALERS. BAML HAS INITIATED A REVIEW OF ITS RECORDKEEPING
FAILURES AND BEGUN A PROGRAM OF REMEDIATION.

Resolution Date: 09/27/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: MLPFS IS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST; IS CENSURED; SHALL
COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED IN THE OFFER; AND
SHALL, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $125,000,000 TO THE SEC.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT THE OFFER, THE COMMISSION CONSIDERED
REMEDIAL ACTS PROMPTLY UNDERTAKEN BY BAML AND COOPERATION
AFFORDED THE COMMISSION STAFF. PRIOR TO THIS ACTION, BAML
BEGAN ENHANCING ITS POLICIES, PROCEDURES, AND TRAINING
CONCERNING THE USE OF APPROVED COMMUNICATIONS METHODS,
INCLUDING ON PERSONAL DEVICES, AND BEGAN IMPLEMENTING
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE TECHNOLOGY AVAILABLE TO EMPLOYEES.
IN VIEW OF THE FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE
AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN
RESPONDENTS' OFFER. ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:
RESPONDENTS CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-4 THEREUNDER; RESPONDENTS ARE
CENSURED; RESPONDENTS SHALL COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS
ENUMERATED IN THE OFFER; AND SHALL, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY,
WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $125,000,000 TO THE SEC.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT THE OFFER, THE COMMISSION CONSIDERED
REMEDIAL ACTS PROMPTLY UNDERTAKEN BY BAML AND COOPERATION
AFFORDED THE COMMISSION STAFF. PRIOR TO THIS ACTION, BAML
BEGAN ENHANCING ITS POLICIES, PROCEDURES, AND TRAINING
CONCERNING THE USE OF APPROVED COMMUNICATIONS METHODS,
INCLUDING ON PERSONAL DEVICES, AND BEGAN IMPLEMENTING
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO THE TECHNOLOGY AVAILABLE TO EMPLOYEES.
IN VIEW OF THE FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE
AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN
RESPONDENTS' OFFER. ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:
RESPONDENTS CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-4 THEREUNDER; RESPONDENTS ARE
CENSURED; RESPONDENTS SHALL COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS
ENUMERATED IN THE OFFER; AND SHALL, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY,
WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $125,000,000 TO THE SEC.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/27/2022

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 3-21166

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ALLEGED, IN
CONNECTION WITH THE BROKER-DEALER OFF-CHANNEL
COMMUNICATIONS INITIATIVE, THAT BOFA SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (COLLECTIVELY, BAML)
FAILED TO (1) MAINTAIN AND PRESERVE OFF-CHANNEL COMMUNICATIONS
RELATED TO THE BUSINESS OF THE BROKER-DEALERS OPERATED BY
BAML, IN WILLFUL VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND RULE 17A-4(B)(4)
THEREUNDER; AND (2) REASONABLY SUPERVISE THEIR EMPLOYEES WITH
A VIEW TO PREVENTING OR DETECTING CERTAIN OF THEIR EMPLOYEES'
AIDING AND ABETTING VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND RULE 17A-4(B)(4) THEREUNDER, WITHIN THE MEANING OF
SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/27/2022

Resolution: Order
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Resolution Date: 09/27/2022

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: BAML ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT ORDER,
ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR CONDUCT VIOLATED THE FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS AND AGREED TO: (A) CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS OR ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION
17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-4 THEREUNDER, (B) BE
CENSURED, (C) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$125,000,000, AND (D) COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS RELATED
TO RETENTION OF ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS.

Firm Statement BAML ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT ORDER,
ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR CONDUCT VIOLATED THE FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS AND AGREED TO: (A) CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS OR ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION
17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-4 THEREUNDER, (B) BE
CENSURED, (C) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$125,000,000, AND (D) COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS RELATED
TO RETENTION OF ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 7 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") HAS
REASON TO BELIEVE THAT FROM AT LEAST 2015 TO THE PRESENT
("RELEVANT PERIOD"), BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BOFA SECURITIES, INC.,
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(COLLECTIVELY, "BOFA" OR "RESPONDENTS") VIOLATED, AS SET FORTH
BELOW, SECTIONS 4G, 4S(F)(1)(C), 4S(G) (1) AND (3), AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT ("ACT"), 7 U.S.C. §§ 6G, 6S(F)(1)(C),
6S(G)(1), (3), 6S(H)(1)(B), AND COMMISSION REGULATIONS
("REGULATIONS") 1.31, 1.35, 23.201(A), 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1), 23.602(A),
AND 166.3, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.31, 1.35, 23.201(A), 23.202(A)(1), (B)(1), 23.602(A),
166.3 (2021). THEREFORE, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND
IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS
BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED TO DETERMINE WHETHER
RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN THE VIOLATIONS SET FORTH HEREIN AND TO
DETERMINE WHETHER ANY ORDER SHOULD BE ISSUED IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS. THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT IT BROUGHT TO
BOFA'S ATTENTION THE POTENTIAL USE OF UNAPPROVED
COMMUNICATION METHODS BY AT LEAST ONE BOFA TRADER, AND HEAD
OF ONE OF BOFA'S TRADING DESKS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE
COMMISSION FLAGGING THIS ISSUE TWICE, TRADERS ON THE DESK
CONTINUED TO USE UNAPPROVED MESSAGING METHODS TO CONDUCT
FIRM BUSINESS FOR SEVERAL MONTHS. FURTHER, THE DESK HEAD
ROUTINELY DIRECTED TRADERS ON THE DESK TO DELETE MESSAGES
WITH BUSINESS CONTACTS FROM THEIR PERSONAL DEVICES, AND
TRADERS ON THE DESK HAD A PRACTICE OF DELETING MESSAGES,
INCLUDING BUSINESS-RELATED MESSAGES, FROM THEIR PERSONAL
DEVICES. WHEN BOFA WAS AWARE THAT THE COMMISSION WAS
INVESTIGATING CERTAIN TRADING ON THE DESK, THE DESK HEAD
INSTRUCTED THREE OF HIS SUBORDINATES TO DELETE MESSAGES
FROM THEIR PERSONAL DEVICES AND TO COMMUNICATE VIA AN
UNAPPROVED MESSAGING APPLICATION WHEN OFF THE DESK, AND TO
HAVE SUCH COMMUNICATIONS SET TO AUTO-DELETE. THE DESK HEAD
MADE SIMILAR REQUESTS TO TWO THIRD-PARTY BROKERS. AS A RESULT,
BOFA SECURITIES INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO KEEP FULL, COMPLETE, AND SYSTEMATIC
RECORDS OF ALL TRANSACTIONS RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS OF
DEALING IN COMMODITY INTERESTS, IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 4G OF
THE ACT AND REGULATION 1.35. MOREOVER, BY FAILING TO KEEP ALL
COMMISSION-REQUIRED RECORDS IN SUCH A MANNER AS TO MAKE THEM
 "READILY ACCESSIBLE," BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BOFA SECURITIES, INC.,
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
VIOLATED REGULATION 1.31. IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BOFA
SECURITIES, INC., AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED VIOLATED REGULATION 1.31 BY NOT PROMPTLY
PRODUCING SUCH COMMUNICATIONS UPON REQUEST IN CONNECTION
WITH THE COMMISSION'S INVESTIGATION. IN ADDITION, BOFA
SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO SUPERVISE THEIR BUSINESS AS A
COMMISSION REGISTRANT BY FAILING TO MAINTAIN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS TO ENSURE THAT EMPLOYEES COMPLIED WITH
COMMISSION RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS AND COMPANY POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES THAT PROHIBITED BUSINESS-RELATED
COMMUNICATIONS ON UNAPPROVED METHODS OF COMMUNICATION. THE
INADEQUACY OF BOFA SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS IS
DEMONSTRATED BY THE LONGSTANDING AND REPEATED VIOLATIONS OF
BOFA SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED'S COMMISSION RECORDKEEPING REGULATIONS AND
COMPANY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING BY SUPERVISORY
PERSONNEL, AND THE FACT THAT THE SUPERVISORY FAILURES
RESULTED IN THE REPEATED FAILURE TO MAINTAIN COMMISSION-
REQUIRED RECORDS, TO ENSURE THAT THE REQUIRED RECORDS WERE
READILY ACCESSIBLE, AND THAT THE RECORDS COULD BE PROMPTLY
PRODUCED UPON REQUEST. BY THIS CONDUCT, BOFA SECURITIES, INC.
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED FAILED
TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS IN
VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3.

Current Status: Final
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THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") HAS
REASON TO BELIEVE THAT FROM AT LEAST 2015 TO THE PRESENT
("RELEVANT PERIOD"), BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BOFA SECURITIES, INC.,
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(COLLECTIVELY, "BOFA" OR "RESPONDENTS") VIOLATED, AS SET FORTH
BELOW, SECTIONS 4G, 4S(F)(1)(C), 4S(G) (1) AND (3), AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT ("ACT"), 7 U.S.C. §§ 6G, 6S(F)(1)(C),
6S(G)(1), (3), 6S(H)(1)(B), AND COMMISSION REGULATIONS
("REGULATIONS") 1.31, 1.35, 23.201(A), 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1), 23.602(A),
AND 166.3, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.31, 1.35, 23.201(A), 23.202(A)(1), (B)(1), 23.602(A),
166.3 (2021). THEREFORE, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND
IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS
BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED TO DETERMINE WHETHER
RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN THE VIOLATIONS SET FORTH HEREIN AND TO
DETERMINE WHETHER ANY ORDER SHOULD BE ISSUED IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS. THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT IT BROUGHT TO
BOFA'S ATTENTION THE POTENTIAL USE OF UNAPPROVED
COMMUNICATION METHODS BY AT LEAST ONE BOFA TRADER, AND HEAD
OF ONE OF BOFA'S TRADING DESKS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE
COMMISSION FLAGGING THIS ISSUE TWICE, TRADERS ON THE DESK
CONTINUED TO USE UNAPPROVED MESSAGING METHODS TO CONDUCT
FIRM BUSINESS FOR SEVERAL MONTHS. FURTHER, THE DESK HEAD
ROUTINELY DIRECTED TRADERS ON THE DESK TO DELETE MESSAGES
WITH BUSINESS CONTACTS FROM THEIR PERSONAL DEVICES, AND
TRADERS ON THE DESK HAD A PRACTICE OF DELETING MESSAGES,
INCLUDING BUSINESS-RELATED MESSAGES, FROM THEIR PERSONAL
DEVICES. WHEN BOFA WAS AWARE THAT THE COMMISSION WAS
INVESTIGATING CERTAIN TRADING ON THE DESK, THE DESK HEAD
INSTRUCTED THREE OF HIS SUBORDINATES TO DELETE MESSAGES
FROM THEIR PERSONAL DEVICES AND TO COMMUNICATE VIA AN
UNAPPROVED MESSAGING APPLICATION WHEN OFF THE DESK, AND TO
HAVE SUCH COMMUNICATIONS SET TO AUTO-DELETE. THE DESK HEAD
MADE SIMILAR REQUESTS TO TWO THIRD-PARTY BROKERS. AS A RESULT,
BOFA SECURITIES INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO KEEP FULL, COMPLETE, AND SYSTEMATIC
RECORDS OF ALL TRANSACTIONS RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS OF
DEALING IN COMMODITY INTERESTS, IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 4G OF
THE ACT AND REGULATION 1.35. MOREOVER, BY FAILING TO KEEP ALL
COMMISSION-REQUIRED RECORDS IN SUCH A MANNER AS TO MAKE THEM
 "READILY ACCESSIBLE," BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BOFA SECURITIES, INC.,
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
VIOLATED REGULATION 1.31. IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BOFA
SECURITIES, INC., AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED VIOLATED REGULATION 1.31 BY NOT PROMPTLY
PRODUCING SUCH COMMUNICATIONS UPON REQUEST IN CONNECTION
WITH THE COMMISSION'S INVESTIGATION. IN ADDITION, BOFA
SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO SUPERVISE THEIR BUSINESS AS A
COMMISSION REGISTRANT BY FAILING TO MAINTAIN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS TO ENSURE THAT EMPLOYEES COMPLIED WITH
COMMISSION RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS AND COMPANY POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES THAT PROHIBITED BUSINESS-RELATED
COMMUNICATIONS ON UNAPPROVED METHODS OF COMMUNICATION. THE
INADEQUACY OF BOFA SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS IS
DEMONSTRATED BY THE LONGSTANDING AND REPEATED VIOLATIONS OF
BOFA SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED'S COMMISSION RECORDKEEPING REGULATIONS AND
COMPANY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING BY SUPERVISORY
PERSONNEL, AND THE FACT THAT THE SUPERVISORY FAILURES
RESULTED IN THE REPEATED FAILURE TO MAINTAIN COMMISSION-
REQUIRED RECORDS, TO ENSURE THAT THE REQUIRED RECORDS WERE
READILY ACCESSIBLE, AND THAT THE RECORDS COULD BE PROMPTLY
PRODUCED UPON REQUEST. BY THIS CONDUCT, BOFA SECURITIES, INC.
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED FAILED
TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS IN
VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3.
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Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 09/27/2022

Docket/Case Number: 22-38

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") HAS
REASON TO BELIEVE THAT FROM AT LEAST 2015 TO THE PRESENT
("RELEVANT PERIOD"), BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BOFA SECURITIES, INC.,
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(COLLECTIVELY, "BOFA" OR "RESPONDENTS") VIOLATED, AS SET FORTH
BELOW, SECTIONS 4G, 4S(F)(1)(C), 4S(G) (1) AND (3), AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT ("ACT"), 7 U.S.C. §§ 6G, 6S(F)(1)(C),
6S(G)(1), (3), 6S(H)(1)(B), AND COMMISSION REGULATIONS
("REGULATIONS") 1.31, 1.35, 23.201(A), 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1), 23.602(A),
AND 166.3, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.31, 1.35, 23.201(A), 23.202(A)(1), (B)(1), 23.602(A),
166.3 (2021). THEREFORE, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND
IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS
BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED TO DETERMINE WHETHER
RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN THE VIOLATIONS SET FORTH HEREIN AND TO
DETERMINE WHETHER ANY ORDER SHOULD BE ISSUED IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS. THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT IT BROUGHT TO
BOFA'S ATTENTION THE POTENTIAL USE OF UNAPPROVED
COMMUNICATION METHODS BY AT LEAST ONE BOFA TRADER, AND HEAD
OF ONE OF BOFA'S TRADING DESKS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE
COMMISSION FLAGGING THIS ISSUE TWICE, TRADERS ON THE DESK
CONTINUED TO USE UNAPPROVED MESSAGING METHODS TO CONDUCT
FIRM BUSINESS FOR SEVERAL MONTHS. FURTHER, THE DESK HEAD
ROUTINELY DIRECTED TRADERS ON THE DESK TO DELETE MESSAGES
WITH BUSINESS CONTACTS FROM THEIR PERSONAL DEVICES, AND
TRADERS ON THE DESK HAD A PRACTICE OF DELETING MESSAGES,
INCLUDING BUSINESS-RELATED MESSAGES, FROM THEIR PERSONAL
DEVICES. WHEN BOFA WAS AWARE THAT THE COMMISSION WAS
INVESTIGATING CERTAIN TRADING ON THE DESK, THE DESK HEAD
INSTRUCTED THREE OF HIS SUBORDINATES TO DELETE MESSAGES
FROM THEIR PERSONAL DEVICES AND TO COMMUNICATE VIA AN
UNAPPROVED MESSAGING APPLICATION WHEN OFF THE DESK, AND TO
HAVE SUCH COMMUNICATIONS SET TO AUTO-DELETE. THE DESK HEAD
MADE SIMILAR REQUESTS TO TWO THIRD-PARTY BROKERS. AS A RESULT,
BOFA SECURITIES INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO KEEP FULL, COMPLETE, AND SYSTEMATIC
RECORDS OF ALL TRANSACTIONS RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS OF
DEALING IN COMMODITY INTERESTS, IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 4G OF
THE ACT AND REGULATION 1.35. MOREOVER, BY FAILING TO KEEP ALL
COMMISSION-REQUIRED RECORDS IN SUCH A MANNER AS TO MAKE THEM
 "READILY ACCESSIBLE," BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BOFA SECURITIES, INC.,
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
VIOLATED REGULATION 1.31. IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BOFA
SECURITIES, INC., AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED VIOLATED REGULATION 1.31 BY NOT PROMPTLY
PRODUCING SUCH COMMUNICATIONS UPON REQUEST IN CONNECTION
WITH THE COMMISSION'S INVESTIGATION. IN ADDITION, BOFA
SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO SUPERVISE THEIR BUSINESS AS A
COMMISSION REGISTRANT BY FAILING TO MAINTAIN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS TO ENSURE THAT EMPLOYEES COMPLIED WITH
COMMISSION RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS AND COMPANY POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES THAT PROHIBITED BUSINESS-RELATED
COMMUNICATIONS ON UNAPPROVED METHODS OF COMMUNICATION. THE
INADEQUACY OF BOFA SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS IS
DEMONSTRATED BY THE LONGSTANDING AND REPEATED VIOLATIONS OF
BOFA SECURITIES, INC. AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED'S COMMISSION RECORDKEEPING REGULATIONS AND
COMPANY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING BY SUPERVISORY
PERSONNEL, AND THE FACT THAT THE SUPERVISORY FAILURES
RESULTED IN THE REPEATED FAILURE TO MAINTAIN COMMISSION-
REQUIRED RECORDS, TO ENSURE THAT THE REQUIRED RECORDS WERE
READILY ACCESSIBLE, AND THAT THE RECORDS COULD BE PROMPTLY
PRODUCED UPON REQUEST. BY THIS CONDUCT, BOFA SECURITIES, INC.
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED FAILED
TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS IN
VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3.

Resolution Date: 09/27/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE FIRM SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION 4G OF
THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. § 6G, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35, AND 166.3, 17 C.F.R.
§§ 1.31, 1.35, 166.3 (2021); PAY, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY, A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000,000; AND COMPLY WITH
THE CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE OFFER.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENTS HAVE SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER"),
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. THE FIRM FAILED
TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS IN
VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED
THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED AND ITS
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING
SECTION 4G OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. § 6G, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35, AND
166.3, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.31, 1.35, 166.3 (2021); SHALL PAY, JOINTLY AND
SEVERALLY, A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000,000
("CMP OBLIGATION"), WITHIN FOURTEEN DAYS OF THE DATE OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER; AND SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CONDITIONS AND
UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE OFFER. IF THE CMP OBLIGATION IS
NOT PAID IN FULL WITHIN FOURTEEN DAYS OF THE DATE OF ENTRY OF
THIS ORDER, THEN POST-JUDGMENT INTEREST SHALL ACCRUE ON THE
CMP OBLIGATION BEGINNING ON THE DATE OF ENTRY OF THIS ORDER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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RESPONDENTS HAVE SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER"),
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. THE FIRM FAILED
TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS IN
VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED
THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED AND ITS
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING
SECTION 4G OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. § 6G, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35, AND
166.3, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.31, 1.35, 166.3 (2021); SHALL PAY, JOINTLY AND
SEVERALLY, A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000,000
("CMP OBLIGATION"), WITHIN FOURTEEN DAYS OF THE DATE OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER; AND SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CONDITIONS AND
UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE OFFER. IF THE CMP OBLIGATION IS
NOT PAID IN FULL WITHIN FOURTEEN DAYS OF THE DATE OF ENTRY OF
THIS ORDER, THEN POST-JUDGMENT INTEREST SHALL ACCRUE ON THE
CMP OBLIGATION BEGINNING ON THE DATE OF ENTRY OF THIS ORDER.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/27/2022

Docket/Case Number: 22-38

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE COMMODITIES FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("CFTC") ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT ORDER ("ORDER") WITH BOFAS SECURITIES, INC.
("BOFAS"), MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("MLPFS"), AND BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. ("BANA", AND COLLECTIVELY WITH
BOFAS AND MLPFS, THE "RESPONDENTS") SETTLING AN ADMINISTRATIVE
ACTION CONCERNING (A) BANA'S FAILURE TO MAINTAIN REQUIRED
RECORDS IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 4S(F)(1)(C) AND 4S(G)(1) AND (3) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT ("ACT") AND CFTC REGULATIONS
("REGULATIONS") 23.201(A) AND 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1); (B)  BOFAS AND
MLPFS' FAILURE TO KEEP REQUIRED RECORDS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATION 1.35; (C) RESPONDENTS' FAILURE TO
KEEP RECORDS IN THE REQUIRED MANNER IN VIOLATION OF
REGULATION 1.31; (D) BANA'S FAILURE TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY IN
VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE ACT AND REGULATION 23.
602(A); AND (E) BOFAS AND MLPFS' FAILURE TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE IN
VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/27/2022

Resolution: Order
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Resolution Date: 09/27/2022

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENTS ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT
ORDER, EXCEPT AS TO SECTIONS II.A.2 AND II.C.2 OF THE ORDER, WHICH
FACTS THEY NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED, ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR
CONDUCT VIOLATED THE ACT AND REGULATIONS AND AGREED TO THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (A) BANA TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTIONS 4S(F)(1)(C), 4S(G)(1) AND (3), AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE
ACT, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 23.201, 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1) AND 23.602(A)
AND BOFAS AND MLPFS TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION
4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35 AND 166.3, (B) TO PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000,000, AND (C) TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Firm Statement THE RESPONDENTS ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT
ORDER, EXCEPT AS TO SECTIONS II.A.2 AND II.C.2 OF THE ORDER, WHICH
FACTS THEY NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED, ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR
CONDUCT VIOLATED THE ACT AND REGULATIONS AND AGREED TO THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (A) BANA TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTIONS 4S(F)(1)(C), 4S(G)(1) AND (3), AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE
ACT, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 23.201, 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1) AND 23.602(A)
AND BOFAS AND MLPFS TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION
4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35 AND 166.3, (B) TO PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000,000, AND (C) TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMODITIES FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("CFTC") ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT ORDER ("ORDER") WITH BOFAS SECURITIES, INC.
("BOFAS"), MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("MLPFS"), AND BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. ("BANA", AND COLLECTIVELY WITH
BOFAS AND MLPFS, THE "RESPONDENTS") SETTLING AN ADMINISTRATIVE
ACTION CONCERNING (A) BANA'S FAILURE TO MAINTAIN REQUIRED
RECORDS IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 4S(F)(1)(C) AND 4S(G)(1) AND (3) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT ("ACT") AND CFTC REGULATIONS
("REGULATIONS") 23.201(A) AND 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1); (B)  BOFAS AND
MLPFS' FAILURE TO KEEP REQUIRED RECORDS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATION 1.35; (C) RESPONDENTS' FAILURE TO
KEEP RECORDS IN THE REQUIRED MANNER IN VIOLATION OF
REGULATION 1.31; (D) BANA'S FAILURE TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY IN
VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE ACT AND REGULATION 23.
602(A); AND (E) BOFAS AND MLPFS' FAILURE TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE IN
VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/27/2022

Docket/Case Number: 22-38

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE COMMODITIES FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("CFTC") ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT ORDER ("ORDER") WITH BOFAS SECURITIES, INC.
("BOFAS"), MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("MLPFS"), AND BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. ("BANA", AND COLLECTIVELY WITH
BOFAS AND MLPFS, THE "RESPONDENTS") SETTLING AN ADMINISTRATIVE
ACTION CONCERNING (A) BANA'S FAILURE TO MAINTAIN REQUIRED
RECORDS IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 4S(F)(1)(C) AND 4S(G)(1) AND (3) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT ("ACT") AND CFTC REGULATIONS
("REGULATIONS") 23.201(A) AND 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1); (B)  BOFAS AND
MLPFS' FAILURE TO KEEP REQUIRED RECORDS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATION 1.35; (C) RESPONDENTS' FAILURE TO
KEEP RECORDS IN THE REQUIRED MANNER IN VIOLATION OF
REGULATION 1.31; (D) BANA'S FAILURE TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY IN
VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE ACT AND REGULATION 23.
602(A); AND (E) BOFAS AND MLPFS' FAILURE TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE IN
VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3.

Resolution Date: 09/27/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENTS ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT
ORDER, EXCEPT AS TO SECTIONS II.A.2 AND II.C.2 OF THE ORDER, WHICH
FACTS THEY NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED, ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR
CONDUCT VIOLATED THE ACT AND REGULATIONS AND AGREED TO THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (A) BANA TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTIONS 4S(F)(1)(C), 4S(G)(1) AND (3), AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE
ACT, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 23.201, 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1) AND 23.602(A)
AND BOFAS AND MLPFS TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION
4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35 AND 166.3, (B) TO PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000,000, AND (C) TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Firm Statement THE RESPONDENTS ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT
ORDER, EXCEPT AS TO SECTIONS II.A.2 AND II.C.2 OF THE ORDER, WHICH
FACTS THEY NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED, ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR
CONDUCT VIOLATED THE ACT AND REGULATIONS AND AGREED TO THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (A) BANA TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTIONS 4S(F)(1)(C), 4S(G)(1) AND (3), AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE
ACT, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 23.201, 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1) AND 23.602(A)
AND BOFAS AND MLPFS TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION
4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35 AND 166.3, (B) TO PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000,000, AND (C) TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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THE RESPONDENTS ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT
ORDER, EXCEPT AS TO SECTIONS II.A.2 AND II.C.2 OF THE ORDER, WHICH
FACTS THEY NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED, ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR
CONDUCT VIOLATED THE ACT AND REGULATIONS AND AGREED TO THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (A) BANA TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTIONS 4S(F)(1)(C), 4S(G)(1) AND (3), AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE
ACT, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 23.201, 23.202(A)(1) AND (B)(1) AND 23.602(A)
AND BOFAS AND MLPFS TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION
4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35 AND 166.3, (B) TO PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000,000, AND (C) TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Disclosure 8 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/01/2022

Docket/Case Number: 2020068535401

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE SALES OF MUTUAL FUND CLASS C SHARES.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM MAINTAINED AN AUTOMATED
SYSTEM THAT WAS DESIGNED TO PREVENT CLASS C SHARE PURCHASES
WHEN CLASS A SHARES WERE AVAILABLE TO PURCHASE AT NET ASSET
VALUE (NAV) OR AT A DISCOUNT. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM'S AUTOMATED
SYSTEM CORRECTLY CALCULATED CUSTOMER PURCHASES AND FUND
HOLDINGS, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES THE SYSTEM MISTAKENLY APPLIED A
PURCHASE LIMIT ON CLASS C SHARES THAT WAS INCONSISTENT WITH A
FUND'S CLASS C SHARE PURCHASE LIMIT, OR INCONSISTENT WITH A
FUND'S THRESHOLD FOR WHEN CLASS A SHARES WERE AVAILABLE AT
NAV. THE FIRM HAS SINCE CORRECTED THESE ISSUES. AS A RESULT,
THOUSANDS OF FIRM CUSTOMERS PURCHASED CLASS C SHARES,
INCURRING FEES AND CHARGES, WHEN CLASS A SHARES WERE
AVAILABLE AT A SUBSTANTIALLY LOWER COST. IN TOTAL, FIRM
CUSTOMERS PAID APPROXIMATELY $13.4 MILLION IN EXCESS SALES
CHARGES AND FEES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/01/2022

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST ON RESTITUTION

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY APPROXIMATELY $13.4
MILLION, PLUS APPROXIMATELY $1.8 MILLION IN INTEREST, IN
RESTITUTION TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 06/01/2022

Docket/Case Number: 2020068535401

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY FOUND THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH (THE FIRM) FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE SALES OF MUTUAL FUND CLASS C SHARES
BETWEEN JANUARY 2015 AND JANUARY 2021, IN VIOLATION OF FINRA
RULES 3110 AND 2010.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/01/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO
PAY RESTITUTION TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS TOTALING APPROXIMATELY
$13.4 MILLION, PLUS INTEREST TOTALING APPROXIMATELY $1.8 MILLION.
THE FIRM WILL MAKE THESE PAYMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
WRITTEN PLAN OF REMEDIATION PROVIDED TO FINRA FOR THIS MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO
PAY RESTITUTION TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS TOTALING APPROXIMATELY
$13.4 MILLION, PLUS INTEREST TOTALING APPROXIMATELY $1.8 MILLION.
THE FIRM WILL MAKE THESE PAYMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
WRITTEN PLAN OF REMEDIATION PROVIDED TO FINRA FOR THIS MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO
PAY RESTITUTION TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS TOTALING APPROXIMATELY
$13.4 MILLION, PLUS INTEREST TOTALING APPROXIMATELY $1.8 MILLION.
THE FIRM WILL MAKE THESE PAYMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
WRITTEN PLAN OF REMEDIATION PROVIDED TO FINRA FOR THIS MATTER.

Disclosure 9 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
PRODUCE TIMELY AND COMPLETE PRODUCTIONS IN CONNECTION TO
FINRA'S INVESTIGATIONS OF TWO BROKERS AT THE FIRM. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THREE CUSTOMERS ALLEGED IN SEPARATE ARBITRATIONS
THAT ONE BROKER HAD ENGAGED IN UNAUTHORIZED AND EXCESSIVE
TRADING, UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS, AND OTHER SALES
PRACTICE VIOLATIONS. AS PART OF ITS INVESTIGATION, FINRA ISSUED A
REQUEST TO THE FIRM SEEKING, AMONG OTHER THINGS, TELEPHONE
RECORDS, NOTES OF MEETINGS WITH CUSTOMERS, AND ACCOUNT
OPENING DOCUMENTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO PRODUCE OR TIMELY
PRODUCE RESPONSIVE TELEPHONE RECORDS WITH SOME OF THE
CUSTOMERS BECAUSE THE FIRM'S VENDOR DESTROYED THOSE
DOCUMENTS AS PART OF THE VENDOR'S POLICY TO PERIODICALLY
DELETE RECORDS OLDER THAN THREE YEARS. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM
FAILED TO TIMELY PRODUCE ALL MEETING NOTES BETWEEN THE BROKER
AND A CUSTOMER BECAUSE IT DID NOT IMMEDIATELY IDENTIFY THE
DOCUMENTS AS RESPONSIVE TO FINRA'S REQUEST. OVER TWO YEARS
AFTER FINRA'S INITIAL REQUEST, THE FIRM MADE A FINAL PRODUCTION
THAT OVERLAPPED IN PART WITH PAST PRODUCTION, BUT ALSO
INCLUDED NEW, RESPONSIVE DOCUMENTS, INCLUDING ACCOUNT
OPENING DOCUMENTS. THESE DOCUMENTS WERE MATERIAL TO FINRA'S
INVESTIGATION OF THE ALLEGED MISCONDUCT BY THE BROKER. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO TIMELY PRODUCE
DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH FINRA'S INVESTIGATION OF A SECOND
BROKER AT THE FIRM. A CUSTOMER ALLEGED THAT THE SECOND BROKER
PARTICIPATED IN A SERIES OF FAILED INVESTMENTS AWAY FROM THE
FIRM. AS PART OF ITS INVESTIGATION, FINRA ISSUED A REQUEST TO THE
FIRM SEEKING, AMONG OTHER DOCUMENTS, EMAILS RELATED TO THE
SECOND BROKER'S POTENTIAL SELLING AWAY AS WELL AS RECORDS
CONCERNING THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF THE BROKER'S
EMAILS. THE FIRM PRODUCED RESPONSIVE EMAILS NEARLY TWO YEARS
AFTER THE DATE OF FINRA'S INITIAL REQUEST SHOWING THAT THE
BROKER WAS FACILITATING CUSTOMERS' OUTSIDE INVESTMENTS IN
PROJECTS NOT APPROVED BY THE FIRM. FINRA RAISED CONCERNS
ABOUT APPARENT OMISSIONS IN THE FIRM'S PRODUCTION, AND THE FIRM
PRODUCED ADDITIONAL RECORDS, INCLUDING EMAILS SENT OR
RECEIVED BY THE BROKER THAT WERE FLAGGED BY THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM. THE NEW MATERIALS SHOWED THAT THE FIRM
HAD FLAGGED CERTAIN OF THE BROKER'S EMAILS, WHICH CONTAINED
RED FLAGS FOR POTENTIAL MISCONDUCT, FOR SUPERVISORY REVIEW
AND THUS WERE RELEVANT TO FINRA'S INVESTIGATION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/20/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2018058015702

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
PRODUCE TIMELY AND COMPLETE PRODUCTIONS IN CONNECTION TO
FINRA'S INVESTIGATIONS OF TWO BROKERS AT THE FIRM. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THREE CUSTOMERS ALLEGED IN SEPARATE ARBITRATIONS
THAT ONE BROKER HAD ENGAGED IN UNAUTHORIZED AND EXCESSIVE
TRADING, UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS, AND OTHER SALES
PRACTICE VIOLATIONS. AS PART OF ITS INVESTIGATION, FINRA ISSUED A
REQUEST TO THE FIRM SEEKING, AMONG OTHER THINGS, TELEPHONE
RECORDS, NOTES OF MEETINGS WITH CUSTOMERS, AND ACCOUNT
OPENING DOCUMENTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO PRODUCE OR TIMELY
PRODUCE RESPONSIVE TELEPHONE RECORDS WITH SOME OF THE
CUSTOMERS BECAUSE THE FIRM'S VENDOR DESTROYED THOSE
DOCUMENTS AS PART OF THE VENDOR'S POLICY TO PERIODICALLY
DELETE RECORDS OLDER THAN THREE YEARS. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM
FAILED TO TIMELY PRODUCE ALL MEETING NOTES BETWEEN THE BROKER
AND A CUSTOMER BECAUSE IT DID NOT IMMEDIATELY IDENTIFY THE
DOCUMENTS AS RESPONSIVE TO FINRA'S REQUEST. OVER TWO YEARS
AFTER FINRA'S INITIAL REQUEST, THE FIRM MADE A FINAL PRODUCTION
THAT OVERLAPPED IN PART WITH PAST PRODUCTION, BUT ALSO
INCLUDED NEW, RESPONSIVE DOCUMENTS, INCLUDING ACCOUNT
OPENING DOCUMENTS. THESE DOCUMENTS WERE MATERIAL TO FINRA'S
INVESTIGATION OF THE ALLEGED MISCONDUCT BY THE BROKER. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO TIMELY PRODUCE
DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH FINRA'S INVESTIGATION OF A SECOND
BROKER AT THE FIRM. A CUSTOMER ALLEGED THAT THE SECOND BROKER
PARTICIPATED IN A SERIES OF FAILED INVESTMENTS AWAY FROM THE
FIRM. AS PART OF ITS INVESTIGATION, FINRA ISSUED A REQUEST TO THE
FIRM SEEKING, AMONG OTHER DOCUMENTS, EMAILS RELATED TO THE
SECOND BROKER'S POTENTIAL SELLING AWAY AS WELL AS RECORDS
CONCERNING THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF THE BROKER'S
EMAILS. THE FIRM PRODUCED RESPONSIVE EMAILS NEARLY TWO YEARS
AFTER THE DATE OF FINRA'S INITIAL REQUEST SHOWING THAT THE
BROKER WAS FACILITATING CUSTOMERS' OUTSIDE INVESTMENTS IN
PROJECTS NOT APPROVED BY THE FIRM. FINRA RAISED CONCERNS
ABOUT APPARENT OMISSIONS IN THE FIRM'S PRODUCTION, AND THE FIRM
PRODUCED ADDITIONAL RECORDS, INCLUDING EMAILS SENT OR
RECEIVED BY THE BROKER THAT WERE FLAGGED BY THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM. THE NEW MATERIALS SHOWED THAT THE FIRM
HAD FLAGGED CERTAIN OF THE BROKER'S EMAILS, WHICH CONTAINED
RED FLAGS FOR POTENTIAL MISCONDUCT, FOR SUPERVISORY REVIEW
AND THUS WERE RELEVANT TO FINRA'S INVESTIGATION.

Resolution Date: 12/20/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $1,200,000, AND REQUIRED TO CERTIFY
THAT IT HAS ESTABLISHED AND IMPLEMENTED POLICIES, PROCEDURES,
PROCESSES, AND INTERNAL CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ADDRESS AND REMEDIATE THE ISSUES IDENTIFIED IN THE AWC. FINE PAID
IN FULL ON JANUARY 4, 2022.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,200,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $1,200,000, AND REQUIRED TO CERTIFY
THAT IT HAS ESTABLISHED AND IMPLEMENTED POLICIES, PROCEDURES,
PROCESSES, AND INTERNAL CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ADDRESS AND REMEDIATE THE ISSUES IDENTIFIED IN THE AWC. FINE PAID
IN FULL ON JANUARY 4, 2022.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE, UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/20/2021

Docket/Case Number: NO. 2018058015702

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY FOUND THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
FAILED TO COMPLY WITH ITS FINRA RULE 8210 OBLIGATIONS IN TWO
SEPARATE FINRA ENFORCEMENT INVESTIGATIONS, WHICH INTERFERED
WITH AND DELAYED FINRA'S INVESTIGATIONS IN VIOLATION OF FINRA
RULES 8210 AND 2010.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/20/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPFS AGREED TO THE
IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE, A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,200,000, AND
COMPLETION OF AN UNDERTAKING.  THE FINE WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE AWC.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPFS AGREED TO THE
IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE, A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,200,000, AND
COMPLETION OF AN UNDERTAKING.  THE FINE WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,200,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 10 of 595

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 12/20/2021

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE TRANSMITTAL OF CUSTOMER FUNDS VIA
EXTERNALLY-INITIATED AUTOMATED CLEARING HOUSE (ACH)
TRANSFERS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM'S SYSTEM TO REVIEW
AND MONITOR THE TRANSMITTAL OF CUSTOMER FUNDS VIA ACH
TRANSFERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO IDENTIFY IMPROPER
TRANSFERS FROM CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS BY THE FIRM'S REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES. THE FIRM DID NOT SCREEN ACH TRANSFERS TO
DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH ONE OF ITS REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES WAS THE BENEFICIARY OF A TRANSFER OF FUNDS
FROM A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT. RATHER, THE FIRM MONITORED ACH
TRANSACTIONS THROUGH AN INTERNAL FRAUD-DETECTION SYSTEM
DESIGNED TO DETECT FRAUD BY THIRD PARTIES. BASED ON THE
PARAMETERS SET BY THE FIRM, THIS SYSTEM FLAGGED ACH
TRANSACTIONS FOR REVIEW BY THE FIRM'S FRAUD UNIT. IN CERTAIN
CIRCUMSTANCES, THE FRAUD UNIT WAS REQUIRED TO COMPARE THE
CUSTOMER'S NAME WITH THE PAYEE NAME AND, IF THE FRAUD UNIT
COULD NOT CLEAR A TRANSACTION FOR PROCESSING BASED ON THE
GUIDANCE PROVIDED BY THE FIRM, IT ESCALATED THE TRANSACTION
THROUGH AN EMAIL TO THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE ASSIGNED
TO THE CUSTOMER ACCOUNT. THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE WAS
THEN RESPONSIBLE FOR VALIDATING THAT THE TRANSACTION HAD BEEN
INITIATED BY THE CUSTOMER. THE FIRM HAD PREVIOUSLY TERMINATED
ONE OF ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES FOR CONVERTING
CUSTOMER FUNDS VIA EXTERNALLY-INITIATED ACH TRANSFERS,
HOWEVER ITS SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO IDENTIFY SUCH THEFT. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE A SYSTEM TO SCREEN
ALL ACH TRANSFERS TO DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH IDENTIFIED
BENEFICIARIES WERE ALSO REPRESENTATIVES OF THE FIRM. THE FRAUD
UNIT ALSO WAS NOT INSTRUCTED OR TRAINED TO EXAMINE FLAGGED
ACH TRANSFERS FOR THE POSSIBILITY THAT FIRM REPRESENTATIVES
WERE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE TRANSACTIONS. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM
RELIED ON THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES OF THE CUSTOMERS TO
CLEAR CERTAIN OF THE ALERTS, INCLUDING ALERTS RELATING TO
TRANSACTIONS WHERE THE REPRESENTATIVES THEMSELVES WERE
NAMED AS BENEFICIARIES. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT
THAT TWO OF ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE ABLE, IN
SEPARATE SCHEMES THAT RAN FOR MULTIPLE YEARS, TO STEAL IN
EXCESS OF $6 MILLION FROM FIRM CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/20/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2018057201801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUTOMATED CLEARING HOUSE (ACH) TRANSFERS

Resolution Date: 12/20/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $950,000, AND REQUIRED TO CERTIFY
THAT IT HAS COMPLETED A REVIEW OF ITS POLICIES, PROCEDURES, AND
SYSTEMS REGARDING THE MONITORING OF TRANSMITTALS OF
CUSTOMER FUNDS, AND THEY ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS,
REGULATIONS AND FINRA RULES. THE FIRM HAS ALREADY MADE
RESTITUTION TO THE CUSTOMERS AFFECTED IN THE TRANSACTIONS.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON DECEMBER 31, 2021.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $950,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY FOUND THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE TRANSMITTAL OF CUSTOMER
FUNDS VIA EXTERNALLY-INITIATED AUTOMATED CLEARING HOUSE
TRANSFERS AND AS A RESULT FAILED TO DETECT THAT TWO OF ITS
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE ABLE TO MISAPPROPRIATE
FUNDS FROM CERTAIN CUSTOMERS, IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULES 3010
AND 3012 AND FINRA RULES 3110 AND 2010.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/20/2021

Docket/Case Number: NO. 2018057201801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY FOUND THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE TRANSMITTAL OF CUSTOMER
FUNDS VIA EXTERNALLY-INITIATED AUTOMATED CLEARING HOUSE
TRANSFERS AND AS A RESULT FAILED TO DETECT THAT TWO OF ITS
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE ABLE TO MISAPPROPRIATE
FUNDS FROM CERTAIN CUSTOMERS, IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULES 3010
AND 3012 AND FINRA RULES 3110 AND 2010.

Resolution Date: 12/20/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPFS AGREED TO THE
IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE, A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $950,000, AND
COMPLETION OF AN UNDERTAKING.  THE FINE WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE AWC.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPFS AGREED TO THE
IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE, A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $950,000, AND
COMPLETION OF AN UNDERTAKING.  THE FINE WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $950,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 11 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL REGULATION

Date Initiated: 08/30/2017

Docket/Case Number: 20-005-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES

Allegations: CEASE AND DESIST INITIATED ON 6/23/2016 BY THE SEC.

Current Status: Final

66©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY OF $125,000

Other Product Type(s): STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES

Resolution Date: 04/30/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NONE

Sanction Details: $125,000 FINE PAID JUNE 09, 2020.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FINRA RULES 2010, 6380A, 6622(B), 6730, 7230A, 7230A(B), 7450, NASD
RULES 6130, 6230, 6620(B), 6955, 6955(A) - MERRILL LYNCH TRANSMITTED
REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL
SYSTEM (OATS) THAT WERE REJECTED BY OATS FOR CONTENT OR
SYNTAX ERRORS AND WERE REPAIRABLE BUT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPAIR SOME OF THE REJECTED ROES SO THAT IT FAILED TO TRANSMIT
THEM DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED EXECUTION
OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED
INACCURATE REPORTING EXCEPTION CODES; FAILED TO REPORT
EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS; AND
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO OATS IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT. BECAUSE OF THE
INACCURATE, MISSING OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA IN A
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE, OATS WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE
EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA
TRADE REPORTING SYSTEM. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED REPORTS TO OATS
THAT DID NOT INCLUDE THE SPECIAL HANDLING CODE NH FOR NOT HELD
LIMIT ORDERS. THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT ALL OF ITS ROES TO OATS
ON 380 BUSINESS DAYS FOR A SECONDARY MARKET PARTICIPANT
IDENTIFIER (MPID). THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT NUMEROUS LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF). THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 6380A AND A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FNTRF TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION, APPROXIMATELY 49%
OF ALL TRANSACTIONS THE FIRM HAD AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT OR
DECLINE DURING THE TIME PERIOD. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 7230A(B) AND A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010. THE FIRM FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED A .RX MODIFIER AND ALSO FAILED TO
REPORT TRANSACTIONS WITH A .RX MODIFIER IT WAS REQUIRED TO
REPORT. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY REPORTED ITSELF AS A MARKET
MAKER IN LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS TO THE OTC
REPORTING FACILITY. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO THE TRADE
REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) TRANSACTIONS IN
TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES IT WAS REQUIRED TO REPORT AND ALSO
REPORTED TRANSACTIONS IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/04/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2008014636301

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): DESIGNATED SECURITIES, REPORTABLE SECURITIES, TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES

FINRA RULES 2010, 6380A, 6622(B), 6730, 7230A, 7230A(B), 7450, NASD
RULES 6130, 6230, 6620(B), 6955, 6955(A) - MERRILL LYNCH TRANSMITTED
REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL
SYSTEM (OATS) THAT WERE REJECTED BY OATS FOR CONTENT OR
SYNTAX ERRORS AND WERE REPAIRABLE BUT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPAIR SOME OF THE REJECTED ROES SO THAT IT FAILED TO TRANSMIT
THEM DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED EXECUTION
OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED
INACCURATE REPORTING EXCEPTION CODES; FAILED TO REPORT
EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS; AND
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO OATS IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT. BECAUSE OF THE
INACCURATE, MISSING OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA IN A
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE, OATS WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE
EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA
TRADE REPORTING SYSTEM. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED REPORTS TO OATS
THAT DID NOT INCLUDE THE SPECIAL HANDLING CODE NH FOR NOT HELD
LIMIT ORDERS. THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT ALL OF ITS ROES TO OATS
ON 380 BUSINESS DAYS FOR A SECONDARY MARKET PARTICIPANT
IDENTIFIER (MPID). THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT NUMEROUS LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF). THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 6380A AND A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FNTRF TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION, APPROXIMATELY 49%
OF ALL TRANSACTIONS THE FIRM HAD AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT OR
DECLINE DURING THE TIME PERIOD. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 7230A(B) AND A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010. THE FIRM FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED A .RX MODIFIER AND ALSO FAILED TO
REPORT TRANSACTIONS WITH A .RX MODIFIER IT WAS REQUIRED TO
REPORT. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY REPORTED ITSELF AS A MARKET
MAKER IN LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS TO THE OTC
REPORTING FACILITY. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO THE TRADE
REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) TRANSACTIONS IN
TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES IT WAS REQUIRED TO REPORT AND ALSO
REPORTED TRANSACTIONS IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT.

Resolution Date: 03/04/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.

Disclosure 12 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 10/06/2021

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT VIOLATED
RULE 204 OF REGULATION SHO BY IMPROPERLY NETTING THE TRADING
ACTIVITY OF AFFILIATED BROKER-DEALER CUSTOMERS WHEN
DETERMINING THEIR CLOSE-OUT OBLIGATIONS AND CLAIMING PRE-FAIL
CREDIT. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM NETTED THE TRADING
ACCOUNTS OF THE AFFILIATED BROKER-DEALER CUSTOMERS AND THEN
CALCULATED THE FAIL-TO-DELIVER POSITIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THEIR
TRADING ON A COLLECTIVE BASIS. THE FIRM ALSO COMBINED THE
AFFILIATED BROKER-DEALER CUSTOMERS' PRE-SETTLEMENT DATE
PURCHASES AND USED THE COMBINED POSITIONS TO CALCULATE THE
PRE-FAIL CREDIT AVAILABLE UNDER RULE 204(E). THE FIRM THEN APPLIED
THE RESULTING PRE-FAIL CREDIT TO REDUCE THE NUMBER OF SHARES
IT BOUGHT TO CLOSE OUT FAIL-TO-DELIVER POSITIONS RESULTING FROM
THE AFFILIATED BROKER-DEALER CUSTOMERS' TRADING. THE FIRM'S
APPLICATION OF THE MULTI-DAY APPROACH APPLIED PRE-FAIL CREDIT
WITHOUT REGARD TO THE AFFILIATED BROKER-DEALER CUSTOMERS'
RESPECTIVE PRE-SETTLEMENT PURCHASES AND SHORT POSITIONS AND
ALLOWED THEM TO USE PURCHASES MADE BY ANOTHER TO REDUCE
THEIR CLOSE-OUT OBLIGATIONS WHEN THEY HAD A SHORT POSITION IN
THE PURCHASED SECURITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED RULE 200(F) OF REGULATION SHO BY INCLUDING SECURITIES
POSITIONS HELD BY THE FIRM'S FOREIGN AND NON-BROKER-DEALER
AFFILIATES WHEN CALCULATING THE NET POSITIONS OF TWO
INDEPENDENT TRADING UNITS. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM,
INCLUDING WSPS, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH RULE 200(F) OF REGULATION SHO BY FAILING TO PREVENT THE
INCLUSION OF THE NON-BROKER-DEALER AFFILIATES' SECURITIES
POSITIONS IN ITS CALCULATION OF THE NET POSITIONS FOR ITS
INDEPENDENT TRADING UNITS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 10/06/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2016050801702

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 10/06/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $850,000. FINE PAID IN FULL ON
OCTOBER 18, 2021.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $850,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (THE FIRM) CONSENTED TO
THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT (1)
IMPROPERLY NETTED THE TRADING ACTIVITY OF FIVE AFFILIATED
BROKER-DEALER CUSTOMERS WHEN DETERMINING THEIR CLOSE-OUT
OBLIGATIONS AND CLAIMING PRE-FAIL CREDIT IN VIOLATION OF RULE 204
OF REGULATION SHO AND FINRA RULE 2010; (2) INCLUDED SECURITIES
POSITIONS HELD BY THE FIRM'S FOREIGN AND NON-BROKER-DEALER
AFFILIATES WHEN CALCULATING THE NET POSITIONS OF TWO
INDEPENDENT TRADING UNITS IN VIOLATION OF RULE 200(F) OF
REGULATION SHO; AND (3) FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
RULE 200(F) OF REGULATION SHO, IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULES 3010
AND 2110 AND FINRA RULES 3110 AND 2010.

Current Status: Final

70©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 10/06/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2016050801702

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (THE FIRM) CONSENTED TO
THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT (1)
IMPROPERLY NETTED THE TRADING ACTIVITY OF FIVE AFFILIATED
BROKER-DEALER CUSTOMERS WHEN DETERMINING THEIR CLOSE-OUT
OBLIGATIONS AND CLAIMING PRE-FAIL CREDIT IN VIOLATION OF RULE 204
OF REGULATION SHO AND FINRA RULE 2010; (2) INCLUDED SECURITIES
POSITIONS HELD BY THE FIRM'S FOREIGN AND NON-BROKER-DEALER
AFFILIATES WHEN CALCULATING THE NET POSITIONS OF TWO
INDEPENDENT TRADING UNITS IN VIOLATION OF RULE 200(F) OF
REGULATION SHO; AND (3) FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
RULE 200(F) OF REGULATION SHO, IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULES 3010
AND 2110 AND FINRA RULES 3110 AND 2010.

Resolution Date: 10/06/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $850,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $850,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $850,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 13 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
MSRB AND EXCHANGE ACT RULES OR PREVENT THE CONSEQUENCES OF
SHORT POSITIONS IN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT THE FIRM'S FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND
PROCEDURES DESIGNED TO DETECT AND RESOLVE SHORT POSITIONS IN
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES, AND TO PREVENT THEIR CONSEQUENCES, AND
TO TAKE PROMPT STEPS TO BRING SHORT POSITIONS IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES WITHIN ITS CONTROL, WAS NOT REASONABLE CONSIDERING
THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES BUSINESS THE FIRM CONDUCTED. LATER,
THE FIRM BEGAN ENHANCEMENTS TO ITS SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS,
WSPS, AND CUSTOMER DISCLOSURES AND AMENDED ITS PROCESSES TO
ADDRESS SHORT POSITIONS WHEN CREATED AND COMMUNICATED ITS
REVISED PROCESSES AND WSPS TO ITS REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM'S
NOTICE TO PURCHASERS OF MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DID NOT COMPLY
WITH MSRB RULE G-17'S FAIR DEALING REQUIREMENT. THE FIRM
PROVIDED CUSTOMERS WHO RECEIVED SUBSTITUTE INTEREST WITH A
 "GROSS-UP" (ADJUSTED) PAYMENT EACH YEAR TO ADDRESS ANY
RESULTING FEDERAL TAXES. THE CUSTOMERS' ACCOUNT STATEMENTS
AND FORM 1099S DESCRIBED THE SUBSTITUTE INTEREST AND GROSS-UP
PAYMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES HELD BY THE
CUSTOMERS AS "MISC. INCOME." THE FIRM UPDATED THE LANGUAGE IN
ITS CUSTOMERS' ACCOUNT STATEMENTS TO INCLUDE A SPECIFIC
REFERENCE TO THE TAXABLE NATURE OF THESE SUBSTITUTE INTEREST
PAYMENTS. UNTIL THEN, THE FIRM DID NOT PROVIDE THESE CUSTOMERS
WITH EXPRESS NOTICE THAT THE SUBSTITUTE INTEREST PAID TO THEM
WAS TAXABLE. AS A RESULT, CUSTOMERS RECEIVING THESE PAYMENTS
PRIOR TO THE UPDATED LANGUAGE WERE UNABLE, AMONG OTHER
THINGS, TO RENDER AN INFORMED DECISION ON WHETHER THEY
WISHED TO CONTINUE HOLDING THE SECURITY, CANCEL THE TRADE, OR
PURCHASE A COMPARABLE SECURITY SO AS TO AVOID RECEIVING
TAXABLE INTEREST. THE FIRM EVENTUALLY PROVIDED CUSTOMERS WITH
NOTICE THAT THEIR RECEIPT OF SUBSTITUTE INTEREST MAY ALSO
CREATE STATE AND LOCAL TAX LIABILITY, AND HOW THE "GROSS UP"
PAYMENT AIMS TO COVER ANY FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL TAX
LIABILITIES CUSTOMERS MAY INCUR.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/04/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2016050801701

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
MSRB AND EXCHANGE ACT RULES OR PREVENT THE CONSEQUENCES OF
SHORT POSITIONS IN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT THE FIRM'S FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND
PROCEDURES DESIGNED TO DETECT AND RESOLVE SHORT POSITIONS IN
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES, AND TO PREVENT THEIR CONSEQUENCES, AND
TO TAKE PROMPT STEPS TO BRING SHORT POSITIONS IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES WITHIN ITS CONTROL, WAS NOT REASONABLE CONSIDERING
THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES BUSINESS THE FIRM CONDUCTED. LATER,
THE FIRM BEGAN ENHANCEMENTS TO ITS SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS,
WSPS, AND CUSTOMER DISCLOSURES AND AMENDED ITS PROCESSES TO
ADDRESS SHORT POSITIONS WHEN CREATED AND COMMUNICATED ITS
REVISED PROCESSES AND WSPS TO ITS REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM'S
NOTICE TO PURCHASERS OF MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DID NOT COMPLY
WITH MSRB RULE G-17'S FAIR DEALING REQUIREMENT. THE FIRM
PROVIDED CUSTOMERS WHO RECEIVED SUBSTITUTE INTEREST WITH A
 "GROSS-UP" (ADJUSTED) PAYMENT EACH YEAR TO ADDRESS ANY
RESULTING FEDERAL TAXES. THE CUSTOMERS' ACCOUNT STATEMENTS
AND FORM 1099S DESCRIBED THE SUBSTITUTE INTEREST AND GROSS-UP
PAYMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES HELD BY THE
CUSTOMERS AS "MISC. INCOME." THE FIRM UPDATED THE LANGUAGE IN
ITS CUSTOMERS' ACCOUNT STATEMENTS TO INCLUDE A SPECIFIC
REFERENCE TO THE TAXABLE NATURE OF THESE SUBSTITUTE INTEREST
PAYMENTS. UNTIL THEN, THE FIRM DID NOT PROVIDE THESE CUSTOMERS
WITH EXPRESS NOTICE THAT THE SUBSTITUTE INTEREST PAID TO THEM
WAS TAXABLE. AS A RESULT, CUSTOMERS RECEIVING THESE PAYMENTS
PRIOR TO THE UPDATED LANGUAGE WERE UNABLE, AMONG OTHER
THINGS, TO RENDER AN INFORMED DECISION ON WHETHER THEY
WISHED TO CONTINUE HOLDING THE SECURITY, CANCEL THE TRADE, OR
PURCHASE A COMPARABLE SECURITY SO AS TO AVOID RECEIVING
TAXABLE INTEREST. THE FIRM EVENTUALLY PROVIDED CUSTOMERS WITH
NOTICE THAT THEIR RECEIPT OF SUBSTITUTE INTEREST MAY ALSO
CREATE STATE AND LOCAL TAX LIABILITY, AND HOW THE "GROSS UP"
PAYMENT AIMS TO COVER ANY FEDERAL, STATE, OR LOCAL TAX
LIABILITIES CUSTOMERS MAY INCUR.

Resolution Date: 10/04/2021

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $1,500,000 AND REQUIRED TO CERTIFY
THAT ITS SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES ARE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH MSRB RULES G-
17 AND G-27 AND RULE 15C3-3(D)(4) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND THAT ITS REVISED WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES (WSPS) HAVE BEEN DISTRIBUTED TO ALL FIRM PERSONNEL
WITH RESPONSIBILITIES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH MSRB RULES G-17 AND
G-27 AND EXCHANGE ACT RULE 15C3-3(D)(4). FINE PAID IN FULL ON
OCTOBER 18, 2021.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,500,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Date Initiated: 10/04/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2016050801701

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (THE FIRM) CONSENTED TO
THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ADDRESS SHORT POSITIONS IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES AND THEIR EFFECTS ON THE CUSTOMERS WHO HOLD THEM
IN VIOLATION OF MSRB RULE G-27, FAILED TO TAKE PROMPT STEPS TO
BRING SHORT POSITIONS IN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES WITHIN ITS CONTROL
WITHIN 30 DAYS IN VIOLATION OF SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
RULE 15C3-3(D)(4) AND FINRA RULE 2010, AND FAILED TO PROVIDE ITS
CUSTOMERS WITH NOTICE CLEARLY IDENTIFYING THEIR RECEIPT OF
SUBSTITUTE INTEREST PAYMENTS AND THE POTENTIAL TAX LIABILITY
RESULTING FROM THE PAYMENTS IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE, UNDERTAKING

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/04/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED, FINED $1,500,000 AND AGREED TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED, FINED $1,500,000 AND AGREED TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 14 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT VIOLATED
NYSE RULE 122 (ORDERS WITH MORE THAN ONE FLOOR BROKER) BY
MAINTAINING ORDERS FOR THE ACCOUNT OF THE SAME PRINCIPAL WITH
TWO DIFFERENT FLOOR BROKERS IN THE SAME SECURITY THAT COULD
EXECUTE AT THE SAME TIME AND PRICE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
CERTAIN DESKS AT THE FIRM THAT HANDLED PROPRIETARY AND/OR
AGENCY FLOWS HAD THE ABILITY TO ROUTE ORDERS TO SEVERAL
FLOOR BROKER FIRMS, INCLUDING TO THE FIRM'S OWN FLOOR BROKER.
THOUGH THE FIRM HAD ROUTING PROTOCOLS IN PLACE THAT MITIGATED
THE RISK OF ORDERS BEING ROUTED IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE RULE,
CERTAIN DESKS COULD AND DID ROUTE ORDERS TO MORE THAN ONE
FLOOR BROKER FOR THE PURCHASE OR SALE OF THE SAME SECURITY
THAT COULD HAVE EXECUTED AT THE SAME TIME AND PRICE. ON ONE OF
THESE OCCASIONS, A FIRM TRADER ROUTED TWO COMPETING PARENT
ORDERS ON BEHALF OF TWO DIFFERENT PORTFOLIOS MANAGED BY THE
SAME ADVISOR TO TWO DIFFERENT FLOOR BROKER FIRMS. A NUMBER OF
CUSTOMERS WERE INVESTED IN BOTH OF THE PORTFOLIOS. THIS
RESULTED IN EXECUTIONS AT THE SAME TIME AND PRICE OF ORDERS ON
BEHALF OF THE SAME CUSTOMERS BY TWO FLOOR BROKERS IN
CONTRAVENTION (ALBEIT UNINTENTIONALLY) OF NYSE RULE 122. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NYSE RULE 3110(A) AND
(B) (SUPERVISION) BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
(WSPS) REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE
RULE 122. BECAUSE OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE FIRM,
INCLUDING THE FIRM'S FLOOR BROKER OPERATION, THE FIRM HAD THE
SUPERVISORY OBLIGATION TO IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN A REASONABLY
DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO DETECT AND PREVENT ROUTING
POTENTIALLY COMPETING ORDERS FOR THE SAME PRINCIPAL TO TWO
DIFFERENT FLOOR BROKERS. THOUGH THE FIRM, INCLUDING ITS OWN
FLOOR BROKERS, WERE COGNIZANT OF NYSE RULE 122, THE FIRM DID
NOT MAINTAIN WSPS ADDRESSING NYSE RULE 122 (OR SUPERVISORY
REVIEWS SPECIFICALLY RELATED TO COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULE). AS A
RESULT OF THESE SUPERVISORY FAILURES, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT
AND PREVENT THE ROUTING VIOLATION AT ISSUE HERE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/21/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2019-07-00074

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT VIOLATED
NYSE RULE 122 (ORDERS WITH MORE THAN ONE FLOOR BROKER) BY
MAINTAINING ORDERS FOR THE ACCOUNT OF THE SAME PRINCIPAL WITH
TWO DIFFERENT FLOOR BROKERS IN THE SAME SECURITY THAT COULD
EXECUTE AT THE SAME TIME AND PRICE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
CERTAIN DESKS AT THE FIRM THAT HANDLED PROPRIETARY AND/OR
AGENCY FLOWS HAD THE ABILITY TO ROUTE ORDERS TO SEVERAL
FLOOR BROKER FIRMS, INCLUDING TO THE FIRM'S OWN FLOOR BROKER.
THOUGH THE FIRM HAD ROUTING PROTOCOLS IN PLACE THAT MITIGATED
THE RISK OF ORDERS BEING ROUTED IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE RULE,
CERTAIN DESKS COULD AND DID ROUTE ORDERS TO MORE THAN ONE
FLOOR BROKER FOR THE PURCHASE OR SALE OF THE SAME SECURITY
THAT COULD HAVE EXECUTED AT THE SAME TIME AND PRICE. ON ONE OF
THESE OCCASIONS, A FIRM TRADER ROUTED TWO COMPETING PARENT
ORDERS ON BEHALF OF TWO DIFFERENT PORTFOLIOS MANAGED BY THE
SAME ADVISOR TO TWO DIFFERENT FLOOR BROKER FIRMS. A NUMBER OF
CUSTOMERS WERE INVESTED IN BOTH OF THE PORTFOLIOS. THIS
RESULTED IN EXECUTIONS AT THE SAME TIME AND PRICE OF ORDERS ON
BEHALF OF THE SAME CUSTOMERS BY TWO FLOOR BROKERS IN
CONTRAVENTION (ALBEIT UNINTENTIONALLY) OF NYSE RULE 122. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NYSE RULE 3110(A) AND
(B) (SUPERVISION) BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
(WSPS) REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE
RULE 122. BECAUSE OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE FIRM,
INCLUDING THE FIRM'S FLOOR BROKER OPERATION, THE FIRM HAD THE
SUPERVISORY OBLIGATION TO IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN A REASONABLY
DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO DETECT AND PREVENT ROUTING
POTENTIALLY COMPETING ORDERS FOR THE SAME PRINCIPAL TO TWO
DIFFERENT FLOOR BROKERS. THOUGH THE FIRM, INCLUDING ITS OWN
FLOOR BROKERS, WERE COGNIZANT OF NYSE RULE 122, THE FIRM DID
NOT MAINTAIN WSPS ADDRESSING NYSE RULE 122 (OR SUPERVISORY
REVIEWS SPECIFICALLY RELATED TO COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULE). AS A
RESULT OF THESE SUPERVISORY FAILURES, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT
AND PREVENT THE ROUTING VIOLATION AT ISSUE HERE.

Resolution Date: 08/02/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $25,000, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/21/2021

Docket/Case Number: NO. 2019-07-00074

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE LLC ("NYSE") ALLEGED THAT MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) AND BOFA
SECURITIES, INC. (BOFAS) (1) ROUTED TWO COMPETING PARENT ORDERS
ON BEHALF OF TWO DIFFERENT PORTFOLIOS MANAGED BY THE SAME
ADVISOR TO TWO DIFFERENT FLOOR BROKER FIRMS, RESULTING IN
EXECUTIONS AT THE SAME TIME AND PRICE OF ORDERS ON BEHALF OF
THE SAME CUSTOMERS BY TWO FLOOR BROKERS IN VIOLATION
(UNINTENTIONALLY) OF NYSE RULE 122, AND (2) FAILED TO ESTABLISH
AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
NYSE RULE 122 IN VIOLATION OF NYSE RULE 3110(A) AND (B).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/02/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPFS AND BOFAS
AGREED TO THE IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$25,000, ALLOCATED JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY BETWEEN MLPFS AND
BOFAS.  THE FINE WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE
AWC.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPFS AND BOFAS
AGREED TO THE IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$25,000, ALLOCATED JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY BETWEEN MLPFS AND
BOFAS.  THE FINE WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE
AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPFS AND BOFAS
AGREED TO THE IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$25,000, ALLOCATED JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY BETWEEN MLPFS AND
BOFAS.  THE FINE WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE
AWC.

Disclosure 15 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/25/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2017053437701

Principal Product Type: Unit Investment Trust(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE SHORT-TERM TRADING OF UNIT
INVESTMENT TRUSTS (UITS). THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM DID
NOT ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO IDENTIFY CERTAIN EARLY UIT ROLLOVERS. THE FIRM USED
AUTOMATED REPORTS THAT FLAGGED UIT SALES APPROXIMATELY SEVEN
MONTHS AFTER THE UIT WAS FIRST ISSUED, AS WELL AS
REPRESENTATIVES, WHO, WITHIN THE PRECEDING MONTH, EXECUTED
THREE OR MORE UIT SALES WITHIN FOUR MONTHS OF PURCHASE.
HOWEVER, THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE ANY REPORT THAT IDENTIFIED WHEN
A REPRESENTATIVE RECOMMENDED AN EARLY ROLLOVER OF A UIT THAT
HAD BEEN HELD FOR MORE THAN SEVEN MONTHS, OR ANY REPORT THAT
IDENTIFIED WHEN REPRESENTATIVES RECOMMENDED PATTERNS OF
EARLY UIT ROLLOVERS AFTER THE INITIAL SEVEN-MONTH PERIOD. AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THAT ITS REPRESENTATIVES
RECOMMENDED POTENTIALLY UNSUITABLE EARLY SERIES TO SERIES
ROLLOVERS. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO DETECT WHEN ITS
REPRESENTATIVES REPEATEDLY RECOMMENDED OTHER POTENTIALLY
UNSUITABLE ROLLOVERS THAT CAUSED CUSTOMERS TO PAY
UNNECESSARY SALES CHARGES. COLLECTIVELY, THESE EARLY UIT
ROLLOVERS MAY HAVE CAUSED CUSTOMERS TO PAY $8,437,223.38 IN
SALES CHARGES THAT WOULD HAVE NOT INCURRED HAD THEY HELD THE
UITS UNTIL THEIR MATURITY DATES. THE FIRM HAS SINCE ENHANCED ITS
CONTROLS RELEVANT TO THE UIT BUSINESS, INCLUDING BY
IMPLEMENTING NEW AUTOMATED REPORTS TO IDENTIFY PATTERNS OF
UIT LIQUIDATIONS PRIOR TO MATURITY AND BY PROHIBITING EARLY
SERIES TO SERIES ROLLOVERS.

Current Status: Final

77©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 06/25/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $3,250,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY
$8,437,233.38, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS  FINE
PAID IN FULL ON JULY 2, 2021.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $3,250,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Date Initiated: 06/25/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2017053437701

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (THE FIRM) CONSENTED TO
THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA'S
SUITABILITY RULE AS IT PERTAINS TO EARLY ROLLOVERS OF UNIT
INVESTMENT TRUSTS, IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 3010 (FOR CONDUCT
BEFORE DECEMBER 1, 2014), FINRA RULE 3110 (FOR CONDUCT ON OR
AFTER DECEMBER 1, 2014) AND FINRA RULE 2010.  THE FIRM HAS SINCE
ENHANCED ITS CONTROLS RELEVANT TO THE UIT BUSINESS, INCLUDING
BY IMPLEMENTING NEW AUTOMATED REPORTS TO IDENTIFY PATTERNS
OF UIT LIQUIDATIONS PRIOR TO MATURITY AND BY PROHIBITING EARLY
SERIES TO SERIES ROLLOVERS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION, CENSURE

Docket/Case Number: 2017053437701

Principal Product Type: Unit Investment Trust(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/25/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $3,250,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY $8,437,233.38,
PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS.  THE FINE WAS PAID
ON OR AROUND JULY 1, 2021.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $3,250,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY $8,437,233.38,
PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS.  THE FINE WAS PAID
ON OR AROUND JULY 1, 2021.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $3,250,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 16 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CBOE EDGA EXCHANGE, INC.

Date Initiated: 03/17/2021

Docket/Case Number: STAR NO. 20130386840-05 / FILE NO. USRI-7659-08

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED VIOLATED
EDGA RULE 5.1 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND
ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES WHICH ENABLED IT TO SUPERVISE
PROPERLY CERTAIN TYPES OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE EMPLOYEE
COMMUNICATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 03/30/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A CENSURE AND A MONETARY FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $90,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CBOE EDGA EXCHANGE, INC. (EDGA)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/30/2021

Docket/Case Number: STAR NO. 20130386840-05 / FILE NO. USRI-7659-08

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EXCHANGE TRADED NOTE

Allegations: DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE SPECIFIED PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEE DESIGNATIONS AND/OR COMMUNICATIONS IN ONE BUSINESS
UNIT UNDER THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN CONTRAVENTION
OF EDGA RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 03/30/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO EDGA.

Sanction Details: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO EDGA.

Firm Statement DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016 (THE "RELEVANT PERIOD"), AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPF&S) DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE EDGA RULES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES FOR DESIGNATING AND
TRAINING PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL, SUPERVISING
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THEM, AND ESCALATING COMMUNICATIONS
THAT DISCLOSED POTENTIAL MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
("MNPI") WERE NOT REASONABLE. IN PARTICULAR, AND DURING THE
RELEVANT PERIOD, CERTAIN PERSONNEL IN ONE SUB-GROUP WHO WERE
RE-DESIGNATED FROM PUBLIC SIDE TO PRIVATE SIDE UNDER THE FIRM'S
POLICIES DID NOT RECEIVE REASONABLE TRAINING REGARDING THE
RESPONSIBILITIES OF PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL. THE FIRM ALSO DID
NOT REASONABLY ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL SEPARATION OF PUBLIC
AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN THE SUB-GROUP. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM HAD ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES DURING
THE RELEVANT PERIOD, THE PROCEDURES DID NOT DESCRIBE A
REASONABLE PROCESS FOR ESCALATING FOR FURTHER REVIEW
COMMUNICATIONS THAT CONTAINED POTENTIAL MNPI. THE FIRM
ENHANCED ITS PROCEDURES IN JUNE 2016 TO ADDRESS THE ISSUES
IDENTIFIED. BASED ON THE FOREGOING, MLPF&S AGREED TO A CENSURE
AND A FINE OF $90,000 TO EDGA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 17 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED VIOLATED
EDGX RULE 5.1 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND
ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES WHICH ENABLED IT TO SUPERVISE
PROPERLY CERTAIN TYPES OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE EMPLOYEE
COMMUNICATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CBOE EDGX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/17/2021

Docket/Case Number: STAR NO. 20130386840-04 / FILE NO. USRI-7659-07

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED VIOLATED
EDGX RULE 5.1 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND
ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES WHICH ENABLED IT TO SUPERVISE
PROPERLY CERTAIN TYPES OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE EMPLOYEE
COMMUNICATIONS.

Resolution Date: 03/30/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A CENSURE AND A MONETARY FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $90,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CBOE EDGX EXCHANGE, INC. (EDGX)

Date Initiated: 03/30/2021

Allegations: DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE SPECIFIED PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEE DESIGNATIONS AND/OR COMMUNICATIONS IN ONE BUSINESS
UNIT UNDER THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN CONTRAVENTION
OF EDGX RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/30/2021

Docket/Case Number: STAR NO. 20130386840-04 / FILE NO. USRI-7659-07

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EXCHANGE TRADED NOTE

Resolution Date: 03/30/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO EDGX.

Sanction Details: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO EDGX.

Firm Statement DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016 (THE "RELEVANT PERIOD"), AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPF&S) DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE EDGX RULES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES FOR DESIGNATING AND
TRAINING PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL, SUPERVISING
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THEM, AND ESCALATING COMMUNICATIONS
THAT DISCLOSED POTENTIAL MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
("MNPI") WERE NOT REASONABLE. IN PARTICULAR, AND DURING THE
RELEVANT PERIOD, CERTAIN PERSONNEL IN ONE SUB-GROUP WHO WERE
RE-DESIGNATED FROM PUBLIC SIDE TO PRIVATE SIDE UNDER THE FIRM'S
POLICIES DID NOT RECEIVE REASONABLE TRAINING REGARDING THE
RESPONSIBILITIES OF PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL. THE FIRM ALSO DID
NOT REASONABLY ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL SEPARATION OF PUBLIC
AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN THE SUB-GROUP. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM HAD ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES DURING
THE RELEVANT PERIOD, THE PROCEDURES DID NOT DESCRIBE A
REASONABLE PROCESS FOR ESCALATING FOR FURTHER REVIEW
COMMUNICATIONS THAT CONTAINED POTENTIAL MNPI. THE FIRM
ENHANCED ITS PROCEDURES IN JUNE 2016 TO ADDRESS THE ISSUES
IDENTIFIED. BASED ON THE FOREGOING, MLPF&S AGREED TO A CENSURE
AND A FINE OF $90,000 TO EDGX.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Disclosure 18 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/24/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2013038684003

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE EMPLOYEE
COMMUNICATIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM
HAD ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES IN PLACE
DESIGNED TO DETECT THE DISCLOSURE OF POTENTIAL MATERIAL
NONPUBLIC INFORMATION (MNPI), THOSE PROCEDURES WERE NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO REASONABLY
ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL
SEPARATION OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN A GLOBAL
WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SUB-GROUP, TO REASONABLY
TRAIN RE-DESIGNATED PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL ON HOW TO IDENTIFY
AND MONITOR COMMUNICATIONS CONTAINING POTENTIAL MNPI, AND TO
MAINTAIN REASONABLE PROCEDURES REGARDING MONITORING AND
ESCALATION OF COMMUNICATIONS OF POTENTIAL MNPI. THESE FAILURES
TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE SUCH PROCEDURES AND
SYSTEMS EXCLUDED FROM SUPERVISORY REVIEW CERTAIN
CATEGORIES OF COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEES AND CREATED THE RISK THAT POTENTIAL MNPI COULD BE
IMPERMISSIBLY DISCLOSED. THESE FAILURES ALSO INHIBITED THE FIRM'S
ABILITY TO IDENTIFY ANY SUCH POTENTIAL DISCLOSURE AND TO TAKE
REASONABLE STEPS TO MITIGATE OR REMEDIATE ANY POTENTIAL HARM
FROM SUCH DISCLOSURE. LATER, THE FIRM HAD ENHANCED ITS GLOBAL
WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND GLOBAL BANKING AND
MARKETS/GLOBAL COMMERCIAL BANKING PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS
THE DESCRIBED DEFICIENCIES.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 03/24/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $450,000, OF WHICH $90,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO NASDAQ. THE REMAINDER OF THE FINE SHALL BE PAID TO
NYSE ARCA, INC., CBOE EDGX EXCHANGE, INC., CBOE EDGA EXCHANGE,
INC., AND FINRA. ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC IS CONDITIONED UPON
ACCEPTANCE OF SIMILAR SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS IN THIS MATTER
BETWEEN THE FIRM AND EACH OF THE FOLLOWING SELF-REGULATORY
ORGANIZATIONS: NYSE ARCA, INC., CBOE EDGX EXCHANGE, INC., CBOE
EDGA EXCHANGE, INC., AND FINRA.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC (NASDAQ)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/30/2021

Docket/Case Number: MATTER NOS. 2013038684003

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EXCHANGE TRADED NOTE

Allegations: DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE SPECIFIED PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEE DESIGNATIONS AND/OR COMMUNICATIONS IN ONE BUSINESS
UNIT UNDER THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN CONTRAVENTION
OF NASDAQ RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 03/30/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO NASDAQ.

Sanction Details: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO NASDAQ.

Firm Statement DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016 (THE "RELEVANT PERIOD"), AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPF&S) DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE NASDAQ RULES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES FOR DESIGNATING AND
TRAINING PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL, SUPERVISING
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THEM, AND ESCALATING COMMUNICATIONS
THAT DISCLOSED POTENTIAL MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
("MNPI") WERE NOT REASONABLE. IN PARTICULAR, AND DURING THE
RELEVANT PERIOD, CERTAIN PERSONNEL IN ONE SUB-GROUP WHO WERE
RE-DESIGNATED FROM PUBLIC SIDE TO PRIVATE SIDE UNDER THE FIRM'S
POLICIES DID NOT RECEIVE REASONABLE TRAINING REGARDING THE
RESPONSIBILITIES OF PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL. THE FIRM ALSO DID
NOT REASONABLY ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL SEPARATION OF PUBLIC
AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN THE SUB-GROUP. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM HAD ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES DURING
THE RELEVANT PERIOD, THE PROCEDURES DID NOT DESCRIBE A
REASONABLE PROCESS FOR ESCALATING FOR FURTHER REVIEW
COMMUNICATIONS THAT CONTAINED POTENTIAL MNPI. THE FIRM
ENHANCED ITS PROCEDURES IN JUNE 2016 TO ADDRESS THE ISSUES
IDENTIFIED. BASED ON THE FOREGOING, MLPF&S AGREED TO A CENSURE
AND A FINE OF $90,000 TO NASDAQ.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 19 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE EMPLOYEE
COMMUNICATIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM
HAD ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES IN PLACE
DESIGNED TO DETECT THE DISCLOSURE OF POTENTIAL MATERIAL
NONPUBLIC INFORMATION (MNPI), THOSE PROCEDURES WERE NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO REASONABLY
ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL
SEPARATION OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN A GLOBAL
WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SUB-GROUP, TO REASONABLY
TRAIN RE-DESIGNATED PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL ON HOW TO IDENTIFY
AND MONITOR COMMUNICATIONS CONTAINING POTENTIAL MNPI, AND TO
MAINTAIN REASONABLE PROCEDURES REGARDING MONITORING AND
ESCALATION OF COMMUNICATIONS OF POTENTIAL MNPI. THESE FAILURES
TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE SUCH PROCEDURES AND
SYSTEMS EXCLUDED FROM SUPERVISORY REVIEW CERTAIN
CATEGORIES OF COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEES AND CREATED THE RISK THAT POTENTIAL MNPI COULD BE
IMPERMISSIBLY DISCLOSED. THESE FAILURES ALSO INHIBITED THE FIRM'S
ABILITY TO IDENTIFY ANY SUCH POTENTIAL DISCLOSURE AND TO TAKE
REASONABLE STEPS TO MITIGATE OR REMEDIATE ANY POTENTIAL HARM
FROM SUCH DISCLOSURE. LATER, THE FIRM HAD ENHANCED ITS GLOBAL
WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND GLOBAL BANKING AND
MARKETS/GLOBAL COMMERCIAL BANKING PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS
THE DESCRIBED DEFICIENCIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/29/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2013038684002

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE EMPLOYEE
COMMUNICATIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM
HAD ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES IN PLACE
DESIGNED TO DETECT THE DISCLOSURE OF POTENTIAL MATERIAL
NONPUBLIC INFORMATION (MNPI), THOSE PROCEDURES WERE NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO REASONABLY
ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL
SEPARATION OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN A GLOBAL
WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SUB-GROUP, TO REASONABLY
TRAIN RE-DESIGNATED PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL ON HOW TO IDENTIFY
AND MONITOR COMMUNICATIONS CONTAINING POTENTIAL MNPI, AND TO
MAINTAIN REASONABLE PROCEDURES REGARDING MONITORING AND
ESCALATION OF COMMUNICATIONS OF POTENTIAL MNPI. THESE FAILURES
TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE SUCH PROCEDURES AND
SYSTEMS EXCLUDED FROM SUPERVISORY REVIEW CERTAIN
CATEGORIES OF COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEES AND CREATED THE RISK THAT POTENTIAL MNPI COULD BE
IMPERMISSIBLY DISCLOSED. THESE FAILURES ALSO INHIBITED THE FIRM'S
ABILITY TO IDENTIFY ANY SUCH POTENTIAL DISCLOSURE AND TO TAKE
REASONABLE STEPS TO MITIGATE OR REMEDIATE ANY POTENTIAL HARM
FROM SUCH DISCLOSURE. LATER, THE FIRM HAD ENHANCED ITS GLOBAL
WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND GLOBAL BANKING AND
MARKETS/GLOBAL COMMERCIAL BANKING PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS
THE DESCRIBED DEFICIENCIES.

Resolution Date: 03/29/2021

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $450,000, OF WHICH $90,000 SHALL
BE PAYABLE TO NYSE ARCA. THE REMAINDER OF THE FINE SHALL BE PAID
TO THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC, CBOE EDGX EXCHANGE, INC.,
CBOE EDGA EXCHANGE, INC., AND FINRA. ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC IS
CONDITIONED UPON ACCEPTANCE OF SIMILAR SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENTS IN THIS MATTER BETWEEN THE FIRM AND EACH OF THE
FOLLOWING SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS: THE NASDAQ STOCK
MARKET LLC, CBOE EDGX EXCHANGE, INC., CBOE EDGA EXCHANGE, INC.,
AND FINRA.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC. (NYSE ARCA)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/30/2021

Docket/Case Number: MATTER NOS. 2013038684002

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EXCHANGE TRADED NOTE

Allegations: DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE SPECIFIED PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEE DESIGNATIONS AND/OR COMMUNICATIONS IN ONE BUSINESS
UNIT UNDER THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN CONTRAVENTION
OF NYSE ARCA RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 03/30/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO NYSE ARCA.

Sanction Details: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO NYSE ARCA.

Firm Statement DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016 (THE "RELEVANT PERIOD"), AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPF&S) DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE NYSE ARCA RULES. DURING THE
RELEVANT PERIOD, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES FOR
DESIGNATING AND TRAINING PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL,
SUPERVISING COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THEM, AND ESCALATING
COMMUNICATIONS THAT DISCLOSED POTENTIAL MATERIAL NONPUBLIC
INFORMATION ("MNPI") WERE NOT REASONABLE. IN PARTICULAR, AND
DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, CERTAIN PERSONNEL IN ONE SUB-
GROUP WHO WERE RE-DESIGNATED FROM PUBLIC SIDE TO PRIVATE SIDE
UNDER THE FIRM'S POLICIES DID NOT RECEIVE REASONABLE TRAINING
REGARDING THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL. THE
FIRM ALSO DID NOT REASONABLY ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES DURING
THE RELEVANT PERIOD REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL
SEPARATION OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN THE SUB-
GROUP. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION
REVIEW PROCEDURES DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, THE
PROCEDURES DID NOT DESCRIBE A REASONABLE PROCESS FOR
ESCALATING FOR FURTHER REVIEW COMMUNICATIONS THAT CONTAINED
POTENTIAL MNPI. THE FIRM ENHANCED ITS PROCEDURES IN JUNE 2016
TO ADDRESS THE ISSUES IDENTIFIED. BASED ON THE FOREGOING,
MLPF&S AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A FINE OF $90,000 TO NYSE ARCA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 20 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE CERTAIN TYPES OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEE COMMUNICATIONS UNDER ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD ELECTRONIC
COMMUNICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES IN PLACE DESIGNED TO DETECT
THE DISCLOSURE OF POTENTIAL MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
(MNPI), THOSE PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED. THE
FIRM ALSO FAILED TO REASONABLY ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES
REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL SEPARATION OF PUBLIC AND
PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN A GLOBAL WEALTH AND INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT SUB-GROUP, TO REASONABLY TRAIN RE-DESIGNATED
PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL ON HOW TO IDENTIFY AND MONITOR
COMMUNICATIONS CONTAINING POTENTIAL MNPI, AND TO MAINTAIN
REASONABLE PROCEDURES REGARDING MONITORING AND ESCALATION
OF COMMUNICATIONS OF POTENTIAL MNPI. THESE FAILURES TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE SUCH PROCEDURES AND SYSTEMS
EXCLUDED FROM SUPERVISORY REVIEW CERTAIN CATEGORIES OF
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE EMPLOYEES AND
CREATED THE RISK THAT POTENTIAL MNPI COULD BE IMPERMISSIBLY
DISCLOSED. THESE FAILURES ALSO INHIBITED THE FIRM'S ABILITY TO
IDENTIFY ANY SUCH POTENTIAL DISCLOSURE AND TO TAKE REASONABLE
STEPS TO MITIGATE OR REMEDIATE ANY POTENTIAL HARM FROM SUCH
DISCLOSURE. LATER, THE FIRM HAD ENHANCED ITS GLOBAL WEALTH AND
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND GLOBAL BANKING AND
MARKETS/GLOBAL COMMERCIAL BANKING PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS
THE DESCRIBED DEFICIENCIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/30/2021

Docket/Case Number: 2013038684001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE CERTAIN TYPES OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEE COMMUNICATIONS UNDER ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD ELECTRONIC
COMMUNICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES IN PLACE DESIGNED TO DETECT
THE DISCLOSURE OF POTENTIAL MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
(MNPI), THOSE PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED. THE
FIRM ALSO FAILED TO REASONABLY ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES
REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL SEPARATION OF PUBLIC AND
PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN A GLOBAL WEALTH AND INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT SUB-GROUP, TO REASONABLY TRAIN RE-DESIGNATED
PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL ON HOW TO IDENTIFY AND MONITOR
COMMUNICATIONS CONTAINING POTENTIAL MNPI, AND TO MAINTAIN
REASONABLE PROCEDURES REGARDING MONITORING AND ESCALATION
OF COMMUNICATIONS OF POTENTIAL MNPI. THESE FAILURES TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE SUCH PROCEDURES AND SYSTEMS
EXCLUDED FROM SUPERVISORY REVIEW CERTAIN CATEGORIES OF
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE EMPLOYEES AND
CREATED THE RISK THAT POTENTIAL MNPI COULD BE IMPERMISSIBLY
DISCLOSED. THESE FAILURES ALSO INHIBITED THE FIRM'S ABILITY TO
IDENTIFY ANY SUCH POTENTIAL DISCLOSURE AND TO TAKE REASONABLE
STEPS TO MITIGATE OR REMEDIATE ANY POTENTIAL HARM FROM SUCH
DISCLOSURE. LATER, THE FIRM HAD ENHANCED ITS GLOBAL WEALTH AND
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND GLOBAL BANKING AND
MARKETS/GLOBAL COMMERCIAL BANKING PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS
THE DESCRIBED DEFICIENCIES.

Resolution Date: 03/30/2021

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $450,000, OF WHICH
$90,000 IS PAYABLE TO FINRA. THE REMAINDER OF THE FINE SHALL BE
PAID TO NYSE ARCA, INC., THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC, CHOE EDGX
EXCHANGE, INC., AND CBOE EDGA EXCHANGE, INC. ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC IS CONDITIONED UPON ACCEPTANCE OF SIMILAR SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENTS IN THIS MATTER BETWEEN THE FIRM AND EACH OF THE
FOLLOWING SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS: NYSE ARCA, INC., THE
NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC, CBOE EDGX EXCHANGE, INC., AND CBOE
EDGA EXCHANGE, INC. FINE PAID IN FULL ON APRIL 12, 2021.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY (FINRA)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/30/2021

Docket/Case Number: MATTER NOS. 2013038684001

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EXCHANGE TRADED NOTE

Allegations: DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED DID NOT
REASONABLY SUPERVISE SPECIFIED PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE
EMPLOYEE DESIGNATIONS AND/OR COMMUNICATIONS IN ONE BUSINESS
UNIT UNDER THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN CONTRAVENTION
OF FINRA RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/30/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO FINRA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO FINRA.

Sanction Details: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $90,000 TO FINRA.

Firm Statement DURING THE PERIOD OF APPROXIMATELY SEPTEMBER 1, 2013 THROUGH
JUNE 2016 (THE "RELEVANT PERIOD"), AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPF&S) DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FINRA RULES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES FOR DESIGNATING AND
TRAINING PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL, SUPERVISING
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THEM, AND ESCALATING COMMUNICATIONS
THAT DISCLOSED POTENTIAL MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
("MNPI") WERE NOT REASONABLE. IN PARTICULAR, AND DURING THE
RELEVANT PERIOD, CERTAIN PERSONNEL IN ONE SUB-GROUP WHO WERE
RE-DESIGNATED FROM PUBLIC SIDE TO PRIVATE SIDE UNDER THE FIRM'S
POLICIES DID NOT RECEIVE REASONABLE TRAINING REGARDING THE
RESPONSIBILITIES OF PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL. THE FIRM ALSO DID
NOT REASONABLY ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD REQUIRING FUNCTIONAL AND PHYSICAL SEPARATION OF PUBLIC
AND PRIVATE SIDE PERSONNEL WITHIN THE SUB-GROUP. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM HAD ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES DURING
THE RELEVANT PERIOD, THE PROCEDURES DID NOT DESCRIBE A
REASONABLE PROCESS FOR ESCALATING FOR FURTHER REVIEW
COMMUNICATIONS THAT CONTAINED POTENTIAL MNPI. THE FIRM
ENHANCED ITS PROCEDURES IN JUNE 2016 TO ADDRESS THE ISSUES
IDENTIFIED. BASED ON THE FOREGOING, MLPF&S AGREED TO A CENSURE
AND A FINE OF $90,000 TO FINRA.

Disclosure 21 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NEW HAMPSHIRE
SECURITIES REGULATION

Date Initiated: 12/07/2020

Docket/Case Number: COM2019-0000

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s): I/L ETFS, IPOS

Allegations: FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

Current Status: Final

92©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINES, COSTS, UNDERTAKINGS

Resolution Date: 12/07/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COSTS $250,000 AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: RESTITUTION ORDERED IS $24,250,000.00.

Regulator Statement MERRILL LYNCH AGENT CHARLES KENAHAN SERVICED THE ACCOUNTS
OF A HIGH NET WORTH NEW HAMPSHIRE CITIZEN AND HIS FAMILY FROM
2007 TO 2018. KENAHAN ENGAGED IN UNAUTHORIZED TRADING,
MISMARKED TICKETS, EXCESSIVE TRADING, UNSUITABLE USE OF I/L ETFS
AND OVER CHARGING COMMISSIONS.ML HAD POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES IN PLACE THAT ARE SUPPOSE TO BE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE THE CONDUCT OF ITS AGENTS AND PREVENT
THE TYPE OF TRADING THAT OCCURRED IN THE CITIZEN'S ACCOUNTS.
SUITABILITY REVIEWS SHOULD HAVE BEEN CONDUCTED BY PRINCIPALS.
EXCESSIVE TRADING AND THE ABOVE CONDUCT WAS PROHIBITED. HAD
MERRILL FOLLOWED ITS OWN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IT WOULD
HAVE DISCOVERED THE ABOVE DESCRIBED TRADING. MERRILL LYNCH
FAILED TO FULFILL ITS SUPERVISORY OBLIGATIONS WITH RESPECT TO
THE NEW HAMPSHIRE CITIZEN ACCOUNTS RESULTING IN HEAVY LOSSES.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,750,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS, VIOLATIONS OR
STATEMENTS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF A
CONSENT ORDER THAT ALLEGED THE FIRM VIOLATED RSA 421-B:8, X
(PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 2016) AND RSA 421-B:4-406(K) (ON OR AFTER
JANUARY 1, 2016) FOR FAILING TO ABIDE BY FINRA RULE 3110; AND
VIOLATED RSA 421-B:10, I(A) AND (B)(10) (PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 2016) AND
RSA 421-B:4-412(D)(9) (ON OR AFTER JANUARY 1, 2016) FOR FAILING TO
DETECT AND REASONABLY SUPERVISE A FORMER REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S OVERCHARGING AN INVESTOR, EXCESSIVE TRADING,
MISMARKED CONFIRMATIONS, AND UNSUITABLE TRADING OF IPOS AND
INVERSE AND LEVERAGED ETFS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; COSTS; RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 12/07/2020

Docket/Case Number: COM2019-000

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s): INVERSE AND LEVERAGED EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS (ETFS) AND INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERINGS (IPOS).

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS, VIOLATIONS OR
STATEMENTS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF A
CONSENT ORDER THAT ALLEGED THE FIRM VIOLATED RSA 421-B:8, X
(PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 2016) AND RSA 421-B:4-406(K) (ON OR AFTER
JANUARY 1, 2016) FOR FAILING TO ABIDE BY FINRA RULE 3110; AND
VIOLATED RSA 421-B:10, I(A) AND (B)(10) (PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 2016) AND
RSA 421-B:4-412(D)(9) (ON OR AFTER JANUARY 1, 2016) FOR FAILING TO
DETECT AND REASONABLY SUPERVISE A FORMER REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S OVERCHARGING AN INVESTOR, EXCESSIVE TRADING,
MISMARKED CONFIRMATIONS, AND UNSUITABLE TRADING OF IPOS AND
INVERSE AND LEVERAGED ETFS.

Resolution Date: 12/07/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY COSTS OF $250,000.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS, VIOLATIONS OR
STATEMENTS OF LAW, THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO (1) CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ANY VIOLATIONS OF N.H. RSA 421-B, (2) PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE OF $1,750,000, (3) PAY COSTS OF $250,000, AND (4) UPON THE
EXECUTION OF THE CONSENT ORDER AND THE CONTEMPORANEOUS
EXECUTION OF A PRIVATE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT TO RESOLVE AN
INVESTOR'S ARBITRATION CLAIMS, TO PAY RESTITUTION TO THE
INVESTOR IN THE AMOUNT OF $24,250,000 TO RESOLVE THE INVESTOR'S
ARBITRATION CLAIMS.  THE FINE, COSTS, AND THE RESTITUTION WILL BE
PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE CONSENT ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS, VIOLATIONS OR
STATEMENTS OF LAW, THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO (1) CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ANY VIOLATIONS OF N.H. RSA 421-B, (2) PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE OF $1,750,000, (3) PAY COSTS OF $250,000, AND (4) UPON THE
EXECUTION OF THE CONSENT ORDER AND THE CONTEMPORANEOUS
EXECUTION OF A PRIVATE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT TO RESOLVE AN
INVESTOR'S ARBITRATION CLAIMS, TO PAY RESTITUTION TO THE
INVESTOR IN THE AMOUNT OF $24,250,000 TO RESOLVE THE INVESTOR'S
ARBITRATION CLAIMS.  THE FINE, COSTS, AND THE RESTITUTION WILL BE
PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE CONSENT ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,750,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS, VIOLATIONS OR
STATEMENTS OF LAW, THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO (1) CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ANY VIOLATIONS OF N.H. RSA 421-B, (2) PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE OF $1,750,000, (3) PAY COSTS OF $250,000, AND (4) UPON THE
EXECUTION OF THE CONSENT ORDER AND THE CONTEMPORANEOUS
EXECUTION OF A PRIVATE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT TO RESOLVE AN
INVESTOR'S ARBITRATION CLAIMS, TO PAY RESTITUTION TO THE
INVESTOR IN THE AMOUNT OF $24,250,000 TO RESOLVE THE INVESTOR'S
ARBITRATION CLAIMS.  THE FINE, COSTS, AND THE RESTITUTION WILL BE
PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE CONSENT ORDER.

Disclosure 22 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/30/2020

Docket/Case Number: 20-005-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES

Allegations: PURSUANT TO 9 V.S.A § 5602(A), THE VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF
FINANCIAL REGULATION (THE "DEPARTMENT") ALLEGED THAT MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH")
ENTERED A JUNE 23, 2016 U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
(THE "SEC") ORDER INSTITUTING CEASE AND DESIST PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, MAKING
FINDINGS AND IMPOSING CEASE AND DESIST ORDER (THE "SEC ORDER")
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH.  THE CONDUCT INVESTIGATED RELATED TO
THE PURCHASE BY VERMONT RESIDENTS OF STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES
LINKED TO INVESTABLE VOLATILITY INDEX ("SRNS"). THE DEPARTMENT
ALLEGED THAT THE SRNS WERE PURCHASED BY 26 VERMONT
INVESTORS AND THAT THE OFFERING MATERIALS THAT WERE THE
SUBJECT OF THE SEC ORDER WERE THE SAME AS THOSE AVAILABLE TO
VERMONT INVESTORS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/30/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $125,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Stipulation and Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY OF
$125,000. THE FIRM WILL PAY THE ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY WITHIN SIXTY
DAYS OF THE STIPULATION AND CONSENT ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, EXCEPT THAT MERRILL
LYNCH ENTERED INTO A JUNE 23, 2016 U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION (THE "SEC") ORDER INSTITUTING CEASE AND DESIST
PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933, MAKING FINDINGS AND IMPOSING CEASE AND DESIST ORDER (THE
 "SEC ORDER"), MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO A STIPULATION AND
CONSENT ORDER WITH VERMONT, CONSENTING TO SANCTIONS AND TO
THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT MERRILL LYNCH MAY BE DISCIPLINED
UNDER 9 V.S.A. § 5412(D)(12) (THE "ACT") FOR BEING THE SUBJECT OF THE
SEC ORDER. THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE
PENALTY OF $125,000 WITHIN SIXTY DAYS OF THE ENTRY INTO THE
STIPULATION AND CONSENT ORDER.

Disclosure 23 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT REPORTED
SHORT SALES TO A TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (TRF) WITHOUT A
REQUIRED SHORT SALE INDICATOR. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THOSE
TRADES OCCURRED ON THE FIRM'S CONVERTIBLES DESK AND RESULTED
FROM A CODING ERROR IN THE ORDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (OMS)
USED BY THAT DESK. THIS ERROR RESULTED FROM A SYSTEMIC
PROGRAMMING ISSUE WHEN A FIRM TRADER ATTEMPTED TO CROSS
CUSTOMER ORDERS ON AN AGENCY BASIS, WHILE PROVIDING A PARTIAL
PRINCIPAL FILL TO CUSTOMERS. IN SUCH AN INSTANCE, THE
PROGRAMMING ISSUE CAUSED THE AGENCY CROSS TRADE TO BE
REPORTED IN THE SAME MANNER AS THE PRINCIPAL FILL. THE FIRM DID
NOT DISCOVER THIS PROBLEM UNTIL FINRA INQUIRED ABOUT IT.
ANOTHER INQUIRY FLAGGED TRANSACTIONS IN DIFFERENT STOCKS AS
HAVING BEEN IMPROPERLY REPORTED TO A TRF. CERTAIN FIRM TRADERS
AT THE TIME WERE AUTHORIZED TO EFFECT TRANSFERS OF SHARES TO
DIFFERENT BUT AFFILIATED LEGAL ENTITIES UNDER THE COMMON
CONTROL OF THAT TRADER OR TRADING DESK. THESE TRANSFERS WERE
EFFECTED VIA AN APPLICATION CALLED THE BOOKING TOOL. THE
TRANSACTIONS RESULTED IN CHANGES IN BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP FOR
THE POSITIONS IN QUESTION, TRIGGERING THE FIRM'S REQUIREMENT TO
REPORT THE TRANSACTIONS AS TRADES. THE BOOKING TOOL WAS NOT
PROGRAMMED TO AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURE THE TRANSFERRING
AFFILIATES' POSITIONS IN THE EQUITIES SUBJECT TO TRANSFER. WHEN
REPORTING THESE TRANSACTIONS TO A TRF, TRADERS DID NOT CHECK
WHETHER THE TRANSFERRING ENTITY WAS LONG OR SHORT THE STOCK,
AND THE FIRM REPORTED ALL SUCH TRANSFERS AS LONG SALES. THE
TRANSACTIONS FLAGGED DURING THE EXAM SHOULD HAVE BEEN
REPORTED TO A TRF WITH A SHORT SALE INDICATOR, AS THE SELLING
ENTITY WAS SHORT THE SECURITY AT THE TIME OF TRANSFER. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE RULES. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY MARKED
PRINCIPAL SELL ORDERS IN SHARES OF A SINGLE COMPANY AS LONG
SALES, WHEN IT SHOULD HAVE MARKED THE TRADES AS SHORT SALES.
THE MISMARKING ISSUE OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF A TIMING ERROR
RELATED TO THE FIRM'S ORDER MANAGEMENT AND POSITION
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS. THE FIRM DID NOT DISCOVER THIS ERROR
UNTIL A FINRA INQUIRY. UPON LEARNING OF THE ERROR, THE FIRM
SUSPENDED THE HEDGING STRATEGY THAT LED TO THE MISMARKING OF
ORDERS. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS,
INCLUDING ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, IN THE AREA OF SHORT
SALE TRADE REPORTING WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS TRADE REPORTING OBLIGATIONS. NONE
OF THE FIRM'S EXCEPTION REPORTS OR SURVEILLANCE ALERTS
APPLICABLE TO THE SYSTEMS FLAGGED TRADES THAT WERE REPORTED
TO A TRF WITH MISSING OR INACCURATE SHORT SALE INDICATORS. FINRA
FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE
WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
PREVENT THE EXECUTION OR DISPLAY OF SHORT SALE ORDERS AT
PRICES AT OR BELOW THE NATIONAL BEST BID DURING A SHORT SALE
CIRCUIT BREAKER. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM REPORTED NON-
MEDIA TRANSACTIONS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM (NMS) EQUITY
SECURITIES TO THE FNTRF WITH INACCURATE CAPACITY CODES. THE
TRANSACTIONS WERE INCORRECTLY REPORTED AS PRINCIPAL
TRANSACTIONS, WHEN THEY SHOULD HAVE BEEN REPORTED AS
RISKLESS PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM INFORMED FINRA THAT IT
HAD CORRECTED THE ISSUE. HOWEVER, FINRA STAFF LATER
DISCOVERED THAT THE ISSUE PERSISTED.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/22/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2015045603201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT REPORTED
SHORT SALES TO A TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (TRF) WITHOUT A
REQUIRED SHORT SALE INDICATOR. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THOSE
TRADES OCCURRED ON THE FIRM'S CONVERTIBLES DESK AND RESULTED
FROM A CODING ERROR IN THE ORDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (OMS)
USED BY THAT DESK. THIS ERROR RESULTED FROM A SYSTEMIC
PROGRAMMING ISSUE WHEN A FIRM TRADER ATTEMPTED TO CROSS
CUSTOMER ORDERS ON AN AGENCY BASIS, WHILE PROVIDING A PARTIAL
PRINCIPAL FILL TO CUSTOMERS. IN SUCH AN INSTANCE, THE
PROGRAMMING ISSUE CAUSED THE AGENCY CROSS TRADE TO BE
REPORTED IN THE SAME MANNER AS THE PRINCIPAL FILL. THE FIRM DID
NOT DISCOVER THIS PROBLEM UNTIL FINRA INQUIRED ABOUT IT.
ANOTHER INQUIRY FLAGGED TRANSACTIONS IN DIFFERENT STOCKS AS
HAVING BEEN IMPROPERLY REPORTED TO A TRF. CERTAIN FIRM TRADERS
AT THE TIME WERE AUTHORIZED TO EFFECT TRANSFERS OF SHARES TO
DIFFERENT BUT AFFILIATED LEGAL ENTITIES UNDER THE COMMON
CONTROL OF THAT TRADER OR TRADING DESK. THESE TRANSFERS WERE
EFFECTED VIA AN APPLICATION CALLED THE BOOKING TOOL. THE
TRANSACTIONS RESULTED IN CHANGES IN BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP FOR
THE POSITIONS IN QUESTION, TRIGGERING THE FIRM'S REQUIREMENT TO
REPORT THE TRANSACTIONS AS TRADES. THE BOOKING TOOL WAS NOT
PROGRAMMED TO AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURE THE TRANSFERRING
AFFILIATES' POSITIONS IN THE EQUITIES SUBJECT TO TRANSFER. WHEN
REPORTING THESE TRANSACTIONS TO A TRF, TRADERS DID NOT CHECK
WHETHER THE TRANSFERRING ENTITY WAS LONG OR SHORT THE STOCK,
AND THE FIRM REPORTED ALL SUCH TRANSFERS AS LONG SALES. THE
TRANSACTIONS FLAGGED DURING THE EXAM SHOULD HAVE BEEN
REPORTED TO A TRF WITH A SHORT SALE INDICATOR, AS THE SELLING
ENTITY WAS SHORT THE SECURITY AT THE TIME OF TRANSFER. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE RULES. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY MARKED
PRINCIPAL SELL ORDERS IN SHARES OF A SINGLE COMPANY AS LONG
SALES, WHEN IT SHOULD HAVE MARKED THE TRADES AS SHORT SALES.
THE MISMARKING ISSUE OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF A TIMING ERROR
RELATED TO THE FIRM'S ORDER MANAGEMENT AND POSITION
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS. THE FIRM DID NOT DISCOVER THIS ERROR
UNTIL A FINRA INQUIRY. UPON LEARNING OF THE ERROR, THE FIRM
SUSPENDED THE HEDGING STRATEGY THAT LED TO THE MISMARKING OF
ORDERS. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS,
INCLUDING ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, IN THE AREA OF SHORT
SALE TRADE REPORTING WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS TRADE REPORTING OBLIGATIONS. NONE
OF THE FIRM'S EXCEPTION REPORTS OR SURVEILLANCE ALERTS
APPLICABLE TO THE SYSTEMS FLAGGED TRADES THAT WERE REPORTED
TO A TRF WITH MISSING OR INACCURATE SHORT SALE INDICATORS. FINRA
FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE
WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
PREVENT THE EXECUTION OR DISPLAY OF SHORT SALE ORDERS AT
PRICES AT OR BELOW THE NATIONAL BEST BID DURING A SHORT SALE
CIRCUIT BREAKER. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM REPORTED NON-
MEDIA TRANSACTIONS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM (NMS) EQUITY
SECURITIES TO THE FNTRF WITH INACCURATE CAPACITY CODES. THE
TRANSACTIONS WERE INCORRECTLY REPORTED AS PRINCIPAL
TRANSACTIONS, WHEN THEY SHOULD HAVE BEEN REPORTED AS
RISKLESS PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM INFORMED FINRA THAT IT
HAD CORRECTED THE ISSUE. HOWEVER, FINRA STAFF LATER
DISCOVERED THAT THE ISSUE PERSISTED.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 07/22/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
AUGUST 3, 2020.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT (1)
REPORTED SHORT SALES TO A TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (TRF)
WITHOUT A REQUIRED SHORT SALE INDICATOR IN VIOLATION OF FINRA
RULES 6182 AND 2010, (2) INCORRECTLY MARKED PRINCIPAL SELL
ORDERS AS LONG SALES, WHEN THE FIRM SHOULD HAVE MARKED THE
ORDERS AS SHORT SALES IN VIOLATION OF RULE 200(G) OF REGULATION
SHO AND FINRA RULE 2010, (3) FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULE 6182 AND RULE 200(G) OF REGULATION
SHO, IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULES 3110 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING ON
OR AFTER DECEMBER 1, 2014) AND 2010 AND NASD RULE 3010 (FOR
CONDUCT OCCURRING PRIOR TO DECEMBER 1, 2014), (4) FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE EXECUTION OR
DISPLAY OF SHORT SALE ORDERS AT PRICES AT OR BELOW THE
NATIONAL BEST BID DURING A SHORT SALE CIRCUIT BREAKER, IN
VIOLATION OF RULE 201(B) OF REGULATION SHO, FINRA RULES 2010 AND
3110 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING ON OR AFTER DECEMBER 1, 2014) AND
NASD RULE 3010 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING PRIOR TO DECEMBER 1,
2014), AND (5) REPORTED CERTAIN NON-MEDIA TRANSACTIONS IN
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM EQUITY SECURITIES TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY WITH INACCURATE CAPACITY CODES (THE
TRANSACTIONS WERE INCORRECTLY REPORTED AS PRINCIPAL
TRANSACTIONS, WHEN THEY SHOULD HAVE BEEN REPORTED AS
RISKLESS PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS), IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULES
7230A AND 2010 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING ON OR AFTER DECEMBER
15, 2008) AND NASD RULES 6130 AND 2110 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING
PRIOR TO DECEMBER 15, 2008).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/22/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2015045603201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT (1)
REPORTED SHORT SALES TO A TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (TRF)
WITHOUT A REQUIRED SHORT SALE INDICATOR IN VIOLATION OF FINRA
RULES 6182 AND 2010, (2) INCORRECTLY MARKED PRINCIPAL SELL
ORDERS AS LONG SALES, WHEN THE FIRM SHOULD HAVE MARKED THE
ORDERS AS SHORT SALES IN VIOLATION OF RULE 200(G) OF REGULATION
SHO AND FINRA RULE 2010, (3) FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULE 6182 AND RULE 200(G) OF REGULATION
SHO, IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULES 3110 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING ON
OR AFTER DECEMBER 1, 2014) AND 2010 AND NASD RULE 3010 (FOR
CONDUCT OCCURRING PRIOR TO DECEMBER 1, 2014), (4) FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE EXECUTION OR
DISPLAY OF SHORT SALE ORDERS AT PRICES AT OR BELOW THE
NATIONAL BEST BID DURING A SHORT SALE CIRCUIT BREAKER, IN
VIOLATION OF RULE 201(B) OF REGULATION SHO, FINRA RULES 2010 AND
3110 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING ON OR AFTER DECEMBER 1, 2014) AND
NASD RULE 3010 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING PRIOR TO DECEMBER 1,
2014), AND (5) REPORTED CERTAIN NON-MEDIA TRANSACTIONS IN
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM EQUITY SECURITIES TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY WITH INACCURATE CAPACITY CODES (THE
TRANSACTIONS WERE INCORRECTLY REPORTED AS PRINCIPAL
TRANSACTIONS, WHEN THEY SHOULD HAVE BEEN REPORTED AS
RISKLESS PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS), IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULES
7230A AND 2010 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING ON OR AFTER DECEMBER
15, 2008) AND NASD RULES 6130 AND 2110 (FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING
PRIOR TO DECEMBER 15, 2008).

Resolution Date: 07/22/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 24 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT, ACTING AS
A DISTRIBUTION PARTICIPANT IN A COVERED SECURITY'S OFFERING,
PURCHASED SHARES OF THE COVERED SECURITY FOR ITS PROPRIETARY
ACCOUNT DURING THE RESTRICTED PERIOD, IN VIOLATION OF RULE 101
OF REGULATION M (RULE 101) PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALL OF THESE
TRANSACTIONS OCCURRED ON THE FIRM'S CASH DESK. THE FIRM FAILED
TO IMPLEMENT A PRINCIPAL TRADING RESTRICTION IN THE COVERED
SECURITY BECAUSE THE CASH DESK DID NOT COMMUNICATE TO THE
CONTROL ROOM THE NEED TO PLACE THE SECURITY ON THE FIRM'S
RESTRICTED SECURITY LIST. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING ITS WSPS, WAS NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 101.
SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S REGULATION M WSP MANUALS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE CASH
DESK COMMUNICATED TO THE CONTROL ROOM THE NEED TO PLACE A
SECURITY ON THE FIRM'S RESTRICTED SECURITY LIST. THE FIRM
IMPLEMENTED PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS THIS DEFICIENCY FOLLOWING
THE RESTRICTED PERIOD.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/08/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2016050809102

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): COVERED SECURITY

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT, ACTING AS
A DISTRIBUTION PARTICIPANT IN A COVERED SECURITY'S OFFERING,
PURCHASED SHARES OF THE COVERED SECURITY FOR ITS PROPRIETARY
ACCOUNT DURING THE RESTRICTED PERIOD, IN VIOLATION OF RULE 101
OF REGULATION M (RULE 101) PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALL OF THESE
TRANSACTIONS OCCURRED ON THE FIRM'S CASH DESK. THE FIRM FAILED
TO IMPLEMENT A PRINCIPAL TRADING RESTRICTION IN THE COVERED
SECURITY BECAUSE THE CASH DESK DID NOT COMMUNICATE TO THE
CONTROL ROOM THE NEED TO PLACE THE SECURITY ON THE FIRM'S
RESTRICTED SECURITY LIST. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING ITS WSPS, WAS NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 101.
SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S REGULATION M WSP MANUALS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE CASH
DESK COMMUNICATED TO THE CONTROL ROOM THE NEED TO PLACE A
SECURITY ON THE FIRM'S RESTRICTED SECURITY LIST. THE FIRM
IMPLEMENTED PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS THIS DEFICIENCY FOLLOWING
THE RESTRICTED PERIOD.

Resolution Date: 07/08/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $2,800.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,800.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/08/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2016050809102

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): OTHER COVERED SECURITY

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT, ACTING AS
A DISTRIBUTION PARTICIPANT IN A COVERED SECURITY'S OFFERING,
PURCHASED SHARES OF THE COVERED SECURITY FOR THE FIRM'S
PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT DURING THE RESTRICTED PERIOD, IN VIOLATION
OF RULE 101 OF REGULATION M PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.  NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC (NASDAQ) ALSO
ALLEGED THAT, DURING THE RESTRICTED PERIOD, THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES, WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 101, IN VIOLATION OF NASDAQ RULES 3010 AND
2010A.  IN PARTICULAR, NASDAQ ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM'S REGULATION
M WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES MANUALS FAILED TO ESTABLISH
A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE CASH DESK
COMMUNICATED TO THE CONTROL ROOM THE NEED TO PLACE A
SECURITY ON THE FIRM'S RESTRICTED SECURITY LIST.  THE FIRM
IMPLEMENTED PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS THIS DEFICIENCY FOLLOWING
THE RESTRICTED PERIOD.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/08/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $2,800.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,800.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $2,800.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $2,800.

Disclosure 25 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASDAQ BX, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/08/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2016050809101

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): COVERED SECURITY

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT, ACTING AS
A DISTRIBUTION PARTICIPANT IN A COVERED SECURITY'S OFFERING,
PURCHASED SHARES OF THE COVERED SECURITY FOR ITS PROPRIETARY
ACCOUNT DURING THE RESTRICTED PERIOD, IN VIOLATION OF RULE 101
OF REGULATION M (RULE 101) PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALL OF THESE
TRANSACTIONS OCCURRED ON THE FIRM'S CASH DESK. THE FIRM FAILED
TO IMPLEMENT A PRINCIPAL TRADING RESTRICTION IN THE COVERED
SECURITY BECAUSE THE CASH DESK DID NOT COMMUNICATE TO THE
CONTROL ROOM THE NEED TO PLACE THE SECURITY ON THE FIRM'S
RESTRICTED SECURITY LIST. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING ITS WSPS, WAS NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 101.
SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S REGULATION M WSP MANUALS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE CASH
DESK COMMUNICATED TO THE CONTROL ROOM THE NEED TO PLACE A
SECURITY ON THE FIRM'S RESTRICTED SECURITY LIST. THE FIRM
IMPLEMENTED PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS THIS DEFICIENCY FOLLOWING
THE RESTRICTED PERIOD.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/08/2020

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $2,400.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,400.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ BX, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/08/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2016050809101

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): OTHER COVERED SECURITY

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT, ACTING AS
A DISTRIBUTION PARTICIPANT IN A COVERED SECURITY'S OFFERING,
PURCHASED SHARES OF THE COVERED SECURITY FOR THE FIRM'S
PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT DURING THE RESTRICTED PERIOD, IN VIOLATION
OF RULE 101 OF REGULATION M PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.  NASDAQ BX, INC. (BX) ALSO ALLEGED THAT,
DURING THE RESTRICTED PERIOD, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM,
INCLUDING ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, WAS NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 101, IN
VIOLATION OF BX RULES 3010 AND 2110.  IN PARTICULAR, BX ALLEGED
THAT THE FIRM'S REGULATION M WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
MANUALS FAILED TO ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO DETERMINE
WHETHER THE CASH DESK COMMUNICATED TO THE CONTROL ROOM THE
NEED TO PLACE A SECURITY ON THE FIRM'S RESTRICTED SECURITY LIST.
THE FIRM IMPLEMENTED PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS THIS DEFICIENCY
FOLLOWING THE RESTRICTED PERIOD.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 07/08/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $2,400.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $2,400.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,400.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 26 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CONNECTICUT

Date Initiated: 06/23/2020

Docket/Case Number: CO-20-8249-S

Allegations: ON JUNE 23, 2020, THE BANKING COMMISSIONER ENTERED A CONSENT
ORDER (DOCKET NO. CO-20-8249-S) WITH RESPECT TO MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH"), A
CONNECTICUT-REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER.  THE CONSENT ORDER
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED SECTION 36B-31-6F OF THE
REGULATIONS UNDER THE CONNECTICUT UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT BY
FAILING TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES FOR SUPERVISING
THE ACTIVITIES OF ITS AGENTS, INVESTMENT ADVISER AGENTS AND
CONNECTICUT OFFICE OPERATIONS.  MORE SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM
ALLEGEDLY FAILED TO SUPERVISE A FORMER AGENT WHO, DURING HIS
TENURE WITH THE FIRM, ENGAGED IN UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; USED
THE FIRM'S E-MAIL SYSTEM IN CONNECTION WITH AN UNAPPROVED
PRIVATE SECURITIES TRANSACTION; AND INCORRECTLY MARKED TRADE
TICKETS AS UNSOLICITED.  THE CONSENT ORDER ACKNOWLEDGED THAT,
IN 2015, THE FIRM PAID $450,000 IN RESTITUTION TO THE CONNECTICUT
INVESTOR ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY THE FORMER AGENT'S
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING.  THE CONSENT ORDER ALSO ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED SECTION 36B-14 OF THE CONNECTICUT
UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT BY MAINTAINING INACCURATE BOOKS AND
RECORDS REGARDING SOLICITED TRADES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/23/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE CONSENT ORDER DIRECTED THE FIRM TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
REGULATORY VIOLATIONS AND PAY A $150,000 FINE TO THE DEPARTMENT
WITHIN THIRTY DAYS.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRED
THAT MERRILL LYNCH REMIT AN ADDITIONAL $250,000 TO THE AGENCY TO
BE APPLIED, AT THE DISCRETION OF THE COMMISSIONER, TO INVESTOR
EDUCATION, STAFF TRAINING AND EDUCATION MATERIAL.

Sanction Details: SEE RESPONSE TO ITEM 13.B.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF CONNECTICUT DEPARTMENT OF BANKING

Allegations: THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") VIOLATED SECTION 36B-14 OF THE
CONNECTICUT UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT (THE "ACT") BY MAINTAINING
INACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS.  THE COMMISSIONER ALSO ALLEGED
THAT MERRILL VIOLATED SECTION 36B-31-6F OF THE REGULATIONS OF
CONNECTICUT STATE AGENCIES (THE "REGULATIONS") BY FAILING TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES FOR SUPERVISING THE
ACTIVITIES OF ITS AGENTS, INVESTMENT ADVISER AGENTS AND
CONNECTICUT OFFICE OPERATIONS THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF CONNECTICUT DEPARTMENT OF BANKING

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; PAYMENT OF $250,000 TO BE USED AT THE
DISCRETION OF THE BANKING COMMISSIONER OF THE STATE OF
CONNECTICUT DEPARTMENT OF BANKING (THE "COMMISSIONER") FOR
INVESTOR EDUCATION, STAFF TRAINING, AND EDUCATION MATERIAL.

Date Initiated: 06/23/2020

Docket/Case Number: CO-20-8249-S

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/23/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PAYMENT OF $250,000 TO BE USED AT THE DISCRETION OF THE
COMMISSIONER FOR INVESTOR EDUCATION, STAFF TRAINING, AND
EDUCATION MATERIAL.

Sanction Details: ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OF $150,000 AND PAYMENT OF $250,000 WAS PAID
ON JULY 2ND, 2020.

Firm Statement THE BANKING COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT A FORMER SUPERVISOR AT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPF&S)
FAILED TO SUPERVISE A FORMER CONNECTICUT-BASED AGENT.  THE
AGENT ALLEGEDLY MODIFIED TRADE TICKETS AND ENGAGED IN
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING THAT RESULTED IN FINANCIAL HARM TO
CERTAIN CUSTOMERS AND ALLEGEDLY CAUSED MLPF&S TO MAINTAIN
INACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS.  MLPF&S TERMINATED THE FORMER
SUPERVISOR AND FORMER AGENT AND PAID RESTITUTION OF $450,000 TO
THE CONNECTICUT RESIDENT THAT SUFFERED FINANCIAL HARM DUE TO
THE ACTIONS OF THE FORMER AGENT.  WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
ANY OF THE ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MLPF&S ENTERED INTO A
CONSENT ORDER ON JUNE 23, 2020 IN WHICH IT AGREED TO (I) CEASE
AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION 36B-14 OF THE ACT AND SECTION
36B-31-6F OF THE REGULATIONS AND TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, ITS
REGULATIONS, AND ANY ORDER UNDER THE ACT; (II) PAY AN
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OF $150,000 TO THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT, AND
(III) PAY $250,000 TO THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT TO BE USED AT THE
DISCRETION OF THE BANKING COMMISSIONER FOR INVESTOR
EDUCATION, STAFF TRAINING, AND EDUCATION MATERIAL.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Consent
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Disclosure 27 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/04/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2017053494401

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
PROVIDE ACCOUNTS WITH MUTUAL FUND SALES CHARGE WAIVERS AND
FEE REBATES TO WHICH CUSTOMERS WERE ENTITLED THROUGH RIGHTS
OF REINSTATEMENT OFFERED BY MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES. THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT AS A RESULT, ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS PAID
APPROXIMATELY $6 MILLION IN EXCESS SALES CHARGES AND FEES. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT CUSTOMERS RECEIVED THESE SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS AND REBATES, RELYING PRIMARILY ON INDIVIDUAL
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO DETERMINE CUSTOMER ELIGIBILITY
AND APPLY THEM MANUALLY WITHOUT REASONABLE SUPERVISORY
OVERSIGHT. AS A RESULT OF THIS AND AN UNREASONABLY RELIANCE ON
AN ALERT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THAT ITS REPRESENTATIVES DID
NOT PROVIDE ACCOUNTS WITH SALES CHARGE WAIVERS AND REBATES
TO WHICH THEY WERE ENTITLED PURSUANT TO THE RIGHTS OF
REINSTATEMENT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/04/2020

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY RESTITUTION, PLUS
INTEREST, TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF
$7,225,700.12. PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM
PAID FULL RESTITUTION, PLUS INTEREST, TO THE AFFECTED CUSTOMERS
AND PROVIDED PROOF OF PAYMENT AND DOCUMENTATION OF THE
METHODOLOGY USED TO DETERMINE RESTITUTION TO FINRA.

Regulator Statement IN RESOLVING THIS MATTER WITHOUT A MONETARY FINE, FINRA
RECOGNIZES THE FIRM'S EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION FOR: (1)
ENGAGING AN OUTSIDE CONSULTING FIRM TO CONDUCT A COMPLEX
ANALYSIS TO IDENTIFY POTENTIALLY DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS AND
CALCULATE TOTAL REMEDIATION; (2) INVESTIGATING THE EXTENT TO
WHICH IT DID NOT PROVIDE RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT; (3) PROMPTLY
ESTABLISHING A PLAN TO PROVIDE REMEDIATION, NOTIFYING THE
DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS, AND PAYING RESTITUTION TO AFFECTED
CUSTOMERS; (4) PROMPTLY REMEDIATING SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES
WITH RESPECT, TO RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT; AND (5) PROVIDING
SUBSTANTIAL ASSISTANCE TO FINRA IN ITS INVESTIGATION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "FIRM")
CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT
IT FAILED TO PROVIDE ACCOUNTS WITH MUTUAL FUND SALES CHARGE
WAIVERS AND FEE REBATES TO WHICH CUSTOMERS WERE ENTITLED
THROUGH RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT OFFERED BY MUTUAL FUND
COMPANIES. THE ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER & CONSENT ("AWC") FINDS THAT
AS A RESULT, ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS PAID APPROXIMATELY $6 MILLION IN
EXCESS SALES CHARGES AND FEES. THE AWC ALSO FINDS THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT
CUSTOMERS RECEIVE THESE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS AND REBATES,
RELYING PRIMARILY ON INDIVIDUAL REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO
DETERMINE CUSTOMER ELIGIBILITY AND APPLY THEM MANUALLY
WITHOUT REASONABLE SUPERVISORY OVERSIGHT. AS A RESULT OF THIS
AND AN UNREASONABLE RELIANCE ON AN ALERT, THE FIRM FAILED TO
DETECT THAT ITS REPRESENTATIVES DID NOT PROVIDE ACCOUNTS WITH
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS AND REBATES TO WHICH THEY WERE ENTITLED
PURSUANT TO THE RIGHTS OF THE REINSTATEMENT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY (FINRA)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

DISGORGEMENT; RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 06/04/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2017053494401

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "FIRM")
CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT
IT FAILED TO PROVIDE ACCOUNTS WITH MUTUAL FUND SALES CHARGE
WAIVERS AND FEE REBATES TO WHICH CUSTOMERS WERE ENTITLED
THROUGH RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT OFFERED BY MUTUAL FUND
COMPANIES. THE ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER & CONSENT ("AWC") FINDS THAT
AS A RESULT, ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS PAID APPROXIMATELY $6 MILLION IN
EXCESS SALES CHARGES AND FEES. THE AWC ALSO FINDS THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT
CUSTOMERS RECEIVE THESE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS AND REBATES,
RELYING PRIMARILY ON INDIVIDUAL REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO
DETERMINE CUSTOMER ELIGIBILITY AND APPLY THEM MANUALLY
WITHOUT REASONABLE SUPERVISORY OVERSIGHT. AS A RESULT OF THIS
AND AN UNREASONABLE RELIANCE ON AN ALERT, THE FIRM FAILED TO
DETECT THAT ITS REPRESENTATIVES DID NOT PROVIDE ACCOUNTS WITH
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS AND REBATES TO WHICH THEY WERE ENTITLED
PURSUANT TO THE RIGHTS OF THE REINSTATEMENT.

Resolution Date: 06/04/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY RESTITUTION, PLUS
INTEREST, TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF
$7,225,700.12. PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM
PAID FULL RESTITUTION, PLUS INTEREST, TO THE AFFECTED CUSTOMERS
AND PROVIDED PROOF OF PAYMENT AND DOCUMENTATION OF ITS
METHODOLOGY USED TO DETERMINE RESTITUTION TO FINRA.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF THE FINDINGS
THAT IT FAILED TO PROVIDE ACCOUNTS WITH MUTUAL FUND SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS AND FEE REBATES TO WHICH CUSTOMERS WERE
ENTITLED THROUGH RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT OFFERED BY MUTUAL
FUND COMPANIES. MERRILL LYNCH WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO
PAY RESTITUTION, PLUS INTEREST, TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS IN THE
TOTAL AMOUNT OF $7,225,700.12. SPECIFICALLY, ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS
PAID APPROXIMATELY $6 MILLION IN EXCESS SALES CHARGES AND FEES
DURING THE PERIOD OF APRIL 2011 TO APRIL 2017. PRIOR TO THE
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AWC, MERRILL LYNCH PAID FULL RESTITUTION,
PLUS INTEREST, TO THE AFFECTED CUSTOMERS AND PROVIDED PROOF
OF PAYMENT AND DOCUMENTATION OF ITS METHODOLOGY USED TO
DETERMINE RESTITUTION TO FINRA. IN ENTERING AN AWC WITHOUT A
MONETARY FINE, FINRA RECOGNIZED THE ACTIONS AND EXTRAORDINARY
COOPERATION BY MERRILL LYNCH INCLUDING: (1) ENGAGING AN OUTSIDE
CONSULTING FIRM TO CONDUCT A COMPLEX ANALYSIS TO IDENTIFY
POTENTIALLY DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS AND CALCULATE TOTAL
REMEDIATION; (2) INVESTIGATING THE EXTENT TO WHICH IT DID NOT
PROVIDE RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT; (3) PROMPTLY ESTABLISHING A
PLAN TO PROVIDE REMEDIATION, NOTIFYING THE DISADVANTAGED
CUSTOMERS, AND PAYING RESTITUTION TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS; (4)
PROMPTLY REMEDIATING SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES WITH RESPECT
TO RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT; AND (5) PROVIDING SUBSTANTIAL
ASSISTANCE TO FINRA IN ITS INVESTIGATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF THE FINDINGS
THAT IT FAILED TO PROVIDE ACCOUNTS WITH MUTUAL FUND SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS AND FEE REBATES TO WHICH CUSTOMERS WERE
ENTITLED THROUGH RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT OFFERED BY MUTUAL
FUND COMPANIES. MERRILL LYNCH WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO
PAY RESTITUTION, PLUS INTEREST, TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS IN THE
TOTAL AMOUNT OF $7,225,700.12. SPECIFICALLY, ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS
PAID APPROXIMATELY $6 MILLION IN EXCESS SALES CHARGES AND FEES
DURING THE PERIOD OF APRIL 2011 TO APRIL 2017. PRIOR TO THE
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AWC, MERRILL LYNCH PAID FULL RESTITUTION,
PLUS INTEREST, TO THE AFFECTED CUSTOMERS AND PROVIDED PROOF
OF PAYMENT AND DOCUMENTATION OF ITS METHODOLOGY USED TO
DETERMINE RESTITUTION TO FINRA. IN ENTERING AN AWC WITHOUT A
MONETARY FINE, FINRA RECOGNIZED THE ACTIONS AND EXTRAORDINARY
COOPERATION BY MERRILL LYNCH INCLUDING: (1) ENGAGING AN OUTSIDE
CONSULTING FIRM TO CONDUCT A COMPLEX ANALYSIS TO IDENTIFY
POTENTIALLY DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS AND CALCULATE TOTAL
REMEDIATION; (2) INVESTIGATING THE EXTENT TO WHICH IT DID NOT
PROVIDE RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT; (3) PROMPTLY ESTABLISHING A
PLAN TO PROVIDE REMEDIATION, NOTIFYING THE DISADVANTAGED
CUSTOMERS, AND PAYING RESTITUTION TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS; (4)
PROMPTLY REMEDIATING SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES WITH RESPECT
TO RIGHTS OF REINSTATEMENT; AND (5) PROVIDING SUBSTANTIAL
ASSISTANCE TO FINRA IN ITS INVESTIGATION.

Disclosure 28 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 05/13/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2018058319801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT ALLOWED
AN EXECUTIVE WITH ITS NON-FINRA MEMBER AFFILIATE TO FUNCTION AS
A PRINCIPAL IN THE FIRM'S PRIME BROKERAGE BUSINESS WITHOUT
BEING REGISTERED WITH FINRA. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE
INDIVIDUAL WAS ACTIVELY ENGAGED IN THE MANAGEMENT OF THE
FIRM'S PRIME BROKERAGE BUSINESS IN THE UNITED STATES, AND
EXERCISED OVERALL MANAGERIAL DECISION-MAKING AUTHORITY.  THE
INDIVIDUAL DIRECTLY SUPERVISED U.S.-BASED PRIME BROKERAGE
EMPLOYEES AND WAS A VOTING MEMBER OF PRICING AND COMMITMENT
COMMITTEES THAT MADE SPECIFIC BUSINESS DECISIONS DIRECTLY
IMPACTING THE FIRM'S SECURITIES BUSINESS. ADDITIONALLY, THE
INDIVIDUAL SOLICITED BUSINESS FROM FIRM CUSTOMERS AND
PROSPECTIVE CLIENTS AND APPROVED THE ON-BOARDING OF AT LEAST
ONE CUSTOMER. THE INDIVIDUAL ALSO RAN WEEKLY SALES MEETINGS
OF THE PRIME BROKERAGE SALES GROUP AND PLAYED A LEADING ROLE
IN COVERING SEVERAL OF THE PRIME BROKERAGE DEPARTMENT'S MORE
IMPORTANT CLIENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/13/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $150,000, AND REQUIRED TO CERTIFY
TO FINRA THAT THE INDIVIDUAL REFERRED TO IN THIS AWC IS NOT
ACTIVELY ENGAGED IN THE MANAGEMENT OF THE FIRM'S SECURITIES
BUSINESS, OR HAS OBTAINED THE REQUISITE REGISTRATIONS. FINES
PAID IN FULL ON MAY 21, 2020.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Date Initiated: 05/13/2020

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT ALLOWED
AN EXECUTIVE WITH ITS NON-FINRA MEMBER AFFILIATE TO FUNCTION AS
A PRINCIPAL IN THE FIRM'S PRIME BROKERAGE BUSINESS WITHOUT
BEING REGISTERED WITH FINRA.  FINRA ALSO ALLEGED THAT THE
INDIVIDUAL WAS ACTIVELY ENGAGED IN THE MANAGEMENT OF THE
FIRM'S PRIME BROKERAGE BUSINESS IN THE UNITED STATES, AND
EXERCISED OVERALL MANAGEMENT DECISION-MAKING AUTHORITY AND
THAT THE FIRM ALLOWED THE INDIVIDUAL TO ACT AS A PRINCIPAL OF THE
FIRM, BUT DID NOT ENSURE THE INDIVIDUAL WAS REGISTERED WITH
FINRA AS A PRINCIPAL IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 1021 AND FINRA
RULES 1220 AND 2010.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/13/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2018058319801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/13/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO
CERTIFY TO FINRA THAT THE INDIVIDUAL REFERRED TO IN THE AWC IS
NOT ACTIVELY ENGAGED IN THE MANAGEMENT OF THE FIRM'S
SECURITIES BUSINESS, OR HAS OBTAINED THE REQUISITE
REGISTRATIONS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO
CERTIFY TO FINRA THAT THE INDIVIDUAL REFERRED TO IN THE AWC IS
NOT ACTIVELY ENGAGED IN THE MANAGEMENT OF THE FIRM'S
SECURITIES BUSINESS, OR HAS OBTAINED THE REQUISITE
REGISTRATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 29 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: IA RELEASE 5479, APRIL 17, 2020: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INCORPORATED ("RESPONDENT"). ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND
RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF BREACHES OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AND
INADEQUATE DISCLOSURES BY THE FIRM IN CONNECTION WITH ITS
MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASS SELECTION PRACTICES AND THE FEES IT
RECEIVED PURSUANT TO RULE 12B-1 UNDER THE INVESTMENT COMPANY
ACT OF 1940 ("12B-1 FEES"). THE FIRM PURCHASED, RECOMMENDED, OR
HELD FOR ADVISORY CLIENTS MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES THAT
CHARGED 12B-1 FEES INSTEAD OF LOWER-COST SHARE CLASSES OF THE
SAME FUNDS FOR WHICH THE CLIENTS WERE ELIGIBLE. THE FIRM
RECEIVED 12B-1 FEES IN CONNECTION WITH THESE INVESTMENTS. THE
FIRM FAILED TO DISCLOSE IN ITS FORM ADV OR OTHERWISE THE
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST RELATED TO (A) ITS RECEIPT OF 12B-1 FEES,
AND/OR (B) ITS SELECTION OF MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES THAT PAY
SUCH FEES. THE FIRM RECEIVED 12B-1 FEES FOR ADVISING CLIENTS TO
INVEST IN OR HOLD SUCH MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES. AS A RESULT
OF ITS CONDUCT, RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF
THE ADVISERS ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 04/17/2020

Docket/Case Number: 3-19753

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

IA RELEASE 5479, APRIL 17, 2020: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INCORPORATED ("RESPONDENT"). ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND
RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF BREACHES OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AND
INADEQUATE DISCLOSURES BY THE FIRM IN CONNECTION WITH ITS
MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASS SELECTION PRACTICES AND THE FEES IT
RECEIVED PURSUANT TO RULE 12B-1 UNDER THE INVESTMENT COMPANY
ACT OF 1940 ("12B-1 FEES"). THE FIRM PURCHASED, RECOMMENDED, OR
HELD FOR ADVISORY CLIENTS MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES THAT
CHARGED 12B-1 FEES INSTEAD OF LOWER-COST SHARE CLASSES OF THE
SAME FUNDS FOR WHICH THE CLIENTS WERE ELIGIBLE. THE FIRM
RECEIVED 12B-1 FEES IN CONNECTION WITH THESE INVESTMENTS. THE
FIRM FAILED TO DISCLOSE IN ITS FORM ADV OR OTHERWISE THE
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST RELATED TO (A) ITS RECEIPT OF 12B-1 FEES,
AND/OR (B) ITS SELECTION OF MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES THAT PAY
SUCH FEES. THE FIRM RECEIVED 12B-1 FEES FOR ADVISING CLIENTS TO
INVEST IN OR HOLD SUCH MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES. AS A RESULT
OF ITS CONDUCT, RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF
THE ADVISERS ACT.

Resolution Date: 04/17/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS; PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING
ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 206(2) OF
THE ADVISERS ACT, IS CENSURED, SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT OF
$297,394 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $27,982, AND SHALL COMPLY
WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED IN THE ORDER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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THE FIRM SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING
ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 206(2) OF
THE ADVISERS ACT, IS CENSURED, SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT OF
$297,394 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $27,982, AND SHALL COMPLY
WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED IN THE ORDER.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE
 "OFFER"), WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. AS A
RESULT OF ITS CONDUCT, RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION
206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED
THAT THE FIRM SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION
206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, IS CENSURED, SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT
OF $297,394 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $27,982 AND SHALL
COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED IN THE ORDER.
RESPONDENT SELF-REPORTED TO THE COMMISSION THE VIOLATIONS
DISCUSSED IN THIS ORDER PURSUANT TO THE DIVISION OF
ENFORCEMENT'S (THE "DIVISION") SHARE CLASS SELECTION
DISCLOSURE INITIATIVE ("SCSD INITIATIVE"). ACCORDINGLY, THIS ORDER
AND RESPONDENT'S OFFER ARE BASED ON THE INFORMATION SELF-
REPORTED BY RESPONDENT. RESPONDENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE
COMMISSION IS NOT IMPOSING A CIVIL PENALTY BASED UPON
RESPONDENT'S SELF-REPORT IN THE SCSD INITIATIVE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 04/17/2020

Docket/Case Number: 3-19753

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPFS" OR THE "FIRM")
CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT
IT BREACHED ITS FIDUCIARY DUTY AND HAD INADEQUATE DISCLOSES IN
CONNECTION WITH ITS MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASS SELECTION
PRACTICES AND THE FEES THE FIRM RECEIVED PURSUANT TO RULE 12B-
1 UNDER THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940.  THE ORDER FINDS
THAT THE FIRM CHARGED 12B-1 FEES INSTEAD OF LOWER-COST SHARE
CLASSES OF THE SAME FUNDS FOR WHICH CLIENTS WERE ELIGIBLE AND
THAT THE FIRM RECEIVED 12B-1 FEES IN CONNECTION WITH THESE
INVESTMENTS. THE ORDER ALSO FINDS THAT MLPFS FAILED TO
DISCLOSE IN ITS FORM ADV OR OTHERWISE ITS CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
RELATED TO ITS RECEIPT OF THE 12B-1 FEES AND/OR ITS SELECTION OF
MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES THAT PAY SUCH FEES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; DISGORGEMENT; UNDERTAKING

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/17/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING; PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF
SECTION 206(2) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 ("ADVISERS
ACT"), ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $297,394 AND
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $27,982 AND COMPLY WITH THE
UNDERTAKINGS IN THE ORDER. THE FIRM WILL PAY THE DISGORGEMENT
AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST WITHIN THE TIME DESCRIBED IN THE SEC
ORDER.

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED ("MERRILL
LYNCH" OR "FIRM"), ALONG WITH OTHER INVESTMENT ADVISERS WHO
VOLUNTARILY PARTICIPATED IN THE SEC'S SHARE CLASS SELECTION
DISCLOSURE INITIATIVE, CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF AN ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT
ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER (THE "ORDER") BY THE
SEC, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS THEREIN
EXCEPT THOSE RELATED TO JURISDICTION AND THE SUBJECT MATTER
OF THE PROCEEDINGS. THE ORDER ENTERED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AS A RESULT OF ITS INADEQUATE DISCLOSURE OF
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST RELATED TO (A) ITS RECEIPT OF 12B-1 FEES,
AND/OR (B) ITS SELECTION OF MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES THAT PAY
SUCH FEE. THE SEC DID NOT DID NOT IMPOSE A CIVIL PENALTY AGAINST
MERRILL LYNCH IN RECOGNITION OF THE FACT THAT THE FIRM SELF-
REPORTED THE ISSUE TO THE SEC. HOWEVER, MERRILL LYNCH WAS
CENSURED, ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT,
PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $297,394 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF
$27,882, AND COMPLY WITH THE SEVERAL UNDERTAKINGS OF THE TERMS
OF THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED ("MERRILL
LYNCH" OR "FIRM"), ALONG WITH OTHER INVESTMENT ADVISERS WHO
VOLUNTARILY PARTICIPATED IN THE SEC'S SHARE CLASS SELECTION
DISCLOSURE INITIATIVE, CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF AN ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT
ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER (THE "ORDER") BY THE
SEC, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS THEREIN
EXCEPT THOSE RELATED TO JURISDICTION AND THE SUBJECT MATTER
OF THE PROCEEDINGS. THE ORDER ENTERED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AS A RESULT OF ITS INADEQUATE DISCLOSURE OF
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST RELATED TO (A) ITS RECEIPT OF 12B-1 FEES,
AND/OR (B) ITS SELECTION OF MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES THAT PAY
SUCH FEE. THE SEC DID NOT DID NOT IMPOSE A CIVIL PENALTY AGAINST
MERRILL LYNCH IN RECOGNITION OF THE FACT THAT THE FIRM SELF-
REPORTED THE ISSUE TO THE SEC. HOWEVER, MERRILL LYNCH WAS
CENSURED, ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT,
PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $297,394 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF
$27,882, AND COMPLY WITH THE SEVERAL UNDERTAKINGS OF THE TERMS
OF THE ORDER.

Disclosure 30 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/03/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2016049250601

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT EXECUTED
A MUNICIPAL SECURITIES' TRANSACTION WITH A CUSTOMER IN AN
AMOUNT BELOW THE ISSUE'S MINIMUM DENOMINATION WITHOUT AN
EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM PROVIDED EVIDENCE
THAT IT OFFERED TO RESCIND THE TRANSACTIONS TO ALL THE FIRM'S
CUSTOMERS THAT CONTINUED TO HOLD THE POSITION. THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO DISCLOSE TO ITS CUSTOMER ALL
MATERIAL FACTS CONCERNING SOME MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS AT OR PRIOR TO THE TIME OF TRADE. SPECIFICALLY, THE
FIRM FAILED TO INFORM ITS CUSTOMER, ORALLY OR IN WRITING, THAT
THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES TRANSACTION WAS IN AN AMOUNT BELOW
THE ISSUE'S MINIMUM DENOMINATION AND THAT THIS MAY ADVERSELY
AFFECT THE POSITION'S LIQUIDITY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/03/2020

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000. FINE PAID IN FULL ON
1/24/2020.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 01/03/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2016049250601

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT EXECUTED
A MUNICIPAL SECURITIES' TRANSACTION WITH A CUSTOMER IN AN
AMOUNT BELOW THE ISSUE'S MINIMUM DENOMINATION WITHOUT AN
EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM PROVIDED EVIDENCE
THAT IT OFFERED TO RESCIND THE TRANSACTIONS TO ALL THE FIRM'S
CUSTOMERS THAT CONTINUED TO HOLD THE POSITION. THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO DISCLOSE TO ITS CUSTOMER ALL
MATERIAL FACTS CONCERNING SOME MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS AT OR PRIOR TO THE TIME OF TRADE. SPECIFICALLY, THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO INFORM ITS CUSTOMER,
ORALLY OR IN WRITING, THAT THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES TRANSACTION
WAS IN AN AMOUNT BELOW THE ISSUE'S MINIMUM DENOMINATION AND
THAT THIS MAY ADVERSELY AFFECT THE POSITION'S LIQUIDITY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 01/03/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 31 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/26/2019

Docket/Case Number: 2018059381801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNIFORM GIFTS TO MINORS ACT AND/OR THE UNIFORM TRANSFERS TO
MINORS ACT (UTMA) ACCOUNTS

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, AND FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO ITS UNIFORM GIFTS TO MINORS ACT
AND/OR THE UNIFORM TRANSFERS TO MINORS ACT (UTMA) ACCOUNTS.
THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH REASONABLE SYSTEMS OR PROCEDURES
RELATED TO THE CUSTODIANS' OBLIGATION TO TIMELY TRANSFER
CONTROL OVER THE CUSTODIAL PROPERTY TO THE BENEFICIARY. AS A
RESULT, UTMA ACCOUNT CUSTODIANS AUTHORIZED TRANSACTIONS IN AT
LEAST 15,366 UTMA ACCOUNTS HELD AT MERRILL LYNCH IN WHICH THE
BENEFICIARIES HAD REACHED THE TERMINATION AGE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/26/2019

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $300,000, ORDERED TO CERTIFY TO
FINRA THAT IT HAS COMPLETED A REVIEW OF ITS POLICIES, SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES REGARDING THE SUPERVISION OF CUSTODIAL AND
GUARDIANSHIP ACCOUNTS FOR WHICH THE GUARDIANSHIP IS DEFINED
BY THE AGE OF THE PROTECTED PARTY, AND ENSURE ITS POLICIES,
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS, REGULATIONS AND
FINRA RULES. FINE PAID IN FULL ON 1/7/2020.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 12/26/2019

Docket/Case Number: 2018059381801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNIFORM GIFTS TO MINORS ACT AND/OR THE UNIFORM TRANSFERS TO
MINORS ACT (UTMA) ACCOUNTS.

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, AND FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO ITS UNIFORM GIFTS TO MINORS ACT
AND/OR THE UNIFORM TRANSFERS TO MINORS ACT (UTMA) ACCOUNTS.
THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH REASONABLE SYSTEMS OR PROCEDURES
RELATED TO THE CUSTODIANS' OBLIGATION TO TIMELY TRANSFER
CONTROL OVER THE CUSTODIAL PROPERTY TO THE BENEFICIARY. AS A
RESULT, UTMA ACCOUNT CUSTODIANS AUTHORIZED TRANSACTIONS IN AT
LEAST 15,366 UTMA ACCOUNTS HELD AT MERRILL LYNCH IN WHICH THE
BENEFICIARIES HAD REACHED THE TERMINATION AGE.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 12/26/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $300,000, ORDERED TO CERTIFY TO
FINRA WITHIN 180 DAYS THAT IT HAS COMPLETED A REVIEW OF ITS
POLICIES, SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES REGARDING THE SUPERVISION
OF CUSTODIAL AND GUARDIANSHIP ACCOUNTS FOR WHICH THE
GUARDIANSHIP IS DEFINED BY THE AGE OF THE PROTECTED PARTY, AND
ENSURE ITS POLICIES, SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES ARE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS, REGULATIONS AND FINRA RULES. THE FINE WAS PAID ON 1/7/2020.

Firm Statement ON DECEMBER 26, 2019, THE FIRM AGREED TO ENTER INTO AN
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER & CONSENT (AWC) WITH FINRA WITHOUT
ADMITTING TO DENYING THE FINDINGS. IN THE AWC, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT
IT FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, AND
FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO ITS UNIFORM GIFTS TO MINORS ACT
AND/OR THE UNIFORM TRANSFERS TO MINORS ACT (UTMA) ACCOUNTS.
THE AWC FINDS THAT THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH REASONABLE
SYSTEMS OR PROCEDURES RELATED TO THE CUSTODIANS' OBLIGATION
TO TIMELY TRANSFER CONTROL OVER THE CUSTODIAL PROPERTY TO
THE BENEFICIARY. ACCORDING TO THE AWC, THE FOREGOING
CONSTITUTED VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE 3010 (A) AND 3010(B), AND
FINRA RULES 3110(A), 3110(B), AND 2010. UNDER THE AWC, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED, FINED $300,000, ORDERED TO CERTIFY TO FINRA WITHIN 180
DAYS THAT IT HAS COMPLETED A REVIEW OF ITS POLICIES, SYSTEMS AND
PROCEDURES REGARDING THE SUPERVISION OF CUSTODIAL AND
GUARDIANSHIP ACCOUNTS FOR WHICH THE GUARDIANSHIP IS DEFINED
BY THE AGE OF THE PROTECTED PARTY, AND ENSURE ITS POLICIES,
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS, REGULATIONS AND
FINRA RULES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 32 of 595
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Disclosure 32 of 595

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/05/2019

Docket/Case Number: 2019-14

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) FOUND THAT THE FIRM
BREACHED THE LETTERS OF CREDIT THRESHOLD LIMITS IN VIOLATION OF
OCC RULE 604.02.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/05/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS CONTAINED IN THE
CHARGES, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF A FINAL DECISION
PROVIDING FOR THE IMPOSITION OF A SANCTION AGAINST THE FIRM IN
THE AMOUNT OF $10,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS CONTAINED IN THE
CHARGES, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF A FINAL DECISION
PROVIDING FOR THE IMPOSITION OF A SANCTION AGAINST THE FIRM IN
THE AMOUNT OF $10,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 33 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WSPS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE RECOMMENDATIONS OF
PARTICULAR SHARE CLASSES OF 529 PLANS OFFERED BY STATE
SPONSORS (REFERRED TO HEREIN AS THE STATE 529 PLANS). THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE A REASONABLY
DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WSPS REGARDING THE SALE OF
529 PLANS, INCLUDING THE SUITABILITY OF UNIT CLASS
RECOMMENDATIONS. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING
WSPS, WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT ITS
REPRESENTATIVES WERE CONSIDERING HOW THE AGE OF THE
BENEFICIARY MAY FACTOR INTO THE UNIT CLASS SUITABILITY
DETERMINATION IN THE CONTEXT OF 529 PLAN INVESTMENTS. THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT REQUIRE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES OR SUPERVISORS TO EVALUATE BENEFICIARY AGE
AND THE NUMBER OF YEARS UNTIL EXPECTED WITHDRAWALS,
COMBINED WITH THE DIFFERENT FEES AND EXPENSES OF THE AVAILABLE
UNIT CLASSES, TO ASSESS THE REASONABLENESS OF THE UNIT CLASS
RECOMMENDATION. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM ALSO DID NOT
INCLUDE REASONABLE MEASURES TO REQUIRE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES TO CONSIDER SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS AND/OR
WAIVERS BASED ON AGGREGATE CUSTOMER INVESTMENTS WHEN
MAKING UNIT CLASS RECOMMENDATIONS. THE FIRM'S TRAINING
MATERIALS DID NOT PROVIDE GUIDANCE TO ITS REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES ON THESE ISSUES AND THUS WERE ALSO
UNREASONABLE. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM
VOLUNTARILY ADOPTED NEW POLICIES AND PROCEDURES CONCERNING
529 PLAN UNIT CLASS RECOMMENDATIONS. AMONG OTHER CHANGES,
THE FIRM GENERALLY LIMITED ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO
RECOMMENDING CLASS A UNITS FOR 529 PLAN CUSTOMERS WITH
DESIGNATED BENEFICIARIES UNDER A CERTAIN AGE OR CUSTOMERS
INVESTING $250,000 OR MORE. THE FIRM'S CUSTOMERS REMAIN FREE TO
DIRECT THEIR UNIT CLASS SELECTION. THE FIRM ALSO ENHANCED ITS
TRAINING TO DETAIL UNIT CLASS FEES AND EXPENSES AND
IMPLEMENTED SEVERAL COMPLIANCE REPORTS-ALERTING
SUPERVISORS TO CONTRIBUTIONS OUTSIDE THE FIRM'S UNIT CLASS
POLICIES OR CLASS C UNIT CONTRIBUTIONS NEAR OR EXCEEDING
POTENTIAL BREAK POINT DISCOUNTS. THE FIRM ALSO INSTITUTED AN
ANNUAL DISCLOSURE PROCESS THROUGH WHICH IT NOTIFIES CERTAIN
529 PLAN CUSTOMERS THAT THEY MAY BENEFIT FROM A DIFFERENT UNIT
CLASS SELECTION FOR FUTURE PURCHASES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 11/06/2019

Docket/Case Number: 2015044526701

Principal Product Type: Other

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WSPS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE RECOMMENDATIONS OF
PARTICULAR SHARE CLASSES OF 529 PLANS OFFERED BY STATE
SPONSORS (REFERRED TO HEREIN AS THE STATE 529 PLANS). THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE A REASONABLY
DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WSPS REGARDING THE SALE OF
529 PLANS, INCLUDING THE SUITABILITY OF UNIT CLASS
RECOMMENDATIONS. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING
WSPS, WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT ITS
REPRESENTATIVES WERE CONSIDERING HOW THE AGE OF THE
BENEFICIARY MAY FACTOR INTO THE UNIT CLASS SUITABILITY
DETERMINATION IN THE CONTEXT OF 529 PLAN INVESTMENTS. THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT REQUIRE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES OR SUPERVISORS TO EVALUATE BENEFICIARY AGE
AND THE NUMBER OF YEARS UNTIL EXPECTED WITHDRAWALS,
COMBINED WITH THE DIFFERENT FEES AND EXPENSES OF THE AVAILABLE
UNIT CLASSES, TO ASSESS THE REASONABLENESS OF THE UNIT CLASS
RECOMMENDATION. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM ALSO DID NOT
INCLUDE REASONABLE MEASURES TO REQUIRE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES TO CONSIDER SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS AND/OR
WAIVERS BASED ON AGGREGATE CUSTOMER INVESTMENTS WHEN
MAKING UNIT CLASS RECOMMENDATIONS. THE FIRM'S TRAINING
MATERIALS DID NOT PROVIDE GUIDANCE TO ITS REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES ON THESE ISSUES AND THUS WERE ALSO
UNREASONABLE. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM
VOLUNTARILY ADOPTED NEW POLICIES AND PROCEDURES CONCERNING
529 PLAN UNIT CLASS RECOMMENDATIONS. AMONG OTHER CHANGES,
THE FIRM GENERALLY LIMITED ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO
RECOMMENDING CLASS A UNITS FOR 529 PLAN CUSTOMERS WITH
DESIGNATED BENEFICIARIES UNDER A CERTAIN AGE OR CUSTOMERS
INVESTING $250,000 OR MORE. THE FIRM'S CUSTOMERS REMAIN FREE TO
DIRECT THEIR UNIT CLASS SELECTION. THE FIRM ALSO ENHANCED ITS
TRAINING TO DETAIL UNIT CLASS FEES AND EXPENSES AND
IMPLEMENTED SEVERAL COMPLIANCE REPORTS-ALERTING
SUPERVISORS TO CONTRIBUTIONS OUTSIDE THE FIRM'S UNIT CLASS
POLICIES OR CLASS C UNIT CONTRIBUTIONS NEAR OR EXCEEDING
POTENTIAL BREAK POINT DISCOUNTS. THE FIRM ALSO INSTITUTED AN
ANNUAL DISCLOSURE PROCESS THROUGH WHICH IT NOTIFIES CERTAIN
529 PLAN CUSTOMERS THAT THEY MAY BENEFIT FROM A DIFFERENT UNIT
CLASS SELECTION FOR FUTURE PURCHASES.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s): SHARE CLASSES OF 529 PLANS

Resolution Date: 11/06/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PLUS INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY RESTITUTION, PLUS
INTEREST, TO INVESTORS IDENTIFIED AS ELIGIBLE. IN RESOLVING THIS
MATTER WITHOUT A MONETARY FINE, FINRA CREDITS THE FIRM FOR ITS
EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION.

Regulator Statement THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY RESTITUTION ESTIMATED TO BE AT LEAST $4
MILLION RELATING TO THE SALE OF CLASS C UNITS TO CERTAIN STATE
529 PLAN CUSTOMERS. FIRM CUSTOMERS INVESTED IN THE STATE 529
PLANS SPONSORED BY ILLINOIS, IOWA, MICHIGAN, NEBRASKA. RHODE
ISLAND, WASHINGTON D.C., AND WISCONSIN WILL NOT BE ENTITLED TO
REMEDIATION UNDER THE AWC, DUE TO THE RESPECTIVE FEE
STRUCTURES AND/OR SHARE CLASS CONVERSION FEATURES OF THOSE
PLANS. IN RESOLVING THIS MATTER WITHOUT A MONETARY FINE, FINRA
CREDITS THE FIRM FOR ITS EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION, PROPOSAL
OF BROAD REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS, AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION,
PRIOR TO REGULATORY INTERVENTION, OF CORRECTIVE MEASURES
INCLUDING ESTABLISHING CERTAIN POLICIES, PROCEDURES, AND
DISCLOSURES CONCERNING UNIT CLASS SUITABILITY WITH RESPECT TO
529 PLANS AVAILABLE FOR PURCHASE THROUGH THE FIRM. FINRA
RECOGNIZES THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE STATE OF MAINE
OFFICE OF SECURITIES AND THE APPROXIMATELY $19 MILLION IN
RESTITUTION PROVIDED UNDER THE CONSENT ORDER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 11/06/2019

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WSPS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE RECOMMENDATIONS OF
PARTICULAR SHARE CLASSSES OF 529 PLANS OFFERED BY STATE
SPONSORS (REFERRED TO HEREIN AS THE STATE 529 PLANS).  THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE A REASONABLY
DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WSPS REGARDING THE SALE OF
529 PLANS, INCLUDING THE SUITABILITY OF UNIT CLASS
RECOMMENDATIONS.  THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING
WSPS, WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT ITS
REPRESENTATIVES WERE CONSIDERING HOW THE AGE OF THE
BENEFICIARY MAY FACTOR INTO THE UNIT CLASS SUITABILITY
DETERMINATION IN THE CONTEXT OF 529 PLAN INVESTMENTS.  THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT REQUIRE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES OR SUPERVISORS TO EVALUATE BENEFICIARY AGE
AND THE NUMBER OF YEARS UNTIL EXPECTED WITHDRAWALS,
COMBINED WITH THE DIFFERENT FEES AND EXPENSES OF THE AVAILABLE
UNIT CLASSES, TO ASSESS THE REASONABLENESS OF THE UNIT CLASS
RECOMMENDATION.  THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM ALSO DID NOT
INCLUDE REASONABLE MEASURES TO REQUIRE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES TO CONSIDER SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS AND/OR
WAIVERS BASED ON AGGREGATE CUSTOMER INVESTMENTS WHEN
MAKING UNIT CLASS RECOMMENDATIONS.  THE FIRM'S TRAINING
MATERIALS DID NOT PROVIDE GUIDANCE TO ITS REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES ON THESE ISSUES AND THUS WERE ALSO
UNREASONABLE.  THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM
VOLUNTARILY ADOPTED NEW POLICIES AND PROCEDURES CONCERNING
529 PLAN UNIT CLASS RECOMMENDATIONS.  AMONG OTHER CHANGES
THE FIRM GENERALLY LIMITED ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO
RECOMMENDING CLASS A UNITS FOR 529 PLAN CUSTOMERS WITH
DESIGNATED BENEFFICIARIES UNDER A CERTAIN AGE OR CUSTOMERS
INVESTING $250,000 OR MORE.  THE FIRM'S CUSTOMERS REMAIN FREE TO
DIRECT THEIR UNIT CLASS SELECTION.  THE FIRM ALSO ENHANCED ITS
TRAINING TO DETAIL UNIT CLASS FEES AND EXPENSES AND
IMPLEMENTED SEVERAL COMPLIANCE REPORTS-ALTERING
SUPERVISORS TO CONTRIBUTIONS OUTSIDE THE FIRM'S UNIT CLASS
POLICIES OR CLASS C UNIT CONTRIBUTIONS NEAR OR EXCEEDING
POTENTIAL BREAK POINT DISCOUNTS.  THE FIRM ALSO INSTITUTED AN
ANNUAL DISCLOSURE PROCESS THROUGH WHICH IT NOTIFIES CERTAIN
529 PLAN CUSTOMERS THAT THEY MAY BENFIT FROM A DIFFERENT UNIT
CLASS SELECTION FOR FUTURE PURCHASES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION; INTEREST

Date Initiated: 11/06/2019

Docket/Case Number: 2015044526701

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SHARE CLASSES OF 529 PLANS

Resolution Date: 11/06/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PLUS INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY RESTITUTION, PLUS
INTEREST, TO INVESTORS IDENTIFIED AS ELIGIBLE.  IN RESOLVING THIS
MATTER WITHOUT A MONETARY FINE, FINRA CREDITS THE FIRM FOR ITS
EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION.

Firm Statement THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY RESTITUTION ESTIMATED TO BE AT LEAST $4
MILLION RELATING TO THE SALE OF CLASS C UNITS TO CERTAIN STATE
529 PLAN CUSTOMERS.  FIRM CUSTOMERS INVESTED IN THE STATE 529
PLANS SPONSORED BY ILLINOIS, IOWA, MICHIGAN, NEBRASKA, RHODE
ISLAND, WASHINGTON, D.C., AND WISCONSIN WILL NOT BE ENTITLED TO
REMEDIATION UNDER THE AWC, DUE TO THE RESPECTIVE FEE
STRUCTURES AND/OR SHARE CLASS CONVERSION FEATURES OF THOSE
PLANS.  IN RESOLVING THIS MATTER WITHOUT A MONETARY FINE, FINRA
CREDITS THE FIRM FOR ITS EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION, PROPOSAL
OF BROAD REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS, AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION,
PRIOR TO REGULATORY INTERVENTION OF CORRECTIVE MEASURES
INCLUDING EXTABLISHING CERTAIN POLICIES PROCEDURES AND
DISCLOSURES CONCERNING UNIT CLASS SUITABILITY WITH RESPECT TO
529 PLANS AVAILABLE FOR PURCHASE THROUGH THE FIRM.  FINRA
RECOGNIZES THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE STATE OF MAINE
OFFICE OF SECURITIES AND THE APPROXIMATELY $19 MILLION IN
RESTITUTION PROVIDED UNDER THE CONSENT ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 34 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/10/2019

Docket/Case Number: 19-21

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CFTC ADMIN RELEASE DOCKET NO. 19-21 / SEPTEMBER 10, 2019: THE
COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED AGAINST THE FIRM
(RESPONDENT) TO DETERMINE WHETHER RESPONDENT ENGAGED IN
THE VIOLATIONS AND TO DETERMINE WHETHER ANY ORDER SHOULD BE
ISSUED IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS. ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER
AND RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT FOR NEARLY
THREE YEARS, RESPONDENT, A REGISTERED FUTURES COMMISSION
MERCHANT ("FCM"), FAILED TO PROMPTLY PRODUCE RELIABLE AUDIT
TRAIL DATA REQUESTED BY THE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT ("DIVISION").
THESE FAILURES SUBSTANTIALLY DELAYED A DIVISION INVESTIGATION
AND WERE DUE IN LARGE PART TO RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO DEVELOP
AND DILIGENTLY ADMINISTER ADEQUATE PROCEDURES FOR
RESPONDING TO ROUTINE REGULATORY REQUESTS. THE PRODUCTIONS
MADE IN RESPONSE TO THE REQUESTS FOR AUDIT TRAIL DATA WERE
BOTH SIGNIFICANTLY DELAYED AND FLAWED. NAMELY, EVEN AFTER THE
DIVISION AGREED TO LIMIT THE SCOPE OF THE REQUESTS, RESPONDENT
DID NOT PRODUCE ANY AUDIT TRAIL DATA UNTIL JANUARY 201 7-MORE
THAN EIGHTEEN MONTHS AFTER THE INITIAL REQUESTS. MOREOVER,
THIS PRODUCTION WAS INCOMPLETE AND REQUIRED A SUPPLEMENTAL
PRODUCTION IN FEBRUARY 2017. THEREAFTER, THE DIVISION IDENTIFIED
NUMEROUS ISSUES WITH THE AUDIT TRAIL DATA PRODUCED, WHICH
INCLUDED UNPOPULATED FIELDS. AFTER NUMEROUS DISCUSSIONS AND
REPRODUCTION OF DATA TO CORRECT THE ISSUES, THE DIVISION WAS
LED TO BELIEVE THAT THE PRODUCTION OF AUDIT TRAIL DATA WAS
COMPLETE. ON THESE FACTS, RESPONDENT VIOLATED SECTION 4G OF
THE ACT AND REGULATIONS 1.31 AND 1.35. RESPONDENT ALSO VIOLATED
REGULATION 166.3 BECAUSE IT FAILED TO DEVELOP AND DILIGENTLY
ADMINISTER ADEQUATE PROCEDURES TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE PRODUCTION REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 4G OF THE ACT AND
REGULATIONS 1.31 AND 1.35.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 09/10/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION 4G
OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. 6G, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35, AND 166.3, 17 C.F.R.
1.31, 1.35, AND 166.3 (2018). PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY FOR $300,000.
RESPONDENT ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS SHALL COMPLY WITH THE
CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE OFFER.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE OFFER)
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.
IN VIEW OF THE FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE
IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN THE
RESPONDENT'S OFFER. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT
RESPONDENT SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION 4G
OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. 6G, AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35, AND 166.3, 17 C.F.R.
1.31, 1.35, AND 166.3 (2018). RESPONDENT SHALL PAY A CIVIL MONETARY
PENALTY FOR $300,000.
RESPONDENT ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS SHALL COMPLY WITH THE
CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE OFFER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $300,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("COMMISSION")
FOUND THAT FOR NEARLY THREE YEARS, THE FIRM, AT THAT TIME A
REGISTERED FUTURES COMMISSION MERCHANT, FAILED TO PROMPTLY
PRODUCE RELIABLE AUDIT TRAIL DATA REQUESTED BY THE DIVISION OF
ENFORCEMENT AND FAILED TO DEVELOP AND DILIGENTLY ADMINISTER
ADEQUATE PROCEDURES FOR RESPONDING TO ROUTINE REGULATORY
REQUESTS. IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS
1.31, 1.35 AND 166.3.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING; CONDITIONS

Date Initiated: 09/10/2019

Docket/Case Number: CFTC DOCKET NO. 19-21

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("COMMISSION")
FOUND THAT FOR NEARLY THREE YEARS, THE FIRM, AT THAT TIME A
REGISTERED FUTURES COMMISSION MERCHANT, FAILED TO PROMPTLY
PRODUCE RELIABLE AUDIT TRAIL DATA REQUESTED BY THE DIVISION OF
ENFORCEMENT AND FAILED TO DEVELOP AND DILIGENTLY ADMINISTER
ADEQUATE PROCEDURES FOR RESPONDING TO ROUTINE REGULATORY
REQUESTS. IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS
1.31, 1.35 AND 166.3.

Resolution Date: 09/10/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTION 4G OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. 6G, AND REGULATIONS 1.31,
1.35, AND 166.3, 17 C.F.R. 1.31, 1.35, AND 166.3 (2018), (2) PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY FOR $300,000, AND (3) COMPLY WITH THE
CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE OFFER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTION 4G OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. 6G, AND REGULATIONS 1.31,
1.35, AND 166.3, 17 C.F.R. 1.31, 1.35, AND 166.3 (2018), (2) PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY FOR $300,000, AND (3) COMPLY WITH THE
CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE OFFER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $300,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Other

Disclosure 35 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
MAINTAIN A CONTINUOUS TWO-SIDED TRADING INTEREST DURING
REGULAR MARKET HOURS AT PRICES WITHIN CERTAIN PERCENTAGES
AWAY FROM THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER ("NBBO"). THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN A QUOTE FOR THE ENTIRE
MARKET HOURS. THE VIOLATIONS OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF SYSTEM
RELATED CODING ISSUES INVOLVING THE SENDING OF MARKET MAKER
PEG ORDERS ("MMPO") TO NASDAQ FOR NEW SECURITIES THAT WERE
ISSUED WITH SAME SYMBOL AS PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE SECURITIES (E.G.,
AS A RESULT OF A NAME CHANGE, RELISTING, NEW LISTING, ETC.). IN
THESE SITUATIONS, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS FAILED TO APPEND THE
PROPER CODES THAT WERE USED TO MATCH THE SYMBOLS IN WHICH
THE FIRM WAS A MARKET MAKER AND OBTAIN MARKET DATA FOR
SENDING A MMPO, WHICH WAS DUE TO THE FACT THAT THE CODES FOR
THESE SYMBOLS WERE STILL ASSOCIATED WITH THE INACTIVE
SECURITIES. THE CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THIS PARAGRAPH
CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASDAQ RULE
4613(A). THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH NASDAQ QUOTING OBLIGATIONS. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISION SYSTEM FAILED TO INCLUDE A REVIEW FOR NASDAQ
SYMBOLS FOR WHICH IT WAS A REGISTERED MARKET MAKER AND
WHERE THE FIRM'S RELEVANT SYSTEM DID NOT GENERATE MMPO
QUOTES FOR SECURITIES THAT WERE ISSUED WITH THE SAME SYMBOL
AS PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE SECURITIES. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM DID NOT
DETECT THE SYSTEM RELATED CODING ISSUES THAT OCCURRED
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD. THE CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THIS
PARAGRAPH CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF NASDAQ RULES 2010A AND
3010.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 05/20/2019

Docket/Case Number: 2017056712301

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
MAINTAIN A CONTINUOUS TWO-SIDED TRADING INTEREST DURING
REGULAR MARKET HOURS AT PRICES WITHIN CERTAIN PERCENTAGES
AWAY FROM THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER ("NBBO"). THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN A QUOTE FOR THE ENTIRE
MARKET HOURS. THE VIOLATIONS OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF SYSTEM
RELATED CODING ISSUES INVOLVING THE SENDING OF MARKET MAKER
PEG ORDERS ("MMPO") TO NASDAQ FOR NEW SECURITIES THAT WERE
ISSUED WITH SAME SYMBOL AS PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE SECURITIES (E.G.,
AS A RESULT OF A NAME CHANGE, RELISTING, NEW LISTING, ETC.). IN
THESE SITUATIONS, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS FAILED TO APPEND THE
PROPER CODES THAT WERE USED TO MATCH THE SYMBOLS IN WHICH
THE FIRM WAS A MARKET MAKER AND OBTAIN MARKET DATA FOR
SENDING A MMPO, WHICH WAS DUE TO THE FACT THAT THE CODES FOR
THESE SYMBOLS WERE STILL ASSOCIATED WITH THE INACTIVE
SECURITIES. THE CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THIS PARAGRAPH
CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASDAQ RULE
4613(A). THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH NASDAQ QUOTING OBLIGATIONS. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISION SYSTEM FAILED TO INCLUDE A REVIEW FOR NASDAQ
SYMBOLS FOR WHICH IT WAS A REGISTERED MARKET MAKER AND
WHERE THE FIRM'S RELEVANT SYSTEM DID NOT GENERATE MMPO
QUOTES FOR SECURITIES THAT WERE ISSUED WITH THE SAME SYMBOL
AS PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE SECURITIES. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM DID NOT
DETECT THE SYSTEM RELATED CODING ISSUES THAT OCCURRED
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD. THE CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THIS
PARAGRAPH CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF NASDAQ RULES 2010A AND
3010.

Resolution Date: 05/20/2019

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $17,500 (COMPRISED OF $10,000
FOR THE VIOLATIONS OF NASDAQ RULE 4613(A), AND $7,500 FOR THE
VIOLATIONS OF NASDAQ RULES 2010A AND 3010).

Regulator Statement SUBSEQUENT TO THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM UPDATED ITS
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS BY IMPLEMENTING A REPORT DESIGNED TO
IDENTIFY SYMBOLS IN WHICH THE FIRM DID NOT GENERATE A MMPO
QUOTE, WHICH INCLUDES QUOTES IN PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE SECURITIES.
THEREFORE, ENFORCEMENT IS NOT RECOMMENDING AN UNDERTAKING.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $17,500.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
MAINTAIN A CONTINUOUS TWO-SIDED TRADING INTEREST DURING
REGULAR MARKET HOURS AT PRICES WITHIN CERTAIN PERCENTAGES
AWAY FROM THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER ("NBBO").  THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN A QUOTE FOR THE ENTIRE
MARKET HOURS.  THE VIOLATIONS OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF SYSTEM
RELATED CODING ISSUES INVOLVING THE SENDING OF MARKET MAKER
PEG ORDERS ("MMPO") TO NASDAQ FOR NEW SECURITIES THAT WERE
ISSUED WITH THE SAME SYMBOL AS PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE SECURITIES
(E.G., AS A RESULT OF A NAME CHANGE, RELISTING, NEW LISTING, ETC.).
IN THESE SITUATIONS, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS FAILED TO APPEND THE
PROPER CODES THAT WERE USED TO MATCH THE SYMBOLS IN WHICH
THE FIRM WAS MARKET MAKER AND OBTAIN MARKET DATA FOR SENDING
A MMPO, WHICH WAS DUE TO THE FACT THAT THE CODES FOR THESE
SYMBOLS WERE STILL ASSOCIATED WITH THE INACTIVE SECURITIES.  THE
CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THIS PARAGRAPH CONSITUTES SEPARATE AND
DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASDAQ RULE 4613(A).  THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS NOT REASONABLY
DESGINED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NASDAQ QUOTING
OBLIGATIONS.  SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISION SYSTEM FAILED
TO INCLUDE A REVIEW FOR NASDAQ SYMBOLS FOR WHICH IT WAS A
REGISTERED MARKET MAKER AND WHERE THE FIRM'S RELEVANT
SYSTEM DID NOT GENERATE MMPO QUOTES FOR SECURITIES THAT
WERE ISSUED WITH THE SAME SYMBOL AS PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE
SECURITIES.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM DID NOT DETECT THE SYSTEM
RELATED CODING ISSUES THAT OCCURRED DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD.
THE CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THIS PARAGRAPH CONSTITUTES A
VIOLATION OF NASDAQ RULES 2010A AND 3010.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 05/20/2019

Docket/Case Number: 2017056712301

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
MAINTAIN A CONTINUOUS TWO-SIDED TRADING INTEREST DURING
REGULAR MARKET HOURS AT PRICES WITHIN CERTAIN PERCENTAGES
AWAY FROM THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER ("NBBO").  THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN A QUOTE FOR THE ENTIRE
MARKET HOURS.  THE VIOLATIONS OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF SYSTEM
RELATED CODING ISSUES INVOLVING THE SENDING OF MARKET MAKER
PEG ORDERS ("MMPO") TO NASDAQ FOR NEW SECURITIES THAT WERE
ISSUED WITH THE SAME SYMBOL AS PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE SECURITIES
(E.G., AS A RESULT OF A NAME CHANGE, RELISTING, NEW LISTING, ETC.).
IN THESE SITUATIONS, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS FAILED TO APPEND THE
PROPER CODES THAT WERE USED TO MATCH THE SYMBOLS IN WHICH
THE FIRM WAS MARKET MAKER AND OBTAIN MARKET DATA FOR SENDING
A MMPO, WHICH WAS DUE TO THE FACT THAT THE CODES FOR THESE
SYMBOLS WERE STILL ASSOCIATED WITH THE INACTIVE SECURITIES.  THE
CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THIS PARAGRAPH CONSITUTES SEPARATE AND
DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASDAQ RULE 4613(A).  THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS NOT REASONABLY
DESGINED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NASDAQ QUOTING
OBLIGATIONS.  SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISION SYSTEM FAILED
TO INCLUDE A REVIEW FOR NASDAQ SYMBOLS FOR WHICH IT WAS A
REGISTERED MARKET MAKER AND WHERE THE FIRM'S RELEVANT
SYSTEM DID NOT GENERATE MMPO QUOTES FOR SECURITIES THAT
WERE ISSUED WITH THE SAME SYMBOL AS PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE
SECURITIES.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM DID NOT DETECT THE SYSTEM
RELATED CODING ISSUES THAT OCCURRED DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD.
THE CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THIS PARAGRAPH CONSTITUTES A
VIOLATION OF NASDAQ RULES 2010A AND 3010.

Resolution Date: 05/20/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $17,500 (COMPRISED OF $10,000
FOR THE VIOLATIONS OF NASDAQ RULE 4613(A), AND $7,500 FOR THE
VIOLATIONS OF NASDAQ RULES 2010A AND 3010).

Firm Statement SUBSEQUENT TO THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM UPDATED ITS
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS BY IMPLEMENTING A REPORT DESIGNED TO
IDENTIFY SYMBOLS IN WHICH THE FIRM DID NOT GENERATE A MMPO
QUOTE, WHICH INCLUDES QUOTES IN PREVIOUSLY INACTIVE SECURITIES.
THEREFORE, ENFORCEMENT IS NOT RECOMMENDING AN UNDERTAKING.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $17,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 36 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-85395 / MARCH 22, 2019:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT"), AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL" OR "RESPONDENT").
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF
MERRILL'S IMPROPER PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO SECURITIES
LENDING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING PRE-RELEASED AMERICAN
DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS ("ADRS").
ADR FACILITIES, WHICH PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE OF ADRS, ARE
ESTABLISHED BY A DEPOSITARY BANK ("DEPOSITARY") PURSUANT TO A
DEPOSIT AGREEMENT ("DEPOSIT AGREEMENT").
TYPICALLY, A DEPOSITARY ISSUES ADRS TO A MARKET PARTICIPANT THAT
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY DELIVERS THE CORRESPONDING NUMBER OF
FOREIGN SECURITIES TO THE DEPOSITARY'S FOREIGN CUSTODIAN
("CUSTODIAN").3 HOWEVER, IN CERTAIN SITUATIONS, DEPOSIT
AGREEMENTS MAY PROVIDE FOR "PRE-RELEASE" TRANSACTIONS IN
WHICH A MARKET PARTICIPANT CAN OBTAIN NEWLY ISSUED ADRS FROM
THE DEPOSITARY BEFORE DELIVERING ORDINARY SHARES TO THE
CUSTODIAN. ONLY BROKERS (OR OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS) THAT
HAVE ENTERED INTO PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS WITH A DEPOSITARY
("PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS") CAN OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM
THE DEPOSITARY. THE PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS, CONSISTENT WITH
THE DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS, REQUIRE THE BROKER RECEIVING THE PRE-
RELEASED ADRS ("PRE-RELEASE BROKER"), OR ITS CUSTOMER ON
WHOSE BEHALF THE PRE-RELEASE BROKER IS ACTING, TO BENEFICIALLY
OWN THE ORDINARY SHARES REPRESENTED BY THE ADRS, AND TO
ASSIGN ALL BENEFICIAL RIGHTS, TITLE, AND INTEREST IN THOSE
ORDINARY SHARES TO THE DEPOSITARY WHILE THE PRERELEASE
TRANSACTION IS OUTSTANDING. IN EFFECT, THE PRE-RELEASE BROKER
OR ITS CUSTOMER BECOMES THE TEMPORARY CUSTODIAN OF THE
ORDINARY SHARES THAT WOULD OTHERWISE HAVE BEEN DELIVERED TO
THE CUSTODIAN.
FROM AT LEAST JUNE 2012 UNTIL APPROXIMATELY NOVEMBER 2014,
MERRILL RECEIVED PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS
THAT HAD BEEN ISSUED BY DEPOSITARIES WHERE NEITHER THE PRE-
RELEASE BROKERS NOR MERRILL HAD TAKEN REASONABLE STEPS TO
SATISFY THE PRE-RELEASE BROKERS' OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-
RELEASE AGREEMENTS. MERRILL, WHICH WAS NOT A PRE-RELEASE
BROKER, UNDERSTOOD THAT THE ADRS THAT MERRILL BORROWED
FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS MAY HAVE BEEN SOURCED FROM
DEPOSITARIES PURSUANT TO PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS. MERRILL
ALSO UNDERSTOOD THE BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP AND OTHER
REPRESENTATIONS THAT PRE-RELEASE BROKERS WERE REQUIRED TO
MAKE TO DEPOSITARIES IN ORDER TO OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS.
MERRILL ALSO UNDERSTOOD THE CONDUIT NATURE OF PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS' SECURITIES LENDING BUSINESSES, WHICH UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES SHOULD HAVE INDICATED THAT THE PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS DID NOT OWN UNDERLYING ORDINARY SHARES.
MERRILL'S ASSOCIATED PERSONS ON ITS SECURITIES LENDING DESK, BY
OBTAINING ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS IN CIRCUMSTANCES
WHERE THEY SHOULD HAVE KNOWN THAT SUCH ADRS LIKELY HAD BEEN
PRE-RELEASED WITHOUT COMPLIANCE WITH THE PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS' OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS,
VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
("SECURITIES ACT"). MERRILL'S SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED AND IMPLEMENTED TO
PROVIDE SUFFICIENT OVERSIGHT OF ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO
PREVENT AND DETECT THEIR VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT. AS A RESULT, MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE ITS ASSOCIATED PERSONS WITHIN THE MEANING OF
SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

Current Status: Final
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SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-85395 / MARCH 22, 2019:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT"), AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL" OR "RESPONDENT").
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF
MERRILL'S IMPROPER PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO SECURITIES
LENDING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING PRE-RELEASED AMERICAN
DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS ("ADRS").
ADR FACILITIES, WHICH PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE OF ADRS, ARE
ESTABLISHED BY A DEPOSITARY BANK ("DEPOSITARY") PURSUANT TO A
DEPOSIT AGREEMENT ("DEPOSIT AGREEMENT").
TYPICALLY, A DEPOSITARY ISSUES ADRS TO A MARKET PARTICIPANT THAT
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY DELIVERS THE CORRESPONDING NUMBER OF
FOREIGN SECURITIES TO THE DEPOSITARY'S FOREIGN CUSTODIAN
("CUSTODIAN").3 HOWEVER, IN CERTAIN SITUATIONS, DEPOSIT
AGREEMENTS MAY PROVIDE FOR "PRE-RELEASE" TRANSACTIONS IN
WHICH A MARKET PARTICIPANT CAN OBTAIN NEWLY ISSUED ADRS FROM
THE DEPOSITARY BEFORE DELIVERING ORDINARY SHARES TO THE
CUSTODIAN. ONLY BROKERS (OR OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS) THAT
HAVE ENTERED INTO PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS WITH A DEPOSITARY
("PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS") CAN OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM
THE DEPOSITARY. THE PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS, CONSISTENT WITH
THE DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS, REQUIRE THE BROKER RECEIVING THE PRE-
RELEASED ADRS ("PRE-RELEASE BROKER"), OR ITS CUSTOMER ON
WHOSE BEHALF THE PRE-RELEASE BROKER IS ACTING, TO BENEFICIALLY
OWN THE ORDINARY SHARES REPRESENTED BY THE ADRS, AND TO
ASSIGN ALL BENEFICIAL RIGHTS, TITLE, AND INTEREST IN THOSE
ORDINARY SHARES TO THE DEPOSITARY WHILE THE PRERELEASE
TRANSACTION IS OUTSTANDING. IN EFFECT, THE PRE-RELEASE BROKER
OR ITS CUSTOMER BECOMES THE TEMPORARY CUSTODIAN OF THE
ORDINARY SHARES THAT WOULD OTHERWISE HAVE BEEN DELIVERED TO
THE CUSTODIAN.
FROM AT LEAST JUNE 2012 UNTIL APPROXIMATELY NOVEMBER 2014,
MERRILL RECEIVED PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS
THAT HAD BEEN ISSUED BY DEPOSITARIES WHERE NEITHER THE PRE-
RELEASE BROKERS NOR MERRILL HAD TAKEN REASONABLE STEPS TO
SATISFY THE PRE-RELEASE BROKERS' OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-
RELEASE AGREEMENTS. MERRILL, WHICH WAS NOT A PRE-RELEASE
BROKER, UNDERSTOOD THAT THE ADRS THAT MERRILL BORROWED
FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS MAY HAVE BEEN SOURCED FROM
DEPOSITARIES PURSUANT TO PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS. MERRILL
ALSO UNDERSTOOD THE BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP AND OTHER
REPRESENTATIONS THAT PRE-RELEASE BROKERS WERE REQUIRED TO
MAKE TO DEPOSITARIES IN ORDER TO OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS.
MERRILL ALSO UNDERSTOOD THE CONDUIT NATURE OF PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS' SECURITIES LENDING BUSINESSES, WHICH UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES SHOULD HAVE INDICATED THAT THE PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS DID NOT OWN UNDERLYING ORDINARY SHARES.
MERRILL'S ASSOCIATED PERSONS ON ITS SECURITIES LENDING DESK, BY
OBTAINING ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS IN CIRCUMSTANCES
WHERE THEY SHOULD HAVE KNOWN THAT SUCH ADRS LIKELY HAD BEEN
PRE-RELEASED WITHOUT COMPLIANCE WITH THE PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS' OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS,
VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
("SECURITIES ACT"). MERRILL'S SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED AND IMPLEMENTED TO
PROVIDE SUFFICIENT OVERSIGHT OF ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO
PREVENT AND DETECT THEIR VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT. AS A RESULT, MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE ITS ASSOCIATED PERSONS WITHIN THE MEANING OF
SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/22/2019

Docket/Case Number: 3-19114

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AMERICAN DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-85395 / MARCH 22, 2019:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT"), AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL" OR "RESPONDENT").
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF
MERRILL'S IMPROPER PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO SECURITIES
LENDING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING PRE-RELEASED AMERICAN
DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS ("ADRS").
ADR FACILITIES, WHICH PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE OF ADRS, ARE
ESTABLISHED BY A DEPOSITARY BANK ("DEPOSITARY") PURSUANT TO A
DEPOSIT AGREEMENT ("DEPOSIT AGREEMENT").
TYPICALLY, A DEPOSITARY ISSUES ADRS TO A MARKET PARTICIPANT THAT
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY DELIVERS THE CORRESPONDING NUMBER OF
FOREIGN SECURITIES TO THE DEPOSITARY'S FOREIGN CUSTODIAN
("CUSTODIAN").3 HOWEVER, IN CERTAIN SITUATIONS, DEPOSIT
AGREEMENTS MAY PROVIDE FOR "PRE-RELEASE" TRANSACTIONS IN
WHICH A MARKET PARTICIPANT CAN OBTAIN NEWLY ISSUED ADRS FROM
THE DEPOSITARY BEFORE DELIVERING ORDINARY SHARES TO THE
CUSTODIAN. ONLY BROKERS (OR OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS) THAT
HAVE ENTERED INTO PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS WITH A DEPOSITARY
("PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS") CAN OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM
THE DEPOSITARY. THE PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS, CONSISTENT WITH
THE DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS, REQUIRE THE BROKER RECEIVING THE PRE-
RELEASED ADRS ("PRE-RELEASE BROKER"), OR ITS CUSTOMER ON
WHOSE BEHALF THE PRE-RELEASE BROKER IS ACTING, TO BENEFICIALLY
OWN THE ORDINARY SHARES REPRESENTED BY THE ADRS, AND TO
ASSIGN ALL BENEFICIAL RIGHTS, TITLE, AND INTEREST IN THOSE
ORDINARY SHARES TO THE DEPOSITARY WHILE THE PRERELEASE
TRANSACTION IS OUTSTANDING. IN EFFECT, THE PRE-RELEASE BROKER
OR ITS CUSTOMER BECOMES THE TEMPORARY CUSTODIAN OF THE
ORDINARY SHARES THAT WOULD OTHERWISE HAVE BEEN DELIVERED TO
THE CUSTODIAN.
FROM AT LEAST JUNE 2012 UNTIL APPROXIMATELY NOVEMBER 2014,
MERRILL RECEIVED PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS
THAT HAD BEEN ISSUED BY DEPOSITARIES WHERE NEITHER THE PRE-
RELEASE BROKERS NOR MERRILL HAD TAKEN REASONABLE STEPS TO
SATISFY THE PRE-RELEASE BROKERS' OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-
RELEASE AGREEMENTS. MERRILL, WHICH WAS NOT A PRE-RELEASE
BROKER, UNDERSTOOD THAT THE ADRS THAT MERRILL BORROWED
FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS MAY HAVE BEEN SOURCED FROM
DEPOSITARIES PURSUANT TO PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS. MERRILL
ALSO UNDERSTOOD THE BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP AND OTHER
REPRESENTATIONS THAT PRE-RELEASE BROKERS WERE REQUIRED TO
MAKE TO DEPOSITARIES IN ORDER TO OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS.
MERRILL ALSO UNDERSTOOD THE CONDUIT NATURE OF PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS' SECURITIES LENDING BUSINESSES, WHICH UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES SHOULD HAVE INDICATED THAT THE PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS DID NOT OWN UNDERLYING ORDINARY SHARES.
MERRILL'S ASSOCIATED PERSONS ON ITS SECURITIES LENDING DESK, BY
OBTAINING ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS IN CIRCUMSTANCES
WHERE THEY SHOULD HAVE KNOWN THAT SUCH ADRS LIKELY HAD BEEN
PRE-RELEASED WITHOUT COMPLIANCE WITH THE PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS' OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS,
VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
("SECURITIES ACT"). MERRILL'S SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED AND IMPLEMENTED TO
PROVIDE SUFFICIENT OVERSIGHT OF ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO
PREVENT AND DETECT THEIR VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT. AS A RESULT, MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE ITS ASSOCIATED PERSONS WITHIN THE MEANING OF
SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

Resolution Date: 03/22/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT OF
$4,448,291.52 TOGETHER WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $724,795.40
AND A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $2,891,389.48.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,891,389.48
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order
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Sanction Details: MERRILL WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT OF
$4,448,291.52 TOGETHER WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $724,795.40
AND A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $2,891,389.48.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.
MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO FULFILL ITS SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIES WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT.
IT IS ORDERED THAT MERRILL IS CENSURED AND SHALL PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF $4,448,291.52 TOGETHER WITH PREJUDGMENT
INTEREST OF $724,795.40 AND A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $2,891,389.48.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-85395 / MARCH 22, 2019:  THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE,
AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT"), AGAINST
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL"
OR "RESPONDENT").  THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF MERRILL'S IMPROPER PRACTICES WITH
RESPECT TO SECURITIES LENDING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING PRE-
RELEASED AMERICAN DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS ("ADRS").  ADR FACILITIES,
WHICH PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE OF ADRS, ARE ESTABLISHED BY A
DEPOSITARY BANK ("DEPOSITARY") PURSUANT TO A DEPOSIT
AGREEMENT ("DEPOSIT AGREEMENT").  TYPICALLY, A DEPOSITARY ISSUES
ADRS TO A MARKET PARTICIPANT THAT CONTEMPORANEOUSLY DELIVERS
THE CORRESPONDING NUMBER OF FOREIGN SECURITIES TO THE
DEPOSITARY'S FOREIGN CUSTODIAN ("CUSTODIAN").  HOWEVER, IN
CERTAIN SITUATIONS, DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS MAY PROVIDE FOR "PRE-
RELEASE" TRANSACTIONS IN WHICH A MARKET PARTICIPANT CAN OBTAIN
NEWLY ISSUED ADRS FROM THE DEPOSITARY BEFORE DELIVERING
ORDINARY SHARES TO THE CUSTODIAN.  ONLY BROKERS (OR OTHER
MARKET PARTICIPANTS) THAT HAVE ENTERED INTO PRE-RELEASE
AGREEMENTS WITH A DEPOSITARY ("PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS") CAN
OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM THE DEPOSITARY.  THE PRE-
RELEASE AGREEMENTS, CONSISTENT WITH THE DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS,
REQUIRE THE BROKER RECEIVING THE PRE-RELEASED ADRS ("PRE-
RELEASE BROKER"), OR ITS CUSTOMER ON WHOSE BEHALF THE PRE-
RELEASE BROKER IS ACTING, TO BENEFICIALLY OWN THE ORDINARY
SHARES REPRESENTED BY THE ADRS, AND TO ASSIGN ALL BENEFICIAL
RIGHTS, TITLE, AND INTEREST TO THOSE ORDINARY SHARES TO THE
DEPOSITARY WHILE THE PRE-RELEASE TRANSACTION IS OUTSTANDING.
IN EFFECT, THE PRE-RELEASE BROKER OR ITS CUSTOMER BECOMES THE
TEMPORARY CUSTODIAN OF THE ORDINARY SHARES THAT WOULD
OTHERWISE HAVE BEEN DELIVERED TO THE CUSTODIAN.  FROM AT LEAST
JUNE 2012 UNTIL APPROXIMATELY NOVEMBER 2014, MERRILL RECEIVED
PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS THAT HAD BEEN
ISSUED BY DEPOSITARIES WHERE NEITHER THE PRE-RELEASE BROKERS
NOR MERRILL HAD TAKEN REASONABLE STEPS TO SATISFY THE PRE-
RELEASE BROKERS' OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-RELEASE
AGREEMENTS.  MERRILL, WHICH WAS NOT A PRE-RELEASE BROKER,
UNDERSTOOD THAT THE ADRS THAT MERRILL BORROWED FROM PRE-
RELEASE BROKERS MAY HAVE BEEN SOURCED FROM DEPOSITARIES
PURSUANT TO PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS.  MERRILL ALSO
UNDERSTOOD THAT THE BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP AND OTHER
REPRESENTATIONS THAT PRE-RELEASE BROKERS WERE REQUIRED TO
MAKE TO DEPOSITARIES IN ORDER TO OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS.
MERRILL ALSO UNDERSTOOD THE CONDUIT NATURE OF PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS' SECURITIES LENDING BUSINESS, WHICH UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES SHOULD HAVE INDICATED THAT THE PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS DID NOT OWN UNDERLYING ORDINARY SHARES.  MERRILL'S
ASSOCIATE PERSONS ON ITS SECURITIES LENDING DESK, BY OBTAINING
ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS IN CIRCUMSTANCES WHERE THEY
SHOULD HAVE KNOWN THAT SUCH ADRS LIKELY HAD BEEN PRE-
RELEASED WITHOUT COMPLIANCE WITH THE PRE-RELEASE BROKERS'
OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS, VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT").
MERRILL'S SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED AND IMPLEMENTED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
OVERSIGHT OF ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO PREVENT AND DETECT THEIR
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  AS A RESULT,
MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE ITS ASSOCIATED PERSONS
WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; DISGORGEMENT; PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Date Initiated: 03/22/2019

Docket/Case Number: 3-19114

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AMERICAN DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-85395 / MARCH 22, 2019:  THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE,
AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT"), AGAINST
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL"
OR "RESPONDENT").  THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF MERRILL'S IMPROPER PRACTICES WITH
RESPECT TO SECURITIES LENDING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING PRE-
RELEASED AMERICAN DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS ("ADRS").  ADR FACILITIES,
WHICH PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE OF ADRS, ARE ESTABLISHED BY A
DEPOSITARY BANK ("DEPOSITARY") PURSUANT TO A DEPOSIT
AGREEMENT ("DEPOSIT AGREEMENT").  TYPICALLY, A DEPOSITARY ISSUES
ADRS TO A MARKET PARTICIPANT THAT CONTEMPORANEOUSLY DELIVERS
THE CORRESPONDING NUMBER OF FOREIGN SECURITIES TO THE
DEPOSITARY'S FOREIGN CUSTODIAN ("CUSTODIAN").  HOWEVER, IN
CERTAIN SITUATIONS, DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS MAY PROVIDE FOR "PRE-
RELEASE" TRANSACTIONS IN WHICH A MARKET PARTICIPANT CAN OBTAIN
NEWLY ISSUED ADRS FROM THE DEPOSITARY BEFORE DELIVERING
ORDINARY SHARES TO THE CUSTODIAN.  ONLY BROKERS (OR OTHER
MARKET PARTICIPANTS) THAT HAVE ENTERED INTO PRE-RELEASE
AGREEMENTS WITH A DEPOSITARY ("PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS") CAN
OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM THE DEPOSITARY.  THE PRE-
RELEASE AGREEMENTS, CONSISTENT WITH THE DEPOSIT AGREEMENTS,
REQUIRE THE BROKER RECEIVING THE PRE-RELEASED ADRS ("PRE-
RELEASE BROKER"), OR ITS CUSTOMER ON WHOSE BEHALF THE PRE-
RELEASE BROKER IS ACTING, TO BENEFICIALLY OWN THE ORDINARY
SHARES REPRESENTED BY THE ADRS, AND TO ASSIGN ALL BENEFICIAL
RIGHTS, TITLE, AND INTEREST TO THOSE ORDINARY SHARES TO THE
DEPOSITARY WHILE THE PRE-RELEASE TRANSACTION IS OUTSTANDING.
IN EFFECT, THE PRE-RELEASE BROKER OR ITS CUSTOMER BECOMES THE
TEMPORARY CUSTODIAN OF THE ORDINARY SHARES THAT WOULD
OTHERWISE HAVE BEEN DELIVERED TO THE CUSTODIAN.  FROM AT LEAST
JUNE 2012 UNTIL APPROXIMATELY NOVEMBER 2014, MERRILL RECEIVED
PRE-RELEASED ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS THAT HAD BEEN
ISSUED BY DEPOSITARIES WHERE NEITHER THE PRE-RELEASE BROKERS
NOR MERRILL HAD TAKEN REASONABLE STEPS TO SATISFY THE PRE-
RELEASE BROKERS' OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-RELEASE
AGREEMENTS.  MERRILL, WHICH WAS NOT A PRE-RELEASE BROKER,
UNDERSTOOD THAT THE ADRS THAT MERRILL BORROWED FROM PRE-
RELEASE BROKERS MAY HAVE BEEN SOURCED FROM DEPOSITARIES
PURSUANT TO PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS.  MERRILL ALSO
UNDERSTOOD THAT THE BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP AND OTHER
REPRESENTATIONS THAT PRE-RELEASE BROKERS WERE REQUIRED TO
MAKE TO DEPOSITARIES IN ORDER TO OBTAIN PRE-RELEASED ADRS.
MERRILL ALSO UNDERSTOOD THE CONDUIT NATURE OF PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS' SECURITIES LENDING BUSINESS, WHICH UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES SHOULD HAVE INDICATED THAT THE PRE-RELEASE
BROKERS DID NOT OWN UNDERLYING ORDINARY SHARES.  MERRILL'S
ASSOCIATE PERSONS ON ITS SECURITIES LENDING DESK, BY OBTAINING
ADRS FROM PRE-RELEASE BROKERS IN CIRCUMSTANCES WHERE THEY
SHOULD HAVE KNOWN THAT SUCH ADRS LIKELY HAD BEEN PRE-
RELEASED WITHOUT COMPLIANCE WITH THE PRE-RELEASE BROKERS'
OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRE-RELEASE AGREEMENTS, VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT").
MERRILL'S SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED AND IMPLEMENTED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
OVERSIGHT OF ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO PREVENT AND DETECT THEIR
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  AS A RESULT,
MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE ITS ASSOCIATED PERSONS
WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; DISGORGEMENT; PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Resolution Date: 03/22/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: MERRILL WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT OF
$4,448,291.52 TOGETHER WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $724,795.40
AND A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $2,891,389.48.

Firm Statement MERRILL SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER") WHICH
THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.  MERRILL FAILED
REASONABLY TO FULFILL ITS SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITIES WITHIN
THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.  SOLELY
FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
CONSENTED TO THE ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS IN THE ORDER, EXCEPT AS TO THE SEC'S JURISDICTION OVER
IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER.  THE SEC ORDERED THAT MERRILL IS
CENSURED AND SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $4,448,291.52 TOGETHER
WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $724,795.40 AND A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY OF $2,891,389.48.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,891,389.48
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order

Disclosure 37 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT OVER AN
EIGHT YEAR PERIOD, THE FIRM MADE AT LEAST 1,462 SALES OF INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING (IPO) SHARES IN 325 DIFFERENT OFFERINGS TO 149
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS IN WHICH RESTRICTED PERSONS HELD A
BENEFICIAL INTEREST. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALL OF THE
RESTRICTED PERSONS WHO IMPROPERLY RECEIVED IPO ALLOCATIONS
FROM THE FIRM WERE ASSOCIATED PERSONS OF BROKER-DEALERS
AND/OR IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBERS OF FINANCIAL ADVISORS (FAS) AT
THE FIRM. AMONG THE IPOS IMPROPERLY SOLD TO THESE ACCOUNTS
WERE HIGHLY ANTICIPATED AND SOUGHT AFTER STOCKS. AT LEAST 120
DIFFERENT FAS LOCATED IN 79 OF THE FIRM'S BRANCH OFFICES
EFFECTED THE PROHIBITED IPO SALES. THE FIRM GENERATED
APPROXIMATELY $490,530 IN REVENUE FROM THE 1,462 VIOLATIVE
TRANSACTIONS. THE RESTRICTED BUYERS RECEIVED "TRANSACTION
PROFITS" (THE GREATER OF ACTUAL PROFITS OR IMPUTED PROFITS) ON
THESE TRANSACTIONS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT ALTHOUGH
THE FIRM REQUIRED CERTIFICATIONS FROM EACH OF THE CUSTOMERS
THAT THEY WERE ELIGIBLE TO PURCHASE NEW ISSUES, THE FIRM'S
SYSTEM FOR TRACKING NEW ISSUE ELIGIBILITY CERTIFICATIONS DID NOT
COMPARE CUSTOMER CERTIFICATIONS AGAINST CONTRARY
INFORMATION IN THE FIRM'S POSSESSION INDICATING THAT A CUSTOMER
WAS A RESTRICTED PERSON BECAUSE HE OR SHE WAS AN ASSOCIATED
PERSON OF A BROKER-DEALER, AND/OR AN IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBER
OF A FA AT THE FIRM. FOR SOME TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM HAD MORE
THAN ONE REASON TO BELIEVE THAT A CUSTOMER WAS A RESTRICTED
PERSON. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS
OCCURRED BECAUSE THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULE 5130. THE FIRM POSSESSED
INFORMATION THAT CERTAIN CUSTOMERS BUYING AN IPO WERE
RESTRICTED PERSONS, HOWEVER THE FIRM FAILED TO INTEGRATE THIS
INFORMATION INTO ITS IPO SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AND, AS A
RESULT, SOLD IPO SHARES TO RESTRICTED PERSONS. THE FIRM
CONDUCTED POST-TRADE REVIEWS OF SALES TRANSACTIONS,
INCLUDING SALES OF IPO SHARES. HOWEVER, EVEN WHEN THE FIRM'S
POST-TRADE REVIEW IDENTIFIED AND CANCELLED A TRANSACTION
INVOLVING THE SALE OF IPO SHARES TO AN ACCOUNT OWNED BY A FIRM
EMPLOYEE OR A FIRM EMPLOYEE'S IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBER, THE
FIRM DID NOT TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO PREVENT THAT SAME
ACCOUNT FROM PURCHASING IPO SHARES IN THE FUTURE. THE FIRM
BECAME AWARE THAT IT HAD BEEN SELLING IPO SHARES TO ACCOUNTS
IN WHICH RESTRICTED PERSONS HELD A BENEFICIAL INTEREST, WHEN AN
EMPLOYEE NOTICED THAT AN FA HAD SOLD IPO SHARES TO AN ACCOUNT
OWNED BY A CUSTOMER WITH THE SAME LAST NAME AS THE FA. THE
FIRM CONFIRMED THAT THE CUSTOMER WAS THE FA'S FATHER AND,
THUS, A RESTRICTED PERSON UNDER FINRA RULE 5130. THE FIRM
COMMENCED AN INTERNAL REVIEW LIMITED TO DETERMINING WHETHER
IT HAD SOLD IPO SHARES TO OTHER CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS OWNED BY
IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBERS OF FIRM FAS. WHEN THE FIRM COMPLETED
ITS REVIEW, IT WAS AWARE THAT, ON AT LEAST 272 OCCASIONS, IT HAD
SOLD IPO SHARES TO AT LEAST 80 ACCOUNTS IN WHICH IMMEDIATE
FAMILY MEMBERS OF FAS HELD A BENEFICIAL INTEREST. DESPITE
CHANGES TO ITS SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS FOLLOWING THIS REVIEW, THE
FIRM CONTINUED SELLING IPO SHARES TO SOME OF THE SAME
ACCOUNTS IT ALREADY HAD IDENTIFIED AS BELONGING TO IMMEDIATE
FAMILY MEMBERS OF FIRM FAS. THE FIRM FAILED TO TRAIN ANY OF ITS
EMPLOYEES ON FINRA RULE 5130 EVEN THOUGH IT DEPENDED ON ITS
EMPLOYEES TO HELP THE FIRM COMPLY WITH THE RULE'S
REQUIREMENTS. WHEN THE FIRM BEGAN OFFERING TRAINING, IT DID
NOT OFFER THE TRAINING TO MANY KEY EMPLOYEES WHO WERE
INTEGRALLY INVOLVED IN EFFECTING IPO TRANSACTIONS. FINRA FOUND
THAT THE FIRM'S WRITTEN PROCEDURES PROHIBITED THE SALE OF
SHARES IN EQUITY IPOS TO ACCOUNTS IN WHICH A RESTRICTED PERSON
HELD AN INTEREST. THE FIRM DID NOT ENFORCE THOSE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT OVER AN
EIGHT YEAR PERIOD, THE FIRM MADE AT LEAST 1,462 SALES OF INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING (IPO) SHARES IN 325 DIFFERENT OFFERINGS TO 149
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS IN WHICH RESTRICTED PERSONS HELD A
BENEFICIAL INTEREST. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALL OF THE
RESTRICTED PERSONS WHO IMPROPERLY RECEIVED IPO ALLOCATIONS
FROM THE FIRM WERE ASSOCIATED PERSONS OF BROKER-DEALERS
AND/OR IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBERS OF FINANCIAL ADVISORS (FAS) AT
THE FIRM. AMONG THE IPOS IMPROPERLY SOLD TO THESE ACCOUNTS
WERE HIGHLY ANTICIPATED AND SOUGHT AFTER STOCKS. AT LEAST 120
DIFFERENT FAS LOCATED IN 79 OF THE FIRM'S BRANCH OFFICES
EFFECTED THE PROHIBITED IPO SALES. THE FIRM GENERATED
APPROXIMATELY $490,530 IN REVENUE FROM THE 1,462 VIOLATIVE
TRANSACTIONS. THE RESTRICTED BUYERS RECEIVED "TRANSACTION
PROFITS" (THE GREATER OF ACTUAL PROFITS OR IMPUTED PROFITS) ON
THESE TRANSACTIONS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT ALTHOUGH
THE FIRM REQUIRED CERTIFICATIONS FROM EACH OF THE CUSTOMERS
THAT THEY WERE ELIGIBLE TO PURCHASE NEW ISSUES, THE FIRM'S
SYSTEM FOR TRACKING NEW ISSUE ELIGIBILITY CERTIFICATIONS DID NOT
COMPARE CUSTOMER CERTIFICATIONS AGAINST CONTRARY
INFORMATION IN THE FIRM'S POSSESSION INDICATING THAT A CUSTOMER
WAS A RESTRICTED PERSON BECAUSE HE OR SHE WAS AN ASSOCIATED
PERSON OF A BROKER-DEALER, AND/OR AN IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBER
OF A FA AT THE FIRM. FOR SOME TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM HAD MORE
THAN ONE REASON TO BELIEVE THAT A CUSTOMER WAS A RESTRICTED
PERSON. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS
OCCURRED BECAUSE THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULE 5130. THE FIRM POSSESSED
INFORMATION THAT CERTAIN CUSTOMERS BUYING AN IPO WERE
RESTRICTED PERSONS, HOWEVER THE FIRM FAILED TO INTEGRATE THIS
INFORMATION INTO ITS IPO SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AND, AS A
RESULT, SOLD IPO SHARES TO RESTRICTED PERSONS. THE FIRM
CONDUCTED POST-TRADE REVIEWS OF SALES TRANSACTIONS,
INCLUDING SALES OF IPO SHARES. HOWEVER, EVEN WHEN THE FIRM'S
POST-TRADE REVIEW IDENTIFIED AND CANCELLED A TRANSACTION
INVOLVING THE SALE OF IPO SHARES TO AN ACCOUNT OWNED BY A FIRM
EMPLOYEE OR A FIRM EMPLOYEE'S IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBER, THE
FIRM DID NOT TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO PREVENT THAT SAME
ACCOUNT FROM PURCHASING IPO SHARES IN THE FUTURE. THE FIRM
BECAME AWARE THAT IT HAD BEEN SELLING IPO SHARES TO ACCOUNTS
IN WHICH RESTRICTED PERSONS HELD A BENEFICIAL INTEREST, WHEN AN
EMPLOYEE NOTICED THAT AN FA HAD SOLD IPO SHARES TO AN ACCOUNT
OWNED BY A CUSTOMER WITH THE SAME LAST NAME AS THE FA. THE
FIRM CONFIRMED THAT THE CUSTOMER WAS THE FA'S FATHER AND,
THUS, A RESTRICTED PERSON UNDER FINRA RULE 5130. THE FIRM
COMMENCED AN INTERNAL REVIEW LIMITED TO DETERMINING WHETHER
IT HAD SOLD IPO SHARES TO OTHER CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS OWNED BY
IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBERS OF FIRM FAS. WHEN THE FIRM COMPLETED
ITS REVIEW, IT WAS AWARE THAT, ON AT LEAST 272 OCCASIONS, IT HAD
SOLD IPO SHARES TO AT LEAST 80 ACCOUNTS IN WHICH IMMEDIATE
FAMILY MEMBERS OF FAS HELD A BENEFICIAL INTEREST. DESPITE
CHANGES TO ITS SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS FOLLOWING THIS REVIEW, THE
FIRM CONTINUED SELLING IPO SHARES TO SOME OF THE SAME
ACCOUNTS IT ALREADY HAD IDENTIFIED AS BELONGING TO IMMEDIATE
FAMILY MEMBERS OF FIRM FAS. THE FIRM FAILED TO TRAIN ANY OF ITS
EMPLOYEES ON FINRA RULE 5130 EVEN THOUGH IT DEPENDED ON ITS
EMPLOYEES TO HELP THE FIRM COMPLY WITH THE RULE'S
REQUIREMENTS. WHEN THE FIRM BEGAN OFFERING TRAINING, IT DID
NOT OFFER THE TRAINING TO MANY KEY EMPLOYEES WHO WERE
INTEGRALLY INVOLVED IN EFFECTING IPO TRANSACTIONS. FINRA FOUND
THAT THE FIRM'S WRITTEN PROCEDURES PROHIBITED THE SALE OF
SHARES IN EQUITY IPOS TO ACCOUNTS IN WHICH A RESTRICTED PERSON
HELD AN INTEREST. THE FIRM DID NOT ENFORCE THOSE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES.
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/20/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014043580203

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT OVER AN
EIGHT YEAR PERIOD, THE FIRM MADE AT LEAST 1,462 SALES OF INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING (IPO) SHARES IN 325 DIFFERENT OFFERINGS TO 149
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS IN WHICH RESTRICTED PERSONS HELD A
BENEFICIAL INTEREST. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALL OF THE
RESTRICTED PERSONS WHO IMPROPERLY RECEIVED IPO ALLOCATIONS
FROM THE FIRM WERE ASSOCIATED PERSONS OF BROKER-DEALERS
AND/OR IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBERS OF FINANCIAL ADVISORS (FAS) AT
THE FIRM. AMONG THE IPOS IMPROPERLY SOLD TO THESE ACCOUNTS
WERE HIGHLY ANTICIPATED AND SOUGHT AFTER STOCKS. AT LEAST 120
DIFFERENT FAS LOCATED IN 79 OF THE FIRM'S BRANCH OFFICES
EFFECTED THE PROHIBITED IPO SALES. THE FIRM GENERATED
APPROXIMATELY $490,530 IN REVENUE FROM THE 1,462 VIOLATIVE
TRANSACTIONS. THE RESTRICTED BUYERS RECEIVED "TRANSACTION
PROFITS" (THE GREATER OF ACTUAL PROFITS OR IMPUTED PROFITS) ON
THESE TRANSACTIONS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT ALTHOUGH
THE FIRM REQUIRED CERTIFICATIONS FROM EACH OF THE CUSTOMERS
THAT THEY WERE ELIGIBLE TO PURCHASE NEW ISSUES, THE FIRM'S
SYSTEM FOR TRACKING NEW ISSUE ELIGIBILITY CERTIFICATIONS DID NOT
COMPARE CUSTOMER CERTIFICATIONS AGAINST CONTRARY
INFORMATION IN THE FIRM'S POSSESSION INDICATING THAT A CUSTOMER
WAS A RESTRICTED PERSON BECAUSE HE OR SHE WAS AN ASSOCIATED
PERSON OF A BROKER-DEALER, AND/OR AN IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBER
OF A FA AT THE FIRM. FOR SOME TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM HAD MORE
THAN ONE REASON TO BELIEVE THAT A CUSTOMER WAS A RESTRICTED
PERSON. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS
OCCURRED BECAUSE THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULE 5130. THE FIRM POSSESSED
INFORMATION THAT CERTAIN CUSTOMERS BUYING AN IPO WERE
RESTRICTED PERSONS, HOWEVER THE FIRM FAILED TO INTEGRATE THIS
INFORMATION INTO ITS IPO SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AND, AS A
RESULT, SOLD IPO SHARES TO RESTRICTED PERSONS. THE FIRM
CONDUCTED POST-TRADE REVIEWS OF SALES TRANSACTIONS,
INCLUDING SALES OF IPO SHARES. HOWEVER, EVEN WHEN THE FIRM'S
POST-TRADE REVIEW IDENTIFIED AND CANCELLED A TRANSACTION
INVOLVING THE SALE OF IPO SHARES TO AN ACCOUNT OWNED BY A FIRM
EMPLOYEE OR A FIRM EMPLOYEE'S IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBER, THE
FIRM DID NOT TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO PREVENT THAT SAME
ACCOUNT FROM PURCHASING IPO SHARES IN THE FUTURE. THE FIRM
BECAME AWARE THAT IT HAD BEEN SELLING IPO SHARES TO ACCOUNTS
IN WHICH RESTRICTED PERSONS HELD A BENEFICIAL INTEREST, WHEN AN
EMPLOYEE NOTICED THAT AN FA HAD SOLD IPO SHARES TO AN ACCOUNT
OWNED BY A CUSTOMER WITH THE SAME LAST NAME AS THE FA. THE
FIRM CONFIRMED THAT THE CUSTOMER WAS THE FA'S FATHER AND,
THUS, A RESTRICTED PERSON UNDER FINRA RULE 5130. THE FIRM
COMMENCED AN INTERNAL REVIEW LIMITED TO DETERMINING WHETHER
IT HAD SOLD IPO SHARES TO OTHER CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS OWNED BY
IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBERS OF FIRM FAS. WHEN THE FIRM COMPLETED
ITS REVIEW, IT WAS AWARE THAT, ON AT LEAST 272 OCCASIONS, IT HAD
SOLD IPO SHARES TO AT LEAST 80 ACCOUNTS IN WHICH IMMEDIATE
FAMILY MEMBERS OF FAS HELD A BENEFICIAL INTEREST. DESPITE
CHANGES TO ITS SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS FOLLOWING THIS REVIEW, THE
FIRM CONTINUED SELLING IPO SHARES TO SOME OF THE SAME
ACCOUNTS IT ALREADY HAD IDENTIFIED AS BELONGING TO IMMEDIATE
FAMILY MEMBERS OF FIRM FAS. THE FIRM FAILED TO TRAIN ANY OF ITS
EMPLOYEES ON FINRA RULE 5130 EVEN THOUGH IT DEPENDED ON ITS
EMPLOYEES TO HELP THE FIRM COMPLY WITH THE RULE'S
REQUIREMENTS. WHEN THE FIRM BEGAN OFFERING TRAINING, IT DID
NOT OFFER THE TRAINING TO MANY KEY EMPLOYEES WHO WERE
INTEGRALLY INVOLVED IN EFFECTING IPO TRANSACTIONS. FINRA FOUND
THAT THE FIRM'S WRITTEN PROCEDURES PROHIBITED THE SALE OF
SHARES IN EQUITY IPOS TO ACCOUNTS IN WHICH A RESTRICTED PERSON
HELD AN INTEREST. THE FIRM DID NOT ENFORCE THOSE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES.

Resolution Date: 12/20/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,500,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF THE REVENUES THE FIRM RECEIVED ON THE
VIOLATIVE TRANSACTIONS, WHICH IS ORDERED TO BE PAID TO FINRA IN
THE AMOUNT OF $490,530, PLUS INTEREST. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
DECEMBER 28, 2018.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,500,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; DISGORGEMENT; INTEREST

Date Initiated: 12/20/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014043580203

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT OVER AN
EIGHT YEAR PERIOD, THE FIRM MADE AT LEAST 1,462 SALES OF INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING (IPO) SHARES IN 325 DIFFERENT OFFERINGS TO 149
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS IN WHICH RESTRICTED PERSONS HELD A
BENEFICIAL INTEREST.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ALL OF THE
RESTRICTED PERSONS WHO IMPROPERLY RECEIVED IPO ALLOCATIONS
FROM THE FIRM WERE ASSOCIATED PERSONS OF BROKER-DEALERS
AND/OR IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBERS OF FINANCIAL ADVISORS (FAS) AT
THE FIRM.  AMONG THE IPOS IMPROPERLY SOLD TO THESE ACCOUNTS
WERE HIGHLY ANTICIPATED AND SOUGHT AFTER STOCKS. AT LEAST 120
DIFFERENT FAS LOCATED IN 79 OF THE FIRM'S BRANCH OFFICES
EFFECTED THE PROHIBITED IPO SALES. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED
THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS OCCURRED BECAUSE THE FIRM FAILED TO
IMPLEMENT SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULE 5130.  THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO (1) REASONABLY
RESPOND WHEN IT LEARNED THAT IT HAD REPEATEDLY SOLD IPOS TO
IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBERS OF FIRM FAS, AND (2) TRAIN ANY OF ITS
EMPLOYEES ON RULE 5130 FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2010 TO
SEPTEMBER 2014, EVEN THOUGH IT DEPENDED ON ITS EMPLOYEES TO
HELP THE FIRM COMPLY WITH THE RULE'S REQUIREMENTS, AND THAT
WHEN THE FIRM DID START OFFERING TRAINING, THAT IT DID NOT OFFER
THE TRAINING TO MANY KEY EMPLOYEES WHO WERE INTEGRALLY
INVOLVED IN EFFECTING IPO TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/20/2018

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,500,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,500,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF THE REVENUES THE FIRM RECEIVED ON THE
VIOLATIVE TRANSACTIONS, WHICH IS ORDERED TO BE PAID TO FINRA IN
THE AMOUNT OF $490,530, PLUS INTEREST.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,500,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF THE REVENUES THE FIRM RECEIVED ON THE
VIOLATIVE TRANSACTIONS, WHICH IS ORDERED TO BE PAID TO FINRA IN
THE AMOUNT OF $490,530, PLUS INTEREST.

Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,500,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Disclosure 38 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE AN ASSOCIATED PERSON WHO, TOGETHER
WITH A THIRD PARTY INDIVIDUAL, ENGAGED IN A SCHEME TO DEFRAUD A
CUSTOMER OF THE FIRM. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON INTRODUCED THE CUSTOMER TO THE THIRD PARTY INDIVIDUAL,
USING A FICTITIOUS NAME, FALSELY REPRESENTING THAT HE COULD
HELP THE CUSTOMER WITH HIS VARIOUS, EXISTING BUSINESS AND
OTHER FINANCIAL NEEDS. IN FACT, THE THIRD PARTY WAS A CON MAN
WHO, TOGETHER WITH THE ASSOCIATED PERSON, GAINED THE
CUSTOMER'S CONFIDENCE AND THEN ACCESS TO HIS FINANCIAL
ACCOUNTS, ULTIMATELY MISAPPROPRIATING MILLIONS OF DOLLARS
AFTER THE ASSOCIATED PERSON LEFT THE FIRM. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THE FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY INVESTIGATE AND RESPOND
TO RED FLAGS THAT THE ASSOCIATED PERSON WAS ENGAGED IN
CONDUCT THAT APPEARED TO VIOLATE ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.
IN PARTICULAR, THE FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY INVESTIGATE AND
APPROPRIATELY ESCALATE CERTAIN EMAIL COMMUNICATIONS, DESPITE
HAVING BEEN FLAGGED AND REVIEWED, OF THE ASSOCIATED PERSON
THAT WOULD HAVE REVEALED HER CLOSE ASSOCIATION WITH THE THIRD
PARTY, THAT SHE WAS PROVIDING SERVICES BEYOND WHAT THE FIRM
PERMITTED, AND THAT SHE WAS POTENTIALLY INVOLVED WITH PRIVATE
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS. HAD THE FIRM ALSO THEN BROADENED ITS
EXAMINATION TO REVIEW THE ASSOCIATED PERSON'S OTHER FIRM
EMAILS, IT COULD HAVE FOUND OTHER INDICATIONS OF POTENTIAL
MISCONDUCT. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO REASONABLY FOLLOW UP ON A
$1,694,233.10 DEFAULT JUDGMENT ENTERED AGAINST THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON BASED ON A CIVIL COMPLAINT THAT ALLEGED THAT SHE HAD
CHEATED A COUPLE WHO HAD LENT THE THIRD PARTY MONEY. THE
COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT THE ASSOCIATED PERSON HAD WRITTEN TWO
POSTDATED CHECKS, ONLY TO LATER CLOSE THE ACCOUNT ON WHICH
THE CHECKS WERE WRITTEN. HAD THE FIRM MORE VIGOROUSLY
RESPONDED TO THESE RED FLAGS, IT LIKELY COULD HAVE DISCOVERED
THE ASSOCIATED PERSON'S ASSOCIATION WITH THE THIRD PARTY AND
BEEN IN A BETTER POSITION TO ADDRESS THE RISK THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON POSED TO THE CUSTOMER AND THE FIRM. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THE FIRM FAILED TO DISCLOSE CERTAIN REPORTABLE EVENTS
TO FINRA. THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT UNDERLYING THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON'S GARNISHMENT ORDER WAS NOT DISCLOSED ON HER UNIFORM
APPLICATION FOR SECURITIES INDUSTRY REGISTRATION OR TRANSFER
(FORM U4). NOR DID THE FIRM DISCLOSE THE CIVIL COMPLAINT THAT LED
TO THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE
FELONY CHARGES AGAINST THAT ASSOCIATED PERSON ON HER
AMENDED UNIFORM TERMINATION NOTICE FOR SECURITIES INDUSTRY
REGISTRATION (FORM U5).

Current Status: Final

140©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/13/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041490801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE AN ASSOCIATED PERSON WHO, TOGETHER
WITH A THIRD PARTY INDIVIDUAL, ENGAGED IN A SCHEME TO DEFRAUD A
CUSTOMER OF THE FIRM. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON INTRODUCED THE CUSTOMER TO THE THIRD PARTY INDIVIDUAL,
USING A FICTITIOUS NAME, FALSELY REPRESENTING THAT HE COULD
HELP THE CUSTOMER WITH HIS VARIOUS, EXISTING BUSINESS AND
OTHER FINANCIAL NEEDS. IN FACT, THE THIRD PARTY WAS A CON MAN
WHO, TOGETHER WITH THE ASSOCIATED PERSON, GAINED THE
CUSTOMER'S CONFIDENCE AND THEN ACCESS TO HIS FINANCIAL
ACCOUNTS, ULTIMATELY MISAPPROPRIATING MILLIONS OF DOLLARS
AFTER THE ASSOCIATED PERSON LEFT THE FIRM. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THE FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY INVESTIGATE AND RESPOND
TO RED FLAGS THAT THE ASSOCIATED PERSON WAS ENGAGED IN
CONDUCT THAT APPEARED TO VIOLATE ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.
IN PARTICULAR, THE FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY INVESTIGATE AND
APPROPRIATELY ESCALATE CERTAIN EMAIL COMMUNICATIONS, DESPITE
HAVING BEEN FLAGGED AND REVIEWED, OF THE ASSOCIATED PERSON
THAT WOULD HAVE REVEALED HER CLOSE ASSOCIATION WITH THE THIRD
PARTY, THAT SHE WAS PROVIDING SERVICES BEYOND WHAT THE FIRM
PERMITTED, AND THAT SHE WAS POTENTIALLY INVOLVED WITH PRIVATE
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS. HAD THE FIRM ALSO THEN BROADENED ITS
EXAMINATION TO REVIEW THE ASSOCIATED PERSON'S OTHER FIRM
EMAILS, IT COULD HAVE FOUND OTHER INDICATIONS OF POTENTIAL
MISCONDUCT. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO REASONABLY FOLLOW UP ON A
$1,694,233.10 DEFAULT JUDGMENT ENTERED AGAINST THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON BASED ON A CIVIL COMPLAINT THAT ALLEGED THAT SHE HAD
CHEATED A COUPLE WHO HAD LENT THE THIRD PARTY MONEY. THE
COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT THE ASSOCIATED PERSON HAD WRITTEN TWO
POSTDATED CHECKS, ONLY TO LATER CLOSE THE ACCOUNT ON WHICH
THE CHECKS WERE WRITTEN. HAD THE FIRM MORE VIGOROUSLY
RESPONDED TO THESE RED FLAGS, IT LIKELY COULD HAVE DISCOVERED
THE ASSOCIATED PERSON'S ASSOCIATION WITH THE THIRD PARTY AND
BEEN IN A BETTER POSITION TO ADDRESS THE RISK THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON POSED TO THE CUSTOMER AND THE FIRM. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THE FIRM FAILED TO DISCLOSE CERTAIN REPORTABLE EVENTS
TO FINRA. THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT UNDERLYING THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON'S GARNISHMENT ORDER WAS NOT DISCLOSED ON HER UNIFORM
APPLICATION FOR SECURITIES INDUSTRY REGISTRATION OR TRANSFER
(FORM U4). NOR DID THE FIRM DISCLOSE THE CIVIL COMPLAINT THAT LED
TO THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE
FELONY CHARGES AGAINST THAT ASSOCIATED PERSON ON HER
AMENDED UNIFORM TERMINATION NOTICE FOR SECURITIES INDUSTRY
REGISTRATION (FORM U5).

Resolution Date: 12/13/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $300,000. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
DECEMBER 20, 2018.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $300,000. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
DECEMBER 20, 2018.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/13/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041490801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE AN ASSOCIATED PERSON WHO, TOGETHER
WITH A THIRD PARTY INDIVIDUAL, ENGAGED IN A SCHEME TO DEFRAUD A
CUSTOMER OF THE FIRM.  THE SCHEME BEGAN WHEN THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON WAS ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM, BUT THE ACTUAL THEFT OF
FUNDS OCCURRED AFTER THE ASSOCIATED PERSON LEFT THE FIRM.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO RESPOND REASONABLY
TO RED FLAGS THAT THE ASSOCIATED PERSON WAS ENGAGED IN
CONDUCT THAT APPEARED TO VIOLATE THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES, INCLUDING A FAILURE TO REASONABLY INVESTIGATE
CERTAIN OF THE ASSOCIATED PERSON'S EMAIL COMMUNICATIONS THAT
IT HAD FLAGGED FOR REVIEW AND A FAILURE TO REASONABLY FOLLOW
UP ON A DEFAULT JUDGMENT ENTERED AGAINST THE ASSOCIATED
PERSON BASED ON A CIVIL COMPLAINT THAT ALLEGED THAT THE
ASSOCIATED PERSON HAD CHEATED A COUPLE WHO HAD LENT THE
THIRD PARTY MONEY AND THAT THE ASSOCIATED PERSON HAD WRITTEN
TWO POST-DATED CHECKS, ONLY TO LATER CLOSE THE ACCOUNT ON
WHICH THE CHECKS WERE WRITTEN.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT HAD
THE FIRM MORE VIGOROUSLY RESPONDED TO THE RED FLAGS, IT LIKELY
COULD HAVE DISCOVERED THE ASSOCIATED PERSON'S ASSOCIATED
WITH THE THIRD PARTY AND BEEN IN A BETTER POSITION TO ADDRESS
THE RISK THAT THE ASSOCIATED PERSON POSED TO THE FIRM AND
CUSTOMER OF THE FIRM.  THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO DISCLOSE CERTAIN REPORTABLE EVENTS THAT OCCURRED IN
2010 AND 2012 TO FINRA.

Current Status: Final

142©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 12/13/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $300,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $300,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 39 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT BETWEEN
JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, ITS TRADERS, TRADING ON BEHALF OF THE
FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES, ENGAGED IN
TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWED
BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE SECURITIES.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE POTENTIALLY
INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE,
BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE EQUITY
SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING ON THE
ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM'S TRADERS FOR EFFECTING THE
TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED MERRILL LYNCH THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, STAFF SENT ADDITIONAL
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE SECURITIES INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, INDUSTRY CONFERENCES
THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA PRIORITIES LETTERS
IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-MANIPULATION AS AN AREA
OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING AND THE MULTIPLE
LETTERS STAFF SENT TO MERRILL LYNCH, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD
THE FIRM HAD NO SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE
RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-
MANIPULATION ACTIVITY. IN ADDITION, FROM JANUARY 2014 TO THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO THE DETECTION
AND PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. ACCORDINGLY,
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED NYSE ARCA RULES 11.18(A), (B) AND (C), AND
11.1(B).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 20140411279

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT BETWEEN
JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, ITS TRADERS, TRADING ON BEHALF OF THE
FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES, ENGAGED IN
TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWED
BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE SECURITIES.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE POTENTIALLY
INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE,
BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE EQUITY
SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING ON THE
ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM'S TRADERS FOR EFFECTING THE
TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED MERRILL LYNCH THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, STAFF SENT ADDITIONAL
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE SECURITIES INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, INDUSTRY CONFERENCES
THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA PRIORITIES LETTERS
IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-MANIPULATION AS AN AREA
OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING AND THE MULTIPLE
LETTERS STAFF SENT TO MERRILL LYNCH, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD
THE FIRM HAD NO SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE
RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-
MANIPULATION ACTIVITY. IN ADDITION, FROM JANUARY 2014 TO THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO THE DETECTION
AND PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. ACCORDINGLY,
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED NYSE ARCA RULES 11.18(A), (B) AND (C), AND
11.1(B).

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $125,000.00, OF WHICH $15,565.00
WILL BE PAID TO NYSE ARCA, INC., AND THE REMAINING SHARED AMONG
OTHER VARIOUS SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS IN SIMILAR
SETTLEMENTS. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM SHALL UNDERTAKE TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Regulator Statement THIS MATTER WAS REVIEWED BY FINRA ON BEHALF OF NYSE ARCA, INC.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 20140411279

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE
CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY AND THAT
THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH
RESPECT TO THE DETECTION AND PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-
MANIPULATION, IN VIOLATION OF NYSE ARCA RULES 11.18(A), (B) AND (C)
AND 11.1(B).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR THE FINDINGS,
THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH
$15,625 IS PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED
TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
MINI-MANIPULATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR THE FINDINGS,
THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH
$15,625 IS PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED
TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
MINI-MANIPULATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Disclosure 40 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASDAQ ISE, LLC

Date Initiated: 09/14/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127905

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, ITS TRADERS, TRADING
ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE
POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE, BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE
EQUITY SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING
ON THE ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING
THE TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, FINRA ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY STAFF TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY. IN ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION. THE FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED ISE
RULES 400 AND 401.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127905

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/14/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED IN THE AMOUNT OF $125,000.00, OF
WHICH $15,625.00 SHALL BE PAID TO NASDAQ ISE, LLC, AND THE BALANCE
SHALL BE PAID TO OTHER SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS IN SIMILAR
SETTLEMENTS. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS
WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION.

Regulator Statement FINRA HANDLED THIS INVESTIGATION ON BEHALF OF NASDAQ ISE, LLC.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ ISE, LLC

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Allegations: THE EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING POTENTIALLY
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY AND THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE DETECTION AND
PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION, IN VIOLATION OF ISE
RULES 400 AND 401.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127905

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 41 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, ITS TRADERS, TRADING
ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE
POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE, BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE
EQUITY SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING
ON THE ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING
THE TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, FINRA ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY STAFF TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY. IN ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION. THE FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED PHLX
RULES 707 AND 748(B), (D) AND (H).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ PHLX LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127908

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, ITS TRADERS, TRADING
ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE
POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE, BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE
EQUITY SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING
ON THE ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING
THE TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, FINRA ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY STAFF TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY. IN ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION. THE FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED PHLX
RULES 707 AND 748(B), (D) AND (H).

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $125,000.00, OF WHICH $15,625
SHALL BE PAID TO PHLX AND THE REMAINING WILL BE SPLIT AMONG
VARIOUS REGULATORS IN SIMILAR SETTLEMENTS FOR RELATED
MATTERS. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WSPS
WITH RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION.

Regulator Statement THIS MATTER WAS INVESTIGATED BY FINRA ON BEHALF OF NASDAQ PHLX
LLC.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ PHLX LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127908

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING POTENTIALLY
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY AND THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE DETECTION AND
PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION, IN VIOLATION OF PHLX
RULES 707 AND 748(B), (D) AND (H).

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 42 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, ITS TRADERS, TRADING
ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE
POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE, BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE
EQUITY SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING
ON THE ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING
THE TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, FINRA ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY FINRA TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY. IN ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION. THE FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED
NASDAQ RULES 2010A AND 3010, AND NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET RULE
CHAPTER III, SECTION 1, AND CHAPTER V, SECTION 1(B)(IV).

Current Status: Final

151©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127907

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, ITS TRADERS, TRADING
ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE
POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE, BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE
EQUITY SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING
ON THE ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING
THE TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, FINRA ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY FINRA TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY. IN ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION. THE FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED
NASDAQ RULES 2010A AND 3010, AND NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET RULE
CHAPTER III, SECTION 1, AND CHAPTER V, SECTION 1(B)(IV).

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $125,000.00, OF WHICH $15,625.00
SHALL BE PAID TO NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET LLC, AND THE REMAINING
WILL BE SHARED AMONG OTHER VARIOUS SELF-REGULATORY
ORGANIZATIONS IN RELATED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS. IN ADDITION,
THE FIRM UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $125,000.00, OF WHICH $15,625.00
SHALL BE PAID TO NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET LLC, AND THE REMAINING
WILL BE SHARED AMONG OTHER VARIOUS SELF-REGULATORY
ORGANIZATIONS IN RELATED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS. IN ADDITION,
THE FIRM UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION.

Regulator Statement FINRA INVESTIGATED THIS MATTER ON BEHALF OF THE NASDAQ OPTIONS
MARKET LLC.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127907

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE
CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY AND THAT
THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE DETECTION AND PREVENTION OF
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION, IN VIOLATION OF NASDAQ RULES 2010A
AND 3010 AND NOM RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 1 AND CHAPTER V,
SECTION 1(B)(IV).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Disclosure 43 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT BETWEEN
JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, FIRM TRADERS, TRADING ON BEHALF OF THE
FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES, ENGAGED IN
TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWED
BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE SECURITIES.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE POTENTIALLY
INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE,
BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE EQUITY
SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING ON THE
ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING THE
TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS ALSO COULD HAVE
CONSTITUTED MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, STAFF ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF' ITS REVIEWS, STAFF ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY STAFF TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH BOX RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE
CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY. IN
ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE PRESENT,
THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION. THE
FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED BOX RULES 3000(A), 3010,
3070, AND 7000(C)(4).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BOX EXCHANGE LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 09/07/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127904

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT BETWEEN
JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, FIRM TRADERS, TRADING ON BEHALF OF THE
FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES, ENGAGED IN
TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWED
BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE SECURITIES.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE POTENTIALLY
INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE,
BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE EQUITY
SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING ON THE
ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING THE
TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS ALSO COULD HAVE
CONSTITUTED MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, STAFF ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF' ITS REVIEWS, STAFF ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY STAFF TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH BOX RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE
CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY. IN
ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE PRESENT,
THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION. THE
FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED BOX RULES 3000(A), 3010,
3070, AND 7000(C)(4).

Resolution Date: 09/07/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $125,000.00, OF WHICH 15,565.00 SHALL
BE PAID TO THE BOX OPTIONS EXCHANGE LLC, AND THE REMAINING
SHALL BE PAID TO OTHER SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS AS PART
OF SIMILAR SETTLEMENTS. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM UNDERTAKES TO
REVISE ITS WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION.

Regulator Statement THE INVESTIGATION WAS SETTLED AS A LETTER OF CONSENT BETWEEN
THE BOX OPTIONS EXCHANGE LLC AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER
& SMITH INCORPORATED.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Other

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: BOX ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR
SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
BOX RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR
MINI-MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY AND THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE
REASONABLE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
THE DETECTION AND PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION , IN
VIOLATION OF BOX RULES 3000(A), 2010 AND 7000(C)(4).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BOX EXCHANGE LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127904

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: BOX ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR
SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
BOX RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR
MINI-MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY AND THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE
REASONABLE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
THE DETECTION AND PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION , IN
VIOLATION OF BOX RULES 3000(A), 2010 AND 7000(C)(4).

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO BOX.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO BOX.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 44 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, ITS TRADERS, TRADING
ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE
POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE, BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE
EQUITY SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING
ON THE ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING
THE TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, FINRA ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY STAFF TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY. IN ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION. THE FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED
GEMX CHAPTER 4 IN CONNECTION WITH ISE RULES 400 AND 401.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ GEMX, LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127906

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, ITS TRADERS, TRADING
ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE
POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE, BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE
EQUITY SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING
ON THE ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING
THE TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, FINRA ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY STAFF TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY. IN ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION. THE FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED
GEMX CHAPTER 4 IN CONNECTION WITH ISE RULES 400 AND 401.
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $125,000.00, OF WHICH $15,625.00
SHALL BE PAID TO GEMX, AND THE BALANCE SHALL BE PAID TO OTHER
SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS IN RELATED SETTLEMENTS. IN
ADDITION, THE FIRM UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WSPS WITH RESPECT
TO MINI-MANIPULATION.

Regulator Statement THIS INVESTIGATION WAS DONE BY FINRA ON BEHALF OF NASDAQ GEMX,
LLC.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ GEMX, LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127906

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING POTENTIALLY
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY AND THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE DETECTION AND
PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION, IN VIOLATION OF GEMX
CHAPTER 4 IN CONNECTION WITH ISE RULES 400 AND 401.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 45 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, FIRM TRADERS, TRADING
ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE
POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE, BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE
EQUITY SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING
ON THE ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING
THE TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS ALSO COULD HAVE
CONSTITUTED MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, FINRA ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY STAFF TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH MIAX RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE
CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY. IN
ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE PRESENT,
THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION. THE
FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED MIAX RULES 300 AND
500(B).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: MIAMI INTERNATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE, LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127903

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN JANUARY AND MARCH 2014, FIRM TRADERS, TRADING
ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE
POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE, BECAUSE THEY COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE
EQUITY SECURITIES AND THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING
ON THE ECONOMIC RATIONALE OF THE FIRM TRADERS FOR EFFECTING
THE TRANSACTIONS, THESE TRANSACTIONS ALSO COULD HAVE
CONSTITUTED MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT OR MINI-MANIPULATION
TRADING ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, FINRA ADVISED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REVIEWING
POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION ACTIVITY BY FIRM TRADERS. IN
FURTHERANCE OF ITS REVIEWS, FINRA ISSUED MULTIPLE SUBSEQUENT
CORRESPONDENCE TO THE FIRM SEEKING INFORMATION AND UPDATES
REGARDING THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCES AND PROCEDURES TO
MONITOR FOR POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT BEFORE AND DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, NOTICES
WERE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE INDUSTRY THROUGH PUBLIC
SETTLEMENTS INVOLVING MINI-MANIPULATION, SECURITIES INDUSTRY
CONFERENCES THAT ADDRESSED MINI-MANIPULATION, AND FINRA
PRIORITIES LETTERS IN 2012 AND 2013, WHICH HIGHLIGHTED MINI-
MANIPULATION AS AN AREA OF FINRA'S FOCUS. DESPITE THE FOREGOING
AND THE MULTIPLE LETTERS SENT BY STAFF TO THE FIRM BEGINNING IN
OCTOBER 2014, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH MIAX RULES PROHIBITING MANIPULATIVE
CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY. IN
ADDITION, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE PRESENT,
THE FIRM HAD NO WSPS WITH RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION. THE
FIRM'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED ABOVE VIOLATED MIAX RULES 300 AND
500(B).

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Other
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $125,000.00, OF WHICH $15,625.00 SHALL
BE PAID TO MIAX, THE REMAINDER WILL BE SHARED AMONG OTHER SELF-
REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS IN SIMILAR SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS.
THE FIRM ALSO UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WSPS WITH RESPECT TO
MINI-MANIPULATION.

Regulator Statement THIS MATTER WAS SETTLED AS AN EXECUTED LETTER OF CONSENT.

THIS INVESTIGATION WAS PERFORMED BY FINRA ON BEHALF OF MIAX.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MIAX INTERNATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE, LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/29/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127903

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING POTENTIALLY
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY AND THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE DETECTION AND
PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION, IN VIOLATION OF MIAX
RULES 300 AND 500(B).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO BOX.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Consent
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO BOX.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO BOX.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Disclosure 46 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NYSE AMERICAN LLC

Date Initiated: 09/24/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127902

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTION(S) AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
REVIEW PERIOD AND UNTIL THE FIRM IMPLEMENTED SURVEILLANCES
FOR MINI-MANIPULATION ON DECEMBER 1, 2017, IT HAD NO SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING POTENTIALLY
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM TRADERS, TRADING ON
BEHALF OF THE FIRM, ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS AND TRADE DATES,
ENGAGED IN TRADING WHEREBY THEY EFFECTED PURCHASES OR SALES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES IN A FIRM PROPRIETARY ACCOUNT, IMMEDIATELY
FOLLOWED BY PURCHASES OR SALES OF OPTIONS OVERLYING THOSE
SECURITIES. THESE TRANSACTIONS WERE POTENTIALLY INCONSISTENT
WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE, BECAUSE THEY
COULD HAVE DISRUPTED THE MARKET FOR THE EQUITY SECURITIES AND
THE OVERLYING EQUITY OPTIONS. DEPENDING ON THE ECONOMIC
RATIONALE OF THE FIRM' TRADERS FOR EFFECTING THE TRANSACTIONS,
THESE TRANSACTIONS COULD HAVE CONSTITUTED MANIPULATIVE
CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATION TRADING ACTIVITY.
ACCORDINGLY, DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD AND THROUGH THE
PRESENT, THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE WSPS WITH RESPECT
TO THE DETECTION AND PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/24/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 SHALL BE
PAID TO NYSE AMERICAN, AND UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WSPS WITH
RESPECT TO MINI-MANIPULATION.

Regulator Statement ADDITIONALLY, ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC IS CONDITIONED UPON
ACCEPTANCE OF SIMILAR SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS IN RELATED
MATTERS BETWEEN THE FIRM AND MULTIPLE OTHER SELF-REGULATORY
ORGANIZATIONS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NYSE AMERICAN LLC

Date Initiated: 09/26/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127902

Allegations: THE EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS OR SURVEILLANCES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PROHIBITING POTENTIALLY
MANIPULATIVE CROSS-PRODUCT TRADING OR MINI-MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY AND THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE DETECTION AND
PREVENTION OF POTENTIAL MINI-MANIPULATION , IN VIOLATION OF
AMERICAN RULES 16 AND 320.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: 2014041127902

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/26/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM WAS
CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $125,000, OF WHICH $15,625 IS
PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO MINI-
MANIPULATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 47 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-83886, IA RELEASE 40- 4989 / AUGUST 20, 2018:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND SECTIONS
203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL" OR "RESPONDENT").
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL"), A REGISTERED INVESTMENT ADVISER,
FAILED TO DISCLOSE THAT THE PORTFOLIO MANAGER EVALUATION
PROCESS EMPLOYED IN CONNECTION WITH A JANUARY 2013
TERMINATION RECOMMENDATION FOR OVER FIFTEEN HUNDRED OF ITS
RETAIL ADVISORY ACCOUNTS WAS EXPOSED TO A CONFLICT OF
INTEREST INVOLVING OTHER BUSINESS INTERESTS.
IN REPRESENTATIONS TO ITS ADVISORY CLIENTS, MERRILL DESCRIBED
AN INVESTMENT-MERITS DUE DILIGENCE PROCESS FOR THE PRODUCTS
IT OFFERED AND RECOMMENDED ON ITS INVESTMENT ADVISORY
PLATFORMS. IN DECEMBER 2012, DUE DILIGENCE, A UNIT OF GLOBAL
WEALTH & RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS ("GWRS"), RECOMMENDED
TERMINATING FROM THOSE PLATFORMS CERTAIN PRODUCTS
("PRODUCTS") THAT MERRILL'S RETAIL ADVISORY CLIENTS HAD INVESTED
APPROXIMATELY $575 MILLION DOLLARS IN AND THAT WAS MANAGED BY A
U.S. INVESTMENT ADVISORY SUBSIDIARY OF A FOREIGN MULTINATIONAL
BANKING AND FINANCIAL SERVICES CORPORATION (THE "U.S.
SUBSIDIARY"). CONSISTENT WITH MERRILL'S STANDARD PROCESS FOR
EVALUATING SUCH TERMINATION PROPOSALS, THE RECOMMENDATION
WAS PRESENTED TO AN INTERNAL GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
("GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE") IN JANUARY 2013. BEFORE THE
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MET TO CONSIDER THE RECOMMENDATION,
THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY LEARNED OF THE PROPOSED TERMINATION FROM A
MERRILL EMPLOYEE DUE TO OPERATIONAL AND TIMING ISSUES
CONCERNING REMOVING THE PRODUCTS. AS A DIRECT RESULT OF THE
PREMATURE DISCLOSURE, THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY PROCEEDED TO
CONTACT SENIOR MANAGEMENT WITHIN GWRS ("SENIOR MANAGEMENT")
TO MAKE A DIRECT PITCH TO MERRILL TO RETAIN THE PRODUCTS. THE
PITCH FROM AN OFFICER OF THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY ("OFFICER A") TO A
MERRILL SENIOR EXECUTIVE ("SENIOR EXECUTIVE") ADDRESSED THE
MERITS OF THE RECOMMENDATION AND THE ADEQUACY OF DUE
DILIGENCE'S REVIEW, BUT ALSO INCLUDED AN APPEAL TO THE BROADER
BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE COMPANIES. THE SENIOR
EXECUTIVE INFORMED THE OFFICER OF THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY ON THE
SAME DAY AS THE PITCH, SIX DAYS PRIOR TO THE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE MEETING, THAT THE PRODUCTS WOULD NOT BE
TERMINATED AND THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY WOULD HAVE ADDITIONAL TIME
TO MAKE ITS CASE TO DUE DILIGENCE. AFTER ADDITIONAL
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN AND AMONG THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT, THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE DEFERRED THE
PROPOSED TERMINATION. AT NO TIME WERE THE FULL GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE OR MERRILL'S CLIENTS INFORMED OF THE
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT.
THIS UNDISCLOSED CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN MERRILL'S DECISION-
MAKING PROCESS VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT.
MERRILL ALSO VIOLATED 206(4) OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 206(4)-7
PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-83886, IA RELEASE 40- 4989 / AUGUST 20, 2018:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND SECTIONS
203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL" OR "RESPONDENT").
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL"), A REGISTERED INVESTMENT ADVISER,
FAILED TO DISCLOSE THAT THE PORTFOLIO MANAGER EVALUATION
PROCESS EMPLOYED IN CONNECTION WITH A JANUARY 2013
TERMINATION RECOMMENDATION FOR OVER FIFTEEN HUNDRED OF ITS
RETAIL ADVISORY ACCOUNTS WAS EXPOSED TO A CONFLICT OF
INTEREST INVOLVING OTHER BUSINESS INTERESTS.
IN REPRESENTATIONS TO ITS ADVISORY CLIENTS, MERRILL DESCRIBED
AN INVESTMENT-MERITS DUE DILIGENCE PROCESS FOR THE PRODUCTS
IT OFFERED AND RECOMMENDED ON ITS INVESTMENT ADVISORY
PLATFORMS. IN DECEMBER 2012, DUE DILIGENCE, A UNIT OF GLOBAL
WEALTH & RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS ("GWRS"), RECOMMENDED
TERMINATING FROM THOSE PLATFORMS CERTAIN PRODUCTS
("PRODUCTS") THAT MERRILL'S RETAIL ADVISORY CLIENTS HAD INVESTED
APPROXIMATELY $575 MILLION DOLLARS IN AND THAT WAS MANAGED BY A
U.S. INVESTMENT ADVISORY SUBSIDIARY OF A FOREIGN MULTINATIONAL
BANKING AND FINANCIAL SERVICES CORPORATION (THE "U.S.
SUBSIDIARY"). CONSISTENT WITH MERRILL'S STANDARD PROCESS FOR
EVALUATING SUCH TERMINATION PROPOSALS, THE RECOMMENDATION
WAS PRESENTED TO AN INTERNAL GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
("GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE") IN JANUARY 2013. BEFORE THE
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MET TO CONSIDER THE RECOMMENDATION,
THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY LEARNED OF THE PROPOSED TERMINATION FROM A
MERRILL EMPLOYEE DUE TO OPERATIONAL AND TIMING ISSUES
CONCERNING REMOVING THE PRODUCTS. AS A DIRECT RESULT OF THE
PREMATURE DISCLOSURE, THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY PROCEEDED TO
CONTACT SENIOR MANAGEMENT WITHIN GWRS ("SENIOR MANAGEMENT")
TO MAKE A DIRECT PITCH TO MERRILL TO RETAIN THE PRODUCTS. THE
PITCH FROM AN OFFICER OF THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY ("OFFICER A") TO A
MERRILL SENIOR EXECUTIVE ("SENIOR EXECUTIVE") ADDRESSED THE
MERITS OF THE RECOMMENDATION AND THE ADEQUACY OF DUE
DILIGENCE'S REVIEW, BUT ALSO INCLUDED AN APPEAL TO THE BROADER
BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE COMPANIES. THE SENIOR
EXECUTIVE INFORMED THE OFFICER OF THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY ON THE
SAME DAY AS THE PITCH, SIX DAYS PRIOR TO THE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE MEETING, THAT THE PRODUCTS WOULD NOT BE
TERMINATED AND THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY WOULD HAVE ADDITIONAL TIME
TO MAKE ITS CASE TO DUE DILIGENCE. AFTER ADDITIONAL
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN AND AMONG THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT, THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE DEFERRED THE
PROPOSED TERMINATION. AT NO TIME WERE THE FULL GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE OR MERRILL'S CLIENTS INFORMED OF THE
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THE U.S. SUBSIDIARY AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT.
THIS UNDISCLOSED CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN MERRILL'S DECISION-
MAKING PROCESS VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT.
MERRILL ALSO VIOLATED 206(4) OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 206(4)-7
PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/20/2018

Docket/Case Number: 3-18651

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 08/20/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL IS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTIONS 206(2) AND 206(4) OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 206(4)-7
PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.
MERRILL SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $4,032,871.89 AND
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $806,981.03 TO THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION.
MERRILL SHALL PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$4,032,871.89 TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.
MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS 206(2) AND 206(4) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 206(4)-7 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.
IT IS ORDERED THAT MERRILL IS CENSURED AND SHALL CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 206(2) AND 206(4) OF THE ADVISERS
ACT AND RULE 206(4)-7 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.
MERRILL SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $4,032,871.89 AND
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $806,981.03 TO THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION.
MERRILL SHALL PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$4,032,871.89 TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,032,871.89
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.
MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS 206(2) AND 206(4) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 206(4)-7 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.
IT IS ORDERED THAT MERRILL IS CENSURED AND SHALL CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 206(2) AND 206(4) OF THE ADVISERS
ACT AND RULE 206(4)-7 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.
MERRILL SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $4,032,871.89 AND
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $806,981.03 TO THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION.
MERRILL SHALL PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$4,032,871.89 TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; DISGORGEMENT; PREJUDGMENT
INTEREST

Date Initiated: 08/20/2018

Docket/Case Number: 3-18651

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON AUGUST 20, 2018, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("SEC") RESULTING IN THE
SEC ISSUING AN ORDER.  MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF
THE ORDER (THE "ORDER") THAT FINDS THAT IT FAILED TO DISCLOSE
THAT THE PORTFOLIO MANAGER EVALUATION PROCESS EMPLOYED IN
CONNECTION WITH A JANUARY 2013 TERMINATION RECOMMENDATION
FOR OVER FIFTEEN HUNDRED OF ITS RETAIL ADVISORY ACCOUNTS WAS
EXPOSED TO A CONFLICT OF INTEREST INVOLVING OTHER BUSINESS
INTERESTS.  THE ORDER FINDS THAT THIS UNDISCLOSED CONFLICT OF
INTEREST IN MERRILL LYNCH'S DECISION-MAKING PROCESS VIOLATED
ADVISERS ACT SECTION 206(2).  MERRILL LYNCH ALSO VIOLATED
ADVISERS ACT SECTION 206(4) AND RULE 206(4)-7 PROMULGATED
THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/20/2018

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,032,871.89
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE ORDER CENSURES MERRILL LYNCH AND DIRECTS IT TO CEASE-AND-
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF ADVISERS ACT SECTIONS 206(2) AND 206(4) AND
RULE 206(4)-7 THEREUNDER.  ADDITIONAL, THE ORDER CENSURED
MERRILL LYNCH AND ORDERS IT TO PAY $4,032,871.89 IN DISGORGEMENT,
$806,981.03 IN PREJUDGMENT INTEREST, AND $4,032,871.89 IN CIVIL
MONEY PENALTIES, WHICH WAS PAID ON AUGUST 28, 2018.

Firm Statement SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
THE FINDINGS IN THE ORDER, EXCEPT AS TO THE SEC'S JURISDICTION
OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER.  THE ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITIONS,
FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS OF THE ORDER ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN
ITEMS 7 AND 12.

Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,032,871.89
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 48 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10507; 34-83462; IA RELEASE 4944, JUNE 19, 2018:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMMISSION) DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933 (SECURITIES ACT), SECTION 15(B) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT), AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE
INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 (ADVISERS ACT) AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (THE FIRM). THIS
PROCEEDING CONCERNS THE FIRM'S SUSTAINED EFFORTS TO HIDE ITS
PRACTICE OF ROUTING CERTAIN CUSTOMER ORDERS TO OTHER
BROKER-DEALERS (EXTERNAL LIQUIDITY PROVIDERS, ELECTRONIC
LIQUIDITY PARTNERS, OR ELPS), INCLUDING PROPRIETARY TRADING
FIRMS AND WHOLESALE MARKET MAKERS, FOR EXECUTION. THE FIRM
CONFIGURED A NUMBER OF INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEMS SO THAT CUSTOMER ORDERS THAT WERE
EXECUTED AT ELPS INSTEAD APPEARED TO CUSTOMERS TO HAVE BEEN
EXECUTED AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM SIMILARLY MISREPORTED ELP
EXECUTIONS IN REPORTS PROVIDED TO CUSTOMERS AND IN BILLING
INVOICES. WHEN RESPONDING TO CUSTOMER QUESTIONNAIRES AND IN
OTHER COMMUNICATIONS, THE FIRM SPECIFICALLY OMITTED ELPS FROM
LISTS OF VENUES TO WHICH CUSTOMER ORDERS WERE ROUTED. THE
FIRM REFERRED TO THIS PRACTICE INTERNALLY AS "MASKING." THE FIRM
MASKED THE ELP EXECUTIONS OF THE FIRM'S "DIRECT STRATEGY
ACCESS" OR "DSA" CUSTOMERS. THESE CUSTOMERS TYPICALLY WERE
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS SUCH AS ASSET MANAGERS, MUTUAL FUND
INVESTMENT ADVISERS, AND PUBLIC PENSION FUNDS. THE FIRM
RECEIVED DSA CUSTOMER ORDERS AND TYPICALLY SLICED THEM INTO
SMALLER "CHILD" ORDERS THAT IT ROUTED TO VARIOUS TRADING
CENTERS, INCLUDING EXCHANGES, ALTERNATIVE TRADING SYSTEMS
(ATSS), AND ELPS. DURING THE FIVE YEARS THAT MASKING WAS IN
PLACE, THE FIRM'S DSA CUSTOMERS RECEIVED MORE THAN 15.8 MILLION
CHILD ORDER EXECUTIONS AT ELPS. THESE TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED
MORE THAN 5.4 BILLION SHARES AND HAD A NOTIONAL VALUE OF OVER
$141 BILLION. THE FIRM FALSELY REPORTED TO CUSTOMERS THAT ALL OF
THESE TRANSACTIONS OCCURRED AT THE FIRM. AS A RESULT OF THE
FIRM'S MASKING PRACTICE, CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT SOME OF
THEIR ORDERS WERE EXECUTED AT ELPS AND OTHER ORDERS WERE
EXPOSED TO ELPS BEFORE BEING EXECUTED AT OTHER VENUES. THESE
CUSTOMERS WANTED TO KNOW, AND EXPECTED THE FIRM TO INFORM
THEM, IF IT SENT THEIR ORDERS TO ELPS. CERTAIN CUSTOMERS USED
THE EXECUTION VENUE INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE FIRM TO
ASSESS ITS PERFORMANCE AND MAKE STRATEGIC CHOICES ABOUT
THEIR BROKER-DEALER RELATIONSHIPS AND TACTICAL ROUTING
DECISIONS. CERTAIN CUSTOMERS WERE CONCERNED THAT ORDERS
ROUTED TO ELPS COULD BE SUBJECT TO INFORMATION LEAKAGE.
MOREOVER, CERTAIN CUSTOMERS SPECIFICALLY REQUESTED THAT
THEIR ORDERS NOT BE SENT TO ELPS, BUT THE FIRM NEVERTHELESS
SENT SOME OF THEIR ORDERS TO ELPS AND MASKED ANY RESULTING
ELP EXECUTIONS. AS A RESULT, THESE CUSTOMERS' ORDERS RECEIVED
UNWANTED EXECUTIONS AGAINST ENTITIES WITH WHICH THEY BELIEVED
THEIR ORDERS WOULD NOT INTERACT. BECAUSE OF MASKING, THESE
CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED THEIR
INSTRUCTIONS. THE FIRM STOPPED MASKING IN MAY 2013 ON A
PROSPECTIVE BASIS, BUT DID NOT INFORM CUSTOMERS THAT IT
PREVIOUSLY HAD MASKED THEIR ELP EXECUTIONS. TO THE CONTRARY,
THE FIRM CONFIGURED SYSTEMS SO THAT FUTURE REPORTS TO
CUSTOMERS, TYPICALLY PROVIDED ON A MONTHLY OR QUARTERLY
BASIS, CONTINUED TO MASK ELP EXECUTIONS. THE FIRM'S STATEMENTS
AND OMISSIONS IN COMMUNICATIONS TO CUSTOMERS THROUGH
RESPONSES TO QUESTIONNAIRES, MESSAGES REGARDING TRADE
EXECUTIONS, REPORTS, AND BILLING STATEMENTS WERE MATERIALLY
MISLEADING CONCERNING ORDERS THAT THE FIRM SENT TO ELPS AND
ORDERS THAT THE ELPS EXECUTED. MOREOVER, THE FIRM'S EFFORTS
TO MASK THE CORRECT TRADING VENUES, INCLUDING BY ALTERING
TRADE REPORTING PROGRAMS, OPERATED AS A FRAUD OR DECEIT UPON
ITS CUSTOMERS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Current Status: Final
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SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10507; 34-83462; IA RELEASE 4944, JUNE 19, 2018:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMMISSION) DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933 (SECURITIES ACT), SECTION 15(B) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT), AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE
INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 (ADVISERS ACT) AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (THE FIRM). THIS
PROCEEDING CONCERNS THE FIRM'S SUSTAINED EFFORTS TO HIDE ITS
PRACTICE OF ROUTING CERTAIN CUSTOMER ORDERS TO OTHER
BROKER-DEALERS (EXTERNAL LIQUIDITY PROVIDERS, ELECTRONIC
LIQUIDITY PARTNERS, OR ELPS), INCLUDING PROPRIETARY TRADING
FIRMS AND WHOLESALE MARKET MAKERS, FOR EXECUTION. THE FIRM
CONFIGURED A NUMBER OF INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEMS SO THAT CUSTOMER ORDERS THAT WERE
EXECUTED AT ELPS INSTEAD APPEARED TO CUSTOMERS TO HAVE BEEN
EXECUTED AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM SIMILARLY MISREPORTED ELP
EXECUTIONS IN REPORTS PROVIDED TO CUSTOMERS AND IN BILLING
INVOICES. WHEN RESPONDING TO CUSTOMER QUESTIONNAIRES AND IN
OTHER COMMUNICATIONS, THE FIRM SPECIFICALLY OMITTED ELPS FROM
LISTS OF VENUES TO WHICH CUSTOMER ORDERS WERE ROUTED. THE
FIRM REFERRED TO THIS PRACTICE INTERNALLY AS "MASKING." THE FIRM
MASKED THE ELP EXECUTIONS OF THE FIRM'S "DIRECT STRATEGY
ACCESS" OR "DSA" CUSTOMERS. THESE CUSTOMERS TYPICALLY WERE
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS SUCH AS ASSET MANAGERS, MUTUAL FUND
INVESTMENT ADVISERS, AND PUBLIC PENSION FUNDS. THE FIRM
RECEIVED DSA CUSTOMER ORDERS AND TYPICALLY SLICED THEM INTO
SMALLER "CHILD" ORDERS THAT IT ROUTED TO VARIOUS TRADING
CENTERS, INCLUDING EXCHANGES, ALTERNATIVE TRADING SYSTEMS
(ATSS), AND ELPS. DURING THE FIVE YEARS THAT MASKING WAS IN
PLACE, THE FIRM'S DSA CUSTOMERS RECEIVED MORE THAN 15.8 MILLION
CHILD ORDER EXECUTIONS AT ELPS. THESE TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED
MORE THAN 5.4 BILLION SHARES AND HAD A NOTIONAL VALUE OF OVER
$141 BILLION. THE FIRM FALSELY REPORTED TO CUSTOMERS THAT ALL OF
THESE TRANSACTIONS OCCURRED AT THE FIRM. AS A RESULT OF THE
FIRM'S MASKING PRACTICE, CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT SOME OF
THEIR ORDERS WERE EXECUTED AT ELPS AND OTHER ORDERS WERE
EXPOSED TO ELPS BEFORE BEING EXECUTED AT OTHER VENUES. THESE
CUSTOMERS WANTED TO KNOW, AND EXPECTED THE FIRM TO INFORM
THEM, IF IT SENT THEIR ORDERS TO ELPS. CERTAIN CUSTOMERS USED
THE EXECUTION VENUE INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE FIRM TO
ASSESS ITS PERFORMANCE AND MAKE STRATEGIC CHOICES ABOUT
THEIR BROKER-DEALER RELATIONSHIPS AND TACTICAL ROUTING
DECISIONS. CERTAIN CUSTOMERS WERE CONCERNED THAT ORDERS
ROUTED TO ELPS COULD BE SUBJECT TO INFORMATION LEAKAGE.
MOREOVER, CERTAIN CUSTOMERS SPECIFICALLY REQUESTED THAT
THEIR ORDERS NOT BE SENT TO ELPS, BUT THE FIRM NEVERTHELESS
SENT SOME OF THEIR ORDERS TO ELPS AND MASKED ANY RESULTING
ELP EXECUTIONS. AS A RESULT, THESE CUSTOMERS' ORDERS RECEIVED
UNWANTED EXECUTIONS AGAINST ENTITIES WITH WHICH THEY BELIEVED
THEIR ORDERS WOULD NOT INTERACT. BECAUSE OF MASKING, THESE
CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED THEIR
INSTRUCTIONS. THE FIRM STOPPED MASKING IN MAY 2013 ON A
PROSPECTIVE BASIS, BUT DID NOT INFORM CUSTOMERS THAT IT
PREVIOUSLY HAD MASKED THEIR ELP EXECUTIONS. TO THE CONTRARY,
THE FIRM CONFIGURED SYSTEMS SO THAT FUTURE REPORTS TO
CUSTOMERS, TYPICALLY PROVIDED ON A MONTHLY OR QUARTERLY
BASIS, CONTINUED TO MASK ELP EXECUTIONS. THE FIRM'S STATEMENTS
AND OMISSIONS IN COMMUNICATIONS TO CUSTOMERS THROUGH
RESPONSES TO QUESTIONNAIRES, MESSAGES REGARDING TRADE
EXECUTIONS, REPORTS, AND BILLING STATEMENTS WERE MATERIALLY
MISLEADING CONCERNING ORDERS THAT THE FIRM SENT TO ELPS AND
ORDERS THAT THE ELPS EXECUTED. MOREOVER, THE FIRM'S EFFORTS
TO MASK THE CORRECT TRADING VENUES, INCLUDING BY ALTERING
TRADE REPORTING PROGRAMS, OPERATED AS A FRAUD OR DECEIT UPON
ITS CUSTOMERS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 06/19/2018

Docket/Case Number: 3-18549

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10507; 34-83462; IA RELEASE 4944, JUNE 19, 2018:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMMISSION) DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933 (SECURITIES ACT), SECTION 15(B) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT), AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE
INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 (ADVISERS ACT) AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (THE FIRM). THIS
PROCEEDING CONCERNS THE FIRM'S SUSTAINED EFFORTS TO HIDE ITS
PRACTICE OF ROUTING CERTAIN CUSTOMER ORDERS TO OTHER
BROKER-DEALERS (EXTERNAL LIQUIDITY PROVIDERS, ELECTRONIC
LIQUIDITY PARTNERS, OR ELPS), INCLUDING PROPRIETARY TRADING
FIRMS AND WHOLESALE MARKET MAKERS, FOR EXECUTION. THE FIRM
CONFIGURED A NUMBER OF INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEMS SO THAT CUSTOMER ORDERS THAT WERE
EXECUTED AT ELPS INSTEAD APPEARED TO CUSTOMERS TO HAVE BEEN
EXECUTED AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM SIMILARLY MISREPORTED ELP
EXECUTIONS IN REPORTS PROVIDED TO CUSTOMERS AND IN BILLING
INVOICES. WHEN RESPONDING TO CUSTOMER QUESTIONNAIRES AND IN
OTHER COMMUNICATIONS, THE FIRM SPECIFICALLY OMITTED ELPS FROM
LISTS OF VENUES TO WHICH CUSTOMER ORDERS WERE ROUTED. THE
FIRM REFERRED TO THIS PRACTICE INTERNALLY AS "MASKING." THE FIRM
MASKED THE ELP EXECUTIONS OF THE FIRM'S "DIRECT STRATEGY
ACCESS" OR "DSA" CUSTOMERS. THESE CUSTOMERS TYPICALLY WERE
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS SUCH AS ASSET MANAGERS, MUTUAL FUND
INVESTMENT ADVISERS, AND PUBLIC PENSION FUNDS. THE FIRM
RECEIVED DSA CUSTOMER ORDERS AND TYPICALLY SLICED THEM INTO
SMALLER "CHILD" ORDERS THAT IT ROUTED TO VARIOUS TRADING
CENTERS, INCLUDING EXCHANGES, ALTERNATIVE TRADING SYSTEMS
(ATSS), AND ELPS. DURING THE FIVE YEARS THAT MASKING WAS IN
PLACE, THE FIRM'S DSA CUSTOMERS RECEIVED MORE THAN 15.8 MILLION
CHILD ORDER EXECUTIONS AT ELPS. THESE TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED
MORE THAN 5.4 BILLION SHARES AND HAD A NOTIONAL VALUE OF OVER
$141 BILLION. THE FIRM FALSELY REPORTED TO CUSTOMERS THAT ALL OF
THESE TRANSACTIONS OCCURRED AT THE FIRM. AS A RESULT OF THE
FIRM'S MASKING PRACTICE, CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT SOME OF
THEIR ORDERS WERE EXECUTED AT ELPS AND OTHER ORDERS WERE
EXPOSED TO ELPS BEFORE BEING EXECUTED AT OTHER VENUES. THESE
CUSTOMERS WANTED TO KNOW, AND EXPECTED THE FIRM TO INFORM
THEM, IF IT SENT THEIR ORDERS TO ELPS. CERTAIN CUSTOMERS USED
THE EXECUTION VENUE INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE FIRM TO
ASSESS ITS PERFORMANCE AND MAKE STRATEGIC CHOICES ABOUT
THEIR BROKER-DEALER RELATIONSHIPS AND TACTICAL ROUTING
DECISIONS. CERTAIN CUSTOMERS WERE CONCERNED THAT ORDERS
ROUTED TO ELPS COULD BE SUBJECT TO INFORMATION LEAKAGE.
MOREOVER, CERTAIN CUSTOMERS SPECIFICALLY REQUESTED THAT
THEIR ORDERS NOT BE SENT TO ELPS, BUT THE FIRM NEVERTHELESS
SENT SOME OF THEIR ORDERS TO ELPS AND MASKED ANY RESULTING
ELP EXECUTIONS. AS A RESULT, THESE CUSTOMERS' ORDERS RECEIVED
UNWANTED EXECUTIONS AGAINST ENTITIES WITH WHICH THEY BELIEVED
THEIR ORDERS WOULD NOT INTERACT. BECAUSE OF MASKING, THESE
CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED THEIR
INSTRUCTIONS. THE FIRM STOPPED MASKING IN MAY 2013 ON A
PROSPECTIVE BASIS, BUT DID NOT INFORM CUSTOMERS THAT IT
PREVIOUSLY HAD MASKED THEIR ELP EXECUTIONS. TO THE CONTRARY,
THE FIRM CONFIGURED SYSTEMS SO THAT FUTURE REPORTS TO
CUSTOMERS, TYPICALLY PROVIDED ON A MONTHLY OR QUARTERLY
BASIS, CONTINUED TO MASK ELP EXECUTIONS. THE FIRM'S STATEMENTS
AND OMISSIONS IN COMMUNICATIONS TO CUSTOMERS THROUGH
RESPONSES TO QUESTIONNAIRES, MESSAGES REGARDING TRADE
EXECUTIONS, REPORTS, AND BILLING STATEMENTS WERE MATERIALLY
MISLEADING CONCERNING ORDERS THAT THE FIRM SENT TO ELPS AND
ORDERS THAT THE ELPS EXECUTED. MOREOVER, THE FIRM'S EFFORTS
TO MASK THE CORRECT TRADING VENUES, INCLUDING BY ALTERING
TRADE REPORTING PROGRAMS, OPERATED AS A FRAUD OR DECEIT UPON
ITS CUSTOMERS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Resolution Date: 06/19/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING
OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF
SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT, AND SHALL
WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $42,000,000 TO THE SEC.

Regulator Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, THE
FIRM HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE OFFER) THAT THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. THE FIRM ADMITS THE
FACTS, ACKNOWLEDGES THAT ITS CONDUCT VIOLATED THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS, ADMITS THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT
AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, AND CONSENTS TO
THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-
AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, SECTION 15(B) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF
1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A
CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER (ORDER). THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. IN VIEW OF THE
FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN THE FIRM'S
OFFER. ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES
ACT, SECTION 15(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT THE FIRM IS CENSURED,
SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND
17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT, AND WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF
THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $42,000,000
TO THE SEC.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $42,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, THE
FIRM HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE OFFER) THAT THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. THE FIRM ADMITS THE
FACTS, ACKNOWLEDGES THAT ITS CONDUCT VIOLATED THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS, ADMITS THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT
AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, AND CONSENTS TO
THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-
AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, SECTION 15(B) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF
1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A
CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER (ORDER). THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. IN VIEW OF THE
FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN THE FIRM'S
OFFER. ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES
ACT, SECTION 15(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT THE FIRM IS CENSURED,
SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND
17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT, AND WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF
THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $42,000,000
TO THE SEC.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ON JUNE 19, 2018, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (SEC)
ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING AGAINST THE FIRM
CONCERNING THE FIRM'S SUSTAINED EFFORTS TO HIDE ITS PRACTICE OF
ROUTING CERTAIN INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS TO OTHER
BROKER-DEALERS (EXTERNAL LIQUIDITY PROVIDERS, ELECTRONIC
LIQUIDITY PARTNERS, OR ELPS), INCLUDING PROPRIETARY TRADING
FIRMS AND WHOLESALE MARKET MAKERS, FOR EXECUTION. THE FIRM
CONFIGURED A NUMBER OF INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEMS SO THAT INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS THAT
WERE EXECUTED AT ELPS INSTEAD APPEARED TO INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMERS TO HAVE BEEN EXECUTED AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM
SIMILARLY MISREPORTED ELP EXECUTIONS IN REPORTS PROVIDED TO
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS AND IN BILLING INVOICES. WHEN
RESPONDING TO INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER QUESTIONNAIRES AND IN
OTHER COMMUNICATIONS, THE FIRM SPECIFICALLY OMITTED ELPS FROM
LISTS OF VENUES TO WHICH INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS WERE
ROUTED. THE FIRM REFERRED TO THIS PRACTICE INTERNALLY AS
 "MASKING." THE FIRM MASKED THE ELP EXECUTIONS OF THE FIRM'S
 "DIRECT STRATEGY ACCESS" OR "DSA" INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS.
THESE INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS TYPICALLY WERE FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS SUCH AS ASSET MANAGERS, MUTUAL FUND INVESTMENT
ADVISERS, AND PUBLIC PENSION FUNDS. THE FIRM FALSELY REPORTED
TO INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS THAT ALL OF THESE TRANSACTIONS
OCCURRED AT THE FIRM. AS A RESULT OF THE FIRM'S MASKING
PRACTICE, INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT SOME OF
THEIR ORDERS WERE EXECUTED AT ELPS AND OTHER ORDERS WERE
EXPOSED TO ELPS BEFORE BEING EXECUTED AT OTHER VENUES. AS A
RESULT, THESE INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS' ORDERS RECEIVED
UNWANTED EXECUTIONS AGAINST ENTITIES WITH WHICH THEY BELIEVED
THEIR ORDERS WOULD NOT INTERACT. BECAUSE OF MASKING, THESE
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED
THEIR INSTRUCTIONS. THE FIRM STOPPED MASKING IN MAY 2013 ON A
PROSPECTIVE BASIS, BUT DID NOT INFORM INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS
THAT IT PREVIOUSLY HAD MASKED THEIR ELP EXECUTIONS. TO THE
CONTRARY, THE FIRM CONFIGURED SYSTEMS SO THAT FUTURE
REPORTS TO INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS, TYPICALLY PROVIDED ON A
MONTHLY OR QUARTERLY BASIS, CONTINUED TO MASK ELP EXECUTIONS.
THE FIRM'S STATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS IN COMMUNICATIONS TO
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS THROUGH RESPONSES TO
QUESTIONNAIRES, MESSAGES REGARDING TRADE EXECUTIONS,
REPORTS, AND BILLING STATEMENTS WERE MATERIALLY MISLEADING
CONCERNING ORDERS THAT THE FIRM SENT TO ELPS AND ORDERS THAT
THE ELPS EXECUTED. THE FIRM'S EFFORTS TO MASK THE CORRECT
TRADING VENUES, INCLUDING BY ALTERING TRADE REPORTING
PROGRAMS, OPERATED AS A FRAUD OR DECEIT UPON ITS INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMERS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE

Date Initiated: 06/19/2018

Docket/Case Number: 3-18549

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

ON JUNE 19, 2018, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (SEC)
ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING AGAINST THE FIRM
CONCERNING THE FIRM'S SUSTAINED EFFORTS TO HIDE ITS PRACTICE OF
ROUTING CERTAIN INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS TO OTHER
BROKER-DEALERS (EXTERNAL LIQUIDITY PROVIDERS, ELECTRONIC
LIQUIDITY PARTNERS, OR ELPS), INCLUDING PROPRIETARY TRADING
FIRMS AND WHOLESALE MARKET MAKERS, FOR EXECUTION. THE FIRM
CONFIGURED A NUMBER OF INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEMS SO THAT INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS THAT
WERE EXECUTED AT ELPS INSTEAD APPEARED TO INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMERS TO HAVE BEEN EXECUTED AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM
SIMILARLY MISREPORTED ELP EXECUTIONS IN REPORTS PROVIDED TO
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS AND IN BILLING INVOICES. WHEN
RESPONDING TO INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER QUESTIONNAIRES AND IN
OTHER COMMUNICATIONS, THE FIRM SPECIFICALLY OMITTED ELPS FROM
LISTS OF VENUES TO WHICH INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS WERE
ROUTED. THE FIRM REFERRED TO THIS PRACTICE INTERNALLY AS
 "MASKING." THE FIRM MASKED THE ELP EXECUTIONS OF THE FIRM'S
 "DIRECT STRATEGY ACCESS" OR "DSA" INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS.
THESE INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS TYPICALLY WERE FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS SUCH AS ASSET MANAGERS, MUTUAL FUND INVESTMENT
ADVISERS, AND PUBLIC PENSION FUNDS. THE FIRM FALSELY REPORTED
TO INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS THAT ALL OF THESE TRANSACTIONS
OCCURRED AT THE FIRM. AS A RESULT OF THE FIRM'S MASKING
PRACTICE, INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT SOME OF
THEIR ORDERS WERE EXECUTED AT ELPS AND OTHER ORDERS WERE
EXPOSED TO ELPS BEFORE BEING EXECUTED AT OTHER VENUES. AS A
RESULT, THESE INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS' ORDERS RECEIVED
UNWANTED EXECUTIONS AGAINST ENTITIES WITH WHICH THEY BELIEVED
THEIR ORDERS WOULD NOT INTERACT. BECAUSE OF MASKING, THESE
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS DID NOT KNOW THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED
THEIR INSTRUCTIONS. THE FIRM STOPPED MASKING IN MAY 2013 ON A
PROSPECTIVE BASIS, BUT DID NOT INFORM INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS
THAT IT PREVIOUSLY HAD MASKED THEIR ELP EXECUTIONS. TO THE
CONTRARY, THE FIRM CONFIGURED SYSTEMS SO THAT FUTURE
REPORTS TO INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS, TYPICALLY PROVIDED ON A
MONTHLY OR QUARTERLY BASIS, CONTINUED TO MASK ELP EXECUTIONS.
THE FIRM'S STATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS IN COMMUNICATIONS TO
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS THROUGH RESPONSES TO
QUESTIONNAIRES, MESSAGES REGARDING TRADE EXECUTIONS,
REPORTS, AND BILLING STATEMENTS WERE MATERIALLY MISLEADING
CONCERNING ORDERS THAT THE FIRM SENT TO ELPS AND ORDERS THAT
THE ELPS EXECUTED. THE FIRM'S EFFORTS TO MASK THE CORRECT
TRADING VENUES, INCLUDING BY ALTERING TRADE REPORTING
PROGRAMS, OPERATED AS A FRAUD OR DECEIT UPON ITS INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMERS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Resolution Date: 06/19/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND
ORDERED TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$42,000,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $42,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND
ORDERED TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$42,000,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND
ORDERED TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$42,000,000.

Disclosure 49 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-83408 / JUNE 12, 2018:  THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION CONSIDERED IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE
INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL," "FIRM," OR "RESPONDENT"). ON THE BASIS
OF THIS ORDER AND RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE COMMISSION MAKES
THE FINDINGS THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF MERRILL'S
FAILURE REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE FIRM PERSONNEL SO AS TO
PREVENT AND DETECT VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH MERRILL'S
SECONDARY MARKET PURCHASES AND SALES OF CERTAIN BONDS
KNOWN AS NON-AGENCY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
("NON-AGENCY RMBS"). THE TRADING THAT IS THE SUBJECT OF THE
ORDER TOOK PLACE FROM JUNE 2009 THROUGH DECEMBER 2012
("RELEVANT PERIOD") AND INVOLVED INTRA-DAY PURCHASES AND SALES
OF NON-AGENCY RMBS FROM AND TO MERRILL CUSTOMERS. DURING
THE RELEVANT PERIOD, MERRILL PERSONNEL WHO PURCHASED AND
SOLD NON-AGENCY RMBS MADE FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENTS,
DIRECTLY AND INDIRECTLY, TO MERRILL CUSTOMERS AND/OR CHARGED
MERRILL CUSTOMERS UNDISCLOSED EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS. BY
ENGAGING IN THIS CONDUCT, MERRILL PERSONNEL ACTED KNOWINGLY
OR RECKLESSLY. MERRILL HAD BOTH POLICIES THAT PROHIBITED FALSE
OR MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND THE MEANS TO MONITOR
COMMUNICATIONS FOR SUCH STATEMENTS. THE FIRM, HOWEVER, FAILED
REASONABLY TO IMPLEMENT PROCEDURES TO MONITOR FOR THE TYPES
OF FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENTS THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF THIS
ORDER. MERRILL ALSO HAD POLICIES THAT PROHIBITED EXCESSIVE
MARK-UPS AND PROCEDURES TO MONITOR FOR EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS
ON TRANSACTIONS IN NON-AGENCY RMBS, BUT THE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED AND IMPLEMENTED.
DUE TO THESE DEFICIENCIES, MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO
PERFORM A MEANINGFUL REVIEW OF POTENTIALLY EXCESSIVE MARK-
UPS ON CERTAIN NON-AGENCY RMBS TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING
TRANSACTIONS THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF THE ORDER. UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES DESCRIBED ABOVE, MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE FOR VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E)
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 06/12/2018

Docket/Case Number: 3-18538

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-83408 / JUNE 12, 2018:  THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION CONSIDERED IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE
INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL," "FIRM," OR "RESPONDENT"). ON THE BASIS
OF THIS ORDER AND RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE COMMISSION MAKES
THE FINDINGS THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS ARISE OUT OF MERRILL'S
FAILURE REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE FIRM PERSONNEL SO AS TO
PREVENT AND DETECT VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH MERRILL'S
SECONDARY MARKET PURCHASES AND SALES OF CERTAIN BONDS
KNOWN AS NON-AGENCY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
("NON-AGENCY RMBS"). THE TRADING THAT IS THE SUBJECT OF THE
ORDER TOOK PLACE FROM JUNE 2009 THROUGH DECEMBER 2012
("RELEVANT PERIOD") AND INVOLVED INTRA-DAY PURCHASES AND SALES
OF NON-AGENCY RMBS FROM AND TO MERRILL CUSTOMERS. DURING
THE RELEVANT PERIOD, MERRILL PERSONNEL WHO PURCHASED AND
SOLD NON-AGENCY RMBS MADE FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENTS,
DIRECTLY AND INDIRECTLY, TO MERRILL CUSTOMERS AND/OR CHARGED
MERRILL CUSTOMERS UNDISCLOSED EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS. BY
ENGAGING IN THIS CONDUCT, MERRILL PERSONNEL ACTED KNOWINGLY
OR RECKLESSLY. MERRILL HAD BOTH POLICIES THAT PROHIBITED FALSE
OR MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND THE MEANS TO MONITOR
COMMUNICATIONS FOR SUCH STATEMENTS. THE FIRM, HOWEVER, FAILED
REASONABLY TO IMPLEMENT PROCEDURES TO MONITOR FOR THE TYPES
OF FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENTS THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF THIS
ORDER. MERRILL ALSO HAD POLICIES THAT PROHIBITED EXCESSIVE
MARK-UPS AND PROCEDURES TO MONITOR FOR EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS
ON TRANSACTIONS IN NON-AGENCY RMBS, BUT THE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED AND IMPLEMENTED.
DUE TO THESE DEFICIENCIES, MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO
PERFORM A MEANINGFUL REVIEW OF POTENTIALLY EXCESSIVE MARK-
UPS ON CERTAIN NON-AGENCY RMBS TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING
TRANSACTIONS THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF THE ORDER. UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES DESCRIBED ABOVE, MERRILL FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE FOR VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E)
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

Resolution Date: 06/12/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PRE-JUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT IS CENSURED, ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT AND
PRE-JUDGMENT INTEREST TOTALING $10,535,441, AND TO PAY A CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,267,720.

Regulator Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE OFFER)
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.
IN VIEW OF THE FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE
IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN THE
RESPONDENT'S OFFER.

ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT IS
CENSURED, ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT AND PRE-JUDGMENT
INTEREST TOTALING $10,535,441, AND TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT OF $5,267,720. IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT THE OFFER, THE
COMMISSION CONSIDERED REMEDIAL STEPS THAT MERRILL HAS
UNDERTAKEN. MERRILL AGREES TO COOPERATE FULLY WITH THE
COMMISSION IN ANY AND ALL INVESTIGATIONS, LITIGATIONS, OR OTHER
PROCEEDINGS RELATING TO OR ARISING FROM THE MATTERS
DESCRIBED IN THE ORDER.

MERRILL, WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT, FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE WITH A VIEW TO
PREVENTING VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS BY MERRILL TRADERS AND SALESPERSONS WHO
PURCHASED AND SOLD NON-AGENCY RMBS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,267,720.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE OFFER)
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.
IN VIEW OF THE FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE
IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN THE
RESPONDENT'S OFFER.

ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT IS
CENSURED, ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT AND PRE-JUDGMENT
INTEREST TOTALING $10,535,441, AND TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT OF $5,267,720. IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT THE OFFER, THE
COMMISSION CONSIDERED REMEDIAL STEPS THAT MERRILL HAS
UNDERTAKEN. MERRILL AGREES TO COOPERATE FULLY WITH THE
COMMISSION IN ANY AND ALL INVESTIGATIONS, LITIGATIONS, OR OTHER
PROCEEDINGS RELATING TO OR ARISING FROM THE MATTERS
DESCRIBED IN THE ORDER.

MERRILL, WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT, FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE WITH A VIEW TO
PREVENTING VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS BY MERRILL TRADERS AND SALESPERSONS WHO
PURCHASED AND SOLD NON-AGENCY RMBS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ON JUNE 12, 2018, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (SEC)
ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING AGAINST THE FIRM FINDING
THAT THE FIRM FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE FIRM PERSONNEL SO
AS TO PREVENT AND DETECT VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF
THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH THE FIRM'S
SECONDARY MARKET PURCHASES AND SALES OF CERTAIN BONDS
KNOWN AS NON-AGENCY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
(NON-AGENCY RMBS). THE TRADING THAT IS THE SUBJECT OF THE
ORDER TOOK PLACE FROM JUNE 2009 THROUGH DECEMBER 2012
(RELEVANT PERIOD) AND INVOLVED INTRA-DAY PURCHASES AND SALES
OF NON-AGENCY RMBS FROM AND TO THE FIRM'S INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMERS.  DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, FIRM PERSONNEL WHO
PURCHASED AND SOLD NON-AGENCY RMBS MADE FALSE OR MISLEADING
STATEMENTS, DIRECTLY AND INDIRECTLY, TO THE FIRM'S INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMERS AND/OR CHARGED THE FIRM'S INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS
UNDISCLOSED EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS. BY ENGAGING IN THIS CONDUCT,
THE FIRM'S PERSONNEL ACTED KNOWINGLY OR RECKLESSLY. THE FIRM
HAD BOTH POLICIES THAT PROHIBITED FALSE OR MISLEADING
STATEMENTS AND THE MEANS TO MONITOR COMMUNICATIONS FOR SUCH
STATEMENTS. THE FIRM, HOWEVER, FAILED REASONABLY TO IMPLEMENT
PROCEDURES TO MONITOR FOR THE TYPES OF FALSE OR MISLEADING
STATEMENTS THAT WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE ORDER.  THE FIRM ALSO
HAD POLICIES THAT PROHIBITED EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS AND
PROCEDURES TO MONITOR FOR EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS ON
TRANSACTIONS IN NON-AGENCY RMBS, BUT THE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED AND IMPLEMENTED.
DUE TO THESE DEFICIENCIES, THE FIRM FAILED REASONABLY TO
PERFORM A MEANINGFUL REVIEW OF POTENTIALLY EXCESSIVE MARK-
UPS ON CERTAIN NON-AGENCY RMBS TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING
TRANSACTIONS THAT WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE ORDER.  UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES DESCRIBED ABOVE, THE FIRM FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE FOR VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E)
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

Current Status: Final

175©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; DISGORGEMENT; PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Date Initiated: 06/12/2018

Docket/Case Number: 3-18538

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES

ON JUNE 12, 2018, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (SEC)
ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING AGAINST THE FIRM FINDING
THAT THE FIRM FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE FIRM PERSONNEL SO
AS TO PREVENT AND DETECT VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF
THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH THE FIRM'S
SECONDARY MARKET PURCHASES AND SALES OF CERTAIN BONDS
KNOWN AS NON-AGENCY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
(NON-AGENCY RMBS). THE TRADING THAT IS THE SUBJECT OF THE
ORDER TOOK PLACE FROM JUNE 2009 THROUGH DECEMBER 2012
(RELEVANT PERIOD) AND INVOLVED INTRA-DAY PURCHASES AND SALES
OF NON-AGENCY RMBS FROM AND TO THE FIRM'S INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMERS.  DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, FIRM PERSONNEL WHO
PURCHASED AND SOLD NON-AGENCY RMBS MADE FALSE OR MISLEADING
STATEMENTS, DIRECTLY AND INDIRECTLY, TO THE FIRM'S INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMERS AND/OR CHARGED THE FIRM'S INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS
UNDISCLOSED EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS. BY ENGAGING IN THIS CONDUCT,
THE FIRM'S PERSONNEL ACTED KNOWINGLY OR RECKLESSLY. THE FIRM
HAD BOTH POLICIES THAT PROHIBITED FALSE OR MISLEADING
STATEMENTS AND THE MEANS TO MONITOR COMMUNICATIONS FOR SUCH
STATEMENTS. THE FIRM, HOWEVER, FAILED REASONABLY TO IMPLEMENT
PROCEDURES TO MONITOR FOR THE TYPES OF FALSE OR MISLEADING
STATEMENTS THAT WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE ORDER.  THE FIRM ALSO
HAD POLICIES THAT PROHIBITED EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS AND
PROCEDURES TO MONITOR FOR EXCESSIVE MARK-UPS ON
TRANSACTIONS IN NON-AGENCY RMBS, BUT THE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED AND IMPLEMENTED.
DUE TO THESE DEFICIENCIES, THE FIRM FAILED REASONABLY TO
PERFORM A MEANINGFUL REVIEW OF POTENTIALLY EXCESSIVE MARK-
UPS ON CERTAIN NON-AGENCY RMBS TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING
TRANSACTIONS THAT WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE ORDER.  UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES DESCRIBED ABOVE, THE FIRM FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE FOR VIOLATIONS OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 15(B)(4)(E)
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

Resolution Date: 06/12/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT AND PRE-
JUDGMENT INTEREST TOTALING $10,535,441, AND TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,267,720.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT AND PRE-
JUDGMENT INTEREST TOTALING $10,535,441, AND TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,267,720.  IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT
THE FIRM'S OFFER, THE COMMISSION CONSIDERED REMEDIAL STEPS
THAT MERRILL UNDERTOOK.  MERRILL ALSO AGREED TO COOPERATE
FULLY WITH THE COMMISSION IN ANY AND ALL INVESTIGATIONS,
LITIGATIONS, OR OTHER PROCEEDINGS RELATING TO OR ARISING FROM
THE MATTERS DESCRIBED IN THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,267,720.00

Order

Disclosure 50 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: MAINE OFFICE OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/09/2015

Docket/Case Number: 15-11252

URL for Regulatory Action: HTTPS://WWW.MAINE.GOV/TOOLS/WHATSNEW/INDEX.PHP?TOPIC=SEC-
LEGALDOCS&ID=798343&V=DEFAULT

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NEXTGEN 529 PLAN

Allegations: SALE OF UNSUITABLE INVESTMENTS AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/25/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH (1) PROVIDED A WRITTEN PLAN TO PAY FINANCIAL
REMEDIATION TO INVESTORS IN THE APPROXIMATE AMOUNT OF
$18,900,000; (2) WILL FILE A REPORT WITH THE ADMINISTRATOR WITHIN 75
DAYS FOLLOWING COMPLETION OF THE WRITTEN PLAN OF REMEDIATION;
AND (3) WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE EXECUTION OF THE ORDER, MERRILL
LYNCH WILL MAKE A PAYMENT OF $500,000 TO THE MAINE SECURITIES
INVESTOR EDUCATION AND TRAINING FUND.

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH WILL PAY REMEDIATION OF APPROXIMATELY $18,900,000.
IT WILL ALSO PAY $500,000 TO THE MAINE SECURITIES INVESTOR
EDUCATION AND TRAINING FUND.

Regulator Statement MERRILL LYNCH WAS, AT TIMES, PUTTING NEXTGEN 529 PLAN CLIENTS IN
CLASS C SHARES INSTEAD OF CLASS A SHARES. CLASS A SHARES OFTEN
WOULD HAVE BEEN MORE SUITABLE BECAUSE THE FEES WOULD HAVE
BEEN LOWER OVER THE LIFE OF THE NEXTGEN 529 PLAN INVESTMENT. IN
ADDITION, SOME CLIENTS WHO INVESTED $1,000,000 OR MORE IN THE
NEXTGEN PLAN SHOULD HAVE BEEN PUT IN CLASS A SHARES, WHICH
HAD NO FRONT END LOADS AND SMALLER ONGOING FEES, BUT INSTEAD
WERE PUT IN CLASS C SHARES WHICH CHARGED HIGHER ONGOING
FEES.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Order
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MERRILL LYNCH WAS, AT TIMES, PUTTING NEXTGEN 529 PLAN CLIENTS IN
CLASS C SHARES INSTEAD OF CLASS A SHARES. CLASS A SHARES OFTEN
WOULD HAVE BEEN MORE SUITABLE BECAUSE THE FEES WOULD HAVE
BEEN LOWER OVER THE LIFE OF THE NEXTGEN 529 PLAN INVESTMENT. IN
ADDITION, SOME CLIENTS WHO INVESTED $1,000,000 OR MORE IN THE
NEXTGEN PLAN SHOULD HAVE BEEN PUT IN CLASS A SHARES, WHICH
HAD NO FRONT END LOADS AND SMALLER ONGOING FEES, BUT INSTEAD
WERE PUT IN CLASS C SHARES WHICH CHARGED HIGHER ONGOING
FEES.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF MAINE OFFICE OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/25/2018

Docket/Case Number: 15-11252-CON

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON MAY 25, 2018, THE STATE OF MAINE OFFICE OF SECURITIES ("MAINE
SECURITIES") ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER") IN CONNECTION
WITH MERRILL LYNCH'S ACTIVITIES AS DISTRIBUTION AGENT OF MAINE'S
NEXTGEN 529 COLLEGE INVESTMENT PLAN-CLIENT SELECT SERIES
("NEXTGEN") AND THE FEES ASSOCIATED WITH THE DIFFERENT CLASSES
OF UNITS AVAILABLE TO NEXTGEN INVESTORS (CLASS A UNITS AND
CLASS C UNITS).   THE ORDER CITED MERRILL LYNCH FOR (I) HAVING
VIOLATED 32 M.R.S. 16412(4)(M)  AND MAINE OFFICE OF SECURITIES RULE
CHAPTER 504 SECTION 8(3) WHEN ITS REPRESENTATIVES
RECOMMENDED CLASS C UNITS OF NEXTGEN TO INVESTORS FOR WHOM
CLASS A UNITS LIKELY WOULD HAVE BEEN LESS EXPENSIVE OVER THE
INVESTORS' INVESTMENT HORIZON GIVEN THE AGE OF THE INVESTORS'
BENEFICIARIES, AND (II)  HAVING VIOLATED 32 M.R.S. 16412(4)(I)  AND
MAINE OFFICE OF SECURITIES RULE CHAPTER 504 SECTION 7(1)  BY
FAILING TO (A) REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS, AND (B) ESTABLISH
AND MAINTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, AND EFFECTIVE
MONITORING OR OTHER CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
THAT ITS AGENTS PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE BENEFICIARIES' AGE,
INVESTMENT TIME HORIZON, AND RELATIVE EXPENSE OF CLASS A AND
CLASS C UNITS WHEN REPRESENTATIVES RECOMMENDED NEXTGEN.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/25/2018

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 05/25/2018

Other Sanctions Ordered: COMPLY WITH UNDERTAKING REGARDING VOLUNTARY WRITTEN PLAN OF
REMEDIATION

Sanction Details: THE ORDER STATED THAT MERRILL LYNCH HAS UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
FINANCIAL REMEDIATION PAYMENTS, WHICH ARE ESTIMATED TO TOTAL
APPROXIMATELY $18.9 MILLION, TO ALL MAINE AND NON-MAINE
RESIDENTS WHO PURCHASED NEXTGEN CLASS C UNITS DURING A
SPECIFIED PERIOD ("ELIGIBLE INVESTORS") THROUGH MERRILL LYNCH AS
DISTRIBUTION AGENT PURSUANT TO A VOLUNTARY WRITTEN PLAN
SUBMITTED TO THE MAINE SECURITIES ADMINISTRATOR.  PURSUANT TO
THE WRITTEN PLAN, MERRILL LYNCH WILL PAY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE IN THE COST OF HOLDING CLASS C SHARES RELATIVE TO
CLASS A UNITS, PLUS INTEREST THROUGH THE PAYMENT DATE.  MERRILL
LYNCH WILL ALSO FILE A REPORT WITH THE MAINE SECURITIES
ADMINISTRATOR DETAILING THE PAYMENTS MADE TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS. MERRILL LYNCH HAS ALSO AGREED TO MAKE A PAYMENT IN
THE AMOUNT OF $500,000 TO THE MAINE SECURITIES INVESTOR
EDUCATION AND TRAINING FUND.  FINALLY, THE ORDER STATED THAT, IN
RECOGNITION OF MERRILL LYNCH'S COOPERATION WITH MAINE
SECURITIES, INCLUDING ITS DEVELOPMENT OF A VOLUNTARY PLAN OF
REMEDIATION, THE MAINE SECURITIES ADMINISTRATOR HAS AGREED TO
FORGO THE IMPOSITION OF A CIVIL PENALTY.

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW OF MAINE SECURITIES.  THE ORDER ALSO CONTAINED THE
FOLLOWING LANGUAGE WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE "BAD ACTOR"
DISQUALIFICATIONS UNDER THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS: "PURSUANT
TO 17 C.F.R. §230.506(D)(2)(II) NOTHING STATED IN THIS CONSENT ORDER
GIVES RISE TO A DISQUALIFICATION UNDER 17 C.F.R. §230.506(D)(1) OR
ANY OTHER STATUTORY OR REGULATORY DISQUALIFICATION
PROVISION."

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Disclosure 51 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK INVESTOR
PROTECTION BUREAU ALLEGED THAT BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION
(BAC) AND THE FIRM (1) CONCEALED FROM ITS INSTITUTIONAL CLIENTS
THAT ORDERS WERE ROUTED TO AND EXECUTED BY "ELECTRONIC
LIQUIDITY PROVIDERS," (2) MISSTATED THE COMPOSITION OF ORDERS
AND TRADES IN ITS DARK POOL, AND (3) DID NOT ACCURATELY DESCRIBE
ITS USE OF A PROPRIETARY "VENUE RANKING" ANALYSIS, IN VIOLATION
OF THE MARTIN ACT AND EXECUTIVE LAW § 63(12).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK INVESTOR
PROTECTION BUREAU

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

AGREEMENT NOT TO ENGAGE, OR ATTEMPT TO ENGAGE, IN CONDUCT IN
VIOLATION OF ANY APPLICABLE LAWS, AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE CERTAIN
MATERIALS TO THE NYAG

Date Initiated: 03/22/2018

Docket/Case Number: AGREEMENT NO. 18-025

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK INVESTOR
PROTECTION BUREAU ALLEGED THAT BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION
(BAC) AND THE FIRM (1) CONCEALED FROM ITS INSTITUTIONAL CLIENTS
THAT ORDERS WERE ROUTED TO AND EXECUTED BY "ELECTRONIC
LIQUIDITY PROVIDERS," (2) MISSTATED THE COMPOSITION OF ORDERS
AND TRADES IN ITS DARK POOL, AND (3) DID NOT ACCURATELY DESCRIBE
ITS USE OF A PROPRIETARY "VENUE RANKING" ANALYSIS, IN VIOLATION
OF THE MARTIN ACT AND EXECUTIVE LAW § 63(12).

Resolution Date: 03/22/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: AGREEMENT NOT TO ENGAGE, OR ATTEMPT TO ENGAGE, IN CONDUCT IN
VIOLATION OF ANY APPLICABLE LAWS, AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE CERTAIN
MATERIALS TO THE NYAG

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE AGREEMENT, BOFAML AGREED (1) NOT TO
ENGAGE, OR ATTEMPT TO ENGAGE, IN CONDUCT IN VIOLATION OF ANY
APPLICABLE LAWS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE MARTIN ACT AND
EXECUTIVE LAW § 63(12); (2) TO PAY A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$42,000,000; AND (3) PROVIDE THE NYAG A SUMMARY OF THE REVIEW OF
ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE AGREEMENT, BOFAML AGREED (1) NOT TO
ENGAGE, OR ATTEMPT TO ENGAGE, IN CONDUCT IN VIOLATION OF ANY
APPLICABLE LAWS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE MARTIN ACT AND
EXECUTIVE LAW § 63(12); (2) TO PAY A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$42,000,000; AND (3) PROVIDE THE NYAG A SUMMARY OF THE REVIEW OF
ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $42,000,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 52 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-
THROUGHS OF PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT
FALL WITHIN ANY APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN
EXCEPTION, ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE TERMS OF THE EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS. THE
FIRM EXPERIENCED FOUR SYSTEMS ISSUES THAT GAVE RISE TO CERTAIN
OF THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS. IN CONNECTION WITH ONE OF THE SYSTEMS
ISSUES, THE FIRM BECAME AWARE IN JUNE 2007 THAT ITS SMART ORDER
ROUTER WOULD LIMIT THE TOTAL SHARE QUANTITY OF ITS REGULATION
NMS SWEEP OBLIGATION TO THE SHARE QUANTITY OF THE RELEVANT
UNDERLYING CUSTOMER FACILITATION TRADE. THUS, IN CASES WHERE
THE QUANTITY OF SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET
WERE GREATER THAN THE QUANTITY OF SHARES IN THE UNDERLYING
CUSTOMER FACILITATION TRADE, THE FIRM'S SMART ORDER ROUTER
MAY NOT HAVE ROUTED INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS TO ALL
SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET OR TO THE FULL
SIZE OF ALL SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET
RESULTING IN TRADE-THROUGHS OF THOSE PROTECTED QUOTATIONS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THE SCOPE OF THE ISSUE AND
ASSIGNED IT A LOW PRIORITY FOR LATER REMEDIATION. THE ISSUE
AFFECTED APPROXIMATELY 385 OF THE APPROXIMATELY 8,756 ORDER
PROTECTION SWEEP INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS SENT BY THE FIRM
DURING A SAMPLED SEVEN MONTH PERIOD. THE FIRM DID NOT
REMEDIATE THE ISSUE UNTIL MARCH 2014. THE FIRM ALSO REPORTED
FOUR TRADES WITH TRADE THROUGH EXEMPT MODIFIERS TO THE FINRA
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY WHEN, IN FACT, THE TRANSACTIONS WERE
NOT EXEMPT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/06/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2013037652201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-
THROUGHS OF PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT
FALL WITHIN ANY APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN
EXCEPTION, ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE TERMS OF THE EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS. THE
FIRM EXPERIENCED FOUR SYSTEMS ISSUES THAT GAVE RISE TO CERTAIN
OF THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS. IN CONNECTION WITH ONE OF THE SYSTEMS
ISSUES, THE FIRM BECAME AWARE IN JUNE 2007 THAT ITS SMART ORDER
ROUTER WOULD LIMIT THE TOTAL SHARE QUANTITY OF ITS REGULATION
NMS SWEEP OBLIGATION TO THE SHARE QUANTITY OF THE RELEVANT
UNDERLYING CUSTOMER FACILITATION TRADE. THUS, IN CASES WHERE
THE QUANTITY OF SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET
WERE GREATER THAN THE QUANTITY OF SHARES IN THE UNDERLYING
CUSTOMER FACILITATION TRADE, THE FIRM'S SMART ORDER ROUTER
MAY NOT HAVE ROUTED INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS TO ALL
SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET OR TO THE FULL
SIZE OF ALL SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET
RESULTING IN TRADE-THROUGHS OF THOSE PROTECTED QUOTATIONS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THE SCOPE OF THE ISSUE AND
ASSIGNED IT A LOW PRIORITY FOR LATER REMEDIATION. THE ISSUE
AFFECTED APPROXIMATELY 385 OF THE APPROXIMATELY 8,756 ORDER
PROTECTION SWEEP INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS SENT BY THE FIRM
DURING A SAMPLED SEVEN MONTH PERIOD. THE FIRM DID NOT
REMEDIATE THE ISSUE UNTIL MARCH 2014. THE FIRM ALSO REPORTED
FOUR TRADES WITH TRADE THROUGH EXEMPT MODIFIERS TO THE FINRA
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY WHEN, IN FACT, THE TRANSACTIONS WERE
NOT EXEMPT.

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC) 181©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Resolution Date: 04/06/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING: REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $115,000 AND REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.FINES PAID IN FULL ON MAY 22,
2018.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $115,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-
THROUGHS OF PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT
FALL WITHIN ANY APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN
EXCEPTION, ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE TERMS OF THE EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS. THE
FIRM EXPERIENCED FOUR SYSTEMS ISSUES THAT GAVE RISE TO CERTAIN
OF THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS. IN CONNECTION WITH ONE OF THE SYSTEMS
ISSUES, THE FIRM BECAME AWARE IN JUNE 2007 THAT ITS SMART ORDER
ROUTER WOULD LIMIT THE TOTAL SHARE QUANTITY OF ITS REGULATION
NMS SWEEP OBLIGATION TO THE SHARE QUANTITY OF THE RELEVANT
UNDERLYING CUSTOMER FACILITATION TRADE. THUS, IN CASES WHERE
THE QUANTITY OF SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET
WERE GREATER THAN THE QUANTITY OF SHARES IN THE UNDERLYING
CUSTOMER FACILITATION TRADE, THE FIRM'S SMART ORDER ROUTER
MAY NOT HAVE ROUTED INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS TO ALL
SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET OR TO THE FULL
SIZE OF ALL SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET
RESULTING IN TRADE-THROUGHS OF THOSE PROTECTED QUOTATIONS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THE SCOPE OF THE ISSUE AND
ASSIGNED IT A LOW PRIORITY FOR LATER REMEDIATION. THE FIRM DID
NOT REMEDIATE THE ISSUE UNTIL MARCH 2014. THE FIRM ALSO
REPORTED CERTAIN TRADES WITH TRADE THROUGH EXEMPT MODIFIERS
TO THE FINRA TRADE REPORTING FACILITY WHEN, IN FACT, THE
TRANSACTIONS WERE NOT EXEMPT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/06/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2013037652201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-
THROUGHS OF PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT
FALL WITHIN ANY APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN
EXCEPTION, ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE TERMS OF THE EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS. THE
FIRM EXPERIENCED FOUR SYSTEMS ISSUES THAT GAVE RISE TO CERTAIN
OF THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS. IN CONNECTION WITH ONE OF THE SYSTEMS
ISSUES, THE FIRM BECAME AWARE IN JUNE 2007 THAT ITS SMART ORDER
ROUTER WOULD LIMIT THE TOTAL SHARE QUANTITY OF ITS REGULATION
NMS SWEEP OBLIGATION TO THE SHARE QUANTITY OF THE RELEVANT
UNDERLYING CUSTOMER FACILITATION TRADE. THUS, IN CASES WHERE
THE QUANTITY OF SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET
WERE GREATER THAN THE QUANTITY OF SHARES IN THE UNDERLYING
CUSTOMER FACILITATION TRADE, THE FIRM'S SMART ORDER ROUTER
MAY NOT HAVE ROUTED INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS TO ALL
SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET OR TO THE FULL
SIZE OF ALL SUPERIOR PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN THE MARKET
RESULTING IN TRADE-THROUGHS OF THOSE PROTECTED QUOTATIONS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THE SCOPE OF THE ISSUE AND
ASSIGNED IT A LOW PRIORITY FOR LATER REMEDIATION. THE FIRM DID
NOT REMEDIATE THE ISSUE UNTIL MARCH 2014. THE FIRM ALSO
REPORTED CERTAIN TRADES WITH TRADE THROUGH EXEMPT MODIFIERS
TO THE FINRA TRADE REPORTING FACILITY WHEN, IN FACT, THE
TRANSACTIONS WERE NOT EXEMPT.

Resolution Date: 04/06/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $115,000 AND REQUIRED TO
COMPLY WITH AN UNDERTAKING TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $115,000 AND REQUIRED TO
COMPLY WITH AN UNDERTAKING TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $115,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 53 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10465, 34-82826 / MARCH 8, 2018:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("RESPONDENT" OR "MERRILL").
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT FROM JANUARY 24, 2011 TO AUGUST 18,
2011 MERRILL VIOLATED THE REGISTRATION PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS BY EFFECTING UNREGISTERED SALES OF
ALMOST 3 MILLION SHARES OF LONGTOP FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGIES
LIMITED'S ("LONGTOP") SECURITIES FOR A CUSTOMER. LONGTOP'S
SECURITIES WERE TRADING IN THE UNITED STATES AS AMERICAN
DEPOSITARY SHARES ("ADSS"). LONGTOP'S CHAIRMAN HAD OBTAINED
THE 3 MILLION UNREGISTERED SHARES AS ONE OF ITS FOUNDERS. THE
CHAIRMAN PURPORTED TO GIFT LONGTOP ORDINARY SHARES THROUGH
A TRUST TO EXISTING AND EX-EMPLOYEES OF LONGTOP, WHO WERE THE
PURPORTED BENEFICIARIES OF THAT TRUST. THE RELATED ADSS WERE
THEN SOLD IN ABOUT 68 TRANSACTIONS THROUGH AN ACCOUNT AT
MERRILL'S SINGAPORE BRANCH OFFICE HELD IN THE NAME OF THE
TRUST'S NOMINEE ("NOMINEE").
SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT GENERALLY REQUIRES
REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES OFFERINGS, OR AN AVAILABLE
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION, INCLUDING FOR RESALES SUCH AS
THE SALES THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT AT MERRILL. ALTHOUGH
BROKERS FREQUENTLY RELY ON AN EXEMPTION UNDER SECTION 4(A)(4)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT, KNOWN AS THE BROKERS' TRANSACTION
EXEMPTION, THIS EXEMPTION WAS NOT AVAILABLE TO MERRILL FOR ANY
OF THE LONGTOP ADS SALES THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT. FOR
THIS EXEMPTION, MERRILL WAS REQUIRED TO ENGAGE IN A
REASONABLE INQUIRY INTO THE FACTS SURROUNDING THE CUSTOMERS'
PROPOSED SALES TO DETERMINE IF THE CUSTOMERS WERE ENGAGING
IN AN UNLAWFUL DISTRIBUTION OF SECURITIES.
THE MERRILL TEAM EVALUATING THE PROPOSED SALES ENGAGED IN
SOME INQUIRY BEFORE THE FIRST SALES THAT REVEALED RED FLAGS
THAT LONGTOP, ITS MANAGEMENT, AND THE CHAIRMAN MAINTAINED
CONTROL OF THE SECURITIES, THUS INDICATING THE PURPORTED GIFTS
WERE NOT BONA FIDE AND THE SALES COULD BE PART OF AN UNLAWFUL
UNREGISTERED DISTRIBUTION BY LONGTOP AND ITS AFFILIATES.
NEVERTHELESS, MERRILL DID NOT PROPERLY INVESTIGATE, FAILED TO
INQUIRE ABOUT THE IDENTITIES OF THE PURPORTED SELLERS AND
WHETHER THEY WERE AFFILIATES OF LONGTOP, AND INSTEAD ALLOWED
THE SALES TO GO FORWARD.
MERRILL CLEARED A BLOCK OF ALMOST 1 MILLION LONGTOP ADSS FOR
FUTURE SALES THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT BY UNKNOWN
SELLERS. MERRILL DID NOT CONDUCT ANY SUBSEQUENT REVIEWS WHEN
THESE ADSS WERE SOLD. MERRILL WAS PRESENTED WITH ADDITIONAL
RED FLAGS THAT SHOULD HAVE PROMPTED THE FIRM TO CONDUCT
FURTHER INQUIRY AND CONSIDER WHETHER AN EXEMPTION FROM
SECURITIES OFFERING REGISTRATION WAS AVAILABLE. FOR INSTANCE,
MERRILL FAILED TO PERFORM ANY INQUIRY AFTER AN ONLINE REPORT
ACCUSED LONGTOP OF FINANCIAL FRAUD AND QUESTIONED THE
LEGITIMACY OF THE CHAIRMAN'S GIFT OF SHARES.
LIKEWISE, WHEN NEARLY 2 MILLION MORE LONGTOP UNREGISTERED
SECURITIES WERE DEPOSITED INTO THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT, MERRILL
FAILED TO CONDUCT ANY INQUIRY BEFORE EFFECTING ADDITIONAL
SALES OF THE LONGTOP ADSS. EVEN AFTER LEARNING THAT LONGTOP'S
AUDITOR RESIGNED, CITING THE CHAIRMAN'S ADMISSIONS OF FRAUD,
AND LONGTOP'S SECURITIES WERE DELISTED BY THE NYSE, MERRILL
STILL MADE NO INQUIRY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE ADSS COULD BE
SOLD WITHOUT REGISTRATION.
ACCORDINGLY, MERRILL DID NOT PERFORM A REASONABLE INQUIRY AND
WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RELY ON THE BROKERS' TRANSACTION
EXEMPTION. MERRILL ENGAGED IN AN UNREGISTERED DISTRIBUTION
THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT, GENERATING APPROXIMATELY $38
MILLION IN PROCEEDS FOR THE BENEFIT OF LONGTOP AND ITS
AFFILIATES. MERRILL WIRED THE PROCEEDS FROM THE NOMINEE
ACCOUNT TO A HONG KONG BANK ACCOUNT IN THE NAME OF A
DIFFERENT ENTITY THAT WAS CONTROLLED BY LONGTOP MANAGEMENT.
MERRILL RECEIVED OVER $127,000 IN COMMISSIONS AND FEES. AS A
RESULT, MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT.

Current Status: Final
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SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10465, 34-82826 / MARCH 8, 2018:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("RESPONDENT" OR "MERRILL").
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT FROM JANUARY 24, 2011 TO AUGUST 18,
2011 MERRILL VIOLATED THE REGISTRATION PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS BY EFFECTING UNREGISTERED SALES OF
ALMOST 3 MILLION SHARES OF LONGTOP FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGIES
LIMITED'S ("LONGTOP") SECURITIES FOR A CUSTOMER. LONGTOP'S
SECURITIES WERE TRADING IN THE UNITED STATES AS AMERICAN
DEPOSITARY SHARES ("ADSS"). LONGTOP'S CHAIRMAN HAD OBTAINED
THE 3 MILLION UNREGISTERED SHARES AS ONE OF ITS FOUNDERS. THE
CHAIRMAN PURPORTED TO GIFT LONGTOP ORDINARY SHARES THROUGH
A TRUST TO EXISTING AND EX-EMPLOYEES OF LONGTOP, WHO WERE THE
PURPORTED BENEFICIARIES OF THAT TRUST. THE RELATED ADSS WERE
THEN SOLD IN ABOUT 68 TRANSACTIONS THROUGH AN ACCOUNT AT
MERRILL'S SINGAPORE BRANCH OFFICE HELD IN THE NAME OF THE
TRUST'S NOMINEE ("NOMINEE").
SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT GENERALLY REQUIRES
REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES OFFERINGS, OR AN AVAILABLE
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION, INCLUDING FOR RESALES SUCH AS
THE SALES THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT AT MERRILL. ALTHOUGH
BROKERS FREQUENTLY RELY ON AN EXEMPTION UNDER SECTION 4(A)(4)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT, KNOWN AS THE BROKERS' TRANSACTION
EXEMPTION, THIS EXEMPTION WAS NOT AVAILABLE TO MERRILL FOR ANY
OF THE LONGTOP ADS SALES THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT. FOR
THIS EXEMPTION, MERRILL WAS REQUIRED TO ENGAGE IN A
REASONABLE INQUIRY INTO THE FACTS SURROUNDING THE CUSTOMERS'
PROPOSED SALES TO DETERMINE IF THE CUSTOMERS WERE ENGAGING
IN AN UNLAWFUL DISTRIBUTION OF SECURITIES.
THE MERRILL TEAM EVALUATING THE PROPOSED SALES ENGAGED IN
SOME INQUIRY BEFORE THE FIRST SALES THAT REVEALED RED FLAGS
THAT LONGTOP, ITS MANAGEMENT, AND THE CHAIRMAN MAINTAINED
CONTROL OF THE SECURITIES, THUS INDICATING THE PURPORTED GIFTS
WERE NOT BONA FIDE AND THE SALES COULD BE PART OF AN UNLAWFUL
UNREGISTERED DISTRIBUTION BY LONGTOP AND ITS AFFILIATES.
NEVERTHELESS, MERRILL DID NOT PROPERLY INVESTIGATE, FAILED TO
INQUIRE ABOUT THE IDENTITIES OF THE PURPORTED SELLERS AND
WHETHER THEY WERE AFFILIATES OF LONGTOP, AND INSTEAD ALLOWED
THE SALES TO GO FORWARD.
MERRILL CLEARED A BLOCK OF ALMOST 1 MILLION LONGTOP ADSS FOR
FUTURE SALES THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT BY UNKNOWN
SELLERS. MERRILL DID NOT CONDUCT ANY SUBSEQUENT REVIEWS WHEN
THESE ADSS WERE SOLD. MERRILL WAS PRESENTED WITH ADDITIONAL
RED FLAGS THAT SHOULD HAVE PROMPTED THE FIRM TO CONDUCT
FURTHER INQUIRY AND CONSIDER WHETHER AN EXEMPTION FROM
SECURITIES OFFERING REGISTRATION WAS AVAILABLE. FOR INSTANCE,
MERRILL FAILED TO PERFORM ANY INQUIRY AFTER AN ONLINE REPORT
ACCUSED LONGTOP OF FINANCIAL FRAUD AND QUESTIONED THE
LEGITIMACY OF THE CHAIRMAN'S GIFT OF SHARES.
LIKEWISE, WHEN NEARLY 2 MILLION MORE LONGTOP UNREGISTERED
SECURITIES WERE DEPOSITED INTO THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT, MERRILL
FAILED TO CONDUCT ANY INQUIRY BEFORE EFFECTING ADDITIONAL
SALES OF THE LONGTOP ADSS. EVEN AFTER LEARNING THAT LONGTOP'S
AUDITOR RESIGNED, CITING THE CHAIRMAN'S ADMISSIONS OF FRAUD,
AND LONGTOP'S SECURITIES WERE DELISTED BY THE NYSE, MERRILL
STILL MADE NO INQUIRY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE ADSS COULD BE
SOLD WITHOUT REGISTRATION.
ACCORDINGLY, MERRILL DID NOT PERFORM A REASONABLE INQUIRY AND
WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RELY ON THE BROKERS' TRANSACTION
EXEMPTION. MERRILL ENGAGED IN AN UNREGISTERED DISTRIBUTION
THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT, GENERATING APPROXIMATELY $38
MILLION IN PROCEEDS FOR THE BENEFIT OF LONGTOP AND ITS
AFFILIATES. MERRILL WIRED THE PROCEEDS FROM THE NOMINEE
ACCOUNT TO A HONG KONG BANK ACCOUNT IN THE NAME OF A
DIFFERENT ENTITY THAT WAS CONTROLLED BY LONGTOP MANAGEMENT.
MERRILL RECEIVED OVER $127,000 IN COMMISSIONS AND FEES. AS A
RESULT, MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT.
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/08/2018

Docket/Case Number: 3-18392

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AMERICAN DEPOSITARY SHARES

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10465, 34-82826 / MARCH 8, 2018:
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("RESPONDENT" OR "MERRILL").
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT FROM JANUARY 24, 2011 TO AUGUST 18,
2011 MERRILL VIOLATED THE REGISTRATION PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS BY EFFECTING UNREGISTERED SALES OF
ALMOST 3 MILLION SHARES OF LONGTOP FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGIES
LIMITED'S ("LONGTOP") SECURITIES FOR A CUSTOMER. LONGTOP'S
SECURITIES WERE TRADING IN THE UNITED STATES AS AMERICAN
DEPOSITARY SHARES ("ADSS"). LONGTOP'S CHAIRMAN HAD OBTAINED
THE 3 MILLION UNREGISTERED SHARES AS ONE OF ITS FOUNDERS. THE
CHAIRMAN PURPORTED TO GIFT LONGTOP ORDINARY SHARES THROUGH
A TRUST TO EXISTING AND EX-EMPLOYEES OF LONGTOP, WHO WERE THE
PURPORTED BENEFICIARIES OF THAT TRUST. THE RELATED ADSS WERE
THEN SOLD IN ABOUT 68 TRANSACTIONS THROUGH AN ACCOUNT AT
MERRILL'S SINGAPORE BRANCH OFFICE HELD IN THE NAME OF THE
TRUST'S NOMINEE ("NOMINEE").
SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT GENERALLY REQUIRES
REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES OFFERINGS, OR AN AVAILABLE
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION, INCLUDING FOR RESALES SUCH AS
THE SALES THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT AT MERRILL. ALTHOUGH
BROKERS FREQUENTLY RELY ON AN EXEMPTION UNDER SECTION 4(A)(4)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT, KNOWN AS THE BROKERS' TRANSACTION
EXEMPTION, THIS EXEMPTION WAS NOT AVAILABLE TO MERRILL FOR ANY
OF THE LONGTOP ADS SALES THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT. FOR
THIS EXEMPTION, MERRILL WAS REQUIRED TO ENGAGE IN A
REASONABLE INQUIRY INTO THE FACTS SURROUNDING THE CUSTOMERS'
PROPOSED SALES TO DETERMINE IF THE CUSTOMERS WERE ENGAGING
IN AN UNLAWFUL DISTRIBUTION OF SECURITIES.
THE MERRILL TEAM EVALUATING THE PROPOSED SALES ENGAGED IN
SOME INQUIRY BEFORE THE FIRST SALES THAT REVEALED RED FLAGS
THAT LONGTOP, ITS MANAGEMENT, AND THE CHAIRMAN MAINTAINED
CONTROL OF THE SECURITIES, THUS INDICATING THE PURPORTED GIFTS
WERE NOT BONA FIDE AND THE SALES COULD BE PART OF AN UNLAWFUL
UNREGISTERED DISTRIBUTION BY LONGTOP AND ITS AFFILIATES.
NEVERTHELESS, MERRILL DID NOT PROPERLY INVESTIGATE, FAILED TO
INQUIRE ABOUT THE IDENTITIES OF THE PURPORTED SELLERS AND
WHETHER THEY WERE AFFILIATES OF LONGTOP, AND INSTEAD ALLOWED
THE SALES TO GO FORWARD.
MERRILL CLEARED A BLOCK OF ALMOST 1 MILLION LONGTOP ADSS FOR
FUTURE SALES THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT BY UNKNOWN
SELLERS. MERRILL DID NOT CONDUCT ANY SUBSEQUENT REVIEWS WHEN
THESE ADSS WERE SOLD. MERRILL WAS PRESENTED WITH ADDITIONAL
RED FLAGS THAT SHOULD HAVE PROMPTED THE FIRM TO CONDUCT
FURTHER INQUIRY AND CONSIDER WHETHER AN EXEMPTION FROM
SECURITIES OFFERING REGISTRATION WAS AVAILABLE. FOR INSTANCE,
MERRILL FAILED TO PERFORM ANY INQUIRY AFTER AN ONLINE REPORT
ACCUSED LONGTOP OF FINANCIAL FRAUD AND QUESTIONED THE
LEGITIMACY OF THE CHAIRMAN'S GIFT OF SHARES.
LIKEWISE, WHEN NEARLY 2 MILLION MORE LONGTOP UNREGISTERED
SECURITIES WERE DEPOSITED INTO THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT, MERRILL
FAILED TO CONDUCT ANY INQUIRY BEFORE EFFECTING ADDITIONAL
SALES OF THE LONGTOP ADSS. EVEN AFTER LEARNING THAT LONGTOP'S
AUDITOR RESIGNED, CITING THE CHAIRMAN'S ADMISSIONS OF FRAUD,
AND LONGTOP'S SECURITIES WERE DELISTED BY THE NYSE, MERRILL
STILL MADE NO INQUIRY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE ADSS COULD BE
SOLD WITHOUT REGISTRATION.
ACCORDINGLY, MERRILL DID NOT PERFORM A REASONABLE INQUIRY AND
WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RELY ON THE BROKERS' TRANSACTION
EXEMPTION. MERRILL ENGAGED IN AN UNREGISTERED DISTRIBUTION
THROUGH THE NOMINEE ACCOUNT, GENERATING APPROXIMATELY $38
MILLION IN PROCEEDS FOR THE BENEFIT OF LONGTOP AND ITS
AFFILIATES. MERRILL WIRED THE PROCEEDS FROM THE NOMINEE
ACCOUNT TO A HONG KONG BANK ACCOUNT IN THE NAME OF A
DIFFERENT ENTITY THAT WAS CONTROLLED BY LONGTOP MANAGEMENT.
MERRILL RECEIVED OVER $127,000 IN COMMISSIONS AND FEES. AS A
RESULT, MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT.

Resolution Date: 03/08/2018

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,250,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL IS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.
MERRILL IS ALSO ORDERED PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $127,545 ALONG
WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $27,340, AND PAY A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $1.25 MILLION.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE
 "OFFER"), WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.
MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT.
IT IS ORDERED THAT MERRILL IS CENSURED AND SHALL CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.
MERRILL IS ORDERED PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $127,545 ALONG WITH
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $27,340, AND PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT OF $1.25 MILLION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,250,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ON MARCH 8, 2018, THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
("SEC") ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") FINDING
THAT MERRILL LYNCH, FROM JANUARY 24, 2011 TO AUGUST 18, 2011,
VIOLATED THE REGISTRATION PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS BY EFFECTING UNREGISTERED SALES OF ALMOST 3 MILLION
SHARES OF LONGTOP FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED'S SECURITIES
FOR A CUSTOMER THAT MAINTAINED AN ACCOUNT AT A MERRILL LYNCH
BRANCH OFFICE IN SINGAPORE.  IN 2013, MERRILL LYNCH SOLD ITS
SINGAPORE BRANCH OFFICE AND THE BRANCH EMPLOYEES HANDLING
THE ACCOUNT CEASED THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH MERRILL LYNCH.
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE
ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE SEC'S FINDINGS.  THE SEC
FOUND THAT, ALTHOUGH IN ADVANCE OF THE SALES MERRILL LYNCH
REVIEWED LONGTOP'S PUBLIC FILINGS, GATHERED INFORMATION FROM
THE SINGAPORE BRANCH CONCERNING LONGTOP AND THE ACCOUNT,
HAD DISCUSSIONS WITH LONGTOP'S U.S.-BASED OUTSIDE COUNSEL WHO
WAS NOT ON A LIST OF KNOWN SECURITIES LAW OFFENDERS, AND
CONSULTED WITH IN-HOUSE COUNSEL, MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT
PERFORM A REASONABLE INQUIRY INTO THE FACTS SURROUNDING THE
PROPOSED SALES TO DETERMINE IF THERE WAS AN AVAILABLE
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
("SECURITIES ACT"), AND AS A RESULT MERRILL LYNCH WAS NOT
ENTITLED TO RELY ON THE BROKERS' TRANSACTION EXEMPTION IN
SECTION 4(A)(4) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  THE SEC FOUND THAT THE
SALES THROUGH THE ACCOUNT, GENERATED APPROXIMATELY $38
MILLION IN PROCEEDS FOR THE BENEFIT OF LONGTOP AND ITS
AFFILIATES.  MERRILL LYNCH WIRED THE PROCEEDS FROM THE NOMINEE
ACCOUNT TO A HONG KONG BANK ACCOUNT IN THE NAME OF A
DIFFERENT ENTITY THAT WAS CONTROLLED BY LONGTOP MANAGEMENT.
UNKNOWN TO MERRILL LYNCH, THE MAJORITY OF THE PROCEEDS WERE
THEN TRANSFERRED FROM THE HONG KONG BANK ACCOUNT TO ONE OR
MORE AFFILIATES OF LONGTOP.  MERRILL LYNCH RECEIVED OVER
$127,000 IN COMMISSIONS AND FEES DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD.  AS
A RESULT, THE SEC FOUND THAT MERRILL LYNCH WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST;CENSURE;DEGORGEMENT;PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Date Initiated: 03/08/2018

Docket/Case Number: 3-18392

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AMERICAN DEPOSITARY SHARES

ON MARCH 8, 2018, THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
("SEC") ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") FINDING
THAT MERRILL LYNCH, FROM JANUARY 24, 2011 TO AUGUST 18, 2011,
VIOLATED THE REGISTRATION PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS BY EFFECTING UNREGISTERED SALES OF ALMOST 3 MILLION
SHARES OF LONGTOP FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED'S SECURITIES
FOR A CUSTOMER THAT MAINTAINED AN ACCOUNT AT A MERRILL LYNCH
BRANCH OFFICE IN SINGAPORE.  IN 2013, MERRILL LYNCH SOLD ITS
SINGAPORE BRANCH OFFICE AND THE BRANCH EMPLOYEES HANDLING
THE ACCOUNT CEASED THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH MERRILL LYNCH.
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE
ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE SEC'S FINDINGS.  THE SEC
FOUND THAT, ALTHOUGH IN ADVANCE OF THE SALES MERRILL LYNCH
REVIEWED LONGTOP'S PUBLIC FILINGS, GATHERED INFORMATION FROM
THE SINGAPORE BRANCH CONCERNING LONGTOP AND THE ACCOUNT,
HAD DISCUSSIONS WITH LONGTOP'S U.S.-BASED OUTSIDE COUNSEL WHO
WAS NOT ON A LIST OF KNOWN SECURITIES LAW OFFENDERS, AND
CONSULTED WITH IN-HOUSE COUNSEL, MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT
PERFORM A REASONABLE INQUIRY INTO THE FACTS SURROUNDING THE
PROPOSED SALES TO DETERMINE IF THERE WAS AN AVAILABLE
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
("SECURITIES ACT"), AND AS A RESULT MERRILL LYNCH WAS NOT
ENTITLED TO RELY ON THE BROKERS' TRANSACTION EXEMPTION IN
SECTION 4(A)(4) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  THE SEC FOUND THAT THE
SALES THROUGH THE ACCOUNT, GENERATED APPROXIMATELY $38
MILLION IN PROCEEDS FOR THE BENEFIT OF LONGTOP AND ITS
AFFILIATES.  MERRILL LYNCH WIRED THE PROCEEDS FROM THE NOMINEE
ACCOUNT TO A HONG KONG BANK ACCOUNT IN THE NAME OF A
DIFFERENT ENTITY THAT WAS CONTROLLED BY LONGTOP MANAGEMENT.
UNKNOWN TO MERRILL LYNCH, THE MAJORITY OF THE PROCEEDS WERE
THEN TRANSFERRED FROM THE HONG KONG BANK ACCOUNT TO ONE OR
MORE AFFILIATES OF LONGTOP.  MERRILL LYNCH RECEIVED OVER
$127,000 IN COMMISSIONS AND FEES DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD.  AS
A RESULT, THE SEC FOUND THAT MERRILL LYNCH WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Resolution Date: 03/08/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH IS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.
MERRILL LYNCH IS ALSO ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $127,545
ALONG WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $27,340, AND PAY A CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $1.25 MILLION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,250,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Other
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MERRILL LYNCH IS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.
MERRILL LYNCH IS ALSO ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $127,545
ALONG WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $27,340, AND PAY A CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $1.25 MILLION.

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, WHICH THE SEC
DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.  SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS
PROCEEDING AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY OR ON
BEHALF OF THE SEC, OR TO WHICH THE SEC IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER,
EXCEPT AS TO THE SEC'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT
MATTER OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH WERE ADMITTED, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER, WHICH
CONTAINED A FINDING THAT MERRILL LYNCH WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTIONS 5(A)(AND 5(C) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  THE SEC ORDERED
THAT MERRILL LYNCH IS CENSURED AND SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTIONS 5(A) AND 5(C) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  MERRILL LYNCH
WAS ALSO ORDERED TO PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $127,545 ALONG WITH
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $27,340 AND PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT OF $1.25 MILLION.

Disclosure 54 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/03/2015

Docket/Case Number: 18-011-S

URL for Regulatory Action: HTTP://WWW.DFR.VERMONT.GOV/REG-BUL-ORD/RE-MERRILL-LYNCH-
PIERCE-FENNER-SMITH-AND-BARBER

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/21/2018

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Stipulation and Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM TO PAY $120,000
REP TO PAY $20,000

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $140,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/21/2018

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 18-011-5

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): MERRILL LYNCH INVESTMENT ADVISORY PROGRAM

Allegations: THE VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL REGULATION ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORTED ("MERRILL
LYNCH") FAILED TO SUPERVISE A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE
SUBJECT TO ITS SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE
REPRESENTATIVE'S VIOLATIONS OF VERMONT SECURITIES RULES
REGARDING A CUSTOMER'S INVESTMENT ADVISORY PROGRAM, WHICH
INCLUDED IMPROPERLY EFFECTING TRANSACTIONS WITHOUT
AUTHORITY, EXERCISING DISCRETIONARY POWER WITHOUT FIRST
OBTAINING AUTHORITY, EFFECTING AN UNSUITABLE SALE, FAILING TO
SEGREGATE SECURITIES HELD IN SAFEKEEPING, BY REQUESTING AND
RECEIVING CUSTOMER ACCOUNT PASSWORDS, AND BY ACCESSING
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS WITH THE PASSWORDS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/21/2018

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $80,000.00

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH ALSO AGREED TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING ADDITIONAL
PAYMENTS:  (1) A REIMBURSEMENT TO THE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL
REGULATION OF $30,000 FOR INVESTIGATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES; AND
(2) A $10,000 PAYMENT TO THE VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL
REGULATION FINANCIAL SERVICES EDUCATION & TRAINING SPECIAL
FUND.

Sanction Details: THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF PAYMENTS TO BE MADE BY MERRILL LYNCH
PURSUANT TO THE STIPULATION AND CONSENT AGREEMENT WAS
$120,000.

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO A STIPULATION AND CONSENT
AGREEMENT WITH THE VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL
REGULATION IN WHICH THE DEPARTMENT OF REGULATION WHICH
STATED THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUPERVISE WITHIN THE
MEANING OF 9 V.S.A. PARA. S412(D)(9) BY (A) FAILING TO ESCALATE FOR
FURTHER SUPERVISORY REVIEW A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S
EMAIL REQUESTING HIS CLIENT'S MERRILL LYNCH PASSWORD AND (B)
FAILING TO SUPERVISE REASONABLY IN CONNECTION WITH THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S UNAUTHORIZED SALE OF DESIGNATED
SECURITIES. THE STIPULATION AND CONSENT AGREEMENT ALSO STATED
THAT: (1) IT IS NOT AND SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO BE, A FINAL ORDER OF
ANY LAW OR REGULATION THAT PROHIBITS FRAUDULENT, MANIPULATIVE
OR DECEPTIVE CONDUCT, AND (2) IT IS NOT INTENDED TO SUBJECT
MERRILL LYNCH OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES TO ANY DISQUALIFICATION
UNDER VERMONT LAW, OR RULES OR REGULATIONS THEREUNDER,
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, OR RULES OR
REGULATIONS THEREUNDER, THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF SELF-
REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS OR VARIOUS STATES OR U.S.
TERRITORIES, INCLUDING ANY DISQUALIFICATION FROM RELYING UPON
THE REGISTRATION EXEMPTIONS OR SAFE HARBOR PROVISIONS TO
WHICH MERRILL LYNCH, OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES MAY BE SUBJECT. THE
STIPULATION AND CONSENT AGREEMENT ALSO PROVIDED THAT NOTHING
IN THE STIPULATION AND CONSENT AGREEMENT IS INTENDED IN ANY WAY
TO SUBJECT MERRILL LYNCH OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES TO ANY
STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION BY FINRA IN ANY WAY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $80,000.00

Disclosure 55 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE FIRM EXCEEDED THE ORDER TO TRADE RATIO MENTIONED IN
SECTION 17B OF THE EUREX DEUTSCHLAND AND EUREX ZURICH
EXCHANGE RULES BY 0.2873 AS PER THE LEAST TRADING DAY OF
NOVEMBER 2017.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: EUREX DEUTSCHLAND

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

COST OF THE PROCEEDING

Date Initiated: 02/13/2018

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF. 2018/03

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

THE FIRM EXCEEDED THE ORDER TO TRADE RATIO MENTIONED IN
SECTION 17B OF THE EUREX DEUTSCHLAND AND EUREX ZURICH
EXCHANGE RULES BY 0.2873 AS PER THE LEAST TRADING DAY OF
NOVEMBER 2017.

Resolution Date: 02/13/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COST OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF 2,000
EURO (APPROXIMATELY $2,466.20) AND WAS REQUIRED TO BEAR THE
COST OF THE PROCEEDING IN THE AMOUNT OF 2,000 EURO
(APPROXIMATELY $2,466.20).

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF 2,000
EURO (APPROXIMATELY $2,466.20) AND WAS REQUIRED TO BEAR THE
COST OF THE PROCEEDING IN THE AMOUNT OF 2,000 EURO
(APPROXIMATELY $2,466.20).  THE SANCTIONS COMMITTEE NOTED THAT
THERE WAS NO FINANCIAL LOSS TO OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS NOR
ANY LOSS IN TRUST FOR THE STAKEHOLDERS INVOLVED, AND THAT THE
FIRM DID NOT GAIN ANY FINANCIAL ADVANTAGE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,466.20

Decision

Disclosure 56 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
PUBLISH IMMEDIATELY A BID OR OFFER THAT REFLECTED THE FULL SIZE
OF 3,182 CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS FOR OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC)
EQUITY SECURITIES HELD BY THE FIRM THAT WERE AT A PRICE THAT
WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE BID OR OFFER OF THE FIRM IN SUCH
SECURITIES DUE TO A PROGRAMMING ERROR IN WHICH THE FIRM WAS
USING OUTDATED QUOTATION PRICE AND DISPLAY MATRICES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/06/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2016049858101

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
PUBLISH IMMEDIATELY A BID OR OFFER THAT REFLECTED THE FULL SIZE
OF 3,182 CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS FOR OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC)
EQUITY SECURITIES HELD BY THE FIRM THAT WERE AT A PRICE THAT
WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE BID OR OFFER OF THE FIRM IN SUCH
SECURITIES DUE TO A PROGRAMMING ERROR IN WHICH THE FIRM WAS
USING OUTDATED QUOTATION PRICE AND DISPLAY MATRICES.

Resolution Date: 03/06/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $7,500. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
MARCH 23, 2018.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO PUBLISH IMMEDIATELY A BID OR
OFFER THAT REFLECTED THE FULL SIZE OF 3,182 CUSTOMER LIMIT
ORDERS FOR OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC) EQUITY SECURITIES HELD BY
THE FIRM THAT WERE AT A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE BID
OR OFFER OF THE FIRM IN SUCH SECURITIES DUE TO A PROGRAMMING
ERROR IN WHICH THE FIRM WAS USING OUTDATED QUOTATION PRICE
AND DISPLAY MATRICES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/06/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2016049858101

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 03/06/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $7,500.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $7,500.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 57 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 01/30/2018

Docket/Case Number: NYMEX 16-0404-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ("NYMEX") ALLEGED THAT (1) AN
AUTOMATED ORDER ROUTING SYSTEM OPERATED BY THE FIRM
MISROUTED AN UNSUPPORTED TYPE OF CUSTOMER ORDER TO GLOBEX
AS A MARKET ORDER INSTEAD OF REJECTING THE ORDER, WHICH
CAUSED A PRICE SPIKE (BUT DID NOT RESULT IN A TRADING HALT), AND
(2) THE FIRM HAD INSUFFICIENT PROCEDURES OR INTERNAL CONTROLS
IN PLACE TO REJECT THE UNSUPPORTED CUSTOMER ORDER TYPE.
NYMEX FOUND THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NYMEX RULES 432.Q AND 432.W.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 02/01/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH
THE PENALTY WAS BASED, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $80,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH
THE PENALTY WAS BASED, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $80,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $80,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 58 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: BATS BYX EXCHANGE, INC.

Date Initiated: 02/08/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041324302

Principal Product Type: Other

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE INTER-
MARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN SEC RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION
NMS.

THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND BYX RULES, CONCERNING COMPLIANCE
WITH RULE 611(C). SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID
NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES ("WSPS") THAT
INCLUDED AN IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR
SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 03/09/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $135,000, OF WHICH
$57,500 IS PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM IS
REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC IS CONDITIONED UPON ACCEPTANCE OF A
SIMILAR SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE FIRM AND CBOE BZX
EXCHANGE, INC.

IF THIS SETTLEMENT IS MADE PURSUANT TO BYX RULE 8.8, THE DECISION
IN THIS MATTER IS FINAL 20 BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF
THE DECISION. THEREFORE, THE AWC BECAME FINAL MARCH 9, 2018.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $57,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE RESONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE INTER-
MARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN SEC RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION
NMS.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND BYX RULES,
CONCERNING COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 611(C).  SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES ("WSPS") THAT INCLUDED AN IDENTIFICATION OF THE
PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO
APPLICABLE RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BATS BYX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/08/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041324302

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE RESONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE INTER-
MARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN SEC RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION
NMS.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND BYX RULES,
CONCERNING COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 611(C).  SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES ("WSPS") THAT INCLUDED AN IDENTIFICATION OF THE
PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO
APPLICABLE RULES.

Resolution Date: 03/09/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $135,000, OF WHICH
$57,500 IS PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED
TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
THE AREAS OUTLINED IN THE AWC.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $135,000, OF WHICH
$57,500 IS PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED
TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
THE AREAS OUTLINED IN THE AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $57,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 59 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE INTER-
MARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN SEC RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION
NMS.

THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND BZX RULES, CONCERNING COMPLIANCE
WITH RULE 611(C). SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID
NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES ("WSPS") THAT
INCLUDED AN IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR
SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE RULES.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY
AVOID DISPLAYING OR ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF
DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A PROTECTED
QUOTATION, OR ANY MANUAL QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
QUOTATION PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM PLAN.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BATS BZX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/08/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041324301

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE INTER-
MARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN SEC RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION
NMS.

THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND BZX RULES, CONCERNING COMPLIANCE
WITH RULE 611(C). SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID
NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES ("WSPS") THAT
INCLUDED AN IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR
SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE RULES.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY
AVOID DISPLAYING OR ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF
DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A PROTECTED
QUOTATION, OR ANY MANUAL QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
QUOTATION PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM PLAN.

Resolution Date: 03/09/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $77,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $135,000, OF WHICH
$77,500 IS PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM IS
REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC IS CONDITIONED UPON ACCEPTANCE OF A
SIMILAR SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE FIRM AND CBOE BYX
EXCHANGE, INC.

IF THIS SETTLEMENT IS MADE PURSUANT TO BZX RULE 8.8, THE DECISION
IN THIS MATTER IS FINAL 20 BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF
THE DECISION. THEREFORE, THE AWC BECAME FINAL MARCH 9, 2018.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: BATS BZX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 02/08/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014041324301

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE RESONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE INTER-
MARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN SEC RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION
NMS.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND BZX RULES,
CONCERNING COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 611(C).  SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES ("WSPS") THAT INCLUDED AN IDENTIFICATION OF THE
PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO
APPLICABLE RULES.  THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING OR ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION, OR ANY MANUAL QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR
CROSSED A QUOTATION PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN
EFFECTIVE NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM PLAN.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 03/09/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $135,000, OF WHICH
$77,500 IS PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED
TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
THE AREAS OUTLINED IN THE AWC.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED A TOTAL OF $135,000, OF WHICH
$77,500 IS PAYABLE TO THE EXCHANGE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM AGREED
TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
THE AREAS OUTLINED IN THE AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $77,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 60 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT AS A RESULT
OF AN UNDETECTED SYSTEM LOGIC ERROR IN THE FIRM'S INTERNAL
SHORT INTEREST REPORT THAT DROPPED CERTAIN SYMBOLS INVOLVED
IN RECENT CORPORATE ACTIONS THAT RESULTED IN MERGERS AND AN
EXCHANGE OF SHARES, BETWEEN JULY 15, 2013 AND DECEMBER 31, 2013,
THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT 18 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TOTALING
160,934 SHARES ON NINE SETTLEMENT DATES INVOLVING A TOTAL OF
SEVEN SECURITIES, AND INACCURATELY REPORTED 10 SHORT
POSITIONS TOTALING 2,045,270 SHARES, WHEN IT SHOULD HAVE
REPORTED 10 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TOTALING 4,992,748 SHARES
ON EIGHT SETTLEMENT DATES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT DUE TO AN
UNDETECTED CODING ERROR ON ITS INTERNAL SHORT INTEREST
REPORT THAT OMITTED CERTAIN OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC) FOREIGN
SECURITIES (I.E., DULY LISTED SECURITIES) FROM ITS SHORT INTEREST
SUBMISSION, BETWEEN AUGUST 15, 2012 AND OCTOBER 31, 2014, THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT 36,413 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TOTALING
9,530,879,808 SHARES ON 54 SETTLEMENT DATES. AS A RESULT OF A
FAILURE TO UPDATE ITS INTERNAL PROGRAMMING LOGIC IN ITS MASTER
SECURITY DATABASE USED TO DETERMINE IF A SECURITY WAS
REPORTABLE, THE FIRM FAILED TO CAPTURE CERTAIN EQUITY
PREFERRED SECURITIES INVOLVING CORPORATE ACTIONS BETWEEN
SEPTEMBER 28, 2012 AND MARCH 31, 2015, AND THUS THE FIRM FAILED
TO REPORT 928 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TOTALING 52,559,012
SHARES. THE ISSUE THAT CAUSED THIS FAILURE WAS ONLY INITIALLY
DETECTED BY THE FIRM DURING THE FIRM'S SHORT INTEREST
REPORTING PROCESS FOR SETTLEMENT DATE OF JANUARY 30, 2015. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULE 4560. BECAUSE THE FIRM
FAILED TO DETECT VARIOUS SYSTEM, CODING AND CONFIGURATION
ISSUES THAT OCCURRED DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD WITH REGARD
TO ITS SHORT INTEREST REPORTING, THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT AND
FAILED TO ACCURATELY REPORT ITS SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TO
FINRA AS SET FORTH ABOVE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/19/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014040400701

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s): OTC FOREIGN SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT AS A RESULT
OF AN UNDETECTED SYSTEM LOGIC ERROR IN THE FIRM'S INTERNAL
SHORT INTEREST REPORT THAT DROPPED CERTAIN SYMBOLS INVOLVED
IN RECENT CORPORATE ACTIONS THAT RESULTED IN MERGERS AND AN
EXCHANGE OF SHARES, BETWEEN JULY 15, 2013 AND DECEMBER 31, 2013,
THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT 18 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TOTALING
160,934 SHARES ON NINE SETTLEMENT DATES INVOLVING A TOTAL OF
SEVEN SECURITIES, AND INACCURATELY REPORTED 10 SHORT
POSITIONS TOTALING 2,045,270 SHARES, WHEN IT SHOULD HAVE
REPORTED 10 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TOTALING 4,992,748 SHARES
ON EIGHT SETTLEMENT DATES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT DUE TO AN
UNDETECTED CODING ERROR ON ITS INTERNAL SHORT INTEREST
REPORT THAT OMITTED CERTAIN OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC) FOREIGN
SECURITIES (I.E., DULY LISTED SECURITIES) FROM ITS SHORT INTEREST
SUBMISSION, BETWEEN AUGUST 15, 2012 AND OCTOBER 31, 2014, THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT 36,413 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TOTALING
9,530,879,808 SHARES ON 54 SETTLEMENT DATES. AS A RESULT OF A
FAILURE TO UPDATE ITS INTERNAL PROGRAMMING LOGIC IN ITS MASTER
SECURITY DATABASE USED TO DETERMINE IF A SECURITY WAS
REPORTABLE, THE FIRM FAILED TO CAPTURE CERTAIN EQUITY
PREFERRED SECURITIES INVOLVING CORPORATE ACTIONS BETWEEN
SEPTEMBER 28, 2012 AND MARCH 31, 2015, AND THUS THE FIRM FAILED
TO REPORT 928 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TOTALING 52,559,012
SHARES. THE ISSUE THAT CAUSED THIS FAILURE WAS ONLY INITIALLY
DETECTED BY THE FIRM DURING THE FIRM'S SHORT INTEREST
REPORTING PROCESS FOR SETTLEMENT DATE OF JANUARY 30, 2015. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULE 4560. BECAUSE THE FIRM
FAILED TO DETECT VARIOUS SYSTEM, CODING AND CONFIGURATION
ISSUES THAT OCCURRED DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD WITH REGARD
TO ITS SHORT INTEREST REPORTING, THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT AND
FAILED TO ACCURATELY REPORT ITS SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS TO
FINRA AS SET FORTH ABOVE.

Resolution Date: 01/19/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $525,000. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
MARCH 4, 2018.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $525,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $525,000. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
MARCH 4, 2018.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING TO RESOLVE THIS MATTER IN THE MANNER SET FORTH
HEREIN, AND IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE MONETARY SANCTION,
FINRA TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION THE FOLLOWING: (I) THAT THE FIRM
SELF-REPORTED A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF THE VIOLATIONS AT ISSUE
AFTER CONDUCTING AN INTERNAL INVESTIGATION; (II) PROVIDED
ASSISTANCE TO FINRA IN ASSESSING THE NUMBER AND SCOPE OF
VIOLATIONS; AND (III) PROMPTLY TOOK REMEDIAL ACTION TO CORRECT
THE DEFICIENCIES THAT LED TO THE VIOLATIVE ACTIVITY.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 01/19/2018

Docket/Case Number: 2014040400701

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s): OTC FOREIGN SECURITIES

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO REPORT, OR INACCURATELY REPORTED, CERTAIN SHORT
INTEREST POSITIONS IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 4560; (1) AS A RESULT
OF AN UNDETECTED SYSTEM LOGIC ERROR IN THE FIRM'S INTERNAL
SHORT INTEREST REPORT THAT DROPPED CERTAIN SYMBOLS INVOLVED
IN RECENT CORPORATE ACTIONS THAT RESULTED IN MERGERS AND AN
EXCHANGE OF SHARES; (2) DUE TO AN UNDETECTED CODING ERROR ON
ITS INTERNAL SHORT INTEREST REPORT THAT OMITTED CERTAIN OVER-
THE-COUNTER (OTC) FOREIGN SECURITIES (I.E., DULY LISTED
SECURITIES) FROM ITS SHORT INTEREST SUBMISSION; AND (3) AS A
RESULT OF A FAILURE TO UPDATE ITS INTERNAL PROGRAMMING LOGIC IN
ITS MASTER SECURITY DATABASE USED TO DETERMINE IF A SECURITY
WAS REPORTABLE, THAT CAUSED THE FIRM TO FAIL TO CAPTURE
CERTAIN EQUITY PREFERRED SECURITIES INVOLVING CORPORATE
ACTIONS.  THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULE
4560 IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 3010 (FOR CONDUCT PRIOR TO
DECEMBER 1, 2014) AND FINRA RULE 3110 (FOR CONDUCT ON AND AFTER
DECEMBER 1, 2014) AND FINRA RULE 2010.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 01/19/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $525,000,000.

Firm Statement IN DETERMINING TO RESOLVE THIS MATTER IN THE MANNER SET FORTH
HEREIN, AND IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE MONETARY SANCTION,
FINRA TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION THE FOLLOWING: (I) THAT THE FIRM
SELF-REPORTED A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF THE VIOLATIONS AT ISSUE
AFTER CONDUCTING AN INTERNAL INVESTIGATION; (II) PROVIDED
ASSISTANCE TO FINRA IN ASSESSING THE NUMBER AND SCOPE OF
VIOLATIONS; AND (III) PROMPTLY TOOK REMEDIAL ACTION TO CORRECT
THE DEFICIENCIES THAT LED TO THE VIOLATIVE ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $525,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 61 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-82382; IA RELEASE 4831, DECEMBER 21, 2017: THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMMISSION) DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B), AND 21C OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 (ADVISERS ACT)
AGAINST THE FIRM. THE FIRM, IN ADDITION TO OFFERING ITS
CUSTOMERS THE ABILITY TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES, OFFERED ITS
CUSTOMERS OTHER SERVICES IN BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, SUCH AS ATM
CASH DEPOSITS, WIRES, JOURNAL-ENTRY TRANSFERS, CHECK WRITING,
ATM WITHDRAWALS, CASH ADVANCES, AND ACH TRANSFERS. BY
OFFERING THESE ADDITIONAL SERVICES, THE FIRM WAS SUSCEPTIBLE
TO RISKS OF MONEY LAUNDERING AND OTHER ILLICIT FINANCIAL
ACTIVITY ASSOCIATED WITH THESE SERVICES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM PRIMARILY USED A SYSTEM CALLED "MANTAS" FOR
THE AUTOMATED MONITORING OF RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS TO
DETECT POTENTIAL MONEY LAUNDERING ACTIVITY RELATED TO MONEY
MOVEMENTS. MANTAS ALERTED ON TRANSACTIONS THAT FIT WITHIN THE
PARAMETERS OF SPECIFIC SCENARIOS SELECTED BY THE FIRM. THE
FIRM HAD OTHER METHODS OF DETECTING SUSPICIOUS MOVEMENTS OF
FUNDS IN ACCOUNTS, BUT THOSE METHODS WERE PRIMARILY MANUAL,
OR ONLY ALERTED ON CERTAIN TYPES OF ACTIVITY. THE FIRM ALSO USED
A SEPARATE AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM TO CONDUCT TRADE
SURVEILLANCE AND REFERRED TO THE ALERTS PRODUCED BY ITS ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING (AML) DETECTION CHANNELS AS "EVENTS." THE
FIRM ALSO USED A SYSTEM CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR," OR "EP,"
WHICH GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS AND EVENTS PRODUCED BY OTHER
FIRM DETECTION CHANNELS AND ASSIGNED POINTS TO THE EVENT
GROUPS. FROM 2006 THROUGH MAY 2015, THE FIRM DID NOT APPLY ITS
MANTAS AUTOMATED MONITORING TO CERTAIN ACCOUNTS. FROM ABOUT
SEPTEMBER 2011 THROUGH JANUARY 2012, THE FIRM DID NOT
INVESTIGATE MANTAS EVENTS THAT WERE NOT GROUPED WITH AN
EVENT FROM ONE OF THE OTHER DETECTION CHANNELS, SUCH AS AN
EMPLOYEE REFERRAL, A GOVERNMENT SUBPOENA, OR AN EVENT
RELATED TO A WIRE TRANSFER OR ATM TRANSACTION THAT HAD BEEN
ROUTED THROUGH A CONSUMER BANK BEFORE BEING DEBITED OR
CREDITED TO A FIRM CUSTOMER'S RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. EP
USED A NUMBER OF SYSTEMS AND TECHNIQUES TO GROUP EVENTS
ARISING FROM RELATED RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. HOWEVER, EP
INADVERTENTLY DID NOT LINK RELATED ACCOUNTS THAT INVOLVED
CUSTOMERS WHO HAD BOTH U.S. DOLLAR-DENOMINATED AND FOREIGN
CURRENCY-DENOMINATED ACCOUNTS. ACCORDINGLY, CERTAIN EVENT
GROUPS DID NOT MEET THE RISK-BASED THRESHOLD AND BECOME AN
INVESTIGATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW AS RAPIDLY AS THEY OTHERWISE
WOULD HAVE, IF AT ALL. THE DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR FILING WHAT WERE COMMONLY KNOWN AS
 "CONTINUING ACTIVITY" OR "ONGOING ACTIVITY" SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
REPORTS (SARS). THE FIRM HAD AML POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACCOUNT FOR THE ADDITIONAL
RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE ADDITIONAL SERVICES OFFERED BY
CERTAIN OF ITS RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. ONCE AN AML CASE
WAS OPENED, THE PLATFORM USED BY THE FIRM'S AML INVESTIGATORS
DURING PART OF THE RELEVANT PERIOD DID NOT PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
VISIBILITY INTO TRANSACTIONS OCCURRING IN AN ACCOUNT, CAUSING
THE INVESTIGATORS SOMETIMES UNDULY TO LIMIT THEIR REVIEW TO THE
SPECIFIC EVENTS THAT TRIGGERED THE EVENT AND NOT TO REVIEW THE
ACCOUNT MORE BROADLY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE RISK
ASSOCIATED WITH THAT EVENT WARRANTED ADDITIONAL INVESTIGATION
OR REPORTING. BECAUSE OF THE DEFICIENCIES IN ITS AML POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR FOR,
DETECT, AND REPORT CERTAIN SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY RELATED TO
TRANSACTIONS OR PATTERNS OF TRANSACTIONS IN ITS CUSTOMERS'
ACCOUNTS. BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH FINANCIAL CRIMES
ENFORCEMENT NETWORK (FINCEN) AS REQUIRED BY THE BSA WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final
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SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-82382; IA RELEASE 4831, DECEMBER 21, 2017: THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMMISSION) DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B), AND 21C OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 (ADVISERS ACT)
AGAINST THE FIRM. THE FIRM, IN ADDITION TO OFFERING ITS
CUSTOMERS THE ABILITY TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES, OFFERED ITS
CUSTOMERS OTHER SERVICES IN BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, SUCH AS ATM
CASH DEPOSITS, WIRES, JOURNAL-ENTRY TRANSFERS, CHECK WRITING,
ATM WITHDRAWALS, CASH ADVANCES, AND ACH TRANSFERS. BY
OFFERING THESE ADDITIONAL SERVICES, THE FIRM WAS SUSCEPTIBLE
TO RISKS OF MONEY LAUNDERING AND OTHER ILLICIT FINANCIAL
ACTIVITY ASSOCIATED WITH THESE SERVICES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM PRIMARILY USED A SYSTEM CALLED "MANTAS" FOR
THE AUTOMATED MONITORING OF RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS TO
DETECT POTENTIAL MONEY LAUNDERING ACTIVITY RELATED TO MONEY
MOVEMENTS. MANTAS ALERTED ON TRANSACTIONS THAT FIT WITHIN THE
PARAMETERS OF SPECIFIC SCENARIOS SELECTED BY THE FIRM. THE
FIRM HAD OTHER METHODS OF DETECTING SUSPICIOUS MOVEMENTS OF
FUNDS IN ACCOUNTS, BUT THOSE METHODS WERE PRIMARILY MANUAL,
OR ONLY ALERTED ON CERTAIN TYPES OF ACTIVITY. THE FIRM ALSO USED
A SEPARATE AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM TO CONDUCT TRADE
SURVEILLANCE AND REFERRED TO THE ALERTS PRODUCED BY ITS ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING (AML) DETECTION CHANNELS AS "EVENTS." THE
FIRM ALSO USED A SYSTEM CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR," OR "EP,"
WHICH GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS AND EVENTS PRODUCED BY OTHER
FIRM DETECTION CHANNELS AND ASSIGNED POINTS TO THE EVENT
GROUPS. FROM 2006 THROUGH MAY 2015, THE FIRM DID NOT APPLY ITS
MANTAS AUTOMATED MONITORING TO CERTAIN ACCOUNTS. FROM ABOUT
SEPTEMBER 2011 THROUGH JANUARY 2012, THE FIRM DID NOT
INVESTIGATE MANTAS EVENTS THAT WERE NOT GROUPED WITH AN
EVENT FROM ONE OF THE OTHER DETECTION CHANNELS, SUCH AS AN
EMPLOYEE REFERRAL, A GOVERNMENT SUBPOENA, OR AN EVENT
RELATED TO A WIRE TRANSFER OR ATM TRANSACTION THAT HAD BEEN
ROUTED THROUGH A CONSUMER BANK BEFORE BEING DEBITED OR
CREDITED TO A FIRM CUSTOMER'S RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. EP
USED A NUMBER OF SYSTEMS AND TECHNIQUES TO GROUP EVENTS
ARISING FROM RELATED RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. HOWEVER, EP
INADVERTENTLY DID NOT LINK RELATED ACCOUNTS THAT INVOLVED
CUSTOMERS WHO HAD BOTH U.S. DOLLAR-DENOMINATED AND FOREIGN
CURRENCY-DENOMINATED ACCOUNTS. ACCORDINGLY, CERTAIN EVENT
GROUPS DID NOT MEET THE RISK-BASED THRESHOLD AND BECOME AN
INVESTIGATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW AS RAPIDLY AS THEY OTHERWISE
WOULD HAVE, IF AT ALL. THE DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR FILING WHAT WERE COMMONLY KNOWN AS
 "CONTINUING ACTIVITY" OR "ONGOING ACTIVITY" SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
REPORTS (SARS). THE FIRM HAD AML POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACCOUNT FOR THE ADDITIONAL
RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE ADDITIONAL SERVICES OFFERED BY
CERTAIN OF ITS RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. ONCE AN AML CASE
WAS OPENED, THE PLATFORM USED BY THE FIRM'S AML INVESTIGATORS
DURING PART OF THE RELEVANT PERIOD DID NOT PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
VISIBILITY INTO TRANSACTIONS OCCURRING IN AN ACCOUNT, CAUSING
THE INVESTIGATORS SOMETIMES UNDULY TO LIMIT THEIR REVIEW TO THE
SPECIFIC EVENTS THAT TRIGGERED THE EVENT AND NOT TO REVIEW THE
ACCOUNT MORE BROADLY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE RISK
ASSOCIATED WITH THAT EVENT WARRANTED ADDITIONAL INVESTIGATION
OR REPORTING. BECAUSE OF THE DEFICIENCIES IN ITS AML POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR FOR,
DETECT, AND REPORT CERTAIN SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY RELATED TO
TRANSACTIONS OR PATTERNS OF TRANSACTIONS IN ITS CUSTOMERS'
ACCOUNTS. BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH FINANCIAL CRIMES
ENFORCEMENT NETWORK (FINCEN) AS REQUIRED BY THE BSA WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER.
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 12/21/2017

Docket/Case Number: 3-18318

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-82382; IA RELEASE 4831, DECEMBER 21, 2017: THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMMISSION) DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B), AND 21C OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 (ADVISERS ACT)
AGAINST THE FIRM. THE FIRM, IN ADDITION TO OFFERING ITS
CUSTOMERS THE ABILITY TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES, OFFERED ITS
CUSTOMERS OTHER SERVICES IN BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, SUCH AS ATM
CASH DEPOSITS, WIRES, JOURNAL-ENTRY TRANSFERS, CHECK WRITING,
ATM WITHDRAWALS, CASH ADVANCES, AND ACH TRANSFERS. BY
OFFERING THESE ADDITIONAL SERVICES, THE FIRM WAS SUSCEPTIBLE
TO RISKS OF MONEY LAUNDERING AND OTHER ILLICIT FINANCIAL
ACTIVITY ASSOCIATED WITH THESE SERVICES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM PRIMARILY USED A SYSTEM CALLED "MANTAS" FOR
THE AUTOMATED MONITORING OF RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS TO
DETECT POTENTIAL MONEY LAUNDERING ACTIVITY RELATED TO MONEY
MOVEMENTS. MANTAS ALERTED ON TRANSACTIONS THAT FIT WITHIN THE
PARAMETERS OF SPECIFIC SCENARIOS SELECTED BY THE FIRM. THE
FIRM HAD OTHER METHODS OF DETECTING SUSPICIOUS MOVEMENTS OF
FUNDS IN ACCOUNTS, BUT THOSE METHODS WERE PRIMARILY MANUAL,
OR ONLY ALERTED ON CERTAIN TYPES OF ACTIVITY. THE FIRM ALSO USED
A SEPARATE AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM TO CONDUCT TRADE
SURVEILLANCE AND REFERRED TO THE ALERTS PRODUCED BY ITS ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING (AML) DETECTION CHANNELS AS "EVENTS." THE
FIRM ALSO USED A SYSTEM CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR," OR "EP,"
WHICH GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS AND EVENTS PRODUCED BY OTHER
FIRM DETECTION CHANNELS AND ASSIGNED POINTS TO THE EVENT
GROUPS. FROM 2006 THROUGH MAY 2015, THE FIRM DID NOT APPLY ITS
MANTAS AUTOMATED MONITORING TO CERTAIN ACCOUNTS. FROM ABOUT
SEPTEMBER 2011 THROUGH JANUARY 2012, THE FIRM DID NOT
INVESTIGATE MANTAS EVENTS THAT WERE NOT GROUPED WITH AN
EVENT FROM ONE OF THE OTHER DETECTION CHANNELS, SUCH AS AN
EMPLOYEE REFERRAL, A GOVERNMENT SUBPOENA, OR AN EVENT
RELATED TO A WIRE TRANSFER OR ATM TRANSACTION THAT HAD BEEN
ROUTED THROUGH A CONSUMER BANK BEFORE BEING DEBITED OR
CREDITED TO A FIRM CUSTOMER'S RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. EP
USED A NUMBER OF SYSTEMS AND TECHNIQUES TO GROUP EVENTS
ARISING FROM RELATED RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. HOWEVER, EP
INADVERTENTLY DID NOT LINK RELATED ACCOUNTS THAT INVOLVED
CUSTOMERS WHO HAD BOTH U.S. DOLLAR-DENOMINATED AND FOREIGN
CURRENCY-DENOMINATED ACCOUNTS. ACCORDINGLY, CERTAIN EVENT
GROUPS DID NOT MEET THE RISK-BASED THRESHOLD AND BECOME AN
INVESTIGATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW AS RAPIDLY AS THEY OTHERWISE
WOULD HAVE, IF AT ALL. THE DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR FILING WHAT WERE COMMONLY KNOWN AS
 "CONTINUING ACTIVITY" OR "ONGOING ACTIVITY" SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
REPORTS (SARS). THE FIRM HAD AML POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACCOUNT FOR THE ADDITIONAL
RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE ADDITIONAL SERVICES OFFERED BY
CERTAIN OF ITS RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. ONCE AN AML CASE
WAS OPENED, THE PLATFORM USED BY THE FIRM'S AML INVESTIGATORS
DURING PART OF THE RELEVANT PERIOD DID NOT PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
VISIBILITY INTO TRANSACTIONS OCCURRING IN AN ACCOUNT, CAUSING
THE INVESTIGATORS SOMETIMES UNDULY TO LIMIT THEIR REVIEW TO THE
SPECIFIC EVENTS THAT TRIGGERED THE EVENT AND NOT TO REVIEW THE
ACCOUNT MORE BROADLY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE RISK
ASSOCIATED WITH THAT EVENT WARRANTED ADDITIONAL INVESTIGATION
OR REPORTING. BECAUSE OF THE DEFICIENCIES IN ITS AML POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR FOR,
DETECT, AND REPORT CERTAIN SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY RELATED TO
TRANSACTIONS OR PATTERNS OF TRANSACTIONS IN ITS CUSTOMERS'
ACCOUNTS. BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH FINANCIAL CRIMES
ENFORCEMENT NETWORK (FINCEN) AS REQUIRED BY THE BSA WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER.

Resolution Date: 12/21/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE
ACT SECTION 17(A) OR RULE 17A-8 PROMULGATED
THEREUNDER, CENSURED, AND FINED $13,000,000.

Regulator Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, THE
FIRM HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE OFFER) WHICH
THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER HIM AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH
ARE ADMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS,
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF
1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A
CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER (ORDER). BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER. IN VIEW OF THE
FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE, IN THE PUBLIC
INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN THE FIRM'S OFFER.
ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND SECTION 203(F) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED THAT THE FIRM CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE
ACT SECTION 17(A) OR RULE 17A-8 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER; THE
FIRM BE, AND HEREBY IS CENSURED; AND SHALL, WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$13,000,000 TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $13,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, THE
FIRM HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE OFFER) WHICH
THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER HIM AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH
ARE ADMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS,
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF
1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A
CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER (ORDER). BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER. IN VIEW OF THE
FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE, IN THE PUBLIC
INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN THE FIRM'S OFFER.
ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND SECTION 203(F) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED THAT THE FIRM CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE
ACT SECTION 17(A) OR RULE 17A-8 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER; THE
FIRM BE, AND HEREBY IS CENSURED; AND SHALL, WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$13,000,000 TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-82382; IA RELEASE 4831, DECEMBER 21, 2017: THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMMISSION) DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B), AND 21C OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 (ADVISERS ACT)
AGAINST THE FIRM. THE FIRM, IN ADDITION TO OFFERING ITS
CUSTOMERS THE ABILITY TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES, OFFERED ITS
CUSTOMERS OTHER SERVICES IN BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, SUCH AS ATM
CASH DEPOSITS, WIRES, JOURNAL-ENTRY TRANSFERS, CHECK WRITING,
ATM WITHDRAWALS, CASH ADVANCES, AND ACH TRANSFERS. BY
OFFERING THESE ADDITIONAL SERVICES, THE FIRM WAS SUSCEPTIBLE
TO RISKS OF MONEY LAUNDERING AND OTHER ILLICIT FINANCIAL
ACTIVITY ASSOCIATED WITH THESE SERVICES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM PRIMARILY USED A SYSTEM CALLED "MANTAS" FOR
THE AUTOMATED MONITORING OF RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS TO
DETECT POTENTIAL MONEY LAUNDERING ACTIVITY RELATED TO MONEY
MOVEMENTS. MANTAS ALERTED ON TRANSACTIONS THAT FIT WITHIN THE
PARAMETERS OF SPECIFIC SCENARIOS SELECTED BY THE FIRM. THE
FIRM HAD OTHER METHODS OF DETECTING SUSPICIOUS MOVEMENTS OF
FUNDS IN ACCOUNTS, BUT THOSE METHODS WERE PRIMARILY MANUAL,
OR ONLY ALERTED ON CERTAIN TYPES OF ACTIVITY. THE FIRM ALSO USED
A SEPARATE AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM TO CONDUCT TRADE
SURVEILLANCE AND REFERRED TO THE ALERTS PRODUCED BY ITS ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING (AML) DETECTION CHANNELS AS "EVENTS." THE
FIRM ALSO USED A SYSTEM CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR," OR "EP,"
WHICH GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS AND EVENTS PRODUCED BY OTHER
FIRM DETECTION CHANNELS AND ASSIGNED POINTS TO THE EVENT
GROUPS. FROM 2006 THROUGH MAY 2015, THE FIRM DID NOT APPLY ITS
MANTAS AUTOMATED MONITORING TO CERTAIN ACCOUNTS. FROM ABOUT
SEPTEMBER 2011 THROUGH JANUARY 2012, THE FIRM DID NOT
INVESTIGATE MANTAS EVENTS THAT WERE NOT GROUPED WITH AN
EVENT FROM ONE OF THE OTHER DETECTION CHANNELS, SUCH AS AN
EMPLOYEE REFERRAL, A GOVERNMENT SUBPOENA, OR AN EVENT
RELATED TO A WIRE TRANSFER OR ATM TRANSACTION THAT HAD BEEN
ROUTED THROUGH A CONSUMER BANK BEFORE BEING DEBITED OR
CREDITED TO A FIRM CUSTOMER'S RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. EP
USED A NUMBER OF SYSTEMS AND TECHNIQUES TO GROUP EVENTS
ARISING FROM RELATED RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. HOWEVER, EP
INADVERTENTLY DID NOT LINK RELATED ACCOUNTS THAT INVOLVED
CUSTOMERS WHO HAD BOTH U.S. DOLLAR-DENOMINATED AND FOREIGN
CURRENCY-DENOMINATED ACCOUNTS. ACCORDINGLY, CERTAIN EVENT
GROUPS DID NOT MEET THE RISK-BASED THRESHOLD AND BECOME AN
INVESTIGATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW AS RAPIDLY AS THEY OTHERWISE
WOULD HAVE, IF AT ALL. THE DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR FILING WHAT WERE COMMONLY KNOWN AS
 "CONTINUING ACTIVITY" OR "ONGOING ACTIVITY" SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
REPORTS (SARS). THE FIRM HAD AML POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACCOUNT FOR THE ADDITIONAL
RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE ADDITIONAL SERVICES OFFERED BY
CERTAIN OF ITS RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. ONCE AN AML CASE
WAS OPENED, THE PLATFORM USED BY THE FIRM'S AML INVESTIGATORS
DURING PART OF THE RELEVANT PERIOD DID NOT PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
VISIBILITY INTO TRANSACTIONS OCCURRING IN AN ACCOUNT, CAUSING
THE INVESTIGATORS SOMETIMES UNDULY TO LIMIT THEIR REVIEW TO THE
SPECIFIC EVENTS THAT TRIGGERED THE EVENT AND NOT TO REVIEW THE
ACCOUNT MORE BROADLY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE RISK
ASSOCIATED WITH THAT EVENT WARRANTED ADDITIONAL INVESTIGATION
OR REPORTING. BECAUSE OF THE DEFICIENCIES IN ITS AML POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR FOR,
DETECT, AND REPORT CERTAIN SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY RELATED TO
TRANSACTIONS OR PATTERNS OF TRANSACTIONS IN ITS CUSTOMERS'
ACCOUNTS. BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH FINANCIAL CRIMES
ENFORCEMENT NETWORK (FINCEN) AS REQUIRED BY THE BSA WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final
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SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-82382; IA RELEASE 4831, DECEMBER 21, 2017: THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMMISSION) DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B), AND 21C OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 (ADVISERS ACT)
AGAINST THE FIRM. THE FIRM, IN ADDITION TO OFFERING ITS
CUSTOMERS THE ABILITY TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES, OFFERED ITS
CUSTOMERS OTHER SERVICES IN BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, SUCH AS ATM
CASH DEPOSITS, WIRES, JOURNAL-ENTRY TRANSFERS, CHECK WRITING,
ATM WITHDRAWALS, CASH ADVANCES, AND ACH TRANSFERS. BY
OFFERING THESE ADDITIONAL SERVICES, THE FIRM WAS SUSCEPTIBLE
TO RISKS OF MONEY LAUNDERING AND OTHER ILLICIT FINANCIAL
ACTIVITY ASSOCIATED WITH THESE SERVICES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM PRIMARILY USED A SYSTEM CALLED "MANTAS" FOR
THE AUTOMATED MONITORING OF RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS TO
DETECT POTENTIAL MONEY LAUNDERING ACTIVITY RELATED TO MONEY
MOVEMENTS. MANTAS ALERTED ON TRANSACTIONS THAT FIT WITHIN THE
PARAMETERS OF SPECIFIC SCENARIOS SELECTED BY THE FIRM. THE
FIRM HAD OTHER METHODS OF DETECTING SUSPICIOUS MOVEMENTS OF
FUNDS IN ACCOUNTS, BUT THOSE METHODS WERE PRIMARILY MANUAL,
OR ONLY ALERTED ON CERTAIN TYPES OF ACTIVITY. THE FIRM ALSO USED
A SEPARATE AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM TO CONDUCT TRADE
SURVEILLANCE AND REFERRED TO THE ALERTS PRODUCED BY ITS ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING (AML) DETECTION CHANNELS AS "EVENTS." THE
FIRM ALSO USED A SYSTEM CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR," OR "EP,"
WHICH GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS AND EVENTS PRODUCED BY OTHER
FIRM DETECTION CHANNELS AND ASSIGNED POINTS TO THE EVENT
GROUPS. FROM 2006 THROUGH MAY 2015, THE FIRM DID NOT APPLY ITS
MANTAS AUTOMATED MONITORING TO CERTAIN ACCOUNTS. FROM ABOUT
SEPTEMBER 2011 THROUGH JANUARY 2012, THE FIRM DID NOT
INVESTIGATE MANTAS EVENTS THAT WERE NOT GROUPED WITH AN
EVENT FROM ONE OF THE OTHER DETECTION CHANNELS, SUCH AS AN
EMPLOYEE REFERRAL, A GOVERNMENT SUBPOENA, OR AN EVENT
RELATED TO A WIRE TRANSFER OR ATM TRANSACTION THAT HAD BEEN
ROUTED THROUGH A CONSUMER BANK BEFORE BEING DEBITED OR
CREDITED TO A FIRM CUSTOMER'S RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. EP
USED A NUMBER OF SYSTEMS AND TECHNIQUES TO GROUP EVENTS
ARISING FROM RELATED RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. HOWEVER, EP
INADVERTENTLY DID NOT LINK RELATED ACCOUNTS THAT INVOLVED
CUSTOMERS WHO HAD BOTH U.S. DOLLAR-DENOMINATED AND FOREIGN
CURRENCY-DENOMINATED ACCOUNTS. ACCORDINGLY, CERTAIN EVENT
GROUPS DID NOT MEET THE RISK-BASED THRESHOLD AND BECOME AN
INVESTIGATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW AS RAPIDLY AS THEY OTHERWISE
WOULD HAVE, IF AT ALL. THE DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR FILING WHAT WERE COMMONLY KNOWN AS
 "CONTINUING ACTIVITY" OR "ONGOING ACTIVITY" SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
REPORTS (SARS). THE FIRM HAD AML POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACCOUNT FOR THE ADDITIONAL
RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE ADDITIONAL SERVICES OFFERED BY
CERTAIN OF ITS RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. ONCE AN AML CASE
WAS OPENED, THE PLATFORM USED BY THE FIRM'S AML INVESTIGATORS
DURING PART OF THE RELEVANT PERIOD DID NOT PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
VISIBILITY INTO TRANSACTIONS OCCURRING IN AN ACCOUNT, CAUSING
THE INVESTIGATORS SOMETIMES UNDULY TO LIMIT THEIR REVIEW TO THE
SPECIFIC EVENTS THAT TRIGGERED THE EVENT AND NOT TO REVIEW THE
ACCOUNT MORE BROADLY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE RISK
ASSOCIATED WITH THAT EVENT WARRANTED ADDITIONAL INVESTIGATION
OR REPORTING. BECAUSE OF THE DEFICIENCIES IN ITS AML POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR FOR,
DETECT, AND REPORT CERTAIN SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY RELATED TO
TRANSACTIONS OR PATTERNS OF TRANSACTIONS IN ITS CUSTOMERS'
ACCOUNTS. BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH FINANCIAL CRIMES
ENFORCEMENT NETWORK (FINCEN) AS REQUIRED BY THE BSA WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER.
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/21/2017

Docket/Case Number: 3-18318

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-82382; IA RELEASE 4831, DECEMBER 21, 2017: THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (COMMISSION) DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B), AND 21C OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 (ADVISERS ACT)
AGAINST THE FIRM. THE FIRM, IN ADDITION TO OFFERING ITS
CUSTOMERS THE ABILITY TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES, OFFERED ITS
CUSTOMERS OTHER SERVICES IN BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, SUCH AS ATM
CASH DEPOSITS, WIRES, JOURNAL-ENTRY TRANSFERS, CHECK WRITING,
ATM WITHDRAWALS, CASH ADVANCES, AND ACH TRANSFERS. BY
OFFERING THESE ADDITIONAL SERVICES, THE FIRM WAS SUSCEPTIBLE
TO RISKS OF MONEY LAUNDERING AND OTHER ILLICIT FINANCIAL
ACTIVITY ASSOCIATED WITH THESE SERVICES. DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, THE FIRM PRIMARILY USED A SYSTEM CALLED "MANTAS" FOR
THE AUTOMATED MONITORING OF RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS TO
DETECT POTENTIAL MONEY LAUNDERING ACTIVITY RELATED TO MONEY
MOVEMENTS. MANTAS ALERTED ON TRANSACTIONS THAT FIT WITHIN THE
PARAMETERS OF SPECIFIC SCENARIOS SELECTED BY THE FIRM. THE
FIRM HAD OTHER METHODS OF DETECTING SUSPICIOUS MOVEMENTS OF
FUNDS IN ACCOUNTS, BUT THOSE METHODS WERE PRIMARILY MANUAL,
OR ONLY ALERTED ON CERTAIN TYPES OF ACTIVITY. THE FIRM ALSO USED
A SEPARATE AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM TO CONDUCT TRADE
SURVEILLANCE AND REFERRED TO THE ALERTS PRODUCED BY ITS ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING (AML) DETECTION CHANNELS AS "EVENTS." THE
FIRM ALSO USED A SYSTEM CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR," OR "EP,"
WHICH GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS AND EVENTS PRODUCED BY OTHER
FIRM DETECTION CHANNELS AND ASSIGNED POINTS TO THE EVENT
GROUPS. FROM 2006 THROUGH MAY 2015, THE FIRM DID NOT APPLY ITS
MANTAS AUTOMATED MONITORING TO CERTAIN ACCOUNTS. FROM ABOUT
SEPTEMBER 2011 THROUGH JANUARY 2012, THE FIRM DID NOT
INVESTIGATE MANTAS EVENTS THAT WERE NOT GROUPED WITH AN
EVENT FROM ONE OF THE OTHER DETECTION CHANNELS, SUCH AS AN
EMPLOYEE REFERRAL, A GOVERNMENT SUBPOENA, OR AN EVENT
RELATED TO A WIRE TRANSFER OR ATM TRANSACTION THAT HAD BEEN
ROUTED THROUGH A CONSUMER BANK BEFORE BEING DEBITED OR
CREDITED TO A FIRM CUSTOMER'S RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. EP
USED A NUMBER OF SYSTEMS AND TECHNIQUES TO GROUP EVENTS
ARISING FROM RELATED RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. HOWEVER, EP
INADVERTENTLY DID NOT LINK RELATED ACCOUNTS THAT INVOLVED
CUSTOMERS WHO HAD BOTH U.S. DOLLAR-DENOMINATED AND FOREIGN
CURRENCY-DENOMINATED ACCOUNTS. ACCORDINGLY, CERTAIN EVENT
GROUPS DID NOT MEET THE RISK-BASED THRESHOLD AND BECOME AN
INVESTIGATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW AS RAPIDLY AS THEY OTHERWISE
WOULD HAVE, IF AT ALL. THE DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR FILING WHAT WERE COMMONLY KNOWN AS
 "CONTINUING ACTIVITY" OR "ONGOING ACTIVITY" SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
REPORTS (SARS). THE FIRM HAD AML POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACCOUNT FOR THE ADDITIONAL
RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE ADDITIONAL SERVICES OFFERED BY
CERTAIN OF ITS RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. ONCE AN AML CASE
WAS OPENED, THE PLATFORM USED BY THE FIRM'S AML INVESTIGATORS
DURING PART OF THE RELEVANT PERIOD DID NOT PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
VISIBILITY INTO TRANSACTIONS OCCURRING IN AN ACCOUNT, CAUSING
THE INVESTIGATORS SOMETIMES UNDULY TO LIMIT THEIR REVIEW TO THE
SPECIFIC EVENTS THAT TRIGGERED THE EVENT AND NOT TO REVIEW THE
ACCOUNT MORE BROADLY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE RISK
ASSOCIATED WITH THAT EVENT WARRANTED ADDITIONAL INVESTIGATION
OR REPORTING. BECAUSE OF THE DEFICIENCIES IN ITS AML POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR FOR,
DETECT, AND REPORT CERTAIN SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY RELATED TO
TRANSACTIONS OR PATTERNS OF TRANSACTIONS IN ITS CUSTOMERS'
ACCOUNTS. BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH FINANCIAL CRIMES
ENFORCEMENT NETWORK (FINCEN) AS REQUIRED BY THE BSA WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER.

Resolution Date: 12/21/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE
ACT SECTION 17(A) OR RULE 17A-8 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER,
CENSURED, AND FINED $13,000,000.

Firm Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, THE
FIRM HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE OFFER) WHICH
THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER HIM AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH
ARE ADMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS,
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF
1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A
CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER (ORDER). BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER. IN VIEW OF THE
FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE, IN THE PUBLIC
INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN THE FIRM'S OFFER.
ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND SECTION 203(F) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED THAT THE FIRM CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE
ACT SECTION 17(A) OR RULE 17A-8 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER; THE
FIRM BE, AND HEREBY IS CENSURED; AND SHALL, WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$13,000,000 TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $13,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, THE
FIRM HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE OFFER) WHICH
THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER HIM AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH
ARE ADMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS,
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934, AND SECTION 203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF
1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A
CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER (ORDER). BY FAILING TO FILE SARS WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS' ACTIVITY AS DESCRIBED
ABOVE, THE FIRM WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-8 THEREUNDER. IN VIEW OF THE
FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE, IN THE PUBLIC
INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN THE FIRM'S OFFER.
ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND SECTION 203(F) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED THAT THE FIRM CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE
ACT SECTION 17(A) OR RULE 17A-8 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER; THE
FIRM BE, AND HEREBY IS CENSURED; AND SHALL, WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$13,000,000 TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Disclosure 62 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT AT VARIOUS
RELEVANT TIMES, THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF CERTAIN SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES THAT COMPRISE ITS AML PROGRAM RELATED TO
RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS SUFFERED FROM NUMEROUS
DEFICIENCIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM USED AN
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM CALLED MANTAS AS A CENTRAL PART
OF ITS AML PROGRAM TO MONITOR FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS
ACTIVITY IN FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. IN APPROXIMATELY OCTOBER
2010, THE FIRM CONNECTED MANTAS TO A COMPANY'S, THAT THE FIRM
WAS A SUBSIDIARY OF, ENTERPRISE-WIDE, PROPRIETARY SYSTEM
CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR." THEREAFTER, MANTAS GENERATED
EVENTS RELATED TO POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITIES AND FED
THESE EVENTS INTO EVENT PROCESSOR, AND EVENT PROCESSOR
GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS WITH OTHER EVENTS GENERATED BY OTHER
MONITORING SYSTEMS INTO "EVENT GROUPS." EACH EVENT GROUP WAS
SCORED BASED ON THE AML RISK POSED BY THE EVENTS OR CUSTOMER
TYPES IDENTIFIED; IF THE TOTAL SCORE FOR AN EVENT GROUP REACHED
A CERTAIN RISK-BASED THRESHOLD, THE FIRM OPENED AN
INVESTIGATION OF THE ACTIVITY. FOR A FOUR-MONTH PERIOD, THE FIRM
DID NOT INVESTIGATE SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY DETECTED ONLY BY
MANTAS. BY 2011, THE FIRM BELIEVED THAT SYSTEM WAS PRODUCING
TOO MANY "FALSE POSITIVES" AND DETERMINED TO CHANGE HOW THE
SYSTEM GENERATED AND SCORED MANTAS EVENTS AND INVESTIGATED
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FROM SEPTEMBER 2011 UNTIL
FEBRUARY 2012, THE FIRM DECIDED TO NOT INVESTIGATE EVENT
GROUPS GENERATED ONLY FROM MANTAS EVENTS WHILE IT
IMPLEMENTED THE CHANGES. THE FIRM ALSO DECIDED NOT TO REVIEW
HUNDREDS OF MANTAS ALERTS THAT HAD BEEN GENERATED BY THE
AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM AND CERTAIN ALERTS IN FIRM
ACCOUNTS. AS A RESULT OF THESE DECISIONS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
INVESTIGATE 1,015 INSTANCES OF POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY AT
THAT TIME AND THEN ONLY AFTER THE INVESTIGATION THAT LED TO THIS
SETTLEMENT HAD BEGUN. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT HOW THE
FIRM SCORED CERTAIN EVENTS IN ITS AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE
SYSTEM MINIMIZED POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY OR PREVENTED
SUCH ACTIVITY FROM BEING REVIEWED. FOR EXAMPLE, THE FIRM
DETERMINED TO SCORE MULTIPLE OCCURRENCES OF POTENTIALLY
SUSPICIOUS MONEY MOVEMENTS INVOLVING HIGH RISK
COUNTERPARTIES AND ENTITIES ONCE. UNTIL 2015, IT DID NOT LINK
RELATED ACCOUNTS FOR SOME OF THE FIRM'S HIGHEST RISK
CUSTOMERS AND DID NOT CONSISTENTLY IDENTIFY OR MONITOR
CUSTOMERS IN CERTAIN HIGH RISK JURISDICTIONS OR SENIOR FOREIGN
POLITICAL FIGURES WHO WERE OPENING OR CONDUCTING
TRANSACTIONS THROUGH FIRM ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM EXCLUDED MILLIONS OF ACCOUNTS FROM ITS
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM AND THEREFORE FAILED ADEQUATELY
TO MONITOR THE ACCOUNTS FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY.
THESE ACCOUNTS INCLUDED RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS, CERTAIN
SECURITIES-BASED LOAN ACCOUNTS AND THE ACCOUNTS PLEDGED TO
THEM, AND CERTAIN MANAGED ACCOUNTS WHOSE INVESTMENTS WERE
NOT CONTROLLED BY THE BENEFICIAL OWNER. AS A RESULT OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES, THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MONITOR FOR, DETECT, AND REPORT
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AS PART OF ITS AML
PROGRAM AND AS A RESULT IT FAILED TO DETECT AND INVESTIGATE
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. DUE IN LARGE PART TO THE
DEFICIENCIES IN THE OPERATION OF THE AML MONITORING SYSTEMS
FOR RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT OR
INVESTIGATE CERTAIN POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY IN RETAIL
BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED FOR NON-RESIDENT ALIENS AT
 "INTERNATIONAL" AND NON-RESIDENT CLIENT BRANCHES, AMONG
OTHERS, FOR NON-U.S. CITIZENS DOMICILED OUTSIDE THE U.S. AND
ACTIVITY INVOLVING CUSTOMERS WHO WERE TAKING OUT LOANS FROM
FIRM AFFILIATES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 12/21/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2012035224301

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT AT VARIOUS
RELEVANT TIMES, THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF CERTAIN SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES THAT COMPRISE ITS AML PROGRAM RELATED TO
RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS SUFFERED FROM NUMEROUS
DEFICIENCIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM USED AN
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM CALLED MANTAS AS A CENTRAL PART
OF ITS AML PROGRAM TO MONITOR FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS
ACTIVITY IN FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. IN APPROXIMATELY OCTOBER
2010, THE FIRM CONNECTED MANTAS TO A COMPANY'S, THAT THE FIRM
WAS A SUBSIDIARY OF, ENTERPRISE-WIDE, PROPRIETARY SYSTEM
CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR." THEREAFTER, MANTAS GENERATED
EVENTS RELATED TO POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITIES AND FED
THESE EVENTS INTO EVENT PROCESSOR, AND EVENT PROCESSOR
GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS WITH OTHER EVENTS GENERATED BY OTHER
MONITORING SYSTEMS INTO "EVENT GROUPS." EACH EVENT GROUP WAS
SCORED BASED ON THE AML RISK POSED BY THE EVENTS OR CUSTOMER
TYPES IDENTIFIED; IF THE TOTAL SCORE FOR AN EVENT GROUP REACHED
A CERTAIN RISK-BASED THRESHOLD, THE FIRM OPENED AN
INVESTIGATION OF THE ACTIVITY. FOR A FOUR-MONTH PERIOD, THE FIRM
DID NOT INVESTIGATE SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY DETECTED ONLY BY
MANTAS. BY 2011, THE FIRM BELIEVED THAT SYSTEM WAS PRODUCING
TOO MANY "FALSE POSITIVES" AND DETERMINED TO CHANGE HOW THE
SYSTEM GENERATED AND SCORED MANTAS EVENTS AND INVESTIGATED
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FROM SEPTEMBER 2011 UNTIL
FEBRUARY 2012, THE FIRM DECIDED TO NOT INVESTIGATE EVENT
GROUPS GENERATED ONLY FROM MANTAS EVENTS WHILE IT
IMPLEMENTED THE CHANGES. THE FIRM ALSO DECIDED NOT TO REVIEW
HUNDREDS OF MANTAS ALERTS THAT HAD BEEN GENERATED BY THE
AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM AND CERTAIN ALERTS IN FIRM
ACCOUNTS. AS A RESULT OF THESE DECISIONS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
INVESTIGATE 1,015 INSTANCES OF POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY AT
THAT TIME AND THEN ONLY AFTER THE INVESTIGATION THAT LED TO THIS
SETTLEMENT HAD BEGUN. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT HOW THE
FIRM SCORED CERTAIN EVENTS IN ITS AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE
SYSTEM MINIMIZED POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY OR PREVENTED
SUCH ACTIVITY FROM BEING REVIEWED. FOR EXAMPLE, THE FIRM
DETERMINED TO SCORE MULTIPLE OCCURRENCES OF POTENTIALLY
SUSPICIOUS MONEY MOVEMENTS INVOLVING HIGH RISK
COUNTERPARTIES AND ENTITIES ONCE. UNTIL 2015, IT DID NOT LINK
RELATED ACCOUNTS FOR SOME OF THE FIRM'S HIGHEST RISK
CUSTOMERS AND DID NOT CONSISTENTLY IDENTIFY OR MONITOR
CUSTOMERS IN CERTAIN HIGH RISK JURISDICTIONS OR SENIOR FOREIGN
POLITICAL FIGURES WHO WERE OPENING OR CONDUCTING
TRANSACTIONS THROUGH FIRM ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM EXCLUDED MILLIONS OF ACCOUNTS FROM ITS
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM AND THEREFORE FAILED ADEQUATELY
TO MONITOR THE ACCOUNTS FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY.
THESE ACCOUNTS INCLUDED RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS, CERTAIN
SECURITIES-BASED LOAN ACCOUNTS AND THE ACCOUNTS PLEDGED TO
THEM, AND CERTAIN MANAGED ACCOUNTS WHOSE INVESTMENTS WERE
NOT CONTROLLED BY THE BENEFICIAL OWNER. AS A RESULT OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES, THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MONITOR FOR, DETECT, AND REPORT
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AS PART OF ITS AML
PROGRAM AND AS A RESULT IT FAILED TO DETECT AND INVESTIGATE
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. DUE IN LARGE PART TO THE
DEFICIENCIES IN THE OPERATION OF THE AML MONITORING SYSTEMS
FOR RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT OR
INVESTIGATE CERTAIN POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY IN RETAIL
BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED FOR NON-RESIDENT ALIENS AT
 "INTERNATIONAL" AND NON-RESIDENT CLIENT BRANCHES, AMONG
OTHERS, FOR NON-U.S. CITIZENS DOMICILED OUTSIDE THE U.S. AND
ACTIVITY INVOLVING CUSTOMERS WHO WERE TAKING OUT LOANS FROM
FIRM AFFILIATES.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/21/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $13,000,000. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
JANUARY 3, 2018.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $13,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT AT VARIOUS
RELEVANT TIMES, THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF CERTAIN SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES THAT COMPRISE ITS AML PROGRAM RELATED TO
RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS SUFFERED FROM NUMEROUS
DEFICIENCIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM USED AN
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM CALLED MANTAS AS A CENTRAL PART
OF ITS AML PROGRAM TO MONITOR FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS
ACTIVITY IN FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. IN APPROXIMATELY OCTOBER
2010, THE FIRM CONNECTED MANTAS TO A COMPANY'S, THAT THE FIRM
WAS A SUBSIDIARY OF, ENTERPRISE-WIDE, PROPRIETARY SYSTEM
CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR." THEREAFTER, MANTAS GENERATED
EVENTS RELATED TO POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITIES AND FED
THESE EVENTS INTO EVENT PROCESSOR, AND EVENT PROCESSOR
GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS WITH OTHER EVENTS GENERATED BY OTHER
MONITORING SYSTEMS INTO "EVENT GROUPS." EACH EVENT GROUP WAS
SCORED BASED ON THE AML RISK POSED BY THE EVENTS OR CUSTOMER
TYPES IDENTIFIED; IF THE TOTAL SCORE FOR AN EVENT GROUP REACHED
A CERTAIN RISK-BASED THRESHOLD, THE FIRM OPENED AN
INVESTIGATION OF THE ACTIVITY. FOR A FOUR-MONTH PERIOD, THE FIRM
DID NOT INVESTIGATE SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY DETECTED ONLY BY
MANTAS. BY 2011, THE FIRM BELIEVED THAT SYSTEM WAS PRODUCING
TOO MANY "FALSE POSITIVES" AND DETERMINED TO CHANGE HOW THE
SYSTEM GENERATED AND SCORED MANTAS EVENTS AND INVESTIGATED
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FROM SEPTEMBER 2011 UNTIL
FEBRUARY 2012, THE FIRM DECIDED TO NOT INVESTIGATE EVENT
GROUPS GENERATED ONLY FROM MANTAS EVENTS WHILE IT
IMPLEMENTED THE CHANGES. THE FIRM ALSO DECIDED NOT TO REVIEW
HUNDREDS OF MANTAS ALERTS THAT HAD BEEN GENERATED BY THE
AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM. AS A RESULT OF THESE DECISIONS,
THE FIRM FAILED TO INVESTIGATE 1,015 INSTANCES OF POTENTIALLY
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY AT THAT TIME AND THEN ONLY AFTER THE
INVESTIGATION THAT LED TO THIS SETTLEMENT HAD BEGUN. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT HOW THE FIRM SCORED CERTAIN EVENTS
IN ITS AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM MINIMIZED POTENTIALLY
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY OR PREVENTED SUCH ACTIVITY FROM BEING
REVIEWED. FOR EXAMPLE, THE FIRM DETERMINED TO SCORE MULTIPLE
OCCURRENCES OF POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS MONEY MOVEMENTS
INVOLVING HIGH RISK COUNTERPARTIES AND ENTITIES ONCE. UNTIL 2015,
IT DID NOT LINK RELATED ACCOUNTS FOR SOME OF THE FIRM'S HIGHEST
RISK CUSTOMERS AND DID NOT CONSISTENTLY IDENTIFY OR MONITOR
CUSTOMERS IN CERTAIN HIGH RISK JURISDICTIONS OR SENIOR FOREIGN
POLITICAL FIGURES WHO WERE OPENING OR CONDUCTING
TRANSACTIONS THROUGH FIRM ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM EXCLUDED MILLIONS OF ACCOUNTS FROM ITS
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM AND THEREFORE FAILED ADEQUATELY
TO MONITOR THE ACCOUNTS FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY.
THESE ACCOUNTS INCLUDED RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS, CERTAIN
SECURITIES-BASED LOAN ACCOUNTS AND THE ACCOUNTS PLEDGED TO
THEM, AND CERTAIN MANAGED ACCOUNTS WHOSE INVESTMENTS WERE
NOT CONTROLLED BY THE BENEFICIAL OWNER. AS A RESULT OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES, THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MONITOR FOR, DETECT, AND REPORT
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AS PART OF ITS AML
PROGRAM AND AS A RESULT IT FAILED TO DETECT AND INVESTIGATE
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. DUE IN LARGE PART TO THE
DEFICIENCIES IN THE OPERATION OF THE AML MONITORING SYSTEMS
FOR RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT OR
INVESTIGATE CERTAIN POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY IN RETAIL
BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED FOR NON-RESIDENT ALIENS AT
 "INTERNATIONAL" AND NON-RESIDENT CLIENT BRANCHES, AMONG
OTHERS, FOR NON-U.S. CITIZENS DOMICILED OUTSIDE THE U.S. AND
ACTIVITY INVOLVING CUSTOMERS WHO WERE TAKING OUT LOANS FROM
FIRM AFFILIATES.

Current Status: Final

210©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT AT VARIOUS
RELEVANT TIMES, THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF CERTAIN SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES THAT COMPRISE ITS AML PROGRAM RELATED TO
RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS SUFFERED FROM NUMEROUS
DEFICIENCIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM USED AN
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM CALLED MANTAS AS A CENTRAL PART
OF ITS AML PROGRAM TO MONITOR FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS
ACTIVITY IN FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. IN APPROXIMATELY OCTOBER
2010, THE FIRM CONNECTED MANTAS TO A COMPANY'S, THAT THE FIRM
WAS A SUBSIDIARY OF, ENTERPRISE-WIDE, PROPRIETARY SYSTEM
CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR." THEREAFTER, MANTAS GENERATED
EVENTS RELATED TO POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITIES AND FED
THESE EVENTS INTO EVENT PROCESSOR, AND EVENT PROCESSOR
GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS WITH OTHER EVENTS GENERATED BY OTHER
MONITORING SYSTEMS INTO "EVENT GROUPS." EACH EVENT GROUP WAS
SCORED BASED ON THE AML RISK POSED BY THE EVENTS OR CUSTOMER
TYPES IDENTIFIED; IF THE TOTAL SCORE FOR AN EVENT GROUP REACHED
A CERTAIN RISK-BASED THRESHOLD, THE FIRM OPENED AN
INVESTIGATION OF THE ACTIVITY. FOR A FOUR-MONTH PERIOD, THE FIRM
DID NOT INVESTIGATE SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY DETECTED ONLY BY
MANTAS. BY 2011, THE FIRM BELIEVED THAT SYSTEM WAS PRODUCING
TOO MANY "FALSE POSITIVES" AND DETERMINED TO CHANGE HOW THE
SYSTEM GENERATED AND SCORED MANTAS EVENTS AND INVESTIGATED
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FROM SEPTEMBER 2011 UNTIL
FEBRUARY 2012, THE FIRM DECIDED TO NOT INVESTIGATE EVENT
GROUPS GENERATED ONLY FROM MANTAS EVENTS WHILE IT
IMPLEMENTED THE CHANGES. THE FIRM ALSO DECIDED NOT TO REVIEW
HUNDREDS OF MANTAS ALERTS THAT HAD BEEN GENERATED BY THE
AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM. AS A RESULT OF THESE DECISIONS,
THE FIRM FAILED TO INVESTIGATE 1,015 INSTANCES OF POTENTIALLY
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY AT THAT TIME AND THEN ONLY AFTER THE
INVESTIGATION THAT LED TO THIS SETTLEMENT HAD BEGUN. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT HOW THE FIRM SCORED CERTAIN EVENTS
IN ITS AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM MINIMIZED POTENTIALLY
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY OR PREVENTED SUCH ACTIVITY FROM BEING
REVIEWED. FOR EXAMPLE, THE FIRM DETERMINED TO SCORE MULTIPLE
OCCURRENCES OF POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS MONEY MOVEMENTS
INVOLVING HIGH RISK COUNTERPARTIES AND ENTITIES ONCE. UNTIL 2015,
IT DID NOT LINK RELATED ACCOUNTS FOR SOME OF THE FIRM'S HIGHEST
RISK CUSTOMERS AND DID NOT CONSISTENTLY IDENTIFY OR MONITOR
CUSTOMERS IN CERTAIN HIGH RISK JURISDICTIONS OR SENIOR FOREIGN
POLITICAL FIGURES WHO WERE OPENING OR CONDUCTING
TRANSACTIONS THROUGH FIRM ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM EXCLUDED MILLIONS OF ACCOUNTS FROM ITS
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM AND THEREFORE FAILED ADEQUATELY
TO MONITOR THE ACCOUNTS FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY.
THESE ACCOUNTS INCLUDED RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS, CERTAIN
SECURITIES-BASED LOAN ACCOUNTS AND THE ACCOUNTS PLEDGED TO
THEM, AND CERTAIN MANAGED ACCOUNTS WHOSE INVESTMENTS WERE
NOT CONTROLLED BY THE BENEFICIAL OWNER. AS A RESULT OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES, THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MONITOR FOR, DETECT, AND REPORT
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AS PART OF ITS AML
PROGRAM AND AS A RESULT IT FAILED TO DETECT AND INVESTIGATE
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. DUE IN LARGE PART TO THE
DEFICIENCIES IN THE OPERATION OF THE AML MONITORING SYSTEMS
FOR RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT OR
INVESTIGATE CERTAIN POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY IN RETAIL
BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED FOR NON-RESIDENT ALIENS AT
 "INTERNATIONAL" AND NON-RESIDENT CLIENT BRANCHES, AMONG
OTHERS, FOR NON-U.S. CITIZENS DOMICILED OUTSIDE THE U.S. AND
ACTIVITY INVOLVING CUSTOMERS WHO WERE TAKING OUT LOANS FROM
FIRM AFFILIATES. 211©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/21/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2012035224301

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT AT VARIOUS
RELEVANT TIMES, THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF CERTAIN SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES THAT COMPRISE ITS AML PROGRAM RELATED TO
RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS SUFFERED FROM NUMEROUS
DEFICIENCIES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM USED AN
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM CALLED MANTAS AS A CENTRAL PART
OF ITS AML PROGRAM TO MONITOR FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS
ACTIVITY IN FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. IN APPROXIMATELY OCTOBER
2010, THE FIRM CONNECTED MANTAS TO A COMPANY'S, THAT THE FIRM
WAS A SUBSIDIARY OF, ENTERPRISE-WIDE, PROPRIETARY SYSTEM
CALLED "EVENT PROCESSOR." THEREAFTER, MANTAS GENERATED
EVENTS RELATED TO POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITIES AND FED
THESE EVENTS INTO EVENT PROCESSOR, AND EVENT PROCESSOR
GROUPED MANTAS EVENTS WITH OTHER EVENTS GENERATED BY OTHER
MONITORING SYSTEMS INTO "EVENT GROUPS." EACH EVENT GROUP WAS
SCORED BASED ON THE AML RISK POSED BY THE EVENTS OR CUSTOMER
TYPES IDENTIFIED; IF THE TOTAL SCORE FOR AN EVENT GROUP REACHED
A CERTAIN RISK-BASED THRESHOLD, THE FIRM OPENED AN
INVESTIGATION OF THE ACTIVITY. FOR A FOUR-MONTH PERIOD, THE FIRM
DID NOT INVESTIGATE SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY DETECTED ONLY BY
MANTAS. BY 2011, THE FIRM BELIEVED THAT SYSTEM WAS PRODUCING
TOO MANY "FALSE POSITIVES" AND DETERMINED TO CHANGE HOW THE
SYSTEM GENERATED AND SCORED MANTAS EVENTS AND INVESTIGATED
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FROM SEPTEMBER 2011 UNTIL
FEBRUARY 2012, THE FIRM DECIDED TO NOT INVESTIGATE EVENT
GROUPS GENERATED ONLY FROM MANTAS EVENTS WHILE IT
IMPLEMENTED THE CHANGES. THE FIRM ALSO DECIDED NOT TO REVIEW
HUNDREDS OF MANTAS ALERTS THAT HAD BEEN GENERATED BY THE
AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM. AS A RESULT OF THESE DECISIONS,
THE FIRM FAILED TO INVESTIGATE 1,015 INSTANCES OF POTENTIALLY
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY AT THAT TIME AND THEN ONLY AFTER THE
INVESTIGATION THAT LED TO THIS SETTLEMENT HAD BEGUN. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT HOW THE FIRM SCORED CERTAIN EVENTS
IN ITS AUTOMATED SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM MINIMIZED POTENTIALLY
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY OR PREVENTED SUCH ACTIVITY FROM BEING
REVIEWED. FOR EXAMPLE, THE FIRM DETERMINED TO SCORE MULTIPLE
OCCURRENCES OF POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS MONEY MOVEMENTS
INVOLVING HIGH RISK COUNTERPARTIES AND ENTITIES ONCE. UNTIL 2015,
IT DID NOT LINK RELATED ACCOUNTS FOR SOME OF THE FIRM'S HIGHEST
RISK CUSTOMERS AND DID NOT CONSISTENTLY IDENTIFY OR MONITOR
CUSTOMERS IN CERTAIN HIGH RISK JURISDICTIONS OR SENIOR FOREIGN
POLITICAL FIGURES WHO WERE OPENING OR CONDUCTING
TRANSACTIONS THROUGH FIRM ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM EXCLUDED MILLIONS OF ACCOUNTS FROM ITS
AUTOMATED MONITORING SYSTEM AND THEREFORE FAILED ADEQUATELY
TO MONITOR THE ACCOUNTS FOR POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY.
THESE ACCOUNTS INCLUDED RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS, CERTAIN
SECURITIES-BASED LOAN ACCOUNTS AND THE ACCOUNTS PLEDGED TO
THEM, AND CERTAIN MANAGED ACCOUNTS WHOSE INVESTMENTS WERE
NOT CONTROLLED BY THE BENEFICIAL OWNER. AS A RESULT OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES, THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MONITOR FOR, DETECT, AND REPORT
SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AS PART OF ITS AML
PROGRAM AND AS A RESULT IT FAILED TO DETECT AND INVESTIGATE
POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY. DUE IN LARGE PART TO THE
DEFICIENCIES IN THE OPERATION OF THE AML MONITORING SYSTEMS
FOR RETAIL BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT OR
INVESTIGATE CERTAIN POTENTIALLY SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY IN RETAIL
BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED FOR NON-RESIDENT ALIENS AT
 "INTERNATIONAL" AND NON-RESIDENT CLIENT BRANCHES, AMONG
OTHERS, FOR NON-U.S. CITIZENS DOMICILED OUTSIDE THE U.S. AND
ACTIVITY INVOLVING CUSTOMERS WHO WERE TAKING OUT LOANS FROM
FIRM AFFILIATES.

Resolution Date: 12/21/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $13,000,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $13,000,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $13,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 63 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT
NOTWITHSTANDING THE VOLUME AND SIZE OF ITS TRADES WITH
EXTENDED SETTLEMENT DATES (ES TRADES) ACROSS NUMEROUS
PRODUCT LINES AND BUSINESS UNITS OF THE FIRM, THE FIRM FAILED TO
IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE CERTAIN RETAIL AND INSTITUTIONAL ES TRADES
TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE NET CAPITAL AND
MARGIN RULES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT CONSEQUENTLY, THE FIRM'S
COMPUTATION OF MARGIN REQUIREMENTS AND NET CAPITAL
DEDUCTIONS FOR TENS OF THOUSANDS OF ES TRADES WAS
INACCURATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
TRACK MARGIN POSITIONS AND DETERMINE THE APPROPRIATE NET
CAPITAL CHARGES FOR EXEMPT AND NON-EXEMPT CUSTOMERS AND
SECURITIES WITH RESPECT TO TENS OF THOUSANDS OF ES TRADES,
RESULTING IN HUNDREDS OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN UNCOLLECTED
MARGIN. IN FAILING TO IDENTIFY TENS OF THOUSANDS OF ES TRADES
THE FIRM DID NOT TAKE THE REQUIRED NET CAPITAL DEDUCTION IN LIEU
OF COLLECTING MARGIN FOR THESE ES TRADES AND AS A RESULT
FAILED TO TAKE HUNDREDS OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS OF REQUIRED NET
CAPITAL DEDUCTIONS. THIS FAILURE HAD A MATERIAL IMPACT ON THE
FIRM'S CALCULATION AND REPORTING OF NET CAPITAL. THE FIRM,
HOWEVER, HAD SUFFICIENT NET CAPITAL THROUGHOUT THE RELEVANT
PERIOD. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM IMPROPERLY
EXTENDED CREDIT IN HUNDREDS OF ITS RETAIL CUSTOMERS' CASH
ACCOUNTS. THESE TRANSACTIONS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN PERMITTED
IN CUSTOMER CASH ACCOUNTS, BUT INSTEAD SHOULD HAVE OCCURRED
ONLY IN MARGIN ACCOUNTS WHERE THE FIRM SHOULD HAVE COLLECTED
THE LEGALLY REQUIRED MARGIN. THIS RESULTED IN THE FIRM
EXTENDING HUNDREDS OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN MARGIN TO CASH-
ACCOUNT CUSTOMERS. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A REASONABLE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS),
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO MARGIN, NET
CAPITAL, BOOKS AND RECORDS, AND FOCUS REPORTS. FINRA ALSO
FOUND THAT THE FIRM CREATED AND MAINTAINED INACCURATE BOOKS
AND RECORDS, INCLUDING INACCURATE SCHEDULES TO ITS GENERAL
LEDGER FOR COMPUTING NET CAPITAL DEDUCTION AND MARGIN.
BECAUSE THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE ES TRADES FOR
MARGIN AND NET CAPITAL PURPOSES, THE FIRM PROVIDED INACCURATE
NET CAPITAL COMPUTATIONS IN APPROXIMATELY 30 MONTHLY FOCUS
REPORTS FILED. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, INCLUDING WSPS,
DID NOT PROVIDE FOR THE IDENTIFICATION AND CONSIDERATION OF ES
TRADES FOR MARGIN OR NET CAPITAL PURPOSES, OTHER THAN CERTAIN
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS FOR NET CAPITAL PURPOSES.
THE FIRM'S WSPS ALSO FAILED TO DELEGATE ANY SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITY OR SPECIFIC TASKS TO SUPERVISORS, OR PROVIDE
GUIDANCE, DIRECTION OR DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITY TO ANY
INDIVIDUAL, TO ENSURE THAT ES TRADES AND COUNTERPARTIES WERE
PROPERLY CLASSIFIED AS "EXEMPT" OR "NON-EXEMPT," AND THAT ES
TRADES WERE PROPERLY CONSIDERED FOR NET CAPITAL AND/OR
MARGIN PURPOSES, AND REFLECTED IN THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND
RECORDS. IN ADDITION, FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REASONABLY RESPOND TO THE DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY FINRA.
FINRA INFORMED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REQUIRED TO APPLY NET
CAPITAL RULES AND MARGIN LIMITS TO ES TRADES. THE FIRM, HOWEVER,
FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ANY REMEDIAL MEASURES IN RESPONSE TO THE
DEFICIENCIES. THE FIRM FINALLY REVISED ITS WSPS TO ENSURE THAT
NET CAPITAL RULES APPLIED TO INSTITUTIONAL ES TRADES; HOWEVER,
THE FIRM CONTINUED TO FAIL TO APPLY MARGIN RULE LIMITATIONS TO
THESE TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO INSTITUTE ANY
REMEDIAL MEASURES FOR ITS RETAIL BUSINESS UNTIL WHEN IT FINALLY
ESTABLISHED A FIRM-WIDE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES TO
ADDRESS ALL ES TRADES.

Current Status: Final
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT
NOTWITHSTANDING THE VOLUME AND SIZE OF ITS TRADES WITH
EXTENDED SETTLEMENT DATES (ES TRADES) ACROSS NUMEROUS
PRODUCT LINES AND BUSINESS UNITS OF THE FIRM, THE FIRM FAILED TO
IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE CERTAIN RETAIL AND INSTITUTIONAL ES TRADES
TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE NET CAPITAL AND
MARGIN RULES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT CONSEQUENTLY, THE FIRM'S
COMPUTATION OF MARGIN REQUIREMENTS AND NET CAPITAL
DEDUCTIONS FOR TENS OF THOUSANDS OF ES TRADES WAS
INACCURATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
TRACK MARGIN POSITIONS AND DETERMINE THE APPROPRIATE NET
CAPITAL CHARGES FOR EXEMPT AND NON-EXEMPT CUSTOMERS AND
SECURITIES WITH RESPECT TO TENS OF THOUSANDS OF ES TRADES,
RESULTING IN HUNDREDS OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN UNCOLLECTED
MARGIN. IN FAILING TO IDENTIFY TENS OF THOUSANDS OF ES TRADES
THE FIRM DID NOT TAKE THE REQUIRED NET CAPITAL DEDUCTION IN LIEU
OF COLLECTING MARGIN FOR THESE ES TRADES AND AS A RESULT
FAILED TO TAKE HUNDREDS OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS OF REQUIRED NET
CAPITAL DEDUCTIONS. THIS FAILURE HAD A MATERIAL IMPACT ON THE
FIRM'S CALCULATION AND REPORTING OF NET CAPITAL. THE FIRM,
HOWEVER, HAD SUFFICIENT NET CAPITAL THROUGHOUT THE RELEVANT
PERIOD. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM IMPROPERLY
EXTENDED CREDIT IN HUNDREDS OF ITS RETAIL CUSTOMERS' CASH
ACCOUNTS. THESE TRANSACTIONS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN PERMITTED
IN CUSTOMER CASH ACCOUNTS, BUT INSTEAD SHOULD HAVE OCCURRED
ONLY IN MARGIN ACCOUNTS WHERE THE FIRM SHOULD HAVE COLLECTED
THE LEGALLY REQUIRED MARGIN. THIS RESULTED IN THE FIRM
EXTENDING HUNDREDS OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN MARGIN TO CASH-
ACCOUNT CUSTOMERS. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A REASONABLE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS),
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO MARGIN, NET
CAPITAL, BOOKS AND RECORDS, AND FOCUS REPORTS. FINRA ALSO
FOUND THAT THE FIRM CREATED AND MAINTAINED INACCURATE BOOKS
AND RECORDS, INCLUDING INACCURATE SCHEDULES TO ITS GENERAL
LEDGER FOR COMPUTING NET CAPITAL DEDUCTION AND MARGIN.
BECAUSE THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE ES TRADES FOR
MARGIN AND NET CAPITAL PURPOSES, THE FIRM PROVIDED INACCURATE
NET CAPITAL COMPUTATIONS IN APPROXIMATELY 30 MONTHLY FOCUS
REPORTS FILED. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, INCLUDING WSPS,
DID NOT PROVIDE FOR THE IDENTIFICATION AND CONSIDERATION OF ES
TRADES FOR MARGIN OR NET CAPITAL PURPOSES, OTHER THAN CERTAIN
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS FOR NET CAPITAL PURPOSES.
THE FIRM'S WSPS ALSO FAILED TO DELEGATE ANY SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITY OR SPECIFIC TASKS TO SUPERVISORS, OR PROVIDE
GUIDANCE, DIRECTION OR DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITY TO ANY
INDIVIDUAL, TO ENSURE THAT ES TRADES AND COUNTERPARTIES WERE
PROPERLY CLASSIFIED AS "EXEMPT" OR "NON-EXEMPT," AND THAT ES
TRADES WERE PROPERLY CONSIDERED FOR NET CAPITAL AND/OR
MARGIN PURPOSES, AND REFLECTED IN THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND
RECORDS. IN ADDITION, FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REASONABLY RESPOND TO THE DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY FINRA.
FINRA INFORMED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REQUIRED TO APPLY NET
CAPITAL RULES AND MARGIN LIMITS TO ES TRADES. THE FIRM, HOWEVER,
FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ANY REMEDIAL MEASURES IN RESPONSE TO THE
DEFICIENCIES. THE FIRM FINALLY REVISED ITS WSPS TO ENSURE THAT
NET CAPITAL RULES APPLIED TO INSTITUTIONAL ES TRADES; HOWEVER,
THE FIRM CONTINUED TO FAIL TO APPLY MARGIN RULE LIMITATIONS TO
THESE TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO INSTITUTE ANY
REMEDIAL MEASURES FOR ITS RETAIL BUSINESS UNTIL WHEN IT FINALLY
ESTABLISHED A FIRM-WIDE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES TO
ADDRESS ALL ES TRADES.
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/19/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2014041808101

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s): MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES, GOVERNMENT AND AGENCY DEBT,
MUNICIPAL AND EQUITY SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT
NOTWITHSTANDING THE VOLUME AND SIZE OF ITS TRADES WITH
EXTENDED SETTLEMENT DATES (ES TRADES) ACROSS NUMEROUS
PRODUCT LINES AND BUSINESS UNITS OF THE FIRM, THE FIRM FAILED TO
IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE CERTAIN RETAIL AND INSTITUTIONAL ES TRADES
TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE NET CAPITAL AND
MARGIN RULES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT CONSEQUENTLY, THE FIRM'S
COMPUTATION OF MARGIN REQUIREMENTS AND NET CAPITAL
DEDUCTIONS FOR TENS OF THOUSANDS OF ES TRADES WAS
INACCURATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
TRACK MARGIN POSITIONS AND DETERMINE THE APPROPRIATE NET
CAPITAL CHARGES FOR EXEMPT AND NON-EXEMPT CUSTOMERS AND
SECURITIES WITH RESPECT TO TENS OF THOUSANDS OF ES TRADES,
RESULTING IN HUNDREDS OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN UNCOLLECTED
MARGIN. IN FAILING TO IDENTIFY TENS OF THOUSANDS OF ES TRADES
THE FIRM DID NOT TAKE THE REQUIRED NET CAPITAL DEDUCTION IN LIEU
OF COLLECTING MARGIN FOR THESE ES TRADES AND AS A RESULT
FAILED TO TAKE HUNDREDS OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS OF REQUIRED NET
CAPITAL DEDUCTIONS. THIS FAILURE HAD A MATERIAL IMPACT ON THE
FIRM'S CALCULATION AND REPORTING OF NET CAPITAL. THE FIRM,
HOWEVER, HAD SUFFICIENT NET CAPITAL THROUGHOUT THE RELEVANT
PERIOD. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM IMPROPERLY
EXTENDED CREDIT IN HUNDREDS OF ITS RETAIL CUSTOMERS' CASH
ACCOUNTS. THESE TRANSACTIONS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN PERMITTED
IN CUSTOMER CASH ACCOUNTS, BUT INSTEAD SHOULD HAVE OCCURRED
ONLY IN MARGIN ACCOUNTS WHERE THE FIRM SHOULD HAVE COLLECTED
THE LEGALLY REQUIRED MARGIN. THIS RESULTED IN THE FIRM
EXTENDING HUNDREDS OF MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN MARGIN TO CASH-
ACCOUNT CUSTOMERS. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A REASONABLE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS),
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO MARGIN, NET
CAPITAL, BOOKS AND RECORDS, AND FOCUS REPORTS. FINRA ALSO
FOUND THAT THE FIRM CREATED AND MAINTAINED INACCURATE BOOKS
AND RECORDS, INCLUDING INACCURATE SCHEDULES TO ITS GENERAL
LEDGER FOR COMPUTING NET CAPITAL DEDUCTION AND MARGIN.
BECAUSE THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE ES TRADES FOR
MARGIN AND NET CAPITAL PURPOSES, THE FIRM PROVIDED INACCURATE
NET CAPITAL COMPUTATIONS IN APPROXIMATELY 30 MONTHLY FOCUS
REPORTS FILED. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, INCLUDING WSPS,
DID NOT PROVIDE FOR THE IDENTIFICATION AND CONSIDERATION OF ES
TRADES FOR MARGIN OR NET CAPITAL PURPOSES, OTHER THAN CERTAIN
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS FOR NET CAPITAL PURPOSES.
THE FIRM'S WSPS ALSO FAILED TO DELEGATE ANY SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITY OR SPECIFIC TASKS TO SUPERVISORS, OR PROVIDE
GUIDANCE, DIRECTION OR DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITY TO ANY
INDIVIDUAL, TO ENSURE THAT ES TRADES AND COUNTERPARTIES WERE
PROPERLY CLASSIFIED AS "EXEMPT" OR "NON-EXEMPT," AND THAT ES
TRADES WERE PROPERLY CONSIDERED FOR NET CAPITAL AND/OR
MARGIN PURPOSES, AND REFLECTED IN THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND
RECORDS. IN ADDITION, FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REASONABLY RESPOND TO THE DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY FINRA.
FINRA INFORMED THE FIRM THAT IT WAS REQUIRED TO APPLY NET
CAPITAL RULES AND MARGIN LIMITS TO ES TRADES. THE FIRM, HOWEVER,
FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ANY REMEDIAL MEASURES IN RESPONSE TO THE
DEFICIENCIES. THE FIRM FINALLY REVISED ITS WSPS TO ENSURE THAT
NET CAPITAL RULES APPLIED TO INSTITUTIONAL ES TRADES; HOWEVER,
THE FIRM CONTINUED TO FAIL TO APPLY MARGIN RULE LIMITATIONS TO
THESE TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO INSTITUTE ANY
REMEDIAL MEASURES FOR ITS RETAIL BUSINESS UNTIL WHEN IT FINALLY
ESTABLISHED A FIRM-WIDE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES TO
ADDRESS ALL ES TRADES.

Resolution Date: 12/19/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $1,400,000. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
JANUARY 2, 2018.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,400,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE ENTRY OF THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS BY FINRA:  THE FIRM FAILED
TO IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE CERTAIN TRADES WITH EXTENDED
SETTLEMENT DATES (ES TRADES) ACROSS ITS PRODUCT LINES AND
BUSINESS UNITS FOR MARGIN AND NET CAPITAL PURPOSES. AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM FOR THESE TRADES FAILED TO COLLECT THE
REQUISITE MARGIN IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULES 4210 AND 2010; TAKE
THE APPROPRIATE NET CAPITAL DEDUCTION IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
15(C) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (SEA) AND RULE 15C3-
1(C) THEREUNDER AND FINRA RULE 2010; PREVENT EXTENSION OF
CREDIT IN CASH ACCOUNTS IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010 BY
VIOLATING REGULATION T OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE
FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM (REG T); MAINTAIN ACCURATE SCHEDULES
TO THE GENERAL LEDGER IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE SEA
AND RULE 17A-3 THEREUNDER AND FINRA RULES 4511 AND 2010; AND FILE
ACCURATE FOCUS REPORTS IN VIOLATION OF SEA RULE 17A-5 AND FINRA
RULE 2010.  THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE A REASONABLE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS), DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO MARGIN, NET CAPITAL, BOOKS AND
RECORDS, AND FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL COMBINED UNIFORM
SINGLE (FOCUS) REPORTS IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 3110, AND ITS
PREDECESSOR RULE, NASD RULE 3010. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND CONSIDER
ES TRADES ACROSS ITS PRODUCT LINES AND BUSINESS UNITS.
ALTHOUGH THE FIRM WAS MADE AWARE OF THESE SUPERVISORY
DEFICIENCIES IN APRIL 2013 THROUGH FINDINGS MADE DURING A FINRA'S
DEPARTMENT OF MEMBER REGULATION MEMBER REGULATION
EXAMINATION, THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ANY REMEDIAL
MEASURES UNTIL MID-2014, AND FAILED TO IMPLEMENT A REASONABLE
FIRM-WIDE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO IDENTIFY AND CONSIDER ES
TRADES UNTIL MID-2015.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/19/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2014041808101

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES, GOVERNMENT AND AGENCY DEBT,
MUNICIPAL AND EQUITY SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE ENTRY OF THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS BY FINRA:  THE FIRM FAILED
TO IDENTIFY AND EVALUATE CERTAIN TRADES WITH EXTENDED
SETTLEMENT DATES (ES TRADES) ACROSS ITS PRODUCT LINES AND
BUSINESS UNITS FOR MARGIN AND NET CAPITAL PURPOSES. AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM FOR THESE TRADES FAILED TO COLLECT THE
REQUISITE MARGIN IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULES 4210 AND 2010; TAKE
THE APPROPRIATE NET CAPITAL DEDUCTION IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
15(C) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (SEA) AND RULE 15C3-
1(C) THEREUNDER AND FINRA RULE 2010; PREVENT EXTENSION OF
CREDIT IN CASH ACCOUNTS IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010 BY
VIOLATING REGULATION T OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE
FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM (REG T); MAINTAIN ACCURATE SCHEDULES
TO THE GENERAL LEDGER IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE SEA
AND RULE 17A-3 THEREUNDER AND FINRA RULES 4511 AND 2010; AND FILE
ACCURATE FOCUS REPORTS IN VIOLATION OF SEA RULE 17A-5 AND FINRA
RULE 2010.  THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE A REASONABLE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS), DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO MARGIN, NET CAPITAL, BOOKS AND
RECORDS, AND FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL COMBINED UNIFORM
SINGLE (FOCUS) REPORTS IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 3110, AND ITS
PREDECESSOR RULE, NASD RULE 3010. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND CONSIDER
ES TRADES ACROSS ITS PRODUCT LINES AND BUSINESS UNITS.
ALTHOUGH THE FIRM WAS MADE AWARE OF THESE SUPERVISORY
DEFICIENCIES IN APRIL 2013 THROUGH FINDINGS MADE DURING A FINRA'S
DEPARTMENT OF MEMBER REGULATION MEMBER REGULATION
EXAMINATION, THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ANY REMEDIAL
MEASURES UNTIL MID-2014, AND FAILED TO IMPLEMENT A REASONABLE
FIRM-WIDE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO IDENTIFY AND CONSIDER ES
TRADES UNTIL MID-2015.

Resolution Date: 12/19/2017

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 12/19/2017

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $1,400,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $1,400,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,400,000.00

Disclosure 64 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: BATS EDGX EXCHANGE, INC.

Date Initiated: 10/31/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2014043780102

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING, AND ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING, QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION.

THE FINDINGS STATED THAT SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM ALLOWED A NON-
BROKER-DEALER CLIENT OF THE FIRM, TO WHOM IT PROVIDED MARKET
ACCESS, TO ROUTE INTER-MARKET SWEEP ORDERS ("ISOS") THAT WERE
ENTERED INTO EDGX THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A QUOTATION
PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM PLAN, AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY ROUTE AN ISO
TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE LOCKED OR
CROSSED PROTECTED QUOTE.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH EDGX RULES 11.8(C) AND 11.10(F)
REGARDING DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM ALLOWED ITS MARKET
ACCESS CLIENTS TO USE MARKET DATA SNAPSHOTS OF PROTECTED
QUOTATIONS THAT WERE CREATED AND PROVIDED BY ITS CLIENTS'
VENDOR, WHICH THE FIRM DID NOT REVIEW, AND THE FIRM FAILED TO
DETERMINE ON A PRE-ORDER ENTRY BASIS THAT ITS NON-BROKER-
DEALER MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS WERE ROUTING ISOS IN
ACCORDANCE WITH EDGX RULES 11.8(C) AND 11.10(F).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 11/29/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $52,000.
PURSUANT TO EDGX RULE 8.8, THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER IS FINAL 20
BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION. THEREFORE,
THIS AWC BECAME FINAL NOVEMBER 29, 2017.

Regulator Statement A PARALLEL ACTION IS CONCURRENTLY BEING BROUGHT ON BEHALF OF
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC IN CONNECTION WITH MATTER NO.
20140437801.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $52,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: BATS EDGX EXCHANGE, INC.

Allegations: BATS EDGX EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM (1) FAILED TO
REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING, AND ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING, QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION, IN VIOLATION OF EDGX RULES 11.8(C) AND 11.
10(F), AND (2) FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH EDGX RULES 11.8(C) AND 11.10(F) REGARDING DISPLAYING
QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A PROTECTED QUOTATION, IN
VIOLATION OF EDGX RULES 3.1, 5.1, 5.2 AND 5.3.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 10/31/2017

Docket/Case Number: AWC NO. 20140437801-02

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 11/29/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO
THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A CENSURE, AND (2) A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $52,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO
THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A CENSURE, AND (2) A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $52,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $52,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 65 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING, AND ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING, QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION.

THE FINDINGS STATED THAT SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM ALLOWED A NON-
BROKER-DEALER CLIENT OF THE FIRM, TO WHOM IT PROVIDED MARKET
ACCESS, TO MUTE INTER-MARKET SWEEP ORDERS ("ISOS") THROUGH
THE FIRM'S TRADING PLATFORM THAT WERE ENTERED INTO THE NASDAQ
SINGLE BOOK EXECUTION SYSTEM THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
QUOTATION PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM PLAN, AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY
ROUTE AN ISO TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE
LOCKED OR CROSSED PROTECTED QUOTE.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NASDAQ RULES 4613(E) AND 4755(A)(4)
REGARDING DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM ALLOWED ITS MARKET
ACCESS CLIENTS TO USE MARKET DATA SNAPSHOTS OF PROTECTED
QUOTATIONS THAT WERE CREATED AND PROVIDED BY ITS CLIENTS'
VENDOR, WHICH THE FIRM DID NOT REVIEW, AND THE FIRM FAILED TO
DETERMINE ON A PRE-ORDER ENTRY BASIS THAT ITS NON-BROKER-
DEALER MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS WERE ROUTING ISOS IN
ACCORDANCE WITH NASDAQ RULES 4613(E) AND 4755(A)(4).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/31/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2014043780101

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING, AND ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING, QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION.

THE FINDINGS STATED THAT SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM ALLOWED A NON-
BROKER-DEALER CLIENT OF THE FIRM, TO WHOM IT PROVIDED MARKET
ACCESS, TO MUTE INTER-MARKET SWEEP ORDERS ("ISOS") THROUGH
THE FIRM'S TRADING PLATFORM THAT WERE ENTERED INTO THE NASDAQ
SINGLE BOOK EXECUTION SYSTEM THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
QUOTATION PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM PLAN, AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY
ROUTE AN ISO TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE
LOCKED OR CROSSED PROTECTED QUOTE.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NASDAQ RULES 4613(E) AND 4755(A)(4)
REGARDING DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM ALLOWED ITS MARKET
ACCESS CLIENTS TO USE MARKET DATA SNAPSHOTS OF PROTECTED
QUOTATIONS THAT WERE CREATED AND PROVIDED BY ITS CLIENTS'
VENDOR, WHICH THE FIRM DID NOT REVIEW, AND THE FIRM FAILED TO
DETERMINE ON A PRE-ORDER ENTRY BASIS THAT ITS NON-BROKER-
DEALER MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS WERE ROUTING ISOS IN
ACCORDANCE WITH NASDAQ RULES 4613(E) AND 4755(A)(4).

Resolution Date: 10/31/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $38,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $38,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 10/31/2017

Docket/Case Number: AWC NO. 20140437801-01

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM (1) FAILED TO
REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING, AND ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING, QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION, IN VIOLATION OF NASDAQ RULES 4613(E) AND
4755(A)(4), AND (2) FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH NASDAQ RULES 4613(E) AND 4755(A)(4) REGARDING DISPLAYING
QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A PROTECTED QUOTATION, IN
VIOLATION OF NASDAQ RULES 2010A AND 3010.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/31/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO
THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A CENSURE, AND (2) A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $38,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM AGREED TO
THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A CENSURE, AND (2) A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $38,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $38,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 66 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT HAD A
PREVIOUSLY EXECUTED CUSTOMER ORDER NULLIFIED AND ADJUSTED
TO AN INFERIOR PRICE, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIRM'S BEST EXECUTION
OBLIGATIONS. THE NULLIFICATION AND ADJUSTMENT OCCURRED
WITHOUT THE CUSTOMER'S KNOWLEDGE AND CONSENT, AND TO A PRICE
OUTSIDE OF NYSE AMERICAN'S BEST BID AND OFFER.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT A MERRILL LYNCH SALES TRADER
RECEIVED AN ORDER FROM A FIRM CUSTOMER TO PURCHASE 4,000
SEPTEMBER 105 CALLS FOR A CERTAIN COMPANY TIED TO AN ORDER TO
SELL 115,000 SHARES OF STOCK. THE SALES TRADER COMMUNICATED
THE ORDER TO A MERRILL LYNCH OPTIONS TRADER WHO IN TURN
SOUGHT TO FILL THE ORDER THROUGH AN INTERDEALER BROKER. AT
THE TIME THE OPTIONS TRADER PLACED THE ORDER WITH THE
INTERDEALER BROKER, THE NYSE AMERICAN BEST OFFER FOR THE
SEPTEMBER 105 CALLS WAS $2.20. AFTER THE INTERDEALER BROKER
INITIALLY FAILED TO LOCATE A COUNTERPARTY FOR THE CUSTOMER
ORDER, THE OPTIONS TRADER INSTRUCTED THE INTERDEALER BROKER
TO PURCHASE THE OPTIONS AT "$2.20 CROSS WHAT," MEANING THAT THE
OPTIONS TRADER HAD AGREED ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM TO SELL TO THE
FIRM'S CUSTOMER WHATEVER OPTIONS CONTRACTS THE INTERDEALER
BROKER COULD NOT PURCHASE ELSEWHERE. THE INTERDEALER
BROKER DID NOT FIND ANOTHER SELLER, AND THE FACILITATED CROSS
TRANSACTION EXECUTED ON THE EXCHANGE, WITH MERRILL LYNCH
SELLING 4,000 SEPTEMBER 105 CALLS TO ITS CUSTOMER AT $2.20. THE
ORIGINAL TRANSACTION WAS NULLIFIED AND REPRINTED AT $2.25, AND
THE INTERDEALER BROKER CALLED THE OPTIONS TRADER TO INFORM
HIM OF THE ADJUSTED EXECUTION PRICE, STATING THAT "YOU'RE UP
$2.20, BUT I'M PRINTING IT $2.25." THE OPTIONS TRADER AND SALES
TRADER LATER INFORMED THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER THAT THE ORDER HAD
IN FACT EXECUTED AT $2.25, BUT MADE NO MENTION OF THE ORIGINAL
EXECUTION, THE NULLIFICATION, OR THE ADJUSTED PRINT. THE OPTIONS
TRADER KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN, THAT AT HIS INSTRUCTION,
THE FACILITATED CROSS TRANSACTION HAD EXECUTED AT $2.20, WAS
NULLIFIED, AND WAS ADJUSTED TO A PRICE OF $2.25. THE EFFECT OF THE
NULLIFICATION AND ADJUSTMENT WAS THAT THE FIRM HAD SOLD THE
OPTIONS CONTRACTS TO ITS CUSTOMER FOR AN ADDITIONAL $20,000, IN
VIOLATION OF THE FIRM'S DUTY OF BEST EXECUTION. IN ADDITION, THE
OPTIONS TRADER KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN, THAT THE ORIGINAL
FACILITATED CROSS TRANSACTION WAS NULLIFIED AND ADJUSTED.
HOWEVER, NEITHER THE OPTIONS TRADER NOR ANY OTHER FIRM
EMPLOYEE INFORMED THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER OF THIS NULLIFICATION
AND ADJUSTMENT OR OBTAINED CUSTOMER CONSENT. MOREOVER, THE
ADJUSTED PRICE WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN PERMISSIBLE UNDER NYSE
AMERICAN RULES AT THE TIME OF THE ORIGINAL EXECUTION.

THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE AMERICAN RULE 966NY, AS WELL AS
NYSE AMERICAN RULES 16 AND 476(A)(6) AS THEY PERTAIN TO THE BEST
EXECUTION OF CLIENT MULTI-LEG OPTIONS TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM'S
BEST EXECUTION REVIEWS CONSIDERED ONLY SINGLE-LEG CLIENT
OPTIONS ORDERS, AND THUS IT FAILED TO REVIEW FOR BEST
EXECUTION OF ANY CLIENT OPTIONS ORDERS THAT CONTAINED MORE
THAN ONE PURCHASE OR SALE. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM'S
NULLIFICATION/ADJUSTMENT REVIEW CONSIDERED ONLY THOSE
CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH FIRM PERSONNEL MANUALLY SELF-
REPORTED THAT A NULLIFICATION OR ADJUSTMENT HAD TAKEN PLACE.
AS A RESULT, NEITHER REVIEW INCLUDED THE RELEVANT TRADE, AND
THE MENTIONED RULE VIOLATIONS WENT UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS, AND ADEQUATE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE THE PRESERVATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND
INFORMATION THAT THE FIRM KNEW, OR REASONABLY SHOULD HAVE
KNOWN, POTENTIALLY WERE RELEVANT TO THE POSSIBLE REGULATORY
ACTION.

Current Status: Final

220©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT HAD A
PREVIOUSLY EXECUTED CUSTOMER ORDER NULLIFIED AND ADJUSTED
TO AN INFERIOR PRICE, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIRM'S BEST EXECUTION
OBLIGATIONS. THE NULLIFICATION AND ADJUSTMENT OCCURRED
WITHOUT THE CUSTOMER'S KNOWLEDGE AND CONSENT, AND TO A PRICE
OUTSIDE OF NYSE AMERICAN'S BEST BID AND OFFER.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT A MERRILL LYNCH SALES TRADER
RECEIVED AN ORDER FROM A FIRM CUSTOMER TO PURCHASE 4,000
SEPTEMBER 105 CALLS FOR A CERTAIN COMPANY TIED TO AN ORDER TO
SELL 115,000 SHARES OF STOCK. THE SALES TRADER COMMUNICATED
THE ORDER TO A MERRILL LYNCH OPTIONS TRADER WHO IN TURN
SOUGHT TO FILL THE ORDER THROUGH AN INTERDEALER BROKER. AT
THE TIME THE OPTIONS TRADER PLACED THE ORDER WITH THE
INTERDEALER BROKER, THE NYSE AMERICAN BEST OFFER FOR THE
SEPTEMBER 105 CALLS WAS $2.20. AFTER THE INTERDEALER BROKER
INITIALLY FAILED TO LOCATE A COUNTERPARTY FOR THE CUSTOMER
ORDER, THE OPTIONS TRADER INSTRUCTED THE INTERDEALER BROKER
TO PURCHASE THE OPTIONS AT "$2.20 CROSS WHAT," MEANING THAT THE
OPTIONS TRADER HAD AGREED ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM TO SELL TO THE
FIRM'S CUSTOMER WHATEVER OPTIONS CONTRACTS THE INTERDEALER
BROKER COULD NOT PURCHASE ELSEWHERE. THE INTERDEALER
BROKER DID NOT FIND ANOTHER SELLER, AND THE FACILITATED CROSS
TRANSACTION EXECUTED ON THE EXCHANGE, WITH MERRILL LYNCH
SELLING 4,000 SEPTEMBER 105 CALLS TO ITS CUSTOMER AT $2.20. THE
ORIGINAL TRANSACTION WAS NULLIFIED AND REPRINTED AT $2.25, AND
THE INTERDEALER BROKER CALLED THE OPTIONS TRADER TO INFORM
HIM OF THE ADJUSTED EXECUTION PRICE, STATING THAT "YOU'RE UP
$2.20, BUT I'M PRINTING IT $2.25." THE OPTIONS TRADER AND SALES
TRADER LATER INFORMED THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER THAT THE ORDER HAD
IN FACT EXECUTED AT $2.25, BUT MADE NO MENTION OF THE ORIGINAL
EXECUTION, THE NULLIFICATION, OR THE ADJUSTED PRINT. THE OPTIONS
TRADER KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN, THAT AT HIS INSTRUCTION,
THE FACILITATED CROSS TRANSACTION HAD EXECUTED AT $2.20, WAS
NULLIFIED, AND WAS ADJUSTED TO A PRICE OF $2.25. THE EFFECT OF THE
NULLIFICATION AND ADJUSTMENT WAS THAT THE FIRM HAD SOLD THE
OPTIONS CONTRACTS TO ITS CUSTOMER FOR AN ADDITIONAL $20,000, IN
VIOLATION OF THE FIRM'S DUTY OF BEST EXECUTION. IN ADDITION, THE
OPTIONS TRADER KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN, THAT THE ORIGINAL
FACILITATED CROSS TRANSACTION WAS NULLIFIED AND ADJUSTED.
HOWEVER, NEITHER THE OPTIONS TRADER NOR ANY OTHER FIRM
EMPLOYEE INFORMED THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER OF THIS NULLIFICATION
AND ADJUSTMENT OR OBTAINED CUSTOMER CONSENT. MOREOVER, THE
ADJUSTED PRICE WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN PERMISSIBLE UNDER NYSE
AMERICAN RULES AT THE TIME OF THE ORIGINAL EXECUTION.

THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE AMERICAN RULE 966NY, AS WELL AS
NYSE AMERICAN RULES 16 AND 476(A)(6) AS THEY PERTAIN TO THE BEST
EXECUTION OF CLIENT MULTI-LEG OPTIONS TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM'S
BEST EXECUTION REVIEWS CONSIDERED ONLY SINGLE-LEG CLIENT
OPTIONS ORDERS, AND THUS IT FAILED TO REVIEW FOR BEST
EXECUTION OF ANY CLIENT OPTIONS ORDERS THAT CONTAINED MORE
THAN ONE PURCHASE OR SALE. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM'S
NULLIFICATION/ADJUSTMENT REVIEW CONSIDERED ONLY THOSE
CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH FIRM PERSONNEL MANUALLY SELF-
REPORTED THAT A NULLIFICATION OR ADJUSTMENT HAD TAKEN PLACE.
AS A RESULT, NEITHER REVIEW INCLUDED THE RELEVANT TRADE, AND
THE MENTIONED RULE VIOLATIONS WENT UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS, AND ADEQUATE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE THE PRESERVATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND
INFORMATION THAT THE FIRM KNEW, OR REASONABLY SHOULD HAVE
KNOWN, POTENTIALLY WERE RELEVANT TO THE POSSIBLE REGULATORY
ACTION.
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Initiated By: NYSE AMERICAN LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/26/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2016-07-01304

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT HAD A
PREVIOUSLY EXECUTED CUSTOMER ORDER NULLIFIED AND ADJUSTED
TO AN INFERIOR PRICE, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIRM'S BEST EXECUTION
OBLIGATIONS. THE NULLIFICATION AND ADJUSTMENT OCCURRED
WITHOUT THE CUSTOMER'S KNOWLEDGE AND CONSENT, AND TO A PRICE
OUTSIDE OF NYSE AMERICAN'S BEST BID AND OFFER.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT A MERRILL LYNCH SALES TRADER
RECEIVED AN ORDER FROM A FIRM CUSTOMER TO PURCHASE 4,000
SEPTEMBER 105 CALLS FOR A CERTAIN COMPANY TIED TO AN ORDER TO
SELL 115,000 SHARES OF STOCK. THE SALES TRADER COMMUNICATED
THE ORDER TO A MERRILL LYNCH OPTIONS TRADER WHO IN TURN
SOUGHT TO FILL THE ORDER THROUGH AN INTERDEALER BROKER. AT
THE TIME THE OPTIONS TRADER PLACED THE ORDER WITH THE
INTERDEALER BROKER, THE NYSE AMERICAN BEST OFFER FOR THE
SEPTEMBER 105 CALLS WAS $2.20. AFTER THE INTERDEALER BROKER
INITIALLY FAILED TO LOCATE A COUNTERPARTY FOR THE CUSTOMER
ORDER, THE OPTIONS TRADER INSTRUCTED THE INTERDEALER BROKER
TO PURCHASE THE OPTIONS AT "$2.20 CROSS WHAT," MEANING THAT THE
OPTIONS TRADER HAD AGREED ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM TO SELL TO THE
FIRM'S CUSTOMER WHATEVER OPTIONS CONTRACTS THE INTERDEALER
BROKER COULD NOT PURCHASE ELSEWHERE. THE INTERDEALER
BROKER DID NOT FIND ANOTHER SELLER, AND THE FACILITATED CROSS
TRANSACTION EXECUTED ON THE EXCHANGE, WITH MERRILL LYNCH
SELLING 4,000 SEPTEMBER 105 CALLS TO ITS CUSTOMER AT $2.20. THE
ORIGINAL TRANSACTION WAS NULLIFIED AND REPRINTED AT $2.25, AND
THE INTERDEALER BROKER CALLED THE OPTIONS TRADER TO INFORM
HIM OF THE ADJUSTED EXECUTION PRICE, STATING THAT "YOU'RE UP
$2.20, BUT I'M PRINTING IT $2.25." THE OPTIONS TRADER AND SALES
TRADER LATER INFORMED THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER THAT THE ORDER HAD
IN FACT EXECUTED AT $2.25, BUT MADE NO MENTION OF THE ORIGINAL
EXECUTION, THE NULLIFICATION, OR THE ADJUSTED PRINT. THE OPTIONS
TRADER KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN, THAT AT HIS INSTRUCTION,
THE FACILITATED CROSS TRANSACTION HAD EXECUTED AT $2.20, WAS
NULLIFIED, AND WAS ADJUSTED TO A PRICE OF $2.25. THE EFFECT OF THE
NULLIFICATION AND ADJUSTMENT WAS THAT THE FIRM HAD SOLD THE
OPTIONS CONTRACTS TO ITS CUSTOMER FOR AN ADDITIONAL $20,000, IN
VIOLATION OF THE FIRM'S DUTY OF BEST EXECUTION. IN ADDITION, THE
OPTIONS TRADER KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN, THAT THE ORIGINAL
FACILITATED CROSS TRANSACTION WAS NULLIFIED AND ADJUSTED.
HOWEVER, NEITHER THE OPTIONS TRADER NOR ANY OTHER FIRM
EMPLOYEE INFORMED THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER OF THIS NULLIFICATION
AND ADJUSTMENT OR OBTAINED CUSTOMER CONSENT. MOREOVER, THE
ADJUSTED PRICE WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN PERMISSIBLE UNDER NYSE
AMERICAN RULES AT THE TIME OF THE ORIGINAL EXECUTION.

THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE AMERICAN RULE 966NY, AS WELL AS
NYSE AMERICAN RULES 16 AND 476(A)(6) AS THEY PERTAIN TO THE BEST
EXECUTION OF CLIENT MULTI-LEG OPTIONS TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM'S
BEST EXECUTION REVIEWS CONSIDERED ONLY SINGLE-LEG CLIENT
OPTIONS ORDERS, AND THUS IT FAILED TO REVIEW FOR BEST
EXECUTION OF ANY CLIENT OPTIONS ORDERS THAT CONTAINED MORE
THAN ONE PURCHASE OR SALE. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM'S
NULLIFICATION/ADJUSTMENT REVIEW CONSIDERED ONLY THOSE
CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH FIRM PERSONNEL MANUALLY SELF-
REPORTED THAT A NULLIFICATION OR ADJUSTMENT HAD TAKEN PLACE.
AS A RESULT, NEITHER REVIEW INCLUDED THE RELEVANT TRADE, AND
THE MENTIONED RULE VIOLATIONS WENT UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.

THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS, AND ADEQUATE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE THE PRESERVATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND
INFORMATION THAT THE FIRM KNEW, OR REASONABLY SHOULD HAVE
KNOWN, POTENTIALLY WERE RELEVANT TO THE POSSIBLE REGULATORY
ACTION.

Resolution Date: 10/21/2017

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $135,000.
THE FIRM WAS ALSO GIVEN AN UNDERTAKING. WITHIN 60 DAYS OF THE
EXECUTION OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM AGREES TO CERTIFY THAT
DEFICIENCIES IN ITS SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES HAVE BEEN
ADDRESSED THROUGH IMPLEMENTATION OF PROCEDURES THAT ARE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES AND
REGULATIONS CITED IN THE AWC PERTAINING TO THE BEST EXECUTION,
NULLIFICATION, OR ADJUSTMENT OF CLIENT OPTIONS TRADES.
PURSUANT TO NYSE AMERICAN RULE 9310(A)(1)(B), THIS AWC BECAME
FINAL ON OCTOBER 21, 2017, SINCE NO REVIEW WAS REQUESTED BY A
DIRECTOR OR A MEMBER OF THE COMMITTEE FOR REVIEW.

Regulator Statement IN CONNECTION WITH NYSE REGULATION'S INVESTIGATION, MERRILL
LYNCH PAID ITS CUSTOMER $20,000 IN RESTITUTION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $135,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT HAD A
PREVIOUSLY EXECUTED CUSTOMER ORDER NULLIFIED AND ADJUSTED
TO AN INFERIOR PRICE, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIRM'S BEST EXECUTION
OBLIGATIONS.  THE NULLIFICATION AND ADJUSTMENT OCCURRED
WITHOUT THE CUSTOMER'S KNOWLEDGE AND CONSENT, AND TO A PRICE
OUTSIDE OF NYSE AMERICAN'S BEST BID AND OFFER.  THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE AMERICAN RULE 966NY, AS WELL AS NYSE
AMERICAN RULES 16 AND 476(A)(6) AS THEY PERTAIN TO THE BEST
EXECUTION OF CLIENT MULTI-LEG OPTIONS TRANSACTIONS.  THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS, AND ADEQUATE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THE
PRESERVATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND INFORMATION THAT THE
FIRM KNEW, OR REASONABLY SHOULD HAVE KNOWN, POTENTIALLY WERE
RELEVANT TO THE POSSIBLE REGULATORY ACTION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NYSE AMERICAN LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/26/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2016-07-01304

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT HAD A
PREVIOUSLY EXECUTED CUSTOMER ORDER NULLIFIED AND ADJUSTED
TO AN INFERIOR PRICE, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIRM'S BEST EXECUTION
OBLIGATIONS.  THE NULLIFICATION AND ADJUSTMENT OCCURRED
WITHOUT THE CUSTOMER'S KNOWLEDGE AND CONSENT, AND TO A PRICE
OUTSIDE OF NYSE AMERICAN'S BEST BID AND OFFER.  THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE AMERICAN RULE 966NY, AS WELL AS NYSE
AMERICAN RULES 16 AND 476(A)(6) AS THEY PERTAIN TO THE BEST
EXECUTION OF CLIENT MULTI-LEG OPTIONS TRANSACTIONS.  THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS, AND ADEQUATE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THE
PRESERVATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND INFORMATION THAT THE
FIRM KNEW, OR REASONABLY SHOULD HAVE KNOWN, POTENTIALLY WERE
RELEVANT TO THE POSSIBLE REGULATORY ACTION.

Resolution Date: 10/21/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $135,000.  THE FIRM WAS ALSO
GIVEN AN UNDERTAKING. PURSUANT TO NYSE AMERICAN RULE
9310(A)(1)(B), THIS AWC BECAME FINAL ON OCTOBER 21, 2017, SINCE NO
REVIEW WAS REQUESTED BY A DIRECTOR OR MEMBER OF THE
COMMITTEE FOR REVIEW.

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH NYSE REGULATION'S INVESTIGATION, THE FIRM
PAID ITS CUSTOMER $20,000 IN RESTITUTION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $135,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 67 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: CFTC RELEASE PR7615-17, SEPTEMBER 22, 2017:
THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") HAS
REASON TO BELIEVE THAT MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT") VIOLATED
COMMISSION REGULATION ("REGULATION") 166.3 FROM AT LEAST
JANUARY 2010 THROUGH DECEMBER 2010 AND VIOLATED SECTION 4G OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT (THE "ACT"),  AND REGULATIONS 1.31
AND 1.35 FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2010 THROUGH JUNE 2012.
THEREFORE, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED TO DETERMINE WHETHER RESPONDENT
ENGAGED IN THE VIOLATIONS SET FORTH HEREIN, AND TO DETERMINE
WHETHER ANY ORDER SHOULD BE ISSUED IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS.
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT ON NOVEMBER 17 AND 18, 2010, CERTAIN
TRADERS ON THE U.S. DOLLAR INTEREST RATE SWAPS AND BLOCK
FUTURES TRADING DESK (THE "SWAPS DESK") OF BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
("BANA") MADE MISLEADING STATEMENTS TO MEMBERS OF CME GROUP
INC.'S ("CME GROUP") MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT ("CME MARKET
REGULATION STAFF") IN INTERVIEWS CONDUCTED AS PART OF AN
INVESTIGATION INTO BANA'S AND MERRILL LYNCH'S RECORDKEEPING
AND EXECUTION PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO BLOCK TRADES ("CME
INVESTIGATION").  SPECIFICALLY, CME MARKET REGULATION STAFF
ASKED THESE TRADERS DURING THEIR INTERVIEWS WHETHER TRADERS
ON THE SWAPS DESK EVER TRADED AHEAD OF BLOCK TRADES BY
TRADING FUTURES CONTRACTS ON EXCHANGE AFTER RECEIVING AN
INQUIRY FROM A COUNTERPARTY FOR A BLOCK TRADE IN THE SAME
FUTURES CONTRACT BUT BEFORE EXECUTING THE BLOCK TRADE. IN
RESPONSE, THESE TRADERS FAILED TO ACKNOWLEDGE ENGAGING IN
THIS CONDUCT AND PROVIDED MISLEADING ANSWERS.
IN CONNECTION WITH THE CME INVESTIGATION, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED
TO SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS IN TWO RESPECTS. FIRST,
FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2010 THROUGH DECEMBER 2010, MERRILL
LYNCH FAILED TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS RESPONSES TO THE CME
INVESTIGATION. SECOND, FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2010 THROUGH
OCTOBER 2010, MERRILL LYNCH HAD IN PLACE INADEQUATE
PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT RECORDS OF BLOCK TRADES EXECUTED
BY THE SWAPS DESK, INCLUDING RECORDS OF BLOCK TRADE
EXECUTION TIMES, WERE PREPARED ACCURATELY AND MAINTAINED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATIONS 1.31 AND 1.35. IN ADDITION, FROM AT
LEAST JANUARY 2010 THROUGH JUNE 2012, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO
MAINTAIN RECORDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATIONS 1.31 AND 1.35
REGARDING CERTAIN BLOCK TRADES EXECUTED BY THE SWAPS DESK.
MERRILL LYNCH'S CONDUCT CONTRIBUTED TO ITS FAILURE TO DETECT
TRADING AHEAD OF BLOCK TRADES BY TRADERS ON THE SWAPS DESK
BEFORE CERTAIN TRADERS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO MISLEAD CME
MARKET REGULATION STAFF.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 09/22/2017

Docket/Case Number: 17-25

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

CFTC RELEASE PR7615-17, SEPTEMBER 22, 2017:
THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") HAS
REASON TO BELIEVE THAT MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT") VIOLATED
COMMISSION REGULATION ("REGULATION") 166.3 FROM AT LEAST
JANUARY 2010 THROUGH DECEMBER 2010 AND VIOLATED SECTION 4G OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT (THE "ACT"),  AND REGULATIONS 1.31
AND 1.35 FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2010 THROUGH JUNE 2012.
THEREFORE, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED TO DETERMINE WHETHER RESPONDENT
ENGAGED IN THE VIOLATIONS SET FORTH HEREIN, AND TO DETERMINE
WHETHER ANY ORDER SHOULD BE ISSUED IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS.
THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT ON NOVEMBER 17 AND 18, 2010, CERTAIN
TRADERS ON THE U.S. DOLLAR INTEREST RATE SWAPS AND BLOCK
FUTURES TRADING DESK (THE "SWAPS DESK") OF BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
("BANA") MADE MISLEADING STATEMENTS TO MEMBERS OF CME GROUP
INC.'S ("CME GROUP") MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT ("CME MARKET
REGULATION STAFF") IN INTERVIEWS CONDUCTED AS PART OF AN
INVESTIGATION INTO BANA'S AND MERRILL LYNCH'S RECORDKEEPING
AND EXECUTION PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO BLOCK TRADES ("CME
INVESTIGATION").  SPECIFICALLY, CME MARKET REGULATION STAFF
ASKED THESE TRADERS DURING THEIR INTERVIEWS WHETHER TRADERS
ON THE SWAPS DESK EVER TRADED AHEAD OF BLOCK TRADES BY
TRADING FUTURES CONTRACTS ON EXCHANGE AFTER RECEIVING AN
INQUIRY FROM A COUNTERPARTY FOR A BLOCK TRADE IN THE SAME
FUTURES CONTRACT BUT BEFORE EXECUTING THE BLOCK TRADE. IN
RESPONSE, THESE TRADERS FAILED TO ACKNOWLEDGE ENGAGING IN
THIS CONDUCT AND PROVIDED MISLEADING ANSWERS.
IN CONNECTION WITH THE CME INVESTIGATION, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED
TO SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS IN TWO RESPECTS. FIRST,
FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2010 THROUGH DECEMBER 2010, MERRILL
LYNCH FAILED TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS RESPONSES TO THE CME
INVESTIGATION. SECOND, FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 2010 THROUGH
OCTOBER 2010, MERRILL LYNCH HAD IN PLACE INADEQUATE
PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT RECORDS OF BLOCK TRADES EXECUTED
BY THE SWAPS DESK, INCLUDING RECORDS OF BLOCK TRADE
EXECUTION TIMES, WERE PREPARED ACCURATELY AND MAINTAINED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATIONS 1.31 AND 1.35. IN ADDITION, FROM AT
LEAST JANUARY 2010 THROUGH JUNE 2012, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO
MAINTAIN RECORDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATIONS 1.31 AND 1.35
REGARDING CERTAIN BLOCK TRADES EXECUTED BY THE SWAPS DESK.
MERRILL LYNCH'S CONDUCT CONTRIBUTED TO ITS FAILURE TO DETECT
TRADING AHEAD OF BLOCK TRADES BY TRADERS ON THE SWAPS DESK
BEFORE CERTAIN TRADERS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO MISLEAD CME
MARKET REGULATION STAFF.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/22/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH IS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING
SECTION 4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35, AND 166.3.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT
OF $2,500,000.
MERRILL LYNCH IS ALSO ORDERED TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER")
THAT THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.
IT IS ORDERED THAT MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTION 4G OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35, AND
166.3.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT
OF $2,500,000.
MERRILL LYNCH IS ALSO ORDERED TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION (CFTC) ALLEGED THAT
IT HAD REASON TO BELIEVE THAT THE FIRM (A) VIOLATED REGULATION
166.3, 17 C.F.R. § 166.3 (2016), UNDER THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
(CEA) IN CONNECTION WITH ITS ALLEGED FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
DILIGENTLY THE FIRM'S RESPONSE TO THE INVESTIGATION BY THE CME
GROUP INC.'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT REGARDING
RECORDKEEPING AND EXECUTION PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO BLOCK
TRADES; (B) VIOLATED REGULATION 166.3, 17 C.F.R. § 166.3 (2016), UNDER
THE CEA IN CONNECTION WITH ITS ALLEGED INADEQUATE PROCEDURES
FOR PREPARING AND MAINTAINING RECORDS FOR BLOCK TRADES
EXECUTED BY THE SWAPS DESK, INCLUDING PROCEDURES FOR
RECORDING ACCURATE BLOCK TRADE EXECUTION TIMES AND NOT BEING
DILIGENT IN ENSURING THAT ITS EXISTING PROCEDURES FOR
PREPARING AND MAINTAINING RECORDS FOR BLOCK TRADES WERE
BEING IMPLEMENTED; AND (C) VIOLATED SECTION 4G OF THE CEA, 7
U.S.C. § 6G (2012) AND REGULATIONS 1.31 AND 1.35 UNDER THE CEA, 17
C.F.R. §§ 1.31 AND 1.35 (2016) IN CONNECTION WITH ITS ALLEGED FAILURE
TO MAINTAIN CERTAIN BOOKS AND RECORDS REGARDING THE
EXECUTION OF BLOCK TRADES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKINGS

Date Initiated: 09/22/2017

Docket/Case Number: CFTC DOCKET NO. 17-25

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION (CFTC) ALLEGED THAT
IT HAD REASON TO BELIEVE THAT THE FIRM (A) VIOLATED REGULATION
166.3, 17 C.F.R. § 166.3 (2016), UNDER THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
(CEA) IN CONNECTION WITH ITS ALLEGED FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
DILIGENTLY THE FIRM'S RESPONSE TO THE INVESTIGATION BY THE CME
GROUP INC.'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT REGARDING
RECORDKEEPING AND EXECUTION PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO BLOCK
TRADES; (B) VIOLATED REGULATION 166.3, 17 C.F.R. § 166.3 (2016), UNDER
THE CEA IN CONNECTION WITH ITS ALLEGED INADEQUATE PROCEDURES
FOR PREPARING AND MAINTAINING RECORDS FOR BLOCK TRADES
EXECUTED BY THE SWAPS DESK, INCLUDING PROCEDURES FOR
RECORDING ACCURATE BLOCK TRADE EXECUTION TIMES AND NOT BEING
DILIGENT IN ENSURING THAT ITS EXISTING PROCEDURES FOR
PREPARING AND MAINTAINING RECORDS FOR BLOCK TRADES WERE
BEING IMPLEMENTED; AND (C) VIOLATED SECTION 4G OF THE CEA, 7
U.S.C. § 6G (2012) AND REGULATIONS 1.31 AND 1.35 UNDER THE CEA, 17
C.F.R. §§ 1.31 AND 1.35 (2016) IN CONNECTION WITH ITS ALLEGED FAILURE
TO MAINTAIN CERTAIN BOOKS AND RECORDS REGARDING THE
EXECUTION OF BLOCK TRADES.

Resolution Date: 09/22/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS IN THE ORDER, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION
OF THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTION 4G OF THE CEA AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35 AND
166.3 THEREUNDER, (2) TO PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $2,500,000, (3) TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS IN THE ORDER, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION
OF THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTION 4G OF THE CEA AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35 AND
166.3 THEREUNDER, (2) TO PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $2,500,000, (3) TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS IN THE ORDER, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION
OF THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTION 4G OF THE CEA AND REGULATIONS 1.31, 1.35 AND
166.3 THEREUNDER, (2) TO PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $2,500,000, (3) TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Disclosure 68 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/17/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2016049381801

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REPORT 22,592 REPO TRANSACTIONS EFFECTED IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES TO THE REAL TIME REPORTING SYSTEM (RTRS). THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM ON THE DESK
RESPONSIBLE FOR EFFECTING THE RELEVANT REPO TRANSACTIONS DID
NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, AND THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD
(MSRB) RULES, CONCERNING THE REPORTING OF TRANSACTIONS IN
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/17/2017

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $22,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $22,500. THE MITIGATED MONETARY
SANCTION IN THIS MATTER REFLECTS THE FIRM'S SELF-REPORTING OF
THE VIOLATIONS DESCRIBED ABOVE. FINES PAID IN FULL ON SEPTEMBER
7, 2017.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/17/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2016049381801

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO REPORT 22,592 REPO
TRANSACTIONS EFFECTED IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES TO THE REAL TIME REPORTING SYSTEM (RTRS). THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM ON THE DESK RESPONSIBLE FOR EFFECTING THE RELEVANT
REPO TRANSACTIONS DID NOT PROVIDE
FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
RULEMAKING BOARD (MSRB) RULES,
CONCERNING THE REPORTING OF TRANSACTIONS IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/17/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $22,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $22,500. THE MITIGATED MONETARY
SANCTION IN THIS MATTER
REFLECTS THE FIRM'S SELF-REPORTING OF THE VIOLATIONS DESCRIBED
ABOVE.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $22,500. THE MITIGATED MONETARY
SANCTION IN THIS MATTER
REFLECTS THE FIRM'S SELF-REPORTING OF THE VIOLATIONS DESCRIBED
ABOVE.

Disclosure 69 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN NON-
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES (NCPS) TRANSACTIONS FOR OR
WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO
ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR
SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM, IN
INSTANCES RECORDED AN INACCURATE ORDER EXECUTION TIME ON ITS
BOOKS AND RECORDS, SUBMITTED TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (TRF) A TRADE REPORT THAT CONTAINED AN
INACCURATE EXECUTION TIME, AND SUBMITTED TO THE TRF A TRADE
REPORT THAT REFLECTED THE FIRM'S GLOBAL BANKING & MARKETS
CREDIT TRADING DESK (CREDIT DESK) MARK-UP OR MARK-DOWN IN THE
REPORTED UNIT PRICE. SEPARATELY, IN INSTANCES, THE FIRM
RECORDED AN ORDER RECEIPT TIME THAT WAS INACCURATE BECAUSE IT
REFLECTED A LATER TIME THAN THE EXECUTION TIME REPORTED TO THE
TRF. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM ALSO ISSUED
INACCURATE CUSTOMER CONFIRMATIONS TO ITS CUSTOMERS. IN
INSTANCES, THE FIRM FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN
THE PRICE REPORTED TO THE TRF AND THE PRICE TO THE CUSTOMER,
WHICH REPRESENTED COMPENSATION TO THE FIRM, ON TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS SENT TO CUSTOMERS. ALSO, IN INSTANCES, THE
CUSTOMER TRADE CONFIRMATIONS STATED THAT "FOR REPORTED
SECURITIES, UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED "PRICE" IS THE REPORTED
PRICE." THE PRICE DISCLOSED TO THE CUSTOMER, HOWEVER, DID NOT
MATCH THE PRICE REPORTED TO THE TRF BUT INSTEAD INCLUDED A
MARK-UP OR MARK-DOWN. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT IN OVER
THE COUNTER CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES (OTC CPS)
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE
REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER
MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE
RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE
UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS. IN INSTANCES, CUSTOMERS
RECEIVED AN INFERIOR PRICE WHEN THERE WAS SUFFICIENT DISPLAYED
LIQUIDITY TO EXECUTE THE ORDER IN FULL AT THE BETTER PRICE, AND
THE BETTER PRICE WAS DISPLAYED DURING THE ENTIRE LIFE CYCLE OF
THE ORDER. FINRA FOUND THAT IN OTC CPS TRANSACTIONS INSTANCES,
THE FIRM FAILED TO EXECUTE AN ORDER. THE FIRM'S GLOBAL WEALTH
AND RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS BLOCK TRADING DESK (THE BLOCK DESK)
FAILED TO OBTAIN EXECUTIONS FOR THESE ORDERS DESPITE THE FACT
THAT, AT THE TIME OF ORDER RECEIPT, THE OTC MARKETPLACE
DISPLAYED TWO-SIDED QUOTATIONS WITHIN THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR
OFFER THAT COULD HAVE AT LEAST PARTIALLY SATISFIED THE ORDER.
THE BLOCK DESK FAILED TO REVIEW AUTOMATED QUOTATIONS BY
MARKET MAKERS IN OTC CPS SECURITIES WHEN IT HANDLED CUSTOMER
ORDER FLOW IN THESE SECURITIES. ALSO, IN INSTANCES, THE FIRM
INCORRECTLY MARKED A "HELD" MARKET ORDER AS "NOT HELD." FINRA
ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE
FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, AND/OR THE RULES OF FINRA. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR THE
MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR ADEQUATE WSPS, FOR TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED ON THE CREDIT DESK, FOR EQUITY TRADE REPORTING,
ACCURACY OF BOOKS & RECORDS, AND ACCURACY OF CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS, AND FOR TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON THE BLOCK
DESK, FOR THE TIMELY HANDLING OF MARKET ORDERS IN OTC CPS. THIS
RESULTED IN THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO BE INADEQUATE IN
MONITORING ACTIVITY IN THESE AREAS. ALSO, THE FIRM FAILED TO
PROVIDE DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE THAT IT PERFORMED THE
SUPERVISORY REVIEWS IN ITS WSPS CONCERNING BEST EXECUTION OF
CUSTOMER ORDERS IN OTC CPS EXECUTED ON THE BLOCK DESK.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/16/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2011028842101

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES AND OVER THE COUNTER
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN NON-
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES (NCPS) TRANSACTIONS FOR OR
WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO
ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR
SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM, IN
INSTANCES RECORDED AN INACCURATE ORDER EXECUTION TIME ON ITS
BOOKS AND RECORDS, SUBMITTED TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (TRF) A TRADE REPORT THAT CONTAINED AN
INACCURATE EXECUTION TIME, AND SUBMITTED TO THE TRF A TRADE
REPORT THAT REFLECTED THE FIRM'S GLOBAL BANKING & MARKETS
CREDIT TRADING DESK (CREDIT DESK) MARK-UP OR MARK-DOWN IN THE
REPORTED UNIT PRICE. SEPARATELY, IN INSTANCES, THE FIRM
RECORDED AN ORDER RECEIPT TIME THAT WAS INACCURATE BECAUSE IT
REFLECTED A LATER TIME THAN THE EXECUTION TIME REPORTED TO THE
TRF. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM ALSO ISSUED
INACCURATE CUSTOMER CONFIRMATIONS TO ITS CUSTOMERS. IN
INSTANCES, THE FIRM FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN
THE PRICE REPORTED TO THE TRF AND THE PRICE TO THE CUSTOMER,
WHICH REPRESENTED COMPENSATION TO THE FIRM, ON TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS SENT TO CUSTOMERS. ALSO, IN INSTANCES, THE
CUSTOMER TRADE CONFIRMATIONS STATED THAT "FOR REPORTED
SECURITIES, UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED "PRICE" IS THE REPORTED
PRICE." THE PRICE DISCLOSED TO THE CUSTOMER, HOWEVER, DID NOT
MATCH THE PRICE REPORTED TO THE TRF BUT INSTEAD INCLUDED A
MARK-UP OR MARK-DOWN. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT IN OVER
THE COUNTER CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES (OTC CPS)
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE
REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER
MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE
RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE
UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS. IN INSTANCES, CUSTOMERS
RECEIVED AN INFERIOR PRICE WHEN THERE WAS SUFFICIENT DISPLAYED
LIQUIDITY TO EXECUTE THE ORDER IN FULL AT THE BETTER PRICE, AND
THE BETTER PRICE WAS DISPLAYED DURING THE ENTIRE LIFE CYCLE OF
THE ORDER. FINRA FOUND THAT IN OTC CPS TRANSACTIONS INSTANCES,
THE FIRM FAILED TO EXECUTE AN ORDER. THE FIRM'S GLOBAL WEALTH
AND RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS BLOCK TRADING DESK (THE BLOCK DESK)
FAILED TO OBTAIN EXECUTIONS FOR THESE ORDERS DESPITE THE FACT
THAT, AT THE TIME OF ORDER RECEIPT, THE OTC MARKETPLACE
DISPLAYED TWO-SIDED QUOTATIONS WITHIN THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR
OFFER THAT COULD HAVE AT LEAST PARTIALLY SATISFIED THE ORDER.
THE BLOCK DESK FAILED TO REVIEW AUTOMATED QUOTATIONS BY
MARKET MAKERS IN OTC CPS SECURITIES WHEN IT HANDLED CUSTOMER
ORDER FLOW IN THESE SECURITIES. ALSO, IN INSTANCES, THE FIRM
INCORRECTLY MARKED A "HELD" MARKET ORDER AS "NOT HELD." FINRA
ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE
FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, AND/OR THE RULES OF FINRA. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR THE
MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR ADEQUATE WSPS, FOR TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED ON THE CREDIT DESK, FOR EQUITY TRADE REPORTING,
ACCURACY OF BOOKS & RECORDS, AND ACCURACY OF CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS, AND FOR TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON THE BLOCK
DESK, FOR THE TIMELY HANDLING OF MARKET ORDERS IN OTC CPS. THIS
RESULTED IN THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO BE INADEQUATE IN
MONITORING ACTIVITY IN THESE AREAS. ALSO, THE FIRM FAILED TO
PROVIDE DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE THAT IT PERFORMED THE
SUPERVISORY REVIEWS IN ITS WSPS CONCERNING BEST EXECUTION OF
CUSTOMER ORDERS IN OTC CPS EXECUTED ON THE BLOCK DESK.
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 05/16/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING; AND INTEREST ON THE RESTITUTION

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $650,000, REQUIRED TO PAY
$124,128.30, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS AND
REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS).
FINE PAID IN FULL ON JUNE 13, 2017.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $650,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: AS RELATED TO THE HANDLING OF CERTAIN CUSTOMER ORDERS IN NON-
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES (NCPS), THE FINANCIAL
INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY (FINRA) FOUND THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED (A) NASD RULE 2320 (OR FINRA RULE 5310 ON OR AFTER MAY
31, 2012) AND FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION WITH ITS FAILURE, IN
CERTAIN INSTANCES, TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN
THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILURE TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH
MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS
FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS; (B)
FINRA RULE 7230A IN CONNECTION WITH THE SUBMISSION TO THE TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (TRF), IN CERTAIN INSTANCES, OF LAST SALE
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES THAT
INCLUDED AN INACCURATE TIME OF EXECUTION AND MARK-UP OR MARK-
DOWN IN THE UNIT PRICE; (C) SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND SEC RULE 17A-3
THEREUNDER, NASD RULE 3110 (OR FINRA RULE 4511 ON OR AFTER
DECEMBER 5, 2011) AND FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION WITH THE
FAILURE TO RECORD THE CORRECT TIME OF ORDER ENTRY AND
CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION ON THE MEMORANDUM OF BROKERAGE
ORDERS, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES; (D) SECTION 10 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND SEC RULE 10B-10 THEREUNDER, NASD RULE 2230 (OR FINRA RULE
2232 ON OR AFTER JUNE 17, 2011), AND FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION
WITH THE FAILURE TO DISCLOSE, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES, ON CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE PRICE REPORTED TO
THE TRF AND THE PRICE TO THE CUSTOMER, WHICH REPRESENTED
COMPENSATION TO THE FIRM AND THAT THE PRICE DISCLOSED TO THE
CUSTOMER DID NOT MATCH THE PRICE REPORTED TO THE TRF BUT
INSTEAD INCLUDED A MARK-UP OR MARK-DOWN; AND (E) NASD RULE 3010
AND FINRA RULE 2010 BY FAILING TO HAVE IN PLACE ADEQUATE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) REGARDING EQUITY TRADE
REPORTING, THE ACCURACY OF CUSTOMER CONFIRMATIONS AND THE
ACCURACY OF BOOKS AND RECORDS ON THE FIRM'S GLOBAL BANKING &
MARKETS CREDIT TRADING DESK.  AS RELATED TO THE HANDLING OF
CUSTOMER ORDERS IN OVER-THE-COUNTER CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED
SECURITIES (OTC CPS), FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED (I)
NASD RULE 2320 (FOR FINRA RULE 5310 ON OR AFTER MAY 31, 2012) AND
FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION WITH ITS FAILURE, IN CERTAIN
INSTANCES, TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST
INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILURE TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET
SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE
AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS; (II) NASD RULE
2111(A) (OR FINRA RULE 5310.01 FOR CONDUCT ON OR AFTER MAY 31,
2012) AND FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION WITH THE FAILURE TO
EXECUTE ORDERS, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES; (III) VIOLATED SECTION 17 OF
THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SEC RULE 17A-3 THEREUNDER, NASD RULE 3110
(OR FINRA RULE 4511 ON OR AFTER DECEMBER 5, 2011) AND FINRA RULE
2010 IN CONNECTION WITH THE INCORRECT MARKING, IN CERTAIN
INSTANCES, OF "HELD" MARKET ORDERS AS "NOT HELD"; (IV) NASD RULE
3010 AND FINRA RULE 2010 BY FAILING TO HAVE IN PLACE ADEQUATE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES FOR THE TIMELY HANDLING OF
MARKET ORDERS IN OTC CPS HANDLED BY THE FIRM'S GLOBAL WEALTH
AND RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS BLOCK TRADING DESK (BLOCK DESK); AND
(V) NASD RULE 3010 AND FINRA RULE 2010 BY FAILING TO PROVIDE
DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE THAT DURING THE OTC CPS REVIEW PERIOD IT
PERFORMED THE SUPERVISORY REVIEWS SET FORTH IN ITS WSPS
CONCERNING BEST EXECUTION OF CUSTOMER ORDERS IN OTC CPS
EXECUTED ON THE BLOCK DESK.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 05/16/2017

Docket/Case Number: FINRA AWC NO. 2011028842101

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES AND OVER-THE-COUNTER
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES

AS RELATED TO THE HANDLING OF CERTAIN CUSTOMER ORDERS IN NON-
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES (NCPS), THE FINANCIAL
INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY (FINRA) FOUND THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED (A) NASD RULE 2320 (OR FINRA RULE 5310 ON OR AFTER MAY
31, 2012) AND FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION WITH ITS FAILURE, IN
CERTAIN INSTANCES, TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN
THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILURE TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH
MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS
FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS; (B)
FINRA RULE 7230A IN CONNECTION WITH THE SUBMISSION TO THE TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (TRF), IN CERTAIN INSTANCES, OF LAST SALE
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES THAT
INCLUDED AN INACCURATE TIME OF EXECUTION AND MARK-UP OR MARK-
DOWN IN THE UNIT PRICE; (C) SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) AND SEC RULE 17A-3
THEREUNDER, NASD RULE 3110 (OR FINRA RULE 4511 ON OR AFTER
DECEMBER 5, 2011) AND FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION WITH THE
FAILURE TO RECORD THE CORRECT TIME OF ORDER ENTRY AND
CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION ON THE MEMORANDUM OF BROKERAGE
ORDERS, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES; (D) SECTION 10 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND SEC RULE 10B-10 THEREUNDER, NASD RULE 2230 (OR FINRA RULE
2232 ON OR AFTER JUNE 17, 2011), AND FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION
WITH THE FAILURE TO DISCLOSE, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES, ON CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE PRICE REPORTED TO
THE TRF AND THE PRICE TO THE CUSTOMER, WHICH REPRESENTED
COMPENSATION TO THE FIRM AND THAT THE PRICE DISCLOSED TO THE
CUSTOMER DID NOT MATCH THE PRICE REPORTED TO THE TRF BUT
INSTEAD INCLUDED A MARK-UP OR MARK-DOWN; AND (E) NASD RULE 3010
AND FINRA RULE 2010 BY FAILING TO HAVE IN PLACE ADEQUATE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) REGARDING EQUITY TRADE
REPORTING, THE ACCURACY OF CUSTOMER CONFIRMATIONS AND THE
ACCURACY OF BOOKS AND RECORDS ON THE FIRM'S GLOBAL BANKING &
MARKETS CREDIT TRADING DESK.  AS RELATED TO THE HANDLING OF
CUSTOMER ORDERS IN OVER-THE-COUNTER CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED
SECURITIES (OTC CPS), FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED (I)
NASD RULE 2320 (FOR FINRA RULE 5310 ON OR AFTER MAY 31, 2012) AND
FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION WITH ITS FAILURE, IN CERTAIN
INSTANCES, TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST
INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILURE TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET
SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE
AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS; (II) NASD RULE
2111(A) (OR FINRA RULE 5310.01 FOR CONDUCT ON OR AFTER MAY 31,
2012) AND FINRA RULE 2010 IN CONNECTION WITH THE FAILURE TO
EXECUTE ORDERS, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES; (III) VIOLATED SECTION 17 OF
THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SEC RULE 17A-3 THEREUNDER, NASD RULE 3110
(OR FINRA RULE 4511 ON OR AFTER DECEMBER 5, 2011) AND FINRA RULE
2010 IN CONNECTION WITH THE INCORRECT MARKING, IN CERTAIN
INSTANCES, OF "HELD" MARKET ORDERS AS "NOT HELD"; (IV) NASD RULE
3010 AND FINRA RULE 2010 BY FAILING TO HAVE IN PLACE ADEQUATE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES FOR THE TIMELY HANDLING OF
MARKET ORDERS IN OTC CPS HANDLED BY THE FIRM'S GLOBAL WEALTH
AND RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS BLOCK TRADING DESK (BLOCK DESK); AND
(V) NASD RULE 3010 AND FINRA RULE 2010 BY FAILING TO PROVIDE
DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE THAT DURING THE OTC CPS REVIEW PERIOD IT
PERFORMED THE SUPERVISORY REVIEWS SET FORTH IN ITS WSPS
CONCERNING BEST EXECUTION OF CUSTOMER ORDERS IN OTC CPS
EXECUTED ON THE BLOCK DESK.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE;RESTITUTION;UNDERTAKING;INTEREST ON RESTITUTION

Other Product Type(s): NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES AND OVER-THE-COUNTER
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 05/16/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: RESTITUTION OF $124,128.30 PLUS INTEREST; UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS IN THE AWC, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A
CENSURE, (2) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $650,000, (3) RESTITUTION IN THE
AMOUNT OF $124,128.30 PLUS INTEREST, AND (4) A CERTAIN
UNDERTAKING.

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE AWC, THE FIRM AGREED TO AN UNDERTAKING
TO SUBMIT A SIGNED, DATED LETTER OR E-MAIL TO FINRA
ACKNOWLEDGING THAT IT REVISED ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES TO ADDRESS CERTAIN OF THE MATTERS DISCUSSED IN
THE AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $650,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 70 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 04/07/2017

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
SUBMIT TO THE OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC) REPORTING FACILITY (OTCRF)
LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY SECURITIES
WITHIN 10 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS AND TO FINRA RULES CONCERNING
LATE TRADE REPORTING. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY,
PREVENT AND CORRECT THE FIRM'S PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE
TRADE REPORTING RESULTING IN VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 6622(A).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/07/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2015046460201

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/07/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $30,000. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
JULY 13, 2017.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO SUBMIT TO THE OVER-THE-
COUNTER (OTC) REPORTING FACILITY
(OTCRF) LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY
SECURITIES WITHIN 10 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS AND TO FINRA RULES CONCERNING
LATE TRADE REPORTING. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY,
PREVENT AND CORRECT THE FIRM'S PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE
TRADE REPORTING RESULTING IN VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 6622(A).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 04/07/2017

Docket/Case Number: 2015046460201

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/07/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $30,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $30,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 71 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 02/26/2015

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPFS"), AN
EXCHANGE TPH ORGANIZATION, WAS CENSURED AND FINED $7,500 FOR
THE FOLLOWING CONDUCT.  MLPFS  (I) ON NUMEROUS OCCASIONS,
FAILED TO GRANT PRIORITY TO THE HIGHEST BID AND/OR LOWEST OFFER
WHEN SUCH BID OR OFFER WAS AVAILABLE AND, ON NUMEROUS
OCCASIONS, FAILED TO USE DUE DILIGENCE TO EXECUTE ORDERS AT
THE BEST PRICES AVAILABLE; AND (II) FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS
ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE
RULES 6.45A, 6.45B, AND 6.73, IN CONNECTION WITH THE CONDUCT
DESCRIBED ABOVE.  (EXCHANGE RULES 4.2 - ADHERENCE TO LAW,  6.45A
¬- PRIORITY AND ALLOCATION OF EQUITY OPTION TRADES ON THE CBOE
HYBRID SYSTEM, 6.45B - PRIORITY AND ALLOCATION OF TRADES IN INDEX
OPTIONS AND OPTIONS ON ETFS ON THE CBOE HYBRID SYSTEM, AND 6.73
- RESPONSIBILITIES OF FLOOR BROKERS)

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/26/2015

Docket/Case Number: 15-0020/ 20150442656 AND 20150466721

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/29/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A $7,500 FINE AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 12/29/2016

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 15-0020 / 20150442656 AND 20150466721

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE OF THE CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS
EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED ("CBOE") ALLEGED THAT, FROM IN OR ABOUT
JANUARY 1, 2009 THROUGH ON OR ABOUT JUNE 15, 2015, MERRILL LYNCH,
(1) ON NUMEROUS OCCASIONS, FAILED TO GRANT PRIORITY TO THE
HIGHEST BID AND/OR LOWEST OFFER WHEN SUCH BID OR OFFER WAS
AVAILABLE AND, ON NUMEROUS OCCASIONS, FAILED TO USE DUE
DILIGENCE TO EXECUTE ORDERS AT THE BEST PRICES AVAILABLE IN
VIOLATION OF CBOE RULES 6.45A, 6.45B AND 6.73, AND (2) FAILED TO
SUPERVISE ITS ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
CBOE RULES 6.45A, 6.45B, AND 6.73 IN CONNECTION WITH THE ABOVE
MENTIONED CONDUCT IN VIOLATION OF CBOE RULE 4.2.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 12/29/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IN THE
STATEMENT OF CHARGES AND LETTER OF CONSENT, MERRILL LYNCH
AGREED TO A $7,500 FINE AND A CENSURE.  THE FINE WAS PAID ON
JANUARY 13, 2017.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IN THE
STATEMENT OF CHARGES AND LETTER OF CONSENT, MERRILL LYNCH
AGREED TO A $7,500 FINE AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 72 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/15/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2015043999801

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT EXCEEDED
THE RELEVANT POSITION LIMIT IN TWO DIFFERENT SECURITIES FOR TWO
DIFFERENT CUSTOMERS (EXCEEDING THE RELEVANT POSITION LIMIT IN A
RANGE OF BETWEEN 102.5% AND 538.5%) FOR FIVE DAYS, RESPECTIVELY.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW, WHICH WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF OPTIONS
POSITION LIMITS TO THE LARGE OPTIONS POSITION REPORTS (LOPR)
SYSTEM.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 12/15/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $30,000. FINES PAID IN FULL ON
JANUARY 18, 2017.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 12/15/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2015043999801

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT EXCEEDED
THE RELEVANT POSITION LIMIT IN TWO DIFFERENT SECURITIES FOR TWO
DIFFERENT CUSTOMERS (EXCEEDING THE RELEVANT POSITION LIMIT IN A
RANGE OF BETWEEN 102.5% AND 538.5%) FOR FIVE DAYS, RESPECTIVELY.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW, WHICH WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF OPTIONS
POSITION LIMITS TO THE LARGE OPTIONS POSITION REPORTS (LOPR)
SYSTEM.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 12/15/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $30,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $30,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 73 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT DID NOT
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, AND DID
NOT ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE USE
OF PROCEEDS FROM LOANS ORIGINATED UNDER A SECURITIES-BASED
LENDING PROGRAM CALLED LOAN MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS (LMAS). THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT ADEQUATELY EDUCATE ITS
REPRESENTATIVES ABOUT LMAS OR TRAIN THEM ON THE DIFFERENCES
BETWEEN PURPOSE AND NON-PURPOSE LMAS, THE CONTRACTUAL AND
FIRM PROHIBITION AGAINST USING PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE
LMAS TO BUY MARGIN STOCK, OR THE REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO LMAS USED TO BUY MARGIN STOCK. THE FIRM ALSO DID
NOT REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE LMA ACCOUNT-OPENING PROCESS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
REASONABLE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, OR ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE WRITTEN PROCEDURES, DESIGNED TO PREVENT,
DETER, AND DETECT THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. EXCEPT IN LIMITED SITUATIONS WHERE A
CUSTOMER HAD AN OPEN MARGIN DEBIT BALANCE OR A PENDING TRADE,
THERE WAS NO EFFECTIVE CONTROL IN PLACE TO PREVENT CUSTOMERS
FROM TRANSFERRING PROCEEDS FROM A NON-PURPOSE LMA TO THEIR
FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNT AND IMMEDIATELY PURCHASING MARGIN
STOCK, NOR ANY EFFECTIVE POST-TRANSACTION REVIEW TO DETECT
SUCH PROHIBITED USE OF THE LMA PROCEEDS. THIS FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE EXTENDED TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES,
WHICH PROHIBITED THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE SECURITIES GENERALLY, AND TO THE LMA AGREEMENTS,
WHICH PROHIBITED THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. LIKEWISE, BECAUSE THE FIRM DID NOT
HAVE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS TO MONITOR WHETHER PROCEEDS FROM
NON-PURPOSE LMAS WERE USED TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK, THE
FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR TO ENSURE THE COLLATERAL
REQUIREMENT WAS MET IN THOSE INSTANCES WHEN LMA PROCEEDS
WERE, IN FACT, USED TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. AS A RESULT OF
THESE FAILURES, DURING THE LMA REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM
CUSTOMERS DREW DOWN ON NON-PURPOSE LMAS, TRANSFERRED THE
FUNDS TO THEIR FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, AND WITHIN A SHORT
TIMEFRAME (OFTEN THE SAME DAY) ON THOUSANDS OF OCCASIONS
PURCHASED MARGIN STOCK. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, AND
FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THE SUITABILITY OF TRANSACTIONS
IN PUERTO RICO MUNICIPAL BONDS AND PUERTO RICO CLOSED-END
FUNDS (PR SECURITIES) IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES. MANY PUERTO
RICO CUSTOMERS WERE CONCENTRATED IN PR SECURITIES, AND MANY
USED LEVERAGE TO BUY ADDITIONAL PR SECURITIES EITHER THROUGH
LMAS OR THROUGH THE USE OF MARGIN IN THEIR SECURITIES
ACCOUNTS. LEVERAGED CUSTOMERS WERE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN
ACCOUNT EQUITY IN ORDER TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE COLLATERAL TO
SUPPORT THEIR LEVERAGE. DESPITE THE RISK OF CUSTOMERS WHO
WERE BOTH LEVERAGED AND HIGHLY CONCENTRATED IN PR
SECURITIES, THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT, WHERE
CUSTOMERS WERE BOTH HIGHLY CONCENTRATED IN PR SECURITIES
AND USING LEVERAGE, TRANSACTIONS WERE SUITABLE IN LIGHT OF THE
CUSTOMERS' RISK OBJECTIVES AND PROFILES. FINRA FOUND THAT
SEVERAL HUNDRED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS IN THE FIRM'S PUERTO RICO
BRANCH WITH MODEST NET WORTH AND CONSERVATIVE OR MODERATE
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES HAD 75 PERCENT OR MORE OF THEIR
ACCOUNT ASSETS INVESTED IN PR SECURITIES. OF THOSE ACCOUNTS,
APPROXIMATELY 50 ALSO WERE LEVERAGED THROUGH LMAS OR
MARGIN. APPROXIMATELY HALF OF THOSE ACCOUNTS EVENTUALLY
RECEIVED MARGIN OR MAINTENANCE CALLS UPON WHICH THEY
LIQUIDATED PR SECURITIES AT A LOSS. THESE CUSTOMERS SUFFERED
AGGREGATE LOSSES OF NEARLY $1.2 MILLION AS A RESULT OF
LIQUIDATING PR SECURITIES TO MEET THE CALLS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT DID NOT
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, AND DID
NOT ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE USE
OF PROCEEDS FROM LOANS ORIGINATED UNDER A SECURITIES-BASED
LENDING PROGRAM CALLED LOAN MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS (LMAS). THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT ADEQUATELY EDUCATE ITS
REPRESENTATIVES ABOUT LMAS OR TRAIN THEM ON THE DIFFERENCES
BETWEEN PURPOSE AND NON-PURPOSE LMAS, THE CONTRACTUAL AND
FIRM PROHIBITION AGAINST USING PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE
LMAS TO BUY MARGIN STOCK, OR THE REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO LMAS USED TO BUY MARGIN STOCK. THE FIRM ALSO DID
NOT REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE LMA ACCOUNT-OPENING PROCESS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
REASONABLE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, OR ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE WRITTEN PROCEDURES, DESIGNED TO PREVENT,
DETER, AND DETECT THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. EXCEPT IN LIMITED SITUATIONS WHERE A
CUSTOMER HAD AN OPEN MARGIN DEBIT BALANCE OR A PENDING TRADE,
THERE WAS NO EFFECTIVE CONTROL IN PLACE TO PREVENT CUSTOMERS
FROM TRANSFERRING PROCEEDS FROM A NON-PURPOSE LMA TO THEIR
FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNT AND IMMEDIATELY PURCHASING MARGIN
STOCK, NOR ANY EFFECTIVE POST-TRANSACTION REVIEW TO DETECT
SUCH PROHIBITED USE OF THE LMA PROCEEDS. THIS FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE EXTENDED TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES,
WHICH PROHIBITED THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE SECURITIES GENERALLY, AND TO THE LMA AGREEMENTS,
WHICH PROHIBITED THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. LIKEWISE, BECAUSE THE FIRM DID NOT
HAVE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS TO MONITOR WHETHER PROCEEDS FROM
NON-PURPOSE LMAS WERE USED TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK, THE
FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR TO ENSURE THE COLLATERAL
REQUIREMENT WAS MET IN THOSE INSTANCES WHEN LMA PROCEEDS
WERE, IN FACT, USED TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. AS A RESULT OF
THESE FAILURES, DURING THE LMA REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM
CUSTOMERS DREW DOWN ON NON-PURPOSE LMAS, TRANSFERRED THE
FUNDS TO THEIR FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, AND WITHIN A SHORT
TIMEFRAME (OFTEN THE SAME DAY) ON THOUSANDS OF OCCASIONS
PURCHASED MARGIN STOCK. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, AND
FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THE SUITABILITY OF TRANSACTIONS
IN PUERTO RICO MUNICIPAL BONDS AND PUERTO RICO CLOSED-END
FUNDS (PR SECURITIES) IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES. MANY PUERTO
RICO CUSTOMERS WERE CONCENTRATED IN PR SECURITIES, AND MANY
USED LEVERAGE TO BUY ADDITIONAL PR SECURITIES EITHER THROUGH
LMAS OR THROUGH THE USE OF MARGIN IN THEIR SECURITIES
ACCOUNTS. LEVERAGED CUSTOMERS WERE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN
ACCOUNT EQUITY IN ORDER TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE COLLATERAL TO
SUPPORT THEIR LEVERAGE. DESPITE THE RISK OF CUSTOMERS WHO
WERE BOTH LEVERAGED AND HIGHLY CONCENTRATED IN PR
SECURITIES, THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT, WHERE
CUSTOMERS WERE BOTH HIGHLY CONCENTRATED IN PR SECURITIES
AND USING LEVERAGE, TRANSACTIONS WERE SUITABLE IN LIGHT OF THE
CUSTOMERS' RISK OBJECTIVES AND PROFILES. FINRA FOUND THAT
SEVERAL HUNDRED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS IN THE FIRM'S PUERTO RICO
BRANCH WITH MODEST NET WORTH AND CONSERVATIVE OR MODERATE
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES HAD 75 PERCENT OR MORE OF THEIR
ACCOUNT ASSETS INVESTED IN PR SECURITIES. OF THOSE ACCOUNTS,
APPROXIMATELY 50 ALSO WERE LEVERAGED THROUGH LMAS OR
MARGIN. APPROXIMATELY HALF OF THOSE ACCOUNTS EVENTUALLY
RECEIVED MARGIN OR MAINTENANCE CALLS UPON WHICH THEY
LIQUIDATED PR SECURITIES AT A LOSS. THESE CUSTOMERS SUFFERED
AGGREGATE LOSSES OF NEARLY $1.2 MILLION AS A RESULT OF
LIQUIDATING PR SECURITIES TO MEET THE CALLS.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/30/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2014042578001

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s): CLOSED END FUNDS AND UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 11/30/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $6,250,000, AND REQUIRED TO PAY
$779,999, INCLUDING PREJUDGMENT INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO
CUSTOMERS. THE AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION ORDERED TAKES INTO
ACCOUNT THAT THE FIRM HAS ALREADY REIMBURSED CERTAIN
AFFECTED CUSTOMERS PURSUANT TO PRIVATE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENTS. FINES PAID IN FULL ON 12/9/16.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION, FINRA CONSIDERED THE
FOLLOWING FACTORS: PRIOR TO DETECTION BY A REGULATOR, THE FIRM
CONDUCTED A COMPREHENSIVE INTERNAL REVIEW OF THE USE OF NON-
PURPOSE LMA PROCEEDS TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK AND TOOK
REMEDIAL MEASURES TO STRENGTHEN ITS RELATED CONTROLS AND
PROCEDURES; THE FIRM REPORTED TO FINRA CERTAIN OF THE
VIOLATIONS ADDRESSED IN THE AWC; AND THE FIRM PROVIDED
SUBSTANTIAL ASSISTANCE DURING FINRA'S INVESTIGATION BY SHARING
THE RESULTS OF ITS INTERNAL INVESTIGATION WITH FINRA.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $6,250,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT DID NOT
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, AND DID
NOT ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE USE
OF PROCEEDS FROM LOANS ORIGINATED UNDER A SECURITIES-BASED
LENDING PROGRAM CALLED LOAN MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS (LMAS). THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT ADEQUATELY EDUCATE ITS
REPRESENTATIVES ABOUT LMAS OR TRAIN THEM ON THE DIFFERENCES
BETWEEN PURPOSE AND NONPURPOSE LMAS, THE CONTRACTUAL AND
FIRM PROHIBITION AGAINST USING PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE
LMAS TO BUY MARGIN STOCK, OR THE REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO LMAS USED TO BUY MARGIN STOCK. THE FIRM ALSO DID
NOT REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE LMA ACCOUNT-OPENING PROCESS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
REASONABLE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, OR ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE WRITTEN PROCEDURES, DESIGNED TO PREVENT,
DETER, AND DETECT THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. EXCEPT IN LIMITED SITUATIONS WHERE A
CUSTOMER HAD AN OPEN MARGIN DEBIT BALANCE OR A PENDING TRADE,
THERE WAS NO EFFECTIVE CONTROL IN PLACE TO PREVENT CUSTOMERS
FROM TRANSFERRING PROCEEDS FROM A NON-PURPOSE LMA TO THEIR
FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNT AND IMMEDIATELY PURCHASING MARGIN
STOCK, NOR ANY EFFECTIVE POST-TRANSACTION REVIEW TO DETECT
SUCH PROHIBITED USE OF THE LMA PROCEEDS. THIS FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE EXTENDED TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES,
WHICH PROHIBITED THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE SECURITIES GENERALLY, AND TO THE LMA AGREEMENTS,
WHICH PROHIBITED THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. LIKEWISE, BECAUSE THE FIRM DID NOT
HAVE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS TO MONITOR WHETHER PROCEEDS FROM
NON-PURPOSE LMAS WERE USED TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK, THE
FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR TO ENSURE THE COLLATERAL
REQUIREMENT WAS MET IN THOSE INSTANCES WHEN LMA PROCEEDS
WERE, IN FACT, USED TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. AS A RESULT OF
THESE FAILURES, DURING THE LMA REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM
CUSTOMERS DREW DOWN ON NON-PURPOSE LMAS, TRANSFERRED THE
FUNDS TO THEIR FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, AND WITHIN A SHORT
TIMEFRAME (OFTEN THE SAME DAY) ON THOUSANDS OF OCCASIONS
PURCHASED MARGIN STOCK. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, AND
FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THE SUITABILITY OF TRANSACTIONS
IN PUERTO RICO MUNICIPAL BONDS AND PUERTO RICO CLOSED-END
FUNDS (PR SECURITIES) IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES. MANY PUERTO
RICO CUSTOMERS WERE CONCENTRATED IN PR SECURITIES, AND MANY
USED LEVERAGE TO BUY ADDITIONAL PR SECURITIES EITHER THROUGH
LMAS OR THROUGH THE USE OF MARGIN IN THEIR SECURITIES
ACCOUNTS. LEVERAGED CUSTOMERS WERE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN
ACCOUNT EQUITY IN ORDER TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE COLLATERAL TO
SUPPORT THEIR LEVERAGE. DESPITE THE RISK OF CUSTOMERS WHO
WERE BOTH LEVERAGED AND HIGHLY CONCENTRATED IN PR
SECURITIES, THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT, WHERE
CUSTOMERS WERE BOTH HIGHLY CONCENTRATED IN PR SECURITIES
AND USING LEVERAGE, TRANSACTIONS WERE SUITABLE IN LIGHT OF THE
CUSTOMERS' RISK OBJECTIVES AND PROFILES. FINRA FOUND THAT
SEVERAL HUNDRED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS IN THE FIRM'S PUERTO RICO
BRANCH WITH MODEST NET WORTH AND CONSERVATIVE OR MODERATE
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES HAD 75 PERCENT OR MORE OF THEIR
ACCOUNT ASSETS INVESTED IN PR SECURITIES. OF THOSE ACCOUNTS,
APPROXIMATELY 50 ALSO WERE LEVERAGED THROUGH LMAS OR
MARGIN. APPROXIMATELY HALF OF THOSE ACCOUNTS EVENTUALLY
RECEIVED MARGIN OR MAINTENANCE CALLS UPON WHICH THEY
LIQUIDATED PR SECURITIES AT A LOSS. THESE CUSTOMERS - 25 IN TOTAL
- SUFFERED AGGREGATE LOSSES OF NEARLY $1.2 MILLION AS A RESULT
OF LIQUIDATING PR SECURITIES TO MEET THE CALLS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; RESTITUTION; PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Date Initiated: 11/30/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2014042578001

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s): CLOSED END FUNDS AND UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT DID NOT
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, AND DID
NOT ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE USE
OF PROCEEDS FROM LOANS ORIGINATED UNDER A SECURITIES-BASED
LENDING PROGRAM CALLED LOAN MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS (LMAS). THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT ADEQUATELY EDUCATE ITS
REPRESENTATIVES ABOUT LMAS OR TRAIN THEM ON THE DIFFERENCES
BETWEEN PURPOSE AND NONPURPOSE LMAS, THE CONTRACTUAL AND
FIRM PROHIBITION AGAINST USING PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE
LMAS TO BUY MARGIN STOCK, OR THE REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO LMAS USED TO BUY MARGIN STOCK. THE FIRM ALSO DID
NOT REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE LMA ACCOUNT-OPENING PROCESS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
REASONABLE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS, OR ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE WRITTEN PROCEDURES, DESIGNED TO PREVENT,
DETER, AND DETECT THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. EXCEPT IN LIMITED SITUATIONS WHERE A
CUSTOMER HAD AN OPEN MARGIN DEBIT BALANCE OR A PENDING TRADE,
THERE WAS NO EFFECTIVE CONTROL IN PLACE TO PREVENT CUSTOMERS
FROM TRANSFERRING PROCEEDS FROM A NON-PURPOSE LMA TO THEIR
FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNT AND IMMEDIATELY PURCHASING MARGIN
STOCK, NOR ANY EFFECTIVE POST-TRANSACTION REVIEW TO DETECT
SUCH PROHIBITED USE OF THE LMA PROCEEDS. THIS FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE EXTENDED TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES,
WHICH PROHIBITED THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE SECURITIES GENERALLY, AND TO THE LMA AGREEMENTS,
WHICH PROHIBITED THE USE OF PROCEEDS FROM NON-PURPOSE LMAS
TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. LIKEWISE, BECAUSE THE FIRM DID NOT
HAVE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS TO MONITOR WHETHER PROCEEDS FROM
NON-PURPOSE LMAS WERE USED TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK, THE
FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MONITOR TO ENSURE THE COLLATERAL
REQUIREMENT WAS MET IN THOSE INSTANCES WHEN LMA PROCEEDS
WERE, IN FACT, USED TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK. AS A RESULT OF
THESE FAILURES, DURING THE LMA REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM
CUSTOMERS DREW DOWN ON NON-PURPOSE LMAS, TRANSFERRED THE
FUNDS TO THEIR FIRM BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS, AND WITHIN A SHORT
TIMEFRAME (OFTEN THE SAME DAY) ON THOUSANDS OF OCCASIONS
PURCHASED MARGIN STOCK. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, AND
FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THE SUITABILITY OF TRANSACTIONS
IN PUERTO RICO MUNICIPAL BONDS AND PUERTO RICO CLOSED-END
FUNDS (PR SECURITIES) IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES. MANY PUERTO
RICO CUSTOMERS WERE CONCENTRATED IN PR SECURITIES, AND MANY
USED LEVERAGE TO BUY ADDITIONAL PR SECURITIES EITHER THROUGH
LMAS OR THROUGH THE USE OF MARGIN IN THEIR SECURITIES
ACCOUNTS. LEVERAGED CUSTOMERS WERE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN
ACCOUNT EQUITY IN ORDER TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE COLLATERAL TO
SUPPORT THEIR LEVERAGE. DESPITE THE RISK OF CUSTOMERS WHO
WERE BOTH LEVERAGED AND HIGHLY CONCENTRATED IN PR
SECURITIES, THE FIRM DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT, WHERE
CUSTOMERS WERE BOTH HIGHLY CONCENTRATED IN PR SECURITIES
AND USING LEVERAGE, TRANSACTIONS WERE SUITABLE IN LIGHT OF THE
CUSTOMERS' RISK OBJECTIVES AND PROFILES. FINRA FOUND THAT
SEVERAL HUNDRED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS IN THE FIRM'S PUERTO RICO
BRANCH WITH MODEST NET WORTH AND CONSERVATIVE OR MODERATE
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES HAD 75 PERCENT OR MORE OF THEIR
ACCOUNT ASSETS INVESTED IN PR SECURITIES. OF THOSE ACCOUNTS,
APPROXIMATELY 50 ALSO WERE LEVERAGED THROUGH LMAS OR
MARGIN. APPROXIMATELY HALF OF THOSE ACCOUNTS EVENTUALLY
RECEIVED MARGIN OR MAINTENANCE CALLS UPON WHICH THEY
LIQUIDATED PR SECURITIES AT A LOSS. THESE CUSTOMERS - 25 IN TOTAL
- SUFFERED AGGREGATE LOSSES OF NEARLY $1.2 MILLION AS A RESULT
OF LIQUIDATING PR SECURITIES TO MEET THE CALLS.

Resolution Date: 11/30/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $6,250,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $6,250,000, AND REQUIRED TO PAY
$779,999, INCLUDING PREJUDGMENT INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO 22
CUSTOMERS. THE AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION ORDERED TAKES INTO
ACCOUNT THAT THE FIRM HAS ALREADY REIMBURSED CERTAIN
AFFECTED CUSTOMERS PURSUANT TO PRIVATE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENTS.

Firm Statement IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION, FINRA CONSIDERED THE
FOLLOWING FACTORS: PRIOR TO DETECTION BY A REGULATOR, THE FIRM
CONDUCTED A COMPREHENSIVE INTERNAL REVIEW OF THE USE OF NON-
PURPOSE LMA PROCEEDS TO PURCHASE MARGIN STOCK AND TOOK
REMEDIAL MEASURES TO STRENGTHEN ITS RELATED CONTROLS AND
PROCEDURES; THE FIRM REPORTED TO FINRA CERTAIN OF THE
VIOLATIONS ADDRESSED IN THE AWC; AND THE FIRM PROVIDED
SUBSTANTIAL ASSISTANCE DURING FINRA'S INVESTIGATION BY SHARING
THE RESULTS OF ITS INTERNAL INVESTIGATION WITH FINRA.

Disclosure 74 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT ACCEPTED
AND HELD AN ORDER IN AN OTC EQUITY SECURITY FROM ITS OWN
CUSTOMER, OR A CUSTOMER OF ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER, AND
TRADED THAT SECURITY ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET FOR ITS
OWN ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE SATISFIED THE CUSTOMER
ORDER WITHOUT IMMEDIATELY THEREAFTER EXECUTING THE
CUSTOMER ORDER UP TO THE SIZE AND AT THE SAME OR BETTER PRICE
AT WHICH IT TRADED FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO MAKE EVERY EFFORT TO CROSS A
MARKETABLE CUSTOMER ORDER WITH ANOTHER ORDER RECEIVED BY
THE FIRM ON THE OPPOSITE SIDE OF THE MARKET. FURTHERMORE, ON
OCCASIONS INVOLVING EITHER A TRADING AHEAD AND/OR CROSSING
FAILURE, THE FIRM FAILED TO EXECUTE A MARKETABLE CUSTOMER
ORDER FULLY AND PROMPTLY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO
TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER ORDERS. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM, WHEN
PERFORMING ITS TRADING AHEAD REVIEWS IN OTC SECURITIES, FAILED
TO IDENTIFY PRICE EXCEPTIONS OF MARKET HELD ORDERS, AND
ENSURE THAT CUSTOMER ORDERS WERE EXECUTED WITHIN 60
SECONDS OF THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY TRADE AND UP TO THE LESSER
OF THE PROPRIETARY OR CUSTOMER ORDER SHARE QUANTITY. THE
FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S TRADING SUPERVISION
CHECKLIST DID NOT EVIDENCE A SUPERVISORY REVIEW RELATED TO
TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER ORDERS, AND IT ALSO FAILED TO
PROVIDE TO THE STAFF EVIDENCE OF A SUPERVISORY REVIEW RELATED
TO TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER ORDERS.

Current Status: Final

245©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/31/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2013036708101

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT ACCEPTED
AND HELD AN ORDER IN AN OTC EQUITY SECURITY FROM ITS OWN
CUSTOMER, OR A CUSTOMER OF ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER, AND
TRADED THAT SECURITY ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET FOR ITS
OWN ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE SATISFIED THE CUSTOMER
ORDER WITHOUT IMMEDIATELY THEREAFTER EXECUTING THE
CUSTOMER ORDER UP TO THE SIZE AND AT THE SAME OR BETTER PRICE
AT WHICH IT TRADED FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO MAKE EVERY EFFORT TO CROSS A
MARKETABLE CUSTOMER ORDER WITH ANOTHER ORDER RECEIVED BY
THE FIRM ON THE OPPOSITE SIDE OF THE MARKET. FURTHERMORE, ON
OCCASIONS INVOLVING EITHER A TRADING AHEAD AND/OR CROSSING
FAILURE, THE FIRM FAILED TO EXECUTE A MARKETABLE CUSTOMER
ORDER FULLY AND PROMPTLY. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO
TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER ORDERS. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM, WHEN
PERFORMING ITS TRADING AHEAD REVIEWS IN OTC SECURITIES, FAILED
TO IDENTIFY PRICE EXCEPTIONS OF MARKET HELD ORDERS, AND
ENSURE THAT CUSTOMER ORDERS WERE EXECUTED WITHIN 60
SECONDS OF THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY TRADE AND UP TO THE LESSER
OF THE PROPRIETARY OR CUSTOMER ORDER SHARE QUANTITY. THE
FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S TRADING SUPERVISION
CHECKLIST DID NOT EVIDENCE A SUPERVISORY REVIEW RELATED TO
TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER ORDERS, AND IT ALSO FAILED TO
PROVIDE TO THE STAFF EVIDENCE OF A SUPERVISORY REVIEW RELATED
TO TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER ORDERS.

Resolution Date: 10/31/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $52,500, ORDERED TO PAY
RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $582.72 PLUS INTEREST, AND
UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES. FINE
PAID IN FULL ON FEBRUARY 4, 2017.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $52,500.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT, IN 86
INSTANCES DURING THE JULY 1, 2012 THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2014
REVIEW PERIOD, IT ACCEPTED AND HELD AN ORDER IN AN OTC EQUITY
SECURITY (LIMITED TO UNLISTED, PINK SHEET SECURITIES) FROM ITS
OWN CUSTOMER, OR A CUSTOMER OR ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER, AND
TRADED THAT SECURITY ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET FOR ITS
OWN ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE SATISFIED THE CUSTOMER
ORDER WITHOUT IMMEDIATELY THEREAFTER EXECUTING THE
CUSTOMER ORDER UP TO THE SIZE AND AT THE SAME OR BETTER PRICE
AT WHICH IT TRADED FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT.  THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT, IN 38 OF THE ABOVE 86 INSTANCES, THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO
MAKE EVERY EFFORT TO CROSS A MARKETABLE CUSTOMER ORDER WITH
ANOTHER ORDER RECEIVED BY THE FIRM ON THE OPPOSITE SIDE OF
THE MARKET.  FUTHERMORE, ON 13 OCCASIONS INVOLVING EITHER A
TRADING AHEAD AND/OR CROSSING FAILURE, THE FIRM FAILED TO
EXECUTE A MARKETABLE CUSTOMER ORDER FULLY AND PROMPTLY.  THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER
ORDERS.  SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM, WHEN PERFORMING ITS TRADING
AHEAD REVIEWS IN OTC SECURITIES, FAILED TO IDENTIFY PRICE
EXCEPTIONS OF MARKET HELD ORDERS, AND ENSURE THAT CUSTOMER
ORDERS WERE EXECUTED WITHIN 60 SECONDS OF THE FIRM'S
PROPRIETARY TRADE AND UP TO THE LESSER OF THE PROPRIETARY OR
CUSTOMER ORDER SHARE QUANTITY.  THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED
THAT THE FIRM'S TRADING SUPERVISION CHECKLIST DID NOT EVIDENCE A
SUPERVISORY REVIEW RELATED TO TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER
ORDERS, AND IT ALSO FAILED TO PROVIDE TO THE STAFF EVIDENCE OF A
SUPERVISORY REVIEW RELATED TO TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER
ORDERS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE;RESTITUTION;UNDERTAKING;OTHER;INTEREST

Date Initiated: 10/31/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2013036708101

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT, IN 86
INSTANCES DURING THE JULY 1, 2012 THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2014
REVIEW PERIOD, IT ACCEPTED AND HELD AN ORDER IN AN OTC EQUITY
SECURITY (LIMITED TO UNLISTED, PINK SHEET SECURITIES) FROM ITS
OWN CUSTOMER, OR A CUSTOMER OR ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER, AND
TRADED THAT SECURITY ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET FOR ITS
OWN ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE SATISFIED THE CUSTOMER
ORDER WITHOUT IMMEDIATELY THEREAFTER EXECUTING THE
CUSTOMER ORDER UP TO THE SIZE AND AT THE SAME OR BETTER PRICE
AT WHICH IT TRADED FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT.  THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT, IN 38 OF THE ABOVE 86 INSTANCES, THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO
MAKE EVERY EFFORT TO CROSS A MARKETABLE CUSTOMER ORDER WITH
ANOTHER ORDER RECEIVED BY THE FIRM ON THE OPPOSITE SIDE OF
THE MARKET.  FUTHERMORE, ON 13 OCCASIONS INVOLVING EITHER A
TRADING AHEAD AND/OR CROSSING FAILURE, THE FIRM FAILED TO
EXECUTE A MARKETABLE CUSTOMER ORDER FULLY AND PROMPTLY.  THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER
ORDERS.  SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM, WHEN PERFORMING ITS TRADING
AHEAD REVIEWS IN OTC SECURITIES, FAILED TO IDENTIFY PRICE
EXCEPTIONS OF MARKET HELD ORDERS, AND ENSURE THAT CUSTOMER
ORDERS WERE EXECUTED WITHIN 60 SECONDS OF THE FIRM'S
PROPRIETARY TRADE AND UP TO THE LESSER OF THE PROPRIETARY OR
CUSTOMER ORDER SHARE QUANTITY.  THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED
THAT THE FIRM'S TRADING SUPERVISION CHECKLIST DID NOT EVIDENCE A
SUPERVISORY REVIEW RELATED TO TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER
ORDERS, AND IT ALSO FAILED TO PROVIDE TO THE STAFF EVIDENCE OF A
SUPERVISORY REVIEW RELATED TO TRADING AHEAD OF CUSTOMER
ORDERS.

Resolution Date: 10/31/2016

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $52,500.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $52,500, ORDERED TO PAY
RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $582.72 PLUS INTEREST, AND
UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $52,500, ORDERED TO PAY
RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $582.72 PLUS INTEREST, AND
UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $52,500.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Disclosure 75 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (TRF) MILLIONS OF
INACCURATE TRADES IN WHICH PURCHASES WERE REPORTED AS
PRINCIPAL SALES AND AGENCY CROSSES. THE FIRM ALSO SUBMITTED
MILLIONS OF TRADES IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO SUBMIT. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM ALSO SUBMITTED MILLIONS OF INACCURATE OR
INCOMPLETE REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT
TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) INCLUDING THE SUBMISSION OF NEW ORDERS
WITH INACCURATELY PLACED CANCEL STAMPS, NEW ORDER REPORTS
FOR MODIFICATIONS OF EXISTING ORDERS, BROKER-DEALER ORDERS
REPORTED AS CUSTOMER ORDERS, INACCURATE GOOD TILL TIME (GTT)
TIME IN FORCE DESIGNATIONS, AND INTERMARKET SWEEPS ORDERS
(ISOS) WITHOUT THE REQUIRED ISO SPECIAL HANDLING CODE. THE FIRM
ALSO FAILED TO REPORT MILLIONS OF EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO CAPTURE THE
MINIMUM QUANTITY (MQT) SPECIAL HANDLING INSTRUCTIONS ON
MILLIONS OF ORDER TICKETS WHICH ARE USED FOR TRANSACTIONS
THAT SHOULD BE CANCELED IF A SPECIFIED MINIMUM QUANTITY CANNOT
BE EXECUTED. THE FIRM ALSO RECORDED INCORRECT RECEIPT AND
ROUTE TIMESTAMPS ON MILLIONS OF ORDER TICKETS. FINRA FOUND
THAT THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) WERE
NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA'S
TRADE AND OATS REPORTING RULES, CUSTOMER CONFIRMATION RULES,
AND THE BOOKS AND RECORDS REQUIREMENTS IN SEC RULE 17A-3. THE
FIRM'S WSPS REQUIRED SUPERVISION OF A NUMBER OF MODIFIERS BUT
FAILED TO CALL FOR A SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF THE .RX MODIFIER
WHICH CONCERN TRANSACTIONS REPORTED FOR REGULATORY
TRANSACTION FEES. THE FIRM'S OATS REPORTING WSPS REQUIRED THE
REVIEW OF A SMALL NUMBER OF OATS REPORTS ON A MONTHLY BASIS
TO ENSURE THE ACCURACY OF SUCH REPORTS. GIVEN THE VOLUME OF
THE FIRM'S OATS REPORTING OBLIGATIONS, THE SCOPE OF THE FIRM'S
WSPS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO CAPTURE AND IDENTIFY ANY
REPORTING PROBLEMS. THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS, CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS AND OATS WSPS REQUIRED THE REVIEW OF A SMALL
NUMBER OF BOOKS AND RECORDS AND CUSTOMER CONFIRMATIONS ON
A MONTHLY BASIS TO ENSURE THE ACCURACY OF SUCH RECORDS.
GIVEN THE VOLUME OF THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS, CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS AND OATS REPORTING OBLIGATIONS, THE SCOPE OF
THE FIRM'S WSPS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO CAPTURE AND
IDENTIFY THE ACCURACY OF SUCH RECORDS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/17/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2013035822901

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (TRF) MILLIONS OF
INACCURATE TRADES IN WHICH PURCHASES WERE REPORTED AS
PRINCIPAL SALES AND AGENCY CROSSES. THE FIRM ALSO SUBMITTED
MILLIONS OF TRADES IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO SUBMIT. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM ALSO SUBMITTED MILLIONS OF INACCURATE OR
INCOMPLETE REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT
TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) INCLUDING THE SUBMISSION OF NEW ORDERS
WITH INACCURATELY PLACED CANCEL STAMPS, NEW ORDER REPORTS
FOR MODIFICATIONS OF EXISTING ORDERS, BROKER-DEALER ORDERS
REPORTED AS CUSTOMER ORDERS, INACCURATE GOOD TILL TIME (GTT)
TIME IN FORCE DESIGNATIONS, AND INTERMARKET SWEEPS ORDERS
(ISOS) WITHOUT THE REQUIRED ISO SPECIAL HANDLING CODE. THE FIRM
ALSO FAILED TO REPORT MILLIONS OF EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO CAPTURE THE
MINIMUM QUANTITY (MQT) SPECIAL HANDLING INSTRUCTIONS ON
MILLIONS OF ORDER TICKETS WHICH ARE USED FOR TRANSACTIONS
THAT SHOULD BE CANCELED IF A SPECIFIED MINIMUM QUANTITY CANNOT
BE EXECUTED. THE FIRM ALSO RECORDED INCORRECT RECEIPT AND
ROUTE TIMESTAMPS ON MILLIONS OF ORDER TICKETS. FINRA FOUND
THAT THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) WERE
NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA'S
TRADE AND OATS REPORTING RULES, CUSTOMER CONFIRMATION RULES,
AND THE BOOKS AND RECORDS REQUIREMENTS IN SEC RULE 17A-3. THE
FIRM'S WSPS REQUIRED SUPERVISION OF A NUMBER OF MODIFIERS BUT
FAILED TO CALL FOR A SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF THE .RX MODIFIER
WHICH CONCERN TRANSACTIONS REPORTED FOR REGULATORY
TRANSACTION FEES. THE FIRM'S OATS REPORTING WSPS REQUIRED THE
REVIEW OF A SMALL NUMBER OF OATS REPORTS ON A MONTHLY BASIS
TO ENSURE THE ACCURACY OF SUCH REPORTS. GIVEN THE VOLUME OF
THE FIRM'S OATS REPORTING OBLIGATIONS, THE SCOPE OF THE FIRM'S
WSPS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO CAPTURE AND IDENTIFY ANY
REPORTING PROBLEMS. THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS, CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS AND OATS WSPS REQUIRED THE REVIEW OF A SMALL
NUMBER OF BOOKS AND RECORDS AND CUSTOMER CONFIRMATIONS ON
A MONTHLY BASIS TO ENSURE THE ACCURACY OF SUCH RECORDS.
GIVEN THE VOLUME OF THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS, CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS AND OATS REPORTING OBLIGATIONS, THE SCOPE OF
THE FIRM'S WSPS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO CAPTURE AND
IDENTIFY THE ACCURACY OF SUCH RECORDS.

Resolution Date: 10/17/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $2,800,000, AND UNDERTAKES TO
REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.FINES PAID IN FULL ON
JANUARY 4, 2017.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,800,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (TRF) MILLIONS OF
INACCURATE TRADES IN WHICH PURCHASES WERE REPORTED AS
PRINCIPAL SALES AND AGENCY CROSSES. THE FIRM ALSO SUBMITTED
MILLIONS OF TRADES IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO SUBMIT. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM ALSO SUBMITTED MILLIONS OF INACCURATE OR
INCOMPLETE REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT
TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) INCLUDING THE SUBMISSION OF NEW ORDERS
WITH INACCURATELY PLACED CANCEL STAMPS, NEW ORDER REPORTS
FOR MODIFICATIONS OF EXISTING ORDERS, BROKER-DEALER ORDERS
REPORTED AS CUSTOMER ORDERS, INACCURATE GOOD TILL TIME (GTT)
TIME IN FORCE DESIGNATIONS, AND INTERMARKET SWEEPS ORDERS
(ISOS) WITHOUT THE REQUIRED ISO SPECIAL HANDLING CODE. THE FIRM
ALSO FAILED TO REPORT MILLIONS OF EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO CAPTURE THE
MINIMUM QUANTITY (MQT) SPECIAL HANDLING INSTRUCTIONS ON
MILLIONS OF ORDER TICKETS WHICH ARE USED FOR TRANSACTIONS
THAT SHOULD BE CANCELED IF A SPECIFIED MINIMUM QUANTITY CANNOT
BE EXECUTED. THE FIRM ALSO RECORDED INCORRECT RECEIPT AND
ROUTE TIMESTAMPS ON MILLIONS OF ORDER TICKETS. IN ADDITION,
FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM INCLUDED INCORRECT INFORMATION AS TO
CANCELLED SHARES IN ITS RULE 605 REPORT.  FINRA FOUND THAT THE
FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) WERE NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA'S TRADE
AND OATS REPORTING RULES, CUSTOMER CONFIRMATION RULES, AND
THE BOOKS AND RECORDS REQUIREMENTS IN SEC RULE 17A-3. THE
FIRM'S WSPS REQUIRED SUPERVISION OF A NUMBER OF MODIFIERS BUT
FAILED TO CALL FOR A SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF THE .RX MODIFIER
WHICH CONCERN TRANSACTIONS REPORTED FOR REGULATORY
TRANSACTION FEES. THE FIRM'S OATS REPORTING WSPS REQUIRED THE
REVIEW OF A SMALL NUMBER OF OATS REPORTS ON A MONTHLY BASIS
TO ENSURE THE ACCURACY OF SUCH REPORTS. GIVEN THE VOLUME OF
THE FIRM'S OATS REPORTING OBLIGATIONS, THE SCOPE OF THE FIRM'S
WSPS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO CAPTURE AND IDENTIFY ANY
REPORTING PROBLEMS. THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS, CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS AND OATS WSPS REQUIRED THE REVIEW OF A SMALL
NUMBER OF BOOKS AND RECORDS AND CUSTOMER CONFIRMATIONS ON
A MONTHLY BASIS TO ENSURE THE ACCURACY OF SUCH RECORDS.
GIVEN THE VOLUME OF THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS, CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS AND OATS REPORTING OBLIGATIONS, THE SCOPE OF
THE FIRM'S WSPS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO CAPTURE AND
IDENTIFY THE ACCURACY OF
SUCH RECORDS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE;UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 10/17/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2013035822901

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (TRF) MILLIONS OF
INACCURATE TRADES IN WHICH PURCHASES WERE REPORTED AS
PRINCIPAL SALES AND AGENCY CROSSES. THE FIRM ALSO SUBMITTED
MILLIONS OF TRADES IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO SUBMIT. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM ALSO SUBMITTED MILLIONS OF INACCURATE OR
INCOMPLETE REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT
TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) INCLUDING THE SUBMISSION OF NEW ORDERS
WITH INACCURATELY PLACED CANCEL STAMPS, NEW ORDER REPORTS
FOR MODIFICATIONS OF EXISTING ORDERS, BROKER-DEALER ORDERS
REPORTED AS CUSTOMER ORDERS, INACCURATE GOOD TILL TIME (GTT)
TIME IN FORCE DESIGNATIONS, AND INTERMARKET SWEEPS ORDERS
(ISOS) WITHOUT THE REQUIRED ISO SPECIAL HANDLING CODE. THE FIRM
ALSO FAILED TO REPORT MILLIONS OF EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO CAPTURE THE
MINIMUM QUANTITY (MQT) SPECIAL HANDLING INSTRUCTIONS ON
MILLIONS OF ORDER TICKETS WHICH ARE USED FOR TRANSACTIONS
THAT SHOULD BE CANCELED IF A SPECIFIED MINIMUM QUANTITY CANNOT
BE EXECUTED. THE FIRM ALSO RECORDED INCORRECT RECEIPT AND
ROUTE TIMESTAMPS ON MILLIONS OF ORDER TICKETS. IN ADDITION,
FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM INCLUDED INCORRECT INFORMATION AS TO
CANCELLED SHARES IN ITS RULE 605 REPORT.  FINRA FOUND THAT THE
FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) WERE NOT
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA'S TRADE
AND OATS REPORTING RULES, CUSTOMER CONFIRMATION RULES, AND
THE BOOKS AND RECORDS REQUIREMENTS IN SEC RULE 17A-3. THE
FIRM'S WSPS REQUIRED SUPERVISION OF A NUMBER OF MODIFIERS BUT
FAILED TO CALL FOR A SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF THE .RX MODIFIER
WHICH CONCERN TRANSACTIONS REPORTED FOR REGULATORY
TRANSACTION FEES. THE FIRM'S OATS REPORTING WSPS REQUIRED THE
REVIEW OF A SMALL NUMBER OF OATS REPORTS ON A MONTHLY BASIS
TO ENSURE THE ACCURACY OF SUCH REPORTS. GIVEN THE VOLUME OF
THE FIRM'S OATS REPORTING OBLIGATIONS, THE SCOPE OF THE FIRM'S
WSPS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO CAPTURE AND IDENTIFY ANY
REPORTING PROBLEMS. THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS, CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS AND OATS WSPS REQUIRED THE REVIEW OF A SMALL
NUMBER OF BOOKS AND RECORDS AND CUSTOMER CONFIRMATIONS ON
A MONTHLY BASIS TO ENSURE THE ACCURACY OF SUCH RECORDS.
GIVEN THE VOLUME OF THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS, CUSTOMER
CONFIRMATIONS AND OATS REPORTING OBLIGATIONS, THE SCOPE OF
THE FIRM'S WSPS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO CAPTURE AND
IDENTIFY THE ACCURACY OF
SUCH RECORDS.

Resolution Date: 10/17/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $2,800,000, AND UNDERTAKES TO
REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $2,800,000, AND UNDERTAKES TO
REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,800,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 76 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS. MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Current Status: Final

251©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS. MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.
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Initiated By: BATS EDGX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2012034469304

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS. MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Resolution Date: 09/26/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $200,000.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING THE ABOVE SANCTIONS, THE EXCHANGE TOOK INTO
MAJOR ACCOUNT THE FINE IMPOSED BY THE SEC IN A PARALLEL ACTION
AGAINST THE FIRM FOR VIOLATIONS OF RULE 15C3-5, AND THE FIRM'S
RETENTION OF AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO REVIEW THE FIRM'S
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULE.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $200,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (THE "CONSENT") WITH BATS EDGX
EXCHANGE, INC. ("BATS EDGX").  THE CONSENT FINDS THAT IT VIOLATED
RULE 15C3-5 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
("EXCHANGE ACT") AND BATS EDGX RULES 3.1, 3.2, AND 5.1 BY FAILING TO
ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF RISK MANAGEMENT
CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND OTHER RISKS OF
MARKET ACCESS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BATS EDGX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 20120344693-04

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (THE "CONSENT") WITH BATS EDGX
EXCHANGE, INC. ("BATS EDGX").  THE CONSENT FINDS THAT IT VIOLATED
RULE 15C3-5 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
("EXCHANGE ACT") AND BATS EDGX RULES 3.1, 3.2, AND 5.1 BY FAILING TO
ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF RISK MANAGEMENT
CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND OTHER RISKS OF
MARKET ACCESS.

Resolution Date: 09/26/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE CONSENT CENSURES MERRILL LYNCH AND REQUIRES MERRILL
LYNCH TO PAY A FINE OF $200,000.

Firm Statement SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH ENTERED INTO THE CONSENT WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
THE FINDINGS REFERRED TO IN THE CONSENT.  THE ALLEGATIONS,
DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS OF THE CONSENT ARE
DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND 12.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $200,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 77 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: A FINRA HEARING OFFICER CONSIDERED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT ENTERED INTO BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF NYSE
REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM.
THE FIRM SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND CONSENT FOR
THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING,
WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO
IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.
THE HEARING OFFICER ACCEPTS THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT AND ISSUES THIS DECISION.

IN CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS. MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Current Status: Final
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A FINRA HEARING OFFICER CONSIDERED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT ENTERED INTO BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF NYSE
REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM.
THE FIRM SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND CONSENT FOR
THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING,
WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO
IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.
THE HEARING OFFICER ACCEPTS THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT AND ISSUES THIS DECISION.

IN CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS. MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.
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Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/28/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2012034469301

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

A FINRA HEARING OFFICER CONSIDERED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT ENTERED INTO BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF NYSE
REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM.
THE FIRM SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND CONSENT FOR
THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING,
WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO
IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.
THE HEARING OFFICER ACCEPTS THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT AND ISSUES THIS DECISION.

IN CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS. MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Resolution Date: 09/28/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $525,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

256©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $525,000.

Regulator Statement THE FIRM VIOLATED SEC RULE 15C3-5 AND NYSE ARCA EQUITIES RULES
6.18 AND 2010 BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A
SYSTEM OF RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL,
REGULATORY, AND OTHER RISKS OF MARKET ACCESS, AS DESCRIBED IN
THE DECISION.

IN DETERMINING THE SANCTIONS, THE NYSE ARCA, INC. TOOK INTO
MAJOR ACCOUNT THE SANCTIONS IMPOSED BY THE SEC IN A PARALLEL
ACTION AGAINST THE FIRM FOR VIOLATIONS OF RULE 15C3-5, AND THE
FIRM'S RETENTION OF AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO REVIEW THE
FIRM'S COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/28/2016

Docket/Case Number: 20120344693

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 28, 2016, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO AN OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT AND CONSENT (THE "CONSENT") WITH NYSE ARCA, INC.
("NYSE ARCA").  THE CONSENT FINDS THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED
RULE 15C3-5 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
("EXCHANGE ACT") AND NYSE ARCA EQUITIES RULES 2010 AND 6.18 BY
FAILING TO ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND
OTHER RISKS OF MARKET ACCESS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/28/2016

Resolution: Settled
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Resolution Date: 09/28/2016

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE CONSENT CENSURES MERRILL LYNCH AND REQUIRES MERRILL
LYNCH TO PAY A FINE OF $525,000.

Firm Statement SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH ENTERED INTO THE CONSENT WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO IN THE CONSENT.  THE
ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS OF THE
CONSENT ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND 12.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $525,000.00

Disclosure 78 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS.  MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2012034469306

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS.  MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 09/26/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $1,350,000.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING THE ABOVE SANCTIONS, THE EXCHANGE TOOK INTO
MAJOR ACCOUNT THE FINE IMPOSED BY THE SEC IN A PARALLEL ACTION
AGAINST THE FIRM FOR VIOLATIONS OF RULE 15C3-5, AND THE FIRM'S
RETENTION OF AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO REVIEW THE FIRM'S
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULE.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,350,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Date Initiated: 09/29/2016

Docket/Case Number: 20120344693-06

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (THE "CONSENT")  WITH THE
NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC ("NASDAQ"). THE CONSENT FINDS THAT
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5 UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND NASDAQ RULES 3010,
2010A (FOR CONDUCT ON OR AFTER NOV. 21, 2012) AND 2110 (FOR
CONDUCT PRIOR TO NOV. 21, 2012), AND 4611(D) BY FAILING TO
ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF RISK MANAGEMENT
CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND OTHER RISKS OF
MARKET ACCESS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 09/29/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE CONSENT CENSURES MERRILL LYNCH AND REQUIRES MERRILL
LYNCH TO PAY A FINE OF $1,350,000.

Firm Statement SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH ENTERED INTO THE CONSENT WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
THE FINDINGS REFERRED TO IN THE CONSENT.  THE ALLEGATIONS,
DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS OF THE CONSENT ARE
DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND 12.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,350,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 79 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS. MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY A
COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL
CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS. MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT
THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY
LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2012034469305

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 10/07/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $525,000. PURSUANT TO NYSE
RULE 9310(A)(1)(B), THIS AWC HAS BEEN SENT TO EACH NYSE DIRECTOR
AND EACH MEMBER OF THE COMMITTEE FOR REVIEW, AND THUS THE
AWC SHALL BE DEEMED FINAL AND SHALL CONSTITUTE THE COMPLAINT,
ANSWER, AND DECISION IN THE MATTER ON OCTOBER 7, 2016 UNLESS
REVIEW BY THE NYSE EXCHANGE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS REQUESTED.
SINCE NO REVIEW WAS REQUESTED, THE AWC BECAME FINAL ON
OCTOBER 7, 2016.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING THE ABOVE SANCTIONS, THE EXCHANGE TOOK INTO
MAJOR ACCOUNT THE FINE IMPOSED BY THE SEC IN A PARALLEL ACTION
AGAINST THE FIRM FOR VIOLATIONS OF RULE 15C3-5, AND THE FIRM'S
RETENTION OF AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO REVIEW THE FIRM'S
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULE.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $525,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (THE "CONSENT") WITH THE NEW
YORK STOCK EXCHANGE LLC ("NYSE").  THE CONSENT FINDS THAT
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5 UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND NYSE RULES 342 AND
2010 BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF
RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND
OTHER RISKS OF MARKET ACCESS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 20120344693-05

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (THE "CONSENT") WITH THE NEW
YORK STOCK EXCHANGE LLC ("NYSE").  THE CONSENT FINDS THAT
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5 UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND NYSE RULES 342 AND
2010 BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF
RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND
OTHER RISKS OF MARKET ACCESS.

Resolution Date: 09/26/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE CONSENT CENSURES MERRILL LYNCH AND REQUIRES MERRILL
LYNCH TO PAY A FINE OF $525,000.

Firm Statement SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH ENTERED INTO THE CONSENT WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO IN THE CONSENT.  THE
ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS OF THE
CONSENT ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND 12.  PURSUANT TO
NYSE RULES, THE CONSENT SHALL BE DEEMED FINAL ON OCTOBER 7,
2016, UNLESS REVIEW BY THE NYSE EXCHANGE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS
REQUESTED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $525,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 80 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY
THE NOVEMBER 30, 2011 COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY
AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS.
MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED
BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BATS BYX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2012034469303

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY
THE NOVEMBER 30, 2011 COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY
AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS.
MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED
BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Resolution Date: 10/25/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $100,000.
PURSUANT TO BYX RULE 8.8, THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER IS FINAL 20
BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION. THEREFORE,
THIS AWC BECAME FINAL OCTOBER 25, 2016.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

266©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $100,000.
PURSUANT TO BYX RULE 8.8, THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER IS FINAL 20
BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION. THEREFORE,
THIS AWC BECAME FINAL OCTOBER 25, 2016.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING THE ABOVE SANCTIONS, THE EXCHANGE TOOK INTO
MAJOR ACCOUNT THE FINE IMPOSED BY THE SEC IN A PARALLEL ACTION
AGAINST THE FIRM FOR VIOLATIONS OF RULE 15C3-5, AND THE FIRM'S
RETENTION OF AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO REVIEW THE FIRM'S
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: BATS BYX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/29/2016

Docket/Case Number: 20120344693-03

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (THE "CONSENT") WITH BATS BYX
EXCHANGE, INC. ("BATS BYX").  THE CONSENT FINDS THAT MERRILL
LYNCH VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND BATS BYX RULES 3.1, 3.2, AND 5.1 BY
FAILING TO ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND
OTHER RISKS OF MARKET ACCESS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/25/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE CONSENT CENSURES MERRILL LYNCH AND REQUIRES MERRILL
LYNCH TO PAY A FINE OF $100,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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THE CONSENT CENSURES MERRILL LYNCH AND REQUIRES MERRILL
LYNCH TO PAY A FINE OF $100,000.

Firm Statement SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH ENTERED INTO THE CONSENT WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
THE FINDINGS REFERRED TO IN THE CONSENT.  THE ALLEGATIONS,
DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS OF THE CONSENT ARE
DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND 12.  PURSUANT TO BATS BYX RULES,
THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER IS FINAL 20 BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE
ISSUANCE OF THE CONSENT.  THIS AWC BECAME FINAL OCTOBER 25,
2016.

Disclosure 81 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY
THE NOVEMBER 30, 2011 COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY
AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS.
MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED
BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BATS BZX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2012034469302

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE TO
APPLICABLE SEC RULE AND SUPERVISION RULE OF THE RELEVANT
EXCHANGE, FINRA FOUND THAT CERTAIN OF THE WRITTEN
DESCRIPTIONS MAINTAINED BY THE FIRM THAT DESCRIBED THE FIRM'S
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS DURING THE PERIOD REVIEWED WERE
INCOMPLETE AND/OR INACCURATE. THE WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
PROVIDED BY THE FIRM FOR FIVE DATES SELECTED BY FINRA DURING
THE PERIOD FOR ITS ELECTRONIC TRADING SERVICES ("ETS"), CASH,
GLOBAL EQUITY LINKED PRODUCTS ("GELP"), AND RETAIL DESKS DID NOT
INCLUDE A COMPLETE AND/OR ACCURATE DESCRIPTION OF: (I) THE
TYPES OF ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS THAT WERE IN PLACE AT THE
TIME, (II) THE VALUE OR VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH SUCH
CONTROL, AND/OR (III) THE ORDER FLOW TO WHICH EACH SUCH
CONTROL APPLIED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5(B) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
THE SINGLE ORDER QUANTITY ("SOQ") LIMITS AND THE SINGLE ORDER
NOTIONAL VALUE ("SOV") LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS WERE SET AT LEVELS TOO HIGH TO BE REASONABLY
EXPECTED TO PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS IN PLACE TO SUPPLEMENT THE SOQ
AND SOV LIMITS ESTABLISHED BY THOSE DESKS. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM HAD DETERMINED TO IMPLEMENT A
CONTROL DESIGNED TO REJECT ORDERS WHOSE PRICE WAS NOT
REASONABLY RELATED TO THE QUOTED PRICE OF THE SECURITY TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15C3-5, CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S
TRADING DESKS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT SUCH A CONTROL BY THE
COMPLIANCE DATE. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM'S
CONTROLS FOR MANAGING THE RISK OF UNINTENDED OR INADVERTENT
ORDERS RESULTING FROM MALFUNCTIONING SOFTWARE PROGRAMS OR
SYSTEMS WERE TOO NARROW TO BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
MANAGE SUCH RISK. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF ENSURING THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE. ALTHOUGH THE
FIRM PERIODICALLY REVIEWED WHETHER ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER
CONTROLS WERE SUFFICIENT TO PREVENT FRANCHISE LEVEL RISK TO
THE FIRM, THE FIRM DID NOT REGULARLY REVIEW ITS ERRONEOUS
ORDER CONTROLS TO ENSURE THAT THEY WERE EFFECTIVE IN
PREVENTING ERRONEOUS ORDERS. NOTWITHSTANDING THE MULTIPLE
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS FILINGS AND SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATIONS
INQUIRIES, "RED FLAGS" INDICATING THE POTENTIAL FOR WEAKNESSES
IN THE FIRM'S ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS, THE FIRM DID NOT
REVIEW THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS
UNTIL A MARKET EVENT CONCERNING ORDER TO SELL A CORPORATION'S
SHARES, WHEN REGULATORS CONTACTED THE FIRM, AND EXPRESSED
THEIR CONCERNS ABOUT THE ADEQUACY OF THE FIRM'S RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT WASH SALES IN THAT THE FIRM'S
EXCEPTION REPORT FOR CERTAIN DIRECT MARKET ACCESS CLIENTS DID
NOT INCLUDE CERTAIN POTENTIAL WASH SALES TRANSACTIONS FOR
REVIEW. IN ADDITION, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A CAPITAL THRESHOLD FOR TWO OF ITS TRADING DESKS BY
THE NOVEMBER 30, 2011 COMPLIANCE DATE, AND FAILED TO FULLY
AUTOMATE THE CAPITAL CONTROL FOR ONE OF THOSE DESKS.
MOREOVER, FINRA FOUND THAT THE CREDIT THRESHOLD ESTABLISHED
BY THE FIRM FOR CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS WAS NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SYSTEMATICALLY LIMIT THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL EXPOSURE.

Resolution Date: 10/25/2016

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $300,000.
PURSUANT TO BZX RULE 8.8, THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER IS FINAL 20
BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION. THEREFORE,
THIS AWC BECAME FINAL OCTOBER 25, 2016.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING THE ABOVE SANCTIONS, THE EXCHANGE TOOK INTO
MAJOR ACCOUNT THE FINE IMPOSED BY THE SEC IN A PARALLEL ACTION
AGAINST THE FIRM FOR VIOLATIONS OF RULE 15C3-5, AND THE FIRM'S
RETENTION OF AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO REVIEW THE FIRM'S
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULE.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: BATS BZX EXCHANGE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 20120344693-02

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (THE "CONSENT") WITH BATS BZX
EXCHANGE, INC. ("BATS BZX"). THE CONSENT FINDS THAT MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED RULE 15C3-5 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
("EXCHANGE ACT") AND BATS BZX RULES 3.1, 3.2, AND 5.1 BY FAILING TO
ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF RISK MANAGEMENT
CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND OTHER RISKS OF
MARKET ACCESS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 10/25/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE CONSENT CENSURES MERRILL LYNCH AND REQUIRES MERRILL
LYNCH TO PAY A FINE OF $300,000.

Firm Statement SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH ENTERED INTO THE CONSENT WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
THE FINDINGS REFERRED TO IN THE CONSENT.  THE ALLEGATIONS,
DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS OF THE CONSENT ARE
DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND 12.  PURSUANT TO BATS BZX RULES,
THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER IS FINAL 20 BUSINESS DAYS AFTER THE
ISSUANCE OF THE CONSENT.  THIS AWC BECAME FINAL OCTOBER 25,
2016.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 82 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-78929, IA RELEASE 40-4536, SEPTEMBER 26, 2016:
THE SEC DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED. IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE
PROCEEDINGS, RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT, WHICH THE SEC HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY
FOR THE PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER
PROCEEDINGS BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE SEC, OR TO WHICH THE SEC IS
A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS HEREIN,
EXCEPT AS TO THE SEC'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT
MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED, RESPONDENT
CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, MAKING FINDINGS,
AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER.
ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE SEC
FINDS THAT THIS MATTER CONCERNS VIOLATIONS BY THE FIRM OF
SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND EXCHANGE ACT RULE
15C3-5. FROM JULY 14, 2011 THROUGH DECEMBER 2014, THE FIRM
VIOLATED THE RULE BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND
MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS AND
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MANAGE THE
FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND OTHER RISKS OF ITS MARKET ACCESS
ACTIVITY. IN PARTICULAR, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH PRE-TRADE
RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT
THE ENTRY OF ERRONEOUS ORDERS, TO ESTABLISH PRE-TRADE RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE
ENTRY OF ORDERS THAT WOULD EXCEED PRE-SET CREDIT OR CAPITAL
LIMITS FOR SEVERAL OF ITS TRADING DESKS, TO ESTABLISH REQUIRED
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES FOR FIXED INCOME SECURITIES, TO
REVIEW ADEQUATELY THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS RISK MANAGEMENT
CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRED BY THE RULE,
PARTICULARLY FOR PREVENTING THE ENTRY OF ERRONEOUS ORDERS,
AND TO COMPLY WITH THE RULE'S CEO CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS.
THE FIRM'S RULE 15C3-5 ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR MOST OF
ITS ORDER FLOW CONSISTED PRIMARILY OF SINGLE ORDER MAXIMUM
SHARE QUANTITY AND MAXIMUM NOTIONAL VALUE CONTROLS, WHICH
PREVENTED ORDERS THAT EXCEEDED SPECIFIC LIMITS FROM ENTERING
THE MARKET. BUT BECAUSE THE THRESHOLDS WERE SET AT SUCH HIGH
LEVELS, THE CONTROLS WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS FROM ENTERING THE MARKET, AND IT
LACKED OTHER CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT
ERRONEOUS ORDERS. THE GAPS IN THE FIRM'S RULE 15C3-5
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS ALLOWED NUMEROUS ERRONEOUS
ORDERS TO ENTER THE MARKETPLACE AFTER JULY 2011, HARMING THE
INTEGRITY OF TRADING ON THE SECURITIES MARKETS. A NUMBER OF
ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT IT SENT TO THE MARKET CAUSED ABRUPT
INCREASES AND DECREASES IN THE PRICES OF STOCKS AND EXCHANGE-
TRADED FUNDS -- USUALLY WITHIN SECONDS OF THE EXECUTIONS OF
THE ORDERS. CERTAIN ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT IT SENT TO THE
MARKETPLACE RESULTED IN SHORT-TERM PRICE SWINGS OF 10% OR
MORE IN THE AFFECTED SECURITIES WITHIN SECONDS OF THE
EXECUTIONS OF THE ORDERS, INCLUDING TWO INSTANCES IN WHICH ITS
ERRONEOUS ORDERS DROVE STOCK PRICES DOWN BY APPROXIMATELY
99% WITHIN TWO SECONDS OF THE ORDERS. SUDDEN STOCK PRICE
MOVEMENTS SUCH AS THOSE CAUSED BY ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT
THE FIRM SENT TO THE MARKET ARE COMMONLY REFERRED TO "MINI-
FLASH CRASHES," AND SUCH EVENTS UNDERMINE INVESTOR
CONFIDENCE IN THE MARKETS. THE TRADING ABERRATIONS CAUSED BY
ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT IT SENT TO THE MARKET SHOULD HAVE
ALERTED THE FIRM THAT ITS FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE ENTRY OF
ERRONEOUS ORDERS AND CAUSED IT TO TAKE TIMELY REMEDIAL
ACTION. BASED ON THIS CONDUCT, THE SEC FINDS THAT THE FIRM
WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE
15C3-5(B), (C)(1)(I), (C)(1)(II), AND (E) THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final
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SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-78929, IA RELEASE 40-4536, SEPTEMBER 26, 2016:
THE SEC DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED. IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE
PROCEEDINGS, RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT, WHICH THE SEC HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY
FOR THE PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER
PROCEEDINGS BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE SEC, OR TO WHICH THE SEC IS
A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS HEREIN,
EXCEPT AS TO THE SEC'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT
MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED, RESPONDENT
CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, MAKING FINDINGS,
AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER.
ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE SEC
FINDS THAT THIS MATTER CONCERNS VIOLATIONS BY THE FIRM OF
SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND EXCHANGE ACT RULE
15C3-5. FROM JULY 14, 2011 THROUGH DECEMBER 2014, THE FIRM
VIOLATED THE RULE BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND
MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS AND
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MANAGE THE
FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND OTHER RISKS OF ITS MARKET ACCESS
ACTIVITY. IN PARTICULAR, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH PRE-TRADE
RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT
THE ENTRY OF ERRONEOUS ORDERS, TO ESTABLISH PRE-TRADE RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE
ENTRY OF ORDERS THAT WOULD EXCEED PRE-SET CREDIT OR CAPITAL
LIMITS FOR SEVERAL OF ITS TRADING DESKS, TO ESTABLISH REQUIRED
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES FOR FIXED INCOME SECURITIES, TO
REVIEW ADEQUATELY THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS RISK MANAGEMENT
CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRED BY THE RULE,
PARTICULARLY FOR PREVENTING THE ENTRY OF ERRONEOUS ORDERS,
AND TO COMPLY WITH THE RULE'S CEO CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS.
THE FIRM'S RULE 15C3-5 ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR MOST OF
ITS ORDER FLOW CONSISTED PRIMARILY OF SINGLE ORDER MAXIMUM
SHARE QUANTITY AND MAXIMUM NOTIONAL VALUE CONTROLS, WHICH
PREVENTED ORDERS THAT EXCEEDED SPECIFIC LIMITS FROM ENTERING
THE MARKET. BUT BECAUSE THE THRESHOLDS WERE SET AT SUCH HIGH
LEVELS, THE CONTROLS WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS FROM ENTERING THE MARKET, AND IT
LACKED OTHER CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT
ERRONEOUS ORDERS. THE GAPS IN THE FIRM'S RULE 15C3-5
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS ALLOWED NUMEROUS ERRONEOUS
ORDERS TO ENTER THE MARKETPLACE AFTER JULY 2011, HARMING THE
INTEGRITY OF TRADING ON THE SECURITIES MARKETS. A NUMBER OF
ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT IT SENT TO THE MARKET CAUSED ABRUPT
INCREASES AND DECREASES IN THE PRICES OF STOCKS AND EXCHANGE-
TRADED FUNDS -- USUALLY WITHIN SECONDS OF THE EXECUTIONS OF
THE ORDERS. CERTAIN ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT IT SENT TO THE
MARKETPLACE RESULTED IN SHORT-TERM PRICE SWINGS OF 10% OR
MORE IN THE AFFECTED SECURITIES WITHIN SECONDS OF THE
EXECUTIONS OF THE ORDERS, INCLUDING TWO INSTANCES IN WHICH ITS
ERRONEOUS ORDERS DROVE STOCK PRICES DOWN BY APPROXIMATELY
99% WITHIN TWO SECONDS OF THE ORDERS. SUDDEN STOCK PRICE
MOVEMENTS SUCH AS THOSE CAUSED BY ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT
THE FIRM SENT TO THE MARKET ARE COMMONLY REFERRED TO "MINI-
FLASH CRASHES," AND SUCH EVENTS UNDERMINE INVESTOR
CONFIDENCE IN THE MARKETS. THE TRADING ABERRATIONS CAUSED BY
ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT IT SENT TO THE MARKET SHOULD HAVE
ALERTED THE FIRM THAT ITS FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE ENTRY OF
ERRONEOUS ORDERS AND CAUSED IT TO TAKE TIMELY REMEDIAL
ACTION. BASED ON THIS CONDUCT, THE SEC FINDS THAT THE FIRM
WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE
15C3-5(B), (C)(1)(I), (C)(1)(II), AND (E) THEREUNDER.
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 3-17573

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-78929, IA RELEASE 40-4536, SEPTEMBER 26, 2016:
THE SEC DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED. IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE
PROCEEDINGS, RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT, WHICH THE SEC HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY
FOR THE PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER
PROCEEDINGS BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE SEC, OR TO WHICH THE SEC IS
A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS HEREIN,
EXCEPT AS TO THE SEC'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT
MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED, RESPONDENT
CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SECTION
203(E) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, MAKING FINDINGS,
AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER.
ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE SEC
FINDS THAT THIS MATTER CONCERNS VIOLATIONS BY THE FIRM OF
SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND EXCHANGE ACT RULE
15C3-5. FROM JULY 14, 2011 THROUGH DECEMBER 2014, THE FIRM
VIOLATED THE RULE BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND
MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS AND
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MANAGE THE
FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND OTHER RISKS OF ITS MARKET ACCESS
ACTIVITY. IN PARTICULAR, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH PRE-TRADE
RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT
THE ENTRY OF ERRONEOUS ORDERS, TO ESTABLISH PRE-TRADE RISK
MANAGEMENT CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE
ENTRY OF ORDERS THAT WOULD EXCEED PRE-SET CREDIT OR CAPITAL
LIMITS FOR SEVERAL OF ITS TRADING DESKS, TO ESTABLISH REQUIRED
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES FOR FIXED INCOME SECURITIES, TO
REVIEW ADEQUATELY THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS RISK MANAGEMENT
CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRED BY THE RULE,
PARTICULARLY FOR PREVENTING THE ENTRY OF ERRONEOUS ORDERS,
AND TO COMPLY WITH THE RULE'S CEO CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS.
THE FIRM'S RULE 15C3-5 ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS FOR MOST OF
ITS ORDER FLOW CONSISTED PRIMARILY OF SINGLE ORDER MAXIMUM
SHARE QUANTITY AND MAXIMUM NOTIONAL VALUE CONTROLS, WHICH
PREVENTED ORDERS THAT EXCEEDED SPECIFIC LIMITS FROM ENTERING
THE MARKET. BUT BECAUSE THE THRESHOLDS WERE SET AT SUCH HIGH
LEVELS, THE CONTROLS WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
PREVENT ERRONEOUS ORDERS FROM ENTERING THE MARKET, AND IT
LACKED OTHER CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT
ERRONEOUS ORDERS. THE GAPS IN THE FIRM'S RULE 15C3-5
ERRONEOUS ORDER CONTROLS ALLOWED NUMEROUS ERRONEOUS
ORDERS TO ENTER THE MARKETPLACE AFTER JULY 2011, HARMING THE
INTEGRITY OF TRADING ON THE SECURITIES MARKETS. A NUMBER OF
ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT IT SENT TO THE MARKET CAUSED ABRUPT
INCREASES AND DECREASES IN THE PRICES OF STOCKS AND EXCHANGE-
TRADED FUNDS -- USUALLY WITHIN SECONDS OF THE EXECUTIONS OF
THE ORDERS. CERTAIN ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT IT SENT TO THE
MARKETPLACE RESULTED IN SHORT-TERM PRICE SWINGS OF 10% OR
MORE IN THE AFFECTED SECURITIES WITHIN SECONDS OF THE
EXECUTIONS OF THE ORDERS, INCLUDING TWO INSTANCES IN WHICH ITS
ERRONEOUS ORDERS DROVE STOCK PRICES DOWN BY APPROXIMATELY
99% WITHIN TWO SECONDS OF THE ORDERS. SUDDEN STOCK PRICE
MOVEMENTS SUCH AS THOSE CAUSED BY ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT
THE FIRM SENT TO THE MARKET ARE COMMONLY REFERRED TO "MINI-
FLASH CRASHES," AND SUCH EVENTS UNDERMINE INVESTOR
CONFIDENCE IN THE MARKETS. THE TRADING ABERRATIONS CAUSED BY
ERRONEOUS ORDERS THAT IT SENT TO THE MARKET SHOULD HAVE
ALERTED THE FIRM THAT ITS FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE ENTRY OF
ERRONEOUS ORDERS AND CAUSED IT TO TAKE TIMELY REMEDIAL
ACTION. BASED ON THIS CONDUCT, THE SEC FINDS THAT THE FIRM
WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE
15C3-5(B), (C)(1)(I), (C)(1)(II), AND (E) THEREUNDER.

Resolution Date: 09/26/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM SHALL CEASE AND DESIST; IS CENSURED;  AND  SHALL PAY A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $12,500,000 TO THE SEC.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT THE OFFER, THE SEC CONSIDERED
REMEDIAL ACTS UNDERTAKEN BY MERRILL LYNCH.
IN VIEW OF THE FOREGOING, THE SEC DEEMS IT NECESSARY AND
APPROPRIATE IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST, AND FOR THE PROTECTION OF
INVESTORS, TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN RESPONDENT'S
OFFER.  ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT
MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C3-5 THEREUNDER; IS CENSURED;  AND
SHALL, WITHIN TEN DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $12,500,000 TO THE SEC.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT THE OFFER, THE SEC CONSIDERED
REMEDIAL ACTS UNDERTAKEN BY MERRILL LYNCH.
IN VIEW OF THE FOREGOING, THE SEC DEEMS IT NECESSARY AND
APPROPRIATE IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST, AND FOR THE PROTECTION OF
INVESTORS, TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN RESPONDENT'S
OFFER.  ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT
MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C3-5 THEREUNDER; IS CENSURED;  AND
SHALL, WITHIN TEN DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $12,500,000 TO THE SEC.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 3-17573

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 26, 2016, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("SEC") RESULTING IN THE
SEC ISSUING AN ORDER.  MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF
THE ORDER (THE "ORDER") THAT FINDS THAT IT VIOLATED SECTION
15(C)(3) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AND RULE 15C3-5 THEREUNDER (THE "MARKET ACCESS RULE").  THE
ORDER FINDS THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED THE MARKET ACCESS
RULE BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH, DOCUMENT, AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF
RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MANAGE THE FINANCIAL, REGULATORY, AND
OTHER RISKS OF ITS MARKET ACCESS ACTIVITY.  IN PARTICULAR,
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ESTABLISH PRE-TRADE RISK MANAGEMENT
CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE ENTRY OF
ERRONEOUS ORDERS, TO ESTABLISH PRE-TRADE RISK MANAGEMENT
CONTROLS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE ENTRY OF
ORDERS THAT WOULD EXCEED PRE-SET CREDIT OR CAPITAL LIMITS FOR
SEVERAL OF ITS TRADING DESKS, TO ESTABLISH REQUIRED CONTROLS
AND PROCEDURES FOR FIXED INCOME SECURITIES, TO REVIEW
ADEQUATELY THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROLS
AND SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRED BY THE MARKET ACCESS
RULE, PARTICULARLY FOR PREVENTING THE ENTRY OF ERRONEOUS
ORDERS, AND TO COMPLY WITH THE RULE'S CEO CERTIFICATION
REQUIREMENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/26/2016

Resolution: Settled
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Resolution Date: 09/26/2016

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE ORDER CENSURES MERRILL LYNCH AND DIRECTS IT TO CEASE-AND-
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 15(C)(3) AND RULE
15C3-5 THEREUNDER. ADDITIONALLY, THE ORDER REQUIRES MERRILL
LYNCH TO PAY A $12,500,000 CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, WHICH WAS PAID ON
OCTOBER 3, 2016.

Firm Statement SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
THE FINDINGS IN THE ORDER, EXCEPT AS TO THE SEC'S JURISDICTION
OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER.  THE ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITIONS,
FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS OF THE ORDER ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN
ITEMS 7 AND 12.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 83 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 09/20/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2011028816701

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN CUSTOMER
TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON THE FIRM'S ALTERNATIVE TRADING
SYSTEM, IT FAILED TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE
BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH
MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO THE CUSTOMER WAS AS
FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS. THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, AND FINRA RULES, CONCERNING BEST EXECUTION.
SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM, WHEN PERFORMING ITS BEST EXECUTION
REVIEWS FOR TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS ALTERNATIVE TRADING
SYSTEM, FAILED TO USE AN INDEPENDENT DATA SOURCE TO EVALUATE
EXECUTIONS OR TO REVIEW THE MARKET DATA USED BY THE
ALTERNATIVE TRADING SYSTEM FOR ORDER HANDLING AND EXECUTION.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: 2011028816701

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 09/20/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $50,000, AND UNDERTAKES TO SUBMIT
TO FINRA, NO LATER THAN 30 DAYS AFTER THE AWC BECOMES FINAL, A
SIGNED, DATED LETTER OR E-MAIL OF THE REGISTERED PRINCIPAL
ACKNOWLEDGING THAT THE FIRM REVISED ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES (WSPS) TO ADDRESS THE DEFICIENCIES DESCRIBED IN
THE AWC, AND THE DATE THE REVISED PROCEDURES WERE
IMPLEMENTED.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON OCTOBER 17, 2016.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN CUSTOMER
TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON THE FIRM'S ALTERNATIVE TRADING
SYSTEM, IT FAILED TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE
BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH
MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO THE CUSTOMER WAS AS
FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS.  THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, AND FINRA RULES, CONCERNING BEST EXECUTION.
SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM, WHEN PERFORMING ITS BEST EXECUTION
REVIEWS FOR TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS ALTERNATIVE TRADING
SYSTEM, FAILED TO USE AN INDEPENDENT DATA SOURCE TO EVALUATE
EXECUTIONS OR TO REVIEW THE MARKET DATA USED BY THE
ALTERNATIVE TRADING SYSTEM FOR ORDER HANDLING AND EXECUTION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/20/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2011028816701

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN CUSTOMER
TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON THE FIRM'S ALTERNATIVE TRADING
SYSTEM, IT FAILED TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE
BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH
MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO THE CUSTOMER WAS AS
FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS.  THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, AND FINRA RULES, CONCERNING BEST EXECUTION.
SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM, WHEN PERFORMING ITS BEST EXECUTION
REVIEWS FOR TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS ALTERNATIVE TRADING
SYSTEM, FAILED TO USE AN INDEPENDENT DATA SOURCE TO EVALUATE
EXECUTIONS OR TO REVIEW THE MARKET DATA USED BY THE
ALTERNATIVE TRADING SYSTEM FOR ORDER HANDLING AND EXECUTION.

Resolution Date: 09/20/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $50,000, AND UNDERTAKES TO SUBMIT
TO FINRA, NO LATER THAN 30 DAYS AFTER THE AWC BECOMES FINAL, A
SIGNED, DATED LETTER OR E-MAIL OF THE REGISTERED PRINCIPAL
ACKNOWLEDGING THAT THE FIRM REVISED ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES (WSPS) TO ADDRESS THE DEFICIENCIES DESCRIBED IN
THE AWC, AND THE DATE THE REVISED PROCEDURES WERE
IMPLEMENTED.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $50,000, AND UNDERTAKES TO SUBMIT
TO FINRA, NO LATER THAN 30 DAYS AFTER THE AWC BECOMES FINAL, A
SIGNED, DATED LETTER OR E-MAIL OF THE REGISTERED PRINCIPAL
ACKNOWLEDGING THAT THE FIRM REVISED ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES (WSPS) TO ADDRESS THE DEFICIENCIES DESCRIBED IN
THE AWC, AND THE DATE THE REVISED PROCEDURES WERE
IMPLEMENTED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 84 of 595

i

277©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Disclosure 84 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/07/2016

Docket/Case Number: 16-0021/ 20150459492

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPFS"), AN
EXCHANGE TPH ORGANIZATION, WAS CENSURED AND FINED $35,000 FOR:
(I) IMPROPERLY MARKING NUMEROUS ORDERS AS SSE WHEN THE
SUBJECT ORDERS DID NOT SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS OF
REGULATION SHO RULE 201; (II) FAILING TO HAVE ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO IDENTIFY SSE ORDERS
THAT WERE NOT ELIGIBLE FOR SUCH MARKING AND FAILING TO
REGULARLY SURVEIL TO ASCERTAIN THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REQUIRED BY REGULATION SHO RULE 201
AND TAKE PROMPT ACTION TO REMEDY DEFICIENCIES IN SUCH POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES; AND (III) FAILING TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE TO
ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULES 200 AND 201
OF REGULATION SHO PERTAINING TO THE ACCURATE MARKING OF SALE
ORDERS.  (EXCHANGE RULE 4.2 - ADHERENCE TO LAW; SECTION 17(A) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED (THE "EXCHANGE
ACT") AND RULE 17A-3 - RECORDS TO BE MADE BY CERTAIN EXCHANGE
MEMBERS, BROKERS AND DEALERS THEREUNDER; AND REGULATION
SHO RULES 200 - DEFINITION OF "SHORT SALE" AND MARKING
REQUIREMENTS AND 201 - CIRCUIT BREAKER, PROMULGATED UNDER THE
EXCHANGE ACT)

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/08/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A $35,000 FINE AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $35,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Sanction Details: A $35,000 FINE AND A CENSURE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/07/2016

Docket/Case Number: 16-0021/ 20150459492

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE OF THE CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS
EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED ("CBOE") ALLEGED THAT, FROM IN OR ABOUT
MARCH 2012 THROUGH IN OR ABOUT MARCH 2013, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") (1)
MISMARKED NUMEROUS ORDERS AS SHORT EXEMPT WHEN THE
SUBJECT ORDERS DID NOT SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS OF
REGULATION SHO RULE 201 IN VIOLATION OF CBOE RULE 4.2, SECTION
17(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AND RULE 17A-3 THEREUNDER, AND REGULATION SHO RULES 200 AND
201, (2) FAILED TO HAVE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES TO IDENTIFY SHORT EXEMPT ORDERS THAT WERE NOT
ELIGIBLE FOR SUCH MARKING AND FAILED TO REGULARLY SURVEIL TO
ASCERTAIN THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
REQUIRED BY REGULATION SHO RULE 201 AND TAKE PROMPT ACTION TO
REMEDY DEFICIENCIES IN SUCH POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN
VIOLATION OF CBOE RULE 4.2 AND REGULATION SHO RULE 201, AND (3)
FAILED TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
REQUIREMENTS OF RULES 200 AND 201 OF REGULATION SHO PERTAINING
TO THE ACCURATE MARKING OF SALE ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF CBOE
RULE 4.2.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/08/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $35,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IN THE
STATEMENT OF CHARGES, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A $35,000 FINE
AND A CENSURE.  THE FINE WAS PAID ON JANUARY 4, 2017.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IN THE
STATEMENT OF CHARGES, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A $35,000 FINE
AND A CENSURE.  THE FINE WAS PAID ON JANUARY 4, 2017.

Disclosure 85 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2014042962101

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT MADE
PUBLICLY AVAILABLE A REPORT ON ITS ROUTING OF NON-DIRECTED
ORDERS IN COVERED SECURITIES DURING THE TIME PERIOD EXAMINED.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE REPORTS INCLUDED INCOMPLETE
INFORMATION AS TO THE IDENTITY OF THE VENUES TO WHICH THE
LARGEST NUMBER OF TOTAL NON-DIRECTED ORDERS WERE ROUTED
FOR EXECUTION AND OTHER VENUES TO WHICH FIVE PERCENT OR MORE
OF NON-DIRECTED ORDERS WERE ROUTED FOR EXECUTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/26/2016

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000. FINE PAID IN FULL ON
SEPTEMBER 16, 2016.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2014042962101

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT MADE
PUBLICLY AVAILABLE A REPORT ON ITS ROUTING OF NON-DIRECTED
ORDERS IN COVERED SECURITIES DURING THE TIME PERIOD EXAMINED.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THESE REPORTS INCLUDED INCOMPLETE
INFORMATION AS TO THE IDENTITY OF THE VENUES TO WHICH THE
LARGEST NUMBER OF TOTAL NON-DIRECTED ORDERS WERE ROUTED
FOR EXECUTION AND OTHER VENUES TO WHICH FIVE PERCENT OR MORE
OF NON-DIRECTED ORDERS WERE ROUTED FOR EXECUTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/26/2016

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000.

Disclosure 86 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/08/2016

Docket/Case Number: 15-0091/ 20150466165

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, AN
EXCHANGE TPH ORGANIZATION, WAS CENSURED AND FINED $33,000 FOR:
(I) FAILING TO REGISTER THIRTEEN (13) ASSOCIATED PERSONS  AS A
PROPRIETARY TRADER (PT) WITH THE EXCHANGE IN WEBCRD; (II) FAILING
TO REGISTER ONE (1) ASSOCIATED PERSON AS A PROPRIETARY TRADER
PRINCIPAL (TP) WITH THE EXCHANGE IN WEBCRD BY NOVEMBER 5, 2011;
AND (III) FAILING TO REGISTER ITS CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER AS A
PROPRIETARY TRADER COMPLIANCE OFFICER (CT) WITH THE EXCHANGE
IN WEBCRD..  (EXCHANGE RULE 3.6A - QUALIFICATION AND REGISTRATION
OF TRADING PERMIT HOLDERS AND ASSOCIATED PERSONS)

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/02/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A $33,000 FINE AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $33,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source:
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 06/02/2016

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 15-0091

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED (CBOE)
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO REGISTER CERTAIN ASSOCIATED
PERSONS AS PROPRIETARY TRADERS WITH CBOE, FAILED TO REGISTER
AN ASSOCIATED PERSON AS A PROPRIETARY TRADER PRINCIPAL WITH
CBOE AND FAILED TO REGISTER ITS CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER AS A
PROPRIETARY TRADER COMPLIANCE OFFICER WITH CBOE IN VIOLATION
OF CBOE RULE 3.6A.  THE FIRM SUBMITTED A LETTER OF CONSENT,
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF CBOE RULES
WAS COMMITTED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/02/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF THE CBOE
RULES WAS COMMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF
THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A CENSURE, AND (2) A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $33,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF THE CBOE
RULES WAS COMMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF
THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A CENSURE, AND (2) A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $33,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $33,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 87 of 595

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-78141 / JUNE 23, 2016: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
("EXCHANGE ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") ("ML OR RESPONDENT"). ON THE BASIS OF
THIS ORDER AND RESPONDENT'S OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, THE
COMMISSION FINDS THAT THIS MATTER ARISES FROM SIGNIFICANT
VIOLATIONS OF THE CUSTOMER PROTECTION RULE THAT BEGAN DURING
THE FINANCIAL CRISIS AND, IN CERTAIN RESPECTS, CONTINUED UNTIL
THIS YEAR. THE VIOLATIONS WERE TWO-FOLD. FIRST, ML USED CASH
BELONGING TO ITS CUSTOMERS TO FUND ITS OWN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
THROUGH A SERIES OF INCREASINGLY COMPLEX TRADES. SECOND, AT
THE SAME TIME AND CONTINUING FOR YEARS DUE TO POOR OVERSIGHT
AND WEAK CONTROLS, MLPF&S ALLOWED CERTAIN OF ITS CLEARING
BANKS TO HOLD GENERAL LIENS OVER TENS OF BILLIONS OF DOLLARS
OF SECURITIES OWNED BY ITS CUSTOMERS.
THE FIRST SET OF VIOLATIONS CONCERNS TRADES DEVISED BY ML THAT
WERE KNOWN INTERNALLY AS THE LEVERAGED CONVERSION TRADES
("TRADES"). FROM 2009 TO 2012, ML USED THE TRADES TO REDUCE THE
AMOUNT OF CASH IT WAS REQUIRED TO DEPOSIT IN A CUSTOMER
RESERVE ACCOUNT THAT IT MAINTAINED PURSUANT TO RULE 15C3-3(E).
MARGIN LOANS EXTENDED TO FINANCE CUSTOMER POSITIONS CAN
PROPERLY REDUCE THE AMOUNT A BROKER-DEALER IS REQUIRED TO
DEPOSIT; HOWEVER, ML MADE BILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN MARGIN LOANS
TO FINANCE RISKLESS TRADES THAT LACKED DEFINED TERMS AND
ECONOMIC SUBSTANCE WHICH ML STRUCTURED AND THEN EXECUTED
WITH NEWLY-CREATED COUNTERPARTY ENTITIES. THROUGH THESE
TRADES, ML IMPROPERLY REDUCED BY BILLIONS OF DOLLARS THE
AMOUNT IT WAS REQUIRED TO DEPOSIT IN ITS CUSTOMER RESERVE
ACCOUNT. THESE TRADES EVOLVED OVER TIME AND, IN THEIR FINAL
ITERATION, BECAME INSTANTANEOUS ROUNDTRIPS STRUCTURED TO
PROVIDE FINANCING FOR ML'S ACTIVITIES RATHER THAN IN RESPONSE
TO CUSTOMER TRADING OBJECTIVES. RESPONDENT USED THESE
TRADES TO REMOVE UP TO $5 BILLION OF CUSTOMER CASH WEEK OVER
WEEK FROM ITS CUSTOMER RESERVE ACCOUNT. ML THEN USED THESE
FUNDS TO FINANCE ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES. HAD ML FAILED WHEN THE
TRADES WERE IN USE, ITS CUSTOMERS WOULD HAVE BEEN EXPOSED TO
A SHORTFALL OF CUSTOMER CASH IN THE CUSTOMER RESERVE
ACCOUNT.
THE SECOND SET OF VIOLATIONS INVOLVED THE CUSTODY OF
CUSTOMER SECURITIES FROM 2009 UNTIL THIS YEAR. RULE 15C3-3(C)
REQUIRES BROKER-DEALERS LIKE MLPF&S TO HOLD CUSTOMER
SECURITIES THAT ARE NOT COLLATERALIZING MARGIN LOANS IN A
SEGREGATED ACCOUNT FREE OF LIENS. THE PURPOSE OF THIS
REQUIREMENT IS TO PROTECT CUSTOMER SECURITIES FROM CLAIMS BY
A FAILED BROKER-DEALER'S CREDITORS. FROM JUNE 2009 TO APRIL 2015,
MLPF&S HELD UP TO $58 BILLION OF CUSTOMER SECURITIES IN A
CLEARING ACCOUNT THAT WAS SUBJECT TO A GENERAL LIEN BY ONE OF
ITS CLEARING BANKS. IN ADDITION TO THIS ACCOUNT, UNTIL AS
RECENTLY AS THIS YEAR MLPF&S HELD APPROXIMATELY $1.38 BILLION IN
CUSTOMER SECURITIES IN SIX OTHER CLEARING ACCOUNTS IN EUROPE
AND ASIA AS OF THE END OF 2015 THAT ALSO WERE SUBJECT TO LIENS
AND APPROXIMATELY $4.8 BILLION IN 48 OTHER ACCOUNTS IN EUROPE,
ASIA, AND AUSTRALIA AS OF THE END OF 2015 THAT LACKED
DOCUMENTATION ESTABLISHING THAT THEY WERE NOT SUBJECT TO
LIENS. THE SIGNIFICANT PENALTIES AND OTHER RELIEF IMPOSED IN THIS
ORDER IN CONNECTION WITH ML'S VIOLATIONS OF THE CUSTOMER
PROTECTION RULE REFLECT THE SERIOUSNESS WITH WHICH THE
COMMISSION VIEWS FAILURES TO COMPLY WITH THIS RULE.
AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT, MLPF&S VIOLATED AND WILLFULLY
VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C3-3
THEREUNDER. ALSO, MLPF&S WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF
THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 17A-3(A)(10), 17A-5(A), AND RULES 17A-
5(D)(3) (AS IT EXISTED PRIOR TO AMENDMENTS TO RULE 17A-5 IN 2014),
17A-5(D)(2)(II), 17A-5(D)(3), AND 17A-11(E) THEREUNDER. IN ADDITION, IT
WILLFULLY VIOLATED EXCHANGE ACT RULE 21F-17.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/23/2016

Docket/Case Number: 3-17312

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-78141 / JUNE 23, 2016: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
("EXCHANGE ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") ("ML OR RESPONDENT"). ON THE BASIS OF
THIS ORDER AND RESPONDENT'S OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, THE
COMMISSION FINDS THAT THIS MATTER ARISES FROM SIGNIFICANT
VIOLATIONS OF THE CUSTOMER PROTECTION RULE THAT BEGAN DURING
THE FINANCIAL CRISIS AND, IN CERTAIN RESPECTS, CONTINUED UNTIL
THIS YEAR. THE VIOLATIONS WERE TWO-FOLD. FIRST, ML USED CASH
BELONGING TO ITS CUSTOMERS TO FUND ITS OWN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
THROUGH A SERIES OF INCREASINGLY COMPLEX TRADES. SECOND, AT
THE SAME TIME AND CONTINUING FOR YEARS DUE TO POOR OVERSIGHT
AND WEAK CONTROLS, MLPF&S ALLOWED CERTAIN OF ITS CLEARING
BANKS TO HOLD GENERAL LIENS OVER TENS OF BILLIONS OF DOLLARS
OF SECURITIES OWNED BY ITS CUSTOMERS.
THE FIRST SET OF VIOLATIONS CONCERNS TRADES DEVISED BY ML THAT
WERE KNOWN INTERNALLY AS THE LEVERAGED CONVERSION TRADES
("TRADES"). FROM 2009 TO 2012, ML USED THE TRADES TO REDUCE THE
AMOUNT OF CASH IT WAS REQUIRED TO DEPOSIT IN A CUSTOMER
RESERVE ACCOUNT THAT IT MAINTAINED PURSUANT TO RULE 15C3-3(E).
MARGIN LOANS EXTENDED TO FINANCE CUSTOMER POSITIONS CAN
PROPERLY REDUCE THE AMOUNT A BROKER-DEALER IS REQUIRED TO
DEPOSIT; HOWEVER, ML MADE BILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN MARGIN LOANS
TO FINANCE RISKLESS TRADES THAT LACKED DEFINED TERMS AND
ECONOMIC SUBSTANCE WHICH ML STRUCTURED AND THEN EXECUTED
WITH NEWLY-CREATED COUNTERPARTY ENTITIES. THROUGH THESE
TRADES, ML IMPROPERLY REDUCED BY BILLIONS OF DOLLARS THE
AMOUNT IT WAS REQUIRED TO DEPOSIT IN ITS CUSTOMER RESERVE
ACCOUNT. THESE TRADES EVOLVED OVER TIME AND, IN THEIR FINAL
ITERATION, BECAME INSTANTANEOUS ROUNDTRIPS STRUCTURED TO
PROVIDE FINANCING FOR ML'S ACTIVITIES RATHER THAN IN RESPONSE
TO CUSTOMER TRADING OBJECTIVES. RESPONDENT USED THESE
TRADES TO REMOVE UP TO $5 BILLION OF CUSTOMER CASH WEEK OVER
WEEK FROM ITS CUSTOMER RESERVE ACCOUNT. ML THEN USED THESE
FUNDS TO FINANCE ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES. HAD ML FAILED WHEN THE
TRADES WERE IN USE, ITS CUSTOMERS WOULD HAVE BEEN EXPOSED TO
A SHORTFALL OF CUSTOMER CASH IN THE CUSTOMER RESERVE
ACCOUNT.
THE SECOND SET OF VIOLATIONS INVOLVED THE CUSTODY OF
CUSTOMER SECURITIES FROM 2009 UNTIL THIS YEAR. RULE 15C3-3(C)
REQUIRES BROKER-DEALERS LIKE MLPF&S TO HOLD CUSTOMER
SECURITIES THAT ARE NOT COLLATERALIZING MARGIN LOANS IN A
SEGREGATED ACCOUNT FREE OF LIENS. THE PURPOSE OF THIS
REQUIREMENT IS TO PROTECT CUSTOMER SECURITIES FROM CLAIMS BY
A FAILED BROKER-DEALER'S CREDITORS. FROM JUNE 2009 TO APRIL 2015,
MLPF&S HELD UP TO $58 BILLION OF CUSTOMER SECURITIES IN A
CLEARING ACCOUNT THAT WAS SUBJECT TO A GENERAL LIEN BY ONE OF
ITS CLEARING BANKS. IN ADDITION TO THIS ACCOUNT, UNTIL AS
RECENTLY AS THIS YEAR MLPF&S HELD APPROXIMATELY $1.38 BILLION IN
CUSTOMER SECURITIES IN SIX OTHER CLEARING ACCOUNTS IN EUROPE
AND ASIA AS OF THE END OF 2015 THAT ALSO WERE SUBJECT TO LIENS
AND APPROXIMATELY $4.8 BILLION IN 48 OTHER ACCOUNTS IN EUROPE,
ASIA, AND AUSTRALIA AS OF THE END OF 2015 THAT LACKED
DOCUMENTATION ESTABLISHING THAT THEY WERE NOT SUBJECT TO
LIENS. THE SIGNIFICANT PENALTIES AND OTHER RELIEF IMPOSED IN THIS
ORDER IN CONNECTION WITH ML'S VIOLATIONS OF THE CUSTOMER
PROTECTION RULE REFLECT THE SERIOUSNESS WITH WHICH THE
COMMISSION VIEWS FAILURES TO COMPLY WITH THIS RULE.
AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT, MLPF&S VIOLATED AND WILLFULLY
VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C3-3
THEREUNDER. ALSO, MLPF&S WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF
THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 17A-3(A)(10), 17A-5(A), AND RULES 17A-
5(D)(3) (AS IT EXISTED PRIOR TO AMENDMENTS TO RULE 17A-5 IN 2014),
17A-5(D)(2)(II), 17A-5(D)(3), AND 17A-11(E) THEREUNDER. IN ADDITION, IT
WILLFULLY VIOLATED EXCHANGE ACT RULE 21F-17.

Resolution Date: 06/23/2016

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING
ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(3)
AND 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 15C3-3, 17A-3(A)(10), 17A-
5(A), 17A-5(D)(2)(II), 17A-5(D)(3), 17A-11(E), AND 21F-17 THEREUNDER; IS
CENSURED; SHALL PAY, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY, DISGORGEMENT OF
$50,000,000 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $7,000,000, AND SHALL PAY
A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $358,000,000.

Regulator Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT THAT THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. RESPONDENT ADMIT THE
FACTS, ACKNOWLEDGE THAT ITS CONDUCT VIOLATED THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS, ADMIT THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, AND CONSENT TO THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS, PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER.

ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: MLPF&S CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(3) AND 17(A)(1) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 15C3-3, 17A-3(A)(10), 17A-5(A), 17A-5(D)(2)(II),
17A-5(D)(3), 17A-11(E), AND 21F-17 THEREUNDER; AND IS CENSURED;
SHALL, WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY, JOINTLY AND
SEVERALLY, DISGORGEMENT OF $50,000,000 AND PREJUDGMENT
INTEREST OF $7,000,000 TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION FOR TRANSFER TO THE GENERAL FUND OF THE UNITED
STATES TREASURY; AND SHALL, WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS
ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $358,000,000 TO
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION FOR TRANSFER TO THE
GENERAL FUND OF THE UNITED STATES TREASURY.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $358,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; DISGORGEMENT; PREJUDGMENT
INTEREST

Date Initiated: 06/23/2016

Docket/Case Number: 3-17312

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON JUNE 23, 2016, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("SEC")
ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER IN WHICH IT FOUND THAT MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH")
AND MERRILL LYNCH PROFESSIONAL CLEARING CORP. ("MLPRO")
(COLLECTIVELY, "ML") HAD WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(3) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND RULE 15C3-3
THEREUNDER AND SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES
17A-3(A)(10) AND 17A-5(A) THEREUNDER, AND THAT MERRILL LYNCH
WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND
RULES 17A-5(D)(3) (AS IT EXISTED PRIOR TO AMENDMENTS TO RULE 17A-5
IN 2014), 17A-5(D)(2)(II), 17A-5(D)(3) AND 17A-11(E) THEREUNDER, AND
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 21F-17.  SPECIFICALLY, THE ORDER FOUND THAT (I)
ML ENGAGED IN A SERIES OF COMPLEX TRADES THAT ALLOWED IT TO
USE CUSTOMER CASH TO FINANCE FIRM INVENTORY AND (II) MERRILL
LYNCH ALLOWED CERTAIN OF ITS CLEARING BANKS TO HOLD LIENS ON
CUSTOMER SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/23/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT ML'S OFFER, THE SEC CONSIDERED
REMEDIAL ACTS PROMPTLY UNDERTAKEN BY ML AND SUBSTANTIAL
COOPERATION AFFORDED THE SEC STAFF DURING THE COURSE OF ITS
INVESTIGATION.  IN THE ORDER, (I) MERRILL LYNCH AND MLPRO WERE
CENSURED, (II) MERRILL LYNCH WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(3) AND 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULES 15C3-3, 17A-3(A)(10), 17A-5(A), 17A-5(D)(2)(II), 17A-5(D)(3), 17A-
11(E) AND 21F-17 THEREUNDER, (III) MLPRO WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(3) AND 17(A)(1) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 15C3-3, 17A-3(A)(10) AND 17A-5(A)
THEREUNDER, (IV) MERRILL LYNCH AND MLPRO WERE ORDERED TO PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF $50,000,000 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST IN THE
AMOUNT OF $7,000,000, AND (V) MERRILL LYNCH WAS ORDERED TO PAY A
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $358,000,000.  NO CUSTOMERS WERE
HARMED, AND THE ISSUES RELATED TO ML'S PROCEDURES AND
CONTROLS HAVE BEEN CORRECTED.  THE PENALTY WAS PAID ON JUNE
29, 2016.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $358,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT ML'S OFFER, THE SEC CONSIDERED
REMEDIAL ACTS PROMPTLY UNDERTAKEN BY ML AND SUBSTANTIAL
COOPERATION AFFORDED THE SEC STAFF DURING THE COURSE OF ITS
INVESTIGATION.  IN THE ORDER, (I) MERRILL LYNCH AND MLPRO WERE
CENSURED, (II) MERRILL LYNCH WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(3) AND 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULES 15C3-3, 17A-3(A)(10), 17A-5(A), 17A-5(D)(2)(II), 17A-5(D)(3), 17A-
11(E) AND 21F-17 THEREUNDER, (III) MLPRO WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(3) AND 17(A)(1) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 15C3-3, 17A-3(A)(10) AND 17A-5(A)
THEREUNDER, (IV) MERRILL LYNCH AND MLPRO WERE ORDERED TO PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF $50,000,000 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST IN THE
AMOUNT OF $7,000,000, AND (V) MERRILL LYNCH WAS ORDERED TO PAY A
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $358,000,000.  NO CUSTOMERS WERE
HARMED, AND THE ISSUES RELATED TO ML'S PROCEDURES AND
CONTROLS HAVE BEEN CORRECTED.  THE PENALTY WAS PAID ON JUNE
29, 2016.

Firm Statement IN DETERMINING TO ACCEPT ML'S OFFER, THE SEC CONSIDERED
REMEDIAL ACTS PROMPTLY UNDERTAKEN BY ML AND SUBSTANTIAL
COOPERATION AFFORDED THE SEC STAFF DURING THE COURSE OF ITS
INVESTIGATION.  IN THE ORDER, (I) MERRILL LYNCH AND MLPRO WERE
CENSURED, (II) MERRILL LYNCH WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(3) AND 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULES 15C3-3, 17A-3(A)(10), 17A-5(A), 17A-5(D)(2)(II), 17A-5(D)(3), 17A-
11(E) AND 21F-17 THEREUNDER, (III) MLPRO WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(3) AND 17(A)(1) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 15C3-3, 17A-3(A)(10) AND 17A-5(A)
THEREUNDER, (IV) MERRILL LYNCH AND MLPRO WERE ORDERED TO PAY
DISGORGEMENT OF $50,000,000 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST IN THE
AMOUNT OF $7,000,000, AND (V) MERRILL LYNCH WAS ORDERED TO PAY A
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $358,000,000.  NO CUSTOMERS WERE
HARMED, AND THE ISSUES RELATED TO ML'S PROCEDURES AND
CONTROLS HAVE BEEN CORRECTED.  THE PENALTY WAS PAID ON JUNE
29, 2016.

Disclosure 88 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10103 / JUNE 23, 2016: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT").
ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND MERRILL LYNCH'S OFFER, THE
COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS INVOLVE MERRILL
LYNCH'S FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY DISCLOSE CERTAIN FIXED COSTS IN A
PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX LINKED TO STRUCTURED NOTES
KNOWN AS STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES ("SRNS") OF A BANK. MERRI LL
LYNCH OFFERED AND SOLD APPROXIMATELY $150 MILLION OF THESE
VOLATILITY NOTES TO APPROXIMATELY 4,000 RETAIL INVESTOR
ACCOUNTS IN 2010 AND 2011. THE DISCLOSURES MADE IT APPEAR AS IF
THE VOLATILITY PRODUCT HAD RELATIVELY LOW FIXED COSTS. THE
OFFERING MATERIALS EMPHASIZED THAT INVESTORS WOULD BE
SUBJECT TO A 2 PERCENT SALES COMMISSION AND A 0.75 PERCENT
ANNUAL FEE. THE OFFERING MATERIALS FAILED TO ADEQUATELY
DISCLOSE A THIRD FIXED, REGULARLY OCCURRING COST INCLUDED IN
ITS PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX KNOWN AS THE "EXECUTION
FACTOR" (DISTINCT FROM "HOLDING" OR "DECAY" COSTS ASSOCIATED
WITH DAILY CALCULATION OF THE UNDERLYING INDEX WHICH ARE
VARIABLE AND DEPEND UPON MARKET CONDITIONS). AS A RESULT, THE
DISCLOSURES IN THE OFFERING MATERIALS OF THE FIXED COSTS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE SRNS WERE MATERIALLY MISLEADING. AS AN
ISSUER OF SECURITIES, THE BANK HAD A DUTY TO DISCLOSE ALL
MATERIAL INFORMATION NECESSARY TO MAKE STATEMENTS CONTAINED
IN THE RETAIL PRICING SUPPLEMENTS, IN LIGHT OF THE
CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH THEY WERE MADE, NOT MISLEADING.
THE BANK DELEGATED TO MERRILL LYNCH PRINCIPAL RESPONSIBILITY
FOR DRAFTING AND REVIEWING THE RETAIL PRICING SUPPLEMENTS.
WITHIN MERRILL LYNCH, PRIMARY RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING AND
REVIEWING THE RETAIL PRICING SUPPLEMENTS WAS SPREAD AMONG
DIFFERENT GROUPS (AS SUPPLEMENTED BY OUTSIDE COUNSEL).
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO HAVE IN PLACE AN EFFECTIVE POLICY,
PROCEDURE OR INTERNAL COMMUNICATION PROCESS TO PROVIDE
REASONABLE ASSURANCES THAT THE INDIVIDUALS WITH PRIMARY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING, REVIEWING AND APPROVING THE RETAIL
PRICING SUPPLEMENTS PREPARED DISCLOSURES FOR THE BANK
REGARDING THE EXECUTION FACTOR THAT WERE NOT MATERIALLY
MISLEADING IN LIGHT OF THE DISCLOSURE OF OTHER FIXED, REGULARLY
OCCURRING COSTS. AS A RESULT OF THE NEGLIGENT CONDUCT, MERRILL
LYNCH VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT WHICH
PROHIBITS OBTAINING MONEY OR PROPERTY BY MEANS OF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS IN THE OFFER OR SALE OF SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 06/23/2016

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10103 / JUNE 23, 2016: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT").
ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND MERRILL LYNCH'S OFFER, THE
COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS INVOLVE MERRILL
LYNCH'S FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY DISCLOSE CERTAIN FIXED COSTS IN A
PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX LINKED TO STRUCTURED NOTES
KNOWN AS STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES ("SRNS") OF A BANK. MERRI LL
LYNCH OFFERED AND SOLD APPROXIMATELY $150 MILLION OF THESE
VOLATILITY NOTES TO APPROXIMATELY 4,000 RETAIL INVESTOR
ACCOUNTS IN 2010 AND 2011. THE DISCLOSURES MADE IT APPEAR AS IF
THE VOLATILITY PRODUCT HAD RELATIVELY LOW FIXED COSTS. THE
OFFERING MATERIALS EMPHASIZED THAT INVESTORS WOULD BE
SUBJECT TO A 2 PERCENT SALES COMMISSION AND A 0.75 PERCENT
ANNUAL FEE. THE OFFERING MATERIALS FAILED TO ADEQUATELY
DISCLOSE A THIRD FIXED, REGULARLY OCCURRING COST INCLUDED IN
ITS PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX KNOWN AS THE "EXECUTION
FACTOR" (DISTINCT FROM "HOLDING" OR "DECAY" COSTS ASSOCIATED
WITH DAILY CALCULATION OF THE UNDERLYING INDEX WHICH ARE
VARIABLE AND DEPEND UPON MARKET CONDITIONS). AS A RESULT, THE
DISCLOSURES IN THE OFFERING MATERIALS OF THE FIXED COSTS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE SRNS WERE MATERIALLY MISLEADING. AS AN
ISSUER OF SECURITIES, THE BANK HAD A DUTY TO DISCLOSE ALL
MATERIAL INFORMATION NECESSARY TO MAKE STATEMENTS CONTAINED
IN THE RETAIL PRICING SUPPLEMENTS, IN LIGHT OF THE
CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH THEY WERE MADE, NOT MISLEADING.
THE BANK DELEGATED TO MERRILL LYNCH PRINCIPAL RESPONSIBILITY
FOR DRAFTING AND REVIEWING THE RETAIL PRICING SUPPLEMENTS.
WITHIN MERRILL LYNCH, PRIMARY RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING AND
REVIEWING THE RETAIL PRICING SUPPLEMENTS WAS SPREAD AMONG
DIFFERENT GROUPS (AS SUPPLEMENTED BY OUTSIDE COUNSEL).
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO HAVE IN PLACE AN EFFECTIVE POLICY,
PROCEDURE OR INTERNAL COMMUNICATION PROCESS TO PROVIDE
REASONABLE ASSURANCES THAT THE INDIVIDUALS WITH PRIMARY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING, REVIEWING AND APPROVING THE RETAIL
PRICING SUPPLEMENTS PREPARED DISCLOSURES FOR THE BANK
REGARDING THE EXECUTION FACTOR THAT WERE NOT MATERIALLY
MISLEADING IN LIGHT OF THE DISCLOSURE OF OTHER FIXED, REGULARLY
OCCURRING COSTS. AS A RESULT OF THE NEGLIGENT CONDUCT, MERRILL
LYNCH VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT WHICH
PROHIBITS OBTAINING MONEY OR PROPERTY BY MEANS OF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS IN THE OFFER OR SALE OF SECURITIES.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/23/2016

Docket/Case Number: 3-17314

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES

Resolution Date: 06/23/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION
17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT, AND PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION.

Regulator Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER") WHICH THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE
OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY
OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE COMMISSION IS
A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS HEREIN,
EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE
SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING
CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, MAKING FINDINGS AND IMPOSING A CEASE-
AND-DESIST ORDER.

ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT, IT IS
HEREBY ORDERED THAT: MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. MERRILL LYNCH SHALL,
WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION TO THE SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER") WHICH THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE
OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY
OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE COMMISSION IS
A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS HEREIN,
EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE
SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING
CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, MAKING FINDINGS AND IMPOSING A CEASE-
AND-DESIST ORDER.

ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT, IT IS
HEREBY ORDERED THAT: MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. MERRILL LYNCH SHALL,
WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION TO THE SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10103 / JUNE 23, 2016: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT").
ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND MERRILL LYNCH'S OFFER, THE
COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS INVOLVE MERRILL
LYNCH'S FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY DISCLOSE CERTAIN FIXED COSTS IN A
PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX LINKED TO STRUCTURED NOTES
KNOWN AS STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES ("SRNS") OF A
BANK. MERRILL LYNCH OFFERED AND SOLD APPROXIMATELY $150
MILLION OF THESE VOLATILITY NOTES TO APPROXIMATELY 4,000 RETAIL
INVESTOR ACCOUNTS IN 2010 AND 2011. THE DISCLOSURES MADE IT
APPEAR AS IF THE VOLATILITY PRODUCT HAD RELATIVELY LOW FIXED
COSTS. THE OFFERING MATERIALS EMPHASIZED THAT INVESTORS
WOULD BE SUBJECT TO A 2 PERCENT SALES COMMISSION AND A 0.75
PERCENT ANNUAL FEE. THE OFFERING MATERIALS FAILED TO
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSE A THIRD FIXED, REGULARLY OCCURRING COST
INCLUDED IN ITS PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX KNOWN AS THE
 "EXECUTION FACTOR" (DISTINCT FROM
"HOLDING" OR "DECAY" COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH DAILY CALCULATION OF
THE UNDERLYING INDEX WHICH ARE VARIABLE AND DEPEND UPON
MARKET CONDITIONS). AS A RESULT, THE DISCLOSURES IN THE
OFFERING MATERIALS OF THE FIXED COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SRNS
WERE MATERIALLY MISLEADING. AS AN ISSUER OF SECURITIES, THE
BANK HAD A DUTY TO DISCLOSE ALL MATERIAL INFORMATION NECESSARY
TO MAKE STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THE RETAIL PRICING
SUPPLEMENTS, IN LIGHT OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH THEY
WERE MADE, NOT MISLEADING. THE BANK DELEGATED TO MERRILL
LYNCH PRINCIPAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING AND REVIEWING THE
RETAIL PRICING SUPPLEMENTS. WITHIN MERRILL LYNCH, PRIMARY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING AND REVIEWING THE RETAIL PRICING
SUPPLEMENTS WAS SPREAD
AMONG DIFFERENT GROUPS (AS SUPPLEMENTED BY OUTSIDE COUNSEL).
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO HAVE IN PLACE AN EFFECTIVE POLICY,
PROCEDURE OR INTERNAL COMMUNICATION PROCESS TO PROVIDE
REASONABLE ASSURANCES THAT THE INDIVIDUALS WITH PRIMARY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING, REVIEWING AND APPROVING THE RETAIL
PRICING SUPPLEMENTS PREPARED DISCLOSURES FOR THE BANK
REGARDING THE EXECUTION FACTOR THAT WERE NOT MATERIALLY
MISLEADING IN LIGHT OF THE DISCLOSURE OF OTHER FIXED, REGULARLY
OCCURRING COSTS. AS A RESULT OF THE NEGLIGENT CONDUCT, MERRILL
LYNCH VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT WHICH
PROHIBITS OBTAINING MONEY OR PROPERTY BY MEANS OF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS IN THE OFFER OR SALE OF SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 06/23/2016

Docket/Case Number: 3-17314

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 33-10103 / JUNE 23, 2016: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT").
ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND MERRILL LYNCH'S OFFER, THE
COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE PROCEEDINGS INVOLVE MERRILL
LYNCH'S FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY DISCLOSE CERTAIN FIXED COSTS IN A
PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX LINKED TO STRUCTURED NOTES
KNOWN AS STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES ("SRNS") OF A
BANK. MERRILL LYNCH OFFERED AND SOLD APPROXIMATELY $150
MILLION OF THESE VOLATILITY NOTES TO APPROXIMATELY 4,000 RETAIL
INVESTOR ACCOUNTS IN 2010 AND 2011. THE DISCLOSURES MADE IT
APPEAR AS IF THE VOLATILITY PRODUCT HAD RELATIVELY LOW FIXED
COSTS. THE OFFERING MATERIALS EMPHASIZED THAT INVESTORS
WOULD BE SUBJECT TO A 2 PERCENT SALES COMMISSION AND A 0.75
PERCENT ANNUAL FEE. THE OFFERING MATERIALS FAILED TO
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSE A THIRD FIXED, REGULARLY OCCURRING COST
INCLUDED IN ITS PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX KNOWN AS THE
 "EXECUTION FACTOR" (DISTINCT FROM
"HOLDING" OR "DECAY" COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH DAILY CALCULATION OF
THE UNDERLYING INDEX WHICH ARE VARIABLE AND DEPEND UPON
MARKET CONDITIONS). AS A RESULT, THE DISCLOSURES IN THE
OFFERING MATERIALS OF THE FIXED COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SRNS
WERE MATERIALLY MISLEADING. AS AN ISSUER OF SECURITIES, THE
BANK HAD A DUTY TO DISCLOSE ALL MATERIAL INFORMATION NECESSARY
TO MAKE STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THE RETAIL PRICING
SUPPLEMENTS, IN LIGHT OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH THEY
WERE MADE, NOT MISLEADING. THE BANK DELEGATED TO MERRILL
LYNCH PRINCIPAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING AND REVIEWING THE
RETAIL PRICING SUPPLEMENTS. WITHIN MERRILL LYNCH, PRIMARY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING AND REVIEWING THE RETAIL PRICING
SUPPLEMENTS WAS SPREAD
AMONG DIFFERENT GROUPS (AS SUPPLEMENTED BY OUTSIDE COUNSEL).
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO HAVE IN PLACE AN EFFECTIVE POLICY,
PROCEDURE OR INTERNAL COMMUNICATION PROCESS TO PROVIDE
REASONABLE ASSURANCES THAT THE INDIVIDUALS WITH PRIMARY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR DRAFTING, REVIEWING AND APPROVING THE RETAIL
PRICING SUPPLEMENTS PREPARED DISCLOSURES FOR THE BANK
REGARDING THE EXECUTION FACTOR THAT WERE NOT MATERIALLY
MISLEADING IN LIGHT OF THE DISCLOSURE OF OTHER FIXED, REGULARLY
OCCURRING COSTS. AS A RESULT OF THE NEGLIGENT CONDUCT, MERRILL
LYNCH VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT WHICH
PROHIBITS OBTAINING MONEY OR PROPERTY BY MEANS OF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS IN THE OFFER OR SALE OF SECURITIES.

Resolution Date: 06/23/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION
17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT, AND PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION.

Firm Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER") WHICH THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE
OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY
OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE COMMISSION IS
A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS HEREIN,
EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE
SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING
CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, MAKING FINDINGS AND IMPOSING A CEASE-
AND-DESIST ORDER. ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: MERRILL LYNCH CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL, WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS
ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION
TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER") WHICH THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE
OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY
OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE COMMISSION IS
A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS HEREIN,
EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE
SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING
CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, MAKING FINDINGS AND IMPOSING A CEASE-
AND-DESIST ORDER. ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: MERRILL LYNCH CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL, WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS
ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION
TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

Disclosure 89 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 06/23/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2012032967901

Principal Product Type: Other

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SOLD
APPROXIMATELY $168 MILLION OF STRUCTURED NOTES KNOWN AS
 "STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES" (SRNS) LINKED TO A PROPRIETARY
VOLATILITY INDEX, WITHOUT ADEQUATELY DISCLOSING CERTAIN FIXED
COSTS, AND THE FIRM'S DISCLOSURES MADE IT APPEAR AS IF ITS
VOLATILITY PRODUCT HAD RELATIVELY LOW FIXED COSTS. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM EMPHASIZED IN OFFERING MATERIALS THAT
INVESTORS WOULD BE SUBJECT TO A 2% SALES COMMISSION AND A
0.75% ANNUAL FEE IN CONNECTION WITH THE SRNS, BUT FAILED TO
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSE A THIRD FIXED, REGULARLY OCCURRING COST
INCLUDED IN ITS PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX KNOWN AS THE
 "EXECUTION FACTOR" (DISTINCT FROM "HOLDING" OR "DECAY" COSTS
ASSOCIATED WITH DAILY CALCULATION OF THE UNDERLYING INDEX
WHICH ARE VARIABLE AND DEPEND ON MARKET CONDITIONS). AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM'S DISCLOSURES IN THE OFFERING MATERIALS OF THE
FIXED COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SRNS WERE MATERIALLY
MISLEADING, WERE NOT FAIR AND BALANCED AND FAILED TO PROVIDE A
SOUND BASIS FOR EVALUATION OF THE SRNS BY NOT ADEQUATELY
DISCLOSING THE EXECUTION FACTOR. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THE
FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE DISCLOSURE
STANDARDS IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF THE SRNS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES

Resolution Date: 06/23/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $5,000,000.

FINE PAID IN FULL ON JUNE 29, 2016.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SOLD
APPROXIMATELY $168 MILLION OF STRUCTURED NOTES KNOWN AS
 "STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES" (SRNS) LINKED TO A PROPRIETARY
VOLATILITY INDEX, WITHOUT ADEQUATELY DISCLOSING CERTAIN FIXED
COSTS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM EMPHASIZED IN OFFERING
MATERIALS THAT INVESTORS WOULD BE SUBJECT TO A 2% SALES
COMMISSION AND A 0.75% ANNUAL FEE IN CONNECTION WITH THE SRNS.
THE FIRM ALSO DISCLOSED A THIRD FIXED, REGULARLY OCCURRING
COST INCLUDED IN ITS PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX KNOWN AS THE
 "EXECUTION FACTOR" (DISTINCT FROM "HOLDING" OR "DECAY" COSTS
ASSOCIATED WITH DAILY CALCULATION OF THE UNDERLYING INDEX
WHICH ARE VARIABLE AND DEPEND ON MARKET CONDITIONS), BUT DID
NOT DO SO IN THE SAME MANNER AS THE SALES COMMISSION AND
ANNUAL FEE. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S DISCLOSURES IN THE OFFERING
MATERIALS OF THE FIXED COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SRNS WERE
MATERIALLY MISLEADING, WERE NOT FAIR AND BALANCED AND FAILED TO
PROVIDE A SOUND BASIS FOR EVALUATION OF THE SRNS BY NOT
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSING THE EXECUTION FACTOR. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
DISCLOSURE STANDARDS IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF THE SRNS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 06/23/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2012032967901

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SOLD
APPROXIMATELY $168 MILLION OF STRUCTURED NOTES KNOWN AS
 "STRATEGIC RETURN NOTES" (SRNS) LINKED TO A PROPRIETARY
VOLATILITY INDEX, WITHOUT ADEQUATELY DISCLOSING CERTAIN FIXED
COSTS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM EMPHASIZED IN OFFERING
MATERIALS THAT INVESTORS WOULD BE SUBJECT TO A 2% SALES
COMMISSION AND A 0.75% ANNUAL FEE IN CONNECTION WITH THE SRNS.
THE FIRM ALSO DISCLOSED A THIRD FIXED, REGULARLY OCCURRING
COST INCLUDED IN ITS PROPRIETARY VOLATILITY INDEX KNOWN AS THE
 "EXECUTION FACTOR" (DISTINCT FROM "HOLDING" OR "DECAY" COSTS
ASSOCIATED WITH DAILY CALCULATION OF THE UNDERLYING INDEX
WHICH ARE VARIABLE AND DEPEND ON MARKET CONDITIONS), BUT DID
NOT DO SO IN THE SAME MANNER AS THE SALES COMMISSION AND
ANNUAL FEE. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S DISCLOSURES IN THE OFFERING
MATERIALS OF THE FIXED COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SRNS WERE
MATERIALLY MISLEADING, WERE NOT FAIR AND BALANCED AND FAILED TO
PROVIDE A SOUND BASIS FOR EVALUATION OF THE SRNS BY NOT
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSING THE EXECUTION FACTOR. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
DISCLOSURE STANDARDS IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF THE SRNS.

Resolution Date: 06/23/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $5,000,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $5,000,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 90 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 05/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2015-00060

Allegations: FAILED TO ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, FAILING TO
EXERCISE DILIGENT SUPERVISION OVER THE ACTIVITIES OF ITS AGENTS,
AND RECOMMENDING A PURCHASE OF A SECURITY WITHOUT
REASONABLE GROUNDS.

Current Status: Final

295©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

COST OF INVESTIGATION

URL for Regulatory Action: HTTP://WWW.SCC.VIRGINIA.GOV/DOCKETSEARCH#/CASEDETAILS/135237

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Variable

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/26/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COST OF INVESTIGATION: $6,500.

Sanction Details: RESOLUTION EFFECTIVE MAY 26, 2016, WITH A MONETARY FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $5,000, AND COST OF INVESTIGATION IN THE AMOUNT OF
$6,500.

Regulator Statement THE DIVISION ALLEGED MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.,
THROUGH ITS AGENT, RECOMMENDED A VIRGINIA CLIENT LIQUIDATE ONE
ASSET IN ORDER TO PURCHASE ANOTHER. THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE
A COPY OF THE PROSPECTUS OF THE INVESTMENT AND THE DIVISION
ALLEGES THE INVESTMENT BEING OFFERED WAS NOT SUITABLE TO THE
INVESTOR.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Settled

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 05/26/2016

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2015-00060

Allegations: ALLEGED FAILURE TO ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES,
FAILING TO EXERCISE DILIGENT SUPERVISION OVER THE ACTIVITIES OF
ITS AGENTS, AND RECOMMENDING A PURCHASE OF A SECURITY WITHOUT
REASONABLE GROUNDS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

COST OF INVESTIGATION

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2015-00060

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Variable

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/26/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COST OF INVESTIGATION:  $6,500.

Sanction Details: RESOLUTION EFFECTIVE MAY 26, 2016, WITH A MONETARY FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $5,000,
AND COST OF INVESTIGATION IN THE AMOUNT OF $6,500.

Firm Statement ALLEGED FAILURE TO ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES,
FAILING TO EXERCISE DILIGENT SUPERVISION OVER THE ACTIVITIES OF
ITS AGENTS, AND RECOMMENDING A PURCHASE OF A SECURITY WITHOUT
REASONABLE GROUNDS.  RESOLUTION EFFECTIVE MAY 26, 2016, WITH A
MONETARY FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000, AND COST OF INVESTIGATION
IN THE AMOUNT OF $6,500.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 91 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: EUREX DEUTSCHLAND

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Date Initiated: 03/17/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2016/06

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FIRM EXCEEDED THE ORDER TO TRADE RATIO MENTIONED IN
SECTION 17B OF THE EUREX DEUTSCHLAND AND EUREX ZURICH
EXCHANGE RULES BY 0.0955 AS PER SEPTEMBER 30, 2015.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 03/17/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND AND COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING (APPROXIMATELY
US$2,263.25).

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS REPRIMANDED AND NO MONETARY FINE WAS IMPOSED.
THE FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO BEAR THE COST OF THE PROCEEDING
(APPROXIMATELY US$2,263.25).

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS REPRIMANDED AND NO MONETARY FINE WAS IMPOSED.
THE FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO BEAR THE COST OF THE PROCEEDING
(APPROXIMATELY US$2,263.25).  IN DETERMINING TO IMPOSE THE
LOWEST FORM OF SANCTION, THE SANCTIONS COMMITTEE TOOK INTO
ACCOUNT THE FACT THAT THE FIRM TOOK PROMPT CORRECTIVE ACTION
AND IMPLEMENTED CONTROLS TO PREVENT SIMILAR INCIDENTS IN THE
FUTURE.  THE COMMITTEE ALSO NOTED THAT THERE WAS NO FINANCIAL
LOSS TO OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS NOR ANY LOSS IN TRUST FOR
THE FIRM AND THAT THE FIRM DID NOT GAIN ANY FINANCIAL ADVANTAGE.

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision

Disclosure 92 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM PURCHASED MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS
OWN ACCOUNT FROM A CUSTOMER AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO A CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE
(INCLUDING ANY MARK-DOWN OR MARK-UP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT IN CORPORATE BOND TRANSACTIONS FOR
OR WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. IN CORPORATE BOND TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM
SOLD (BOUGHT) CORPORATE BONDS TO (FROM) CUSTOMERS AND FAILED
TO SELL (BUY) SUCH BONDS AT A PRICE THAT WAS FAIR, TAKING INTO
CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING MARKET
CONDITIONS WITH RESPECT TO EACH BOND AT THE TIME OF THE
TRANSACTION, THE EXPENSE INVOLVED AND THAT THE FIRM WAS
ENTITLED TO A PROFIT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/24/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2009020201201

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s): MUNICIPAL SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM PURCHASED MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS
OWN ACCOUNT FROM A CUSTOMER AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO A CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE
(INCLUDING ANY MARK-DOWN OR MARK-UP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT IN CORPORATE BOND TRANSACTIONS FOR
OR WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. IN CORPORATE BOND TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM
SOLD (BOUGHT) CORPORATE BONDS TO (FROM) CUSTOMERS AND FAILED
TO SELL (BUY) SUCH BONDS AT A PRICE THAT WAS FAIR, TAKING INTO
CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING MARKET
CONDITIONS WITH RESPECT TO EACH BOND AT THE TIME OF THE
TRANSACTION, THE EXPENSE INVOLVED AND THAT THE FIRM WAS
ENTITLED TO A PROFIT.

Resolution Date: 03/24/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $565,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY
CUSTOMERS RESTITUTION OF $95,530.93, PLUS INTEREST. THE FIRM HAS
PAID REMEDIATION TO RELEVANT CUSTOMERS IN THE AMOUNT OF
$90,841.10.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON APRIL 12, 2016.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $565,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source:
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE;RESTITUTION;INTEREST

Date Initiated: 03/24/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2009020201201

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s): MUNICIPAL SECURITIES

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN
TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM PURCHASED MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS
OWN ACCOUNT FROM A CUSTOMER AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO A CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE
(INCLUDING ANY MARK-DOWN OR MARK-UP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF
THE TRANSACTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT IN CORPORATE BOND
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE
REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER
MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE
RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER  WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE
UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS. IN CORPORATE BOND
TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM SOLD (BOUGHT) CORPORATE BONDS TO
(FROM) CUSTOMERS AND FAILED TO SELL (BUY) SUCH BONDS AT A PRICE
THAT WAS FAIR, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT
CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING MARKET CONDITIONS WITH RESPECT TO
EACH BOND AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION, THE EXPENSE INVOLVED
AND THAT THE FIRM WAS ENTITLED TO A PROFIT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/24/2016

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $565,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY
CUSTOMERS RESTITUTION OF $95,530.93, PLUS INTEREST. THE FIRM HAS
PAID REMEDIATION TO RELEVANT CUSTOMERS IN THE AMOUNT OF
$90,841.10.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $565,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY
CUSTOMERS RESTITUTION OF $95,530.93, PLUS INTEREST. THE FIRM HAS
PAID REMEDIATION TO RELEVANT CUSTOMERS IN THE AMOUNT OF
$90,841.10.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $565,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Disclosure 93 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/15/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2013037678901

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
TRANSMIT REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT
TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) UNDER ITS VARIOUS MARKET PARTICIPANT
IDENTIFIERS (MPIDS). THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY BY 8:00 P.M.
EASTERN TIME TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED A .X MODIFIER. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR
SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND
FINRA RULES CONCERNING OATS AND TRADE REPORTING.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 03/15/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $155,000. FINE PAID IN FULL ON MAY
13, 2016.

Regulator Statement IN DETERMINING TO RESOLVE THIS MATTER IN THE MANNER SET FORTH
HEREIN, AND IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE MONETARY SANCTION,
FINRA GAVE CONSIDERATION THAT THE FIRM SELF-REPORTED TO FINRA
IN JULY 2013 THE FAILURE TO SUBMIT TO OATS THE ROES INVOLVED IN
THIS MATTER. THE FIRM FURTHER UNDERTOOK STEPS TO REMEDIATE
THE ISSUES, AND SUBSEQUENTLY SUBMITTED TO OATS THE ROES IT
FAILED TO SUBMIT DURING THE PERIOD BETWEEN MARCH 2012 AND MAY
2013.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $155,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 03/15/2016

Docket/Case Number: 2013037678901

Principal Product Type: Other

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
TRANSMIT REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT
TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) UNDER ITS VARIOUS MARKET PARTICIPANT
IDENTIFIERS (MPIDS).  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY BY 8:00 P.M.
EASTERN TIME TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED A .X MODIFIER.  THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR
SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND
FINRA RULES CONCERNING OATS AND TRADE REPORTING.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 03/15/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $155,000.  FINE PAID IN FULL ON
MAY 13, 2016.

Firm Statement IN DETERMINING TO RESOLVE THIS MATTER IN THE MANNER SET FORTH
HEREIN, AND IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE MONETARY SANCTION,
FINRA GAVE CONSIDERATION THAT THE FIRM SELF-REPORTED TO FINRA
IN JULY 2013 THE FAILURE TO SUBMIT TO OATS THE ROES INVOLVED IN
THIS MATTER.  THE FIRM FURTHER UNDERTOOK STEPS TO REMEDIATE
THE ISSUES, AND SUBSEQUENTLY SUBMITTED TO OATS THE ROES IT
FAILED TO SUBMIT DURING THE PERIOD BETWEEN MARCH 2012 AND MAY
2013.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $155,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 94 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
CONDUCT ADEQUATE BACKGROUND CHECKS ON APPROXIMATELY 4,500
OF ITS 20,000 NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO FINGERPRINT OR TIMELY FINGERPRINT
ASSOCIATED PERSONS. AFTER THE FIRM'S ACQUISITION, BY A BANKING
CORPORATION, CERTAIN JOB FUNCTIONS WERE CONSOLIDATED OR
ELIMINATED AND EMPLOYEES WERE TRANSFERRED, ASSUMED NEW JOB
RESPONSIBILITIES, AND/OR WERE DISMISSED AND LATER REHIRED. AS A
RESULT OF THIS REORGANIZATION PROCESS, A NUMBER OF THE
BANKING CORPORATION'S EMPLOYEES WHO HAD NEVER BEEN
FINGERPRINTED BECAME ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM. THE FIRM DID
NOT CREATE A SYSTEM TO IDENTIFY THE NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS WHO REQUIRED FINGERPRINTING AND SCREENING BECAUSE
THEY HAD BECOME ASSOCIATED WITH IT DUE TO THE REORGANIZATION.
THUS, MANY OF THESE ASSOCIATED PERSONS, WHOSE NEW JOB
FUNCTIONS OR RESPONSIBILITIES REQUIRED THEM TO BE
FINGERPRINTED, WERE NOT FINGERPRINTED. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO
IDENTIFY OTHER PERSONS WHO WERE SUBSEQUENTLY HIRED OR
RETAINED WHO WERE REQUIRED TO BE FINGERPRINTED. FINALLY, THE
FIRM DID NOT FINGERPRINT AROUND 240 INDIVIDUALS BEFORE THEY
STARTED TO WORK FOR IT IN CAPACITIES THAT REQUIRED
FINGERPRINTING. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO FINGERPRINT 1,115
NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS AT ALL, AND FAILED TO
FINGERPRINT ANOTHER 240 NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS
BEFORE THEY BEGAN TO WORK FOR IT. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT
THE FIRM FAILED TO FULLY SCREEN NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS TO ENSURE THEY WERE NOT SUBJECT TO A STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION BEFORE THEY ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM. THE FIRM
REVIEWED MOST OF THESE ASSOCIATED PERSONS UNDER THE
PROVISIONS OF SECTION 19 OF THE FEDERAL INSURANCE DEPOSIT ACT
BUT NOT UNDER THE MORE EXPANSIVE PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND FINRA BY-LAWS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM ALLOWED
ONE PERSON, WHO WAS SUBJECT TO DISQUALIFICATION BECAUSE HE
HAD BEEN CONVICTED OF A DRUG-RELATED FELONY, TO ASSOCIATE WITH
IT, BUT WAS NOT FINGERPRINTED OR SCREENED AT THAT TIME. THE FIRM
FIRST LEARNED THAT HE WAS SUBJECT TO A DISQUALIFICATION AFTER IT
SUBMITTED FINGERPRINTS THROUGH THE CRD AND REVIEWED RELATED
CRIMINAL RECORDS. THE FIRM ULTIMATELY TERMINATED HIS
ASSOCIATION. THE FIRM COULD NOT DETERMINE WHETHER ANOTHER 115
NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS WERE SUBJECT TO STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION BECAUSE THEIR ASSOCIATIONS WITH IT TERMINATED
BEFORE IT WAS ABLE TO SCREEN THEM FOR STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO CREATE FOR THE PERSON WHO WAS SUBJECT TO DISQUALIFICATION
A QUESTIONNAIRE OR APPLICATION APPROVED IN WRITING BY AN
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE FIRM THAT CONTAINED, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, A RECORD OF HIS ARREST AND FELONY CONVICTION, AS
REQUIRED BY SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE
17A-3(A)(12)(I)(G). IN ADDITION, THE FIRM DID NOT CREATE FINGERPRINT
RECORDS FOR ALL OF ITS ELIGIBLE ASSOCIATED PERSONS, AS
REQUIRED BY SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE
17A-3(A)(13). FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO IDENTIFY ALL OF ITS ASSOCIATED
PERSONS, TO SCREEN THEM FOR STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION AS
REQUIRED BY FINRA BY-LAWS, AND TO FINGERPRINT ELIGIBLE
ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES THAT WERE DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, INCLUDING: THE RECORDKEEPING PROVISIONS, THE
FINGERPRINTING PROVISIONS, AND FINRA ELIGIBILITY RULES.

Current Status: Final
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
CONDUCT ADEQUATE BACKGROUND CHECKS ON APPROXIMATELY 4,500
OF ITS 20,000 NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO FINGERPRINT OR TIMELY FINGERPRINT
ASSOCIATED PERSONS. AFTER THE FIRM'S ACQUISITION, BY A BANKING
CORPORATION, CERTAIN JOB FUNCTIONS WERE CONSOLIDATED OR
ELIMINATED AND EMPLOYEES WERE TRANSFERRED, ASSUMED NEW JOB
RESPONSIBILITIES, AND/OR WERE DISMISSED AND LATER REHIRED. AS A
RESULT OF THIS REORGANIZATION PROCESS, A NUMBER OF THE
BANKING CORPORATION'S EMPLOYEES WHO HAD NEVER BEEN
FINGERPRINTED BECAME ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM. THE FIRM DID
NOT CREATE A SYSTEM TO IDENTIFY THE NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS WHO REQUIRED FINGERPRINTING AND SCREENING BECAUSE
THEY HAD BECOME ASSOCIATED WITH IT DUE TO THE REORGANIZATION.
THUS, MANY OF THESE ASSOCIATED PERSONS, WHOSE NEW JOB
FUNCTIONS OR RESPONSIBILITIES REQUIRED THEM TO BE
FINGERPRINTED, WERE NOT FINGERPRINTED. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO
IDENTIFY OTHER PERSONS WHO WERE SUBSEQUENTLY HIRED OR
RETAINED WHO WERE REQUIRED TO BE FINGERPRINTED. FINALLY, THE
FIRM DID NOT FINGERPRINT AROUND 240 INDIVIDUALS BEFORE THEY
STARTED TO WORK FOR IT IN CAPACITIES THAT REQUIRED
FINGERPRINTING. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO FINGERPRINT 1,115
NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS AT ALL, AND FAILED TO
FINGERPRINT ANOTHER 240 NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS
BEFORE THEY BEGAN TO WORK FOR IT. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT
THE FIRM FAILED TO FULLY SCREEN NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS TO ENSURE THEY WERE NOT SUBJECT TO A STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION BEFORE THEY ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM. THE FIRM
REVIEWED MOST OF THESE ASSOCIATED PERSONS UNDER THE
PROVISIONS OF SECTION 19 OF THE FEDERAL INSURANCE DEPOSIT ACT
BUT NOT UNDER THE MORE EXPANSIVE PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND FINRA BY-LAWS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM ALLOWED
ONE PERSON, WHO WAS SUBJECT TO DISQUALIFICATION BECAUSE HE
HAD BEEN CONVICTED OF A DRUG-RELATED FELONY, TO ASSOCIATE WITH
IT, BUT WAS NOT FINGERPRINTED OR SCREENED AT THAT TIME. THE FIRM
FIRST LEARNED THAT HE WAS SUBJECT TO A DISQUALIFICATION AFTER IT
SUBMITTED FINGERPRINTS THROUGH THE CRD AND REVIEWED RELATED
CRIMINAL RECORDS. THE FIRM ULTIMATELY TERMINATED HIS
ASSOCIATION. THE FIRM COULD NOT DETERMINE WHETHER ANOTHER 115
NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS WERE SUBJECT TO STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION BECAUSE THEIR ASSOCIATIONS WITH IT TERMINATED
BEFORE IT WAS ABLE TO SCREEN THEM FOR STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO CREATE FOR THE PERSON WHO WAS SUBJECT TO DISQUALIFICATION
A QUESTIONNAIRE OR APPLICATION APPROVED IN WRITING BY AN
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE FIRM THAT CONTAINED, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, A RECORD OF HIS ARREST AND FELONY CONVICTION, AS
REQUIRED BY SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE
17A-3(A)(12)(I)(G). IN ADDITION, THE FIRM DID NOT CREATE FINGERPRINT
RECORDS FOR ALL OF ITS ELIGIBLE ASSOCIATED PERSONS, AS
REQUIRED BY SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE
17A-3(A)(13). FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO IDENTIFY ALL OF ITS ASSOCIATED
PERSONS, TO SCREEN THEM FOR STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION AS
REQUIRED BY FINRA BY-LAWS, AND TO FINGERPRINT ELIGIBLE
ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES THAT WERE DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, INCLUDING: THE RECORDKEEPING PROVISIONS, THE
FINGERPRINTING PROVISIONS, AND FINRA ELIGIBILITY RULES.
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/16/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2013038772501

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
CONDUCT ADEQUATE BACKGROUND CHECKS ON APPROXIMATELY 4,500
OF ITS 20,000 NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FINDINGS
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO FINGERPRINT OR TIMELY FINGERPRINT
ASSOCIATED PERSONS. AFTER THE FIRM'S ACQUISITION, BY A BANKING
CORPORATION, CERTAIN JOB FUNCTIONS WERE CONSOLIDATED OR
ELIMINATED AND EMPLOYEES WERE TRANSFERRED, ASSUMED NEW JOB
RESPONSIBILITIES, AND/OR WERE DISMISSED AND LATER REHIRED. AS A
RESULT OF THIS REORGANIZATION PROCESS, A NUMBER OF THE
BANKING CORPORATION'S EMPLOYEES WHO HAD NEVER BEEN
FINGERPRINTED BECAME ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM. THE FIRM DID
NOT CREATE A SYSTEM TO IDENTIFY THE NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS WHO REQUIRED FINGERPRINTING AND SCREENING BECAUSE
THEY HAD BECOME ASSOCIATED WITH IT DUE TO THE REORGANIZATION.
THUS, MANY OF THESE ASSOCIATED PERSONS, WHOSE NEW JOB
FUNCTIONS OR RESPONSIBILITIES REQUIRED THEM TO BE
FINGERPRINTED, WERE NOT FINGERPRINTED. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO
IDENTIFY OTHER PERSONS WHO WERE SUBSEQUENTLY HIRED OR
RETAINED WHO WERE REQUIRED TO BE FINGERPRINTED. FINALLY, THE
FIRM DID NOT FINGERPRINT AROUND 240 INDIVIDUALS BEFORE THEY
STARTED TO WORK FOR IT IN CAPACITIES THAT REQUIRED
FINGERPRINTING. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO FINGERPRINT 1,115
NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS AT ALL, AND FAILED TO
FINGERPRINT ANOTHER 240 NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS
BEFORE THEY BEGAN TO WORK FOR IT. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT
THE FIRM FAILED TO FULLY SCREEN NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS TO ENSURE THEY WERE NOT SUBJECT TO A STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION BEFORE THEY ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM. THE FIRM
REVIEWED MOST OF THESE ASSOCIATED PERSONS UNDER THE
PROVISIONS OF SECTION 19 OF THE FEDERAL INSURANCE DEPOSIT ACT
BUT NOT UNDER THE MORE EXPANSIVE PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND FINRA BY-LAWS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM ALLOWED
ONE PERSON, WHO WAS SUBJECT TO DISQUALIFICATION BECAUSE HE
HAD BEEN CONVICTED OF A DRUG-RELATED FELONY, TO ASSOCIATE WITH
IT, BUT WAS NOT FINGERPRINTED OR SCREENED AT THAT TIME. THE FIRM
FIRST LEARNED THAT HE WAS SUBJECT TO A DISQUALIFICATION AFTER IT
SUBMITTED FINGERPRINTS THROUGH THE CRD AND REVIEWED RELATED
CRIMINAL RECORDS. THE FIRM ULTIMATELY TERMINATED HIS
ASSOCIATION. THE FIRM COULD NOT DETERMINE WHETHER ANOTHER 115
NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS WERE SUBJECT TO STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION BECAUSE THEIR ASSOCIATIONS WITH IT TERMINATED
BEFORE IT WAS ABLE TO SCREEN THEM FOR STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO CREATE FOR THE PERSON WHO WAS SUBJECT TO DISQUALIFICATION
A QUESTIONNAIRE OR APPLICATION APPROVED IN WRITING BY AN
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE FIRM THAT CONTAINED, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, A RECORD OF HIS ARREST AND FELONY CONVICTION, AS
REQUIRED BY SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE
17A-3(A)(12)(I)(G). IN ADDITION, THE FIRM DID NOT CREATE FINGERPRINT
RECORDS FOR ALL OF ITS ELIGIBLE ASSOCIATED PERSONS, AS
REQUIRED BY SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE
17A-3(A)(13). FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO IDENTIFY ALL OF ITS ASSOCIATED
PERSONS, TO SCREEN THEM FOR STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION AS
REQUIRED BY FINRA BY-LAWS, AND TO FINGERPRINT ELIGIBLE
ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES THAT WERE DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, INCLUDING: THE RECORDKEEPING PROVISIONS, THE
FINGERPRINTING PROVISIONS, AND FINRA ELIGIBILITY RULES.

Resolution Date: 12/16/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $1,250,000 AND REQUIRED TO REVIEW
ITS SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES REGARDING THE IDENTIFICATION,
FINGERPRINTING, AND SCREENING OF NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS TO ENSURE THAT CURRENT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES ARE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH ALL SECURITIES
LAWS AND REGULATIONS, INCLUDING SECTIONS 17(A) AND 17(F) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3 AND 17F-2 THEREUNDER, THE
FINRA BY-LAWS, ARTICLE III, SECTION 3(B), AND FINRA RULE 4511.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON DECEMBER 22, 2015.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,250,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY (FINRA) ALLEGED
THAT FROM JANUARY 2009 THROUGH OCTOBER 28, 2013, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MERRILL LYNCH) DID NOT
CONDUCT ADEQUATE BACKGROUND CHECKS ON APPROXIMATELY 4,500
NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS, AFTER ITS ACQUISITION BY
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND THE RESULTING ORGANIZATIONAL
CHANGES.  OF THAT TOTAL, APPROXIMATELY 3,145 WERE
FINGERPRINTED, BUT WERE SCREENED UNDER THE STANDARDS
APPLICABLE TO BANKS AND NOT TO BROKER-DEALERS; APPROXIMATELY
1,115 WERE NOT FINGERPRINTED; AND APPROXIMATELY 240 WERE NOT
FINGERPRINTED UNTIL AFTER THEY JOINED MERRILL LYNCH.  AS A
RESULT, FINRA ALLEGED INDIVIDUALS WERE NOT PROPERLY SCREENED
FOR STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATIONS UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) (AND ONE PERSON SUBJECT
TO AN EXCHANGE ACT STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION ACTUALLY
ASSOCIATED WITH MERRILL LYNCH); MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT HAVE
ADEQUATE RECORDS AND MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE THE FINGERPRINTING PROCESS.  FINRA ALLEGED
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17F-2
THEREUNDER; SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 17A-
3(A)(12)(I)(G) AND 17A-3(A)(13) THEREUNDER; ARTICLE III, SECTION 3(B) OF
THE FINRA BY-LAWS; NASD RULE 3010 AND FINRA RULES 4511 AND 2010.
MERRILL LYNCH ACCEPTED AND CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF AN AWC,
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/16/2015

Docket/Case Number: AWC NO. 2013038772501

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY (FINRA) ALLEGED
THAT FROM JANUARY 2009 THROUGH OCTOBER 28, 2013, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MERRILL LYNCH) DID NOT
CONDUCT ADEQUATE BACKGROUND CHECKS ON APPROXIMATELY 4,500
NON-REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS, AFTER ITS ACQUISITION BY
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND THE RESULTING ORGANIZATIONAL
CHANGES.  OF THAT TOTAL, APPROXIMATELY 3,145 WERE
FINGERPRINTED, BUT WERE SCREENED UNDER THE STANDARDS
APPLICABLE TO BANKS AND NOT TO BROKER-DEALERS; APPROXIMATELY
1,115 WERE NOT FINGERPRINTED; AND APPROXIMATELY 240 WERE NOT
FINGERPRINTED UNTIL AFTER THEY JOINED MERRILL LYNCH.  AS A
RESULT, FINRA ALLEGED INDIVIDUALS WERE NOT PROPERLY SCREENED
FOR STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATIONS UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (EXCHANGE ACT) (AND ONE PERSON SUBJECT
TO AN EXCHANGE ACT STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION ACTUALLY
ASSOCIATED WITH MERRILL LYNCH); MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT HAVE
ADEQUATE RECORDS AND MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE THE FINGERPRINTING PROCESS.  FINRA ALLEGED
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17F-2
THEREUNDER; SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 17A-
3(A)(12)(I)(G) AND 17A-3(A)(13) THEREUNDER; ARTICLE III, SECTION 3(B) OF
THE FINRA BY-LAWS; NASD RULE 3010 AND FINRA RULES 4511 AND 2010.
MERRILL LYNCH ACCEPTED AND CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF AN AWC,
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS.

Resolution Date: 12/16/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A
CENSURE, (2) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,250,000, AND (3) A CERTAIN
UNDERTAKING.  THE FINE WAS TIMELY PAID ON DECEMBER 22, 2015.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,250,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A
CENSURE, (2) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,250,000, AND (3) A CERTAIN
UNDERTAKING.  THE FINE WAS TIMELY PAID ON DECEMBER 22, 2015.

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE AWC, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO AN
UNDERTAKING TO REVIEW ITS SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES REGARDING
THE IDENTIFICATION, FINGERPRINTING, AND SCREENING OF NON-
REGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO ENSURE THAT CURRENT
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH ALL SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, INCLUDING
SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3 THEREUNDER,
SECTION 17(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17F-2 THEREUNDER,
FINRA BY-LAWS ARTICLE III, SECTION 3(B), AND FINRA RULE 4511.

Disclosure 95 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/08/2016

Docket/Case Number: C2 15-0015/ 20150466172

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, AN
EXCHANGE TPH ORGANIZATION, WAS CENSURED AND FINED $75,000 FOR:
(I) FAILING TO REGISTER ITS FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONS PRINCIPAL AS A
FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONS PRINCIPAL (FN) WITH THE EXCHANGE IN
WEBCRD; (II) FAILING TO REGISTER TEN (10) ASSOCIATED PERSONS  AS A
PROPRIETARY TRADER PRINCIPAL ("TP") WITH THE EXCHANGE IN
WEBCRD; (III) FAILING TO REGISTER THE MINIMUM REQUIRED NUMBER OF
TPS WITH THE EXCHANGE IN WEBCRD; (IV) FAILING TO REGISTER
NUMEROUS ASSOCIATED PERSONS AS A PROPRIETARY TRADER ("PT")
WITH THE EXCHANGE IN WEBCRD; AND (V) FAILING TO REGISTER ITS
CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER AS A PROPRIETARY TRADER COMPLIANCE
OFFICER ("CT") WITH THE EXCHANGE IN WEBCRD (EXCHANGE RULE 3.4 -
QUALIFICATION AND REGISTRATION)

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 06/02/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A $75,000 FINE AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $75,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: C2 OPTIONS EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED (THE "EXCHANGE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/09/2015

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. C2 15-0015

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE C2 OPTIONS EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED (C2) ALLEGED THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO REGISTER ITS FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONS PRINCIPAL AS
A FINANCIAL/OPERATIONS PRINCIPAL WITH C2, FAILED TO REGISTER
CERTAIN ASSOCIATED PERSONS AS PROPRIETARY TRADER PRINCIPALS
(TP) WITH C2, FAILED TO REGISTER THE MINIMUM NUMBER OF TPS WITH
C2, FAILED TO REGISTER CERTAIN ASSOCIATED PERSONS AS
PROPRIETARY TRADERS WITH C2 AND FAILED TO REGISTER ITS CHIEF
COMPLIANCE OFFICER AS A PROPRIETARY TRADER COMPLIANCE
OFFICER WITH C2 IN VIOLATION OF C2 RULE 3.4.  THE FIRM SUBMITTED A
LETTER OF CONSENT, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A
VIOLATION OF C2 RULES WAS COMMITTED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/02/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF THE C2 RULES
WAS COMMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A CENSURE, AND (2) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT
OF $75,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $75,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF THE C2 RULES
WAS COMMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A CENSURE, AND (2) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT
OF $75,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF THE C2 RULES
WAS COMMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A CENSURE, AND (2) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT
OF $75,000.

Disclosure 96 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/14/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2013039305901

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
IMPLEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT REASONABLY AVOID
DISPLAYING, OR ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING,
LOCKING OR CROSSING QUOTATIONS IN ANY OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC)
EQUITY SECURITY. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND FINRA RULES, CONCERNING
FINRA RULE 6437.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/14/2015

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING: REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $17,500 AND REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES. FINE PAID IN FULL OCTOBER 27,
2015.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $17,500.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/14/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2013039305901

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT, DURING THE RELEVANT REVIEW PERIOD, IT
FAILED TO IMPLEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT REASONABLY
AVOID DISPLAYING, OR ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF
DISPLAYING, LOCKING OR CROSSING QUOTATIONS IN ANY OVER-THE-
COUNTER (OTC) EQUITY SECURITY. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT, DURING
THE RELEVANT REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID
NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, AND FINRA RULES, CONCERNING FINRA RULE 6437.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 09/14/2015

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING: REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES.

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $17,500 AND REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $17,500 AND REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $17,500.00

Disclosure 97 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
SHOW THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS ON THE MEMORANDUM OF 82
BROKERAGE ORDERS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ON FIVE OCCASIONS,
THE FIRM ACCEPTED A SHORT SALE ORDER IN AN EQUITY SECURITY
FROM ANOTHER PERSON, OR EFFECTED A SHORT SALE IN AN EQUITY
SECURITY FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT, WITHOUT: BORROWING THE
SECURITY, OR ENTERING INTO A BONA-FIDE ARRANGEMENT TO BORROW
THE SECURITY; OR HAVING REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT
THE SECURITY COULD BE BORROWED SO THAT IT COULD BE DELIVERED
ON THE DATE DELIVERY IS DUE; AND DOCUMENTING COMPLIANCE WITH
SEC RULE 203(B)(1) OF REGULATION SHO. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM TRANSMITTED 33 REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL
SYSTEM (OATS) THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE, OR
IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO APPEND THE SHORT SALE INDICATOR ON 24 TRADE
REPORTS SUBMITTED TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING
FACILITY FOR A SHORT SALE TRANSACTION IN A REPORTABLE SECURITY
AND FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY REPORTING BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME 12
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED A .RX MODIFIER. FINRA FOUND THAT FOR
THE MONTH OF APRIL 2012, THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE
COVERED ORDERS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES THAT IT
RECEIVED FOR EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON THAT INCLUDED
INACCURATE INFORMATION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/10/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2012031645001

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 08/10/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $70,000. FINE PAID IN FULL ON
SEPTEMBER 11, 2015.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $70,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
SHOW THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS ON THE MEMORANDUM OF 82
BROKERAGE ORDERS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ON FIVE OCCASIONS,
THE FIRM ACCEPTED A SHORT SALE ORDER IN AN EQUITY SECURITY
FROM ANOTHER PERSON, OR EFFECTED A SHORT SALE IN AN EQUITY
SECURITY FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT, WITHOUT: BORROWING THE
SECURITY, OR ENTERING INTO A BONA-FIDE ARRANGEMENT TO BORROW
THE SECURITY; OR HAVING REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT
THE SECURITY COULD BE BORROWED SO THAT IT COULD BE DELIVERED
ON THE DATE DELIVERY IS DUE; AND DOCUMENTING COMPLIANCE WITH
SEC RULE 203(B)(1) OF REGULATION SHO. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM TRANSMITTED 33 REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL
SYSTEM (OATS) THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE, OR
IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE
FAILED TO APPEND THE SHORT SALE INDICATOR ON 24 TRADE REPORTS
SUBMITTED TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY FOR A
SHORT SALE TRANSACTION IN A REPORTABLE SECURITY AND FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY
REPORTING BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME 12 TRANSACTIONS THAT
REQUIRED A .RX MODIFIER. FINRA FOUND THAT FOR THE MONTH OF APRIL
2012, THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED ORDERS IN
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES THAT IT RECEIVED FOR
EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON THAT INCLUDED INACCURATE
INFORMATION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/10/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2012031645001

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
SHOW THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS ON THE MEMORANDUM OF 82
BROKERAGE ORDERS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT ON FIVE OCCASIONS,
THE FIRM ACCEPTED A SHORT SALE ORDER IN AN EQUITY SECURITY
FROM ANOTHER PERSON, OR EFFECTED A SHORT SALE IN AN EQUITY
SECURITY FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT, WITHOUT: BORROWING THE
SECURITY, OR ENTERING INTO A BONA-FIDE ARRANGEMENT TO BORROW
THE SECURITY; OR HAVING REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT
THE SECURITY COULD BE BORROWED SO THAT IT COULD BE DELIVERED
ON THE DATE DELIVERY IS DUE; AND DOCUMENTING COMPLIANCE WITH
SEC RULE 203(B)(1) OF REGULATION SHO. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM TRANSMITTED 33 REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL
SYSTEM (OATS) THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE, OR
IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE
FAILED TO APPEND THE SHORT SALE INDICATOR ON 24 TRADE REPORTS
SUBMITTED TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY FOR A
SHORT SALE TRANSACTION IN A REPORTABLE SECURITY AND FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY
REPORTING BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME 12 TRANSACTIONS THAT
REQUIRED A .RX MODIFIER. FINRA FOUND THAT FOR THE MONTH OF APRIL
2012, THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED ORDERS IN
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES THAT IT RECEIVED FOR
EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON THAT INCLUDED INACCURATE
INFORMATION.

Resolution Date: 08/10/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $70,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $70,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $70,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 98 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL
PIERCE") AND MERRILL LYNCH PROFESSIONAL CLEARING CORP.
("MERRILL PRO"), BOTH EXCHANGE TPH ORGANIZATIONS, WERE
CENSURED AND FINED BY CBOE AND THE OTHER OPTIONS EXCHANGES
IDENTIFIED BELOW  IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,000,000, OF WHICH $4,500,000
WAS PAYABLE TO CBOE.  IN ADDITION, MERRILL PIERCE AND MERRILL PRO
AGREED TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.   MERRILL PIERCE (I) MARKED AND
EXECUTED NUMEROUS ORDERS WITH AN INCORRECT ORDER ORIGIN
CODE; (II) FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
EXCHANGE RULES.  SPECIFICALLY, MERRILL PIERCE FAILED TO ASSURE
THAT ITS SALES TRADERS AND FLOOR BROKERS UNDERSTOOD THE
IMPORTANCE AND PURPOSE OF ORDER ORIGIN CODES AND THAT
ORDERS WERE MARKED AND EXECUTED WITH CORRECT ORDER ORIGIN
CODES; AND (III) FAILED TO MAINTAIN ACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS
AS IT RELATES TO ITS ELECTRONIC ORDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM,
ELECTRONIC ORDER LOG AND ELECTRONIC ORDER AUDIT TRAIL
RECORDS THAT CONTAINED, COMMUNICATED AND/OR CAUSED MERRILL
PIERCE TRADERS TO COMMUNICATE AN INCORRECT ORDER ORIGIN
CODE TO THE EXCHANGE ON NUMEROUS ORDERS.  MERRILL PRO (I)
MARKED AND EXECUTED NUMEROUS ORDERS WITH AN INCORRECT
ORDER ORIGIN CODE; AND (II) FAILED TO MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM OF REVIEW AND OVERSIGHT DESIGNED TO DETECT, PREVENT
AND REMEDY ISSUES RELATED TO PROPER ORDER ORIGIN CODE USE.  IN
ADDITION, MERRILL PRO FAILED TO ASSURE ORDERS WERE EXECUTED
AND CLEARED WITH CORRECT ORDER ORIGIN CODES, INCLUDING BUT
NOT LIMITED TO NUMEROUS ORDERS THAT MERRILL PRO SUBMITTED TO
THE EXCHANGE AND SUBSEQUENTLY MADE A POST-TRADE OR OCC
ADJUSTMENT TO THE INACCURATE ORDER ORIGIN CODE ON BEHALF OF
MERRILL PRO'S PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS.  (MERRILL PIERCE: EXCHANGE
RULES 4.2 - ADHERENCE TO LAW, 4.22 - COMMUNICATIONS TO THE
EXCHANGE OR THE CLEARING CORPORATION, 6.51 - REPORTING DUTIES
AND 15.1 - MAINTENANCE, RETENTION AND FURNISHING OF BOOKS,
RECORDS AND OTHER INFORMATION; SECTION 17(A) OF THE ACT AND
RULE 17A-3 - RECORDS TO BE MADE BY CERTAIN EXCHANGE MEMBERS,
BROKERS AND DEALERS THEREUNDER;  MERRILL PRO: EXCHANGE
RULES 4.2 - ADHERENCE TO LAW, 4.22 - COMMUNICATIONS TO THE
EXCHANGE OR THE CLEARING CORPORATION, AND 6.51 - REPORTING
DUTIES)

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 05/11/2015

Docket/Case Number: 15-0052 / 20150453098

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL
PIERCE") AND MERRILL LYNCH PROFESSIONAL CLEARING CORP.
("MERRILL PRO"), BOTH EXCHANGE TPH ORGANIZATIONS, WERE
CENSURED AND FINED BY CBOE AND THE OTHER OPTIONS EXCHANGES
IDENTIFIED BELOW  IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,000,000, OF WHICH $4,500,000
WAS PAYABLE TO CBOE.  IN ADDITION, MERRILL PIERCE AND MERRILL PRO
AGREED TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.   MERRILL PIERCE (I) MARKED AND
EXECUTED NUMEROUS ORDERS WITH AN INCORRECT ORDER ORIGIN
CODE; (II) FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
EXCHANGE RULES.  SPECIFICALLY, MERRILL PIERCE FAILED TO ASSURE
THAT ITS SALES TRADERS AND FLOOR BROKERS UNDERSTOOD THE
IMPORTANCE AND PURPOSE OF ORDER ORIGIN CODES AND THAT
ORDERS WERE MARKED AND EXECUTED WITH CORRECT ORDER ORIGIN
CODES; AND (III) FAILED TO MAINTAIN ACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS
AS IT RELATES TO ITS ELECTRONIC ORDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM,
ELECTRONIC ORDER LOG AND ELECTRONIC ORDER AUDIT TRAIL
RECORDS THAT CONTAINED, COMMUNICATED AND/OR CAUSED MERRILL
PIERCE TRADERS TO COMMUNICATE AN INCORRECT ORDER ORIGIN
CODE TO THE EXCHANGE ON NUMEROUS ORDERS.  MERRILL PRO (I)
MARKED AND EXECUTED NUMEROUS ORDERS WITH AN INCORRECT
ORDER ORIGIN CODE; AND (II) FAILED TO MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM OF REVIEW AND OVERSIGHT DESIGNED TO DETECT, PREVENT
AND REMEDY ISSUES RELATED TO PROPER ORDER ORIGIN CODE USE.  IN
ADDITION, MERRILL PRO FAILED TO ASSURE ORDERS WERE EXECUTED
AND CLEARED WITH CORRECT ORDER ORIGIN CODES, INCLUDING BUT
NOT LIMITED TO NUMEROUS ORDERS THAT MERRILL PRO SUBMITTED TO
THE EXCHANGE AND SUBSEQUENTLY MADE A POST-TRADE OR OCC
ADJUSTMENT TO THE INACCURATE ORDER ORIGIN CODE ON BEHALF OF
MERRILL PRO'S PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS.  (MERRILL PIERCE: EXCHANGE
RULES 4.2 - ADHERENCE TO LAW, 4.22 - COMMUNICATIONS TO THE
EXCHANGE OR THE CLEARING CORPORATION, 6.51 - REPORTING DUTIES
AND 15.1 - MAINTENANCE, RETENTION AND FURNISHING OF BOOKS,
RECORDS AND OTHER INFORMATION; SECTION 17(A) OF THE ACT AND
RULE 17A-3 - RECORDS TO BE MADE BY CERTAIN EXCHANGE MEMBERS,
BROKERS AND DEALERS THEREUNDER;  MERRILL PRO: EXCHANGE
RULES 4.2 - ADHERENCE TO LAW, 4.22 - COMMUNICATIONS TO THE
EXCHANGE OR THE CLEARING CORPORATION, AND 6.51 - REPORTING
DUTIES)
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/23/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL PIERCE AGREES TO AN UNDERTAKING PURSUANT TO WHICH AT
INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE BY THE
BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE OF THIS LETTER OF CONSENT, MERRILL
PIERCE SHALL PRODUCE TO CBOE, IN CARE OF FINRA MARKET
REGULATION - LEGAL (CHICAGO), ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES PERTAINING TO ORDER ORIGIN CODES AS WELL AS ANY
UPDATES TO ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES PERTAINING TO
ORDER ORIGIN CODES.  MERRILL PRO AGREES TO AN UNDERTAKING TO
REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Sanction Details: A CENSURE OF MERRILL PIERCE AND MERRILL PRO AND A TOTAL FINE
IMPOSED BY CBOE AND THE OTHER OPTIONS EXCHANGES IDENTIFIED
BELOW  IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,000,000, OF WHICH $4,500,000 SHALL BE
PAID TO CBOE. (THE BALANCE OF THE FINE AMOUNT WILL BE PAID TO
BATS EXCHANGE, INC.; BOX OPTIONS EXCHANGE LLC; NASDAQ OMX BX,
INC.; NASDAQ OMX PHLX LLC; NASDAQ STOCK MARKET LLC; AND NYSE
REGULATION, INC. ON BEHALF OF NYSE ARCA INC. AND NYSE MKT LLC) IN
ADDITION, MERRILL PIERCE AND MERRILL PRO AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,500,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULES HAS BEEN COMMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE
FOLLOWING STIPULATION OF FACTS AND FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS:
FROM ON OR ABOUT JANUARY 2004 THROUGH ON OR ABOUT FEBRUARY
2014, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND
CERTAIN CBOE RULES BY IMPROPERLY MARKING NUMEROUS OPTIONS
ORDERS ON BEHALF OF BROKER-DEALERS WITH INCORRECT OPTION
ORIGIN CODES THAT WERE THEREAFTER SENT TO THE EXCHANGE
THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO
SEND OPTIONS ORDERS, RESULTING IN (I) TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY
THE FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED ADHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED
TO EXECUTION PRIORITY; (II) POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE
EXECUTION PRICE AND/OR CONTRACT QUALITY OF OTHER MARKET
PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; (III) AN INACCURATE EXCHANGE AUDIT TRAIL
AND INACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS; (IV) TRADES BEING REPORT TO
THE OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION WITH INACCURATE TRADE
DETAILS; AND (V) AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO
SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.  IN ADDITION, THE STAFF CONCLUDED THAT
THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THE IMPROPER
MARKING, EXECUTION AND CLEARANCE OF INCORRECT ORDER ORIGIN
CODES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/23/2015

Docket/Case Number: 15-0052

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULES HAS BEEN COMMITTED, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE
FOLLOWING STIPULATION OF FACTS AND FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS:
FROM ON OR ABOUT JANUARY 2004 THROUGH ON OR ABOUT FEBRUARY
2014, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND
CERTAIN CBOE RULES BY IMPROPERLY MARKING NUMEROUS OPTIONS
ORDERS ON BEHALF OF BROKER-DEALERS WITH INCORRECT OPTION
ORIGIN CODES THAT WERE THEREAFTER SENT TO THE EXCHANGE
THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO
SEND OPTIONS ORDERS, RESULTING IN (I) TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY
THE FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED ADHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED
TO EXECUTION PRIORITY; (II) POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE
EXECUTION PRICE AND/OR CONTRACT QUALITY OF OTHER MARKET
PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; (III) AN INACCURATE EXCHANGE AUDIT TRAIL
AND INACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS; (IV) TRADES BEING REPORT TO
THE OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION WITH INACCURATE TRADE
DETAILS; AND (V) AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO
SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.  IN ADDITION, THE STAFF CONCLUDED THAT
THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THE IMPROPER
MARKING, EXECUTION AND CLEARANCE OF INCORRECT ORDER ORIGIN
CODES.

Resolution Date: 06/23/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $9,000,000, OF WHICH $4,500,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO THE CBOE, AND UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $9,000,000, OF WHICH $4,500,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO THE CBOE, AND UNDERTAKES TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 99 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX PHLX, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 05/29/2015

Docket/Case Number: 20110277299

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): VARIOUS SECURITIES

Allegations: ENFORCEMENT NO. 2015-04, MAY 29, 2015: THE BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE (THE "COMMITTEE"), PURSUANT TO RULE 960.2(F) OF THE
RULES OF NASDAQ OMX PHLX, LLC ("EXCHANGE RULES") AND UPON
INFORMATION AND BELIEF, HEREBY AUTHORIZES THE ISSUANCE OF THIS
STATEMENT OF CHARGES AND ALLEGES MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED AND ANOTHER ENTITY VIOLATED
CERTAIN EXCHANGE RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN
ENTERING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF THEIR BROKER-DEALER
CLIENTS. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS
WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE
EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY
THE RESPONDENTS TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS, RESULTING IN
TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE RESPONDENTS THAT MAY HAVE
TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED TO EXECUTION PRIORITY;
POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION PRICE AND QUANTITY
OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; AN INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL
AND INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; TRADES BEING REPORTED TO THE
OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) WITH INACCURATE TRADE
DETAILS; AND AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO
SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS. ADDITIONALLY, THE STAFF CONCLUDED
THAT THE RESPONDENTS HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO
THESE MATTERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/08/2015

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $9,000,000, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY,
AND AGREES TO AN UNDERTAKING REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE WITH
EXCHANGE RULES, POLICIES AND PRACTICES GOVERNING THE
INCLUSION OF ACCURATE ACCOUNT ORGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION RECORDS AND DATA.

Regulator Statement THIS MATTER ALSO INVOLVED FINRA CASE #: 20110277298
ENFORCEMENT NO. 2015-04, JUNE 8, 2015: THE DECISION OF THE
BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ("COMMITTEE") OF NASDAQ OMX PHLX
LLC ("PHLX" OR THE "EXCHANGE") IN THIS MATTER IS THAT THE
RESPONDENTS STIPULATE TO THE FACTS, CONSENT TO THE
CONCLUSION OF VIOLATIONS OF CERTAIN FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS
AND EXCHANGE RULES, AND CONSENT TO THE IMPOSITION OF
SANCTIONS SPECIFICALLY INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO,
CONSENTING TO PAY THE FINE IMPOSED BY THE COMMITTEE
CONSISTENT WITH THE OFFER, AND TO COMPLY WITH ALL OTHER
SANCTIONS, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OR
CONCLUSIONS IN THE STATEMENT OF CHARGES. THE COMMITTEE
ACCEPTS THE STIPULATION OF FACTS, AND ON THE BASIS THEREOF
FINDS THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
AND THE OTHER ENTITY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND SEC RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) THEREUNDER, AND PHLX RULES 707,
748(B), (D), (G), LATER (H), 760, 785(C), 1014(G)(I)(A), 1053(IX), AND
1063(E)(I).

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ON BEHALF OF THE EXCHANGE, THE STAFF OF FINRA'S MARKET
REGULATION STAFF CONDUCTED A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S ORDER ENTRY
ACTIVITIES IN THEIR CAPACITY AS A MEMBER ORGANIZATION DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN 2004 AND 2014 (THE "REVIEW PERIOD") FOR
COMPLIANCE WITH VARIOUS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN EXCHANGE
RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN ENTERING CERTAIN
ORDERS ON BEHALF OF THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS.  THE FIRM
IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH INCORRECT
ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE EXCHANGE THROUGH
VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO SEND
OPTION ORDERS, RESULTING IN THE FOLLOWING:  (I) TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED BY THE FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER
ORDERS ENTITLED TO EXECUTION PRIORITY; (II) POTENTIAL ADVERSE
IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET
PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; (III) AN INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND
INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; (IV) TRADES BEING REPORTED TO THE
OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC") WITH INACCURATE TRADE
DETAILS; AND (V) AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO
SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.  ADDITIONALLY, THE STAFF CONCLUDED
THAT THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE
MATTERS.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WAS FOUND TO HAVE VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SEC
RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, AND PHLX RULES 707,
748(B), (D), (G), LATER (H), 760, 785(C), 1014(G)(I)(A), 1053(IX), AND
1063(E)(I).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX PHLX LLC (THE "EXCHANGE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/28/2015

Docket/Case Number: 20110277299

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

ON BEHALF OF THE EXCHANGE, THE STAFF OF FINRA'S MARKET
REGULATION STAFF CONDUCTED A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S ORDER ENTRY
ACTIVITIES IN THEIR CAPACITY AS A MEMBER ORGANIZATION DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN 2004 AND 2014 (THE "REVIEW PERIOD") FOR
COMPLIANCE WITH VARIOUS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN EXCHANGE
RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN ENTERING CERTAIN
ORDERS ON BEHALF OF THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS.  THE FIRM
IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH INCORRECT
ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE EXCHANGE THROUGH
VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO SEND
OPTION ORDERS, RESULTING IN THE FOLLOWING:  (I) TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED BY THE FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER
ORDERS ENTITLED TO EXECUTION PRIORITY; (II) POTENTIAL ADVERSE
IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET
PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; (III) AN INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND
INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; (IV) TRADES BEING REPORTED TO THE
OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC") WITH INACCURATE TRADE
DETAILS; AND (V) AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO
SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.  ADDITIONALLY, THE STAFF CONCLUDED
THAT THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE
MATTERS.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WAS FOUND TO HAVE VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SEC
RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, AND PHLX RULES 707,
748(B), (D), (G), LATER (H), 760, 785(C), 1014(G)(I)(A), 1053(IX), AND
1063(E)(I).

Resolution Date: 06/08/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OR CONCLUSIONS,
THE FIRM CONSENTED TO A CENSURE, A JOINT AND SEVERAL FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $9,000,000, OF WHICH $1,125,000 SHALL BE PAID TO THE
EXCHANGE; AND TO AN UNDERTAKING PURSUANT TO WHICH AT
INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER THE DECISION ON THIS
OFFER BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION
TO THE EXCHANGE, IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH EXCHANGE RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF
ACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OR CONCLUSIONS,
THE FIRM CONSENTED TO A CENSURE, A JOINT AND SEVERAL FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $9,000,000, OF WHICH $1,125,000 SHALL BE PAID TO THE
EXCHANGE; AND TO AN UNDERTAKING PURSUANT TO WHICH AT
INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER THE DECISION ON THIS
OFFER BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION
TO THE EXCHANGE, IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH EXCHANGE RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF
ACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OR CONCLUSIONS,
THE FIRM CONSENTED TO A CENSURE, A JOINT AND SEVERAL FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $9,000,000, OF WHICH $1,125,000 SHALL BE PAID TO THE
EXCHANGE; AND TO AN UNDERTAKING PURSUANT TO WHICH AT
INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER THE DECISION ON THIS
OFFER BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION
TO THE EXCHANGE, IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH EXCHANGE RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF
ACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Disclosure 100 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: BATS EXCHANGE, INC. ("BATS")

Allegations: ON BEHALF OF BATS, THE STAFF OF FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION
DEPARTMENT CONDUCTED A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S ORDER ENTRY
ACTIVITIES IN THEIR CAPACITY AS AN OPTIONS MEMBER DURING THE
PERIOD BETWEEN FEBRUARY 2010 THROUGH 2014 (THE "REVIEW
PERIOD") FOR COMPLIANCE WITH BATS RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING
THE USE OF ORIGIN CODES.  DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM
VIOLATED CERTAIN BATS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN
ENTERING AND EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF THEIR
BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS.  THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS
OPTIONS ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE
ORDERS TO BATS THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS
EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO SEND OPTION ORDERS, RESULTING IN:  (I) AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; (II)
TRADES BEING REPORTED TO THE OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION
("OCC") WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS; AND (III) AN ADVERSE IMPACT
TO BATS'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS
OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.  ADDITIONALLY, THE
STAFF CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES
RELATED TO THESE MATTERS.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WAS FOUND TO
HAVE VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 AND SEC RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, AND
BATS RULES 5.1, 5.2, 18.1, 18.2(A)(2), 18.2(A)(6), 20.1(B)(4), 20.7(B)(17), AND
24.1(A).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BATS EXCHANGE, INC. ("BATS")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/09/2015

Docket/Case Number: 20110277299

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/09/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO A CENSURE, A JOINT AND SEVERAL FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,000,000,
OF WHICH $200,000 SHALL BE PAID TO BATS; AND TO AN UNDERTAKING
PURSUANT TO WHICH AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER
THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE AWC, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN
SUBMISSION TO BATS, IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH BATS'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF
ACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO A CENSURE, A JOINT AND SEVERAL FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,000,000,
OF WHICH $200,000 SHALL BE PAID TO BATS; AND TO AN UNDERTAKING
PURSUANT TO WHICH AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER
THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE AWC, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN
SUBMISSION TO BATS, IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH BATS'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF
ACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $200,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 101 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD (2004 TO 2014), MERRILL PIERCE AND
MERRILL PRO VIOLATED CERTAIN ISE RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS WHEN ENTERING AND EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF
OF THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS. THE FIRMS IMPROPERLY MARKED
NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND
SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRMS TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS,
RESULTING IN: (I) TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE FIRMS THAT MAY
HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED TO EXECUTION
PRIORITY; (II) POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION PRICE
AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; (III) AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; (IV)
TRADES BEING REPORTED TO OCC WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS;
AND (V) AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL
FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. ADDITIONALLY, THE STAFF CONCLUDED THAT THE
FIRMS HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS.
BY MARKING ORDERS WITH THE WRONG ORIGIN CODE, MERRILL PIERCE
AND MERRILL PRO VIOLATED OR CAUSED VIOLATIONS OF THE
FOLLOWING RULES: A.SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) PROMULGATED THEREUNDER
REQUIRING THAT MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS CREATE A MEMORANDUM OF
EACH ORDER, AND ANY OTHER INSTRUCTION, SHOWING THE TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF THE ORDER. B. ISE RULE 400, WHICH PROHIBITS
MEMBERS FROM ENGAGING IN ACTS OR PRACTICES INCONSISTENT WITH
JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE. C.ISE RULE 401, WHICH
PROHIBITS MEMBERS FROM VIOLATING THE EXCHANGE ACT OR RULES
THEREUNDER, ISE'S CONSTITUTION OR RULES, OR OCC RULES AS THEY
RELATE TO REPORTING OR CLEARING ISE TRANSACTIONS. D.ISE RULE
712(A), WHICH REQUIRES MEMBERS TO SUBMIT TRADE INFORMATION AS
PRESCRIBED BY THE EXCHANGE TO ALLOW THE EXCHANGE TO
PROPERLY PRIORITIZE AND MATCH ORDERS AND QUOTATIONS
PURSUANT TO ISE RULE 713 AND TO REPORT RESULTING TRANSACTIONS
TO OCC. E.RULE 713(C), WHICH GRANTS PRIORITY TO PRIORITY
CUSTOMER ORDERS OVER PROFESSIONAL ORDERS AND MARKET MAKER
QUOTES AT THE SAME PRICE IN THE SAME OPTIONS SERIES. F.ISE RULE
1400(A), WHICH REQUIRES MEMBERS TO MAKE AND PRESERVE RECORDS
PRESCRIBED BY ISE AND PRESCRIBED BY THE EXCHANGE ACT AND
RULES THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: INTERNATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 05/11/2015

Docket/Case Number: 20110277299

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD (2004 TO 2014), MERRILL PIERCE AND
MERRILL PRO VIOLATED CERTAIN ISE RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS WHEN ENTERING AND EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF
OF THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS. THE FIRMS IMPROPERLY MARKED
NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND
SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRMS TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS,
RESULTING IN: (I) TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE FIRMS THAT MAY
HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED TO EXECUTION
PRIORITY; (II) POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION PRICE
AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; (III) AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; (IV)
TRADES BEING REPORTED TO OCC WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS;
AND (V) AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL
FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. ADDITIONALLY, THE STAFF CONCLUDED THAT THE
FIRMS HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS.
BY MARKING ORDERS WITH THE WRONG ORIGIN CODE, MERRILL PIERCE
AND MERRILL PRO VIOLATED OR CAUSED VIOLATIONS OF THE
FOLLOWING RULES: A.SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) PROMULGATED THEREUNDER
REQUIRING THAT MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS CREATE A MEMORANDUM OF
EACH ORDER, AND ANY OTHER INSTRUCTION, SHOWING THE TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF THE ORDER. B. ISE RULE 400, WHICH PROHIBITS
MEMBERS FROM ENGAGING IN ACTS OR PRACTICES INCONSISTENT WITH
JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE. C.ISE RULE 401, WHICH
PROHIBITS MEMBERS FROM VIOLATING THE EXCHANGE ACT OR RULES
THEREUNDER, ISE'S CONSTITUTION OR RULES, OR OCC RULES AS THEY
RELATE TO REPORTING OR CLEARING ISE TRANSACTIONS. D.ISE RULE
712(A), WHICH REQUIRES MEMBERS TO SUBMIT TRADE INFORMATION AS
PRESCRIBED BY THE EXCHANGE TO ALLOW THE EXCHANGE TO
PROPERLY PRIORITIZE AND MATCH ORDERS AND QUOTATIONS
PURSUANT TO ISE RULE 713 AND TO REPORT RESULTING TRANSACTIONS
TO OCC. E.RULE 713(C), WHICH GRANTS PRIORITY TO PRIORITY
CUSTOMER ORDERS OVER PROFESSIONAL ORDERS AND MARKET MAKER
QUOTES AT THE SAME PRICE IN THE SAME OPTIONS SERIES. F.ISE RULE
1400(A), WHICH REQUIRES MEMBERS TO MAKE AND PRESERVE RECORDS
PRESCRIBED BY ISE AND PRESCRIBED BY THE EXCHANGE ACT AND
RULES THEREUNDER.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 05/20/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL PIERCE AND MERRILL PRO WERE JOINTLY FINED $9 MILLION OF
WHICH $1.35 MILLION WAS PAID TO ISE, THE BALANCE TO OTHER SRO'S.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,350,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ON BEHALF OF THE ISE STAFF, FINRA STAFF MEMBERS CONDUCTED A
REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S ORDER ENTRY ACTIVITIES IN THEIR CAPACITY AS
ELECTRONIC ACCESS MEMBERS DURING THE PERIOD BETWEEN 2004
AND 2014 (THE "REVIEW PERIOD") FOR COMPLIANCE WITH ISE RULES.
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN ISE RULES
AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN ENTERING AND EXECUTING
CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS.  THE
FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE ORDERS TO ISE THROUGH
VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO SEND
OPTION ORDERS, RESULTING IN:  (I) TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE
FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED TO
EXECUTION PRIORITY; (II) POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE
EXECUTION PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS'
ORDERS; (III) AN INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE ORDER
RECORDS; (IV) TRADES BEING REPORTED TO OCC WITH INACCURATE
TRADE DETAILS; AND (V) AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO ISE'S ABILITY TO
SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.  ADDITIONALLY, THE STAFF CONCLUDED
THAT THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE
MATTERS.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WAS FOUND TO HAVE VIOLATED OR
CAUSED VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED AND EXCHANGE ACT RULE 17A-
3(A)(6)(I) PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, AND ISE RULES 400, 401, 712(A),
713(C), AND 1400(A).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: INTERNATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE, LLC ("ISE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/20/2015

Docket/Case Number: 20110277299

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

ON BEHALF OF THE ISE STAFF, FINRA STAFF MEMBERS CONDUCTED A
REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S ORDER ENTRY ACTIVITIES IN THEIR CAPACITY AS
ELECTRONIC ACCESS MEMBERS DURING THE PERIOD BETWEEN 2004
AND 2014 (THE "REVIEW PERIOD") FOR COMPLIANCE WITH ISE RULES.
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN ISE RULES
AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN ENTERING AND EXECUTING
CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS.  THE
FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE ORDERS TO ISE THROUGH
VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO SEND
OPTION ORDERS, RESULTING IN:  (I) TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE
FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED TO
EXECUTION PRIORITY; (II) POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE
EXECUTION PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS'
ORDERS; (III) AN INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE ORDER
RECORDS; (IV) TRADES BEING REPORTED TO OCC WITH INACCURATE
TRADE DETAILS; AND (V) AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO ISE'S ABILITY TO
SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.  ADDITIONALLY, THE STAFF CONCLUDED
THAT THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE
MATTERS.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM WAS FOUND TO HAVE VIOLATED OR
CAUSED VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED AND EXCHANGE ACT RULE 17A-
3(A)(6)(I) PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, AND ISE RULES 400, 401, 712(A),
713(C), AND 1400(A).

Resolution Date: 06/03/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO A CENSURE, A JOINT AND SEVERAL FINE IN THE AMOUNT
OF $9,000,000, OF WHICH $1,350,000 SHALL BE PAID TO ISE; AND TO AN
UNDERTAKING PURSUANT TO WHICH AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND
360 DAYS AFTER THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE AWC, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A
WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO ISE, IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS
COMPLIANCE WITH ISE'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE
INCLUSION OF ACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION DATA.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO A CENSURE, A JOINT AND SEVERAL FINE IN THE AMOUNT
OF $9,000,000, OF WHICH $1,350,000 SHALL BE PAID TO ISE; AND TO AN
UNDERTAKING PURSUANT TO WHICH AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND
360 DAYS AFTER THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE AWC, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A
WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO ISE, IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS
COMPLIANCE WITH ISE'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE
INCLUSION OF ACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION DATA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,350,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Disclosure 102 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
EXECUTED NUMEROUS TRANSACTIONS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
ACROSS MULTIPLE MARKETS, INCLUDING THE NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET,
LLC (NOM). THE FIRM'S EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN
CODES RESULTED FROM CERTAIN ACCOUNTS HAVING BEEN ON-
BOARDED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES IN THEIR RESPECTIVE
ACCOUNT PROFILES, LIMITATIONS IN ITS ORDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
THAT FAILED TO INCLUDE ALL POTENTIAL ORIGIN CODE DESIGNATIONS
OR DEFAULTED TO AN IMPROPER ORIGIN CODE AT VARIOUS POINTS
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, AND FROM ERRORS MADE BY THE FIRM'S
EMPLOYEES WHEN PLACING ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS AT THE POINT
OF ORDER ACCEPTANCE, ENTRY, OR EXECUTION. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE FIRM TRADED MILLIONS OF
CONTRACTS BY EXECUTING ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES,
THE FIRM LACKED PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING ORDERS HAD BEEN
ENTERED WITH CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, AND FOR CONDUCTING
REVIEWS TO DETECT THAT ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED AND EXECUTED
WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. INSTEAD, THE FIRM ONLY LEARNED
ABOUT MISREPRESENTED ORDERS IN ISOLATION AND THEN ADDRESSED
EACH INSTANCE IN ISOLATION AND ON AN AD HOC BASIS. THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT DESPITE THE KNOWLEDGE THAT THE FIRM HAD OF
THE USE OF INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM DID NOT TAKE
MEASURES TO ENSURE THAT IT EXECUTED ORDERS WITH CORRECT
ORIGIN CODES, OR TO DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED
ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM BEGAN TAKING STEPS TO ADDRESS
THE EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AFTER
CONDUCTING A REVIEW THAT LED TO THE CREATION AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF EXCEPTION REPORTS TO IDENTIFY INSTANCES IN
WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, IT
STILL CONTINUED TRADING HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF CONTRACTS
EACH YEAR WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. FINRA FOUND THAT EACH
INSTANCE IN WHICH THE FIRM EXECUTED AN ORDER WITH AN
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODE COULD HAVE HAD ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES,
SUCH AS CREATING INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS, CREATING AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL, REPORTING TRADES TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS, AND
ADVERSELY IMPACTING NOM'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT
POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH NOM'S ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS. SPECIFICALLY
THE FIRM FAILED TO: (I) REASONABLY ADDRESS ORIGIN CODE
REQUIREMENTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT AND PROGRAMMING OF ITS
ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; (II) MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE EXCHANGE'S RULES RELATING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ORIGIN
CODES; (III) ADEQUATELY TRAIN THEIR EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO
THE SIGNIFICANCE OF PROPERLY MARKING ORIGIN CODES IN THEIR
ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; AND (IV) ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THEIR
EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPER MARKING OF ORIGIN
CODES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/23/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027729904

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
EXECUTED NUMEROUS TRANSACTIONS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
ACROSS MULTIPLE MARKETS, INCLUDING THE NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET,
LLC (NOM). THE FIRM'S EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN
CODES RESULTED FROM CERTAIN ACCOUNTS HAVING BEEN ON-
BOARDED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES IN THEIR RESPECTIVE
ACCOUNT PROFILES, LIMITATIONS IN ITS ORDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
THAT FAILED TO INCLUDE ALL POTENTIAL ORIGIN CODE DESIGNATIONS
OR DEFAULTED TO AN IMPROPER ORIGIN CODE AT VARIOUS POINTS
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, AND FROM ERRORS MADE BY THE FIRM'S
EMPLOYEES WHEN PLACING ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS AT THE POINT
OF ORDER ACCEPTANCE, ENTRY, OR EXECUTION. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE FIRM TRADED MILLIONS OF
CONTRACTS BY EXECUTING ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES,
THE FIRM LACKED PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING ORDERS HAD BEEN
ENTERED WITH CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, AND FOR CONDUCTING
REVIEWS TO DETECT THAT ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED AND EXECUTED
WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. INSTEAD, THE FIRM ONLY LEARNED
ABOUT MISREPRESENTED ORDERS IN ISOLATION AND THEN ADDRESSED
EACH INSTANCE IN ISOLATION AND ON AN AD HOC BASIS. THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT DESPITE THE KNOWLEDGE THAT THE FIRM HAD OF
THE USE OF INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM DID NOT TAKE
MEASURES TO ENSURE THAT IT EXECUTED ORDERS WITH CORRECT
ORIGIN CODES, OR TO DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED
ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM BEGAN TAKING STEPS TO ADDRESS
THE EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AFTER
CONDUCTING A REVIEW THAT LED TO THE CREATION AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF EXCEPTION REPORTS TO IDENTIFY INSTANCES IN
WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, IT
STILL CONTINUED TRADING HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF CONTRACTS
EACH YEAR WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. FINRA FOUND THAT EACH
INSTANCE IN WHICH THE FIRM EXECUTED AN ORDER WITH AN
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODE COULD HAVE HAD ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES,
SUCH AS CREATING INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS, CREATING AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL, REPORTING TRADES TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS, AND
ADVERSELY IMPACTING NOM'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT
POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH NOM'S ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS. SPECIFICALLY
THE FIRM FAILED TO: (I) REASONABLY ADDRESS ORIGIN CODE
REQUIREMENTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT AND PROGRAMMING OF ITS
ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; (II) MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE EXCHANGE'S RULES RELATING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ORIGIN
CODES; (III) ADEQUATELY TRAIN THEIR EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO
THE SIGNIFICANCE OF PROPERLY MARKING ORIGIN CODES IN THEIR
ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; AND (IV) ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THEIR
EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPER MARKING OF ORIGIN
CODES.

Resolution Date: 06/23/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $9,000,000, OF
WHICH $225,000 SHALL BE PAID TO NOM, AND UNDERTAKES TO, AT
INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO NOM IN CARE OF FINRA,
REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE WITH NOM'S RULES AND POLICIES
GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION DATA.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $9,000,000, OF
WHICH $225,000 SHALL BE PAID TO NOM, AND UNDERTAKES TO, AT
INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO NOM IN CARE OF FINRA,
REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE WITH NOM'S RULES AND POLICIES
GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION DATA.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
EXECUTED NUMEROUS TRANSACTIONS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
ACROSS MULTIPLE MARKETS, INCLUDING THE NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET,
LLC (NOM). THE FIRM'S EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN
CODES RESULTED FROM CERTAIN ACCOUNTS HAVING BEEN ON-
BOARDED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES IN THEIR RESPECTIVE
ACCOUNT PROFILES, LIMITATIONS IN ITS ORDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
THAT FAILED TO INCLUDE ALL POTENTIAL ORIGIN CODE DESIGNATIONS
OR DEFAULTED TO AN IMPROPER ORIGIN CODE AT VARIOUS POINTS
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, AND FROM ERRORS MADE BY THE FIRM'S
EMPLOYEES WHEN PLACING ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS AT THE POINT
OF ORDER ACCEPTANCE, ENTRY, OR EXECUTION. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE FIRM TRADED MILLIONS OF
CONTRACTS BY EXECUTING ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES,
THE FIRM LACKED PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING ORDERS HAD BEEN
ENTERED WITH CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, AND FOR CONDUCTING
REVIEWS TO DETECT THAT ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED AND EXECUTED
WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. INSTEAD, THE FIRM ONLY LEARNED
ABOUT MISREPRESENTED ORDERS IN ISOLATION AND THEN ADDRESSED
EACH INSTANCE IN ISOLATION AND ON AN AD HOC BASIS. THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT DESPITE THE KNOWLEDGE THAT THE FIRM HAD OF
THE USE OF INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM DID NOT TAKE
MEASURES TO ENSURE THAT IT EXECUTED ORDERS WITH CORRECT
ORIGIN CODES, OR TO DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED
ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM BEGAN TAKING STEPS TO ADDRESS
THE EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AFTER
CONDUCTING A REVIEW THAT LED TO THE CREATION AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF EXCEPTION REPORTS TO IDENTIFY INSTANCES IN
WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, IT
STILL CONTINUED TRADING HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF CONTRACTS
EACH YEAR WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. FINRA FOUND THAT EACH
INSTANCE IN WHICH THE FIRM EXECUTED AN ORDER WITH AN
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODE COULD HAVE HAD ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES,
SUCH AS CREATING INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS, CREATING AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL, REPORTING TRADES TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS, AND
ADVERSELY IMPACTING
NOM'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF
ITS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE,
INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NOM'S ORIGIN
CODE REQUIREMENTS.

Current Status: Final

327©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE;UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/23/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027729904

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
EXECUTED NUMEROUS TRANSACTIONS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
ACROSS MULTIPLE MARKETS, INCLUDING THE NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET,
LLC (NOM). THE FIRM'S EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN
CODES RESULTED FROM CERTAIN ACCOUNTS HAVING BEEN ON-
BOARDED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES IN THEIR RESPECTIVE
ACCOUNT PROFILES, LIMITATIONS IN ITS ORDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
THAT FAILED TO INCLUDE ALL POTENTIAL ORIGIN CODE DESIGNATIONS
OR DEFAULTED TO AN IMPROPER ORIGIN CODE AT VARIOUS POINTS
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, AND FROM ERRORS MADE BY THE FIRM'S
EMPLOYEES WHEN PLACING ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS AT THE POINT
OF ORDER ACCEPTANCE, ENTRY, OR EXECUTION. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE FIRM TRADED MILLIONS OF
CONTRACTS BY EXECUTING ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES,
THE FIRM LACKED PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING ORDERS HAD BEEN
ENTERED WITH CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, AND FOR CONDUCTING
REVIEWS TO DETECT THAT ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED AND EXECUTED
WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. INSTEAD, THE FIRM ONLY LEARNED
ABOUT MISREPRESENTED ORDERS IN ISOLATION AND THEN ADDRESSED
EACH INSTANCE IN ISOLATION AND ON AN AD HOC BASIS. THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT DESPITE THE KNOWLEDGE THAT THE FIRM HAD OF
THE USE OF INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM DID NOT TAKE
MEASURES TO ENSURE THAT IT EXECUTED ORDERS WITH CORRECT
ORIGIN CODES, OR TO DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED
ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM BEGAN TAKING STEPS TO ADDRESS
THE EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AFTER
CONDUCTING A REVIEW THAT LED TO THE CREATION AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF EXCEPTION REPORTS TO IDENTIFY INSTANCES IN
WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, IT
STILL CONTINUED TRADING HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF CONTRACTS
EACH YEAR WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. FINRA FOUND THAT EACH
INSTANCE IN WHICH THE FIRM EXECUTED AN ORDER WITH AN
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODE COULD HAVE HAD ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES,
SUCH AS CREATING INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS, CREATING AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL, REPORTING TRADES TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS, AND
ADVERSELY IMPACTING
NOM'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF
ITS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE,
INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NOM'S ORIGIN
CODE REQUIREMENTS.

Resolution Date: 06/23/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED
$9,000,000, OF WHICH $225,000 SHALL BE PAID TO NOM, AND UNDERTAKES
TO, AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF
THIS AWC, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO NOM IN CARE OF FINRA,
REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE WITH NOM'S
RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN
CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $9,000,000, OF
WHICH $225,000 SHALL BE PAID TO NOM, AND UNDERTAKES TO, AT
INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO NOM IN CARE OF FINRA,
REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE WITH NOM'S RULES AND POLICIES
GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION DATA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Disclosure 103 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT WHEN
TRADING ON THE BOSTON OPTIONS EXCHANGE (BOX) AS A FACILITY OF
THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. CEASED, THE FIRM EXECUTED NUMEROUS
TRANSACTIONS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES ACROSS MULTIPLE
MARKETS, INCLUDING THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. THE FIRM'S EXECUTION
OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES RESULTED FROM CERTAIN
ACCOUNTS HAVING BEEN ON-BOARDED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
IN THEIR RESPECTIVE ACCOUNT PROFILES, LIMITATIONS IN ITS ORDER
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM THAT FAILED TO INCLUDE ALL POTENTIAL ORIGIN
CODE DESIGNATIONS OR DEFAULTED TO AN IMPROPER ORIGIN CODE AT
VARIOUS POINTS DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, AND FROM ERRORS
MADE BY THE FIRM'S EMPLOYEES WHEN PLACING ORIGIN CODES ON
ORDERS AT THE POINT OF ORDER ACCEPTANCE, ENTRY, OR EXECUTION.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE FIRM TRADED
MILLIONS OF CONTRACTS BY EXECUTING ORDERS WITH INCORRECT
ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM LACKED PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING
ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED WITH CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, AND FOR
CONDUCTING REVIEWS TO DETECT THAT ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED
AND EXECUTED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. INSTEAD, THE FIRM
ONLY LEARNED ABOUT MISREPRESENTED ORDERS IN ISOLATION AND
THEN ADDRESSED EACH INSTANCE IN ISOLATION AND ON AN AD HOC
BASIS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT DESPITE THE KNOWLEDGE THAT
THE FIRM HAD OF THE USE OF INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM DID
NOT TAKE MEASURES TO ENSURE THAT IT EXECUTED ORDERS WITH
CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, OR TO DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH IT HAD
EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. THE FINDINGS
ALSO INCLUDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM BEGAN TAKING STEPS TO
ADDRESS THE EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
AFTER CONDUCTING A REVIEW THAT LED TO THE CREATION AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF EXCEPTION REPORTS TO IDENTIFY INSTANCES IN
WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, IT
STILL CONTINUED TRADING HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF CONTRACTS
EACH YEAR WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, WHEN TRADING ON BOX AS
A FACILITY OF THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. CEASED. FINRA FOUND THAT
EACH INSTANCE IN WHICH THE FIRM EXECUTED AN ORDER WITH AN
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODE COULD HAVE HAD ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES,
SUCH AS CREATING INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS, CREATING AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL, REPORTING TRADES TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS, AND
ADVERSELY IMPACTING THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL
FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S ORIGIN
CODE REQUIREMENTS. SPECIFICALLY THE FIRM FAILED TO: (I)
REASONABLY ADDRESS ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS IN THE
DEVELOPMENT AND PROGRAMMING OF ITS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; (II)
MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S
RULES RELATING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ORIGIN CODES; (III)
ADEQUATELY TRAIN THEIR EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE
SIGNIFICANCE OF PROPERLY MARKING ORIGIN CODES IN THEIR ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS; AND (IV) ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THEIR EMPLOYEES
WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPER MARKING OF ORIGIN CODES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/23/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027729903

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT WHEN
TRADING ON THE BOSTON OPTIONS EXCHANGE (BOX) AS A FACILITY OF
THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. CEASED, THE FIRM EXECUTED NUMEROUS
TRANSACTIONS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES ACROSS MULTIPLE
MARKETS, INCLUDING THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. THE FIRM'S EXECUTION
OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES RESULTED FROM CERTAIN
ACCOUNTS HAVING BEEN ON-BOARDED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
IN THEIR RESPECTIVE ACCOUNT PROFILES, LIMITATIONS IN ITS ORDER
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM THAT FAILED TO INCLUDE ALL POTENTIAL ORIGIN
CODE DESIGNATIONS OR DEFAULTED TO AN IMPROPER ORIGIN CODE AT
VARIOUS POINTS DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, AND FROM ERRORS
MADE BY THE FIRM'S EMPLOYEES WHEN PLACING ORIGIN CODES ON
ORDERS AT THE POINT OF ORDER ACCEPTANCE, ENTRY, OR EXECUTION.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE FIRM TRADED
MILLIONS OF CONTRACTS BY EXECUTING ORDERS WITH INCORRECT
ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM LACKED PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING
ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED WITH CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, AND FOR
CONDUCTING REVIEWS TO DETECT THAT ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED
AND EXECUTED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. INSTEAD, THE FIRM
ONLY LEARNED ABOUT MISREPRESENTED ORDERS IN ISOLATION AND
THEN ADDRESSED EACH INSTANCE IN ISOLATION AND ON AN AD HOC
BASIS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT DESPITE THE KNOWLEDGE THAT
THE FIRM HAD OF THE USE OF INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM DID
NOT TAKE MEASURES TO ENSURE THAT IT EXECUTED ORDERS WITH
CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, OR TO DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH IT HAD
EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. THE FINDINGS
ALSO INCLUDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM BEGAN TAKING STEPS TO
ADDRESS THE EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
AFTER CONDUCTING A REVIEW THAT LED TO THE CREATION AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF EXCEPTION REPORTS TO IDENTIFY INSTANCES IN
WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, IT
STILL CONTINUED TRADING HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF CONTRACTS
EACH YEAR WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, WHEN TRADING ON BOX AS
A FACILITY OF THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. CEASED. FINRA FOUND THAT
EACH INSTANCE IN WHICH THE FIRM EXECUTED AN ORDER WITH AN
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODE COULD HAVE HAD ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES,
SUCH AS CREATING INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS, CREATING AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL, REPORTING TRADES TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS, AND
ADVERSELY IMPACTING THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL
FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S ORIGIN
CODE REQUIREMENTS. SPECIFICALLY THE FIRM FAILED TO: (I)
REASONABLY ADDRESS ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS IN THE
DEVELOPMENT AND PROGRAMMING OF ITS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; (II)
MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S
RULES RELATING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ORIGIN CODES; (III)
ADEQUATELY TRAIN THEIR EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE
SIGNIFICANCE OF PROPERLY MARKING ORIGIN CODES IN THEIR ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS; AND (IV) ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THEIR EMPLOYEES
WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPER MARKING OF ORIGIN CODES.

Resolution Date: 06/23/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $9,000,000, OF
WHICH $315,000 SHALL BE PAID TO THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., AND
UNDERTAKES TO, AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO THE
NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE
INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $9,000,000, OF
WHICH $315,000 SHALL BE PAID TO THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., AND
UNDERTAKES TO, AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO THE
NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE
INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT WHEN
TRADING ON THE BOSTON OPTIONS EXCHANGE (BOX) AS A FACILITY OF
THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. CEASED, THE FIRM EXECUTED NUMEROUS
TRANSACTIONS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES ACROSS MULTIPLE
MARKETS, INCLUDING THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. THE FIRM'S EXECUTION
OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES RESULTED FROM CERTAIN
ACCOUNTS HAVING BEEN ON-BOARDED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
IN THEIR RESPECTIVE ACCOUNT PROFILES, LIMITATIONS IN ITS ORDER
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM THAT FAILED TO INCLUDE ALL POTENTIAL ORIGIN
CODE DESIGNATIONS OR DEFAULTED TO AN IMPROPER ORIGIN CODE AT
VARIOUS POINTS DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, AND FROM ERRORS
MADE BY THE FIRM'S EMPLOYEES WHEN PLACING ORIGIN CODES ON
ORDERS AT THE POINT OF ORDER ACCEPTANCE, ENTRY, OR EXECUTION.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE FIRM TRADED
MILLIONS OF CONTRACTS BY EXECUTING ORDERS WITH INCORRECT
ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM LACKED PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING
ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED WITH CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, AND FOR
CONDUCTING REVIEWS TO DETECT THAT ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED
AND EXECUTED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. INSTEAD, THE FIRM
ONLY LEARNED ABOUT MISREPRESENTED ORDERS IN ISOLATION AND
THEN ADDRESSED EACH INSTANCE IN ISOLATION AND ON AN AD HOC
BASIS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT DESPITE THE KNOWLEDGE THAT
THE FIRM HAD OF THE USE OF INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM DID
NOT TAKE MEASURES TO ENSURE THAT IT EXECUTED ORDERS WITH
CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, OR TO DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH IT HAD
EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. THE FINDINGS
ALSO INCLUDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM BEGAN TAKING STEPS TO
ADDRESS THE EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
AFTER CONDUCTING A REVIEW THAT LED TO THE CREATION AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF EXCEPTION REPORTS TO IDENTIFY INSTANCES IN
WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, IT
STILL CONTINUED TRADING HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF CONTRACTS
EACH YEAR WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, WHEN TRADING ON BOX AS
A FACILITY OF THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. CEASED. FINRA FOUND THAT
EACH INSTANCE IN WHICH THE FIRM EXECUTED AN ORDER WITH AN
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODE COULD HAVE HAD ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES,
SUCH AS CREATING INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS, CREATING AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL, REPORTING TRADES TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS, AND
ADVERSELY IMPACTING THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL
FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S ORIGIN
CODE REQUIREMENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/23/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027729903

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT WHEN
TRADING ON THE BOSTON OPTIONS EXCHANGE (BOX) AS A FACILITY OF
THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. CEASED, THE FIRM EXECUTED NUMEROUS
TRANSACTIONS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES ACROSS MULTIPLE
MARKETS, INCLUDING THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. THE FIRM'S EXECUTION
OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES RESULTED FROM CERTAIN
ACCOUNTS HAVING BEEN ON-BOARDED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
IN THEIR RESPECTIVE ACCOUNT PROFILES, LIMITATIONS IN ITS ORDER
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM THAT FAILED TO INCLUDE ALL POTENTIAL ORIGIN
CODE DESIGNATIONS OR DEFAULTED TO AN IMPROPER ORIGIN CODE AT
VARIOUS POINTS DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, AND FROM ERRORS
MADE BY THE FIRM'S EMPLOYEES WHEN PLACING ORIGIN CODES ON
ORDERS AT THE POINT OF ORDER ACCEPTANCE, ENTRY, OR EXECUTION.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE FIRM TRADED
MILLIONS OF CONTRACTS BY EXECUTING ORDERS WITH INCORRECT
ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM LACKED PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING
ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED WITH CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, AND FOR
CONDUCTING REVIEWS TO DETECT THAT ORDERS HAD BEEN ENTERED
AND EXECUTED WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. INSTEAD, THE FIRM
ONLY LEARNED ABOUT MISREPRESENTED ORDERS IN ISOLATION AND
THEN ADDRESSED EACH INSTANCE IN ISOLATION AND ON AN AD HOC
BASIS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT DESPITE THE KNOWLEDGE THAT
THE FIRM HAD OF THE USE OF INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, THE FIRM DID
NOT TAKE MEASURES TO ENSURE THAT IT EXECUTED ORDERS WITH
CORRECT ORIGIN CODES, OR TO DETECT INSTANCES IN WHICH IT HAD
EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES. THE FINDINGS
ALSO INCLUDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRM BEGAN TAKING STEPS TO
ADDRESS THE EXECUTION OF ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES
AFTER CONDUCTING A REVIEW THAT LED TO THE CREATION AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF EXCEPTION REPORTS TO IDENTIFY INSTANCES IN
WHICH IT HAD EXECUTED ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, IT
STILL CONTINUED TRADING HUNDREDS OF THOUSANDS OF CONTRACTS
EACH YEAR WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES, WHEN TRADING ON BOX AS
A FACILITY OF THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. CEASED. FINRA FOUND THAT
EACH INSTANCE IN WHICH THE FIRM EXECUTED AN ORDER WITH AN
INCORRECT ORIGIN CODE COULD HAVE HAD ADVERSE CONSEQUENCES,
SUCH AS CREATING INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS, CREATING AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL, REPORTING TRADES TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION (OCC) WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS, AND
ADVERSELY IMPACTING THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL
FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S ORIGIN
CODE REQUIREMENTS.

Resolution Date: 06/23/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $9,000,000, OF
WHICH $315,000 SHALL BE PAID TO THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., AND
UNDERTAKES TO, AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO THE
NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE
INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $9,000,000, OF
WHICH $315,000 SHALL BE PAID TO THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., AND
UNDERTAKES TO, AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO THE
NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE
INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $315,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $9,000,000, OF
WHICH $315,000 SHALL BE PAID TO THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., AND
UNDERTAKES TO, AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO THE
NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE
WITH THE NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE
INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.

Disclosure 104 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, THE
HEARING OFFICER ACCEPTED THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT AND ISSUED A DECISION. A FINRA HEARING OFFICER
CONSIDERED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND CONSENT ENTERED INTO
BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF NYSE REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM.
THE FIRM VIOLATED 17A-3(A)(6)(1) THEREUNDER, AND NYSE ARCA
OPTIONS RULES 6.68(A)(8), 6.69, 11.1(B), 11.16(A), AND 11.18(A) BY FAILING
TO PLACE THE CORRECT ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS. RESPONDENT
ALSO VIOLATED NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULE 11.18 BY FAILING TO PROVIDE
AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING WRITTEN
PROCEDURES AND A SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, WITH
RESPECT TO COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULES AND
POLICIES GOVERNING THE USE OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS.
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN NYSE ARCA
OPTIONS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN ENTERING AND
EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF ITS BROKER-DEALER
CLIENTS. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS
WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE
EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY
THE FIRM TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS, RESULTING IN: TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED BY THE FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER
ORDERS ENTITLED TO EXECUTION PRIORITY; POTENTIAL ADVERSE
IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET
PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; AN INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE
ORDER RECORDS; TRADES BEING REPORTED TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC") WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS;
AND AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR
AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM
HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS.
THEREFORE, IN SUMMARY, THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS IN
THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO DO THE FOLLOWING: REASONABLY ADDRESS
ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT AND
PROGRAMMING OF ITS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; MAINTAIN WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES RELATING TO THE
ASSIGNMENT OF ORIGIN CODES; ADEQUATELY TRAIN ITS EMPLOYEES
WITH RESPECT TO THE SIGNIFICANCE OF PROPERLY MARKING ORIGIN
CODES IN ITS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; AND ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE ITS
EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPER MARKING OF ORIGIN
CODES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/27/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027729901

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, THE
HEARING OFFICER ACCEPTED THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT AND ISSUED A DECISION. A FINRA HEARING OFFICER
CONSIDERED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND CONSENT ENTERED INTO
BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF NYSE REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM.
THE FIRM VIOLATED 17A-3(A)(6)(1) THEREUNDER, AND NYSE ARCA
OPTIONS RULES 6.68(A)(8), 6.69, 11.1(B), 11.16(A), AND 11.18(A) BY FAILING
TO PLACE THE CORRECT ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS. RESPONDENT
ALSO VIOLATED NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULE 11.18 BY FAILING TO PROVIDE
AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING WRITTEN
PROCEDURES AND A SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, WITH
RESPECT TO COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULES AND
POLICIES GOVERNING THE USE OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS.
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN NYSE ARCA
OPTIONS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN ENTERING AND
EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF ITS BROKER-DEALER
CLIENTS. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS
WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE
EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY
THE FIRM TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS, RESULTING IN: TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED BY THE FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER
ORDERS ENTITLED TO EXECUTION PRIORITY; POTENTIAL ADVERSE
IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET
PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; AN INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE
ORDER RECORDS; TRADES BEING REPORTED TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC") WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS;
AND AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR
AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM
HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS.
THEREFORE, IN SUMMARY, THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SUPERVISORY
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN PLACE, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS IN
THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO DO THE FOLLOWING: REASONABLY ADDRESS
ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT AND
PROGRAMMING OF ITS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; MAINTAIN WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES RELATING TO THE
ASSIGNMENT OF ORIGIN CODES; ADEQUATELY TRAIN ITS EMPLOYEES
WITH RESPECT TO THE SIGNIFICANCE OF PROPERLY MARKING ORIGIN
CODES IN ITS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; AND ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE ITS
EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPER MARKING OF ORIGIN
CODES.

Resolution Date: 05/27/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $417,000.
ALSO, THE FIRM SHALL UNDERTAKE AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND
360 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THIS DECISION MAKE A WRITTEN
SUBMISSION TO NYSE REGULATION, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING
ITS COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES
GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION DATA.
THE FINE MUST BE PAID WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS DECISION
OR THE FIRM MAY FACE SUSPENSION, PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE
DECISION AND NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULE 13.2(A).

Regulator Statement THIS MATTER IS RELATED TO PROCEEDING NUMBER 20110277298.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $417,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, THE
HEARING OFFICER ACCEPTED THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT AND ISSUED A DECISION. A FINRA HEARING OFFICER
CONSIDERED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND CONSENT ENTERED INTO
BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF NYSE REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM.
THE FIRM VIOLATED 17A-3(A)(6)(1) THEREUNDER, AND NYSE ARCA
OPTIONS RULES 6.68(A)(8), 6.69, 11.1(B), 11.16(A), AND 11.18(A) BY FAILING
TO PLACE THE CORRECT ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS. THE FIRM ALSO
VIOLATED NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULE 11.18 BY FAILING TO PROVIDE AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING WRITTEN
PROCEDURES AND A SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, WITH
RESPECT TO COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULES AND
POLICIES GOVERNING THE USE OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS.
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN NYSE ARCA
OPTIONS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN ENTERING AND
EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF ITS BROKER-DEALER
CLIENTS. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS
WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE
EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY
THE FIRM TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS, RESULTING IN: TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED BY THE FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER
ORDERS ENTITLED TO EXECUTION PRIORITY; POTENTIAL ADVERSE
IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET
PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; AN INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE
ORDER RECORDS; TRADES BEING REPORTED TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC") WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS;
AND AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR
AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM
HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/27/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027729901

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, THE
HEARING OFFICER ACCEPTED THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
CONSENT AND ISSUED A DECISION. A FINRA HEARING OFFICER
CONSIDERED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND CONSENT ENTERED INTO
BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF NYSE REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM.
THE FIRM VIOLATED 17A-3(A)(6)(1) THEREUNDER, AND NYSE ARCA
OPTIONS RULES 6.68(A)(8), 6.69, 11.1(B), 11.16(A), AND 11.18(A) BY FAILING
TO PLACE THE CORRECT ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS. THE FIRM ALSO
VIOLATED NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULE 11.18 BY FAILING TO PROVIDE AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING WRITTEN
PROCEDURES AND A SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, WITH
RESPECT TO COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULES AND
POLICIES GOVERNING THE USE OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES ON ORDERS.
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD, THE FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN NYSE ARCA
OPTIONS RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS WHEN ENTERING AND
EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF ITS BROKER-DEALER
CLIENTS. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS
WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE
EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY
THE FIRM TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS, RESULTING IN: TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED BY THE FIRM THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER
ORDERS ENTITLED TO EXECUTION PRIORITY; POTENTIAL ADVERSE
IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET
PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; AN INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE
ORDER RECORDS; TRADES BEING REPORTED TO THE OPTIONS
CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC") WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS;
AND AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR
AND DETECT POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM
HAD SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS.

Resolution Date: 05/27/2015

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 05/27/2015

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $417,000.
ALSO, THE FIRM SHALL UNDERTAKE AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270, AND
360 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THIS DECISION MAKE A WRITTEN
SUBMISSION TO NYSE REGULATION, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING
ITS COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES
GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION DATA. THE FINE MUST BE PAID WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE DATE
OF THIS DECISION OR THE FIRM MAY FACE SUSPENSION, PURSUANT TO
THE TERMS OF THE DECISION AND NYSE ARCA OPTIONS RULE 13.2(A).

Firm Statement THIS MATTER IS RELATED TO PROCEEDING NUMBER 20110277298.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $417,000.00

Disclosure 105 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: A FINRA HEARING OFFICER CONSIDERED A STIPULATION OF FACTS AND
CONSENT TO PENALTY ENTERED INTO BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF
NYSE REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM. WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, THE FIRM STIPULATED TO THE
FACTS AND FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 16,
153, 324, 955(C)(1), 956NY(A)(8), 957NY(E), 963NY(A) AND (B), AND
964NY(B)(2)(A), AS WELL AS SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SEC RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) THEREUNDER BY
MISREPRESENTING OPTIONS ORDERS EXECUTED ON THE EXCHANGE
WITH INACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. RESPONDENT ALSO
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEMS
OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING
THE USE OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. DURING THE REVIEW THE FIRM
VIOLATED CERTAIN NYSE MKT RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS
WHEN ENTERING AND EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF
THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED
NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND
SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS,
RESULTING IN THE FOLLOWING: TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE FIRM
THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED TO
EXECUTION PRIORITY; POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION
PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; TRADES
BEING REPORTED TO THE OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC")
WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS; AND AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE
EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL
VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY
DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS. THEREFORE, IN SUMMARY,
THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN
PLACE, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
EXCHANGE'S ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
DO THE FOLLOWING: REASONABLY ADDRESS ORIGIN CODE
REQUIREMENTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT AND PROGRAMMING OF ITS
ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE EXCHANGE'S RULES RELATING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ORIGIN
CODES; ADEQUATELY TRAIN ITS EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE
SIGNIFICANCE OF PROPERLY MARKING ORIGIN CODES IN ITS ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS; AND ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES WITH
RESPECT TO THE PROPER MARKING OF ORIGIN CODES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NYSE MKT LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/27/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027729902

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

A FINRA HEARING OFFICER CONSIDERED A STIPULATION OF FACTS AND
CONSENT TO PENALTY ENTERED INTO BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF
NYSE REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM. WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, THE FIRM STIPULATED TO THE
FACTS AND FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 16,
153, 324, 955(C)(1), 956NY(A)(8), 957NY(E), 963NY(A) AND (B), AND
964NY(B)(2)(A), AS WELL AS SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SEC RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) THEREUNDER BY
MISREPRESENTING OPTIONS ORDERS EXECUTED ON THE EXCHANGE
WITH INACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. RESPONDENT ALSO
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEMS
OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING
THE USE OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. DURING THE REVIEW THE FIRM
VIOLATED CERTAIN NYSE MKT RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS
WHEN ENTERING AND EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF
THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED
NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND
SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS,
RESULTING IN THE FOLLOWING: TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE FIRM
THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED TO
EXECUTION PRIORITY; POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION
PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; TRADES
BEING REPORTED TO THE OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC")
WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS; AND AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE
EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL
VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY
DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS. THEREFORE, IN SUMMARY,
THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS IN
PLACE, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
EXCHANGE'S ORIGIN CODE REQUIREMENTS IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
DO THE FOLLOWING: REASONABLY ADDRESS ORIGIN CODE
REQUIREMENTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT AND PROGRAMMING OF ITS
ORDER ENTRY SYSTEMS; MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE EXCHANGE'S RULES RELATING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ORIGIN
CODES; ADEQUATELY TRAIN ITS EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE
SIGNIFICANCE OF PROPERLY MARKING ORIGIN CODES IN ITS ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS; AND ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES WITH
RESPECT TO THE PROPER MARKING OF ORIGIN CODES.

Resolution Date: 06/22/2015

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $868,000.00

Stipulation and Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED
$868,000. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM SHALL UNDERTAKE AT INTERVALS OF 90,
180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THIS DECISION MAKE A
WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO NYSE REGULATION, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA,
REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND
POLICIES GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN
ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA.
THE FINE WILL BE PAYABLE ON THE DATE ON WHICH THE DECISION
BECOMES FINAL. THE FIRM IS REQUIRED TO PAY THE FINE WITHIN 45
DAYS OF THAT DATE, OR IT MAY FACE SUMMARY SUSPENSION, PURSUANT
TO NYSE RULE 476(K).

Regulator Statement HEARING OFFICER DECISION RENDERED MAY 27, 2015; THEREFORE THE
FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $868,000.
IN ADDITION, THE FIRM SHALL UNDERTAKE AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270,
AND 360 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THIS DECISION MAKE A WRITTEN
SUBMISSION TO NYSE REGULATION, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING
ITS COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES
GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION DATA.
THE FIRM VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 16, 153, 324, 955(C)(1), 956NY(A)(8),
957NY(E), 963NY(A) AND (B), AND 964NY(B)(2)(A), AS WELL AS SECTION
17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SEC RULE 17A-
3(A)(6)(I) THEREUNDER BY MISREPRESENTING OPTIONS ORDERS
EXECUTED ON THE EXCHANGE WITH INACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN
CODES. RESPONDENT ALSO VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320 BY FAILING
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS,
INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE USE OF ACCOUNT
ORIGIN CODES.
THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AT THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON JUNE 22,
2015.

THIS PROCEEDING INCLUDES PROCEEDING NUMBER 20110277298

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $868,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: A FINRA HEARING OFFICER CONSIDERED A STIPULATION OF FACTS AND
CONSENT TO PENALTY ENTERED INTO BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF
NYSE REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM. WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, THE FIRM STIPULATED TO THE
FACTS AND FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 16,
153, 324, 955(C)(1), 956NY(A)(8), 957NY(E), 963NY(A) AND (B), AND
964NY(B)(2)(A), AS WELL AS SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SEC RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) THEREUNDER BY
MISREPRESENTING OPTIONS ORDERS EXECUTED ON THE EXCHANGE
WITH INACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. RESPONDENT ALSO
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEMS
OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING
THE USE OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. DURING THE REVIEW THE FIRM
VIOLATED CERTAIN NYSE MKT RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS
WHEN ENTERING AND EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF
THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED
NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND
SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS,
RESULTING IN THE FOLLOWING: TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE FIRM
THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED TO
EXECUTION PRIORITY; POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION
PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; TRADES
BEING REPORTED TO THE OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC")
WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS; AND AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE
EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL
VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY
DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NYSE MKT LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/27/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027729902

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: A FINRA HEARING OFFICER CONSIDERED A STIPULATION OF FACTS AND
CONSENT TO PENALTY ENTERED INTO BETWEEN FINRA ON BEHALF OF
NYSE REGULATION, INC. AND THE FIRM. WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, THE FIRM STIPULATED TO THE
FACTS AND FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 16,
153, 324, 955(C)(1), 956NY(A)(8), 957NY(E), 963NY(A) AND (B), AND
964NY(B)(2)(A), AS WELL AS SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SEC RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) THEREUNDER BY
MISREPRESENTING OPTIONS ORDERS EXECUTED ON THE EXCHANGE
WITH INACCURATE ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. RESPONDENT ALSO
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEMS
OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING
THE USE OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. DURING THE REVIEW THE FIRM
VIOLATED CERTAIN NYSE MKT RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS
WHEN ENTERING AND EXECUTING CERTAIN ORDERS ON BEHALF OF
THEIR BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY MARKED
NUMEROUS OPTIONS ORDERS WITH INCORRECT ORIGIN CODES AND
SENT THOSE ORDERS TO THE EXCHANGE THROUGH VARIOUS ORDER
ENTRY SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM TO SEND OPTIONS ORDERS,
RESULTING IN THE FOLLOWING: TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE FIRM
THAT MAY HAVE TRADED AHEAD OF OTHER ORDERS ENTITLED TO
EXECUTION PRIORITY; POTENTIAL ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE EXECUTION
PRICE AND QUANTITY OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS' ORDERS; AN
INACCURATE AUDIT TRAIL AND INACCURATE ORDER RECORDS; TRADES
BEING REPORTED TO THE OPTIONS CLEARING CORPORATION ("OCC")
WITH INACCURATE TRADE DETAILS; AND AN ADVERSE IMPACT TO THE
EXCHANGE'S ABILITY TO SURVEIL FOR AND DETECT POTENTIAL
VIOLATIONS OF ITS RULES AND OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM HAD SUPERVISORY
DEFICIENCIES RELATED TO THESE MATTERS.
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Resolution Date: 06/22/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED
$868,000. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM SHALL UNDERTAKE AT INTERVALS OF 90,
180, 270, AND 360 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THIS DECISION TO MAKE A
WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO NYSE REGULATION, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA,
REGARDING ITS COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND
POLICIES GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN
ORDER AND EXECUTION DATA. THE FINE WILL BE PAYABLE ON THE DATE
ON WHICH THE DECISION BECOMES FINAL. THE FIRM IS REQUIRED TO
PAY THE FINE WITHIN 45 DAYS OF THAT DATE, OR IT MAY FACE SUMMARY
SUSPENSION, PURSUANT TO NYSE RULE 476(K).

Firm Statement HEARING OFFICER DECISION RENDERED MAY 27, 2015; THEREFORE THE
FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED $868,000.
IN ADDITION, THE FIRM SHALL UNDERTAKE AT INTERVALS OF 90, 180, 270,
AND 360 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THIS DECISION TO MAKE A WRITTEN
SUBMISSION TO NYSE REGULATION, INC., IN CARE OF FINRA, REGARDING
ITS COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES
GOVERNING THE INCLUSION OF ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES IN ORDER AND
EXECUTION DATA. THE FIRM VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 16, 153, 324,
955(C)(1), 956NY(A)(8), 957NY(E), 963NY(A) AND (B), AND 964NY(B)(2)(A), AS
WELL AS SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AND SEC RULE 17A-3(A)(6)(I) THEREUNDER BY MISREPRESENTING
OPTIONS ORDERS EXECUTED ON THE EXCHANGE WITH INACCURATE
ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. RESPONDENT ALSO VIOLATED EXCHANGE
RULE 320 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT
ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP
AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE EXCHANGE'S RULES AND POLICIES GOVERNING THE USE OF
ACCOUNT ORIGIN CODES. THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AT THE CLOSE
OF BUSINESS ON JUNE 22, 2015. THIS PROCEEDING INCLUDES
PROCEEDING NUMBER 20110277298.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $868,000.00

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 106 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASES 33-9833; 34-75227, JUNE 18, 2015: THE SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED ("RESPONDENT").
RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES
ACT. THIS MATTER INVOLVES VIOLATIONS OF AN ANTIFRAUD PROVISION
OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH
RESPONDENT'S UNDERWRITING OF CERTAIN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
OFFERINGS. RESPONDENT, A REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER,
CONDUCTED INADEQUATE DUE DILIGENCE IN CERTAIN OFFERINGS AND
AS A RESULT, FAILED TO FORM A REASONABLE BASIS FOR BELIEVING THE
TRUTHFULNESS OF CERTAIN MATERIAL REPRESENTATIONS IN OFFICIAL
STATEMENTS ISSUED IN CONNECTION WITH THOSE OFFERINGS. THIS
RESULTED IN RESPONDENT OFFERING AND SELLING MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES ON THE BASIS OF MATERIALLY MISLEADING DISCLOSURE
DOCUMENTS.
THE VIOLATIONS WERE SELF-REPORTED BY RESPONDENT TO THE
COMMISSION PURSUANT TO THE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT'S (THE
 "DIVISION") MUNICIPALITIES CONTINUING DISCLOSURE COOPERATION
(MCDC) INITIATIVE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/18/2015

Docket/Case Number: 3-16626

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASES 33-9833; 34-75227, JUNE 18, 2015: THE SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED ("RESPONDENT").
RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES
ACT. THIS MATTER INVOLVES VIOLATIONS OF AN ANTIFRAUD PROVISION
OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH
RESPONDENT'S UNDERWRITING OF CERTAIN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
OFFERINGS. RESPONDENT, A REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER,
CONDUCTED INADEQUATE DUE DILIGENCE IN CERTAIN OFFERINGS AND
AS A RESULT, FAILED TO FORM A REASONABLE BASIS FOR BELIEVING THE
TRUTHFULNESS OF CERTAIN MATERIAL REPRESENTATIONS IN OFFICIAL
STATEMENTS ISSUED IN CONNECTION WITH THOSE OFFERINGS. THIS
RESULTED IN RESPONDENT OFFERING AND SELLING MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES ON THE BASIS OF MATERIALLY MISLEADING DISCLOSURE
DOCUMENTS.
THE VIOLATIONS WERE SELF-REPORTED BY RESPONDENT TO THE
COMMISSION PURSUANT TO THE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT'S (THE
 "DIVISION") MUNICIPALITIES CONTINUING DISCLOSURE COOPERATION
(MCDC) INITIATIVE.

Resolution Date: 06/18/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENT SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION
17(A)(2)OF THE SECURITIES ACT, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $500,000 AND COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS
ENUMERATED IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.

Regulator Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND SECTION 15(B) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER. IN VIEW OF THE
FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN
RESPONDENT'S OFFER. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT
RESPONDENT SHALL, CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF 17(A)(2)OF
THE SECURITIES ACT; WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS
ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $500,000 TO THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION; AND RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT
CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF RESPONDENT'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES AS THEY RELATE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
UNDERWRITING DUE DILIGENCE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASES 33-9833; 34-75227, JUNE 18, 2015: THE SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED ("RESPONDENT").
RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES
ACT. RESPONDENT, A REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER, CONDUCTED
INADEQUATE DUE DILIGENCE IN CERTAIN OFFERINGS AND AS A RESULT,
FAILED TO FORM A REASONABLE BASIS FOR BELIEVING THE
TRUTHFULNESS OF THE ASSERTIONS BY THESE ISSUERS AND/OR
OBLIGORS REGARDING THEIR COMPLIANCE WITH PREVIOUS CONTINUING
DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKINGS PURSUANT TO RULE 15C2-12.  THIS
RESULTED IN RESPONDENT OFFERING AND SELLING MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES ON THE BASIS OF MATERIALLY MISLEADING DISCLOSURE
DOCUMENTS. THE VIOLATIONS WERE SELF-REPORTED BY RESPONDENT
TO THE COMMISSION PURSUANT TO THE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT'S
(THE "DIVISION") MUNICIPALITIES CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
COOPERATION (MCDC) INITIATIVE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST;UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/18/2015

Docket/Case Number: 3-16626

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

SEC ADMIN RELEASES 33-9833; 34-75227, JUNE 18, 2015: THE SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED ("RESPONDENT").
RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES
ACT. RESPONDENT, A REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER, CONDUCTED
INADEQUATE DUE DILIGENCE IN CERTAIN OFFERINGS AND AS A RESULT,
FAILED TO FORM A REASONABLE BASIS FOR BELIEVING THE
TRUTHFULNESS OF THE ASSERTIONS BY THESE ISSUERS AND/OR
OBLIGORS REGARDING THEIR COMPLIANCE WITH PREVIOUS CONTINUING
DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKINGS PURSUANT TO RULE 15C2-12.  THIS
RESULTED IN RESPONDENT OFFERING AND SELLING MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES ON THE BASIS OF MATERIALLY MISLEADING DISCLOSURE
DOCUMENTS. THE VIOLATIONS WERE SELF-REPORTED BY RESPONDENT
TO THE COMMISSION PURSUANT TO THE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT'S
(THE "DIVISION") MUNICIPALITIES CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
COOPERATION (MCDC) INITIATIVE.

Resolution Date: 06/18/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENT SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION
17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $500,000 AND COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS
ENUMERATED IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.

Firm Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND SECTION 15(B) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER. IN VIEW OF THE
FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN
RESPONDENT'S OFFER. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT
RESPONDENT SHALL, CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF 17(A)(2) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT; WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS
ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $500,000 TO THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION; AND RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT
CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF RESPONDENT'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES AS THEY RELATE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
UNDERWRITING DUE DILIGENCE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND SECTION 15(B) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER. IN VIEW OF THE
FOREGOING, THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE
PUBLIC INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN
RESPONDENT'S OFFER. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT
RESPONDENT SHALL, CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF 17(A)(2) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT; WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS
ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $500,000 TO THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION; AND RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT
CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF RESPONDENT'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES AS THEY RELATE TO MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
UNDERWRITING DUE DILIGENCE.

Disclosure 107 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Date Initiated: 05/27/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027872601

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT
IT VIOLATED NYSE ARCA EQUITIES RULE 6.18 BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH
AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF SUPERVISION THAT WAS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE FULL COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 105 BY ITS
CUSTOMERS. THE FINDINGS STATED AS A RESULT THE FIRM'S RETAIL
CUSTOMERS EFFECTED SHORT SALES DURING RULE 105'S RESTRICTED
PERIOD AND BOUGHT SHARES OF THE SAME SECURITIES FROM THE FIRM
IN FOLLOW-ON OFFERINGS. THE FIRM FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE
STEPS TO PREVENT OR IDENTIFY THE TRANSACTIONS. THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED ARCA EQUITIES RULE 6.18 WITH
RESPECT TO ITS INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS' COMPLIANCE WITH RULE
105 IN THAT IT RELIED ON A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR THAT, IN SOME
INSTANCES, PROVIDED INACCURATE DATA, WHICH THE FIRM USED TO
CALCULATE THE RESTRICTED PERIOD FOR SURVEILLANCE PURPOSES.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Resolution Date: 05/27/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $300,000, AND UNDERTAKES TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND DESIGN REASONABLE
SURVEILLANCE SYSTEMS WITH RESPECT TO PREVENTING AND
DETECTING VIOLATIONS OF RULE 105 BY RETAIL CUSTOMERS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Date Initiated: 05/27/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011027872601

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT
IT VIOLATED NYSE ARCA EQUITIES RULE 6.18 BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH
AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM OF SUPERVISION THAT WAS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE FULL COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 105 BY ITS
CUSTOMERS. THE FINDINGS STATED AS A RESULT THE FIRM'S RETAIL
CUSTOMERS EFFECTED SHORT SALES DURING RULE 105'S RESTRICTED
PERIOD AND BOUGHT SHARES OF THE SAME SECURITIES FROM THE FIRM
IN FOLLOW-ON OFFERINGS. THE FIRM FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE
STEPS TO PREVENT OR IDENTIFY THE TRANSACTIONS. THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED ARCA EQUITIES RULE 6.18 WITH
RESPECT TO ITS INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS' COMPLIANCE WITH RULE
105 IN THAT IT RELIED ON A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR THAT, IN SOME
INSTANCES, PROVIDED INACCURATE DATA, WHICH THE FIRM USED TO
CALCULATE THE RESTRICTED PERIOD FOR SURVEILLANCE PURPOSES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: 2011027872601

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/27/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $300,000, AND UNDERTAKES TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND DESIGN REASONABLE
SURVEILLANCE SYSTEMS WITH RESPECT TO PREVENTING AND
DETECTING VIOLATIONS OF RULE 105 BY RETAIL CUSTOMERS.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $300,000, AND UNDERTAKES TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND DESIGN REASONABLE
SURVEILLANCE SYSTEMS WITH RESPECT TO PREVENTING AND
DETECTING VIOLATIONS OF RULE 105 BY RETAIL CUSTOMERS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 108 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-75083 / JUNE 1, 2015: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC
INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST THE
RESPONDENT ("MERRILL"). ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND
RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS CONCERN MERRILL'S VIOLATIONS OF REGULATION SHO
(REG SHO") OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IN CONNECTION WITH ITS
PRACTICES RELATING TO ITS EXECUTION OF SHORT SALES. THE
VIOLATIONS AROSE FROM TWO SEPARATE ISSUES CONCERNING
MERRILL'S USE OF ITS "EASY TO BORROW" LISTS. MERRILL FAILED TO
COMPORT WITH THE SEC GUIDANCE WHEN EXECUTING TRANSACTIONS
IN RELIANCE ON EASY TO BORROW ("ETB") LISTS IN TWO SEPARATE BUT
IMPORTANT WAYS. FIRST, MERRILL'S EXECUTION PLATFORMS WERE
DESIGNED TO CONTINUE ACCEPTING SHORT SALE ORDERS IN RELIANCE
ON ITS LENDING DESK'S ETB LIST EVEN WHERE MERRILL HAD
DETERMINED, THROUGH PLACEMENT OF THE STOCK ON MERRILL'S
WATCH LIST, THAT "COUNTERVAILING FACTORS" EXISTED THAT
RENDERED MERRILL'S RELIANCE ON THE LIST AS A LOCATE SOURCE
UNREASONABLE. THE COUNTERVAILING FACTORS CONSISTED OF
MERRILL'S KNOWLEDGE OF EVENTS THAT OCCURRED THROUGHOUT THE
DAY AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE ETB LIST THAT HAD, OR WERE DEEMED
LIKELY BY MERRILL TO HAVE, THE POTENTIAL TO IMPACT A PARTICULAR
STOCK'S AVAILABILITY SUCH THAT MERRILL ADDED THE STOCK TO ITS
WATCH LIST. IN RECOGNITION OF THESE COUNTERVAILING FACTORS,
MERRILL'S PRACTICE (IN ACCORDANCE WITH AN UNWRITTEN POLICY)
WAS THAT ITS LENDING DESK COULD NOT RELY ON THE ETB LIST
EXCLUSIVELY TO GRANT "LOCATES" UNDER SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES.
HOWEVER, EVEN THOUGH MERRILL'S POLICY PREVENTED THE LENDING
DESK FROM GRANTING LOCATES IN SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES SOLELY ON
THE BASIS OF THE ETB LIST, MERRILL ALLOWED ITS EXECUTION
PLATFORMS TO CONTINUE TO EXECUTE SHORT SALES SOLELY IN
RELIANCE ON THE ETB LIST IN SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES. AS A
CONSEQUENCE, MERRILL'S CONDUCT VIOLATED RULE 203(B) OF REG
SHO IN THAT MERRILL PURPORTED TO RELY ON ETB LIST LOCATES THAT
COULD NOT PROVIDE THE REQUISITE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO
BELIEVE THE AFFECTED SECURITIES COULD BE BORROWED FOR
DELIVERY ON THE DELIVERY DATE AS REQUIRED UNDER THE RULE.
MOREOVER, BY RECORDING THE ETB LIST AS THE LOCATE SOURCE WITH
RESPECT TO SHORT SALE ORDERS ACCEPTED AND EXECUTED AFTER
MERRILL HAD ALREADY DETERMINED TO CUT OFF ETB LIST LOCATES FOR
A SECURITY, MERRILL FURTHER VIOLATED RULE 203(B) BY FAILING TO
DOCUMENT AN APPROPRIATE LOCATE. SECOND, BECAUSE OF A FLAW IN
MERRILL'S SYSTEMS, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES, MERRILL USED DATA THAT
WAS MORE THAN 24 HOURS OLD FOR PURPOSES OF CONSTRUCTING ITS
ETB LISTS. AS A RESULT, MULTIPLE SECURITIES WERE INCLUDED ON ETB
LISTS ON DAYS WHEN THEY SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN, LEADING TO
MERRILL ACCEPTING AND EXECUTING SHORT SALE ORDERS BASED ON
INAPPROPRIATE RELIANCE ON DEFECTIVE ETB LISTS, SUCH THAT
MERRILL DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THE
SECURITY COULD BE BORROWED FOR DELIVERY. BECAUSE IN SOME
CIRCUMSTANCES THE ETB LIST USED OLDER DATA, BUT MERRILL DID NOT
INSTITUTE AND MAINTAIN PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
DETECT THE DISPARITY IN ITS OWN ETB LIST, MERRILL'S CONDUCT
VIOLATED THE REQUIREMENT UNDER RULE 203(B) OF REG SHO. HAD
MERRILL HAD THE PROPER SYSTEMS IN PLACE, IT COULD HAVE
DISCOVERED ITS RELIANCE ON ETB LISTS CONTAINING INFORMATION
THAT WAS GREATER THAN 24 HOURS OLD. SPECIFICALLY, AS A RESULT OF
THE CONDUCT, MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED RULE 203(B) OF
REGULATION SHO.

Current Status: Final

346©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-75083 / JUNE 1, 2015: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC
INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST THE
RESPONDENT ("MERRILL"). ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND
RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS CONCERN MERRILL'S VIOLATIONS OF REGULATION SHO
(REG SHO") OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IN CONNECTION WITH ITS
PRACTICES RELATING TO ITS EXECUTION OF SHORT SALES. THE
VIOLATIONS AROSE FROM TWO SEPARATE ISSUES CONCERNING
MERRILL'S USE OF ITS "EASY TO BORROW" LISTS. MERRILL FAILED TO
COMPORT WITH THE SEC GUIDANCE WHEN EXECUTING TRANSACTIONS
IN RELIANCE ON EASY TO BORROW ("ETB") LISTS IN TWO SEPARATE BUT
IMPORTANT WAYS. FIRST, MERRILL'S EXECUTION PLATFORMS WERE
DESIGNED TO CONTINUE ACCEPTING SHORT SALE ORDERS IN RELIANCE
ON ITS LENDING DESK'S ETB LIST EVEN WHERE MERRILL HAD
DETERMINED, THROUGH PLACEMENT OF THE STOCK ON MERRILL'S
WATCH LIST, THAT "COUNTERVAILING FACTORS" EXISTED THAT
RENDERED MERRILL'S RELIANCE ON THE LIST AS A LOCATE SOURCE
UNREASONABLE. THE COUNTERVAILING FACTORS CONSISTED OF
MERRILL'S KNOWLEDGE OF EVENTS THAT OCCURRED THROUGHOUT THE
DAY AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE ETB LIST THAT HAD, OR WERE DEEMED
LIKELY BY MERRILL TO HAVE, THE POTENTIAL TO IMPACT A PARTICULAR
STOCK'S AVAILABILITY SUCH THAT MERRILL ADDED THE STOCK TO ITS
WATCH LIST. IN RECOGNITION OF THESE COUNTERVAILING FACTORS,
MERRILL'S PRACTICE (IN ACCORDANCE WITH AN UNWRITTEN POLICY)
WAS THAT ITS LENDING DESK COULD NOT RELY ON THE ETB LIST
EXCLUSIVELY TO GRANT "LOCATES" UNDER SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES.
HOWEVER, EVEN THOUGH MERRILL'S POLICY PREVENTED THE LENDING
DESK FROM GRANTING LOCATES IN SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES SOLELY ON
THE BASIS OF THE ETB LIST, MERRILL ALLOWED ITS EXECUTION
PLATFORMS TO CONTINUE TO EXECUTE SHORT SALES SOLELY IN
RELIANCE ON THE ETB LIST IN SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES. AS A
CONSEQUENCE, MERRILL'S CONDUCT VIOLATED RULE 203(B) OF REG
SHO IN THAT MERRILL PURPORTED TO RELY ON ETB LIST LOCATES THAT
COULD NOT PROVIDE THE REQUISITE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO
BELIEVE THE AFFECTED SECURITIES COULD BE BORROWED FOR
DELIVERY ON THE DELIVERY DATE AS REQUIRED UNDER THE RULE.
MOREOVER, BY RECORDING THE ETB LIST AS THE LOCATE SOURCE WITH
RESPECT TO SHORT SALE ORDERS ACCEPTED AND EXECUTED AFTER
MERRILL HAD ALREADY DETERMINED TO CUT OFF ETB LIST LOCATES FOR
A SECURITY, MERRILL FURTHER VIOLATED RULE 203(B) BY FAILING TO
DOCUMENT AN APPROPRIATE LOCATE. SECOND, BECAUSE OF A FLAW IN
MERRILL'S SYSTEMS, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES, MERRILL USED DATA THAT
WAS MORE THAN 24 HOURS OLD FOR PURPOSES OF CONSTRUCTING ITS
ETB LISTS. AS A RESULT, MULTIPLE SECURITIES WERE INCLUDED ON ETB
LISTS ON DAYS WHEN THEY SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN, LEADING TO
MERRILL ACCEPTING AND EXECUTING SHORT SALE ORDERS BASED ON
INAPPROPRIATE RELIANCE ON DEFECTIVE ETB LISTS, SUCH THAT
MERRILL DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THE
SECURITY COULD BE BORROWED FOR DELIVERY. BECAUSE IN SOME
CIRCUMSTANCES THE ETB LIST USED OLDER DATA, BUT MERRILL DID NOT
INSTITUTE AND MAINTAIN PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
DETECT THE DISPARITY IN ITS OWN ETB LIST, MERRILL'S CONDUCT
VIOLATED THE REQUIREMENT UNDER RULE 203(B) OF REG SHO. HAD
MERRILL HAD THE PROPER SYSTEMS IN PLACE, IT COULD HAVE
DISCOVERED ITS RELIANCE ON ETB LISTS CONTAINING INFORMATION
THAT WAS GREATER THAN 24 HOURS OLD. SPECIFICALLY, AS A RESULT OF
THE CONDUCT, MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED RULE 203(B) OF
REGULATION SHO.
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/01/2015

Docket/Case Number: 3-16567

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-75083 / JUNE 1, 2015: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC
INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED AGAINST THE
RESPONDENT ("MERRILL"). ON THE BASIS OF THIS ORDER AND
RESPONDENT'S OFFER, THE COMMISSION FINDS THAT THESE
PROCEEDINGS CONCERN MERRILL'S VIOLATIONS OF REGULATION SHO
(REG SHO") OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IN CONNECTION WITH ITS
PRACTICES RELATING TO ITS EXECUTION OF SHORT SALES. THE
VIOLATIONS AROSE FROM TWO SEPARATE ISSUES CONCERNING
MERRILL'S USE OF ITS "EASY TO BORROW" LISTS. MERRILL FAILED TO
COMPORT WITH THE SEC GUIDANCE WHEN EXECUTING TRANSACTIONS
IN RELIANCE ON EASY TO BORROW ("ETB") LISTS IN TWO SEPARATE BUT
IMPORTANT WAYS. FIRST, MERRILL'S EXECUTION PLATFORMS WERE
DESIGNED TO CONTINUE ACCEPTING SHORT SALE ORDERS IN RELIANCE
ON ITS LENDING DESK'S ETB LIST EVEN WHERE MERRILL HAD
DETERMINED, THROUGH PLACEMENT OF THE STOCK ON MERRILL'S
WATCH LIST, THAT "COUNTERVAILING FACTORS" EXISTED THAT
RENDERED MERRILL'S RELIANCE ON THE LIST AS A LOCATE SOURCE
UNREASONABLE. THE COUNTERVAILING FACTORS CONSISTED OF
MERRILL'S KNOWLEDGE OF EVENTS THAT OCCURRED THROUGHOUT THE
DAY AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE ETB LIST THAT HAD, OR WERE DEEMED
LIKELY BY MERRILL TO HAVE, THE POTENTIAL TO IMPACT A PARTICULAR
STOCK'S AVAILABILITY SUCH THAT MERRILL ADDED THE STOCK TO ITS
WATCH LIST. IN RECOGNITION OF THESE COUNTERVAILING FACTORS,
MERRILL'S PRACTICE (IN ACCORDANCE WITH AN UNWRITTEN POLICY)
WAS THAT ITS LENDING DESK COULD NOT RELY ON THE ETB LIST
EXCLUSIVELY TO GRANT "LOCATES" UNDER SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES.
HOWEVER, EVEN THOUGH MERRILL'S POLICY PREVENTED THE LENDING
DESK FROM GRANTING LOCATES IN SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES SOLELY ON
THE BASIS OF THE ETB LIST, MERRILL ALLOWED ITS EXECUTION
PLATFORMS TO CONTINUE TO EXECUTE SHORT SALES SOLELY IN
RELIANCE ON THE ETB LIST IN SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES. AS A
CONSEQUENCE, MERRILL'S CONDUCT VIOLATED RULE 203(B) OF REG
SHO IN THAT MERRILL PURPORTED TO RELY ON ETB LIST LOCATES THAT
COULD NOT PROVIDE THE REQUISITE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO
BELIEVE THE AFFECTED SECURITIES COULD BE BORROWED FOR
DELIVERY ON THE DELIVERY DATE AS REQUIRED UNDER THE RULE.
MOREOVER, BY RECORDING THE ETB LIST AS THE LOCATE SOURCE WITH
RESPECT TO SHORT SALE ORDERS ACCEPTED AND EXECUTED AFTER
MERRILL HAD ALREADY DETERMINED TO CUT OFF ETB LIST LOCATES FOR
A SECURITY, MERRILL FURTHER VIOLATED RULE 203(B) BY FAILING TO
DOCUMENT AN APPROPRIATE LOCATE. SECOND, BECAUSE OF A FLAW IN
MERRILL'S SYSTEMS, IN CERTAIN INSTANCES, MERRILL USED DATA THAT
WAS MORE THAN 24 HOURS OLD FOR PURPOSES OF CONSTRUCTING ITS
ETB LISTS. AS A RESULT, MULTIPLE SECURITIES WERE INCLUDED ON ETB
LISTS ON DAYS WHEN THEY SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN, LEADING TO
MERRILL ACCEPTING AND EXECUTING SHORT SALE ORDERS BASED ON
INAPPROPRIATE RELIANCE ON DEFECTIVE ETB LISTS, SUCH THAT
MERRILL DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THE
SECURITY COULD BE BORROWED FOR DELIVERY. BECAUSE IN SOME
CIRCUMSTANCES THE ETB LIST USED OLDER DATA, BUT MERRILL DID NOT
INSTITUTE AND MAINTAIN PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
DETECT THE DISPARITY IN ITS OWN ETB LIST, MERRILL'S CONDUCT
VIOLATED THE REQUIREMENT UNDER RULE 203(B) OF REG SHO. HAD
MERRILL HAD THE PROPER SYSTEMS IN PLACE, IT COULD HAVE
DISCOVERED ITS RELIANCE ON ETB LISTS CONTAINING INFORMATION
THAT WAS GREATER THAN 24 HOURS OLD. SPECIFICALLY, AS A RESULT OF
THE CONDUCT, MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED RULE 203(B) OF
REGULATION SHO.

Resolution Date: 06/01/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF RULE 203(B)
OF REGULATION SHO, IS CENSURED, SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT OF
$1,566,245.67 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $334,564.65, AND PAY A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $9 MILLION TO THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. RESPONDENT SHALL COMPLY
WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.

Regulator Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. MERRILL ADMITS
THE FINDINGS, ACKNOWLEDGES THAT ITS CONDUCT VIOLATED THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, ADMITS THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, AND
CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS,
AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER.
ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT THE RESPONDENT CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF RULE 203(B) OF REGULATION SHO AND IS
CENSURED. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN FIFTEEN (15) DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY DISGORGEMENT, WHICH REPRESENTS
PROFITS GAINED AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT, OF $1,566,245.67 AND
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $334,564.65 TO THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN FIFTEEN (15)
DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $9 MILLION TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION.
RESPONDENT SHALL COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED IN
THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. MERRILL ADMITS
THE FINDINGS, ACKNOWLEDGES THAT ITS CONDUCT VIOLATED THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, ADMITS THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, AND
CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS,
AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER.
ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT THE RESPONDENT CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF RULE 203(B) OF REGULATION SHO AND IS
CENSURED. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN FIFTEEN (15) DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY DISGORGEMENT, WHICH REPRESENTS
PROFITS GAINED AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT, OF $1,566,245.67 AND
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $334,564.65 TO THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN FIFTEEN (15)
DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $9 MILLION TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION.
RESPONDENT SHALL COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED IN
THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ON JUNE 1, 2015, PURSUANT TO SEC ADMINISTRATIVE RELEASE 34-75083
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ANNOUNCED THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE AND DESIST PROCEEDINGS WERE
INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") AND MERRILL LYNCH PROFESSIONAL
CLEARING CORP. ("MLPRO") (COLLECTIVE, "MERRILL') FOR VIOLATIONS OF
RULE 203(B) OF REGULATION SHO IN CONNECTION WITH ITS PRACTICES
RELATED TO ITS EXECUTION OF SHORT SALES.  THE VIOLATIONS AROSE
FROM TWO SEPARATE ISSUES WITH RESPECT TO MERRILL'S USE OF ITS
EASY TO BORROW LIST ("ETB LIST") IN CONNECTION WITH THE
EXECUTION OF SHORT SALE TRANSACTIONS. FIRST, MERRILL'S
EXECUTION PLATFORMS CONTINUED TO ACCEPT SHORT SALES ORDERS
IN RELIANCE ON THE FIRM'S ETB LIST AS THE SOURCE OF THE LOCATE
AFTER HAVING LEARNED OF FACTS INDICATING THAT SUCH RELIANCE
WAS NO LONGER REASONABLE. AS A CONSEQUENCE, MERRILL'S
CONDUCTED VIOLATED RULE 203(B) OF REG SHO IN THAT MERRILL
LACKED THE REQUISITE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THE
AFFECTED SECURITIES COULD BE BORROWED FOR DELIVERY ON
DELIVERY DATE AS REQUIRED BY THE RULE. IN ADDITION, BY RECORDING
THE ETB LIST AS THE LOCATE SOURCE IN INSTANCES WHERE MERRILL
HAD DETERMINED THAT SUCH WAS NO LONGER REASONABLE, MERRILL
FAILED TO DOCUMENT AN APPROPRIATE LOCATE AS REQUIRED BY THE
RULE. SECOND, THERE WERE IN CERTAIN INSTANCES IN WHICH MERRILL
UTILIZED DATA THAT WAS MORE THAN 24 HOURS OLD TO CONSTRUCT ITS
ETB LIST, WHICH, AT TIMES, RESULTED IN SECURITIES BEING INCLUDED
ON THE ETB LIST WHEN THEY OTHERWISE SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN.
MERRILL LYNCH AND MLPRO HAVE CONSENTED TO (A) CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF RULE 203(B) OF REGULATION SHO; (B) BE CENSURED; (C)
PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $1.56 MILLION PLUS PREJUDGMENT INTEREST;
(D) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $9 MILLION; AND (E) COMPLY WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING RETAINING AN INDEPENDENT
CONSULTANT WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF ENTRY OF  THE
ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF THEIR POLICIES,
PROCEDURES AND PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO THEIR ACCEPTANCE
OF SHORT SALE ORDERS FOR EXECUTION IN RELIANCE ON THE FIRM'S
ETB LIST AND PROCEDURES TO MONITOR COMPLIANCE THEREWITH TO
SATISFY CERTAIN OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER RULE 203(B) OF
REGULATION SHO.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

DISGORGEMENT; CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING;
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Date Initiated: 06/01/2015

Docket/Case Number: 3-16567

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

ON JUNE 1, 2015, PURSUANT TO SEC ADMINISTRATIVE RELEASE 34-75083
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ANNOUNCED THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE AND DESIST PROCEEDINGS WERE
INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") AND MERRILL LYNCH PROFESSIONAL
CLEARING CORP. ("MLPRO") (COLLECTIVE, "MERRILL') FOR VIOLATIONS OF
RULE 203(B) OF REGULATION SHO IN CONNECTION WITH ITS PRACTICES
RELATED TO ITS EXECUTION OF SHORT SALES.  THE VIOLATIONS AROSE
FROM TWO SEPARATE ISSUES WITH RESPECT TO MERRILL'S USE OF ITS
EASY TO BORROW LIST ("ETB LIST") IN CONNECTION WITH THE
EXECUTION OF SHORT SALE TRANSACTIONS. FIRST, MERRILL'S
EXECUTION PLATFORMS CONTINUED TO ACCEPT SHORT SALES ORDERS
IN RELIANCE ON THE FIRM'S ETB LIST AS THE SOURCE OF THE LOCATE
AFTER HAVING LEARNED OF FACTS INDICATING THAT SUCH RELIANCE
WAS NO LONGER REASONABLE. AS A CONSEQUENCE, MERRILL'S
CONDUCTED VIOLATED RULE 203(B) OF REG SHO IN THAT MERRILL
LACKED THE REQUISITE REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THE
AFFECTED SECURITIES COULD BE BORROWED FOR DELIVERY ON
DELIVERY DATE AS REQUIRED BY THE RULE. IN ADDITION, BY RECORDING
THE ETB LIST AS THE LOCATE SOURCE IN INSTANCES WHERE MERRILL
HAD DETERMINED THAT SUCH WAS NO LONGER REASONABLE, MERRILL
FAILED TO DOCUMENT AN APPROPRIATE LOCATE AS REQUIRED BY THE
RULE. SECOND, THERE WERE IN CERTAIN INSTANCES IN WHICH MERRILL
UTILIZED DATA THAT WAS MORE THAN 24 HOURS OLD TO CONSTRUCT ITS
ETB LIST, WHICH, AT TIMES, RESULTED IN SECURITIES BEING INCLUDED
ON THE ETB LIST WHEN THEY OTHERWISE SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN.
MERRILL LYNCH AND MLPRO HAVE CONSENTED TO (A) CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF RULE 203(B) OF REGULATION SHO; (B) BE CENSURED; (C)
PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $1.56 MILLION PLUS PREJUDGMENT INTEREST;
(D) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $9 MILLION; AND (E) COMPLY WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING RETAINING AN INDEPENDENT
CONSULTANT WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF ENTRY OF  THE
ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF THEIR POLICIES,
PROCEDURES AND PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO THEIR ACCEPTANCE
OF SHORT SALE ORDERS FOR EXECUTION IN RELIANCE ON THE FIRM'S
ETB LIST AND PROCEDURES TO MONITOR COMPLIANCE THEREWITH TO
SATISFY CERTAIN OF ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER RULE 203(B) OF
REGULATION SHO.

Resolution Date: 06/01/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF RULE 203(B)
OF REGULATION SHO, IS CENSURED, SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT OF
$1,566,245.67 AND PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $334,564.65, AND PAY A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $9 MILLION TO THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. RESPONDENT SHALL COMPLY
WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.

Firm Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. MERRILL ADMITS
THE FINDINGS, ACKNOWLEDGES THAT ITS CONDUCT VIOLATED THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, ADMITS THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, AND
CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS,
AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER.
ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT THE RESPONDENT CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF RULE 203(B) OF REGULATION SHO AND IS
CENSURED. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN FIFTEEN (15) DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY DISGORGEMENT, WHICH REPRESENTS
PROFITS GAINED AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT, OF $1,566,245.67 AND
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $334,564.65 TO THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN FIFTEEN (15)
DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $9 MILLION TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION. RESPONDENT SHALL COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS
ENUMERATED IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Firm Statement IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. MERRILL ADMITS
THE FINDINGS, ACKNOWLEDGES THAT ITS CONDUCT VIOLATED THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, ADMITS THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, AND
CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS,
AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER.
ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT THE RESPONDENT CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF RULE 203(B) OF REGULATION SHO AND IS
CENSURED. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN FIFTEEN (15) DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY DISGORGEMENT, WHICH REPRESENTS
PROFITS GAINED AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT, OF $1,566,245.67 AND
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $334,564.65 TO THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN FIFTEEN (15)
DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $9 MILLION TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION. RESPONDENT SHALL COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS
ENUMERATED IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 109 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/14/2014

Docket/Case Number: E-2014-0002

URL for Regulatory Action: HTTP://WWW.SEC.STATE.MA.US/SCT/CURRENT/SCTML/MLIDX.HTM

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s): INTERNAL-USE MATERIALS

Allegations: THE CONSENT ORDER ADDRESSES ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT AND CODE
OF MASSACHUSETTS REGULATIONS RESULTING FROM ITS USE OF AN
UNAPPROVED INTERNAL PRESENTATION GIVEN TO ITS FINANCIAL
ADVISORS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 03/23/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COMPLIANCE REVIEW AND REPORT CONCERNING INTERNAL-USE
MATERIALS

Sanction Details: 2,500,000.00 FINE TO BE PAID BY MERRILL LYNCH WITHIN 20 DAYS OF
CONSENT ORDER

Regulator Statement THE CONSENT ORDER ADDRESSES ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT AND CODE
OF MASSACHUSETTS REGULATIONS RESULTING FROM ITS USE OF AN
UNAPPROVED INTERNAL PRESENTATION GIVEN TO ITS FINANCIAL
ADVISORS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 01/14/2014

Docket/Case Number: E-2014-0002

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s): INTERNAL-USE MATERIALS

Allegations: THE CONSENT ORDER ADDRESSES ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT AND CODE
OF MASSACHUSETTS REGULATIONS RESULTING FROM ITS USE OF AN
UNAPPROVED INTERNAL PRESENTATION GIVEN TO ITS FINANCIAL
ADVISORS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
CENSURE
UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 03/23/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COMPLIANCE REVIEW AND REPORT CONCERNING INTERNAL-USE
MATERIALS

Sanction Details: $2,500,000 FINE TO BE PAID BY FIRM WITHIN 20 DAYS OF CONSENT
ORDER.

Firm Statement THE CONSENT ORDER ADDRESSES ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT AND CODE
OF MASSACHUSETTS REGULATIONS RESULTING FROM ITS USE OF AN
UNAPPROVED INTERNAL PRESENTATION GIVEN TO ITS FINANCIAL
ADVISORS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 110 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ICE FUTURES US, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/11/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2013-051

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ICE FUTURES US, INC. (THE "EXCHANGE") CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 27.12A BY FAILING TO PROVIDE ELECTRONIC
AUDIT TRAIL DATA CORRESPONDING TO ONE (1) ORDER THAT WAS
ENTERED INTO THE EXCHANGE'S ELECTRONIC TRADE SYSTEM IN
AUGUST 2013.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 02/11/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS ISSUED A SUMMARY FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE DISCIPLINARY RULE 21.02.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS ISSUED A SUMMARY FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE DISCIPLINARY RULE 21.02.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Other

Disclosure 111 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/12/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2012031807001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT FOR
SETTLEMENT DATES BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 15, 2010 AND FEBRUARY 29,
2012, THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT 4,200 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS
TOTALING 22,850,177 SHARES, AND ON JUNE 29, 2012, FAILED TO REPORT
ONE POSITION TOTALING 4,800 SHARES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT FOR
SETTLEMENT DATES BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 15, 2010 AND FEBRUARY 29,
2012, THE FIRM UNDER-REPORTED ITS SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS IN
THAT IT INACCURATELY REPORTED 7,065 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS
TOTALING 3,535,247,474 SHARES, WHEN IT SHOULD HAVE REPORTED 7,065
POSITIONS TOTALING 3,561,396,771 SHARES. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR
SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
FINRA RULE 4560.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 02/12/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $115,000. IN DETERMINING TO
RESOLVE THIS MATTER IN THE MANNER SET FORTH HEREIN, AND IN
DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE MONETARY SANCTION, FINRA TOOK
INTO CONSIDERATION THAT THE FIRM SELF-REPORTED THE VIOLATIONS
AT ISSUE AFTER CONDUCTING AN INTERNAL INVESTIGATION, AND
PROMPTLY TOOK ACTION TO CORRECT THE VIOLATIVE ACTIVITY. 4/27/15
FINE PAID IN FULL.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $115,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 02/12/2015

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT FOR
SETTLEMENT DATES BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 15, 2010 AND FEBRUARY 29,
2012, THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT 4,200 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS
TOTALING 22,850,177 SHARES, AND ON JUNE 29, 2012, FAILED TO REPORT
ONE POSITION TOTALING 4,800 SHARES. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT FOR
SETTLEMENT DATES BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 15, 2010 AND FEBRUARY 29,
2012, THE FIRM UNDER-REPORTED ITS SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS IN
THAT IT INACCURATELY REPORTED 7,065 SHORT INTEREST POSITIONS
TOTALING 3,535,247,474 SHARES, WHEN IT SHOULD HAVE REPORTED 7,065
POSITIONS TOTALING 3,561,396,771 SHARES. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR
SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
FINRA RULE 4560.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 02/12/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2012031807001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 02/12/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $115,000. IN DETERMINING TO
RESOLVE THIS MATTER IN THE MANNER SET FORTH HEREIN, AND IN
DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE MONETARY SANCTION, FINRA TOOK
INTO CONSIDERATION THAT THE FIRM SELF-REPORTED THE VIOLATIONS
AT ISSUE AFTER CONDUCTING AN INTERNAL INVESTIGATION, AND
PROMPTLY TOOK ACTION TO CORRECT THE VIOLATIVE ACTIVITY.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $115,000. IN DETERMINING TO
RESOLVE THIS MATTER IN THE MANNER SET FORTH HEREIN, AND IN
DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE MONETARY SANCTION, FINRA TOOK
INTO CONSIDERATION THAT THE FIRM SELF-REPORTED THE VIOLATIONS
AT ISSUE AFTER CONDUCTING AN INTERNAL INVESTIGATION, AND
PROMPTLY TOOK ACTION TO CORRECT THE VIOLATIVE ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $115,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 112 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT FOR
APPROXIMATELY 13 MONTHS, IT FAILED TO SEND REQUIRED
REGULATORY DISCLOSURES AND NOTICES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
OPENING OF APPROXIMATELY 12,989 FIRM ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM
DISCOVERED THAT ITS PLATFORM FAILED TO SEND WELCOME LETTER
PACKAGES TO CUSTOMERS AS REQUIRED, BECAUSE THE FIRM DID NOT
ACTIVATE A MECHANISM ON THE PLATFORM TO DELIVER THE WELCOME
LETTER PACKAGES TO THE ACCOUNTS. AS A RESULT, FOR
APPROXIMATELY 13 MONTHS, THE FIRM DID NOT SEND WELCOME LETTER
PACKAGES WITH REQUIRED PRIVACY POLICY DISCLOSURES, POLICIES
ON PAYMENT FOR ORDER FLOW, AFFILIATE MARKETING NOTICES AND
BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLANS TO THE 12,989 ACCOUNTS ENROLLED IN
COLLEGE SAVINGS 529 ACCOUNTS, EDUCATION SAVINGS ACCOUNTS AND
INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT FOR
ALMOST A YEAR, THE FIRM FAILED TO COLLECT EMPLOYER ADDRESSES
FOR 345,789 ACCOUNTS OF CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 02/05/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011028644501

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT FOR
APPROXIMATELY 13 MONTHS, IT FAILED TO SEND REQUIRED
REGULATORY DISCLOSURES AND NOTICES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
OPENING OF APPROXIMATELY 12,989 FIRM ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM
DISCOVERED THAT ITS PLATFORM FAILED TO SEND WELCOME LETTER
PACKAGES TO CUSTOMERS AS REQUIRED, BECAUSE THE FIRM DID NOT
ACTIVATE A MECHANISM ON THE PLATFORM TO DELIVER THE WELCOME
LETTER PACKAGES TO THE ACCOUNTS. AS A RESULT, FOR
APPROXIMATELY 13 MONTHS, THE FIRM DID NOT SEND WELCOME LETTER
PACKAGES WITH REQUIRED PRIVACY POLICY DISCLOSURES, POLICIES
ON PAYMENT FOR ORDER FLOW, AFFILIATE MARKETING NOTICES AND
BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLANS TO THE 12,989 ACCOUNTS ENROLLED IN
COLLEGE SAVINGS 529 ACCOUNTS, EDUCATION SAVINGS ACCOUNTS AND
INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT FOR
ALMOST A YEAR, THE FIRM FAILED TO COLLECT EMPLOYER ADDRESSES
FOR 345,789 ACCOUNTS OF CUSTOMERS.

Resolution Date: 02/05/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $100,000. FINE PAID IN FULL ON
FEBRUARY 18, 2015.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT FOR
APPROXIMATELY 13 MONTHS, IT FAILED TO SEND REQUIRED
REGULATORY DISCLOSURES AND NOTICES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
OPENING OF APPROXIMATELY 12,989 FIRM ACCOUNTS, AND FOR
APPROXIMATELY 11 MONTHS, IT FAILED TO CAPTURE A CUSTOMER'S
EMPLOYER ADDRESS INFORMATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 345,789
ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM DISCOVERED THAT ITS PLATFORM FAILED TO SEND
WELCOME LETTER PACKAGES TO CUSTOMERS AS REQUIRED, BECAUSE
THE FIRM DID NOT ACTIVATE A MECHANISM ON THE PLATFORM TO
DELIVER THE WELCOME LETTER PACKAGES TO THE ACCOUNTS. AS A
RESULT, FOR APPROXIMATELY 13 MONTHS, THE FIRM DID NOT SEND
WELCOME LETTER PACKAGES WITH REQUIRED PRIVACY POLICY
DISCLOSURES, POLICIES ON PAYMENT FOR ORDER FLOW, AFFILIATE
MARKETING NOTICES AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLANS TO THE 12,989
NEW ACCOUNTS ENROLLED IN COLLEGE SAVINGS 529 ACCOUNTS,
EDUCATION SAVINGS ACCOUNTS OR INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR ACCOUNTS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT FOR ALMOST A YEAR, THE FIRM FAILED
TO COLLECT EMPLOYER ADDRESSES FOR 345,789 ACCOUNTS OF
CUSTOMERS AS REQUIRED BY FINRA RULE 4512.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 02/05/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2011028644501

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT FOR
APPROXIMATELY 13 MONTHS, IT FAILED TO SEND REQUIRED
REGULATORY DISCLOSURES AND NOTICES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
OPENING OF APPROXIMATELY 12,989 FIRM ACCOUNTS, AND FOR
APPROXIMATELY 11 MONTHS, IT FAILED TO CAPTURE A CUSTOMER'S
EMPLOYER ADDRESS INFORMATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 345,789
ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM DISCOVERED THAT ITS PLATFORM FAILED TO SEND
WELCOME LETTER PACKAGES TO CUSTOMERS AS REQUIRED, BECAUSE
THE FIRM DID NOT ACTIVATE A MECHANISM ON THE PLATFORM TO
DELIVER THE WELCOME LETTER PACKAGES TO THE ACCOUNTS. AS A
RESULT, FOR APPROXIMATELY 13 MONTHS, THE FIRM DID NOT SEND
WELCOME LETTER PACKAGES WITH REQUIRED PRIVACY POLICY
DISCLOSURES, POLICIES ON PAYMENT FOR ORDER FLOW, AFFILIATE
MARKETING NOTICES AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLANS TO THE 12,989
NEW ACCOUNTS ENROLLED IN COLLEGE SAVINGS 529 ACCOUNTS,
EDUCATION SAVINGS ACCOUNTS OR INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR ACCOUNTS.
THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT FOR ALMOST A YEAR, THE FIRM FAILED
TO COLLECT EMPLOYER ADDRESSES FOR 345,789 ACCOUNTS OF
CUSTOMERS AS REQUIRED BY FINRA RULE 4512.

Resolution Date: 02/05/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $100.000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $100.000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 113 of 595

i
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE ("CBOT")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/19/2014

Docket/Case Number: 14-CH-1402

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT IN WHICH THE FIRM NEITHER
ADMITTED OR DENIED THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH THE PENALTY
IS BASED, ON JUNE 19, 2014, THE CLEARING HOUSE RISK COMMITTEE
(THE "COMMITTEE") FOUND THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED CBOT RULE 971.E -
PRE-APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS - DISBURSEMENTS NOT MADE FOR
CUSTOMER BENEFIT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/20/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SETTLEMENT OFFER, THE COMMITTEE FINED
THE FIRM $25,000.

Firm Statement IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SETTLEMENT OFFER, THE COMMITTEE FINED
THE FIRM $25,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 114 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ICE FUTURES US

Allegations: A SUBCOMMITTEE OF THE EXCHANGE'S BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE
DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM MAY HAVE VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 27.
21(B) BY FAILING TO EXPOSE ONE ORDER FOR A MINIMUM OF FIVE (5)
SECONDS BEFORE ENTERING THE OPPOSITE ORDER WHEN EXECUTING A
CROSS TRADE INVOLVING AN EXCHANGE FUTURE CONTRACT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: ICE FUTURES US

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 01/10/2014

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 01/10/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATION OF ANY EXCHANGE
RULES, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO A FINE OF $10,000 AND TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE RULE 27.21(B).

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATION OF ANY EXCHANGE
RULES, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO A FINE OF $10,000 AND TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE RULE 27.21(B).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 115 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 01/13/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2013037137602

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT WRITTEN CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS AGAINST A
REPRESENTATIVE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM RECEIVED
COMPLAINTS ALLEGING MISAPPROPRIATION OF CUSTOMER FUNDS BY
THE REPRESENTATIVE BUT FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE COMPLAINTS
WITHIN 30 DAYS OF BECOMING AWARE OF THEM. THE REPRESENTATIVE
MISAPPROPRIATED OVER 1.7 MILLION FROM FIRM CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Docket/Case Number: 2013037137602

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 01/13/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $175,000.00.

FINE PAID IN FULL ON JANUARY 26, 2015.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $175,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 01/13/2015

Docket/Case Number: 2013037137602

Principal Product Type: No Product

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT WRITTEN CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS AGAINST A
REPRESENTATIVE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM RECEIVED
COMPLAINTS ALLEGING MISAPPROPRIATION OF CUSTOMER FUNDS BY
THE REPRESENTATIVE BUT FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE COMPLAINTS
WITHIN 30 DAYS OF BECOMING AWARE OF THEM. THE REPRESENTATIVE
MISAPPROPRIATED OVER 1.7 MILLION FROM FIRM CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 01/13/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $175,000.00.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $175,000.00.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $175,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 116 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW HAMPSHIRE BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION ("BUREAU")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING; COST OF INVESTIGATION

Date Initiated: 12/29/2014

Docket/Case Number: C-2013000010

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE BUREAU DETERMINED THAT, IN VIOLATION OF NEW HAMPSHIRE LAW,
THE FIRM'S AGENTS LICENSED IN NEW HAMPSHIRE PLACED
TELEMARKETING CALLS TO NEW HAMPSHIRE RESIDENTS WHO WERE
NOT CLIENTS OF THE FIRM AT THE TIME OF THE CALLS AND WHOSE
NUMBERS APPEARED ON THE FIRM'S INTERNAL DO NOT CALL LIST OR ON
THE FTC'S NATIONAL DO NOT CALL REGISTRY.  FURTHER DURING THE
COURSE OF ITS INVESTIGATION, THE BUREAU DETERMINED THAT THE
FIRM DID NOT REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE TELEMARKETING ACTIVITIES
OF ITS AGENTS LICENSED IN NEW HAMPSHIRE.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING; COST OF INVESTIGATION

Resolution Date: 12/29/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: $50,000 COSTS OF INVESTIGATION AND CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS OR ALLEGATIONS, THE
FIRM CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER AND
CONSENTED TO (I) CEASE AND DESIST FROM FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF
N.H. RSA 421-B, (II) PAY THE BUREAU'S COST OF INVESTIGATION IN THE
AMOUNT OF $50,000, (III) PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OF $350,000, AND
(IV) COMPLY WITH ALL OTHER UNDERTAKINGS AND SANCTIONS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS OR ALLEGATIONS, THE
FIRM CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER AND
CONSENTED TO (I) CEASE AND DESIST FROM FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF
N.H. RSA 421-B, (II) PAY THE BUREAU'S COST OF INVESTIGATION IN THE
AMOUNT OF $50,000, (III) PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OF $350,000, AND
(IV) COMPLY WITH ALL OTHER UNDERTAKINGS AND SANCTIONS.  SINCE
THE INITIATION OF THE BUREAU'S INVESTIGATION, THE FIRM AGREED TO
AND COMPLETED ENHANCEMENTS AND PROVIDED EVIDENCE TO THE
BUREAU OF THE COMPLETED ENHANCEMENTS TO ITS TELEMARKETING
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $350,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 117 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REPORT POSITIONS WITH RESPECT TO ACCOUNTS ACTING IN CONCERT
WITH OTHERS THAT TOGETHER HAD ESTABLISHED AN AGGREGATE
POSITION OF 200 OR MORE OPTION CONTRACTS ON THE SAME SIDE OF
THE MARKET COVERING THE SAME UNDERLYING SECURITY. THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM REPORTED IN-CONCERT POSITIONS,
BUT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THEM AS ACTING IN CONCERT. THE FIRM
REPORTED POSITIONS TO THE LARGE OPTION POSITION REPORTING
(LOPR) SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ACCOUNT TYPES AND REPORTED
POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ADDRESSES. IN ITS
LOPR SUBMISSIONS, THE FIRM AGGREGATED POSITIONS HAVING WEEKLY
EXPIRATIONS WITH POSITIONS HAVING MONTHLY EXPIRATIONS. THE
FIRM'S CUSTOMERS EXCEEDED POSITION LIMITS FOR ONE SECURITY
FOR 98 CONSECUTIVE DAYS, A SECOND SECURITY FOR 12 DAYS, A THIRD
SECURITY FOR 11 CONSECUTIVE DAYS AND A FOURTH SECURITY FOR 44
NON-CONSECUTIVE DAYS. IN ADDITION, IN ITS PROPRIETARY ACCOUNTS,
THE FIRM EXCEEDED A POSITION LIMIT IN ONE SECURITY FOR 11
CONSECUTIVE DAYS AND IN A SECOND SECURITY FOR 13 NON-
CONSECUTIVE DAYS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE SYSTEMS OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING
SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, THAT WERE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE
REPORTING OF POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM. THE FIRM LACKED
SUFFICIENT WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS
TO DETERMINE THAT LOPR SUBMISSIONS ACCEPTED BY THE LOPR
SYSTEM WERE ACCURATE OR THAT ALL REPORTABLE POSITIONS HAD
ACTUALLY BEEN REPORTED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT
THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN THEY OCCURRED. INSTEAD, IN MOST
INSTANCES, THE VIOLATIONS BECAME KNOWN THROUGH THE REVIEWS
CONDUCTED BY FINRA.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/22/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012032249301

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REPORT POSITIONS WITH RESPECT TO ACCOUNTS ACTING IN CONCERT
WITH OTHERS THAT TOGETHER HAD ESTABLISHED AN AGGREGATE
POSITION OF 200 OR MORE OPTION CONTRACTS ON THE SAME SIDE OF
THE MARKET COVERING THE SAME UNDERLYING SECURITY. THE
FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM REPORTED IN-CONCERT POSITIONS,
BUT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THEM AS ACTING IN CONCERT. THE FIRM
REPORTED POSITIONS TO THE LARGE OPTION POSITION REPORTING
(LOPR) SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ACCOUNT TYPES AND REPORTED
POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ADDRESSES. IN ITS
LOPR SUBMISSIONS, THE FIRM AGGREGATED POSITIONS HAVING WEEKLY
EXPIRATIONS WITH POSITIONS HAVING MONTHLY EXPIRATIONS. THE
FIRM'S CUSTOMERS EXCEEDED POSITION LIMITS FOR ONE SECURITY
FOR 98 CONSECUTIVE DAYS, A SECOND SECURITY FOR 12 DAYS, A THIRD
SECURITY FOR 11 CONSECUTIVE DAYS AND A FOURTH SECURITY FOR 44
NON-CONSECUTIVE DAYS. IN ADDITION, IN ITS PROPRIETARY ACCOUNTS,
THE FIRM EXCEEDED A POSITION LIMIT IN ONE SECURITY FOR 11
CONSECUTIVE DAYS AND IN A SECOND SECURITY FOR 13 NON-
CONSECUTIVE DAYS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE SYSTEMS OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING
SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, THAT WERE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE
REPORTING OF POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM. THE FIRM LACKED
SUFFICIENT WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS
TO DETERMINE THAT LOPR SUBMISSIONS ACCEPTED BY THE LOPR
SYSTEM WERE ACCURATE OR THAT ALL REPORTABLE POSITIONS HAD
ACTUALLY BEEN REPORTED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT
THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN THEY OCCURRED. INSTEAD, IN MOST
INSTANCES, THE VIOLATIONS BECAME KNOWN THROUGH THE REVIEWS
CONDUCTED BY FINRA.

Resolution Date: 12/22/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,796,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,040,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO FINRA, AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER THIS AWC
BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS AWC BECOMES FINAL,
MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO FINRA REGARDING ITS IN-CONCERT
REPORTING.

FINE PAID IN FULL ON JANUARY 12, 2015.

Regulator Statement CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN GIVEN TO THE FACT THAT THE FIRM HAS
ALREADY TAKEN SIGNIFICANT REMEDIAL ACTION, INCLUDING PROVIDING
EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION WITH THIS INVESTIGATION BY
RETAINING OUTSIDE COUNSEL TO CONDUCT A REVIEW AND REPORT ITS
FINDINGS TO FINRA PERIODICALLY; ENHANCING ITS LOPR REPORTING
SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES; HIRING AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE
FIRM'S LOPR SYSTEMS AND IDENTIFY ANY ADDITIONAL OR REMAINING
DEFICIENCIES; AND CORRECTING THE DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY THE
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
INACCURATE REPORTS OR FAILED TO SUBMIT REPORTS TO THE LARGE
OPTION POSITION REPORTING (LOPR) SYSTEM IN APPROXIMATELY
30,090,400 INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013.
THE FIRM'S CUSTOMERS EXCEEDED POSITION LIMITS FOR THREE
SECURITIES FOR PERIODS OF TIME RANGING FROM 11 TO 98
CONSECUTIVE DAYS, AND ONE CUSTOMER EXCEEDED POSITION LIMITS
IN A FOURTH SECURITY FOR 44 NON-CONSECUTIVE DAYS.  IN ADDITION,
FOR ITS PROPRIETARY ACCOUNTS, THE FIRM EXCEEDED A POSITION
LIMIT IN ONE SECURITY FOR 11 CONSECUTIVE DAYS AND IN A SECOND
SECURITY FOR 13 CONSECUTIVE DAYS.  THE FINDINGS FURTHER STATED
THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE SYSTEMS OF
SUPERVISION, INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW UP AND REVIEW, THAT
WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
RULES GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF POSITIONS TO THE LOPR
SYSTEM.  THE FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS TO DETERMINE ACCURATE AND
COMPLETE LOPR SUBMISSIONS.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO
DETECT THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN THEY OCCURRED.  INSTEAD, IN
MOST INSTANCES, THE VIOLATIONS BECAME KNOWN THROUGH THE
REVIEWS CONDUCTED BY FINRA.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/22/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012032249301

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/22/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,040,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO FINRA, AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER THIS AWC
BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS AWC BECOMES FINAL,
MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO FINRA REGARDING ITS IN-CONCERT
REPORTING.

Firm Statement CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN GIVEN TO THE FACT THAT THE FIRM HAS
ALREADY TAKEN SIGNIFICANT REMEDIAL ACTION, INCLUDING PROVIDING
EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION WITH THIS INVESTIGATION BY
RETAINING OUTSIDE COUNSEL TO CONDUCT A REVIEW AND REPORT ITS
FINDINGS TO FINRA PERIODICALLY; ENHANCING ITS LOPR REPORTING
SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES; HIRING AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE
FIRM'S LOPR SYSTEMS AND IDENTIFY ANY ADDITIONAL OR REMAINING
DEFICIENCIES; AND CORRECTING THE DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY THE
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,796,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 118 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN MORE THAN
26.8 MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2013, THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT POSITIONS WITH RESPECT TO ACCOUNTS
ACTING IN CONCERT WITH OTHERS THAT TOGETHER HAD ESTABLISHED
AN AGGREGATE POSITION OF 200 OR MORE OPTION CONTRACTS ON THE
SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET COVERING THE SAME UNDERLYING
SECURITY, IN VIOLATION OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT IN APPROXIMATELY 1.1 MILLION INSTANCES
FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED IN-
CONCERT POSITIONS, BUT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THEM AS ACTING IN
CONCERT, IN VIOLATION OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10.
IN APPROXIMATELY TWO MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010
THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED POSITIONS TO THE
LARGE OPTION POSITION REPORTING (LOPR) SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT
ACCOUNT TYPES, IN VIOLATION OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III,
SECTION 10. IN APPROXIMATELY 171,400 INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010
THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED POSITIONS TO THE
LOPR SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ADDRESSES, IN VIOLATION OF BOX
TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10. IN APPROXIMATELY 19,000
INSTANCES FROM SEPTEMBER 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2012, IN ITS LOPR
SUBMISSIONS, THE FIRM AGGREGATED POSITIONS HAVING WEEKLY
EXPIRATIONS WITH POSITIONS HAVING MONTHLY EXPIRATIONS, IN
VIOLATION OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE
SYSTEMS OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW, WHICH WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF
POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM. THE FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS TO
DETERMINE THAT LOPR SUBMISSIONS ACCEPTED BY THE LOPR SYSTEM
WERE ACCURATE OR THAT ALL REPORTABLE POSITIONS HAD ACTUALLY
BEEN REPORTED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THE ABOVE
VIOLATIONS WHEN THEY OCCURRED. INSTEAD, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE
VIOLATIONS BECAME KNOWN THROUGH THE REVIEWS CONDUCTED BY
FINRA ON BEHALF OF NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM
VIOLATED CHAPTER III, SECTIONS 1, 2(A), AND 2(A)(I) OF THE BOX
TRADING RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/22/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012032249302

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN MORE THAN
26.8 MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2013, THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT POSITIONS WITH RESPECT TO ACCOUNTS
ACTING IN CONCERT WITH OTHERS THAT TOGETHER HAD ESTABLISHED
AN AGGREGATE POSITION OF 200 OR MORE OPTION CONTRACTS ON THE
SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET COVERING THE SAME UNDERLYING
SECURITY, IN VIOLATION OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10.
THE FINDINGS STATED THAT IN APPROXIMATELY 1.1 MILLION INSTANCES
FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED IN-
CONCERT POSITIONS, BUT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THEM AS ACTING IN
CONCERT, IN VIOLATION OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10.
IN APPROXIMATELY TWO MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010
THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED POSITIONS TO THE
LARGE OPTION POSITION REPORTING (LOPR) SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT
ACCOUNT TYPES, IN VIOLATION OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III,
SECTION 10. IN APPROXIMATELY 171,400 INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010
THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED POSITIONS TO THE
LOPR SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ADDRESSES, IN VIOLATION OF BOX
TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10. IN APPROXIMATELY 19,000
INSTANCES FROM SEPTEMBER 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2012, IN ITS LOPR
SUBMISSIONS, THE FIRM AGGREGATED POSITIONS HAVING WEEKLY
EXPIRATIONS WITH POSITIONS HAVING MONTHLY EXPIRATIONS, IN
VIOLATION OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE
SYSTEMS OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW, WHICH WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF
POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM. THE FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS TO
DETERMINE THAT LOPR SUBMISSIONS ACCEPTED BY THE LOPR SYSTEM
WERE ACCURATE OR THAT ALL REPORTABLE POSITIONS HAD ACTUALLY
BEEN REPORTED. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THE ABOVE
VIOLATIONS WHEN THEY OCCURRED. INSTEAD, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE
VIOLATIONS BECAME KNOWN THROUGH THE REVIEWS CONDUCTED BY
FINRA ON BEHALF OF NASDAQ OMX BX, INC. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM
VIOLATED CHAPTER III, SECTIONS 1, 2(A), AND 2(A)(I) OF THE BOX
TRADING RULES.
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 12/22/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,450,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER
THIS AWC BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS AWC
BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO
NASDAQ IN CARE OF FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT
REGARDING THEIR IN-CONCERT REPORTING.

Regulator Statement CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN GIVEN TO THE FACT THAT THE FIRM HAS
ALREADY TAKEN SIGNIFICANT REMEDIAL ACTION, INCLUDING PROVIDING
EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION WITH THIS INVESTIGATION BY
RETAINING OUTSIDE COUNSEL TO CONDUCT A REVIEW AND REPORT ITS
FINDINGS TO FINRA PERIODICALLY; ENHANCING ITS LOPR REPORTING
SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES; HIRING AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE
FIRM'S LOPR SYSTEMS AND IDENTIFY ANY ADDITIONAL OR REMAINING
DEFICIENCIES; AND CORRECTING THE DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY THE
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,796,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT, IN VIOLATION
OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10, IT SUBMITTED
INACCURATE REPORTS OR FAILED TO SUBMIT REPORTS TO THE LARGE
OPTION POSITION REPORTING (LOPR) SYSTEM IN APPROXIMATELY
30,090,400 INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013.
THE FINDINGS FURTHER STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH
ADEQUATE SYSTEMS OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW
UP AND REVIEW, THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF
POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM.  THE FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS TO
DETERMINE ACCURATE AND COMPLETE LOPR SUBMISSIONS.  AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN
THEY OCCURRED.  INSTEAD, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE VIOLATIONS
BECAME KNOWN THROUGH THE REVIEWS CONDUCTED BY FINRA ON
BEHALF OF NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.  FOR THIS REASON, THE FIRM
VIOLATED CHAPTER III, SECTIONS 1, 2(A), AND 2(A)(I) OF THE BOX
TRADING RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/22/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012032249302

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT, IN VIOLATION
OF BOX TRADING RULE CHAPTER III, SECTION 10, IT SUBMITTED
INACCURATE REPORTS OR FAILED TO SUBMIT REPORTS TO THE LARGE
OPTION POSITION REPORTING (LOPR) SYSTEM IN APPROXIMATELY
30,090,400 INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013.
THE FINDINGS FURTHER STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH
ADEQUATE SYSTEMS OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW
UP AND REVIEW, THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF
POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM.  THE FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS TO
DETERMINE ACCURATE AND COMPLETE LOPR SUBMISSIONS.  AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN
THEY OCCURRED.  INSTEAD, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE VIOLATIONS
BECAME KNOWN THROUGH THE REVIEWS CONDUCTED BY FINRA ON
BEHALF OF NASDAQ OMX BX, INC.  FOR THIS REASON, THE FIRM
VIOLATED CHAPTER III, SECTIONS 1, 2(A), AND 2(A)(I) OF THE BOX
TRADING RULES.

Resolution Date: 12/22/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,450,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO NASDAQ OMX BX, INC., AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER
THIS AWC BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS AWC
BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO
NASDAQ IN CARE OF FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT
REGARDING THEIR IN-CONCERT REPORTING.

Firm Statement CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN GIVEN TO THE FACT THAT THE FIRM HAS
ALREADY TAKEN SIGNIFICANT REMEDIAL ACTION, INCLUDING PROVIDING
EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION WITH THIS INVESTIGATION BY
RETAINING OUTSIDE COUNSEL TO CONDUCT A REVIEW AND REPORT ITS
FINDINGS TO FINRA PERIODICALLY; ENHANCING ITS LOPR REPORTING
SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES; HIRING AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE
FIRM'S LOPR SYSTEMS AND IDENTIFY ANY ADDITIONAL OR REMAINING
DEFICIENCIES; AND CORRECTING THE DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY THE
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,796,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN GIVEN TO THE FACT THAT THE FIRM HAS
ALREADY TAKEN SIGNIFICANT REMEDIAL ACTION, INCLUDING PROVIDING
EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION WITH THIS INVESTIGATION BY
RETAINING OUTSIDE COUNSEL TO CONDUCT A REVIEW AND REPORT ITS
FINDINGS TO FINRA PERIODICALLY; ENHANCING ITS LOPR REPORTING
SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES; HIRING AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE
FIRM'S LOPR SYSTEMS AND IDENTIFY ANY ADDITIONAL OR REMAINING
DEFICIENCIES; AND CORRECTING THE DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY THE
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT.

Disclosure 119 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX PHLX, INC.

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OR CONCLUSIONS,
THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE CONCLUSION OF
VIOLATIONS OF CERTAIN EXCHANGE RULES. IN MORE THAN 26.8 MILLION
INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2013, THE FIRM FAILED
TO REPORT POSITIONS WITH RESPECT TO ACCOUNTS ACTING IN
CONCERT WITH OTHERS THAT TOGETHER HAD ESTABLISHED AN
AGGREGATE POSITION OF 200 OR MORE OPTION CONTRACTS ON THE
SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET COVERING THE SAME UNDERLYING
SECURITY, IN VIOLATION OF PHLX RULE 1003(A). IN APPROXIMATELY 1.1
MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2013, THE
FIRM REPORTED IN-CONCERT POSITIONS, BUT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THEM
AS ACTING IN CONCERT, IN VIOLATION OF PHLX RULE 1003(A). IN
APPROXIMATELY TWO MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010
THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED POSITIONS TO THE
LARGE OPTION POSITION REPORTING (LOPR) SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT
ACCOUNT TYPES, IN VIOLATION OF PHLX RULE 1003(A). IN
APPROXIMATELY 171,400 INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH
NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM
WITH INCORRECT ADDRESSES, IN VIOLATION OF PHLX RULE 1003(A). IN
APPROXIMATELY 19,000 INSTANCES FROM SEPTEMBER 2010 THROUGH
APRIL 2012, IN ITS LOPR SUBMISSIONS, THE FIRM AGGREGATED
POSITIONS HAVING WEEKLY EXPIRATIONS WITH POSITIONS HAVING
MONTHLY EXPIRATIONS, IN VIOLATION OF PHLX RULE 1003(A). FROM 2008
THROUGH 2013, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE SYSTEMS OF
SUPERVISION, INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, WHICH
WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
RULES GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF POSITIONS TO THE LOPR
SYSTEM. THE FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS TO DETERMINE THAT LOPR
SUBMISSIONS ACCEPTED BY THE LOPR SYSTEM WERE ACCURATE OR
THAT ALL REPORTABLE POSITIONS HAD ACTUALLY BEEN REPORTED. AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN
THEY OCCURRED. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTED VIOLATIONS OF PHLX
RULE 748(B), (D), (G), AND RULE 748(G)'S SUCCESSOR RULE, RULE 748(H).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX PHLX, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/22/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012032249304

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/22/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,856,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO PHLX, AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER THIS DECISION
BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS DECISION BECOMES
FINAL, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO THE EXCHANGE, IN CARE OF
FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT, REGARDING THEIR IN-
CONCERT REPORTING.

Regulator Statement CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN GIVEN TO THE FACT THAT THE FIRM HAS
ALREADY TAKEN SIGNIFICANT REMEDIAL ACTION, INCLUDING PROVIDING
EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION WITH THIS INVESTIGATION BY
RETAINING OUTSIDE COUNSEL TO CONDUCT A REVIEW AND REPORT ITS
FINDINGS TO FINRA PERIODICALLY; ENHANCING THEIR LOPR REPORTING
SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES; HIRING AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE
FIRM'S LOPR REPORTING SYSTEMS AND IDENTIFY ANY ADDITIONAL OR
REMAINING DEFICIENCIES; AND CORRECTING THE DEFICIENCIES
IDENTIFIED BY THE INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT. (ASSOCIATED CASE NO.
2014-18/20120330912/20120326130)

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,796,000.00

Decision
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX PHLX, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/22/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012032249304

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OR CONCLUSIONS,
THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE CONCLUSION OF
VIOLATIONS OF CERTAIN EXCHANGE RULES. THE FINDINGS STATE THAT,
IN VIOLATION OF PHLX RULE 1003(A), THE FIRM SUBMITTED INACCURATE
REPORTS OR FAILED TO SUBMIT REPORTS TO THE LARGE OPTION
POSITION REPORTING (LOPR) SYSTEM IN APPROXIMATELY 30,090,400
INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013.  THE
FINDINGS FURTHER STATED THAT, FROM 2008 THROUGH 2013, THE FIRM
FAILED TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE SYSTEMS OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING
SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW UP AND REVIEW, THAT WERE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE
REPORTING OF POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM.  FROM 2008 THROUGH
2013, THE FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS TO DETERMINE ACCURATE AND
COMPLETE LOPR SUBMISSIONS.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO
DETECT THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN THEY OCCURRED.  THIS
CONDUCT CONSTITUTES VIOLATIONS OF PHLX RULE 748(B), (D), (G), AND
RULE 748(G)'S SUCCESSOR RULE, RULE 748(H).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/22/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,856,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO PHLX, AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER THIS DECISION
BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS DECISION BECOMES
FINAL, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO THE EXCHANGE, IN CARE OF
FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT, REGARDING THEIR IN-
CONCERT REPORTING.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,796,000.00

Decision
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THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,856,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO PHLX, AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER THIS DECISION
BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS DECISION BECOMES
FINAL, MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO THE EXCHANGE, IN CARE OF
FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT, REGARDING THEIR IN-
CONCERT REPORTING.

Firm Statement CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN GIVEN TO THE FACT THAT THE FIRM HAS
ALREADY TAKEN SIGNIFICANT REMEDIAL ACTION, INCLUDING PROVIDING
EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION WITH THIS INVESTIGATION BY
RETAINING OUTSIDE COUNSEL TO CONDUCT A REVIEW AND REPORT ITS
FINDINGS TO FINRA PERIODICALLY; ENHANCING THEIR LOPR REPORTING
SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES; HIRING AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE
FIRM'S LOPR REPORTING SYSTEMS AND IDENTIFY ANY ADDITIONAL OR
REMAINING DEFICIENCIES; AND CORRECTING THE DEFICIENCIES
IDENTIFIED BY THE INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT.

Disclosure 120 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT SINCE THE
FIRM BECAME A MEMBER OF BOX IN MAY 2012, IT VIOLATED BOX RULE
3150(A) FROM MAY 2012 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013 BY SUBMITTING
INACCURATE REPORTS TO THE LARGE OPTION POSITION REPORTING
(LOPR) SYSTEM AND OMITTING REPORTABLE POSITIONS IN ITS LOPR
SUBMISSIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT IN MORE THAN 26.8 MILLION
INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2013, THE FIRM FAILED
TO REPORT POSITIONS WITH RESPECT TO ACCOUNTS ACTING IN
CONCERT WITH OTHERS THAT TOGETHER HAD ESTABLISHED AN
AGGREGATE POSITION OF 200 OR MORE OPTION CONTRACTS ON THE
SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET COVERING THE SAME UNDERLYING
SECURITY. THE CONDUCT VIOLATED BOX RULE 3150(A). IN
APPROXIMATELY 1.1 MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH
APRIL 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED IN-CONCERT POSITIONS, BUT FAILED TO
IDENTIFY THEM AS ACTING IN CONCERT, IN VIOLATION OF BOX RULE
3150(A). IN APPROXIMATELY TWO MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY
2010 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED POSITIONS TO
THE LOPR SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ACCOUNT TYPES, IN VIOLATION OF
BOX RULE 3150(A). IN APPROXIMATELY 171,400 INSTANCES FROM
JANUARY 2010 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED
POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ADDRESSES, IN
VIOLATION OF BOX RULE 3150(A). IN APPROXIMATELY 19,000 INSTANCES
FROM SEPTEMBER 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2012, IN ITS LOPR SUBMISSIONS,
THE FIRM AGGREGATED POSITIONS HAVING WEEKLY EXPIRATIONS WITH
POSITIONS HAVING MONTHLY EXPIRATIONS, IN VIOLATION OF BOX RULE
3150(A). THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT FROM MAY 2012, WHEN THE
FIRM BECAME A MEMBER OF BOX, THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, IT FAILED
TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE SYSTEMS OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING
SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, THAT WERE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH BOX RULE 3150(A)
GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM. THE
FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REQUIRING REVIEWS TO DETERMINE THAT LOPR SUBMISSIONS
ACCEPTED BY THE LOPR SYSTEM WERE ACCURATE OR THAT ALL
REPORTABLE POSITIONS HAD ACTUALLY BEEN REPORTED. AS A RESULT,
THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN THEY
OCCURRED. INSTEAD, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE VIOLATIONS BECAME
KNOWN THROUGH THE REVIEWS CONDUCTED BY THE MARKET
REGULATION DEPARTMENT. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED BOX RULES
3010 AND 3070(A).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BOX OPTIONS EXCHANGE LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/18/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2014-004

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT SINCE THE
FIRM BECAME A MEMBER OF BOX IN MAY 2012, IT VIOLATED BOX RULE
3150(A) FROM MAY 2012 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013 BY SUBMITTING
INACCURATE REPORTS TO THE LARGE OPTION POSITION REPORTING
(LOPR) SYSTEM AND OMITTING REPORTABLE POSITIONS IN ITS LOPR
SUBMISSIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT IN MORE THAN 26.8 MILLION
INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2013, THE FIRM FAILED
TO REPORT POSITIONS WITH RESPECT TO ACCOUNTS ACTING IN
CONCERT WITH OTHERS THAT TOGETHER HAD ESTABLISHED AN
AGGREGATE POSITION OF 200 OR MORE OPTION CONTRACTS ON THE
SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET COVERING THE SAME UNDERLYING
SECURITY. THE CONDUCT VIOLATED BOX RULE 3150(A). IN
APPROXIMATELY 1.1 MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY 2010 THROUGH
APRIL 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED IN-CONCERT POSITIONS, BUT FAILED TO
IDENTIFY THEM AS ACTING IN CONCERT, IN VIOLATION OF BOX RULE
3150(A). IN APPROXIMATELY TWO MILLION INSTANCES FROM JANUARY
2010 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED POSITIONS TO
THE LOPR SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ACCOUNT TYPES, IN VIOLATION OF
BOX RULE 3150(A). IN APPROXIMATELY 171,400 INSTANCES FROM
JANUARY 2010 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM REPORTED
POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM WITH INCORRECT ADDRESSES, IN
VIOLATION OF BOX RULE 3150(A). IN APPROXIMATELY 19,000 INSTANCES
FROM SEPTEMBER 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2012, IN ITS LOPR SUBMISSIONS,
THE FIRM AGGREGATED POSITIONS HAVING WEEKLY EXPIRATIONS WITH
POSITIONS HAVING MONTHLY EXPIRATIONS, IN VIOLATION OF BOX RULE
3150(A). THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT FROM MAY 2012, WHEN THE
FIRM BECAME A MEMBER OF BOX, THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013, IT FAILED
TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE SYSTEMS OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING
SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, THAT WERE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH BOX RULE 3150(A)
GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF POSITIONS TO THE LOPR SYSTEM. THE
FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REQUIRING REVIEWS TO DETERMINE THAT LOPR SUBMISSIONS
ACCEPTED BY THE LOPR SYSTEM WERE ACCURATE OR THAT ALL
REPORTABLE POSITIONS HAD ACTUALLY BEEN REPORTED. AS A RESULT,
THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN THEY
OCCURRED. INSTEAD, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE VIOLATIONS BECAME
KNOWN THROUGH THE REVIEWS CONDUCTED BY THE MARKET
REGULATION DEPARTMENT. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED BOX RULES
3010 AND 3070(A).

Resolution Date: 12/18/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,450,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO BOX, AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER THIS LETTER OF
CONSENT (LOC) BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS LOC
BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO BOX
IN CARE OF FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT REGARDING
THEIR IN-CONCERT REPORTING.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,796,000.00

Consent
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Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,450,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO BOX, AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER THIS LETTER OF
CONSENT (LOC) BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS LOC
BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO BOX
IN CARE OF FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT REGARDING
THEIR IN-CONCERT REPORTING.

Regulator Statement IN ARRIVING AT THE SANCTIONS, CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN GIVEN TO
THE FACT THAT THE FIRM HAS ALREADY TAKEN SIGNIFICANT REMEDIAL
ACTION, INCLUDING PROVIDING EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION WITH
THIS INVESTIGATION BY RETAINING OUTSIDE COUNSEL TO CONDUCT A
REVIEW AND REPORT ITS FINDINGS TO FINRA PERIODICALLY; ENHANCING
ITS LOPR REPORTING SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES; HIRING AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A
COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S LOPR SYSTEMS AND IDENTIFY ANY
ADDITIONAL OR REMAINING DEFICIENCIES; AND CORRECTING THE
DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY THE INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: BOX OPTIONS EXCHANGE LLC

Date Initiated: 12/18/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2014-004

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT FROM MAY
2012, WHEN IT BECAME A MEMBER OF BOX, THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013,
THE FIRM VIOLATED BOX RULE 3150(A) BY SUBMITTING INACCURATE
REPORTS AND FAILING TO SUBMIT REPORTS TO THE LARGE OPTION
POSITION REPORTING (LOPR) SYSTEM.  THE FINDINGS STATE THAT THE
FIRM SUBMITTED INACCURATE REPORTS OR FAILED TO SUBMIT REPORTS
TO THE LOPR SYSTEM IN APPROXIMATELY 30,090,400 INSTANCES FROM
JANUARY 2010 THROUGH NOVEMBER 2013.  THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT FROM MAY 2012, WHEN IT BECAME A MEMBER OF BOX, THROUGH
NOVEMBER 2013, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH ADEQUATE SYSTEMS
OF SUPERVISION, INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW UP AND REVIEW,
THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH BOX
RULE 3150(A) GOVERNING THE REPORTING OF POSITIONS TO THE LOPR
SYSTEM.  THE FIRM LACKED SUFFICIENT WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REQUIRING REVIEWS TO DETERMINE ACCURATE AND
COMPLETE LOPR SUBMISSIONS.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO
DETECT THE ABOVE VIOLATIONS WHEN THEY OCCURRED.  INSTEAD, IN
MOST INSTANCES, THE VIOLATIONS BECAME KNOWN THROUGH THE
REVIEWS CONDUCTED BY THE MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT.  AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM VIOLATED BOX RULES 3010 AND 3070(A).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: 2014-004

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/18/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $5,796,000, OF WHICH $1,450,000 SHALL
BE PAID TO BOX, AND UNDERTAKES TO, 90 DAYS AFTER THIS LETTER OF
CONSENT (LOC) BECOMES FINAL, AND AGAIN 180 DAYS AFTER THIS LOC
BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL MAKE A WRITTEN SUBMISSION TO BOX
IN CARE OF FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT REGARDING
THEIR IN-CONCERT REPORTING.

Firm Statement IN ARRIVING AT THE SANCTIONS, CONSIDERATION HAS BEEN GIVEN TO
THE FACT THAT THE FIRM HAS ALREADY TAKEN SIGNIFICANT REMEDIAL
ACTION, INCLUDING PROVIDING EXTRAORDINARY COOPERATION WITH
THIS INVESTIGATION BY RETAINING OUTSIDE COUNSEL TO CONDUCT A
REVIEW AND REPORT ITS FINDINGS TO FINRA PERIODICALLY; ENHANCING
ITS LOPR REPORTING SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES; HIRING AN IDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A
COMPLETE REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S LOPR SYSTEMS AND IDENTIFY ANY
ADDITIONAL OR REMAINING DEFICIENCIES; AND CORRECTING THE
DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED BY THE INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,796,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 121 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN 716
CORPORATE BOND TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM BOUGHT CORPORATE
BONDS FROM CUSTOMERS AND FAILED TO BUY SUCH BONDS AT A PRICE
THAT WAS FAIR, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT
CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING MARKET CONDITIONS WITH RESPECT TO
EACH BOND AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION, THE EXPENSE INVOLVED
AND THAT THE FIRM WAS ENTITLED TO A PROFIT. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT ALL 716 TRANSACTIONS AT ISSUE IN THIS MATTER INVOLVED RETAIL
CUSTOMERS SELLING THEIR SENIOR NOTES ISSUED BY A COMPANY TO
THE FIRM. THE NOTES WERE DE-LISTED FROM THE NEW YORK STOCK
EXCHANGE AFTER A BANKRUPTCY FILING. AFTER THE DE-LISTING, THE
NOTES WERE HIGHLY DISTRESSED AND REQUIRED TO BE EXECUTED
MANUALLY AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM'S CREDIT DESK PROVIDED BIDS AWAY
FROM THE PREVAILING MARKET TO THE FIRM'S SERVICE DESKS, WHICH
ULTIMATELY RESULTED IN THE FIRM PURCHASING THE NOTES FROM
RETAIL CUSTOMERS AT PRICES BELOW THE PREVAILING MARKET PRICE.
MOREOVER, OF THE 716 TRANSACTIONS, 510 OF THESE HAD
MARKDOWNS IN EXCESS OF 10 PERCENT. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM IN
PLACE TO DETECT WHETHER THE FIRM'S CREDIT DESK EXECUTED A
RETAIL CUSTOMER TRANSACTION AT A PRICE CONSISTENT WITH THE
PREVAILING MARKET PRICE OF THAT SECURITY. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM
DID NOT CONDUCT FAIR PRICING POST-TRADE REVIEWS OF THE
TRANSACTIONS HERE, OR FAIR PRICING OR BEST EXECUTION POST-
TRADE REVIEWS OF OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER TRADES EXECUTED ON
THE CREDIT DESK. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD WAS DEFICIENT. MOREOVER, THE FIRM'S
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) WERE DEFICIENT, WITH
RESPECT TO THE TRANSACTIONS HERE AND OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER
TRADES EXECUTED ON THE CREDIT DESK, BECAUSE THEY DID NOT
ESTABLISH: THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR
SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO FAIR PRICING AND BEST EXECUTION
REVIEWS OF RETAIL CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE
CREDIT DESK; A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN
BY THE IDENTIFIED PERSON; A STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH
PERSON SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEPS; AND A STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE
COMPLETION OF THE STEPS INCLUDED IN THE WSPS SHOULD BE
DOCUMENTED.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/16/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2010022691101

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN 716
CORPORATE BOND TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM BOUGHT CORPORATE
BONDS FROM CUSTOMERS AND FAILED TO BUY SUCH BONDS AT A PRICE
THAT WAS FAIR, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT
CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING MARKET CONDITIONS WITH RESPECT TO
EACH BOND AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION, THE EXPENSE INVOLVED
AND THAT THE FIRM WAS ENTITLED TO A PROFIT. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT ALL 716 TRANSACTIONS AT ISSUE IN THIS MATTER INVOLVED RETAIL
CUSTOMERS SELLING THEIR SENIOR NOTES ISSUED BY A COMPANY TO
THE FIRM. THE NOTES WERE DE-LISTED FROM THE NEW YORK STOCK
EXCHANGE AFTER A BANKRUPTCY FILING. AFTER THE DE-LISTING, THE
NOTES WERE HIGHLY DISTRESSED AND REQUIRED TO BE EXECUTED
MANUALLY AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM'S CREDIT DESK PROVIDED BIDS AWAY
FROM THE PREVAILING MARKET TO THE FIRM'S SERVICE DESKS, WHICH
ULTIMATELY RESULTED IN THE FIRM PURCHASING THE NOTES FROM
RETAIL CUSTOMERS AT PRICES BELOW THE PREVAILING MARKET PRICE.
MOREOVER, OF THE 716 TRANSACTIONS, 510 OF THESE HAD
MARKDOWNS IN EXCESS OF 10 PERCENT. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM IN
PLACE TO DETECT WHETHER THE FIRM'S CREDIT DESK EXECUTED A
RETAIL CUSTOMER TRANSACTION AT A PRICE CONSISTENT WITH THE
PREVAILING MARKET PRICE OF THAT SECURITY. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM
DID NOT CONDUCT FAIR PRICING POST-TRADE REVIEWS OF THE
TRANSACTIONS HERE, OR FAIR PRICING OR BEST EXECUTION POST-
TRADE REVIEWS OF OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER TRADES EXECUTED ON
THE CREDIT DESK. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD WAS DEFICIENT. MOREOVER, THE FIRM'S
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) WERE DEFICIENT, WITH
RESPECT TO THE TRANSACTIONS HERE AND OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER
TRADES EXECUTED ON THE CREDIT DESK, BECAUSE THEY DID NOT
ESTABLISH: THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR
SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO FAIR PRICING AND BEST EXECUTION
REVIEWS OF RETAIL CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE
CREDIT DESK; A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN
BY THE IDENTIFIED PERSON; A STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH
PERSON SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEPS; AND A STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE
COMPLETION OF THE STEPS INCLUDED IN THE WSPS SHOULD BE
DOCUMENTED.
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 12/16/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST; UNDERTAKING: PROVIDE THREE REPORTS, WRITTEN AND
ORAL, TO FINRA ON DATES THAT ARE NO MORE THAN SIX MONTHS, 12
MONTHS, AND 18 MONTHS AFTER THE DATE OF THE NOTICE OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, REGARDING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WITH RESPECT TO THE PRICING OF RETAIL
CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE CREDIT DESK

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $1,900,000, ORDERED TO PAY
RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $541,629.19, PLUS INTEREST, AND
UNDERTAKES TO PROVIDE THREE REPORTS, WRITTEN AND ORAL, TO
FINRA ON DATES THAT ARE NO MORE THAN SIX MONTHS, 12 MONTHS,
AND 18 MONTHS AFTER THE DATE OF THE NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF
THIS AWC, REGARDING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WITH RESPECT TO THE PRICING OF RETAIL
CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE CREDIT DESK.

FINE PAID IN FULL ON JANUARY 15, 2015.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,900,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN 716
CORPORATE BOND TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM BOUGHT CORPORATE
BONDS FROM CUSTOMERS AND FAILED TO BUY SUCH BONDS AT A PRICE
THAT WAS FAIR, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT
CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING MARKET CONDITIONS WITH RESPECT TO
EACH BOND AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION, THE EXPENSE INVOLVED
AND THAT THE FIRM WAS ENTITLED TO A PROFIT. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT ALL 716 TRANSACTIONS AT ISSUE IN THIS MATTER INVOLVED RETAIL
CUSTOMERS SELLING THEIR SENIOR NOTES ISSUED BY A COMPANY TO
THE FIRM. THE NOTES WERE DE-LISTED FROM THE NEW YORK STOCK
EXCHANGE AFTER A BANKRUPTCY FILING. AFTER THE DE-LISTING, THE
NOTES WERE HIGHLY DISTRESSED AND REQUIRED TO BE EXECUTED
MANUALLY AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM'S CREDIT DESK PROVIDED BIDS AWAY
FROM THE PREVAILING MARKET TO THE FIRM'S SERVICE DESKS, WHICH
ULTIMATELY RESULTED IN THE FIRM PURCHASING THE NOTES FROM
RETAIL CUSTOMERS AT PRICES BELOW THE PREVAILING MARKET PRICE.
MOREOVER, OF THE 716 TRANSACTIONS, 510 OF THESE HAD
MARKDOWNS IN EXCESS OF 10 PERCENT. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM IN
PLACE TO DETECT WHETHER THE FIRM'S CREDIT DESK EXECUTED A
RETAIL CUSTOMER TRANSACTION AT A PRICE CONSISTENT WITH THE
PREVAILING MARKET PRICE OF THAT SECURITY. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM
DID NOT CONDUCT FAIR PRICING POST-TRADE REVIEWS OF THE
TRANSACTIONS HERE, OR FAIR PRICING OR BEST EXECUTION POST-
TRADE REVIEWS OF OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER TRADES EXECUTED ON
THE CREDIT DESK. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD WAS DEFICIENT. MOREOVER, THE FIRM'S
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) WERE DEFICIENT, WITH
RESPECT TO THE TRANSACTIONS HERE AND OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER
TRADES EXECUTED ON THE CREDIT DESK, BECAUSE THEY DID NOT
ESTABLISH: THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR
SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO FAIR PRICING AND BEST EXECUTION
REVIEWS OF RETAIL CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE
CREDIT DESK; A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN
BY THE IDENTIFIED PERSON; A STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH
PERSON SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEPS; AND A STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE
COMPLETION OF THE STEPS INCLUDED IN THE WSPS SHOULD BE
DOCUMENTED.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE, RESTITUTION, UNDERTAKING, INTEREST

Date Initiated: 12/16/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2010022691101

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IN 716
CORPORATE BOND TRANSACTIONS, THE FIRM BOUGHT CORPORATE
BONDS FROM CUSTOMERS AND FAILED TO BUY SUCH BONDS AT A PRICE
THAT WAS FAIR, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT
CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING MARKET CONDITIONS WITH RESPECT TO
EACH BOND AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION, THE EXPENSE INVOLVED
AND THAT THE FIRM WAS ENTITLED TO A PROFIT. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT ALL 716 TRANSACTIONS AT ISSUE IN THIS MATTER INVOLVED RETAIL
CUSTOMERS SELLING THEIR SENIOR NOTES ISSUED BY A COMPANY TO
THE FIRM. THE NOTES WERE DE-LISTED FROM THE NEW YORK STOCK
EXCHANGE AFTER A BANKRUPTCY FILING. AFTER THE DE-LISTING, THE
NOTES WERE HIGHLY DISTRESSED AND REQUIRED TO BE EXECUTED
MANUALLY AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM'S CREDIT DESK PROVIDED BIDS AWAY
FROM THE PREVAILING MARKET TO THE FIRM'S SERVICE DESKS, WHICH
ULTIMATELY RESULTED IN THE FIRM PURCHASING THE NOTES FROM
RETAIL CUSTOMERS AT PRICES BELOW THE PREVAILING MARKET PRICE.
MOREOVER, OF THE 716 TRANSACTIONS, 510 OF THESE HAD
MARKDOWNS IN EXCESS OF 10 PERCENT. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM IN
PLACE TO DETECT WHETHER THE FIRM'S CREDIT DESK EXECUTED A
RETAIL CUSTOMER TRANSACTION AT A PRICE CONSISTENT WITH THE
PREVAILING MARKET PRICE OF THAT SECURITY. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM
DID NOT CONDUCT FAIR PRICING POST-TRADE REVIEWS OF THE
TRANSACTIONS HERE, OR FAIR PRICING OR BEST EXECUTION POST-
TRADE REVIEWS OF OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER TRADES EXECUTED ON
THE CREDIT DESK. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD WAS DEFICIENT. MOREOVER, THE FIRM'S
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) WERE DEFICIENT, WITH
RESPECT TO THE TRANSACTIONS HERE AND OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER
TRADES EXECUTED ON THE CREDIT DESK, BECAUSE THEY DID NOT
ESTABLISH: THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR
SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO FAIR PRICING AND BEST EXECUTION
REVIEWS OF RETAIL CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE
CREDIT DESK; A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN
BY THE IDENTIFIED PERSON; A STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH
PERSON SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEPS; AND A STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE
COMPLETION OF THE STEPS INCLUDED IN THE WSPS SHOULD BE
DOCUMENTED.

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 12/16/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST; UNDERTAKING: PROVIDE THREE REPORTS, WRITTEN AND
ORAL, TO FINRA ON DATES THAT ARE NO MORE THAN SIX MONTHS, 12
MONTHS, AND 18 MONTHS AFTER THE DATE OF THE NOTICE OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, REGARDING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WITH RESPECT TO THE PRICING OF RETAIL
CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE CREDIT DESK.

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $1,900,000, ORDERED TO PAY
RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $541,629.19, PLUS INTEREST, AND
UNDERTAKES TO PROVIDE THREE REPORTS, WRITTEN AND ORAL, TO
FINRA ON DATES THAT ARE NO MORE THAN SIX MONTHS, 12 MONTHS,
AND 18 MONTHS AFTER THE DATE OF THE NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF
THIS AWC, REGARDING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WITH RESPECT TO THE PRICING OF RETAIL
CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE CREDIT DESK.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $1,900,000, ORDERED TO PAY
RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $541,629.19, PLUS INTEREST, AND
UNDERTAKES TO PROVIDE THREE REPORTS, WRITTEN AND ORAL, TO
FINRA ON DATES THAT ARE NO MORE THAN SIX MONTHS, 12 MONTHS,
AND 18 MONTHS AFTER THE DATE OF THE NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF
THIS AWC, REGARDING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WITH RESPECT TO THE PRICING OF RETAIL
CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY THE CREDIT DESK.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,900,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 122 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED PROVISIONS OF NASD RULE 2711, THROUGH ITS PARTICIPATION
IN A PLANNED INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING (IPO). THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT A COMPANY AND ITS PRIVATE EQUITY OWNERS ("SPONSORS")
INVITED THE FIRM TO COMPETE FOR A ROLE IN THE COMPANY'S PLANNED
IPO. THE FIRM ALLOWED ITS RESEARCH ANALYST TO PARTICIPATE IN THE
FIRM'S SOLICITATION EFFORTS BY MAKING A PRESENTATION TO THE
COMPANY AND ITS SPONSORS DURING THE SOLICITATION PERIOD. TO
WIN THIS INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS FROM THE COMPANY THE
FIRM ALLOWED ITS EQUITY RESEARCH ANALYST TO PARTICIPATE IN THE
FIRM'S SOLICITATION EFFORTS. THEREFORE, IN THE CONTEXT OF THE
COMPANY'S IPO, THIS WAS A CONFLICT OF INTEREST BY THE RESEARCH
ANALYST AS THEY WERE PROHIBITED FROM PARTICIPATING IN EFFORTS
TO SOLICIT INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS. ADDITIONALLY, THE FIRM
COMPLIED WITH THE COMPANY'S REQUEST FOR A VALUATION THAT
INCLUDED THE ANALYST'S VIEWS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT TO
WIN THIS INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS FROM THE COMPANY THE
FIRM OFFERED FAVORABLE RESEARCH COVERAGE TO THE COMPANY.
UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE IPO, THE COMPANY OFFERED
FAVORABLE RESEARCH COVERAGE TO INDUCE RECEIPT OF INVESTMENT
BANKING BUSINESS BY SUBMITTING TO THE COMPANY, DURING THE
SOLICITATION PERIOD, INFORMATION RELATED TO A VALUATION
TEMPLATE REQUESTED BY THE COMPANY AND THE SPONSORS.
THEREFORE, IN THE CONTEXT OF THE COMPANY'S IPO THIS WAS A
VIOLATION, WHICH PROHIBITS FIRM FROM DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
OFFERING FAVORABLE RESEARCH TO OBTAIN INVESTMENT BANKING
BUSINESS. THE FIRM UNDERSTOOD THAT THE COMPANY AND THE
SPONSORS WANTED A FINAL VALUATION THAT THE ENTIRE FIRM,
INCLUDING ITS ANALYST, WOULD SUPPORT IF SELECTED AS AN
UNDERWRITER. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM DID NOT COMPLETE THE ACTUAL
TEMPLATE PROVIDED TO THE FIRM BY THE COMPANY, IT PROVIDED THE
VALUATION INFORMATION THE COMPANY HAD REQUESTED. THE COVER
EMAIL NOTED THAT THE VALUATION RANGE PRESENTED REFLECTS THE
VIEWS ACROSS THE FIRM'S PLATFORM, AND PROVIDES ABSOLUTE
CLARITY ON THE FIRM'S PERSPECTIVE ON VALUE. THE FOLLOWING DAY,
AN INVESTMENT BANKER OF THE FIRM FORWARDED ITS RESPONSE TO
ONE OF THE SPONSORS, NOTING THAT THE RESPONSE REFLECTS A
FULLY VETTED FIRM VIEW ON VALUATION FOR THE COMPANY. THE
INVESTMENT BANKERS ALSO UNDERSTOOD THAT THE COMPANY
MANAGEMENT AND SPONSORS WERE LOOKING AT THE ANALYSTS AND
THEIR VIEW OF THE POTENTIAL TRANSACTION FOR PURPOSES OF
DISTINGUISHING THE FIRM FROM OTHERS COMPETING FOR THE ROLE IN
THE COMPANY'S PLANNED IPO. BY PROVIDING THE COMPANY THE
UNIFIED VALUATION IT SOUGHT, THE FIRM INDICATED TO THE COMPANY
THAT POST-IPO RESEARCH COVERAGE WOULD BE POSITIVE AND
ALIGNED WITH INVESTMENT BANKING. SHORTLY THEREAFTER, THE
COMPANY AND THE SPONSORS SELECTED THE FIRM AS AN ACTIVE BOOK-
RUNNER FOR THE COMPANY'S IPO. THE COMPANY, HOWEVER,
EVENTUALLY DECIDED NOT TO PROCEED WITH THE OFFERING.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 12/11/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2011030683501

Principal Product Type: Other

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED PROVISIONS OF NASD RULE 2711, THROUGH ITS PARTICIPATION
IN A PLANNED INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING (IPO). THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT A COMPANY AND ITS PRIVATE EQUITY OWNERS ("SPONSORS")
INVITED THE FIRM TO COMPETE FOR A ROLE IN THE COMPANY'S PLANNED
IPO. THE FIRM ALLOWED ITS RESEARCH ANALYST TO PARTICIPATE IN THE
FIRM'S SOLICITATION EFFORTS BY MAKING A PRESENTATION TO THE
COMPANY AND ITS SPONSORS DURING THE SOLICITATION PERIOD. TO
WIN THIS INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS FROM THE COMPANY THE
FIRM ALLOWED ITS EQUITY RESEARCH ANALYST TO PARTICIPATE IN THE
FIRM'S SOLICITATION EFFORTS. THEREFORE, IN THE CONTEXT OF THE
COMPANY'S IPO, THIS WAS A CONFLICT OF INTEREST BY THE RESEARCH
ANALYST AS THEY WERE PROHIBITED FROM PARTICIPATING IN EFFORTS
TO SOLICIT INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS. ADDITIONALLY, THE FIRM
COMPLIED WITH THE COMPANY'S REQUEST FOR A VALUATION THAT
INCLUDED THE ANALYST'S VIEWS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT TO
WIN THIS INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS FROM THE COMPANY THE
FIRM OFFERED FAVORABLE RESEARCH COVERAGE TO THE COMPANY.
UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE IPO, THE COMPANY OFFERED
FAVORABLE RESEARCH COVERAGE TO INDUCE RECEIPT OF INVESTMENT
BANKING BUSINESS BY SUBMITTING TO THE COMPANY, DURING THE
SOLICITATION PERIOD, INFORMATION RELATED TO A VALUATION
TEMPLATE REQUESTED BY THE COMPANY AND THE SPONSORS.
THEREFORE, IN THE CONTEXT OF THE COMPANY'S IPO THIS WAS A
VIOLATION, WHICH PROHIBITS FIRM FROM DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
OFFERING FAVORABLE RESEARCH TO OBTAIN INVESTMENT BANKING
BUSINESS. THE FIRM UNDERSTOOD THAT THE COMPANY AND THE
SPONSORS WANTED A FINAL VALUATION THAT THE ENTIRE FIRM,
INCLUDING ITS ANALYST, WOULD SUPPORT IF SELECTED AS AN
UNDERWRITER. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM DID NOT COMPLETE THE ACTUAL
TEMPLATE PROVIDED TO THE FIRM BY THE COMPANY, IT PROVIDED THE
VALUATION INFORMATION THE COMPANY HAD REQUESTED. THE COVER
EMAIL NOTED THAT THE VALUATION RANGE PRESENTED REFLECTS THE
VIEWS ACROSS THE FIRM'S PLATFORM, AND PROVIDES ABSOLUTE
CLARITY ON THE FIRM'S PERSPECTIVE ON VALUE. THE FOLLOWING DAY,
AN INVESTMENT BANKER OF THE FIRM FORWARDED ITS RESPONSE TO
ONE OF THE SPONSORS, NOTING THAT THE RESPONSE REFLECTS A
FULLY VETTED FIRM VIEW ON VALUATION FOR THE COMPANY. THE
INVESTMENT BANKERS ALSO UNDERSTOOD THAT THE COMPANY
MANAGEMENT AND SPONSORS WERE LOOKING AT THE ANALYSTS AND
THEIR VIEW OF THE POTENTIAL TRANSACTION FOR PURPOSES OF
DISTINGUISHING THE FIRM FROM OTHERS COMPETING FOR THE ROLE IN
THE COMPANY'S PLANNED IPO. BY PROVIDING THE COMPANY THE
UNIFIED VALUATION IT SOUGHT, THE FIRM INDICATED TO THE COMPANY
THAT POST-IPO RESEARCH COVERAGE WOULD BE POSITIVE AND
ALIGNED WITH INVESTMENT BANKING. SHORTLY THEREAFTER, THE
COMPANY AND THE SPONSORS SELECTED THE FIRM AS AN ACTIVE BOOK-
RUNNER FOR THE COMPANY'S IPO. THE COMPANY, HOWEVER,
EVENTUALLY DECIDED NOT TO PROCEED WITH THE OFFERING.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

Resolution Date: 12/11/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $4,000,000. FINE PAID IN FULL ON
DECEMBER 30, 2014.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED PROVISIONS OF NASD RULE 2711, THROUGH ITS PARTICIPATION
IN A PLANNED INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING (IPO). THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT A COMPANY AND ITS PRIVATE EQUITY OWNERS ("SPONSORS")
INVITED THE FIRM TO COMPETE FOR A ROLE IN THE COMPANY'S PLANNED
IPO. THE FIRM ALLOWED ITS RESEARCH ANALYST TO PARTICIPATE IN THE
FIRM'S SOLICITATION EFFORTS BY MAKING A PRESENTATION TO THE
COMPANY AND ITS SPONSORS DURING THE SOLICITATION PERIOD. TO
WIN THIS INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS FROM THE COMPANY THE
FIRM ALLOWED ITS EQUITY RESEARCH ANALYST TO PARTICIPATE IN THE
FIRM'S SOLICITATION EFFORTS. THEREFORE, IN THE CONTEXT OF THE
COMPANY'S IPO, THIS WAS A CONFLICT OF INTEREST BY THE RESEARCH
ANALYST AS THEY WERE PROHIBITED FROM PARTICIPATING IN EFFORTS
TO SOLICIT INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS. ADDITIONALLY, THE FIRM
COMPLIED WITH THE COMPANY'S REQUEST FOR A VALUATION THAT
INCLUDED THE ANALYST'S VIEWS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT TO
WIN THIS INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS FROM THE COMPANY THE
FIRM OFFERED FAVORABLE RESEARCH COVERAGE TO THE COMPANY.
UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE IPO, THE COMPANY OFFERED
FAVORABLE RESEARCH COVERAGE TO INDUCE RECEIPT OF INVESTMENT
BANKING BUSINESS BY SUBMITTING TO THE COMPANY, DURING THE
SOLICITATION PERIOD, INFORMATION RELATED TO A VALUATION
TEMPLATE REQUESTED BY THE COMPANY AND THE SPONSORS.
THEREFORE, IN THE CONTEXT OF THE COMPANY'S IPO THIS WAS A
VIOLATION, WHICH PROHIBITS FIRM FROM DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
OFFERING FAVORABLE RESEARCH TO OBTAIN INVESTMENT BANKING
BUSINESS. THE FIRM UNDERSTOOD THAT THE COMPANY AND THE
SPONSORS WANTED A FINAL VALUATION THAT THE ENTIRE FIRM,
INCLUDING ITS ANALYST, WOULD SUPPORT IF SELECTED AS AN
UNDERWRITER. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM DID NOT COMPLETE THE ACTUAL
TEMPLATE PROVIDED TO THE FIRM BY THE COMPANY, IT PROVIDED THE
VALUATION INFORMATION THE COMPANY HAD REQUESTED. THE COVER
EMAIL NOTED THAT THE VALUATION RANGE PRESENTED REFLECTS THE
VIEWS ACROSS THE FIRM'S PLATFORM, AND PROVIDES ABSOLUTE
CLARITY ON THE FIRM'S PERSPECTIVE ON VALUE. THE FOLLOWING DAY,
AN INVESTMENT BANKER OF THE FIRM FORWARDED ITS RESPONSE TO
ONE OF THE SPONSORS, NOTING THAT THE RESPONSE REFLECTS A
FULLY VETTED FIRM VIEW ON VALUATION FOR THE COMPANY. THE
INVESTMENT BANKERS ALSO UNDERSTOOD THAT THE COMPANY
MANAGEMENT AND SPONSORS WERE LOOKING AT THE ANALYSTS AND
THEIR VIEW OF THE POTENTIAL TRANSACTION FOR PURPOSES OF
DISTINGUISHING THE FIRM FROM OTHERS COMPETING FOR THE ROLE IN
THE COMPANY'S PLANNED IPO. BY PROVIDING THE COMPANY THE
UNIFIED VALUATION IT SOUGHT, THE FIRM INDICATED TO THE COMPANY
THAT POST-IPO RESEARCH COVERAGE WOULD BE POSITIVE AND
ALIGNED WITH INVESTMENT BANKING. SHORTLY THEREAFTER, THE
COMPANY AND THE SPONSORS SELECTED THE FIRM AS AN ACTIVE BOOK-
RUNNER FOR THE COMPANY'S IPO. THE COMPANY, HOWEVER,
EVENTUALLY DECIDED NOT TO PROCEED WITH THE OFFERING.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/11/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2011030683501

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED PROVISIONS OF NASD RULE 2711, THROUGH ITS PARTICIPATION
IN A PLANNED INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING (IPO). THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT A COMPANY AND ITS PRIVATE EQUITY OWNERS ("SPONSORS")
INVITED THE FIRM TO COMPETE FOR A ROLE IN THE COMPANY'S PLANNED
IPO. THE FIRM ALLOWED ITS RESEARCH ANALYST TO PARTICIPATE IN THE
FIRM'S SOLICITATION EFFORTS BY MAKING A PRESENTATION TO THE
COMPANY AND ITS SPONSORS DURING THE SOLICITATION PERIOD. TO
WIN THIS INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS FROM THE COMPANY THE
FIRM ALLOWED ITS EQUITY RESEARCH ANALYST TO PARTICIPATE IN THE
FIRM'S SOLICITATION EFFORTS. THEREFORE, IN THE CONTEXT OF THE
COMPANY'S IPO, THIS WAS A CONFLICT OF INTEREST BY THE RESEARCH
ANALYST AS THEY WERE PROHIBITED FROM PARTICIPATING IN EFFORTS
TO SOLICIT INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS. ADDITIONALLY, THE FIRM
COMPLIED WITH THE COMPANY'S REQUEST FOR A VALUATION THAT
INCLUDED THE ANALYST'S VIEWS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT TO
WIN THIS INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS FROM THE COMPANY THE
FIRM OFFERED FAVORABLE RESEARCH COVERAGE TO THE COMPANY.
UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE IPO, THE COMPANY OFFERED
FAVORABLE RESEARCH COVERAGE TO INDUCE RECEIPT OF INVESTMENT
BANKING BUSINESS BY SUBMITTING TO THE COMPANY, DURING THE
SOLICITATION PERIOD, INFORMATION RELATED TO A VALUATION
TEMPLATE REQUESTED BY THE COMPANY AND THE SPONSORS.
THEREFORE, IN THE CONTEXT OF THE COMPANY'S IPO THIS WAS A
VIOLATION, WHICH PROHIBITS FIRM FROM DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
OFFERING FAVORABLE RESEARCH TO OBTAIN INVESTMENT BANKING
BUSINESS. THE FIRM UNDERSTOOD THAT THE COMPANY AND THE
SPONSORS WANTED A FINAL VALUATION THAT THE ENTIRE FIRM,
INCLUDING ITS ANALYST, WOULD SUPPORT IF SELECTED AS AN
UNDERWRITER. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM DID NOT COMPLETE THE ACTUAL
TEMPLATE PROVIDED TO THE FIRM BY THE COMPANY, IT PROVIDED THE
VALUATION INFORMATION THE COMPANY HAD REQUESTED. THE COVER
EMAIL NOTED THAT THE VALUATION RANGE PRESENTED REFLECTS THE
VIEWS ACROSS THE FIRM'S PLATFORM, AND PROVIDES ABSOLUTE
CLARITY ON THE FIRM'S PERSPECTIVE ON VALUE. THE FOLLOWING DAY,
AN INVESTMENT BANKER OF THE FIRM FORWARDED ITS RESPONSE TO
ONE OF THE SPONSORS, NOTING THAT THE RESPONSE REFLECTS A
FULLY VETTED FIRM VIEW ON VALUATION FOR THE COMPANY. THE
INVESTMENT BANKERS ALSO UNDERSTOOD THAT THE COMPANY
MANAGEMENT AND SPONSORS WERE LOOKING AT THE ANALYSTS AND
THEIR VIEW OF THE POTENTIAL TRANSACTION FOR PURPOSES OF
DISTINGUISHING THE FIRM FROM OTHERS COMPETING FOR THE ROLE IN
THE COMPANY'S PLANNED IPO. BY PROVIDING THE COMPANY THE
UNIFIED VALUATION IT SOUGHT, THE FIRM INDICATED TO THE COMPANY
THAT POST-IPO RESEARCH COVERAGE WOULD BE POSITIVE AND
ALIGNED WITH INVESTMENT BANKING. SHORTLY THEREAFTER, THE
COMPANY AND THE SPONSORS SELECTED THE FIRM AS AN ACTIVE BOOK-
RUNNER FOR THE COMPANY'S IPO. THE COMPANY, HOWEVER,
EVENTUALLY DECIDED NOT TO PROCEED WITH THE OFFERING.
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 12/11/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $4,000,000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $4,000,000.  THE FIRM DID NOT
PUBLISH ANY EQUITY RESEARCH REPORTS ABOUT THE COMPANY
DURING THE PERIOD DESCRIBED IN THE SETTLEMENT DOCUMENT, AS
THE COMPANY DECIDED NOT TO PROCEED WITH THE IPO.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 123 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD, THE FIRM PARTICIPATED IN THE NYSE'S SUPPLEMENTAL
LIQUIDITY PROVIDER (SLP) PROGRAM. AS A SLP, THE FIRM PROVIDED
LIQUIDITY IN ITS ASSIGNED SECURITIES BY ELECTRONICALLY ENTERING
RESTING ORDERS INTO THE SYSTEMS AND FACILITIES OF THE NYSE. THE
FIRM UTILIZED NUMEROUS ALGORITHMS WITHIN ITS QUANTITATIVE
SYSTEMIC ARBITRAGE (QSA) DESK TO FULFILL ITS OBLIGATIONS AS A SLP.
AS OF MARCH 26, 2014, THE FIRM DISCONTINUED ITS QSA DESK TRADING
OPERATIONS AND RELATED NYSE SLP TRADING ALGORITHMS. HOWEVER,
DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, APPROXIMATELY 600,000 SLP ORDERS
THE FIRM ENTERED THROUGH ITS SLP ALGORITHMS RESULTED IN
EXECUTIONS ON THE NYSE AGAINST ORDERS ENTERED BY OTHER OF
THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY ALGORITHMS. ALL QSA ALGORITHMIC TRADING
STRATEGIES RAN ON THE FIRM'S ALGORITHMIC TRADING PLATFORM AND
WERE SUBJECT TO A WASH SALE CONTROL PROCEDURE GOVERNED BY
PRICE. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM'S SLP ALGORITHMS WERE DESIGNED TO
PREVENT THE MATCHING OF BUY AND SELL ORDERS WITHIN A SINGLE
ALGORITHM, THE FIRM HAD NO SYSTEMIC PRE-TRADE BLOCK IN PLACE
TO PREVENT THE ENTRY OF ORDERS ACROSS DIFFERENT ALGORITHMS
THAT COULD POTENTIALLY INTERACT. THE FIRM'S QSA TRADING
SUPERVISION GROUP UTILIZED THE WASH SALE CROSSING REPORT,
WHICH WAS A T+1 REPORT DESIGNED TO CAPTURE INSTANCES WHERE
AN INDIVIDUAL ALGORITHM IS ON BOTH THE BUY SIDE AND SELL SIDE OF
A TRADE. IN ADDITION, AT A POINT, THE FIRM ADDED THE QSA SYSTEM
DATA TO ITS PREEXISTING CONTEMPORANEOUS TRANSACTION (WASH
SALE) REVIEW, WHICH WAS USED BY ITS EQUITY SURVEILLANCE GROUP
TO IDENTIFY SCENARIOS IN WHICH A BUY AND SELL TRANSACTION IN THE
SAME SECURITY OCCURRED IN THE SAME CUSTOMER OR FIRM HOUSE
ACCOUNT AT THE SAME PRICE ON THE SAME TRADE DATE FOR POSSIBLE
PROHIBITED TRADING STRATEGY. DURING THE PERIOD, THE FIRM DID
NOT HAVE A REPORT TO DETECT INSTANCES WHERE TWO SEPARATE
FIRM ALGORITHMS WERE ON THE BUY SIDE AND SELL SIDE OF A TRADE.
AS A RESULT, THE SELF-TRADE CONTROLS AND REPORTS WERE NOT
CAPABLE OF REASONABLY DETECTING AND/OR PREVENTING SLP TRADES
THAT RESULTED IN NO BENEFICIAL CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP. THE
CONDUCT DESCRIBED HEREIN CONSTITUTES A SEPARATE AND DISTINCT
VIOLATION OF NYSE RULE 342.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/01/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012033090601

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD, THE FIRM PARTICIPATED IN THE NYSE'S SUPPLEMENTAL
LIQUIDITY PROVIDER (SLP) PROGRAM. AS A SLP, THE FIRM PROVIDED
LIQUIDITY IN ITS ASSIGNED SECURITIES BY ELECTRONICALLY ENTERING
RESTING ORDERS INTO THE SYSTEMS AND FACILITIES OF THE NYSE. THE
FIRM UTILIZED NUMEROUS ALGORITHMS WITHIN ITS QUANTITATIVE
SYSTEMIC ARBITRAGE (QSA) DESK TO FULFILL ITS OBLIGATIONS AS A SLP.
AS OF MARCH 26, 2014, THE FIRM DISCONTINUED ITS QSA DESK TRADING
OPERATIONS AND RELATED NYSE SLP TRADING ALGORITHMS. HOWEVER,
DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, APPROXIMATELY 600,000 SLP ORDERS
THE FIRM ENTERED THROUGH ITS SLP ALGORITHMS RESULTED IN
EXECUTIONS ON THE NYSE AGAINST ORDERS ENTERED BY OTHER OF
THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY ALGORITHMS. ALL QSA ALGORITHMIC TRADING
STRATEGIES RAN ON THE FIRM'S ALGORITHMIC TRADING PLATFORM AND
WERE SUBJECT TO A WASH SALE CONTROL PROCEDURE GOVERNED BY
PRICE. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM'S SLP ALGORITHMS WERE DESIGNED TO
PREVENT THE MATCHING OF BUY AND SELL ORDERS WITHIN A SINGLE
ALGORITHM, THE FIRM HAD NO SYSTEMIC PRE-TRADE BLOCK IN PLACE
TO PREVENT THE ENTRY OF ORDERS ACROSS DIFFERENT ALGORITHMS
THAT COULD POTENTIALLY INTERACT. THE FIRM'S QSA TRADING
SUPERVISION GROUP UTILIZED THE WASH SALE CROSSING REPORT,
WHICH WAS A T+1 REPORT DESIGNED TO CAPTURE INSTANCES WHERE
AN INDIVIDUAL ALGORITHM IS ON BOTH THE BUY SIDE AND SELL SIDE OF
A TRADE. IN ADDITION, AT A POINT, THE FIRM ADDED THE QSA SYSTEM
DATA TO ITS PREEXISTING CONTEMPORANEOUS TRANSACTION (WASH
SALE) REVIEW, WHICH WAS USED BY ITS EQUITY SURVEILLANCE GROUP
TO IDENTIFY SCENARIOS IN WHICH A BUY AND SELL TRANSACTION IN THE
SAME SECURITY OCCURRED IN THE SAME CUSTOMER OR FIRM HOUSE
ACCOUNT AT THE SAME PRICE ON THE SAME TRADE DATE FOR POSSIBLE
PROHIBITED TRADING STRATEGY. DURING THE PERIOD, THE FIRM DID
NOT HAVE A REPORT TO DETECT INSTANCES WHERE TWO SEPARATE
FIRM ALGORITHMS WERE ON THE BUY SIDE AND SELL SIDE OF A TRADE.
AS A RESULT, THE SELF-TRADE CONTROLS AND REPORTS WERE NOT
CAPABLE OF REASONABLY DETECTING AND/OR PREVENTING SLP TRADES
THAT RESULTED IN NO BENEFICIAL CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP. THE
CONDUCT DESCRIBED HEREIN CONSTITUTES A SEPARATE AND DISTINCT
VIOLATION OF NYSE RULE 342.

Resolution Date: 12/01/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND A FINED $125,000.

Regulator Statement THIS AWC CASE INCLUDED OTHER CASES - NOS. 20130354782,
20130382689 AND 20130387807.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 12/01/2014

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT DURING THE
PERIOD, THE FIRM PARTICIPATED IN THE NYSE'S SUPPLEMENTAL
LIQUIDITY PROVIDER (SLP) PROGRAM.  AS A SLP, THE FIRM PROVIDED
LIQUIDITY IN ITS ASSIGNED SECURITIES BY ELECTRONICALLY ENTERING
RESTING ORDERS INTO THE SYSTEMS AND FACILITIES OF THE NYSE.  THE
FIRM UTILIZED NUMEROUS ALGORITHMS WITHIN ITS QUANTITATIVE
SYSTEMIC ARBITRAGE (QSA) DESK TO FULFILL ITS OBLIGATIONS AS A SLP.
AS OF MARCH 26, 2014, THE FIRM DISCONTINUED ITS QSA DESK TRADING
OPERATIONS AND RELATED NYSE SLP TRADING ALGORITHMS.  HOWEVER,
DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, APPROXIMATELY 600,000 SLP ORDERS
THE FIRM ENTERED THROUGH ITS SLP ALGORITHMS RESULTED IN
EXECUTIONS ON THE NYSE AGAINST ORDERS ENTERED BY OTHER OF
THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY ALGORITHMS.  ALL QSA ALGORITHMIC TRADING
STRATEGIES RAN ON THE FIRM'S ALGORITHMIC TRADING PLATFORM AND
WERE SUBJECT TO A WASH SALE CONTROL PROCEDURE GOVERNED BY
PRICE.  ALTHOUGH THE FIRM'S SLP ALGORITHMS WERE DESIGNED TO
PREVENT THE MATCHING OF BUY AND SELL ORDERS WITHIN A SINGLE
ALGORITHM, THE FIRM HAD NO SYSTEMIC PRE-TRADE BLOCK IN PLACE
TO PREVENT THE ENTRY OF ORDERS ACROSS DIFFERENT ALGORITHMS
THAT COULD POTENTIALLY INTERACT.  THE FIRM'S QSA TRADING
SUPERVISION GROUP UTILIZED THE WASH SALE CROSSING REPORT,
WHICH WAS A T+1 REPORT DESIGNED TO CAPTURE INSTANCES WHERE
AN INDIVIDUAL ALGORITHM IS ON BOTH THE BUY SIDE AND SELL SIDE OF
A TRADE.  IN ADDITION, AT A POINT, THE FIRM ADDED THE QSA SYSTEM
DATA TO ITS PREEXISTING CONTEMPORANEOUS TRANSACTION (WASH
SALE) REVIEW, WHICH WAS USED BY ITS EQUITY SURVEILLANCE GROUP
TO IDENTIFY SCENARIOS IN WHICH A BUY AND SELL TRANSATION IN THE
SAME SECURITY OCCURRED IN THE SAME CUSTOMER OR FIRM HOUSE
ACCOUNT AT THE SAME PRICE ON THE SAME TRADE DATE FOR POSSIBLE
PROHIBITED TRADING STRATEGY.  DURING THE PERIOD, THE FIRM DID
NOT HAVE A REPORT TO DETECT INSTANCES WHERE TWO SEPARATE
FIRM ALGORITHMS WERE ON THE BUY SIDE AND SELL SIDE OF A TRADE.
AS A RESULT, THE SELF-TRADE CONTROLS AND REPORTS WERE NOT
CAPABLE OF REASONABLY DETECTING AND/OR PREVENTING SLP TRADES
THAT RESULTED IN NO BENEFICIAL CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP.  THE
CONDUCT DESCRIBED HEREIN CONSTITUTES A SEPARATE AND DISTINCT
VIOLATION OF NYSE RULE 342.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/01/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012033090601

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 12/01/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $125.000.

Firm Statement THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $125.000.  THIS AWC CASE INCLUDED
OTHER CASES - NOS. 20130354782, 20130382689, AND 20130387807.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $125,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 124 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING IN SOME INSTANCES WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS INCLUDING REGULATION SHO, EMERGENCY ORDERS
ISSUED BY THE SEC, CUSTOMER RESERVE, AND RECORD RETENTION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING REQUIREMENTS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING THE ALLOCATION OF
FAIL-TO-DELIVER (FTD) POSITIONS CONSIDERED ITS BROKER-DEALER
CLIENTS' SHORT POSITIONS WITHOUT ALSO CONSIDERING THEIR
TRADING ACTIVITIES AS STATED IN THE RULE 204T AND RULE 204
ADOPTING RELEASES. THE FIRM'S PROCESSES FAILED TO ENSURE THAT
ITS ALLOCATIONS WERE MADE TO THE SPECIFIC ENTITY THAT
CONTRIBUTED TO ITS FTD POSITION AS REQUIRED, AND THEREBY THE
FIRM NETTED THE SHORT POSITIONS OF FOUR RELATED BUT SEPARATE
AND DISTINCT BROKER DEALER ENTITIES WHEN ALLOCATING ITS FTD
POSITIONS. THEREFORE, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 204 OF REGULATION SHO BY ALLOCATING ITS
CONTINUOUS NET SETTLEMENT (CNS) FTD POSITIONS BASED ON ITS
BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS' SHORT POSITIONS AND WITHOUT ALSO
CONSIDERING WHICH CLIENTS CONTRIBUTED TO THOSE POSITIONS. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF
RULES 204T(B) AND (C) AND 204(B) AND (C) TO NOTIFY ITS CLIENTS WHEN
IT HAD AN AGED FTD POSITION IN A GIVEN SECURITY AND TO REFRAIN
FROM EFFECTING OR ACCEPTING FROM ITS CLIENTS SHORT SALES IN
SECURITIES IN WHICH IT HAD AN AGED FTD POSITION. THE FINDINGS
ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO DO SURVEILLANCE OF THE ACTIVITIES OF
CERTAIN OF ITS DIRECT MARKET ACCESS, NAKED ACCESS AND
SPONSORED ACCESS CLIENTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF DETECTING AND
REPORTING, WHERE APPROPRIATE, SUSPICIOUS AND/OR MANIPULATIVE
TRADING. BECAUSE THE FIRM'S PROGRAMS FOR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
MONITORING FAILED TO CAPTURE CERTAIN TRADING DATA NECESSARY
TO MONITOR FOR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY, THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT
AND ESTABLISH PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND CAUSE THE REPORTING OF SUSPICIOUS
TRANSACTIONS. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM EFFECTED SHORT SALES
IN THE SECURITIES RESTRICTED BY SEC EMERGENCY ORDERS. THE FIRM
SUBMITTED INACCURATE FOCUS REPORTS IN THAT THEY CONTAINED
INACCURATE RESERVE FORMULA COMPUTATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Date Initiated: 10/27/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2010022971201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING IN SOME INSTANCES WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS INCLUDING REGULATION SHO, EMERGENCY ORDERS
ISSUED BY THE SEC, CUSTOMER RESERVE, AND RECORD RETENTION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING REQUIREMENTS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING THE ALLOCATION OF
FAIL-TO-DELIVER (FTD) POSITIONS CONSIDERED ITS BROKER-DEALER
CLIENTS' SHORT POSITIONS WITHOUT ALSO CONSIDERING THEIR
TRADING ACTIVITIES AS STATED IN THE RULE 204T AND RULE 204
ADOPTING RELEASES. THE FIRM'S PROCESSES FAILED TO ENSURE THAT
ITS ALLOCATIONS WERE MADE TO THE SPECIFIC ENTITY THAT
CONTRIBUTED TO ITS FTD POSITION AS REQUIRED, AND THEREBY THE
FIRM NETTED THE SHORT POSITIONS OF FOUR RELATED BUT SEPARATE
AND DISTINCT BROKER DEALER ENTITIES WHEN ALLOCATING ITS FTD
POSITIONS. THEREFORE, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 204 OF REGULATION SHO BY ALLOCATING ITS
CONTINUOUS NET SETTLEMENT (CNS) FTD POSITIONS BASED ON ITS
BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS' SHORT POSITIONS AND WITHOUT ALSO
CONSIDERING WHICH CLIENTS CONTRIBUTED TO THOSE POSITIONS. THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF
RULES 204T(B) AND (C) AND 204(B) AND (C) TO NOTIFY ITS CLIENTS WHEN
IT HAD AN AGED FTD POSITION IN A GIVEN SECURITY AND TO REFRAIN
FROM EFFECTING OR ACCEPTING FROM ITS CLIENTS SHORT SALES IN
SECURITIES IN WHICH IT HAD AN AGED FTD POSITION. THE FINDINGS
ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO DO SURVEILLANCE OF THE ACTIVITIES OF
CERTAIN OF ITS DIRECT MARKET ACCESS, NAKED ACCESS AND
SPONSORED ACCESS CLIENTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF DETECTING AND
REPORTING, WHERE APPROPRIATE, SUSPICIOUS AND/OR MANIPULATIVE
TRADING. BECAUSE THE FIRM'S PROGRAMS FOR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
MONITORING FAILED TO CAPTURE CERTAIN TRADING DATA NECESSARY
TO MONITOR FOR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY, THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT
AND ESTABLISH PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND CAUSE THE REPORTING OF SUSPICIOUS
TRANSACTIONS. FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM EFFECTED SHORT SALES
IN THE SECURITIES RESTRICTED BY SEC EMERGENCY ORDERS. THE FIRM
SUBMITTED INACCURATE FOCUS REPORTS IN THAT THEY CONTAINED
INACCURATE RESERVE FORMULA COMPUTATIONS.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Resolution Date: 10/27/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $2,500,000 AND REQUIRED TO, WITHIN
120 DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF A NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC,
ADOPT AND IMPLEMENT SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE CURRENT REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 204 OF REG SHO.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING IN SOME INSTANCES WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS INCLUDING REGULATION SHO, EMERGENCY ORDERS
ISSUED BY THE SEC, CUSTOMER RESERVE, AND RECORD RETENTION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING REQUIREMENTS.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING THE ALLOCATION OF
FAIL-TO-DELIVER (FTD) POSITIONS CONSIDERED ITS BROKER-DEALER
CLIENTS' SHORT POSITIONS WITHOUT ALSO CONSIDERING THEIR
TRADING ACTIVITIES AS STATED IN THE RULE 204T AND RULE 2014
ADOPTING RELEASES.  THE FIRM'S PROCESSES FAILED TO ENSURE THAT
ITS ALLOCATIONS WERE MADE TO THE SPECIFIC ENTITY THAT
CONTRIBUTED TO ITS FTD POSITION AS REQUIRED, AND THEREBY THE
FIRM NETTED THE SHORT POSITIONS OF FOUR RELATED BUT SEPARATE
AND DISTINCT BROKER-DEALER ENTITIES WHEN ALLOCATING ITS FTD
POSITIONS.  THEREFORE, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 204 OF REGULATION SHO BY ALLOCATING ITS
CONTINUOUS NET SETTLEMENT (CNS) FTD POSITIONS BASED ON ITS
BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS' SHORT POSITIONS AND WITHOUT ALSO
CONSIDERING WHICH CLIENTS CONTRIBUTED TO THOSE POSITIONS.  THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF
RULES 204T(B) AND (C) AND 204(B) AND (C) TO NOTIFY ITS CLIENTS WHEN
IT HAD AN AGED FTD POSITION IN A GIVEN SECURITY AND TO REFRAIN
FROM EFFECTING OR ACCEPTING FROM ITS CLIENTS SHORT SALES IN
SECURITIES IN WHICH IT HAD AN AGED FTD POSITION.  THE FINDINGS
ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO DO SURVEILLANCE OF THE ACTIVITIES OF
CERTAIN OF ITS DIRECT MARKET ACCESS, NAKED ACCESS AND
SPONSORED ACCESS CLIENTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF DETECTING AND
REPORTING, WHERE APPROPRIATE, SUSPICIOUS AND/OR MANIPULATIVE
TRADING.  BECAUSE THE FIRM'S PROGRAMS FOR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
MONITORING FAILED TO CAPTURE CERTAIN TRADING DATA NECESSARY
TO MONITOR FOR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY, THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT
AND ESTABLISH PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND CAUSE THE REPORTING OF SUSPICIOUS
TRANSACTIONS.  FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM EFFECTED SHORT SALES
IN THE SECURITIES RESTRICTED BY SEC EMERGENCY ORDERS.  THE
FIRM SUBMITTED INACCURATE FOCUS REPORTS IN THAT THEY
CONTAINED INACCURATE RESERVE FORMULA COMPUTATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 10/27/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2010022971201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING IN SOME INSTANCES WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS INCLUDING REGULATION SHO, EMERGENCY ORDERS
ISSUED BY THE SEC, CUSTOMER RESERVE, AND RECORD RETENTION
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND ANTI-
MONEY LAUNDERING REQUIREMENTS.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING THE ALLOCATION OF
FAIL-TO-DELIVER (FTD) POSITIONS CONSIDERED ITS BROKER-DEALER
CLIENTS' SHORT POSITIONS WITHOUT ALSO CONSIDERING THEIR
TRADING ACTIVITIES AS STATED IN THE RULE 204T AND RULE 2014
ADOPTING RELEASES.  THE FIRM'S PROCESSES FAILED TO ENSURE THAT
ITS ALLOCATIONS WERE MADE TO THE SPECIFIC ENTITY THAT
CONTRIBUTED TO ITS FTD POSITION AS REQUIRED, AND THEREBY THE
FIRM NETTED THE SHORT POSITIONS OF FOUR RELATED BUT SEPARATE
AND DISTINCT BROKER-DEALER ENTITIES WHEN ALLOCATING ITS FTD
POSITIONS.  THEREFORE, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 204 OF REGULATION SHO BY ALLOCATING ITS
CONTINUOUS NET SETTLEMENT (CNS) FTD POSITIONS BASED ON ITS
BROKER-DEALER CLIENTS' SHORT POSITIONS AND WITHOUT ALSO
CONSIDERING WHICH CLIENTS CONTRIBUTED TO THOSE POSITIONS.  THE
FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF
RULES 204T(B) AND (C) AND 204(B) AND (C) TO NOTIFY ITS CLIENTS WHEN
IT HAD AN AGED FTD POSITION IN A GIVEN SECURITY AND TO REFRAIN
FROM EFFECTING OR ACCEPTING FROM ITS CLIENTS SHORT SALES IN
SECURITIES IN WHICH IT HAD AN AGED FTD POSITION.  THE FINDINGS
ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES,
INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO DO SURVEILLANCE OF THE ACTIVITIES OF
CERTAIN OF ITS DIRECT MARKET ACCESS, NAKED ACCESS AND
SPONSORED ACCESS CLIENTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF DETECTING AND
REPORTING, WHERE APPROPRIATE, SUSPICIOUS AND/OR MANIPULATIVE
TRADING.  BECAUSE THE FIRM'S PROGRAMS FOR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY
MONITORING FAILED TO CAPTURE CERTAIN TRADING DATA NECESSARY
TO MONITOR FOR SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY, THE FIRM FAILED TO IMPLEMENT
AND ESTABLISH PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO DETECT AND CAUSE THE REPORTING OF SUSPICIOUS
TRANSACTIONS.  FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM EFFECTED SHORT SALES
IN THE SECURITIES RESTRICTED BY SEC EMERGENCY ORDERS.  THE
FIRM SUBMITTED INACCURATE FOCUS REPORTS IN THAT THEY
CONTAINED INACCURATE RESERVE FORMULA COMPUTATIONS.

390©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 10/27/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $2,500,000 AND REQUIRED TO, WITHIN
120 DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF A NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC,
TO ADOPT AND IMPLEMENT SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE CURRENT REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 204 OF REG SHO.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $2,500,000 AND REQUIRED TO, WITHIN
120 DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF A NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC,
TO ADOPT AND IMPLEMENT SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND WRITTEN
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE CURRENT REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 204 OF REG SHO.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 125 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT ITS
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO
THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND NASD AND
FINRA RULES, CONCERNING THE DETECTION OF ORDERS FOR THE
PURCHASE AND SALE OF SECURITIES THAT RESULTED IN NO CHANGE OF
BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM FAILED TO DETECT AND REVIEW TRADES
EMANATING FROM CUSTOMER ORDERS THAT DID NOT INCLUDE THE
VALUE "USD" IN THE CURRENCY INDICATOR FIELD, WHICH LEFT A GAP IN
THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM THAT RESULTED IN THE FIRM FAILING
TO REVIEW IN ITS WASH TRADE SURVEILLANCE PROGRAM NUMEROUS
TRADES, REPRESENTING MILLIONS OF SHARES IN VARIOUS SECURITIES
ACROSS 83 CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS, AND ALLOWED WASH TRANSACTIONS
TO OCCUR UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/21/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2010022950801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/21/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING: REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $250,000 AND UNDERTAKES TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON NOVEMBER 15, 2014.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT ITS
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO
THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND NASD AND
FINRA RULES, CONCERNING THE  DETECTIONS OF ORDERS FOR THE
PURCHASE AND SALE OF SECURITIES THAT RESULTED IN NO CHANGE OF
BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM FAILED TO DETECT AND REVIEW TRADES
EMANATING FROM CUSTOMER ORDERS AND DID NOT INCLUDE THE
VALUE "USD" IN THE CURRENCY INDICATOR FIELD, WHICH LEFT A GAP IN
THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM THAT RESULTED IN THE FIRM FAILING
TO REVIEW IN ITS WASH TRADE SURVEILLANCE PROGRAM NUMEROUS
TRADES, REPRESENTING MILLIONS OF SHARES IN VARIOUS SECURITIES
ACROSS 83 CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS, AND ALLOWED WASH TRANSACTIONS
TO OCCUR UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 10/21/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2010022950801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT ITS
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO
THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND NASD AND
FINRA RULES, CONCERNING THE  DETECTIONS OF ORDERS FOR THE
PURCHASE AND SALE OF SECURITIES THAT RESULTED IN NO CHANGE OF
BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM FAILED TO DETECT AND REVIEW TRADES
EMANATING FROM CUSTOMER ORDERS AND DID NOT INCLUDE THE
VALUE "USD" IN THE CURRENCY INDICATOR FIELD, WHICH LEFT A GAP IN
THE FIRM'S SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM THAT RESULTED IN THE FIRM FAILING
TO REVIEW IN ITS WASH TRADE SURVEILLANCE PROGRAM NUMEROUS
TRADES, REPRESENTING MILLIONS OF SHARES IN VARIOUS SECURITIES
ACROSS 83 CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS, AND ALLOWED WASH TRANSACTIONS
TO OCCUR UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.

Resolution Date: 10/21/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING:  REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $250,000 AND UNDERTAKES TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $250,000 AND UNDERTAKES TO REVISE
ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 126 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-
THROUGHS OF PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT
FALL WITHIN ANY APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN
EXCEPTION, ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE TERMS OF THE EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS.

Current Status: Final

393©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/06/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2010023889001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-
THROUGHS OF PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT
FALL WITHIN ANY APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN
EXCEPTION, ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE TERMS OF THE EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS.

Resolution Date: 10/06/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $50,000.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON NOVEMBER 7, 2014.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-
THROUGHS OF PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT
FALL WITHIN ANY APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN
EXCEPTION, ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE TERMS OF THE EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 10/06/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2010023889001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-
THROUGHS OF PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT
FALL WITHIN ANY APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN
EXCEPTION, ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
THE TERMS OF THE EXCEPTION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED MET THE DEFINITIONAL
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE 600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS.

Resolution Date: 10/06/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE FINDINGS AND WAS CENSURED AND FINED $50,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE FINDINGS AND WAS CENSURED AND FINED $50,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 127 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 09/25/2014

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT AS MANAGING
UNDERWRITER, UNDER DIFFERENT MARKET PARTICIPANT IDENTIFIERS
(MPIDS), THE FIRM FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS IN
TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE)-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES TO FINRA IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF
FINRA RULE 6760(C).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/25/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2013038742701

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/25/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $19,000.

FINE PAID IN FULL ON OCTOBER 19, 2014.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $19,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 09/25/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2013038742701

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT AS MANAGING
UNDERWRITER, UNDER THE MARKET PARTICIPANT IDENTIFIER (MPID) OF
 "BOFA", THE FIRM FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT 33 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS
AND UNDER THE MPID "MLCO", THE FIRM FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT 40
NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS IN TRADE REPORTING COMPLIANCE ENGINE
(TRACE)-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES TO FINRA IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
REQUIREMENTS OF FINRA RULE 6760(C)

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Docket/Case Number: 2013038742701

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/25/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE FINDINGS AND WAS CENSURED AND FINED $19,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE FINDINGS AND WAS CENSURED AND FINED $19,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $19,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 128 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: CFTC PR RELEASE 6984-14/AUGUST 26, 2014: THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED TO
DETERMINE WHETHER THE FIRM ENGAGED IN THE VIOLATIONS SET
FORTH HEREIN AND TO DETERMINE WHETHER ANY ORDER SHOULD BE
ISSUED IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS OFFICERS', EMPLOYEES', AND AGENTS'
PROCESSING OF EXCHANGE AND CLEARING FEES CHARGED TO ITS
CUSTOMERS, IN VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3. AS A RESULT, THE
FIRM'S RECONCILIATION PROCESS FOR IDENTIFYING AND CORRECTING
DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THE INVOICES FROM THE EXCHANGE
CLEARINGHOUSES AND THE AMOUNTS CHARGED TO CUSTOMERS HAS
BEEN INACCURATE AND FAULTY SINCE AT LEAST JANUARY 1, 2010, AND
LED TO INSTANCES IN WHICH THE FIRM APPEARS TO HAVE
OVERCHARGED SOME CUSTOMERS AND UNDERCHARGED OTHERS.
WHERE THE FIRM HAS CONFIRMED THAT THERE WAS AN OVERCHARGE
TO A CUSTOMER, THE CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT HAS BEEN ADJUSTED, BUT
THE FIRM HAS BEEN UNABLE TO FULLY RESOLVE SOME DISCREPANCIES.
ADDITIONALLY, THE FIRM DID NOT HIRE QUALIFIED PERSONNEL TO
CONDUCT AND OVERSEE THE FEE RECONCILIATIONS OR PROVIDE
ADEQUATE TRAINING TO EXISTING PERSONNEL REGARDING FEE
RECONCILIATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/26/2014

Docket/Case Number: 14-22

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

CFTC PR RELEASE 6984-14/AUGUST 26, 2014: THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT
APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED TO
DETERMINE WHETHER THE FIRM ENGAGED IN THE VIOLATIONS SET
FORTH HEREIN AND TO DETERMINE WHETHER ANY ORDER SHOULD BE
ISSUED IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS OFFICERS', EMPLOYEES', AND AGENTS'
PROCESSING OF EXCHANGE AND CLEARING FEES CHARGED TO ITS
CUSTOMERS, IN VIOLATION OF REGULATION 166.3. AS A RESULT, THE
FIRM'S RECONCILIATION PROCESS FOR IDENTIFYING AND CORRECTING
DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THE INVOICES FROM THE EXCHANGE
CLEARINGHOUSES AND THE AMOUNTS CHARGED TO CUSTOMERS HAS
BEEN INACCURATE AND FAULTY SINCE AT LEAST JANUARY 1, 2010, AND
LED TO INSTANCES IN WHICH THE FIRM APPEARS TO HAVE
OVERCHARGED SOME CUSTOMERS AND UNDERCHARGED OTHERS.
WHERE THE FIRM HAS CONFIRMED THAT THERE WAS AN OVERCHARGE
TO A CUSTOMER, THE CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT HAS BEEN ADJUSTED, BUT
THE FIRM HAS BEEN UNABLE TO FULLY RESOLVE SOME DISCREPANCIES.
ADDITIONALLY, THE FIRM DID NOT HIRE QUALIFIED PERSONNEL TO
CONDUCT AND OVERSEE THE FEE RECONCILIATIONS OR PROVIDE
ADEQUATE TRAINING TO EXISTING PERSONNEL REGARDING FEE
RECONCILIATIONS.

Resolution Date: 08/26/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDING, THE FIRM HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT,
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR CONCLUSIONS
HEREIN, THE FIRM CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 6(C) AND 6(D) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED, MAKING FINDINGS AND
IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND ACKNOWLEDGES SERVICE OF THIS
ORDER. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: THE FIRM SHALL
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING REGULATION 166.3; SHALL PAY A
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,200,000, PLUS POST-
JUDGMENT INTEREST; AND THE FIRM AND ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS
SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH
IN THE OFFER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,200,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDING, THE FIRM HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT,
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR CONCLUSIONS
HEREIN, THE FIRM CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 6(C) AND 6(D) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT, AS AMENDED, MAKING FINDINGS AND
IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND ACKNOWLEDGES SERVICE OF THIS
ORDER. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: THE FIRM SHALL
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING REGULATION 166.3; SHALL PAY A
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,200,000, PLUS POST-
JUDGMENT INTEREST; AND THE FIRM AND ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS
SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH
IN THE OFFER.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("CFTC")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 08/26/2014

Docket/Case Number: 14-22

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 1, 2010 THROUGH APRIL 2013 (THE "RELEVANT
PERIOD"), THE FIRM FAILED TO SUPERVISE DILIGENTLY ITS OFFICERS',
EMPLOYEES', AND AGENTS' PROCESSING OF EXCHANGE AND CLEARING
FEES CHARGED TO ITS CUSTOMERS, IN VIOLATION OF CFTC REGULATION
166.3.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S RECONCILIATION PROCESS FOR
IDENTIFYING AND CORRECTING DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN THE INVOICES
FROM THE EXCHANGE CLEARINGHOUSES AND THE AMOUNTS CHARGED
TO CUSTOMERS HAS BEEN INACCURATE AND FAULTY SINCE AT LEAST
JANUARY 1, 2010, AND LED TO INSTANCES IN WHICH THE FIRM APPEARS
TO HAVE OVERCHARGED SOME CUSTOMERS AND UNDERCHARGED
OTHERS.  WHERE THE FIRM HAS CONFIRMED THAT THERE WAS AN
OVERCHARGE TO A CUSTOMER, THE CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT HAS BEEN
ADJUSTED, BUT THE FIRM HAS BEEN UNABLE TO FULLY RESOLVE SOME
DISCREPANCIES.  ADDITIONALLY, DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, THE
FIRM DID NOT HIRE QUALIFIED PERSONNEL TO CONDUCT AND OVERSEE
THE FEE RECONCILIATIONS OR PROVIDE ADEQUATE TRAINING TO
EXISTING PERSONNEL REGARDING FEE RECONCILIATIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/26/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING (SEE 12.C. BELOW)

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS, THE FIRM AGREED TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER,
AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $1,200,000, CEASE AND
DESIST FROM FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF CFTC REGULATION 166.3, AND
UNDERTAKE TO IMPLEMENT STRENGTHENED PROCESSES AND
PROCEDURES RELATED TO FUTURES EXCHANGE AND CLEARING FEE
RECONCILIATIONS THAT WILL NOT ONLY IMPROVE ACCURACY, BUT WILL
DETECT WHEN THE FIRM'S CUSTOMERS HAVE BEEN CHARGED
INACCURATE FUTURES EXCHANGE AND CLEARING FEES.  THE FIRM SELF-
IDENTIFIED THIS MATTER BEFORE THE CFTC BEGAN ITS INVESTIGATION
AND HAS FULLY COOPERATED WITH THE CFTC'S REVIEW OF THIS
MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,200,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Other
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS, THE FIRM AGREED TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER,
AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $1,200,000, CEASE AND
DESIST FROM FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF CFTC REGULATION 166.3, AND
UNDERTAKE TO IMPLEMENT STRENGTHENED PROCESSES AND
PROCEDURES RELATED TO FUTURES EXCHANGE AND CLEARING FEE
RECONCILIATIONS THAT WILL NOT ONLY IMPROVE ACCURACY, BUT WILL
DETECT WHEN THE FIRM'S CUSTOMERS HAVE BEEN CHARGED
INACCURATE FUTURES EXCHANGE AND CLEARING FEES.  THE FIRM SELF-
IDENTIFIED THIS MATTER BEFORE THE CFTC BEGAN ITS INVESTIGATION
AND HAS FULLY COOPERATED WITH THE CFTC'S REVIEW OF THIS
MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS, THE FIRM AGREED TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER,
AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $1,200,000, CEASE AND
DESIST FROM FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF CFTC REGULATION 166.3, AND
UNDERTAKE TO IMPLEMENT STRENGTHENED PROCESSES AND
PROCEDURES RELATED TO FUTURES EXCHANGE AND CLEARING FEE
RECONCILIATIONS THAT WILL NOT ONLY IMPROVE ACCURACY, BUT WILL
DETECT WHEN THE FIRM'S CUSTOMERS HAVE BEEN CHARGED
INACCURATE FUTURES EXCHANGE AND CLEARING FEES.  THE FIRM SELF-
IDENTIFIED THIS MATTER BEFORE THE CFTC BEGAN ITS INVESTIGATION
AND HAS FULLY COOPERATED WITH THE CFTC'S REVIEW OF THIS
MATTER.

Disclosure 129 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
RECORD AND PRESERVE CERTAIN ORDER INFORMATION REQUIRED ON
OPTIONS ORDER MEMORANDA. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT
REPRESENTATIVES IN ONE BRANCH DID NOT FOLLOW THE FIRM'S
PROCEDURE TO COMPLETE A PAPER TICKET WHEN OPTIONS ORDERS
WERE CALLED INTO THE TRADING DESK. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S ORDER
MEMORANDA DID NOT HAVE THE INFORMATION REFLECTING THE TIME
THE ORDER WAS RECEIVED AND THE IDENTITY OF ANY OTHER PERSON
WHO ENTERED OR ACCEPTED THE ORDER ON BEHALF OF THE
CUSTOMER. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ADEQUATELY ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES,
REQUIRING THAT ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES ACCURATELY
RECORD ALL REQUIRED ORDER MEMORANDA INFORMATION FOR
OPTIONS ORDERS THAT WERE TELEPHONED TO THE TRADING DESK.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 10/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2011030744101

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE

Regulator Statement FINE PAID IN FULL ON SEPTEMBER 11, 2014.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
RECORD AND PRESERVE CERTAIN RECORD KEEPING INFORMATION
REQUIRED ON OPTIONS ORDER MEMORANDA.  THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT REPRESENTATIVES IN ONE BRANCH DID NOT FOLLOW THE FIRM'S
PROCEDURE TO COMPLETE A PAPER TICKET WHEN OPTIONS ORDERS
WERE CALLED INTO THE TRADING DESK.  THUS IN 1,801 INSTANCES OF
LARGE OPTIONS ORDERS, THE FIRM'S ORDER MEMORANDA DID NOT
HAVE THE INFORMATION REFLECTING THE TIME THE ORDER WAS
RECEIVED AND THE IDENTITY OF ANY OTHER PERSON WHO ENTERED OR
ACCEPTED THE ORDER ON BEHALF OF THE CUSTOMER.  THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY ENFORCE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AT ONE OF ITS BRANCHES,
REQUIRING THAT ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES ACCURATELY
RECORDED ALL REQUIRED ORDER MEMORANDA INFORMATION FOR
OPTIONS ORDERS THAT WERE TELEPHONED TO THE TRADING DESK.  THE
BRANCH AUDIT INVOLVED A REVIEW OF A SELECT NUMBER OF MANUAL
TICKETS THAT MAY INCLUDE VARIOUS PRODUCTS, BUT MANUAL TICKETS
FOR OPTIONS WERE NOT NECESSARILY REVIEWED.  AS SUCH, THE FIRM
DID NOT ADEQUATELY REVIEW AND MONITOR OPTIONS ORDER TICKETS
FOR ORDERS THAT WERE CALLED INTO THE TRADING DESK BY CERTAIN
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES DURING A TWO-YEAR PERIOD.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/20/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2011030744101

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
RECORD AND PRESERVE CERTAIN RECORD KEEPING INFORMATION
REQUIRED ON OPTIONS ORDER MEMORANDA.  THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT REPRESENTATIVES IN ONE BRANCH DID NOT FOLLOW THE FIRM'S
PROCEDURE TO COMPLETE A PAPER TICKET WHEN OPTIONS ORDERS
WERE CALLED INTO THE TRADING DESK.  THUS IN 1,801 INSTANCES OF
LARGE OPTIONS ORDERS, THE FIRM'S ORDER MEMORANDA DID NOT
HAVE THE INFORMATION REFLECTING THE TIME THE ORDER WAS
RECEIVED AND THE IDENTITY OF ANY OTHER PERSON WHO ENTERED OR
ACCEPTED THE ORDER ON BEHALF OF THE CUSTOMER.  THE FINDINGS
ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY ENFORCE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AT ONE OF ITS BRANCHES,
REQUIRING THAT ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES ACCURATELY
RECORDED ALL REQUIRED ORDER MEMORANDA INFORMATION FOR
OPTIONS ORDERS THAT WERE TELEPHONED TO THE TRADING DESK.  THE
BRANCH AUDIT INVOLVED A REVIEW OF A SELECT NUMBER OF MANUAL
TICKETS THAT MAY INCLUDE VARIOUS PRODUCTS, BUT MANUAL TICKETS
FOR OPTIONS WERE NOT NECESSARILY REVIEWED.  AS SUCH, THE FIRM
DID NOT ADEQUATELY REVIEW AND MONITOR OPTIONS ORDER TICKETS
FOR ORDERS THAT WERE CALLED INTO THE TRADING DESK BY CERTAIN
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES DURING A TWO-YEAR PERIOD.

Resolution Date: 08/20/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO A FINE OF $300,000 AND A CENSURE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO A FINE OF $300,000 AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 130 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) FOR WHICH THE OATS
SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE
RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRANSACTION REPORTING SYSTEM
DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA,
AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH IT FAILED TO APPEND THE REQUIRED
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED NEW ORDER REPORTS AND RELATED SUBSEQUENT
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO
CREATE AN ACCURATE, TIME SEQUENCED RECORD FROM THE RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER THROUGH ITS RESOLUTION BECAUSE THE TIMESTAMP
FOR THE RELATED SUBSEQUENT REPORT OCCURRED PRIOR TO RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER, AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED
ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. IN SOME OF THESE
INSTANCES, THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION
REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEM AND IN OTHER INSTANCES, THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPEND THE REQUIRED REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS
FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED
EXCHANGE DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK
TO THE CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER TRANSMITTED BY THE RECEIVING
MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, AND TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED
ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS, WHICH WERE SUBMITTED BY OTHER
MEMBERS WHERE THE FIRM WAS NAMED AS THE "SENT TO FIRM," FOR
WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO MATCH. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT AND FAILED TO TIMELY
TRANSMIT REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO OATS. THE FIRM
FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION AND FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED AN .RX MODIFIER.

Current Status: Final

402©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 08/14/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2011028587301

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) FOR WHICH THE OATS
SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE
RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRANSACTION REPORTING SYSTEM
DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA,
AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH IT FAILED TO APPEND THE REQUIRED
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED NEW ORDER REPORTS AND RELATED SUBSEQUENT
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO
CREATE AN ACCURATE, TIME SEQUENCED RECORD FROM THE RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER THROUGH ITS RESOLUTION BECAUSE THE TIMESTAMP
FOR THE RELATED SUBSEQUENT REPORT OCCURRED PRIOR TO RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER, AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED
ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. IN SOME OF THESE
INSTANCES, THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION
REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEM AND IN OTHER INSTANCES, THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPEND THE REQUIRED REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS
FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED
EXCHANGE DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK
TO THE CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER TRANSMITTED BY THE RECEIVING
MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, AND TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED
ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS, WHICH WERE SUBMITTED BY OTHER
MEMBERS WHERE THE FIRM WAS NAMED AS THE "SENT TO FIRM," FOR
WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO MATCH. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT AND FAILED TO TIMELY
TRANSMIT REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO OATS. THE FIRM
FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION AND FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED AN .RX MODIFIER.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 08/14/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS, PAID A FINE OF $72,500, AND WAS CENSURED.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS, PAID A FINE OF $72,500, AND WAS CENSURED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $72,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 131 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) FOR WHICH THE OATS
SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE
RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRANSACTION REPORTING SYSTEM
DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA,
AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH IT FAILED TO APPEND THE REQUIRED
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED NEW ORDER REPORTS AND RELATED SUBSEQUENT
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO
CREATE AN ACCURATE, TIME SEQUENCED RECORD FROM THE RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER THROUGH ITS RESOLUTION BECAUSE THE TIMESTAMP
FOR THE RELATED SUBSEQUENT REPORT OCCURRED PRIOR TO RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER, AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED
ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. IN SOME OF THESE
INSTANCES, THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION
REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEM AND IN OTHER INSTANCES, THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPEND THE REQUIRED REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS
FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED
EXCHANGE DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK
TO THE CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER TRANSMITTED BY THE RECEIVING
MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, AND TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED
ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS, WHICH WERE SUBMITTED BY OTHER
MEMBERS WHERE THE FIRM WAS NAMED AS THE "SENT TO FIRM," FOR
WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO MATCH. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT AND FAILED TO TIMELY
TRANSMIT REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO OATS. THE FIRM
FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION AND FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED AN .RX MODIFIER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/14/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2011028587301

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) FOR WHICH THE OATS
SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE
RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRANSACTION REPORTING SYSTEM
DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA,
AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH IT FAILED TO APPEND THE REQUIRED
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED NEW ORDER REPORTS AND RELATED SUBSEQUENT
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO
CREATE AN ACCURATE, TIME SEQUENCED RECORD FROM THE RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER THROUGH ITS RESOLUTION BECAUSE THE TIMESTAMP
FOR THE RELATED SUBSEQUENT REPORT OCCURRED PRIOR TO RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER, AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED
ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. IN SOME OF THESE
INSTANCES, THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION
REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEM AND IN OTHER INSTANCES, THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPEND THE REQUIRED REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS
FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED
EXCHANGE DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK
TO THE CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER TRANSMITTED BY THE RECEIVING
MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, AND TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED
ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS, WHICH WERE SUBMITTED BY OTHER
MEMBERS WHERE THE FIRM WAS NAMED AS THE "SENT TO FIRM," FOR
WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO MATCH. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT AND FAILED TO TIMELY
TRANSMIT REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO OATS. THE FIRM
FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION AND FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED AN .RX MODIFIER.

Resolution Date: 08/14/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $72,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE

Regulator Statement FINE PAID IN FULL ON SEPTEMBER 22, 2014.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) FOR WHICH THE OATS
SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE
RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRANSACTION REPORTING SYSTEM
DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA,
AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH IT FAILED TO APPEND THE REQUIRED
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED NEW ORDER REPORTS AND RELATED SUBSEQUENT
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO
CREATE AN ACCURATE, TIME SEQUENCED RECORD FROM THE RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER THROUGH ITS RESOLUTION BECAUSE THE TIMESTAMP
FOR THE RELATED SUBSEQUENT REPORT OCCURRED PRIOR TO RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER, AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED
ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. IN SOME OF THESE
INSTANCES, THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION
REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEM AND IN OTHER INSTANCES, THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPEND THE REQUIRED REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS
FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED
EXCHANGE DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK
TO THE CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER TRANSMITTED BY THE RECEIVING
MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, AND TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED
ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS, WHICH WERE SUBMITTED BY OTHER
MEMBERS WHERE THE FIRM WAS NAMED AS THE "SENT TO FIRM," FOR
WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO MATCH. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT AND FAILED TO TIMELY
TRANSMIT REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO OATS. THE FIRM
FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION AND FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED AN .RX MODIFIER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/14/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2011028587301

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) FOR WHICH THE OATS
SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE
RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRANSACTION REPORTING SYSTEM
DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA,
AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH IT FAILED TO APPEND THE REQUIRED
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED NEW ORDER REPORTS AND RELATED SUBSEQUENT
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO
CREATE AN ACCURATE, TIME SEQUENCED RECORD FROM THE RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER THROUGH ITS RESOLUTION BECAUSE THE TIMESTAMP
FOR THE RELATED SUBSEQUENT REPORT OCCURRED PRIOR TO RECEIPT
OF THE ORDER, AND TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED
ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. IN SOME OF THESE
INSTANCES, THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE EXECUTION
REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA TRADE
REPORTING SYSTEM AND IN OTHER INSTANCES, THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPEND THE REQUIRED REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE. THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS
FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED
EXCHANGE DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE
REPORTS TO OATS FOR WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO LINK
TO THE CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER TRANSMITTED BY THE RECEIVING
MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA, AND TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED
ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO OATS, WHICH WERE SUBMITTED BY OTHER
MEMBERS WHERE THE FIRM WAS NAMED AS THE "SENT TO FIRM," FOR
WHICH THE OATS SYSTEM WAS UNABLE TO MATCH. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT AND FAILED TO TIMELY
TRANSMIT REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO OATS. THE FIRM
FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION AND FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED AN .RX MODIFIER.

Resolution Date: 08/14/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS, PAID A FINE OF $72,500, AND WAS CENSURED.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS, PAID A FINE OF $72,500, AND WAS CENSURED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $72,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 132 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING, AND ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING, QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM GAVE
ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER, WHICH WAS NOT A MEMBER OF NASDAQ,
SPONSORED ACCESS TO NASDAQ AND THAT BROKER-DEALER ENTERED
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS INTO THE NASDAQ SINGLE BOOK
EXECUTION SYSTEM THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A QUOTATION
PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM PLAN AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY ROUTE AN
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDER TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL
DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE LOCKED OR CROSSED PROTECTED QUOTE. THIS
CONDUCT VIOLATED NASDAQ RULE 4613(E). THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS SPONSORED ACCESS CLIENTS
TO REASONABLY PREVENT THESE CLIENTS FROM ENGAGING IN A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS IN THE NASDAQ
SINGLE BOOK EXECUTION SYSTEM, THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND THE NASDAQ RULES
CONCERNING LOCKED/CROSSED MARKETS. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES PROVIDING FOR: THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON(S)
RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
RULES; A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEP(S) TO BE TAKEN BY
THE IDENTIFIED PERSON(S); A STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH
PERSON(S) SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEP(S); AND A STATEMENT AS TO HOW
THE COMPLETION OF THE STEP(S) INCLUDED IN THE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES SHOULD BE DOCUMENTED. THIS CONDUCT
VIOLATED NASDAQ RULES 2110 AND 3010.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012030914701

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING, AND ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING, QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM GAVE
ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER, WHICH WAS NOT A MEMBER OF NASDAQ,
SPONSORED ACCESS TO NASDAQ AND THAT BROKER-DEALER ENTERED
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS INTO THE NASDAQ SINGLE BOOK
EXECUTION SYSTEM THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A QUOTATION
PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM PLAN AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY ROUTE AN
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDER TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL
DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE LOCKED OR CROSSED PROTECTED QUOTE. THIS
CONDUCT VIOLATED NASDAQ RULE 4613(E). THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS SPONSORED ACCESS CLIENTS
TO REASONABLY PREVENT THESE CLIENTS FROM ENGAGING IN A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS IN THE NASDAQ
SINGLE BOOK EXECUTION SYSTEM, THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND THE NASDAQ RULES
CONCERNING LOCKED/CROSSED MARKETS. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES PROVIDING FOR: THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON(S)
RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
RULES; A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEP(S) TO BE TAKEN BY
THE IDENTIFIED PERSON(S); A STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH
PERSON(S) SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEP(S); AND A STATEMENT AS TO HOW
THE COMPLETION OF THE STEP(S) INCLUDED IN THE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES SHOULD BE DOCUMENTED. THIS CONDUCT
VIOLATED NASDAQ RULES 2110 AND 3010.

Resolution Date: 08/07/2014

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $27,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING: REQUIRED TO REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE LOCKED/CROSSED
MARKETS DESCRIBED ABOVE

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $27,500.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Date Initiated: 08/07/2014

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING, AND ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING, QUOTATIONS THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM GAVE
ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER, WHICH WAS NOT A MEMBER OF NASDAQ,
SPONSORED ACCESS TO NASDAQ AND THAT BROKER-DEALER ENTERED
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS INTO THE NASDAQ SINGLE BOOK
EXECUTION SYSTEM THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A QUOTATION
PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM PLAN AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY ROUTE AN
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDER TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL
DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE LOCKED OR CROSSED PROTECTED QUOTE.
THIS CONDUCT VIOLATED NASDAQ RULE 4613(E). THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS SPONSORED ACCESS
CLIENTS TO REASONABLY PREVENT THESE CLIENTS FROM ENGAGING IN
A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS IN THE NASDAQ
SINGLE BOOK EXECUTION SYSTEM, THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A
PROTECTED QUOTATION.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND THE NASDAQ RULES
CONCERNING LOCKED/CROSSED MARKETS.  SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES PROVIDING FOR:  THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON(S)
RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
RULES; A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEP(S) TO BE TAKEN BY
THE IDENTIFIED PERSON(S); A STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH
PERSON(S) SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEP(S); AND A STATEMENT AS TO HOW
THE COMPLETION OF THE STEP(S) INCLUDED IN THE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES SHOULD BE DOCUMENTED.  THIS CONDUCT
VIOLATED NASDAQ RULES 2110 AND 3010.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 08/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2012030914701

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 08/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING:  REQUIRED TO REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE LOCKED/CROSSED
MARKETS DESCRIBED ABOVE.

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE ENTRY OF THE FINDINGS, A FINE OF $27,500, A CENSURE, AND TO
THE UNDERTAKING OUTLINED IN 12.B. ABOVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $27,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 133 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT MOST OF THE
MUTUAL FUNDS AVAILABLE ON ITS RETAIL PLATFORM OFFERED WAIVERS
FOR UP-FRONT SALES CHARGES FOR RETIREMENT PLANS AND
DISCLOSED THOSE WAIVERS IN THEIR PROSPECTUSES, HOWEVER, THE
FIRM FAILED TO APPLY THE WAIVERS TO CERTAIN ELIGIBLE RETIREMENT
PLANS THAT PURCHASED SHARES OF THESE MUTUAL FUNDS IN
BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT SINCE THE 1980S,
THE FIRM OFFERED A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT TO SMALL BUSINESSES
KNOWN AT THE FIRM AS THE RETIREMENT CASH MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT
05 (RCMA 05), MAINTAINED ON THE FIRM'S RETAIL BROKERAGE
PLATFORM. THE FIRM THEREFORE TREATED THESE ACCOUNTS IN THE
SAME MANNER AS OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS FOR PURPOSES
OF DETERMINING SHARE CLASS ELIGIBILITY FOR MUTUAL FUND
PURCHASES, RATHER THAN APPLYING RETIREMENT PLAN-SPECIFIED
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS. AT A TIME, THE FIRM MAINTAINED
APPROXIMATELY 20,000 RCMA 05 ACCOUNTS THAT HELD OVER $3.2
BILLION IN MUTUAL FUND ASSETS. NEVERTHELESS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
IDENTIFY THAT MOST OF THE MUTUAL FUNDS AVAILABLE TO RCMA 05
ACCOUNTS OFFERED SALES CHARGE WAIVERS TO RETIREMENT PLANS
AND, AS A RESULT, DISADVANTAGED RETIREMENT PLAN ACCOUNT
PARTICIPANTS. THE FIRM LEARNED THAT IT WAS NOT PROVIDING SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS TO CERTAIN ELIGIBLE RCMA 05 CUSTOMERS.
HOWEVER, THE FIRM ELECTED NOT TO NOTIFY ITS SALES FORCE OF ITS
FAILURE AND CONTINUED TO DISADVANTAGE ITS RETIREMENT PLAN
CUSTOMERS UNTIL A LATER DATE. THE FIRM SELF-REPORTED THE
MATTER TO FINRA, AND DEVELOPED A REMEDIATION PLAN TO RESTORE
DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS TO SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL
POSITION THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN, IF THEY HAD PURCHASED CLASS A
SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES. THE FIRM REMEDIATED
APPROXIMATELY $58 MILLION, INCLUDING INTEREST, TO APPROXIMATELY
16,000 CURRENT AND 12,000 FORMER RCMA 05 RETIREMENT PLAN
ACCOUNTS. ALSO, THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE ADDITIONAL RESTITUTION TO
RCMA 05 CUSTOMERS WHO PURCHASED SHARES OF THE PARTICULAR
MUTUAL FUND FAMILIES, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS.
THE FIRM ESTIMATES THAT THE RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE
APPROXIMATELY 13,000 ACCOUNTS AND WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $21.2
MILLION. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM OFFERED 403(B)
CUSTOMERS A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT CALLED A RETIREMENT SELECTOR
ACCOUNT (RSA). THE FIRM LATER CLOSED THE RSA PROGRAM TO NEW
403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS, AND PROHIBITED DEPOSITS OF NEW
ASSETS FOR EXISTING RSA ACCOUNTS. ESTABLISHED RSA ACCOUNTS
COULD CONTINUE TO BUY AND SELL MUTUAL FUNDS WITH EXISTING
ASSETS IN THEIR ACCOUNTS. AT A TIME, THERE WERE APPROXIMATELY
8,300 RSA ACCOUNTS THAT HELD APPROXIMATELY $419 MILLION IN
MUTUAL FUND ASSETS. AS WITH THE RCMA 05 PROGRAM, THE FIRM
FAILED TO APPLY AVAILABLE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS TO THESE
RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE RESTITUTION TO
403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN MUTUAL
FUND FAMILIES THAT QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, CLASS A
SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES. THE FIRM ESTIMATES THAT THE
RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE APPROXIMATELY 3,178 RSA ACCOUNTS AND
WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $3.2 MILLION. THE FIRM WILL ALSO VOLUNTARILY
OFFER SUCH RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS ONLY CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS FOR ALL FUTURE MUTUAL FUNDS PURCHASES.
THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM REPEATEDLY
DISADVANTAGED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS THAT PURCHASED
SHARES OF MUTUAL FUNDS BY SELLING THEM CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGES, OR CLASS B OR CLASS C SHARES THAT CHARGED
HIGHER EXPENSE RATIOS THAN CLASS A SHARES. THE FIRM BECAME
AWARE OF ITS FAILURE TO PROVIDE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS TO
QUALIFIED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS ACCOUNTS, AND, IT LATER,
SELF-REPORTED THE ISSUE TO FINRA. THE FIRM SUBSEQUENTLY
DEVELOPED A PLAN TO PLACE DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS IN
SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL POSITIONS THEY WOULD HAVE
BEEN IN, HAD THEY PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITHOUT A SALES
CHARGE. (CONT. IN COMMENT SECTION)

Current Status: Final
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT MOST OF THE
MUTUAL FUNDS AVAILABLE ON ITS RETAIL PLATFORM OFFERED WAIVERS
FOR UP-FRONT SALES CHARGES FOR RETIREMENT PLANS AND
DISCLOSED THOSE WAIVERS IN THEIR PROSPECTUSES, HOWEVER, THE
FIRM FAILED TO APPLY THE WAIVERS TO CERTAIN ELIGIBLE RETIREMENT
PLANS THAT PURCHASED SHARES OF THESE MUTUAL FUNDS IN
BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT SINCE THE 1980S,
THE FIRM OFFERED A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT TO SMALL BUSINESSES
KNOWN AT THE FIRM AS THE RETIREMENT CASH MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT
05 (RCMA 05), MAINTAINED ON THE FIRM'S RETAIL BROKERAGE
PLATFORM. THE FIRM THEREFORE TREATED THESE ACCOUNTS IN THE
SAME MANNER AS OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS FOR PURPOSES
OF DETERMINING SHARE CLASS ELIGIBILITY FOR MUTUAL FUND
PURCHASES, RATHER THAN APPLYING RETIREMENT PLAN-SPECIFIED
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS. AT A TIME, THE FIRM MAINTAINED
APPROXIMATELY 20,000 RCMA 05 ACCOUNTS THAT HELD OVER $3.2
BILLION IN MUTUAL FUND ASSETS. NEVERTHELESS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
IDENTIFY THAT MOST OF THE MUTUAL FUNDS AVAILABLE TO RCMA 05
ACCOUNTS OFFERED SALES CHARGE WAIVERS TO RETIREMENT PLANS
AND, AS A RESULT, DISADVANTAGED RETIREMENT PLAN ACCOUNT
PARTICIPANTS. THE FIRM LEARNED THAT IT WAS NOT PROVIDING SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS TO CERTAIN ELIGIBLE RCMA 05 CUSTOMERS.
HOWEVER, THE FIRM ELECTED NOT TO NOTIFY ITS SALES FORCE OF ITS
FAILURE AND CONTINUED TO DISADVANTAGE ITS RETIREMENT PLAN
CUSTOMERS UNTIL A LATER DATE. THE FIRM SELF-REPORTED THE
MATTER TO FINRA, AND DEVELOPED A REMEDIATION PLAN TO RESTORE
DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS TO SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL
POSITION THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN, IF THEY HAD PURCHASED CLASS A
SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES. THE FIRM REMEDIATED
APPROXIMATELY $58 MILLION, INCLUDING INTEREST, TO APPROXIMATELY
16,000 CURRENT AND 12,000 FORMER RCMA 05 RETIREMENT PLAN
ACCOUNTS. ALSO, THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE ADDITIONAL RESTITUTION TO
RCMA 05 CUSTOMERS WHO PURCHASED SHARES OF THE PARTICULAR
MUTUAL FUND FAMILIES, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS.
THE FIRM ESTIMATES THAT THE RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE
APPROXIMATELY 13,000 ACCOUNTS AND WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $21.2
MILLION. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM OFFERED 403(B)
CUSTOMERS A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT CALLED A RETIREMENT SELECTOR
ACCOUNT (RSA). THE FIRM LATER CLOSED THE RSA PROGRAM TO NEW
403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS, AND PROHIBITED DEPOSITS OF NEW
ASSETS FOR EXISTING RSA ACCOUNTS. ESTABLISHED RSA ACCOUNTS
COULD CONTINUE TO BUY AND SELL MUTUAL FUNDS WITH EXISTING
ASSETS IN THEIR ACCOUNTS. AT A TIME, THERE WERE APPROXIMATELY
8,300 RSA ACCOUNTS THAT HELD APPROXIMATELY $419 MILLION IN
MUTUAL FUND ASSETS. AS WITH THE RCMA 05 PROGRAM, THE FIRM
FAILED TO APPLY AVAILABLE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS TO THESE
RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE RESTITUTION TO
403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN MUTUAL
FUND FAMILIES THAT QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, CLASS A
SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES. THE FIRM ESTIMATES THAT THE
RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE APPROXIMATELY 3,178 RSA ACCOUNTS AND
WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $3.2 MILLION. THE FIRM WILL ALSO VOLUNTARILY
OFFER SUCH RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS ONLY CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS FOR ALL FUTURE MUTUAL FUNDS PURCHASES.
THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM REPEATEDLY
DISADVANTAGED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS THAT PURCHASED
SHARES OF MUTUAL FUNDS BY SELLING THEM CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGES, OR CLASS B OR CLASS C SHARES THAT CHARGED
HIGHER EXPENSE RATIOS THAN CLASS A SHARES. THE FIRM BECAME
AWARE OF ITS FAILURE TO PROVIDE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS TO
QUALIFIED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS ACCOUNTS, AND, IT LATER,
SELF-REPORTED THE ISSUE TO FINRA. THE FIRM SUBSEQUENTLY
DEVELOPED A PLAN TO PLACE DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS IN
SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL POSITIONS THEY WOULD HAVE
BEEN IN, HAD THEY PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITHOUT A SALES
CHARGE. (CONT. IN COMMENT SECTION)
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/16/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2011029999301

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT MOST OF THE
MUTUAL FUNDS AVAILABLE ON ITS RETAIL PLATFORM OFFERED WAIVERS
FOR UP-FRONT SALES CHARGES FOR RETIREMENT PLANS AND
DISCLOSED THOSE WAIVERS IN THEIR PROSPECTUSES, HOWEVER, THE
FIRM FAILED TO APPLY THE WAIVERS TO CERTAIN ELIGIBLE RETIREMENT
PLANS THAT PURCHASED SHARES OF THESE MUTUAL FUNDS IN
BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT SINCE THE 1980S,
THE FIRM OFFERED A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT TO SMALL BUSINESSES
KNOWN AT THE FIRM AS THE RETIREMENT CASH MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT
05 (RCMA 05), MAINTAINED ON THE FIRM'S RETAIL BROKERAGE
PLATFORM. THE FIRM THEREFORE TREATED THESE ACCOUNTS IN THE
SAME MANNER AS OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS FOR PURPOSES
OF DETERMINING SHARE CLASS ELIGIBILITY FOR MUTUAL FUND
PURCHASES, RATHER THAN APPLYING RETIREMENT PLAN-SPECIFIED
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS. AT A TIME, THE FIRM MAINTAINED
APPROXIMATELY 20,000 RCMA 05 ACCOUNTS THAT HELD OVER $3.2
BILLION IN MUTUAL FUND ASSETS. NEVERTHELESS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
IDENTIFY THAT MOST OF THE MUTUAL FUNDS AVAILABLE TO RCMA 05
ACCOUNTS OFFERED SALES CHARGE WAIVERS TO RETIREMENT PLANS
AND, AS A RESULT, DISADVANTAGED RETIREMENT PLAN ACCOUNT
PARTICIPANTS. THE FIRM LEARNED THAT IT WAS NOT PROVIDING SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS TO CERTAIN ELIGIBLE RCMA 05 CUSTOMERS.
HOWEVER, THE FIRM ELECTED NOT TO NOTIFY ITS SALES FORCE OF ITS
FAILURE AND CONTINUED TO DISADVANTAGE ITS RETIREMENT PLAN
CUSTOMERS UNTIL A LATER DATE. THE FIRM SELF-REPORTED THE
MATTER TO FINRA, AND DEVELOPED A REMEDIATION PLAN TO RESTORE
DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS TO SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL
POSITION THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN, IF THEY HAD PURCHASED CLASS A
SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES. THE FIRM REMEDIATED
APPROXIMATELY $58 MILLION, INCLUDING INTEREST, TO APPROXIMATELY
16,000 CURRENT AND 12,000 FORMER RCMA 05 RETIREMENT PLAN
ACCOUNTS. ALSO, THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE ADDITIONAL RESTITUTION TO
RCMA 05 CUSTOMERS WHO PURCHASED SHARES OF THE PARTICULAR
MUTUAL FUND FAMILIES, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS.
THE FIRM ESTIMATES THAT THE RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE
APPROXIMATELY 13,000 ACCOUNTS AND WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $21.2
MILLION. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM OFFERED 403(B)
CUSTOMERS A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT CALLED A RETIREMENT SELECTOR
ACCOUNT (RSA). THE FIRM LATER CLOSED THE RSA PROGRAM TO NEW
403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS, AND PROHIBITED DEPOSITS OF NEW
ASSETS FOR EXISTING RSA ACCOUNTS. ESTABLISHED RSA ACCOUNTS
COULD CONTINUE TO BUY AND SELL MUTUAL FUNDS WITH EXISTING
ASSETS IN THEIR ACCOUNTS. AT A TIME, THERE WERE APPROXIMATELY
8,300 RSA ACCOUNTS THAT HELD APPROXIMATELY $419 MILLION IN
MUTUAL FUND ASSETS. AS WITH THE RCMA 05 PROGRAM, THE FIRM
FAILED TO APPLY AVAILABLE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS TO THESE
RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE RESTITUTION TO
403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN MUTUAL
FUND FAMILIES THAT QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, CLASS A
SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES. THE FIRM ESTIMATES THAT THE
RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE APPROXIMATELY 3,178 RSA ACCOUNTS AND
WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $3.2 MILLION. THE FIRM WILL ALSO VOLUNTARILY
OFFER SUCH RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS ONLY CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS FOR ALL FUTURE MUTUAL FUNDS PURCHASES.
THE FINDINGS ALSO INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM REPEATEDLY
DISADVANTAGED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS THAT PURCHASED
SHARES OF MUTUAL FUNDS BY SELLING THEM CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGES, OR CLASS B OR CLASS C SHARES THAT CHARGED
HIGHER EXPENSE RATIOS THAN CLASS A SHARES. THE FIRM BECAME
AWARE OF ITS FAILURE TO PROVIDE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS TO
QUALIFIED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS ACCOUNTS, AND, IT LATER,
SELF-REPORTED THE ISSUE TO FINRA. THE FIRM SUBSEQUENTLY
DEVELOPED A PLAN TO PLACE DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS IN
SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL POSITIONS THEY WOULD HAVE
BEEN IN, HAD THEY PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITHOUT A SALES
CHARGE. (CONT. IN COMMENT SECTION)

Resolution Date: 06/16/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REQUIRED TO PAY APPROXIMATELY $24.4 MILLION, PLUS INTEREST, IN
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS. RESTITUTION SHALL BE PROVIDED TO
THESE ELIGIBLE RCMA 05 ACCOUNTS AND ELIGIBLE RSA ACCOUNTS.

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE

Regulator Statement THE FIRM REMEDIATED 1,505 CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION ACCOUNTS
MORE THAN $2.7 MILLION, AND IT REMEDIATED AN ADDITIONAL 2,119
CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION ACCOUNTS NEARLY $4.1 MILLION. FINRA
FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN AN
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES TO
ENSURE THAT ELIGIBLE ACCOUNTS PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS WHEN PURCHASING SHARES OF CERTAIN
MUTUAL FUNDS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM
AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO IDENTIFY
APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS IN MUTUAL FUND PROSPECTUSES
FOR CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS. THE FIRM MAINTAINED PROCEDURES
FOR AN ANNUAL REVIEW TO IDENTIFY POTENTIAL NET ASSET VALUE (NAV)
PURCHASE PRIVILEGES, BUT IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THIS PURCHASE
PRIVILEGE FOR CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION CUSTOMERS AND
COMMUNICATE THE INFORMATION TO ITS SALES FORCE, AND DID NOT
HAVE PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO MONITOR WHETHER FINANCIAL
ADVISORS WERE INFORMING CUSTOMERS OF AVAILABLE MUTUAL FUND
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS OR ENSURING THAT ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS
WERE RECEIVING SUCH WAIVERS.  THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES CONCERNING SALES CHARGE WAIVERS WERE
INADEQUATE. THE FIRM UNREASONABLY RELIED ON FINANCIAL ADVISORS
TO MAKE APPROPRIATE DETERMINATIONS CONCERNING MUTUAL FUND
SALES CHARGES EVEN AFTER BECOMING AWARE OF THE PROBLEMS
RELATED TO THE AVAILABILITY CLASS A SHARES AT NAV, AND FAILED TO
PROVIDE CRITICAL INFORMATION ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS NEEDED TO
MANUALLY APPLY SALES WAIVERS FOR RCMA 05, 403(B) AND ELIGIBLE
CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION ACCOUNTS. THUS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND
WRITTEN PROCEDURES TO IDENTIFY CLASS A MUTUAL FUND SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS IN FUND PROSPECTUSES, FAILED TO ADEQUATELY
NOTIFY AND TRAIN ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS REGARDING MUTUAL FUND
SALES WAIVER ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS, AND FAILED TO HAVE AN
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO ENSURE THAT ELIGIBLE ACCOUNTS
PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITH SALES CHARGE WAIVERS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $8,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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THE FIRM REMEDIATED 1,505 CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION ACCOUNTS
MORE THAN $2.7 MILLION, AND IT REMEDIATED AN ADDITIONAL 2,119
CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION ACCOUNTS NEARLY $4.1 MILLION. FINRA
FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN AN
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES TO
ENSURE THAT ELIGIBLE ACCOUNTS PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS WHEN PURCHASING SHARES OF CERTAIN
MUTUAL FUNDS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM
AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO IDENTIFY
APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS IN MUTUAL FUND PROSPECTUSES
FOR CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS. THE FIRM MAINTAINED PROCEDURES
FOR AN ANNUAL REVIEW TO IDENTIFY POTENTIAL NET ASSET VALUE (NAV)
PURCHASE PRIVILEGES, BUT IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THIS PURCHASE
PRIVILEGE FOR CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION CUSTOMERS AND
COMMUNICATE THE INFORMATION TO ITS SALES FORCE, AND DID NOT
HAVE PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO MONITOR WHETHER FINANCIAL
ADVISORS WERE INFORMING CUSTOMERS OF AVAILABLE MUTUAL FUND
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS OR ENSURING THAT ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS
WERE RECEIVING SUCH WAIVERS.  THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES CONCERNING SALES CHARGE WAIVERS WERE
INADEQUATE. THE FIRM UNREASONABLY RELIED ON FINANCIAL ADVISORS
TO MAKE APPROPRIATE DETERMINATIONS CONCERNING MUTUAL FUND
SALES CHARGES EVEN AFTER BECOMING AWARE OF THE PROBLEMS
RELATED TO THE AVAILABILITY CLASS A SHARES AT NAV, AND FAILED TO
PROVIDE CRITICAL INFORMATION ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS NEEDED TO
MANUALLY APPLY SALES WAIVERS FOR RCMA 05, 403(B) AND ELIGIBLE
CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION ACCOUNTS. THUS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND
WRITTEN PROCEDURES TO IDENTIFY CLASS A MUTUAL FUND SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS IN FUND PROSPECTUSES, FAILED TO ADEQUATELY
NOTIFY AND TRAIN ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS REGARDING MUTUAL FUND
SALES WAIVER ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS, AND FAILED TO HAVE AN
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO ENSURE THAT ELIGIBLE ACCOUNTS
PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITH SALES CHARGE WAIVERS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THIS REGULATORY SETTLEMENT IS THE RESULT OF MATTERS THAT WERE
SELF-REPORTED BY THE FIRM AND FOR WHICH THE FIRM PREVIOUSLY
MADE SUBSTANTIAL VOLUNTARY CUSTOMER RESTITUTION.  WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT MOST OF THE MUTUAL
FUNDS AVAILABLE ON ITS RETAIL PLATFORM OFFERED WAIVERS FOR UP-
FRONT SALES CHARGES FOR RETUREMENT PLANS AND DISCLOSED
THOSE WAIVERS IN THEIR PROSPECTUSES, HOWEVER, THE FIRM FAILED
TO APPLY THE WAIVERS TO CERTAIN ELIGIBLE RETIREMENT PLANS THAT
PURCHASED SHARES OF THESE MUTUAL FUNDS IN BROKERAGE
ACCOUNTS.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT SINCE THE 1980S, THE FIRM
OFFERED A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT TO SMALL BUSINESSES KNOWN AT
THE FIRM AS THE RETIREMENT CASH MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT 05 (RCMA
05), MAINTAINED ON THE FIRM'S RETAIL BROKERAGE PLATFORM.  THE
FIRM THEREFORE TREATED THESE ACCOUNTS IN THE SAME MANNER AS
OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS FOR PURPOSES OF DETERMINING
SHARE CLASS ELIGIBILITY FOR MUTUAL FUND PURCHASES, RATHER
THAN APPLYING RETIREMENT PLAN-SPECIFIED SALES CHARGE WAIVERS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY THAT MOST OF THE MUTUAL FUNDS
AVAILABLE TO RCMA 05 ACCOUNTS OFFERED SALES CHARGE WAIVERS
TO RETIREMENT PLANS AND, AS A RESULT, DISADVANTAGED RETIREMENT
PLAN ACCOUNT PARTICIPANTS.  THE FIRM LATER SELF-REPORTED THE
MATTER TO FINRA, AND DEVELOPED A REMEDIATION PLAN TO RESTORE
DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS TO SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL
POSITION THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN, IF THEY HAD PURCHASED CLASS A
SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES.  THE FIRM REMEDIATED
APPROXIMATELY $58 MILLION, INCLUDING INTEREST, TO APPROXIMATELY
16,000 CURRENT AND 12,000 FORMER RCMA 05 RETIREMENT PLAN
ACCOUNTS.  ALSO, THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE ADDITIONAL RESTITUTION TO
RCMA 05 CUSTOMERS WHO PURCHASED SHARES OF 14 ADDITIONAL
MUTUAL FUND FAMILIES AGREED TO WITH FINRA.  THE FIRM ESTIMATES
THAT THE RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE APPROXIMATELY 13,000 ACCOUNTS
AND WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $21.2 MILLION.  THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM OFFERED 403(B) CUSTOMERS A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT
CALLED A RETIREMENT SELECTOR ACCOUNT (RSA).  THE FIRM LATER
CLOSED THE RSA PROGRAM TO NEW 403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS,
AND PROHIBITED DEPOSITS OF NEW ASSETS FOR EXISTING RSA
ACCOUNTS.  ESTABLISHED RSA ACCOUNTS COULD CONTINUE TO BUY
AND SELL MUTUAL FUNDS WITH EXISTING ASSETS IN THEIR ACCOUNTS.
AS WITH THE RCMA 05 PROGRAM, THE FIRM FAILED TO APPLY AVAILABLE
SLAES CHARGE WAIVERS TO THESE RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS.  THE FIRM
WILL PROVIDE RESTITUTION TO 403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS THAT
PURCHASED SHARES IN THREE MUTUAL FUND FAMILIES THAT QUALIFIED
FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, CLASS A SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES.
THE FIRM ESTIMATES THAT THE RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE
APPROXIMATELY 3,178 RSA ACCOUNTS AND WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $3.2
MILLION.  THE FIRM WILL ALSO VOLUNTARILY OFFER SUCH RETIREMENT
ACCOUNTS ONLY CLASS A SHARES WITH SALES CHARGE WAIVERS FOR
ALL FUTURE MUTUAL FUNDS PURCHASES.  THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM DISADVANTAGED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS
THAT PURCHASED SHARES OF MUTUAL FUNDS BY SELLING THEM CLASS
A SHARES WITH SALES CHARGES, OR CLASS B OR CLASS C SHARES THAT
CHARGED HIGHER EXPENSE RATIOS THAN CLASS A SHARES.  THE FIRM
BECAME AWARE OF ITS FAILURE TO PROVIDE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS
TO QUALIFIED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS ACCOUNTS, AND, IT LATER,
SELF-REPORTED THE ISSUE TO FINRA.  THE FIRM SUBSEQUENTLY
DEVELOPED A PLAN TO PLACE DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS IN
SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL POSITIONS THEY WOULD HAVE
BEEN IN, HAD THEY PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITHOUT A SALES
CHARGE.  (CONT. IN COMMENT SECTION)

Current Status: Final
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THIS REGULATORY SETTLEMENT IS THE RESULT OF MATTERS THAT WERE
SELF-REPORTED BY THE FIRM AND FOR WHICH THE FIRM PREVIOUSLY
MADE SUBSTANTIAL VOLUNTARY CUSTOMER RESTITUTION.  WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT MOST OF THE MUTUAL
FUNDS AVAILABLE ON ITS RETAIL PLATFORM OFFERED WAIVERS FOR UP-
FRONT SALES CHARGES FOR RETUREMENT PLANS AND DISCLOSED
THOSE WAIVERS IN THEIR PROSPECTUSES, HOWEVER, THE FIRM FAILED
TO APPLY THE WAIVERS TO CERTAIN ELIGIBLE RETIREMENT PLANS THAT
PURCHASED SHARES OF THESE MUTUAL FUNDS IN BROKERAGE
ACCOUNTS.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT SINCE THE 1980S, THE FIRM
OFFERED A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT TO SMALL BUSINESSES KNOWN AT
THE FIRM AS THE RETIREMENT CASH MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT 05 (RCMA
05), MAINTAINED ON THE FIRM'S RETAIL BROKERAGE PLATFORM.  THE
FIRM THEREFORE TREATED THESE ACCOUNTS IN THE SAME MANNER AS
OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS FOR PURPOSES OF DETERMINING
SHARE CLASS ELIGIBILITY FOR MUTUAL FUND PURCHASES, RATHER
THAN APPLYING RETIREMENT PLAN-SPECIFIED SALES CHARGE WAIVERS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY THAT MOST OF THE MUTUAL FUNDS
AVAILABLE TO RCMA 05 ACCOUNTS OFFERED SALES CHARGE WAIVERS
TO RETIREMENT PLANS AND, AS A RESULT, DISADVANTAGED RETIREMENT
PLAN ACCOUNT PARTICIPANTS.  THE FIRM LATER SELF-REPORTED THE
MATTER TO FINRA, AND DEVELOPED A REMEDIATION PLAN TO RESTORE
DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS TO SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL
POSITION THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN, IF THEY HAD PURCHASED CLASS A
SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES.  THE FIRM REMEDIATED
APPROXIMATELY $58 MILLION, INCLUDING INTEREST, TO APPROXIMATELY
16,000 CURRENT AND 12,000 FORMER RCMA 05 RETIREMENT PLAN
ACCOUNTS.  ALSO, THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE ADDITIONAL RESTITUTION TO
RCMA 05 CUSTOMERS WHO PURCHASED SHARES OF 14 ADDITIONAL
MUTUAL FUND FAMILIES AGREED TO WITH FINRA.  THE FIRM ESTIMATES
THAT THE RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE APPROXIMATELY 13,000 ACCOUNTS
AND WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $21.2 MILLION.  THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM OFFERED 403(B) CUSTOMERS A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT
CALLED A RETIREMENT SELECTOR ACCOUNT (RSA).  THE FIRM LATER
CLOSED THE RSA PROGRAM TO NEW 403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS,
AND PROHIBITED DEPOSITS OF NEW ASSETS FOR EXISTING RSA
ACCOUNTS.  ESTABLISHED RSA ACCOUNTS COULD CONTINUE TO BUY
AND SELL MUTUAL FUNDS WITH EXISTING ASSETS IN THEIR ACCOUNTS.
AS WITH THE RCMA 05 PROGRAM, THE FIRM FAILED TO APPLY AVAILABLE
SLAES CHARGE WAIVERS TO THESE RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS.  THE FIRM
WILL PROVIDE RESTITUTION TO 403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS THAT
PURCHASED SHARES IN THREE MUTUAL FUND FAMILIES THAT QUALIFIED
FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, CLASS A SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES.
THE FIRM ESTIMATES THAT THE RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE
APPROXIMATELY 3,178 RSA ACCOUNTS AND WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $3.2
MILLION.  THE FIRM WILL ALSO VOLUNTARILY OFFER SUCH RETIREMENT
ACCOUNTS ONLY CLASS A SHARES WITH SALES CHARGE WAIVERS FOR
ALL FUTURE MUTUAL FUNDS PURCHASES.  THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM DISADVANTAGED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS
THAT PURCHASED SHARES OF MUTUAL FUNDS BY SELLING THEM CLASS
A SHARES WITH SALES CHARGES, OR CLASS B OR CLASS C SHARES THAT
CHARGED HIGHER EXPENSE RATIOS THAN CLASS A SHARES.  THE FIRM
BECAME AWARE OF ITS FAILURE TO PROVIDE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS
TO QUALIFIED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS ACCOUNTS, AND, IT LATER,
SELF-REPORTED THE ISSUE TO FINRA.  THE FIRM SUBSEQUENTLY
DEVELOPED A PLAN TO PLACE DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS IN
SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL POSITIONS THEY WOULD HAVE
BEEN IN, HAD THEY PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITHOUT A SALES
CHARGE.  (CONT. IN COMMENT SECTION)

414©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE, RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 06/16/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2011029999301

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

THIS REGULATORY SETTLEMENT IS THE RESULT OF MATTERS THAT WERE
SELF-REPORTED BY THE FIRM AND FOR WHICH THE FIRM PREVIOUSLY
MADE SUBSTANTIAL VOLUNTARY CUSTOMER RESTITUTION.  WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT MOST OF THE MUTUAL
FUNDS AVAILABLE ON ITS RETAIL PLATFORM OFFERED WAIVERS FOR UP-
FRONT SALES CHARGES FOR RETUREMENT PLANS AND DISCLOSED
THOSE WAIVERS IN THEIR PROSPECTUSES, HOWEVER, THE FIRM FAILED
TO APPLY THE WAIVERS TO CERTAIN ELIGIBLE RETIREMENT PLANS THAT
PURCHASED SHARES OF THESE MUTUAL FUNDS IN BROKERAGE
ACCOUNTS.  THE FINDINGS STATED THAT SINCE THE 1980S, THE FIRM
OFFERED A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT TO SMALL BUSINESSES KNOWN AT
THE FIRM AS THE RETIREMENT CASH MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT 05 (RCMA
05), MAINTAINED ON THE FIRM'S RETAIL BROKERAGE PLATFORM.  THE
FIRM THEREFORE TREATED THESE ACCOUNTS IN THE SAME MANNER AS
OTHER RETAIL CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS FOR PURPOSES OF DETERMINING
SHARE CLASS ELIGIBILITY FOR MUTUAL FUND PURCHASES, RATHER
THAN APPLYING RETIREMENT PLAN-SPECIFIED SALES CHARGE WAIVERS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY THAT MOST OF THE MUTUAL FUNDS
AVAILABLE TO RCMA 05 ACCOUNTS OFFERED SALES CHARGE WAIVERS
TO RETIREMENT PLANS AND, AS A RESULT, DISADVANTAGED RETIREMENT
PLAN ACCOUNT PARTICIPANTS.  THE FIRM LATER SELF-REPORTED THE
MATTER TO FINRA, AND DEVELOPED A REMEDIATION PLAN TO RESTORE
DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS TO SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL
POSITION THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN, IF THEY HAD PURCHASED CLASS A
SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES.  THE FIRM REMEDIATED
APPROXIMATELY $58 MILLION, INCLUDING INTEREST, TO APPROXIMATELY
16,000 CURRENT AND 12,000 FORMER RCMA 05 RETIREMENT PLAN
ACCOUNTS.  ALSO, THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE ADDITIONAL RESTITUTION TO
RCMA 05 CUSTOMERS WHO PURCHASED SHARES OF 14 ADDITIONAL
MUTUAL FUND FAMILIES AGREED TO WITH FINRA.  THE FIRM ESTIMATES
THAT THE RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE APPROXIMATELY 13,000 ACCOUNTS
AND WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $21.2 MILLION.  THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED
THAT THE FIRM OFFERED 403(B) CUSTOMERS A RETIREMENT ACCOUNT
CALLED A RETIREMENT SELECTOR ACCOUNT (RSA).  THE FIRM LATER
CLOSED THE RSA PROGRAM TO NEW 403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS,
AND PROHIBITED DEPOSITS OF NEW ASSETS FOR EXISTING RSA
ACCOUNTS.  ESTABLISHED RSA ACCOUNTS COULD CONTINUE TO BUY
AND SELL MUTUAL FUNDS WITH EXISTING ASSETS IN THEIR ACCOUNTS.
AS WITH THE RCMA 05 PROGRAM, THE FIRM FAILED TO APPLY AVAILABLE
SLAES CHARGE WAIVERS TO THESE RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS.  THE FIRM
WILL PROVIDE RESTITUTION TO 403(B) RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS THAT
PURCHASED SHARES IN THREE MUTUAL FUND FAMILIES THAT QUALIFIED
FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, CLASS A SHARES WITHOUT SALES CHARGES.
THE FIRM ESTIMATES THAT THE RESTITUTION WILL INCLUDE
APPROXIMATELY 3,178 RSA ACCOUNTS AND WILL BE APPROXIMATELY $3.2
MILLION.  THE FIRM WILL ALSO VOLUNTARILY OFFER SUCH RETIREMENT
ACCOUNTS ONLY CLASS A SHARES WITH SALES CHARGE WAIVERS FOR
ALL FUTURE MUTUAL FUNDS PURCHASES.  THE FINDINGS ALSO
INCLUDED THAT THE FIRM DISADVANTAGED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS
THAT PURCHASED SHARES OF MUTUAL FUNDS BY SELLING THEM CLASS
A SHARES WITH SALES CHARGES, OR CLASS B OR CLASS C SHARES THAT
CHARGED HIGHER EXPENSE RATIOS THAN CLASS A SHARES.  THE FIRM
BECAME AWARE OF ITS FAILURE TO PROVIDE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS
TO QUALIFIED CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS ACCOUNTS, AND, IT LATER,
SELF-REPORTED THE ISSUE TO FINRA.  THE FIRM SUBSEQUENTLY
DEVELOPED A PLAN TO PLACE DISADVANTAGED CUSTOMERS IN
SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAME FINANCIAL POSITIONS THEY WOULD HAVE
BEEN IN, HAD THEY PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITHOUT A SALES
CHARGE.  (CONT. IN COMMENT SECTION)

Resolution Date: 06/16/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REQUIRED TO PAY APPROXIMATELY $24.4 MILLION, PLUS INTEREST, IN
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS.  RESTITUTION SHALL BE PROVIDED TO
THESE ELIGIBLE RCMA 05 ACCOUNTS AND ELIGIBLE RSA ACCOUNTS.

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE.

Firm Statement THIS MATTER WAS SELF-REPORTED UNDER FINRA RULE 4530.  BEFORE
THE REGULATORY ACTION, THE FIRM PAID VOLUNTARY RESTITUTION TO
APPROXIMATELY 28,000 RCMA 05 RETIREMENT PLAN ACCOUNTS AND
3,600 CHARITABLE ACCOUNTS, TOTALING IN EXCESS OF $64 MILLION.
AND THE FIRM REMEDIATED 1,505 CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION
ACCOUNTS MORE THAN $2.7 MILLION, AND IT REMEDIATED AN ADDITIONAL
2,119 CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION ACCOUNTS NEARLY $4.1 MILLION.
FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN AN
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES TO
ENSURE THAT ELIGIBLE ACCOUNTS PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS WHEN PURCHASING SHARES OF CERTAIN
MUTUAL FUNDS.  THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM
AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO IDENTIFY
APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS IN MUTUAL FUND PROSPECTUSES
FOR CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS.  THE FIRM MAINTAINED PROCEDURES
FOR AN ANNUAL REVIEW TO IDENTIFY POTENTIAL NET ASSET VALUE (NAV)
PURCHASE PRIVILEGES, BUT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THIS PURCHASE
PRIVILEGE FOR CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION CUSTOMERS AND
COMMUNICATE THE INFORMATION TO ITS SALES FORCE, AND DID NOT
HAVE PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO MONITOR WHETHER FINANCIAL
ADVISORS WERE INFORMING CUSTOMERS OF AVAILABLE MUTUAL FUND
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS OR ENSURING THAT ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS
WERE RECEIVING SUCH WAIVERS.  THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES CONCERNING SALES CHARGE WAIVERS WERE
INADEQUATE.  THE FIRM UNREASONABLY RELIED ON FINANCIAL
ADVISORS TO MAKE APPROPRIATE DETERMINATIONS CONCERNING
MUTUAL FUND SALES CHARGES EVEN AFTER BECOMING AWARE OF THE
PROBLEMS RELATED TO THE AVAILABLITY CLASS A SHARES AT NAV.
THUS, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES TO IDENTIFY CLASS
A MUTUAL FUND SALES CHARGE WAIVERS IN FUND PROSPECTUSES,
FAILED TO ADEQUATELY NOTIFY AND TRAIN ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS
REGARDING MUTUAL FUND SALES WAIVER ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS,
AND FAILED TO HAVE AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO ENSURE
THAT ELIGIBLE ACCOUNTS PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITH SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $8,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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THIS MATTER WAS SELF-REPORTED UNDER FINRA RULE 4530.  BEFORE
THE REGULATORY ACTION, THE FIRM PAID VOLUNTARY RESTITUTION TO
APPROXIMATELY 28,000 RCMA 05 RETIREMENT PLAN ACCOUNTS AND
3,600 CHARITABLE ACCOUNTS, TOTALING IN EXCESS OF $64 MILLION.
AND THE FIRM REMEDIATED 1,505 CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION
ACCOUNTS MORE THAN $2.7 MILLION, AND IT REMEDIATED AN ADDITIONAL
2,119 CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION ACCOUNTS NEARLY $4.1 MILLION.
FINRA FOUND THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN AN
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES TO
ENSURE THAT ELIGIBLE ACCOUNTS PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITH
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS WHEN PURCHASING SHARES OF CERTAIN
MUTUAL FUNDS.  THE FIRM FAILED TO MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM
AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO IDENTIFY
APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE WAIVERS IN MUTUAL FUND PROSPECTUSES
FOR CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS.  THE FIRM MAINTAINED PROCEDURES
FOR AN ANNUAL REVIEW TO IDENTIFY POTENTIAL NET ASSET VALUE (NAV)
PURCHASE PRIVILEGES, BUT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THIS PURCHASE
PRIVILEGE FOR CHARITABLE ORGANIZATION CUSTOMERS AND
COMMUNICATE THE INFORMATION TO ITS SALES FORCE, AND DID NOT
HAVE PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO MONITOR WHETHER FINANCIAL
ADVISORS WERE INFORMING CUSTOMERS OF AVAILABLE MUTUAL FUND
SALES CHARGE WAIVERS OR ENSURING THAT ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS
WERE RECEIVING SUCH WAIVERS.  THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES CONCERNING SALES CHARGE WAIVERS WERE
INADEQUATE.  THE FIRM UNREASONABLY RELIED ON FINANCIAL
ADVISORS TO MAKE APPROPRIATE DETERMINATIONS CONCERNING
MUTUAL FUND SALES CHARGES EVEN AFTER BECOMING AWARE OF THE
PROBLEMS RELATED TO THE AVAILABLITY CLASS A SHARES AT NAV.
THUS, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN PROCEDURES TO IDENTIFY CLASS
A MUTUAL FUND SALES CHARGE WAIVERS IN FUND PROSPECTUSES,
FAILED TO ADEQUATELY NOTIFY AND TRAIN ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS
REGARDING MUTUAL FUND SALES WAIVER ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS,
AND FAILED TO HAVE AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO ENSURE
THAT ELIGIBLE ACCOUNTS PURCHASED CLASS A SHARES WITH SALES
CHARGE WAIVERS.

Disclosure 134 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
AT LEAST 5,323 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO VARIOUS SECURITIES
REGULATORS, INCLUDING THE SEC AND FINRA. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT THE INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS FAILED TO INCLUDE CUSTOMER
NAMES AND ADDRESSES FOR TRADES MADE ON THE DAY THE CUSTOMER
OPENED A FIRM ACCOUNT. WHEN THE FIRM PROCESSES A TRADE, ITS
SYSTEMS COLLECT THE RELEVANT CUSTOMER DATA AND APPEND IT TO
THE TRADE IN REAL TIME. BETWEEN 2008 AND JANUARY 2014, HOWEVER,
A TRADE COULD OCCUR IN A NEW CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT BEFORE THE
CUSTOMER'S DATA WAS FULLY POPULATED ACROSS ALL OF THE FIRM'S
DATABASES. IN SUCH INSTANCES, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS WERE UNABLE
TO APPEND THE CUSTOMER DATA TO THE TRADE. WHEN THAT HAPPENED,
THE FIRM LISTED "NO NAME" ON THE BLUE SHEETS ASSOCIATED WITH
SUCH TRADES. AS A RESULT OF THIS PROBLEM, THE FIRM SUBMITTED AT
LEAST 2,980 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO THE SEC; 1,538 INACCURATE
BLUE SHEETS TO FINRA; 733 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO NYSE; AND 72
INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO OTHER REGULATORS. THE FIRM'S FAILURE
TO SUBMIT ACCURATE BLUE SHEETS HAD A NEGATIVE IMPACT ON
REGULATORY INVESTIGATIONS INTO POSSIBLE VIOLATIONS OF
SECURITIES LAWS, AS SUSPICIOUS TRADING OFTEN OCCURS SHORTLY
AFTER A CUSTOMER OPENS A SECURITIES ACCOUNT. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE IN PLACE AN AUDIT SYSTEM
REASONABLY PROVIDING FOR ACCOUNTABILITY OF ITS BLUE SHEET
SUBMISSIONS AND DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/04/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2013037904801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
AT LEAST 5,323 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO VARIOUS SECURITIES
REGULATORS, INCLUDING THE SEC AND FINRA. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT THE INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS FAILED TO INCLUDE CUSTOMER
NAMES AND ADDRESSES FOR TRADES MADE ON THE DAY THE CUSTOMER
OPENED A FIRM ACCOUNT. WHEN THE FIRM PROCESSES A TRADE, ITS
SYSTEMS COLLECT THE RELEVANT CUSTOMER DATA AND APPEND IT TO
THE TRADE IN REAL TIME. BETWEEN 2008 AND JANUARY 2014, HOWEVER,
A TRADE COULD OCCUR IN A NEW CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT BEFORE THE
CUSTOMER'S DATA WAS FULLY POPULATED ACROSS ALL OF THE FIRM'S
DATABASES. IN SUCH INSTANCES, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS WERE UNABLE
TO APPEND THE CUSTOMER DATA TO THE TRADE. WHEN THAT HAPPENED,
THE FIRM LISTED "NO NAME" ON THE BLUE SHEETS ASSOCIATED WITH
SUCH TRADES. AS A RESULT OF THIS PROBLEM, THE FIRM SUBMITTED AT
LEAST 2,980 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO THE SEC; 1,538 INACCURATE
BLUE SHEETS TO FINRA; 733 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO NYSE; AND 72
INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO OTHER REGULATORS. THE FIRM'S FAILURE
TO SUBMIT ACCURATE BLUE SHEETS HAD A NEGATIVE IMPACT ON
REGULATORY INVESTIGATIONS INTO POSSIBLE VIOLATIONS OF
SECURITIES LAWS, AS SUSPICIOUS TRADING OFTEN OCCURS SHORTLY
AFTER A CUSTOMER OPENS A SECURITIES ACCOUNT. THE FINDINGS ALSO
STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE IN PLACE AN AUDIT SYSTEM
REASONABLY PROVIDING FOR ACCOUNTABILITY OF ITS BLUE SHEET
SUBMISSIONS AND DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS.

Resolution Date: 06/04/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM AGREES TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF ITS POLICIES, SYSTEMS,
AND PROCEDURES (WRITTEN OR OTHERWISE) RELATING TO ITS
COMPILATION AND SUBMISSION OF BLUE SHEET DATA AND THE AUDIT
DEFICIENCIES ADDRESSED HEREIN.

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE

Regulator Statement FINE PAID IN FULL JUNE 18, 2014.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
AT LEAST 5,323 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO VARIOUS SECURITIES
REGULATORS, INCLUDING THE SEC AND FINRA. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT THE INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS FAILED TO INCLUDE CUSTOMER
NAMES AND ADDRESSES FOR TRADES MADE ON THE DAY THE CUSTOMER
OPENED A FIRM ACCOUNT. BETWEEN 2008 AND JANUARY 2014, A TRADE
COULD OCCUR IN A NEW CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT BEFORE THE
CUSTOMER'S NAME AND ADDRESS DATA WAS FULLY POPULATED. IN SUCH
INSTANCES, THE FIRM LISTED "NO NAME" ON THE BLUE SHEETS
ASSOCIATED WITH SUCH TRADES. AS A RESULT OF THIS PROBLEM, THE
FIRM SUBMITTED AT LEAST 2,980 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO THE SEC;
1,538 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO FINRA; 733 INACCURATE BLUE
SHEETS TO NYSE; AND 72 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO OTHER
REGULATORS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
HAVE IN PLACE AN AUDIT SYSTEM REASONABLY PROVIDING FOR
ACCOUNTABILITY OF ITS BLUE SHEET SUBMISSIONS AND DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/04/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2013037904801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
AT LEAST 5,323 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO VARIOUS SECURITIES
REGULATORS, INCLUDING THE SEC AND FINRA. THE FINDINGS STATED
THAT THE INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS FAILED TO INCLUDE CUSTOMER
NAMES AND ADDRESSES FOR TRADES MADE ON THE DAY THE CUSTOMER
OPENED A FIRM ACCOUNT. BETWEEN 2008 AND JANUARY 2014, A TRADE
COULD OCCUR IN A NEW CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT BEFORE THE
CUSTOMER'S NAME AND ADDRESS DATA WAS FULLY POPULATED. IN SUCH
INSTANCES, THE FIRM LISTED "NO NAME" ON THE BLUE SHEETS
ASSOCIATED WITH SUCH TRADES. AS A RESULT OF THIS PROBLEM, THE
FIRM SUBMITTED AT LEAST 2,980 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO THE SEC;
1,538 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO FINRA; 733 INACCURATE BLUE
SHEETS TO NYSE; AND 72 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO OTHER
REGULATORS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
HAVE IN PLACE AN AUDIT SYSTEM REASONABLY PROVIDING FOR
ACCOUNTABILITY OF ITS BLUE SHEET SUBMISSIONS AND DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.

Resolution Date: 06/04/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM AGREES TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF ITS POLICIES, SYSTEMS,
AND PROCEDURES (WRITTEN OR OTHERWISE) RELATING TO ITS
COMPILATION AND SUBMISSION OF BLUE SHEET DATA AND THE AUDIT
DEFICIENCIES ADDRESSED HEREIN.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
AT LEAST 5,323 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO VARIOUS SECURITIES
REGULATORS, INCLUDING THE SEC AND FINRA.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
AT LEAST 5,323 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO VARIOUS SECURITIES
REGULATORS, INCLUDING THE SEC AND FINRA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT SUBMITTED
AT LEAST 5,323 INACCURATE BLUE SHEETS TO VARIOUS SECURITIES
REGULATORS, INCLUDING THE SEC AND FINRA.

Disclosure 135 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/19/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2013035797801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE)
BLOCK TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 15
MINUTES OF THE TIME OF EXECUTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/19/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 05/19/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2013035797801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE)
BLOCK TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 15
MINUTES OF THE TIME OF EXECUTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/19/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE)
BLOCK TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 15
MINUTES OF THE TIME OF EXECUTION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE)
BLOCK TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 15
MINUTES OF THE TIME OF EXECUTION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 136 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: 13-0074

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL"),
AN EXCHANGE TPH ORGANIZATION, WAS CENSURED AND FINED $7,500
FOR THE FOLLOWING CONDUCT.  MERRILL FAILED TO PROPERLY
REGISTER AND QUALIFY ONE ASSOCIATED PERSON AS A PROPRIETARY
TRADER PRINCIPAL (TP) WITH THE EXCHANGE IN WEBCRD.  IN ADDITION,
MERRILL FAILED TO REGISTER ITS FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONS
PRINCIPAL AS A FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONS PRINCIPAL (FN) WITH THE
EXCHANGE IN WEBCRD. (EXCHANGE RULE 3.6A - QUALIFICATION AND
REGISTRATION OF TRADING PERMIT HOLDERS AND ASSOCIATED
PERSONS)

Resolution Date: 02/27/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A $7,500 FINE AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE OF THE CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS
EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED (THE "EXCHANGE")

Allegations: IN VIOLATION OF CBOE EXCHANGE RULE 3.6A, FROM JANUARY 21, 2012
THROUGH OCTOBER 24, 2013, THE APPLICANT FAILED TO PROPERLY
REGISTER ONE ASSOCIATED PERSON AS A PROPRIETARY TRADER
PRINCIPAL (TP) WITH THE EXCHANGE IN WEBCRD.  IN ADDITION, FROM
MAY 31, 2012 THROUGH OCTOBER 10, 2012, THE APPLICANT FAILED TO
REGISTER ITS FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONS PRINCIPAL AS A FINANCIAL
AND OPERATIONS PRINCIPAL (FN) WITH THE EXCHANGE IN WEBCRD.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE OF THE CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS
EXCHANGE, INCORPORATED (THE "EXCHANGE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 02/27/2014

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 13-0074

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 02/27/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULES HAD BEEN COMMITTED, THE APPLICANT CONSENTED TO A FINE OF
$7,500 AND A CENSURE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULES HAD BEEN COMMITTED, THE APPLICANT CONSENTED TO A FINE OF
$7,500 AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Decision

Disclosure 137 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC RULE 17A-3, NASD RULE 3110 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH'S ORDER MEMORANDUM FOR NUMEROUS TRANSACTIONS
REFLECTED ONLY ONE ORDER TIME. THE FIRM MAINTAINED THAT THE
TIME STAMP REPRESENTED MULTIPLE ORDERS (I.E., THE ORDER
RECEIPT, ORDER ENTRY AND ORDER EXECUTION TIMES) BECAUSE THE
DECISION TO PURCHASE THE SECURITY, AND THE RESULTANT
EXECUTION, HAPPENED SIMULTANEOUSLY OR NEARLY SIMULTANEOUSLY
WITH ONE ANOTHER. BECAUSE THE ORDER MEMORANDUM DID NOT
CLEARLY IDENTIFY THAT THE TIME STAMP REPRESENTED MULTIPLE
ORDER EVENTS, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY
THE ORDER RECEIPT, ORDER ENTRY AND ORDER EXECUTION TIMES ON
BROKERAGE ORDER MEMORANDUM ENTERED INTO ITS PROPRIETARY
BOND MARKET ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM TO BUY NON-CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2008014584702

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

SEC RULE 17A-3, NASD RULE 3110 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH'S ORDER MEMORANDUM FOR NUMEROUS TRANSACTIONS
REFLECTED ONLY ONE ORDER TIME. THE FIRM MAINTAINED THAT THE
TIME STAMP REPRESENTED MULTIPLE ORDERS (I.E., THE ORDER
RECEIPT, ORDER ENTRY AND ORDER EXECUTION TIMES) BECAUSE THE
DECISION TO PURCHASE THE SECURITY, AND THE RESULTANT
EXECUTION, HAPPENED SIMULTANEOUSLY OR NEARLY SIMULTANEOUSLY
WITH ONE ANOTHER. BECAUSE THE ORDER MEMORANDUM DID NOT
CLEARLY IDENTIFY THAT THE TIME STAMP REPRESENTED MULTIPLE
ORDER EVENTS, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY
THE ORDER RECEIPT, ORDER ENTRY AND ORDER EXECUTION TIMES ON
BROKERAGE ORDER MEMORANDUM ENTERED INTO ITS PROPRIETARY
BOND MARKET ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM TO BUY NON-CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED SECURITIES.

Resolution Date: 01/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $45,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL ON JANUARY 28, 2014.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $45,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC RULE 17A-3, NASD RULE 3110 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH'S ORDER MEMORANDUM FOR NUMEROUS TRANSACTIONS
REFLECTED ONLY ONE ORDER TIME.  THE FIRM MAINTAINED THAT THE
TIME STAMP REPRESENTED MULTIPLE ORDER TIMES (I.E., THE ORDER
RECEIPT, ORDER ENTRY AND ORDER EXECUTION TIMES) BECAUSE THE
DECISION TO PURCHASE THE SECURITY, AND THE RESULTANT
EXECUTION, HAPPENED SIMULTANEOUSLY OR NEARLY SIMULTANEOUSLY
WITH ONE ANOTHER.  BECAUSE THE ORDER MEMORANDA DID NOT
CLEARLY IDENTIFY THAT THE TIME STAMP REPRESENTED MULTIPLE
ORDER EVENTS, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY
THE ORDER RECEIPT, ORDER ENTRY AND ORDER EXECUTION TIMES ON
BROKERAGE ORDER MEMORANDA ENTERED INTO ITS PROPRIETARY
BOND MARKET ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM TO BUY NON-CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 01/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2008014584702

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

SEC RULE 17A-3, NASD RULE 3110 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH'S ORDER MEMORANDUM FOR NUMEROUS TRANSACTIONS
REFLECTED ONLY ONE ORDER TIME.  THE FIRM MAINTAINED THAT THE
TIME STAMP REPRESENTED MULTIPLE ORDER TIMES (I.E., THE ORDER
RECEIPT, ORDER ENTRY AND ORDER EXECUTION TIMES) BECAUSE THE
DECISION TO PURCHASE THE SECURITY, AND THE RESULTANT
EXECUTION, HAPPENED SIMULTANEOUSLY OR NEARLY SIMULTANEOUSLY
WITH ONE ANOTHER.  BECAUSE THE ORDER MEMORANDA DID NOT
CLEARLY IDENTIFY THAT THE TIME STAMP REPRESENTED MULTIPLE
ORDER EVENTS, FINRA DETERMINED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY
THE ORDER RECEIPT, ORDER ENTRY AND ORDER EXECUTION TIMES ON
BROKERAGE ORDER MEMORANDA ENTERED INTO ITS PROPRIETARY
BOND MARKET ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM TO BUY NON-CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED SECURITIES.

Resolution Date: 01/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $45,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $45,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $45,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 138 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASES 33-9493, 34-71051, DECEMBER 12, 2013: THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMED IT
APPROPRIATE THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT") AND SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND
21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("MLPFS" OR "RESPONDENT," AND TOGETHER WITH AFFILIATES,
 "MERRILL").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT MLPFS VIOLATED THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH ITS STRUCTURING AND
MARKETING OF A SERIES OF COLLATERALIZED DEBT OBLIGATION
TRANSACTIONS ("CDOS") IN 2006 AND 2007.

IN A CDO, A SPECIAL PURPOSE VEHICLE (AN "ISSUER") ISSUES TRANCHES
OF SECURITIES BACKED BY A PORTFOLIO OF ASSETS - THE COLLATERAL -
OWNED BY THE ISSUER. CDOS COMMONLY HAVE
COLLATERAL MANAGERS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SELECTION,
ACQUISITION, AND MONITORING OF THIS PORTFOLIO. THE ORDER
CONCERNS THREE CDO ISSUERS. THE COLLATERAL FOR ALL THREE
CDOS CONSISTED PRIMARILY OF CREDIT DEFAULT SWAPS ("CDS")
REFERENCING SUBPRIME RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE BACKED SECURITIES
("RMBS").

MLPFS FAILED TO INFORM INVESTORS IN TWO CDOS THAT AN
UNDISCLOSED THIRD PARTY - A HEDGE FUND FIRM (THE "FIRM") THAT
BOUGHT THE EQUITY IN THE TRANSACTIONS BUT WHOSE INTERESTS
WERE NOT NECESSARILY THE SAME AS THOSE OF THE CDOS' OTHER
INVESTORS - HAD RIGHTS RELATING TO, AND EXERCISED SIGNIFICANT
INFLUENCE OVER, THE SELECTION OF THE CDOS' COLLATERAL.

IN PARTICULAR, WITH CDO1, A $1.5 BILLION CDO THAT CLOSED
SEPTEMBER 26, 2006, THE FIRM HAD A CONTRACTUAL RIGHT TO OBJECT
TO THE INCLUSION OF COLLATERAL SELECTED BY THE COLLATERAL
MANAGER DURING THE SO-CALLED "WAREHOUSE" PHASE THAT
PRECEDES CLOSING. YET THE DISCLOSURE THAT MLPFS PROVIDED TO
INVESTORS STATED THAT THE COLLATERAL ACQUIRED BY CDO1 ON
CLOSING WAS "SELECTED BY [THE COLLATERAL MANAGER] AND HELD BY
[MERRILL] PURSUANT TO WAREHOUSING AGREEMENTS BETWEEN
[MERRILL] AND [THE COLLATERAL MANAGER]." THIS WAS A MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENT IN THAT IT MADE NO MENTION OF THE FIRM'S RIGHTS.

WITH CDO2, A $1.5 BILLION CDO THAT CLOSED MARCH 1, 2007, A THIRD OF
THE ASSETS FOR THE PORTFOLIO WERE ACQUIRED DURING THE
WAREHOUSE PHASE BY THE FIRM RATHER THAN BY THE DESIGNATED
COLLATERAL MANAGER. THE COLLATERAL MANAGER FOR CDO2 INITIALLY
DID NOT KNOW ABOUT THE FIRM'S PURCHASES BUT THEN EVENTUALLY
ACCEPTED THEM. THE FIRM ALSO EXERCISED THE EQUIVALENT OF A
VETO OVER THE COLLATERAL MANAGER'S SELECTION OF CERTAIN
OTHER ASSETS FOR CDO2. YET WITH CDO2, TOO, THE DISCLOSURE THAT
MLPFS PROVIDED TO INVESTORS STATED THAT THE COLLATERAL ON
CLOSING WOULD CONSIST OF A PORTFOLIO "SELECTED BY THE
COLLATERAL MANAGER." THIS WAS A MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT BECAUSE
IT MADE NO MENTION OF THE FIRM'S INVOLVEMENT IN COLLATERAL
SELECTION. MLPFS ALSO FAILED TO DISCLOSE IN THE OFFERING
CIRCULARS AND PITCHBOOK USED TO MARKET THE CDO2 TRANSACTION
THAT THE FIRM RECEIVED A $35.5 MILLION DISCOUNT ON ITS EQUITY
INVESTMENT IN CDO2 AND A SEPARATE $4.5 MILLION PAYMENT THAT THE
FIRM REFERRED TO AS A "SOURCING FEE."

FINALLY, MLPFS VIOLATED BOOKS-AND-RECORDS REQUIREMENTS OF
THE EXCHANGE ACT IN CONNECTION WITH CDO3, A $1.5 BILLION CDO
THAT CLOSED DECEMBER 20, 2006 AND, UNLIKE THE OTHER
CDOS, WAS MANAGED BY AN AFFILIATE OF MLPFS. MERRILL HAD AGREED
(AS WITH THE OTHER CDOS DISCUSSED IN THE ORDER) TO PAY "CARRY"
FROM THE CDO3 WAREHOUSE (ESSENTIALLY, INTEREST OR RETURNS
THAT ACCUMULATED ON THE WAREHOUSED ASSETS) TO THE FIRM. TO
BENEFIT ITSELF, HOWEVER, MLPFS IMPROPERLY AVOIDED RECORDING
MANY OF THE WAREHOUSED TRADES AT THE TIME THEY OCCURRED,
WHICH WAS IN SEPTEMBER AND OCTOBER 2006. SEEKING TO AVOID
HAVING TO PAY THE FIRM AND HAVING TO
TRADE OUT OF THE POSITIONS IN THE EVENT THAT CDO3 DID NOT CLOSE
OR THAT THESE TRADES WERE EXCLUDED FROM ITS PORTFOLIO, MLPFS
DELAYED RECORDING THESE TRADES UNTIL AFTER CDO3 PRICED ON
NOVEMBER 22, 2006, WHEN IT BECAME REASONABLY CLEAR THAT CDO3
(CONTINUED IN COMMENT)

Current Status: Final
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SEC ADMIN RELEASES 33-9493, 34-71051, DECEMBER 12, 2013: THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMED IT
APPROPRIATE THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT") AND SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND
21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("MLPFS" OR "RESPONDENT," AND TOGETHER WITH AFFILIATES,
 "MERRILL").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT MLPFS VIOLATED THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH ITS STRUCTURING AND
MARKETING OF A SERIES OF COLLATERALIZED DEBT OBLIGATION
TRANSACTIONS ("CDOS") IN 2006 AND 2007.

IN A CDO, A SPECIAL PURPOSE VEHICLE (AN "ISSUER") ISSUES TRANCHES
OF SECURITIES BACKED BY A PORTFOLIO OF ASSETS - THE COLLATERAL -
OWNED BY THE ISSUER. CDOS COMMONLY HAVE
COLLATERAL MANAGERS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SELECTION,
ACQUISITION, AND MONITORING OF THIS PORTFOLIO. THE ORDER
CONCERNS THREE CDO ISSUERS. THE COLLATERAL FOR ALL THREE
CDOS CONSISTED PRIMARILY OF CREDIT DEFAULT SWAPS ("CDS")
REFERENCING SUBPRIME RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE BACKED SECURITIES
("RMBS").

MLPFS FAILED TO INFORM INVESTORS IN TWO CDOS THAT AN
UNDISCLOSED THIRD PARTY - A HEDGE FUND FIRM (THE "FIRM") THAT
BOUGHT THE EQUITY IN THE TRANSACTIONS BUT WHOSE INTERESTS
WERE NOT NECESSARILY THE SAME AS THOSE OF THE CDOS' OTHER
INVESTORS - HAD RIGHTS RELATING TO, AND EXERCISED SIGNIFICANT
INFLUENCE OVER, THE SELECTION OF THE CDOS' COLLATERAL.

IN PARTICULAR, WITH CDO1, A $1.5 BILLION CDO THAT CLOSED
SEPTEMBER 26, 2006, THE FIRM HAD A CONTRACTUAL RIGHT TO OBJECT
TO THE INCLUSION OF COLLATERAL SELECTED BY THE COLLATERAL
MANAGER DURING THE SO-CALLED "WAREHOUSE" PHASE THAT
PRECEDES CLOSING. YET THE DISCLOSURE THAT MLPFS PROVIDED TO
INVESTORS STATED THAT THE COLLATERAL ACQUIRED BY CDO1 ON
CLOSING WAS "SELECTED BY [THE COLLATERAL MANAGER] AND HELD BY
[MERRILL] PURSUANT TO WAREHOUSING AGREEMENTS BETWEEN
[MERRILL] AND [THE COLLATERAL MANAGER]." THIS WAS A MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENT IN THAT IT MADE NO MENTION OF THE FIRM'S RIGHTS.

WITH CDO2, A $1.5 BILLION CDO THAT CLOSED MARCH 1, 2007, A THIRD OF
THE ASSETS FOR THE PORTFOLIO WERE ACQUIRED DURING THE
WAREHOUSE PHASE BY THE FIRM RATHER THAN BY THE DESIGNATED
COLLATERAL MANAGER. THE COLLATERAL MANAGER FOR CDO2 INITIALLY
DID NOT KNOW ABOUT THE FIRM'S PURCHASES BUT THEN EVENTUALLY
ACCEPTED THEM. THE FIRM ALSO EXERCISED THE EQUIVALENT OF A
VETO OVER THE COLLATERAL MANAGER'S SELECTION OF CERTAIN
OTHER ASSETS FOR CDO2. YET WITH CDO2, TOO, THE DISCLOSURE THAT
MLPFS PROVIDED TO INVESTORS STATED THAT THE COLLATERAL ON
CLOSING WOULD CONSIST OF A PORTFOLIO "SELECTED BY THE
COLLATERAL MANAGER." THIS WAS A MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT BECAUSE
IT MADE NO MENTION OF THE FIRM'S INVOLVEMENT IN COLLATERAL
SELECTION. MLPFS ALSO FAILED TO DISCLOSE IN THE OFFERING
CIRCULARS AND PITCHBOOK USED TO MARKET THE CDO2 TRANSACTION
THAT THE FIRM RECEIVED A $35.5 MILLION DISCOUNT ON ITS EQUITY
INVESTMENT IN CDO2 AND A SEPARATE $4.5 MILLION PAYMENT THAT THE
FIRM REFERRED TO AS A "SOURCING FEE."

FINALLY, MLPFS VIOLATED BOOKS-AND-RECORDS REQUIREMENTS OF
THE EXCHANGE ACT IN CONNECTION WITH CDO3, A $1.5 BILLION CDO
THAT CLOSED DECEMBER 20, 2006 AND, UNLIKE THE OTHER
CDOS, WAS MANAGED BY AN AFFILIATE OF MLPFS. MERRILL HAD AGREED
(AS WITH THE OTHER CDOS DISCUSSED IN THE ORDER) TO PAY "CARRY"
FROM THE CDO3 WAREHOUSE (ESSENTIALLY, INTEREST OR RETURNS
THAT ACCUMULATED ON THE WAREHOUSED ASSETS) TO THE FIRM. TO
BENEFIT ITSELF, HOWEVER, MLPFS IMPROPERLY AVOIDED RECORDING
MANY OF THE WAREHOUSED TRADES AT THE TIME THEY OCCURRED,
WHICH WAS IN SEPTEMBER AND OCTOBER 2006. SEEKING TO AVOID
HAVING TO PAY THE FIRM AND HAVING TO
TRADE OUT OF THE POSITIONS IN THE EVENT THAT CDO3 DID NOT CLOSE
OR THAT THESE TRADES WERE EXCLUDED FROM ITS PORTFOLIO, MLPFS
DELAYED RECORDING THESE TRADES UNTIL AFTER CDO3 PRICED ON
NOVEMBER 22, 2006, WHEN IT BECAME REASONABLY CLEAR THAT CDO3
(CONTINUED IN COMMENT)
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/12/2013

Docket/Case Number: 3-15642

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): COLLATERALIZED DEBT OBLIGATION TRANSACTIONS ("CDOS")

SEC ADMIN RELEASES 33-9493, 34-71051, DECEMBER 12, 2013: THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMED IT
APPROPRIATE THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT") AND SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND
21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("MLPFS" OR "RESPONDENT," AND TOGETHER WITH AFFILIATES,
 "MERRILL").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT MLPFS VIOLATED THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH ITS STRUCTURING AND
MARKETING OF A SERIES OF COLLATERALIZED DEBT OBLIGATION
TRANSACTIONS ("CDOS") IN 2006 AND 2007.

IN A CDO, A SPECIAL PURPOSE VEHICLE (AN "ISSUER") ISSUES TRANCHES
OF SECURITIES BACKED BY A PORTFOLIO OF ASSETS - THE COLLATERAL -
OWNED BY THE ISSUER. CDOS COMMONLY HAVE
COLLATERAL MANAGERS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SELECTION,
ACQUISITION, AND MONITORING OF THIS PORTFOLIO. THE ORDER
CONCERNS THREE CDO ISSUERS. THE COLLATERAL FOR ALL THREE
CDOS CONSISTED PRIMARILY OF CREDIT DEFAULT SWAPS ("CDS")
REFERENCING SUBPRIME RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE BACKED SECURITIES
("RMBS").

MLPFS FAILED TO INFORM INVESTORS IN TWO CDOS THAT AN
UNDISCLOSED THIRD PARTY - A HEDGE FUND FIRM (THE "FIRM") THAT
BOUGHT THE EQUITY IN THE TRANSACTIONS BUT WHOSE INTERESTS
WERE NOT NECESSARILY THE SAME AS THOSE OF THE CDOS' OTHER
INVESTORS - HAD RIGHTS RELATING TO, AND EXERCISED SIGNIFICANT
INFLUENCE OVER, THE SELECTION OF THE CDOS' COLLATERAL.

IN PARTICULAR, WITH CDO1, A $1.5 BILLION CDO THAT CLOSED
SEPTEMBER 26, 2006, THE FIRM HAD A CONTRACTUAL RIGHT TO OBJECT
TO THE INCLUSION OF COLLATERAL SELECTED BY THE COLLATERAL
MANAGER DURING THE SO-CALLED "WAREHOUSE" PHASE THAT
PRECEDES CLOSING. YET THE DISCLOSURE THAT MLPFS PROVIDED TO
INVESTORS STATED THAT THE COLLATERAL ACQUIRED BY CDO1 ON
CLOSING WAS "SELECTED BY [THE COLLATERAL MANAGER] AND HELD BY
[MERRILL] PURSUANT TO WAREHOUSING AGREEMENTS BETWEEN
[MERRILL] AND [THE COLLATERAL MANAGER]." THIS WAS A MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENT IN THAT IT MADE NO MENTION OF THE FIRM'S RIGHTS.

WITH CDO2, A $1.5 BILLION CDO THAT CLOSED MARCH 1, 2007, A THIRD OF
THE ASSETS FOR THE PORTFOLIO WERE ACQUIRED DURING THE
WAREHOUSE PHASE BY THE FIRM RATHER THAN BY THE DESIGNATED
COLLATERAL MANAGER. THE COLLATERAL MANAGER FOR CDO2 INITIALLY
DID NOT KNOW ABOUT THE FIRM'S PURCHASES BUT THEN EVENTUALLY
ACCEPTED THEM. THE FIRM ALSO EXERCISED THE EQUIVALENT OF A
VETO OVER THE COLLATERAL MANAGER'S SELECTION OF CERTAIN
OTHER ASSETS FOR CDO2. YET WITH CDO2, TOO, THE DISCLOSURE THAT
MLPFS PROVIDED TO INVESTORS STATED THAT THE COLLATERAL ON
CLOSING WOULD CONSIST OF A PORTFOLIO "SELECTED BY THE
COLLATERAL MANAGER." THIS WAS A MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT BECAUSE
IT MADE NO MENTION OF THE FIRM'S INVOLVEMENT IN COLLATERAL
SELECTION. MLPFS ALSO FAILED TO DISCLOSE IN THE OFFERING
CIRCULARS AND PITCHBOOK USED TO MARKET THE CDO2 TRANSACTION
THAT THE FIRM RECEIVED A $35.5 MILLION DISCOUNT ON ITS EQUITY
INVESTMENT IN CDO2 AND A SEPARATE $4.5 MILLION PAYMENT THAT THE
FIRM REFERRED TO AS A "SOURCING FEE."

FINALLY, MLPFS VIOLATED BOOKS-AND-RECORDS REQUIREMENTS OF
THE EXCHANGE ACT IN CONNECTION WITH CDO3, A $1.5 BILLION CDO
THAT CLOSED DECEMBER 20, 2006 AND, UNLIKE THE OTHER
CDOS, WAS MANAGED BY AN AFFILIATE OF MLPFS. MERRILL HAD AGREED
(AS WITH THE OTHER CDOS DISCUSSED IN THE ORDER) TO PAY "CARRY"
FROM THE CDO3 WAREHOUSE (ESSENTIALLY, INTEREST OR RETURNS
THAT ACCUMULATED ON THE WAREHOUSED ASSETS) TO THE FIRM. TO
BENEFIT ITSELF, HOWEVER, MLPFS IMPROPERLY AVOIDED RECORDING
MANY OF THE WAREHOUSED TRADES AT THE TIME THEY OCCURRED,
WHICH WAS IN SEPTEMBER AND OCTOBER 2006. SEEKING TO AVOID
HAVING TO PAY THE FIRM AND HAVING TO
TRADE OUT OF THE POSITIONS IN THE EVENT THAT CDO3 DID NOT CLOSE
OR THAT THESE TRADES WERE EXCLUDED FROM ITS PORTFOLIO, MLPFS
DELAYED RECORDING THESE TRADES UNTIL AFTER CDO3 PRICED ON
NOVEMBER 22, 2006, WHEN IT BECAME REASONABLY CLEAR THAT CDO3
(CONTINUED IN COMMENT)

Resolution Date: 12/12/2013

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST

Sanction Details: THE COMMISSION DEEMED IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC
INTEREST TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN RESPONDENT
MLPFS'S OFFER. ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT TO SECTION 8A OF THE
SECURITIES ACT AND SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND 21C OF THE EXCHANGE ACT,
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT MLPFS CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS
AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT AND SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE
17A-3(A)(2) THEREUNDER. RESPONDENT MLPFS IS CENSURED.
RESPONDENT SHALL PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $56,286,000 AND
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $19,228,027 AND A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT OF $56,286,000.

Regulator Statement (CONTINUED FROM ALLEGATIONS) WOULD CLOSE AND THAT THE
SEPTEMBER AND OCTOBER 2006 TRADES WOULD BE INCLUDED IN ITS
PORTFOLIO.

AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT, MLPFS WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT; AND WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3(A)(2)
THEREUNDER.

IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
RESPONDENT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND
21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND
IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER
("ORDER").

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $56,286,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction
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(CONTINUED FROM ALLEGATIONS) WOULD CLOSE AND THAT THE
SEPTEMBER AND OCTOBER 2006 TRADES WOULD BE INCLUDED IN ITS
PORTFOLIO.

AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT, MLPFS WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT; AND WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3(A)(2)
THEREUNDER.

IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
RESPONDENT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND
21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND
IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER
("ORDER").

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; DISGORGEMENT; PREJUDGMENT INTEREST; CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY

Date Initiated: 12/12/2013

Docket/Case Number: 3-15642

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): COLLATERALIZED DEBT OBLIGATION TRANSACTIONS ("CDOS")

Allegations: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT MADE BY MERRILL LYNCH,
FENNER, PIERCE & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH"), ON
DECEMBER 12, 2013 THE SEC ISSUED AN ORDER ("ORDER") STATING THAT
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS IN
CONNECTION WITH ITS STRUCTURING AND MARKETING OF A SERIES OF
COLLATERALIZED DEBT OBLIGATION TRANSACTIONS ("CDOS") IN 2006 AND
2007.  ACCORDING TO THE ORDER, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO INFORM
INVESTORS IN TWO CDOS THAT A HEDGE FUND FIRM THAT BOUGHT THE
EQUITY IN THE TRANSACTIONS BUT WHOSE INTERESTS WERE NOT
NECESSARILY THE SAME AS THOSE OF THE CDOS' OTHER INVESTORS,
HAD UNDISCLOSED RIGHTS RELATING TO, AND EXERCISED SIGNIFICANT
INFLUENCE OVER, THE SELECTION OF THE CDOS' COLLATERAL. THE
ORDER STATED THAT, AS A RESULT OF ITS CONDUCT, MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933 ("SECURITIES ACT") AND SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") AND RULE 17A-3(A)(2)
THEREUNDER. MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS THEREIN. THE
ORDER IS NOT BINDING ON ANY PERSON OR ENTITY OTHER THAN
MERRILL LYNCH.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/12/2013

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $56,286,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $19,228,027.  DISGORGEMENT OF
$56,286,000.

Sanction Details: THE ORDER (1) REQUIRED THAT MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT
AND SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3(A)(2)
THEREUNDER; (2) CENSURED MERRILL LYNCH; AND (3) REQUIRED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $56,286,000 AND PREJUDGMENT
INTEREST OF $19,228,027 AND A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT
OF $56,286,000 (FOR A TOTAL PAYMENT OF $131,800,027). THE PAYMENT
WAS MADE ON DECEMBER 17, 2013.

Firm Statement ON DECEMBER 12, 2013, THE SEC ISSUED THE ORDER, AND INCLUDED
THE ALLEGATIONS DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEM 7. MERRILL LYNCH AGREED
TO CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE FINDINGS CONTAINED THEREIN (OTHER THAN THOSE
RELATING TO JURISDICTION AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE
PROCEEDINGS). THE PAYMENT WAS MADE ON DECEMBER 17, 2013. THE
SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE EXPLAINED ABOVE IN ITEM 12.C.

Censure
Monetary/Fine $56,286,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 139 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC RULES 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, 605 OF REGULATION NMS, FINRA
RULES 6182, 6624, 7450 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED EXECUTED SHORT SALE TRANSACTIONS FOR WHICH IT
FAILED TO REPORT EACH OF THESE TRANSACTIONS TO THE
FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) WITH THE CORRECT
SYMBOLS INDICATING THAT THE TRANSACTIONS WERE SELL SHORT. THE
FIRM EXECUTED LONG SALE TRANSACTIONS FOR WHICH IT FAILED TO
REPORT EACH OF THESE TRANSACTIONS TO THE OVER-THE-COUNTER
(OTC) REPORTING FACILITY WITH THE CORRECT SYMBOLS INDICATING
THAT THE TRANSACTIONS WERE PROPRIETARY LONG SALES. THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS)
THAT INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A SPECIAL HANDLING CODE; SUBMITTED
AN ERRONEOUS DESK REPORT; INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A CUSTOMER
INSTRUCTION FLAG; INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A DESK REPORT AND
FAILED TO SUBMIT A NEW ORDER REPORT; INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED AN
EXECUTION TO REFLECT THE EXECUTION OF AN ORDER; FAILED TO
SUBMIT OATS DATA FOR AN ORDER; AND FAILED TO SUBMIT ROUTING
REPORTS TO OATS TO REFLECT THE ROUTE OF THE ORDER TO OUTSIDE
MARKET CENTERS. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY CLASSIFIED AN ORDER AS
COVERED FOR PURPOSES OF SEC RULE 605 ORDER EXECUTION
DISCLOSURE. FOR ONE MONTH, THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON
THE COVERED ORDERS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES IT
RECEIVED FOR EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON WHICH INCLUDED
INCORRECT INFORMATION AS TO THE AMOUNT OF MARKET CENTER
EXECUTED SHARES AND AWAY EXECUTED SHARES FOR VARIOUS ORDER
TYPE/SIZE CATEGORIES. THE FIRM'S REPORT ERRONEOUSLY STATED
THAT ALL OF THE SHARES WERE EXECUTED AT THE MARKET CENTER BY
THE FIRM, WHEN THEY WERE IN FACT EXECUTED BY AN OUTSIDE MARKET
CENTER. THE FIRM EXECUTED SHORT SALE ORDERS AND FAILED TO
PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT AND EXECUTED ONE LONG
SALE ORDER AND FAILED TO PROPERLY MARK THE ORDER AS LONG.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/18/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2009016999901

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

SEC RULES 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, 605 OF REGULATION NMS, FINRA
RULES 6182, 6624, 7450 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED EXECUTED SHORT SALE TRANSACTIONS FOR WHICH IT
FAILED TO REPORT EACH OF THESE TRANSACTIONS TO THE
FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) WITH THE CORRECT
SYMBOLS INDICATING THAT THE TRANSACTIONS WERE SELL SHORT. THE
FIRM EXECUTED LONG SALE TRANSACTIONS FOR WHICH IT FAILED TO
REPORT EACH OF THESE TRANSACTIONS TO THE OVER-THE-COUNTER
(OTC) REPORTING FACILITY WITH THE CORRECT SYMBOLS INDICATING
THAT THE TRANSACTIONS WERE PROPRIETARY LONG SALES. THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS)
THAT INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A SPECIAL HANDLING CODE; SUBMITTED
AN ERRONEOUS DESK REPORT; INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A CUSTOMER
INSTRUCTION FLAG; INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A DESK REPORT AND
FAILED TO SUBMIT A NEW ORDER REPORT; INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED AN
EXECUTION TO REFLECT THE EXECUTION OF AN ORDER; FAILED TO
SUBMIT OATS DATA FOR AN ORDER; AND FAILED TO SUBMIT ROUTING
REPORTS TO OATS TO REFLECT THE ROUTE OF THE ORDER TO OUTSIDE
MARKET CENTERS. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY CLASSIFIED AN ORDER AS
COVERED FOR PURPOSES OF SEC RULE 605 ORDER EXECUTION
DISCLOSURE. FOR ONE MONTH, THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON
THE COVERED ORDERS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES IT
RECEIVED FOR EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON WHICH INCLUDED
INCORRECT INFORMATION AS TO THE AMOUNT OF MARKET CENTER
EXECUTED SHARES AND AWAY EXECUTED SHARES FOR VARIOUS ORDER
TYPE/SIZE CATEGORIES. THE FIRM'S REPORT ERRONEOUSLY STATED
THAT ALL OF THE SHARES WERE EXECUTED AT THE MARKET CENTER BY
THE FIRM, WHEN THEY WERE IN FACT EXECUTED BY AN OUTSIDE MARKET
CENTER. THE FIRM EXECUTED SHORT SALE ORDERS AND FAILED TO
PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT AND EXECUTED ONE LONG
SALE ORDER AND FAILED TO PROPERLY MARK THE ORDER AS LONG.

Resolution Date: 11/18/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $35,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $35,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 11/18/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2009016999901

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: SEC RULES 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, 605 OF REGULATION NMS, FINRA
RULES 6182, 6624, 7450 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED EXECUTED SHORT SALE TRANSACTIONS FOR WHICH IT
FAILED TO REPORT EACH OF THESE TRANSACTIONS TO THE
FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) WITH THE CORRECT
SYMBOLS INDICATING THAT THE TRANSACTIONS WERE SELL SHORT. THE
FIRM EXECUTED LONG SALE TRANSACTIONS FOR WHICH IT FAILED TO
REPORT EACH OF THESE TRANSACTIONS TO THE OVER-THECOUNTER
(OTC) REPORTING FACILITY WITH THE CORRECT SYMBOLS INDICATING
THAT THE TRANSACTIONS WERE PROPRIETARY LONG SALES. THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS)
THAT INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A SPECIAL HANDLING CODE; SUBMITTED
AN ERRONEOUS DESK REPORT; INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A CUSTOMER
INSTRUCTION FLAG; INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A DESK REPORT AND
FAILED TO SUBMIT A NEW ORDER REPORT; INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED AN
EXECUTION TO REFLECT THE EXECUTION OF AN ORDER; FAILED TO
SUBMIT OATS DATA FOR AN ORDER; AND FAILED TO SUBMIT ROUTING
REPORTS TO OATS TO REFLECT THE ROUTE OF THE ORDER TO OUTSIDE
MARKET CENTERS. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY CLASSIFIED AN ORDER AS
COVERED FOR PURPOSES OF SEC RULE 605 ORDER EXECUTION
DISCLOSURE. FOR ONE MONTH, THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON
THE COVERED ORDERS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES IT
RECEIVED FOR EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON WHICH INCLUDED
INCORRECT INFORMATION AS TO THE AMOUNT OF MARKET CENTER
EXECUTED SHARES AND AWAY EXECUTED SHARES FOR VARIOUS ORDER
TYPE/SIZE CATEGORIES. THE FIRM'S REPORT ERRONEOUSLY STATED
THAT ALL OF THE SHARES WERE EXECUTED AT THE MARKET CENTER BY
THE FIRM, WHEN THEY WERE IN FACT EXECUTED BY AN OUTSIDE MARKET
CENTER. THE FIRM EXECUTED SHORT SALE ORDERS AND FAILED TO
PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT AND EXECUTED ONE LONG
SALE ORDER AND FAILED TO PROPERLY MARK THE ORDER AS LONG.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 11/18/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $35,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $35,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $35,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 140 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/18/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2009016999902

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NASDAQ SECURITIES

Allegations: NASDAQ RULES 4611(A)(6), 4755 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED ENTERED PROPRIETARY ORDERS TO SELL SHORT
INTO THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER THAT INCORRECTLY IDENTIFIED THE
ORDERS AS LONG. THE FIRM ENTERED ONE PROPRIETARY ORDER TO
SELL LONG INTO THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER THAT INCORRECTLY
IDENTIFIED THE ORDER AS SHORT. THE FIRM ENTERED ORDERS INTO THE
NASDAQ MARKET CENTER THAT FAILED TO INDICATE THE CORRECT
CAPACITY.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 11/18/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 11/18/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2009016999902

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NASDAQ SECURITIES

Allegations: NASDAQ RULES 4611(A)(6), 4755 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED ENTERED PROPRIETARY ORDERS TO SELL SHORT
INTO THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER THAT INCORRECTLY IDENTIFIED THE
ORDERS AS LONG. THE FIRM ENTERED ONE PROPRIETARY ORDER TO
SELL LONG INTO THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER THAT INCORRECTLY
IDENTIFIED THE ORDER AS SHORT. THE FIRM ENTERED ORDERS INTO THE
NASDAQ MARKET CENTER THAT FAILED TO INDICATE THE CORRECT
CAPACITY.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 11/18/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 141 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE

Date Initiated: 10/24/2013

Docket/Case Number: CBOT 09-06299-BC AND CBOT 10-7427-BC

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: BETWEEN JUNE 5, 2009 AND MAY 17, 2012, APPLICANT EXECUTED BLOCK
TRADES FOR CUSTOMERS IN CBOT INTEREST RATE FUTURES
CONTRACTS THAT WERE NOT REPORTED TO THE CHICAGO BOARD OF
TRADE ("CBOT") WITHIN THE APPLICABLE TIME LIMIT FOLLOWING
EXECUTION.  IN ADDITION, APPLICANT MISREPRESENTED THE TRUE AND
ACCURATE TIME OF EXECUTION OF BLOCK TRADES TO THE CBOT
THEREBY VIOLATING LEGACY CBOT RULES 526.F AND 432.I.  FURTHER,
APPLICANT FAILED TO MAINTAIN ACCURATE WRITTEN OR ELECTRONIC
RECORDS OF THE BLOCK TRADE TRANSACTIONS (SPECIFICALLY, THE
ORDER TICKETS AND OTHER RECORDS APPLICANT EMPLOYED TO
RECORD BLOCK TRADES CONTAINED INACCURATE TIMING INFORMATION)
AND DID NOT HAVE ACCURATE AND RELIABLE TIME-KEEPING
MECHANISMS IN PLACE UPON WHICH TO BASE THE TIME OF EXECUTION
IN VIOLATION OF CBOT RULE 536.  BY FAILING TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE
ITS EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS IN THE CONDUCT OF APPLICANT'S BUSINESS
RELATING TO THE CBOT AS OUTLINED ABOVE, THE APPLICANT VIOLATED
LEGACY CBOT RULE 432.W.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/24/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS, THE APPLICANT
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CBOT'S DECISION AND AGREED TO
PAY A FINE OF $190,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS, THE APPLICANT
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CBOT'S DECISION AND AGREED TO
PAY A FINE OF $190,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $190,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 142 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE

Date Initiated: 10/24/2013

Allegations: BETWEEN JUNE 4, 2009 AND AUGUST 8, 2011, APPLICANT EXECUTED
BLOCK TRADES FOR CUSTOMERS IN THE EURODOLLARS FUTURES
MARKET THAT WERE NOT REPORTED TO THE CHICAGO MERCANTILE
EXCHANGE ("CME") WITHIN THE APPLICABLE TIME LIMIT FOLLOWING
EXECUTION.  IN ADDITION, APPLICANT MISREPRESENTED THE TRUE AND
ACCURATE TIME OF EXECUTION OF BLOCK TRADES TO THE CME
THEREBY VIOLATING LEGACY CME RULES 526.F AND 432.I.  FURTHER,
APPLICANT FAILED TO MAINTAIN ACCURATE WRITTEN OR ELECTRONIC
RECORDS OF THE BLOCK TRADE TRANSACTIONS (SPECIFICALLY, THE
ORDER TICKETS AND OTHER RECORDS APPLICANT EMPLOYED TO
RECORD BLOCK TRADES CONTAINED INACCURATE TIMING INFORMATION)
AND DID NOT HAVE ACCURATE AND RELIABLE TIME-KEEPING
MECHANISMS IN PLACE UPON WHICH TO BASE THE TIME OF EXECUTION
IN VIOLATION OF CME RULE 536.  BY FAILING TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE
ITS EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS IN THE CONDUCT OF THE APPLICANT'S
BUSINESS RELATING TO THE CME AS OUTLINED ABOVE, THE APPLICANT
VIOLATED LEGACY CME RULE 432.W.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/24/2013

Docket/Case Number: CME 10-7427-BC

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/24/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS, THE APPLICANT
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CME'S DECISION AND AGREED TO
PAY A FINE OF $60,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS, THE APPLICANT
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CME'S DECISION AND AGREED TO
PAY A FINE OF $60,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $60,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 143 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/30/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2012-0113

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 10/30/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FINED $500,000 NO PORTION WAIVED.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 10/30/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2012-0113

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION ALLEGES THAT THE
APPLICANT FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE A FORMER AGENT IN
VIOLATION OF M.G.L. C. 110A, §204(A)(2)(J).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/30/2013

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF LAW,
THE APPLICANT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF A CONSENT ORDER, PAID
A CIVIL PENALTY OF $500,000, AGREED TO OFFER REIMBURSEMENT TO
FIVE CURRENT OR FORMER CLIENTS, AGREED TO CERTIFY THAT IT HAS
REVIEWED ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WITH REGARD TO THE
MONITORING OF EMPLOYEE ACCOUNTS, AGREED TO A CENSURE, AND
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING M.G.L. C. 110A,
§204(A)(2)(J).

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF LAW,
THE APPLICANT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF A CONSENT ORDER, PAID
A CIVIL PENALTY OF $500,000, AGREED TO OFFER REIMBURSEMENT TO
FIVE CURRENT OR FORMER CLIENTS, AGREED TO CERTIFY THAT IT HAS
REVIEWED ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WITH REGARD TO THE
MONITORING OF EMPLOYEE ACCOUNTS, AGREED TO A CENSURE, AND
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING M.G.L. C. 110A,
§204(A)(2)(J).

Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 144 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC RULES 204(A)(1),SEC RULE 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, SEC RULE
605 OF REGULATION NMS, FINRA RULES 2010, 7230A, 7450, NASD RULES
2110, 3010, 3340, INTERPRETIVE MATERIAL 2110-2 - MERRILL LYNCH
EFFECTED SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS WHILE A TRADING HALT WAS IN
EFFECT WITH RESPECT TO THE SECURITIES. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED
REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) THAT CONTAINED
AN INACCURATE ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT ID, SUBMITTED ERRONEOUS
DESK REPORTS, SUBMITTED REPORTS WITH AN INCORRECT SPECIAL
HANDLING CODE, ERRONEOUS HANDLING CODES, INCORRECT ORDER
RECEIVED TIME, INCORRECT LIMIT PRICE, SUBMITTED REPORTS
WITHOUT A REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE, INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A
NEW ORDER REPORT AND ROUTE REPORTS, AND FAILED TO SUBMIT A
ROUTE REPORT. THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED
ORDERS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES IT RECEIVED FOR
EXECUTION FORM ANY PERSON WHICH INCLUDED INCORRECT
INFORMATION. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY CLASSIFIED A COVERED ORDER
AS NOT COVERED AND CALCULATED AND REPORTED AN INCORRECT
AMOUNT OF TOTAL COVERED ORDERS, COVERED SHARES, AND TOTAL
CANCELLED SHARES. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO THE
FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) THE CORRECT
SYMBOL INDICATING THE RELATED MARKET CENTER IN TRANSACTIONS IN
REPORTABLE SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT THE EXERCISE
OF AN OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC) OPTION. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS,
REGULATIONS AND FINRA RULES ADDRESSING QUALITY OF MARKET
TOPICS. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS)
FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR ADEQUATE WSPS
IN TRADE REPORTING (USE OF TRADE MODIFIERS, THIRD PARTY
REPORTING); OATS (ACCURACY OF DATA); AND MULTIPLE MARKET
PARTICIPANT IDENTIFIERS (APPROVAL OF MPIDS). THE FIRM HAD FAIL-TO-
DELIVER POSITIONS AT A REGISTERED CLEARING AGENCY IN AN EQUITY
SECURITY THAT RESULTED FROM A LONG SALE, AND DID NOT CLOSE THE
FAIL-TO-DELIVER POSITIONS BY PURCHASING SECURITIES OF LIKE KIND
AND QUANTITY WITHIN THE TIME FRAME PRESCRIBED BY SEC RULE
204(A)(1). THE FIRM EXECUTED SHORT SALE ORDERS AND FAILED TO
PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT. THE FIRM FAILED TO
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY OR PARTIALLY EXECUTE CUSTOMER LIMIT
ORDERS IN A NASDAQ SECURITY AFTER IT TRADED EACH SUBJECT
ORDER FOR ITS OWN MARKET-MAKING ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT
WOULD HAVE SATISFIED EACH CUSTOMER'S LIMIT ORDER. THE FIRM
FAILED TO REPORT COMPLETE AND ACCURATE DATA TO THE FNTRF IN
TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY
REPORTED AN AGENCY CROSS TRANSACTION AS A PRINCIPAL
TRANSACTION WITH A BLANK CONTRA PARTY; FAILED TO REPORT THE
CONTRA PARTY BROKER-DEALER ON PRINCIPAL TRADES; REPORTED AN
INCORRECT BUY/SELL INDICATOR; FAILED TO REPORT THE CORRECT
EXECUTION TIME; AND FAILED TO TIMELY SUBMIT NON-TAPE REPORTS
WITH THE .RX MODIFIER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/24/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2009020108201

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s): NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES, REPORTABLE SECURITIES,
EQUITY SECURITIES, NASDAQ SECURITY

SEC RULES 204(A)(1),SEC RULE 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, SEC RULE
605 OF REGULATION NMS, FINRA RULES 2010, 7230A, 7450, NASD RULES
2110, 3010, 3340, INTERPRETIVE MATERIAL 2110-2 - MERRILL LYNCH
EFFECTED SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS WHILE A TRADING HALT WAS IN
EFFECT WITH RESPECT TO THE SECURITIES. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED
REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) THAT CONTAINED
AN INACCURATE ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT ID, SUBMITTED ERRONEOUS
DESK REPORTS, SUBMITTED REPORTS WITH AN INCORRECT SPECIAL
HANDLING CODE, ERRONEOUS HANDLING CODES, INCORRECT ORDER
RECEIVED TIME, INCORRECT LIMIT PRICE, SUBMITTED REPORTS
WITHOUT A REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE, INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A
NEW ORDER REPORT AND ROUTE REPORTS, AND FAILED TO SUBMIT A
ROUTE REPORT. THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED
ORDERS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES IT RECEIVED FOR
EXECUTION FORM ANY PERSON WHICH INCLUDED INCORRECT
INFORMATION. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY CLASSIFIED A COVERED ORDER
AS NOT COVERED AND CALCULATED AND REPORTED AN INCORRECT
AMOUNT OF TOTAL COVERED ORDERS, COVERED SHARES, AND TOTAL
CANCELLED SHARES. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO THE
FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) THE CORRECT
SYMBOL INDICATING THE RELATED MARKET CENTER IN TRANSACTIONS IN
REPORTABLE SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT THE EXERCISE
OF AN OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC) OPTION. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS,
REGULATIONS AND FINRA RULES ADDRESSING QUALITY OF MARKET
TOPICS. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS)
FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR ADEQUATE WSPS
IN TRADE REPORTING (USE OF TRADE MODIFIERS, THIRD PARTY
REPORTING); OATS (ACCURACY OF DATA); AND MULTIPLE MARKET
PARTICIPANT IDENTIFIERS (APPROVAL OF MPIDS). THE FIRM HAD FAIL-TO-
DELIVER POSITIONS AT A REGISTERED CLEARING AGENCY IN AN EQUITY
SECURITY THAT RESULTED FROM A LONG SALE, AND DID NOT CLOSE THE
FAIL-TO-DELIVER POSITIONS BY PURCHASING SECURITIES OF LIKE KIND
AND QUANTITY WITHIN THE TIME FRAME PRESCRIBED BY SEC RULE
204(A)(1). THE FIRM EXECUTED SHORT SALE ORDERS AND FAILED TO
PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT. THE FIRM FAILED TO
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY OR PARTIALLY EXECUTE CUSTOMER LIMIT
ORDERS IN A NASDAQ SECURITY AFTER IT TRADED EACH SUBJECT
ORDER FOR ITS OWN MARKET-MAKING ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT
WOULD HAVE SATISFIED EACH CUSTOMER'S LIMIT ORDER. THE FIRM
FAILED TO REPORT COMPLETE AND ACCURATE DATA TO THE FNTRF IN
TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY
REPORTED AN AGENCY CROSS TRANSACTION AS A PRINCIPAL
TRANSACTION WITH A BLANK CONTRA PARTY; FAILED TO REPORT THE
CONTRA PARTY BROKER-DEALER ON PRINCIPAL TRADES; REPORTED AN
INCORRECT BUY/SELL INDICATOR; FAILED TO REPORT THE CORRECT
EXECUTION TIME; AND FAILED TO TIMELY SUBMIT NON-TAPE REPORTS
WITH THE .RX MODIFIER.

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 10/24/2013

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $85,000, REQUIRED TO PAY
$77.98, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION AND REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS
WSPS REGARDING TRADE REPORTING (USE OF TRADE MODIFIERS, THIRD
PARTY REPORTING); OATS (ACCURACY OF DATA); AND MULTIPLE MARKET
PARTICIPANT IDENTIFIERS (APPROVAL OF MPIDS) WITHIN 30 BUSINESS
DAYS OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC. A REGISTERED FIRM
PRINCIPAL SHALL SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE
RESTITUTION, OR OF REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS
UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120
DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC. ANY UNDISTRIBUTED
RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL BE FORWARDED TO THE
APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER LAST
RESIDED. FINE PAID IN FULL ON NOVEMBER 15, 2013.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $85,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC RULES 204(A)(1), SEC RULE 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, SEC RULE
605 OF REGULATION NMS, FINRA RULES 2010, 7230A, 7450, NASD RULES
2110, 3010, 3340, INTERPRETIVE MATERIAL 2110-2 - MERRILL LYNCH
EFFECTED SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS WHILE A TRADING HALT WAS IN
EFFECT WITH RESPECT TO THE SECURITIES.  THE FIRM TRANSMITTED
REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) THAT CONTAINED
AN INACCURATE ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT ID, SUBMITTED ERRONEOUS
DESK REPORTS, SUBMITTED REPORTS WITH AN INCORRECT SPECIAL
HANDLING CODE, ERRONEOUS HANDLING CODES, INCORRECT ORDER
RECEIVED TIME, INCORRECT LIMIT PRICE, SUBMITTED REPORTS
WITHOUT A REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE, INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A
NEW ORDER REPORT AND ROUTE REPORTS, AND FAILED TO SUBMIT A
ROUTE REPORT.  THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED
ORDERS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES IT RECEIVED FOR
EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON WHICH INCLUDED INCORRECT
INFORMATION.  THE FIRM INCORRECTLY CLASSIFIED A COVERED ORDER
AS NOT COVERED AND CALCULATED AND REPORTED AN INCORRECT
AMOUNT OF TOTAL COVERED ORDERS, COVERED SHARES, AND TOTAL
CANCELLED SHARES.  THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO THE
FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) THE CORRECT
SYMBOL INDICATING THE RELATED MARKET CENTER IN TRANSACTIONS IN
REPORTABLE SECURITIES.  THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT THE EXERCISE
OF AN OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC) OPTION.  THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS,
REGULATIONS AND FINRA RULES ADDRESSING QUALITY OF MARKET
TOPICS.  THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS)
FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR ADEQUATE WSPS
IN TRADE REPORTING (USE OF TRADE MODIFIERS, THIRD PARTY
REPORTING); OATS (ACCURACY OF DATA); AND MULTIPLE MARKET
PARTICIPANT IDENTIFIERS (APPROVAL OF MPIDS).  THE FIRM HAD FAIL-TO-
DELIVER POSITIONS AT A REGISTERED CLEARING AGENCY IN AN EQUITY
SECURITY THAT RESULTED FROM A LONG SALE, AND DID NOT CLOSE THE
FAIL-TO-DELIVER POSITIONS BY PURCHASING SECURITIES OF LIKE KIND
AND QUANTITY WITHIN THE TIME FRAME PRESCRIBED BY SEC RULE
204(A)(1). THE FIRM EXECUTED SHORT SALE ORDERS AND FAILED TO
PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT.  THE FIRM FAILED TO
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY OR PARTIALLY EXECUTE CUSTOMER LIMIT
ORDERS IN A NASDAQ SECURITY AFTER IT TRADED EACH SUBJECT
ORDER FOR ITS OWN MARKET-MAKING ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT
WOULD HAVE SATISFIED EACH CUSTOMER'S LIMIT ORDER.  THE FIRM
FAILED TO REPORT COMPLETE AND ACCURATE DATA TO THE FNTRF IN
TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES.  THE FIRM INCORRECTLY
REPORTED AN AGENCY CROSS TRANSACTION AS A PRINCIPAL
TRANSACTION WITH A BLANK CONTRA PARTY; FAILED TO REPORT THE
CONTRA PARTY BROKER-DEALER ON PRINCIPAL TRADES; REPORTED AN
INCORRECT BUY/SELL INDICATOR; FAILED TO REPORT THE CORRECT
EXECUTION TIME; AND FAILED TO TIMELY SUBMIT NON-TAPE REPORTS
WITH THE .RX MODIFIER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 10/24/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2009020108201

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s): NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES, REPORTABLE SECURITIES,
EQUITY SECURITIES, NASDAQ SECURITY

SEC RULES 204(A)(1), SEC RULE 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, SEC RULE
605 OF REGULATION NMS, FINRA RULES 2010, 7230A, 7450, NASD RULES
2110, 3010, 3340, INTERPRETIVE MATERIAL 2110-2 - MERRILL LYNCH
EFFECTED SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS WHILE A TRADING HALT WAS IN
EFFECT WITH RESPECT TO THE SECURITIES.  THE FIRM TRANSMITTED
REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) THAT CONTAINED
AN INACCURATE ORIGINATING DEPARTMENT ID, SUBMITTED ERRONEOUS
DESK REPORTS, SUBMITTED REPORTS WITH AN INCORRECT SPECIAL
HANDLING CODE, ERRONEOUS HANDLING CODES, INCORRECT ORDER
RECEIVED TIME, INCORRECT LIMIT PRICE, SUBMITTED REPORTS
WITHOUT A REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE, INCORRECTLY SUBMITTED A
NEW ORDER REPORT AND ROUTE REPORTS, AND FAILED TO SUBMIT A
ROUTE REPORT.  THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED
ORDERS IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES IT RECEIVED FOR
EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON WHICH INCLUDED INCORRECT
INFORMATION.  THE FIRM INCORRECTLY CLASSIFIED A COVERED ORDER
AS NOT COVERED AND CALCULATED AND REPORTED AN INCORRECT
AMOUNT OF TOTAL COVERED ORDERS, COVERED SHARES, AND TOTAL
CANCELLED SHARES.  THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO THE
FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) THE CORRECT
SYMBOL INDICATING THE RELATED MARKET CENTER IN TRANSACTIONS IN
REPORTABLE SECURITIES.  THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT THE EXERCISE
OF AN OVER-THE-COUNTER (OTC) OPTION.  THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS,
REGULATIONS AND FINRA RULES ADDRESSING QUALITY OF MARKET
TOPICS.  THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS)
FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR ADEQUATE WSPS
IN TRADE REPORTING (USE OF TRADE MODIFIERS, THIRD PARTY
REPORTING); OATS (ACCURACY OF DATA); AND MULTIPLE MARKET
PARTICIPANT IDENTIFIERS (APPROVAL OF MPIDS).  THE FIRM HAD FAIL-TO-
DELIVER POSITIONS AT A REGISTERED CLEARING AGENCY IN AN EQUITY
SECURITY THAT RESULTED FROM A LONG SALE, AND DID NOT CLOSE THE
FAIL-TO-DELIVER POSITIONS BY PURCHASING SECURITIES OF LIKE KIND
AND QUANTITY WITHIN THE TIME FRAME PRESCRIBED BY SEC RULE
204(A)(1). THE FIRM EXECUTED SHORT SALE ORDERS AND FAILED TO
PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT.  THE FIRM FAILED TO
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY OR PARTIALLY EXECUTE CUSTOMER LIMIT
ORDERS IN A NASDAQ SECURITY AFTER IT TRADED EACH SUBJECT
ORDER FOR ITS OWN MARKET-MAKING ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT
WOULD HAVE SATISFIED EACH CUSTOMER'S LIMIT ORDER.  THE FIRM
FAILED TO REPORT COMPLETE AND ACCURATE DATA TO THE FNTRF IN
TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES.  THE FIRM INCORRECTLY
REPORTED AN AGENCY CROSS TRANSACTION AS A PRINCIPAL
TRANSACTION WITH A BLANK CONTRA PARTY; FAILED TO REPORT THE
CONTRA PARTY BROKER-DEALER ON PRINCIPAL TRADES; REPORTED AN
INCORRECT BUY/SELL INDICATOR; FAILED TO REPORT THE CORRECT
EXECUTION TIME; AND FAILED TO TIMELY SUBMIT NON-TAPE REPORTS
WITH THE .RX MODIFIER.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; RESTITUTION; UNDERTAKING

Other Product Type(s): NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES, REPORTABLE SECURITIES,
EQUITY SECURITIES, NASDAQ SECURITY

Resolution Date: 10/24/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $85,000, REQUIRED TO PAY
$77.98, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION AND REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS
WSPS REGARDING TRADE REPORTING (USE OF TRADE MODIFIERS, THIRD
PARTY REPORTING); OATS (ACCURACY OF DATA); AND MULTIPLE MARKET
PARTICIPATION IDENTIFIERS (APPROVAL OF MPIDS) WITHIN 30 BUSINESS
DAYS OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC.  A REGISTERED FIRM
PRINCIPAL SHALL SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE
RESTITUTION, OR OF REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS
UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120
DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC.  ANY UNDISTRIBUTED
RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL BE FORWARDED TO THE
APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER LAST
RESIDED.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $85,000, REQUIRED TO PAY
$77.98, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION AND REQUIRED TO REVISE ITS
WSPS REGARDING TRADE REPORTING (USE OF TRADE MODIFIERS, THIRD
PARTY REPORTING); OATS (ACCURACY OF DATA); AND MULTIPLE MARKET
PARTICIPATION IDENTIFIERS (APPROVAL OF MPIDS).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $85,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 145 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: THE DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, SECURITIES AND BANKING
("DEPARTMENT") CONDUCTED AN INVESTIGATION INTO MERRILL LYNCH'S
ACTIONS AS A BROKER-DEALER IN CONNECTION WITH A TRANSACTION
BETWEEN A MERRILL LYNCH REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE ("AGENT")
WITH A CUSTOMER ("COMPLAINANT").  MERRILL LYNCH HAS COOPERATED
WITH THE DEPARTMENT BY RESPONDING TO INQUIRIES, PROVIDING
DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE AND OTHER MATERIALS, AND PROVIDING THE
DEPARTMENT WITH ACCESS TO FACTS RELATING TO THE UNDERLYING
COMPLAINT.  THE DEPARTMENT AND MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO SETTLE
THE MATTER.  MERRILL LYNCH HAD PAID RESTITUTION TO COMPLAINANT,
AND TO MAKE A $15,000 CIVIL PAYMENT.   THE DEPARTMENT AGREED TO
NOT PURSUE ACTION AGAINST THE AGENT, AND NOT PURSUE ANY ACTION
RELATED TO THE EVENTS OF THE INVESTIGATION.  THE MATTER IS NOW
RESOLVED.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: DISTRICT OF  COLUMBIA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/03/2013

Docket/Case Number: SB-05-13

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, SECURITIES AND BANKING
("DEPARTMENT") CONDUCTED AN INVESTIGATION INTO MERRILL LYNCH'S
ACTIONS AS A BROKER-DEALER IN CONNECTION WITH A TRANSACTION
BETWEEN A MERRILL LYNCH REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE ("AGENT")
WITH A CUSTOMER ("COMPLAINANT").  MERRILL LYNCH HAS COOPERATED
WITH THE DEPARTMENT BY RESPONDING TO INQUIRIES, PROVIDING
DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE AND OTHER MATERIALS, AND PROVIDING THE
DEPARTMENT WITH ACCESS TO FACTS RELATING TO THE UNDERLYING
COMPLAINT.  THE DEPARTMENT AND MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO SETTLE
THE MATTER.  MERRILL LYNCH HAD PAID RESTITUTION TO COMPLAINANT,
AND TO MAKE A $15,000 CIVIL PAYMENT.   THE DEPARTMENT AGREED TO
NOT PURSUE ACTION AGAINST THE AGENT, AND NOT PURSUE ANY ACTION
RELATED TO THE EVENTS OF THE INVESTIGATION.  THE MATTER IS NOW
RESOLVED.

Resolution Date: 09/10/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NONE

Sanction Details: THE MERRILL LYNCH AGENT FAILED TO FURNISH UPON REASONABLE
REQUEST, MATERIAL INFORMATION THAT WAS REASONABLE AND THAT
COMPLAINANT WAS ENTITLED TO IN RESPONSE TO A WRITTEN REQUEST
IN VIOLATION OF 26 DCMR B 119.2(U).
AS A RESULT OF THE AGENT'S CONDUCT, MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED JUST
AND EQUITABLE STANDARD OF CONDUCT (FINRA RULE 2010), IN
VIOLATION OF 26 DCMR B 119.2 (BB) AND SHALL CEASED AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING 26   DCMR B 119.2 (BB).

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Other
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THE MERRILL LYNCH AGENT FAILED TO FURNISH UPON REASONABLE
REQUEST, MATERIAL INFORMATION THAT WAS REASONABLE AND THAT
COMPLAINANT WAS ENTITLED TO IN RESPONSE TO A WRITTEN REQUEST
IN VIOLATION OF 26 DCMR B 119.2(U).
AS A RESULT OF THE AGENT'S CONDUCT, MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED JUST
AND EQUITABLE STANDARD OF CONDUCT (FINRA RULE 2010), IN
VIOLATION OF 26 DCMR B 119.2 (BB) AND SHALL CEASED AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING 26   DCMR B 119.2 (BB).

Regulator Statement ON NOVEMBER 25, 2013 PAYMENT RECEIVED FOR $15,000.00, CHECK
#000077918.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, SECURITIES AND
BANKING (THE "DEPARTMENT")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/10/2013

Docket/Case Number: SB-05-13

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: AN AGENT OF THE APPLICANT FAILED TO FURNISH A CLIENT MATERIAL
INFORMATION THAT THE CLIENT WAS ENTITLED TO ON A TIMELY BASIS IN
VIOLATION OF 26 DCMR B 119.2(U).  AS A RESULT OF THE AGENT'S
CONDUCT, THE APPLICANT VIOLATED JUST AND EQUITABLE STANDARDS
OF CONDUCT (FINRA RULE 2010), IN VIOLATION OF 26 DCMR B 119.2 (BB).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/10/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE APPLICANT ALSO PAID $15,000 TO THE DEPARTMENT TO BE
DEPOSITED IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA'S GENERAL FUND WHICH MAY
BE USED TO REIMBURSE THE DEPARTMENT FOR COSTS INCURRED
DURING THE INVESTIGATION OF THIS MATTER, FOR SECURITIES AND
INVESTOR EDUCATION, AND/OR FOR OTHER SECURITIES AND INVESTOR
PROTECTION PURPOSES, AT THE SOLE DISCRETION OF THE
COMMISSIONER.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE STATEMENT OF FACTS AND
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE APPLICANT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF
THE ADMINISTRATIVE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, PAID $15,000 TO THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA'S GENERAL FUND, AND SHALL CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING 26 DCMR B 119.2 (BB).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE STATEMENT OF FACTS AND
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE APPLICANT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF
THE ADMINISTRATIVE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, PAID $15,000 TO THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA'S GENERAL FUND, AND SHALL CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING 26 DCMR B 119.2 (BB).

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE STATEMENT OF FACTS AND
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE APPLICANT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF
THE ADMINISTRATIVE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, PAID $15,000 TO THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA'S GENERAL FUND, AND SHALL CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING 26 DCMR B 119.2 (BB).

Disclosure 146 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 09/26/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2011025580202

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: MSRB RULE G-34:

THE FIRM MADE ADJUSTMENTS TO ITS AUCTION RATE SECURITY SYSTEM
LOGIC TO CONFORM TO AMENDMENTS TO MSRB RULE G-34 AND G-8. AS A
RESULT OF AN ERROR IN THIS PROCESS, THE FIRM BEGAN
MISREPORTING TO THE SHORT TERM OBLIGATION RATE TRANSPARENCY
SYSTEM (SHORT) THAT INTEREST RATES ASSOCIATED WITH VARIOUS
AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) COMMITTEE ON UNIFORM SECURITY
IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURES (CUSIPS) WERE TRIGGERED BY AUCTION
RATHER THAN BY RESETS TO THE MAXIMUM INTEREST RATES
ASSOCIATED WITH THOSE CUSIPS. OUT OF THE 451 REPORTS THE FIRM
MADE TO SHORT, 373 (82.7 PERCENT) ERRONEOUSLY STATED THAT THE
INTEREST RATES ASSOCIATED WITH THE CUSIPS BEING REPORTED WERE
SET BY AUCTION. IN FACT, NO AUCTION HAD OCCURRED WITH RESPECT
TO ANY OF THE 373 CUSIPS THAT WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE
ERRONEOUS REPORTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 09/26/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000 ($10,000 OF WHICH
PERTAINS TO THE VIOLATION OF MSRB RULE G-34). FINE PAID IN FULL
10/22/13.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 09/26/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2011025580202

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: MSRB RULE G-34: THE FIRM MADE ADJUSTMENTS TO ITS AUCTION RATE
SECURITY SYSTEM LOGIC TO CONFORM TO AMENDMENTS TO MSRB RULE
G-34 AND G-8. AS A RESULT OF AN ERROR IN THIS PROCESS, THE FIRM
BEGAN MISREPORTING TO THE SHORT TERM OBLIGATION RATE
TRANSPARENCY SYSTEM (SHORT) THAT INTEREST RATES ASSOCIATED
WITH VARIOUS AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) COMMITTEE ON
UNIFORM SECURITY IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURES (CUSIPS) WERE
TRIGGERED BY AUCTION RATHER THAN BY RESETS TO THE MAXIMUM
INTEREST RATES ASSOCIATED WITH THOSE CUSIPS. OUT OF THE 451
REPORTS THE FIRM MADE TO SHORT, 373 (82.7 PERCENT) ERRONEOUSLY
STATED THAT THE INTEREST RATES ASSOCIATED WITH THE CUSIPS BEING
REPORTED WERE SET BY AUCTION. IN FACT, NO AUCTION HAD
OCCURRED WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE 373 CUSIPS THAT WERE THE
SUBJECT OF THE ERRONEOUS REPORTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 09/26/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000 ($10,000 OF WHICH
PERTAINS TO THE VIOLATION OF MSRB RULE G-34).

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000 ($10,000 OF WHICH
PERTAINS TO THE VIOLATION OF MSRB RULE G-34).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 147 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010 AND NASD RULES 2110 AND 2711 AND 2711(I):
AS A RESULT OF AN ACQUISITION, THE RESEARCH DEPARTMENT OF THE
FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO CONSIDER A COMPANY'S RELATIONSHIP WITH
THE COMPANIES THAT WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE RESEARCH REPORT
(COVERED COMPANIES) IN DETERMINING WHICH REQUIRED
DISCLOSURES TO INCLUDE IN RESEARCH REPORTS ISSUED BY THE FIRM.
AS A RESULT OF THE COMPRESSED TIMELINE OF THE ACQUISITION, THE
COMPANY STILL USED SEPARATE SYSTEMS FROM THE FIRM AFTER THE
ACQUISITION, AND RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY TEAMS FROM THE TWO
ENTITIES WERE REQUIRED TO AGGREGATE INFORMATION ABOUT THE
TWO ENTITIES' RESPECTIVE RELATIONSHIPS WITH COVERED COMPANIES
IN ORDER TO GENERATE COMPLETE AND ACCURATE REQUIRED
DISCLOSURES IN RESEARCH REPORTS.  HOWEVER, THE ERRORS
OCCURRED IN THIS AGGREGATION PROCESS THAT WAS NOT
DISCOVERED BY THE FIRM FOR 18 MONTHS. AN UPSTREAM COMPANY
FILE THAT WAS USED TO MATCH COMPANIES COVERED BY THE FIRM'S
RESEARCH DEPARTMENT WITH THE COMPANY REVENUES AND CLIENT
RELATIONSHIPS INCLUDED INACCURATE DATA, AND THE PROCESS
DESIGNED TO UPDATE THAT FILE FAILED. AS A RESULT, THE COMPANY
INFORMATION USED BY THE FIRM'S RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY TO
DETERMINE DISCLOSURES WAS STALE AND RESULTED IN THE OMISSION
OF REQUIRED DISCLOSURES IN APPROXIMATELY 19,200 RESEARCH
REPORTS.

AN ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN ON AN UNDETERMINED
DATE WHEN A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR PROVIDED INCOMPLETE DATA TO
THE FIRM TO COVERED COMPANIES. AS A RESULT OF THE INCOMPLETE
DATA, AN UNDETERMINED NUMBER OF RESEARCH REPORTS RELATING
TO THE COVERED COMPANIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE WHETHER THE FIRM
HAD MANAGED OR CO-MANAGED A PUBLIC OFFERING OF THE COVERED
COMPANY'S SECURITIES IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS. THE MISSING DATA
WAS DISCOVERED AND CORRECTED, BUT IT HAS NOT BEEN DETERMINED
WHEN THE DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN OR HOW MANY RESEARCH
REPORTS WERE IMPACTED BY IT.

A NEW THIRD-PARTY VENDOR BEGAN PROVIDING THE FIRM WITH STOCK
PRICE INFORMATION THAT CONTAINED INCORRECT DATA RELATED TO
CERTAIN COVERED COMPANIES THAT HAD BEEN IMPACTED BY A STOCK
SPLIT. THE DATA PROBLEM OCCURRED IN EACH MONTHLY FILE THAT THE
FIRM RECEIVED FROM THE VENDOR SINCE SEPTEMBER 2008, AND
IMPACTED AS A MANY AS 13,778 FUNDAMENTAL EQUITY RESEARCH
REPORTS. AS A RESULT OF THE DATA PROBLEM, AN UNDETERMINED BUT
SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF THESE REPORTS INCLUDED A PRICE CHART
THAT RETROACTIVELY ADJUSTED THE HISTORICAL STOCK PRICE OF THE
COVERED COMPANY TO REFLECT A SUBSEQUENT STOCK SPLIT BUT DID
NOT PROVIDE THE SAME RETROACTIVE ADJUSTMENT TO THE HISTORICAL
PRICE TARGETS INCLUDED IN THE CHART. AS A RESULT, IMPACTED PRICE
CHARTS SHOWED A DISTORTED RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE
HISTORICAL STOCK PRICES AND THE HISTORICAL PRICE TARGET. THESE
ERRORS WERE ALSO REFLECTED ON THE FIRM'S PRICE CHARTS
WEBSITE DURING THIS PERIOD.

ALTHOUGH THE FIRM'S RESEARCH DEPARTMENT HAD POLICIES,
PROCEDURES, AND TESTING PRACTICES (PROCEDURES) WITH RESPECT
TO RESEARCH DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHARTS DURING THE TIME
PERIOD OF THE VIOLATIONS, THE PROCEDURES FOCUSED ON THE
DOWNSTREAM ASPECTS OF THE RESEARCH REPORT CREATION
PROCESS. THE PROCEDURES DID NOT EFFECTIVELY EVALUATE THE
ACCURACY OF THE DATA PROVIDED BY INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL DATA
SOURCES TO THE RESEARCH DEPARTMENT THROUGH THE RESEARCH
DATA REPOSITORY, BUT RATHER WERE INTENDED TO ENSURE THAT THE
DATA WAS ACCURATELY AND COMPLETELY REFLECTED ON RESEARCH
REPORTS. THE PROCEDURES INCLUDED SEPARATE STEPS FOR
RESEARCH ANALYSTS (WHO ASSEMBLED RESEARCH REPORTS),
SUPERVISORY ANALYSTS (WHOSE APPROVAL WAS NECESSARY BEFORE A
RESEARCH REPORT WAS ISSUED), AND A SUPPORT UNIT CALLED
SUPERVISORY ANALYST SUPPORT SERVICES.

BECAUSE THE PROCEDURES WERE NOT DESIGNATED TO EVALUATE THE
UNDERLYING ACCURACY OF THE DATA FROM INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL
DATA SOURCES IN THE RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY, AND BECAUSE THE
DISCLOSURE AND PRICE CHART FAILURES WERE CAUSED BY
INACCURACIES IN UNDERLYING DATA, THE PROCEDURES WERE
INEFFECTIVE IN IDENTIFYING THE DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHART
DEFICIENCIES. CONTINUED IN COMMENT

Current Status: Final
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FINRA RULE 2010 AND NASD RULES 2110 AND 2711 AND 2711(I):
AS A RESULT OF AN ACQUISITION, THE RESEARCH DEPARTMENT OF THE
FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO CONSIDER A COMPANY'S RELATIONSHIP WITH
THE COMPANIES THAT WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE RESEARCH REPORT
(COVERED COMPANIES) IN DETERMINING WHICH REQUIRED
DISCLOSURES TO INCLUDE IN RESEARCH REPORTS ISSUED BY THE FIRM.
AS A RESULT OF THE COMPRESSED TIMELINE OF THE ACQUISITION, THE
COMPANY STILL USED SEPARATE SYSTEMS FROM THE FIRM AFTER THE
ACQUISITION, AND RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY TEAMS FROM THE TWO
ENTITIES WERE REQUIRED TO AGGREGATE INFORMATION ABOUT THE
TWO ENTITIES' RESPECTIVE RELATIONSHIPS WITH COVERED COMPANIES
IN ORDER TO GENERATE COMPLETE AND ACCURATE REQUIRED
DISCLOSURES IN RESEARCH REPORTS.  HOWEVER, THE ERRORS
OCCURRED IN THIS AGGREGATION PROCESS THAT WAS NOT
DISCOVERED BY THE FIRM FOR 18 MONTHS. AN UPSTREAM COMPANY
FILE THAT WAS USED TO MATCH COMPANIES COVERED BY THE FIRM'S
RESEARCH DEPARTMENT WITH THE COMPANY REVENUES AND CLIENT
RELATIONSHIPS INCLUDED INACCURATE DATA, AND THE PROCESS
DESIGNED TO UPDATE THAT FILE FAILED. AS A RESULT, THE COMPANY
INFORMATION USED BY THE FIRM'S RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY TO
DETERMINE DISCLOSURES WAS STALE AND RESULTED IN THE OMISSION
OF REQUIRED DISCLOSURES IN APPROXIMATELY 19,200 RESEARCH
REPORTS.

AN ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN ON AN UNDETERMINED
DATE WHEN A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR PROVIDED INCOMPLETE DATA TO
THE FIRM TO COVERED COMPANIES. AS A RESULT OF THE INCOMPLETE
DATA, AN UNDETERMINED NUMBER OF RESEARCH REPORTS RELATING
TO THE COVERED COMPANIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE WHETHER THE FIRM
HAD MANAGED OR CO-MANAGED A PUBLIC OFFERING OF THE COVERED
COMPANY'S SECURITIES IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS. THE MISSING DATA
WAS DISCOVERED AND CORRECTED, BUT IT HAS NOT BEEN DETERMINED
WHEN THE DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN OR HOW MANY RESEARCH
REPORTS WERE IMPACTED BY IT.

A NEW THIRD-PARTY VENDOR BEGAN PROVIDING THE FIRM WITH STOCK
PRICE INFORMATION THAT CONTAINED INCORRECT DATA RELATED TO
CERTAIN COVERED COMPANIES THAT HAD BEEN IMPACTED BY A STOCK
SPLIT. THE DATA PROBLEM OCCURRED IN EACH MONTHLY FILE THAT THE
FIRM RECEIVED FROM THE VENDOR SINCE SEPTEMBER 2008, AND
IMPACTED AS A MANY AS 13,778 FUNDAMENTAL EQUITY RESEARCH
REPORTS. AS A RESULT OF THE DATA PROBLEM, AN UNDETERMINED BUT
SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF THESE REPORTS INCLUDED A PRICE CHART
THAT RETROACTIVELY ADJUSTED THE HISTORICAL STOCK PRICE OF THE
COVERED COMPANY TO REFLECT A SUBSEQUENT STOCK SPLIT BUT DID
NOT PROVIDE THE SAME RETROACTIVE ADJUSTMENT TO THE HISTORICAL
PRICE TARGETS INCLUDED IN THE CHART. AS A RESULT, IMPACTED PRICE
CHARTS SHOWED A DISTORTED RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE
HISTORICAL STOCK PRICES AND THE HISTORICAL PRICE TARGET. THESE
ERRORS WERE ALSO REFLECTED ON THE FIRM'S PRICE CHARTS
WEBSITE DURING THIS PERIOD.

ALTHOUGH THE FIRM'S RESEARCH DEPARTMENT HAD POLICIES,
PROCEDURES, AND TESTING PRACTICES (PROCEDURES) WITH RESPECT
TO RESEARCH DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHARTS DURING THE TIME
PERIOD OF THE VIOLATIONS, THE PROCEDURES FOCUSED ON THE
DOWNSTREAM ASPECTS OF THE RESEARCH REPORT CREATION
PROCESS. THE PROCEDURES DID NOT EFFECTIVELY EVALUATE THE
ACCURACY OF THE DATA PROVIDED BY INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL DATA
SOURCES TO THE RESEARCH DEPARTMENT THROUGH THE RESEARCH
DATA REPOSITORY, BUT RATHER WERE INTENDED TO ENSURE THAT THE
DATA WAS ACCURATELY AND COMPLETELY REFLECTED ON RESEARCH
REPORTS. THE PROCEDURES INCLUDED SEPARATE STEPS FOR
RESEARCH ANALYSTS (WHO ASSEMBLED RESEARCH REPORTS),
SUPERVISORY ANALYSTS (WHOSE APPROVAL WAS NECESSARY BEFORE A
RESEARCH REPORT WAS ISSUED), AND A SUPPORT UNIT CALLED
SUPERVISORY ANALYST SUPPORT SERVICES.

BECAUSE THE PROCEDURES WERE NOT DESIGNATED TO EVALUATE THE
UNDERLYING ACCURACY OF THE DATA FROM INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL
DATA SOURCES IN THE RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY, AND BECAUSE THE
DISCLOSURE AND PRICE CHART FAILURES WERE CAUSED BY
INACCURACIES IN UNDERLYING DATA, THE PROCEDURES WERE
INEFFECTIVE IN IDENTIFYING THE DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHART
DEFICIENCIES. CONTINUED IN COMMENT

448©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 09/23/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2011027434101

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

FINRA RULE 2010 AND NASD RULES 2110 AND 2711 AND 2711(I):
AS A RESULT OF AN ACQUISITION, THE RESEARCH DEPARTMENT OF THE
FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO CONSIDER A COMPANY'S RELATIONSHIP WITH
THE COMPANIES THAT WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE RESEARCH REPORT
(COVERED COMPANIES) IN DETERMINING WHICH REQUIRED
DISCLOSURES TO INCLUDE IN RESEARCH REPORTS ISSUED BY THE FIRM.
AS A RESULT OF THE COMPRESSED TIMELINE OF THE ACQUISITION, THE
COMPANY STILL USED SEPARATE SYSTEMS FROM THE FIRM AFTER THE
ACQUISITION, AND RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY TEAMS FROM THE TWO
ENTITIES WERE REQUIRED TO AGGREGATE INFORMATION ABOUT THE
TWO ENTITIES' RESPECTIVE RELATIONSHIPS WITH COVERED COMPANIES
IN ORDER TO GENERATE COMPLETE AND ACCURATE REQUIRED
DISCLOSURES IN RESEARCH REPORTS.  HOWEVER, THE ERRORS
OCCURRED IN THIS AGGREGATION PROCESS THAT WAS NOT
DISCOVERED BY THE FIRM FOR 18 MONTHS. AN UPSTREAM COMPANY
FILE THAT WAS USED TO MATCH COMPANIES COVERED BY THE FIRM'S
RESEARCH DEPARTMENT WITH THE COMPANY REVENUES AND CLIENT
RELATIONSHIPS INCLUDED INACCURATE DATA, AND THE PROCESS
DESIGNED TO UPDATE THAT FILE FAILED. AS A RESULT, THE COMPANY
INFORMATION USED BY THE FIRM'S RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY TO
DETERMINE DISCLOSURES WAS STALE AND RESULTED IN THE OMISSION
OF REQUIRED DISCLOSURES IN APPROXIMATELY 19,200 RESEARCH
REPORTS.

AN ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN ON AN UNDETERMINED
DATE WHEN A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR PROVIDED INCOMPLETE DATA TO
THE FIRM TO COVERED COMPANIES. AS A RESULT OF THE INCOMPLETE
DATA, AN UNDETERMINED NUMBER OF RESEARCH REPORTS RELATING
TO THE COVERED COMPANIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE WHETHER THE FIRM
HAD MANAGED OR CO-MANAGED A PUBLIC OFFERING OF THE COVERED
COMPANY'S SECURITIES IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS. THE MISSING DATA
WAS DISCOVERED AND CORRECTED, BUT IT HAS NOT BEEN DETERMINED
WHEN THE DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN OR HOW MANY RESEARCH
REPORTS WERE IMPACTED BY IT.

A NEW THIRD-PARTY VENDOR BEGAN PROVIDING THE FIRM WITH STOCK
PRICE INFORMATION THAT CONTAINED INCORRECT DATA RELATED TO
CERTAIN COVERED COMPANIES THAT HAD BEEN IMPACTED BY A STOCK
SPLIT. THE DATA PROBLEM OCCURRED IN EACH MONTHLY FILE THAT THE
FIRM RECEIVED FROM THE VENDOR SINCE SEPTEMBER 2008, AND
IMPACTED AS A MANY AS 13,778 FUNDAMENTAL EQUITY RESEARCH
REPORTS. AS A RESULT OF THE DATA PROBLEM, AN UNDETERMINED BUT
SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF THESE REPORTS INCLUDED A PRICE CHART
THAT RETROACTIVELY ADJUSTED THE HISTORICAL STOCK PRICE OF THE
COVERED COMPANY TO REFLECT A SUBSEQUENT STOCK SPLIT BUT DID
NOT PROVIDE THE SAME RETROACTIVE ADJUSTMENT TO THE HISTORICAL
PRICE TARGETS INCLUDED IN THE CHART. AS A RESULT, IMPACTED PRICE
CHARTS SHOWED A DISTORTED RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE
HISTORICAL STOCK PRICES AND THE HISTORICAL PRICE TARGET. THESE
ERRORS WERE ALSO REFLECTED ON THE FIRM'S PRICE CHARTS
WEBSITE DURING THIS PERIOD.

ALTHOUGH THE FIRM'S RESEARCH DEPARTMENT HAD POLICIES,
PROCEDURES, AND TESTING PRACTICES (PROCEDURES) WITH RESPECT
TO RESEARCH DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHARTS DURING THE TIME
PERIOD OF THE VIOLATIONS, THE PROCEDURES FOCUSED ON THE
DOWNSTREAM ASPECTS OF THE RESEARCH REPORT CREATION
PROCESS. THE PROCEDURES DID NOT EFFECTIVELY EVALUATE THE
ACCURACY OF THE DATA PROVIDED BY INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL DATA
SOURCES TO THE RESEARCH DEPARTMENT THROUGH THE RESEARCH
DATA REPOSITORY, BUT RATHER WERE INTENDED TO ENSURE THAT THE
DATA WAS ACCURATELY AND COMPLETELY REFLECTED ON RESEARCH
REPORTS. THE PROCEDURES INCLUDED SEPARATE STEPS FOR
RESEARCH ANALYSTS (WHO ASSEMBLED RESEARCH REPORTS),
SUPERVISORY ANALYSTS (WHOSE APPROVAL WAS NECESSARY BEFORE A
RESEARCH REPORT WAS ISSUED), AND A SUPPORT UNIT CALLED
SUPERVISORY ANALYST SUPPORT SERVICES.

BECAUSE THE PROCEDURES WERE NOT DESIGNATED TO EVALUATE THE
UNDERLYING ACCURACY OF THE DATA FROM INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL
DATA SOURCES IN THE RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY, AND BECAUSE THE
DISCLOSURE AND PRICE CHART FAILURES WERE CAUSED BY
INACCURACIES IN UNDERLYING DATA, THE PROCEDURES WERE
INEFFECTIVE IN IDENTIFYING THE DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHART
DEFICIENCIES. CONTINUED IN COMMENT

Resolution Date: 09/23/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $325,000. IN DETERMINING THE
SANCTIONS IN THIS MATTER, FINRA TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION SEVERAL
FACTORS: (1) THE FIRM PROMPTLY SELF-REPORTED ALL OF THE
DEFICIENCIES SET FORTH IN THIS AWC: (2) THE FIRM TOOK SIGNIFICANT
REMEDIAL ACTION TO PREVENT THE REOCCURRENCE OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES: AND (3) IN EARLY 2011, THE FIRM ENGAGED AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT FOR A 22 MONTH PERIOD TO ASSIST AN
INTERNAL TASK FORCE WITH, AMONG OTHER THINGS, INTRODUCING NEW
TECHNOLOGIES AND PROCESSES DESIGNED TO REMEDY THE PROBLEMS
THAT HAD BEEN CAUSED BY INACCURATE UPSTREAM DATA. FINED PAID IN
FULL 10/15/13.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $325,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $325,000. IN DETERMINING THE
SANCTIONS IN THIS MATTER, FINRA TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION SEVERAL
FACTORS: (1) THE FIRM PROMPTLY SELF-REPORTED ALL OF THE
DEFICIENCIES SET FORTH IN THIS AWC: (2) THE FIRM TOOK SIGNIFICANT
REMEDIAL ACTION TO PREVENT THE REOCCURRENCE OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES: AND (3) IN EARLY 2011, THE FIRM ENGAGED AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT FOR A 22 MONTH PERIOD TO ASSIST AN
INTERNAL TASK FORCE WITH, AMONG OTHER THINGS, INTRODUCING NEW
TECHNOLOGIES AND PROCESSES DESIGNED TO REMEDY THE PROBLEMS
THAT HAD BEEN CAUSED BY INACCURATE UPSTREAM DATA. FINED PAID IN
FULL 10/15/13.

Regulator Statement ALLEGATIONS CONTINUED: THE FIRM ALSO DID NOT HAVE PROCEDURES
DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT THIRD PARTY PRICING INFORMATION USED
FOR PRICE CHARTS WAS ACCURATE AS IT RELATED TO CORPORATE
ACTIONS AFFECTING THE PRICE OF STOCK AND SUCH ADJUSTED PRICES
WERE ACCURATELY REFLECTED ON THE PRICE CHART.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010 AND NASD RULES 2110 AND 2711 AND 2711(I): AS A
RESULT OF THE ACQUISITION OF MERRILL LYNCH & CO., INC.  BY BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, THE RESEARCH DEPARTMENT OF MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (FIRM) WAS REQUIRED
TO CONSIDER BOTH ENTITIES' RELATIONSHIP WITH THE COMPANIES THAT
WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE RESEARCH REPORT (COVERED COMPANIES)
IN DETERMINING WHICH REQUIRED DISCLOSURES TO INCLUDE IN
RESEARCH REPORTS ISSUED BY THE FIRM. AS A RESULT OF THE
COMPRESSED TIMELINE OF THE ACQUISITION, THE FIRM STILL USED
SEPARATE SYSTEMS FROM EACH ENTITY AFTER THE ACQUISITION, AND
RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY TEAMS FROM THE TWO ENTITIES WERE
REQUIRED TO AGGREGATE INFORMATION ABOUT THE TWO ENTITIES'
RESPECTIVE RELATIONSHIPS WITH COVERED COMPANIES IN ORDER TO
GENERATE COMPLETE AND ACCURATE REQUIRED DISCLOSURES IN
RESEARCH REPORTS. HOWEVER, ERRORS OCCURRED IN THIS
AGGREGATION PROCESS THAT WAS NOT DISCOVERED BY THE FIRM FOR
18 MONTHS. AN UPSTREAM COMPANY FILE THAT WAS USED TO MATCH
COMPANIES COVERED BY THE FIRM'S RESEARCH DEPARTMENT WITH THE
COMPANY REVENUES AND CLIENT RELATIONSHIPS INCLUDED
INACCURATE DATA, AND THE PROCESS DESIGNED TO UPDATE THAT FILE
FAILED. AS A RESULT, THE COMPANY INFORMATION USED BY THE FIRM'S
RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY TO DETERMINE DISCLOSURES WAS STALE
AND RESULTED IN THE OMISSION OF REQUIRED DISCLOSURES IN
APPROXIMATELY 19,200 RESEARCH REPORTS. AN ADDITIONAL
DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN ON AN UNDETERMINED DATE THROUGH
OCTOBER 2010, WHEN A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR PROVIDED INCOMPLETE
DATA TO THE FIRM RELATED TO 22 COVERED COMPANIES. AS A RESULT
OF THE INCOMPLETE DATA, AN UNDETERMINED NUMBER OF RESEARCH
REPORTS RELATING TO THE 22 COVERED COMPANIES FAILED TO
DISCLOSE WHETHER THE FIRM HAD MANAGED OR CO-MANAGED A
PUBLIC OFFERING OF THE COVERED COMPANY'S SECURITIES IN THE
PAST 12 MONTHS. THE MISSING DATA WAS DISCOVERED AND
CORRECTED, BUT IT HAS NOT BEEN DETERMINED WHEN THE
DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN OR HOW MANY RESEARCH REPORTS
WERE IMPACTED BY IT. A NEW THIRD-PARTY VENDOR BEGAN PROVIDING
THE FIRM WITH STOCK PRICE INFORMATION THAT CONTAINED
INCORRECT DATA RELATED TO CERTAIN COVERED COMPANIES THAT HAD
BEEN IMPACTED BY A STOCK SPLIT. THE DATA PROBLEM OCCURRED IN
EACH MONTHLY FILE THAT THE FIRM RECEIVED FROM THE VENDOR
SINCE SEPTEMBER 2008 THROUGH MARCH 2011, AND IMPACTED AS A
MANY AS 13,778 FUNDAMENTAL EQUITY RESEARCH REPORTS. AS A
RESULT OF THE DATA PROBLEM, AN UNDETERMINED BUT SIGNIFICANT
NUMBER OF THESE REPORTS INCLUDED A PRICE CHART THAT
RETROACTIVELY ADJUSTED THE HISTORICAL STOCK PRICE OF THE
COVERED COMPANY TO REFLECT A SUBSEQUENT STOCK SPLIT BUT DID
NOT PROVIDE THE SAME RETROACTIVE ADJUSTMENT TO THE HISTORICAL
PRICE TARGETS INCLUDED IN THE CHART. AS A RESULT, IMPACTED PRICE
CHARTS SHOWED A DISTORTED RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE
HISTORICAL STOCK PRICES AND THE HISTORICAL PRICE TARGET. THESE
ERRORS WERE ALSO REFLECTED ON THE FIRM'S PRICE CHARTS
WEBSITE DURING THIS PERIOD. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM'S RESEARCH
DEPARTMENT HAD POLICIES, PROCEDURES, AND TESTING PRACTICES
(PROCEDURES) WITH RESPECT TO RESEARCH DISCLOSURES AND PRICE
CHARTS DURING THE TIME PERIOD OF THE VIOLATIONS, THE
PROCEDURES FOCUSED ON THE DOWNSTREAM ASPECTS OF THE
RESEARCH REPORT CREATION PROCESS. THE PROCEDURES DID NOT
EFFECTIVELY EVALUATE THE ACCURACY OF THE DATA PROVIDED BY
INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL DATA SOURCES TO THE RESEARCH
DEPARTMENT THROUGH THE RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY, BUT RATHER
WERE INTENDED TO ENSURE THAT THE DATA WAS ACCURATELY AND
COMPLETELY REFLECTED ON RESEARCH REPORTS. THE PROCEDURES
INCLUDED SEPARATE STEPS FOR RESEARCH ANALYSTS (WHO
ASSEMBLED RESEARCH REPORTS), SUPERVISORY ANALYSTS (WHOSE
APPROVAL WAS NECESSARY BEFORE A RESEARCH REPORT WAS
ISSUED), AND A SUPPORT UNIT CALLED SUPERVISORY ANALYST SUPPORT
SERVICES. BECAUSE THE PROCEDURES WERE NOT DESIGNATED TO
EVALUATE THE UNDERLYING ACCURACY OF THE DATA FROM INTERNAL
AND EXTERNAL DATA SOURCES IN THE RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY,
(CONTINUED IN COMMENTS)

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

FINRA RULE 2010 AND NASD RULES 2110 AND 2711 AND 2711(I): AS A
RESULT OF THE ACQUISITION OF MERRILL LYNCH & CO., INC.  BY BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, THE RESEARCH DEPARTMENT OF MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (FIRM) WAS REQUIRED
TO CONSIDER BOTH ENTITIES' RELATIONSHIP WITH THE COMPANIES THAT
WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE RESEARCH REPORT (COVERED COMPANIES)
IN DETERMINING WHICH REQUIRED DISCLOSURES TO INCLUDE IN
RESEARCH REPORTS ISSUED BY THE FIRM. AS A RESULT OF THE
COMPRESSED TIMELINE OF THE ACQUISITION, THE FIRM STILL USED
SEPARATE SYSTEMS FROM EACH ENTITY AFTER THE ACQUISITION, AND
RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY TEAMS FROM THE TWO ENTITIES WERE
REQUIRED TO AGGREGATE INFORMATION ABOUT THE TWO ENTITIES'
RESPECTIVE RELATIONSHIPS WITH COVERED COMPANIES IN ORDER TO
GENERATE COMPLETE AND ACCURATE REQUIRED DISCLOSURES IN
RESEARCH REPORTS. HOWEVER, ERRORS OCCURRED IN THIS
AGGREGATION PROCESS THAT WAS NOT DISCOVERED BY THE FIRM FOR
18 MONTHS. AN UPSTREAM COMPANY FILE THAT WAS USED TO MATCH
COMPANIES COVERED BY THE FIRM'S RESEARCH DEPARTMENT WITH THE
COMPANY REVENUES AND CLIENT RELATIONSHIPS INCLUDED
INACCURATE DATA, AND THE PROCESS DESIGNED TO UPDATE THAT FILE
FAILED. AS A RESULT, THE COMPANY INFORMATION USED BY THE FIRM'S
RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY TO DETERMINE DISCLOSURES WAS STALE
AND RESULTED IN THE OMISSION OF REQUIRED DISCLOSURES IN
APPROXIMATELY 19,200 RESEARCH REPORTS. AN ADDITIONAL
DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN ON AN UNDETERMINED DATE THROUGH
OCTOBER 2010, WHEN A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR PROVIDED INCOMPLETE
DATA TO THE FIRM RELATED TO 22 COVERED COMPANIES. AS A RESULT
OF THE INCOMPLETE DATA, AN UNDETERMINED NUMBER OF RESEARCH
REPORTS RELATING TO THE 22 COVERED COMPANIES FAILED TO
DISCLOSE WHETHER THE FIRM HAD MANAGED OR CO-MANAGED A
PUBLIC OFFERING OF THE COVERED COMPANY'S SECURITIES IN THE
PAST 12 MONTHS. THE MISSING DATA WAS DISCOVERED AND
CORRECTED, BUT IT HAS NOT BEEN DETERMINED WHEN THE
DISCLOSURE DEFICIENCY BEGAN OR HOW MANY RESEARCH REPORTS
WERE IMPACTED BY IT. A NEW THIRD-PARTY VENDOR BEGAN PROVIDING
THE FIRM WITH STOCK PRICE INFORMATION THAT CONTAINED
INCORRECT DATA RELATED TO CERTAIN COVERED COMPANIES THAT HAD
BEEN IMPACTED BY A STOCK SPLIT. THE DATA PROBLEM OCCURRED IN
EACH MONTHLY FILE THAT THE FIRM RECEIVED FROM THE VENDOR
SINCE SEPTEMBER 2008 THROUGH MARCH 2011, AND IMPACTED AS A
MANY AS 13,778 FUNDAMENTAL EQUITY RESEARCH REPORTS. AS A
RESULT OF THE DATA PROBLEM, AN UNDETERMINED BUT SIGNIFICANT
NUMBER OF THESE REPORTS INCLUDED A PRICE CHART THAT
RETROACTIVELY ADJUSTED THE HISTORICAL STOCK PRICE OF THE
COVERED COMPANY TO REFLECT A SUBSEQUENT STOCK SPLIT BUT DID
NOT PROVIDE THE SAME RETROACTIVE ADJUSTMENT TO THE HISTORICAL
PRICE TARGETS INCLUDED IN THE CHART. AS A RESULT, IMPACTED PRICE
CHARTS SHOWED A DISTORTED RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE
HISTORICAL STOCK PRICES AND THE HISTORICAL PRICE TARGET. THESE
ERRORS WERE ALSO REFLECTED ON THE FIRM'S PRICE CHARTS
WEBSITE DURING THIS PERIOD. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM'S RESEARCH
DEPARTMENT HAD POLICIES, PROCEDURES, AND TESTING PRACTICES
(PROCEDURES) WITH RESPECT TO RESEARCH DISCLOSURES AND PRICE
CHARTS DURING THE TIME PERIOD OF THE VIOLATIONS, THE
PROCEDURES FOCUSED ON THE DOWNSTREAM ASPECTS OF THE
RESEARCH REPORT CREATION PROCESS. THE PROCEDURES DID NOT
EFFECTIVELY EVALUATE THE ACCURACY OF THE DATA PROVIDED BY
INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL DATA SOURCES TO THE RESEARCH
DEPARTMENT THROUGH THE RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY, BUT RATHER
WERE INTENDED TO ENSURE THAT THE DATA WAS ACCURATELY AND
COMPLETELY REFLECTED ON RESEARCH REPORTS. THE PROCEDURES
INCLUDED SEPARATE STEPS FOR RESEARCH ANALYSTS (WHO
ASSEMBLED RESEARCH REPORTS), SUPERVISORY ANALYSTS (WHOSE
APPROVAL WAS NECESSARY BEFORE A RESEARCH REPORT WAS
ISSUED), AND A SUPPORT UNIT CALLED SUPERVISORY ANALYST SUPPORT
SERVICES. BECAUSE THE PROCEDURES WERE NOT DESIGNATED TO
EVALUATE THE UNDERLYING ACCURACY OF THE DATA FROM INTERNAL
AND EXTERNAL DATA SOURCES IN THE RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY,
(CONTINUED IN COMMENTS)
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/23/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2011027434101

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/23/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $325,000. IN DETERMINING THE
SANCTIONS IN THIS MATTER, FINRA TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION SEVERAL
FACTORS: (1) THE FIRM PROMPTLY SELF-REPORTED ALL OF THE
DEFICIENCIES SET FORTH IN THIS AWC: (2) THE FIRM TOOK SIGNIFICANT
REMEDIAL ACTION TO PREVENT THE REOCCURRENCE OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES: AND (3) IN EARLY 2011, THE FIRM ENGAGED AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT FOR A 22 MONTH PERIOD TO ASSIST AN
INTERNAL TASK FORCE WITH, AMONG OTHER THINGS, INTRODUCING NEW
TECHNOLOGIES AND PROCESSES DESIGNED TO REMEDY THE PROBLEMS
THAT HAD BEEN CAUSED BY INACCURATE UPSTREAM DATA.

Firm Statement (CONTINUED FROM ITEM 7.) AND BECAUSE THE DISCLOSURE AND PRICE
CHART FAILURES WERE CAUSED BY INACCURACIES IN UNDERLYING
DATA, THE PROCEDURES WERE INEFFECTIVE IN IDENTIFYING THE
DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHART DEFICIENCIES.  BECAUSE THE
PROCEDURES WERE NOT DESIGNATED TO EVALUATE THE UNDERLYING
ACCURACY OF THE DATA FROM INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL DATA SOURCES
IN THE RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY, AND BECAUSE THE DISCLOSURE
AND PRICE CHART FAILURES WERE CAUSED BY INACCURACIES IN
UNDERLYING DATA, THE PROCEDURES WERE INEFFECTIVE IN
IDENTIFYING THE DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHART DEFICIENCIES.   THE
FIRM ALSO DID NOT HAVE PROCEDURES DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT
THIRD PARTY PRICING INFORMATION USED FOR PRICE CHARTS WAS
ACCURATE AS IT RELATED TO CORPORATE ACTIONS AFFECTING THE
PRICE OF STOCK AND SUCH ADJUSTED PRICES WERE ACCURATELY
REFLECTED ON THE PRICE CHART.

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $325,000. IN DETERMINING THE
SANCTIONS IN THIS MATTER, FINRA TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION SEVERAL
FACTORS: (1) THE FIRM PROMPTLY SELF-REPORTED ALL OF THE
DEFICIENCIES SET FORTH IN THIS AWC: (2) THE FIRM TOOK SIGNIFICANT
REMEDIAL ACTION TO PREVENT THE REOCCURRENCE OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES: AND (3) IN EARLY 2011, THE FIRM ENGAGED AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT FOR A 22 MONTH PERIOD TO ASSIST AN
INTERNAL TASK FORCE WITH, AMONG OTHER THINGS, INTRODUCING NEW
TECHNOLOGIES AND PROCESSES DESIGNED TO REMEDY THE PROBLEMS
THAT HAD BEEN CAUSED BY INACCURATE UPSTREAM DATA.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $325,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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(CONTINUED FROM ITEM 7.) AND BECAUSE THE DISCLOSURE AND PRICE
CHART FAILURES WERE CAUSED BY INACCURACIES IN UNDERLYING
DATA, THE PROCEDURES WERE INEFFECTIVE IN IDENTIFYING THE
DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHART DEFICIENCIES.  BECAUSE THE
PROCEDURES WERE NOT DESIGNATED TO EVALUATE THE UNDERLYING
ACCURACY OF THE DATA FROM INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL DATA SOURCES
IN THE RESEARCH DATA REPOSITORY, AND BECAUSE THE DISCLOSURE
AND PRICE CHART FAILURES WERE CAUSED BY INACCURACIES IN
UNDERLYING DATA, THE PROCEDURES WERE INEFFECTIVE IN
IDENTIFYING THE DISCLOSURES AND PRICE CHART DEFICIENCIES.   THE
FIRM ALSO DID NOT HAVE PROCEDURES DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT
THIRD PARTY PRICING INFORMATION USED FOR PRICE CHARTS WAS
ACCURATE AS IT RELATED TO CORPORATE ACTIONS AFFECTING THE
PRICE OF STOCK AND SUCH ADJUSTED PRICES WERE ACCURATELY
REFLECTED ON THE PRICE CHART.

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $325,000. IN DETERMINING THE
SANCTIONS IN THIS MATTER, FINRA TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION SEVERAL
FACTORS: (1) THE FIRM PROMPTLY SELF-REPORTED ALL OF THE
DEFICIENCIES SET FORTH IN THIS AWC: (2) THE FIRM TOOK SIGNIFICANT
REMEDIAL ACTION TO PREVENT THE REOCCURRENCE OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES: AND (3) IN EARLY 2011, THE FIRM ENGAGED AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT FOR A 22 MONTH PERIOD TO ASSIST AN
INTERNAL TASK FORCE WITH, AMONG OTHER THINGS, INTRODUCING NEW
TECHNOLOGIES AND PROCESSES DESIGNED TO REMEDY THE PROBLEMS
THAT HAD BEEN CAUSED BY INACCURATE UPSTREAM DATA.

Disclosure 148 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: MISSOURI

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/31/2013

Docket/Case Number: AP-13-14

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE GREG JOHN CAMPBELL, A
MISSOURI-REGISTERED AGENT WHO ENGAGED IN DISHONEST OR
UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF MISSOURI LAW

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/31/2013

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: 500000.00

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MISSOURI SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF
STATE ("DIVISION")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/31/2013

Docket/Case Number: AP-13-14

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE DIVISION FOUND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") FAILED TO SUPERVISE A MISSOURI-
REGISTERED AGENT EMPLOYED BY MLPF&S WHO ENGAGED IN
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 409.4-
212(D)(13), RSMO. (CUM. SUPP. 2011).  MLPF&S IS SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINE
FOR FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE REGISTERED AGENT'S
ACTIVITIES PURSUANT TO SECTION 409.4-412(D)(9) RSMO. (CUM. SUPP.
2011).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/31/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS MADE BY THE
DIVISION, MLPF&S IS CENSURED.  IN ADDITION MLPF&S SHALL
COMPENSATE CLIENTS FOR ANY FUNDS IMPROPERLY WITHDRAWN OR
TRANSFERRED FROM ANY MLPF&S CLIENT ACCOUNTS BY THE
REGISTERED AGENT; SHALL NOT SEEK TO COLLECT ON ANY CLIENT LOAN
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT ("LMA") BALANCE THAT WAS INCURRED AS A
RESULT OF THE REGISTERED AGENT'S FRAUDULENT ACTIVITIES; AND
SHALL PAY THE SUM OF $500,000 TO THE MISSOURI SECRETARY OF
STATE'S INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND WITHIN 10 DAYS
OF EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE CONSENT ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS MADE BY THE
DIVISION, MLPF&S IS CENSURED.  IN ADDITION MLPF&S SHALL
COMPENSATE CLIENTS FOR ANY FUNDS IMPROPERLY WITHDRAWN OR
TRANSFERRED FROM ANY MLPF&S CLIENT ACCOUNTS BY THE
REGISTERED AGENT; SHALL NOT SEEK TO COLLECT ON ANY CLIENT LOAN
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT ("LMA") BALANCE THAT WAS INCURRED AS A
RESULT OF THE REGISTERED AGENT'S FRAUDULENT ACTIVITIES; AND
SHALL PAY THE SUM OF $500,000 TO THE MISSOURI SECRETARY OF
STATE'S INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND WITHIN 10 DAYS
OF EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE CONSENT ORDER.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS MADE BY THE
DIVISION, MLPF&S IS CENSURED.  IN ADDITION MLPF&S SHALL
COMPENSATE CLIENTS FOR ANY FUNDS IMPROPERLY WITHDRAWN OR
TRANSFERRED FROM ANY MLPF&S CLIENT ACCOUNTS BY THE
REGISTERED AGENT; SHALL NOT SEEK TO COLLECT ON ANY CLIENT LMA
BALANCE THAT WAS INCURRED AS A RESULT OF THE REGISTERED
AGENT'S FRAUDULENT ACTIVITIES; AND SHALL PAY THE SUM OF $500,000
TO THE MISSOURI SECRETARY OF STATE'S INVESTOR EDUCATION AND
PROTECTION FUND WITHIN 10 DAYS OF EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE
CONSENT ORDER.  AS OF JULY 12, 2013, MLPF&S HAS COMPENSATED
$89,055.67 TO MLPF&S CLIENT ACCOUNTS AND HAS WRITTEN OFF LMA
BALANCES FOR THE MLPF&S CLIENT ACCOUNTS TOTALING
APPROXIMATELY $1,532,524.  THIS MATTER WAS SELF-REPORTED TO THE
DIVISION BY MLPF&S.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS MADE BY THE
DIVISION, MLPF&S IS CENSURED.  IN ADDITION MLPF&S SHALL
COMPENSATE CLIENTS FOR ANY FUNDS IMPROPERLY WITHDRAWN OR
TRANSFERRED FROM ANY MLPF&S CLIENT ACCOUNTS BY THE
REGISTERED AGENT; SHALL NOT SEEK TO COLLECT ON ANY CLIENT LMA
BALANCE THAT WAS INCURRED AS A RESULT OF THE REGISTERED
AGENT'S FRAUDULENT ACTIVITIES; AND SHALL PAY THE SUM OF $500,000
TO THE MISSOURI SECRETARY OF STATE'S INVESTOR EDUCATION AND
PROTECTION FUND WITHIN 10 DAYS OF EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE
CONSENT ORDER.  AS OF JULY 12, 2013, MLPF&S HAS COMPENSATED
$89,055.67 TO MLPF&S CLIENT ACCOUNTS AND HAS WRITTEN OFF LMA
BALANCES FOR THE MLPF&S CLIENT ACCOUNTS TOTALING
APPROXIMATELY $1,532,524.  THIS MATTER WAS SELF-REPORTED TO THE
DIVISION BY MLPF&S.

Disclosure 149 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: FINRA RULE 6760(C):

THE FIRM, AS MANAGING UNDERWRITER (UNDER THE "BOFA" MPID AND
 "MLCO" MPID), FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS IN
TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE® (TRACE®)-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES TO FINRA IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF
FINRA RULE 6760(C). THE 89 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS CONSTITUTED 70
PERCENT OF THE 127 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES UNDER THE "BOFA" MPID AND THE 28 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS
CONSTITUTED 11 PERCENT OF THE 260 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES UNDER THE "MLCO" MPID THAT THE FIRM HAD AN
OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE TO FINRA PURSUANT TO FINRA RULE 6760.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 08/05/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2012032501601

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FINRA RULE 6760(C):

THE FIRM, AS MANAGING UNDERWRITER (UNDER THE "BOFA" MPID AND
 "MLCO" MPID), FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS IN
TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE® (TRACE®)-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES TO FINRA IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF
FINRA RULE 6760(C). THE 89 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS CONSTITUTED 70
PERCENT OF THE 127 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES UNDER THE "BOFA" MPID AND THE 28 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS
CONSTITUTED 11 PERCENT OF THE 260 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES UNDER THE "MLCO" MPID THAT THE FIRM HAD AN
OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE TO FINRA PURSUANT TO FINRA RULE 6760.

Resolution Date: 08/05/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $17,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL ON AUGUST 30, 2013.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $17,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source:
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/05/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2012032501601

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FINRA RULE 6760(C): THE FIRM, AS MANAGING UNDERWRITER (UNDER
THE "BOFA" MPID AND "MLCO" MPID), FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT NEW
ISSUE OFFERINGS IN TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE®
(TRACE®)-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES TO FINRA IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
REQUIREMENTS OF FINRA RULE 6760(C). THE 89 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS
CONSTITUTED 70 PERCENT OF THE 127 NEW ISSUE OFFERINGS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES UNDER THE "BOFA" MPID AND THE 28 NEW ISSUE
OFFERINGS CONSTITUTED 11 PERCENT OF THE 260 NEW ISSUE
OFFERINGS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES UNDER THE "MLCO" MPID
THAT THE FIRM HAD AN OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE TO FINRA PURSUANT TO
FINRA RULE 6760.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/05/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $17,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $17,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $17,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 150 of 595

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: HAWAII

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/11/2013

Docket/Case Number: SEU-2008-16, -55, -71

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): ARS

Allegations: THIS WAS FOR FAILURE TO SUPERVISE THE MARKETING AND SALE OF
ARS TO CLIENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/11/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THIS WAS HAWAII'S PORTION OF THE MULTISTATE SETTLEMENT.  IT WAS
PAID IN FULL ON THE DATE THE CONSENT ORDER WAS EXECUTED.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $894,556.11

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMISSIONER OF SECURITIES OF THE STATE OF HAWAII
(COMMISSIONER) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED HAWAII REVISED STATUTES (HRS)
SECTION 485-15(7) SOLELY TO THE EXTENT THAT IT CONCERNS
DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND HRS SECTION 485-15(10) FOR
FAILURE TO SUPERVISE.

Current Status: Final

458©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: STATE OF HAWAII - DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AND CONSUMER
AFFAIRS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/11/2013

Docket/Case Number: SEU-2008-016, SEU-2008-55, SEU-2008-071

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

THE COMMISSIONER OF SECURITIES OF THE STATE OF HAWAII
(COMMISSIONER) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED HAWAII REVISED STATUTES (HRS)
SECTION 485-15(7) SOLELY TO THE EXTENT THAT IT CONCERNS
DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND HRS SECTION 485-15(10) FOR
FAILURE TO SUPERVISE.

Resolution Date: 07/11/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT  WITH THE COMMISSIONER, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE HAWAII UNIFORM SECURITIES
ACT (ACT) AND ANY SUCCESSOR ACT, TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND ANY
SUCCESSOR ACT, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING
OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF HAWAII A TOTAL PAYMENT OF
$894,556.11 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $894,556.11
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 151 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ("CME")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/11/2013

Docket/Case Number: 13-7524

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: PURSUANT TO A PIT, GLOBEX AND NEGOTIATED TRADES-CTR AUDIT
CONDUCTED BY THE CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ("CME"), THE
DESIGNATED SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATION FOR THE FUTURES
COMMISSION MERCHANT BUSINESS, THE APPLICANT WAS FOUND TO
HAVE VIOLATED CME RULE 536.F WHEN TRADE DATA REVIEWED FOR THE
TRADE DATES OF APRIL 15 AND 16, 2013 REFLECTED AN UNACCEPTABLE
CTR ERROR RATE OF 30.30%.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/11/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT
AGREED TO SETTLE THE MATTER WITH THE PAYMENT OF A FINE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUTOMATIC FINE SCHEDULE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT
AGREED TO SETTLE THE MATTER WITH THE PAYMENT OF A FINE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUTOMATIC FINE SCHEDULE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT
AGREED TO SETTLE THE MATTER WITH THE PAYMENT OF A FINE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUTOMATIC FINE SCHEDULE.

Disclosure 152 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW HAMPSHIRE BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION (THE "BUREAU")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; COSTS OF INVESTIGATION

Date Initiated: 06/03/2013

Docket/Case Number: C-2010-008

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: AS THE RESULT OF A CUSTOMER COMPLAINT RECEIVED BY THE BUREAU
IN AUGUST 2010, A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE OF MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") LOCATED
IN THE PORTSMOUTH, NEW HAMPSHIRE BRANCH WAS PLACE ON
HEIGHTENED SUPERVISION.  IN JANUARY 2011, THE BUREAU CONDUCTED
AN ON-SITE EXAMINATION OF MERRILL LYNCH'S PORTSMOUTH, NEW
HAMPSHIRE BRANCH.  AS A RESULT OF THIS EXAMINATION, THE BUREAU
ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AND THAT, DURING THE RELEVANT TIME
PERIOD, MERRILL LYNCH EITHER IGNORED OR FAILED TO IDENTIFY
CERTAIN RED FLAGS IN THE CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT THAT SHOULD HAVE
LED MERRILL LYNCH'S SUPERVISORS TO TAKE ACTION AGAINST THEIR
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE SOONER THAN THEY ULTIMATELY DID.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/04/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COSTS OF INVESTIGATION IN THE AMOUNT OF $72,500.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS AND FINDINGS,
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO A CONSENT ORDER FOR CENSURE;
THEREFORE, MERRILL LYNCH IS CENSURED, FINED $7,500, AND ORDERED
TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE INVESTIGATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Order
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS AND FINDINGS,
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO A CONSENT ORDER FOR CENSURE;
THEREFORE, MERRILL LYNCH IS CENSURED, FINED $7,500, AND ORDERED
TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE INVESTIGATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS AND FINDINGS,
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO A CONSENT ORDER FOR CENSURE;
THEREFORE, MERRILL LYNCH IS CENSURED, FINED $7,500, AND ORDERED
TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE INVESTIGATION.

Disclosure 153 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/07/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2011026097801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: NASDAQ RULE 4755 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ENTERED ORDERS INTO THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER
THAT FAILED TO CORRECTLY INDICATE WHETHER THE ORDERS WERE A
BUY, SHORT SALE OR LONG SALE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/07/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 06/07/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2011026097801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: NASDAQ RULE 4755 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ENTERED ORDERS INTO THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER
THAT FAILED TO CORRECTLY INDICATE WHETHER THE ORDERS WERE A
BUY, SHORT SALE OR LONG SALE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/07/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 154 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Current Status: Final
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Allegations: THIS ACTION RELATES TO CONDUCT THAT OCCURRED AT BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC. (CRD #16361). MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED IS NAMED AS A RESPONDENT
SOLELY AS SUCCESSOR IN LIABILITY FOR BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC. FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 2310, 3010: BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES MADE
RECOMMENDATIONS THAT CUSTOMERS PURCHASE FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS THAT WERE UNSUITABLE FOR THOSE CUSTOMERS IN LIGHT OF
THEIR FINANCIAL SITUATIONS AND NEEDS. IN PARTICULAR, BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES MADE NUMEROUS RECOMMENDATIONS
TO PURCHASE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS TO CUSTOMERS WHOSE
RISK TOLERANCES, OTHER ASSETS, AND INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES WERE
INCONSISTENT WITH THE RISKS AND FEATURES OF FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS. THE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS SOLD BY THE BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES WERE SUBJECT TO SIGNIFICANT
CREDIT AND LIQUIDITY RISKS. CONSEQUENTLY, THESE FUNDS WERE NOT
TYPICALLY SUITABLE FOR INVESTORS WITH CONSERVATIVE RISK
TOLERANCES OR THOSE CUSTOMERS WHO WERE SEEKING TO
PRESERVE PRINCIPAL, PARTICULARLY WHEN THOSE CUSTOMERS'
PURCHASES CONSTITUTED A LARGE PERCENTAGE OF THEIR INVESTABLE
ASSETS OR LIQUID NET WORTH. MOREOVER, FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS, PARTICULARLY THOSE WITH RESTRICTIVE REDEMPTION
POLICIES, WERE NOT TYPICALLY SUITABLE FOR INVESTORS WITH SHORT
TIME HORIZONS. IN SPITE OF THESE FEATURES OF FLOATING RATE
FUNDS, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES REPRESENTATIVES
RECOMMENDED FLOATING RATE FUND INVESTMENTS TO NUMEROUS
CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM THE INVESTMENTS WERE UNSUITABLE IN LIGHT
OF THE CUSTOMERS' FINANCIAL SITUATIONS, RISK TOLERANCES, AND
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES. BETWEEN LATE 2007 AND EARLY 2009, THE
NET ASSET VALUE OF THE TYPICAL FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS
DECLINED SUBSTANTIALLY. SINCE THAT TIME, THE NET ASSET VALUE OF
THE TYPICAL FLOATING RATE LOAN FUND HAS PARTIALLY RECOVERED.
HOWEVER, MANY BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES
CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM THE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUND INVESTMENT
WAS UNSUITABLE SOLD THEIR HOLDINGS IN FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS
AND INCURRED LOSSES. AS A RESULT, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES CUSTOMERS SUFFERED LOSSES IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF
$1,095,680.83 CAUSED BY THE UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS IN FLOATING
RATE LOAN FUNDS RECOMMENDED BY THE FIRM. BANC OF AMERICA
INVESTMENT SERVICES DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM
FOR SUPERVISING ITS SALES OF FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE SUITABILITY
REQUIREMENTS OF NASD AND FINRA RULES. BANC OF AMERICA
INVESTMENT SERVICES FAILED TO IMPLEMENT PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT ITS SALES OF FLOATING RATE
LOAN FUNDS WERE SUITABLE FOR ITS CUSTOMERS, EVEN AS THE
MARKET FOR FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS CHANGED SIGNIFICANTLY. IN
ADDITION, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES FAILED TO ENSURE
THAT IT IMPLEMENTED APPROPRIATE SYSTEMS TO FLAG POTENTIALLY
UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS IN FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS. BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES ALSO FAILED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
GUIDANCE ABOUT FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS TO REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES AND THEIR SUPERVISORS. BANC OF AMERICA
INVESTMENT SERVICES FAILED TO ADEQUATELY TRAIN ITS REGISTERED
PERSONS ABOUT THE CREDIT AND LIQUIDITY RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH
FLOATING RATE FUNDS, OR THE CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM SUCH FUNDS
WOULD BE SUITABLE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 06/04/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2008014763601

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS

THIS ACTION RELATES TO CONDUCT THAT OCCURRED AT BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC. (CRD #16361). MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED IS NAMED AS A RESPONDENT
SOLELY AS SUCCESSOR IN LIABILITY FOR BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC. FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 2310, 3010: BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES MADE
RECOMMENDATIONS THAT CUSTOMERS PURCHASE FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS THAT WERE UNSUITABLE FOR THOSE CUSTOMERS IN LIGHT OF
THEIR FINANCIAL SITUATIONS AND NEEDS. IN PARTICULAR, BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES MADE NUMEROUS RECOMMENDATIONS
TO PURCHASE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS TO CUSTOMERS WHOSE
RISK TOLERANCES, OTHER ASSETS, AND INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES WERE
INCONSISTENT WITH THE RISKS AND FEATURES OF FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS. THE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS SOLD BY THE BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES WERE SUBJECT TO SIGNIFICANT
CREDIT AND LIQUIDITY RISKS. CONSEQUENTLY, THESE FUNDS WERE NOT
TYPICALLY SUITABLE FOR INVESTORS WITH CONSERVATIVE RISK
TOLERANCES OR THOSE CUSTOMERS WHO WERE SEEKING TO
PRESERVE PRINCIPAL, PARTICULARLY WHEN THOSE CUSTOMERS'
PURCHASES CONSTITUTED A LARGE PERCENTAGE OF THEIR INVESTABLE
ASSETS OR LIQUID NET WORTH. MOREOVER, FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS, PARTICULARLY THOSE WITH RESTRICTIVE REDEMPTION
POLICIES, WERE NOT TYPICALLY SUITABLE FOR INVESTORS WITH SHORT
TIME HORIZONS. IN SPITE OF THESE FEATURES OF FLOATING RATE
FUNDS, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES REPRESENTATIVES
RECOMMENDED FLOATING RATE FUND INVESTMENTS TO NUMEROUS
CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM THE INVESTMENTS WERE UNSUITABLE IN LIGHT
OF THE CUSTOMERS' FINANCIAL SITUATIONS, RISK TOLERANCES, AND
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES. BETWEEN LATE 2007 AND EARLY 2009, THE
NET ASSET VALUE OF THE TYPICAL FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS
DECLINED SUBSTANTIALLY. SINCE THAT TIME, THE NET ASSET VALUE OF
THE TYPICAL FLOATING RATE LOAN FUND HAS PARTIALLY RECOVERED.
HOWEVER, MANY BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES
CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM THE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUND INVESTMENT
WAS UNSUITABLE SOLD THEIR HOLDINGS IN FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS
AND INCURRED LOSSES. AS A RESULT, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES CUSTOMERS SUFFERED LOSSES IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF
$1,095,680.83 CAUSED BY THE UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS IN FLOATING
RATE LOAN FUNDS RECOMMENDED BY THE FIRM. BANC OF AMERICA
INVESTMENT SERVICES DID NOT ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM
FOR SUPERVISING ITS SALES OF FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE SUITABILITY
REQUIREMENTS OF NASD AND FINRA RULES. BANC OF AMERICA
INVESTMENT SERVICES FAILED TO IMPLEMENT PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT ITS SALES OF FLOATING RATE
LOAN FUNDS WERE SUITABLE FOR ITS CUSTOMERS, EVEN AS THE
MARKET FOR FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS CHANGED SIGNIFICANTLY. IN
ADDITION, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES FAILED TO ENSURE
THAT IT IMPLEMENTED APPROPRIATE SYSTEMS TO FLAG POTENTIALLY
UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS IN FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS. BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES ALSO FAILED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT
GUIDANCE ABOUT FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS TO REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES AND THEIR SUPERVISORS. BANC OF AMERICA
INVESTMENT SERVICES FAILED TO ADEQUATELY TRAIN ITS REGISTERED
PERSONS ABOUT THE CREDIT AND LIQUIDITY RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH
FLOATING RATE FUNDS, OR THE CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM SUCH FUNDS
WOULD BE SUITABLE.

Resolution Date: 06/04/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $900,000 AND MUST PAY
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,095,680.83. A
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT
SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF RESTITUTION OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THE AWC. IF FOR ANY REASON THE FIRM CANNOT LOCATE ANY OF THE
CUSTOMERS RECEIVING RESTITUTION AFTER REASONABLE AND
DOCUMENTED EFFORTS WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE DATE THE AWC IS
ACCEPTED, OR SUCH ADDITIONAL PERIOD AGREED TO BY FINRA, THE
FIRM SHALL FORWARD ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST
TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER IS LAST
KNOWN TO HAVE RESIDED. THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE SATISFACTORY
PROOF OF SUCH ACTION TO FINRA WITHIN 14 DAYS OF FORWARDING THE
UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST TO THE APPROPRIATE
STATE AUTHORITY.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON JULY 9, 2013.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $900,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $900,000 AND MUST PAY
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,095,680.83. A
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT
SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF RESTITUTION OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THE AWC. IF FOR ANY REASON THE FIRM CANNOT LOCATE ANY OF THE
CUSTOMERS RECEIVING RESTITUTION AFTER REASONABLE AND
DOCUMENTED EFFORTS WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE DATE THE AWC IS
ACCEPTED, OR SUCH ADDITIONAL PERIOD AGREED TO BY FINRA, THE
FIRM SHALL FORWARD ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST
TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER IS LAST
KNOWN TO HAVE RESIDED. THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE SATISFACTORY
PROOF OF SUCH ACTION TO FINRA WITHIN 14 DAYS OF FORWARDING THE
UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST TO THE APPROPRIATE
STATE AUTHORITY.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON JULY 9, 2013.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THIS ACTION RELATES TO CONDUCT THAT OCCURRED AT BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC. (CRD #16361). MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED IS NAMED AS A RESPONDENT
SOLELY AS SUCCESSOR IN LIABILITY FOR BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC. ("BAIS"). FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 2310, 3010:
BAIS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES MADE RECOMMENDATIONS THAT
CUSTOMERS PURCHASE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS THAT WERE
UNSUITABLE FOR THOSE CUSTOMERS IN LIGHT OF THEIR FINANCIAL
SITUATIONS AND NEEDS. IN PARTICULAR, BAIS MADE NUMEROUS
RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS TO
CUSTOMERS WHOSE RISK TOLERANCES, OTHER ASSETS, AND
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES WERE INCONSISTENT WITH THE RISKS AND
FEATURES OF FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS. THE FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS SOLD BY BAIS WERE SUBJECT TO SIGNIFICANT CREDIT AND
LIQUIDITY RISKS. CONSEQUENTLY, THESE FUNDS WERE NOT TYPICALLY
SUITABLE FOR INVESTORS WITH CONSERVATIVE RISK TOLERANCES OR
THOSE CUSTOMERS WHO WERE SEEKING TO PRESERVE PRINCIPAL,
PARTICULARLY WHEN THOSE CUSTOMERS' PURCHASES CONSTITUTED A
LARGE PERCENTAGE OF THEIR INVESTABLE ASSETS OR LIQUID NET
WORTH. MOREOVER, FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS, PARTICULARLY
THOSE WITH RESTRICTIVE REDEMPTION POLICIES, WERE NOT TYPICALLY
SUITABLE FOR INVESTORS WITH SHORT TIME HORIZONS. IN SPITE OF
THESE FEATURES OF FLOATING RATE FUNDS, BAIS REPRESENTATIVES
RECOMMENDED FLOATING RATE FUND INVESTMENTS TO NUMEROUS
CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM THE INVESTMENTS WERE UNSUITABLE IN LIGHT
OF THE CUSTOMERS' FINANCIAL SITUATIONS, RISK TOLERANCES, AND
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES. BETWEEN LATE 2007 AND EARLY 2009, THE
NET ASSET VALUE OF THE TYPICAL FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS
DECLINED SUBSTANTIALLY. SINCE THAT TIME, THE NET ASSET VALUE OF
THE TYPICAL FLOATING RATE LOAN FUND HAS PARTIALLY RECOVERED.
HOWEVER, MANY BAIS CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM THE FLOATING RATE
LOAN FUND INVESTMENT WAS UNSUITABLE SOLD THEIR HOLDINGS IN
FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS AND INCURRED LOSSES. AS A RESULT, BAIS
CUSTOMERS SUFFERED LOSSES IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF $1,095,680.83
CAUSED BY THE UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS IN FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS RECOMMENDED BY THE FIRM. BAIS DID NOT ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SYSTEM FOR SUPERVISING ITS SALES OF FLOATING RATE
LOAN FUNDS THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SUITABILITY REQUIREMENTS OF NASD AND FINRA
RULES. BAIS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT ITS SALES OF FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS
WERE SUITABLE FOR ITS CUSTOMERS, EVEN AS THE MARKET FOR
FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS CHANGED SIGNIFICANTLY. IN ADDITION,
BAIS FAILED TO ENSURE THAT IT IMPLEMENTED APPROPRIATE SYSTEMS
TO FLAG POTENTIALLY UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS IN FLOATING RATE
LOAN FUNDS. BAIS ALSO FAILED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT GUIDANCE
ABOUT FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS TO REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES
AND THEIR SUPERVISORS. BAIS FAILED TO ADEQUATELY TRAIN ITS
REGISTERED PERSONS ABOUT THE CREDIT AND LIQUIDITY RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH FLOATING RATE FUNDS, OR THE CUSTOMERS FOR
WHOM SUCH FUNDS WOULD BE SUITABLE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 06/03/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2008014763601

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS

THIS ACTION RELATES TO CONDUCT THAT OCCURRED AT BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC. (CRD #16361). MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED IS NAMED AS A RESPONDENT
SOLELY AS SUCCESSOR IN LIABILITY FOR BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC. ("BAIS"). FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 2310, 3010:
BAIS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES MADE RECOMMENDATIONS THAT
CUSTOMERS PURCHASE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS THAT WERE
UNSUITABLE FOR THOSE CUSTOMERS IN LIGHT OF THEIR FINANCIAL
SITUATIONS AND NEEDS. IN PARTICULAR, BAIS MADE NUMEROUS
RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS TO
CUSTOMERS WHOSE RISK TOLERANCES, OTHER ASSETS, AND
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES WERE INCONSISTENT WITH THE RISKS AND
FEATURES OF FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS. THE FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS SOLD BY BAIS WERE SUBJECT TO SIGNIFICANT CREDIT AND
LIQUIDITY RISKS. CONSEQUENTLY, THESE FUNDS WERE NOT TYPICALLY
SUITABLE FOR INVESTORS WITH CONSERVATIVE RISK TOLERANCES OR
THOSE CUSTOMERS WHO WERE SEEKING TO PRESERVE PRINCIPAL,
PARTICULARLY WHEN THOSE CUSTOMERS' PURCHASES CONSTITUTED A
LARGE PERCENTAGE OF THEIR INVESTABLE ASSETS OR LIQUID NET
WORTH. MOREOVER, FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS, PARTICULARLY
THOSE WITH RESTRICTIVE REDEMPTION POLICIES, WERE NOT TYPICALLY
SUITABLE FOR INVESTORS WITH SHORT TIME HORIZONS. IN SPITE OF
THESE FEATURES OF FLOATING RATE FUNDS, BAIS REPRESENTATIVES
RECOMMENDED FLOATING RATE FUND INVESTMENTS TO NUMEROUS
CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM THE INVESTMENTS WERE UNSUITABLE IN LIGHT
OF THE CUSTOMERS' FINANCIAL SITUATIONS, RISK TOLERANCES, AND
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES. BETWEEN LATE 2007 AND EARLY 2009, THE
NET ASSET VALUE OF THE TYPICAL FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS
DECLINED SUBSTANTIALLY. SINCE THAT TIME, THE NET ASSET VALUE OF
THE TYPICAL FLOATING RATE LOAN FUND HAS PARTIALLY RECOVERED.
HOWEVER, MANY BAIS CUSTOMERS FOR WHOM THE FLOATING RATE
LOAN FUND INVESTMENT WAS UNSUITABLE SOLD THEIR HOLDINGS IN
FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS AND INCURRED LOSSES. AS A RESULT, BAIS
CUSTOMERS SUFFERED LOSSES IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF $1,095,680.83
CAUSED BY THE UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS IN FLOATING RATE LOAN
FUNDS RECOMMENDED BY THE FIRM. BAIS DID NOT ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN A SYSTEM FOR SUPERVISING ITS SALES OF FLOATING RATE
LOAN FUNDS THAT WAS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SUITABILITY REQUIREMENTS OF NASD AND FINRA
RULES. BAIS FAILED TO IMPLEMENT PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT ITS SALES OF FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS
WERE SUITABLE FOR ITS CUSTOMERS, EVEN AS THE MARKET FOR
FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS CHANGED SIGNIFICANTLY. IN ADDITION,
BAIS FAILED TO ENSURE THAT IT IMPLEMENTED APPROPRIATE SYSTEMS
TO FLAG POTENTIALLY UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS IN FLOATING RATE
LOAN FUNDS. BAIS ALSO FAILED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT GUIDANCE
ABOUT FLOATING RATE LOAN FUNDS TO REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES
AND THEIR SUPERVISORS. BAIS FAILED TO ADEQUATELY TRAIN ITS
REGISTERED PERSONS ABOUT THE CREDIT AND LIQUIDITY RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH FLOATING RATE FUNDS, OR THE CUSTOMERS FOR
WHOM SUCH FUNDS WOULD BE SUITABLE.

Resolution Date: 06/03/2013

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $900,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $900,000 AND MUST PAY
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,095,680.83. A
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT
SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF RESTITUTION OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THE AWC. IF FOR ANY REASON THE FIRM CANNOT LOCATE ANY OF THE
CUSTOMERS RECEIVING RESTITUTION AFTER REASONABLE AND
DOCUMENTED EFFORTS WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE DATE THE AWC IS
ACCEPTED, OR SUCH ADDITIONAL PERIOD AGREED TO BY FINRA, THE
FIRM SHALL FORWARD ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST
TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER IS LAST
KNOWN TO HAVE RESIDED. THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE SATISFACTORY
PROOF OF SUCH ACTION TO FINRA WITHIN 14 DAYS OF FORWARDING THE
UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST TO THE APPROPRIATE
STATE AUTHORITY.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $900,000 AND MUST PAY
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,095,680.83. A
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL ON BEHALF OF THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT
SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF RESTITUTION OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THE AWC. IF FOR ANY REASON THE FIRM CANNOT LOCATE ANY OF THE
CUSTOMERS RECEIVING RESTITUTION AFTER REASONABLE AND
DOCUMENTED EFFORTS WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE DATE THE AWC IS
ACCEPTED, OR SUCH ADDITIONAL PERIOD AGREED TO BY FINRA, THE
FIRM SHALL FORWARD ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST
TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER IS LAST
KNOWN TO HAVE RESIDED. THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE SATISFACTORY
PROOF OF SUCH ACTION TO FINRA WITHIN 14 DAYS OF FORWARDING THE
UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST TO THE APPROPRIATE
STATE AUTHORITY.

Censure
Monetary/Fine $900,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Disclosure 155 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 04/07/2010

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 2009-0100

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): 144A SECURITIES

Allegations: THE MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MERRILL
LYNCH) VIOLATED SECTIONS 204(A)(2)(G) AND 204(A)(2)(J) OF THE
MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT (ACT) IN CONNECTION WITH
THE SALE OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES BY MERRILL LYNCH TO TWO
MASSACHUSETTS COOPERATIVE BANKS AND THEIR SUBSIDIARIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/18/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE DIVISION, IN WHICH IT AGREED
TO PERMANENTLY CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT AND TO
PAY A CIVIL PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $250,000.  MERRILL LYNCH SENT
A CHECK TO THE DIVISION IN THE AMOUNT OF THE CIVIL PENALTY ON
APRIL 23, 2013.

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH ALSO REPRESENTED THAT IT HAD ENTERED INTO
SEPARATE INDEPENDENT SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS WITH THE BANKS,
PURSUANT TO CIVIL ACTIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 156 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH'S PROPRIETARY BOND MARKET ORDER EXECUTION
SYSTEM HAD A FLAWED PRICING LOGIC THAT ONLY INCORPORATED THE
QUOTATIONS FROM THE TWO PRIMARY EXCHANGES WHERE THE NON-
CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES WERE LISTED. AS A RESULT, IN INSTANCES
WHERE THERE WAS A BETTER PRICE ON A MARKET OTHER THAN THE
PRIMARY LISTING EXCHANGE, THE FIRM SYSTEMATICALLY EXECUTED
TRANSACTIONS IN NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES WITH ITS
CUSTOMER ON ITS PROPRIETARY ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM AT PRICES
INFERIOR TO THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER (NBBO). IN 12,259
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE
REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER
MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE
RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE
UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE FIRM'S BEST EXECUTION OBLIGATIONS
FOR TRANSACTIONS IN NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES
EXECUTED ON ITS ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM. THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS DEFICIENT IN THAT IT FAILED TO PERFORM
ANY POST-EXECUTION REVIEW OF NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED
TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS SYSTEM TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE
WITH ITS BEST EXECUTION OBLIGATIONS DESPITE THE FACT IT RECEIVED
SEVERAL INQUIRY LETTERS FROM FINRA REGARDING THE RELEVANT
CONDUCT. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM TOOK SOME REMEDIAL MEASURES
INTENDED TO ADDRESS ISSUES RAISED BY FINRA, IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY
THE FLAWED PRICING LOGIC UNTIL A LATER DATE. APPROXIMATELY 2,200
TRANSACTIONS WERE IDENTIFIED ON FINRA'S BEST EXECUTION REPORT
CARDS AVAILABLE TO THE FIRM FOR OVER THREE YEARS. DESPITE
THESE RED FLAGS, THE FIRM FAILED TO PERFORM ANY MEANINGFUL
SUPERVISORY REVIEW FOR BEST EXECUTION OF NON-CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS PROPRIETARY SYSTEM.
THE FIRM'S WSPS WERE NOT ADEQUATE FOR ALMOST THREE YEARS IN
THAT THEY DID NOT DESCRIBE THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN
BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR A BEST EXECUTION SUPERVISORY
REVIEW OF NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED
ON ITS PROPRIETARY SYSTEM. FOR TWO YEARS, THE FIRM'S WSPS DID
NOT PROVIDE FOR THE PERSON OR PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR
ENSURING COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE RULES; A STATEMENT OF
THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN BY THAT PERSON; A STATEMENT
AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH PERSON SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEPS; AND A
STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE COMPLETION OF SUPERVISORY REVIEWS
SHOULD BE DOCUMENTED.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 04/02/2013

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH'S PROPRIETARY BOND MARKET ORDER EXECUTION
SYSTEM HAD A FLAWED PRICING LOGIC THAT ONLY INCORPORATED THE
QUOTATIONS FROM THE TWO PRIMARY EXCHANGES WHERE THE NON-
CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES WERE LISTED. AS A RESULT, IN INSTANCES
WHERE THERE WAS A BETTER PRICE ON A MARKET OTHER THAN THE
PRIMARY LISTING EXCHANGE, THE FIRM SYSTEMATICALLY EXECUTED
TRANSACTIONS IN NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES WITH ITS
CUSTOMER ON ITS PROPRIETARY ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM AT PRICES
INFERIOR TO THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER (NBBO). IN 12,259
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE
REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER
MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE
RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE
UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE FIRM'S BEST EXECUTION OBLIGATIONS
FOR TRANSACTIONS IN NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES
EXECUTED ON ITS ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM. THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS DEFICIENT IN THAT IT FAILED TO PERFORM
ANY POST-EXECUTION REVIEW OF NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED
TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS SYSTEM TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE
WITH ITS BEST EXECUTION OBLIGATIONS DESPITE THE FACT IT RECEIVED
SEVERAL INQUIRY LETTERS FROM FINRA REGARDING THE RELEVANT
CONDUCT. ALTHOUGH THE FIRM TOOK SOME REMEDIAL MEASURES
INTENDED TO ADDRESS ISSUES RAISED BY FINRA, IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY
THE FLAWED PRICING LOGIC UNTIL A LATER DATE. APPROXIMATELY 2,200
TRANSACTIONS WERE IDENTIFIED ON FINRA'S BEST EXECUTION REPORT
CARDS AVAILABLE TO THE FIRM FOR OVER THREE YEARS. DESPITE
THESE RED FLAGS, THE FIRM FAILED TO PERFORM ANY MEANINGFUL
SUPERVISORY REVIEW FOR BEST EXECUTION OF NON-CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS PROPRIETARY SYSTEM.
THE FIRM'S WSPS WERE NOT ADEQUATE FOR ALMOST THREE YEARS IN
THAT THEY DID NOT DESCRIBE THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN
BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR A BEST EXECUTION SUPERVISORY
REVIEW OF NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED
ON ITS PROPRIETARY SYSTEM. FOR TWO YEARS, THE FIRM'S WSPS DID
NOT PROVIDE FOR THE PERSON OR PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR
ENSURING COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE RULES; A STATEMENT OF
THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN BY THAT PERSON; A STATEMENT
AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH PERSON SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEPS; AND A
STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE COMPLETION OF SUPERVISORY REVIEWS
SHOULD BE DOCUMENTED.

470©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/02/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2008014584701

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s): NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 04/02/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $1,050,000.00, REQUIRED TO
REVISE ITS WSPS REGARDING SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES TO BE TAKEN
BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR BEST EXECUTION OF NON-
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS
PROPRIETARY ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC, AND TO PAY RESTITUTION OF
$323,950.04, PLUS INTEREST, IN CONNECTION WITH THE 12,259
TRANSACTIONS. A REGISTERED FIRM PRINCIPAL SHALL SUBMIT
SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THIS AWC. ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL
BE FORWARDED TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY
OR ABANDONED PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE
CUSTOMER LAST RESIDED. FINE PAID ON MAY 7, 2013.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,050,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source:
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Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH'S PROPRIETARY BOND MARKET ORDER EXECUTION
SYSTEM HAD A FLAWED PRICING LOGIC, WITH RESPECT TO NON-
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES, THAT ONLY INCORPORATED THE
QUOTATIONS FROM THE TWO PRIMARY EXCHANGES WHERE THE
SECURITIES WERE LISTED.  AS A RESULT, IN INSTANCES WHERE THERE
WAS A BETTER PRICE ON A MARKET OTHER THAN THE PRIMARY LISTING
EXCHANGE, THE FIRM SYSTEMATICALLY EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN
NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES WITH ITS CUSTOMER ON ITS
PROPRIETARY ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM AT PRICES INFERIOR TO THE
NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER (NBBO).  IN 12,259 TRANSACTIONS FOR OR
WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM THUS FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS.  THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES (WSPS) REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE FIRM'S BEST EXECUTION OBLIGATIONS FOR TRANSACTIONS IN
NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES EXECUTED ON ITS ORDER
EXECUTION SYSTEM.  THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS DEFICIENT
IN THAT IT FAILED TO PERFORM ANY POST EXECUTION REVIEW OF NON-
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS SYSTEM
TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS BEST EXECUTION OBLIGATIONS
DESPITE THE FACT IT RECEIVED SEVERAL INQUIRY LETTERS FROM FINRA
REGARDING THE RELEVANT CONDUCT.  ALTHOUGH THE FIRM TOOK SOME
REMEDIAL MEASURES INTENDED TO ADDRESS ISSUES RAISED BY FINRA,
IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THE FLAWED PRICING LOGIC UNTIL A LATER DATE.
APPROXIMATELY 2,200 TRANSACTIONS WERE IDENTIFIED ON FINRA'S
BEST EXECUTION REPORT CARDS AVAILABLE TO THE FIRM FOR OVER
THREE YEARS.  DESPITE THESE RED FLAGS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
PERFORM ANY MEANINGFUL SUPERVISORY REVIEW FOR BEST
EXECUTION OF NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED ON ITS PROPRIETARY SYSTEM.  THE FIRM'S WSPS WERE NOT
ADEQUATE FOR ALMOST THREE YEARS IN THAT THEY DID NOT DESCRIBE
THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE
FOR A BEST EXECUTION SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF NON-CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS PROPRIETARY SYSTEM.
FOR TWO YEARS, THE FIRM'S WSPS DID NOT PROVIDE FOR THE PERSON
OR PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR ENSURING COMPLIANCE WITH THE
APPLICABLE RULES; A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE
TAKEN BY THAT PERSON; A STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH PERSON
SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEPS; AND A STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE
COMPLETION OF SUPERVISORY REVIEWS SHOULD BE DOCUMENTED.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION
CENSURE

Date Initiated: 04/02/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2008014584701

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s): NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES

FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH'S PROPRIETARY BOND MARKET ORDER EXECUTION
SYSTEM HAD A FLAWED PRICING LOGIC, WITH RESPECT TO NON-
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES, THAT ONLY INCORPORATED THE
QUOTATIONS FROM THE TWO PRIMARY EXCHANGES WHERE THE
SECURITIES WERE LISTED.  AS A RESULT, IN INSTANCES WHERE THERE
WAS A BETTER PRICE ON A MARKET OTHER THAN THE PRIMARY LISTING
EXCHANGE, THE FIRM SYSTEMATICALLY EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN
NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES WITH ITS CUSTOMER ON ITS
PROPRIETARY ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM AT PRICES INFERIOR TO THE
NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER (NBBO).  IN 12,259 TRANSACTIONS FOR OR
WITH A CUSTOMER, THE FIRM THUS FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS.  THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES (WSPS) REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE FIRM'S BEST EXECUTION OBLIGATIONS FOR TRANSACTIONS IN
NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SECURITIES EXECUTED ON ITS ORDER
EXECUTION SYSTEM.  THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS DEFICIENT
IN THAT IT FAILED TO PERFORM ANY POST EXECUTION REVIEW OF NON-
CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS SYSTEM
TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS BEST EXECUTION OBLIGATIONS
DESPITE THE FACT IT RECEIVED SEVERAL INQUIRY LETTERS FROM FINRA
REGARDING THE RELEVANT CONDUCT.  ALTHOUGH THE FIRM TOOK SOME
REMEDIAL MEASURES INTENDED TO ADDRESS ISSUES RAISED BY FINRA,
IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THE FLAWED PRICING LOGIC UNTIL A LATER DATE.
APPROXIMATELY 2,200 TRANSACTIONS WERE IDENTIFIED ON FINRA'S
BEST EXECUTION REPORT CARDS AVAILABLE TO THE FIRM FOR OVER
THREE YEARS.  DESPITE THESE RED FLAGS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
PERFORM ANY MEANINGFUL SUPERVISORY REVIEW FOR BEST
EXECUTION OF NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS
EXECUTED ON ITS PROPRIETARY SYSTEM.  THE FIRM'S WSPS WERE NOT
ADEQUATE FOR ALMOST THREE YEARS IN THAT THEY DID NOT DESCRIBE
THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE TAKEN BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE
FOR A BEST EXECUTION SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF NON-CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS PROPRIETARY SYSTEM.
FOR TWO YEARS, THE FIRM'S WSPS DID NOT PROVIDE FOR THE PERSON
OR PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR ENSURING COMPLIANCE WITH THE
APPLICABLE RULES; A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEPS TO BE
TAKEN BY THAT PERSON; A STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH PERSON
SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEPS; AND A STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE
COMPLETION OF SUPERVISORY REVIEWS SHOULD BE DOCUMENTED.

Resolution Date: 04/02/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $1,050,000.00, REQUIRED TO
REVISE ITS WSPS REGARDING SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES TO BE
FOLLOWED BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR BEST EXECUTION OF
NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON ITS
PROPRIETARY ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC, AND TO PAY RESTITUTION OF
$323,950.04, PLUS INTEREST, IN CONNECTION WITH THE 12,259
TRANSACTIONS.  A REGISTERED FIRM PRINCIPAL SHALL SUBMIT
SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THIS AWC.  ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL
BE FORWARDED TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY
OR ABANDONED PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE
CUSTOMER LAST RESIDED.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $1,050,000.00, REQUIRED TO
REVISE ITS WSPS REGARDING SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES TO BE
FOLLOWED BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR BEST EXECUTION OF
NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON IT
PROPRIETARY ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC, AND TO PAY RESTITUTION OF
$323,950.04, PLUS INTEREST, IN CONNECTION WITH THE 12,259
TRANSACTIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,050,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $1,050,000.00, REQUIRED TO
REVISE ITS WSPS REGARDING SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES TO BE
FOLLOWED BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR BEST EXECUTION OF
NON-CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED ON IT
PROPRIETARY ORDER EXECUTION SYSTEM WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC, AND TO PAY RESTITUTION OF
$323,950.04, PLUS INTEREST, IN CONNECTION WITH THE 12,259
TRANSACTIONS.

Disclosure 157 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 04/08/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2011026254401

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EQUITIES

Allegations: SECTION 10 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, RULE 10B-
10(A)(2) THEREUNDER, FINRA RULE 2010 AND NASD RULE 2230: THE FIRM
FAILED TO INFORM 22 INSTITUTIONAL CLIENTS TRADING IN NON-U.S.
EQUITIES THAT IT WAS ACTING IN AN AGENCY CAPACITY IN EXECUTING
THE TRADES.
THE FIRM BEGAN MIGRATING INSTITUTIONAL CLIENTS FROM THE
TRADING PLATFORM TO A NEW PLATFORM. DURING THE MIGRATION, THE
FIRM INADVERTENTLY FAILED TO CONFIGURE THE NEW PLATFORM TO
PASS CAPACITY LANGUAGE DOWNSTREAM TO CLIENT CONFIRMATIONS.
THE PLATFORM INCLUDED ADDITIONAL FIELDS OF INFORMATION NOT
REQUIRED BY THE PREVIOUS PLATFORM, AND THE EXECUTION CAPACITY
FIELD WAS MOVED TO A DIFFERENT LOCATION WITHIN THE DATA STREAM.
THE FIRM DID NOT REALIZE THAT THE FIELD CONTAINING THE EXECUTION
CAPACITY HAD BEEN MOVED, WHICH RESULTED IN THE EXECUTION
CAPACITY NOT BEING FILLED IN.
ALTHOUGH THE FIRM TESTED ITS NEW PLATFORM PRIOR TO MIGRATION,
THE TESTING DID NOT DETECT THAT THE NEW PLATFORM WOULD NOT
IDENTIFY TRADING CAPACITY FOR CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS. AS A RESULT,
CAPACITY LANGUAGE WAS OMITTED FROM 39,256 CONFIRMATIONS,
REPRESENTING 13,231 BLOCK NON-DOLLAR EQUITY TRADES, ALL
EXECUTED ON AN AGENCY BASIS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Resolution Date: 04/08/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $65,000.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON APRIL 26, 2013

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $65,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 04/08/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2011026254401

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EQUITIES

Allegations: SECTION 10 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, RULE 10B-
10(A)(2) THEREUNDER, FINRA RULE 2010 AND NASD RULE 2230:
FOLLOWING A SYSTEM MIGRATION, THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS WERE NOT
PROPERLY CONFIGURED TO PASS EXECUTION CAPACITY DOWNSTREAM
TO CUSTOMER CONFIRMATIONS, IN CERTAIN LIMITED SITUATIONS.  WHILE
EXTENSIVE PRE-IMPLEMENTATION TESTING WAS COMPLETED, DUE TO
THE LIMITED NATURE OF THE CONFIGURATION ISSUE, THE PROBLEM WAS
NOT DISCOVERED AND REPORTED UNTIL POST-MIGRATION.  THE
CONFIGURATION PROBLEM RESULTED IN 22 INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS
RECEIVING CONFIRMATIONS RELATED TO 13,231 NON-DOLLAR, AGENCY
BLOCK EQUITY TRADES WHICH DID NOT SPECIFY THE CAPACITY.  THE
TOTAL CONFIRMATIONS AFFECTED WERE 39,256.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Other Product Type(s): EQUITIES

Resolution Date: 04/08/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $65,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $65,000

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $65,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 158 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: FINRA RULES 2010, 6380A, 6622(B), 6730, 7230A, 7230A(B), 7450, NASD
RULES 6130, 6230, 6620(B), 6955, 6955(A) - MERRILL LYNCH TRANSMITTED
REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL
SYSTEM (OATS) THAT WERE REJECTED BY OATS FOR CONTENT OR
SYNTAX ERRORS AND WERE REPAIRABLE BUT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPAIR SOME OF THE REJECTED ROES SO THAT IT FAILED TO TRANSMIT
THEM DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED EXECUTION
OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED
INACCURATE REPORTING EXCEPTION CODES; FAILED TO REPORT
EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS; AND
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO OATS IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT. BECAUSE OF THE
INACCURATE, MISSING OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA IN A
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE, OATS WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE
EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA
TRADE REPORTING SYSTEM. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED REPORTS TO OATS
THAT DID NOT INCLUDE THE SPECIAL HANDLING CODE NH FOR NOT HELD
LIMIT ORDERS. THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT ALL OF ITS ROES TO OATS
ON 380 BUSINESS DAYS FOR A SECONDARY MARKET PARTICIPANT
IDENTIFIER (MPID). THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT NUMEROUS LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF). THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 6380A AND A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FNTRF TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION, APPROXIMATELY 49%
OF ALL TRANSACTIONS THE FIRM HAD AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT OR
DECLINE DURING THE TIME PERIOD. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 7230A(B) AND A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010. THE FIRM FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED A .RX MODIFIER AND ALSO FAILED TO
REPORT TRANSACTIONS WITH A .RX MODIFIER IT WAS REQUIRED TO
REPORT. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY REPORTED ITSELF AS A MARKET
MAKER IN LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS TO THE OTC
REPORTING FACILITY. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO THE TRADE
REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) TRANSACTIONS IN
TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES IT WAS REQUIRED TO REPORT AND ALSO
REPORTED TRANSACTIONS IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/04/2013

Docket/Case Number: 2008014636301

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): DESIGNATED SECURITIES, REPORTABLE SECURITIES, TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES

FINRA RULES 2010, 6380A, 6622(B), 6730, 7230A, 7230A(B), 7450, NASD
RULES 6130, 6230, 6620(B), 6955, 6955(A) - MERRILL LYNCH TRANSMITTED
REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL
SYSTEM (OATS) THAT WERE REJECTED BY OATS FOR CONTENT OR
SYNTAX ERRORS AND WERE REPAIRABLE BUT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPAIR SOME OF THE REJECTED ROES SO THAT IT FAILED TO TRANSMIT
THEM DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED EXECUTION
OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS TO OATS THAT CONTAINED
INACCURATE REPORTING EXCEPTION CODES; FAILED TO REPORT
EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS; AND
TRANSMITTED EXECUTION OR COMBINED ORDER/EXECUTION REPORTS
TO OATS IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT. BECAUSE OF THE
INACCURATE, MISSING OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA IN A
REPORTING EXCEPTION CODE, OATS WAS UNABLE TO LINK THE
EXECUTION REPORTS TO THE RELATED TRADE REPORTS IN A FINRA
TRADE REPORTING SYSTEM. THE FIRM TRANSMITTED REPORTS TO OATS
THAT DID NOT INCLUDE THE SPECIAL HANDLING CODE NH FOR NOT HELD
LIMIT ORDERS. THE FIRM FAILED TO TRANSMIT ALL OF ITS ROES TO OATS
ON 380 BUSINESS DAYS FOR A SECONDARY MARKET PARTICIPANT
IDENTIFIER (MPID). THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT NUMEROUS LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF). THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 6380A AND A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE FNTRF TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION, APPROXIMATELY 49%
OF ALL TRANSACTIONS THE FIRM HAD AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT OR
DECLINE DURING THE TIME PERIOD. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 7230A(B) AND A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010. THE FIRM FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT TO THE FNTRF BY 8:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME
TRANSACTIONS THAT REQUIRED A .RX MODIFIER AND ALSO FAILED TO
REPORT TRANSACTIONS WITH A .RX MODIFIER IT WAS REQUIRED TO
REPORT. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY REPORTED ITSELF AS A MARKET
MAKER IN LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS TO THE OTC
REPORTING FACILITY. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO THE TRADE
REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) TRANSACTIONS IN
TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES IT WAS REQUIRED TO REPORT AND ALSO
REPORTED TRANSACTIONS IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT.

Resolution Date: 03/04/2013

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL ON APRIL 11, 2013

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Disclosure 159 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: MSRB RULES G-17, G-27- MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED AND BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES, LLC, WHICH WAS
CONSOLIDATED INTO MERILL LYNCH, WERE MEMBERS OF A MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES ASSOCIATION WHICH REQUESTED THAT ITS MEMBERS MAKE
UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENT PAYMENTS OF $0.01 PER BOND, AND LATER
$0.02 PER BOND, WHEN THEY PARTICIPATED IN BOND ISSUANCES IN
CALIFORNIA OF MORE THAN $2 MILLION IN ISSUE SIZE WITH MORE THAN
TWO YEARS TO MATURITY. THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATION'S
MISSION WAS TO KEEP ITS MEMBERS INFORMED OF LEGISLATIVE AND
REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS AFFECTING THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
INDUSTRY AND TO PROVIDE A FORUM THROUGH WHICH THE MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES INDUSTRY COULD REVIEW AND RESPOND TO THESE
DEVELOPMENTS. THE ASSOCIATION BILLED ITS MEMBERS ON THE PER-
BOND BASIS, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THERE WAS ANY DIRECT
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THAT BOND ISSUANCE AND THE ASSOCIATION'S
ACTIVITIES, AND REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE ASSOCIATION
PROVIDED ANY SERVICES REQUIRED FOR THE UNDERWRITING. THE
FIRMS PAID THE ASSOCIATION A TOTAL OF $387,455.62 FOR PARTICIPATING
IN THE UNDERWRITING OF APPROXIMATELY 252 APPLICABLE
TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM OBTAINED REIMBURSEMENT FOR THE
VOLUNTARY PAYMENTS FROM THE PROCEEDS OF MUNICIPAL AND STATE
BOND OFFERINGS WHICH WAS UNFAIR. THE ASSESSMENTS DID NOT HAVE
A DIRECT RELATIONSHIP TO ANY ACTIVITIES CONDUCTED WITH RESPECT
TO EACH BOND OFFERING. THE FIRM WAS NOT REQUIRED BY ANY
STATUTE OR REGULATION TO BE A MEMBER OF THE ASSOCIATION YET
TREATED ITS ASSESSMENTS AS AN EXPENSE OF EACH TRANSACTION
AND REQUESTED AND RECEIVED REIMBURSEMENT OF THE PAYMENTS
FROM THE PROCEEDS OF EACH BOND OFFERING.  THE FIRM LISTED THE
UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENTS AS EXPENSES OF THE UNDERWRITING
BUT ITS REQUESTS FOR REIMBURSEMENT WERE NOT FAIR BECAUSE
THEY WERE NOT ACCOMPANIED BY ADEQUATE DISCLOSURE TO ISSUERS.
THE FIRM'S PRACTICES RESULTED IN THE EXPENDITURE OF THE
PROCEEDS OF MUNICIPAL AND STATE BOND OFFERINGS TO AN
ORGANIZATION ENGAGED IN POLITICAL ACTIVITIES. IN RESPONSE TO A
REQUEST FROM THE TREASURER OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, THE
FIRMS HAVE RETURNED $100,255.58 TO MULTIPLE ISSUERS AS A REFUND
FOR THE UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENTS REIMBURSED FROM OFFERING
PROCEEDS. THE FIRMS FAILED TO ADOPT, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH MSRB RULE G-17. THE FIRMS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH REASONABLE PROCEDURES FOR REVIEWING AND
DISCLOSING EXPENSES FOR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATIONS FOR
WHICH IT REQUESTED REIMBURSEMENT FROM THE PROCEEDS OF
MUNICIPAL AND STATE OFFERINGS, AND FOR ENSURING THAT THOSE
REQUESTS WERE FAIR AND ADEQUATE. THE FIRMS ALSO FAILED TO
ADOPT, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS AND WSPS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MONITOR HOW THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
ASSOCIATIONS TO WHICH IT BELONGED USED THE FUNDS THAT THE FIRM
PROVIDED. ADEQUATE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE ESPECIALLY
NECESSARY IN LIGHT OF ONE ASSOCIATION'S ENGAGEMENT IN POLITICAL
ACTIVITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/27/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2010022049801

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

MSRB RULES G-17, G-27- MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED AND BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES, LLC, WHICH WAS
CONSOLIDATED INTO MERILL LYNCH, WERE MEMBERS OF A MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES ASSOCIATION WHICH REQUESTED THAT ITS MEMBERS MAKE
UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENT PAYMENTS OF $0.01 PER BOND, AND LATER
$0.02 PER BOND, WHEN THEY PARTICIPATED IN BOND ISSUANCES IN
CALIFORNIA OF MORE THAN $2 MILLION IN ISSUE SIZE WITH MORE THAN
TWO YEARS TO MATURITY. THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATION'S
MISSION WAS TO KEEP ITS MEMBERS INFORMED OF LEGISLATIVE AND
REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS AFFECTING THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
INDUSTRY AND TO PROVIDE A FORUM THROUGH WHICH THE MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES INDUSTRY COULD REVIEW AND RESPOND TO THESE
DEVELOPMENTS. THE ASSOCIATION BILLED ITS MEMBERS ON THE PER-
BOND BASIS, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THERE WAS ANY DIRECT
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THAT BOND ISSUANCE AND THE ASSOCIATION'S
ACTIVITIES, AND REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE ASSOCIATION
PROVIDED ANY SERVICES REQUIRED FOR THE UNDERWRITING. THE
FIRMS PAID THE ASSOCIATION A TOTAL OF $387,455.62 FOR PARTICIPATING
IN THE UNDERWRITING OF APPROXIMATELY 252 APPLICABLE
TRANSACTIONS. THE FIRM OBTAINED REIMBURSEMENT FOR THE
VOLUNTARY PAYMENTS FROM THE PROCEEDS OF MUNICIPAL AND STATE
BOND OFFERINGS WHICH WAS UNFAIR. THE ASSESSMENTS DID NOT HAVE
A DIRECT RELATIONSHIP TO ANY ACTIVITIES CONDUCTED WITH RESPECT
TO EACH BOND OFFERING. THE FIRM WAS NOT REQUIRED BY ANY
STATUTE OR REGULATION TO BE A MEMBER OF THE ASSOCIATION YET
TREATED ITS ASSESSMENTS AS AN EXPENSE OF EACH TRANSACTION
AND REQUESTED AND RECEIVED REIMBURSEMENT OF THE PAYMENTS
FROM THE PROCEEDS OF EACH BOND OFFERING.  THE FIRM LISTED THE
UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENTS AS EXPENSES OF THE UNDERWRITING
BUT ITS REQUESTS FOR REIMBURSEMENT WERE NOT FAIR BECAUSE
THEY WERE NOT ACCOMPANIED BY ADEQUATE DISCLOSURE TO ISSUERS.
THE FIRM'S PRACTICES RESULTED IN THE EXPENDITURE OF THE
PROCEEDS OF MUNICIPAL AND STATE BOND OFFERINGS TO AN
ORGANIZATION ENGAGED IN POLITICAL ACTIVITIES. IN RESPONSE TO A
REQUEST FROM THE TREASURER OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, THE
FIRMS HAVE RETURNED $100,255.58 TO MULTIPLE ISSUERS AS A REFUND
FOR THE UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENTS REIMBURSED FROM OFFERING
PROCEEDS. THE FIRMS FAILED TO ADOPT, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS) REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH MSRB RULE G-17. THE FIRMS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH REASONABLE PROCEDURES FOR REVIEWING AND
DISCLOSING EXPENSES FOR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATIONS FOR
WHICH IT REQUESTED REIMBURSEMENT FROM THE PROCEEDS OF
MUNICIPAL AND STATE OFFERINGS, AND FOR ENSURING THAT THOSE
REQUESTS WERE FAIR AND ADEQUATE. THE FIRMS ALSO FAILED TO
ADOPT, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS AND WSPS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MONITOR HOW THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
ASSOCIATIONS TO WHICH IT BELONGED USED THE FUNDS THAT THE FIRM
PROVIDED. ADEQUATE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE ESPECIALLY
NECESSARY IN LIGHT OF ONE ASSOCIATION'S ENGAGEMENT IN POLITICAL
ACTIVITIES.

Resolution Date: 12/27/2012

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $787,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $787,000 FOR
MSRB RULE VIOLATIONS AND ORDERED TO PAY $287,200.04 IN
RESTITUTION AND TO SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF
RESTITUTION OR OF REASONABLE DOCUMENTED EFFORTS TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO THE ISSUERS LOCATED IN CALIFORNIA TO WHICH THE
FIRM HAS NOT YET PROVIDED RESTITUTION. PROOF SHALL BE
FORWARDED TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF
THE OFFER. IF THE FIRM CANNOT LOCATE ANY SUCH ISSUER WITHIN 120
DAYS, OR SUCH ADDITIONAL PERIOD AGREED TO BY FINRA, THE FIRM
SHALL FORWARD ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION TO THE
APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA. THE FIRM SHALL
PROVIDE SATISFACTORY PROOF OF SUCH ACTION TO FINRA WITHIN 14
DAYS OF FORWARDING THE UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION. WITHIN 180
DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THIS AWC, AN OFFICER OR EQUIVALENT OF
THE FIRM WILL CERTIFY IN WRITING TO FINRA THAT IT HAS COMPLETED A
REVIEW OF ITS WSPS AND SYSTEMS CONCERNING COMPLIANCE WITH
MSRB RULE G-17; AND IMPLEMENTED NECESSARY REVISIONS TO ENSURE
THAT THEY ARE IN COMPLIANCE WITH MSRB RULE G-27. FINE PAID IN FULL
ON 1/17/2013.

Censure
Monetary/Fine $787,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: MSRB RULES G-17, G-27 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") AND BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC,
WHICH WAS CONSOLIDATED INTO MLPF&S, WERE MEMBERS OF A
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATION WHICH REQUESTED THAT ITS
MEMBERS MAKE UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENT PAYMENTS OF $0.01 PER
BOND, AND LATER $0.02 PER BOND, WHEN THEY PARTICIPATED IN BOND
ISSUANCES IN CALIFORNIA OF MORE THAN $2 MILLION IN ISSUE SIZE
WITH MORE THAN TWO YEARS TO MATURITY.  THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
ASSOCIATION'S MISSION WAS TO KEEP ITS MEMBERS INFORMED OF
LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS AFFECTING THE
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES INDUSTRY AND TO PROVIDE A FORUM THROUGH
WHICH THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES INDUSTRY COULD REVIEW AND
RESPOND TO THESE DEVELOPMENTS.  THE ASSOCIATION BILLED ITS
MEMBERS ON THE PER-BOND BASIS, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THERE
WAS ANY DIRECT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THAT BOND ISSUANCE AND
THE ASSOCIATION'S ACTIVITIES, AND REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE
ASSOCIATION PROVIDED ANY SERVICES REQUIRED FOR THE
UNDERWRITING.  THE FIRMS PAID THE ASSOCIATION A TOTAL OF
$387,455.62 FOR PARTICIPATING IN THE UNDERWRITING OF
APPROXIMATELY 252 APPLICABLE TRANSACTIONS.  THE FIRM OBTAINED
REIMBURSEMENT FOR THE VOLUNTARY PAYMENTS FROM THE PROCEEDS
OF MUNICIPAL AND STATE BOND OFFERINGS WHICH WAS UNFAIR.  THE
ASSESSMENTS DID NOT HAVE A DIRECT RELATIONSHIP TO ANY ACTIVITIES
CONDUCTED WITH RESPECT TO EACH BOND OFFERING.  THE FIRM WAS
NOT REQUIRED BY ANY STATUTE OR REGULATIONS TO BE A MEMBER OF
THE ASSOCIATION YET TREATED ITS ASSESSMENTS AS AN EXPENSE OF
EACH TRANSACTION AND REQUESTED AND RECEIVED REIMBURSEMENT
OF THE PAYMENTS FROM THE PROCEEDS OF EACH BOND OFFERING.
THE FIRM LISTED THE UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENTS AS EXPENSES OF
THE UNDERWRITING BUT ITS REQUESTS FOR REIMBURSEMENT WERE
NOT FAIR BECAUSE THEY WERE NOT ACCOMPANIED BY ADEQUATE
DISCLOSURE TO ISSUERS.  THE FIRM'S PRACTICES RESULTED IN THE
EXPENDITURE OF THE PROCEEDS OF MUNICIPAL AND STATE BOND
OFFERINGS TO AN ORGANIZATION ENGAGED IN POLITICAL ACTIVITIES.  IN
RESPONSE TO A REQUEST FROM THE TREASURER OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, THE FIRMS HAVE RETURNED $100,255.58 TO MULTIPLE
ISSUERS AS A REFUND FOR THE UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENTS
REIMBURSED FROM OFFERING PROCEEDS.  THE FIRMS FAILED TO ADOPT,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS)
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH MSRB RULE G-17
AS IT RELATES TO THE CONDUCT DESCRIBED HERE.  THE FIRMS FAILED
TO ESTABLISH REASONABLE PROCEDURES FOR REVIEWING AND
DISCLOSING EXPENSES FOR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATIONS FOR
WHICH IT REQUESTED REIMBURSEMENT FROM THE PROCEEDS OF
MUNICIPAL AND STATE OFFERINGS, AND FOR ENSURING THAT THOSE
REQUESTS WERE FAIR AND ADQUATE. THE FIRMS ALSO FAILED TO ADOPT,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS AND WSPS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO MONITOR HOW THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATIONS
TO WHICH IT BELONGED USED THE FUNDS THAT THE FIRM PROVIDED.
ADEQUATE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE ESPECIALLY NECESSARY
IN LIGHT OF ONE ASSOCIATION'S ENGAGEMENT IN POLITICAL ACTIVITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 12/27/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2010022049801

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s): N/A

MSRB RULES G-17, G-27 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") AND BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC,
WHICH WAS CONSOLIDATED INTO MLPF&S, WERE MEMBERS OF A
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATION WHICH REQUESTED THAT ITS
MEMBERS MAKE UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENT PAYMENTS OF $0.01 PER
BOND, AND LATER $0.02 PER BOND, WHEN THEY PARTICIPATED IN BOND
ISSUANCES IN CALIFORNIA OF MORE THAN $2 MILLION IN ISSUE SIZE
WITH MORE THAN TWO YEARS TO MATURITY.  THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
ASSOCIATION'S MISSION WAS TO KEEP ITS MEMBERS INFORMED OF
LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS AFFECTING THE
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES INDUSTRY AND TO PROVIDE A FORUM THROUGH
WHICH THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES INDUSTRY COULD REVIEW AND
RESPOND TO THESE DEVELOPMENTS.  THE ASSOCIATION BILLED ITS
MEMBERS ON THE PER-BOND BASIS, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THERE
WAS ANY DIRECT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THAT BOND ISSUANCE AND
THE ASSOCIATION'S ACTIVITIES, AND REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE
ASSOCIATION PROVIDED ANY SERVICES REQUIRED FOR THE
UNDERWRITING.  THE FIRMS PAID THE ASSOCIATION A TOTAL OF
$387,455.62 FOR PARTICIPATING IN THE UNDERWRITING OF
APPROXIMATELY 252 APPLICABLE TRANSACTIONS.  THE FIRM OBTAINED
REIMBURSEMENT FOR THE VOLUNTARY PAYMENTS FROM THE PROCEEDS
OF MUNICIPAL AND STATE BOND OFFERINGS WHICH WAS UNFAIR.  THE
ASSESSMENTS DID NOT HAVE A DIRECT RELATIONSHIP TO ANY ACTIVITIES
CONDUCTED WITH RESPECT TO EACH BOND OFFERING.  THE FIRM WAS
NOT REQUIRED BY ANY STATUTE OR REGULATIONS TO BE A MEMBER OF
THE ASSOCIATION YET TREATED ITS ASSESSMENTS AS AN EXPENSE OF
EACH TRANSACTION AND REQUESTED AND RECEIVED REIMBURSEMENT
OF THE PAYMENTS FROM THE PROCEEDS OF EACH BOND OFFERING.
THE FIRM LISTED THE UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENTS AS EXPENSES OF
THE UNDERWRITING BUT ITS REQUESTS FOR REIMBURSEMENT WERE
NOT FAIR BECAUSE THEY WERE NOT ACCOMPANIED BY ADEQUATE
DISCLOSURE TO ISSUERS.  THE FIRM'S PRACTICES RESULTED IN THE
EXPENDITURE OF THE PROCEEDS OF MUNICIPAL AND STATE BOND
OFFERINGS TO AN ORGANIZATION ENGAGED IN POLITICAL ACTIVITIES.  IN
RESPONSE TO A REQUEST FROM THE TREASURER OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, THE FIRMS HAVE RETURNED $100,255.58 TO MULTIPLE
ISSUERS AS A REFUND FOR THE UNDERWRITING ASSESSMENTS
REIMBURSED FROM OFFERING PROCEEDS.  THE FIRMS FAILED TO ADOPT,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (WSPS)
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH MSRB RULE G-17
AS IT RELATES TO THE CONDUCT DESCRIBED HERE.  THE FIRMS FAILED
TO ESTABLISH REASONABLE PROCEDURES FOR REVIEWING AND
DISCLOSING EXPENSES FOR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATIONS FOR
WHICH IT REQUESTED REIMBURSEMENT FROM THE PROCEEDS OF
MUNICIPAL AND STATE OFFERINGS, AND FOR ENSURING THAT THOSE
REQUESTS WERE FAIR AND ADQUATE. THE FIRMS ALSO FAILED TO ADOPT,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS AND WSPS REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO MONITOR HOW THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES ASSOCIATIONS
TO WHICH IT BELONGED USED THE FUNDS THAT THE FIRM PROVIDED.
ADEQUATE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE ESPECIALLY NECESSARY
IN LIGHT OF ONE ASSOCIATION'S ENGAGEMENT IN POLITICAL ACTIVITIES.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
RESTITUTION

Resolution Date: 12/27/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPF&S CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $787,000 FOR MSRB
RULE VIOLATIONS AND ORDERED TO PAY $287,200.04 IN RESTITUTION AND
TO SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF RESTITUTION OR OF
REASONABLE DOCUMENTED EFFORTS TO EFFECT RESTITUTION TO THE
ISSUERS LOCATED IN CALIFORNIA TO WHICH THE FIRM HAS NOT YET
PROVIDED RESTITUTION.  PROOF SHALL BE FORWARDED TO FINRA NO
LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFER.  IF THE FIRM
CANNOT LOCATE ANY SUCH ISSUER WITHIN 120 DAYS, OR SUCH
ADDITIONAL PERIOD AGREED TO BY FINRA, THE FIRM SHALL FORWARD
ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT,
UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED PROPERTY FUND FOR THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA.  THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE SATISFACTORY PROOF
OF SUCH ACTION TO FINRA WITHIN 14 DAYS OF FORWARDING THE
UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION.  WITHIN 180 DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF
THIS AWC, AN OFFICER OR EQUIVALENT OF THE FIRM WILL CERTIFY IN
WRITING TO FINRA THAT IT HAS COMPLETED A REVIEW OF ITS WSPS AND
SYSTEMS CONCERNING COMPLIANCE WITH MSRB RULE G-17; AND
IMPLEMENTED NECESSARY REVISIONS TO ENSURE THAT THEY ARE IN
COMPLIANCE WITH MSRB RULE G-27.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MLPF&S CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $787,000 FOR MSRB
RULE VIOLATIONS AND ORDERED TO PAY $287,200.04 IN RESTITUTION AND
TO SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF RESTITUTION OR OF
REASONABLE DOCUMENTED EFFORTS TO EFFECT RESTITUTION TO THE
ISSUERS LOCATED IN CALIFORNIA TO WHICH THE FIRM HAS NOT YET
PROVIDED RESTITUTION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $787,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 160 of 595
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Disclosure 160 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/12/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008013213201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: FINRA RULES 2010, 6182, 7230A(D)(6), NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 6130(D)(6).  -
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED EXECUTED
CROSS TRANSACTIONS THAT WERE ALSO SHORT SALES BUT REPORTED
THESE TRADES TO THE FNTRF WITHOUT A SHORT SALE MODIFIER. THE
FIRM EXECUTED OVER EIGHT MILLION CROSS TRANSACTIONS THAT
WERE ALSO SHORT SALES, BUT REPORTED THESE TRADES TO THE
FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF)WITHOUT A SHORT
SALE MODIFIER. THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE ADEQUATE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULES 6182, 7230A(D)(6) AND NASD RULE
6130(D)(6).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/12/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $265,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL ON 1/23/2013.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $265,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $265,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL ON 1/23/2013.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/12/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008013213201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: FINRA RULES 2010, 6182, 7230A(D)(6), NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 6130(D)(6). -
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED EXECUTED
CROSS TRANSACTIONS THAT WERE ALSO SHORT SALES BUT REPORTED
THESE TRADES TO THE FNTRF WITHOUT A SHORT SALE MODIFIER. THE
FIRM EXECUTED OVER EIGHT MILLION CROSS TRANSACTIONS THAT
WERE ALSO SHORT SALES, BUT REPORTED THESE TRADES TO THE
FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF)WITHOUT A SHORT
SALE MODIFIER. THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE ADEQUATE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH FINRA RULES 6182, 7230A(D)(6) AND NASD RULE
6130(D)(6).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/12/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $265,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $265,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $265,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Disclosure 161 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE
- SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 11/28/2012

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 09SEC052

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE,
SECURITIES DIVISION (ADMINISTRATOR) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WAS GROUNDS
FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTION BY THE ADMINISTRATOR UNDER N.C.G.S. §§
78A-39(A)(2)(G) AND 78A-39(A1)(2)(A).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/28/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT  WITH THE ADMINISTRATOR, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE NORTH CAROLINA SECURITIES
ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE ADMINISTRATOR A TOTAL
PAYMENT OF $3,193,552.24, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,193,552.24
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 162 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ICE FUTURES U.S., INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 08/22/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2011-070

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE OF ICE FUTURES U.S., INC.
DETERMINED THAT APPLICANT MAY HAVE VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 6.
13(A) ON FEBRUARY 2 AND 3, 2011 BY MAINTAINING A SHORT POSITION IN
COTTON NO. 2 FOR A CORPORATE AFFILIATE WHICH EXCEEDED THE NET
5,000 FUTURES EQUIVALENT ALL MONTHS POSITION LIMIT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/22/2012

Resolution: Settled

486©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 08/22/2012

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATION OF ANY EXCHANGE
RULES, THE APPLICANT AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $25,000 AND TO CEASE
AND DESIST FROM FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE RULE 6.13(A).

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATION OF ANY EXCHANGE
RULES, THE APPLICANT AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $25,000 AND TO CEASE
AND DESIST FROM FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE RULE 6.13(A).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $25,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 163 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-68023, OCTOBER 9, 2012: ON MARCH 14, 2007 THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") ISSUED AN
ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS
AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND
21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST BANC OF
AMERICA SECURITIES LLC (THE "2007 BAS ORDER"). THE 2007 BAS ORDER
FOUND THAT, FROM JANUARY 1999 THROUGH DECEMBER 2001, BAS
ISSUED MATERIALLY FALSE AND MISLEADING RESEARCH ON THREE
DIFFERENT COMPANIES. THE 2007 BAS ORDER ALSO FOUND THAT BAS
LACKED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE MISUSE BY THE
FIRM AND ITS EMPLOYEES OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
CONCERNING THE CONTENT AND TIMING OF ITS RESEARCH REPORTS.

THE 2007 BAS ORDER CENSURED BAS AND ORDERED BAS TO: (I) CEASE
AND DESIST FROM  COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS OR
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C) AND 15(F) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AND RULE 15C1-2(A) PROMULGATED
THEREUNDER; (II) PAY $26 MILLION IN DISGORGEMENT AND PENALTIES
INTO A FAIR FUND FOR DISTRIBUTION TO ITS AFFECTED CUSTOMERS; (III)
RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A COMPREHENSIVE
REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S INTERNAL CONTROLS TO PREVENT THE MISUSE
OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION CONCERNING BAS RESEARCH;
(IV) CERTIFY TO THE COMMISSION'S STAFF IN THE SECOND YEAR
FOLLOWING THE ISSUANCE OF THE 2007 BAS ORDER THAT BAS HAD
ESTABLISHED AND CONTINUED TO MAINTAIN EXCHANGE ACT SECTION
15(F) POLICIES, PRACTICES, AND PROCEDURES CONSISTENT WITH THE
FINDINGS OF THE 2007 BAS ORDER; AND (V) COMPLY WITH ADDENDUM A
TO THE 2007 BAS ORDER, WHICH IMPLEMENTED CERTAIN STRUCTURAL
CHANGES TO THE OPERATIONS OF THE FIRM'S EQUITY RESEARCH AND
INVESTMENT BANKING DEPARTMENTS. SECTION 1.1.A. OF ADDENDUM A
TO THE 2007 BAS ORDER SPECIFIES THAT IT APPLIES TO SUCCESSORS
AND ASSIGNS OF BAS'S INVESTMENT BANKING AND RESEARCH
OPERATIONS.

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPFS"), AS
THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, SUBMITTED AN AMENDED OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT (THE "AMENDED OFFER") IN WHICH IT CONSENTS TO THE
ENTRY OF AN ORDER AMENDING THE 2007 BAS ORDER.

ON THE BASIS OF THE AMENDED ORDER AND THE AMENDED OFFER OF
MLPFS, AS THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT: ON
MARCH 14, 2007, THE COMMISSION ISSUED AN ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, MAKING
FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-
DESIST ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND 21C OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST BAS (THE "2007 BAS
ORDER"). THE 2007 BAS ORDER FOUND THAT FROM JANUARY 1999
THROUGH DECEMBER 2001, BAS INVESTMENT BANKERS
INAPPROPRIATELY INFLUENCED EQUITY RESEARCH ANALYSTS,
RESULTING IN THE PUBLICATION OF MATERIALLY FALSE AND MISLEADING
RESEARCH REPORTS ON AT LEAST THREE COMPANIES IN VIOLATION OF
SECTIONS 15(C) AND 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C1-2(A)
THEREUNDER. THE 2007 BAS ORDER, AMONG OTHER THINGS, ORDERED
BAS TO COMPLY WITH ADDENDUM A TO THE 2007 BAS ORDER. ADDENDUM
A BY ITS TERMS APPLIES TO SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS OF BAS'
INVESTMENT BANKING AND RESEARCH OPERATIONS. AS A RESULT OF
THE CONDUCT, THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT BAS WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTIONS 15(C) AND 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C1-2(A)
THEREUNDER. (CONT'D IN COMMENT)

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/09/2012

Docket/Case Number: 3-12591

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-68023, OCTOBER 9, 2012: ON MARCH 14, 2007 THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") ISSUED AN
ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST
PROCEEDINGS, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS
AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND
21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST BANC OF
AMERICA SECURITIES LLC (THE "2007 BAS ORDER"). THE 2007 BAS ORDER
FOUND THAT, FROM JANUARY 1999 THROUGH DECEMBER 2001, BAS
ISSUED MATERIALLY FALSE AND MISLEADING RESEARCH ON THREE
DIFFERENT COMPANIES. THE 2007 BAS ORDER ALSO FOUND THAT BAS
LACKED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE MISUSE BY THE
FIRM AND ITS EMPLOYEES OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION
CONCERNING THE CONTENT AND TIMING OF ITS RESEARCH REPORTS.

THE 2007 BAS ORDER CENSURED BAS AND ORDERED BAS TO: (I) CEASE
AND DESIST FROM  COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS OR
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C) AND 15(F) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AND RULE 15C1-2(A) PROMULGATED
THEREUNDER; (II) PAY $26 MILLION IN DISGORGEMENT AND PENALTIES
INTO A FAIR FUND FOR DISTRIBUTION TO ITS AFFECTED CUSTOMERS; (III)
RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A COMPREHENSIVE
REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S INTERNAL CONTROLS TO PREVENT THE MISUSE
OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION CONCERNING BAS RESEARCH;
(IV) CERTIFY TO THE COMMISSION'S STAFF IN THE SECOND YEAR
FOLLOWING THE ISSUANCE OF THE 2007 BAS ORDER THAT BAS HAD
ESTABLISHED AND CONTINUED TO MAINTAIN EXCHANGE ACT SECTION
15(F) POLICIES, PRACTICES, AND PROCEDURES CONSISTENT WITH THE
FINDINGS OF THE 2007 BAS ORDER; AND (V) COMPLY WITH ADDENDUM A
TO THE 2007 BAS ORDER, WHICH IMPLEMENTED CERTAIN STRUCTURAL
CHANGES TO THE OPERATIONS OF THE FIRM'S EQUITY RESEARCH AND
INVESTMENT BANKING DEPARTMENTS. SECTION 1.1.A. OF ADDENDUM A
TO THE 2007 BAS ORDER SPECIFIES THAT IT APPLIES TO SUCCESSORS
AND ASSIGNS OF BAS'S INVESTMENT BANKING AND RESEARCH
OPERATIONS.

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPFS"), AS
THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, SUBMITTED AN AMENDED OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT (THE "AMENDED OFFER") IN WHICH IT CONSENTS TO THE
ENTRY OF AN ORDER AMENDING THE 2007 BAS ORDER.

ON THE BASIS OF THE AMENDED ORDER AND THE AMENDED OFFER OF
MLPFS, AS THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT: ON
MARCH 14, 2007, THE COMMISSION ISSUED AN ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, MAKING
FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-
DESIST ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND 21C OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST BAS (THE "2007 BAS
ORDER"). THE 2007 BAS ORDER FOUND THAT FROM JANUARY 1999
THROUGH DECEMBER 2001, BAS INVESTMENT BANKERS
INAPPROPRIATELY INFLUENCED EQUITY RESEARCH ANALYSTS,
RESULTING IN THE PUBLICATION OF MATERIALLY FALSE AND MISLEADING
RESEARCH REPORTS ON AT LEAST THREE COMPANIES IN VIOLATION OF
SECTIONS 15(C) AND 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C1-2(A)
THEREUNDER. THE 2007 BAS ORDER, AMONG OTHER THINGS, ORDERED
BAS TO COMPLY WITH ADDENDUM A TO THE 2007 BAS ORDER. ADDENDUM
A BY ITS TERMS APPLIES TO SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS OF BAS'
INVESTMENT BANKING AND RESEARCH OPERATIONS. AS A RESULT OF
THE CONDUCT, THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT BAS WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTIONS 15(C) AND 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C1-2(A)
THEREUNDER. (CONT'D IN COMMENT)
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 10/09/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE COMMISSION DEEMED IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC
INTEREST TO AMEND THE 2007 BAS ORDER AS AGREED TO IN THE
AMENDED OFFER OF MLFPS AS SUCCESSOR TO BAS. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS
HEREBY ORDERED THAT THE 2007 BAS ORDER IS AMENDED TO: (1)
STRIKE ADDENDUM A TO THE 2007 BAS ORDER; (2) ORDER THAT
HENCEFORTH THE SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS OF BAS SHALL COMPLY
WITH ALL ORDERS, ADDENDA AND UNDERTAKINGS IN SEC V. MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC., 03 CIV. 2941 (WHP) (S.D.N.Y. APRIL
28, 2003), AS MODIFIED ON MARCH 15, 2010; AND (3) ORDER THAT IN ALL
OTHER RESPECTS, ASIDE FROM ADDENDUM A, THE 2007 BAS ORDER
REMAINS IN EFFECT AND BINDING ON RESPONDENT'S SUCCESSORS AND
ASSIGNS.

Regulator Statement (CONT'D FROM #7) AT THAT TIME, THE LANGUAGE OF ADDENDUM A TO THE
2007 BAS ORDER WAS, IN ALL MATERIAL RESPECTS, ESSENTIALLY
IDENTICAL TO ADDENDUM A TO THE FINAL JUDGMENT ENTERED AGAINST
MLPFS, IN THE CASE ENTITLED, SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION V. MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC., 03 CIV.
2941 (S.D.N.Y. APRIL 28, 2003) (THE "2003 MLPFS FINAL JUDGMENT"),
ALLEGING THAT THE INVESTMENT BANKING INTERESTS OF MLPFS
EXERCISED UNDUE INFLUENCE OVER ITS SECURITIES RESEARCH
OPERATIONS AND THAT MLPFS ISSUED FRAUDULENT AND INCONSISTENT
RESEARCH REPORTS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 15(C) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND RULE 15C1-2 THEREUNDER, AS WELL AS VARIOUS RELATED SRO
RULES (THE "MLPFS ACTION").

AS THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, MLPFS BECAME SUBJECT TO ADDENDUM A
OF THE 2007 BAS ORDER. AT THE SAME TIME, MLPFS REMAINS SUBJECT
TO ADDENDUM A TO THE 2003 MLPFS FINAL JUDGMENT.

ON MARCH 15, 2010, IN THE MLPFS ACTION, THE DISTRICT COURT
MODIFIED ADDENDUM A TO THE 2003 MLPFS FINAL JUDGMENT BY, INTER
ALIA, REMOVING CERTAIN PROVISIONS THAT REMAIN IN ADDENDUM A TO
THE 2007 BAS ORDER. SINCE THAT DATE, MLPFS HAS BEEN SUBJECT TO
TWO DIFFERING ADDENDA CONCERNING SUBSTANTIALLY IDENTICAL
SUBJECTS.

MLPFS, AS THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, SUBMITTED AN AMENDED OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT (THE "AMENDED OFFER") IN WHICH IT CONSENTED TO THE
ENTRY OF AN ORDER AMENDING THE 2007 BAS ORDER. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH MLPFS, AS THE
SUCCESSOR TO BAS, ADMITTED, MLPFS CONSENTED TO THE ISSUANCE
OF THE ORDER AMENDING ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND
CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
("AMENDED ORDER").

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $16,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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(CONT'D FROM #7) AT THAT TIME, THE LANGUAGE OF ADDENDUM A TO THE
2007 BAS ORDER WAS, IN ALL MATERIAL RESPECTS, ESSENTIALLY
IDENTICAL TO ADDENDUM A TO THE FINAL JUDGMENT ENTERED AGAINST
MLPFS, IN THE CASE ENTITLED, SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION V. MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC., 03 CIV.
2941 (S.D.N.Y. APRIL 28, 2003) (THE "2003 MLPFS FINAL JUDGMENT"),
ALLEGING THAT THE INVESTMENT BANKING INTERESTS OF MLPFS
EXERCISED UNDUE INFLUENCE OVER ITS SECURITIES RESEARCH
OPERATIONS AND THAT MLPFS ISSUED FRAUDULENT AND INCONSISTENT
RESEARCH REPORTS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 15(C) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND RULE 15C1-2 THEREUNDER, AS WELL AS VARIOUS RELATED SRO
RULES (THE "MLPFS ACTION").

AS THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, MLPFS BECAME SUBJECT TO ADDENDUM A
OF THE 2007 BAS ORDER. AT THE SAME TIME, MLPFS REMAINS SUBJECT
TO ADDENDUM A TO THE 2003 MLPFS FINAL JUDGMENT.

ON MARCH 15, 2010, IN THE MLPFS ACTION, THE DISTRICT COURT
MODIFIED ADDENDUM A TO THE 2003 MLPFS FINAL JUDGMENT BY, INTER
ALIA, REMOVING CERTAIN PROVISIONS THAT REMAIN IN ADDENDUM A TO
THE 2007 BAS ORDER. SINCE THAT DATE, MLPFS HAS BEEN SUBJECT TO
TWO DIFFERING ADDENDA CONCERNING SUBSTANTIALLY IDENTICAL
SUBJECTS.

MLPFS, AS THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, SUBMITTED AN AMENDED OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT (THE "AMENDED OFFER") IN WHICH IT CONSENTED TO THE
ENTRY OF AN ORDER AMENDING THE 2007 BAS ORDER. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH MLPFS, AS THE
SUCCESSOR TO BAS, ADMITTED, MLPFS CONSENTED TO THE ISSUANCE
OF THE ORDER AMENDING ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND
CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
("AMENDED ORDER").

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 03/14/2007

Docket/Case Number: 3-12591

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): RESEARCH

Allegations: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT BY BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC ("BAS") (WHICH WAS MERGED INTO MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ON NOVEMBER 1, 2010) IN
WHICH BAS NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE FINDINGS, THE SEC
ENTERED INTO AN ORDER ON MARCH 14, 2007 (THE "BAS ORDER")
FINDING THAT, DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY 1999 THROUGH DECEMBER
2001, BAS VIOLATED THE ANTIFRAUD AND INTERNAL CONTROL
PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH
BAS' ISSUANCE OF RESEARCH.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

MONETARY/FINE, CENSURE, DISGORGEMENT/RESTITUTION; AND CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.

Other Product Type(s): RESEARCH

Resolution Date: 10/09/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE BAS ORDER PROVIDES THAT BAS IS CENSURED; BAS SHALL CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS
OF SECTIONS 15(C) AND 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C1-
2(A) PROMULGATED THEREUNDER; BAS SHALL PAY A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY OF $6 MILLION FOR VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 15(F) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND $10 MILLION IN DISGORGEMENT PLUS A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY OF $10 MILLION FOR ITS VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 15(C) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT; AND BAS SHALL COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS
AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13.

Sanction Details: BAS SHALL PAY $10 MILLION IN DISGORGEMENT AND A TOTAL CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY OF $16 MILLION WITHIN 10 DAYS OF ENTRY OF THE BAS ORDER.
THESE FUNDS ARE TO BE DISTRIBUTED UNDER THE DIRECTION OF THE
DISTRIBUTION FUND ADMINISTRATOR.

Firm Statement THE BAS ORDER PROVIDES THAT: (1) WITHIN 30 DAYS, BAS SHALL RETAIN
A QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A
COMPREHENSIVE REVIEW OF BAS' POLICIES, PRACTICES AND
PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC
INFORMATION CONCERNING BAS RESEARCH, TO DETERMINE THE
ADEQUACY OF SUCH POLICIES, PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES UNDER
SECTION 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND TO PREPARE A REPORT
REVIEWING THE ADEQUACY OF BAS' CURRENT POLICIES, PRACTICES,
AND PROCEDURES AND MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING HOW
BAS SHOULD MODIFY OR SUPPLEMENT THE POLICIES, PRACTICES, AND
PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC
INFORMATION IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 15(F); (2) WITHIN 120 DAYS
OF BAS' RECEIPT OF SAID CONSULTANT'S REPORT, BAS SHALL ADOPT
AND IMPLEMENT ALL RECOMMENDATIONS SET FORTH IN THE
CONSULTANT'S REPORT; (3) WITHIN 30 DAYS, BAS MUST UNDERTAKE TO
CONDUCT A REVIEW OF THE IMPLEMENTATION AND EFFECTIVENESS OF
THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES RELATING TO ITS EQUITY
RESEARCH AND INVESTMENT BANKING OPERATIONS TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH ALL TERMS OF THE BAS ORDER AND PROVIDE A
WRITTEN REPORT TO THE SEC SETTING FORTH ITS FINDINGS AND ITS
RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING ANY REVISIONS OR IMPROVEMENTS TO
THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE
TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ALL TERMS OF THE BAS ORDER; AND (4)
WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE REPORT OUTLINED IN (3) ABOVE, BAS MUST
UNDERTAKE TO ADOPT AND IMPLEMENT ALL RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE
REPORT AND CERTIFY THAT THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
RELATING TO EQUITY RESEARCH AND INVESTMENT BANKING
OPERATIONS ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ALL TERMS OF THE BAS
ORDER.  AS SUCCESSOR TO BAS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") BECAME SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF
THE BAS ORDER ON NOVEMBER 1, 2010.  SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-68023,
OCTOBER 9, 2012:  MLPF&S, AS THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, SUBMITTED AN
AMENDED OFFER OF SETTLEMENT  IN WHICH IT CONSENTED TO THE
ENTRY OF AN ORDER AMENDING THE BAS ORDER.  SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH MLPF&S, AS THE
SUCCESSOR TO BAS, ADMITS, MLPF&S CONSENTED TO THE ISSUANCE OF
THE ORDER AMENDING THE BAS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, MAKING FINDINGS, AND
IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $16,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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THE BAS ORDER PROVIDES THAT: (1) WITHIN 30 DAYS, BAS SHALL RETAIN
A QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT A
COMPREHENSIVE REVIEW OF BAS' POLICIES, PRACTICES AND
PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC
INFORMATION CONCERNING BAS RESEARCH, TO DETERMINE THE
ADEQUACY OF SUCH POLICIES, PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES UNDER
SECTION 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND TO PREPARE A REPORT
REVIEWING THE ADEQUACY OF BAS' CURRENT POLICIES, PRACTICES,
AND PROCEDURES AND MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING HOW
BAS SHOULD MODIFY OR SUPPLEMENT THE POLICIES, PRACTICES, AND
PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC
INFORMATION IN COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 15(F); (2) WITHIN 120 DAYS
OF BAS' RECEIPT OF SAID CONSULTANT'S REPORT, BAS SHALL ADOPT
AND IMPLEMENT ALL RECOMMENDATIONS SET FORTH IN THE
CONSULTANT'S REPORT; (3) WITHIN 30 DAYS, BAS MUST UNDERTAKE TO
CONDUCT A REVIEW OF THE IMPLEMENTATION AND EFFECTIVENESS OF
THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES RELATING TO ITS EQUITY
RESEARCH AND INVESTMENT BANKING OPERATIONS TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH ALL TERMS OF THE BAS ORDER AND PROVIDE A
WRITTEN REPORT TO THE SEC SETTING FORTH ITS FINDINGS AND ITS
RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING ANY REVISIONS OR IMPROVEMENTS TO
THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE
TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ALL TERMS OF THE BAS ORDER; AND (4)
WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE REPORT OUTLINED IN (3) ABOVE, BAS MUST
UNDERTAKE TO ADOPT AND IMPLEMENT ALL RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE
REPORT AND CERTIFY THAT THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
RELATING TO EQUITY RESEARCH AND INVESTMENT BANKING
OPERATIONS ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ALL TERMS OF THE BAS
ORDER.  AS SUCCESSOR TO BAS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") BECAME SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF
THE BAS ORDER ON NOVEMBER 1, 2010.  SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-68023,
OCTOBER 9, 2012:  MLPF&S, AS THE SUCCESSOR TO BAS, SUBMITTED AN
AMENDED OFFER OF SETTLEMENT  IN WHICH IT CONSENTED TO THE
ENTRY OF AN ORDER AMENDING THE BAS ORDER.  SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH MLPF&S, AS THE
SUCCESSOR TO BAS, ADMITS, MLPF&S CONSENTED TO THE ISSUANCE OF
THE ORDER AMENDING THE BAS ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, MAKING FINDINGS, AND
IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.

Disclosure 164 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: ARTICLE V, SECTIONS 2(A) AND 2(C), 3(A), 3(B) OF THE FINRA BY-LAWS,
FINRA RULE 2010, 3010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3070(F), NYSE RULES
351(A), 351(D), 401A, FINRA INCORPORATED NYSE RULES 351(A), 351(D),
401A - MERRILL LYNCH DETECTED APPROXIMATELY 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS WHEN VARIOUS FIRM DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER
MEMBER FIRM BEGAN TO BE CONSOLIDATED INTO A COMBINED
COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT BUT THE FIRM FAILED TO COMPLY AND/OR
TIMELY COMPLY WITH ITS OBLIGATION TO MAKE CERTAIN REQUIRED
FILINGS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS RELATIVE TO THE BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS. OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 77 CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FIRM TO FILE A REPORT PURSUANT TO NYSE
RULE 351(A)(2) OR (A)(8) BUT 35 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 14 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE MADE
LATE. MOST OF THE LATE FILINGS WERE AT LEAST SIX MONTHS LATE AND
AS MUCH AS ONE YEAR LATE. THE FIRM'S FAILURES CONTINUED AFTER
THE PERIOD OF THE BACKLOG COMPLAINTS. OF 172 POST BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS REQUIRING A NYSE RULE 351(A) FILING, 26 WERE NEVER
MADE AND 10 FILINGS WERE NOT TIMELY MADE. MOST UNTIMELY
COMPLAINTS WERE LESS THAN 90 DAYS LATE. OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS, 1,157 WERE REQUIRED TO BE INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION. OF THE FIRM'S
VIOLATIVE FILINGS: 26 WERE NEVER INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS AND 248 OF THE 1,157 WERE NOT TIMELY INCLUDED
IN THE FIRM'S QUARTERLY FILINGS. MOST OF THE UNTIMELY FILINGS
WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS. OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 1,085
REQUIRED THE FIRM TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE CUSTOMER'S COMPLAINT
WITHIN 15 DAYS OF RECEIPT; OF THE 1,085, REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 163 WERE NEVER MADE AND REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 117 WERE MADE LATE. MOST OF THE
UNTIMELY ACKNOWLEDGMENTS WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS. OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 310 CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED
THE FIRM TO FILE A FORM U4. OF THE 310: 12 FORM U4 FILINGS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 80 WERE MADE LATE. ABOUT ONE-HALF OF THE
UNTIMELY FORMS U4 WERE FILED MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE. OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, THE FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO FILE A FORM
U5 IN 162 INSTANCES; 45 OF THE 162 REQUIRED FILINGS WERE MADE
LATE. NEARLY TWO-THIRDS OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE FILED
MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE. DURING THE POST BACKLOG PERIOD, 344
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FILING OF A FORM U5. OF
THESE, THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE, OR TIMELY MAKE, 35 FILINGS. ABOUT
ONE-THIRD OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE MORE THAN 90 DAYS
LATE. THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE COPIES OF ALL NON-NASD/FINRA
ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL AND CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS RECEIVED DURING
A TWO-YEAR PERIOD AND A SUBSEQUENT FOUR-MONTH PERIOD. AS WITH
THE BACKLOG COMPLAINT, THE FIRM DETECTED WHEN VARIOUS FIRM
DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER FIRM BEGAN CONSOLIDATIONS. DURING
THESE TWO PERIODS, APPROXIMATELY 214 EVENTS REQUIRED AN NASD
RULE 3070(F) FILING AND THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE 100% OF THE
REQUIRED FILINGS.  BETWEEN THE FIRST AND SECOND PERIODS, FOR A
SPAN OF APPROXIMATELY SIX MONTHS, THE FIRM EXPERIENCED
REPORTING FAILURES. THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS
FOR 80 ARBITRATIONS AND/OR CIVIL LITIGATIONS; THE FIRM FAILED TO
FILE THE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR FOUR OF THE 80 LITIGATIONS AND
MADE LATE FILINGS FOR AN ADDITIONAL 14 LITIGATIONS. DURING A MORE
THAN THREE-YEAR PERIOD, THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE, OR TIMELY FILE,
FORMS U4 AND U5 RELATED TO THE ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL
LITIGATIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE AND/OR TIMELY MAKE FORM U4
FILINGS FOR 28% OF ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL LITIGATIONS AND 60% OF
LITIGATIONS REQUIRING REPORTING. PERSONNEL IN THE FIRM'S INTAKE
GROUP, OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL WERE NOT ADEQUATELY TRAINED
AND/OR SUPERVISED IN PERFORMING ASSIGNED FUNCTIONS WITH
RESPECT TO CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS. [CONTINUED IN COMMENT]

Current Status: Final
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ARTICLE V, SECTIONS 2(A) AND 2(C), 3(A), 3(B) OF THE FINRA BY-LAWS,
FINRA RULE 2010, 3010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3070(F), NYSE RULES
351(A), 351(D), 401A, FINRA INCORPORATED NYSE RULES 351(A), 351(D),
401A - MERRILL LYNCH DETECTED APPROXIMATELY 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS WHEN VARIOUS FIRM DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER
MEMBER FIRM BEGAN TO BE CONSOLIDATED INTO A COMBINED
COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT BUT THE FIRM FAILED TO COMPLY AND/OR
TIMELY COMPLY WITH ITS OBLIGATION TO MAKE CERTAIN REQUIRED
FILINGS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS RELATIVE TO THE BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS. OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 77 CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FIRM TO FILE A REPORT PURSUANT TO NYSE
RULE 351(A)(2) OR (A)(8) BUT 35 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 14 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE MADE
LATE. MOST OF THE LATE FILINGS WERE AT LEAST SIX MONTHS LATE AND
AS MUCH AS ONE YEAR LATE. THE FIRM'S FAILURES CONTINUED AFTER
THE PERIOD OF THE BACKLOG COMPLAINTS. OF 172 POST BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS REQUIRING A NYSE RULE 351(A) FILING, 26 WERE NEVER
MADE AND 10 FILINGS WERE NOT TIMELY MADE. MOST UNTIMELY
COMPLAINTS WERE LESS THAN 90 DAYS LATE. OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS, 1,157 WERE REQUIRED TO BE INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION. OF THE FIRM'S
VIOLATIVE FILINGS: 26 WERE NEVER INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS AND 248 OF THE 1,157 WERE NOT TIMELY INCLUDED
IN THE FIRM'S QUARTERLY FILINGS. MOST OF THE UNTIMELY FILINGS
WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS. OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 1,085
REQUIRED THE FIRM TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE CUSTOMER'S COMPLAINT
WITHIN 15 DAYS OF RECEIPT; OF THE 1,085, REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 163 WERE NEVER MADE AND REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 117 WERE MADE LATE. MOST OF THE
UNTIMELY ACKNOWLEDGMENTS WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS. OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 310 CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED
THE FIRM TO FILE A FORM U4. OF THE 310: 12 FORM U4 FILINGS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 80 WERE MADE LATE. ABOUT ONE-HALF OF THE
UNTIMELY FORMS U4 WERE FILED MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE. OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, THE FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO FILE A FORM
U5 IN 162 INSTANCES; 45 OF THE 162 REQUIRED FILINGS WERE MADE
LATE. NEARLY TWO-THIRDS OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE FILED
MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE. DURING THE POST BACKLOG PERIOD, 344
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FILING OF A FORM U5. OF
THESE, THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE, OR TIMELY MAKE, 35 FILINGS. ABOUT
ONE-THIRD OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE MORE THAN 90 DAYS
LATE. THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE COPIES OF ALL NON-NASD/FINRA
ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL AND CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS RECEIVED DURING
A TWO-YEAR PERIOD AND A SUBSEQUENT FOUR-MONTH PERIOD. AS WITH
THE BACKLOG COMPLAINT, THE FIRM DETECTED WHEN VARIOUS FIRM
DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER FIRM BEGAN CONSOLIDATIONS. DURING
THESE TWO PERIODS, APPROXIMATELY 214 EVENTS REQUIRED AN NASD
RULE 3070(F) FILING AND THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE 100% OF THE
REQUIRED FILINGS.  BETWEEN THE FIRST AND SECOND PERIODS, FOR A
SPAN OF APPROXIMATELY SIX MONTHS, THE FIRM EXPERIENCED
REPORTING FAILURES. THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS
FOR 80 ARBITRATIONS AND/OR CIVIL LITIGATIONS; THE FIRM FAILED TO
FILE THE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR FOUR OF THE 80 LITIGATIONS AND
MADE LATE FILINGS FOR AN ADDITIONAL 14 LITIGATIONS. DURING A MORE
THAN THREE-YEAR PERIOD, THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE, OR TIMELY FILE,
FORMS U4 AND U5 RELATED TO THE ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL
LITIGATIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE AND/OR TIMELY MAKE FORM U4
FILINGS FOR 28% OF ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL LITIGATIONS AND 60% OF
LITIGATIONS REQUIRING REPORTING. PERSONNEL IN THE FIRM'S INTAKE
GROUP, OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL WERE NOT ADEQUATELY TRAINED
AND/OR SUPERVISED IN PERFORMING ASSIGNED FUNCTIONS WITH
RESPECT TO CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS. [CONTINUED IN COMMENT]
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/24/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009020356301

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

ARTICLE V, SECTIONS 2(A) AND 2(C), 3(A), 3(B) OF THE FINRA BY-LAWS,
FINRA RULE 2010, 3010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3070(F), NYSE RULES
351(A), 351(D), 401A, FINRA INCORPORATED NYSE RULES 351(A), 351(D),
401A - MERRILL LYNCH DETECTED APPROXIMATELY 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS WHEN VARIOUS FIRM DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER
MEMBER FIRM BEGAN TO BE CONSOLIDATED INTO A COMBINED
COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT BUT THE FIRM FAILED TO COMPLY AND/OR
TIMELY COMPLY WITH ITS OBLIGATION TO MAKE CERTAIN REQUIRED
FILINGS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS RELATIVE TO THE BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS. OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 77 CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FIRM TO FILE A REPORT PURSUANT TO NYSE
RULE 351(A)(2) OR (A)(8) BUT 35 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 14 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE MADE
LATE. MOST OF THE LATE FILINGS WERE AT LEAST SIX MONTHS LATE AND
AS MUCH AS ONE YEAR LATE. THE FIRM'S FAILURES CONTINUED AFTER
THE PERIOD OF THE BACKLOG COMPLAINTS. OF 172 POST BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS REQUIRING A NYSE RULE 351(A) FILING, 26 WERE NEVER
MADE AND 10 FILINGS WERE NOT TIMELY MADE. MOST UNTIMELY
COMPLAINTS WERE LESS THAN 90 DAYS LATE. OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS, 1,157 WERE REQUIRED TO BE INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION. OF THE FIRM'S
VIOLATIVE FILINGS: 26 WERE NEVER INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS AND 248 OF THE 1,157 WERE NOT TIMELY INCLUDED
IN THE FIRM'S QUARTERLY FILINGS. MOST OF THE UNTIMELY FILINGS
WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS. OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 1,085
REQUIRED THE FIRM TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE CUSTOMER'S COMPLAINT
WITHIN 15 DAYS OF RECEIPT; OF THE 1,085, REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 163 WERE NEVER MADE AND REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 117 WERE MADE LATE. MOST OF THE
UNTIMELY ACKNOWLEDGMENTS WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS. OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 310 CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED
THE FIRM TO FILE A FORM U4. OF THE 310: 12 FORM U4 FILINGS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 80 WERE MADE LATE. ABOUT ONE-HALF OF THE
UNTIMELY FORMS U4 WERE FILED MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE. OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, THE FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO FILE A FORM
U5 IN 162 INSTANCES; 45 OF THE 162 REQUIRED FILINGS WERE MADE
LATE. NEARLY TWO-THIRDS OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE FILED
MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE. DURING THE POST BACKLOG PERIOD, 344
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FILING OF A FORM U5. OF
THESE, THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE, OR TIMELY MAKE, 35 FILINGS. ABOUT
ONE-THIRD OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE MORE THAN 90 DAYS
LATE. THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE COPIES OF ALL NON-NASD/FINRA
ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL AND CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS RECEIVED DURING
A TWO-YEAR PERIOD AND A SUBSEQUENT FOUR-MONTH PERIOD. AS WITH
THE BACKLOG COMPLAINT, THE FIRM DETECTED WHEN VARIOUS FIRM
DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER FIRM BEGAN CONSOLIDATIONS. DURING
THESE TWO PERIODS, APPROXIMATELY 214 EVENTS REQUIRED AN NASD
RULE 3070(F) FILING AND THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE 100% OF THE
REQUIRED FILINGS.  BETWEEN THE FIRST AND SECOND PERIODS, FOR A
SPAN OF APPROXIMATELY SIX MONTHS, THE FIRM EXPERIENCED
REPORTING FAILURES. THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS
FOR 80 ARBITRATIONS AND/OR CIVIL LITIGATIONS; THE FIRM FAILED TO
FILE THE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR FOUR OF THE 80 LITIGATIONS AND
MADE LATE FILINGS FOR AN ADDITIONAL 14 LITIGATIONS. DURING A MORE
THAN THREE-YEAR PERIOD, THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE, OR TIMELY FILE,
FORMS U4 AND U5 RELATED TO THE ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL
LITIGATIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE AND/OR TIMELY MAKE FORM U4
FILINGS FOR 28% OF ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL LITIGATIONS AND 60% OF
LITIGATIONS REQUIRING REPORTING. PERSONNEL IN THE FIRM'S INTAKE
GROUP, OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL WERE NOT ADEQUATELY TRAINED
AND/OR SUPERVISED IN PERFORMING ASSIGNED FUNCTIONS WITH
RESPECT TO CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS. [CONTINUED IN COMMENT]

Resolution Date: 09/24/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $500,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL ON 10/05/2012

Regulator Statement ALLEGATIONS CONTINUED: THE FIRM'S COMPLAINT TRACKING SYSTEM
WAS INEFFECTIVE AS IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THE HIGH VOLUME OF
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS NOT BEING ACKNOWLEDGED OR REPORTED AS
REQUIRED. THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES BROKE DOWN DUE TO HUMAN
ERROR AND THE REPEATED FAILURE TO IDENTIFY THE FAILURES AND THE
REQUIRED FILINGS. MOREOVER, NO ONE DEPARTMENT OF THE FIRM WAS
MONITORING FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE REPORTING AND FILING
RULES.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ARTICLE V, SECTIONS 2(A) AND 2(C), 3(A), 3(B) OF THE FINRA BY-LAWS,
FINRA RULE 2010, 3010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3070(F), NYSE RULES
351(A), 351(D), 401A, FINRA INCORPORATED NYSE RULES 351(A), 351(D),
401A - MERRILL LYNCH DETECTED APPROXIMATELY 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS WHEN VARIOUS FIRM DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER
MEMBER FIRM BEGAN TO BE CONSOLIDATED INTO A COMBINED
COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT.  THE FIRM HAD FAILED TO COMPLY AND/OR
TIMELY COMPLY WITH ITS OBLIGATION TO MAKE CERTAIN REQUIRED
FILINGS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS RELATIVE TO THE BACKLOG
COMPLIANTS.  OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 77 CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FIRM TO FILE A REPORT PURSUANT TO NYSE
RULE 351(A)(2) OR (A)(8) BUT 35 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 14 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE MADE
LATE.  MOST OF THE LATE FILINGS WERE AT LEAST SIX MONTHS LATE AND
AS MUCH AS ONE YEAR LATE.  THE FIRM'S FAILURES CONTINUED AFTER
THE PERIOD OF THE BACKLOG COMPLAINTS.  OF 172 POST BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS REQUIRING A NYSE RULE 351(A) FILING, 26 WERE NEVER
MADE AND 10 FILINGS WERE NOT TIMELY MADE.  MOST UNTIMELY
COMPLAINTS WERE LESS THAN 90 DAYS LATE.  OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS, 1,157 WERE REQUIRED TO BE INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION.  OF THE FIRM'S
VIOLATIVE FILINGS:  26 WERE NEVER INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS AND 248 OF THE 1,157 WERE NOT TIMELY INCLUDED
IN THE FIRM'S QUARTERLY FILINGS.  MOST OF THE UNTIMELY FILINGS
WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS.  OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS,
1,085 REQUIRED THE FIRM TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE CUSTOMER'S
COMPLAINT WITHIN 15 DAYS OF RECEIPT; OF THE 1,085, REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 163 WERE NEVER MADE AND REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 117 WERE MADE LATE.  MOST OF THE
UNTIMELY ACKNOWLEDGMENTS WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS.  OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 310 CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED
THE FIRM TO FILE A FORM U4.  OF THE 310:  12 FORM U4 FILINGS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 80 WERE MADE LATE.  ABOUT ONE-HALF OF THE
UNTIMELY FORMS U4 WERE FILED MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE.  OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, THE FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO FILE A FORM
U5 IN 162 INSTANCES; 45 OF THE 162 REQUIRED FILINGS WERE MADE
LATE.  NEARLY TWO-THIRDS OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE FILED
MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE.  DURING THE POST BACKLOG PERIOD, 344
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FILING OF A FORM U5.  OF
THESE, THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE, OR TIMELY MAKE, 35 FILINGS.  ABOUT
ONE-THIRD OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE MORE THAN 90 DAYS
LATE.  THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE COPIES OF ALL NON-NASD/FINRA
ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL AND CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS RECEIVED DURING
A TWO-YEAR PERIOD AND A SUBSEQUENT FOUR-MONTH PERIOD.  AS
WITH THE BACKLOG COMPLIANT, THE FIRM DETECTED WHEN VARIOUS
FIRM DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER FIRM BEGAN CONSOLIDATIONS.
DURING THESE TWO PERIODS, APPROXIMATLEY 214 EVENTS REQUIRED
AN NASD RULE 3070(F) FILING AND THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE 100% OF
THE REQUIRED FILINGS.  BETWEEN THE FIRST AND SECOND PERIODS,
FOR A SPAN OF APPROXIMATELY SIX MONTHS, THE FIRM EXPERIENCED
REPORTING FAILURES.  THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS
FOR 80 ARTBITRATIONS AND/OR CIVIL LITIGATIONS; THE FIRM FAILED TO
FILE THE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR FOUR OF THE 80 LITIGATIONS AND
MADE LATE FILINGS FOR AN ADDITIONAL 14 LITIGATIONS.  DURING A MORE
THAN THREE-YEAR PERIOD, THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE, OR TIMELY FILE,
FORMS U4 AND U5 RELATED TO THE ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL
LITIGATIONS.  THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE AND/OR TIMELY MAKE FORM U4
FILINGS FOR 28% OF ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL LITIGATIONS AND 60% OF
LITIGATIONS REQUIRING REPORTING.  PERSONNEL IN THE FIRM'S INTAKE
GROUP, OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL WERE NOT ADEQUATELY TRAINED
AND/OR SUPERVISED IN PERFORMING ASSIGNED FUNCTIONS WITH
RESPECT TO CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS.  [CONTINUED IN COMMENT]

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/24/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009020356301

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

ARTICLE V, SECTIONS 2(A) AND 2(C), 3(A), 3(B) OF THE FINRA BY-LAWS,
FINRA RULE 2010, 3010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3070(F), NYSE RULES
351(A), 351(D), 401A, FINRA INCORPORATED NYSE RULES 351(A), 351(D),
401A - MERRILL LYNCH DETECTED APPROXIMATELY 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS WHEN VARIOUS FIRM DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER
MEMBER FIRM BEGAN TO BE CONSOLIDATED INTO A COMBINED
COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT.  THE FIRM HAD FAILED TO COMPLY AND/OR
TIMELY COMPLY WITH ITS OBLIGATION TO MAKE CERTAIN REQUIRED
FILINGS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS RELATIVE TO THE BACKLOG
COMPLIANTS.  OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 77 CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FIRM TO FILE A REPORT PURSUANT TO NYSE
RULE 351(A)(2) OR (A)(8) BUT 35 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 14 OF THE 77 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS WERE MADE
LATE.  MOST OF THE LATE FILINGS WERE AT LEAST SIX MONTHS LATE AND
AS MUCH AS ONE YEAR LATE.  THE FIRM'S FAILURES CONTINUED AFTER
THE PERIOD OF THE BACKLOG COMPLAINTS.  OF 172 POST BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS REQUIRING A NYSE RULE 351(A) FILING, 26 WERE NEVER
MADE AND 10 FILINGS WERE NOT TIMELY MADE.  MOST UNTIMELY
COMPLAINTS WERE LESS THAN 90 DAYS LATE.  OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG
COMPLAINTS, 1,157 WERE REQUIRED TO BE INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS OF STATISTICAL INFORMATION.  OF THE FIRM'S
VIOLATIVE FILINGS:  26 WERE NEVER INCLUDED IN THE FIRM'S
QUARTERLY FILINGS AND 248 OF THE 1,157 WERE NOT TIMELY INCLUDED
IN THE FIRM'S QUARTERLY FILINGS.  MOST OF THE UNTIMELY FILINGS
WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS.  OF THE 1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS,
1,085 REQUIRED THE FIRM TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE CUSTOMER'S
COMPLAINT WITHIN 15 DAYS OF RECEIPT; OF THE 1,085, REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 163 WERE NEVER MADE AND REQUIRED
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR 117 WERE MADE LATE.  MOST OF THE
UNTIMELY ACKNOWLEDGMENTS WERE 90 DAYS LATE OR LESS.  OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, 310 CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED
THE FIRM TO FILE A FORM U4.  OF THE 310:  12 FORM U4 FILINGS WERE
NEVER MADE AND 80 WERE MADE LATE.  ABOUT ONE-HALF OF THE
UNTIMELY FORMS U4 WERE FILED MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE.  OF THE
1,524 BACKLOG COMPLAINTS, THE FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO FILE A FORM
U5 IN 162 INSTANCES; 45 OF THE 162 REQUIRED FILINGS WERE MADE
LATE.  NEARLY TWO-THIRDS OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE FILED
MORE THAN 90 DAYS LATE.  DURING THE POST BACKLOG PERIOD, 344
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS REQUIRED THE FILING OF A FORM U5.  OF
THESE, THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE, OR TIMELY MAKE, 35 FILINGS.  ABOUT
ONE-THIRD OF THE UNTIMELY FORMS U5 WERE MORE THAN 90 DAYS
LATE.  THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE COPIES OF ALL NON-NASD/FINRA
ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL AND CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS RECEIVED DURING
A TWO-YEAR PERIOD AND A SUBSEQUENT FOUR-MONTH PERIOD.  AS
WITH THE BACKLOG COMPLIANT, THE FIRM DETECTED WHEN VARIOUS
FIRM DEPARTMENTS AND ANOTHER FIRM BEGAN CONSOLIDATIONS.
DURING THESE TWO PERIODS, APPROXIMATLEY 214 EVENTS REQUIRED
AN NASD RULE 3070(F) FILING AND THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE 100% OF
THE REQUIRED FILINGS.  BETWEEN THE FIRST AND SECOND PERIODS,
FOR A SPAN OF APPROXIMATELY SIX MONTHS, THE FIRM EXPERIENCED
REPORTING FAILURES.  THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS
FOR 80 ARTBITRATIONS AND/OR CIVIL LITIGATIONS; THE FIRM FAILED TO
FILE THE REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR FOUR OF THE 80 LITIGATIONS AND
MADE LATE FILINGS FOR AN ADDITIONAL 14 LITIGATIONS.  DURING A MORE
THAN THREE-YEAR PERIOD, THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE, OR TIMELY FILE,
FORMS U4 AND U5 RELATED TO THE ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL
LITIGATIONS.  THE FIRM FAILED TO MAKE AND/OR TIMELY MAKE FORM U4
FILINGS FOR 28% OF ARBITRATIONS AND CIVIL LITIGATIONS AND 60% OF
LITIGATIONS REQUIRING REPORTING.  PERSONNEL IN THE FIRM'S INTAKE
GROUP, OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL WERE NOT ADEQUATELY TRAINED
AND/OR SUPERVISED IN PERFORMING ASSIGNED FUNCTIONS WITH
RESPECT TO CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS.  [CONTINUED IN COMMENT]

Resolution Date: 09/24/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $500,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $500,000.

Firm Statement ALLEGATIONS CONTINUED:  THE FIRM'S COMPLAINT TRACKING SYSTEM
WAS INEFFECTIVE AS IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY THE HIGH VOLUME OF
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS NOT BEING ACKNOWLEDGED OR REPORTED AS
REQUIRED.  THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES BROKE DOWN DUE TO HUMAN
ERROR AND THE REPEATED FAILURE TO IDENTIFY THE FAILURES AND THE
REQUIRED FILINGS.  MOREOVER, NO ONE DEPARTMENT OF THE FIRM
WAS MONITORING FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE REPORTNG AND FINRA
RULES.

BRIEF SUMMARY OF DETAILS:  THE FIRM SELF-REPORTED THE BACKLOG
COMPLIANTS TO FINRA IN NOVEMBER 2009.  FOLLOWING THE JANUARY 1,
2009 MERRILL LYNCH ACQUISITION AND SUBSEQUENT CONSOLIDATIONS
OF BROKER-DEALERS IN 2009 AND 2010 AS DESCRIBED ABOVE, THE FIRM
RESTRUCTURED AND ENHANCED ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
RELATIVE TO CUSTOMER COMPLIANT REPORTING.  WITHOUT ADMITTING
OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS
CENSURED AND FINED $500,000.

Disclosure 165 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 08/29/2012

Docket/Case Number: 12-NYSE-7

Allegations: **8/29/12** STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
FINRA MARKET REGULATION, LEGAL SECTION AND PENDING. NEW YORK
STOCK EXCHANGE LLC: FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF
LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS
OR FINDINGS, THE FIRM STIPULATED THAT: 1) DURING THE PERIOD APRIL
2007 THROUGH JUNE 2011, THE FIRM VIOLATED NYSE RULE 92(A) ON
TWENTY-FOUR OCCASIONS AND NYSE RULE 401/2010 ON ELEVEN
OCCASIONS; 2) DURING THE PERIOD OF FEBRUARY 2008 THROUGH JUNE
2012, THE FIRM ENTERED OR CANCELLED 456 MARKET-ON-CLOSE ("MOC")
OR LIMIT-ON-CLOSE ("LOC") ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF NYSE RULE 123C;
AND, 3) DURING THE PERIOD OF JULY 2011 THROUGH APRIL 2012, THE
FIRM VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO EMPLOY
REASONABLE SUPERVISORY CONTROLS AND SYSTEMS WITH REGARD TO
THE CANCELLATION OF MOC/LOC ORDERS. STIPULATED SANCTION:
CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $150,000.

Current Status: Final

497©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: 12-NYSE-7

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/09/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **9/13/2012**DECISION NO. 12-NYSE-7 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD
NYSE: :             FROM APRIL 2007 THROUGH JUNE 2011, VIOLATED NYSE
RULE 92(A) ON 24 OCCASIONS, BY ENTERING A PROPRIETARY ORDER TO
BUY (SELL) AN NYSE-LISTED SECURITY WHILE KNOWINGLY IN
POSSESSION
OF A CUSTOMER ORDER TO BUY (SELL) SUCH SECURITY THAT COULD BE
EXECUTED AT THE SAME PRICE; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 401(A) AND NYSE
RULE 2010 BY FAILING TO CONDUCT ITS BUSINESS AFFAIRS IN
ACCORDANCE WITH PRINCIPLES OF
GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICE BY NOT ADEQUATELY DOCUMENTING ON 11
OCCASIONS A CUSTOMER'S TRADE ALONG PERMISSION, AS IS REQUIRED
BY NYSE RULE 92(B);  FROM FEBRUARY 2008 THROUGH JUNE 2012,
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 123C, FOR 456 MARKET-ON- CLOSE OR LIMIT-ON-
CLOSE ORDERS, BY FAILING TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS
GOVERNING THE ENTRY AND CANCELLATION OF MARKET-ON-CLOSE AND
LIMIT-ON-CLOSE ORDERS; AND, FROM JULY 2011 THROUGH APRIL 2012,
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES WITH RESPECT TO THE
CANCELLATION OF CERTAIN MARKET-ON-CLOSE AND LIMIT-ON-CLOSE
ORDERS AFTER THE PRESCRIBED CUTOFF TIMES. CONSENT TO A
CENSURE AND $150,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **9/13/12** UNLESS A REVIEW HAS BEEN REQUESTED BY ANY PERSON OR
BODY AUTHORIZED BY NYSE RULE 476(G), THIS DECISION WILL BECOME
FINAL 25 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE HEARING BOARD'S
DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE RESPONDENTS.
**10/12/12** SINCE A REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE HEARING BOARD
WAS NOT REQUESTED, THAT DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE
OF BUSINESS ON OCTOBER 9, 2012.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Decision
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**9/13/12** UNLESS A REVIEW HAS BEEN REQUESTED BY ANY PERSON OR
BODY AUTHORIZED BY NYSE RULE 476(G), THIS DECISION WILL BECOME
FINAL 25 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE HEARING BOARD'S
DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE RESPONDENTS.
**10/12/12** SINCE A REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE HEARING BOARD
WAS NOT REQUESTED, THAT DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE
OF BUSINESS ON OCTOBER 9, 2012.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/29/2012

Docket/Case Number: 12-NYSE-7

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **8/29/12** STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
FINRA MARKET REGULATION, LEGAL SECTION AND PENDING. NEW YORK
STOCK EXCHANGE LLC: FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF
LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS
OR FINDINGS, THE FIRM STIPULATED THAT: 1) DURING THE PERIOD APRIL
2007 THROUGH JUNE 2011, THE FIRM VIOLATED NYSE RULE 92(A) ON
TWENTY- FOUR OCCASIONS AND NYSE RULE 401/2010 ON ELEVEN
OCCASIONS; 2) DURING THE PERIOD OF FEBRUARY 2008 THROUGH JUNE
2012, THE FIRM ENTERED OR CANCELLED 456 MARKET-ON-CLOSE ("MOC")
OR LIMIT-ON-CLOSE ("LOC") ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF NYSE RULE 123C;
AND, 3) DURING THE PERIOD OF JULY 2011 THROUGH APRIL 2012, THE
FIRM VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO EMPLOY
REASONABLE SUPERVISORY CONTROLS AND SYSTEMS WITH REGARD TO
THE CANCELLATION OF MOC/LOC ORDERS. STIPULATED SANCTION:
CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $150,000. ORDERS. STIPULATED
SANCTION: CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $150,000.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/09/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **9/13/2012**DECISION NO. 12-NYSE-7 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD
NYSE:  FROM APRIL 2007
THROUGH JUNE 2011, VIOLATED NYSE RULE 92(A) ON 24 OCCASIONS, BY
ENTERING A PROPRIETARY
ORDER TO BUY (SELL) AN NYSE-LISTED SECURITY WHILE KNOWINGLY IN
POSSESSION OF A CUSTOMER
ORDER TO BUY (SELL) SUCH SECURITY THAT COULD BE EXECUTED AT
THE SAME PRICE; VIOLATED
NYSE RULE 401(A) AND NYSE RULE 2010 BY FAILING TO CONDUCT ITS
BUSINESS AFFAIRS IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRINCIPLES OF GOOD
BUSINESS PRACTICE BY NOT ADEQUATELY DOCUMENTING ON 11
OCCASIONS A CUSTOMER'S TRADE ALONG PERMISSION, AS IS REQUIRED
BY NYSE RULE 92(B); FROM FEBRUARY 2008 THROUGH JUNE 2012,
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 123C, FOR 456 MARKET-ON-CLOSE OR LIMIT-ON-
CLOSE ORDERS, BY FAILING TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS
GOVERNING THE ENTRY AND CANCELLATION OF MARKET-ON-CLOSE AND
LIMIT-ON-CLOSE ORDERS; AND, FROM JULY 2011 THROUGH APRIL 2012,
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES WITH RESPECT TO THE
CANCELLATION OF CERTAIN MARKET-ON-CLOSE AND LIMIT-ON-CLOSE
ORDERS AFTER THE PRESCRIBED CUTOFF TIMES. CONSENT TO A
CENSURE AND $150,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Decision

499©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sanction Details: **9/13/2012**DECISION NO. 12-NYSE-7 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD
NYSE:  FROM APRIL 2007
THROUGH JUNE 2011, VIOLATED NYSE RULE 92(A) ON 24 OCCASIONS, BY
ENTERING A PROPRIETARY
ORDER TO BUY (SELL) AN NYSE-LISTED SECURITY WHILE KNOWINGLY IN
POSSESSION OF A CUSTOMER
ORDER TO BUY (SELL) SUCH SECURITY THAT COULD BE EXECUTED AT
THE SAME PRICE; VIOLATED
NYSE RULE 401(A) AND NYSE RULE 2010 BY FAILING TO CONDUCT ITS
BUSINESS AFFAIRS IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRINCIPLES OF GOOD
BUSINESS PRACTICE BY NOT ADEQUATELY DOCUMENTING ON 11
OCCASIONS A CUSTOMER'S TRADE ALONG PERMISSION, AS IS REQUIRED
BY NYSE RULE 92(B); FROM FEBRUARY 2008 THROUGH JUNE 2012,
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 123C, FOR 456 MARKET-ON-CLOSE OR LIMIT-ON-
CLOSE ORDERS, BY FAILING TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS
GOVERNING THE ENTRY AND CANCELLATION OF MARKET-ON-CLOSE AND
LIMIT-ON-CLOSE ORDERS; AND, FROM JULY 2011 THROUGH APRIL 2012,
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES WITH RESPECT TO THE
CANCELLATION OF CERTAIN MARKET-ON-CLOSE AND LIMIT-ON-CLOSE
ORDERS AFTER THE PRESCRIBED CUTOFF TIMES. CONSENT TO A
CENSURE AND $150,000 FINE.

Firm Statement **9/13/12** UNLESS A REVIEW HAS BEEN REQUESTED BY ANY PERSON OR
BODY AUTHORIZED BY NYSE RULE 476(G), THIS DECISION WILL BECOME
FINAL 25 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE HEARING BOARD'S
DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE RESPONDENTS.
**10/12/12** SINCE A REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE HEARING BOARD
WAS NOT REQUESTED, THAT DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE
OF BUSINESS ON OCTOBER 9, 2012.

Disclosure 166 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010,NASD RULES 2110, 2310, 3010(A) AND (B):  A FORMER
BROKER OF THE FIRM RECOMMENDED HIS CUSTOMERS ENGAGE IN A
PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE SHORT-TERM CLOSED-END FUNDS (CEF) AND
UNIT INVESTMENT TRUSTS (UIT) TRADING.  MOST OF THE BROKER'S
SHORT-TERM TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED CLOSED-END FUNDS
PURCHASED AT INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING, WITH THE SALES CHARGES TO
THE CUSTOMER BUILT INTO THE OFFERING PRICE.  EVEN THOUGH CEFS
AND UITS GENERALLY WERE INTENDED AS LONGER-TERM INVESTMENTS,
THE BROKER RECOMMENDED THAT SOME OF THESE CUSTOMERS SELL
THEIR ENTIRE POSITIONS AS SOON AS TWO MONTHS AFTER PURCHASE.
MOST OF THE SHORT-TERM CEF TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED SWITCHING,
WHEREBY THE BROKER GENERATED FUNDS TO PURCHASE ONE CEF OR
UIT BY SELLING ANOTHER CEF, WITH THE CUSTOMER GAINING LITTLE OR
NO ECONOMIC BENEFIT FROM THE EXCHANGE.
THE FIRM, THROUGH THE BROKER, MADE THESE RECOMMENDATIONS TO
PURCHASE AND SELL CEFS AND UITS ON A SHORT-TERM BASIS WITHOUT
HAVING REASONABLE GROUNDS FOR BELIEVING THE
RECOMMENDATIONS WERE SUITABLE IN VIEW OF THE FREQUENCY AND
SIZE OF THE TRANSACTIONS AND EACH CUSTOMER'S INVESTMENT
OBJECTIVES, FINANCIAL SITUATION, AND NEEDS.
THE FIRM, THROUGH THE BROKER, MADE UNSUITABLE
RECOMMENDATIONS, INCONSISTENT WITH THE CUSTOMERS'
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, TO SEVEN CUSTOMERS THAT THEY OPEN
MARGIN ACCOUNTS AND USE MARGIN TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES.
THESE CUSTOMERS PAID IN AGGREGATE OVER $70,000 IN MARGIN
INTEREST.
THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THAT THE BROKER WAS ENGAGING IN A
PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS AND UITS AND
SUITABLE TRANSACTIONS ON MARGIN.  THE FIRM APPROVED EACH OF
THE BROKER'S SHORT-TERM CEF AND UIT TRANSACTIONS, FAILING TO
IDENTIFY THE TRANSACTIONS AS UNSUITABLE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM
FAILED TO RESPOND ADEQUATELY TO EXCEPTION REPORTS AND
INFORMATION SUGGESTING THAT THE BROKER WAS ENGAGED IN A
PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE USE OF MARGIN IN TRADE SECURITIES AND DID
NOT SPEAK WITH ANY OF THE CUSTOMERS ABOUT THE SHORT-TERM
TRADING OR MARGIN ACTIVITY UNTIL THE CUSTOMERS BEGAN TO
COMPLAIN.  IN SOME CASES THE FIRM RELIED UPON THE BROKER'S
SELF-SERVING EXPLANATIONS FOR THE TRANSACTIONS WITHOUT
CONDUCTING FURTHER INVESTIGATION.
THE FIRM LACKED ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND
PROCEDURES TO SUPERVISE UIT TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES TO MONITOR SHORT-TERM UIT TRANSACTIONS AND
SWITCHES.  WHILE THE FIRM HAD A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM FOR CERTAIN
SHORT-TERM CEF LIQUIDATIONS, IT DID NOT HAVE A SIMILAR SYSTEM
FOR UIT REDEMPTIONS.  THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES FOR UITS WERE ALSO DEFICIENT, BY FAILING TO PROVIDE
GUIDANCE TO REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES OR PRINCIPALS ON
SUITABILITY FACTORS TO CONSIDER IN PURCHASING, SELLING, OR
SWITCHING UITS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 08/29/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009018601702

FINRA RULE 2010,NASD RULES 2110, 2310, 3010(A) AND (B):  A FORMER
BROKER OF THE FIRM RECOMMENDED HIS CUSTOMERS ENGAGE IN A
PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE SHORT-TERM CLOSED-END FUNDS (CEF) AND
UNIT INVESTMENT TRUSTS (UIT) TRADING.  MOST OF THE BROKER'S
SHORT-TERM TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED CLOSED-END FUNDS
PURCHASED AT INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING, WITH THE SALES CHARGES TO
THE CUSTOMER BUILT INTO THE OFFERING PRICE.  EVEN THOUGH CEFS
AND UITS GENERALLY WERE INTENDED AS LONGER-TERM INVESTMENTS,
THE BROKER RECOMMENDED THAT SOME OF THESE CUSTOMERS SELL
THEIR ENTIRE POSITIONS AS SOON AS TWO MONTHS AFTER PURCHASE.
MOST OF THE SHORT-TERM CEF TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED SWITCHING,
WHEREBY THE BROKER GENERATED FUNDS TO PURCHASE ONE CEF OR
UIT BY SELLING ANOTHER CEF, WITH THE CUSTOMER GAINING LITTLE OR
NO ECONOMIC BENEFIT FROM THE EXCHANGE.
THE FIRM, THROUGH THE BROKER, MADE THESE RECOMMENDATIONS TO
PURCHASE AND SELL CEFS AND UITS ON A SHORT-TERM BASIS WITHOUT
HAVING REASONABLE GROUNDS FOR BELIEVING THE
RECOMMENDATIONS WERE SUITABLE IN VIEW OF THE FREQUENCY AND
SIZE OF THE TRANSACTIONS AND EACH CUSTOMER'S INVESTMENT
OBJECTIVES, FINANCIAL SITUATION, AND NEEDS.
THE FIRM, THROUGH THE BROKER, MADE UNSUITABLE
RECOMMENDATIONS, INCONSISTENT WITH THE CUSTOMERS'
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, TO SEVEN CUSTOMERS THAT THEY OPEN
MARGIN ACCOUNTS AND USE MARGIN TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES.
THESE CUSTOMERS PAID IN AGGREGATE OVER $70,000 IN MARGIN
INTEREST.
THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THAT THE BROKER WAS ENGAGING IN A
PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS AND UITS AND
SUITABLE TRANSACTIONS ON MARGIN.  THE FIRM APPROVED EACH OF
THE BROKER'S SHORT-TERM CEF AND UIT TRANSACTIONS, FAILING TO
IDENTIFY THE TRANSACTIONS AS UNSUITABLE.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRM
FAILED TO RESPOND ADEQUATELY TO EXCEPTION REPORTS AND
INFORMATION SUGGESTING THAT THE BROKER WAS ENGAGED IN A
PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE USE OF MARGIN IN TRADE SECURITIES AND DID
NOT SPEAK WITH ANY OF THE CUSTOMERS ABOUT THE SHORT-TERM
TRADING OR MARGIN ACTIVITY UNTIL THE CUSTOMERS BEGAN TO
COMPLAIN.  IN SOME CASES THE FIRM RELIED UPON THE BROKER'S
SELF-SERVING EXPLANATIONS FOR THE TRANSACTIONS WITHOUT
CONDUCTING FURTHER INVESTIGATION.
THE FIRM LACKED ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND
PROCEDURES TO SUPERVISE UIT TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES TO MONITOR SHORT-TERM UIT TRANSACTIONS AND
SWITCHES.  WHILE THE FIRM HAD A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM FOR CERTAIN
SHORT-TERM CEF LIQUIDATIONS, IT DID NOT HAVE A SIMILAR SYSTEM
FOR UIT REDEMPTIONS.  THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES FOR UITS WERE ALSO DEFICIENT, BY FAILING TO PROVIDE
GUIDANCE TO REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES OR PRINCIPALS ON
SUITABILITY FACTORS TO CONSIDER IN PURCHASING, SELLING, OR
SWITCHING UITS.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Docket/Case Number: 2009018601702

Principal Product Type: Unit Investment Trust(s)

Other Product Type(s): CLOSED-END FUNDS

Resolution Date: 08/29/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: $130,719, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $400,000, WHICH INCLUDES
DISGORGEMENT OF COMMISSION RECEIVED OF $47,190.03 AND
REQUIRED TO PAY $130,718, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO
CUSTOMERS ON OR BEFORE THE DATE THIS AWC IS ACCEPTED BY FINRA.
BY LETTER DATED AUGUST 14, 2012, THE FIRM PROVIDED
DOCUMENTATION ESTABLISHING THAT IT PAID $130,718 IN RESTITUTION,
PLUS $21,174.11 IN INTEREST,  CONSISTENT WITH THE TERMS OF THE
AWC. FINE PAID IN FULL ON SEPTEMBER 18, 2012.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $400,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010,NASD RULES 2110, 2310, 3010(A) AND (B): A FORMER
BROKER OF THE FIRM RECOMMENDED HIS CUSTOMERS ENGAGE IN A
PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE SHORT-TERM CLOSED-END FUNDS (CEF) AND
UNIT INVESTMENT TRUSTS (UIT) TRADING. MOST OF THE BROKER'S
SHORT-TERM TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED CLOSED-END FUNDS
PURCHASED AT INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING, WITH THE SALES CHARGES TO
THE CUSTOMER BUILT INTO THE OFFERING PRICE. EVEN THOUGH CEFS
AND UITS GENERALLY WERE INTENDED AS LONGER-TERM INVESTMENTS,
THE BROKER RECOMMENDED THAT SOME OF THESE CUSTOMERS SELL
THEIR ENTIRE POSITIONS AS SOON AS TWO MONTHS AFTER PURCHASE.
MOST OF THE SHORT-TERM CEF TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED SWITCHING,
WHEREBY THE BROKER GENERATED FUNDS TO PURCHASE ONE CEF OR
UIT BY SELLING ANOTHER CEF, WITH THE CUSTOMER GAINING LITTLE OR
NO ECONOMIC BENEFIT FROM THE EXCHANGE. THE FIRM, THROUGH THE
BROKER, MADE THESE RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE AND SELL
CEFS AND UITS ON A SHORT-TERM BASIS WITHOUT HAVING REASONABLE
GROUNDS FOR BELIEVING THE RECOMMENDATIONS WERE SUITABLE IN
VIEW OF THE FREQUENCY AND SIZE OF THE TRANSACTIONS AND EACH
CUSTOMER'S INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, FINANCIAL SITUATION, AND
NEEDS. THE FIRM, THROUGH THE BROKER, MADE UNSUITABLE
RECOMMENDATIONS, INCONSISTENT WITH THE CUSTOMERS'
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, TO SEVEN CUSTOMERS THAT THEY OPEN
MARGIN ACCOUNTS AND USE MARGIN TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES.
THESE CUSTOMERS PAID IN AGGREGATE OVER $70,000 IN MARGIN
INTEREST. THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THAT THE BROKER WAS
ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS
AND UITS AND SUITABLE TRANSACTIONS ON MARGIN. THE FIRM
APPROVED EACH OF THE BROKER'S SHORT-TERM CEF AND UIT
TRANSACTIONS, FAILING TO IDENTIFY THE TRANSACTIONS AS
UNSUITABLE. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM FAILED TO RESPOND ADEQUATELY
TO EXCEPTION REPORTS AND INFORMATION SUGGESTING THAT THE
BROKER WAS ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE USE OF MARGIN IN
TRADE SECURITIES AND DID NOT SPEAK WITH ANY OF THE CUSTOMERS
ABOUT THE SHORT-TERM TRADING OR MARGIN ACTIVITY UNTIL THE
CUSTOMERS BEGAN TO COMPLAIN. IN SOME CASES THE FIRM RELIED
UPON THE BROKER'S SELF-SERVING EXPLANATIONS FOR THE
TRANSACTIONS WITHOUT CONDUCTING FURTHER INVESTIGATION. THE
FIRM LACKED ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO
SUPERVISE UIT TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
TO MONITOR SHORT-TERM UIT TRANSACTIONS AND SWITCHES. WHILE
THE FIRM HAD A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM FOR CERTAIN SHORT-TERM CEF
LIQUIDATIONS, IT DID NOT HAVE A SIMILAR SYSTEM FOR UIT
REDEMPTIONS. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES FOR
UITS WERE ALSO DEFICIENT, BY FAILING TO PROVIDE GUIDANCE TO
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES OR PRINCIPALS ON SUITABILITY
FACTORS TO CONSIDER IN PURCHASING, SELLING, OR SWITCHING UITS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 08/29/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009018601702

FINRA RULE 2010,NASD RULES 2110, 2310, 3010(A) AND (B): A FORMER
BROKER OF THE FIRM RECOMMENDED HIS CUSTOMERS ENGAGE IN A
PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE SHORT-TERM CLOSED-END FUNDS (CEF) AND
UNIT INVESTMENT TRUSTS (UIT) TRADING. MOST OF THE BROKER'S
SHORT-TERM TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED CLOSED-END FUNDS
PURCHASED AT INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING, WITH THE SALES CHARGES TO
THE CUSTOMER BUILT INTO THE OFFERING PRICE. EVEN THOUGH CEFS
AND UITS GENERALLY WERE INTENDED AS LONGER-TERM INVESTMENTS,
THE BROKER RECOMMENDED THAT SOME OF THESE CUSTOMERS SELL
THEIR ENTIRE POSITIONS AS SOON AS TWO MONTHS AFTER PURCHASE.
MOST OF THE SHORT-TERM CEF TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED SWITCHING,
WHEREBY THE BROKER GENERATED FUNDS TO PURCHASE ONE CEF OR
UIT BY SELLING ANOTHER CEF, WITH THE CUSTOMER GAINING LITTLE OR
NO ECONOMIC BENEFIT FROM THE EXCHANGE. THE FIRM, THROUGH THE
BROKER, MADE THESE RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE AND SELL
CEFS AND UITS ON A SHORT-TERM BASIS WITHOUT HAVING REASONABLE
GROUNDS FOR BELIEVING THE RECOMMENDATIONS WERE SUITABLE IN
VIEW OF THE FREQUENCY AND SIZE OF THE TRANSACTIONS AND EACH
CUSTOMER'S INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, FINANCIAL SITUATION, AND
NEEDS. THE FIRM, THROUGH THE BROKER, MADE UNSUITABLE
RECOMMENDATIONS, INCONSISTENT WITH THE CUSTOMERS'
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, TO SEVEN CUSTOMERS THAT THEY OPEN
MARGIN ACCOUNTS AND USE MARGIN TO BUY AND SELL SECURITIES.
THESE CUSTOMERS PAID IN AGGREGATE OVER $70,000 IN MARGIN
INTEREST. THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THAT THE BROKER WAS
ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS
AND UITS AND SUITABLE TRANSACTIONS ON MARGIN. THE FIRM
APPROVED EACH OF THE BROKER'S SHORT-TERM CEF AND UIT
TRANSACTIONS, FAILING TO IDENTIFY THE TRANSACTIONS AS
UNSUITABLE. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM FAILED TO RESPOND ADEQUATELY
TO EXCEPTION REPORTS AND INFORMATION SUGGESTING THAT THE
BROKER WAS ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OF UNSUITABLE USE OF MARGIN IN
TRADE SECURITIES AND DID NOT SPEAK WITH ANY OF THE CUSTOMERS
ABOUT THE SHORT-TERM TRADING OR MARGIN ACTIVITY UNTIL THE
CUSTOMERS BEGAN TO COMPLAIN. IN SOME CASES THE FIRM RELIED
UPON THE BROKER'S SELF-SERVING EXPLANATIONS FOR THE
TRANSACTIONS WITHOUT CONDUCTING FURTHER INVESTIGATION. THE
FIRM LACKED ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO
SUPERVISE UIT TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
TO MONITOR SHORT-TERM UIT TRANSACTIONS AND SWITCHES. WHILE
THE FIRM HAD A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM FOR CERTAIN SHORT-TERM CEF
LIQUIDATIONS, IT DID NOT HAVE A SIMILAR SYSTEM FOR UIT
REDEMPTIONS. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES FOR
UITS WERE ALSO DEFICIENT, BY FAILING TO PROVIDE GUIDANCE TO
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES OR PRINCIPALS ON SUITABILITY
FACTORS TO CONSIDER IN PURCHASING, SELLING, OR SWITCHING UITS.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
DISGORGEMENT
RESTITUTION

Principal Product Type: Unit Investment Trust(s)

Other Product Type(s): CLOSED END FUNDS

Resolution Date: 08/29/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: $130,719, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $400,000, WHICH INCLUDES
DISGORGEMENT OF COMMISSION RECEIVED OF $47,190.03 AND
REQUIRED TO PAY $130,718, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO
CUSTOMERS ON OR BEFORE THE DATE THIS AWC IS ACCEPTED BY FINRA.
BY LETTER DATED AUGUST 14, 2012, THE FIRM PROVIDED
DOCUMENTATION ESTABLISHING THAT IT PAID $130,718 IN RESTITUTION,
PLUS $21,174.11 IN INTEREST, CONSISTENT WITH THE TERMS OF THE
AWC.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $400,000, WHICH INCLUDES
DISGORGEMENT OF COMMISSION RECEIVED OF $47,190.03 AND
REQUIRED TO PAY $130,718, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO
CUSTOMERS ON OR BEFORE THE DATE THIS AWC IS ACCEPTED BY FINRA.
BY LETTER DATED AUGUST 14, 2012, THE FIRM PROVIDED
DOCUMENTATION ESTABLISHING THAT IT PAID $130,718 IN RESTITUTION,
PLUS $21,174.11 IN INTEREST, CONSISTENT WITH THE TERMS OF THE
AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $400,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 167 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC RULE 611(A)(1) OF REGULATION NMS, NASD RULE 4632(A): THE FIRM
FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT
WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-THROUGHS OF
PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT FALL WITHIN ANY
APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN EXCEPTION, ARE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE EXCEPTION. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY REPORTED APPROXIMATELY
400 ORDERS-REPRESENTED BY 14,706 TRADES-TO ACT AS TRADE-
THROUGH EXEMPT WHEN THE TRADES DID NOT QUALIFY FOR AN
EXEMPTION FROM SEC RULE 611 OF REGULATION NMS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 08/21/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008012898601

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: SEC RULE 611(A)(1) OF REGULATION NMS, NASD RULE 4632(A): THE FIRM
FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT
WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-THROUGHS OF
PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT FALL WITHIN ANY
APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN EXCEPTION, ARE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE EXCEPTION. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY REPORTED APPROXIMATELY
400 ORDERS-REPRESENTED BY 14,706 TRADES-TO ACT AS TRADE-
THROUGH EXEMPT WHEN THE TRADES DID NOT QUALIFY FOR AN
EXEMPTION FROM SEC RULE 611 OF REGULATION NMS.

Resolution Date: 08/21/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $37,500.
FINE PAID IN FULL ON 10/01/2012

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $37,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/21/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008012898601

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: SEC RULE 611(A)(1) OF REGULATION NMS, NASD RULE 4632(A): THE FIRM
FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES THAT
WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT TRADE-THROUGHS OF
PROTECTED QUOTATIONS IN NMS STOCKS THAT DO NOT FALL WITHIN ANY
APPLICABLE EXCEPTION, AND IF RELYING ON AN EXCEPTION, ARE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE EXCEPTION. THE FIRM INCORRECTLY REPORTED APPROXIMATELY
400 ORDERS-REPRESENTED BY 14,706 TRADES-TO ACT AS TRADE-
THROUGH EXEMPT WHEN THE TRADES DID NOT QUALIFY FOR AN
EXEMPTION FROM SEC RULE 611 OF REGULATION NMS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/21/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $37,500.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $37,500.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $37,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 168 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3012(A)(2)(B)(I) - MERRILL
LYNCH'S SUPERVISORY CONTROL SYSTEM FAILED TO INCLUDE A POLICY
OR PROCEDURE REQUIRING A REVIEW TO DETECT OR PREVENT
MULTIPLE TRANSMITTALS OF FUNDS FROM MULTIPLE CUSTOMERS GOING
TO THE SAME THIRD PARTY ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM'S SYSTEM FAILED TO
INCLUDE EXCEPTION REPORTS THAT WOULD HAVE IDENTIFIED MULTIPLE
CUSTOMER WIRES GOING TO THE SAME THIRD PARTY ACCOUNT.
CONSEQUENTLY, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THAT A REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE HAD INITIATED FUND TRANSFERS TOTALING
APPROXIMATELY $887,931 OUT OF CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS TO BANK
ACCOUNTS HE APPARENTLY CONTROLLED. THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE HAS BEEN BARRED FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY
FINRA MEMBER IN ANY CAPACITY.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/03/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2010022652202

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): WIRE TRANSFERS

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3012(A)(2)(B)(I) - MERRILL
LYNCH'S SUPERVISORY CONTROL SYSTEM FAILED TO INCLUDE A POLICY
OR PROCEDURE REQUIRING A REVIEW TO DETECT OR PREVENT
MULTIPLE TRANSMITTALS OF FUNDS FROM MULTIPLE CUSTOMERS GOING
TO THE SAME THIRD PARTY ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM'S SYSTEM FAILED TO
INCLUDE EXCEPTION REPORTS THAT WOULD HAVE IDENTIFIED MULTIPLE
CUSTOMER WIRES GOING TO THE SAME THIRD PARTY ACCOUNT.
CONSEQUENTLY, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THAT A REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE HAD INITIATED FUND TRANSFERS TOTALING
APPROXIMATELY $887,931 OUT OF CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS TO BANK
ACCOUNTS HE APPARENTLY CONTROLLED. THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE HAS BEEN BARRED FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY
FINRA MEMBER IN ANY CAPACITY.

Resolution Date: 08/03/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $450,000. THE FIRM HAS
REPAID ALL THE AFFECTED CUSTOMERS. FINE PAID IN FULL ON 08/14/2012.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $450,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/03/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2010022652202

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): WIRE TRANSFERS

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3012(A)(2)(B)(I) - MERRILL
LYNCH'S SUPERVISORY CONTROL SYSTEM FAILED TO INCLUDE A POLICY
OR PROCEDURE REQUIRING A REVIEW TO DETECT OR PREVENT
MULTIPLE TRANSMITTALS OF FUNDS FROM MULTIPLE CUSTOMERS GOING
TO THE SAME THIRD PARTY ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM'S SYSTEM FAILED TO
INCLUDE EXCEPTION REPORTS THAT WOULD HAVE IDENTIFIED MULTIPLE
CUSTOMER WIRES GOING TO THE SAME THIRD PARTY ACCOUNT.
CONSEQUENTLY, THE FIRM FAILED TO DETECT THAT A REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE HAD INITIATED FUND TRANSFERS TOTALING
APPROXIMATELY $887,931 OUT OF CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS TO BANK
ACCOUNTS HE APPARENTLY CONTROLLED. THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE HAS BEEN BARRED FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY
FINRA MEMBER IN ANY CAPACITY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/03/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $450,000. THE FIRM HAS
REPAID ALL THE AFFECTED CUSTOMERS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $450,000. THE FIRM HAS
REPAID ALL THE AFFECTED CUSTOMERS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $450,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $450,000. THE FIRM HAS
REPAID ALL THE AFFECTED CUSTOMERS.

Disclosure 169 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEW YORK OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING; REIMBURSEMENT OF COST OF
INVESTIGATION.

Date Initiated: 05/02/2012

Docket/Case Number: AOD #12-011

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF NEW YORK OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL (NYAG)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEW
YORK BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN NEW YORK, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF CAS ACCEPTING
CLIENT ORDERS, FAILED TO HAVE ADEQUATE WRITTEN PROCEDURES
AND TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO PREVENT AND DETECT VIOLATIONS OF THE LAW, AND SOLD
SECURITIES IN NEW YORK THROUGH UNREGISTERED SALESMEN.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/02/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
NYAG, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN
THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEW YORK THROUGH PERSONS NOT
REGISTERED WITH THE NYAG, TO COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF,
AND NOT ENGAGE IN ANY ACTS IN VIOLATION OF GBL SECTIONS 359-E OR
359-F AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED
TO PAY THE NYAG $875,670.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT,
CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $875,670.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
NYAG, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN
THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEW YORK THROUGH PERSONS NOT
REGISTERED WITH THE NYAG, TO COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF,
AND NOT ENGAGE IN ANY ACTS IN VIOLATION OF GBL SECTIONS 359-E OR
359-F AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED
TO PAY THE NYAG $875,670.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT,
CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE NYAG DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Disclosure 170 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 06/21/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008014187702

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): INVESTMENT ADVISORY PROGRAMS

Allegations: SECTIONS 10B-10(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT AND NASD
RULES 2230 AND 2110 - BETWEEN MAY 2003 AND JUNE 2006, BANC OF
AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC. ("BAIS") (WHICH MERGED INTO
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ON OCTOBER
23, 2009) FAILED TO SEND CONTEMPORANEOUS TRADE CONFIRMATIONS
TO CUSTOMERS ENROLLED IN ONE OF ITS INVESTMENT PROGRAMS.
SPECIFICALLY, BAIS FAILED TO SEND IMMEDIATE TRADE CONFIRMATIONS
TO APPROXIMATELY 2,702 CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS IN THE ADVISED
VERSION (NON-DISCRETIONARY) OF ITS CONSULTING SERVICES FUND
STRATEGIES PROGRAM, WHICH AFFECTED APPROXIMATELY 23,450
TRANSACTIONS AND APPROXIMATELY $323,475,815 DOLLARS IN ASSETS.
ACCORDINGLY, BAIS VIOLATED EXCHANGE ACT 10B-10(A) AND NASD
RULES 2230 AND 2110 BY FAILING TO DELIVER REQUIRED TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS TO CERTAIN CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 06/21/2012

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM (AS
SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BAIS) CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS
CENSURED AND FINED $50,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM (AS
SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BAIS) CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS
CENSURED AND FINED $50,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Disclosure 171 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SECTIONS 10, 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, SEC RULES 10B-
10(A), 10B-10(A)(2), 17A-3, 17A-4, FINRA RULES 2010, 2251(A), 2264, 4370,
NASD RULES 2110, 2230, 2260(A), 2341, 3010, 3510(E) - MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, CONTRARY TO APPLICABLE
CUSTOMER DISCLOSURES OR APPLICABLE PROGRAM INVESTMENT
GUIDELINES, RELIED ON IMPROPERLY CODED DATA IN ITS SECURITIES
MASTER DATABASE, WHICH CAUSED IT TO CHARGE FEES ON CERTAIN
INELIGIBLE SECURITIES WHICH TYPICALLY WERE SECURITIES AFFILIATED
WITH THE FIRM SO IT OVERCHARGED CUSTOMERS A TOTAL OF $9,460,351.
WHEN CALCULATING THE REMEDIATION FOR THE THREE INVESTMENT
ADVISORY PROGRAMS, IT DISCOVERED THAT ITS BILLING SYSTEM FOR
TWO OF THEM DID NOT PROPERLY IDENTIFY ACCOUNTS HOLDING 100%
FIXED INCOME SECURITIES TO ENSURE THAT THE LOWER FIXED INCOME
FEE SCHEDULE WAS APPLIED AND FOR THE THIRD, THE FEE SCHEDULE
WAS DETERMINED BY THE CHOSEN INVESTMENT STRATEGY AT THE TIME
OF CUSTOMER ENROLLMENT AND DID NOT MONITOR CHANGES IN
INVESTMENT STRATEGY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE MORE
FAVORABLE FIXED INCOME FEE SHOULD APPLY. THE FIRM OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMERS IN THE PROGRAMS $6,782,576 BY NOT BILLING AT THE
APPLICABLE FIXED INCOME FEE SCHEDULE. THE BILLING PROCESS FOR
ONE PROGRAM ERRONEOUSLY ALLOWED FOR FLAT RATE BILLING TO
EXCEED THE MAXIMUM TIERED FEE RATE SO THAT IT OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMERS $3,486,846. THE FIRM OFFERED NO-LOAD MUTUAL FUNDS
FOR CUSTOMER RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS IN SEVERAL INVESTMENT
PROGRAMS BUT ITS REBATING PROCESS DID NOT TAKE INTO ACCOUNT
THAT LOAD FUNDS AND NO-LOAD FUNDS WERE TREATED DIFFERENTLY
WHEN COLLECTING SUB-ACCOUNTING AND 12B-1 FEES FROM THE
MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES. THE FIRM DID NOT REBATE $1,987,752 IN SUB-
ACCOUNTING FEES ON NO-LOAD FUND TRANSACTIONS FOR CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS. FOR SOME PROGRAMS, THE CONTRACT AND DISCLOSURE
DOCUMENTS STATED THAT THE FEE RATE APPLIED WOULD BE BASED ON
THE AGGREGATE VALUE OF THE ASSETS IN ALL THE CUSTOMER'S
PROGRAM ACCOUNTS BUT THE FIRM DID NOT ALWAYS AUTOMATICALLY
UPDATE THE ACCOUNTS' ASSET VALUES WHICH RESULTED IN
CUSTOMERS NOT RECEIVING THE APPROPRIATE FEE DISCOUNT. THE
FIRM OVERCHARGED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS, RESULTING IN EXCESS
FEES OF $8,061,426. THE FIRM ALLOWED A NEW ACCOUNT TO BE
AGGREGATED WITH AN EXISTING GROUP OF ACCOUNTS AND HAVE A FLAT
RATE APPLY BASED ON TOTAL ASSET LEVELS BUT THE FIRM'S SYSTEM
ERRONEOUSLY APPLIED THE SAME FLAT RATE. THE FIRM OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS A TOTAL OF $565,372. NEW CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
IN ONE PROGRAM WERE OPENED USING DOCUMENTS REFLECTING A
LOWER FEE SCHEDULE BUT WERE PLACED IN A HIGHER FEE SCHEDULE
SO THE CUSTOMERS WERE IMPROPERLY CHARGED $1,123,386 IN HIGHER
FEES. IN ONE PROGRAM, CUSTOMERS WERE CHARGED AN ESTIMATED
$706,660 IN WIRE TRANSFER FEES EVEN THOUGH DOCUMENTS HAD NOT
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSED SUCH CHARGES. AS A RESULT OF THESE
SUPERVISORY FAILURES, THE FIRM CHARGED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
UNWARRANTED FEES TOTALING AT LEAST $32,174,369. THE FIRM HAS
COMPLETED REMEDIATION WITH INTEREST OF AFFECTED CUSTOMERS.
FOR OVER FOUR YEARS, THE FIRM FAILED TO DELIVER TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS FOR OVER 10 MILLION TRANSACTIONS TO CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS AS REQUIRED UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT AND FAILED TO
SEND TRADE CONFIRMATIONS TO CUSTOMERS BECAUSE OF CODING
ERRORS AND OTHER DEFICIENCIES THAT WERE NOT PROMPTLY
REMEDIED AND LASTED OVER SEVERAL YEARS. FOR APPROXIMATELY
NINE YEARS, THE FIRM FAILED TO STATE, OR INACCURATELY STATED, IN
TRADE CONFIRMATIONS OR ACCOUNT STATEMENTS THAT IT SENT FOR AT
LEAST SEVEN MILLION TRANSACTIONS, WHETHER IT ACTED AS AN AGENT,
DUAL AGENT, OR A PRINCIPAL FOR THE TRANSACTION.  [CONTINUED IN
COMMENT SECTION]

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/21/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008014187701

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): INVESTMENT ADVISORY PROGRAMS

SECTIONS 10, 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, SEC RULES 10B-
10(A), 10B-10(A)(2), 17A-3, 17A-4, FINRA RULES 2010, 2251(A), 2264, 4370,
NASD RULES 2110, 2230, 2260(A), 2341, 3010, 3510(E) - MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, CONTRARY TO APPLICABLE
CUSTOMER DISCLOSURES OR APPLICABLE PROGRAM INVESTMENT
GUIDELINES, RELIED ON IMPROPERLY CODED DATA IN ITS SECURITIES
MASTER DATABASE, WHICH CAUSED IT TO CHARGE FEES ON CERTAIN
INELIGIBLE SECURITIES WHICH TYPICALLY WERE SECURITIES AFFILIATED
WITH THE FIRM SO IT OVERCHARGED CUSTOMERS A TOTAL OF $9,460,351.
WHEN CALCULATING THE REMEDIATION FOR THE THREE INVESTMENT
ADVISORY PROGRAMS, IT DISCOVERED THAT ITS BILLING SYSTEM FOR
TWO OF THEM DID NOT PROPERLY IDENTIFY ACCOUNTS HOLDING 100%
FIXED INCOME SECURITIES TO ENSURE THAT THE LOWER FIXED INCOME
FEE SCHEDULE WAS APPLIED AND FOR THE THIRD, THE FEE SCHEDULE
WAS DETERMINED BY THE CHOSEN INVESTMENT STRATEGY AT THE TIME
OF CUSTOMER ENROLLMENT AND DID NOT MONITOR CHANGES IN
INVESTMENT STRATEGY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE MORE
FAVORABLE FIXED INCOME FEE SHOULD APPLY. THE FIRM OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMERS IN THE PROGRAMS $6,782,576 BY NOT BILLING AT THE
APPLICABLE FIXED INCOME FEE SCHEDULE. THE BILLING PROCESS FOR
ONE PROGRAM ERRONEOUSLY ALLOWED FOR FLAT RATE BILLING TO
EXCEED THE MAXIMUM TIERED FEE RATE SO THAT IT OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMERS $3,486,846. THE FIRM OFFERED NO-LOAD MUTUAL FUNDS
FOR CUSTOMER RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS IN SEVERAL INVESTMENT
PROGRAMS BUT ITS REBATING PROCESS DID NOT TAKE INTO ACCOUNT
THAT LOAD FUNDS AND NO-LOAD FUNDS WERE TREATED DIFFERENTLY
WHEN COLLECTING SUB-ACCOUNTING AND 12B-1 FEES FROM THE
MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES. THE FIRM DID NOT REBATE $1,987,752 IN SUB-
ACCOUNTING FEES ON NO-LOAD FUND TRANSACTIONS FOR CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS. FOR SOME PROGRAMS, THE CONTRACT AND DISCLOSURE
DOCUMENTS STATED THAT THE FEE RATE APPLIED WOULD BE BASED ON
THE AGGREGATE VALUE OF THE ASSETS IN ALL THE CUSTOMER'S
PROGRAM ACCOUNTS BUT THE FIRM DID NOT ALWAYS AUTOMATICALLY
UPDATE THE ACCOUNTS' ASSET VALUES WHICH RESULTED IN
CUSTOMERS NOT RECEIVING THE APPROPRIATE FEE DISCOUNT. THE
FIRM OVERCHARGED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS, RESULTING IN EXCESS
FEES OF $8,061,426. THE FIRM ALLOWED A NEW ACCOUNT TO BE
AGGREGATED WITH AN EXISTING GROUP OF ACCOUNTS AND HAVE A FLAT
RATE APPLY BASED ON TOTAL ASSET LEVELS BUT THE FIRM'S SYSTEM
ERRONEOUSLY APPLIED THE SAME FLAT RATE. THE FIRM OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS A TOTAL OF $565,372. NEW CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
IN ONE PROGRAM WERE OPENED USING DOCUMENTS REFLECTING A
LOWER FEE SCHEDULE BUT WERE PLACED IN A HIGHER FEE SCHEDULE
SO THE CUSTOMERS WERE IMPROPERLY CHARGED $1,123,386 IN HIGHER
FEES. IN ONE PROGRAM, CUSTOMERS WERE CHARGED AN ESTIMATED
$706,660 IN WIRE TRANSFER FEES EVEN THOUGH DOCUMENTS HAD NOT
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSED SUCH CHARGES. AS A RESULT OF THESE
SUPERVISORY FAILURES, THE FIRM CHARGED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
UNWARRANTED FEES TOTALING AT LEAST $32,174,369. THE FIRM HAS
COMPLETED REMEDIATION WITH INTEREST OF AFFECTED CUSTOMERS.
FOR OVER FOUR YEARS, THE FIRM FAILED TO DELIVER TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS FOR OVER 10 MILLION TRANSACTIONS TO CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS AS REQUIRED UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT AND FAILED TO
SEND TRADE CONFIRMATIONS TO CUSTOMERS BECAUSE OF CODING
ERRORS AND OTHER DEFICIENCIES THAT WERE NOT PROMPTLY
REMEDIED AND LASTED OVER SEVERAL YEARS. FOR APPROXIMATELY
NINE YEARS, THE FIRM FAILED TO STATE, OR INACCURATELY STATED, IN
TRADE CONFIRMATIONS OR ACCOUNT STATEMENTS THAT IT SENT FOR AT
LEAST SEVEN MILLION TRANSACTIONS, WHETHER IT ACTED AS AN AGENT,
DUAL AGENT, OR A PRINCIPAL FOR THE TRANSACTION.  [CONTINUED IN
COMMENT SECTION]
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 06/21/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,800,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL IN JULY 6, 2012.

Regulator Statement ALLEGATIONS CONTINUED: THE FIRM FAILED TO DELIVER CERTAIN
PROXIES AND VOTING MATERIALS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CUSTOMER
DIRECTIVES. IT FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES REQUIRING THE
PROCESSING OF A PROXY MISMATCH REPORT AND THE CORRECTION OF
INFORMATION IDENTIFIED IN THE REPORT. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY
AGGREGATED PROXIES AND A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR CAUSED PROXIES
TO BE MISDIRECTED BECAUSE IT RELIED ON OUTDATED AND INCORRECT
PROXY-DELIVERY DESIGNATIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO SEND MARGIN
RISK DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS TO CUSTOMERS BECAUSE A CODING
ISSUE INCORRECTLY BLOCKED THE DELIVERY OF ITS WELCOME KIT TO
CUSTOMERS. THE FIRM IDENTIFIED OVER 16,000 CUSTOMERS ON THE
MONEY MANAGER PLATFORM WHO DID NOT RECEIVE ITS BUSINESS
CONTINUITY PLAN BECAUSE THE WELCOME KIT WAS SUPPRESSED. IN
DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE SANCTIONS, FINRA CONSIDERED THE
FIRM'S INTERNAL REVIEW THROUGH WHICH IT SELF-IDENTIFIED THESE
VIOLATIONS, THE REMEDIAL MEASURES IT TOOK TO CORRECT ITS
SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES, AND ITS EFFORTS TO PROVIDE
REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,800,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

513©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Allegations: SECTIONS 10, 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, SEC RULES 10B-
10(A), 10B-10(A)(2), 17A-3, 17A-4, FINRA RULES 2010, 2251(A), 2264, 4370,
NASD RULES 2110, 2230, 2260(A), 2341, 3010, 3510(E) - MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, CONTRARY TO APPLICABLE
CUSTOMER DISCLOSURES OR APPLICABLE PROGRAM INVESTMENT
GUIDELINES, RELIED ON IMPROPERLY CODED DATA IN ITS SECURITIES
MASTER DATABASE, WHICH CAUSED IT TO CHARGE FEES ON CERTAIN
INELIGIBLE SECURITIES WHICH TYPICALLY WERE SECURITIES AFFILIATED
WITH THE FIRM SO IT OVERCHARGED CUSTOMERS A TOTAL OF $9,460,351.
WHEN CALCULATING THE REMEDIATION FOR THE THREE INVESTMENT
ADVISORY PROGRAMS, IT DISCOVERED THAT ITS BILLING SYSTEM FOR
TWO OF THEM DID NOT PROPERLY IDENTIFY ACCOUNTS HOLDING 100%
FIXED INCOME SECURITIES TO ENSURE THAT THE LOWER FIXED INCOME
FEE SCHEDULE WAS APPLIED AND FOR THE THIRD, THE FEE SCHEDULE
WAS DETERMINED BY THE CHOSEN INVESTMENT STRATEGY AT THE TIME
OF CUSTOMER ENROLLMENT AND DID NOT MONITOR CHANGES IN
INVESTMENT STRATEGY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE MORE
FAVORABLE FIXED INCOME FEE SHOULD APPLY. THE FIRM OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMERS IN THE PROGRAMS $6,782,576 BY NOT BILLING AT THE
APPLICABLE FIXED INCOME FEE SCHEDULE. THE BILLING PROCESS FOR
ONE PROGRAM ERRONEOUSLY ALLOWED FOR FLAT RATE BILLING TO
EXCEED THE MAXIMUM TIERED FEE RATE SO THAT IT OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMERS $3,486,846. THE FIRM OFFERED NO-LOAD MUTUAL FUNDS
FOR CUSTOMER RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS IN SEVERAL INVESTMENT
PROGRAMS BUT ITS REBATING PROCESS DID NOT TAKE INTO ACCOUNT
THAT LOAD FUNDS AND NO-LOAD FUNDS WERE TREATED DIFFERENTLY
WHEN COLLECTING SUBACCOUNTING AND 12B-1 FEES FROM THE
MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES. THE FIRM DID NOT REBATE $1,987,752 IN SUB-
ACCOUNTING FEES ON NO-LOAD FUND TRANSACTIONS FOR CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS. FOR SOME PROGRAMS, THE CONTRACT AND DISCLOSURE
DOCUMENTS STATED THAT THE FEE RATE APPLIED WOULD BE BASED ON
THE AGGREGATE VALUE OF THE ASSETS IN ALL THE CUSTOMER'S
PROGRAM ACCOUNTS BUT THE FIRM DID NOT ALWAYS AUTOMATICALLY
UPDATE THE ACCOUNTS' ASSET VALUES WHICH RESULTED IN
CUSTOMERS NOT RECEIVING THE APPROPRIATE FEE DISCOUNT. THE
FIRM OVERCHARGED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS, RESULTING IN EXCESS
FEES OF $8,061,426. THE FIRM ALLOWED A NEW ACCOUNT TO BE
AGGREGATED WITH AN EXISTING GROUP OF ACCOUNTS AND HAVE A FLAT
RATE APPLY BASED ON TOTAL ASSET LEVELS BUT THE FIRM'S SYSTEM
ERRONEOUSLY APPLIED THE SAME FLAT RATE. THE FIRM OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS A TOTAL OF $565,372. NEW CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
IN ONE PROGRAM WERE OPENED USING DOCUMENTS REFLECTING A
LOWER FEE SCHEDULE BUT WERE PLACED IN A HIGHER FEE SCHEDULE
SO THE CUSTOMERS WERE IMPROPERLY CHARGED $1,123,386 IN HIGHER
FEES. IN ONE PROGRAM, CUSTOMERS WERE CHARGED AN ESTIMATED
$706,660 IN WIRE TRANSFER FEES EVEN THOUGH DOCUMENTS HAD NOT
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSED SUCH CHARGES. AS A RESULT OF THESE
SUPERVISORY FAILURES, THE FIRM CHARGED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
UNWARRANTED FEES TOTALING AT LEAST $32,174,369. THE FIRM HAS
COMPLETED REMEDIATION WITH INTEREST OF AFFECTED CUSTOMERS.
FOR OVER FOUR YEARS, THE FIRM FAILED TO DELIVER TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS FOR OVER 10 MILLION TRANSACTIONS TO CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS AS REQUIRED UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT AND FAILED TO
SEND TRADE CONFIRMATIONS TO CUSTOMERS BECAUSE OF CODING
ERRORS AND OTHER DEFICIENCIES THAT WERE NOT PROMPTLY
REMEDIED AND LASTED OVER SEVERAL YEARS. FOR APPROXIMATELY
NINE YEARS, THE FIRM FAILED TO STATE, OR INACCURATELY STATED, IN
TRADE CONFIRMATIONS OR ACCOUNT STATEMENTS THAT IT SENT FOR AT
LEAST SEVEN MILLION TRANSACTIONS, WHETHER IT ACTED AS AN AGENT,
DUAL AGENT, OR A PRINCIPAL FOR THE TRANSACTION. [CONTINUED IN
COMMENT SECTION]

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 06/21/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008014187701

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): INVESTMENT ADVISORY PROGRAMS

SECTIONS 10, 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, SEC RULES 10B-
10(A), 10B-10(A)(2), 17A-3, 17A-4, FINRA RULES 2010, 2251(A), 2264, 4370,
NASD RULES 2110, 2230, 2260(A), 2341, 3010, 3510(E) - MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, CONTRARY TO APPLICABLE
CUSTOMER DISCLOSURES OR APPLICABLE PROGRAM INVESTMENT
GUIDELINES, RELIED ON IMPROPERLY CODED DATA IN ITS SECURITIES
MASTER DATABASE, WHICH CAUSED IT TO CHARGE FEES ON CERTAIN
INELIGIBLE SECURITIES WHICH TYPICALLY WERE SECURITIES AFFILIATED
WITH THE FIRM SO IT OVERCHARGED CUSTOMERS A TOTAL OF $9,460,351.
WHEN CALCULATING THE REMEDIATION FOR THE THREE INVESTMENT
ADVISORY PROGRAMS, IT DISCOVERED THAT ITS BILLING SYSTEM FOR
TWO OF THEM DID NOT PROPERLY IDENTIFY ACCOUNTS HOLDING 100%
FIXED INCOME SECURITIES TO ENSURE THAT THE LOWER FIXED INCOME
FEE SCHEDULE WAS APPLIED AND FOR THE THIRD, THE FEE SCHEDULE
WAS DETERMINED BY THE CHOSEN INVESTMENT STRATEGY AT THE TIME
OF CUSTOMER ENROLLMENT AND DID NOT MONITOR CHANGES IN
INVESTMENT STRATEGY TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE MORE
FAVORABLE FIXED INCOME FEE SHOULD APPLY. THE FIRM OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMERS IN THE PROGRAMS $6,782,576 BY NOT BILLING AT THE
APPLICABLE FIXED INCOME FEE SCHEDULE. THE BILLING PROCESS FOR
ONE PROGRAM ERRONEOUSLY ALLOWED FOR FLAT RATE BILLING TO
EXCEED THE MAXIMUM TIERED FEE RATE SO THAT IT OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMERS $3,486,846. THE FIRM OFFERED NO-LOAD MUTUAL FUNDS
FOR CUSTOMER RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS IN SEVERAL INVESTMENT
PROGRAMS BUT ITS REBATING PROCESS DID NOT TAKE INTO ACCOUNT
THAT LOAD FUNDS AND NO-LOAD FUNDS WERE TREATED DIFFERENTLY
WHEN COLLECTING SUBACCOUNTING AND 12B-1 FEES FROM THE
MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES. THE FIRM DID NOT REBATE $1,987,752 IN SUB-
ACCOUNTING FEES ON NO-LOAD FUND TRANSACTIONS FOR CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS. FOR SOME PROGRAMS, THE CONTRACT AND DISCLOSURE
DOCUMENTS STATED THAT THE FEE RATE APPLIED WOULD BE BASED ON
THE AGGREGATE VALUE OF THE ASSETS IN ALL THE CUSTOMER'S
PROGRAM ACCOUNTS BUT THE FIRM DID NOT ALWAYS AUTOMATICALLY
UPDATE THE ACCOUNTS' ASSET VALUES WHICH RESULTED IN
CUSTOMERS NOT RECEIVING THE APPROPRIATE FEE DISCOUNT. THE
FIRM OVERCHARGED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS, RESULTING IN EXCESS
FEES OF $8,061,426. THE FIRM ALLOWED A NEW ACCOUNT TO BE
AGGREGATED WITH AN EXISTING GROUP OF ACCOUNTS AND HAVE A FLAT
RATE APPLY BASED ON TOTAL ASSET LEVELS BUT THE FIRM'S SYSTEM
ERRONEOUSLY APPLIED THE SAME FLAT RATE. THE FIRM OVERCHARGED
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS A TOTAL OF $565,372. NEW CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
IN ONE PROGRAM WERE OPENED USING DOCUMENTS REFLECTING A
LOWER FEE SCHEDULE BUT WERE PLACED IN A HIGHER FEE SCHEDULE
SO THE CUSTOMERS WERE IMPROPERLY CHARGED $1,123,386 IN HIGHER
FEES. IN ONE PROGRAM, CUSTOMERS WERE CHARGED AN ESTIMATED
$706,660 IN WIRE TRANSFER FEES EVEN THOUGH DOCUMENTS HAD NOT
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSED SUCH CHARGES. AS A RESULT OF THESE
SUPERVISORY FAILURES, THE FIRM CHARGED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
UNWARRANTED FEES TOTALING AT LEAST $32,174,369. THE FIRM HAS
COMPLETED REMEDIATION WITH INTEREST OF AFFECTED CUSTOMERS.
FOR OVER FOUR YEARS, THE FIRM FAILED TO DELIVER TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS FOR OVER 10 MILLION TRANSACTIONS TO CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS AS REQUIRED UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT AND FAILED TO
SEND TRADE CONFIRMATIONS TO CUSTOMERS BECAUSE OF CODING
ERRORS AND OTHER DEFICIENCIES THAT WERE NOT PROMPTLY
REMEDIED AND LASTED OVER SEVERAL YEARS. FOR APPROXIMATELY
NINE YEARS, THE FIRM FAILED TO STATE, OR INACCURATELY STATED, IN
TRADE CONFIRMATIONS OR ACCOUNT STATEMENTS THAT IT SENT FOR AT
LEAST SEVEN MILLION TRANSACTIONS, WHETHER IT ACTED AS AN AGENT,
DUAL AGENT, OR A PRINCIPAL FOR THE TRANSACTION. [CONTINUED IN
COMMENT SECTION]

Resolution Date: 06/21/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,800,000.

Firm Statement ALLEGATIONS CONTINUED: THE FIRM FAILED TO DELIVER CERTAIN
PROXIES AND VOTING MATERIALS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CUSTOMER
DIRECTIVES. IT FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES REQUIRING THE
PROCESSING OF A PROXY MISMATCH REPORT AND THE CORRECTION OF
INFORMATION IDENTIFIED IN THE REPORT. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY
AGGREGATED PROXIES AND A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR CAUSED PROXIES
TO BE MISDIRECTED BECAUSE IT RELIED ON OUTDATED AND INCORRECT
PROXY-DELIVERY DESIGNATIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO SEND MARGIN
RISK DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS TO CUSTOMERS BECAUSE A CODING
ISSUE INCORRECTLY BLOCKED THE DELIVERY OF ITS WELCOME KIT TO
CUSTOMERS. THE FIRM IDENTIFIED OVER 16,000 CUSTOMERS ON THE
MONEY MANAGER PLATFORM WHO DID NOT RECEIVE ITS BUSINESS
CONTINUITY PLAN BECAUSE THE WELCOME KIT WAS SUPPRESSED. IN
DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE SANCTIONS, FINRA CONSIDERED THE
FIRM'S INTERNAL REVIEW THROUGH WHICH IT SELF-IDENTIFIED THESE
VIOLATIONS, THE REMEDIAL MEASURES IT TOOK TO CORRECT ITS
SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES, AND ITS EFFORTS TO PROVIDE
REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS.

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,800,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,800,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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ALLEGATIONS CONTINUED: THE FIRM FAILED TO DELIVER CERTAIN
PROXIES AND VOTING MATERIALS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CUSTOMER
DIRECTIVES. IT FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS PROCEDURES REQUIRING THE
PROCESSING OF A PROXY MISMATCH REPORT AND THE CORRECTION OF
INFORMATION IDENTIFIED IN THE REPORT. THE FIRM IMPROPERLY
AGGREGATED PROXIES AND A THIRD-PARTY VENDOR CAUSED PROXIES
TO BE MISDIRECTED BECAUSE IT RELIED ON OUTDATED AND INCORRECT
PROXY-DELIVERY DESIGNATIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO SEND MARGIN
RISK DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS TO CUSTOMERS BECAUSE A CODING
ISSUE INCORRECTLY BLOCKED THE DELIVERY OF ITS WELCOME KIT TO
CUSTOMERS. THE FIRM IDENTIFIED OVER 16,000 CUSTOMERS ON THE
MONEY MANAGER PLATFORM WHO DID NOT RECEIVE ITS BUSINESS
CONTINUITY PLAN BECAUSE THE WELCOME KIT WAS SUPPRESSED. IN
DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE SANCTIONS, FINRA CONSIDERED THE
FIRM'S INTERNAL REVIEW THROUGH WHICH IT SELF-IDENTIFIED THESE
VIOLATIONS, THE REMEDIAL MEASURES IT TOOK TO CORRECT ITS
SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES, AND ITS EFFORTS TO PROVIDE
REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS.

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,800,000.

Disclosure 172 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 06/11/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2010022011901

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED OFFERED A WIDE RANGE OF
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS TO RETAIL CUSTOMERS. FOR MORE THAN
THREE YEARS, FIRM CUSTOMERS EFFECTED APPROXIMATELY 650,000
STRUCTURED-PRODUCT PURCHASES, OF WHICH GREATER THAN 50
PERCENT INVOLVED STRUCTURED-PRODUCT OFFERINGS ISSUED BY THE
FIRM'S PARENT COMPANY. THE FIRM RELIED ON AUTOMATED EXCEPTION-
BASED REPORTING SYSTEMS TO FLAG TRANSACTIONS AND/OR
ACCOUNTS THAT MET CERTAIN PRE-DEFINED CRITERIA. THE VARIOUS
REPORTING SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM ARE UTILIZED BY
DEDICATED REVIEW UNITS OR TEAMS CHARGED WITH FOLLOW-UP
INVESTIGATION OF EXCEPTIONS REPORTED. OF THE SEVERAL
EXCEPTION-BASED REPORTING SYSTEMS UTILIZED BY THE FIRM, NONE,
PRIOR TO MARCH 1, 2009, SPECIFICALLY MONITORED FOR POTENTIALLY
UNSUITABLE CONCENTRATION LEVELS IN STRUCTURED PRODUCTS IN
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: 2010022011901

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): STRUCTURED PRODUCTS

Resolution Date: 06/11/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $450,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL ON JUNE 25, 2012.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $450,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED OFFERED A WIDE RANGE OF
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS TO RETAIL CUSTOMERS. FOR MORE THAN
THREE YEARS, FIRM CUSTOMERS EFFECTED APPROXIMATELY 650,000
STRUCTURED-PRODUCT PURCHASES, OF WHICH GREATER THAN 50
PERCENT INVOLVED STRUCTURED-PRODUCT OFFERINGS ISSUED BY THE
FIRM'S PARENT COMPANY. THE FIRM RELIED ON AUTOMATED EXCEPTION-
BASED REPORTING SYSTEMS TO FLAG TRANSACTIONS AND/OR
ACCOUNTS THAT MET CERTAIN PRE-DEFINED CRITERIA. THE VARIOUS
REPORTING SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM ARE UTILIZED BY
DEDICATED REVIEW UNITS OR TEAMS CHARGED WITH FOLLOW-UP
INVESTIGATION OF EXCEPTIONS REPORTED. OF THE SEVERAL
EXCEPTION-BASED REPORTING SYSTEMS UTILIZED BY THE FIRM, NONE,
PRIOR TO MARCH 1, 2009, SPECIFICALLY MONITORED FOR POTENTIALLY
UNSUITABLE CONCENTRATION LEVELS IN STRUCTURED PRODUCTS IN
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 06/11/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2010022011901

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): STRUCTURED PRODUCTS

FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED OFFERED A WIDE RANGE OF
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS TO RETAIL CUSTOMERS. FOR MORE THAN
THREE YEARS, FIRM CUSTOMERS EFFECTED APPROXIMATELY 650,000
STRUCTURED-PRODUCT PURCHASES, OF WHICH GREATER THAN 50
PERCENT INVOLVED STRUCTURED-PRODUCT OFFERINGS ISSUED BY THE
FIRM'S PARENT COMPANY. THE FIRM RELIED ON AUTOMATED EXCEPTION-
BASED REPORTING SYSTEMS TO FLAG TRANSACTIONS AND/OR
ACCOUNTS THAT MET CERTAIN PRE-DEFINED CRITERIA. THE VARIOUS
REPORTING SYSTEMS EMPLOYED BY THE FIRM ARE UTILIZED BY
DEDICATED REVIEW UNITS OR TEAMS CHARGED WITH FOLLOW-UP
INVESTIGATION OF EXCEPTIONS REPORTED. OF THE SEVERAL
EXCEPTION-BASED REPORTING SYSTEMS UTILIZED BY THE FIRM, NONE,
PRIOR TO MARCH 1, 2009, SPECIFICALLY MONITORED FOR POTENTIALLY
UNSUITABLE CONCENTRATION LEVELS IN STRUCTURED PRODUCTS IN
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS.

Resolution Date: 06/11/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $450,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $450,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $450,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 173 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASDAQ RULES 4613(E), 4755(A)(4) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED FAILED TO REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING AND
ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT
LOCKED OR CROSSED A PROTECTED QUOTATION, IN THAT, IT ENTERED
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS INTO THE NASDAQ SINGLE BOOK
EXECUTION SYSTEM THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A QUOTATION
PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM PLAN AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY ROUTE AN
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDER TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL
DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE LOCKED OR CROSSED QUOTE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/01/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009018958801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NASDAQ SECURITIES

NASDAQ RULES 4613(E), 4755(A)(4) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED FAILED TO REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING AND
ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT
LOCKED OR CROSSED A PROTECTED QUOTATION, IN THAT, IT ENTERED
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS INTO THE NASDAQ SINGLE BOOK
EXECUTION SYSTEM THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A QUOTATION
PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM PLAN AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY ROUTE AN
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDER TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL
DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE LOCKED OR CROSSED QUOTE.

Resolution Date: 06/01/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: NASDAQ RULES 4613(E), 4755(A)(4) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED FAILED TO REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING AND
ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT
LOCKED OR CROSSED A PROTECTED QUOTATION, IN THAT, IT ENTERED
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS INTO THE NASDAQ SINGLE BOOK
EXECUTION SYSTEM THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A QUOTATION
PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM PLAN AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY ROUTE AN
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDER TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL
DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE LOCKED OR CROSSED QUOTE.

Current Status: Final

519©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 06/01/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009018958801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NASDAQ SECURITIES

NASDAQ RULES 4613(E), 4755(A)(4) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED FAILED TO REASONABLY AVOID DISPLAYING AND
ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF DISPLAYING QUOTATIONS THAT
LOCKED OR CROSSED A PROTECTED QUOTATION, IN THAT, IT ENTERED
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS INTO THE NASDAQ SINGLE BOOK
EXECUTION SYSTEM THAT LOCKED OR CROSSED A QUOTATION
PREVIOUSLY DISSEMINATED PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM PLAN AND FAILED TO SIMULTANEOUSLY ROUTE AN
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDER TO EXECUTE AGAINST THE FULL
DISPLAYED SIZE OF THE LOCKED OR CROSSED QUOTE.

Resolution Date: 06/01/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 174 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO
CUSTOMERS AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/16/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008014732601

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO
CUSTOMERS AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.

Resolution Date: 05/16/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $17,500 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS AND ORDERED TO PAY $7,425.35, PLUS INTEREST, IN
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS. A REGISTERED FIRM PRINCIPAL SHALL
SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THIS AWC. ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL
BE FORWARDED TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY
OR ABANDONED PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE
CUSTOMER LAST RESIDED. FINE PAID IN FULL ON JULY 9, 2012.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $17,500.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION; CENSURE

Date Initiated: 05/16/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008014732601

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO
CUSTOMERS AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/16/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $17,500 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS AND ORDERED TO PAY $7,425.35, PLUS INTEREST, IN
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS. A REGISTERED FIRM PRINCIPAL SHALL
SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THIS AWC. ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL
BE FORWARDED TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY
OR ABANDONED PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE
CUSTOMER LAST RESIDED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $17,500.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $17,500 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS AND ORDERED TO PAY $7,425.35, PLUS INTEREST, IN
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS. A REGISTERED FIRM PRINCIPAL SHALL
SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THIS AWC. ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL
BE FORWARDED TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY
OR ABANDONED PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE
CUSTOMER LAST RESIDED.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $17,500 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS AND ORDERED TO PAY $7,425.35, PLUS INTEREST, IN
RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS. A REGISTERED FIRM PRINCIPAL SHALL
SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT
RESTITUTION TO FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
OF THIS AWC. ANY UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL
BE FORWARDED TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY
OR ABANDONED PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE
CUSTOMER LAST RESIDED.

Disclosure 175 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/09/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008012350501

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: SEC RULE 611(C) OF REGULATION NMS - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, DUE TO A CODING ERROR IN ITS
SMART ORDER ROUTING TECHNOLOGY, IMPROPERLY ROUNDED
PROTECTED MARKET SUB-PENNY QUOTES PRICED TO THREE OR MORE
DECIMAL PLACES, CAUSING THE FIRM TO IMPROPERLY ROUTE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS (ISOS) ON A NUMBER OF OCCASIONS AND,
IN SOME INSTANCES, TRADE THROUGH PROTECTED QUOTES. AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH
THAT THE INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED IN SUB-PENNY
QUOTES MET THE DEFINITIONAL REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE
600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 05/09/2012

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL ON MAY 22, 2012.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 05/09/2012

Docket/Case Number: 20080123505-01

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: SEC RULE 611(C) OF REGULATION NMS - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, DUE TO A CODING ERROR IN ITS
SMART ORDER ROUTING TECHNOLOGY, IMPROPERLY ROUNDED
PROTECTED MARKET SUB-PENNY QUOTES PRICED TO THREE OR MORE
DECIMAL PLACES, CAUSING THE FIRM TO IMPROPERLY ROUTE
INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS (ISOS) ON A NUMBER OF OCCASIONS AND,
IN SOME INSTANCES, TRADE THROUGH PROTECTED QUOTES. AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM FAILED TO TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO ESTABLISH
THAT THE INTERMARKET SWEEP ORDERS IT ROUTED IN SUB-PENNY
QUOTES MET THE DEFINITIONAL REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN RULE
600(B)(30) OF REGULATION NMS.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 05/09/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 176 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION
("BUREAU")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/12/2012

Docket/Case Number: I-2009000004

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE BUREAU ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC AND BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC.)
(COLLECTIVELY, "RESPONDENTS") INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND
SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY
INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS
OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE BUREAU ALLEGED THAT,
THROUGH THIS CONDUCT, THE RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN DISHONEST
AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN THE OFFER AND SALE OF SECURITIES AND
FAILED TO SUPERVISE THEIR AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Settled
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Resolution Date: 04/12/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE
ALSO, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C.
("BLUE RIDGE"), OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS
DEFINED IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN
ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY
COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENTS HAVE PAID $447,039.74 TO THE STATE OF NEW
HAMPSHIRE REPRESENTING NEW HAMPSHIRE'S PORTION OF A TOTAL
CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE
STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR
ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $447,039.74
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Disclosure 177 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ALASKA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, COMMUNITY, AND ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT, DIVISION OF BANKING AND SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 01/30/2012

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 11-000815-01-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE ALASKA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, COMMUNITY, AND ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT, DIVISION OF BANKING AND SECURITIES (DIVISION),
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
ALASKA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN ALASKA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A VIOLATION OF AS
45.55.05(K), FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE
APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES AND FAILURE TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS IN VIOLATION OF AS 45.55.060(B)(1),
VIOLATED THE AGENT REGISTRATION PROVISIONS OF AS 45.55.030(A) AND
(B), AND SOLD SECURITIES IN ALASKA THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN
VIOLATION OF AS 45.55.030 (A) AND (B).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/30/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DIVISION, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING
IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ALASKA THROUGH UNREGISTERED
AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED
TO PAY THE DIVISION $295,450.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT,
CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $295,450.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DIVISION, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING
IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ALASKA THROUGH UNREGISTERED
AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED
TO PAY THE DIVISION $295,450.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT,
CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Disclosure 178 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 02/10/2012

Docket/Case Number: 20090170380-01

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: DURING THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 1, 2008 THROUGH DECEMBER 31,
2008 (THE "REVIEW PERIOD"), FINRA ALLEGED THAT BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC (WHICH MERGED INTO MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER
& SMITH INCORPORATED) ON NOVEMBER 1, 2010) FAILED WITHIN 90
SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT TO THE FINRA/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY ("FINRA/NASDAQ TRF") 3,075 LATE SALE
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES.  THE
CONDUCT DESCRIBED CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND DISTINCT
VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE 4632(A) (FOR CONDUCT PRIOR TO DECEMBER
15, 2008) AND FINRA RULE 6380(A) (FOR CONDUCT ON OR AFTER
DECEMBER 15, 2008) AND A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING
WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE
2110 (FOR CONDUCT PRIOR TO DECEMBER 15, 2008) AND FINRA RULE 2110
(FOR CONDUCT ON OR AFTER DECEMBER 15, 2008).

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 02/10/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR TO BANC OF
AMERICA SECURITIES LLC) ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE,
WAIVER AND CONSENT WITH FINRA IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE
AND A FINE OF $25,000.00.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR TO BANC OF
AMERICA SECURITIES LLC) ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE,
WAIVER AND CONSENT WITH FINRA IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE
AND A FINE OF $25,000.00.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 179 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY THE LEGAL
SECTION OF THE MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT AT FINRA AND
PENDING NYSE AMEX: CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: FOR THE SOLE
PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT
ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT IT: 1.
VIOLATED REGULATION SHO RULE 203(B)(3) DURING THE PERIOD OF
JANUARY 2006 THROUGH JUNE 2008, BY FAILING TO CLOSE OUT 22 FAIL
TO DELIVER POSITIONS IN FOUR SEPARATE SECURITIES, THAT EXISTED
BETWEEN 14 DAYS TO 50 DAYS.
2. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 324, DURING THE PERIOD OF NOVEMBER 19, 2007
THROUGH DECEMBER 27, 2007, BY INCORRECTLY BOOKING A TRADE,
WHICH CAUSED THE FIRM TO MAINTAIN INACCURATE RECORDS AND
REPORT INACCURATE INFORMATION TO THE NATIONAL SECURITIES
CLEARING CORPORATION. 3. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE
PERIOD OF JANUARY 2006 THROUGH JUNE 2008, BY FAILING TO
IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES OF SUPERVISION
AND CONTROL, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED FOR COMPLIANCE WITH REG SHO RULE
203(B)(3). STIPULATED SANCTION: CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$50,000

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/17/2012

Docket/Case Number: 12-AMEX-2

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY THE LEGAL
SECTION OF THE MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT AT FINRA AND
PENDING NYSE AMEX: CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: FOR THE SOLE
PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT
ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT IT: 1.
VIOLATED REGULATION SHO RULE 203(B)(3) DURING THE PERIOD OF
JANUARY 2006 THROUGH JUNE 2008, BY FAILING TO CLOSE OUT 22 FAIL
TO DELIVER POSITIONS IN FOUR SEPARATE SECURITIES, THAT EXISTED
BETWEEN 14 DAYS TO 50 DAYS.
2. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 324, DURING THE PERIOD OF NOVEMBER 19, 2007
THROUGH DECEMBER 27, 2007, BY INCORRECTLY BOOKING A TRADE,
WHICH CAUSED THE FIRM TO MAINTAIN INACCURATE RECORDS AND
REPORT INACCURATE INFORMATION TO THE NATIONAL SECURITIES
CLEARING CORPORATION. 3. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE
PERIOD OF JANUARY 2006 THROUGH JUNE 2008, BY FAILING TO
IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES OF SUPERVISION
AND CONTROL, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED FOR COMPLIANCE WITH REG SHO RULE
203(B)(3). STIPULATED SANCTION: CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$50,000

Resolution Date: 04/25/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **3/29/12** DECISION NO. 12-AMEX-2 ISSUED BY NYSE AMEX HEARING
BOARD:  DECISION: VIOLATED REGULATION SHO RULE 203(B)(3) BY
FAILING TO CLOSE OUT 22 FAIL-TO-DELIVER POSITIONS IN FOUR
SEPERATE SECURITIES THAT EXISTED BETWEEN 14 DAYS TO 50 DAYS;
VIOLATED AMEX RULE 324 BY INCORRECTLY BOOKING A TRADE, WHICH
CAUSED THE FIRM TO MAINTAIN INACCURATE RECORDS AND REPORT
INACCURATE INFORMATION TO THE NATIONAL SECURITIES CLEARING
CORPORATION; AND VIOLATED AMEX RULE 320 BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT
AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES OF SUPERVISION AND CONTROL,
INCLUDING A SEPERATE SYSTEM FOR FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED FOR COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATION SHO RULE
203(B)(3). CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $50,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **3/29/12** A REVIEW OF THIS DECISION MAY BE REQUESTED ONLY BY A
MEMBER OF THE NYSE ENTITIES IDENTIFIED IN NYSE RULE 476(G) WITHIN
25 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THIS LETTER. IF A REVIEW OF THE DECISION
IS REQUESTED, YOU WILL BE PROMPTLY NOTIFIED. IF NO REVIEW IS
REQUESTED, THE DECISION WILL BECOME FINAL AT THE CLOSE OF
BUSINESS ON APRIL 25, 2012.
04/27/2012**DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS,
APRIL 25, 2012.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Decision
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**3/29/12** A REVIEW OF THIS DECISION MAY BE REQUESTED ONLY BY A
MEMBER OF THE NYSE ENTITIES IDENTIFIED IN NYSE RULE 476(G) WITHIN
25 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THIS LETTER. IF A REVIEW OF THE DECISION
IS REQUESTED, YOU WILL BE PROMPTLY NOTIFIED. IF NO REVIEW IS
REQUESTED, THE DECISION WILL BECOME FINAL AT THE CLOSE OF
BUSINESS ON APRIL 25, 2012.
04/27/2012**DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS,
APRIL 25, 2012.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 02/17/2012

Docket/Case Number: 12-AMEX-2

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY THE LEGAL
SECTION OF THE MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT AT FINRA AND
PENDING NYSE AMEX: CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: FOR THE SOLE
PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT
ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT IT: 1.
VIOLATED REGULATION SHO RULE 203 (B)(3) DURING THE PERIOD OF
JANUARY 2006 THROUGH JUNE 2008, BY FAILING TO CLOSE OUT 22 FAIL
TO DELIVER POSITIONS IN FOUR SEPARATE SECURITIES, THAT EXISTED
BETWEEN 14 DAYS TO 50 DAYS. 2. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 324, DURING THE
PERIOD OF NOVEMBER 19, 2007 THROUGH DECEMBER 27, 2007, BY
INCORRECTLY BOOKING A TRADE, WHICH CAUSED THE FIRM TO MAINTAIN
INACCURATE RECORDS AND REPORT INACCURATE INFORMATION TO THE
NATIONAL SECURITIES CLEARING CORPORATION. 3. VIOLATED AMEX
RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD OF JANUARY 2006 THROUGH JUNE 2008,
BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES OF
SUPERVISION AND CONTROL, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM FOLLOW-
UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED FOR COMPLIANCE WITH REG
SHO RULE 203(B)(3). STIPULATED SANCTION: CENSURE AND FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $50,000

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/25/2012

Resolution: Decision
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Resolution Date: 04/25/2012

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **3/29/12** DECISION NO. 12-AMEX-2 ISSUED BY NYSE AMEX HEARING
BOARD: DECISION: VIOLATED
REGULATION SHO RULE 203(B)(3) BY FAILING TO CLOSE OUT 22 FAIL-TO-
DELIVER POSITIONS IN FOUR
SEPERATE SECURITIES THAT EXISTED BETWEEN 14 DAYS TO 50 DAYS;
VIOLATED AMEX RULE 324 BY
INCORRECTLY BOOKING A TRADE, WHICH CAUSED THE FIRM TO MAINTAIN
INACCURATE RECORDS AND
REPORT INACCURATE INFORMATION TO THE NATIONAL SECURITIES
CLEARING CORPORATION; AND
VIOLATED AMEX RULE 320 BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN
ADEQUATE PROCEDURES OF
SUPERVISION AND CONTROL, INCLUDING A SEPERATE SYSTEM FOR
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED FOR COMPLIANCE
WITH REGULATION SHO RULE 203(B)(3). CONSENT TO CENSURE AND
$50,000 FINE.

Firm Statement **3/29/12** A REVIEW OF THIS DECISION MAY BE REQUESTED ONLY BY A
MEMBER OF THE NYSE ENTITIES IDENTIFIED IN NYSE RULE 476(G) WITHIN
25 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THIS LETTER. IF A REVIEW OF THE DECISION
IS REQUESTED, YOU WILL BE PROMPTLY NOTIFIED. IF NO REVIEW IS
REQUESTED, THE DECISION WILL BECOME FINAL AT THE CLOSE OF
BUSINESS ON APRIL 25, 2012. 04/27/2012**DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF
THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS, APRIL 25, 2012.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Disclosure 180 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE IDAHO DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE (DEPARTMENT), ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN IDAHO BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN IDAHO,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS,
WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AS REQUIRED BY IDAPA
12.01.08.105.01, AND FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN
THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF
IDAPA 12.01.08.105.03.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: IDAHO DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 01/20/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2011-7-17

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE IDAHO DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE (DEPARTMENT), ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN IDAHO BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN IDAHO,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS,
WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AS REQUIRED BY IDAPA
12.01.08.105.01, AND FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN
THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF
IDAPA 12.01.08.105.03.

Resolution Date: 01/20/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEPARTMENT, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN IDAHO THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $352,050.00, AS PART OF A
TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER
MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND
THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $352,050.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 181 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: MSRB RULES G-8, G-14 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO REPORT INFORMATION REGARDING
PURCHASE AND SALE TRANSACTIONS EFFECTED IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES TO THE REAL-TIME TRANSACTION REPORTING SYSTEM
(RTRS) IN THE MANNER PRESCRIBED BY RULE G-14 RTRS PROCEDURES
AND THE RTRS USERS MANUAL; THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT THE
CORRECT TRADE TIME TO THE RTRS IN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
TRANSACTION REPORTS AND FAILED TO REPORT INFORMATION FOR THE
TRANSACTIONS WITHIN 15 MINUTES OF TRADE TIME TO AN RTRS PORTAL.
THE FIRM FAILED TO SHOW THE CORRECT EXECUTION TIME ON THE
MEMORANDUM OF TRANSACTIONS IN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR THE
ACCOUNT OF THE FIRM EXECUTED WITH ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/15/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009018644401

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

MSRB RULES G-8, G-14 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO REPORT INFORMATION REGARDING
PURCHASE AND SALE TRANSACTIONS EFFECTED IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES TO THE REAL-TIME TRANSACTION REPORTING SYSTEM
(RTRS) IN THE MANNER PRESCRIBED BY RULE G-14 RTRS PROCEDURES
AND THE RTRS USERS MANUAL; THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT THE
CORRECT TRADE TIME TO THE RTRS IN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
TRANSACTION REPORTS AND FAILED TO REPORT INFORMATION FOR THE
TRANSACTIONS WITHIN 15 MINUTES OF TRADE TIME TO AN RTRS PORTAL.
THE FIRM FAILED TO SHOW THE CORRECT EXECUTION TIME ON THE
MEMORANDUM OF TRANSACTIONS IN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR THE
ACCOUNT OF THE FIRM EXECUTED WITH ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER.

Resolution Date: 02/15/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $35,000 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS.
FINE PAID IN FULL APRIL 23, 2012.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $35,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 02/15/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009018644401

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MSRB RULES G-8, G-14 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO REPORT INFORMATION REGARDING
PURCHASE AND SALE TRANSACTIONS EFFECTED IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES TO THE REAL-TIME TRANSACTION REPORTING SYSTEM
(RTRS) IN THE MANNER PRESCRIBED BY RULE G-14 RTRS PROCEDURES
AND THE RTRS USERS MANUAL; THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT THE
CORRECT TRADE TIME TO THE RTRS IN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
TRANSACTION REPORTS AND FAILED TO REPORT INFORMATION FOR THE
TRANSACTIONS WITHIN 15 MINUTES OF TRADE TIME TO AN RTRS PORTAL.
THE FIRM FAILED TO SHOW THE CORRECT EXECUTION TIME ON THE
MEMORANDUM OF TRANSACTIONS IN MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR THE
ACCOUNT OF THE FIRM EXECUTED WITH ANOTHER BROKER-DEALER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/15/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $35,000 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $35,000 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $35,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 182 of 595

i
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Disclosure 182 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: STATE OF ILLINOIS, ILLINOIS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Prohibition

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

NOTICE OF HEARING

Date Initiated: 01/30/2012

Docket/Case Number: 0900049

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNIVERSAL VARIABLE LIFE INSURANCE POLICIES

Allegations: FAILURE TO SUPENSE

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/10/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: DISGORGMENT/RESTITUTION WAS IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,900,00.00.
COST OF INVESTIGATION IS $30,000.00

Sanction Details: CONSENT ORDER

Regulator Statement NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED JANUARY 30, 2012. CONSENT ORDER
WAS ISSUED FEBRUARY 10, 2012.  CONTACT 217-785-4947

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, SECRETARY OF STATE, SECURITIES DEPARTMENT
(THE "DEPARTMENT") ALLEGED THAT, PURSUANT TO THE ILLINOIS
SECURITIES LAW OF 1953 (THE "ACT"), SECTION 8.E.1(M), MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPFS") WAS SUBJECT TO
SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION OF ITS REGISTRATION AS A DEALER,
ALLEGEDLY FOR FAILING REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE A FORMER
EMPLOYEE PURSUANT TO SECTION 8.E.1(E)(I) AND (IV) OF THE ACT,
RESULTING IN THAT FORMER EMPLOYEE'S ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF
SECTION 12.A, F AND I OF THE ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF ILLINOIS, SECRETARY OF STATE, SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REIMBURSEMENT OF COST OF INVESTIGATION.

Date Initiated: 01/30/2012

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 0900049

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNIVERSAL VARIABLE LIFE INSURANCE POLICIES

THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, SECRETARY OF STATE, SECURITIES DEPARTMENT
(THE "DEPARTMENT") ALLEGED THAT, PURSUANT TO THE ILLINOIS
SECURITIES LAW OF 1953 (THE "ACT"), SECTION 8.E.1(M), MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPFS") WAS SUBJECT TO
SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION OF ITS REGISTRATION AS A DEALER,
ALLEGEDLY FOR FAILING REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE A FORMER
EMPLOYEE PURSUANT TO SECTION 8.E.1(E)(I) AND (IV) OF THE ACT,
RESULTING IN THAT FORMER EMPLOYEE'S ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF
SECTION 12.A, F AND I OF THE ACT.

Resolution Date: 02/10/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: $25,900,000 IN RESTITUTION AND $30,000 REPAYMENT OF THE COST OF
THE INVESTIGATION.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEPARTMENT RESULTING IN A CONSENT ORDER IN WHICH MLPFS
AGREED TO PAY $25,900,000 INTO A FUND TO PROVIDE RESTITUTION TO
MITIGATE AND OFFSET ANY POTENTIAL LOSSES OR INJURIES RESULTING
FROM THE ACTIONS OF A FORMER EMPLOYEE.  THE FUND IS BEING
ADMINISTERED BY AN INDEPENDENT THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATOR.
$30,000 WAS ALSO PAID AS REPAYMENT TO THE STATE FOR THE COST OF
THE INVESTIGATION.  ALL MONIES WERE PAID ON FEBRUARY 17, 2012.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT RESULTING
IN A CONSENT ORDER IN WHICH IT AGREED TO PAY $25,900,000 IN
RESTITUTION AND $30,000 IN REPAYMENT OF EXPENSES.

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Consent

Disclosure 183 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/03/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009018104101

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES,
INC. D/B/A MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
PURCHASED MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT FROM A
CUSTOMER AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN
ACCOUNT TO A CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE (INCLUDING ANY
MARKDOWN OR MARKUP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND REASONABLE, TAKING
INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS, INCLUDING THE BEST
JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER
AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE
TRANSACTION AND OF ANY  SECURITIES EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN
CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE EXPENSE INVOLVED IN
EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED TO A PROFIT, AND THE
TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/03/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $55,000 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS. THE FIRM HAS ALREADY PAID RESTITUTION TO THE
CUSTOMERS INVOLVED WITH THE TRANSACTIONS. FINE PAID IN FULL ON
MARCH 26, 2012.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $55,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $55,000 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS. THE FIRM HAS ALREADY PAID RESTITUTION TO THE
CUSTOMERS INVOLVED WITH THE TRANSACTIONS. FINE PAID IN FULL ON
MARCH 26, 2012.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 02/03/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009018104101

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES,
INC. (WHICH WAS MERGED WITH AND INTO MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ON OCTOBER 23, 2009) PURCHASED
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT FROM A CUSTOMER
AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO A
CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE (INCLUDING ANY MARKDOWN OR
MARKUP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND REASONABLE, TAKING INTO
CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS, INCLUDING THE BEST
JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER
AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE
TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN
CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE EXPENSE INVOLVED IN
EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED TO A PROFIT, AND THE
TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/03/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NA

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $55,000 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS. THE FIRM HAS ALREADY PAID RESTITUTION TO THE
CUSTOMERS INVOLVED WITH THE TRANSACTIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $55,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $55,000 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS. THE FIRM HAS ALREADY PAID RESTITUTION TO THE
CUSTOMERS INVOLVED WITH THE TRANSACTIONS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $55,000 FOR MSRB RULE
VIOLATIONS. THE FIRM HAS ALREADY PAID RESTITUTION TO THE
CUSTOMERS INVOLVED WITH THE TRANSACTIONS.

Disclosure 184 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/25/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008016382201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD RULES 6230(B), 6230(C)(6) - MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO REPORT TO
THE TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE)
TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES THAT IT WAS REQUIRED
TO REPORT, AND THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO TRACE THE CORRECT
CONTRA-PARTY'S IDENTIFIER FOR TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/25/2012

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500. FINE PAID IN
FULL ON MARCH 12, 2012.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 01/25/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2008016382201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD RULES 6230(B), 6230(C)(6) - MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO REPORT TO
THE TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE)
TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES THAT IT WAS REQUIRED
TO REPORT, AND THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TO TRACE THE CORRECT
CONTRA-PARTY'S IDENTIFIER FOR TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/25/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Disclosure 185 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: FINRA RULES 2010, 13200(A): IN JANUARY 2009, THE FIRM IMPLEMENTED
ADVISOR TRANSITION PROGRAM (ATP) BY MAKING PAYMENTS OF
APPROXIMATELY $2.8 BILLION TO APPROXIMATELY 5,000 REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES. DECISIONS AS TO WHICH REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES RECEIVED ATP PAYMENTS, AND THE AMOUNT OF
THOSE PAYMENTS, WERE BASED UPON THE FIRM'S ANALYSIS OF THE
PRODUCTION OF EACH REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE. PARTICIPATION
BY REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES IN THE ATP WAS VOLUNTARY. THE
FIRM STRUCTURED THE ATP PROGRAM TO ALLOW IT TO AVOID
COMPLYING WITH ITS OBLIGATION TO ARBITRATE DISPUTES WITH ITS
ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FIRM STRUCTURED THE ATP PROGRAM SO IT
COULD AVOID ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS WHEN SEEKING TO COLLECT
AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE ATP LOANS. THE ATP PAYMENTS WERE
DOCUMENTED SO THAT THE PROMISSORY NOTES STATED THAT THE
LOANS WERE BEING MADE TO THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES BY A
NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM. HOWEVER, THE FUNDING FOR
THE ATP LOANS WAS ACTUALLY PROVIDED TO THE FIRM BY ITS PARENT
COMPANY, AND NOT BY THE NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM.
THE FUNDS WERE PROVIDED BY THE PARENT COMPANY TO AN ACCOUNT
AT THE FIRM IN THE NAME OF THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE, WHICH IN TURN
MADE A PAYABLE ENTRY ON ITS BOOKS FOR THE AMOUNT OF THE ATP
FUNDING. THE LOANS WERE SERVICED BY THE FIRM. EACH OF THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WHO RECEIVED AN ATP LOAN WAS
REQUIRED TO SIGN A PROMISSORY NOTE. IN THE PROMISSORY NOTE,
THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AGREED TO REPAY THE BALANCE
DUE ON THE LOAN TO THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE WHEN THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S EMPLOYMENT WITH THE FIRM TERMINATED. THE
PROMISSORY NOTES WERE DRAFTED BY THE FIRM AND STATED THAT
THE UNDERSIGNED AGREES THAT ANY ACTIONS REGARDING THE NOTE,
INCLUDING ACTIONS TO RECOVER AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE NOTE,
SHALL BE BROUGHT SOLELY IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK IN NEW YORK COUNTY. THE NOTES ALSO REQUIRED
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO CONSENT TO THE JURISDICTION OF
THE NEW YORK STATE COURTS FOR ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING
RELATING TO THE NOTE. OTHER THAN THE PROMISSORY NOTE, THE
FIRM'S REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES HAD NO RELATIONSHIP WITH THE
AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM. THE LANGUAGE DESCRIBED WAS INCLUDED IN
THE PROMISSORY NOTES SO THE FIRM COULD PURSUE COLLECTIONS OF
AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE LOANS THROUGH THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE IN
EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT. NEW YORK LAW
SPECIFICALLY PROVIDES FOR SUCH PROCEEDINGS FOR NON-PAYMENT
OF MONEY AMOUNTS DUE AND GREATLY LIMITS DEFENDANTS' ABILITY TO
ASSERT COUNTERCLAIMS IN SUCH ACTIONS. IN 2009, A NUMBER OF
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WHO HAD RECEIVED ATP LOANS LEFT
THE FIRM, OR WERE TERMINATED BY THE FIRM, AND FAILED TO REPAY
AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE ATP. TO PURSUE COLLECTION OF
OUTSTANDING ATP LOAN BALANCES FROM THOSE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES, THE FIRM FILED SUMMARY COLLECTION
PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT IN THE NAME OF THE FIRM'S
AFFILIATE. BETWEEN JANUARY 2009 AND NOVEMBER 2009, THE FIRM
FILED OVER 90 SUCH ACTIONS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT. THESE
PROCEEDINGS INVOLVED DISPUTES BETWEEN THE FIRM AND THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES RELATING TO THE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
OF BOTH THE FIRM AND THE REPRESENTATIVES. AS SUCH, RULE 13200(A)
OF FINRA'S CODE OF ARBITRATION PROCEDURE REQUIRED THAT THE
PROCEEDINGS BE BROUGHT AS ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS, AND NOT
AS EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT. AS NOTED,
DEFENDANTS' ABILITY TO ASSERT COUNTERCLAIMS IN THOSE
PROCEEDINGS IS GREATLY LIMITED. BY BRINGING THESE PROCEEDINGS,
THE FIRM REPEATEDLY CIRCUMVENTED THE REQUIREMENT TO
ARBITRATE DISPUTES WITH ITS ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FIRM
DESIGNED THE ATP PROGRAM TO AVOID INSTITUTING ARBITRATION
PROCEEDINGS TO COLLECT AMOUNTS DUE FROM REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES WHO HAD LEFT THE FIRM. THE FIRM STRUCTURED
THE PROGRAM SO IT APPEARED THAT THE FUNDS FOR THE ATP LOANS
CAME FROM AN AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM, A NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE,
AND NOT FROM THE FIRM ITSELF. (CONT. IN COMMENT SECTION)

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 01/25/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009020188101

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): PROMISSORY NOTES

FINRA RULES 2010, 13200(A): IN JANUARY 2009, THE FIRM IMPLEMENTED
ADVISOR TRANSITION PROGRAM (ATP) BY MAKING PAYMENTS OF
APPROXIMATELY $2.8 BILLION TO APPROXIMATELY 5,000 REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES. DECISIONS AS TO WHICH REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES RECEIVED ATP PAYMENTS, AND THE AMOUNT OF
THOSE PAYMENTS, WERE BASED UPON THE FIRM'S ANALYSIS OF THE
PRODUCTION OF EACH REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE. PARTICIPATION
BY REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES IN THE ATP WAS VOLUNTARY. THE
FIRM STRUCTURED THE ATP PROGRAM TO ALLOW IT TO AVOID
COMPLYING WITH ITS OBLIGATION TO ARBITRATE DISPUTES WITH ITS
ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FIRM STRUCTURED THE ATP PROGRAM SO IT
COULD AVOID ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS WHEN SEEKING TO COLLECT
AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE ATP LOANS. THE ATP PAYMENTS WERE
DOCUMENTED SO THAT THE PROMISSORY NOTES STATED THAT THE
LOANS WERE BEING MADE TO THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES BY A
NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM. HOWEVER, THE FUNDING FOR
THE ATP LOANS WAS ACTUALLY PROVIDED TO THE FIRM BY ITS PARENT
COMPANY, AND NOT BY THE NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM.
THE FUNDS WERE PROVIDED BY THE PARENT COMPANY TO AN ACCOUNT
AT THE FIRM IN THE NAME OF THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE, WHICH IN TURN
MADE A PAYABLE ENTRY ON ITS BOOKS FOR THE AMOUNT OF THE ATP
FUNDING. THE LOANS WERE SERVICED BY THE FIRM. EACH OF THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WHO RECEIVED AN ATP LOAN WAS
REQUIRED TO SIGN A PROMISSORY NOTE. IN THE PROMISSORY NOTE,
THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AGREED TO REPAY THE BALANCE
DUE ON THE LOAN TO THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE WHEN THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S EMPLOYMENT WITH THE FIRM TERMINATED. THE
PROMISSORY NOTES WERE DRAFTED BY THE FIRM AND STATED THAT
THE UNDERSIGNED AGREES THAT ANY ACTIONS REGARDING THE NOTE,
INCLUDING ACTIONS TO RECOVER AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE NOTE,
SHALL BE BROUGHT SOLELY IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK IN NEW YORK COUNTY. THE NOTES ALSO REQUIRED
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO CONSENT TO THE JURISDICTION OF
THE NEW YORK STATE COURTS FOR ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING
RELATING TO THE NOTE. OTHER THAN THE PROMISSORY NOTE, THE
FIRM'S REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES HAD NO RELATIONSHIP WITH THE
AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM. THE LANGUAGE DESCRIBED WAS INCLUDED IN
THE PROMISSORY NOTES SO THE FIRM COULD PURSUE COLLECTIONS OF
AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE LOANS THROUGH THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE IN
EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT. NEW YORK LAW
SPECIFICALLY PROVIDES FOR SUCH PROCEEDINGS FOR NON-PAYMENT
OF MONEY AMOUNTS DUE AND GREATLY LIMITS DEFENDANTS' ABILITY TO
ASSERT COUNTERCLAIMS IN SUCH ACTIONS. IN 2009, A NUMBER OF
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WHO HAD RECEIVED ATP LOANS LEFT
THE FIRM, OR WERE TERMINATED BY THE FIRM, AND FAILED TO REPAY
AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE ATP. TO PURSUE COLLECTION OF
OUTSTANDING ATP LOAN BALANCES FROM THOSE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES, THE FIRM FILED SUMMARY COLLECTION
PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT IN THE NAME OF THE FIRM'S
AFFILIATE. BETWEEN JANUARY 2009 AND NOVEMBER 2009, THE FIRM
FILED OVER 90 SUCH ACTIONS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT. THESE
PROCEEDINGS INVOLVED DISPUTES BETWEEN THE FIRM AND THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES RELATING TO THE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
OF BOTH THE FIRM AND THE REPRESENTATIVES. AS SUCH, RULE 13200(A)
OF FINRA'S CODE OF ARBITRATION PROCEDURE REQUIRED THAT THE
PROCEEDINGS BE BROUGHT AS ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS, AND NOT
AS EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT. AS NOTED,
DEFENDANTS' ABILITY TO ASSERT COUNTERCLAIMS IN THOSE
PROCEEDINGS IS GREATLY LIMITED. BY BRINGING THESE PROCEEDINGS,
THE FIRM REPEATEDLY CIRCUMVENTED THE REQUIREMENT TO
ARBITRATE DISPUTES WITH ITS ASSOCIATED PERSONS. THE FIRM
DESIGNED THE ATP PROGRAM TO AVOID INSTITUTING ARBITRATION
PROCEEDINGS TO COLLECT AMOUNTS DUE FROM REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES WHO HAD LEFT THE FIRM. THE FIRM STRUCTURED
THE PROGRAM SO IT APPEARED THAT THE FUNDS FOR THE ATP LOANS
CAME FROM AN AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM, A NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE,
AND NOT FROM THE FIRM ITSELF. (CONT. IN COMMENT SECTION)

Resolution Date: 01/25/2012

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 01/25/2012

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000,000. FINE PAID IN
FULL FEBRUARY 7, 2012.

Regulator Statement THE FIRM ALSO PLACED LANGUAGE IN THE PROMISSORY NOTES USED IN
THE ATP PROGRAM THAT STATED THAT ACTIONS TO RECOVER AMOUNTS
DUE UNDER THE NOTES COULD BE BROUGHT ONLY IN NEW YORK STATE
COURT. IN THESE WAYS, THE FIRM DESIGNED THE ATP PROGRAM TO
ALLOW IT TO PURSUE RECOVERY OF AMOUNTS DUE FROM THE ATP
LOANS THROUGH ITS AFFILIATE IN EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW
YORK COURT, AND THUS TO CIRCUMVENT THE FIRM'S REQUIREMENT TO
ARBITRATE DISPUTES WITH ITS ASSOCIATED PERSONS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FINRA RULES 2010, 13200(A): IN JANUARY 2009, THE FIRM IMPLEMENTED
ADVISOR TRANSITION PROGRAM (ATP) TO RETAIN HIGH PRODUCING
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES DURING THE PERIOD WHEN THE FIRM
WAS ACQUIRED BY BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION. THE FIRM
STRUCTURED THE ATP PROGRAM TO ALLOW IT TO AVOID COMPLYING
WITH ITS OBLIGATION TO ARBITRATE DISPUTES WITH ITS ASSOCIATED
PERSONS CONCERNING ATP PAYMENTS. THE ATP PAYMENTS WERE
DOCUMENTED SO THAT THE PROMISSORY NOTES STATED THAT THE
LOANS WERE BEING MADE TO THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES BY A
NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM. HOWEVER, THE FUNDING FOR
THE ATP LOANS WAS ACTUALLY PROVIDED TO THE FIRM BY ITS PARENT
COMPANY, AND NOT BY THE NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM.
THE FUNDS WERE PROVIDED BY THE PARENT COMPANY TO AN ACCOUNT
AT THE FIRM IN THE NAME OF THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE, WHICH IN TURN
MADE A PAYABLE ENTRY ON ITS BOOKS FOR THE AMOUNT OF THE ATP
FUNDING. THE LOANS WERE SERVICED BY THE FIRM. EACH OF THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WHO RECEIVED AN ATP LOAN WAS
REQUIRED TO SIGN A PROMISSORY NOTE. IN THE PROMISSORY NOTE,
THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AGREED TO REPAY THE BALANCE
DUE ON THE LOAN TO THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE WHEN THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S EMPLOYMENT WITH THE FIRM TERMINATED. THE
PROMISSORY NOTES WERE DRAFTED BY THE FIRM AND STATED THAT
ANY ACTIONS REGARDING THE NOTE, INCLUDING ACTIONS TO RECOVER
AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE NOTE, SHALL BE BROUGHT SOLELY IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK IN NEW YORK COUNTY.
THE NOTES ALSO REQUIRED REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO
CONSENT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE NEW YORK STATE COURTS FOR
ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THE NOTE. OTHER THAN THE
PROMISSORY NOTE, THE FIRM'S REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES HAD NO
RELATIONSHIP WITH THE AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM. THE LANGUAGE
DESCRIBED WAS INCLUDED IN THE PROMISSORY NOTES SO THE FIRM
COULD PURSUE COLLECTIONS OF AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE LOANS
THROUGH THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE IN EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW
YORK STATE COURT. NEW YORK LAW SPECIFICALLY PROVIDES FOR SUCH
PROCEEDINGS FOR NON-PAYMENT OF MONEY AMOUNTS DUE AND
GREATLY LIMITS DEFENDANTS' ABILITY TO ASSERT COUNTERCLAIMS IN
SUCH ACTIONS. IN 2009, A NUMBER OF REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES
WHO HAD RECEIVED ATP LOANS LEFT THE FIRM, OR WERE TERMINATED
BY THE FIRM, AND FAILED TO REPAY AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE ATP. TO
PURSUE COLLECTION OF OUTSTANDING ATP LOAN BALANCES FROM
THOSE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES, THE FIRM FILED SUMMARY
COLLECTION PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT IN THE NAME OF
THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE. BETWEEN JANUARY 2009 AND NOVEMBER 2009,
THE FIRM FILED OVER 90 SUCH ACTIONS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT.
THESE PROCEEDINGS INVOLVED DISPUTES BETWEEN THE FIRM AND THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES RELATING TO THE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
OF BOTH THE FIRM AND THE REPRESENTATIVES. AS SUCH, RULE 13200(A)
OF FINRA'S CODE OF ARBITRATION PROCEDURE REQUIRED THAT THE
PROCEEDINGS BE BROUGHT AS ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS, AND NOT
AS EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT. THE FIRM
DESIGNED THE ATP PROGRAM TO AVOID INSTITUTING ARBITRATION
PROCEEDINGS TO COLLECT AMOUNTS DUE FROM REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES WHO HAD LEFT THE FIRM. THE FIRM STRUCTURED
THE PROGRAM SO IT APPEARED THAT THE FUNDS FOR THE ATP LOANS
CAME FROM AN AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM, A NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE,
AND NOT FROM THE FIRM ITSELF. (CONTINUED IN SECTION 13 BELOW)

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 01/25/2012

Docket/Case Number: 2009020188101

FINRA RULES 2010, 13200(A): IN JANUARY 2009, THE FIRM IMPLEMENTED
ADVISOR TRANSITION PROGRAM (ATP) TO RETAIN HIGH PRODUCING
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES DURING THE PERIOD WHEN THE FIRM
WAS ACQUIRED BY BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION. THE FIRM
STRUCTURED THE ATP PROGRAM TO ALLOW IT TO AVOID COMPLYING
WITH ITS OBLIGATION TO ARBITRATE DISPUTES WITH ITS ASSOCIATED
PERSONS CONCERNING ATP PAYMENTS. THE ATP PAYMENTS WERE
DOCUMENTED SO THAT THE PROMISSORY NOTES STATED THAT THE
LOANS WERE BEING MADE TO THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES BY A
NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM. HOWEVER, THE FUNDING FOR
THE ATP LOANS WAS ACTUALLY PROVIDED TO THE FIRM BY ITS PARENT
COMPANY, AND NOT BY THE NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM.
THE FUNDS WERE PROVIDED BY THE PARENT COMPANY TO AN ACCOUNT
AT THE FIRM IN THE NAME OF THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE, WHICH IN TURN
MADE A PAYABLE ENTRY ON ITS BOOKS FOR THE AMOUNT OF THE ATP
FUNDING. THE LOANS WERE SERVICED BY THE FIRM. EACH OF THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WHO RECEIVED AN ATP LOAN WAS
REQUIRED TO SIGN A PROMISSORY NOTE. IN THE PROMISSORY NOTE,
THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AGREED TO REPAY THE BALANCE
DUE ON THE LOAN TO THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE WHEN THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S EMPLOYMENT WITH THE FIRM TERMINATED. THE
PROMISSORY NOTES WERE DRAFTED BY THE FIRM AND STATED THAT
ANY ACTIONS REGARDING THE NOTE, INCLUDING ACTIONS TO RECOVER
AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE NOTE, SHALL BE BROUGHT SOLELY IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK IN NEW YORK COUNTY.
THE NOTES ALSO REQUIRED REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO
CONSENT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE NEW YORK STATE COURTS FOR
ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THE NOTE. OTHER THAN THE
PROMISSORY NOTE, THE FIRM'S REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES HAD NO
RELATIONSHIP WITH THE AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM. THE LANGUAGE
DESCRIBED WAS INCLUDED IN THE PROMISSORY NOTES SO THE FIRM
COULD PURSUE COLLECTIONS OF AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE LOANS
THROUGH THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE IN EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW
YORK STATE COURT. NEW YORK LAW SPECIFICALLY PROVIDES FOR SUCH
PROCEEDINGS FOR NON-PAYMENT OF MONEY AMOUNTS DUE AND
GREATLY LIMITS DEFENDANTS' ABILITY TO ASSERT COUNTERCLAIMS IN
SUCH ACTIONS. IN 2009, A NUMBER OF REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES
WHO HAD RECEIVED ATP LOANS LEFT THE FIRM, OR WERE TERMINATED
BY THE FIRM, AND FAILED TO REPAY AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE ATP. TO
PURSUE COLLECTION OF OUTSTANDING ATP LOAN BALANCES FROM
THOSE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES, THE FIRM FILED SUMMARY
COLLECTION PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT IN THE NAME OF
THE FIRM'S AFFILIATE. BETWEEN JANUARY 2009 AND NOVEMBER 2009,
THE FIRM FILED OVER 90 SUCH ACTIONS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT.
THESE PROCEEDINGS INVOLVED DISPUTES BETWEEN THE FIRM AND THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES RELATING TO THE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
OF BOTH THE FIRM AND THE REPRESENTATIVES. AS SUCH, RULE 13200(A)
OF FINRA'S CODE OF ARBITRATION PROCEDURE REQUIRED THAT THE
PROCEEDINGS BE BROUGHT AS ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS, AND NOT
AS EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK STATE COURT. THE FIRM
DESIGNED THE ATP PROGRAM TO AVOID INSTITUTING ARBITRATION
PROCEEDINGS TO COLLECT AMOUNTS DUE FROM REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES WHO HAD LEFT THE FIRM. THE FIRM STRUCTURED
THE PROGRAM SO IT APPEARED THAT THE FUNDS FOR THE ATP LOANS
CAME FROM AN AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM, A NON-REGISTERED AFFILIATE,
AND NOT FROM THE FIRM ITSELF. (CONTINUED IN SECTION 13 BELOW)
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): PROMISSORY NOTES

Resolution Date: 01/25/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000,000.

Firm Statement (CONTINUED FROM SECTION 7. ABOVE) THE FIRM ALSO PLACED
LANGUAGE IN THE PROMISSORY NOTES USED IN THE ATP PROGRAM
THAT STATED THAT ACTIONS TO RECOVER AMOUNTS DUE UNDER THE
NOTES COULD BE BROUGHT ONLY IN NEW YORK STATE COURT. IN THESE
WAYS, THE FIRM DESIGNED THE ATP PROGRAM TO ALLOW IT TO PURSUE
RECOVERY OF AMOUNTS DUE FROM THE ATP LOANS THROUGH ITS
AFFILIATE IN EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS IN NEW YORK COURT, AND THUS
TO AVOID THE FIRM'S REQUIREMENT TO ARBITRATE DISPUTES WITH ITS
ASSOCIATED PERSONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 186 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE DEPARTMENT ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BANC OF
AMERICA SECURITIES LLC AND BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC.) (COLLECTIVELY, "RESPONDENTS") INAPPROPRIATELY
MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT
ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE
INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE
DEPARTMENT ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT, THE
RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN
THE OFFER AND SALE OF SECURITIES AND FAILED TO SUPERVISE THEIR
AGENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: ILLINOIS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT ("DEPARTMENT")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/10/2012

Docket/Case Number: 08-00204

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

THE DEPARTMENT ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BANC OF
AMERICA SECURITIES LLC AND BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC.) (COLLECTIVELY, "RESPONDENTS") INAPPROPRIATELY
MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT
ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE
INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE
DEPARTMENT ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT, THE
RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN
THE OFFER AND SALE OF SECURITIES AND FAILED TO SUPERVISE THEIR
AGENTS.

Resolution Date: 01/10/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE
ALSO, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C.
("BLUE RIDGE"), OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS
DEFINED IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN
ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY
COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENTS HAVE PAID $1,578,320.87 TO THE STATE OF ILLINOIS
REPRESENTING ILLINOIS'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF
$50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES AND U.S.
TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL
CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,578,320.87
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Disclosure 187 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 01/03/2012

Docket/Case Number: 20090191679-01

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: DURING THE PERIOD FROM APRIL 1, 2009 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2009 (THE
 "REVIEW PERIOD"), FINRA ALLEGED THAT BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES
LLC (WHICH MERGED INTO APPLICANT ON NOVEMBER 1, 2010) FAILED TO
REPORT TO TRACE 4,429 TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES
WITHIN 15 MINUTES OF THE TIME OF EXECUTION.  THESE LATE
TRANSACTIONS CONSTITUTED 5.31% OF THE TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES THAT BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC
REPORTED TO TRACE DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD (83,335).  FINRA
ALLEGED THE CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THIS ITEM 7 CONSTITUTED
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF FINRA RULE 6730 AND A
PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF FINRA RULE 2010.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 01/03/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT WITH FINRA IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A FINE OF
$10,000.00.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC ENTERED INTO A LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT WITH FINRA IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A FINE OF
$10,000.00.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 188 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 12/16/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2008012707301

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD RULE 3340: FOR THE PERIOD BETWEEN JULY 1, 2007 THROUGH
DECEMBER 31, 2007, THE FIRM DIRECTLY AND/OR INDIRECTLY EFFECTED
35 TRANSACTIONS IN SECURITIES WHILE A TRADING HALT WAS IN EFFECT
WITH RESPECT TO EACH OF THE SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/16/2011

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $7,000. FINE PAID IN FULL
JANUARY 24, 2012.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/16/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2008012707301

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD RULE 3340: FOR THE PERIOD BETWEEN JULY 1, 2007 THROUGH
DECEMBER 31, 2007, THE FIRM DIRECTLY AND/OR INDIRECTLY EFFECTED
35 TRANSACTIONS IN SECURITIES WHILE A TRADING HALT WAS IN EFFECT
WITH RESPECT TO EACH OF THE SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/16/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $7,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $7,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $7,000.

Disclosure 189 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ("CME")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/09/2011

Docket/Case Number: 11-08270

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: PURSUANT TO AN ANNUAL CTR PIT/BACK OFFICE AUDIT CONDUCTED BY
THE APPLICANT'S FUTURES SRO, THE CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE
("CBOT"), THE APPLICANT WAS FOUND TO HAVE VIOLATED CME RULE
536.F WHEN TRADE DATA REVIEWED FOR THE TRADE DATES OF AUGUST 9
AND 10, 2011 REFLECTED AN UNACCEPTABLE CTR ERROR RATE OF
37.50%.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/29/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT
AGREED TO SETTLE THE MATTER WITH THE PAYMENT OF A FINE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUTOMATIC FINE SCHEDULE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT
AGREED TO SETTLE THE MATTER WITH THE PAYMENT OF A FINE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUTOMATIC FINE SCHEDULE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Settled
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Disclosure 190 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010: DURING THE PERIOD 2006-
2009, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND ENFORCE EFFECTIVE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND SUPERVISE ITS TOTAL RETURN SWAPS
BUSINESS. BECAUSE OF ITS SUPERVISORY FAILURES, THE FIRM WAS
UNABLE TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE SWAPS WERE PROPERLY
STRUCTURED AND SUPERVISED WITH PARTICULAR REGARD TO YIELD
ENHANCEMENT PAYMENTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
LAWS AND REGULATIONS. THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES WERE INADEQUATE
IN SOME RESPECTS, AND IN OTHER RESPECTS WERE NOT
APPROPRIATELY ENFORCED BY THE FIRM. AREAS IN WHICH THE FIRM
EXHIBITED SUCH SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES INVOLVED THE
FOLLOWING: (1) INITIAL ABSENCE OF WRITTEN PROCEDURES; (2) FAILURE
TO DOCUMENT AND REVIEW EARLY TERMINATIONS, AS THE PROCEDURES
REQUIRED; (3) SHORT-TERM TRANSACTIONS; AND (4) MARKET-ON-CLOSE
PRICING. THE FIRM INITIALLY LACKED ANY WRITTEN PROCEDURES
REGARDING ITS TOTAL RETURN SWAP PROGRAM, AND FAILED TO
INSTITUTE SUCH PROCEDURES UNTIL OCTOBER 2006. IN PRACTICE,
DESPITE THE GENERAL LIMITATIONS IN THE PROCEDURES, SWAPS WERE
OFTEN TERMINATED EARLY. IN THE PERIOD 2006-2007, WHEN THE FIRM
FAILED TO DOCUMENT AND CARRY OUT AFTER-THE-FACT REVIEW OF
SWAPS THAT WERE TERMINATED EARLY, 598 SWAPS WERE OPEN FOR
LESS THAN 45 DAYS AND, OF THESE, 215 WERE OPEN FOR LESS THAN 25
DAYS AND 78 FOR LESS THAN 15 DAYS. ALLOWING CLIENTS TO ENGAGE IN
SHORT-TERM SWAP TRANSACTIONS THAT BRACKETED THE DIVIDEND
RECORD DATE ENABLE CLIENTS TO RE-ESTABLISH THEIR ORIGINAL
SECURITIES POSITION WHILE LIMITING THEIR MARKET RISK. MOREOVER,
A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF THIS TRADING WAS DONE BY A FEW
INDIVIDUAL COUNTERPARTIES WHO REPEATEDLY OPENED AND CLOSED
SWAPS ON A SHORT-TERM BASIS. SUCH TRADING PATTERNS WARRANTED
A LEVEL OF SUPERVISION THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE. CERTAIN
FIRM SALES MATERIAL ADVISED THAT, AFTER A SWAP ENDED, THE
COUNTERPARTY COULD CONTINUE EXPOSURE TO THE SECURITY BY
PURCHASING IT (OR BY ENTERING INTO A SECOND SWAP). HOWEVER,
THE FIRM DID NOT MONITOR COUNTERPARTIES, AFTER SWAPS WERE
UNWOUND, TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE COUNTERPARTIES WERE
BUYING STOCK TO RECONSTITUTE THEIR ORIGINAL POSITIONS. THE
FIRM'S PROCEDURES FOR SWAPS ALSO FORBADE CROSSING IN AND
THEN EXITING AT A MARKET-ON-CLOSE PRICE (MOC), OR ENTERING AND
EXITING AT AN MOC PRICE. HOWEVER, THE FIRM ALLOWED CLIENTS TO
OPEN SWAPS ON A VOLUME WEIGHTED AVERAGE PRICE (VWAP) BASIS
AND CLOSE ON AN MOC BASIS. CLIENTS WHO ENGAGED IN SUCH
PRACTICE KNEW THEY COULD UNWIND THE SWAP AND PURCHASE THE
SAME AMOUNT OF THE UNDERLYING SECURITIES AT THE SAME, OR
VIRTUALLY THE SAME, PRICE. IN PRACTICE, BECAUSE THE FIRM DID NOT
INITIALLY HAVE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AND BECAUSE
THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE THE SUPERVISORY REVIEW THAT ITS
PROCEDURES SUBSEQUENTLY REQUIRED, SWAPS COULD BE OPENED
AND CLOSED IN A FEW DAYS' TIME, AT PRICES THAT ALLOWED MARKET
RISK TO BE MINIMIZED. BECAUSE OF THESE SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES,
THE FIRM LACKED THE ABILITY TO SUBSTANTIATE THAT ITS CLIENTS HAD
PARTED WITH BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF THEIR ORIGINAL SECURITIES
POSITION AND FACED MARKET RISK IN RE-ESTABLISHING A POSITION AT
THE CLOSE OF THE SWAP. AS SUCH, THE FIRM WAS UNABLE TO
SUBSTANTIATE THE PROPRIETY OF ITS YIELD ENHANCEMENT PAYMENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 12/08/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2008015717401

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TOTAL RETURN SWAP TRANSACTIONS

FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010: DURING THE PERIOD 2006-
2009, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND ENFORCE EFFECTIVE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND SUPERVISE ITS TOTAL RETURN SWAPS
BUSINESS. BECAUSE OF ITS SUPERVISORY FAILURES, THE FIRM WAS
UNABLE TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE SWAPS WERE PROPERLY
STRUCTURED AND SUPERVISED WITH PARTICULAR REGARD TO YIELD
ENHANCEMENT PAYMENTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
LAWS AND REGULATIONS. THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES WERE INADEQUATE
IN SOME RESPECTS, AND IN OTHER RESPECTS WERE NOT
APPROPRIATELY ENFORCED BY THE FIRM. AREAS IN WHICH THE FIRM
EXHIBITED SUCH SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES INVOLVED THE
FOLLOWING: (1) INITIAL ABSENCE OF WRITTEN PROCEDURES; (2) FAILURE
TO DOCUMENT AND REVIEW EARLY TERMINATIONS, AS THE PROCEDURES
REQUIRED; (3) SHORT-TERM TRANSACTIONS; AND (4) MARKET-ON-CLOSE
PRICING. THE FIRM INITIALLY LACKED ANY WRITTEN PROCEDURES
REGARDING ITS TOTAL RETURN SWAP PROGRAM, AND FAILED TO
INSTITUTE SUCH PROCEDURES UNTIL OCTOBER 2006. IN PRACTICE,
DESPITE THE GENERAL LIMITATIONS IN THE PROCEDURES, SWAPS WERE
OFTEN TERMINATED EARLY. IN THE PERIOD 2006-2007, WHEN THE FIRM
FAILED TO DOCUMENT AND CARRY OUT AFTER-THE-FACT REVIEW OF
SWAPS THAT WERE TERMINATED EARLY, 598 SWAPS WERE OPEN FOR
LESS THAN 45 DAYS AND, OF THESE, 215 WERE OPEN FOR LESS THAN 25
DAYS AND 78 FOR LESS THAN 15 DAYS. ALLOWING CLIENTS TO ENGAGE IN
SHORT-TERM SWAP TRANSACTIONS THAT BRACKETED THE DIVIDEND
RECORD DATE ENABLE CLIENTS TO RE-ESTABLISH THEIR ORIGINAL
SECURITIES POSITION WHILE LIMITING THEIR MARKET RISK. MOREOVER,
A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF THIS TRADING WAS DONE BY A FEW
INDIVIDUAL COUNTERPARTIES WHO REPEATEDLY OPENED AND CLOSED
SWAPS ON A SHORT-TERM BASIS. SUCH TRADING PATTERNS WARRANTED
A LEVEL OF SUPERVISION THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE. CERTAIN
FIRM SALES MATERIAL ADVISED THAT, AFTER A SWAP ENDED, THE
COUNTERPARTY COULD CONTINUE EXPOSURE TO THE SECURITY BY
PURCHASING IT (OR BY ENTERING INTO A SECOND SWAP). HOWEVER,
THE FIRM DID NOT MONITOR COUNTERPARTIES, AFTER SWAPS WERE
UNWOUND, TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE COUNTERPARTIES WERE
BUYING STOCK TO RECONSTITUTE THEIR ORIGINAL POSITIONS. THE
FIRM'S PROCEDURES FOR SWAPS ALSO FORBADE CROSSING IN AND
THEN EXITING AT A MARKET-ON-CLOSE PRICE (MOC), OR ENTERING AND
EXITING AT AN MOC PRICE. HOWEVER, THE FIRM ALLOWED CLIENTS TO
OPEN SWAPS ON A VOLUME WEIGHTED AVERAGE PRICE (VWAP) BASIS
AND CLOSE ON AN MOC BASIS. CLIENTS WHO ENGAGED IN SUCH
PRACTICE KNEW THEY COULD UNWIND THE SWAP AND PURCHASE THE
SAME AMOUNT OF THE UNDERLYING SECURITIES AT THE SAME, OR
VIRTUALLY THE SAME, PRICE. IN PRACTICE, BECAUSE THE FIRM DID NOT
INITIALLY HAVE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AND BECAUSE
THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE THE SUPERVISORY REVIEW THAT ITS
PROCEDURES SUBSEQUENTLY REQUIRED, SWAPS COULD BE OPENED
AND CLOSED IN A FEW DAYS' TIME, AT PRICES THAT ALLOWED MARKET
RISK TO BE MINIMIZED. BECAUSE OF THESE SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES,
THE FIRM LACKED THE ABILITY TO SUBSTANTIATE THAT ITS CLIENTS HAD
PARTED WITH BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF THEIR ORIGINAL SECURITIES
POSITION AND FACED MARKET RISK IN RE-ESTABLISHING A POSITION AT
THE CLOSE OF THE SWAP. AS SUCH, THE FIRM WAS UNABLE TO
SUBSTANTIATE THE PROPRIETY OF ITS YIELD ENHANCEMENT PAYMENTS.

Resolution Date: 12/08/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $500,000. FINE PAID IN FULL
DECEMBER 29, 2011.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $500,000. FINE PAID IN FULL
DECEMBER 29, 2011.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 12/08/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2008015717401

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TOTAL RETURN SWAP TRANSACTIONS

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010: DURING THE PERIOD 2006-
2009, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND ENFORCE EFFECTIVE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND SUPERVISE ITS TOTAL RETURN SWAPS
BUSINESS. BECAUSE OF ITS SUPERVISORY FAILURES, THE FIRM WAS
UNABLE TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE SWAPS WERE PROPERLY
STRUCTURED AND SUPERVISED WITH PARTICULAR REGARD TO YIELD
ENHANCEMENT PAYMENTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES THAT WERE
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
LAWS AND REGULATIONS. THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES WERE INADEQUATE
IN SOME RESPECTS, AND IN OTHER RESPECTS WERE NOT
APPROPRIATELY ENFORCED BY THE FIRM. AREAS IN WHICH THE FIRM
EXHIBITED SUCH SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES INVOLVED THE
FOLLOWING: (1) INITIAL ABSENCE OF WRITTEN PROCEDURES; (2) FAILURE
TO DOCUMENT AND REVIEW EARLY TERMINATIONS, AS THE PROCEDURES
REQUIRED; (3) SHORT-TERM TRANSACTIONS; AND (4) MARKET-ON-CLOSE
PRICING. THE FIRM INITIALLY LACKED ANY WRITTEN PROCEDURES
REGARDING ITS TOTAL RETURN SWAP PROGRAM, AND FAILED TO
INSTITUTE SUCH PROCEDURES UNTIL OCTOBER 2006. IN PRACTICE,
DESPITE THE GENERAL LIMITATIONS IN THE PROCEDURES, SWAPS WERE
OFTEN TERMINATED EARLY. IN THE PERIOD 2006-2007, WHEN THE FIRM
FAILED TO DOCUMENT AND CARRY OUT AFTER-THE-FACT REVIEW OF
SWAPS THAT WERE TERMINATED EARLY, 598 SWAPS WERE OPEN FOR
LESS THAN 45 DAYS AND, OF THESE, 215 WERE OPEN FOR LESS THAN 25
DAYS AND 78 FOR LESS THAN 15 DAYS.  BECAUSE THE FIRM DID NOT
INITIALLY HAVE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AND BECAUSE
THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE THE SUPERVISORY REVIEW THAT ITS
PROCEDURES SUBSEQUENTLY REQUIRED, SWAPS COULD BE OPENED
AND CLOSED IN A FEW DAYS' TIME, AT PRICES THAT ALLOWED MARKET
RISK TO BE MINIMIZED.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Other Product Type(s): TOTAL RETURN SWAP TRANSACTIONS

Resolution Date: 12/08/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $500,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $500,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 191 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SOUTH DAKOTA DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & REGULATION, DIVISION OF
SECURITIES

Date Initiated: 10/21/2011

Docket/Case Number:

Allegations: THE SOUTH DAKOTA DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & REGULATION, DIVISION OF
SECURITIES (DIVISION), ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE
OF SECURITIES IN SOUTH DAKOTA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN SOUTH DAKOTA, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED
A VIOLATION OF ARSD 20:08:03:08 FOR FAILURE TO ESTABLISH A
REASONABLY DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE REASONABLY DESIGNED PROCEDURES, FAILED TO REQUIRE
ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH
CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, AND SOLD SECURITIES IN SOUTH DAKOTA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED CAS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 10/21/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DIVISION, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING
IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN SOUTH DAKOTA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $418,500.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL
PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $418,500.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 192 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: IN ACCORDANCE WITH THEIR POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, BAI OPS'
UNIFORM PRACTICE WAS TO ENTER A RESTRICTION ON THE BROKERAGE
ACCOUNT OF A CLIENT WITHIN A DAY OR TWO OF SENDING AN ACCOUNT
TERMINATION LETTER. THAT RESTRICTION WOULD APPEAR ON A SYSTEM
TO WHICH BAI AND ITS CLEARING FIRM BOTH HAD ACCESS. IF A CLIENT
WERE TO ATTEMPT TO PLACE A
SECURITIES PURCHASE, THE RESTRICTION WOULD PREVENT CLEARING
THE TRANSACTION. DESPITE SENDING THE TERMINATION LETTER, BAI
OPS FAILED TO PLACE THE RESTRICTION ON CLIENT A'S BAI ACCOUNT
IDENTIFIED FOR TERMINATION.  CLIENT A SUCCESSFULLY PURCHASED
ADDITIONAL SECURITIES AFTER THE DATE THE ACCOUNT WAS SUPPOSED
TO HAVE BEEN RESTRICTED.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW JERSEY BUREAU OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/29/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2011-010

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THEIR POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, BAI OPS'
UNIFORM PRACTICE WAS TO ENTER A RESTRICTION ON THE BROKERAGE
ACCOUNT OF A CLIENT WITHIN A DAY OR TWO OF SENDING AN ACCOUNT
TERMINATION LETTER. THAT RESTRICTION WOULD APPEAR ON A SYSTEM
TO WHICH BAI AND ITS CLEARING FIRM BOTH HAD ACCESS. IF A CLIENT
WERE TO ATTEMPT TO PLACE A
SECURITIES PURCHASE, THE RESTRICTION WOULD PREVENT CLEARING
THE TRANSACTION. DESPITE SENDING THE TERMINATION LETTER, BAI
OPS FAILED TO PLACE THE RESTRICTION ON CLIENT A'S BAI ACCOUNT
IDENTIFIED FOR TERMINATION.  CLIENT A SUCCESSFULLY PURCHASED
ADDITIONAL SECURITIES AFTER THE DATE THE ACCOUNT WAS SUPPOSED
TO HAVE BEEN RESTRICTED.

Resolution Date: 11/04/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: BY (I) FAILING TO FOLLOW ITS OWN PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
PLACING ACCOUNT RESTRICTIONS AND (II) FAILING TO HAVE AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO ENSURE AGENTS AND THEIR SUPERVISORS
WERE INFORMED OF THE RESTRICTION, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC. FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS AND IS
SUBJECT TO SANCTIONS UNDER N.J.S.A. 49:3-58(A)(2)(XI).
BY MARKING CERTAIN PURCHASES OF SECURITIES BY CLIENT A AS
 "UNSOLICITED" WHEN IN FACT THE TRANSACTIONS WERE SOLICITED,
BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC. DID NOT MAKE AND KEEP
ACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS, IN VIOLATION OF N.J.S.A. 49:3-59(B).

Regulator Statement MERRILL LYNCH UPDATED AND REVISED ITS PROCEDURES WITH
RESPECT TO ACCOUNT CLOSURE RECOMMENDATIONS TO, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, (I) REQUIRE THE PLACEMENT OF ACCOUNT
RESTRICTIONS AT THE BRANCH LEVEL AND (II) PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
NOTIFICATION OF ACCOUNT CLOSURES AND RESTRICTION TO THE
AGENT(S) ASSIGNED TO THE CLIENT.
MERRILL LYNCH CREATED A QUICK REFERENCE CARD TO PROVIDE
PROPER GUIDANCE FOR OFFICE MANAGEMENT HANDLING ACCOUNT
CLOSINGS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $35,000.00

Consent
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MERRILL LYNCH UPDATED AND REVISED ITS PROCEDURES WITH
RESPECT TO ACCOUNT CLOSURE RECOMMENDATIONS TO, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, (I) REQUIRE THE PLACEMENT OF ACCOUNT
RESTRICTIONS AT THE BRANCH LEVEL AND (II) PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
NOTIFICATION OF ACCOUNT CLOSURES AND RESTRICTION TO THE
AGENT(S) ASSIGNED TO THE CLIENT.
MERRILL LYNCH CREATED A QUICK REFERENCE CARD TO PROVIDE
PROPER GUIDANCE FOR OFFICE MANAGEMENT HANDLING ACCOUNT
CLOSINGS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW JERSEY BUREAU OF SECURITIES (THE "BUREAU")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/29/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2011-010

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE BUREAU ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR TO BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC.) ("MERRILL LYNCH") FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
ITS AGENTS UNDER N.J.S.A. 49:3-58(A)(2)(XI) BY (I) FAILING TO FOLLOW ITS
OWN PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO PLACING ACCOUNT
RESTRICTIONS AND (II) FAILING TO HAVE AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
ENSURE AGENTS AND THEIR SUPERVISORS WERE INFORMED OF SUCH
RESTRICTION.  IN ADDITION, THE BUREAU ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
FAILED TO KEEP ACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN VIOLATION OF
N.J.S.A.49:3-59(B) BY MARKING CERTAIN PURCHASES OF SECURITIES BY A
CLIENT AS "UNSOLICITED" WHEN IN FACT THE TRANSACTIONS WERE
SOLICITED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/04/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, FINDINGS OF FACT,
OR CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPF&S ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER
WITH THE BUREAU IN WHICH IT AGREED TO PAY THE BUREAU A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY OF $35,000.00, WHICH IT PAID ON NOVEMBER 8, 2011.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $35,000.00

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, FINDINGS OF FACT,
OR CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPF&S ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER
WITH THE BUREAU IN WHICH IT AGREED TO PAY THE BUREAU A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY OF $35,000.00, WHICH IT PAID ON NOVEMBER 8, 2011.

Firm Statement PRIOR TO SETTLING THIS MATTER, MERRILL LYNCH UPDATED AND
REVISED ITS PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO ACCOUNT CLOSURE
RECOMMENDATIONS TO, AMONG OTHER THINGS, (I) REQUIRE THE
PLACEMENT OF ACCOUNT RESTRICTIONS AT THE BRANCH LEVEL AND (II)
PROVIDE ADDITIONAL NOTIFICATION OF ACCOUNT CLOSURES AND
RESTRICTION TO THE AGENT(S) ASSIGNED TO THE CLIENT.  IN ADDITION,
MERRILL LYNCH CREATED A QUICK REFERENCE CARD TO PROVIDE
PROPER GUIDANCE FOR OFFICE MANAGEMENT HANDLING ACCOUNT
CLOSINGS.  WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS,
FINDINGS OF FACT, OR CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPF&S ENTERED INTO A
CONSENT ORDER WITH THE BUREAU IN WHICH IT AGREED TO PAY THE
BUREAU A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $35,000.00, WHICH IT PAID ON
NOVEMBER 8, 2011.

Disclosure 193 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: DISTRICT OF  COLUMBIA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/24/2011

Docket/Case Number: SB-C0-09-11

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENTS ORDERS
CONSTITUTING A FAILURE TO SUPERVISE PROPERLY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/24/2011

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALES OF SECURITIES IN
THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA BY PERSONS NOT LICENSED IN THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA.

Sanction Details: CHECK NO. 0012053113 FOR THE AMOUNT OF $434,215.00 PAID TO THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ON 10-26-2011.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $434,215.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, SECURITIES AND
BANKING

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING; REPRIMAND

Date Initiated: 10/24/2011

Docket/Case Number: SB-CO-09-11

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, SECURITIES
AND BANKING (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
SALE OF SECURITIES IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN THE DISTRICT
OF COLUMBIA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE,
FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND SOLD SECURITIES IN THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 10/24/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND.  UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEPARTMENT, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN THE DISTRICT
OF COLUMBIA THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT
$434,215.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.  A CHECK FOR
THE AMOUNT OF $434,215.00 WAS PAID TO THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
ON 10-26-2011.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $434,215.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 194 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A) AND 3010(B): THE FIRM
FAILED TO HAVE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, TO ENSURE THAT ALL
EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED ACCOUNTS WERE MONITORED AND
REVIEWED FOR MISCONDUCT. THE EMPLOYEE ACTIVITY REVIEW SYSTEM
(EARS) WAS THE FIRM'S PRIMARY MEANS OF MONITORING EMPLOYEE
ACCOUNT ACTIVITIES.  EARS PROVIDED INFORMATION SIMILAR TO THAT
CONTAINED ON MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS, INCLUDING DEPOSITS,
WITHDRAWALS, CHECKING ACTIVITY, PAYEE INFORMATION ON CHECKS
WRITTEN AGAINST THE ACCOUNT AND WIRE ACTIVITY. THE FIRM RELIED
ON ITS SUPERVISORS TO UTILIZE EARS TO CONDUCT SUPERVISORY AND
COMPLIANCE REVIEWS OF EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED
ACCOUNTS, ON A MONTHLY BASIS AND INVESTIGATE ANY SUSPICIOUS
TRANSACTION. EARS AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURED ACCOUNTS OPENED BY
EMPLOYEES WHO WERE USING THEIR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBERS AS
THE PRIMARY TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER. HOWEVER, IF THE
EMPLOYEE'S SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR TAX IDENTIFICATION
NUMBER WAS NOT THE PRIMARY NUMBER, EARS FAILED TO
AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURE THE ACCOUNT IN ITS DATABASE. IN THESE
INSTANCES THE FIRM RELIED SOLELY ON ITS EMPLOYEES TO INPUT
THEIR ACCOUNTS INTO EARS. A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
EITHER DID NOT REPORT SUCH ACCOUNTS OR DID NOT DO SO IN A
TIMELY MANNER AND AS A RESULT, A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF
EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED ACCOUNTS FAILED TO BE
MONITORED IN EARS. AT FINRA'S REQUEST, THE FIRM CONDUCTED A
REVIEW OF EARS AND FOUND THAT APPROXIMATELY 40,000 ACCOUNTS
WERE NOT REPORTED ACCURATELY.
THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE A REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE (RR).  FROM APRIL 2007 TO JUNE 2008, THE RR USED A
BUSINESS ACCOUNT HE OPENED AT THE FIRM TO IMPLEMENT A PONZI
SCHEME. THE RR FRAUDULENTLY INDUCED 11 INDIVIDUALS TO INVEST IN
EXCESS OF $1 MILLION IN A COMPANY, A FRAUDULENT SCHEME HE
ORCHESTRATED.  THE RR MISREPRESENTED TO AT LEAST ONE OF HIS
SUPERVISORS THAT HE WAS FUNDING THE ACCOUNT FROM PROCEEDS
OF HIS HOUSE-FLIPPING BUSINESS. THE RR COMPLETED THE NEW
ACCOUNT DOCUMENTATION AND SUBMITTED THE COMPANY
PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT TO THE FIRM, AS REQUIRED BY FIRM POLICY.
HOWEVER, THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES FAILED TO REQUIRE A
SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF THE COMPANY PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT
PRIOR TO APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNT.   DESPITE THE INCONSISTENCIES
BETWEEN THE REPRESENTATIONS MADE TO THE FIRM AND THE
CONTENTS OF THE PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT, THE FIRM APPROVED THE
OPENING OF THE BUSINESS ACCOUNT, DESIGNATING THE ACCOUNT AS
AN EMPLOYEE ACCOUNT BUT FAILED TO INCLUDE THE ACCOUNT IN EARS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS SUPERVISORS TO REVIEW EARS AFTER
APPROVING THE OPENING OF AN ACCOUNT TO ENSURE THAT THE
EMPLOYEE REPORTED THE ACCOUNT ON THE SYSTEM.   THE FIRM ALSO
FAILED TO HAVE WRITTEN PROCEDURES THAT REQUIRED A SUPERVISOR
TO VERIFY THE APPROVAL OF OUTSIDE BUSINESS ACTIVITY BEFORE
AUTHORIZING THE OPENING OF AN ACCOUNT BY AN EMPLOYEE FOR
BUSINESS.   HAD THE FIRM ESTABLISHED SUCH A PROCEDURE, IT WOULD
HAVE DISCOVERED THAT THE RR NEVER OBTAINED FIRM APPROVAL FOR
HIS OUTSIDE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES.
DEPOSITS FROM NINE FIRM CUSTOMERS WERE MADE VIA CHECKS
PAYABLE TO THE COMPANY DRAWN AGAINST THEIR FIRM ACCOUNTS OR
BANK ACCOUNTS IN THE CUSTOMERS' NAMES. THESE CHECKS WERE
DEPOSITED VIA DEPOSIT SLIPS COMPLETED AND INITIALED BY THE RR.
ALTHOUGH THE CUSTOMER DEPOSITED CHECKS WERE IDENTIFIED ON
THE FIRM'S ACCOUNT STATEMENTS FOR THE COMPANY, THE RR'S
DEPOSIT ACTIVITY WENT UNNOTICED BY THE FIRM. ADDITIONALLY, THE
STATEMENTS ISSUED BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 2007 AND MAY 2008,
DISCLOSED THAT THE RR WROTE 20 CHECKS AGAINST THE COMPANY
BUSINESS ACCOUNT, TOTALING OVER $70,000, MADE PAYABLE TO FIVE
FIRM CUSTOMERS. THIS CHECK WRITING ACTIVITY WAS ALSO
UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.
IF THE FIRM WERE REVIEWING THE STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY, IT
WOULD HAVE FURTHER DETECTED THAT ON EIGHT OCCASIONS THE RR
WIRED A TOTAL OF OVER $93,000 FROM THE COMPANY ACCOUNT TO A
BANK FOR DEPOSIT. (CONTINUED IN COMMENTS)

Current Status: Final
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FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A) AND 3010(B): THE FIRM
FAILED TO HAVE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, TO ENSURE THAT ALL
EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED ACCOUNTS WERE MONITORED AND
REVIEWED FOR MISCONDUCT. THE EMPLOYEE ACTIVITY REVIEW SYSTEM
(EARS) WAS THE FIRM'S PRIMARY MEANS OF MONITORING EMPLOYEE
ACCOUNT ACTIVITIES.  EARS PROVIDED INFORMATION SIMILAR TO THAT
CONTAINED ON MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS, INCLUDING DEPOSITS,
WITHDRAWALS, CHECKING ACTIVITY, PAYEE INFORMATION ON CHECKS
WRITTEN AGAINST THE ACCOUNT AND WIRE ACTIVITY. THE FIRM RELIED
ON ITS SUPERVISORS TO UTILIZE EARS TO CONDUCT SUPERVISORY AND
COMPLIANCE REVIEWS OF EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED
ACCOUNTS, ON A MONTHLY BASIS AND INVESTIGATE ANY SUSPICIOUS
TRANSACTION. EARS AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURED ACCOUNTS OPENED BY
EMPLOYEES WHO WERE USING THEIR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBERS AS
THE PRIMARY TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER. HOWEVER, IF THE
EMPLOYEE'S SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR TAX IDENTIFICATION
NUMBER WAS NOT THE PRIMARY NUMBER, EARS FAILED TO
AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURE THE ACCOUNT IN ITS DATABASE. IN THESE
INSTANCES THE FIRM RELIED SOLELY ON ITS EMPLOYEES TO INPUT
THEIR ACCOUNTS INTO EARS. A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
EITHER DID NOT REPORT SUCH ACCOUNTS OR DID NOT DO SO IN A
TIMELY MANNER AND AS A RESULT, A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF
EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED ACCOUNTS FAILED TO BE
MONITORED IN EARS. AT FINRA'S REQUEST, THE FIRM CONDUCTED A
REVIEW OF EARS AND FOUND THAT APPROXIMATELY 40,000 ACCOUNTS
WERE NOT REPORTED ACCURATELY.
THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE A REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE (RR).  FROM APRIL 2007 TO JUNE 2008, THE RR USED A
BUSINESS ACCOUNT HE OPENED AT THE FIRM TO IMPLEMENT A PONZI
SCHEME. THE RR FRAUDULENTLY INDUCED 11 INDIVIDUALS TO INVEST IN
EXCESS OF $1 MILLION IN A COMPANY, A FRAUDULENT SCHEME HE
ORCHESTRATED.  THE RR MISREPRESENTED TO AT LEAST ONE OF HIS
SUPERVISORS THAT HE WAS FUNDING THE ACCOUNT FROM PROCEEDS
OF HIS HOUSE-FLIPPING BUSINESS. THE RR COMPLETED THE NEW
ACCOUNT DOCUMENTATION AND SUBMITTED THE COMPANY
PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT TO THE FIRM, AS REQUIRED BY FIRM POLICY.
HOWEVER, THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES FAILED TO REQUIRE A
SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF THE COMPANY PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT
PRIOR TO APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNT.   DESPITE THE INCONSISTENCIES
BETWEEN THE REPRESENTATIONS MADE TO THE FIRM AND THE
CONTENTS OF THE PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT, THE FIRM APPROVED THE
OPENING OF THE BUSINESS ACCOUNT, DESIGNATING THE ACCOUNT AS
AN EMPLOYEE ACCOUNT BUT FAILED TO INCLUDE THE ACCOUNT IN EARS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS SUPERVISORS TO REVIEW EARS AFTER
APPROVING THE OPENING OF AN ACCOUNT TO ENSURE THAT THE
EMPLOYEE REPORTED THE ACCOUNT ON THE SYSTEM.   THE FIRM ALSO
FAILED TO HAVE WRITTEN PROCEDURES THAT REQUIRED A SUPERVISOR
TO VERIFY THE APPROVAL OF OUTSIDE BUSINESS ACTIVITY BEFORE
AUTHORIZING THE OPENING OF AN ACCOUNT BY AN EMPLOYEE FOR
BUSINESS.   HAD THE FIRM ESTABLISHED SUCH A PROCEDURE, IT WOULD
HAVE DISCOVERED THAT THE RR NEVER OBTAINED FIRM APPROVAL FOR
HIS OUTSIDE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES.
DEPOSITS FROM NINE FIRM CUSTOMERS WERE MADE VIA CHECKS
PAYABLE TO THE COMPANY DRAWN AGAINST THEIR FIRM ACCOUNTS OR
BANK ACCOUNTS IN THE CUSTOMERS' NAMES. THESE CHECKS WERE
DEPOSITED VIA DEPOSIT SLIPS COMPLETED AND INITIALED BY THE RR.
ALTHOUGH THE CUSTOMER DEPOSITED CHECKS WERE IDENTIFIED ON
THE FIRM'S ACCOUNT STATEMENTS FOR THE COMPANY, THE RR'S
DEPOSIT ACTIVITY WENT UNNOTICED BY THE FIRM. ADDITIONALLY, THE
STATEMENTS ISSUED BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 2007 AND MAY 2008,
DISCLOSED THAT THE RR WROTE 20 CHECKS AGAINST THE COMPANY
BUSINESS ACCOUNT, TOTALING OVER $70,000, MADE PAYABLE TO FIVE
FIRM CUSTOMERS. THIS CHECK WRITING ACTIVITY WAS ALSO
UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.
IF THE FIRM WERE REVIEWING THE STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY, IT
WOULD HAVE FURTHER DETECTED THAT ON EIGHT OCCASIONS THE RR
WIRED A TOTAL OF OVER $93,000 FROM THE COMPANY ACCOUNT TO A
BANK FOR DEPOSIT. (CONTINUED IN COMMENTS)
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 10/04/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2008013990502

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

FINRA RULE 2010, NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A) AND 3010(B): THE FIRM
FAILED TO HAVE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, TO ENSURE THAT ALL
EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED ACCOUNTS WERE MONITORED AND
REVIEWED FOR MISCONDUCT. THE EMPLOYEE ACTIVITY REVIEW SYSTEM
(EARS) WAS THE FIRM'S PRIMARY MEANS OF MONITORING EMPLOYEE
ACCOUNT ACTIVITIES.  EARS PROVIDED INFORMATION SIMILAR TO THAT
CONTAINED ON MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS, INCLUDING DEPOSITS,
WITHDRAWALS, CHECKING ACTIVITY, PAYEE INFORMATION ON CHECKS
WRITTEN AGAINST THE ACCOUNT AND WIRE ACTIVITY. THE FIRM RELIED
ON ITS SUPERVISORS TO UTILIZE EARS TO CONDUCT SUPERVISORY AND
COMPLIANCE REVIEWS OF EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED
ACCOUNTS, ON A MONTHLY BASIS AND INVESTIGATE ANY SUSPICIOUS
TRANSACTION. EARS AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURED ACCOUNTS OPENED BY
EMPLOYEES WHO WERE USING THEIR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBERS AS
THE PRIMARY TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER. HOWEVER, IF THE
EMPLOYEE'S SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR TAX IDENTIFICATION
NUMBER WAS NOT THE PRIMARY NUMBER, EARS FAILED TO
AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURE THE ACCOUNT IN ITS DATABASE. IN THESE
INSTANCES THE FIRM RELIED SOLELY ON ITS EMPLOYEES TO INPUT
THEIR ACCOUNTS INTO EARS. A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
EITHER DID NOT REPORT SUCH ACCOUNTS OR DID NOT DO SO IN A
TIMELY MANNER AND AS A RESULT, A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF
EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED ACCOUNTS FAILED TO BE
MONITORED IN EARS. AT FINRA'S REQUEST, THE FIRM CONDUCTED A
REVIEW OF EARS AND FOUND THAT APPROXIMATELY 40,000 ACCOUNTS
WERE NOT REPORTED ACCURATELY.
THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN
PROCEDURES TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE A REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE (RR).  FROM APRIL 2007 TO JUNE 2008, THE RR USED A
BUSINESS ACCOUNT HE OPENED AT THE FIRM TO IMPLEMENT A PONZI
SCHEME. THE RR FRAUDULENTLY INDUCED 11 INDIVIDUALS TO INVEST IN
EXCESS OF $1 MILLION IN A COMPANY, A FRAUDULENT SCHEME HE
ORCHESTRATED.  THE RR MISREPRESENTED TO AT LEAST ONE OF HIS
SUPERVISORS THAT HE WAS FUNDING THE ACCOUNT FROM PROCEEDS
OF HIS HOUSE-FLIPPING BUSINESS. THE RR COMPLETED THE NEW
ACCOUNT DOCUMENTATION AND SUBMITTED THE COMPANY
PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT TO THE FIRM, AS REQUIRED BY FIRM POLICY.
HOWEVER, THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES FAILED TO REQUIRE A
SUPERVISORY REVIEW OF THE COMPANY PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT
PRIOR TO APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNT.   DESPITE THE INCONSISTENCIES
BETWEEN THE REPRESENTATIONS MADE TO THE FIRM AND THE
CONTENTS OF THE PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT, THE FIRM APPROVED THE
OPENING OF THE BUSINESS ACCOUNT, DESIGNATING THE ACCOUNT AS
AN EMPLOYEE ACCOUNT BUT FAILED TO INCLUDE THE ACCOUNT IN EARS.
THE FIRM FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS SUPERVISORS TO REVIEW EARS AFTER
APPROVING THE OPENING OF AN ACCOUNT TO ENSURE THAT THE
EMPLOYEE REPORTED THE ACCOUNT ON THE SYSTEM.   THE FIRM ALSO
FAILED TO HAVE WRITTEN PROCEDURES THAT REQUIRED A SUPERVISOR
TO VERIFY THE APPROVAL OF OUTSIDE BUSINESS ACTIVITY BEFORE
AUTHORIZING THE OPENING OF AN ACCOUNT BY AN EMPLOYEE FOR
BUSINESS.   HAD THE FIRM ESTABLISHED SUCH A PROCEDURE, IT WOULD
HAVE DISCOVERED THAT THE RR NEVER OBTAINED FIRM APPROVAL FOR
HIS OUTSIDE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES.
DEPOSITS FROM NINE FIRM CUSTOMERS WERE MADE VIA CHECKS
PAYABLE TO THE COMPANY DRAWN AGAINST THEIR FIRM ACCOUNTS OR
BANK ACCOUNTS IN THE CUSTOMERS' NAMES. THESE CHECKS WERE
DEPOSITED VIA DEPOSIT SLIPS COMPLETED AND INITIALED BY THE RR.
ALTHOUGH THE CUSTOMER DEPOSITED CHECKS WERE IDENTIFIED ON
THE FIRM'S ACCOUNT STATEMENTS FOR THE COMPANY, THE RR'S
DEPOSIT ACTIVITY WENT UNNOTICED BY THE FIRM. ADDITIONALLY, THE
STATEMENTS ISSUED BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 2007 AND MAY 2008,
DISCLOSED THAT THE RR WROTE 20 CHECKS AGAINST THE COMPANY
BUSINESS ACCOUNT, TOTALING OVER $70,000, MADE PAYABLE TO FIVE
FIRM CUSTOMERS. THIS CHECK WRITING ACTIVITY WAS ALSO
UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.
IF THE FIRM WERE REVIEWING THE STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY, IT
WOULD HAVE FURTHER DETECTED THAT ON EIGHT OCCASIONS THE RR
WIRED A TOTAL OF OVER $93,000 FROM THE COMPANY ACCOUNT TO A
BANK FOR DEPOSIT. (CONTINUED IN COMMENTS)

Resolution Date: 10/04/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION IN THIS MATTER, FINRA
TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION THE FIRM'S DISCOVERY OF THE RR'S
MISCONDUCT AND THE REMEDIAL STEPS THE FIRM TOOK TO ADDRESS IT,
INCLUDING ITS REPAYMENT IN FULL TO INVESTORS WHO WERE HARMED
BY THE MISCONDUCT AND THE TRANSITION OF ACCOUNTS TO A NEW
SYSTEM.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000,000.

Regulator Statement (CONTINUED FROM ALLEGATIONS) A FIRM SUPERVISOR APPROVED A
LETTER OF AUTHORIZATION DATED FEBRUARY 20, 2008, IN WHICH THE RR
REQUESTED THAT $5,000 BE WIRED FROM THE COMPANY ACCOUNT TO
ANOTHER BANK. ALL OF THIS ACTIVITY WAS UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Regulator Statement (CONTINUED FROM ALLEGATIONS) A FIRM SUPERVISOR APPROVED A
LETTER OF AUTHORIZATION DATED FEBRUARY 20, 2008, IN WHICH THE RR
REQUESTED THAT $5,000 BE WIRED FROM THE COMPANY ACCOUNT TO
ANOTHER BANK. ALL OF THIS ACTIVITY WAS UNDETECTED BY THE FIRM.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Allegations: THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, TO ENSURE THAT
ALL EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED ACCOUNTS WERE MONITORED
AND REVIEWED FOR MISCONDUCT. THE EMPLOYEE ACTIVITY REVIEW
SYSTEM (EARS) WAS THE FIRM'S PRIMARY MEANS OF MONITORING
EMPLOYEE ACCOUNT ACTIVITIES. EARS AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURED
ACCOUNTS OPENED BY EMPLOYEES WHO WERE USING THEIR SOCIAL
SECURITY NUMBERS AS THE PRIMARY TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER.
HOWEVER, IF THE EMPLOYEE'S SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR TAX
IDENTIFICATION NUMBER WAS NOT THE PRIMARY NUMBER, EARS FAILED
TO AUTOMATICALLY CAPTURE THE ACCOUNT IN ITS DATABASE. IN THESE
INSTANCES THE FIRM RELIED SOLELY ON ITS EMPLOYEES TO INPUT
THEIR ACCOUNTS INTO EARS. A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
EITHER DID NOT REPORT SUCH ACCOUNTS OR DID NOT DO SO IN A
TIMELY MANNER AND AS A RESULT, A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF
EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYEE-INTERESTED ACCOUNTS FAILED TO BE
MONITORED IN EARS.  THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE A
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE (RR). FROM APRIL 2007 TO JUNE 2008, THE
RR USED A BUSINESS ACCOUNT HE OPENED AT THE FIRM TO IMPLEMENT
A FRAUDULENT SCHEME. THE RR COMPLETED THE NEW ACCOUNT
DOCUMENTATION AND SUBMITTED THE COMPANY PARTNERSHIP
AGREEMENT TO THE FIRM, AS REQUIRED BY FIRM POLICY. HOWEVER,
THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES FAILED TO REQUIRE A SUPERVISORY REVIEW
OF THE COMPANY PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT PRIOR TO APPROVAL OF
THE ACCOUNT.  THE FIRM APPROVED THE OPENING OF THE BUSINESS
ACCOUNT, DESIGNATING THE ACCOUNT AS AN EMPLOYEE ACCOUNT BUT
THE ACCOUNT WAS NOT AUTOMATICALLY INCLUDED IN EARS AND THE RR
DID NOT DISCLOSE IT ON EARS, DESPITE BEING TOLD TO DO SO.  THE
FIRM FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS SUPERVISORS TO REVIEW EARS AFTER
APPROVING THE OPENING OF AN ACCOUNT TO ENSURE THAT THE
EMPLOYEE REPORTED THE ACCOUNT ON THE SYSTEM. THE FIRM ALSO
FAILED TO HAVE WRITTEN PROCEDURES THAT REQUIRED A SUPERVISOR
TO VERIFY THE APPROVAL OF OUTSIDE BUSINESS ACTIVITY BEFORE
AUTHORIZING THE OPENING OF AN ACCOUNT BY AN EMPLOYEE FOR
BUSINESS. HAD THE FIRM ESTABLISHED SUCH A PROCEDURE, IT WOULD
HAVE DISCOVERED THAT THE RR NEVER OBTAINED FIRM APPROVAL FOR
HIS OUTSIDE BUSINESS ACTIVITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 10/04/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2008013990502

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/04/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION IN THIS MATTER, FINRA
TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION THE FIRM'S DISCOVERY OF THE RR'S
MISCONDUCT AND THE REMEDIAL STEPS THE FIRM TOOK TO ADDRESS IT,
INCLUDING ITS REPAYMENT IN FULL TO INVESTORS WHO WERE HARMED
BY THE MISCONDUCT AND THE TRANSITION OF ACCOUNTS TO A NEW
SYSTEM.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 195 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE WEST VIRGINIA SECURITIES COMMISSION (COMMISSION) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN WEST VIRGINIA
BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN
WEST VIRGINIA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
IN VIOLATION OF WEST VIRGINIA CODE §32-2-204(A)(J), FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND SOLD SECURITIES IN WEST
VIRGINIA THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF WEST VIRGINIA
CODE §32-2-201(A).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: WEST VIRGINIA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 08/31/2011

Docket/Case Number: 81-7691

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE WEST VIRGINIA SECURITIES COMMISSION (COMMISSION) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN WEST VIRGINIA
BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN
WEST VIRGINIA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
IN VIOLATION OF WEST VIRGINIA CODE §32-2-204(A)(J), FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND SOLD SECURITIES IN WEST
VIRGINIA THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF WEST VIRGINIA
CODE §32-2-201(A).

Resolution Date: 08/31/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND.  UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
COMMISSION, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN WEST VIRGINIA
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSION $417,760.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE COMMISSION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $417,760.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 196 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

566©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING & FINANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/12/2011

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING & FINANCE (DEPARTMENT)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
NEBRASKA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN NEBRASKA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ESTABLISH A REASONABLY DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, AND TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF NEB. REV. STAT.
§8-1103(9)(A)(XI) AND SOLD SECURITIES IN NEBRASKA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF NEB. REV. STAT. §8-1103(1).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/12/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND.  UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEPARTMENT, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEBRASKA
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $251,760.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $251,760.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEPARTMENT, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEBRASKA
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $251,760.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Disclosure 197 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMISSIONER OF SECURITIES OF THE STATE OF GEORGIA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 08/15/2011

Docket/Case Number: ENSC-110055

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE COMMISSIONER OF SECURITIES OF THE STATE OF GEORGIA
(COMMISSIONER) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING
AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER
CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) VIOLATED SECTIONS 10-5-12(A)(1) AND 10-5-4(A)(8) OF THE
GEORGIA SECURITIES ACT OF 1973 (ACT).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/15/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE COMMISSIONER, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, OR ANY SUCCESSOR ACT,
TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND ITS SUCCESSOR, THE GEORGIA UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT OF 2008, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING
OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSIONER A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$2,811,905.50, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,811,905.50
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE COMMISSIONER, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, OR ANY SUCCESSOR ACT,
TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND ITS SUCCESSOR, THE GEORGIA UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT OF 2008, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING
OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSIONER A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$2,811,905.50, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 198 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF GEORGIA DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Date Initiated: 08/04/2011

Docket/Case Number: ENSC-110056

Allegations: THE STATE OF GEORGIA DIVISION OF SECURITIES (THE DIVISION)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
GEORGIA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN GEORGIA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
PROPERLY SUPERVISE IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 10-5-4(A)(11) OF THE
GEORGIA 1973 ACT AND RULES 590-4-2-.07 AND 590-4-2-.14(1) OF THE
COMMISSIONER'S RULES PROMULGATED UNDER THE GEORGIA 1973 ACT
AND SECTION 10-5-41(D)(9) OF THE GEORGIA 2008 ACT, AND SOLD
SECURITIES THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
10-5-3(A) OF THE GEORGIA 1973 ACT AND SECTION 10-5-31(A) OF THE
GEORGIA 2008 ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: ENSC-110056

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 08/04/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN
THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN GEORGIA THROUGH UNREGISTERED
AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED
TO PAY THE DIVISION $381,950.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT,
CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $381,950.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 199 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **8/15/11**  STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
THE LEGAL SECTION OF THE MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT AT
FINRA AND PENDING. NYSE AMEX LLC; FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF
SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF
ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY
ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO HEREIN, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC. STIPULATED THAT DURING THE PERIOD
MAY 22, 2007 THROUGH MARCH 31, 2008 IT 1. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 906(A)
DURING THE PERIODS OF MAY 22, 2007 TO JUNE 15, 2007 AND OCTOBER
31, 2007 TO DECEMBER 31, 2007, BY FAILING TO SUBMIT COMPLETE AND
ACCURATE LARGE OPTIONS POSITIONS REPORTS ("LOPRS");
2. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY, 2007
THROUGH  DECEMBER , 2007 BY FAILING TO (A) ADOPT AND MAINTAIN
ADEQUATE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AND (B) IMPLEMENT
AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
DESIGNED TO REASONABLY ENSURE THE SUBMISSION OF COMPLETE
AND ACCURATE LOPRS; 3. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 904 DURING THE
PERIODS OF NOVEMBER 28, 2007 TO DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND JANUARY 2,
2008 TO FEBRUARY 12, 2008, BY EXCEEDING POSITION LIMITS; AND 4.
VIOLATED AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD OF OCTOBER, 2007 TO
THROUGH MARCH, 2008, BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO
REASONABLY ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH POSITION LIMITS. STIPULATED
SANCTION: CENSURE; AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $20,000.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/12/2011

Docket/Case Number: 11-AMEX-7

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

**8/15/11**  STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
THE LEGAL SECTION OF THE MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT AT
FINRA AND PENDING. NYSE AMEX LLC; FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF
SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF
ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY
ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO HEREIN, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC. STIPULATED THAT DURING THE PERIOD
MAY 22, 2007 THROUGH MARCH 31, 2008 IT 1. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 906(A)
DURING THE PERIODS OF MAY 22, 2007 TO JUNE 15, 2007 AND OCTOBER
31, 2007 TO DECEMBER 31, 2007, BY FAILING TO SUBMIT COMPLETE AND
ACCURATE LARGE OPTIONS POSITIONS REPORTS ("LOPRS");
2. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY, 2007
THROUGH  DECEMBER , 2007 BY FAILING TO (A) ADOPT AND MAINTAIN
ADEQUATE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AND (B) IMPLEMENT
AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
DESIGNED TO REASONABLY ENSURE THE SUBMISSION OF COMPLETE
AND ACCURATE LOPRS; 3. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 904 DURING THE
PERIODS OF NOVEMBER 28, 2007 TO DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND JANUARY 2,
2008 TO FEBRUARY 12, 2008, BY EXCEEDING POSITION LIMITS; AND 4.
VIOLATED AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD OF OCTOBER, 2007 TO
THROUGH MARCH, 2008, BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO
REASONABLY ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH POSITION LIMITS. STIPULATED
SANCTION: CENSURE; AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $20,000.

Resolution Date: 10/07/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **9/14/11**HBD #11-AMEX-7:  RESPONDENT VIOLATED: (1) AMEX RULE
906(A) BY FAILING TO SUBMIT COMPLETE AND ACCURATE LARGE OPTIONS
POSITIONS REPORTS ("LOPRS"); (2) AMEX RULE 320, BY FAILING TO (A)
ADOPT AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES,
AND (B) IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP
AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO REASONABLY ENSURE THE SUBMISSION OF
COMPLETE AND ACCURATE LOPRS; (3) AMEX RULE 904, BY EXCEEDING
POSITION LIMITS; AND (4) AMEX RULE 320, BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT AND
MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED
TO REASONABLY ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH POSITION LIMITS.
CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $20,000 FINE.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Decision
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Sanction Details: **9/14/11**HBD #11-AMEX-7:  RESPONDENT VIOLATED: (1) AMEX RULE
906(A) BY FAILING TO SUBMIT COMPLETE AND ACCURATE LARGE OPTIONS
POSITIONS REPORTS ("LOPRS"); (2) AMEX RULE 320, BY FAILING TO (A)
ADOPT AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES,
AND (B) IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP
AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO REASONABLY ENSURE THE SUBMISSION OF
COMPLETE AND ACCURATE LOPRS; (3) AMEX RULE 904, BY EXCEEDING
POSITION LIMITS; AND (4) AMEX RULE 320, BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT AND
MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED
TO REASONABLY ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH POSITION LIMITS.
CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $20,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **9/14/11**  A REVIEW OF THE DECISION MAY BE REQUESTED ONLY BY A
MEMBER OF THE NYSE ENTITIES IDENTIFIED IN NYSE RULE 476(G) WITHIN
25 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THIS LETTER.
IF A REVIEW OF THE DECISION IS REQUESTED, YOU WILL BE PROMPTLY
NOTIFIED.  IF NO REVIEW IS REQUESTED, THE DECISION WILL BECOME
FINAL AT THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON OCTOBER 7, 2011. **10/10/11**
SINCE A REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE HEARING BOARD WAS NOT
REQUESTED, THE DECISION BECME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF
BUSINESS ON OCTOBER 7, 2011.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: **8/15/11** STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
THE LEGAL SECTION OF THE MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT AT
FINRA AND PENDING. NYSE AMEX LLC; FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF
SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF
ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY
ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO HEREIN, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC. STIPULATED THAT DURING THE PERIOD
MAY 22, 2007 THROUGH MARCH 31, 2008 IT 1. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 906(A)
DURING THE PERIODS OF MAY 22, 2007 TO JUNE 15, 2007 AND OCTOBER
31, 2007 TO DECEMBER 31, 2007, BY FAILING TO SUBMIT COMPLETE AND
ACCURATE LARGE OPTIONS POSITIONS REPORTS ("LOPRS"); 2. VIOLATED
AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY, 2007 THROUGH
DECEMBER, 2007 BY FAILING TO (A) ADOPT AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AND (B) IMPLEMENT AND
MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED
TO REASONABLY ENSURE THE SUBMISSION OF COMPLETE AND
ACCURATE LOPRS; 3. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 904 DURING THE PERIODS OF
NOVEMBER 28, 2007 TO DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND JANUARY 2, 2008 TO
FEBRUARY 12, 2008, BY EXCEEDING POSITION LIMITS; AND 4. VIOLATED
AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD OF OCTOBER, 2007 TO THROUGH
MARCH, 2008, BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO REASONABLY
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH POSITION LIMITS. STIPULATED SANCTION:
CENSURE; AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $20,000.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/12/2011

Docket/Case Number: 11-AMEX-7

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

**8/15/11** STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
THE LEGAL SECTION OF THE MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT AT
FINRA AND PENDING. NYSE AMEX LLC; FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF
SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF
ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY
ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO HEREIN, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC. STIPULATED THAT DURING THE PERIOD
MAY 22, 2007 THROUGH MARCH 31, 2008 IT 1. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 906(A)
DURING THE PERIODS OF MAY 22, 2007 TO JUNE 15, 2007 AND OCTOBER
31, 2007 TO DECEMBER 31, 2007, BY FAILING TO SUBMIT COMPLETE AND
ACCURATE LARGE OPTIONS POSITIONS REPORTS ("LOPRS"); 2. VIOLATED
AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY, 2007 THROUGH
DECEMBER, 2007 BY FAILING TO (A) ADOPT AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AND (B) IMPLEMENT AND
MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED
TO REASONABLY ENSURE THE SUBMISSION OF COMPLETE AND
ACCURATE LOPRS; 3. VIOLATED AMEX RULE 904 DURING THE PERIODS OF
NOVEMBER 28, 2007 TO DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND JANUARY 2, 2008 TO
FEBRUARY 12, 2008, BY EXCEEDING POSITION LIMITS; AND 4. VIOLATED
AMEX RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD OF OCTOBER, 2007 TO THROUGH
MARCH, 2008, BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO REASONABLY
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH POSITION LIMITS. STIPULATED SANCTION:
CENSURE; AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $20,000.

Resolution Date: 10/07/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **9/14/11**HBD #11-AMEX-7: RESPONDENT VIOLATED: (1) AMEX RULE 906(A)
BY FAILING TO SUBMIT COMPLETE AND ACCURATE LARGE OPTIONS
POSITIONS REPORTS ("LOPRS"); (2) AMEX RULE 320, BY FAILING TO (A)
ADOPT AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES,
AND (B) IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP
AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO REASONABLY ENSURE THE SUBMISSION OF
COMPLETE AND ACCURATE LOPRS; (3) AMEX RULE 904, BY EXCEEDING
POSITION LIMITS; AND (4) AMEX RULE 320, BY FAILING TO IMPLEMENT AND
MAINTAIN AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED
TO REASONABLY ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH POSITION LIMITS. CONSENT
TO CENSURE AND $20,000 FINE.

Firm Statement **9/14/11** A REVIEW OF THE DECISION MAY BE REQUESTED ONLY BY A
MEMBER OF THE NYSE ENTITIES IDENTIFIED IN NYSE RULE 476(G) WITHIN
25 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THIS LETTER. IF A REVIEW OF THE DECISION
IS REQUESTED, YOU WILL BE PROMPTLY NOTIFIED. IF NO REVIEW IS
REQUESTED, THE DECISION WILL BECOME FINAL AT THE CLOSE OF
BUSINESS ON OCTOBER 7, 2011. **10/10/11** SINCE A REVIEW OF THE
DECISION OF THE HEARING BOARD WAS NOT REQUESTED, THE DECISION
BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON OCTOBER 7, 2011.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Decision
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Disclosure 200 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 3011(A), 3011(B): THE FIRM FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING COMPLIANCE PROGRAM (AMLCP) AND
WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY ACCEPTING THIRD-PARTY CHECKS FOR
DEPOSIT INTO A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT THAT, CONTRARY TO THE
PROCEDURES, DID NOT IDENTIFY THAT CUSTOMER BY NAME. AS A
RESULT, ONE OF ITS CUSTOMERS, A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AT
ANOTHER MEMBER FIRM, WAS ABLE TO MOVE OVER $9 MILLION OF
MISAPPROPRIATED FUNDS THROUGH HIS MERRILL LYNCH CASH
MANAGEMENT BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE DEPOSITED HIS CUSTOMERS' CHECKS FOR A
PURPORTED INVESTMENT INTO HIS PERSONAL ACCOUNT AT THE FIRM.
THE INVESTOR CHECKS WERE NON-PERSONAL CHECKS MADE PAYABLE
TO THE FIRM AND, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S ACCOUNT NUMBER HAD BEEN WRITTEN ON THE
CHECK BY THE CUSTOMER. THE ABSENCE OF THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S NAME ON THE CHECKS GAVE NO INDICATION TO
THOSE OUTSIDE OF THE FIRM, INCLUDING THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S INVESTORS, THAT THE MONEY WAS GOING TO THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S PERSONAL ACCOUNT. IN ACCEPTING
THESE DEPOSITS, THE FIRM FAILED TO FOLLOW ITS WRITTEN
PROCEDURES BECAUSE THESE "NON-PERSONAL CHECKS" WERE
ACCEPTED FOR DEPOSIT WITHOUT CONTAINING THE NAME OF THE FIRM
CLIENT (THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE IN THIS CASE) WHO OWNED
THE ACCOUNT. HAD THE FIRM ENFORCED ITS PROCEDURES, THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ABLE TO MOVE
THE PROCEEDS OF HIS MISAPPROPRIATION SCHEME THROUGH THE
FIRM. MOREOVER, THE FIRM DISREGARDED CERTAIN INDICATIONS OF
THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S MISCONDUCT, SUCH AS THE FACT
THAT HE WAS: 1) DEPOSITING LARGE AMOUNTS OF MONEY INTO, AND
THEN MOVING LARGE AMOUNTS OF FUNDS OUT OF, AN ACCOUNT THAT
HAD NO MARKET INVESTMENT ACTIVITY THROUGH THE USE OF LARGE
DOLLAR CHECKS PAYABLE TO HIMSELF OR TO CASH; AND 2) DEPOSITING
THE FUNDS OF THIRD PARTIES WITH WHOM HE HAD NO APPARENT FAMILY
OR FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE INTERNAL
CONTROLS IN PLACE TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS DEPOSIT
ACCEPTANCE PROCEDURES REGARDING NON-PERSONAL CHECKS. FOR
EXAMPLE, THERE WERE NO PROCEDURES OR A SYSTEM FOR A POST-
DEPOSIT REVIEW AND REJECTION OF SUCH CHECKS. MOREOVER, THE
FIRM DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR DEPOSIT
ACTIVITY IN ACCOUNTS SUCH AS THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S
WHICH LACKED SECURITIES ACTIVITY AND DISPLAYED INDICATIONS OF
MISCONDUCT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 07/26/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2009020383001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 2110, 3011(A), 3011(B): THE FIRM FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING COMPLIANCE PROGRAM (AMLCP) AND
WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY ACCEPTING THIRD-PARTY CHECKS FOR
DEPOSIT INTO A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT THAT, CONTRARY TO THE
PROCEDURES, DID NOT IDENTIFY THAT CUSTOMER BY NAME. AS A
RESULT, ONE OF ITS CUSTOMERS, A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AT
ANOTHER MEMBER FIRM, WAS ABLE TO MOVE OVER $9 MILLION OF
MISAPPROPRIATED FUNDS THROUGH HIS MERRILL LYNCH CASH
MANAGEMENT BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE DEPOSITED HIS CUSTOMERS' CHECKS FOR A
PURPORTED INVESTMENT INTO HIS PERSONAL ACCOUNT AT THE FIRM.
THE INVESTOR CHECKS WERE NON-PERSONAL CHECKS MADE PAYABLE
TO THE FIRM AND, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S ACCOUNT NUMBER HAD BEEN WRITTEN ON THE
CHECK BY THE CUSTOMER. THE ABSENCE OF THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S NAME ON THE CHECKS GAVE NO INDICATION TO
THOSE OUTSIDE OF THE FIRM, INCLUDING THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S INVESTORS, THAT THE MONEY WAS GOING TO THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S PERSONAL ACCOUNT. IN ACCEPTING
THESE DEPOSITS, THE FIRM FAILED TO FOLLOW ITS WRITTEN
PROCEDURES BECAUSE THESE "NON-PERSONAL CHECKS" WERE
ACCEPTED FOR DEPOSIT WITHOUT CONTAINING THE NAME OF THE FIRM
CLIENT (THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE IN THIS CASE) WHO OWNED
THE ACCOUNT. HAD THE FIRM ENFORCED ITS PROCEDURES, THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ABLE TO MOVE
THE PROCEEDS OF HIS MISAPPROPRIATION SCHEME THROUGH THE
FIRM. MOREOVER, THE FIRM DISREGARDED CERTAIN INDICATIONS OF
THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S MISCONDUCT, SUCH AS THE FACT
THAT HE WAS: 1) DEPOSITING LARGE AMOUNTS OF MONEY INTO, AND
THEN MOVING LARGE AMOUNTS OF FUNDS OUT OF, AN ACCOUNT THAT
HAD NO MARKET INVESTMENT ACTIVITY THROUGH THE USE OF LARGE
DOLLAR CHECKS PAYABLE TO HIMSELF OR TO CASH; AND 2) DEPOSITING
THE FUNDS OF THIRD PARTIES WITH WHOM HE HAD NO APPARENT FAMILY
OR FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE INTERNAL
CONTROLS IN PLACE TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS DEPOSIT
ACCEPTANCE PROCEDURES REGARDING NON-PERSONAL CHECKS. FOR
EXAMPLE, THERE WERE NO PROCEDURES OR A SYSTEM FOR A POST-
DEPOSIT REVIEW AND REJECTION OF SUCH CHECKS. MOREOVER, THE
FIRM DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR DEPOSIT
ACTIVITY IN ACCOUNTS SUCH AS THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S
WHICH LACKED SECURITIES ACTIVITY AND DISPLAYED INDICATIONS OF
MISCONDUCT.

Resolution Date: 07/26/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $400,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $400,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 3011(A), 3011(B): THE FIRM FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING COMPLIANCE PROGRAM (AMLCP) AND
WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY ACCEPTING THIRD-PARTY CHECKS FOR
DEPOSIT INTO A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT THAT, CONTRARY TO THE
PROCEDURES, DID NOT IDENTIFY THAT CUSTOMER BY NAME. AS A
RESULT, ONE OF ITS CUSTOMERS, A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AT
ANOTHER MEMBER FIRM, WAS ABLE TO MOVE OVER $9 MILLION OF
MISAPPROPRIATED FUNDS THROUGH HIS MERRILL LYNCH CASH
MANAGEMENT BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE DEPOSITED HIS CUSTOMERS' CHECKS FOR A
PURPORTED INVESTMENT INTO HIS PERSONAL ACCOUNT AT THE FIRM.
THE INVESTOR CHECKS WERE NON-PERSONAL CHECKS MADE PAYABLE
TO THE FIRM AND, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S ACCOUNT NUMBER HAD BEEN WRITTEN ON THE
CHECK BY THE CUSTOMER. THE ABSENCE OF THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S NAME ON THE CHECKS GAVE NO INDICATION TO
THOSE OUTSIDE OF THE FIRM, INCLUDING THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S INVESTORS, THAT THE MONEY WAS GOING TO THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S PERSONAL ACCOUNT. IN ACCEPTING
THESE DEPOSITS, THE FIRM FAILED TO FOLLOW ITS WRITTEN
PROCEDURES BECAUSE THESE "NON-PERSONAL CHECKS" WERE
ACCEPTED FOR DEPOSIT WITHOUT CONTAINING THE NAME OF THE FIRM
CLIENT (THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE IN THIS CASE) WHO OWNED
THE ACCOUNT. HAD THE FIRM ENFORCED ITS PROCEDURES, THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ABLE TO MOVE
THE PROCEEDS OF HIS MISAPPROPRIATION SCHEME THROUGH THE
FIRM. MOREOVER, THE FIRM DISREGARDED CERTAIN INDICATIONS OF
THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S MISCONDUCT, SUCH AS THE FACT
THAT HE WAS: 1) DEPOSITING LARGE AMOUNTS OF MONEY INTO, AND
THEN MOVING LARGE AMOUNTS OF FUNDS OUT OF, AN ACCOUNT THAT
HAD NO MARKET INVESTMENT ACTIVITY THROUGH THE USE OF LARGE
DOLLAR CHECKS PAYABLE TO HIMSELF OR TO CASH; AND 2) DEPOSITING
THE FUNDS OF THIRD PARTIES WITH WHOM HE HAD NO APPARENT FAMILY
OR FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE INTERNAL
CONTROLS IN PLACE TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS DEPOSIT
ACCEPTANCE PROCEDURES REGARDING NON-PERSONAL CHECKS. FOR
EXAMPLE, THERE WERE NO PROCEDURES OR A SYSTEM FOR A POST-
DEPOSIT REVIEW AND REJECTION OF SUCH CHECKS. MOREOVER, THE
FIRM DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR DEPOSIT
ACTIVITY IN ACCOUNTS SUCH AS THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S
WHICH LACKED SECURITIES ACTIVITY AND DISPLAYED INDICATIONS OF
MISCONDUCT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/26/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2009020383001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 2110, 3011(A), 3011(B): THE FIRM FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING COMPLIANCE PROGRAM (AMLCP) AND
WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY ACCEPTING THIRD-PARTY CHECKS FOR
DEPOSIT INTO A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT THAT, CONTRARY TO THE
PROCEDURES, DID NOT IDENTIFY THAT CUSTOMER BY NAME. AS A
RESULT, ONE OF ITS CUSTOMERS, A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AT
ANOTHER MEMBER FIRM, WAS ABLE TO MOVE OVER $9 MILLION OF
MISAPPROPRIATED FUNDS THROUGH HIS MERRILL LYNCH CASH
MANAGEMENT BROKERAGE ACCOUNT. THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE DEPOSITED HIS CUSTOMERS' CHECKS FOR A
PURPORTED INVESTMENT INTO HIS PERSONAL ACCOUNT AT THE FIRM.
THE INVESTOR CHECKS WERE NON-PERSONAL CHECKS MADE PAYABLE
TO THE FIRM AND, IN MOST INSTANCES, THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S ACCOUNT NUMBER HAD BEEN WRITTEN ON THE
CHECK BY THE CUSTOMER. THE ABSENCE OF THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S NAME ON THE CHECKS GAVE NO INDICATION TO
THOSE OUTSIDE OF THE FIRM, INCLUDING THE REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S INVESTORS, THAT THE MONEY WAS GOING TO THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S PERSONAL ACCOUNT. IN ACCEPTING
THESE DEPOSITS, THE FIRM FAILED TO FOLLOW ITS WRITTEN
PROCEDURES BECAUSE THESE "NON-PERSONAL CHECKS" WERE
ACCEPTED FOR DEPOSIT WITHOUT CONTAINING THE NAME OF THE FIRM
CLIENT (THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE IN THIS CASE) WHO OWNED
THE ACCOUNT. HAD THE FIRM ENFORCED ITS PROCEDURES, THE
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ABLE TO MOVE
THE PROCEEDS OF HIS MISAPPROPRIATION SCHEME THROUGH THE
FIRM. MOREOVER, THE FIRM DISREGARDED CERTAIN INDICATIONS OF
THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S MISCONDUCT, SUCH AS THE FACT
THAT HE WAS: 1) DEPOSITING LARGE AMOUNTS OF MONEY INTO, AND
THEN MOVING LARGE AMOUNTS OF FUNDS OUT OF, AN ACCOUNT THAT
HAD NO MARKET INVESTMENT ACTIVITY THROUGH THE USE OF LARGE
DOLLAR CHECKS PAYABLE TO HIMSELF OR TO CASH; AND 2) DEPOSITING
THE FUNDS OF THIRD PARTIES WITH WHOM HE HAD NO APPARENT FAMILY
OR FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE INTERNAL
CONTROLS IN PLACE TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS DEPOSIT
ACCEPTANCE PROCEDURES REGARDING NON-PERSONAL CHECKS. FOR
EXAMPLE, THERE WERE NO PROCEDURES OR A SYSTEM FOR A POST-
DEPOSIT REVIEW AND REJECTION OF SUCH CHECKS. MOREOVER, THE
FIRM DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR DEPOSIT
ACTIVITY IN ACCOUNTS SUCH AS THE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE'S
WHICH LACKED SECURITIES ACTIVITY AND DISPLAYED INDICATIONS OF
MISCONDUCT.
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 07/26/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $400,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $400,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $400,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 201 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/17/2011

Docket/Case Number: NYSE/ ARCA

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **06/17/2011**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
LEGAL SECTION OF DEPARTMENT OF MARKET REGULATION AND
PENDING. CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF
SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF
ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY
ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND
SMITH INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT DURING THE PERIOD OF
SEPTEMBER 11, 2008 TO FEBRUARY 5, 2009, IT:
1. VIOLATED NYSE ARCA EQUITIES RULE 6.18 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
REASONABLE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO
DETECT AND PREVENT POTENTIALLY VIOLATIVE WASH TRADING ACTIVITY
ON THE NYSE ARCA MARKETPLACE.
STIPULATED SANCTION: CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $75,000.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 07/12/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **7/12/11** DECISION NO. 11-ARCA-4 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD
NYSE ARCA: DURING THE PERIOD OF SEPTEMBER 11, 2008 TO FEBRUARY
5, 2009, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH INCORPORATED
VIOLATED NYSE ARCA EQUITIES RULE 6.18 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
REASONABLE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO
DETECT AND PREVENT POTENTIALLY VIOLATIVE WASH TRADING ACTIVITY
ON THE NYSE ARCA MARKETPLACE.  CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND A
$75,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **7/13/11** THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $75,000.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NYSE ARCA, INC.

Date Initiated: 06/17/2011

Allegations: **06/17/2011**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
LEGAL SECTION OF
DEPARTMENT OF MARKET REGULATION AND PENDING. CONSENTED TO
FINDINGS: FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE
OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION
OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR
FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR
FINDINGS, APPLICANT STIPULATED THAT DURING THE PERIOD OF
SEPTEMBER 11, 2008 TO FEBRUARY 5, 2009, IT: 1. VIOLATED NYSE ARCA
EQUITIES RULE 6.18 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A REASONABLE SYSTEM
OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT
POTENTIALLY VIOLATIVE WASH TRADING ACTIVITY ON THE NYSE ARCA
MARKETPLACE. STIPULATED SANCTION: CENSURE AND FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $75,000.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 06/17/2011

Docket/Case Number: NYSE/ARCA

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 07/12/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: **7/12/11** DECISION NO. 11-ARCA-4 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD
NYSE ARCA: DURING THE
PERIOD OF SEPTEMBER 11, 2008 TO FEBRUARY 5, 2009, APPLICANT
VIOLATED NYSE ARCA EQUITIES RULE 6.18 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
REASONABLE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO
DETECT AND PREVENT POTENTIALLY VIOLATIVE WASH TRADING ACTIVITY
ON THE NYSE ARCA MARKETPLACE. CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND A
$75,000 FINE.

Firm Statement **06/17/2011**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
LEGAL SECTION OF
DEPARTMENT OF MARKET REGULATION AND PENDING. CONSENTED TO
FINDINGS: FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE
OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION
OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR
FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR
FINDINGS, APPLICANT STIPULATED THAT DURING THE PERIOD OF
SEPTEMBER 11, 2008 TO FEBRUARY 5, 2009, IT: 1. VIOLATED NYSE ARCA
EQUITIES RULE 6.18 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A REASONABLE SYSTEM
OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, DESIGNED TO DETECT AND PREVENT
POTENTIALLY VIOLATIVE WASH TRADING ACTIVITY ON THE NYSE ARCA
MARKETPLACE. STIPULATED SANCTION: CENSURE AND FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $75,000.
**7/13/11** THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $75,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 202 of 595
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Disclosure 202 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 3010: REGULATION AB REQUIRED THE FIRM TO
MAINTAIN A WEBSITE (REG AB WEBSITE) FOR EACH NEWLY-ISSUED
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE BACKED SECURITIES (RMBS) THAT PRESENTED
STATIC POOL INFORMATION, ALSO KNOWN AS HISTORICAL DELINQUENCY
DATA, FOR PRIOR SIMILAR SECURITIZATIONS TO ILLUSTRATE PAST
PERFORMANCE OF SECURITIZATIONS THAT CONTAINED SIMILAR
COLLATERAL. IN OR ABOUT JUNE 2007, THE FIRM DISCOVERED THAT IT
HAD POSTED INACCURATE INFORMATION ON ITS REG AB WEBSITE. THESE
ERRORS IN DELINQUENCY REPORTING HAD BEEN CAUSED BY AN
INCORRECT DATA FEED THAT POPULATED INFORMATION FROM THE
WRONG COLUMN OF THE DATABASE THAT THE FIRM USED TO POPULATE
THE REG AB WEBSITE AFTER THE FIRM TOOK THIS FUNCTION IN-HOUSE
AND CEASED USING A VENDOR TO ASSIST WITH THE REG AB WEBSITE,
WHICH WAS EITHER DECEMBER 2006 OR JANUARY 2007. THESE ERRORS,
WHICH VARIOUSLY UNDERSTATED OR OVERSTATED MORTGAGE POOL
DELINQUENCIES, AFFECTED STATIC POOL INFORMATION FOR 61
SUBPRIME SECURITIZATIONS POSTED ON THE REG AB WEBSITE FROM
JANUARY 2006 THROUGH JUNE 2007. FOR EIGHT OF THE 61 SUBPRIME
SECURITIZATIONS FOR WHICH MORTGAGE DELINQUENCIES WERE
MISREPORTED, THE ERRORS IN DELINQUENCY REPORTING CONTAINED
DISCREPANCIES THAT MAY HAVE AFFECTED AN ASSESSMENT OF FAIR
MARKET VALUE, CERTIFICATE YIELD, ANTICIPATED HOLDING PERIODS
AND ANTICIPATED PERFORMANCE OF SUBSEQUENT SECURITIZATIONS
FOR WHICH THESE SECURITIZATIONS WERE REFERENCED. THESE EIGHT
RMBS SECURITIZATIONS CONTINUED TO BE POSTED ON THE REG AB
WEBSITE AFTER THE FIRM LEARNED OF THE REPORTING ERROR BY THE
MASTER SERVICER/TRUSTEE AND DURING THE PERIOD IN WHICH THE
FIRM IN-HOUSE PERSONNEL HAD RESPONSIBILITY FOR POPULATING THE
REG AB WEBSITE. SPECIFICALLY, THE INFORMATION DESCRIBED ABOVE
WAS HYPERLINKED TO FIVE SUBSEQUENT RMBS SECURITIZATIONS
TOTALING $1,921,738,500 AND RESULTED IN THESE SECURITIZATIONS
BEING SOLD ON THE BASIS OF INACCURATE DATA. IN OR ABOUT JULY
2007, THE FIRM RECALCULATED THE STATIC POOL INFORMATION FOR ALL
61 RMBS SECURITIZATIONS, WHICH HAD BEEN INACCURATELY REPORTED
ON ITS REG AB WEBSITE. THE UPDATED DATA WAS POSTED ON THE
FIRM'S REG AB WEBSITE IN AUGUST 2007. BECAUSE OF THESE ERRORS,
WHICH VARIOUSLY UNDERREPORTED AND OVERREPORTED THE EXTENT
OF DELINQUENT LOANS IN THE REFERENCED SECURITIZATIONS, THE
FAIR MARKET VALUE, THE YIELDS ON CERTIFICATES, ANTICIPATED
HOLDING PERIODS AND ANTICIPATED PERFORMANCE OF THE
SUBSEQUENT RMBS SECURITIZATIONS MAY HAVE BEEN IMPROPERLY
EVALUATED BY POTENTIAL INVESTORS. AS THE UNDERWRITER AND
SELLER OF SUBPRIME RMBS, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH A
REASONABLE SYSTEM TO SUPERVISE THE MAINTENANCE AND UPDATING
OF ITS REG AB WEBSITE. IN PARTICULAR, THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND
DELEGATE SPECIFIC SUPERVISORY DUTIES TO NAMED PERSONNEL, AND
FAILED TO PROVIDE A SYSTEM FOR FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW OF THE
SUPERVISION WITH REGARD TO ITS REG AB WEBSITE. IN ADDITION,
AFTER LEARNING, IN OR ABOUT FEBRUARY 2006, OF ERRORS IN
DELINQUENCY REPORTING BY THE MASTER SERVICER/TRUSTEE, THE
FIRM DID NOT TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO REVIEW, IDENTIFY AND
CORRECT OTHER POTENTIAL INACCURACIES IN THE STATIC POOL
INFORMATION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 05/25/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2008012808201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SUBPRIME RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE BACKED SECURITIES

NASD RULES 2110, 3010: REGULATION AB REQUIRED THE FIRM TO
MAINTAIN A WEBSITE (REG AB WEBSITE) FOR EACH NEWLY-ISSUED
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE BACKED SECURITIES (RMBS) THAT PRESENTED
STATIC POOL INFORMATION, ALSO KNOWN AS HISTORICAL DELINQUENCY
DATA, FOR PRIOR SIMILAR SECURITIZATIONS TO ILLUSTRATE PAST
PERFORMANCE OF SECURITIZATIONS THAT CONTAINED SIMILAR
COLLATERAL. IN OR ABOUT JUNE 2007, THE FIRM DISCOVERED THAT IT
HAD POSTED INACCURATE INFORMATION ON ITS REG AB WEBSITE. THESE
ERRORS IN DELINQUENCY REPORTING HAD BEEN CAUSED BY AN
INCORRECT DATA FEED THAT POPULATED INFORMATION FROM THE
WRONG COLUMN OF THE DATABASE THAT THE FIRM USED TO POPULATE
THE REG AB WEBSITE AFTER THE FIRM TOOK THIS FUNCTION IN-HOUSE
AND CEASED USING A VENDOR TO ASSIST WITH THE REG AB WEBSITE,
WHICH WAS EITHER DECEMBER 2006 OR JANUARY 2007. THESE ERRORS,
WHICH VARIOUSLY UNDERSTATED OR OVERSTATED MORTGAGE POOL
DELINQUENCIES, AFFECTED STATIC POOL INFORMATION FOR 61
SUBPRIME SECURITIZATIONS POSTED ON THE REG AB WEBSITE FROM
JANUARY 2006 THROUGH JUNE 2007. FOR EIGHT OF THE 61 SUBPRIME
SECURITIZATIONS FOR WHICH MORTGAGE DELINQUENCIES WERE
MISREPORTED, THE ERRORS IN DELINQUENCY REPORTING CONTAINED
DISCREPANCIES THAT MAY HAVE AFFECTED AN ASSESSMENT OF FAIR
MARKET VALUE, CERTIFICATE YIELD, ANTICIPATED HOLDING PERIODS
AND ANTICIPATED PERFORMANCE OF SUBSEQUENT SECURITIZATIONS
FOR WHICH THESE SECURITIZATIONS WERE REFERENCED. THESE EIGHT
RMBS SECURITIZATIONS CONTINUED TO BE POSTED ON THE REG AB
WEBSITE AFTER THE FIRM LEARNED OF THE REPORTING ERROR BY THE
MASTER SERVICER/TRUSTEE AND DURING THE PERIOD IN WHICH THE
FIRM IN-HOUSE PERSONNEL HAD RESPONSIBILITY FOR POPULATING THE
REG AB WEBSITE. SPECIFICALLY, THE INFORMATION DESCRIBED ABOVE
WAS HYPERLINKED TO FIVE SUBSEQUENT RMBS SECURITIZATIONS
TOTALING $1,921,738,500 AND RESULTED IN THESE SECURITIZATIONS
BEING SOLD ON THE BASIS OF INACCURATE DATA. IN OR ABOUT JULY
2007, THE FIRM RECALCULATED THE STATIC POOL INFORMATION FOR ALL
61 RMBS SECURITIZATIONS, WHICH HAD BEEN INACCURATELY REPORTED
ON ITS REG AB WEBSITE. THE UPDATED DATA WAS POSTED ON THE
FIRM'S REG AB WEBSITE IN AUGUST 2007. BECAUSE OF THESE ERRORS,
WHICH VARIOUSLY UNDERREPORTED AND OVERREPORTED THE EXTENT
OF DELINQUENT LOANS IN THE REFERENCED SECURITIZATIONS, THE
FAIR MARKET VALUE, THE YIELDS ON CERTIFICATES, ANTICIPATED
HOLDING PERIODS AND ANTICIPATED PERFORMANCE OF THE
SUBSEQUENT RMBS SECURITIZATIONS MAY HAVE BEEN IMPROPERLY
EVALUATED BY POTENTIAL INVESTORS. AS THE UNDERWRITER AND
SELLER OF SUBPRIME RMBS, THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH A
REASONABLE SYSTEM TO SUPERVISE THE MAINTENANCE AND UPDATING
OF ITS REG AB WEBSITE. IN PARTICULAR, THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND
DELEGATE SPECIFIC SUPERVISORY DUTIES TO NAMED PERSONNEL, AND
FAILED TO PROVIDE A SYSTEM FOR FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW OF THE
SUPERVISION WITH REGARD TO ITS REG AB WEBSITE. IN ADDITION,
AFTER LEARNING, IN OR ABOUT FEBRUARY 2006, OF ERRORS IN
DELINQUENCY REPORTING BY THE MASTER SERVICER/TRUSTEE, THE
FIRM DID NOT TAKE REASONABLE STEPS TO REVIEW, IDENTIFY AND
CORRECT OTHER POTENTIAL INACCURACIES IN THE STATIC POOL
INFORMATION.

Resolution Date: 05/25/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $3,000,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $3,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source:

581©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 05/25/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2008012808201

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SUBPRIME RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE BACKED SECURITIES

Allegations: FINRA ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULES 2110 AND 3010.  FINRA
ALLEGED THAT THE APPLICANT'S REG AB WEBSITE NEGLIGENTLY
MISREPRESENTED THE HISTORICAL DELINQUENCY RATES FOR CERTAIN
SUBPRIME RMBS IT UNDERWROTE AND SOLD. FINRA ALSO FOUND THAT,
AFTER LEARNING OF THE DELINQUENCY ERRORS, THE APPLICANT
PROMPTLY RECALCULATED THE INFORMATION AND POSTED THE
CORRECTED HISTORICAL DELINQUENCY RATES ON ITS REG AB WEBSITE.
FINRA ALSO ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH A
REASONABLE SYSTEM TO SUPERVISE AND REVIEW THE POPULATION OF
DATA ON ITS REG AB WEBSITE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/25/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $3,000,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED AND FINED $3,000,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $3,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 203 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: OHIO DIVISION OF SECURITIES ("DIVISION")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/20/2011

Docket/Case Number: 11-024

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC AND BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC.)
(COLLECTIVELY, "RESPONDENTS") INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND
SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY
INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS
OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT,
THROUGH THIS CONDUCT, THE RESPONDENTS NEGLIGENTLY ENGAGED
IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE THEIR AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/20/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE
ALSO, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C.
("BLUE RIDGE"), OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS
DEFINED IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN
ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY
COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENTS HAVE PAID $378,909.52 TO THE STATE OF OHIO
REPRESENTING OHIO'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF
$50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES AND U.S.
TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL
CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $378,909.52
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Disclosure 204 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NORTH CAROLINA SECRETARY OF STATE ("SECRETARY")

Date Initiated: 05/12/2011

Docket/Case Number: 09SEC045

Allegations: THE SECRETARY ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BANC OF
AMERICA SECURITIES LLC AND BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC.) (COLLECTIVELY, "RESPONDENTS") INAPPROPRIATELY
MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT
ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE
INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE
SECRETARY ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT, THE
RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES
AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THEIR SALESMEN.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: 09SEC045

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 05/12/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE
ALSO, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C.
("BLUE RIDGE"), OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS
DEFINED IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT
HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE
PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENTS HAVE PAID $1,011,338.01 TO THE STATE OF NORTH
CAROLINA FOR COSTS OF INVESTIGATION REPRESENTING NORTH
CAROLINA'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT
WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT
ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS
RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,011,338.01
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Disclosure 205 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF OHIO DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/11/2011

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 11-018

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF OHIO DIVISION OF SECURITIES ("THE DIVISION") ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN OHIO BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT LICENSED IN OHIO,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
LICENSING STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, AND TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE LICENSED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS,
WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF OHIO ADMINISTRATIVE CODE RULE 1301:
6-3-19(B)(9), AND SOLD SECURITIES THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/11/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $589,050.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN
THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN OHIO THROUGH UNLICENSED AGENTS AND
TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
DIVISION $589,050.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF
FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF
$26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Disclosure 206 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: INTERNATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/25/2009

Docket/Case Number: 2006-146

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 13, 2006 MERRILL LYNCH RECEIVED A CUSTOMER ORDER
TO SELL 1542 KINETIC CONCEPTS INC.  SEPTEMBER 40 PUTS.     AS THE
TRADE WAS BEING EXECUTED IN THE MARKETPLACE,  MERRILL LYNCH
HEDGED ITS FACILITATION EXPOSURE BY ENTERING PROPRIETARY
ORDERS TO PURCHASE SHARES OF KINETIC CONCEPTS STOCK. THIS
CONDUCT CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF ISE RULE 400.02.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/16/2009

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM FINED $30,000

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: INTERNATIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/25/2009

Docket/Case Number: 2006-146

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 13, 2006 MERRILL LYNCH RECEIVED A CUSTOMER ORDER
TO SELL 1542 KINETIC CONCEPTS INC. SEPTEMBER 40 PUTS. AS THE
TRADE WAS BEING EXECUTED IN THE MARKETPLACE, MERRILL LYNCH
HEDGED ITS FACILITATION EXPOSURE BY ENTERING PROPRIETARY
ORDERS TO PURCHASE SHARES OF KINETIC CONCEPTS STOCK. THIS
CONDUCT CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF ISE RULE 400.02.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/16/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: FIRM FINED $30,000

Firm Statement FIRM FINED $30,000

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Disclosure 207 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/07/2011

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE ("THE
DEPARTMENT") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN MINNESOTA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER
& SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE
NOT REGISTERED IN MINNESOTA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF
PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED
A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN
VIOLATION OF MINN. STAT. SECTIONS 80A.07, SUBD. 1(10) AND 80A.67(D)(9),
AND SOLD SECURITIES THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/07/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MINNESOTA
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $355,300.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $355,300.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MINNESOTA
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $355,300.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 208 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/05/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2010023969401

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITY

Allegations: FINRA RULE 5260 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INCORPORATED EFFECTED, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ONE
TRANSACTION IN A SECURITY WHILE A TRADING PAUSE WAS IN EFFECT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/05/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTION AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS FINED $5,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTION AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS FINED $5,000.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/05/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2010023969401

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITY

Allegations: FINRA RULE 5260 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INCORPORATED EFFECTED, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ONE
TRANSACTION IN A SECURITY WHILE A TRADING PAUSE WAS IN EFFECT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/05/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTION AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS FINED $5,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTION AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS FINED $5,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 209 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: ON APRIL 6, 2011, THE CONNECTICUT BANKING COMMISSIONER ENTERED
A CONSENT ORDER WITH RESPECT TO MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER
& SMITH INCORPORATED.  THE CONSENT ORDER WAS AN OUTGROWTH
OF A MULTISTATE INVESTIGATION INTO THE FIRM'S REGISTRATION OF ITS
CLIENT ASSOCIATES AND ITS RELATED SUPERVISORY CONTROLS OVER
THOSE INDIVIDUALS.  THE CONSENT ORDER FOUND THAT, IN PERMITTING
UNREGISTERED PERSONNEL TO SELL SECURITIES IN CONNECTICUT, THE
FIRM VIOLATED SECTION 36B-6(B) OF THE CONNECTICUT UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT AND SECTION 36B-31-6F(B) OF THE REGULATIONS
THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CONNECTICUT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER ENTERED APRIL 6, 2011

Date Initiated: 04/06/2011

Docket/Case Number: CO-10-7902-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNREGISTERED AGENT ACTIVITY

Allegations: ON APRIL 6, 2011, THE CONNECTICUT BANKING COMMISSIONER ENTERED
A CONSENT ORDER WITH RESPECT TO MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER
& SMITH INCORPORATED.  THE CONSENT ORDER WAS AN OUTGROWTH
OF A MULTISTATE INVESTIGATION INTO THE FIRM'S REGISTRATION OF ITS
CLIENT ASSOCIATES AND ITS RELATED SUPERVISORY CONTROLS OVER
THOSE INDIVIDUALS.  THE CONSENT ORDER FOUND THAT, IN PERMITTING
UNREGISTERED PERSONNEL TO SELL SECURITIES IN CONNECTICUT, THE
FIRM VIOLATED SECTION 36B-6(B) OF THE CONNECTICUT UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT AND SECTION 36B-31-6F(B) OF THE REGULATIONS
THEREUNDER.

Resolution Date: 04/06/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE APRIL 6, 2011 CONSENT ORDER DIRECTED THE FIRM TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM REGULATORY VIOLATIONS AND TO REMIT $359,100 TO THE
DEPARTMENT AS A FINE AND REIMBURSEMENT FOR PAST DUE AGENT
REGISTRATION FEES.

Sanction Details: SEE RESPONSE TO ITEM 13.B.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $359,100.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT DEPARTMENT OF BANKING SECURITIES AND
BUSINESS INVESTMENTS DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/06/2011

Docket/Case Number: CO-10-7902-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT DEPARTMENT OF BANKING SECURITIES AND
BUSINESS INVESTMENTS DIVISION ("THE DIVISION") ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN CONNECTICUT BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN
CONNECTICUT, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE
APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 36B-31-6F(B) OF THE REGULATIONS OF CONNECTICUT STATE
AGENCIES PROMULGATED UNDER THE CONNECTICUT UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT ("ACT"), AND SOLD SECURITIES THROUGH
UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 36B-6(B) OF THE ACT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/06/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN
THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN CONNECTICUT THROUGH UNREGISTERED
AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED
TO PAY THE DIVISION $359,100.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT,
CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S.
VIRGIIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $359,100.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN
THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN CONNECTICUT THROUGH UNREGISTERED
AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED
TO PAY THE DIVISION $359,100.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT,
CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S.
VIRGIIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM AND FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS.

Disclosure 210 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA SECRETARY
OF STATE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 03/10/2011

Docket/Case Number: I10-372

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE OFFICE OF THE NEVADA SECRETARY
OF STATE ("THE DIVISION") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEVADA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN NEVADA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH
AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF
PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF NRS 90.420(1)(B)
AND NRS 90.420(1)(1), FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN
THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND SOLD
SECURITIES THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF NRS 90.310.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/10/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,026,640.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MARYLAND THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $1,026,640.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 211 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ILLINOIS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 03/04/2011

Docket/Case Number: 11-00004

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE ILLINOIS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ILLINOIS BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN ILLINOIS,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS,
WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO SUPERVISE UNDER SECTION 8.E.
(1)(E)(IV) OF THE ILLINOIS SECURITIES LAW OF 1953 (THE "ACT"), FAILED
TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTION, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND SOLD SECURITIES THROUGH
UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 12.A OF THE ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 03/04/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ILLINOIS
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $955,600.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $955,600.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMISSION ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BANC OF
AMERICA SECURITIES LLC AND BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC.) (COLLECTIVELY, "RESPONDENTS") INAPPROPRIATELY
MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT
ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE
INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE DIVISION
ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT, THE RESPONDENTS ENGAGED
IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE THEIR AGENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: PENNSYLVANIA SECURITIES COMMISSION ("COMMISSION")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 03/15/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2009-07-15

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 03/15/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE
ALSO, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C.
("BLUE RIDGE"), OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS
DEFINED IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT
HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE
PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENTS HAVE PAID AN ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT OF
$163,674.80 TO THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA REPRESENTING
PENNSYLVANIA'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000
THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES
THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS
RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $16,374.80
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Disclosure 213 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, SECURITIES AND
BANKING ("DEPARTMENT")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/03/2011

Docket/Case Number: SB-CO-06-10

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DEPARTMENT ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BANC OF
AMERICA SECURITIES LLC AND BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC.) (COLLECTIVELLY, "RESPONDENTS") INAPPROPRIATELY
MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT
ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE
INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE
DEPARTMENT ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT, THE
RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES
AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THEIR AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Settled
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Resolution Date: 02/03/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS BY THE RESPONDENTS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE
INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"), OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR
PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER
("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE
SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENTS HAVE PAID A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF
$885,483.62 TO THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA REPRESENTING THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF
$50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES AND U.S.
TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL
CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $885,483.62
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF OHIO DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/03/2011

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 11-002

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF OHIO DIVISION OF SECURITIES (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED ORC
1707.19(A)(9), ORC 1707.19(A)(4), AND OHIO ADMINISTRATIVE CODE RULE
1301:6-3-19(B)(9) AND NEGLIGENTLY ENGAGE IN DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN THE SALE OF ARS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/03/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DIVISION, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $2,463,640.36, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED ELIGIBLE INVESTORS AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,463,640.36
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED ELIGIBLE INVESTORS AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 215 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF
INSURANCE, SECURITIES AND BANKING

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/03/2011

Docket/Case Number: SB-CO-05-10

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF
INSURANCE, SECURITIES AND BANKING (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) ENGAGED IN
UNETHICAL AND DISHONEST PRACTICES IN THE SECURITIES BUSINESS,
IN VIOLATION OF D.C. OFFICIAL CODE §31-5602.07(A)(9); AND FAILED TO
SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES, IN VIOLATION OF D.C. OFFICIAL CODE §31-
5602.07(A)(12).

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 01/03/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DEPARTMENT, IN WHICH IT AGREED
TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING D.C. OFFICIAL CODE §31-5602.
07(A)(9) AND §31-5602.07(A)(12), THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND
ALL THE LAWS OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $1,358,987.54 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED ELIGIBLE INVESTORS AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,358,987.54
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MARYLAND SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/04/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2008-0347

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE MARYLAND SECURITIES COMMISSION (COMMISSION) ALLEGED THAT
IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MARYLAND BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN
MARYLAND, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE REASONABLY DESIGNED SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, AND TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY NOT REQUIRING
ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH
IS SUBJECT TO SANCTION UNDER SECTION 11-412(A)(10) OF THE
MARYLAND SECURITIES ACT, AND VIOLATED SECTION 11-402(A)(1) FOR
THE EMPLOYMENT OF UNREGISTERED AGENTS/SALES
REPRESENTATIVES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/04/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE COMMISSION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MARYLAND
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSION $293,095.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $293,095.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE COMMISSION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MARYLAND
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSION $293,095.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE COMMISSION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
COMMISSION OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 217 of 595
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-63760, JANUARY 25, 2011: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)(4)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("RESPONDENT" OR "MERRILL").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT:

THE MATTER INVOLVES TWO KINDS OF MISCONDUCT AT MERRILL.  FIRST,
MERRILL'S PROPRIETARY TRADERS MISUSED INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER
ORDER INFORMATION, WHICH WAS IMPROPERLY DISCLOSED BY THE
FIRM'S MARKET MAKERS.  SECOND, MERRILL TRADERS IMPROPERLY
CHARGED MARK-UPS AND MARK-DOWNS ON CERTAIN RISKLESS
PRINCIPAL TRADES OF INSTITUTIONAL AND HIGH NET WORTH
CUSTOMERS FOR WHICH THE FIRM HAD AGREED TO CHARGE ONLY A
COMMISSION EQUIVALENT.

BETWEEN FEBRUARY 2003 AND FEBRUARY 2005, MERRILL OPERATED A
PROPRIETARY TRADING DESK, KNOWN AS THE EQUITY STRATEGY DESK
("ESD"), WHICH TRADED SECURITIES SOLELY FOR THE FIRM'S OWN
BENEFIT AND HAD NO ROLE IN EXECUTING CUSTOMER ORDERS.  THE
ESD WAS LOCATED ON MERRILL'S EQUITY TRADING FLOOR IN NEW YORK
CITY, WHERE TRADERS ON MERRILL'S MARKET MAKING DESK RECEIVED
AND EXECUTED ORDERS FOR MERRILL'S INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS.
WHILE MERRILL REPRESENTED TO CUSTOMERS THAT THEIR ORDER
INFORMATION WOULD BE MAINTAINED ON A STRICT NEED-TO-KNOW
BASIS, MERRILL'S ESD TRADERS OBTAINED INFORMATION ABOUT
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS FROM TRADERS ON THE MARKET
MAKING DESK AND USED IT TO PLACE TRADES ON MERRILL'S BEHALF.  IN
DOING SO, MERRILL MISUSED THIS INFORMATION AND ACTED CONTRARY
TO ITS REPRESENTATIONS TO CUSTOMERS.

BETWEEN 2002 AND 2007, MERRILL HAD AGREEMENTS WITH CERTAIN
INSTITUTIONAL AND HIGH NET WORTH CUSTOMERS THAT MERRILL
WOULD CHARGE ONLY A COMMISSION EQUIVALENT FOR EXECUTING
RISKLESS PRINCIPAL TRADES.  IN CERTAIN INSTANCES IN WHICH MERRILL
HAD THESE ARRANGEMENTS, MERRILL ALSO CHARGED CUSTOMERS, IN
ADDITION TO A COMMISSION EQUIVALENT, UNDISCLOSED MARK-UPS AND
MARK-DOWNS BY FILLING CUSTOMER ORDERS AT PRICES LESS
FAVORABLE TO THE CUSTOMER THAN THE PRICES AT WHICH MERRILL
PURCHASED OR SOLD THE SECURITIES IN THE MARKET.  THIS CHARGING
OF UNDISCLOSED MARK-UPS AND MARK-DOWNS WAS IMPROPER AND
CONTRARY TO THE AGREEMENTS THE FIRM HAD WITH ITS CUSTOMERS.

MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(1)(A) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT, IN THAT MERRILL, WHILE ACTING AS A BROKER-DEALER, EFFECTED
TRANSACTIONS IN SECURITIES BY MEANS OF MANIPULATIVE, DECEPTIVE
OR OTHER FRAUDULENT DEVICES OR CONTRIVANCES.

MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(G) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IN
THAT MERRILL, WHILE ACTING AS A BROKER-DEALER, FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE MISUSE, IN
VIOLATION OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OR RULES THEREUNDER, OF
MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC INFORMATION BY MERRILL OR PERSONS
ASSOCIATED WITH IT.

MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULE 17A-3(A)(6) THEREUNDER, IN THAT IT, WHILE ACTING AS A
REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER, FAILED TO MAKE RECORDS OF CERTAIN
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF CUSTOMER ORDERS.

UNDER SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, MERRILL FAILED
REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE ITS TRADERS WITH A VIEW TOWARDS
PREVENTING THEM FROM VIOLATING THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
SPECIFICALLY, MERRILL FAILED TO DETECT AND PREVENT THE CONDUCT
OF THESE TRADERS IN MISUSING CONFIDENTIAL CUSTOMER ORDER
INFORMATION AND IMPROPERLY CHARGING CUSTOMERS UNDISCLOSED
MARK-UPS AND MARK-DOWNS ON TRADES FOR WHICH MERRILL HAD
AGREED TO CHARGE ONLY TO A COMMISSION EQUIVALENT.

Current Status: Final

604©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 01/25/2011

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-63760, JANUARY 25, 2011: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)(4)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
("RESPONDENT" OR "MERRILL").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT:

THE MATTER INVOLVES TWO KINDS OF MISCONDUCT AT MERRILL.  FIRST,
MERRILL'S PROPRIETARY TRADERS MISUSED INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER
ORDER INFORMATION, WHICH WAS IMPROPERLY DISCLOSED BY THE
FIRM'S MARKET MAKERS.  SECOND, MERRILL TRADERS IMPROPERLY
CHARGED MARK-UPS AND MARK-DOWNS ON CERTAIN RISKLESS
PRINCIPAL TRADES OF INSTITUTIONAL AND HIGH NET WORTH
CUSTOMERS FOR WHICH THE FIRM HAD AGREED TO CHARGE ONLY A
COMMISSION EQUIVALENT.

BETWEEN FEBRUARY 2003 AND FEBRUARY 2005, MERRILL OPERATED A
PROPRIETARY TRADING DESK, KNOWN AS THE EQUITY STRATEGY DESK
("ESD"), WHICH TRADED SECURITIES SOLELY FOR THE FIRM'S OWN
BENEFIT AND HAD NO ROLE IN EXECUTING CUSTOMER ORDERS.  THE
ESD WAS LOCATED ON MERRILL'S EQUITY TRADING FLOOR IN NEW YORK
CITY, WHERE TRADERS ON MERRILL'S MARKET MAKING DESK RECEIVED
AND EXECUTED ORDERS FOR MERRILL'S INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS.
WHILE MERRILL REPRESENTED TO CUSTOMERS THAT THEIR ORDER
INFORMATION WOULD BE MAINTAINED ON A STRICT NEED-TO-KNOW
BASIS, MERRILL'S ESD TRADERS OBTAINED INFORMATION ABOUT
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS FROM TRADERS ON THE MARKET
MAKING DESK AND USED IT TO PLACE TRADES ON MERRILL'S BEHALF.  IN
DOING SO, MERRILL MISUSED THIS INFORMATION AND ACTED CONTRARY
TO ITS REPRESENTATIONS TO CUSTOMERS.

BETWEEN 2002 AND 2007, MERRILL HAD AGREEMENTS WITH CERTAIN
INSTITUTIONAL AND HIGH NET WORTH CUSTOMERS THAT MERRILL
WOULD CHARGE ONLY A COMMISSION EQUIVALENT FOR EXECUTING
RISKLESS PRINCIPAL TRADES.  IN CERTAIN INSTANCES IN WHICH MERRILL
HAD THESE ARRANGEMENTS, MERRILL ALSO CHARGED CUSTOMERS, IN
ADDITION TO A COMMISSION EQUIVALENT, UNDISCLOSED MARK-UPS AND
MARK-DOWNS BY FILLING CUSTOMER ORDERS AT PRICES LESS
FAVORABLE TO THE CUSTOMER THAN THE PRICES AT WHICH MERRILL
PURCHASED OR SOLD THE SECURITIES IN THE MARKET.  THIS CHARGING
OF UNDISCLOSED MARK-UPS AND MARK-DOWNS WAS IMPROPER AND
CONTRARY TO THE AGREEMENTS THE FIRM HAD WITH ITS CUSTOMERS.

MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(1)(A) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT, IN THAT MERRILL, WHILE ACTING AS A BROKER-DEALER, EFFECTED
TRANSACTIONS IN SECURITIES BY MEANS OF MANIPULATIVE, DECEPTIVE
OR OTHER FRAUDULENT DEVICES OR CONTRIVANCES.

MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(G) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IN
THAT MERRILL, WHILE ACTING AS A BROKER-DEALER, FAILED TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE MISUSE, IN
VIOLATION OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OR RULES THEREUNDER, OF
MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC INFORMATION BY MERRILL OR PERSONS
ASSOCIATED WITH IT.

MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULE 17A-3(A)(6) THEREUNDER, IN THAT IT, WHILE ACTING AS A
REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER, FAILED TO MAKE RECORDS OF CERTAIN
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF CUSTOMER ORDERS.

UNDER SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, MERRILL FAILED
REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE ITS TRADERS WITH A VIEW TOWARDS
PREVENTING THEM FROM VIOLATING THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
SPECIFICALLY, MERRILL FAILED TO DETECT AND PREVENT THE CONDUCT
OF THESE TRADERS IN MISUSING CONFIDENTIAL CUSTOMER ORDER
INFORMATION AND IMPROPERLY CHARGING CUSTOMERS UNDISCLOSED
MARK-UPS AND MARK-DOWNS ON TRADES FOR WHICH MERRILL HAD
AGREED TO CHARGE ONLY TO A COMMISSION EQUIVALENT.
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/25/2011

Docket/Case Number: 3-14204

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 01/25/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER"), WHICH THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.  SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE
OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY OR
ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE COMMISSION IS A
PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS
TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER
OF THE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED, MERRILL CONSENTED TO
THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-
AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTIONS
15(B)(4) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("ORDER").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS
15(C)(1)(A), 15(G)  AND 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3(A)(6)
THEREUNDER AND FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE ITS TRADERS
WITH A VIEW TOWARDS PREVENTING THEM FROM VIOLATING THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS UNDER SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT.

THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST
TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN RESPONDENT MERRILL'S
OFFER.

PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, THE
COMMISSION ORDERED THAT:

A. RESPONDENT MERRILL SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING
OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF
SECTIONS 15(C)(1)(A), 15(G) AND 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE
17A-3(A)(6) THEREUNDER;

B. RESPONDENT MERRILL BE AND HEREBY IS CENSURED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 15(B)(4) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT; AND

C. PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) AND SECTION 21B OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT, RESPONDENT SHALL PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY TO THE UNITED
STATES TREASURY IN THE AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THE PROCEEDINGS, MERRILL
SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER"), WHICH THE
COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.  SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE
OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY OR
ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE COMMISSION IS A
PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS
TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER
OF THE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED, MERRILL CONSENTED TO
THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-
AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTIONS
15(B)(4) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("ORDER").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT MERRILL WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTIONS
15(C)(1)(A), 15(G)  AND 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3(A)(6)
THEREUNDER AND FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE ITS TRADERS
WITH A VIEW TOWARDS PREVENTING THEM FROM VIOLATING THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS UNDER SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT.

THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST
TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN RESPONDENT MERRILL'S
OFFER.

PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, THE
COMMISSION ORDERED THAT:

A. RESPONDENT MERRILL SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING
OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF
SECTIONS 15(C)(1)(A), 15(G) AND 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE
17A-3(A)(6) THEREUNDER;

B. RESPONDENT MERRILL BE AND HEREBY IS CENSURED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 15(B)(4) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT; AND

C. PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) AND SECTION 21B OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT, RESPONDENT SHALL PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY TO THE UNITED
STATES TREASURY IN THE AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT MADE BY MERRILL LYNCH,
FENNER, PIERCE & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH"),  THE SEC
ISSUED ON JANUARY 25, 2011 AN ORDER ("ORDER") FINDING THAT
BETWEEN FEBRUARY 2003 AND FEBRUARY 2005 MERRILL LYNCH MARKET
MAKERS EXECUTING INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS FOR
SECURITIES SOMETIMES SHARED INFORMATION CONCERNING THOSE
TRADES WITH TRADERS ON A MERRILL LYNCH SECURITIES PROPRIETARY
TRADING DESK.  THE ORDER FOUND THAT, AT TIMES, MERRILL LYNCH'S
SECURITIES PROPRIETARY TRADERS USED THAT INFORMATION TO PLACE
TRADES FOR MERRILL LYNCH AFTER EXECUTION OF THE INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMER ORDER.  THE SEC'S ORDER FOUND THAT THIS DISCLOSURE
AND USE OF INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION BY
MERRILL LYNCH'S TRADERS WAS IMPROPER AND CONTRARY TO MERRILL
LYNCH'S CONFIDENTIALITY REPRESENTATIONS TO ITS CUSTOMERS.  THE
ORDER ALSO FOUND INSTANCES BETWEEN 2002 AND 2007 WHEN
MERRILL LYNCH CHARGED INSTITUTIONAL AND HIGH NET WORTH
CUSTOMERS UNDISCLOSED MARK-UPS AND MARK-DOWNS ON RISKLESS
SECURITIES PRINCIPAL TRADES FOR WHICH MERRILL LYNCH HAD
AGREED TO CHARGE THE CUSTOMER ONLY A COMMISSION EQUIVALENT
FEE.  THE ORDER FOUND THAT, IN DOING SO, MERRILL LYNCH ACTED
IMPROPERLY AND CONTRARY TO ITS AGREEMENTS WITH ITS
CUSTOMERS.  THE ORDER ALSO FOUND THAT FROM 2002 THROUGH 2007
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED IN MANY INSTANCES TO MAKE RECORDS OF ITS
AGREEMENTS WITH INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS TO GUARANTEE AN
EXECUTION PRICE, WHICH AGREEMENTS WERE PART OF THE TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF THE INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS.  THE SEC
ORDER FOUND THAT, AS A RESULT OF ITS CONDUCT, MERRILL LYNCH
WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(1)(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") BY EFFECTING TRANSACTIONS IN
SECURITIES BY MEANS OF MANIPULATIVE, DECEPTIVE OR OTHER
FRAUDULENT DEVICES OR CONTRIVANCES, AND WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTION 15(G) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL,
NONPUBLIC INFORMATION.  THE ORDER ALSO FOUND THAT UNDER
SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED
REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE ITS TRADERS WITH A VIEW TOWARDS
PREVENTING THEM FROM VIOLATING THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
THE ORDER ALSO FOUND THAT MERRILL LYNCH WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3(A)(6)
THEREUNDER BY FAILING TO RECORD CERTAIN TERMS AND CONDITIONS
OF CUSTOMER ORDERS.  MERRILL LYNCH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR
DENIED THE FINDINGS IN THE ORDER.  THE FINDINGS IN THE ORDER ARE
NOT BINDING ON ANY PERSON OR ENTITY OTHER THAN MERRILL LYNCH.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE

Date Initiated: 01/25/2011

Docket/Case Number: 3-14204

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY LISTED (COMMON & PREFERRED STOCK)

PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT MADE BY MERRILL LYNCH,
FENNER, PIERCE & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH"),  THE SEC
ISSUED ON JANUARY 25, 2011 AN ORDER ("ORDER") FINDING THAT
BETWEEN FEBRUARY 2003 AND FEBRUARY 2005 MERRILL LYNCH MARKET
MAKERS EXECUTING INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS FOR
SECURITIES SOMETIMES SHARED INFORMATION CONCERNING THOSE
TRADES WITH TRADERS ON A MERRILL LYNCH SECURITIES PROPRIETARY
TRADING DESK.  THE ORDER FOUND THAT, AT TIMES, MERRILL LYNCH'S
SECURITIES PROPRIETARY TRADERS USED THAT INFORMATION TO PLACE
TRADES FOR MERRILL LYNCH AFTER EXECUTION OF THE INSTITUTIONAL
CUSTOMER ORDER.  THE SEC'S ORDER FOUND THAT THIS DISCLOSURE
AND USE OF INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION BY
MERRILL LYNCH'S TRADERS WAS IMPROPER AND CONTRARY TO MERRILL
LYNCH'S CONFIDENTIALITY REPRESENTATIONS TO ITS CUSTOMERS.  THE
ORDER ALSO FOUND INSTANCES BETWEEN 2002 AND 2007 WHEN
MERRILL LYNCH CHARGED INSTITUTIONAL AND HIGH NET WORTH
CUSTOMERS UNDISCLOSED MARK-UPS AND MARK-DOWNS ON RISKLESS
SECURITIES PRINCIPAL TRADES FOR WHICH MERRILL LYNCH HAD
AGREED TO CHARGE THE CUSTOMER ONLY A COMMISSION EQUIVALENT
FEE.  THE ORDER FOUND THAT, IN DOING SO, MERRILL LYNCH ACTED
IMPROPERLY AND CONTRARY TO ITS AGREEMENTS WITH ITS
CUSTOMERS.  THE ORDER ALSO FOUND THAT FROM 2002 THROUGH 2007
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED IN MANY INSTANCES TO MAKE RECORDS OF ITS
AGREEMENTS WITH INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS TO GUARANTEE AN
EXECUTION PRICE, WHICH AGREEMENTS WERE PART OF THE TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF THE INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS.  THE SEC
ORDER FOUND THAT, AS A RESULT OF ITS CONDUCT, MERRILL LYNCH
WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(1)(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT") BY EFFECTING TRANSACTIONS IN
SECURITIES BY MEANS OF MANIPULATIVE, DECEPTIVE OR OTHER
FRAUDULENT DEVICES OR CONTRIVANCES, AND WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTION 15(G) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL,
NONPUBLIC INFORMATION.  THE ORDER ALSO FOUND THAT UNDER
SECTION 15(B)(4)(E) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED
REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE ITS TRADERS WITH A VIEW TOWARDS
PREVENTING THEM FROM VIOLATING THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.
THE ORDER ALSO FOUND THAT MERRILL LYNCH WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3(A)(6)
THEREUNDER BY FAILING TO RECORD CERTAIN TERMS AND CONDITIONS
OF CUSTOMER ORDERS.  MERRILL LYNCH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR
DENIED THE FINDINGS IN THE ORDER.  THE FINDINGS IN THE ORDER ARE
NOT BINDING ON ANY PERSON OR ENTITY OTHER THAN MERRILL LYNCH.

Resolution Date: 01/25/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE ORDER (1) REQUIRED THAT MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(1)(A), 15(G) AND 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND RULE 17A-3(A)(6) THEREUNDER; (2) CENSURED MERRILL LYNCH
PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT; AND (3)
REQUIRED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) AND SECTION 21B OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT THAT MERRILL LYNCH PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION.  THE PENALTY WAS PAID ON FEBRUARY 1, 2011.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Sanction Details: THE ORDER (1) REQUIRED THAT MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 15(C)(1)(A), 15(G) AND 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND RULE 17A-3(A)(6) THEREUNDER; (2) CENSURED MERRILL LYNCH
PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT; AND (3)
REQUIRED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) AND SECTION 21B OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT THAT MERRILL LYNCH PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $10 MILLION.  THE PENALTY WAS PAID ON FEBRUARY 1, 2011.

Firm Statement ON DECEMBER 17, 2010, MERRILL LYNCH SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT TO THE SEC.  IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, MERRILL
LYNCH AGREED TO CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER, WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS CONTAINED THEREIN (OTHER
THAN THOSE RELATING TO JURISDICTION).  THE ORDER WAS ISSUED ON
JANUARY 25, 2011, AND MADE THE FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS DESCRIBED
ABOVE IN ITEM 7.  THE PENALTY WAS PAID ON FEBRUARY 1, 2011.  THE
SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE EXPLAINED ABOVE IN ITEM 12.C.

Disclosure 218 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/10/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2006005266602

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: NASDAQ RULE 4755 - MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED ORDERS INTO THE
NASDAQ MARKET CENTER THAT FAILED TO CORRECTLY INDICATE
WHETHER THE ORDERS WERE A SHORT SALE OR LONG SALE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/10/2011

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTION AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS FINED $5,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/10/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2006005266602

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: NASDAQ RULE 4755 - MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED ORDERS INTO THE
NASDAQ MARKET CENTER THAT FAILED TO CORRECTLY INDICATE
WHETHER THE ORDERS WERE A SHORT SALE OR LONG SALE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/10/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTION AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS FINED $5,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTION AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS FINED $5,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTION AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS FINED $5,000.

Disclosure 219 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC RULE 17A-3, SEC RULES 604, 605 OF REGULATION NMS, SEC RULE
203(B)(1) OF REGULATION SHO, NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 2860(B)(5), 3110,
3360,  4632(A), 4632(A)(2), 6130(B), 6130(G), 6230, 6230(A), 6620(A), NYSE
RULE 421,10, MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, IN
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MEMORIALIZE THE TERMS
AND CONDITIONS AND THE ORDER RECEIPT TIMES FOR BROKERAGE
ORDERS. THE FIRM PURCHASED MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN
ACCOUNT FROM CUSTOMERS AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR
ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO A CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE
(INCLUDING ANY MARKDOWN OR MARKUP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.
THE FIRM DOUBLE REPORTED TO THE TRADE REPORTING AND
COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 15 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTION TIME. THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT NUMEROUS POSITIONS IN CONVENTIONAL
OPTIONS BY THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON THE NEXT BUSINESS DAY
FOLLOWING THE DAY ON WHICH THE POSITIONS WERE ESTABLISHED.
THE FIRM SUBMITTED TO NASD INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION
REPORTS IN NASDAQ AND OVER-THE-COUNTER SECURITIES. THE FIRM
SUBMITTED INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION REPORTS IN
SECURITIES LISTED ON THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE (NYSE) TO THE
NYSE. THE FIRM FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE NASD/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (NNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION THAT THE FIRM HAD
AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE AS THE ORDER ENTRY FIRM
(OEID). THE FIRM TRANSMITTED TRADE REPORTS FOR ODD-LOT TRADES
AND FAILED TO REPORT THE TRANSACTIONS WITH THE REQUIRED ODD-
LOT MODIFIER OF .RO TO THE NNTRF OR THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRF
(FNTRF). THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO
TRANSMIT TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
CONSOLIDATED QUOTATION SYSTEM (CQS) SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT
CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE
4632(A) AND A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT
EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE
FIRM INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".T" TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES EXECUTED
DURING NORMAL MARKET HOURS. THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS
AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT TO THE OVER-THE-COUNTER
REPORTING FACILITY (OTCRF) LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
OTC EQUITY SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND
DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE 6620(A) AND A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE FIRM FAILED TO
DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES
IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH SUCH ORDER WAS AT A PRICE
THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH
SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO THE FIRM'S BID
OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR EACH SUCH
SECURITY, AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED MORE THAN A DE
MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM'S
BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY. [CONTINUED IN COMMENTS]

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/05/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2006005266601

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE, NASDAQ, OTC, OPTIONS, NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM,
NYSE-LISTED, REPORTABLE, CQS, DESIGNATED, OTC EQUITY SECURITIES

SEC RULE 17A-3, SEC RULES 604, 605 OF REGULATION NMS, SEC RULE
203(B)(1) OF REGULATION SHO, NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 2860(B)(5), 3110,
3360,  4632(A), 4632(A)(2), 6130(B), 6130(G), 6230, 6230(A), 6620(A), NYSE
RULE 421,10, MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, IN
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MEMORIALIZE THE TERMS
AND CONDITIONS AND THE ORDER RECEIPT TIMES FOR BROKERAGE
ORDERS. THE FIRM PURCHASED MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN
ACCOUNT FROM CUSTOMERS AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR
ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO A CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE
(INCLUDING ANY MARKDOWN OR MARKUP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.
THE FIRM DOUBLE REPORTED TO THE TRADE REPORTING AND
COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 15 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTION TIME. THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT NUMEROUS POSITIONS IN CONVENTIONAL
OPTIONS BY THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON THE NEXT BUSINESS DAY
FOLLOWING THE DAY ON WHICH THE POSITIONS WERE ESTABLISHED.
THE FIRM SUBMITTED TO NASD INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION
REPORTS IN NASDAQ AND OVER-THE-COUNTER SECURITIES. THE FIRM
SUBMITTED INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION REPORTS IN
SECURITIES LISTED ON THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE (NYSE) TO THE
NYSE. THE FIRM FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE NASD/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (NNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION THAT THE FIRM HAD
AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE AS THE ORDER ENTRY FIRM
(OEID). THE FIRM TRANSMITTED TRADE REPORTS FOR ODD-LOT TRADES
AND FAILED TO REPORT THE TRANSACTIONS WITH THE REQUIRED ODD-
LOT MODIFIER OF .RO TO THE NNTRF OR THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRF
(FNTRF). THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO
TRANSMIT TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
CONSOLIDATED QUOTATION SYSTEM (CQS) SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT
CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE
4632(A) AND A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT
EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE
FIRM INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".T" TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES EXECUTED
DURING NORMAL MARKET HOURS. THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS
AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT TO THE OVER-THE-COUNTER
REPORTING FACILITY (OTCRF) LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
OTC EQUITY SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND
DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE 6620(A) AND A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE FIRM FAILED TO
DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES
IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH SUCH ORDER WAS AT A PRICE
THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH
SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO THE FIRM'S BID
OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR EACH SUCH
SECURITY, AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED MORE THAN A DE
MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM'S
BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY. [CONTINUED IN COMMENTS]

Resolution Date: 01/05/2011

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $304,000 AND ORDERED TO
PAY $48,416.83, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO INVESTORS. A
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL OF THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT SATISFACTORY
PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF REASONABLE AND
DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT RESTITUTION TO
FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC. ANY
UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL BE FORWARDED TO
THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER LAST
RESIDED.

Regulator Statement ALLEGATIONS CONTINUED: THE FIRM ACCEPTED SHORT SALE ORDERS IN
AN EQUITY SECURITY FROM ANOTHER PERSON OR EFFECTED A SHORT
SALE IN AN EQUITY SECURITY FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT, WITHOUT
BORROWING THE SECURITY OR ENTERING INTO A BONA FIDE
ARRANGEMENT TO BORROW THE SECURITY; OR HAVING REASONABLE
GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT THE SECURITY COULD BE BORROWED SO
THAT IT COULD BE DELIVERED ON THE DATE DELIVERY IS DUE; AND
DOCUMENTING COMPLIANCE WITH SEC RULE 203(B)(1) OF REGULATION
SHO. THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED ORDERS IN
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES THAT IT RECEIVED FOR
EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON AND THE REPORT INCLUDED INCORRECT
INFORMATION AS THE CLASSIFICATION OF SOME MARKET ORDERS AS
LIMIT ORDERS; FAILED TO PROVIDE INCLUSION/EXCLUSION INFORMATION
FOR SOME OTHER ORDERS; AND PUBLISHED INACCURATE STATISTICS IN
ONE ORDER AND SIZE TYPE CATEGORY.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $304,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC RULE 17A-3, SEC RULES 604, 605 OF REGULATION NMS, SEC RULE
203(B)(1) OF REGULATION SHO, NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 2860(B)(5), 3110,
3360, 4632(A), 4632(A)(2), 6130(B), 6130(G), 6230, 6230(A), 6620(A), NYSE
RULE 421,10, MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, IN
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MEMORIALIZE THE TERMS
AND CONDITIONS AND THE ORDER RECEIPT TIMES FOR BROKERAGE
ORDERS. THE FIRM PURCHASED MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN
ACCOUNT FROM CUSTOMERS AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR
ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO A CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE
(INCLUDING ANY MARKDOWN OR MARKUP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.
THE FIRM DOUBLE REPORTED TO THE TRADE REPORTING AND
COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 15 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTION TIME. THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT NUMEROUS POSITIONS IN CONVENTIONAL
OPTIONS BY THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON THE NEXT BUSINESS DAY
FOLLOWING THE DAY ON WHICH THE POSITIONS WERE ESTABLISHED.
THE FIRM SUBMITTED TO NASD INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION
REPORTS IN NASDAQ AND OVER-THE-COUNTER SECURITIES. THE FIRM
SUBMITTED INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION REPORTS IN
SECURITIES LISTED ON THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE (NYSE) TO THE
NYSE. THE FIRM FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE NASD/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (NNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION THAT THE FIRM HAD
AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE AS THE ORDER ENTRY FIRM
(OEID). THE FIRM TRANSMITTED TRADE REPORTS FOR ODD-LOT TRADES
AND FAILED TO REPORT THE TRANSACTIONS WITH THE REQUIRED ODD-
LOT MODIFIER OF .RO TO THE NNTRF OR THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRF
(FNTRF). THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO
TRANSMIT TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
CONSOLIDATED QUOTATION SYSTEM (CQS) SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT
CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE
4632(A) AND A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT
EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE
FIRM INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".T" TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES EXECUTED
DURING NORMAL MARKET HOURS. THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS
AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT TO THE OVER-THE-COUNTER
REPORTING FACILITY (OTCRF) LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
OTC EQUITY SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND
DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE 6620(A) AND A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE FIRM FAILED TO
DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES
IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH SUCH ORDER WAS AT A PRICE
THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH
SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO THE FIRM'S BID
OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR EACH SUCH
SECURITY, AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED MORE THAN A DE
MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM'S
BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY. [CONTINUED IN SECTION 13]

Current Status: Final
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Allegations: SEC RULE 17A-3, SEC RULES 604, 605 OF REGULATION NMS, SEC RULE
203(B)(1) OF REGULATION SHO, NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 2860(B)(5), 3110,
3360, 4632(A), 4632(A)(2), 6130(B), 6130(G), 6230, 6230(A), 6620(A), NYSE
RULE 421,10, MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, IN
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MEMORIALIZE THE TERMS
AND CONDITIONS AND THE ORDER RECEIPT TIMES FOR BROKERAGE
ORDERS. THE FIRM PURCHASED MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN
ACCOUNT FROM CUSTOMERS AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR
ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO A CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE
(INCLUDING ANY MARKDOWN OR MARKUP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.
THE FIRM DOUBLE REPORTED TO THE TRADE REPORTING AND
COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 15 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTION TIME. THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT NUMEROUS POSITIONS IN CONVENTIONAL
OPTIONS BY THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON THE NEXT BUSINESS DAY
FOLLOWING THE DAY ON WHICH THE POSITIONS WERE ESTABLISHED.
THE FIRM SUBMITTED TO NASD INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION
REPORTS IN NASDAQ AND OVER-THE-COUNTER SECURITIES. THE FIRM
SUBMITTED INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION REPORTS IN
SECURITIES LISTED ON THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE (NYSE) TO THE
NYSE. THE FIRM FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE NASD/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (NNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION THAT THE FIRM HAD
AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE AS THE ORDER ENTRY FIRM
(OEID). THE FIRM TRANSMITTED TRADE REPORTS FOR ODD-LOT TRADES
AND FAILED TO REPORT THE TRANSACTIONS WITH THE REQUIRED ODD-
LOT MODIFIER OF .RO TO THE NNTRF OR THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRF
(FNTRF). THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO
TRANSMIT TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
CONSOLIDATED QUOTATION SYSTEM (CQS) SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT
CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE
4632(A) AND A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT
EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE
FIRM INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".T" TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES EXECUTED
DURING NORMAL MARKET HOURS. THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS
AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT TO THE OVER-THE-COUNTER
REPORTING FACILITY (OTCRF) LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
OTC EQUITY SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND
DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE 6620(A) AND A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE FIRM FAILED TO
DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES
IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH SUCH ORDER WAS AT A PRICE
THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH
SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO THE FIRM'S BID
OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR EACH SUCH
SECURITY, AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED MORE THAN A DE
MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM'S
BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY. [CONTINUED IN SECTION 13]
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION; CENSURE

Date Initiated: 01/05/2011

Docket/Case Number: 2006005266601

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE, NASDAQ, OTC, OPTIONS, NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM,
NYSE-LISTED, REPORTABLE, CQS, DESIGNATED, OTC EQUITY SECURITIES

SEC RULE 17A-3, SEC RULES 604, 605 OF REGULATION NMS, SEC RULE
203(B)(1) OF REGULATION SHO, NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 2860(B)(5), 3110,
3360, 4632(A), 4632(A)(2), 6130(B), 6130(G), 6230, 6230(A), 6620(A), NYSE
RULE 421,10, MSRB RULES G-17, G-30(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, IN
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO MEMORIALIZE THE TERMS
AND CONDITIONS AND THE ORDER RECEIPT TIMES FOR BROKERAGE
ORDERS. THE FIRM PURCHASED MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR ITS OWN
ACCOUNT FROM CUSTOMERS AND/OR SOLD MUNICIPAL SECURITIES FOR
ITS OWN ACCOUNT TO A CUSTOMER AT AN AGGREGATE PRICE
(INCLUDING ANY MARKDOWN OR MARKUP) THAT WAS NOT FAIR AND
REASONABLE, TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION ALL RELEVANT FACTORS,
INCLUDING THE BEST JUDGMENT OF THE BROKER, DEALER OR
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER AS TO THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE
SECURITIES AT THE TIME OF THE TRANSACTION AND OF ANY SECURITIES
EXCHANGED OR TRADED IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION, THE
EXPENSE INVOLVED IN EFFECTING THE TRANSACTION, THE FACT THAT
THE BROKER, DEALER, OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER IS ENTITLED
TO A PROFIT, AND THE TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNT OF THE TRANSACTION.
THE FIRM DOUBLE REPORTED TO THE TRADE REPORTING AND
COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 15 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTION TIME. THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT NUMEROUS POSITIONS IN CONVENTIONAL
OPTIONS BY THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON THE NEXT BUSINESS DAY
FOLLOWING THE DAY ON WHICH THE POSITIONS WERE ESTABLISHED.
THE FIRM SUBMITTED TO NASD INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION
REPORTS IN NASDAQ AND OVER-THE-COUNTER SECURITIES. THE FIRM
SUBMITTED INCORRECT SHORT INTEREST POSITION REPORTS IN
SECURITIES LISTED ON THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE (NYSE) TO THE
NYSE. THE FIRM FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN THE NASD/NASDAQ
TRADE REPORTING FACILITY (NNTRF) TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION THAT THE FIRM HAD
AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE AS THE ORDER ENTRY FIRM
(OEID). THE FIRM TRANSMITTED TRADE REPORTS FOR ODD-LOT TRADES
AND FAILED TO REPORT THE TRANSACTIONS WITH THE REQUIRED ODD-
LOT MODIFIER OF .RO TO THE NNTRF OR THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRF
(FNTRF). THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO
TRANSMIT TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
CONSOLIDATED QUOTATION SYSTEM (CQS) SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT
CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE
4632(A) AND A PATTERN OR PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT
EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE
FIRM INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".T" TO THE NNTRF LAST SALE
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES EXECUTED
DURING NORMAL MARKET HOURS. THE FIRM FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS
AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT TO THE OVER-THE-COUNTER
REPORTING FACILITY (OTCRF) LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
OTC EQUITY SECURITIES. THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES SEPARATE AND
DISTINCT VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULE 6620(A) AND A PATTERN OR
PRACTICE OF LATE REPORTING WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL
CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF NASD RULE 2110. THE FIRM FAILED TO
DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES
IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH SUCH ORDER WAS AT A PRICE
THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH
SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO THE FIRM'S BID
OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR EACH SUCH
SECURITY, AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED MORE THAN A DE
MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM'S
BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY. [CONTINUED IN SECTION 13]

Resolution Date: 01/05/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $304,000 AND ORDERED TO
PAY $48,416.83, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO INVESTORS. A
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL OF THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT SATISFACTORY
PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF REASONABLE AND
DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT RESTITUTION TO
FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC. ANY
UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL BE FORWARDED TO
THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER LAST
RESIDED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $304,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $304,000 AND ORDERED TO
PAY $48,416.83, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO INVESTORS. A
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL OF THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT SATISFACTORY
PROOF OF PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF REASONABLE AND
DOCUMENTED EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT RESTITUTION TO
FINRA NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC. ANY
UNDISTRIBUTED RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL BE FORWARDED TO
THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER LAST
RESIDED.

Firm Statement ALLEGATIONS CONTINUED: THE FIRM ACCEPTED SHORT SALE ORDERS IN
AN EQUITY SECURITY FROM ANOTHER PERSON OR EFFECTED A SHORT
SALE IN AN EQUITY SECURITY FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT, WITHOUT
BORROWING THE SECURITY OR ENTERING INTO A BONA FIDE
ARRANGEMENT TO BORROW THE SECURITY; OR HAVING REASONABLE
GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT THE SECURITY COULD BE BORROWED SO
THAT IT COULD BE DELIVERED ON THE DATE DELIVERY IS DUE; AND
DOCUMENTING COMPLIANCE WITH SEC RULE 203(B)(1) OF REGULATION
SHO. THE FIRM MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED ORDERS IN
NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES THAT IT RECEIVED FOR
EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON AND THE REPORT INCLUDED INCORRECT
INFORMATION AS THE CLASSIFICATION OF SOME MARKET ORDERS AS
LIMIT ORDERS; FAILED TO PROVIDE INCLUSION/EXCLUSION INFORMATION
FOR SOME OTHER ORDERS; AND PUBLISHED INACCURATE STATISTICS IN
ONE ORDER AND SIZE TYPE CATEGORY.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: DIVISION OF BANKING AND SECURITIES OF THE ALASKA DEPARTMENT OF
COMMERCE, COMMUNITY, AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ("DIVISION")

Date Initiated: 12/14/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 10-11-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC AND BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC.)
(COLLECTIVELY, "RESPONDENTS") INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND
SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY
INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS
OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT,
THROUGH THIS CONDUCT, THE RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN DISHONEST
AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THEIR
AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

616©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 12/14/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE
ALSO, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C.
("BLUE RIDGE"), OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS
DEFINED IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN
ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY
COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE RESPONDENTS HAVE PAID $100,151.03 TO THE STATE OF ALASKA
REPRESENTING ALASKA'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF
$50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES AND U.S.
TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL
CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,151.03
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO
PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE RESPONDENTS,
THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE
AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO
IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND
TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE
PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE
RESPONDENTS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS
WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY AUCTIONING AT THE
TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE EXTENT THAT THE
INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE INTEREST PAID ON THE
ARS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A
SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING
ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING
FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES TO
MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS THROUGH
THE RESPONDENTS.  THE RESPONDENTS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO
MAKE THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS."
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/16/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2009-0090

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: STATE SECURITIES REGULATOR ALLEGED THAT TWO EMPLOYEES OF
BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC. ("BAI") (WHICH MERGED
WITH AND INTO THE APPLICANT ON 10/23/2009) SOLD FANNIE MAE AND
FREDDIE MAC FEDERAL AGENCY STEP-UP BONDS TO AN INVESTOR AND
THAT THEY DID NOT DESCRIBE THE BONDS ACCURATELY.  THE STATE
REGULATOR ALLEGED THAT BAI FAILED TO SUPERVISE THE CONDUCT IN
VIOLATION OF M.G.L. C.110A § 204(A)(2)(G).  ONLY BAI WAS NAMED AS A
RESPONDENT IN THE CONSENT ORDER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/17/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING TO RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT COMPLIANCE CONSULTANT
AND IMPOSE HEIGHTENED SUPERVISION ON A REPRESENTATIVE.

Sanction Details: ON NOVEMBER 16, 2010, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC.
("BAI") (WHICH MERGED WITH AND INTO THE APPLICANT ON 10/23/2009)
SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE FACTS AND WITHOUT AN ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUE OF
LAW OR FACT, AND CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER.
THE MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION EXECUTED THE CONSENT
ORDER ON NOVEMBER 17, 2010.  ONLY BAI WAS NAMED AS A
RESPONDENT IN THE CONSENT ORDER.  BAI AGREED TO A FINE OF
$100,000, TO CEASE AND DESIST, AND TO AN UNDERTAKING TO RETAIN AN
INDEPENDENT COMPLIANCE CONSULTANT AND IMPOSE HEIGHTENED
SUPERVISION ON A REPRESENTATIVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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ON NOVEMBER 16, 2010, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC.
("BAI") (WHICH MERGED WITH AND INTO THE APPLICANT ON 10/23/2009)
SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE FACTS AND WITHOUT AN ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUE OF
LAW OR FACT, AND CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER.
THE MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION EXECUTED THE CONSENT
ORDER ON NOVEMBER 17, 2010.  ONLY BAI WAS NAMED AS A
RESPONDENT IN THE CONSENT ORDER.  BAI AGREED TO A FINE OF
$100,000, TO CEASE AND DESIST, AND TO AN UNDERTAKING TO RETAIN AN
INDEPENDENT COMPLIANCE CONSULTANT AND IMPOSE HEIGHTENED
SUPERVISION ON A REPRESENTATIVE.

Firm Statement ON NOVEMBER 16, 2010, BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC.
("BAI") (WHICH MERGED WITH AND INTO THE APPLICANT ON 10/23/2009)
SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE FACTS AND WITHOUT AN ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUE OF
LAW OR FACT, AND CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER.
THE MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION EXECUTED THE CONSENT
ORDER ON NOVEMBER 17, 2010.  ONLY BAI WAS NAMED AS A
RESPONDENT IN THE CONSENT ORDER.  BAI AGREED TO A FINE OF
$100,000, TO CEASE AND DESIST, AND TO AN UNDERTAKING TO RETAIN AN
INDEPENDENT COMPLIANCE CONSULTANT AND IMPOSE HEIGHTENED
SUPERVISION ON A REPRESENTATIVE.
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-63451, DECEMBER 7, 2010: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AGAINST BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC, NOW KNOWN AS MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, SUCCESSOR BY
MERGER ("RESPONDENT").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT THE MATTER INVOLVES RESPONDENT'S
ROLE IN CERTAIN IMPROPER BIDDING PRACTICES THAT OCCURRED,
FROM AT LEAST 1998 THROUGH 2002 ("RELEVANT TIME PERIOD"),
INVOLVING THE TEMPORARY INVESTMENT OF PROCEEDS OF TAX-EXEMPT
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES IN REINVESTMENT PRODUCTS, SUCH AS
GUARANTEED INVESTMENT CONTRACTS ("GICS"), REPURCHASE
AGREEMENTS ("REPOS"), AND FORWARD PURCHASE AGREEMENTS
("FPAS").  THESE PRACTICES AFFECTED THE PRICES OF THE
REINVESTMENT PRODUCTS AND JEOPARDIZED THE TAX-EXEMPT STATUS
OF THE UNDERLYING MUNICIPAL SECURITIES.

FROM THE INCEPTION OF THE MUNICIPAL REINVESTMENT AND RISK
MANAGEMENT GROUP ("DESK") IN 1998 THROUGH AT LEAST 2002, MANY
OF ITS MEMBERS, INCLUDING TWO HEADS OF THE DESK, PARTICIPATED
IN AND CONDONED IMPROPER PRACTICES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
BIDDING OF REINVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS.  DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD OF TIME, THE DESK WAS A MARKETING GROUP COMPRISED OF 4
TO 9 MEMBERS THAT FOCUSED ON SELLING DERIVATIVE PRODUCTS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE ISSUANCE OF MUNICIPAL DEBT.  THE DESK
GENERATED BUSINESS THROUGH, AMONG OTHER THINGS, CLIENT
RELATIONSHIPS IN COMMERCIAL LENDING AND SECURITIES
UNDERWRITING PERFORMED BY RESPONDENT.  THE DESK ALSO
GENERATED BUSINESS THROUGH INDEPENDENT ADVISORS, BIDDING
AGENTS, AND BROKERS.  DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD OF TIME, THE
DESK WAS BASED IN CHARLOTTE, NORTH CAROLINA, WITH ONE MEMBER
IN NEW YORK, NEW YORK FOR A PORTION OF THAT TIME.  DURING THE
RELEVANT TIME PERIOD, MEMBERS OF THE DESK WERE DUAL OFFICERS
OF BOTH RESPONDENT AND AN AFFILIATED FEDERALLY-CHARTERED
BANK.

AS PART OF THE CONDUCT, BIDDING AGENTS AT TIMES STEERED
BUSINESS TO THE DESK THROUGH LAST LOOKS AND SET-UPS.  AS A
RESULT, THE DESK WON THE BIDS FOR 88 AFFECTED REINVESTMENT
INSTRUMENTS.

IN RETURN, THE DESK, AMONG OTHER THINGS, AT TIMES STEERED
BUSINESS TO BIDDING AGENTS AND SUBMITTED COURTESY AND
PURPOSEFULLY NON-WINNING BIDS UPON REQUEST.

ON OCCASION, MEMBERS OF THE DESK ALSO PAID BIDDING AGENTS THAT
FAVORED THE DESK MONIES IN ADDITION TO THE FEES DISCLOSED AS
BROKERAGE FEES.  THESE ADDITIONAL MONIES WERE SOMETIMES
MISCHARACTERIZED AS PAYMENTS FOR SERVICES RENDERED IN
CONNECTION WITH SWAPS AND MARKETING PRICING LETTERS.  ON
OTHER OCCASIONS, THE DESK MADE UNDISCLOSED, GRATUITOUS
PAYMENTS TO THE BIDDING AGENTS BY IDENTIFYING THEM ON THE
TRADE TICKETS AS THE BROKERS ON TRANSACTIONS THAT DID NOT
UTILIZE BROKERS.

THE DESK MISSTATED IN ITS BID SUBMISSIONS AND/OR PROVIDER'S
CERTIFICATES THAT, AMONG OTHER THINGS: ITS BIDS WERE ARMS-
LENGTH BIDS; THE DESK DID NOT CONSULT WITH ANY OTHER POTENTIAL
PROVIDER ABOUT ITS BIDS; ITS BIDS WERE DETERMINED WITHOUT
REGARD TO ANY OTHER FORMAL OR INFORMAL AGREEMENT THAT THE
DESK HAD WITH THE ISSUER OR ANY OTHER PERSON (WHETHER OR NOT
IN CONNECTION WITH THE BOND ISSUE); AND THAT ITS BIDS WERE NOT
SUBMITTED SOLELY AS A COURTESY TO THE ISSUER OR ANY OTHER
PERSON FOR PURPOSES OF SATISFYING THE REQUIREMENTS THAT (A)
THE ISSUER RECEIVE AT LEAST THREE BIDS FROM PROVIDERS THAT THE
ISSUER SOLICITED UNDER A BONA FIDE SOLICITATION AND (B) AT LEAST
ONE OF THE THREE BIDS RECEIVED WAS FROM A REASONABLY
COMPETITIVE PROVIDER.

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT RESPONDENT, USING THE MAILS OR ANY
MEANS OR INSTRUMENTALITY OF INTERSTATE COMMERCE, ENGAGED IN
IMPROPER BIDDING PRACTICES THAT IT KNOWS OR HAD REASONABLE
GROUNDS TO BELIEVE IS MISLEADING.  AS A RESULT OF SUCH CONDUCT,
RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 15(C)(1)(A).

Current Status: Final
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SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-63451, DECEMBER 7, 2010: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AGAINST BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC, NOW KNOWN AS MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, SUCCESSOR BY
MERGER ("RESPONDENT").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT THE MATTER INVOLVES RESPONDENT'S
ROLE IN CERTAIN IMPROPER BIDDING PRACTICES THAT OCCURRED,
FROM AT LEAST 1998 THROUGH 2002 ("RELEVANT TIME PERIOD"),
INVOLVING THE TEMPORARY INVESTMENT OF PROCEEDS OF TAX-EXEMPT
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES IN REINVESTMENT PRODUCTS, SUCH AS
GUARANTEED INVESTMENT CONTRACTS ("GICS"), REPURCHASE
AGREEMENTS ("REPOS"), AND FORWARD PURCHASE AGREEMENTS
("FPAS").  THESE PRACTICES AFFECTED THE PRICES OF THE
REINVESTMENT PRODUCTS AND JEOPARDIZED THE TAX-EXEMPT STATUS
OF THE UNDERLYING MUNICIPAL SECURITIES.

FROM THE INCEPTION OF THE MUNICIPAL REINVESTMENT AND RISK
MANAGEMENT GROUP ("DESK") IN 1998 THROUGH AT LEAST 2002, MANY
OF ITS MEMBERS, INCLUDING TWO HEADS OF THE DESK, PARTICIPATED
IN AND CONDONED IMPROPER PRACTICES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
BIDDING OF REINVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS.  DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD OF TIME, THE DESK WAS A MARKETING GROUP COMPRISED OF 4
TO 9 MEMBERS THAT FOCUSED ON SELLING DERIVATIVE PRODUCTS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE ISSUANCE OF MUNICIPAL DEBT.  THE DESK
GENERATED BUSINESS THROUGH, AMONG OTHER THINGS, CLIENT
RELATIONSHIPS IN COMMERCIAL LENDING AND SECURITIES
UNDERWRITING PERFORMED BY RESPONDENT.  THE DESK ALSO
GENERATED BUSINESS THROUGH INDEPENDENT ADVISORS, BIDDING
AGENTS, AND BROKERS.  DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD OF TIME, THE
DESK WAS BASED IN CHARLOTTE, NORTH CAROLINA, WITH ONE MEMBER
IN NEW YORK, NEW YORK FOR A PORTION OF THAT TIME.  DURING THE
RELEVANT TIME PERIOD, MEMBERS OF THE DESK WERE DUAL OFFICERS
OF BOTH RESPONDENT AND AN AFFILIATED FEDERALLY-CHARTERED
BANK.

AS PART OF THE CONDUCT, BIDDING AGENTS AT TIMES STEERED
BUSINESS TO THE DESK THROUGH LAST LOOKS AND SET-UPS.  AS A
RESULT, THE DESK WON THE BIDS FOR 88 AFFECTED REINVESTMENT
INSTRUMENTS.

IN RETURN, THE DESK, AMONG OTHER THINGS, AT TIMES STEERED
BUSINESS TO BIDDING AGENTS AND SUBMITTED COURTESY AND
PURPOSEFULLY NON-WINNING BIDS UPON REQUEST.

ON OCCASION, MEMBERS OF THE DESK ALSO PAID BIDDING AGENTS THAT
FAVORED THE DESK MONIES IN ADDITION TO THE FEES DISCLOSED AS
BROKERAGE FEES.  THESE ADDITIONAL MONIES WERE SOMETIMES
MISCHARACTERIZED AS PAYMENTS FOR SERVICES RENDERED IN
CONNECTION WITH SWAPS AND MARKETING PRICING LETTERS.  ON
OTHER OCCASIONS, THE DESK MADE UNDISCLOSED, GRATUITOUS
PAYMENTS TO THE BIDDING AGENTS BY IDENTIFYING THEM ON THE
TRADE TICKETS AS THE BROKERS ON TRANSACTIONS THAT DID NOT
UTILIZE BROKERS.

THE DESK MISSTATED IN ITS BID SUBMISSIONS AND/OR PROVIDER'S
CERTIFICATES THAT, AMONG OTHER THINGS: ITS BIDS WERE ARMS-
LENGTH BIDS; THE DESK DID NOT CONSULT WITH ANY OTHER POTENTIAL
PROVIDER ABOUT ITS BIDS; ITS BIDS WERE DETERMINED WITHOUT
REGARD TO ANY OTHER FORMAL OR INFORMAL AGREEMENT THAT THE
DESK HAD WITH THE ISSUER OR ANY OTHER PERSON (WHETHER OR NOT
IN CONNECTION WITH THE BOND ISSUE); AND THAT ITS BIDS WERE NOT
SUBMITTED SOLELY AS A COURTESY TO THE ISSUER OR ANY OTHER
PERSON FOR PURPOSES OF SATISFYING THE REQUIREMENTS THAT (A)
THE ISSUER RECEIVE AT LEAST THREE BIDS FROM PROVIDERS THAT THE
ISSUER SOLICITED UNDER A BONA FIDE SOLICITATION AND (B) AT LEAST
ONE OF THE THREE BIDS RECEIVED WAS FROM A REASONABLY
COMPETITIVE PROVIDER.

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT RESPONDENT, USING THE MAILS OR ANY
MEANS OR INSTRUMENTALITY OF INTERSTATE COMMERCE, ENGAGED IN
IMPROPER BIDDING PRACTICES THAT IT KNOWS OR HAD REASONABLE
GROUNDS TO BELIEVE IS MISLEADING.  AS A RESULT OF SUCH CONDUCT,
RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 15(C)(1)(A).
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/07/2010

Docket/Case Number: 3-14153

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s): REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS; FORWARD PURCHASE AGREEMENTS

SEC ADMIN RELEASE 34-63451, DECEMBER 7, 2010: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)
AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 ("EXCHANGE ACT")
AGAINST BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC, NOW KNOWN AS MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, SUCCESSOR BY
MERGER ("RESPONDENT").

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT THE MATTER INVOLVES RESPONDENT'S
ROLE IN CERTAIN IMPROPER BIDDING PRACTICES THAT OCCURRED,
FROM AT LEAST 1998 THROUGH 2002 ("RELEVANT TIME PERIOD"),
INVOLVING THE TEMPORARY INVESTMENT OF PROCEEDS OF TAX-EXEMPT
MUNICIPAL SECURITIES IN REINVESTMENT PRODUCTS, SUCH AS
GUARANTEED INVESTMENT CONTRACTS ("GICS"), REPURCHASE
AGREEMENTS ("REPOS"), AND FORWARD PURCHASE AGREEMENTS
("FPAS").  THESE PRACTICES AFFECTED THE PRICES OF THE
REINVESTMENT PRODUCTS AND JEOPARDIZED THE TAX-EXEMPT STATUS
OF THE UNDERLYING MUNICIPAL SECURITIES.

FROM THE INCEPTION OF THE MUNICIPAL REINVESTMENT AND RISK
MANAGEMENT GROUP ("DESK") IN 1998 THROUGH AT LEAST 2002, MANY
OF ITS MEMBERS, INCLUDING TWO HEADS OF THE DESK, PARTICIPATED
IN AND CONDONED IMPROPER PRACTICES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
BIDDING OF REINVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS.  DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD OF TIME, THE DESK WAS A MARKETING GROUP COMPRISED OF 4
TO 9 MEMBERS THAT FOCUSED ON SELLING DERIVATIVE PRODUCTS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE ISSUANCE OF MUNICIPAL DEBT.  THE DESK
GENERATED BUSINESS THROUGH, AMONG OTHER THINGS, CLIENT
RELATIONSHIPS IN COMMERCIAL LENDING AND SECURITIES
UNDERWRITING PERFORMED BY RESPONDENT.  THE DESK ALSO
GENERATED BUSINESS THROUGH INDEPENDENT ADVISORS, BIDDING
AGENTS, AND BROKERS.  DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD OF TIME, THE
DESK WAS BASED IN CHARLOTTE, NORTH CAROLINA, WITH ONE MEMBER
IN NEW YORK, NEW YORK FOR A PORTION OF THAT TIME.  DURING THE
RELEVANT TIME PERIOD, MEMBERS OF THE DESK WERE DUAL OFFICERS
OF BOTH RESPONDENT AND AN AFFILIATED FEDERALLY-CHARTERED
BANK.

AS PART OF THE CONDUCT, BIDDING AGENTS AT TIMES STEERED
BUSINESS TO THE DESK THROUGH LAST LOOKS AND SET-UPS.  AS A
RESULT, THE DESK WON THE BIDS FOR 88 AFFECTED REINVESTMENT
INSTRUMENTS.

IN RETURN, THE DESK, AMONG OTHER THINGS, AT TIMES STEERED
BUSINESS TO BIDDING AGENTS AND SUBMITTED COURTESY AND
PURPOSEFULLY NON-WINNING BIDS UPON REQUEST.

ON OCCASION, MEMBERS OF THE DESK ALSO PAID BIDDING AGENTS THAT
FAVORED THE DESK MONIES IN ADDITION TO THE FEES DISCLOSED AS
BROKERAGE FEES.  THESE ADDITIONAL MONIES WERE SOMETIMES
MISCHARACTERIZED AS PAYMENTS FOR SERVICES RENDERED IN
CONNECTION WITH SWAPS AND MARKETING PRICING LETTERS.  ON
OTHER OCCASIONS, THE DESK MADE UNDISCLOSED, GRATUITOUS
PAYMENTS TO THE BIDDING AGENTS BY IDENTIFYING THEM ON THE
TRADE TICKETS AS THE BROKERS ON TRANSACTIONS THAT DID NOT
UTILIZE BROKERS.

THE DESK MISSTATED IN ITS BID SUBMISSIONS AND/OR PROVIDER'S
CERTIFICATES THAT, AMONG OTHER THINGS: ITS BIDS WERE ARMS-
LENGTH BIDS; THE DESK DID NOT CONSULT WITH ANY OTHER POTENTIAL
PROVIDER ABOUT ITS BIDS; ITS BIDS WERE DETERMINED WITHOUT
REGARD TO ANY OTHER FORMAL OR INFORMAL AGREEMENT THAT THE
DESK HAD WITH THE ISSUER OR ANY OTHER PERSON (WHETHER OR NOT
IN CONNECTION WITH THE BOND ISSUE); AND THAT ITS BIDS WERE NOT
SUBMITTED SOLELY AS A COURTESY TO THE ISSUER OR ANY OTHER
PERSON FOR PURPOSES OF SATISFYING THE REQUIREMENTS THAT (A)
THE ISSUER RECEIVE AT LEAST THREE BIDS FROM PROVIDERS THAT THE
ISSUER SOLICITED UNDER A BONA FIDE SOLICITATION AND (B) AT LEAST
ONE OF THE THREE BIDS RECEIVED WAS FROM A REASONABLY
COMPETITIVE PROVIDER.

THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT RESPONDENT, USING THE MAILS OR ANY
MEANS OR INSTRUMENTALITY OF INTERSTATE COMMERCE, ENGAGED IN
IMPROPER BIDDING PRACTICES THAT IT KNOWS OR HAD REASONABLE
GROUNDS TO BELIEVE IS MISLEADING.  AS A RESULT OF SUCH CONDUCT,
RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 15(C)(1)(A).

Resolution Date: 12/07/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER"), WHICH
THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.  SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-
AND-DESIST ORDER ("ORDER").

THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST
TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN RESPONDENT'S OFFER.

PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, THE
COMMISSION ORDERED THAT:

A. RESPONDENT IS CENSURED;

B. RESPONDENT SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION
15(C)(1)(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT; AND

C. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER,
PAY DISGORGEMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $24,926,375.00 PLUS
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST THEREON IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,170,067.00,
FOR A TOTAL OF $36,096,442.00, TO THE PAYEE(S) OR THEIR
SUCCESSORS-IN-INTEREST OR ASSIGNS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER"), WHICH
THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT.  SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH ARE ADMITTED,
RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER INSTITUTING
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS, PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-
AND-DESIST ORDER ("ORDER").

THE COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST
TO IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS AGREED TO IN RESPONDENT'S OFFER.

PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, THE
COMMISSION ORDERED THAT:

A. RESPONDENT IS CENSURED;

B. RESPONDENT SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR
CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION
15(C)(1)(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT; AND

C. RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER,
PAY DISGORGEMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $24,926,375.00 PLUS
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST THEREON IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,170,067.00,
FOR A TOTAL OF $36,096,442.00, TO THE PAYEE(S) OR THEIR
SUCCESSORS-IN-INTEREST OR ASSIGNS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 12/07/2010

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 3-14153

Principal Product Type: Derivative(s)

Allegations: BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC (WHICH WAS MERGED WITH AND INTO
THE APPLICANT ON 11/01/2010) VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(1)(A) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 WHEN CERTAIN EMPLOYEES
PARTICIPATED IN IMPROPER BIDDING PRACTICES INVOLVING THE
TEMPORARY INVESTMENT OF PROCEEDS OF TAX-EXEMPT MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES IN REINVESTMENT PRODUCTS DURING THE PERIOD 1998-
2002.

Current Status: Final

622©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; DISGORGEMENT

Principal Product Type: Derivative(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/07/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF DISGORGEMENT (INCLUDING INTEREST) WAS
$36,096,442.00.

Firm Statement ON DECEMBER 7, 2010, THE SEC ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-
AND-DESIST ORDER (THE "ORDER") FINDING THAT BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC ("BAS") (WHICH WAS MERGED WITH AND INTO THE
APPLICANT ON 11/01/2010) WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 15(C)(1)(A) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 WHEN CERTAIN EMPLOYEES
PARTICIPATED IN IMPROPER BIDDING PRACTICES INVOLVING THE
TEMPORARY INVESTMENT OF PROCEEDS OF TAX-EXEMPT MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES IN REINVESTMENT PRODUCTS DURING THE PERIOD 1998-
2002.  THE ORDER CENSURED BAS, ORDERED BAS TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING SUCH VIOLATIONS AND FUTURE
VIOLATIONS, AND ORDERED BAS TO PAY DISGORGEMENT PLUS
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST IN THE AMOUNT OF $36,096,442.00.  BAS
CONSENTED TO THE ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
SEC'S FINDINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 223 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: MSRB RULE G-27 - DURING THE PERIOD IN QUESTION, MERRILL LYNCH
SOLD OVER $3 BILLION IN 529 PLANS. THE FIRM REQUIRED REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES TO CONSIDER POTENTIAL STATE TAX BENEFITS
OFFERED BY A STATE IN WHICH A CLIENT RESIDES AS A FACTOR BEFORE
RECOMMENDING AN OUT-OF-STATE 529 PLAN BUT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN SPECIFIC PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH INDUSTRY SUITABILITY
STANDARDS RELATED TO THE SALE OF 529 PLANS. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES DID NOT ADEQUATELY ENSURE THAT ITS
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE CONSIDERING STATE INCOME TAX
BENEFITS DURING THEIR 529 SUITABILITY ANALYSES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REQUIRING SUPERVISORS TO PERFORM AND DOCUMENT REVIEWS TO
DETERMINE IF REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE COMPLYING WITH
SUITABILITY REQUIREMENTS BEFORE RECOMMENDING A 529 PLAN
PURCHASE. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE EFFECTIVE PROCEDURES RELATING
TO DOCUMENTING ITS SUITABILITY DETERMINATIONS IN CONNECTION
WITH THE SALE OF 529 PLANS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/23/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2009018907001

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): 529 PLANS (MUNICIPAL SECURITIES)

MSRB RULE G-27 - DURING THE PERIOD IN QUESTION, MERRILL LYNCH
SOLD OVER $3 BILLION IN 529 PLANS. THE FIRM REQUIRED REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES TO CONSIDER POTENTIAL STATE TAX BENEFITS
OFFERED BY A STATE IN WHICH A CLIENT RESIDES AS A FACTOR BEFORE
RECOMMENDING AN OUT-OF-STATE 529 PLAN BUT THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN SPECIFIC PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH INDUSTRY SUITABILITY
STANDARDS RELATED TO THE SALE OF 529 PLANS. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES DID NOT ADEQUATELY ENSURE THAT ITS
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE CONSIDERING STATE INCOME TAX
BENEFITS DURING THEIR 529 SUITABILITY ANALYSES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REQUIRING SUPERVISORS TO PERFORM AND DOCUMENT REVIEWS TO
DETERMINE IF REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE COMPLYING WITH
SUITABILITY REQUIREMENTS BEFORE RECOMMENDING A 529 PLAN
PURCHASE. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE EFFECTIVE PROCEDURES RELATING
TO DOCUMENTING ITS SUITABILITY DETERMINATIONS IN CONNECTION
WITH THE SALE OF 529 PLANS.

Resolution Date: 11/23/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND REQUIRED
WITHIN 60 DAYS OF EXECUTION OF THIS AWC TO DISTRIBUTE A STAND-
ALONE LETTER ACCEPTABLE TO FINRA TO EACH CURRENT CUSTOMER
WHO RESIDED IN A STATE THAT OFFERED 529-RELATED STATE TAX
BENEFITS AT THE TIME THE CUSTOMER OPENED AN ADVISOR-SOLD
SPECIFIC 529 PLAN ACCOUNT AT THE FIRM FROM JUNE 2002 THROUGH
FEBRUARY 2007; THE LETTER WILL INSTRUCT THE CUSTOMERS TO CALL A
DESIGNATED FIRM PHONE NUMBER WITH INQUIRIES, CONCERNS OR
COMPLAINTS REGARDING THEIR 529 INVESTMENT. THE DESIGNATED
NUMBER WILL BE AVAILABLE FOR 120 DAYS AFTER WHICH THE NUMBER
WILL CONTAIN A RECORDED MESSAGE TO CONTACT THE FIRM'S COLLEGE
PLAN SERVICES AREA. IF REQUESTED WITHIN 180 DAYS OF MAILING OF
THE 529 LETTER, THE FIRM WILL ASSIST IN TRANSFERRING OR ROLLING-
OVER ANY CUSTOMER'S INVESTMENT IN THE SPECIFIC PLAN INTO A 529
PLAN OF THE CUSTOMER'S CHOICE WITHIN HIS/HER HOME STATE,
REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE FIRM CURRENTLY OFFERS SUCH 529
PLAN, WITH THE FIRM WAIVING ANY AND ALL CLIENT FEES, COSTS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE, TRANSFER, OR ROLL-OVER OF THE
SPECIFIC PLAN; AND/OR ANY AND ALL CLIENT FEES,COSTS DUE TO THE
FIRM IN CONNECTION WITH THE INITIAL PURCHASE OF A 529 PLAN WITHIN
THE CUSTOMER'S HOME STATE USING THE PROCEEDS OF THE SPECIFIC
PLAN. THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE FINRA SEMI-ANNUALLY OR UPON FINRA
REQUEST, UNTIL DECEMBER 31, 2011, A REPORT DESCRIBING EACH
ORAL/WRITTEN INQUIRY, CONCERN OR COMPLAINT RECEIVED THROUGH
THE DESIGNATED NUMBER OR ANY WRITTEN COMPLAINT OTHERWISE
RECEIVED BY THE FIRM CONCERNING THE SPECIFIC PLAN FROM THE 529
LETTER RECIPIENTS, ALONG WITH A DESCRIPTION OF HOW THE FIRM
ADDRESSED OR RESOLVED THE INQUIRIES, CONCERNS OR COMPLAINTS
OF EACH SUCH CUSTOMER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND REQUIRED
WITHIN 60 DAYS OF EXECUTION OF THIS AWC TO DISTRIBUTE A STAND-
ALONE LETTER ACCEPTABLE TO FINRA TO EACH CURRENT CUSTOMER
WHO RESIDED IN A STATE THAT OFFERED 529-RELATED STATE TAX
BENEFITS AT THE TIME THE CUSTOMER OPENED AN ADVISOR-SOLD
SPECIFIC 529 PLAN ACCOUNT AT THE FIRM FROM JUNE 2002 THROUGH
FEBRUARY 2007; THE LETTER WILL INSTRUCT THE CUSTOMERS TO CALL A
DESIGNATED FIRM PHONE NUMBER WITH INQUIRIES, CONCERNS OR
COMPLAINTS REGARDING THEIR 529 INVESTMENT. THE DESIGNATED
NUMBER WILL BE AVAILABLE FOR 120 DAYS AFTER WHICH THE NUMBER
WILL CONTAIN A RECORDED MESSAGE TO CONTACT THE FIRM'S COLLEGE
PLAN SERVICES AREA. IF REQUESTED WITHIN 180 DAYS OF MAILING OF
THE 529 LETTER, THE FIRM WILL ASSIST IN TRANSFERRING OR ROLLING-
OVER ANY CUSTOMER'S INVESTMENT IN THE SPECIFIC PLAN INTO A 529
PLAN OF THE CUSTOMER'S CHOICE WITHIN HIS/HER HOME STATE,
REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE FIRM CURRENTLY OFFERS SUCH 529
PLAN, WITH THE FIRM WAIVING ANY AND ALL CLIENT FEES, COSTS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE, TRANSFER, OR ROLL-OVER OF THE
SPECIFIC PLAN; AND/OR ANY AND ALL CLIENT FEES,COSTS DUE TO THE
FIRM IN CONNECTION WITH THE INITIAL PURCHASE OF A 529 PLAN WITHIN
THE CUSTOMER'S HOME STATE USING THE PROCEEDS OF THE SPECIFIC
PLAN. THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE FINRA SEMI-ANNUALLY OR UPON FINRA
REQUEST, UNTIL DECEMBER 31, 2011, A REPORT DESCRIBING EACH
ORAL/WRITTEN INQUIRY, CONCERN OR COMPLAINT RECEIVED THROUGH
THE DESIGNATED NUMBER OR ANY WRITTEN COMPLAINT OTHERWISE
RECEIVED BY THE FIRM CONCERNING THE SPECIFIC PLAN FROM THE 529
LETTER RECIPIENTS, ALONG WITH A DESCRIPTION OF HOW THE FIRM
ADDRESSED OR RESOLVED THE INQUIRIES, CONCERNS OR COMPLAINTS
OF EACH SUCH CUSTOMER.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 11/23/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2009018907001

Allegations: MSRB RULE G-27 - DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY 2002 TO FEBRUARY
2007, THE FIRM REQUIRED REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES TO
CONSIDER POTENTIAL STATE TAX BENEFITS OFFERED BY A STATE IN
WHICH A CLIENT RESIDES AS A FACTOR WHEN RECOMMENDING A CLIENT
INVEST IN A 529 PLAN.  BUT THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES DID NOT REQUIRE SUPERVISORS TO DOCUMENT REVIEWS
TO DETERMINE IF REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES HAD IN FACT
CONSIDERED POTENTIAL STATE TAX BENEFITS WHEN RECOMMENDING A
CLIENT INVEST IN A 529 PLAN.  AS A RESULT, THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE
EFFECTIVE PROCEDURES RELATING TO DOCUMENTING ITS SUITABILITY
DETERMINATIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF 529 PLANS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: 2009018907001

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): 529 PLANS (MUNICIPAL SECURITIES)

Resolution Date: 11/23/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND REQUIRED
WITHIN 60 DAYS OF EXECUTION OF THIS AWC TO DISTRIBUTE A STAND-
ALONE LETTER ACCEPTABLE TO FINRA TO EACH CURRENT CUSTOMER
WHO RESIDED IN A STATE THAT OFFERED 529-RELATED STATE TAX
BENEFITS AT THE TIME THE CUSTOMER OPENED AN ADVISOR-SOLD
SPECIFIC 529 PLAN ACCOUNT AT THE FIRM FROM JUNE 2002 THROUGH
FEBRUARY 2007; THE LETTER WILL INSTRUCT THE CUSTOMERS TO CALL A
DESIGNATED FIRM PHONE NUMBER WITH INQUIRIES, CONCERNS OR
COMPLAINTS REGARDING THEIR 529 INVESTMENT. THE DESIGNATED
NUMBER WILL BE AVAILABLE FOR 120 DAYS AFTER WHICH THE NUMBER
WILL CONTAIN A RECORDED MESSAGE TO CONTACT THE FIRM'S COLLEGE
PLAN SERVICES AREA. IF REQUESTED WITHIN 180 DAYS OF MAILING OF
THE 529 LETTER, THE FIRM WILL ASSIST IN TRANSFERRING OR ROLLING-
OVER ANY CUSTOMER'S INVESTMENT IN THE SPECIFIC PLAN INTO A 529
PLAN OF THE CUSTOMER'S CHOICE WITHIN HIS/HER HOME STATE,
REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE FIRM CURRENTLY OFFERS SUCH 529
PLAN, WITH THE FIRM WAIVING ANY AND ALL CLIENT FEES, COSTS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE, TRANSFER, OR ROLL-OVER OF THE
SPECIFIC PLAN; AND/OR ANY AND ALL CLIENT FEES,COSTS DUE TO THE
FIRM IN CONNECTION WITH THE INITIAL PURCHASE OF A 529 PLAN WITHIN
THE CUSTOMER'S HOME STATE USING THE PROCEEDS OF THE SPECIFIC
PLAN. THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE FINRA SEMI-ANNUALLY OR UPON FINRA
REQUEST, UNTIL DECEMBER 31, 2011, A REPORT DESCRIBING EACH
ORAL/WRITTEN INQUIRY, CONCERN OR COMPLAINT RECEIVED THROUGH
THE DESIGNATED NUMBER OR ANY WRITTEN COMPLAINT OTHERWISE
RECEIVED BY THE FIRM CONCERNING THE SPECIFIC PLAN FROM THE 529
LETTER RECIPIENTS, ALONG WITH A DESCRIPTION OF HOW THE FIRM
ADDRESSED OR RESOLVED THE INQUIRIES, CONCERNS OR COMPLAINTS
OF EACH SUCH CUSTOMER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND REQUIRED
WITHIN 60 DAYS OF EXECUTION OF THIS AWC TO DISTRIBUTE A STAND-
ALONE LETTER ACCEPTABLE TO FINRA TO EACH CURRENT CUSTOMER
WHO RESIDED IN A STATE THAT OFFERED 529-RELATED STATE TAX
BENEFITS AT THE TIME THE CUSTOMER OPENED AN ADVISOR-SOLD
SPECIFIC 529 PLAN ACCOUNT AT THE FIRM FROM JUNE 2002 THROUGH
FEBRUARY 2007; THE LETTER WILL INSTRUCT THE CUSTOMERS TO CALL A
DESIGNATED FIRM PHONE NUMBER WITH INQUIRIES, CONCERNS OR
COMPLAINTS REGARDING THEIR 529 INVESTMENT. THE DESIGNATED
NUMBER WILL BE AVAILABLE FOR 120 DAYS AFTER WHICH THE NUMBER
WILL CONTAIN A RECORDED MESSAGE TO CONTACT THE FIRM'S COLLEGE
PLAN SERVICES AREA. IF REQUESTED WITHIN 180 DAYS OF MAILING OF
THE 529 LETTER, THE FIRM WILL ASSIST IN TRANSFERRING OR ROLLING-
OVER ANY CUSTOMER'S INVESTMENT IN THE SPECIFIC PLAN INTO A 529
PLAN OF THE CUSTOMER'S CHOICE WITHIN HIS/HER HOME STATE,
REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE FIRM CURRENTLY OFFERS SUCH 529
PLAN, WITH THE FIRM WAIVING ANY AND ALL CLIENT FEES, COSTS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE, TRANSFER, OR ROLL-OVER OF THE
SPECIFIC PLAN; AND/OR ANY AND ALL CLIENT FEES,COSTS DUE TO THE
FIRM IN CONNECTION WITH THE INITIAL PURCHASE OF A 529 PLAN WITHIN
THE CUSTOMER'S HOME STATE USING THE PROCEEDS OF THE SPECIFIC
PLAN. THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE FINRA SEMI-ANNUALLY OR UPON FINRA
REQUEST, UNTIL DECEMBER 31, 2011, A REPORT DESCRIBING EACH
ORAL/WRITTEN INQUIRY, CONCERN OR COMPLAINT RECEIVED THROUGH
THE DESIGNATED NUMBER OR ANY WRITTEN COMPLAINT OTHERWISE
RECEIVED BY THE FIRM CONCERNING THE SPECIFIC PLAN FROM THE 529
LETTER RECIPIENTS, ALONG WITH A DESCRIPTION OF HOW THE FIRM
ADDRESSED OR RESOLVED THE INQUIRIES, CONCERNS OR COMPLAINTS
OF EACH SUCH CUSTOMER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND AGREED TO
COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKING DESCRIBED IN 12.C. ABOVE.

Disclosure 224 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF ALASKA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, COMMUNITY, AND
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIVISION OF BANKING AND SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 11/05/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 10-12-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF ALASKA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, COMMUNITY, AND
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIVISION OF BAKING AND SECURITIES
(DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND
SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER
CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) VIOLATED AS 45.55.060(A)(7) AND AS 45.55.060(B)(1).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/05/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DIVISION, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT,
AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK
ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
DIVISION A CIVIL PENALTY OF $252,316.10, AS PART OFF A $125,000,000.00
PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL
UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $252,316.10
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DIVISION, IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT,
AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK
ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
DIVISION A CIVIL PENALTY OF $252,316.10, AS PART OFF A $125,000,000.00
PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL
UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 225 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Date Initiated: 11/12/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2008014451001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Allegations: CHAPTER III, SECTION 10 OF THE NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET RULES,
NASDAQ RULES 2110, 3010(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH, INC. FAILED TO REPORT POSITIONS TO THE LARGE OPTION
POSITION REPORT (LOPR) AND FAILED TO ACCURATELY REPORT THE
EFFECTIVE DATE FOR AN OPTIONS POSITION TO LOPR. THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS, REGULATIONS AND NASDAQ RULES CONCERNING
LOPR REPORTING.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 11/12/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Date Initiated: 11/12/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2008014451001

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CHAPTER III, SECTION 10 OF THE NASDAQ OPTIONS MARKET RULES,
NASDAQ RULES 2110, 3010(A) -MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INC. FAILED TO REPORT POSITIONS TO THE LARGE OPTION POSITION
REPORT (LOPR) AND FAILED TO ACCURATELY REPORT THE EFFECTIVE
DATE FOR AN OPTIONS POSITION TO LOPR. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS,
REGULATIONS AND NASDAQ RULES CONCERNING LOPR REPORTING.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 11/12/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NONE

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 226 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MARYLAND SECURITIES COMMISSIONER ("COMMISSIONER")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 10/18/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2009-0227

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL
AFFILIATE INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF
THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY
ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH
THIS CONDUCT, APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE ENGAGED IN
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE THEIR AGENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 10/18/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT
AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF
THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $1,031,485.59 TO
THE STATE OF MARYLAND REPRESENTING MARYLAND'S PORTION OF A
TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG
THE STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR
ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS
AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF
TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE
RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN
ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO
SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,031,485.59
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS
AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF
TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE
RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN
ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO
SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Disclosure 227 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ARKANSAS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 05/07/2009

Docket/Case Number: S-09-002-10-CO01

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Variable

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO DETECT AND PREVENT VIOLATIONS
COMMITTED BY ITS EMPLOYEE WHO WAS REGISTERED AS AN AGENT AND
INVESTMENT ADVISER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/01/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH WAS FINED $15,000.00 FOR FAILURE TO DETECT AND
PREVENT VIOLATIONS COMMITTED BY ITS EMPLOYEE WHO WAS
REGISTERED AS AN AGENT AND INVESTMENT ADVISER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: ARKANSAS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 05/07/2009

Docket/Case Number: S-09-002-10-CO01

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Variable

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE ARKANSAS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT ("ASD") ALLEGED THAT A
FORMER EMPLOYEE OF THE APPLICANT: (1) ADVISED A PENSION FUND
CLIENT TO SELL CERTAIN SECURITIES IN ORDER TO PURCHASE A
VARIABLE ANNUITY, WHICH RESULTED IN A LIQUIDITY ISSUE FOR THE
CLIENT, AND (2) REPRESENTED TO CERTAIN CLIENTS THAT HE WOULD
ASSUME DUTIES THAT TRADITIONALLY DO NOT FALL WITHIN THE
ACTIVITIES OF A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE OF AN INVESTMENT
ADVISOR.  AS A RESULT OF THE PRECEDING ACTIONS BY THE
APPLICANT'S EMPLOYEE, THE ASD ALLEGED THAT THE APPLICANT FAILED
TO OBSERVE HIGH STANDARDS OF COMMERCIAL HONOR AND JUST AND
EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE.

Resolution Date: 04/01/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE APPLICANT
ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE ASD WHICH ORDERED THE
APPLICANT TO PAY A FINE OF $15,000 TO THE ASD.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE APPLICANT
ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE ASD WHICH ORDERED THE
APPLICANT TO PAY A FINE OF $15,000 TO THE ASD.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 228 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULE 2110, NYSE RULES 351(A), 351(D) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED INACCURATELY FILED A NEW YORK
STOCK EXCHANGE (NYSE) REPORT ON A CUSTOMER'S COMPLAINT. THE
FIRM REPORTED THE COMPLAINT AS PART OF ITS 351(D) QUARTERLY
REPORT BUT REPORTED THE COMPLAINT AS FIRM-RELATED INSTEAD OF
AS A SALES PRACTICE MATTER, WHICH THE FIRM WAS AWARE OF, AND AS
A RESULT, IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO IDENTIFY THE BROKER OR HIS
ASSISTANT OR NOTE THE AMOUNT IN THE DISPUTE. THE FIRM FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT THE COMPLAINT ON THE BROKER'S FORM U5 EVEN
THOUGH IT WAS AWARE THAT THE COMPLAINT INVOLVED THE BROKER
AND POSSIBLE SALES PRACTICE VIOLATIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
TIMELY FILE AN NYSE FORM
RE-3 REPORTING THE SETTLEMENT OF THE CUSTOMER'S COMPLAINT
FOR $5,875,000.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/28/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2008015403102

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULE 2110, NYSE RULES 351(A), 351(D) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED INACCURATELY FILED A NEW YORK
STOCK EXCHANGE (NYSE) REPORT ON A CUSTOMER'S COMPLAINT. THE
FIRM REPORTED THE COMPLAINT AS PART OF ITS 351(D) QUARTERLY
REPORT BUT REPORTED THE COMPLAINT AS FIRM-RELATED INSTEAD OF
AS A SALES PRACTICE MATTER, WHICH THE FIRM WAS AWARE OF, AND AS
A RESULT, IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO IDENTIFY THE BROKER OR HIS
ASSISTANT OR NOTE THE AMOUNT IN THE DISPUTE. THE FIRM FAILED TO
TIMELY REPORT THE COMPLAINT ON THE BROKER'S FORM U5 EVEN
THOUGH IT WAS AWARE THAT THE COMPLAINT INVOLVED THE BROKER
AND POSSIBLE SALES PRACTICE VIOLATIONS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
TIMELY FILE AN NYSE FORM
RE-3 REPORTING THE SETTLEMENT OF THE CUSTOMER'S COMPLAINT
FOR $5,875,000.

Resolution Date: 10/28/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $75,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $75,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source:
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY (FINRA)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 10/28/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2008015403102

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULE 2110, NYSE RULES 351(A), 351(D) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED FILED A NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE
(NYSE) 351(D) REPORT WHICH INCORRECTLY CATEGORIZED A CERTAIN
CUSTOMER'S COMPLAINT AS FIRM-RELATED INSTEAD OF BEING SALES
PRACTICE RELATED, AND AS A RESULT, IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO
IDENTIFY THE BROKER OR HIS ASSISTANT.  THE FIRM FAILED TO TIMELY
REPORT THE COMPLAINT ON THE BROKER'S FORM U5.  THE FIRM FAILED
TO TIMELY FILE AN NYSE FORM RE-3 REPORTING THE SETTLEMENT OF
THE CUSTOMER'S COMPLAINT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/28/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NONE

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $75,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $75,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $75,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 229 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE DIVISION'S ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER")
ADDRESSES CERTAIN ACTIVITIES OF THE APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL
AFFILIATE RELATING TO THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES ("ARS").

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: DIVISION OF BANKING AND INSURANCE OF THE UNITED STATES VIRGIN
ISLANDS ("DIVISION")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/14/2010

Docket/Case Number: 11-10

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DIVISION'S ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER")
ADDRESSES CERTAIN ACTIVITIES OF THE APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL
AFFILIATE RELATING TO THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES ("ARS").

Resolution Date: 09/14/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A MONETARY PENALTY OF $100,000 TO THE UNITED
STATES VIRGIN ISLANDS REPRESENTING THE UNITED STATES VIRGIN
ISLANDS' PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL
BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER
INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO
ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW CONTAINED IN THE ORDER, THE FIRMS
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER BY THE DIVISION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 230 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY BUREAU OF SECURITIES (BUREAU) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEW JERSEY BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN NEW
JERSEY, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ESTABLISH A REASONABLY
DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND/OR FAILURE TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE REASONABLY DESIGNED PROCEDURES IN
VIOLATION OF N.J.S.A. 49:3-58(A)(2)(XI), FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED
A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN PROCEDURES, SOLD SECURITIES
THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF N.J.S.A. 49:3-56(A).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF NEW JERSEY BUREAU OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING; WARNING

Date Initiated: 08/10/2010

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY BUREAU OF SECURITIES (BUREAU) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEW JERSEY BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN NEW
JERSEY, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ESTABLISH A REASONABLY
DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND/OR FAILURE TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE REASONABLY DESIGNED PROCEDURES IN
VIOLATION OF N.J.S.A. 49:3-58(A)(2)(XI), FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED
A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN PROCEDURES, SOLD SECURITIES
THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF N.J.S.A. 49:3-56(A).

Resolution Date: 08/10/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS. WARNING.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE BUREAU IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A WARNING, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEW JERSEY THROUGH
UNLICENSED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE BUREAU $728,260.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL
PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
SATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE BUREAU DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE BUREAU OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $728,260.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Disclosure 231 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 2210, 3010: MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH ITS OBLIGATIONS TO APPLY SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS TO ALL ELIGIBLE UNIT INVESTMENT TRUST (UIT) PURCHASES.
THE FIRM RELIED ON ITS BROKERS TO ENSURE THAT CUSTOMERS
RECEIVED APPROPRIATE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS, DESPITE THE
FACT THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO APPROPRIATELY INFORM AND TRAIN
BROKERS AND THEIR SUPERVISORS ABOUT SUCH DISCOUNTS. THE
FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES HAD LITTLE OR NO
INFORMATION OR GUIDANCE REGARDING UIT SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS. ONCE THE FIRM ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES ADDRESSING
UIT SALES CHARGES DISCOUNTS, THEY WERE INACCURATE AND
CONFLICTING. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
INCORRECTLY STATED THAT A DISCOUNT WOULD NOT APPLY WHEN A
CLIENT LIQUIDATES AN EXISTING UIT POSITION AND USES THE PROCEEDS
TO PURCHASE A DIFFERENT UIT. THIS IS PARTICULARLY RELEVANT
BECAUSE THE FIRM'S UIT BUSINESS WAS ALMOST EXCLUSIVELY WITH UIT
SPONSORS THAT PROVIDED SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS FOR
PURCHASES USING PROCEEDS FROM ANOTHER UIT SPONSOR. THE
FIRM'S PROCEDURES LACKED SUBSTANTIVE GUIDELINES,
INSTRUCTIONS, POLICIES, OR STEPS FOR BROKERS OR THEIR
SUPERVISORS TO FOLLOW TO DETERMINE IF A CUSTOMER'S UIT
PURCHASE QUALIFIED FOR AND RECEIVED A SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT.
THIS FAILURE WAS PARTICULARLY PROBLEMATIC BECAUSE THE BROKER
AND FIRM COMPENSATION DIMINISHED WHEN THE CUSTOMER RECEIVED
A SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT, CREATING A FINANCIAL DISINCENTIVE TO
THE BROKER TO ENSURE THAT THE APPROPRIATE DISCOUNTS WERE
PROVIDED TO THE CUSTOMER. BECAUSE OF THIS CONFLICT OF
INTEREST, THE FIRM NEEDED TO BE PARTICULARLY DILIGENT IN
PROVIDING GUIDANCE TO BROKERS AND SUPERVISORS ON UIT SALES
CHARGE DISCOUNTS. AS A RESULT OF THE DEFECTIVE PROCEDURES,
THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS WITH APPROPRIATE
DISCOUNTS ON BOTH UIT ROLLOVER AND BREAKPOINT PURCHASES. THE
FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND APPROPRIATELY APPLY SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS IN TRANSACTIONS REVIEWED IN A SAMPLE OF CUSTOMER
PURCHASES IN CERTAIN TOP SELLING UITS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM
OVERCHARGED CUSTOMERS IN THIS SAMPLE APPROXIMATELY $123,000.
FOLLOWING FINRA'S PUBLICATION OF A SETTLEMENT WITH ANOTHER
FIRM CONCERNING UIT TRANSACTIONS AND INDEPENDENT OF FINRA'S
PENDING INQUIRY, THE FIRM ANALYZED ITS APPLICATION OF SALES
CHARGE DISCOUNTS TO UIT TRANSACTIONS. AS A RESULT OF THE
REVIEW, THE FIRM IDENTIFIED CUSTOMERS THAT WERE OVERCHARGED
WHEN PURCHASING UITS THROUGH THE FIRM AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH BELOW, WILL REMEDIATE THOSE
CUSTOMERS MORE THAN $2 MILLION IN OVERCHARGES. THE FIRM
APPROVED FOR DISTRIBUTION INACCURATE AND MISLEADING UIT SALES
LITERATURE AND PROVIDED THIS UIT PRESENTATION FOR BROKERS TO
USE WITH CLIENTS. THIS PRESENTATION WAS SUBJECT TO THE CONTENT
STANDARDS SET FORTH IN NASD RULE 2210(D) AND VIOLATED THOSE
STANDARDS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

N/A

Date Initiated: 08/18/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2008015701301

Principal Product Type: Unit Investment Trust(s)

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 2110, 2210, 3010: MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH ITS OBLIGATIONS TO APPLY SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS TO ALL ELIGIBLE UNIT INVESTMENT TRUST (UIT) PURCHASES.
THE FIRM RELIED ON ITS BROKERS TO ENSURE THAT CUSTOMERS
RECEIVED APPROPRIATE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS, DESPITE THE
FACT THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO APPROPRIATELY INFORM AND TRAIN
BROKERS AND THEIR SUPERVISORS ABOUT SUCH DISCOUNTS. THE
FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES HAD LITTLE OR NO
INFORMATION OR GUIDANCE REGARDING UIT SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS. ONCE THE FIRM ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES ADDRESSING
UIT SALES CHARGES DISCOUNTS, THEY WERE INACCURATE AND
CONFLICTING. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
INCORRECTLY STATED THAT A DISCOUNT WOULD NOT APPLY WHEN A
CLIENT LIQUIDATES AN EXISTING UIT POSITION AND USES THE PROCEEDS
TO PURCHASE A DIFFERENT UIT. THIS IS PARTICULARLY RELEVANT
BECAUSE THE FIRM'S UIT BUSINESS WAS ALMOST EXCLUSIVELY WITH UIT
SPONSORS THAT PROVIDED SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS FOR
PURCHASES USING PROCEEDS FROM ANOTHER UIT SPONSOR. THE
FIRM'S PROCEDURES LACKED SUBSTANTIVE GUIDELINES,
INSTRUCTIONS, POLICIES, OR STEPS FOR BROKERS OR THEIR
SUPERVISORS TO FOLLOW TO DETERMINE IF A CUSTOMER'S UIT
PURCHASE QUALIFIED FOR AND RECEIVED A SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT.
THIS FAILURE WAS PARTICULARLY PROBLEMATIC BECAUSE THE BROKER
AND FIRM COMPENSATION DIMINISHED WHEN THE CUSTOMER RECEIVED
A SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT, CREATING A FINANCIAL DISINCENTIVE TO
THE BROKER TO ENSURE THAT THE APPROPRIATE DISCOUNTS WERE
PROVIDED TO THE CUSTOMER. BECAUSE OF THIS CONFLICT OF
INTEREST, THE FIRM NEEDED TO BE PARTICULARLY DILIGENT IN
PROVIDING GUIDANCE TO BROKERS AND SUPERVISORS ON UIT SALES
CHARGE DISCOUNTS. AS A RESULT OF THE DEFECTIVE PROCEDURES,
THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS WITH APPROPRIATE
DISCOUNTS ON BOTH UIT ROLLOVER AND BREAKPOINT PURCHASES. THE
FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND APPROPRIATELY APPLY SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS IN TRANSACTIONS REVIEWED IN A SAMPLE OF CUSTOMER
PURCHASES IN CERTAIN TOP SELLING UITS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM
OVERCHARGED CUSTOMERS IN THIS SAMPLE APPROXIMATELY $123,000.
FOLLOWING FINRA'S PUBLICATION OF A SETTLEMENT WITH ANOTHER
FIRM CONCERNING UIT TRANSACTIONS AND INDEPENDENT OF FINRA'S
PENDING INQUIRY, THE FIRM ANALYZED ITS APPLICATION OF SALES
CHARGE DISCOUNTS TO UIT TRANSACTIONS. AS A RESULT OF THE
REVIEW, THE FIRM IDENTIFIED CUSTOMERS THAT WERE OVERCHARGED
WHEN PURCHASING UITS THROUGH THE FIRM AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH BELOW, WILL REMEDIATE THOSE
CUSTOMERS MORE THAN $2 MILLION IN OVERCHARGES. THE FIRM
APPROVED FOR DISTRIBUTION INACCURATE AND MISLEADING UIT SALES
LITERATURE AND PROVIDED THIS UIT PRESENTATION FOR BROKERS TO
USE WITH CLIENTS. THIS PRESENTATION WAS SUBJECT TO THE CONTENT
STANDARDS SET FORTH IN NASD RULE 2210(D) AND VIOLATED THOSE
STANDARDS.

Resolution Date: 08/18/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND AGREES TO
PROVIDE REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS WHO, DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, PURCHASED UITS AND QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE,
THE APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A
PROPOSED PLAN OF HOW IT WILL IDENTIFY AND COMPENSATE
CUSTOMERS WHO QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, THE
APPLICABLE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS. THE DATE THAT FINRA
NOTIFIES THE FIRM THAT IT DOES NOT OBJECT TO THE PLAN SHALL BE
CALLED THE NOTICE DATE. IN THE EVENT FINRA DOES OBJECT TO THE
PLAN, THE FIRM WILL HAVE AN OPPORTUNITY TO ADDRESS FINRA'S
OBJECTIONS AND RESUBMIT THE PLAN WITHIN 30 DAYS. A FAILURE TO
RESUBMIT TO FINRA A PLAN THAT IS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MEET
THE SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS AND GENERAL PURPOSE OF THE
UNDERTAKING WILL BE A VIOLATION OF THE TERMS OF THE AWC.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL COMPLETE THE REMEDIATION PROCESS WITHIN
180 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE DATE. WITHIN 210 DAYS OF THE NOTICE
DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A SCHEDULE OF ALL CUSTOMERS
IDENTIFIED DURING THE FIRM'S REVIEW AS NOT HAVING RECEIVED AN
APPROPRIATE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. THE SCHEDULE SHALL
INCLUDE DETAILS OF THE QUALIFYING PURCHASES AND THE
APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT AND TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION
PROVIDED TO EACH CUSTOMER. ALSO WITHIN 210 DAYS FROM THE
NOTICE DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A REPORT THAT EXPLAINS
HOW THE FIRM CORRECTED ITS UIT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AND
THE RESULTS OF THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS PLAN TO IDENTIFY
AND COMPENSATE QUALIFYING CUSTOMERS INCLUDING THE AMOUNTS
AND MANNER OF ALL RESTITUTION PAID.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND AGREES TO
PROVIDE REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS WHO, DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, PURCHASED UITS AND QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE,
THE APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A
PROPOSED PLAN OF HOW IT WILL IDENTIFY AND COMPENSATE
CUSTOMERS WHO QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, THE
APPLICABLE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS. THE DATE THAT FINRA
NOTIFIES THE FIRM THAT IT DOES NOT OBJECT TO THE PLAN SHALL BE
CALLED THE NOTICE DATE. IN THE EVENT FINRA DOES OBJECT TO THE
PLAN, THE FIRM WILL HAVE AN OPPORTUNITY TO ADDRESS FINRA'S
OBJECTIONS AND RESUBMIT THE PLAN WITHIN 30 DAYS. A FAILURE TO
RESUBMIT TO FINRA A PLAN THAT IS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MEET
THE SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS AND GENERAL PURPOSE OF THE
UNDERTAKING WILL BE A VIOLATION OF THE TERMS OF THE AWC.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL COMPLETE THE REMEDIATION PROCESS WITHIN
180 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE DATE. WITHIN 210 DAYS OF THE NOTICE
DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A SCHEDULE OF ALL CUSTOMERS
IDENTIFIED DURING THE FIRM'S REVIEW AS NOT HAVING RECEIVED AN
APPROPRIATE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. THE SCHEDULE SHALL
INCLUDE DETAILS OF THE QUALIFYING PURCHASES AND THE
APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT AND TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION
PROVIDED TO EACH CUSTOMER. ALSO WITHIN 210 DAYS FROM THE
NOTICE DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A REPORT THAT EXPLAINS
HOW THE FIRM CORRECTED ITS UIT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AND
THE RESULTS OF THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS PLAN TO IDENTIFY
AND COMPENSATE QUALIFYING CUSTOMERS INCLUDING THE AMOUNTS
AND MANNER OF ALL RESTITUTION PAID.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 2210, 3010: MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH ITS OBLIGATIONS TO APPLY SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS TO ALL ELIGIBLE UNIT INVESTMENT TRUST (UIT) PURCHASES.
THE FIRM RELIED ON ITS BROKERS TO ENSURE THAT CUSTOMERS
RECEIVED APPROPRIATE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS, DESPITE THE
FACT THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO APPROPRIATELY INFORM AND TRAIN
BROKERS AND THEIR SUPERVISORS ABOUT SUCH DISCOUNTS. THE
FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES HAD LITTLE OR NO
INFORMATION OR GUIDANCE REGARDING UIT SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS. ONCE THE FIRM ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES ADDRESSING
UIT SALES CHARGES DISCOUNTS, THEY WERE INACCURATE AND
CONFLICTING. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
INCORRECTLY STATED THAT A DISCOUNT WOULD NOT APPLY WHEN A
CLIENT LIQUIDATES AN EXISTING UIT POSITION AND USES THE PROCEEDS
TO PURCHASE A DIFFERENT UIT.  THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES LACKED
SUBSTANTIVE GUIDELINES, INSTRUCTIONS, POLICIES, OR STEPS FOR
BROKERS OR THEIR SUPERVISORS TO FOLLOW TO DETERMINE IF A
CUSTOMER'S UIT PURCHASE QUALIFIED FOR AND RECEIVED A SALES
CHARGE DISCOUNT.  AS A RESULT OF THE DEFECTIVE PROCEDURES, THE
FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS WITH APPROPRIATE
DISCOUNTS ON BOTH UIT ROLLOVER AND BREAKPOINT PURCHASES. THE
FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND APPROPRIATELY APPLY SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS IN TRANSACTIONS REVIEWED IN A SAMPLE OF CUSTOMER
PURCHASES IN CERTAIN TOP SELLING UITS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM
OVERCHARGED CUSTOMERS IN THIS SAMPLE APPROXIMATELY $123,000.
FOLLOWING FINRA'S PUBLICATION OF A SETTLEMENT WITH ANOTHER
FIRM CONCERNING UIT TRANSACTIONS AND INDEPENDENT OF FINRA'S
PENDING INQUIRY, THE FIRM ANALYZED ITS APPLICATION OF SALES
CHARGE DISCOUNTS TO UIT TRANSACTIONS. AS A RESULT OF THE
REVIEW, THE FIRM IDENTIFIED CUSTOMERS THAT WERE OVERCHARGED
WHEN PURCHASING UITS THROUGH THE FIRM AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH BELOW, WILL REMEDIATE THOSE
CUSTOMERS MORE THAN $2 MILLION IN OVERCHARGES. THE FIRM
APPROVED FOR DISTRIBUTION INACCURATE AND MISLEADING UIT SALES
LITERATURE AND PROVIDED THIS UIT PRESENTATION FOR BROKERS TO
USE WITH CLIENTS. THIS PRESENTATION WAS SUBJECT TO THE CONTENT
STANDARDS SET FORTH IN NASD RULE 2210(D) AND VIOLATED THOSE
STANDARDS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; RESTITUTION; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 08/18/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2008015701301

Principal Product Type: Unit Investment Trust(s)

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 2110, 2210, 3010: MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH ITS OBLIGATIONS TO APPLY SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS TO ALL ELIGIBLE UNIT INVESTMENT TRUST (UIT) PURCHASES.
THE FIRM RELIED ON ITS BROKERS TO ENSURE THAT CUSTOMERS
RECEIVED APPROPRIATE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS, DESPITE THE
FACT THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO APPROPRIATELY INFORM AND TRAIN
BROKERS AND THEIR SUPERVISORS ABOUT SUCH DISCOUNTS. THE
FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES HAD LITTLE OR NO
INFORMATION OR GUIDANCE REGARDING UIT SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS. ONCE THE FIRM ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES ADDRESSING
UIT SALES CHARGES DISCOUNTS, THEY WERE INACCURATE AND
CONFLICTING. THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
INCORRECTLY STATED THAT A DISCOUNT WOULD NOT APPLY WHEN A
CLIENT LIQUIDATES AN EXISTING UIT POSITION AND USES THE PROCEEDS
TO PURCHASE A DIFFERENT UIT.  THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES LACKED
SUBSTANTIVE GUIDELINES, INSTRUCTIONS, POLICIES, OR STEPS FOR
BROKERS OR THEIR SUPERVISORS TO FOLLOW TO DETERMINE IF A
CUSTOMER'S UIT PURCHASE QUALIFIED FOR AND RECEIVED A SALES
CHARGE DISCOUNT.  AS A RESULT OF THE DEFECTIVE PROCEDURES, THE
FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS WITH APPROPRIATE
DISCOUNTS ON BOTH UIT ROLLOVER AND BREAKPOINT PURCHASES. THE
FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND APPROPRIATELY APPLY SALES CHARGE
DISCOUNTS IN TRANSACTIONS REVIEWED IN A SAMPLE OF CUSTOMER
PURCHASES IN CERTAIN TOP SELLING UITS. AS A RESULT, THE FIRM
OVERCHARGED CUSTOMERS IN THIS SAMPLE APPROXIMATELY $123,000.
FOLLOWING FINRA'S PUBLICATION OF A SETTLEMENT WITH ANOTHER
FIRM CONCERNING UIT TRANSACTIONS AND INDEPENDENT OF FINRA'S
PENDING INQUIRY, THE FIRM ANALYZED ITS APPLICATION OF SALES
CHARGE DISCOUNTS TO UIT TRANSACTIONS. AS A RESULT OF THE
REVIEW, THE FIRM IDENTIFIED CUSTOMERS THAT WERE OVERCHARGED
WHEN PURCHASING UITS THROUGH THE FIRM AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH BELOW, WILL REMEDIATE THOSE
CUSTOMERS MORE THAN $2 MILLION IN OVERCHARGES. THE FIRM
APPROVED FOR DISTRIBUTION INACCURATE AND MISLEADING UIT SALES
LITERATURE AND PROVIDED THIS UIT PRESENTATION FOR BROKERS TO
USE WITH CLIENTS. THIS PRESENTATION WAS SUBJECT TO THE CONTENT
STANDARDS SET FORTH IN NASD RULE 2210(D) AND VIOLATED THOSE
STANDARDS.

Resolution Date: 08/18/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND AGREES TO
PROVIDE REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS WHO, DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, PURCHASED UITS AND QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE,
THE APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A
PROPOSED PLAN OF HOW IT WILL IDENTIFY AND COMPENSATE
CUSTOMERS WHO QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, THE
APPLICABLE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS. THE DATE THAT FINRA
NOTIFIES THE FIRM THAT IT DOES NOT OBJECT TO THE PLAN SHALL BE
CALLED THE NOTICE DATE. IN THE EVENT FINRA DOES OBJECT TO THE
PLAN, THE FIRM WILL HAVE AN OPPORTUNITY TO ADDRESS FINRA'S
OBJECTIONS AND RESUBMIT THE PLAN WITHIN 30 DAYS. A FAILURE TO
RESUBMIT TO FINRA A PLAN THAT IS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MEET
THE SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS AND GENERAL PURPOSE OF THE
UNDERTAKING WILL BE A VIOLATION OF THE TERMS OF THE AWC.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL COMPLETE THE REMEDIATION PROCESS WITHIN
180 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE DATE. WITHIN 210 DAYS OF THE NOTICE
DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A SCHEDULE OF ALL CUSTOMERS
IDENTIFIED DURING THE FIRM'S REVIEW AS NOT HAVING RECEIVED AN
APPROPRIATE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. THE SCHEDULE SHALL
INCLUDE DETAILS OF THE QUALIFYING PURCHASES AND THE
APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT AND TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION
PROVIDED TO EACH CUSTOMER. ALSO WITHIN 210 DAYS FROM THE
NOTICE DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A REPORT THAT EXPLAINS
HOW THE FIRM CORRECTED ITS UIT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AND
THE RESULTS OF THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS PLAN TO IDENTIFY
AND COMPENSATE QUALIFYING CUSTOMERS INCLUDING THE AMOUNTS
AND MANNER OF ALL RESTITUTION PAID.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND AGREES TO
PROVIDE REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS WHO, DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, PURCHASED UITS AND QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE,
THE APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A
PROPOSED PLAN OF HOW IT WILL IDENTIFY AND COMPENSATE
CUSTOMERS WHO QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, THE
APPLICABLE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS. THE DATE THAT FINRA
NOTIFIES THE FIRM THAT IT DOES NOT OBJECT TO THE PLAN SHALL BE
CALLED THE NOTICE DATE. IN THE EVENT FINRA DOES OBJECT TO THE
PLAN, THE FIRM WILL HAVE AN OPPORTUNITY TO ADDRESS FINRA'S
OBJECTIONS AND RESUBMIT THE PLAN WITHIN 30 DAYS. A FAILURE TO
RESUBMIT TO FINRA A PLAN THAT IS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MEET
THE SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS AND GENERAL PURPOSE OF THE
UNDERTAKING WILL BE A VIOLATION OF THE TERMS OF THE AWC.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL COMPLETE THE REMEDIATION PROCESS WITHIN
180 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE DATE. WITHIN 210 DAYS OF THE NOTICE
DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A SCHEDULE OF ALL CUSTOMERS
IDENTIFIED DURING THE FIRM'S REVIEW AS NOT HAVING RECEIVED AN
APPROPRIATE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. THE SCHEDULE SHALL
INCLUDE DETAILS OF THE QUALIFYING PURCHASES AND THE
APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT AND TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION
PROVIDED TO EACH CUSTOMER. ALSO WITHIN 210 DAYS FROM THE
NOTICE DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A REPORT THAT EXPLAINS
HOW THE FIRM CORRECTED ITS UIT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AND
THE RESULTS OF THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS PLAN TO IDENTIFY
AND COMPENSATE QUALIFYING CUSTOMERS INCLUDING THE AMOUNTS
AND MANNER OF ALL RESTITUTION PAID.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND AGREES TO
PROVIDE REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS WHO, DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, PURCHASED UITS AND QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE,
THE APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A
PROPOSED PLAN OF HOW IT WILL IDENTIFY AND COMPENSATE
CUSTOMERS WHO QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, THE
APPLICABLE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS. THE DATE THAT FINRA
NOTIFIES THE FIRM THAT IT DOES NOT OBJECT TO THE PLAN SHALL BE
CALLED THE NOTICE DATE. IN THE EVENT FINRA DOES OBJECT TO THE
PLAN, THE FIRM WILL HAVE AN OPPORTUNITY TO ADDRESS FINRA'S
OBJECTIONS AND RESUBMIT THE PLAN WITHIN 30 DAYS. A FAILURE TO
RESUBMIT TO FINRA A PLAN THAT IS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MEET
THE SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS AND GENERAL PURPOSE OF THE
UNDERTAKING WILL BE A VIOLATION OF THE TERMS OF THE AWC.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL COMPLETE THE REMEDIATION PROCESS WITHIN
180 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE DATE. WITHIN 210 DAYS OF THE NOTICE
DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A SCHEDULE OF ALL CUSTOMERS
IDENTIFIED DURING THE FIRM'S REVIEW AS NOT HAVING RECEIVED AN
APPROPRIATE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. THE SCHEDULE SHALL
INCLUDE DETAILS OF THE QUALIFYING PURCHASES AND THE
APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT AND TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION
PROVIDED TO EACH CUSTOMER. ALSO WITHIN 210 DAYS FROM THE
NOTICE DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A REPORT THAT EXPLAINS
HOW THE FIRM CORRECTED ITS UIT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AND
THE RESULTS OF THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS PLAN TO IDENTIFY
AND COMPENSATE QUALIFYING CUSTOMERS INCLUDING THE AMOUNTS
AND MANNER OF ALL RESTITUTION PAID.
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE IT IS CENSURED, FINED $500,000 AND AGREES TO
PROVIDE REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS WHO, DURING THE RELEVANT
PERIOD, PURCHASED UITS AND QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE,
THE APPLICABLE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A
PROPOSED PLAN OF HOW IT WILL IDENTIFY AND COMPENSATE
CUSTOMERS WHO QUALIFIED FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, THE
APPLICABLE UIT SALES CHARGE DISCOUNTS. THE DATE THAT FINRA
NOTIFIES THE FIRM THAT IT DOES NOT OBJECT TO THE PLAN SHALL BE
CALLED THE NOTICE DATE. IN THE EVENT FINRA DOES OBJECT TO THE
PLAN, THE FIRM WILL HAVE AN OPPORTUNITY TO ADDRESS FINRA'S
OBJECTIONS AND RESUBMIT THE PLAN WITHIN 30 DAYS. A FAILURE TO
RESUBMIT TO FINRA A PLAN THAT IS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO MEET
THE SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS AND GENERAL PURPOSE OF THE
UNDERTAKING WILL BE A VIOLATION OF THE TERMS OF THE AWC.
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL COMPLETE THE REMEDIATION PROCESS WITHIN
180 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE DATE. WITHIN 210 DAYS OF THE NOTICE
DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A SCHEDULE OF ALL CUSTOMERS
IDENTIFIED DURING THE FIRM'S REVIEW AS NOT HAVING RECEIVED AN
APPROPRIATE SALES CHARGE DISCOUNT. THE SCHEDULE SHALL
INCLUDE DETAILS OF THE QUALIFYING PURCHASES AND THE
APPROPRIATE DISCOUNT AND TOTAL DOLLAR AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION
PROVIDED TO EACH CUSTOMER. ALSO WITHIN 210 DAYS FROM THE
NOTICE DATE, THE FIRM WILL SUBMIT TO FINRA A REPORT THAT EXPLAINS
HOW THE FIRM CORRECTED ITS UIT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES AND
THE RESULTS OF THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS PLAN TO IDENTIFY
AND COMPENSATE QUALIFYING CUSTOMERS INCLUDING THE AMOUNTS
AND MANNER OF ALL RESTITUTION PAID.

Disclosure 232 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: UNITED STATES VIRGIN ISLANDS OFFICE OF THE LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR
DIVISION OF BANKING AND INSURANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/07/2010

Docket/Case Number: NO. 03-10

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE UNITED STATES VIRGIN ISLANDS OFFICE OF THE LIEUTENANT
GOVERNOR OF BANKING AND INSURANCE (DIVISION) ALLEGED
VIOLATIONS BY MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND
SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER
CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/07/2010

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $250,000.00 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING
CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION. MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Disclosure 233 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE STATE OF LOUISIANA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (OFFICE)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
LOUISIANA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN LOUISIANA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ESTABLISH A REASONABLY DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF LSA-R.S. 51:704A,(3), AND SOLD
SECURITIES THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF LSA-R.S.
51:703A.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF LOUISIANA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING; REPRIMAND

Date Initiated: 07/23/2010

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. OFI-2010-0015

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE STATE OF LOUISIANA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (OFFICE)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
LOUISIANA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN LOUISIANA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ESTABLISH A REASONABLY DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF LSA-R.S. 51:704A,(3), AND SOLD
SECURITIES THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF LSA-R.S.
51:703A.

Resolution Date: 07/23/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.  REPRIMAND.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE OFFICE IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN LOUISIANA
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OFFICE $475,060.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE OFFICE DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE OFFICE OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $475,060.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 234 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: CONNECTICUT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/28/2010

Docket/Case Number: CO-10-7569-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: ON JULY 28, 2010, THE CONNECTICUT BANKING COMMISSIONER ENTERED
A CONSENT ORDER WITH RESPECT TO MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER
& SMITH INCORPORATED.  THE CONSENT ORDER FOLLOWED AN
INVESTIGATION BY A MULTISTATE TASK FORCE INTO THE MARKETING AND
SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) BY THE FIRM.  THE CONSENT
ORDER ALLEGED THAT, IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE MARKETING OF ARS,
THE FIRM 1) FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS, AND 2)
ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES BY FAILING TO
ENSURE THAT APPROPRIATE DISCLOSURES WERE MADE TO CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/28/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE CONSENT ORDER FINED THE FIRM $3,274,445.80, AND DIRECTED IT
TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM REGULATORY VIOLATIONS.

Sanction Details: SEE RESPONSE TO ITEM 13.B.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,274,445.80
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: STATE OF CONNECTICUT SECURITIES AND BUSINESS INVESTMENTS
DIVISION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF BANKING

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/28/2010

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. CO-10-7569-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT SECURITIES AND BUSINESS INVESTMENTS
DIVISION OF THE DEPARTMENT OF BANKING (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED SECTION
36B-31-6F(B) OF THE REGULATIONS OF CONNECTICUT STATE AGENCIES
(REGULATIONS), PROMULGATED UNDER THE CONNECTICUT UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT (ACT) FOR FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS
AGENTS, AND ENGAGED IN CONDUCT CONSTITUTING DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL PRACTICES WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTIONS 36B-4(B) AND
36B-15(A)(2)(H) OF THE ACT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/28/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DEPARTMENT, IN WHICH IT AGREED
TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, OR ANY REGULATION
OR ORDER UNDER THE ACT, TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, ITS REGULATIONS
AND ANY ORDER UNDER THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT A CIVIL PENALTY
OF $3,274,445.80, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,274,445.80
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

647©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION. MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 235 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: PENNSYLVANIA CONTACTS:  COUNSELS JILL HELBLING AND CAROLYN
MENDELSON (412)-565-5083

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTIES

Date Initiated: 07/27/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2009-10-19

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(RESPONDENT) FAILED TO REGISTER CLIENT ASSOCIATES IN PA, FAILED
TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND FAILED TO
ENFORCE ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN PA, CONSTITUTING
FAILURES TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AGENTS AND EMPLOYEES.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTIES

Resolution Date: 07/27/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHIN TEN DAYS AFTER ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, RESPONDENT SHALL
PAY THE SUM OF $647,870.00 TO THE COMMONWEALTH OF PA AND
$647,870.00 TO THE INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST - PA INVESTOR
EDUCATION FUND, WHICH AMOUNTS REPRESENT AN ADMINISTRATIVE
ASSESSMENT IN THIS MATTER AND CONSTITUTES THE COMMONWEALTH
OF PA'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSIONS' GLOBAL SETTLEMENT.

Regulator Statement FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER ISSUED TO
RESPONDENT.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,295,740.00

Settled

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 07/27/2010

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 2009-10-19

Allegations: THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA SECURITIES COMMISSION
(COMMISSION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN PENNSYLVANIA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN PENNSYLVANIA, MLPFS FAILED TO
REGISTER ITS CAS IN PENNSYLVANIA, FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, AND FAILED TO ENFORCE ESTABLISHED
WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN PENNSYLVANIA, WHICH CONSTITUTED A
FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AGENTS AND EMPLOYEES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 2009-10-19

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 07/27/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE
COMMISSION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING THE 1972 ACT, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSION $1,295,740.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE COMMISSION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
COMMISSION OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,295,740.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 236 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **07/23/2010**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED
BY FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT - LEGAL SECTION, ON
BEHALF OF NYSE REGULATION INC. AND PENDING.
FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING,
WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT ON
SEPTEMBER 16, 2008, IT VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(8) BY ENTERING
ORDERS FOR THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF TWO NYSE-LISTED STOCKS
FOR A TOTAL OF APPROXIMATELY 3.1 MILLION SHARES, THE EXECUTION
OF WHICH RESULTED IN NO CHANGE OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP.
CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $200,000.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/23/2010

Docket/Case Number: HBD#: 10-NYSE-18

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

**07/23/2010**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED
BY FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT - LEGAL SECTION, ON
BEHALF OF NYSE REGULATION INC. AND PENDING.
FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING,
WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT ON
SEPTEMBER 16, 2008, IT VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(8) BY ENTERING
ORDERS FOR THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF TWO NYSE-LISTED STOCKS
FOR A TOTAL OF APPROXIMATELY 3.1 MILLION SHARES, THE EXECUTION
OF WHICH RESULTED IN NO CHANGE OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP.
CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $200,000.

Resolution Date: 09/13/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **09/10/2010**DECISION NO. 08-10 ISSUED FOR THE NYSE HEARING
BOARD. ON SEPTEMBER 16, 2008, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH, INCORPORATED VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(8) BY ENTERING
ORDERS FOR THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF TWO NYSE-LISTED STOCKS,
THE EXECUTION OF WHICH RESULTED IN NO CHANGE OF BENEFICIAL
OWNERSHIP. CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND $200,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF CLOSE OF BUSINESS, OCTOBER 8, 2010.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $200,000.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/23/2010

Docket/Case Number: HBD#: 10-NYSE-18

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **07/23/2010**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED
BY FINRA'S MARKET REGULATION DEPARTMENT - LEGAL SECTION, ON
BEHALF OF NYSE REGULATION INC. AND PENDING. FOR THE SOLE
PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT
ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT ON
SEPTEMBER 16, 2008, IT VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(8) BY ENTERING
ORDERS FOR THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF TWO NYSELISTED STOCKS
FOR A TOTAL OF APPROXIMATELY 3.1 MILLION SHARES, THE EXECUTION
OF WHICH RESULTED IN NO CHANGE OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP.
CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $200,000.

Resolution Date: 09/13/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: **09/10/2010**DECISION NO. 08-10 ISSUED FOR THE NYSE HEARING
BOARD. ON SEPTEMBER 16, 2008, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH, INCORPORATED VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(8) BY ENTERING
ORDERS FOR THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF TWO NYSE-LISTED STOCKS,
THE EXECUTION OF WHICH RESULTED IN NO CHANGE OF BENEFICIAL
OWNERSHIP. CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND $200,000 FINE.

Firm Statement DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF CLOSE OF BUSINESS, OCTOBER 8, 2010.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $200,000.00

Decision
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Initiated By: CONNECTICUT BANKING COMMISSIONER (COMMISSIONER)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/09/2010

Docket/Case Number: CO-10-7787-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL
AFFILIATE INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR
CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED
WITH ARS.  THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS
CONDUCT, APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE ENGAGED IN
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE THEIR AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/09/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, THE FIRMS) HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. (BLUE RIDGE),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS, AS DEFINED IN THE CONSENT
ORDER (ORDER), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE
SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A MONETARY PENALTY OF $865,290.80 TO THE
STATE OF CONNECTICUT REPRESENTING CONNECTICUT'S PORTION OF A
TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG
THE STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR
ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS
AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF
TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE
RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN
ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO
SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $865,290.80
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS
AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF
TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE
RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN
ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO
SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.

Disclosure 238 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNTERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/13/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 09-012 (SI-2008-010)

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED TENN.
CODE ANN. SECTION 48-2-112(A)(2)(G) AND (J) FOR ENGAGING IN
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN THE SECURITIES BUSINESS
AND FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS, RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNTERTAKING

Resolution Date: 05/13/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE TENNESSEE SECURITIES ACT
OF 1980 (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$1,101,624.07, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,101,624.07
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Reporting Source: Firm

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ("CME")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/22/2010

Docket/Case Number: 09-06439-MS-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CME ALLEGED THAT ON SEPTEMBER 23, 2009, THE APPLICANT FAILED
TO DESIGNATE A TRANSACTION AS AN EFRP ON A CUSTOMER
STATEMENT AS REQUIRED BY THE CME.  THIS WAS THE SECOND
OCCURRENCE OF THE LACK OF A REQUIRED EFRP DESIGNATION ON A
CUSTOMER STATEMENT WITHIN A 12 MONTH PERIOD.  THE CME FOUND
THAT IN SO DOING, THE APPLICANT VIOLATED CME RULE 538.

Resolution Date: 07/06/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT
AGREED TO SETTLE THE MATTER WITH THE PAYMENT OF A FINE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT
AGREED TO SETTLE THE MATTER WITH THE PAYMENT OF A FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 240 of 595
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Allegations: NASDAQ RULES 2110, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS AND REGULATIONS (INCLUDING NASD NOTICE TO MEMBERS 04-66)
AND NASDAQ RULES CONCERNING THE PREVENTION OF ERRONEOUS
ORDERS AND TRANSACTIONS AND FRIVOLOUS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS
TRANSACTION COMPLAINTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/29/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2008015265801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/29/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $10,000 AND REQUIRED TO
REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING
COMPLIANCE WITH NASD NOTICE TO MEMBERS 04-66 WITHIN 30
BUSINESS DAYS OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NASDAQ REVIEW
COUNCIL.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Allegations: NASDAQ RULES 2110, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
AND WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS AND REGULATIONS (INCLUDING NASD NOTICE TO MEMBERS 04-66)
AND NASDAQ RULES CONCERNING THE PREVENTION OF ERRONEOUS
ORDERS AND TRANSACTIONS AND FRIVOLOUS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS
TRANSACTION COMPLAINTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASDAQ STOCK MARKET

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/29/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2008015265801

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/29/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $10,000 AND REQUIRED TO
REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING
COMPLIANCE WITH NASD NOTICE TO MEMBERS 04-66 WITHIN 30
BUSINESS DAYS OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NASDAQ REVIEW
COUNCIL.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $10,000 AND REQUIRED TO
REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING
COMPLIANCE WITH NASD NOTICE TO MEMBERS 04-66 WITHIN 30
BUSINESS DAYS OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NASDAQ REVIEW
COUNCIL.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 241 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE LOUISIANA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (OFFICE) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED LSA-R.S..
51:704(A)(9).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF LOUISIANA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/24/2010

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. OFI-2010-004

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

THE LOUISIANA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (OFFICE) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED LSA-R.S..
51:704(A)(9).

Resolution Date: 05/24/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE OFFICE IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE LOUISIANA SECURITIES ACT
(ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OFFICE A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$1,005,410.24, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATE'S DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,005,410.24
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: LOUISIANA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, COMMISSIONER OF
SECURITIES ("COMMISSIONER")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/07/2010

Docket/Case Number: OFI-2010-003

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL
AFFILIATE INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF
THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY
ASSOCIATED WITH ARS AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THEIR
AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/07/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE
PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $178,989.37
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE
PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A MONETARY PENALTY OF $178,989.37 TO THE
STATE OF LOUISIANA REPRESENTING LOUISIANA'S PORTION OF A TOTAL
CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE
STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR
ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS
AGREED TO A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF
TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE
RIDGE, HAVE OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND
UNPAID INTEREST OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN
ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
USE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO
SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Disclosure 243 of 595
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: OREGON DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES,
DIVISION OF FINANCE AND CORPORATE SECURITIES

Date Initiated: 05/19/2010

Docket/Case Number: S-09-0059

Allegations: FAILURE TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE LICENSE
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, FAILURE TO ENFORCE
ITS WRITTEN PROCEDURES, EMPLOYING UNLICENSED SALESPERSONS
TO ACT IN OREGON.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: S-09-0059

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/19/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PAYMENT OF $25,255.00 FOR THE OREGON DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER
AND BUSINESS SERVICES INVESTOR EDUCATION PROGRAM FUND.

Sanction Details: ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST, CIVIL PENALTY OF $479,845.00 AND
PAYMENT OF $25,255.00 FOR THE OREGON DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER
AND BUSINESS SERVICES INVESTOR EDUCATION PROGRAM FUND.

Regulator Statement THIS MATTER AROSE FROM A MULTI-STATE INVESTIGATION COORDINATED
BY NASAA REGARDING UNLICENSED ACTIVITY BY CLIENT ASSOCIATES AT
MERRILL LYNCH AND SUPERVISION ISSUES WITH RESPECT TO THE
LICENSES OF CLIENT ASSOCIATES.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $479,845.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE STATE OF OREGON DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS
SERVICES (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE
OF SECURITIES IN OREGON BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT LICENSED IN OREGON, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE LICENSING STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE LICENSED
IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE
TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN
VIOLATION OF OAR 441-205-0210(3), AND SOLD SECURITIES IN OREGON
THROUGH UNLICENSED CAS IN VIOLATION OF ORS 59.165(3).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: THE STATE OF OREGON DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS
SERVICES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/19/2010

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. S-09-0059

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE STATE OF OREGON DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS
SERVICES (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE
OF SECURITIES IN OREGON BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT LICENSED IN OREGON, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE LICENSING STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE LICENSED
IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE
TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN
VIOLATION OF OAR 441-205-0210(3), AND SOLD SECURITIES IN OREGON
THROUGH UNLICENSED CAS IN VIOLATION OF ORS 59.165(3).

Resolution Date: 05/19/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN OREGON THROUGH
UNLICENSED AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $505,100.00, AS PART OF A
TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER
MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND
THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $505,100.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 244 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: THE IOWA INSURANCE DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/21/2010

Docket/Case Number: INSURANCE DIVISION DOCKET NO. 67190

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE IOWA INSURANCE DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN IOWA BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN IOWA, MLPFS
FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND
TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE LICENSED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF IOWA CODE SECTION 502.
412(4)(I), AND SOLD SECURITIES IN IOWA THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS
IN VIOLATION OF IOWA CODE SECTION 502.412(4)(M).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/21/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN IOWA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $296,520.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $296,520.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 245 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE ARKANSAS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/18/2010

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. S-10-034

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE ARKANSAS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT
IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ARKANSAS BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN
ARKANSAS, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF ARK. CODE ANN. § 23-42-308(A)(2)(J), AND
FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
WRITTEN PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/18/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ARKANSAS THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $377,725.00, AS PART OF A
TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER
MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND
THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $377,725.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ARKANSAS THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $377,725.00, AS PART OF A
TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER
MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND
THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 246 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF ILLINOIS SECRETARY OF STATE SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/30/2010

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. 08-00256

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF ILLINOIS SECRETARY OF STATE SECURITIES DEPARTMENT
(DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING
AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER
CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) VIOLATED 8E(1)(B) AND (E)(IV) FOR UNETHICAL PRACTICE IN THE
OFFER AND SALE OF SECURITIES AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE,
RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/30/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $6,271,013.39
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ILLINOIS SECURITIES LAW OF
1953 (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS
AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT A CIVIL PENALTY OF $6,271,013.39, AS
PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 247 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE MISSISSIPPI SECRETARY OF STATE'S OFFICE SECURITIES AND
CHARITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
SALE OF SECURITIES IN MISSISSIPPI BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES
(CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN MISSISSIPPI, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS
CAS TO BE LICENSED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH
CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN
VIOLATION OF MISS. CODE § 75-71-321(B)(A)(2000) AND MISSISSIPPI
SECURITIES ACT RULE 521 (2000), AND SOLD SECURITIES IN MISSISSIPPI
THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF MISS. CODE §75-71-
301(2000).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: MISSISSIPPI SECRETARY OF STATE'S OFFICE SECURITIES AND CHARITIES
DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/03/2010

Docket/Case Number: ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING NO. S-09-0321

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE MISSISSIPPI SECRETARY OF STATE'S OFFICE SECURITIES AND
CHARITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
SALE OF SECURITIES IN MISSISSIPPI BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES
(CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN MISSISSIPPI, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS
CAS TO BE LICENSED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH
CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN
VIOLATION OF MISS. CODE § 75-71-321(B)(A)(2000) AND MISSISSIPPI
SECURITIES ACT RULE 521 (2000), AND SOLD SECURITIES IN MISSISSIPPI
THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF MISS. CODE §75-71-
301(2000).

Resolution Date: 05/03/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MISSISSIPPI THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $327,600.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL
PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $327,600.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 248 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: STATE OF TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/30/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 09-016, SI-2008-010

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF TENNESSEE SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN TENNESSEE BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN
TENNESSEE, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE LICENSED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF TENN. CODE ANN. § 48-2-
112(A)(2)(J) FOR FAILURE TO SUPERVISE, AND SOLD SECURITIES IN
TENNESSEE THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF TENN CODE
ANN. SECTION 48-2-109(B).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/30/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN TENNESSEE THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $492,350.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL
PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $492,350.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 249 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/17/2010

Docket/Case Number: 09-06657-CTRA

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CME CONDUCTED ITS CTR PIT AUDIT AND FOUND (I) 23 INSTANCES
WHERE TRADING DOCUMENTS WERE NOT COLLECTED AND TIME
STAMPED WITHIN 15-MINUTES OF THE 30-MINUTE TRADING INTERVAL, (II)
21 TRADING DOCUMENTS CONTAINED AT LEAST ONE DATA ENTRY ERROR,
AND (III) 2 TRADING DOCUMENTS DID NOT CONTAIN TIME STAMP IN
AND/OR OUT IN VIOLATION OF REGULATION 536.F.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/21/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, APPLICANT AGREED TO
THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, APPLICANT AGREED TO
THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 250 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/23/2010

Docket/Case Number: 09-04456-CTRA

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CBOT CONDUCTED ITS CTR PIT AUDIT AND FOUND (I) 48 INSTANCES
WHERE TRADING DOCUMENTS WERE NOT COLLECTED AND TIME
STAMPED WITHIN 15-MINUTES OF THE 30-MINUTE TRADING INTERVAL, (II)
32 TRADING DOCUMENTS CONTAINED AT LEAST ONE DATA ENTRY ERROR,
(III) 3 TRADING DOCUMENTS DID NOT CONTAIN TIME STAMP IN AND/OR
OUT, (IV) 1 TRADING DOCUMENT WAS NOT RE-TIME STAMPED AFTER A
CHANGE WAS MADE, AND (V) 1 INSTANCE WHERE AN ORDER WAS
INCORRECTLY TIME STAMPED IN VIOLATION OF REGULATION 536.F.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/21/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, APPLICANT AGREED TO
THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, APPLICANT AGREED TO
THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 251 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **05/10/2010**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED
BY NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.
EVENT: STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF
LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS
OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO HEREIN, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH, INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT, DURING THE PERIOD OF JULY
2006 TO
OCTOBER 2007, IT 1.VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(6) BY ENGAGING IN
CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE IN THAT IT INTRODUCED, FOR EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, ODD-LOT
ORDERS THAT WERE INCONSISTENT WITH THE NYSE'S ODD-LOT RULES
AND POLICIES (OCTOBER 23, 2007 - OCTOBER 30, 2007). 2. VIOLATED NYSE
RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT
ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP
AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING TO ODD-LOT
ORDERS.STIPULATED SANCTION:    CENSURE AND A $60,000 FINE.

Current Status: Final

671©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVSION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/10/2010

Docket/Case Number: 10-NYSE-13

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

**05/10/2010**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED
BY NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.
EVENT: STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF
LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS
OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO HEREIN, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH, INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT, DURING THE PERIOD OF JULY
2006 TO
OCTOBER 2007, IT 1.VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(6) BY ENGAGING IN
CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE IN THAT IT INTRODUCED, FOR EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, ODD-LOT
ORDERS THAT WERE INCONSISTENT WITH THE NYSE'S ODD-LOT RULES
AND POLICIES (OCTOBER 23, 2007 - OCTOBER 30, 2007). 2. VIOLATED NYSE
RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT
ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP
AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING TO ODD-LOT
ORDERS.STIPULATED SANCTION:    CENSURE AND A $60,000 FINE.

Resolution Date: 06/08/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **05/14/10**DECISION NO. 10-NYSE-13 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING
BOARD NYSE DECISION: FROM OCTOBER 23, 2007 TO OCTOBER 27, 2007,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED VIOLATED
NYSE RULE 476(A)(6) BY ENGAGING IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH
JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE IN THAT IT INTRODUCED,
FOR EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, ODD-LOT ORDERS THAT WERE
INCONSISTENT WITH THE NYSE'S ODD-LOT RULES AND POLICIES. IN
ADDITION, FROM JULY 2006 TO OCTOBER 2007, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING
TO ODD-LOT ORDERS.
CONSENTED TO CENSURE AND A $60,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $60,000.00

Decision
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**05/14/10**DECISION NO. 10-NYSE-13 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING
BOARD NYSE DECISION: FROM OCTOBER 23, 2007 TO OCTOBER 27, 2007,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED VIOLATED
NYSE RULE 476(A)(6) BY ENGAGING IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH
JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE IN THAT IT INTRODUCED,
FOR EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, ODD-LOT ORDERS THAT WERE
INCONSISTENT WITH THE NYSE'S ODD-LOT RULES AND POLICIES. IN
ADDITION, FROM JULY 2006 TO OCTOBER 2007, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING
TO ODD-LOT ORDERS.
CONSENTED TO CENSURE AND A $60,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **05/14/10**UNLESS A REVIEW HAS BEEN REQUESTED BY ANY PERSON OR
BODY AUTHORIZED BY NYSE RULE 476(G), THIS DECISION WILL BECOME
FINAL 25 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE HEARING BOARD'S
DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE RESPONDENT. **6/9/10**
THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON JUNE 8,
2010 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON THAT SAME DATE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVSION OF ENFORCEMENT

Date Initiated: 05/10/2010

Docket/Case Number: 10-NYSE-13

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **05/10/2010**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED
BY NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.
EVENT: STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF
LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS
OR FINDINGS REFERRED TO HEREIN, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH, INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT, DURING THE PERIOD OF JULY
2006 TO OCTOBER 2007, IT 1.VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(6) BY ENGAGING
IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE IN THAT IT INTRODUCED, FOR EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, ODD-LOT
ORDERS THAT WERE INCONSISTENT WITH THE NYSE'S ODD-LOT RULES
AND POLICIES (OCTOBER 23, 2007 - OCTOBER 30, 2007). 2. VIOLATED NYSE
RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT
ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP
AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING TO ODD-LOT
ORDERS.STIPULATED SANCTION: CENSURE AND A $60,000 FINE.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/08/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **05/14/10**DECISION NO. 10-NYSE-13 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD
NYSE DECISION: FROM OCTOBER 23, 2007 TO OCTOBER 27, 2007, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED VIOLATED NYSE RULE
476(A)(6) BY ENGAGING IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND
EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE IN THAT IT INTRODUCED, FOR
EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, ODD-LOT ORDERS THAT WERE INCONSISTENT
WITH THE NYSE'S ODD-LOT RULES AND POLICIES. IN ADDITION, FROM
JULY 2006 TO OCTOBER 2007, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING TO ODD-LOT
ORDERS. CONSENTED TO CENSURE AND A $60,000 FINE.

Firm Statement **05/14/10**UNLESS A REVIEW HAS BEEN REQUESTED BY ANY PERSON OR
BODY AUTHORIZED BY NYSE RULE 476(G), THIS DECISION WILL BECOME
FINAL 25 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE HEARING BOARD'S
DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE RESPONDENT. **6/9/10**
THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON JUNE 8,
2010 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON THAT SAME DATE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $60,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 252 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF SECURITIES (DEPARTMENT)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
OKLAHOMA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN OKLAHOMA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS IN VIOLATION OF
660:11-5-42(B)(22) OF THE RULES OF THE OKLAHOMA SECURITIES
COMMISSION AND THE ADMINISTRATOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
SECURITIES AND SOLD SECURITIES IN OKLAHOMA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF 1-402(D) OF THE OKLAHOMA
UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT OF 2004.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/07/2010

Docket/Case Number: 10-047

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF SECURITIES (DEPARTMENT)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
OKLAHOMA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN OKLAHOMA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS IN VIOLATION OF
660:11-5-42(B)(22) OF THE RULES OF THE OKLAHOMA SECURITIES
COMMISSION AND THE ADMINISTRATOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
SECURITIES AND SOLD SECURITIES IN OKLAHOMA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF 1-402(D) OF THE OKLAHOMA
UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT OF 2004.

Resolution Date: 04/07/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN OKLAHOMA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS. MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $394,150.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanction Details: UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $394,150.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Sanction Details: UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/07/2010

Docket/Case Number: ODS FILE NO. 10-047

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF SECURITIES (DEPARTMENT)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
OKLAHOMA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN OKLAHOMA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS IN VIOLATION OF
660:11-5-42(B)(22) OF THE RULES OF THE OKLAHOMA SECURITIES
COMMISSION AND THE ADMINISTRATOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
SECURITIES AND SOLD SECURITIES IN OKLAHOMA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF 1-402(D) OF THE OKLAHOMA
UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT OF 2004.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/07/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN OKLAHOMA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS. MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $394,150.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $394,150.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

676©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN OKLAHOMA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS. MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $394,150.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 253 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS,
DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/08/2010

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. S-09154 (LX)

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS,
DIVISION OF SECURITIES (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH
THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN WISCONSIN BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES
(CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN WISCONSIN, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED
A FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS AND EMPLOYEES
UNDER SEC. 551.412(4)(I) WIS. STATS, AND ITS PREDECESSOR STATUTE,
AND FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE
APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS IN VIOLATION OF 551.412(4)(P), WIS. STATS.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 04/08/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN WISCONSIN THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS. MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $327,040.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $327,040.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 254 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF MICHIGAN OFFICE OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE REGULATION

Date Initiated: 04/12/2010

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Allegations: THE STATE OF MICHIGAN OFFICE OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE
REGULATION (OFFICE) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN MICHIGAN BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER
& SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE
NOT REGISTERED IN MICHIGAN, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF
PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF MCL 451.604(A)(2)
FOR FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AGENTS AND FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS IN VIOLATION OF MCL 451.601(B) FOR FAILURE OF A
BROKER-DEALER TO EMPLOY ONLY REGISTERED AGENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 04/12/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE OFFICE IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MICHIGAN THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OFFICE $452,495.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL
PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE OFFICE DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE OFFICE OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $452,495.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 255 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE UNITED STATES VIRGIN ISLANDS DIVISION OF BANKING AND
INSURANCE (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE
OF SECURITIES IN THE VIRGIN ISLANDS BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES
(CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN THE VIRGIN ISLANDS, MLPFS
FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN
VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 23, 9VIC, SECTION 642 (D)(9) AND FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES VIRGIN ISLANDS DIVISION OF BANKING AND INSURANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/19/2010

Docket/Case Number: NO. 02-10

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE UNITED STATES VIRGIN ISLANDS DIVISION OF BANKING AND
INSURANCE (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE
OF SECURITIES IN THE VIRGIN ISLANDS BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES
(CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN THE VIRGIN ISLANDS, MLPFS
FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN
VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 23, 9VIC, SECTION 642 (D)(9) AND FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES.

Resolution Date: 04/19/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS. MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $198,600.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $198,600.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 256 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/29/2010

Docket/Case Number: 10-NYSE-10

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **4/29/10**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING. FOR THE
SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT
ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
STIPULATED THAT DURING THE PERIOD OF NOVEMBER 25, 2005 TO JUNE
2009, IT: 1. VIOLATED  NYSE RULE 476(A)(10)  BY, ON  HUNDREDS OF
OCCASIONS, FAILING TO SUBMIT ACCURATE DAILY  PROGRAM TRADE
REPORTS TO THE NYSE. 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS,
INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES
AND POLICIES REGARDING THE SUBMISSION OF DAILY
PROGRAM TRADE REPORTS TO THE NYSE. STIPULATED SANCTION:
CENSURE AND $40,000 FINE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/25/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **4/30/10** DECISION NO. 10-NYSE-10 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING
BOARD. DURING THE PERIOD OF NOVEMBER 2005 THROUGH JUNE
2009, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(10) BY FAILING TO SUBMIT ACCURATE DAILY
PROGRAM TRADE REPORTS TO NYSE; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY
FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
CONTROLS, INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES
AND POLICIES REGARDING SUBMISSION OF DAILY PROGRAM TRADE
REPORTS TO NYSE. CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND A $40,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $40,000.00

Decision
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**4/30/10** DECISION NO. 10-NYSE-10 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING
BOARD. DURING THE PERIOD OF NOVEMBER 2005 THROUGH JUNE
2009, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(10) BY FAILING TO SUBMIT ACCURATE DAILY
PROGRAM TRADE REPORTS TO NYSE; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY
FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
CONTROLS, INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES
AND POLICIES REGARDING SUBMISSION OF DAILY PROGRAM TRADE
REPORTS TO NYSE. CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND A $40,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **4/30/10**UNLESS A REVIEW HAS BEEN REQUESTED BY ANY PERSON OR
BODY  AUTHORIZED BY NYSE RULE 476(G), THIS DECISION WILL  BECOME
FINAL 25 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE HEARING  BOARD'S
DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE RESPONDENT. **6/1/2010**
THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON MAY 25,
2010 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON THAT SAME DATE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 04/29/2010

Docket/Case Number: 10-NYSE-10

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **4/29/10**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING. FOR THE
SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, WITHOUT
ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUES OF LAW OR FACT, AND WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED STIPULATED THAT
DURING THE PERIOD OF NOVEMBER 25, 2005 TO JUNE 2009, IT: 1.
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 476(A)(10) BY, ON HUNDREDS OF OCCASIONS,
FAILING TO SUBMIT ACCURATE DAILY PROGRAM TRADE REPORTS TO THE
NYSE. 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES REGARDING
THE SUBMISSION OF DAILY PROGRAM TRADE REPORTS TO THE NYSE.
STIPULATED SANCTION: CENSURE AND $40,000 FINE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/25/2010

Resolution: Decision
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Resolution Date: 05/25/2010

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **4/30/10** DECISION NO. 10-NYSE-10 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD.
DURING THE PERIOD OF NOVEMBER 2005 THROUGH JUNE 2009, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED VIOLATED NYSE RULE
476(A)(10) BY FAILING TO SUBMIT ACCURATE DAILY PROGRAM TRADE
REPORTS TO NYSE; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS,
INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES
AND POLICIES REGARDING SUBMISSION OF DAILY PROGRAM TRADE
REPORTS TO NYSE. CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND A $40,000 FINE.

Firm Statement **4/30/10**UNLESS A REVIEW HAS BEEN REQUESTED BY ANY PERSON OR
BODY AUTHORIZED BY NYSE RULE 476(G), THIS DECISION WILL BECOME
FINAL 25 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE HEARING BOARD'S
DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE RESPONDENT. **6/1/2010**
THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS ON MAY 25,
2010 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON THAT SAME DATE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $40,000.00

Disclosure 257 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: ON MARCH 12, 2010, THE SECURITIES DIVISION ENTERED INTO A
CONSENT ORDER WITH BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC AND MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (AS SUCCESSOR BY
MERGER OF BANC OF AMERICA INVESTMENT SERVICES, INC.)
(COLLECTIVELY "RESPONDENTS"), IN ORDER TO SETTLE THE
ALLEGATIONS THAT RESPONDENTS ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN THE SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES
("ARS"), AND FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS SALESPERSONS IN
THE MARKETING AND SALE OF ARS. RESPONDENTS NEITHER ADMITTED
NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS, BUT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING THE SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON. RESPONDENTS
AGREED TO OFFER TO PURCHASE AT PAR ARS THAT WERE PURCHASED
FROM RESPONDENTS ON OR BEFORE TO FEBRUARY 13, 2008, THAT WERE
SUBJECT TO AN AUCTION FAILURE ON OR AFTER FEBRUARY 11, 2008.
RESPONDENTS AGREED TO PAY $1,424,671.43 AS A CIVIL MONETARY
PENALTY. RESPONDENTS EACH WAIVED THEIR RIGHT TO A HEARING AND
TO JUDICIAL REVIEW OF THIS MATTER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: WASHINGTON

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/12/2010

Docket/Case Number: S-08-226-09-CO01

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 03/12/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: BAS AND MLPF&S (AS SUCCESSOR TO BAI) SHALL CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING THE SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON AND SHALL
COMPLY WITH THE SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON. WITHIN TEN DAYS
AFTER THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, BAS AND MLPF&S (AS SUCCESSOR TO
BAI) SHALL PAY THE SUM OF $1,424,671.43 TO THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
AS A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY PURSUANT TO RCW 21.20.110 AND RCW
21.20.395, TO BE DEPOSITED IN THE SECURITIES PROSECUTION FUND,
RCW 43.320.115, WHICH AMOUNT CONSTITUTES THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE STATE SETTLEMENT
AMOUNT OF 50 MILLION DOLLARS ($50,000,000). IN THE EVENT ANOTHER
STATE SECURITIES REGULATOR DETERMINES NOT TO ACCEPT BAS AND
MLPF&S'S (AS SUCCESSOR TO BAI) SETTLEMENT OFFER, THE TOTAL
AMOUNT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON'S PAYMENT SHALL NOT BE
AFFECTED, AND SHALL REMAIN AT $1,424,671.43.

Sanction Details: N/A

Regulator Statement BRIDGETT FISHER - 360-902-8783

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,424,671.43
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS ("DIVISION")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING.

Date Initiated: 03/12/2010

Docket/Case Number: S-08-226-09-CO01

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE
INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES
("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR
CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED
WITH ARS.  THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT,
APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THEIR
AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/12/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT
AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF
THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A CIVIL PENALTY OF $1,424,671.43 TO THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON REPRESENTING WASHINGTON'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL
PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES
AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR
CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENY THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS AGREED TO
A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE
REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD
CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,424,671.43
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENY THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS AGREED TO
A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE
REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD
CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Disclosure 258 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF MAINE DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND FINANCIAL
REGULATION OFFICE OF SECURITIES

Date Initiated: 03/05/2010

Allegations: THE STATE OF MAINE DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND FINANCIAL
REGULATION OFFICE OF SECURITIES (OFFICE) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MAINE BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN MAINE,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
LICENSING STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN
VIOLATION OF 32 M.R.S.A. SECTION 16412(4)(I), FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS
CAS TO BE LICENSED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS IN VIOLATION
OF 32 M.R.S.A. SECTION 16402, AND SOLD SECURITIES IN MAINE
THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF 32 M.R.S.A. SECTION
16402(4).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 03/05/2010

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. 10-021

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 03/05/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.  REPRIMAND.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE OFFICE IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MAINE
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OFFICE $404,800.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE OFFICE DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE OFFICE OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $404,800.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 259 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH MARKETED AND SOLD ARS AS SAFE, LIQUID, SHORT
TERM INVESTMENTS.  MERRILL LYNCH USED AAA RATINGS AS A SELLING
POINT FOR ARS EVEN AFTER IT HAD ALLOWED CERTAIN AAA RATED ARS
TO FAIL.  MERRILL LYNCH'S ARS PROGRAM STANDS IN CONTRAST TO ITS
REPRESENTATIONS TO CUSTOMERS.  MERRILL LYNCH GENERATED
SIGNIFICANT FEES BY UNDERWRITING ARS WITH CONSTRICTIVE
MAXIMUM RATES AND SELLING THEM TO CLIENTS.  MERRILL LYNCH
CONSOLIDATED ERRORTS TO REDUCE INVENTORY AND USED IMPROPER
INFLUENCE AND PRESSURE OVER SUPPOSEDLY INDEPENDENT
RESEARCH PERSONNEL.  MERRILL LYNCH DECIDED TO STOP BROADLY
SUPPORTING ITS AUCTION PROGRAM AND MARKED DOWN ITS OWN
INVENTORY OF ARS BUT DID NOT MARK DOWN THE ESTIMATED VALUE OF
THE ARS ON ITS CLIENTS' ACCOUNT STATEMENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW JERSEY BUREAU OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

MERRILL LYNCH WILL PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS BY
BUYING ELIGIBLE AUCTION RATE SECURITIES THAT HAVE FAILED AT
AUCTION AT LEAST ONCE BETWEEN FEBRUARY 13, 2008 AND THE DATE
OF THIS OFFER, AT PAR, IN THE MANNER DESCRIBED IN THE ORDER.

Date Initiated: 04/06/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2010-014

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS)

MERRILL LYNCH MARKETED AND SOLD ARS AS SAFE, LIQUID, SHORT
TERM INVESTMENTS.  MERRILL LYNCH USED AAA RATINGS AS A SELLING
POINT FOR ARS EVEN AFTER IT HAD ALLOWED CERTAIN AAA RATED ARS
TO FAIL.  MERRILL LYNCH'S ARS PROGRAM STANDS IN CONTRAST TO ITS
REPRESENTATIONS TO CUSTOMERS.  MERRILL LYNCH GENERATED
SIGNIFICANT FEES BY UNDERWRITING ARS WITH CONSTRICTIVE
MAXIMUM RATES AND SELLING THEM TO CLIENTS.  MERRILL LYNCH
CONSOLIDATED ERRORTS TO REDUCE INVENTORY AND USED IMPROPER
INFLUENCE AND PRESSURE OVER SUPPOSEDLY INDEPENDENT
RESEARCH PERSONNEL.  MERRILL LYNCH DECIDED TO STOP BROADLY
SUPPORTING ITS AUCTION PROGRAM AND MARKED DOWN ITS OWN
INVENTORY OF ARS BUT DID NOT MARK DOWN THE ESTIMATED VALUE OF
THE ARS ON ITS CLIENTS' ACCOUNT STATEMENTS.

Resolution Date: 04/06/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THE ORDER CONSTITUTES
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL CONDUCT IN THE SECURITIES BUSINESS.
MERRILL LYNCH'S CONDUCT DESCRIBED IN THE ORDER CONSTITUTES
FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS.

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH SHALL TENDER ARS BUYBACK OFFERS TO DEFINED
CLASSES OF INVESTORS.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CALCULATE INVESTOR
ASSET AMOUNTS AS OF AUGUST 7, 2008 FOR ALL ELIBIBLE INVESTORS
WITH ASSETS WITH MERRILL LYNCH AS OF THAT DATE.  FOR ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS WITH NO ASSETS AT MERRILL LYNCH AS OF THAT DATE,
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CALCULATE INVESTOR ASSET AMOUNTS AS OF
THE DATE SUCH INVESTOR REMOVED THEIR ASSETS FROM MERRILL
LYNCH.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL HAVE REASONABLY IDENTIFIED WHO
SOLD ELIGIBLE ARS BELOW PAR BETWEEN FEBRUARY 13, 2008 AND
OCTOBER 1, 2008 AND SHALL BE PAID BY MERRILL LYNCH THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH SUCH INVESTOR
SOLD ELIGIBLE ARS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $4,871,620.74

Consent
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MERRILL LYNCH SHALL TENDER ARS BUYBACK OFFERS TO DEFINED
CLASSES OF INVESTORS.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CALCULATE INVESTOR
ASSET AMOUNTS AS OF AUGUST 7, 2008 FOR ALL ELIBIBLE INVESTORS
WITH ASSETS WITH MERRILL LYNCH AS OF THAT DATE.  FOR ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS WITH NO ASSETS AT MERRILL LYNCH AS OF THAT DATE,
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CALCULATE INVESTOR ASSET AMOUNTS AS OF
THE DATE SUCH INVESTOR REMOVED THEIR ASSETS FROM MERRILL
LYNCH.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL HAVE REASONABLY IDENTIFIED WHO
SOLD ELIGIBLE ARS BELOW PAR BETWEEN FEBRUARY 13, 2008 AND
OCTOBER 1, 2008 AND SHALL BE PAID BY MERRILL LYNCH THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH SUCH INVESTOR
SOLD ELIGIBLE ARS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL BUREAU OF SECURITIES STATE OF
NEW JERSEY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/06/2010

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL BUREAU OF SECURITIES STATE
OF NEW JERSEY (BUREAU) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT CONSTITUTED DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL CONDUCT IN THE SECURITIES BUSINESS, AND FAILURE TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS, PURSUANT TO N.J.S.A. 49:3-
58(A)(2)(VII) AND (XI), RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/06/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE BUREAU IN WHICH IT AGREED TO PAY
THE BUREAU A CIVIL PENALTY OF $4,871,620.74, AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $4,871,620.74

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS ENTERED
INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE BUREAU IN WHICH IT AGREED TO PAY
THE BUREAU A CIVIL PENALTY OF $4,871,620.74, AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS. MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION. MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES. MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS. FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS. MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 260 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/02/2010

Docket/Case Number: 1004690

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CBOT ALLEGED THAT THE APPLICANT'S TIMESTAMP EXCEPTION RATE OF
9.63% FOR THE MONTH ENDING FEBRUARY 2010 EXCEEDED THE
ACCEPTABLE RATE WHICH IS IN VIOLATION OF CHICAGO MERCANTILE
EXCHANGE RULE 536.A.1.  SAID VIOLATION WAS THE FIFTH TIMESTAMP
EXCEPTION VIOLATION WITHIN THE LAST 12 MONTHS.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 03/25/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 261 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: KANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSIONER

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

DONATION TO KANSAS INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND

Date Initiated: 10/22/2009

Docket/Case Number: 10E008/2003-4709

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): MUNICIPAL BOND FUND

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH THE ACTIONS OF WILLIAM LODISE, ENGAGED
IN MISREPRESENTATION RELATED TO THE FIRM'S MAP PROGRAM AND
ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES BY MAKING AN
UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATION.  MERRILL LYNCH FAILED REASONABLY
TO SUPERVISE WILLIAM LODISE TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
KANSAS SECURITIES ACT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/22/2009

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: CONTRIBUTION TO THE INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND OF THE OFFICE OF
THE KANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSIONER

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO DISGORGE COMMISSIONS RECEIVED, IN THE
AMOUNT OF $4,321.58 AND TO MAKE A DONATION IN THE AMOUNT OF
$4,321.58 TO THE INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND OF THE OFFICE OF THE
KANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSIONER.

Regulator Statement MERRILL LYNCH THROUGH THE ACTIONS OF REPRESENTATIVE WILLIAM
LODISE MISREPRESENTED THE FIRM'S MAP PROGRAM BY STATING THAT
IT WAS NOT MANAGED WHEN IT WAS MANAGED BY AN AFFILIATE OF
MERRILL LYNCH, BY ADVISING THAT THE B SHARES WOULD CONVERT TO
D SHARES IN SIX YEARS WHEN THE TIME PERIOD FOR CONVERSION WAS
TEN YEARS AND THAT THE CLIENT WOULD WITHDRAW MONEY FROM THE
CD'S AT ANY TIME WHEN, IN FACT, SHE WAS NOT ALLOWED TO WITHDRAW
PRIOR TO THE MATURITY DATE.  MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH THE ACTIONS
OF REPRESENTATIVE WILLIAM LODISE, ALSO ENGAGED IN DISHONEST
AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES BY MAKING AN UNSUITABLE
RECOMMENDATION TO SELL ONE FUND PRODUCT AND PURCHASE
ANOTHER FUND PRODUCT WITH THE SAME INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES
BUT LOWER YIELD, THEREBY INCURRING A NEW SURRENDER PERIOD,
FEES AND HIGHER OPERATING EXPENSES.  MERRILL LYNCH FAILED
REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE WILLIAM LODISE TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE KANSAS SECURITIES ACT.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: KANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSIONER

Date Initiated: 10/22/2009

Docket/Case Number: 10E008/2003-4709

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH THE ACTIONS OF WILLIAM LODISE, ENGAGED
IN MISREPRESENTATION RELATED TO THE FIRM'S MAP PROGRAM AND
ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES BY MAKING AN
UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATION. MERRILL LYNCH FAILED REASONABLY
TO SUPERVISE WILLIAM LODISE TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
KANSAS SECURITIES ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

DONATION TO KANSAS INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND

Docket/Case Number: 10E008/2003-4709

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): MUNICIPAL BOND FUND

Resolution Date: 10/22/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CONTRIBUTION TO THE INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND OF THE OFFICE OF
THE KANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSIONER

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO DISGORGE COMMISSIONS RECEIVED, IN THE
AMOUNT OF $4,321.58 AND TO MAKE A DONATION IN THE AMOUNT OF
$4,321.58 TO THE INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND OF THE OFFICE OF THE
KANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSIONER.

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH THROUGH THE ACTIONS OF REPRESENTATIVE WILLIAM
LODISE MISREPRESENTED THE FIRM'S MAP PROGRAM BY STATING THAT
IT WAS NOT MANAGED WHEN IT WAS MANAGED BY AN AFFILIATE OF
MERRILL LYNCH, BY ADVISING THAT THE B SHARES WOULD CONVERT TO
D SHARES IN SIX YEARS WHEN THE TIME PERIOD FOR CONVERSION WAS
TEN YEARS AND THAT THE CLIENT WOULD WITHDRAW MONEY FROM THE
CD'S AT ANY TIME WHEN, IN FACT, SHE WAS NOT ALLOWED TO WITHDRAW
PRIOR TO THE MATURITY DATE. MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH THE ACTIONS
OF REPRESENTATIVE WILLIAM LODISE, MADE AN UNSUITABLE
RECOMMENDATION TO SELL ONE FUND PRODUCT AND PURCHASE
ANOTHER FUND PRODUCT WITH THE SAME INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES
BUT LOWER YIELD, THEREBY INCURRING A NEW SURRENDER PERIOD,
FEES AND HIGHER OPERATING EXPENSES. MR. LODISE HAS NOT BEEN
WITH MERRILL LYNCH SINCE 2003.

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Consent

Disclosure 262 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. ("MERRILL"), AN
EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION ASSOCIATED WITH A FLOOR BROKER
AND CLEARING MEMBER, WAS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000 FOR THE
FOLLOWING CONDUCT. MERRILL FAILED TO SYSTEMATIZE NUMEROUS
OPTION ORDERS PRIOR TO REPRESENTATION AND EXECUTION.  IN
ADDITION, MERRILL FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES TO ASSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULE 6.24 AND THE OBLIGATION TO
SYSTEMATIZE ALL NON-ELECTRONIC ORDERS. (VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULE 6.24) THE COMMITTEE DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE TO DISMISS THE
CHARGES RELATING TO THE ALLEGED VIOLATIONS 4.2 AGAINST MERRILL.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/08/2010

Docket/Case Number: 10-0014

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. ("MERRILL"), AN
EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION ASSOCIATED WITH A FLOOR BROKER
AND CLEARING MEMBER, WAS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000 FOR THE
FOLLOWING CONDUCT. MERRILL FAILED TO SYSTEMATIZE NUMEROUS
OPTION ORDERS PRIOR TO REPRESENTATION AND EXECUTION.  IN
ADDITION, MERRILL FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES TO ASSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULE 6.24 AND THE OBLIGATION TO
SYSTEMATIZE ALL NON-ELECTRONIC ORDERS. (VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULE 6.24) THE COMMITTEE DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE TO DISMISS THE
CHARGES RELATING TO THE ALLEGED VIOLATIONS 4.2 AGAINST MERRILL.

Resolution Date: 05/25/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLAR ($20,000) FINE AND A CENSURE.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. ("MERRILL"), AN
EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION ASSOCIATED WITH A FLOOR BROKER
AND CLEARING MEMBER, WAS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000 FOR THE
FOLLOWING CONDUCT. MERRILL FAILED TO SYSTEMATIZE NUMEROUS
OPTION ORDERS PRIOR TO REPRESENTATION AND EXECUTION. IN
ADDITION, MERRILL FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES TO ASSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULE 6.24 AND THE OBLIGATION TO
SYSTEMATIZE ALL NON-ELECTRONIC ORDERS. (VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULE 6.24) THE COMMITTEE DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE TO DISMISS THE
CHARGES RELATING TO THE ALLEGED VIOLATIONS 4.2 AGAINST MERRILL.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/02/2010

Docket/Case Number: 10-0014

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. ("MERRILL"), AN
EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION ASSOCIATED WITH A FLOOR BROKER
AND CLEARING MEMBER, WAS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000 FOR THE
FOLLOWING CONDUCT. MERRILL FAILED TO SYSTEMATIZE NUMEROUS
OPTION ORDERS PRIOR TO REPRESENTATION AND EXECUTION. IN
ADDITION, MERRILL FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES TO ASSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULE 6.24 AND THE OBLIGATION TO
SYSTEMATIZE ALL NON-ELECTRONIC ORDERS. (VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULE 6.24) THE COMMITTEE DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE TO DISMISS THE
CHARGES RELATING TO THE ALLEGED VIOLATIONS 4.2 AGAINST MERRILL.

Resolution Date: 05/25/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: A TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLAR ($20,000) FINE AND A CENSURE.

Firm Statement A TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLAR ($20,000) FINE AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 263 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF
MARYLAND

Date Initiated: 12/23/2009

Allegations: THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
OF MARYLAND (SECURITIES DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION
WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) IS SUBJECT TO SANCTION UNDER
SECTIONS 11-412(A)(7) AND (10) OF THE MARYLAND SECURITIES ACT (ACT)
FOR DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/23/2009

Docket/Case Number: SECURITIES DIVISION NO. 2009-0261

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 12/23/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT
AND TO CERTAIN UNDERSTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK
ELIGIBLE ARS FROM INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
SECURITIES DIVISION A CIVIL PENALTY OF $1,130,267.23, AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,130,267.23
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 264 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: UTAH DIVISION OF SECURITIES ("DIVISION")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/25/2010

Docket/Case Number: SD-10-0007 & SD-10-0008

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE
INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES
("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR
CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED
WITH ARS.  THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT,
APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THEIR
AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/25/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
STIPULATION AND CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE
PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OF $172,449.72 TO THE
STATE OF UTAH REPRESENTING UTAH'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL
PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES
AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR
CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $172,449.72
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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THE FIRMS HAVE PAID AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OF $172,449.72 TO THE
STATE OF UTAH REPRESENTING UTAH'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL
PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES
AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR
CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENY THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS AGREED TO
A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE
REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD
CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Disclosure 265 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FLORIDA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL REGULATION ("OFFICE")

Date Initiated: 02/16/2010

Allegations: THIS MATTER AROSE FROM A MULTI-STATE INVESTIGATION REGARDING
UNLICENSED ACTIVITY BY MERRILL LYNCH CA'S AND SUPERVISION
ISSUES WITH RESPECT TO THEIR REGISTRATION.  AS STATED IN A
CONSENT AGREEMENT DATED 2/16/2010, THE MULTI-STATE
INVESTIGATION FOUND THAT MANY CA'S WERE NOT PROPERLY
REGISTERED IN FLORIDA AS ASSOCIATED PERSONS OF MERRILL LYNCH
AND ALSO FOUND THAT CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH CA'S ENGAGED IN THE
SALE OF SECURITIES IN FLORIDA AT TIMES WHEN THE CA'S WERE NOT
APPROPRIATELY REGISTERED IN FLORIDA.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/16/2010

Docket/Case Number: 0462-S-10/09

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 02/16/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ON 2/16/2010, THE OFFICE ENTERED A FINAL ORDER ADOPTING THE
CONSENT AGREEMENT WHEREBY MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO THE
FOLLOWING: 1.) MAKE CERTAIN CHANGES IN ITS SUPERVISORY SYSTEM,
2.) AMEND ITS REGISTRATION POLICY TO REQUIRE THAT EACH CA
MIRROR THE STATE REGISTRATIONS FOR THE OTHER ASSOCIATED
PERSONS THEY SUPPORTED, 3.) DEVELOP A TEMPORARY REPORT TO
MONITOR CA REGISTRATIONS, 4.) REGISTER 775 CA'S WITH THE STATE OF
FLORIDA, AND; 5.) AS A COMPIANCE ENHANCEMENT, DEVELOP AN
ELECTRONIC SYSTEM TO PREVENT A PERSON FROM ENTERING CLIENT
ORDERS FROM A STATE IN WHICH THE PERSON ACCEPTING THE ORDER
IS NOT REGISTERED.

Sanction Details: THE ADMINISTRATIVE FINE AMOUNT OF $640,700.00 REPRESENTS THE
STATE OF FLORIDA'S PRO RATA SHARE OF THE $26,563,094.50 TOTAL IN
FINES, PENALTIES AND OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Regulator Statement PER THE OFFICE'S FINAL ORDER DATED 2/16/2010, MERRILL LYNCH
AGREED TO UNDERTAKE THE FOLLOWING: 1.) IMMEDIATELY ESTABLISH
AND MAINTAIN A TRADE MONITORING SYSTEM THAT PREVENTS ANY
PERSON FROM ENTERING CLIENT ORDERS THAT ORIGINATE FROM
JURISDICTIONS WHERE THE PERSON ACCEPTING THE ORDER IS NOT
APPROPRIATELY REGISTERED, 2.) FILE WITH THE OFFICE WITHIN 60 DAYS
OF THE DATE OF THE FINAL ORDER A REPORT DESCRIBING MERRILL
LYNCH'S IMPROVEMENTS IN ITS ABILITY TO MONITOR THE IDENTITY AND
REGISTRATION STATUS OF EACH PERSON WHO ACCEPTS A CLIENT
ORDER ENTERED ON THE FIRM'S TRADING SYSTEM, AND; 3.) FOR THE
PERIOD FROM THE DATE OF THE FINAL ORDER ADOPTING AND
INCORPORATING THE
AGREEMENT THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2010, TO NOTIFY THE
OFFICE IF IT FINDS THAT ANY ASSOCIATED PERSON ACCEPTED A CLIENT
ORDER IN FLORIDA WITHOUT BEING REGISTERED, OR EXEMPT FROM
REGISTRATION WITH THE OFFICE.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $640,700.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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PER THE OFFICE'S FINAL ORDER DATED 2/16/2010, MERRILL LYNCH
AGREED TO UNDERTAKE THE FOLLOWING: 1.) IMMEDIATELY ESTABLISH
AND MAINTAIN A TRADE MONITORING SYSTEM THAT PREVENTS ANY
PERSON FROM ENTERING CLIENT ORDERS THAT ORIGINATE FROM
JURISDICTIONS WHERE THE PERSON ACCEPTING THE ORDER IS NOT
APPROPRIATELY REGISTERED, 2.) FILE WITH THE OFFICE WITHIN 60 DAYS
OF THE DATE OF THE FINAL ORDER A REPORT DESCRIBING MERRILL
LYNCH'S IMPROVEMENTS IN ITS ABILITY TO MONITOR THE IDENTITY AND
REGISTRATION STATUS OF EACH PERSON WHO ACCEPTS A CLIENT
ORDER ENTERED ON THE FIRM'S TRADING SYSTEM, AND; 3.) FOR THE
PERIOD FROM THE DATE OF THE FINAL ORDER ADOPTING AND
INCORPORATING THE
AGREEMENT THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2010, TO NOTIFY THE
OFFICE IF IT FINDS THAT ANY ASSOCIATED PERSON ACCEPTED A CLIENT
ORDER IN FLORIDA WITHOUT BEING REGISTERED, OR EXEMPT FROM
REGISTRATION WITH THE OFFICE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF FLORIDA, OFFICE OF FINANCIAL REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/16/2010

Docket/Case Number: NO. 0462-S-10/05

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF FLORIDA, OFFICE OF FINANCIAL REGULATION (OFFICE)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
FLORIDA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN FLORIDA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED
WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY NOT REQUIRING ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED
IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 517.
161(1)(H), FLORIDA STATUTES AND RULE 69W-600.013(1)(H)1, WHICH
INCORPORATE NASD CONDUCT RULE 3010.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/16/2010

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $640,700.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT AGREEMENT
WITH THE OFFICE IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN FLORIDA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OFFICE $640,700.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE OFFICE DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE OFFICE OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $640,700.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 266 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/02/2010

Docket/Case Number: 1004611

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CBOT ALLEGED THAT THE APPLICANT'S TIMESTAMP EXCEPTION RATE OF
16.39% FOR THE MONTH ENDING JANUARY 2010 EXCEEDED THE
ACCEPTABLE RATE WHICH IS IN VIOLATION OF CHICAGO MERCANTILE
EXCHANGE RULE 536.A.1.  SAID VIOLATION WAS THE FIFTH TIMESTAMP
EXCEPTION VIOLATION WITHIN THE LAST 12 MONTHS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Settled

701©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 02/26/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 267 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/24/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2006005526601

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULE 6955(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO THE
ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) THAT THE OATS SYSTEM WAS
UNABLE TO LINK TO THE CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER TRANSMITTED
BY THE DESTINATION MEMBER FIRM OR LINK TO THE RELATED ORDER
ROUTED TO NASDAQ DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA. THE FIRM FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT REPORTABLE
ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO OATS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/24/2010

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $55,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $55,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 02/24/2010

Docket/Case Number: 2006005526601

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULE 6955(A) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
TRANSMITTED ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS TO THE
ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS) THAT THE OATS SYSTEM WAS
UNABLE TO LINK TO THE CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER TRANSMITTED
BY THE DESTINATION MEMBER FIRM OR LINK TO THE RELATED ORDER
ROUTED TO NASDAQ DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA. THE FIRM FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT REPORTABLE
ORDER EVENTS (ROES) TO OATS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/24/2010

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $55,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $55,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $55,000.

Disclosure 268 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW MEXICO SECURITIES DIVISION ("DIVISION")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/16/2010

Docket/Case Number: 09-09-029-069

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE
INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES
("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR
CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED
WITH ARS.  THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT,
APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THEIR
AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/16/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT
AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF
THOSE ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $112,792.35
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT
AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF
THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A CIVIL PENALTY AND MADE A CONTRIBUTION TO
THE INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST.  THE PENALTY AND DONATION
TOTALED $112,792.35, REPRESENTING NEW MEXICO'S PORTION OF A
TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG
THE STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR
ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENY THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS AGREED TO
A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE
REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD
CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Disclosure 269 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL
AFFILIATE INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF
THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY
ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH
THIS CONDUCT, APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE ENGAGED IN
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE THEIR AGENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: ARKANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSIONER ("COMMISSIONER")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/12/2010

Docket/Case Number: S-09-024-09-C004

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL
AFFILIATE INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES ("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF
THEIR CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY
ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH
THIS CONDUCT, APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE ENGAGED IN
DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE THEIR AGENTS.

Resolution Date: 02/12/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT
AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF
THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A CIVIL PENALTY AND MADE A CONTRIBUTION TO
THE ARKANSAS STATE FUND AT THE INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST.  THE
PENALTY AND CONTRIBUTION TOTALED $106,705.79, REPRESENTING
ARKANSAS' PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL
BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER
INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO
ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENY THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS AGREED TO
A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE
REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD
CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $106,705.79
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENY THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS AGREED TO
A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE
REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD
CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Disclosure 270 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: DIVISION OF SECURITIES OF THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS ("DIVISION")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/10/2010

Docket/Case Number: S-09147(EX)

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE
INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES
("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR
CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED
WITH ARS.  THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT,
APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THEIR
AGENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 02/10/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE
PURCHASE OF THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A MONETARY PENALTY OF $433,809.40 TO THE
STATE OF WISCONSIN REPRESENTING WISCONSIN'S PORTION OF A TOTAL
CIVIL PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE
STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR
ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENY THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS AGREED TO
A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE
REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD
CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $433,809.40
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENY THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS AGREED TO
A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE
REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD
CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Disclosure 271 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW JERSEY BUREAU OF SECURITIES ("BUREAU")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/05/2010

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE BUREAU ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE
INAPPROPRIATELY MARKETED AND SOLD AUCTION RATE SECURITIES
("ARS") WITHOUT ADEQUATELY INFORMING CERTAIN OF THEIR
CUSTOMERS OF THE INCREASED RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY ASSOCIATED
WITH ARS.  THE BUREAU ALLEGED THAT, THROUGH THIS CONDUCT,
APPLICANT AND ITS CONTROL AFFILIATE ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL CONDUCT IN THE SECURITIES BUSINESS AND FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE THEIR AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/05/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13 BELOW).  THE APPLICANT AND ITS
CONTROL AFFILIATE (TOGETHER, "THE FIRMS") HAVE ALSO, THROUGH
THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE INVESTMENTS, L.L.C. ("BLUE RIDGE"),
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS," AS DEFINED IN THE
CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER"), CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT
AUCTION, AND HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLETED THE PURCHASE OF
THOSE ARS.

Sanction Details: THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A CIVIL PENALTY OF $1,268,393.30 TO THE STATE OF
NEW JERSEY REPRESENTING NEW JERSEY'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL
PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES
AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR
CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,268,393.30
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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THE FIRMS HAVE PAID A CIVIL PENALTY OF $1,268,393.30 TO THE STATE OF
NEW JERSEY REPRESENTING NEW JERSEY'S PORTION OF A TOTAL CIVIL
PENALTY OF $50,000,000 THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE STATES
AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR ADMINISTRATIVE OR
CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATED TO ARS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENY THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRMS AGREED TO
A SERIES OF UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE RELIEF TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE FIRMS, THROUGH THEIR AFFILIATE BLUE RIDGE, HAVE
OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED AND UNPAID INTEREST
OR DIVIDENDS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE
FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO USE
REASONABLE EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD
CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY SUCH INVESTORS THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD THE
SECURITIES.  IN ADDITION, THE FIRMS ARE ENDEAVORING TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM THE FIRMS
THAT WERE SECURED BY ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN, AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST PAID ON THE ARS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO AGREED TO
PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, THE FIRMS AGREED TO REFUND CERTAIN REFINANCING
FEES TO MUNICIPAL AUCTION RATE ISSUERS THAT ISSUED SUCH ARS
THROUGH THE FIRMS.  THE FIRMS HAVE ALSO UNDERTAKEN TO MAKE
THEIR BEST EFFORTS TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO SEEK TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS."

Disclosure 272 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COLORADO DIVISION OF SECURITIES (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN COLORADO BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN COLORADO,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 11-51-410(1)(I), C.R.S., FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS
CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 11-51-410(1)(I), C.R.S., WHICH CONSTITUTED A
FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND
SOLD SECURITIES IN COLORADO THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS, WHICH
CONSTITUTED A VIOLATION OF SECTION 11-51-401(2), C.R.S.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COLORADO DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/01/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 10-L-15

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE COLORADO DIVISION OF SECURITIES (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN COLORADO BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN COLORADO,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 11-51-410(1)(I), C.R.S., FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS
CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 11-51-410(1)(I), C.R.S., WHICH CONSTITUTED A
FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND
SOLD SECURITIES IN COLORADO THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS, WHICH
CONSTITUTED A VIOLATION OF SECTION 11-51-401(2), C.R.S.

Resolution Date: 02/01/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A STIPULATION FOR
CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A
CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN COLORADO THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
DIVISION $180,262.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF
FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF
$26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $180,262.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 273 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: ON JANUARY 25, 2010, THE SECURITIES DIVISION ENTERED INTO A
CONSENT ORDER WITH MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("RESPONDENT"), IN CONNECTION WITH RESPONDENT'S
ALLEGED FAILURE TO PROPERLY REGISTER ITS CLIENT ASSOCIATES IN
NECESSARY JURISDICTIONS, INCLUDING WASHINGTON STATE. THE
DIVISION ALLEGED THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS BY NOT ESTABLISHING AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS AND BY NOT ENFORCING ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES REGARDING THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF
CLIENT ASSOCIATES. THE DIVISION FURTHER ALLEGED THAT SUCH
CONDUCT RESULTED IN RESPONDENT'S EMPLOYMENT OF
UNREGISTERED SECURITIES SALESPERSONS. RESPONDENT NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS, BUT AGREED TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON.
RESPONDENT AGREED TO PAY $490,320 AS A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY.
RESPONDENT WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO A HEARING AND TO JUDICIAL REVIEW
OF THIS MATTER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: WASHINGTON

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/25/2010

Docket/Case Number: S-09-397-09-CO01

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON JANUARY 25, 2010, THE SECURITIES DIVISION ENTERED INTO A
CONSENT ORDER WITH MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("RESPONDENT"), IN CONNECTION WITH RESPONDENT'S
ALLEGED FAILURE TO PROPERLY REGISTER ITS CLIENT ASSOCIATES IN
NECESSARY JURISDICTIONS, INCLUDING WASHINGTON STATE. THE
DIVISION ALLEGED THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS BY NOT ESTABLISHING AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS AND BY NOT ENFORCING ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES REGARDING THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF
CLIENT ASSOCIATES. THE DIVISION FURTHER ALLEGED THAT SUCH
CONDUCT RESULTED IN RESPONDENT'S EMPLOYMENT OF
UNREGISTERED SECURITIES SALESPERSONS. RESPONDENT NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS, BUT AGREED TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON.
RESPONDENT AGREED TO PAY $490,320 AS A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY.
RESPONDENT WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO A HEARING AND TO JUDICIAL REVIEW
OF THIS MATTER.

Resolution Date: 01/25/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE
SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON AND SHALL COMPLY WITH THE
SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON.  HOWEVER, IF ANY STATE SECURITIES
REGULATOR DETERMINES NOT TO ACCEPT MERRILL LYNCH'S
SETTLEMENT OFFER, THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE PAYMENT TO THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON SHALL NOT BE AFFECTED, AND SHALL REMAIN AT
FOUR HUNDRED NINETY THOUSAND, THREE HUNDRED AND TWENTY
DOLLARS ($490,320.00).

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $490,320.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE
SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON AND SHALL COMPLY WITH THE
SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON.  HOWEVER, IF ANY STATE SECURITIES
REGULATOR DETERMINES NOT TO ACCEPT MERRILL LYNCH'S
SETTLEMENT OFFER, THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE PAYMENT TO THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON SHALL NOT BE AFFECTED, AND SHALL REMAIN AT
FOUR HUNDRED NINETY THOUSAND, THREE HUNDRED AND TWENTY
DOLLARS ($490,320.00).

Sanction Details: N/A

Regulator Statement JANET SO - 360-902-8783

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/25/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NUMBER S-09-397-09-CO01

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH
THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN WASHINGTON BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES
(CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN WASHINGTON, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, FAILED TO REQUIRE
ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH
CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, AND EMPLOYED UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
SALESPERSONS IN VIOLATION OF RCW 21.20.040(2).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/25/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $490,320.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING THE SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON, TO COMPLY WITH THE
SECURITIES ACT OF WASHINGTON, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
$490,320.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 274 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 01/26/2010

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 2010-0003

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MASSACHUSETTS BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN
MASSACHUSETTS, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM
TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING
CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS/EMPLOYEES IN VIOLATION OF THE
MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT §204(A)(2)(J), FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND EMPLOYED UNREGISTERED
AGENTS AND/OR SALES REPRESENTATIVES IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS
201(A) AND (B).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 01/26/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MASSACHUSETTS
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $860,350.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $860,350.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 275 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE STATE OF KANSAS OFFICE OF THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER
(OFFICE) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES
IN KANSAS BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN KANSAS, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF KANSAS ADMINISTRATIVE
REGULATIONS 81-3-7, GROUNDS FOR DISCIPLINE UNDER K.S.A. 17-1.
2A412(D)(9) FOR FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE, FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, GROUNDS FOR DISCIPLINE
UNDER K.S.A. 17-1-2A412(D)(9) AND VIOLATED K.S.A. 17-402(D) FOR THE
SALE OF SECURITIES THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF KANSAS OFFICE OF THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/14/2010

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 10 E 010, KSC NO. 2010-5667

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE STATE OF KANSAS OFFICE OF THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER
(OFFICE) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES
IN KANSAS BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN KANSAS, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF KANSAS ADMINISTRATIVE
REGULATIONS 81-3-7, GROUNDS FOR DISCIPLINE UNDER K.S.A. 17-1.
2A412(D)(9) FOR FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE, FAILED TO
REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, GROUNDS FOR DISCIPLINE
UNDER K.S.A. 17-1-2A412(D)(9) AND VIOLATED K.S.A. 17-402(D) FOR THE
SALE OF SECURITIES THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS.

Resolution Date: 01/14/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE OFFICE IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN KANSAS THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OFFICE $419,935.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE OFFICE DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE OFFICE OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $419,935.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: STATE OF RHODE ISLAND DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/13/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 10-006

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION
(DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING
AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER
CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) VIOLATED SECTION 7-11-212(B)(8) AND (B)(11), FOR DISHONEST
OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE, RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/13/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE RHODE ISLAND UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT (RIUSA), TO COMPLY WITH THE RIUSA AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $288,141.30, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING
CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $288,141.30
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 277 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEW MEXICO REGULATION AND LICENSING DEPARTMENT
SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/06/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 09-09-030-065

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF NEW MEXICO REGULATION AND LICENSING DEPARTMENT
SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH
THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED SECTION 58-13B-16A(2)(H) AND
(K) OF THE NEW MEXICO SECURITIES ACT OF 1986 (ACT).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/06/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $608,052.92
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT
AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK
ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
COMMISSION A CIVIL PENALTY OF $608,052.92 AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 278 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ARKANSAS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Date Initiated: 01/08/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. S-09-024-09-C003

Principal Product Type: Other

Allegations: THE ARKANSAS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT
IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED ARKANSAS
CODE ANN. SECTIONS 23-42-308(A)(2)(G) AND (J).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 01/08/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ARKANSAS SECURITIES ACT
(ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM INVESTORS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSION A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$402,331.47, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $402,331.47
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/15/2010

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. S-09141(EX)

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
DIVISION OF SECURITIES (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH
THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED SECTION 551.34(1)(G) AND (J),
WIS. STATS., FOR ENGAGING IN DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN
THE SECURITIES BUSINESS AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES,
RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/15/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE WISCONSIN UNIFORM
SECURITIES LAW (WUSL), TO COMPLY WITH THE WUSL AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$1,155,234.37, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,155,234.37
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 280 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: INDIANA SECRETARY OF STATE, SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 01/12/2010

Docket/Case Number: CAUSE NO. 09-0227 CO

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE INDIANA SECRETARY OF STATE, SECURITIES DIVISION ("DIVISION")
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
INDIANA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN INDIANA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS, AND TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN
THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF
IND. CODE SECTION 23-19-4-12(D)(9), AND EMPLOYED OR ASSOCIATED
WITH UNREGISTERED AGENTS IN VIOLATION OF IND. CODE SECTION 23-
19-4-2(D).

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 01/12/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN INDIANA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $304,075.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $304,075.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 281 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEW MEXICO REGULATION AND LICENSING DEPARTMENT
SECURITIES DIVISION

Allegations: THE STATE OF NEW MEXICO REGULATION AND LICENSING DEPARTMENT
SECURITIES DIVISION ("DIVISION") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH
THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEW MEXICO BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES
(CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN NEW MEXICO, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND TO REQUIRE ITS
CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH
CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF 12.11.4.10 NMAC AND SOLD SECURITIES
THROUGH UNREGISTERED CAS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 58-13B-3 OF
THE NEW MEXICO SECURITIES ACT OF 1986.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF NEW MEXICO REGULATION AND LICENSING DEPARTMENT
SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/06/2010

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 09-09-050-066

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 01/06/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEW MEXICO THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION $485,160.00, AS
PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY
OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $485,160.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 282 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
("COMMISSION") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING
AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER
CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) VIOLATED RULES 21 VAC 5-20-260 A AND B OF THE COMMISSION'S
RULES FOR FAILURE TO SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS AND RULES 21 VAC 5-20-
280 A3 AND E12 FOR DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN THE
SECURITIES BUSINESS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/14/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. SEC-2009-00065

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
("COMMISSION") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING
AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER
CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) VIOLATED RULES 21 VAC 5-20-260 A AND B OF THE COMMISSION'S
RULES FOR FAILURE TO SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS AND RULES 21 VAC 5-20-
280 A3 AND E12 FOR DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN THE
SECURITIES BUSINESS.

Resolution Date: 12/14/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED TO
REFRAIN FROM VIOLATING THE VIRGINIA SECURITIES ACT, TO COMPLY
WITH THE ACT AND THE COMMISSION'S RULES IN THE FUTURE, AND TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
COMMISSION A CIVIL PENALTY OF $1,367,869.47, AS PART OF A
$125,000 ,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION. MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES. MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS. FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN AIRS THROUGH MLPFS. MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,367,869.47
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION. MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES. MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS. FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN AIRS THROUGH MLPFS. MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 283 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VIRGINIA - DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/16/2009

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2009-00122

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE FENNER & SMITH, INC. WAS ALLEGED TO HAVE
EMPLOYED CLIENT ASSOCIATES ("CA'S") THAT EFFECTED OR ACTED IN A
MANNER TO BE CONSTRUED AS UNDERTAKING TO EFFECT SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS WITH RETAIL CLIENTS WITHOUT BEING REGISTERED,
PURSUANT TO SECTION 13.1-504 A AND B OF THE VIRGINIA SECURITIES
ACT. THE FIRM WAS ALSO ALLEGED TO HAVE VIOLATED COMMISSION
RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B FOR THE FAILURE TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND
ENFORCE REASONABLY DESIGNED PROCEDURES TO INSURE THAT CA'S
WHO TOOK CUSTOMER ORDERS WERE IN COMPLIANCE WITH
JURISDICTIONAL REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND ITS OWN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/16/2009

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 12/16/2009

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FINE AMOUNT OF $425,020.00 WAS THE AMOUNT DUE TO VIRGINIA IN
AN AGREED UPON SETTLEMENT WITH ALL 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA, THE COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO, AND THE US VIRGIN
ISLANDS. THE TOTAL FINES/PENALTIES CALCULATED BY THE MULTI-STATE
WORKING GROUP FOR THE SETTLEMENT WAS $26,563,094.50.

Sanction Details: SAME AS ABOVE

Regulator Statement MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE FENNER & SMITH, INC. WAS ALLEGED TO HAVE
EMPLOYED CLIENT ASSOCIATES ("CA'S") THAT EFFECTED OR ACTED IN A
MANNER TO BE CONSTRUED AS UNDERTAKING TO EFFECT SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS WITH RETAIL CLIENTS WITHOUT BEING REGISTERED,
PURSUANT TO SECTION 13.1-504 A AND B OF THE VIRGINIA SECURITIES
ACT. THE FIRM WAS ALSO ALLEGED TO HAVE VIOLATED COMMISSION
RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B FOR THE FAILURE TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND
ENFORCE REASONABLY DESIGNED PROCEDURES TO INSURE THAT CA'S
WHO TOOK CUSTOMER ORDERS WERE IN COMPLIANCE WITH
JURISDICTIONAL REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND ITS OWN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES. THE FINE AMOUNT OF $425,020.00 WAS THE
AMOUNT DUE TO VIRGINIA IN AN AGREED UPON SETTLEMENT WITH ALL 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, THE COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO
RICO, AND THE US VIRGIN ISLANDS. THE TOTAL FINES/PENALTIES
CALCULATED BY THE MULTI-STATE WORKING GROUP FOR THE
SETTLEMENT WAS $26,563,094.50. MERRILL LYNCH NEITHER ADMITTED
NOR DENIED THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
CONTAINED IN THE ORDER. CONTACT KEVIN FURR AT 804-371-9081 FOR
FURTHER INFORMATION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $425,020.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
("COMMISSION") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN VIRGINIA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE
NOT REGISTERED IN VIRGINIA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF
PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A
VIOLATION OF COMMISSION RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260B FOR FAILURE TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE REASONABLY DESIGNED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES AND FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN
THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/16/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. SEC-2009-00122

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
("COMMISSION") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN VIRGINIA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE
NOT REGISTERED IN VIRGINIA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF
PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A
VIOLATION OF COMMISSION RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260B FOR FAILURE TO
ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE REASONABLY DESIGNED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES AND FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN
THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES.

Resolution Date: 12/16/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE COMMISSION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSION $425,020.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE COMMISSION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
COMMISSION OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $425,020.00

Consent

Disclosure 284 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: STATE OF RHODE ISLAND DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/02/2009

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION
("DEPARTMENT") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN RHODE ISLAND BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN RHODE ISLAND, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF §7-11-
212(B)(11) OF THE RHODE ISLAND UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT ("RIUSA"),
FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND VIOLATED §7-11-201(A) OF
THE RIUSA FOR THE EMPLOYMENT OF UNLICENSED SALES
REPRESENTATIVES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/02/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN RHODE ISLAND
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $339,750.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $339,750.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 285 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/16/2009

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 09084

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA SECURITIES DIVISION ("DIVISION")
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN SOUTH
CAROLINA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN SOUTH CAROLINA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF
PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTED A FAILURE
TO ESTABLISH A REASONABLY DESIGNED SUPERVISORY SYSTEM, AND TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY NOT REQUIRING
ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS IN
VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE OF REGULATIONS 13-501(A)(21), AND VIOLATED
S.C. CODE ANN. SECTION 35-1-402(D) FOR THE EMPLOYMENT OF
UNLICENSED AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/16/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS, REPRIMAND.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN SOUTH
CAROLINA THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION
$1,092,970.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,092,970.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN SOUTH
CAROLINA THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION
$1,092,970.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 286 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF MONTANA SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/14/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. SEC-2009-78

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF MONTANA SECURITIES DEPARTMENT ("DEPARTMENT")
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
MONTANA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN MONTANA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF MONT. CODE ANN. § 30-10-
201(13)(K) AND TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY
NOT REQUIRING ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, AND VIOLATED MONT. CODE ANN. § 30-10-201 FOR THE
EMPLOYMENT OF UNLICENSED AGENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 12/14/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT AGREEMENT
AND FINAL ORDER WITH THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A
REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF
SECURITIES  IN MONTANA THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
DEPARTMENT $340,100.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF
FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF
$26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $340,100.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 287 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ARIZONA CORPORATION COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 11/30/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. S-03497A-09-0439

Allegations: THE ARIZONA CORPORATION COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ARIZONA BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN
ARIZONA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO
MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT
ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO SUPERVISE IN VIOLATION
OF A.R.S. § 44-1961(A)(12) AND FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES
A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. S-03497A-09-0439

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 11/30/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE COMMISSION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ARIZONA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSION $344,400.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $344,400.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 288 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS, DIVISION OF SECURITIES ("DFI"), ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN KENTUCKY BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN KENTUCKY,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND
FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF KRS 292.
330(13)(A)9A, AND VIOLATED KRS 292.330(1) FOR THE EMPLOYMENT OF
UNLICENSED SALES REPRESENTATIVES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS, SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/03/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. 2009-AH-98

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS, DIVISION OF SECURITIES ("DFI"), ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN KENTUCKY BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN KENTUCKY,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND
FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF KRS 292.
330(13)(A)9A, AND VIOLATED KRS 292.330(1) FOR THE EMPLOYMENT OF
UNLICENSED SALES REPRESENTATIVES.

Resolution Date: 12/03/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DFI IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN KENTUCKY THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DFI $433,850.00 AS PART OF
A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER
MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DFI DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DFI OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $433,850.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Disclosure 289 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 12/01/2009

Docket/Case Number: CO-2009-0039

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON DECEMBER 1, 2009 THE ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION AND
MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE FENNER & SMITH, INC. ENTERED INTO A
CONSENT ORDER TO RESOLVE THE OUTSTANDING ISSUES
SURROUNDING THE NON-REGISTRATION OF CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH
CLIENT ASSOCIATES.  MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO PAY $300,000.00 IN
INVESTIGATIVE COSTS, $15,000.00 TO INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST AND
$10,200 TO NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES ADMINISTRATORS
ASSOCIATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/01/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO PAY $300,000.00 IN INVESTIGATIVE COSTS,
$15,000.00 TO INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST AND $10,200 TO NORTH
AMERICAN SECURITIES ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION.

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO PAY $300,000.00 IN INVESTIGATIVE COSTS,
$15,000.00 TO INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST AND $10,200 TO NORTH
AMERICAN SECURITIES ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION.

Regulator Statement ON DECEMBER 1, 2009 THE ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION AND
MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE FENNER & SMITH, INC. ENTERED INTO A
CONSENT ORDER TO RESOLVE THE OUTSTANDING ISSUES
SURROUNDING THE NON-REGISTRATION OF CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH
CLIENT ASSOCIATES.  MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO PAY $300,000.00 IN
INVESTIGATIVE COSTS, $15,000.00 TO INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST AND
$10,200 TO NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES ADMINISTRATORS
ASSOCIATION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Consent
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Regulator Statement ON DECEMBER 1, 2009 THE ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION AND
MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE FENNER & SMITH, INC. ENTERED INTO A
CONSENT ORDER TO RESOLVE THE OUTSTANDING ISSUES
SURROUNDING THE NON-REGISTRATION OF CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH
CLIENT ASSOCIATES.  MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO PAY $300,000.00 IN
INVESTIGATIVE COSTS, $15,000.00 TO INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST AND
$10,200 TO NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES ADMINISTRATORS
ASSOCIATION.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/01/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO: CO-2009-0039

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") ALLEGED THAT
IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ALABAMA BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN ALABAMA,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS,
WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
AND/OR REASONABLY DESIGNED PROCEDURES, FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS
CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH
CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF CODE OF ALABAMA 1975, §8-6-3(A), AND
EMPLOYED UNREGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES FOR THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN ALABAMA.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/01/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $325,200.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE COMMISSION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN ALABAMA THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSION $325,200.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE COMMISSION
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 290 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/03/2009

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA SECURITIES DEPARTMENT
("DEPARTMENT") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN NORTH DAKOTA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN NORTH DAKOTA, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTES
A FAILURE TO SUPERVISE IN VIOLATION OF N.D.C.C. § 10-04-11(1)(M), AND
FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 12/03/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NORTH DAKOTA
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $187,960.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $187,960.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 291 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION
("DEPARTMENT") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN RHODE ISLAND BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN RHODE ISLAND, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF §7-11-
212(B)(11) OF THE RHODE ISLAND UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT ("RIUSA"),
FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND VIOLATED §7-11-201(A) OF
THE RIUSA FOR THE EMPLOYMENT OF UNLICENSED SALES
REPRESENTATIVES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF RHODE ISLAND DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/02/2009

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS REGULATION
("DEPARTMENT") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN RHODE ISLAND BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN RHODE ISLAND, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF §7-11-
212(B)(11) OF THE RHODE ISLAND UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT ("RIUSA"),
FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE
JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, AND VIOLATED §7-11-201(A) OF
THE RIUSA FOR THE EMPLOYMENT OF UNLICENSED SALES
REPRESENTATIVES.

Resolution Date: 12/02/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN RHODE ISLAND
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $339,750.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $339,750.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 292 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS ("DEPARTMENT")
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
CALIFORNIA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN CALIFORNIA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES
A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN
VIOLATION OF CORPORATIONS CODE SECTIONS 25210 AND TITLE 10, CH.
3, SECTIONS 260.10 AND 260.218.4 OF THE CALIFORNINA CODE OF
REGULATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/01/2009

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS ("DEPARTMENT")
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
CALIFORNIA BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT
REGISTERED IN CALIFORNIA, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES
A FAILURE TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, IN
VIOLATION OF CORPORATIONS CODE SECTIONS 25210 AND TITLE 10, CH.
3, SECTIONS 260.10 AND 260.218.4 OF THE CALIFORNINA CODE OF
REGULATIONS.

Resolution Date: 12/01/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN CALIFORNIA
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $208,525.00,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $208,525.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 293 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS OF PUERTO
RICO

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING; REPRIMAND

Date Initiated: 11/30/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. C09-V-011

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS OF
PUERTO RICO ("OCFT") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE
OF SECURITIES IN PUERTO RICO BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN PUERTO RICO, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION
STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS AND FAILED TO
ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN PROCEDURES, WHICH CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION
UNDER ARTICLE 201(A)(2)(J) AND ARTICLE 28 OF REGULATION NO. 6078.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/30/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE OCFT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN PUERTO RICO
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OCFT $486,550.00, AS PART
OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER
MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND
THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $486,550.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE OCFT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN PUERTO RICO
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OCFT $486,550.00, AS PART
OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER
MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND
THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE OCFT DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE OCFT OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 294 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF HAWAII DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AND CONSUMER AFFAIRS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/01/2009

Docket/Case Number: SEU-2009-46

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF HAWAII DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AND CONSUMER
AFFAIRS ("DEPARTMENT") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE
OF SECURITIES IN HAWAII BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER
& SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE
NOT REGISTERED IN HAWAII, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE
SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS
ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF §§ 485-15(10) AND 485A-
412(D)(9), HRS AND FAILED TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN
THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/01/2009

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $309,512.50
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DEPARTMENT IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN HAWAII
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT $309,512.50,
AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND
ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,
PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DEPARTMENT
DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE
DEPARTMENT OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 295 of 595
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 11/16/2009

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL"),
AN EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION, WAS CENSURED AND FINED
$150,000.  IN ADDITION, THE BCC ORDERED AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING
MERRILL TO PROVIDE THE EXCHANGE WITH A CERTIFICATION WITHIN
THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER
THAT MERRILL HAS CORRECTED THE SYSTEMS PROBLEMS LEADING TO
THIS CASE, THAT ALL INFORMATION REPORTED TO THE EXCHANGE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 4.13(A) IS ACCURATE AND IS BEING SUBMITTED
ON A TIMELY BASIS, AND THAT RESPONDENT IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE
EXCHANGE OF ANY INACCURACIES IN ANY REPORTS SUBMITTED
PURSUANT TO RULE 4.13(A).  DURING ALL RELEVANT PERIODS HEREIN,
EXCHANGE MEMBERS WERE REQUIRED TO SUBMIT TO THE LARGE
OPTIONS POSITION REPORT ALL CUSTOMER POSITIONS, WHICH
NUMBERED 200 CONTRACTS OR MORE IN ANY SINGLE OPTION CLASS
LISTED ON THE EXCHANGE ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET ALONG
WITH THEIR CUSTOMER'S NAME, ADDRESS, AND SOCIAL SECURITY
NUMBER OR TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER.  MERRILL FAILED TO
PROPERLY SUBMIT ALL REQUIRED ACCOUNT INFORMATION FOR
APPROXIMATELY 1,346 ACCOUNTS TO THE LARGE OPTIONS POSITION
REPORT. (CBOE RULE 4.13(A) - REPORTS RELATED TO POSITION LIMITS.)

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/16/2009

Docket/Case Number: 09-0045

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/13/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING RESPONDENT TO PROVIDE THE EXCHANGE
WITH A CERTIFICATION WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF
THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER THAT RESPONDENT HAS CORRECTED THE
SYSTEMS PROBLEMS LEADING TO THIS CASE, THAT ALL INFORMATION
REPORTED TO THE EXCHANGE IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 4.13(A) IS
ACCURATE AND IS BEING SUBMITTED ON A TIMELY BASIS, AND THAT
RESPONDENT IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE EXCHANGE OF ANY
INACCURACIES IN ANY REPORTS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO RULE 4.13(A).

Sanction Details: A $150,000 FINE, A CENSURE AND AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING
RESPONDENT TO PROVIDE THE EXCHANGE WITH A CERTIFICATION
WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION IN THIS
MATTER THAT RESPONDENT HAS CORRECTED THE SYSTEMS PROBLEMS
LEADING TO THIS CASE, THAT ALL INFORMATION REPORTED TO THE
EXCHANGE IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 4.13(A) IS ACCURATE AND IS
BEING SUBMITTED ON A TIMELY BASIS, AND THAT RESPONDENT
IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE EXCHANGE OF ANY INACCURACIES IN ANY
REPORTS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO RULE 4.13(A).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL"),
AN EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION, WAS CENSURED AND FINED
$150,000. IN ADDITION, THE BCC ORDERED AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING
MERRILL TO PROVIDE THE EXCHANGE WITH A CERTIFICATION WITHIN
THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER
THAT MERRILL HAS CORRECTED THE SYSTEMS PROBLEMS LEADING TO
THIS CASE, THAT ALL INFORMATION REPORTED TO THE EXCHANGE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 4.13(A) IS ACCURATE AND IS BEING SUBMITTED
ON A TIMELY BASIS, AND THAT RESPONDENT IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE
EXCHANGE OF ANY INACCURACIES IN ANY REPORTS SUBMITTED
PURSUANT TO RULE 4.13(A). DURING ALL RELEVANT PERIODS HEREIN,
EXCHANGE MEMBERS WERE REQUIRED TO SUBMIT TO THE LARGE
OPTIONS POSITION REPORT ALL CUSTOMER POSITIONS, WHICH
NUMBERED 200 CONTRACTS OR MORE IN ANY SINGLE OPTION CLASS
LISTED ON THE EXCHANGE ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET ALONG
WITH THEIR CUSTOMER'S NAME, ADDRESS, AND SOCIAL SECURITY
NUMBER OR TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER. MERRILL FAILED TO
PROPERLY SUBMIT ALL REQUIRED ACCOUNT INFORMATION FOR
APPROXIMATELY 1,346 ACCOUNTS TO THE LARGE OPTIONS POSITION
REPORT. (CBOE RULE 4.13(A) - REPORTS RELATED TO POSITION LIMITS.)

Current Status: Final

744©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 11/16/2009

Docket/Case Number: 09-0045

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MERRILL"),
AN EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION, WAS CENSURED AND FINED
$150,000. IN ADDITION, THE BCC ORDERED AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING
MERRILL TO PROVIDE THE EXCHANGE WITH A CERTIFICATION WITHIN
THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER
THAT MERRILL HAS CORRECTED THE SYSTEMS PROBLEMS LEADING TO
THIS CASE, THAT ALL INFORMATION REPORTED TO THE EXCHANGE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 4.13(A) IS ACCURATE AND IS BEING SUBMITTED
ON A TIMELY BASIS, AND THAT RESPONDENT IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE
EXCHANGE OF ANY INACCURACIES IN ANY REPORTS SUBMITTED
PURSUANT TO RULE 4.13(A). DURING ALL RELEVANT PERIODS HEREIN,
EXCHANGE MEMBERS WERE REQUIRED TO SUBMIT TO THE LARGE
OPTIONS POSITION REPORT ALL CUSTOMER POSITIONS, WHICH
NUMBERED 200 CONTRACTS OR MORE IN ANY SINGLE OPTION CLASS
LISTED ON THE EXCHANGE ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET ALONG
WITH THEIR CUSTOMER'S NAME, ADDRESS, AND SOCIAL SECURITY
NUMBER OR TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER. MERRILL FAILED TO
PROPERLY SUBMIT ALL REQUIRED ACCOUNT INFORMATION FOR
APPROXIMATELY 1,346 ACCOUNTS TO THE LARGE OPTIONS POSITION
REPORT. (CBOE RULE 4.13(A) - REPORTS RELATED TO POSITION LIMITS.)

Resolution Date: 04/13/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING RESPONDENT TO PROVIDE THE EXCHANGE
WITH A CERTIFICATION WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF
THE DECISION IN THIS MATTER THAT RESPONDENT HAS CORRECTED THE
SYSTEMS PROBLEMS LEADING TO THIS CASE, THAT ALL INFORMATION
REPORTED TO THE EXCHANGE IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 4.13(A) IS
ACCURATE AND IS BEING SUBMITTED ON A TIMELY BASIS, AND THAT
RESPONDENT IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE EXCHANGE OF ANY
INACCURACIES IN ANY REPORTS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO RULE 4.13(A).

Sanction Details: A $150,000 FINE, A CENSURE AND AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING
RESPONDENT TO PROVIDE THE EXCHANGE WITH A CERTIFICATION
WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION IN THIS
MATTER THAT RESPONDENT HAS CORRECTED THE SYSTEMS PROBLEMS
LEADING TO THIS CASE, THAT ALL INFORMATION REPORTED TO THE
EXCHANGE IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 4.13(A) IS ACCURATE AND IS
BEING SUBMITTED ON A TIMELY BASIS, AND THAT RESPONDENT
IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE EXCHANGE OF ANY INACCURACIES IN ANY
REPORTS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO RULE 4.13 (A).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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A $150,000 FINE, A CENSURE AND AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING
RESPONDENT TO PROVIDE THE EXCHANGE WITH A CERTIFICATION
WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION IN THIS
MATTER THAT RESPONDENT HAS CORRECTED THE SYSTEMS PROBLEMS
LEADING TO THIS CASE, THAT ALL INFORMATION REPORTED TO THE
EXCHANGE IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 4.13(A) IS ACCURATE AND IS
BEING SUBMITTED ON A TIMELY BASIS, AND THAT RESPONDENT
IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE EXCHANGE OF ANY INACCURACIES IN ANY
REPORTS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO RULE 4.13 (A).

Firm Statement A $150,000 FINE, A CENSURE AND AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING
RESPONDENT TO PROVIDE THE EXCHANGE WITH A CERTIFICATION
WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE DECISION IN THIS
MATTER THAT RESPONDENT HAS CORRECTED THE SYSTEMS PROBLEMS
LEADING TO THIS CASE, THAT ALL INFORMATION REPORTED TO THE
EXCHANGE IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 4.13(A) IS ACCURATE AND IS
BEING SUBMITTED ON A TIMELY BASIS, AND THAT RESPONDENT
IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY THE EXCHANGE OF ANY INACCURACIES IN ANY
REPORTS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO RULE 4.13 (A).

Disclosure 296 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF STATE BUREAU OF
SECURITIES REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 11/04/2009

Docket/Case Number: NO. I-2009000020

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF STATE BUREAU OF
SECURITIES REGULATION (BUREAU) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH
THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED NEW HAMPSHIRE R.S.A. 421-
B:10 I(B)(7) AND (10).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/04/2009

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $357,624.34
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE NEW HAMPSHIRE UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT, TO COMPLY WITH THE NEW HAMPSHIRE R.S.A. 421-B,
AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK
ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
BUREAU A CIVIL PENALTY OF $357,627.34, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00
PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL
UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $357,624.34
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 297 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: THE UTAH DIVISION OF SECURITIES, AS PART OF MULTI-STATE
COORDINATED INVESTIGATIONS INTO THE REGISTRATION OF CLIENT
ASSOCIATES ("CAS") OF MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER, & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH"), ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH: (1)
FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE UNDER SECTION 61-1-6(2)(A)(II)(J) OF
THE UTAH UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT ("ACT") BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF
PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS; (2) FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY FAILING TO REQUIRE ITS CAS
TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS; AND (3)
VIOLATED SECTION 61-1-3(2)(A) OF THE ACT BY USING UNREGISTERED
CAS TO SELL SECURITIES IN UTAH AND THEREBY EMPLOYING
UNLICENSED AGENTS. TO

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UTAH DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE

Date Initiated: 11/18/2009

Docket/Case Number: SD-09-0054

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE UTAH DIVISION OF SECURITIES, AS PART OF MULTI-STATE
COORDINATED INVESTIGATIONS INTO THE REGISTRATION OF CLIENT
ASSOCIATES ("CAS") OF MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER, & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH"), ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH: (1)
FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE UNDER SECTION 61-1-6(2)(A)(II)(J) OF
THE UTAH UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT ("ACT") BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF
PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS; (2) FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY FAILING TO REQUIRE ITS CAS
TO BE REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS; AND (3)
VIOLATED SECTION 61-1-3(2)(A) OF THE ACT BY USING UNREGISTERED
CAS TO SELL SECURITIES IN UTAH AND THEREBY EMPLOYING
UNLICENSED AGENTS. TO

Resolution Date: 11/18/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO A STIPULATION AND CONSENT ORDER WITH THE UTAH
DIVISION OF SECURITIES, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") WILL: (1) BE CENSURED; (2) CEASE
AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN UTAH
THROUGH PERSONS NOT REGISTERED WITH THE DIVISION AS AGENTS OF
MERRILL LYNCH; AND (3) PAY UP TO A TOTAL OF $26,563,094.50 IN FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS, OR WHICH $396,900.00 WILL BE PAID TO THE UTAH DIVISION OF
SECURITIES.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $396,900.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Stipulation and Consent
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PURSUANT TO A STIPULATION AND CONSENT ORDER WITH THE UTAH
DIVISION OF SECURITIES, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") WILL: (1) BE CENSURED; (2) CEASE
AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN UTAH
THROUGH PERSONS NOT REGISTERED WITH THE DIVISION AS AGENTS OF
MERRILL LYNCH; AND (3) PAY UP TO A TOTAL OF $26,563,094.50 IN FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS, OR WHICH $396,900.00 WILL BE PAID TO THE UTAH DIVISION OF
SECURITIES.

Regulator Statement A PDF COPY OF THE DIVISION'S STIPULATION AND CONSENT ORDER CAN
BE VIEWED ONLINE AT
HTTP://WWW.SECURITIES.UTAH.GOV/DOCKETS/09005401.PDF

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: DIVISION OF SECURITIES OF THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE OF THE
STATE OF UTAH

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 11/18/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. SD-09-0054

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES OF THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE OF
THE STATE OF UTAH (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
SALE OF SECURITIES IN UTAH BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN UTAH, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF
PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE UNDER SECTION 61-1-6(2)(A)(II)(J) OF THE
UTAH UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT (ACT), FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES BY NOT REQUIRING ITS CAS TO BE
REGISTERED IN THE APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, AND VIOLATED
SECTION 61-1-3(2)(A) FOR THE EMPLOYMENT OF UNLICENSED AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/18/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A STIPULATION OF
CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A
CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN UTAH THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
DIVISION $396,900.00 AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF
FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF
$26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $396,900.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Stipulation and Consent
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A STIPULATION OF
CONSENT ORDER WITH THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A
CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN UTAH THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
DIVISION $396,900.00 AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF
FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF
$26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS, AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 298 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: UTAH DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE AND BUYBACK OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES THAT
IT SOLD TO ELIGIBLE UTAH INVESTORS.

Date Initiated: 11/18/2009

Docket/Case Number: SD-09-0053

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE UTAH DIVISION OF SECURITIES, AS PART OF A MULTI-STATE TASK
FORCE CONSISTING OF MEMBER STATES OF THE NORTH AMERICAN
SECURITIES ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION ("NASAA") INVESTIGATING
THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS") TO
INVESTORS, ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH"): (1) ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND
UNETHICAL PRACTICES IN THE MARKETING AND SALE OF ARS; AND (2)
FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES WHO SOLD ARS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/18/2009

Resolution: Stipulation and Consent
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Resolution Date: 11/18/2009

Other Sanctions Ordered: BUYBACK OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES THAT IT SOLD TO ELIGIBLE UTAH
INVESTORS.

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO A STIPULATION AND CONSENT ORDER WITH THE UTAH
DIVISION OF SECURITIES, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") WILL: (1) CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING THE UTAH UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT ("ACT"); (2) AS PART OF
ITS SETTLEMENT WITH VARIOUS STATES WILL PAY A TOTAL OF $125
MILLION TO THE STATES, OF WHICH $1,612,505.01 WILL BE PAID TO THE
UTAH DIVISION OF SECURITIES; AND (3) WILL PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS BY OFFERING TO BUY ELIGIBLE AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES AS OUTLINED IN THE DIVISION'S STIPULATION AND CONSENT
ORDER.

Regulator Statement A PDF COPY OF THE DIVISION'S STIPULATION AND CONSENT ORDER CAN
BE VIEWED ONLINE AT
HTTP://SECURITIES.UTAH.GOV/DOCKETS/09005301.PDF

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,612,505.01

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: DIVISION OF SECURITIES OF THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE OF THE
STATE OF UTAH

Date Initiated: 11/18/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. SD-09-0053

Principal Product Type: Other

Allegations: THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES OF THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE OF
THE STATE OF UTAH (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT CONSTITUTED DISHONEST OR
UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
UNDER SECTION 61-1-6(2)(A)(II)(G) AND (J) OF THE UTAH UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT (ACT), RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 11/18/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT,
AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK
ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
DIVISION A CIVIL PENALTY OF $357,624.34, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00
PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL
UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND RE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,612,505.01
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Disclosure 299 of 595

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF DELAWARE SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 10/20/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. 09-9-2

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE DELAWARE SECURITIES DIVISION ("DIVISION") ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN DELAWARE BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN DELAWARE,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM IN VIOLATION OF 6
DEL. C. § 7316(A)(10) AND FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/20/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE DIVISION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN DELAWARE THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS. MLPFS AGREED TO PAY $286,600.00 TO THE STATE OF
DELAWARE INVESTOR PROTECTION FUND, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT,
CONSISTING OF FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY
SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50
STATES, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO AND THE U.S. VIRGIN
ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $286,600.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE DIVISION DESCRIBING
CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE DIVISION OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Disclosure 300 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: STATE OF MISSOURI SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 10/22/2009

Docket/Case Number: AP 09-40

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO ESTABLISH AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO MONITOR THE
REGISTRATION STATUS OF PERSONS ACCEPTING CLIENT ORDERS,
WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS
AGENTS AND THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES GROUNDS TO REVOKE,
SUSPEND, CONDITION, OR LIMIT ITS REGISTRATION IN THE STATE OF
MISSOURI.  FAILURE TO REQUIRE ITS CAS TO BE REGISTERED IN THE
APPROPRIATE JURISDICTIONS, WHICH CONSTITUTES A FAILURE TO
ENCORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES, WHICH
CONSTITUTES GROUNDS TO REVOKE, SUSPEND, CONDITION, OR LIMIT
ITS REGISTRATION IN THE STATE OF MISSOURI.  SALE OF SECURITIES IN
MISSOURI THROUGH AGENTS NOT REGISTERED IN MISSOURI, WHICH
CONSTITUTES GROUNDS TO ORDER MERRILL LYNCH TO CEASE AND
DESIST ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MISSOURI THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/22/2009

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH IS HEREBY CENSURED.  MERRILL LYNCH IS HEREBY
ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN THE STATE OF MISSOURI THROUGH PERSONS NOT
REGISTERED AS AGENTS OF MERRILL LYNCH WITH THE COMMISSIONER.
MERRILL LYNCH IS HEREBY ORDERED TO PAY THE SUM OF $367,500.00 TO
THE MISSOURI INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $367,500.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF MISSOURI ENFORCEMENT SECTION OF THE MISSOURI
SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 10/22/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. AP-09-40

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF MISSOURI ENFORCEMENT SECTION OF THE MISSOURI
SECURITIES DIVISION ("ENFORCEMENT SECTION") ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN MISSOURI BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN MISSOURI,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND FAILED TO
ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 409.4-412(D)(9), RSMO. (CUM. SUPP. 2008).

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
755©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 10/22/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE ENFORCEMENT SECTION IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN
MISSOURI THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE ENFORCEMENT
SECTION $367,500.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF
FINES, PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF
$26,563,094.50 THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE ENFORCEMENT
SECTION DESCRIBING CERTAIN MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND
NOTIFYING THE ENFORCEMENT SECTION OF CERTAIN UNREGISTERED
ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $367,500.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 301 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF BANKING, INSURANCE,
SECURITIES, AND HEALTH CARE ADMINISTRATION

Date Initiated: 10/21/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 09-110-S

Allegations: THE STATE OF VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF BANKING, INSURANCE,
SECURITIES, AND HEALTH CARE ADMINISTRATION ("BISHCA") ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN VERMONT BY
CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN
VERMONT, MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM IN
VIOLATION OF 9 V.S.A. § 5412(D)(9) AND FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS
ESTABLISHED WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF 9 V.S.A. §
5412(D)(13).

Current Status: Final

756©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 09-110-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 10/21/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
BISHCA IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN VERMONT THROUGH
UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS. MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF VERMONT
$316,000 AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH BISHCA DESCRIBING ITS
IMPROVEMENTS IN ITS ABILITY TO MONITOR THE IDENTITY AND
REGISTRATION STATUS OF EACH PERSON WHO ACCEPTS A CLIENT
ORDER ENTERED ON MLPFS'S TRADING SYSTEM AND AGREEING TO
NOTIFY BISHCA IF IT FINDS THAT ANY PERSON ASSOCIATED WITH MLPFS
ACCEPTED A CLIENT ORDER IN VERMONT WITHOUT BEING REGISTERED,
OR EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION, WITH THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER
AS AN AGENT OF MLPFS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $316,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 302 of 595
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NUMEROUS CLIENT ASSOCIATES DESIGNATED TO ASSIST FAS IN TRADES
WITH NH CUSTOMERS WERE NOT APPROPRIATELY LICENSED TO
CONDUCT SUCH ACTIVITY.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW HAMPSHIRE
BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE AND BACK FEES, CENSURE, UNDERTAKINGS.

Date Initiated: 10/08/2008

Docket/Case Number: INV08-024

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NUMEROUS CLIENT ASSOCIATES DESIGNATED TO ASSIST FAS IN TRADES
WITH NH CUSTOMERS WERE NOT APPROPRIATELY LICENSED TO
CONDUCT SUCH ACTIVITY.

Resolution Date: 10/21/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: BACK FEES OF $560,560.00. UNDERTAKINGS TO ESTABLISH TRADING
MONITORING, REPORTING PROGRESS TO BUREAU, AND REPORTING ANY
UNLICENSED ACTIVITY.

Sanction Details: SAME AS ABOVE.

Regulator Statement SAME AS ABOVE.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION
(THE "BUREAU") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN NEW HAMPSHIRE BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN NEW HAMPSHIRE, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM IN VIOLATION OF RSA 421-B:10,
I(B)(10) AND FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF RSA 421-B:6 AND 421-B:10.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 10/21/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. INV08-024

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION
(THE "BUREAU") ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF
SECURITIES IN NEW HAMPSHIRE BY CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS)
WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN NEW HAMPSHIRE, MLPFS FAILED TO
ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM IN VIOLATION OF RSA 421-B:10,
I(B)(10) AND FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF RSA 421-B:6 AND 421-B:10.

Resolution Date: 10/21/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH
THE BUREAU IN WHICH IT AGREED TO A CENSURE, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN NEW HAMPSHIRE
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
$660,560.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO, AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE BUREAU DESCRIBING
CERTAIN  MONITORING IMPROVEMENTS AND NOTIFYING THE BUREAU OF
CERTAIN UNREGISTERED ACTIVITY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $660,560.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 303 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: TEXAS STATE SECURITIES BOARD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/08/2009

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. IC09-CAF-20

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SALE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: THE TEXAS STATE SECURITIES BOARD (BOARD) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN TEXAS BY CERTAIN
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
CLIENT ASSOCIATES (CAS) WHO WERE NOT REGISTERED IN TEXAS,
MLPFS FAILED TO ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE TEXAS SECURITIES ACT
AND RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TEXAS STATE SECURITIES BOARD
(BOARD RULES) AND FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS ESTABLISHED WRITTEN
PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF §§ 115.10(A) AND (B)(1) OF THE BOARD
RULES, RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/08/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS, REPRIMAND.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN TEXAS
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF TEXAS
$1,568,985.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.  MERRILL LYNCH
ALSO AGREED TO PAY $25,000.00 TO THE NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES
ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION (NASAA) AS CONSIDERATION FOR
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE PROVIDED BY NASAA IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MULTI-STATE INVESTIGATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,569,010.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLPFS AGREED TO A REPRIMAND, TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES IN TEXAS
THROUGH UNREGISTERED AGENTS, AND TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF TEXAS
$1,568,985.00, AS PART OF A TOTAL PAYMENT, CONSISTING OF FINES,
PENALTIES AND ANY OTHER MONETARY SANCTIONS, OF $26,563,094.50
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AMONG THE 50 STATES, THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA, PUERTO RICO AND THE U.S. VIRGIN ISLANDS.  MERRILL LYNCH
ALSO AGREED TO PAY $25,000.00 TO THE NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES
ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION (NASAA) AS CONSIDERATION FOR
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE PROVIDED BY NASAA IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MULTI-STATE INVESTIGATION.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING A TRADE
MONITORING SYSTEM, FILING A REPORT WITH THE BOARD DESCRIBING
ITS IMPROVEMENTS IN ITS ABILITY TO MONITOR THE IDENTITY AND
REGISTRATION STATUS OF EACH PERSON WHO ACCEPTS A CLIENT
ORDER ENTERED ON MLPFS'S TRADING SYSTEM AND AGREEING TO
NOTIFY THE BOARD IF IT FINDS THAT ANY PERSON ASSOCIATED WITH
MLPFS ACCEPTED A CLIENT ORDER IN TEXAS WITHOUT BEING
REGISTERED, OR EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION, WITH THE SECURITIES
COMMISSIONER AS AN AGENT OF MLPFS.

Disclosure 304 of 595
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 09/11/2009

Docket/Case Number: CO-2009-0025

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE COMMISSION CITES MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.
WITH ENGAGING IN UNETHICAL AND DISHONEST PRACTICES, AND
FAILURE TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS. THIS ACTION STEMS
FROM THE FIRMS INAPPROPRIATE MARKETING OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO CUSTOMERS WITHOUT ADEQUATELY DISCLOSING
RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY. THE FIRM WAS FINED $500,000 FOR INVESTIGATIVE
REIMBURSEMENT, $400,000 TO THE ALABAMA DISTRICT ATTORNEY
ASSOCIATION, $119,975.20 TO INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST FUND AND
$25,000 TO NASAA.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/11/2009

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: $500,000 FOR INVESTIGATIVE REIMBURSEMENT
$400,000 TO THE ALABAMA DISTRICT ATTORNEY ASSOCIATION $119,975.20
TO INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST FUND
$25,000 TO NASAA.

Regulator Statement THE COMMISSION CITES MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.
WITH ENGAGING IN UNETHICAL AND DISHONEST PRACTICES, AND
FAILURE TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS. THIS ACTION STEMS
FROM THE FIRMS INAPPROPRIATE MARKETING OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO CUSTOMERS WITHOUT ADEQUATELY DISCLOSING
RISKS OF ILLIQUIDITY. THE FIRM WAS FINED $500,000 FOR INVESTIGATIVE
REIMBURSEMENT, $400,000 TO THE ALABAMA DISTRICT ATTORNEY
ASSOCIATION, $119,975.20 TO INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST FUND AND
$25,000 TO NASAA.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,044,975.20

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/11/2009

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. CO-2009-0025

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION (COMMISSION) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED SECTION 8-
6-17(B)(4) AND SECTION 8-6-3(J)(10), CODE OF ALABAMA 1975, AND THE
ALABAMA SECURITIES ACT (ACT.)

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 09/11/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE COMMISSION'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, TO
COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING
OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF ALABAMA A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$1,044,975.20, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,044,975.20
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 305 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE TEXAS STATE SECURITIES BOARD (TSSB) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT
CONSTITUTED INEQUITABLE PRACTICES IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES AND
FAILURES TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE REASONABLY
DESIGNED SUPERVISOR PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF § 115.10(B)(1) OF
THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TSSB.

Current Status: Final

763©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: TEXAS STATE SECURITIES BOARD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/11/2009

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. IC09-CAF-21

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

THE TEXAS STATE SECURITIES BOARD (TSSB) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT
CONSTITUTED INEQUITABLE PRACTICES IN THE SALE OF SECURITIES AND
FAILURES TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE REASONABLY
DESIGNED SUPERVISOR PROCEDURES IN VIOLATION OF § 115.10(B)(1) OF
THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TSSB.

Resolution Date: 09/11/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE TSSB'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE TEXAS SECURITIES
ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF TEXAS A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $12,685,299.82, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $12,685,299.82
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 306 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING & FINANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/21/2009

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING & FINANCE
(DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING
AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER
CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(MLPFS) VIOLATED NEB. REV. STAT. § 8-1103(9)(A)(VII) AND (XI).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/21/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DEPARTMENT'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE SECURITIES
ACT OF NEBRASKA (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT AN
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT OF $1,689,488.82, AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,689,488.82
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DEPARTMENT'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE SECURITIES
ACT OF NEBRASKA (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT AN
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT OF $1,689,488.82, AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN BE
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 307 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: PENNSYLVANIA CONTACT:  COUNSEL CAROLYN MENDELSON (412)-565-
5083

Date Initiated: 09/09/2009

Docket/Case Number: 2009-07-14

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: RESPONDENT OFFERED FOR SALE AUCTION RATE SECURITIES IN PA,
CONSTITUTING DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL BUSINESS PRACTICES AND
FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AGENTS OR EMPLOYEES IN
VIOLATION OF THE PA SECURITIES ACT OF 1972.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
(RESPONDENT) WAS ORDERED TO PAY A $4,241,853.68 ADMINISTRATIVE
ASSESSMENT WITHIN 20 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS ORDER.

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 09/09/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: RESPONDENT WAS ORDERED TO COMPLETE A BUY BACK OF ELIGIBLE
AUCTION RATE SECURITIES FROM ITS ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS.
RESPONDENT WAS ORDERED TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER
INTERESTED PARTIES, INCLUDING REGULATORY AND GOVERNMENTAL
ENTITIES, TO PROVIDE ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
TO INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS AND OTHER CUSTOMERS THAT
PURCHASED ELIGIBLE AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ON OR BEFORE
FEBRUARY 12, 2008.  RESPONDENT IS ORDERED TO CONTINUE TO SUBMIT
WRITTEN REPORTS TO NASAA.

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT WAS ORDERED TO PAY A $4,241,853.68 ADMINISTRATIVE
ASSESSMENT WITHIN 20 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THIS ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $4,241,853.68

Settled

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: PENNSYLVANIA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 09/09/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 2009-07-14

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE PENNSYLVANIA SECURITIES COMMISSION (COMMISSION) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF THE PENNSYLVANIA SECURITIES ACT OF 1972, 70 P.S. § 1-
101, ET. SEQ. (ACT).

Current Status: Final

767©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 09/09/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE COMMISSION'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, TO
COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND ITS REGULATIONS AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMONWEALTH OF
PENNSYLVANIA A CIVIL PENALTY OF $4,241,853.68, AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $4,241,853.68
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 308 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/09/2009

Docket/Case Number: FILE 13255

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED
THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED MINN. STAT.
§ 80A.07, SUBD. 1(7),(10) AND 80A.67(D)(9),(13).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/09/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DEPARTMENT'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE MINN. STAT.
§ 80A.07, SUBD. 1(7),(10) AND 80A.67(D)(9),(13), TO COMPLY WITH MINN.
STAT. CH. 80A, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING
TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED
TO PAY THE DIVISION A CIVIL PENALTY OF $5,574,971.83, AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,574,971.83
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 309 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: DELAWARE SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/10/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. 09-7-4

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITES

Allegations: THE DELAWARE SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED 6 DE. C.
SECS. 7316(A)(7) AND (10).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/10/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE DELAWARE
SECURITIES ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF DELAWARE
A CIVIL PENALTY OF $459,660.29 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING
CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $459,660.29
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

770©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE DELAWARE
SECURITIES ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF DELAWARE
A CIVIL PENALTY OF $459,660.29 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING
CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS. FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS. MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 310 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES COMMISSIONER OF THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Date Initiated: 08/31/2009

Docket/Case Number: FILE NUMBER 09053

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER OF THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROINA
(SECURITIES COMMISSIONER) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) ENGAGED IN DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL
PRACTICES IN THE SECURITIES BUSINESS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 08/31/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER'S
ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING
THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT OF 2005 (ACT), TO
COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING
OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE OFFICE OF THE
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $1,312,134.30, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATE'S DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,312,134.30
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Disclosure 311 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: WYOMING SECRETARY OF STATE, SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/02/2009

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 09-08

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE WYOMING SECRETARY OF STATE, SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION)
ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF
AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS)
VIOLATED W.S. § 17-4-106(A)(II)(G) AND (B)(II)(A).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/02/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE WYOMING
SECURITIES ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $266,255.21, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSCHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $266,255.21
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 312 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF MAINE OFFICE OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/02/2009

Docket/Case Number: NO. 09-074

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF MAINE OFFICE OF SECURITIES (OFFICE) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED 32 M.R.S.A.
§ 16412(4)I AND M FOR FAILURE TO SUPERVISE AND DISHONEST OR
UNETHICAL PRACTICE IN THE SECURITIES BUSINESS, RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/02/2009

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $323,626.52
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE OFFICE'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE MAINE UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY MAINE A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$323,626.52, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLE IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURSPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $323,626.52
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 313 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FLORIDA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL REGULATION ("OFFICE")

Allegations: ON 9/1/2009, THE OFFICE, SUBSEQUENT TO COORDINATED
INVESTIGATIONS CONDUCTED BY A MULTI-STATE TASK FORCE
CONSISTING OF MEMBER STATES OF THE NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES
ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION ("NASAA"), ENTERED INTO A CONSENT
AGREEMENT REGARDING MERRILL'S ACTIVITIES IN THE MARKETING AND
SALE OF ARS PRIOR TO WIDESPREAD FAILED AUCTIONS BEGINNING IN
FEBRUARY 2008.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FLORIDA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL REGULATION ("OFFICE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST

Date Initiated: 09/01/2009

Docket/Case Number: 0434-S-6/09

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS")

Resolution Date: 09/01/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ON 9/1/2009, THE OFFICE ENTERED A FINAL ORDER ADOPTING THE
CONSENT AGREEMENT WHEREBY MERRILL AGREED TO DO THE
FOLLOWING: 1.) OFFER TO PURCHASE ARS AT PAR PLUS ACCRUED BUT
UNPAID DIVIDENDS OR INTEREST FOR CERTAIN "ELIGIBLE" INVESTORS, 2.)
WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER RELATED PARTIES INCLUDING
REGULATORY AND OTHER AUTHORITIES AND INDUSTRY PARTICIPANTS,
TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS, 3.)
PARTICIPATE IN SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCEDURES.

Sanction Details: THE ADMINISTRATIVE FINE AMOUNT OF $8,506,879.82 REPRESENTS THE
STATE OF FLORIDA'S PRO RATA SHARE OF THE ONE HUNDRED TWENTY-
FIVE MILLION DOLLAR ($125,000,000.00) TOTAL PENALTY THAT MERRILL
AGREED TO PAY PURSUANT TO THE MULTI-STATE SETTLEMENT.  AS THE
RESULT OF MERRILL'S RELIEF EFFORTS, TOTAL RESTITUTION PROVIDED
TO FLORIDA PURCHASERS OF ARS TOTALED APPROXIMATELY
$1,942,920,000.00.

Regulator Statement PER THE OFFICE'S FINAL ORDER DATED 9/1/2009 ADOPTING THE CONSENT
AGREEMENT, MERRILL WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW CONTAINED IN THE
AGREEMENT, AND WITHOUT AN ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUE OF LAW OR
FACT,CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE OFFICE'S FINDINGS OF FACTS
AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW THAT THEY DEMONSTRATED UNWORTHINESS
TO TRANSACT THE BUSINESS OF A SECURITIES DEALER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $8,506,879.82
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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PER THE OFFICE'S FINAL ORDER DATED 9/1/2009 ADOPTING THE CONSENT
AGREEMENT, MERRILL WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW CONTAINED IN THE
AGREEMENT, AND WITHOUT AN ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUE OF LAW OR
FACT,CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE OFFICE'S FINDINGS OF FACTS
AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW THAT THEY DEMONSTRATED UNWORTHINESS
TO TRANSACT THE BUSINESS OF A SECURITIES DEALER.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FLORIDA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/01/2009

Docket/Case Number: ADM PROCEEDING NO. 0434-S-6/09

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE FLORIDA OFFICE OF FINANCIAL REGULATION (OFFICE) ALLEGED THAT
IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) DEMONSTRATED
UNWORTHINESS TO TRANSACT THE BUSINESS OF A DEALER IN THE
SECURITIES BUSINESS IN VIOLATION OF 517.161(1)(H), FLORIDA STATUES
AND RULES 69W-600-013(1)(H)1.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/01/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE OFFICE'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE FLORIDA
SECURITIES AND INVESTOR PROTECTION ACT, CHAPTER 517, FLORIDA
STATUTES (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OFFICE A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $8,506,879.82 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $8,506,879.82
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE OFFICE'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE FLORIDA
SECURITIES AND INVESTOR PROTECTION ACT, CHAPTER 517, FLORIDA
STATUTES (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE OFFICE A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $8,506,879.82 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 314 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/04/2009

Docket/Case Number: 0903975

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CBOT ALLEGED THAT THE APPLICANT'S TIMESTAMP EXCEPTION RATE OF
12.71% FOR THE MONTH ENDING JULY 2009 EXCEEDED THE ACCEPTABLE
RATE WHICH IS IN VIOLATION OF CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE RULE
536.A.1.  SAID VIOLATION WAS THE FOURTH TIMESTAMP EXCEPTION
VIOLATION WITHIN THE LAST 12 MONTHS.

Current Status: Final

778©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 09/04/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 315 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: IOWA INSURANCE DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 08/28/2009

Docket/Case Number: INSURANCE DIVISION DOCKET NO. 65432

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE IOWA INSURANCE DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED IOWA CODE
SECTIONS 502.412(4)(M) AND (I) (2009).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/28/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO:  (I) CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE IOWA UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT, IOWA CODE CHAPTER 502(2009), (II) COMPLY WITH THE
IOWA UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT, IOWA CODE CHAPTER 502(2009), AND (III)
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $350,803.53 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING
CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $350,803.53
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO:  (I) CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE IOWA UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT, IOWA CODE CHAPTER 502(2009), (II) COMPLY WITH THE
IOWA UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT, IOWA CODE CHAPTER 502(2009), AND (III)
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $350,803.53 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING
CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 316 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEVADA OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE SECURITIES
DIVISION

Date Initiated: 08/04/2009

Docket/Case Number: NO. I09-153

Allegations: THE STATE OF NEVADA OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE
SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH
THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL
PRACTICES AND FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS SALES REPRESENTATIVES
AND/OR EMPLOYEES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST, UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: NO. I09-153

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 08/04/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLFPS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE NEVADA UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $620,129.98, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARE BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $620,129.98
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARE BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 317 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST, UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/16/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 09 E 020, KSC NO. 2009-5608

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE OFFICE OF THE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER OF THE STATE OF
KANSAS (COMMISSIONER) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN CONNECTION
WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED K.S.A. 17-12A412(D)(13) AND (9)
FOR DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS AGENTS OR EMPLOYEES, RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/16/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE COMMISSIONER'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE KANSAS
UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
COMMISSIONER A CIVIL PENALTY OF $959,555.69 AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $959,555.69
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 318 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/02/2009

Docket/Case Number: 0903874

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CBOT ALLEGED THAT THE APPLICANT'S TIMESTAMP EXCEPTION RATE OF
9.06% FOR THE MONTH ENDING JUNE 2009 EXCEEDED THE ACCEPTABLE
RATE WHICH IS IN VIOLATION OF CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE RULE
536.A.1.  SAID VIOLATION WAS THE THIRD TIMESTAMP EXCEPTION
VIOLATION WITHIN THE LAST 12 MONTHS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/22/2009

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Disclosure 319 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: MISSOURI

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 07/30/2009

Docket/Case Number: AP-09-23

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: CONDUCT OF MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
WITH RESPECT TO THIS ORDER IS IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 409.4-
412(D)(13), RSMO. (CUM. SUPP. 2008) AND SECTION 409.4-412(D)(9), RSMO.
(CUM. SUPP. 2009).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/30/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH WILL CEASE AND DESIST FROMVIOLATING THE MISSOURI
SECURITIES ACT OF 2003 AND WILL COMPLY WITH THE MISSOURI
SECURITIES ACT OF 2003.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY FINES AND/OR
PENALTIES TOTALING $125 MILLION TO THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS AND THE OTHER STATES.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY
$1,371,471.99 OF THE TOTAL PENALTY TO THE STATE OF MISSOURI.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $125,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH WILL CEASE AND DESIST FROMVIOLATING THE MISSOURI
SECURITIES ACT OF 2003 AND WILL COMPLY WITH THE MISSOURI
SECURITIES ACT OF 2003.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY FINES AND/OR
PENALTIES TOTALING $125 MILLION TO THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS AND THE OTHER STATES.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY
$1,371,471.99 OF THE TOTAL PENALTY TO THE STATE OF MISSOURI.

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF MISSOURI OFFICE OF SECRETARY OF STATE SECURITIES
DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST, UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/30/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. AP-09-23

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF MISSOURI OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S
SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT IN CONNECTION WITH
THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS) VIOLATED SECTION 409.4-412(D)(13),
RSMO. (CUM. SUPP. 2008) AND SECTION 409.4-412(D)(9), RSMO. (CUM.
SUPP. 2008).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/30/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE MISSOURI
SECURITIES ACT OF 2003 (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF
MISSOURI A CIVIL PENALTY OF $1,371,417.99, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00
PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL
UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,371,417.99
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE MISSOURI
SECURITIES ACT OF 2003 (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF
MISSOURI A CIVIL PENALTY OF $1,371,417.99, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00
PENALTY THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL
UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 320 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 07/02/2009

Docket/Case Number: AOD NO. 08-174

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (NYAG) ALLEGED
THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S
(MLPFS) CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING, SALE AND
DISTRIBUTION OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO CERTAIN OF ITS
CUSTOMERS VIOLATED ARTICLE 23-A OF THE GENERAL BUSINESS LAW
(MARTIN ACT), SECTION 349 OF THE GENERAL BUSINESS LAW AND
SECTION 63(12) OF THE EXECUTIVE LAW.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 07/02/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE NYAG'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO:  CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE MARTIN ACT,
SECTION 349 OF THE GENERAL BUSINESS LAW AND/OR SECTION 63(12)
OF THE EXECUTIVE LAW; COMPLY WITH THE MARTIN ACT, SECTION 349 OF
THE GENERAL BUSINESS LAW, AND SECTION 63(12) OF THE EXECUTIVE
LAW; AND CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK
ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE
STATE OF NEW YORK A CIVIL PENALTY OF $23,245,213.97, AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 CIVIL PENALTY THAT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED AMONG THE
STATES AND U.S. TERRITORIES THAT ENTER INTO SIMILAR
ADMINISTRATIVE OR CIVIL CONSENT ORDERS RELATING TO THE SALE OF
ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY THOSE ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE DIFFERENCE
BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH SECURITIES.
MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM MLPFS THAT
WERE SECURED BY ELIGIBLE ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST AND DIVIDENDS PAID ON THE ARS.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED
TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE
OF ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO
CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSSUERS THAT ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN
ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH
ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY
SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN
ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND
ARE NOT ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE
TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $23,245,213.97
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY THOSE ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE DIFFERENCE
BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH SECURITIES.
MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO TOOK OUT CERTAIN LOANS FROM MLPFS THAT
WERE SECURED BY ELIGIBLE ARS THAT WERE NOT SUCCESSFULLY
AUCTIONING AT THE TIME OF THE LOAN AND REIMBURSE THEM TO THE
EXTENT THAT THE INTEREST RATE ON THE LOANS EXCEEDED THE
INTEREST AND DIVIDENDS PAID ON THE ARS.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED
TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE
OF ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.
FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO
CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSSUERS THAT ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN
ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH
ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY
SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN
ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND
ARE NOT ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE
TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 321 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF OREGON DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS
SERVICES, DIVISION OF FINANCE AND CORPORATE SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/29/2009

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. S-09-0034

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF OREGON DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND BUSINESS
SERVICES, DIVISION OF FINANCE AND CORPORATE SECURITIES (DFCS)
ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (MLPFS) ENGAGED IN DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL
PRACTICES IN THE SECURITIES BUSINESS IN OREGON IN VIOLATION OF
ORS 53.205(2) AND FAILED TO SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES WITH REGARD
TO THE SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) IN VIOLATION OF ORS
59.205(13), IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF ARS TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/29/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING DFCS'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED
TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE OREGON SECURITIES LAW
(LAW), TO COMPLY WITH THE LAW, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY DFCS A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$408,727.31, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES'
DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE
SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $408,727.31
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING DFCS'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED
TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE OREGON SECURITIES LAW
(LAW), TO COMPLY WITH THE LAW, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY DFCS A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$408,727.31, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES'
DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE
SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 322 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A) AND (B) - MERRILL LYNCH OFFERED INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERINGS (IPOS)OF CLOSED END FUNDS (CEFS) TO
CUSTOMERS ON A REGULAR BASIS AND SOLICITED PURCHASES OF CEFS
AS PRODUCTS SUITABLE FOR DIVERSIFICATION AND TRADING
FLEXIBILITY. THE FIRM LISTED THE FOLLOWING AS BENEFITS OF CEFS:
PROFESSIONAL MANAGEMENT; VARIETY OF FUND TYPES AND SECTORS
FOR PORTFOLIO DIVERSIFICATION; DAILY LIQUIDITY ON AN EXCHANGE;
AND NO MINIMUM INVESTMENT REQUIREMENTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES' SALES OF
CEFS TO CUSTOMERS. DESPITE BEING AWARE THAT CEFS WERE MOST
SUITABLE FOR LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS, THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO DETECT AND PREVENT POTENTIALLY
SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS PURCHASED AT IPOS RESULTING IN
LOSSES TO CUSTOMERS. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES TO DETECT IF REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE
ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OF OR IN HIGH VOLUMES OF SHORT-TERM CEF
TRADING. THE UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS AND SHORT-TERM
SALES OF CEFS RESULTED IN CUSTOMER LOSSES OF MORE THAN $3
MILLION. THE FIRM SANCTIONED REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES THAT
HAD MADE UNSUITABLE CEF RECOMMENDATIONS AND PAID IN EXCESS
OF $3 MILLION IN REMEDIATION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/28/2009

Docket/Case Number: 2005002254701

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CLOSED END FUNDS (CEFS)

NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A) AND (B) - MERRILL LYNCH OFFERED INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERINGS (IPOS)OF CLOSED END FUNDS (CEFS) TO
CUSTOMERS ON A REGULAR BASIS AND SOLICITED PURCHASES OF CEFS
AS PRODUCTS SUITABLE FOR DIVERSIFICATION AND TRADING
FLEXIBILITY. THE FIRM LISTED THE FOLLOWING AS BENEFITS OF CEFS:
PROFESSIONAL MANAGEMENT; VARIETY OF FUND TYPES AND SECTORS
FOR PORTFOLIO DIVERSIFICATION; DAILY LIQUIDITY ON AN EXCHANGE;
AND NO MINIMUM INVESTMENT REQUIREMENTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES' SALES OF
CEFS TO CUSTOMERS. DESPITE BEING AWARE THAT CEFS WERE MOST
SUITABLE FOR LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS, THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO DETECT AND PREVENT POTENTIALLY
SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS PURCHASED AT IPOS RESULTING IN
LOSSES TO CUSTOMERS. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES TO DETECT IF REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE
ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OF OR IN HIGH VOLUMES OF SHORT-TERM CEF
TRADING. THE UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS AND SHORT-TERM
SALES OF CEFS RESULTED IN CUSTOMER LOSSES OF MORE THAN $3
MILLION. THE FIRM SANCTIONED REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES THAT
HAD MADE UNSUITABLE CEF RECOMMENDATIONS AND PAID IN EXCESS
OF $3 MILLION IN REMEDIATION.

Resolution Date: 07/28/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A) AND (B) - MERRILL LYNCH OFFERED INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERINGS (IPOS)OF CLOSED END FUNDS (CEFS) TO
CUSTOMERS ON A REGULAR BASIS AND SOLICITED PURCHASES OF CEFS
AS PRODUCTS SUITABLE FOR DIVERSIFICATION AND TRADING
FLEXIBILITY. THE FIRM LISTED THE FOLLOWING AS BENEFITS OF CEFS:
PROFESSIONAL MANAGEMENT; VARIETY OF FUND TYPES AND SECTORS
FOR PORTFOLIO DIVERSIFICATION; DAILY LIQUIDITY ON AN EXCHANGE;
AND NO MINIMUM INVESTMENT REQUIREMENTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES' SALES OF
CEFS TO CUSTOMERS. DESPITE BEING AWARE THAT CEFS WERE MOST
SUITABLE FOR LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS, THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO DETECT AND PREVENT POTENTIALLY
SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS PURCHASED AT IPOS RESULTING IN
LOSSES TO CUSTOMERS. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES TO DETECT IF REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE
ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OF OR IN HIGH VOLUMES OF SHORT-TERM CEF
TRADING. THE UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS AND SHORT-TERM
SALES OF CEFS RESULTED IN CUSTOMER LOSSES OF MORE THAN $3
MILLION. THE FIRM SANCTIONED REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES THAT
HAD MADE UNSUITABLE CEF RECOMMENDATIONS AND PAID IN EXCESS
OF $3 MILLION IN REMEDIATION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/28/2009

Docket/Case Number: 2005002254701

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CLOSED END FUNDS (CEFS)

NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A) AND (B) - MERRILL LYNCH OFFERED INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERINGS (IPOS)OF CLOSED END FUNDS (CEFS) TO
CUSTOMERS ON A REGULAR BASIS AND SOLICITED PURCHASES OF CEFS
AS PRODUCTS SUITABLE FOR DIVERSIFICATION AND TRADING
FLEXIBILITY. THE FIRM LISTED THE FOLLOWING AS BENEFITS OF CEFS:
PROFESSIONAL MANAGEMENT; VARIETY OF FUND TYPES AND SECTORS
FOR PORTFOLIO DIVERSIFICATION; DAILY LIQUIDITY ON AN EXCHANGE;
AND NO MINIMUM INVESTMENT REQUIREMENTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES' SALES OF
CEFS TO CUSTOMERS. DESPITE BEING AWARE THAT CEFS WERE MOST
SUITABLE FOR LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS, THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO DETECT AND PREVENT POTENTIALLY
SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS PURCHASED AT IPOS RESULTING IN
LOSSES TO CUSTOMERS. THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE SYSTEMS
AND PROCEDURES TO DETECT IF REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES WERE
ENGAGING IN A PATTERN OF OR IN HIGH VOLUMES OF SHORT-TERM CEF
TRADING. THE UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS AND SHORT-TERM
SALES OF CEFS RESULTED IN CUSTOMER LOSSES OF MORE THAN $3
MILLION. THE FIRM SANCTIONED REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES THAT
HAD MADE UNSUITABLE CEF RECOMMENDATIONS AND PAID IN EXCESS
OF $3 MILLION IN REMEDIATION.

Resolution Date: 07/28/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $150,000.

Firm Statement IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE SANCTIONS AGAINST THE FIRM,
FINRA CONSIDERED THE FIRMS' REMEDIATION EFFORTS. ALSO, FINRA
CONSIDERED THE FIRM'S SELF-REVIEW AND PROMPT REMEDIAL
MEASURES TO CORRECT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO PREVENT
FUTURE VIOLATIONS, INCLUDING THE FIRM'S SELF-REPORTING TO THE
NYSE. FINRA FOUND IN THIS MATTER THAT, AFTER RECEIVING AN
ANONYMOUS TIP AND BEFORE FINRA'S INVESTIGATION INTO UNSUITABLE
SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS, MERRILL LYNCH RETAINED OUTSIDE
COUNSEL TO PERFORM AN INTERNAL INVESTIGATION. FOLLOWING THE
INTERNAL INVESTIGATION, MERRILL LYNCH SANCTIONED SEVERAL
BROKERS AND IMPLEMENTED REMEDIAL MEASURES DESIGNED TO
PREVENT FUTURE VIOLATIONS INVOLVING CEFS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Firm Statement IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE SANCTIONS AGAINST THE FIRM,
FINRA CONSIDERED THE FIRMS' REMEDIATION EFFORTS. ALSO, FINRA
CONSIDERED THE FIRM'S SELF-REVIEW AND PROMPT REMEDIAL
MEASURES TO CORRECT SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES TO PREVENT
FUTURE VIOLATIONS, INCLUDING THE FIRM'S SELF-REPORTING TO THE
NYSE. FINRA FOUND IN THIS MATTER THAT, AFTER RECEIVING AN
ANONYMOUS TIP AND BEFORE FINRA'S INVESTIGATION INTO UNSUITABLE
SHORT-TERM TRADING OF CEFS, MERRILL LYNCH RETAINED OUTSIDE
COUNSEL TO PERFORM AN INTERNAL INVESTIGATION. FOLLOWING THE
INTERNAL INVESTIGATION, MERRILL LYNCH SANCTIONED SEVERAL
BROKERS AND IMPLEMENTED REMEDIAL MEASURES DESIGNED TO
PREVENT FUTURE VIOLATIONS INVOLVING CEFS.

Disclosure 323 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 2520(F)(9), 3010, NYSE RULES 407(A), 407(B) - A MERRILL
LYNCH BRANCH OFFICE EMPLOYED TEMPORARY NON-REGISTERED
INTERNS WHO ENGAGED IN COLD-CALLING ACTIVITIES BUT BRANCH
PERSONNEL INACCURATELY STATED TO NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE
(NYSE) EXAMINERS THAT IT DID NOT EMPLOY ANY INTERNS AND
DELIBERATELY FAILED TO CORRECT THE MISSTATEMENT. THE BRANCH
TOLD ITS INTERNS NOT TO REPORT FOR WORK ON THE DAY OF THE EXAM
AND BRANCH EMPLOYEES WERE INSTRUCTED TO TELL THE EXAMINERS
THE BRANCH DID NOT EMPLOY UNAPPROVED INTERNS. THE BRANCH
PROVIDED AN INACCURATE WRITTEN STATEMENT TO THE NYSE THAT IT
DID NOT USE COLD CALLERS. A JOB APPLICANT WAS INSTRUCTED NOT TO
DISCLOSE HIS PREVIOUS INTERNSHIP AT THE BRANCH ON HIS
APPLICATION. A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE WAS INSTRUCTED TO
HIDE OR REMOVE AN UNAUTHORIZED FAX MACHINE WHILE EXAMINERS
WERE ON-SITE AND EXAMINERS WERE MISLEAD ABOUT THE NUMBER OF
FAX MACHINES AT THE BRANCH. THE FIRM FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE AN INDIVIDUAL WITH THE FIRM WHO HELD HIMSELF OUT TO
BE AN ATTORNEY ON FIRM STATIONERY AND BUSINESS CARDS EVEN
THOUGH HE HAD NOT PASSED A BAR EXAM. THE FIRM FAILED TO RECEIVE
AND REVIEW DUPLICATE CONFIRMATIONS AND MONTHLY ACCOUNT
STATEMENTS FOR ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED OUTSIDE THE FIRM BY
EMPLOYEES AND FAILED TO EVIDENCE THE APPROVAL OF SUCH
ACCOUNTS; FAILED TO SEND DUPLICATE STATEMENT AND
CONFIRMATIONS TO OTHER FIRMS WHOSE EMPLOYEES HAD ACCOUNTS
AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM FAILED TO EVIDENCE REVIEW AND SUPERVISION
OF INCOMING OR OUTGOING WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS FAXES, EMAILS
AT CERTAIN BRANCHES; FAILED TO EVIDENCE THE APPROVAL FOR
CERTAIN EMPLOYEES TO MAINTAIN COMPUTERS AND SOFTWARE; AND
FAILED TO REVIEW, SUPERVISE AND/OR EVIDENCE SUPERVISORY REVIEW
OF COMMUNICATIONS SENT AND RECEIVED BY EMPLOYEES WITH NON-
FIRM ISSUED COMPUTERS. THE FIRM FAILED TO PLACE CERTAIN
ACCOUNTS ON 90-DAY RESTRICTIONS; EVIDENCE THE REVIEW, APPROVAL
AND/OR SUPERVISION OF ORDER ERRORS AND ACCOUNT DESIGNATION
CHANGES; AND DATE OR PROPERLY DATE CORRECTIONS FOR ORDER
ERRORS AND ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPROPRIATELY EVIDENCE THE REVIEW, APPROVAL AND/OR
SUPERVISION OF CERTAIN PERSONAL COMPUTER FORMS THAT HAD
BEEN BACKDATED AT A BRANCH; FAILED TO APPROVE AND/OR TIMELY
APPROVE SEMINARS CONDUCTED BY FIRM EMPLOYEES AND MAINTAIN
CERTAIN SEMINAR RELATED MATERIALS; FAILED TO REVIEW, APPROVE
AND/OR RETAIN CERTAIN FACSIMILES, INCLUDING FAX-2-MAIL
CORRESPONDENCE AND/OR EVIDENCE ITS REVIEW AND APPROVAL;
FAILED TO MAINTAIN ITS "CONTROL" FAX MACHINE IN A SECURE LOCATION
IN ONE BRANCH. THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE LETTERS FROM OUTSIDE
BROKER DEALERS, WHOSE EMPLOYEES MAINTAINED ACCOUNTS AT THE
FIRM, CONFIRMING THAT THEY WERE AWARE OF SUCH ACCOUNTS AND
FAILED TO RECEIVE AND REVIEW DUPLICATE CONFIRMATIONS AND
MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS FOR AN ACCOUNT MAINTAINED
OUTSIDE THE FIRM BY AN EMPLOYEE AND APPROVE AND/OR EVIDENCE
THE APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNT.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/21/2009

Docket/Case Number: 2008012391401

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 2110, 2520(F)(9), 3010, NYSE RULES 407(A), 407(B) - A MERRILL
LYNCH BRANCH OFFICE EMPLOYED TEMPORARY NON-REGISTERED
INTERNS WHO ENGAGED IN COLD-CALLING ACTIVITIES BUT BRANCH
PERSONNEL INACCURATELY STATED TO NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE
(NYSE) EXAMINERS THAT IT DID NOT EMPLOY ANY INTERNS AND
DELIBERATELY FAILED TO CORRECT THE MISSTATEMENT. THE BRANCH
TOLD ITS INTERNS NOT TO REPORT FOR WORK ON THE DAY OF THE EXAM
AND BRANCH EMPLOYEES WERE INSTRUCTED TO TELL THE EXAMINERS
THE BRANCH DID NOT EMPLOY UNAPPROVED INTERNS. THE BRANCH
PROVIDED AN INACCURATE WRITTEN STATEMENT TO THE NYSE THAT IT
DID NOT USE COLD CALLERS. A JOB APPLICANT WAS INSTRUCTED NOT TO
DISCLOSE HIS PREVIOUS INTERNSHIP AT THE BRANCH ON HIS
APPLICATION. A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE WAS INSTRUCTED TO
HIDE OR REMOVE AN UNAUTHORIZED FAX MACHINE WHILE EXAMINERS
WERE ON-SITE AND EXAMINERS WERE MISLEAD ABOUT THE NUMBER OF
FAX MACHINES AT THE BRANCH. THE FIRM FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE AN INDIVIDUAL WITH THE FIRM WHO HELD HIMSELF OUT TO
BE AN ATTORNEY ON FIRM STATIONERY AND BUSINESS CARDS EVEN
THOUGH HE HAD NOT PASSED A BAR EXAM. THE FIRM FAILED TO RECEIVE
AND REVIEW DUPLICATE CONFIRMATIONS AND MONTHLY ACCOUNT
STATEMENTS FOR ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED OUTSIDE THE FIRM BY
EMPLOYEES AND FAILED TO EVIDENCE THE APPROVAL OF SUCH
ACCOUNTS; FAILED TO SEND DUPLICATE STATEMENT AND
CONFIRMATIONS TO OTHER FIRMS WHOSE EMPLOYEES HAD ACCOUNTS
AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM FAILED TO EVIDENCE REVIEW AND SUPERVISION
OF INCOMING OR OUTGOING WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS FAXES, EMAILS
AT CERTAIN BRANCHES; FAILED TO EVIDENCE THE APPROVAL FOR
CERTAIN EMPLOYEES TO MAINTAIN COMPUTERS AND SOFTWARE; AND
FAILED TO REVIEW, SUPERVISE AND/OR EVIDENCE SUPERVISORY REVIEW
OF COMMUNICATIONS SENT AND RECEIVED BY EMPLOYEES WITH NON-
FIRM ISSUED COMPUTERS. THE FIRM FAILED TO PLACE CERTAIN
ACCOUNTS ON 90-DAY RESTRICTIONS; EVIDENCE THE REVIEW, APPROVAL
AND/OR SUPERVISION OF ORDER ERRORS AND ACCOUNT DESIGNATION
CHANGES; AND DATE OR PROPERLY DATE CORRECTIONS FOR ORDER
ERRORS AND ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPROPRIATELY EVIDENCE THE REVIEW, APPROVAL AND/OR
SUPERVISION OF CERTAIN PERSONAL COMPUTER FORMS THAT HAD
BEEN BACKDATED AT A BRANCH; FAILED TO APPROVE AND/OR TIMELY
APPROVE SEMINARS CONDUCTED BY FIRM EMPLOYEES AND MAINTAIN
CERTAIN SEMINAR RELATED MATERIALS; FAILED TO REVIEW, APPROVE
AND/OR RETAIN CERTAIN FACSIMILES, INCLUDING FAX-2-MAIL
CORRESPONDENCE AND/OR EVIDENCE ITS REVIEW AND APPROVAL;
FAILED TO MAINTAIN ITS "CONTROL" FAX MACHINE IN A SECURE LOCATION
IN ONE BRANCH. THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE LETTERS FROM OUTSIDE
BROKER DEALERS, WHOSE EMPLOYEES MAINTAINED ACCOUNTS AT THE
FIRM, CONFIRMING THAT THEY WERE AWARE OF SUCH ACCOUNTS AND
FAILED TO RECEIVE AND REVIEW DUPLICATE CONFIRMATIONS AND
MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS FOR AN ACCOUNT MAINTAINED
OUTSIDE THE FIRM BY AN EMPLOYEE AND APPROVE AND/OR EVIDENCE
THE APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNT.

Resolution Date: 07/21/2009

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $300,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 2520(F)(9), 3010, NYSE RULES 407(A), 407(B) - A MERRILL
LYNCH BRANCH OFFICE EMPLOYED TEMPORARY NON-REGISTERED
INTERNS WHO ENGAGED IN COLD-CALLING ACTIVITIES BUT BRANCH
PERSONNEL INACCURATELY STATED TO NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE
(NYSE) EXAMINERS THAT IT DID NOT EMPLOY ANY INTERNS AND
DELIBERATELY FAILED TO CORRECT THE MISSTATEMENT. THE BRANCH
TOLD ITS INTERNS NOT TO REPORT FOR WORK ON THE DAY OF THE EXAM
AND BRANCH EMPLOYEES WERE INSTRUCTED TO TELL THE EXAMINERS
THE BRANCH DID NOT EMPLOY UNAPPROVED INTERNS. THE BRANCH
PROVIDED AN INACCURATE WRITTEN STATEMENT TO THE NYSE THAT IT
DID NOT USE COLD CALLERS. A JOB APPLICANT WAS INSTRUCTED NOT TO
DISCLOSE HIS PREVIOUS INTERNSHIP AT THE BRANCH ON HIS
APPLICATION. A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE WAS INSTRUCTED TO
HIDE OR REMOVE AN UNAUTHORIZED FAX MACHINE WHILE EXAMINERS
WERE ON-SITE AND EXAMINERS WERE MISLEAD ABOUT THE NUMBER OF
FAX MACHINES AT THE BRANCH. THE FIRM FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE AN INDIVIDUAL WITH THE FIRM WHO HELD HIMSELF OUT TO
BE AN ATTORNEY ON FIRM STATIONERY AND BUSINESS CARDS EVEN
THOUGH HE HAD NOT PASSED A BAR EXAM. THE FIRM FAILED TO RECEIVE
AND REVIEW DUPLICATE CONFIRMATIONS AND MONTHLY ACCOUNT
STATEMENTS FOR ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED OUTSIDE THE FIRM BY
EMPLOYEES AND FAILED TO EVIDENCE THE APPROVAL OF SUCH
ACCOUNTS; FAILED TO SEND DUPLICATE STATEMENT AND
CONFIRMATIONS TO OTHER FIRMS WHOSE EMPLOYEES HAD ACCOUNTS
AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM FAILED TO EVIDENCE REVIEW AND SUPERVISION
OF INCOMING OR OUTGOING WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS FAXES, EMAILS
AT CERTAIN BRANCHES; FAILED TO EVIDENCE THE APPROVAL FOR
CERTAIN EMPLOYEES TO MAINTAIN COMPUTERS AND SOFTWARE; AND
FAILED TO REVIEW, SUPERVISE AND/OR EVIDENCE SUPERVISORY REVIEW
OF COMMUNICATIONS SENT AND RECEIVED BY EMPLOYEES WITH NON-
FIRM ISSUED COMPUTERS. THE FIRM FAILED TO PLACE CERTAIN
ACCOUNTS ON 90-DAY RESTRICTIONS; EVIDENCE THE REVIEW, APPROVAL
AND/OR SUPERVISION OF ORDER ERRORS AND ACCOUNT DESIGNATION
CHANGES; AND DATE OR PROPERLY DATE CORRECTIONS FOR ORDER
ERRORS AND ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPROPRIATELY EVIDENCE THE REVIEW, APPROVAL AND/OR
SUPERVISION OF CERTAIN PERSONAL COMPUTER FORMS THAT HAD
BEEN BACKDATED AT A BRANCH; FAILED TO APPROVE AND/OR TIMELY
APPROVE SEMINARS CONDUCTED BY FIRM EMPLOYEES AND MAINTAIN
CERTAIN SEMINAR RELATED MATERIALS; FAILED TO REVIEW, APPROVE
AND/OR RETAIN CERTAIN FACSIMILES, INCLUDING FAX-2-MAIL
CORRESPONDENCE AND/OR EVIDENCE ITS REVIEW AND APPROVAL;
FAILED TO MAINTAIN ITS "CONTROL" FAX MACHINE IN A SECURE LOCATION
IN ONE BRANCH. THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE LETTERS FROM OUTSIDE
BROKER DEALERS, WHOSE EMPLOYEES MAINTAINED ACCOUNTS AT THE
FIRM, CONFIRMING THAT THEY WERE AWARE OF SUCH ACCOUNTS AND
FAILED TO RECEIVE AND REVIEW DUPLICATE CONFIRMATIONS AND
MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS FOR AN ACCOUNT MAINTAINED
OUTSIDE THE FIRM BY AN EMPLOYEE AND APPROVE AND/OR EVIDENCE
THE APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNT.  THESE FINDING REFLECT A
COMPILATION OF EVENTS IDENTIFIED IN THREE EXAM REPORTS FOR THE
YEARS 2005, 2006, AND 2007, WHICH COVERED A NUMBER OF DIFFERENT
BRANCHES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/21/2009

Docket/Case Number: 2008012391401

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 2110, 2520(F)(9), 3010, NYSE RULES 407(A), 407(B) - A MERRILL
LYNCH BRANCH OFFICE EMPLOYED TEMPORARY NON-REGISTERED
INTERNS WHO ENGAGED IN COLD-CALLING ACTIVITIES BUT BRANCH
PERSONNEL INACCURATELY STATED TO NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE
(NYSE) EXAMINERS THAT IT DID NOT EMPLOY ANY INTERNS AND
DELIBERATELY FAILED TO CORRECT THE MISSTATEMENT. THE BRANCH
TOLD ITS INTERNS NOT TO REPORT FOR WORK ON THE DAY OF THE EXAM
AND BRANCH EMPLOYEES WERE INSTRUCTED TO TELL THE EXAMINERS
THE BRANCH DID NOT EMPLOY UNAPPROVED INTERNS. THE BRANCH
PROVIDED AN INACCURATE WRITTEN STATEMENT TO THE NYSE THAT IT
DID NOT USE COLD CALLERS. A JOB APPLICANT WAS INSTRUCTED NOT TO
DISCLOSE HIS PREVIOUS INTERNSHIP AT THE BRANCH ON HIS
APPLICATION. A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE WAS INSTRUCTED TO
HIDE OR REMOVE AN UNAUTHORIZED FAX MACHINE WHILE EXAMINERS
WERE ON-SITE AND EXAMINERS WERE MISLEAD ABOUT THE NUMBER OF
FAX MACHINES AT THE BRANCH. THE FIRM FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE AN INDIVIDUAL WITH THE FIRM WHO HELD HIMSELF OUT TO
BE AN ATTORNEY ON FIRM STATIONERY AND BUSINESS CARDS EVEN
THOUGH HE HAD NOT PASSED A BAR EXAM. THE FIRM FAILED TO RECEIVE
AND REVIEW DUPLICATE CONFIRMATIONS AND MONTHLY ACCOUNT
STATEMENTS FOR ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED OUTSIDE THE FIRM BY
EMPLOYEES AND FAILED TO EVIDENCE THE APPROVAL OF SUCH
ACCOUNTS; FAILED TO SEND DUPLICATE STATEMENT AND
CONFIRMATIONS TO OTHER FIRMS WHOSE EMPLOYEES HAD ACCOUNTS
AT THE FIRM. THE FIRM FAILED TO EVIDENCE REVIEW AND SUPERVISION
OF INCOMING OR OUTGOING WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS FAXES, EMAILS
AT CERTAIN BRANCHES; FAILED TO EVIDENCE THE APPROVAL FOR
CERTAIN EMPLOYEES TO MAINTAIN COMPUTERS AND SOFTWARE; AND
FAILED TO REVIEW, SUPERVISE AND/OR EVIDENCE SUPERVISORY REVIEW
OF COMMUNICATIONS SENT AND RECEIVED BY EMPLOYEES WITH NON-
FIRM ISSUED COMPUTERS. THE FIRM FAILED TO PLACE CERTAIN
ACCOUNTS ON 90-DAY RESTRICTIONS; EVIDENCE THE REVIEW, APPROVAL
AND/OR SUPERVISION OF ORDER ERRORS AND ACCOUNT DESIGNATION
CHANGES; AND DATE OR PROPERLY DATE CORRECTIONS FOR ORDER
ERRORS AND ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
APPROPRIATELY EVIDENCE THE REVIEW, APPROVAL AND/OR
SUPERVISION OF CERTAIN PERSONAL COMPUTER FORMS THAT HAD
BEEN BACKDATED AT A BRANCH; FAILED TO APPROVE AND/OR TIMELY
APPROVE SEMINARS CONDUCTED BY FIRM EMPLOYEES AND MAINTAIN
CERTAIN SEMINAR RELATED MATERIALS; FAILED TO REVIEW, APPROVE
AND/OR RETAIN CERTAIN FACSIMILES, INCLUDING FAX-2-MAIL
CORRESPONDENCE AND/OR EVIDENCE ITS REVIEW AND APPROVAL;
FAILED TO MAINTAIN ITS "CONTROL" FAX MACHINE IN A SECURE LOCATION
IN ONE BRANCH. THE FIRM FAILED TO PROVIDE LETTERS FROM OUTSIDE
BROKER DEALERS, WHOSE EMPLOYEES MAINTAINED ACCOUNTS AT THE
FIRM, CONFIRMING THAT THEY WERE AWARE OF SUCH ACCOUNTS AND
FAILED TO RECEIVE AND REVIEW DUPLICATE CONFIRMATIONS AND
MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS FOR AN ACCOUNT MAINTAINED
OUTSIDE THE FIRM BY AN EMPLOYEE AND APPROVE AND/OR EVIDENCE
THE APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNT.  THESE FINDING REFLECT A
COMPILATION OF EVENTS IDENTIFIED IN THREE EXAM REPORTS FOR THE
YEARS 2005, 2006, AND 2007, WHICH COVERED A NUMBER OF DIFFERENT
BRANCHES.

Resolution Date: 07/21/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $300,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Disclosure 324 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: WASHINGTON

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

IMPOSE FINES AND PENALTIES

Date Initiated: 07/14/2009

Docket/Case Number: S-08-236-09-CO01

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: ON JULY 14, 2009, THE SECURITIES DIVISION ENTERED INTO A CONSENT
ORDER WITH MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. ("MERRILL
LYNCH") TO SETTLE ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH MISLED
INVESTORS AND FAILED TO SUPERVISE REASONABLY ITS SALESPERSONS
IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("ARS").
ALTHOUGH MARKETED AND SOLD TO INVESTORS AS SAFE, LIQUID, AND
CASH-LIKE INVESTMENTS, ARS ARE ACTUALLY LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS
SUBJECT TO A COMPLEX AUCTION PROCESS.  THE AUCTION PROCESS
FAILED IN EARLY 2008, LEADING TO ILLIQUIDITY AND LOWER INTEREST
RATES FOR SOME INVESTORS.  THE SECURITIES DIVISION ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH ENGAGED IN DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL PRACTICES BY
FAILING TO ADEQUATELY INFORM CUSTOMERS OF THE RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH ARS.  THE SECURITIES DIVISION FURTHER ALLEGED
THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE ITS
SALESPERSON BY FAILING TO TRAIN THEM ON THE RISKS ASSOCIATED
WITH ARS.  THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES MERRILL LYNCH TO
COMPLETE ITS REPURCHASE OF ARS FROM WASHINGTON CUSTOMERS.
THE ORDER ALSO REQUIRES MERRILL LYNCH TO PAY A $1,021,622.95 FINE
TO THE STATE OF WASHINGTON. MERRILL LYNCH WILL PAY $100,000 OF
THE $1,021,622.95 FINE TO THE INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST FOR
INVESTOR EDUCATION IN WASHINGTON STATE.  THE FINE REPRESENTS
WASHINGTON'S PRO-RATA SHARE OF A $125 MILLION SETTLEMENT
NEGOTIATED BY A MULTISTATE TASK FORCE OF STATE REGULATORS
FORMED BY THE NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES ADMINISTRATORS
ASSOCIATION (NASAA).  MERRILL LYNCH WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO A HEARING
AND JUDICIAL REVIEW OF THE MATTER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 07/14/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY FINES AND/OR PENALTIES TOTALING $125
MILLION (THE "TOTAL PENALTY") TO THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS AND THE OTHER STATES, WHICH SHALL BE ALLOCATED
AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND THE OTHER STATES'
DISCRETION, TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE
SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES.
A.MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY $1,021,622.95 OF THE TOTAL PENALTY TO
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON.
B.MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY $921,622.95 OF WASHINGTON'S $1,021,622.95
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE TOTAL PENALTY TO THE SECURITIES
DIVISION OF THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS, TO BE DEPOSITED IN THE SECURITIES PROSECUTION
FUND.MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY $100,000 OF WASHINGTON'S
$1,021,622.95 PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE TOTAL PENALTY TO THE
INVESTOR PROTECTION TRUST, A 501(C)(3) NON-PROFIT
HEADQUARTERED IN WASHINGTON, DC, FOR PROJECTS PROMOTING
INVESTOR EDUCATION IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON.MERRILL LYNCH
WILL PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS BY BUYING ELIGIBLE
AUCTION RATE SECURITIES THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION AT LEAST
ONCE BETWEEN FEBRUARY 13, 2008, AND THE DATE OF THIS OFFER, AT
PAR.

Regulator Statement CONTACT:  JILL VALLELY 360-902-8801

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,021,622.95
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED RCW
21,20.110(1)(J) AND (G).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/14/2009

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. S-08-236-09-CO01

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED RCW
21,20.110(1)(J) AND (G).

Resolution Date: 07/14/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE SECURITIES ACT
OF WASHINGTON (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON A CIVIL PENALTY OF $1,021,622.95, AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH
OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL
UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  MLPFS DISPUTES THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE OFFER TO
BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS AS
 "DISGORGEMENT/RESTITUTION."

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,021,622.95
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  MLPFS DISPUTES THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE OFFER TO
BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS AS
 "DISGORGEMENT/RESTITUTION."

Disclosure 325 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY, LABOR AND ECONOMIC
GROWTH OFFICE OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/25/2009

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY, LABOR AND
ECONOMIC GROWTH OFFICE OF FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE REGULATION
(OFIR) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED SECTION 204 OF THE UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT (ACT), MCL 451.604(A)(1)(G) AND (A)(2) FOR DISHONEST
OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS
EMPLOYEES AND/OR AGENTS, RESPECTIVELY

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/25/2009

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,095,319.80
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING OFIR'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED
TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE ACT, TO COMPLY WITH THE
ACT AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY
BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY
THE STATE OF MICHIGAN A CIVIL PENALTY OF $3,095,319.80 AS PART OF A
$125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH
OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL
UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIBIGLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES. MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELILGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,095,319.80
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 326 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY PUBLIC PROTECTION CABINET
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Allegations: THE COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY PUBLIC PROTECTION CABINET
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (DFI) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED KRS
292.330(13)(A)7 AND 9(A) FOR DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND
FAILURE TO SUPERVISE, RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY PUBLIC PROTECTION CABINET
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/22/2009

Docket/Case Number: AGENCY CASE NO. 2009-AH-040

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 06/22/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING DFI'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED
TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE KENTUCKY SECURITIES ACT
(ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY DFI A CIVIL PENALTY OF $377,555.56,
AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $377,555.56
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 327 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/26/2009

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS (DEPARTMENT)
ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN CONNECTINO WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTINO RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED TITLE 10, CH. 3, SECTION 260.218 OF
THE CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS (CODE) FOR FAILURE TO
OBSERVE HIGH STANDARDS OF COMMERCIAL HONOR AND JUST AND
EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE AND TITLE 10, CH. 3, SECTION 260.218.
4(A) OF THE CODE FOR FAILURE TO SUPERVISE ITS EMPLOYEES WITH
REGARD TO THE SALE OF SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/26/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DEPARTMENT'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO DESIST AND REFRAIN FROM VIOLATING TITLE 10, CH.
3, SECTIONS 260.218 AND 260.218.4(A) OF THE CODE, TO COMPLY WITH
TITLE 10, CH. 3, SECTIONS 260.218 AND 260.218.4(A) OF THE CODE, AND TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $13,0000,541.28, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING
CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $13,000,541.28
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DEPARTMENT'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO DESIST AND REFRAIN FROM VIOLATING TITLE 10, CH.
3, SECTIONS 260.218 AND 260.218.4(A) OF THE CODE, TO COMPLY WITH
TITLE 10, CH. 3, SECTIONS 260.218 AND 260.218.4(A) OF THE CODE, AND TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $13,0000,541.28, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE
THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING
CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 328 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 06/22/2009

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA SECURITIES DEPARTMENT (DEPARTMENT)
ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS CONSTITUTED DISHONEST AND UNETHICAL
PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE IN VIOLATION OF N.D.C.C. § 10-
04-11(1)(C) AND (M) RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 06/22/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DEPARTMENT'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE SECURITIES
ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$303,227.83, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES'
DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE
SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $303,227.83
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 329 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: IDAHO DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/18/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 2009-7-14

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE IDAHO DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS)
CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION
RATE SECURITES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED
IDAHO CODE § 30-14-412(D)(13) AND IDAPA 12.01.08.104.11.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/18/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DEPARTMENT'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT (2004) (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DEPARTMENT A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $306,733.86, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $306,733.86
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 330 of 595
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF INDIANA OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE SECURITIES
DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/18/2009

Docket/Case Number: CAUSE NO. 09-0115 CO

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF INDIANA OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE
SECURITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN CONNECTION
WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS CONSTITUTED DISHONEST OR
UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE IN VIOLATION OF
IND. CODE §§ 23-19-4-12(D)(13) AND (9) RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/18/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $900,208.25
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE INDIANA UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $900,208.25, AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE DISCRETION OF THE STATES TO RESOLVE ALL
UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND REFINANCING FEES TO CERTAIN MUNICIPAL ISSUERS THAT
ISSUED AND REFINANCED CERTAIN ARS THROUGH MLPFS.  MLPFS WILL
ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED
PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL
INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM MLPFS BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 331 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF VERMONT DEPARTMENT OF BANKING, INSURANCE, SECURITIES
AND HEALTH CARE ADMINISTRATION

Date Initiated: 06/10/2009

Allegations: THE STATE OF VERMONT'S DEPARTMENT OF BANKING, INSURANCE,
SECURITIES AND HEALTH CARE ADMINISTRATION (BISHCA) ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS)
CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION
RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS
CONSTITUTED DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE IN VIOLATION OF 9 V.S.A. §§ 5412(D)(13) AND (9),
RESPECTIVELY

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/10/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. 09-064-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 06/10/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING BISHCA'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE VERMONT
UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT (VUSA), TO COMPLY WITH THE VUSA, AND TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY BISHCA A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $362,724.01 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $362,724.01
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 332 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COLORADO DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/17/2009

Docket/Case Number: ORDER NO. 09-L-015

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE COLORADO DIVISION OF SECURITIES (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS)
CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION
RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS
CONSTITUTED DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE IN VIOLATION OF C.R.S. §§ 11-51-410(1)(G) AND (I),
RESPECTIVELY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/17/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING C.R.S. §§ 11-51-410(1)(G)
AND (I), TO COMPLY WITH THE COLORADO SECURITIES ACT, AND TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $1,337,802.65 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,337,802.65
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 333 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ARIZONA CORPORATION COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/16/2009

Docket/Case Number: DOCKET NO. S-03497A-09-0242; DECISION NO. 71162

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE ARIZONA CORPORATION COMMISSION (COMMISSION) ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS)
CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCITION
RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS
CONSTITUTED DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL PRACTICES AND FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 44-1961 OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF ARIZONA.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 06/16/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE COMMISSION'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE SECURITIES
ACT OF ARIZONA (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE COMMISSION A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $1,751,003.62 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL
BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,751,003.62
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 334 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO'S OFFICE OF THE
COMMISSIONER OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (OCFI) ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS)
CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION
RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED
ARTICLES 204(A)(2)(G) AND 204(A)(2)(J) OF ACT NUMBER 60 OF THE
PUERTO RICO UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT (PRUSA), AS WELL AS ARTICLES
25 AND 28 OF REGULATION NUMBER 6078 OF THE PUERTO RICO UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT REGULATION (PRUSAR).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO, OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER OF
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/10/2009

Docket/Case Number: C09-V-005

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

THE COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO'S OFFICE OF THE
COMMISSIONER OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (OCFI) ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS)
CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION
RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED
ARTICLES 204(A)(2)(G) AND 204(A)(2)(J) OF ACT NUMBER 60 OF THE
PUERTO RICO UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT (PRUSA), AS WELL AS ARTICLES
25 AND 28 OF REGULATION NUMBER 6078 OF THE PUERTO RICO UNIFORM
SECURITIES ACT REGULATION (PRUSAR).

Resolution Date: 06/10/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING OCFI'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS AGREED
TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATIONG ACT NUMBER 60 OF THE PRUSA
AND REGULATION NUMBER 6078 OF THE PRUSAR, TO COMPLY WITH ACT
NUMBER 60 OF THE PRUSA AND REGULATION NUMBER 6078 OF THE
PRUSAR, AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING TO BUY BACK
ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY OCFI A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $250,106.24 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250,106.24
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 335 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AND REGULATION,
DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/03/2009

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA'S DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE AND
REGULATION DIVISION OF SECURITIES (DIVISION) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS) CONDUCT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED SOUTH
DAKOTA CODIFIED LAWS (SDCL) 47-31G-412(D)(13) AND SDCL 47-31B-
412(D)(9).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/03/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $440,664.01
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: EITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING CHAPTER 47-31B OF
THE SDCL, TO COMPLY WITH CHAPTER 47-31B OF THE SDCL, AND TO
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE
ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A
CIVIL PENALTY OF $440,664.01 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT
WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND
OTHER STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT
RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 336 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE MISSISSIPPI SECRETARY OF STATE SECURITIS AND
CHARITIES DIVISION

Date Initiated: 06/03/2009

Allegations: THE OFFICE OF THE MISSISSIPPI SECRETARY OF STATE SECURITIES AND
CHARITIES DIVISION (DIVISION) ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 75-71-
321(A)(F) AND 75-71-321(B)(A) OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE, CONCERNING
THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO
RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS BY MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED (MLPFS).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/03/2009

Docket/Case Number: S-09-0181

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 06/03/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DIVISION'S ALLEGATIONS, MLPFS
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THE MISSISSIPPI
SECURITIES ACT (ACT), TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT AND TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE DIVISION A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $308,582.49 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE
ALLOCATED AT THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER
STATES' DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING
TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $308,582.49
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 337 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MONTANA SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/02/2009

Docket/Case Number: CAUSE NO. SEC-2009-29

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE MONTANA SECURITIES DEPARTMENT (DEPARTMENT) ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED'S (MLPFS)
CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND SALE OF AUCTION
RATE SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS VIOLATED
SECTIONS 30-10-201(13)(G) AND 30-10-201(13)(K) OF THE MONTANA CODE
ANNOTATED (CODE).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/02/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE DEPARTMENT'S ALLEGATIONS,
MLPFS AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTIONS 30-10-
201(13)(G) AND 30-10-201(13)(K) OF THE CODE, TO COMPLY WITH SECTION
30-10-101, ET. SEQ. OF THE CODE AND TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
INCLUDING TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FRO ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.
MLPFS AGREED TO PAY THE STATE OF MONTANA A CIVIL PENALTY OF
$412,977.04 AS PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED
AT THE COMMONWEALTHOF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES'
DISCRETION TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE
SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $412,977.04
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  MLPFS HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  MLPFS HAS
ALSO AGREED TO PAY THOSE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS THAT MLPFS CAN
REASONABLY IDENTIFY WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, THE
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT WHICH THEY SOLD SUCH
SECURITIES.  MLPFS HAS ALSO AGREED TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL
ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ARBITRATING ANY
ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES CLAIM ARISING FROM
THEIR INABILITY TO SELL CERTAIN ARS.  FURTHERMORE, MLPFS AGREED
TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN REFINANCING FEES
RECEIVED BY MLPFS FOR THE ISSUANCE OR REFINANCING OF SUCH
ISSUERS' ARS.  MLPFS WILL ALSO ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS
AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS
FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM
MLPFS BUT ARE NOT CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT
ENTITLED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF
THE SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 338 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CBOT BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/13/2009

Docket/Case Number: CBOT 07-ETI-74-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CBOT BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ALLEGED THAT ON SEVEN
DATES IN 2007, AN EMPLOYEE OF THE APPLICANT KNOWINGLY ENTERED
BIDS AND OFFERS INTO THE E-CBOT SYSTEM OTHER THAN IN GOOD
FAITH FOR THE PURPOSE OF EXECUTING BONA FIDE TRANSACTIONS AND
WITH KNOWLEDGE THAT THE ORDERS WOULD MATCH OPPOSITE EACH
OTHER RESULTING IN NO CHANGE OF OWNERSHIP AND, THEREBY,
VIOLATED LEGACY CBOT REGULATION 9B.14.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 06/16/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 339 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/02/2009

Docket/Case Number: 0903521

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CBOT ALLEGED THAT THE APPLICANT'S TIMESTAMP EXCEPTION RATE OF
10.95% FOR THE MONTH ENDING MARCH 2009 EXCEEDED THE
ACCEPTABLE RATE WHICH IS IN VIOLATION OF CHICAGO MERCANTILE
EXCHANGE IN RULE 536.A.1.  SAID VIOLATION WAS THE THIRD TIMESTAMP
EXCEPTION VIOLATION WITHIN THE LAST 12 MONTHS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/01/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Settled
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Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, APPLICANT
AGREED TO THE FINE IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER.

Disclosure 340 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS OFFICE OF SECRETARY OF THE
COMMONWEALTH SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/31/2008

Docket/Case Number: 2008-0058

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE OFFICE OF THE
SECRETARY OF THE COMMONWEALTH (MSD) ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF
THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT, WHICH, IN PART,
PROHIBITS UNETHICAL OR DISHONEST CONDUCT OR PRACTICES IN THE
SECURITIES BUSINESS, CONCERNING THE SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES (ARS) TO RETAIL AND OTHER CUSTOMERS BY THE
APPLICANT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/13/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE MSD'S ALLEGATIONS, THE
APPLICANT AGREED TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, INCLUDING OFFERING
TO BUY BACK ELIGIBLE ARS FROM ELIGIBLE INVESTORS.  THE FIRM
AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL PENALTY TO THE COMMONWEALTH OF
MASSACHUSETTS OF $1,598,650.90, WHICH WAS PAID ON 4/14/2009 AS
PART OF A $125,000,000.00 FINE THAT WILL BE ALLOCATED AT THE
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS AND OTHER STATES' DISCRETION
TO RESOLVE ALL UNDERLYING CONDUCT RELATING TO THE SALE OF ARS.

Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, THE APPLICANT AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE APPLICANT HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
APPLICANT HAS ALSO AGREED TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY
SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT
WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  THE APPLICANT HAS ALSO AGREED
TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE
OF ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
APPLICANT AGREED TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN
REFINANCING FEES RECEIVED BY THE APPLICANT FOR THE ISSUANCE OR
REFINANCING OF SUCH ISSUERS' ARS.  THE APPLICANT WILL ALSO
ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES
TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT
PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM THE APPLICANT BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,598,650.90

Settled
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Firm Statement UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, THE APPLICANT AGREED TO
UNDERTAKINGS DESIGNED TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY TO ELIGIBLE
INVESTORS.  THE APPLICANT HAS OFFERED TO PURCHASE AT PAR FROM
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS CERTAIN ARS THAT HAVE FAILED AT AUCTION.  THE
APPLICANT HAS ALSO AGREED TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO IDENTIFY
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WHO SOLD CERTAIN ARS BELOW PAR, AND TO PAY
SUCH INVESTORS THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PAR AND THE PRICE AT
WHICH THEY SOLD THE SECURITIES.  THE APPLICANT HAS ALSO AGREED
TO PARTICIPATE IN A SPECIAL ARBITRATION PROCESS FOR THE PURPOSE
OF ARBITRATING ANY ELIGIBLE INVESTOR'S CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
CLAIM ARISING FROM THE INABILITY TO SELL ARS.  FURTHERMORE, THE
APPLICANT AGREED TO REFUND TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS CERTAIN
REFINANCING FEES RECEIVED BY THE APPLICANT FOR THE ISSUANCE OR
REFINANCING OF SUCH ISSUERS' ARS.  THE APPLICANT WILL ALSO
ENDEAVOR TO WORK WITH ISSUERS AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES
TO PROVIDE LIQUIDITY SOLUTIONS FOR INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS THAT
PURCHASED CERTAIN ARS FROM THE APPLICANT BUT ARE NOT
CONSIDERED "ELIGIBLE INVESTORS" AND ARE NOT ENTITLED TO
PARTICIPATE IN THE ARS BUYBACK UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
SETTLEMENT.

Disclosure 341 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMINISTRATIVE RELEASE 34-59555, IA 40-2851, MARCH 11, 2009:
SECTION 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SECTION 204A OF THE
ADVISERS ACT - FROM 2002 TO 2004, SEVERAL MERRILL LYNCH RETAIL
BROKERS PERMITTED DAY TRADERS TO HEAR CONFIDENTIAL
INFORMATION REGARDING MERRILL LYNCH INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS'
UNEXECUTED ORDERS AS THEY WERE TRANSMITTED OVER MERRILL
LYNCH'S SQUAWK BOX SYSTEM. THE DAY TRADERS USED THE
CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION TO "TRADE AHEAD" OF THE
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS AND, IN MANY INSTANCES, PROFITED
FROM PRICE MOVEMENTS THAT WERE CAUSED BY THE MARKET IMPACT
OF THE INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDER. THE DAY TRADERS
COMPENSATED THE BROKERS FOR ACCESS TO THIS MATERIAL,
NONPUBLIC ORDER INFORMATION THROUGH COMMISSIONS AND CASH
PAYMENTS. THE BROKERS' MISUSE OF MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC
INFORMATION WAS IN VIOLATION OF THE ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND WAS THE SUBJECT OF CIVIL
ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS BY THE COMMISSION. MERRILL LYNCH
MAINTAINED POLICIES PROHIBITING INSIDER TRADING, THE FRONT
RUNNING OF CUSTOMER ORDERS, AND THE IMPROPER DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT CUSTOMER ORDERS. MERRILL LYNCH INFORMED
ITS BROKERS, INCLUDING THOSE BROKERS WHO IMPROPERLY
DISCLOSED CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION TO DAY TRADERS, OF
THESE POLICIES. HOWEVER, MERRILL LYNCH LACKED WRITTEN POLICIES
OR PROCEDURES TO LIMIT ACCESS TO THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX, TO
TRACK WHICH EMPLOYEES HAD ACCESS TO THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX
OR TO MONITOR EMPLOYEES' USE OF THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX.
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED, TAKING INTO
CONSIDERATION THE NATURE OF MERRILL LYNCH'S BUSINESS, TO
PREVENT MISUSE, IN VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, OF
MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC INFORMATION BY MERRILL LYNCH OR ANY
PERSON ASSOCIATED WITH IT. (CONTINUE IN COMMENTS)

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/11/2009

Docket/Case Number: 3-13407

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

SEC ADMINISTRATIVE RELEASE 34-59555, IA 40-2851, MARCH 11, 2009:
SECTION 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SECTION 204A OF THE
ADVISERS ACT - FROM 2002 TO 2004, SEVERAL MERRILL LYNCH RETAIL
BROKERS PERMITTED DAY TRADERS TO HEAR CONFIDENTIAL
INFORMATION REGARDING MERRILL LYNCH INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMERS'
UNEXECUTED ORDERS AS THEY WERE TRANSMITTED OVER MERRILL
LYNCH'S SQUAWK BOX SYSTEM. THE DAY TRADERS USED THE
CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION TO "TRADE AHEAD" OF THE
INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDERS AND, IN MANY INSTANCES, PROFITED
FROM PRICE MOVEMENTS THAT WERE CAUSED BY THE MARKET IMPACT
OF THE INSTITUTIONAL CUSTOMER ORDER. THE DAY TRADERS
COMPENSATED THE BROKERS FOR ACCESS TO THIS MATERIAL,
NONPUBLIC ORDER INFORMATION THROUGH COMMISSIONS AND CASH
PAYMENTS. THE BROKERS' MISUSE OF MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC
INFORMATION WAS IN VIOLATION OF THE ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND WAS THE SUBJECT OF CIVIL
ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS BY THE COMMISSION. MERRILL LYNCH
MAINTAINED POLICIES PROHIBITING INSIDER TRADING, THE FRONT
RUNNING OF CUSTOMER ORDERS, AND THE IMPROPER DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT CUSTOMER ORDERS. MERRILL LYNCH INFORMED
ITS BROKERS, INCLUDING THOSE BROKERS WHO IMPROPERLY
DISCLOSED CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION TO DAY TRADERS, OF
THESE POLICIES. HOWEVER, MERRILL LYNCH LACKED WRITTEN POLICIES
OR PROCEDURES TO LIMIT ACCESS TO THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX, TO
TRACK WHICH EMPLOYEES HAD ACCESS TO THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX
OR TO MONITOR EMPLOYEES' USE OF THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX.
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED, TAKING INTO
CONSIDERATION THE NATURE OF MERRILL LYNCH'S BUSINESS, TO
PREVENT MISUSE, IN VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, OF
MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC INFORMATION BY MERRILL LYNCH OR ANY
PERSON ASSOCIATED WITH IT. (CONTINUE IN COMMENTS)

Resolution Date: 03/11/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKEN: MERRILL LYNCH WILL CONTINUE, BY MEANS OF ITS
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUALS, TO INFORM ITS EMPLOYEES THAT
INFORMATION CONCERNING CUSTOMER ORDERS IS CONFIDENTIAL.
MERRILL LYNCH WILL MAINTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES PROVIDING
THAT ITS EMPLOYEES CAN OBTAIN ACCESS TO THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX
ONLY AFTER HIS/HER MANAGER HAS APPROVED SUCH ACCESS IN
WRITING BECAUSE THE EMPLOYEE'S RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE THE
FACILITATION OF CUSTOMER SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS THROUGH
PROVIDING CONTRA-SIDE LIQUIDITY FOR LARGE ORDERS. MERRILL
LYNCH WILL REQUIRE ALL EMPLOYEES WHO ARE GRANTED ACCESS TO
THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX TO CERTIFY THAT HE/SHE HAS READ AND
AGREES TO ABIDE BY MERRILL LYNCH'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
RELATED TO THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX. MERRILL LYNCH WILL DESIGN
AND IMPLEMENT A PROGRAM TO EFFECTUATE ITS POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES CONCERNING THE CONFIDENTIALITY OF CUSTOMER
ORDER INFORMATION COMMUNICATED THROUGH THE EQUITY SQUAWK
BOX. MERRILL LYNCH'S INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT SHALL AUDIT
MERRILL LYNCH'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES AT LEAST EVERY TWO
YEARS FOR AT LEAST SIX YEARS FOLLOWING THE DATE OF THIS ORDER.
FOR EACH OF THESE AUDITS, THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE THE STAFF WITH A
COPY OF THE AUDIT REPORT; THE FIRM WILL IMPLEMENT ANY
RECOMMENDATIONS IN THE REPORT WITHIN THE TIME PERIOD SPECIFIED
BY INTERNAL AUDIT; AND INTERNAL AUDIT WILL CONFIRM THE
COMPLETION OF ANY REQUIRED ACTIONS WITHIN 90 DAYS FOLLOWING
THE DATE SPECIFIED FOR COMPLETION. MERRILL LYNCH MAY, AS
NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE, MODIFY ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
IN THE FUTURE IN RESPONSE TO CHANGES IN TECHNOLOGY AND THE
EVOLUTION OF ITS BUSINESS. ANY SUCH MODIFICATIONS TO POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES WILL BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SAFEGUARD
CONFIDENTIAL CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION AND PREVENT THE
MISUSE OF MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC INFORMATION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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UNDERTAKEN: MERRILL LYNCH WILL CONTINUE, BY MEANS OF ITS
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUALS, TO INFORM ITS EMPLOYEES THAT
INFORMATION CONCERNING CUSTOMER ORDERS IS CONFIDENTIAL.
MERRILL LYNCH WILL MAINTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES PROVIDING
THAT ITS EMPLOYEES CAN OBTAIN ACCESS TO THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX
ONLY AFTER HIS/HER MANAGER HAS APPROVED SUCH ACCESS IN
WRITING BECAUSE THE EMPLOYEE'S RESPONSIBILITIES INCLUDE THE
FACILITATION OF CUSTOMER SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS THROUGH
PROVIDING CONTRA-SIDE LIQUIDITY FOR LARGE ORDERS. MERRILL
LYNCH WILL REQUIRE ALL EMPLOYEES WHO ARE GRANTED ACCESS TO
THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX TO CERTIFY THAT HE/SHE HAS READ AND
AGREES TO ABIDE BY MERRILL LYNCH'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
RELATED TO THE EQUITY SQUAWK BOX. MERRILL LYNCH WILL DESIGN
AND IMPLEMENT A PROGRAM TO EFFECTUATE ITS POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES CONCERNING THE CONFIDENTIALITY OF CUSTOMER
ORDER INFORMATION COMMUNICATED THROUGH THE EQUITY SQUAWK
BOX. MERRILL LYNCH'S INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT SHALL AUDIT
MERRILL LYNCH'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES AT LEAST EVERY TWO
YEARS FOR AT LEAST SIX YEARS FOLLOWING THE DATE OF THIS ORDER.
FOR EACH OF THESE AUDITS, THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE THE STAFF WITH A
COPY OF THE AUDIT REPORT; THE FIRM WILL IMPLEMENT ANY
RECOMMENDATIONS IN THE REPORT WITHIN THE TIME PERIOD SPECIFIED
BY INTERNAL AUDIT; AND INTERNAL AUDIT WILL CONFIRM THE
COMPLETION OF ANY REQUIRED ACTIONS WITHIN 90 DAYS FOLLOWING
THE DATE SPECIFIED FOR COMPLETION. MERRILL LYNCH MAY, AS
NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE, MODIFY ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
IN THE FUTURE IN RESPONSE TO CHANGES IN TECHNOLOGY AND THE
EVOLUTION OF ITS BUSINESS. ANY SUCH MODIFICATIONS TO POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES WILL BE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SAFEGUARD
CONFIDENTIAL CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION AND PREVENT THE
MISUSE OF MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC INFORMATION.

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ("OFFER") TO
THE COMMISSION, WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO
ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, AND ANY
OTHER PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION
OR TO WHICH THE COMMISSION IS A PARTY, THE RESPONDENT, WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE
COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND OVER THE SUBJECT MATTER
OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B)(4) AND 21C
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SECTIONS 203(E) AND
203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, MAKING FINDINGS,
AND IMPOSING CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDERS, PENALTIES, AND OTHER
RELIEF ("ORDER"). IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: PURSUANT TO SECTION
15(B)(4) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SECTION 203(E)(5) OF THE ADVISERS
ACT, MERRILL LYNCH BE, AND HEREBY IS, CENSURED; WITHIN TEN DAYS
OF THE ISSUANCE OF THIS ORDER, MERRILL LYNCH SHALL PAY A CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY IN THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT OF $7,000,000; AND
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS.

Regulator Statement THE COMMISSION HAS CONSISTENTLY MADE CLEAR THAT BROKER-
DEALERS AND INVESTMENT ADVISERS MUST TAKE SERIOUSLY THEIR
RESPONSIBILITIES TO DESIGN AND ENFORCE SUFFICIENTLY ROBUST
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL,
NONPUBLIC INFORMATION. TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION THE EXTENSIVE
TRADING AND RETAIL BROKERAGE ACTIVITIES OF MERRILL LYNCH, ITS
WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC
INFORMATION. MERRILL LYNCH THEREFORE WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTION 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SECTION 204A OF THE
ADVISERS ACT. PURSUANT TO SECTION 21C OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND
SECTION 203(K) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS, OF SECTION 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND
SECTION 204(A) OF THE ADVISERS ACT;
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Regulator Statement THE COMMISSION HAS CONSISTENTLY MADE CLEAR THAT BROKER-
DEALERS AND INVESTMENT ADVISERS MUST TAKE SERIOUSLY THEIR
RESPONSIBILITIES TO DESIGN AND ENFORCE SUFFICIENTLY ROBUST
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL,
NONPUBLIC INFORMATION. TAKING INTO CONSIDERATION THE EXTENSIVE
TRADING AND RETAIL BROKERAGE ACTIVITIES OF MERRILL LYNCH, ITS
WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WERE NOT REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF MATERIAL, NONPUBLIC
INFORMATION. MERRILL LYNCH THEREFORE WILLFULLY VIOLATED
SECTION 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SECTION 204A OF THE
ADVISERS ACT. PURSUANT TO SECTION 21C OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND
SECTION 203(K) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, MERRILL LYNCH SHALL CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS, OF SECTION 15(F) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND
SECTION 204(A) OF THE ADVISERS ACT;

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; CENSURE; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 03/11/2009

Docket/Case Number: 3-13407

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SEC ALLEGED, AND APPLICANT NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED,
THAT APPLICANT FAILED TO MAINTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF CUSTOMER
ORDER INFORMATION AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 15(F) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SECTION 204A OF THE
INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/11/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE #13 BELOW).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE #13 BELOW).

Sanction Details: THE ORDER (1) REQUIRES THAT APPLICANT CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE PROVISIONS
CHARGED, (2) CENSURES APPLICANT, (3) IMPOSES A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $7,000,000, AND (4) ORDERS APPLICANT TO
COMPLY WITH UNDERTAKINGS REGARDING THE ENHANCEMENT OF
CERTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement ON MARCH 11, 2009, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE SEC'S
FINDINGS, APPLICANT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF AN
ADMINISTRATIVE SEC ORDER FINDING VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 15(F) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND SECTION 204A OF THE
INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940 FOR ALLEGEDLY FAILING TO
MAINTAIN WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO PREVENT THE MISUSE OF CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION.  THE
ORDER REQUIRES APPLICANT TO COMPLY WITH UNDERTAKINGS TO
IMPLEMENT (OR TO CONTINUE) AND MAINTAIN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES TO, AMONG THINGS: (1) INFORM EMPLOYEES THAT
INFORMATION CONCERNING CUSTOMER ORDER INFORMATION IS
CONFIDENTIAL, (2) ADDRESS EMPLOYEE ACCESS TO THE EQUITY
SQUAWK BOX, AND (3) TRAIN EMPLOYEES WHO USE SQUAWK BOX
RELATED TECHNOLOGY.  IN ADDITION, APPLICANT'S INTERNAL AUDIT
DEPARTMENT SHALL CONDUCT PERIODIC REVIEWS OF THESE POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES AND PROVIDE THE SEC STAFF WITH A COPY OF THE
AUDIT REPORT.

Disclosure 342 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC IA RELEASE 40-2834, JANUARY 30, 2009: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INC. ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT")- SECTIONS 204, 206(2) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AND SEC RULE 204-2(A)(14): FROM AT LEAST 2002
THROUGH 2005, MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH ITS PENSION CONSULTING
SERVICES ADVISORY PROGRAM, BREACHED ITS FIDUCIARY DUTY TO
CERTAIN OF ITS PENSION FUND CLIENTS AND PROSPECTIVE CLIENTS BY
MISREPRESENTING AND OMITTING TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL
INFORMATION. MERRILL LYNCH'S PENSION FUND CLIENTS CAME TO IT
SEEKING ADVICE IN DEVELOPING APPROPRIATE INVESTMENT
STRATEGIES AND IN SELECTING MONEY MANAGERS TO MANAGE THE
ASSETS ENTRUSTED TO THEIR CARE. IN PROVIDING SUCH ADVICE,
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE FACTS CREATING THE
MATERIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN RECOMMENDING CLIENTS USE
DIRECTED BROKERAGE TO PAY HARD DOLLAR FEES, AND IN
RECOMMENDING THE USE OF ITS TRANSITION MANAGEMENT DESK. IN
ADDITION, MERRILL LYNCH MADE MISLEADING STATEMENTS TO THE
CLIENTS SERVED BY ITS PONTE VEDRA SOUTH, FLORIDA OFFICE ("PONTE
VEDRA SOUTH OFFICE") REGARDING ITS MANAGER IDENTIFICATION
PROCESS. AS A RESULT OF THE ABOVE CONDUCT, MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
(THE "ADVISERS ACT"). MERRILL LYNCH FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE ITS INVESTMENT ADVISER REPRESENTATIVES IN THE BRANCH
OFFICE WITH RESPECT TO THE PROVISION OF ADVISORY SERVICES TO
ITS CONSULTING SERVICES CLIENTS. MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED SECTION
204 OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 204-2(A)(14) THEREUNDER BY
FAILING TO MAINTAIN RECORDS OF THE OFFER OR DELIVERY OF
DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/30/2009

Docket/Case Number: FILE 3-13357

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): PENSION FUNDS

SEC IA RELEASE 40-2834, JANUARY 30, 2009: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INC. ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT")- SECTIONS 204, 206(2) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AND SEC RULE 204-2(A)(14): FROM AT LEAST 2002
THROUGH 2005, MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH ITS PENSION CONSULTING
SERVICES ADVISORY PROGRAM, BREACHED ITS FIDUCIARY DUTY TO
CERTAIN OF ITS PENSION FUND CLIENTS AND PROSPECTIVE CLIENTS BY
MISREPRESENTING AND OMITTING TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL
INFORMATION. MERRILL LYNCH'S PENSION FUND CLIENTS CAME TO IT
SEEKING ADVICE IN DEVELOPING APPROPRIATE INVESTMENT
STRATEGIES AND IN SELECTING MONEY MANAGERS TO MANAGE THE
ASSETS ENTRUSTED TO THEIR CARE. IN PROVIDING SUCH ADVICE,
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE FACTS CREATING THE
MATERIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN RECOMMENDING CLIENTS USE
DIRECTED BROKERAGE TO PAY HARD DOLLAR FEES, AND IN
RECOMMENDING THE USE OF ITS TRANSITION MANAGEMENT DESK. IN
ADDITION, MERRILL LYNCH MADE MISLEADING STATEMENTS TO THE
CLIENTS SERVED BY ITS PONTE VEDRA SOUTH, FLORIDA OFFICE ("PONTE
VEDRA SOUTH OFFICE") REGARDING ITS MANAGER IDENTIFICATION
PROCESS. AS A RESULT OF THE ABOVE CONDUCT, MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
(THE "ADVISERS ACT"). MERRILL LYNCH FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE ITS INVESTMENT ADVISER REPRESENTATIVES IN THE BRANCH
OFFICE WITH RESPECT TO THE PROVISION OF ADVISORY SERVICES TO
ITS CONSULTING SERVICES CLIENTS. MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED SECTION
204 OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 204-2(A)(14) THEREUNDER BY
FAILING TO MAINTAIN RECORDS OF THE OFFER OR DELIVERY OF
DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS.

Resolution Date: 01/30/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Sanction Details: RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH
ARE ADMITTED, RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS,
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT
ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER ("ORDER"). MERRILL LYNCH
WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT. PURSUANT
TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED THAT: MERRILL LYNCH IS CENSURED;
MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY
VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 204 AND 206(2)
OF THE ADVISERS ACT, AND RULE 204-2(A)(14) THEREUNDER; AND
MERRILL LYNCH SHALL, WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER,
PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $1 MILLION TO THE
UNITED STATES TREASURY. IF TIMELY PAYMENT IS NOT MADE, ADDITIONAL
INTEREST SHALL ACCRUE PURSUANT TO 31 U.S.C. 3717.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC IA RELEASE 40-2834, JANUARY 30, 2009: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INC. ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT")- SECTIONS 204, 206(2) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AND SEC RULE 204-2(A)(14): FROM AT LEAST 2002
THROUGH 2005, MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH ITS PENSION CONSULTING
SERVICES ADVISORY PROGRAM, BREACHED ITS FIDUCIARY DUTY TO
CERTAIN OF ITS PENSION FUND CLIENTS AND PROSPECTIVE CLIENTS BY
MISREPRESENTING AND OMITTING TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL
INFORMATION. MERRILL LYNCH'S PENSION FUND CLIENTS CAME TO IT
SEEKING ADVICE IN DEVELOPING APPROPRIATE INVESTMENT
STRATEGIES AND IN SELECTING MONEY MANAGERS TO MANAGE THE
ASSETS ENTRUSTED TO THEIR CARE. IN PROVIDING SUCH ADVICE,
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE FACTS CREATING THE
MATERIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN RECOMMENDING CLIENTS USE
DIRECTED BROKERAGE TO PAY HARD DOLLAR FEES, AND IN
RECOMMENDING THE USE OF ITS TRANSITION MANAGEMENT DESK. IN
ADDITION, MERRILL LYNCH MADE MISLEADING STATEMENTS TO THE
CLIENTS SERVED BY ITS PONTE VEDRA SOUTH, FLORIDA OFFICE ("PONTE
VEDRA SOUTH OFFICE") REGARDING ITS MANAGER IDENTIFICATION
PROCESS. AS A RESULT OF THE ABOVE CONDUCT, MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
(THE "ADVISERS ACT"). MERRILL LYNCH FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE ITS INVESTMENT ADVISER REPRESENTATIVES IN THE BRANCH
OFFICE WITH RESPECT TO THE PROVISION OF ADVISORY SERVICES TO
ITS CONSULTING SERVICES CLIENTS. MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED SECTION
204 OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 204-2(A)(14) THEREUNDER BY
FAILING TO MAINTAIN RECORDS OF THE OFFER OR DELIVERY OF
DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

$1,000,000.00 FINE

Date Initiated: 01/30/2009

Docket/Case Number: FILE 3-13357

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CONSULTING SERVICES

SEC IA RELEASE 40-2834, JANUARY 30, 2009: THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN
THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-
DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
("ADVISERS ACT") AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INC. ("MERRILL LYNCH" OR "RESPONDENT")- SECTIONS 204, 206(2) OF THE
ADVISERS ACT AND SEC RULE 204-2(A)(14): FROM AT LEAST 2002
THROUGH 2005, MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH ITS PENSION CONSULTING
SERVICES ADVISORY PROGRAM, BREACHED ITS FIDUCIARY DUTY TO
CERTAIN OF ITS PENSION FUND CLIENTS AND PROSPECTIVE CLIENTS BY
MISREPRESENTING AND OMITTING TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL
INFORMATION. MERRILL LYNCH'S PENSION FUND CLIENTS CAME TO IT
SEEKING ADVICE IN DEVELOPING APPROPRIATE INVESTMENT
STRATEGIES AND IN SELECTING MONEY MANAGERS TO MANAGE THE
ASSETS ENTRUSTED TO THEIR CARE. IN PROVIDING SUCH ADVICE,
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE FACTS CREATING THE
MATERIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN RECOMMENDING CLIENTS USE
DIRECTED BROKERAGE TO PAY HARD DOLLAR FEES, AND IN
RECOMMENDING THE USE OF ITS TRANSITION MANAGEMENT DESK. IN
ADDITION, MERRILL LYNCH MADE MISLEADING STATEMENTS TO THE
CLIENTS SERVED BY ITS PONTE VEDRA SOUTH, FLORIDA OFFICE ("PONTE
VEDRA SOUTH OFFICE") REGARDING ITS MANAGER IDENTIFICATION
PROCESS. AS A RESULT OF THE ABOVE CONDUCT, MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940
(THE "ADVISERS ACT"). MERRILL LYNCH FAILED REASONABLY TO
SUPERVISE ITS INVESTMENT ADVISER REPRESENTATIVES IN THE BRANCH
OFFICE WITH RESPECT TO THE PROVISION OF ADVISORY SERVICES TO
ITS CONSULTING SERVICES CLIENTS. MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED SECTION
204 OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 204-2(A)(14) THEREUNDER BY
FAILING TO MAINTAIN RECORDS OF THE OFFER OR DELIVERY OF
DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS.

Resolution Date: 01/30/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH
ARE ADMITTED, RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-ANDDESIST PROCEEDINGS,
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT
ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER ("ORDER"). MERRILL LYNCH
WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT. PURSUANT
TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED THAT: MERRILL LYNCH IS CENSURED; MERRILL LYNCH CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 204 AND 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT,
AND RULE 204-2(A)(14) THEREUNDER; AND MERRILL LYNCH SHALL, WITHIN
90 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT OF $1 MILLION TO THE UNITED STATES TREASURY. IF TIMELY
PAYMENT IS NOT MADE, ADDITIONAL INTEREST SHALL ACCRUE
PURSUANT TO 31 U.S.C. 3717.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE PROCEEDINGS, WHICH
ARE ADMITTED, RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-ANDDESIST PROCEEDINGS,
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT
ADVISERS ACT OF 1940, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL
SANCTIONS AND A CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER ("ORDER"). MERRILL LYNCH
WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT. PURSUANT
TO SECTIONS 203(E) AND 203(K) OF THE ADVISERS ACT, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED THAT: MERRILL LYNCH IS CENSURED; MERRILL LYNCH CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 204 AND 206(2) OF THE ADVISERS ACT,
AND RULE 204-2(A)(14) THEREUNDER; AND MERRILL LYNCH SHALL, WITHIN
90 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN
THE AMOUNT OF $1 MILLION TO THE UNITED STATES TREASURY. IF TIMELY
PAYMENT IS NOT MADE, ADDITIONAL INTEREST SHALL ACCRUE
PURSUANT TO 31 U.S.C. 3717.

Firm Statement FINE OF $1,000,000.00 PAID ON 02/25/2009

Disclosure 343 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC RULES 10B-10, 17A-3, 17A-4, 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, NASD
RULES 2110, 2320, 3010, 3110, 4632, 4632(A), 4632(A)(7)[FORMERLY
6420(A)(8)], 6130, 6130(D), 6230(C)(6), 6230(E), 6620, 6620(F), 6955(A),
INTERPRETATIVE MATERIAL 2110-2, MSRB RULE G-14 - MERRILL LYNCH, IN
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS; REPORTED TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM
(OATS)ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS THAT OATS WAS
UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED ORDER ROUTED TO SUPERMONTAGE
OR SELECTNET OR CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER SUBMITTED BY THE
DESTINATION MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR
IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA; SUBMITTED TO OATS REPORTABLE
ORDER EVENTS (ROES) THAT WERE REJECTED BY OATS FOR CONTEXT
OR SYNTAX ERRORS AND FAILED TO REPAIR THEM; FAILED TO REPORT TO
THE TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) THE
CORRECT CONTRA-PARTY IDENTIFIER FOR TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES; REPORTED TO TRACE TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT. FAILED TO
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY OR PARTIALLY EXECUTE CUSTOMER LIMIT
ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES AFTER IT TRADED EACH SUBJECT
SECURITY FOR ITS OWN MARKET-MAKING ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT
WOULD HAVE SATISFIED EACH CUSTOMER'S LIMIT ORDER. FAILED TO
REPORT, OR TIMELY REPORT, TO THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER (NMC)
THE CANCELLATIONS OF TRADES PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED TO NASDAQ;
INCORRECTLY REPORTED TO THE NMC THE 2ND LEG OF "RISKLESS"
PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES AND
INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED THE CAPACITY AS "PRINCIPAL;" FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE NMC THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER IT
EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES IN A PRINCIPAL
OR AGENCY CAPACITY;[CONTINUED IN COMMENTS]

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/24/2008

Docket/Case Number: 2005000036701

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES, DESIGNATED SECURITIES, NASDAQ
SECURITIES, REPORTABLE SECURITIES

SEC RULES 10B-10, 17A-3, 17A-4, 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, NASD
RULES 2110, 2320, 3010, 3110, 4632, 4632(A), 4632(A)(7)[FORMERLY
6420(A)(8)], 6130, 6130(D), 6230(C)(6), 6230(E), 6620, 6620(F), 6955(A),
INTERPRETATIVE MATERIAL 2110-2, MSRB RULE G-14 - MERRILL LYNCH, IN
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS; REPORTED TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM
(OATS)ROUTE OR COMBINED ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS THAT OATS WAS
UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED ORDER ROUTED TO SUPERMONTAGE
OR SELECTNET OR CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER SUBMITTED BY THE
DESTINATION MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR
IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA; SUBMITTED TO OATS REPORTABLE
ORDER EVENTS (ROES) THAT WERE REJECTED BY OATS FOR CONTEXT
OR SYNTAX ERRORS AND FAILED TO REPAIR THEM; FAILED TO REPORT TO
THE TRADE REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) THE
CORRECT CONTRA-PARTY IDENTIFIER FOR TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES; REPORTED TO TRACE TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES IT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT. FAILED TO
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY OR PARTIALLY EXECUTE CUSTOMER LIMIT
ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES AFTER IT TRADED EACH SUBJECT
SECURITY FOR ITS OWN MARKET-MAKING ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT
WOULD HAVE SATISFIED EACH CUSTOMER'S LIMIT ORDER. FAILED TO
REPORT, OR TIMELY REPORT, TO THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER (NMC)
THE CANCELLATIONS OF TRADES PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED TO NASDAQ;
INCORRECTLY REPORTED TO THE NMC THE 2ND LEG OF "RISKLESS"
PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES AND
INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED THE CAPACITY AS "PRINCIPAL;" FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE NMC THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER IT
EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES IN A PRINCIPAL
OR AGENCY CAPACITY;[CONTINUED IN COMMENTS]

Resolution Date: 09/24/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS: THE FIRM SHALL REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REGARDING TRACE, QUALITY OF MARKETS, OATS
RECEIVING INTERFIRM ROUTE MATCHING STATISTICS, TRANSACTION
REPORTING, SHORT SALES, SHORT SALES BID AND TICK TEST
COMPLIANCE, OATS CLOCK SYNCHRONIZATION, SAFE HARBOR
COMPLIANCE, RECORDKEEPING,LIMIT ORDER PROTECTION, THE ONE
PERCENT RULE, THREE-QUOTE RULE, ETC. WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT AND
TRADING DESKS WILL DEVELOP A WRITTEN PLAN TO IMPROVE ITS
COMPLIANCE IN TRADE REPORTING, OATS REPORTING AND BEST
EXECUTION OVER THE 12 MONTHS FOLLOWING ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC; IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS RESPONSIBLE FOR OVERSEEING
SUPERVISION IN THESE AREAS; AND IDENTIFY THE RESOURCES NEEDED
TO IMPROVE ITS COMPLIANCE. AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE 12 MONTHS,
THE FIRM'S CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER OR DESIGNEE AND ONE OTHER
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL FROM ONE OF THE TRADING DESKS SHALL MEET
WITH FINRA REPRESENTATIVES TO DESCRIBE THE FIRM'S PROGRESS IN
THESE AREAS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $242,500.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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UNDERTAKINGS: THE FIRM SHALL REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REGARDING TRACE, QUALITY OF MARKETS, OATS
RECEIVING INTERFIRM ROUTE MATCHING STATISTICS, TRANSACTION
REPORTING, SHORT SALES, SHORT SALES BID AND TICK TEST
COMPLIANCE, OATS CLOCK SYNCHRONIZATION, SAFE HARBOR
COMPLIANCE, RECORDKEEPING,LIMIT ORDER PROTECTION, THE ONE
PERCENT RULE, THREE-QUOTE RULE, ETC. WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM'S COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT AND
TRADING DESKS WILL DEVELOP A WRITTEN PLAN TO IMPROVE ITS
COMPLIANCE IN TRADE REPORTING, OATS REPORTING AND BEST
EXECUTION OVER THE 12 MONTHS FOLLOWING ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC; IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS RESPONSIBLE FOR OVERSEEING
SUPERVISION IN THESE AREAS; AND IDENTIFY THE RESOURCES NEEDED
TO IMPROVE ITS COMPLIANCE. AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE 12 MONTHS,
THE FIRM'S CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER OR DESIGNEE AND ONE OTHER
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL FROM ONE OF THE TRADING DESKS SHALL MEET
WITH FINRA REPRESENTATIVES TO DESCRIBE THE FIRM'S PROGRESS IN
THESE AREAS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $242,500, AND ORDERED TO
PAY $11,358.65, PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION. A REGISTERED
PRINCIPAL OF THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF
PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED
EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT RESTITUTION NO LATER THAN 120
DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC. ANY UNDISTRIBUTED
RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL BE FORWARDED TO THE
APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER LAST
RESIDED.

Regulator Statement FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC OR THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING
WHETHER TRANSACTIONS WERE BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT, SELL SHORT
EXEMPT OR CROSS FOR TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES;
FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC THE CORRECT EXECUTION TIME FOR
TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPORT, OR TIMELY REPORT TO THE OTC REPORTING FACILITY THE
CANCELLATIONS OF TRADES PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED; TRANSMITTED TO
OATS REPORTS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR
IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. FAILED TO PROVIDE WRITTEN
NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING TO ITS CUSTOMERS THAT TRANSACTIONS
WERE EXECUTED AT AN AVERAGE PRICE; FAILED TO PROVIDE WRITTEN
NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING ITS EXECUTING CAPACITY IN A
TRANSACTION.THE FIRM FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR A PERIOD OF NOT
LESS THAN 3 YEARS, THE FIRST 2 IN AN ACCESSIBLE PLACE, BROKERAGE
ORDER MEMORANDA; IN SHORT SALE ORDER TRANSACTIONS, FAILED TO
PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT; INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS
 ".W" TO THE FNTRF LAST SALE REPORTS OF DESIGNATED SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS; INCORRECTLY REPORTED TOP THE FNTRF THE 2ND LEG
OF "RISKLESS" PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES
BECAUSE IT INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED THE CAPACITY AS "PRINCIPAL;"
FAILED TO REPORT TO THE FNTRF LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES; INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED
AS ".PRP" ONE LAST SALE REPORT; FAILED TO REPORT THE
CANCELLATION OF ONE TRADE PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED; FAILED TO
REPORT THE CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION OF A LAST SALE REPORT;
REPORTED THE CANCELLATION OF ONE LAST SALE REPORT IT WAS NOT
REQUIRED TO;FAILED TO REPORT TO THE FNTRF THE CORRECT SYMBOL
INDICATING WHETHER IT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES IN A PRINCIPAL OR AGENCY CAPACITY. THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE RE: TRACE, QUALITY OF MARKETS,
TRANSCTION REPORTING, SHORT SALES, OATS, ETC.
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FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC OR THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING
WHETHER TRANSACTIONS WERE BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT, SELL SHORT
EXEMPT OR CROSS FOR TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES;
FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC THE CORRECT EXECUTION TIME FOR
TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPORT, OR TIMELY REPORT TO THE OTC REPORTING FACILITY THE
CANCELLATIONS OF TRADES PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED; TRANSMITTED TO
OATS REPORTS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE OR
IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. FAILED TO PROVIDE WRITTEN
NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING TO ITS CUSTOMERS THAT TRANSACTIONS
WERE EXECUTED AT AN AVERAGE PRICE; FAILED TO PROVIDE WRITTEN
NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING ITS EXECUTING CAPACITY IN A
TRANSACTION.THE FIRM FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR A PERIOD OF NOT
LESS THAN 3 YEARS, THE FIRST 2 IN AN ACCESSIBLE PLACE, BROKERAGE
ORDER MEMORANDA; IN SHORT SALE ORDER TRANSACTIONS, FAILED TO
PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT; INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS
 ".W" TO THE FNTRF LAST SALE REPORTS OF DESIGNATED SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS; INCORRECTLY REPORTED TOP THE FNTRF THE 2ND LEG
OF "RISKLESS" PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES
BECAUSE IT INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED THE CAPACITY AS "PRINCIPAL;"
FAILED TO REPORT TO THE FNTRF LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES; INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED
AS ".PRP" ONE LAST SALE REPORT; FAILED TO REPORT THE
CANCELLATION OF ONE TRADE PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED; FAILED TO
REPORT THE CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION OF A LAST SALE REPORT;
REPORTED THE CANCELLATION OF ONE LAST SALE REPORT IT WAS NOT
REQUIRED TO;FAILED TO REPORT TO THE FNTRF THE CORRECT SYMBOL
INDICATING WHETHER IT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES IN A PRINCIPAL OR AGENCY CAPACITY. THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE RE: TRACE, QUALITY OF MARKETS,
TRANSCTION REPORTING, SHORT SALES, OATS, ETC.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC RULES 10B-10, 17A-3, 17A-4, 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, NASD
RULES 2110, 2320, 3010, 3110, 4632, 4632(A), 4632(A)(7)[FORMERLY
6420(A)(8)], 6130, 6130(D), 6230(C)(6), 6230(E), 6620, 6620(F), 6955(A),
INTERPRETATIVE MATERIAL 2110-2, MSRB RULE G-14 - MERRILL LYNCH, IN
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTERDEALER
MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE
RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS; REPORTED
TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS)ROUTE OR COMBINED
ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS THAT OATS
WAS UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED ORDER ROUTED TO
SUPERMONTAGE OR SELECTNET OR
CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER SUBMITTED BY THE DESTINATION
MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA; SUBMITTED TO OATS
REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS
(ROES) THAT WERE REJECTED BY OATS FOR CONTEXT OR SYNTAX
ERRORS AND FAILED TO REPAIR THEM; FAILED TO REPORT TO THE TRADE
REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) THE CORRECT CONTRA-
PARTY IDENTIFIER FOR TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES;
REPORTED TO TRACE TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES IT
WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT. FAILED TO CONTEMPORANEOUSLY OR
PARTIALLY EXECUTE CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES
AFTER IT TRADED EACH SUBJECT SECURITY FOR ITS OWN MARKET-
MAKING ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE SATISFIED EACH
CUSTOMER'S LIMIT ORDER. FAILED TO REPORT, OR TIMELY REPORT, TO
THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER (NMC) THE CANCELLATIONS OF TRADES
PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED TO NASDAQ; INCORRECTLY REPORTED TO THE
NMC THE 2ND LEG OF "RISKLESS" PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS IN
DESIGNATED SECURITIES AND INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED THE CAPACITY
AS "PRINCIPAL;" FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC THE CORRECT SYMBOL
INDICATING WHETHER IT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES IN A PRINCIPAL OR AGENCY CAPACITY; [CONTINUED IN
COMMENTS]

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING, CENSURE, AND RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 09/24/2008

Docket/Case Number: 2005000036701

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES, DESIGNATED SECURITIES, NASDAQ
SECURITIES, REPORTABLE SECURITIES

SEC RULES 10B-10, 17A-3, 17A-4, 200(G) OF REGULATION SHO, NASD
RULES 2110, 2320, 3010, 3110, 4632, 4632(A), 4632(A)(7)[FORMERLY
6420(A)(8)], 6130, 6130(D), 6230(C)(6), 6230(E), 6620, 6620(F), 6955(A),
INTERPRETATIVE MATERIAL 2110-2, MSRB RULE G-14 - MERRILL LYNCH, IN
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER, FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTERDEALER
MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY OR SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE
RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS
CUSTOMERS WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS; REPORTED
TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM (OATS)ROUTE OR COMBINED
ORDER/ROUTE REPORTS THAT OATS
WAS UNABLE TO LINK TO THE RELATED ORDER ROUTED TO
SUPERMONTAGE OR SELECTNET OR
CORRESPONDING NEW ORDER SUBMITTED BY THE DESTINATION
MEMBER FIRM DUE TO INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA; SUBMITTED TO OATS
REPORTABLE ORDER EVENTS
(ROES) THAT WERE REJECTED BY OATS FOR CONTEXT OR SYNTAX
ERRORS AND FAILED TO REPAIR THEM; FAILED TO REPORT TO THE TRADE
REPORTING AND COMPLIANCE ENGINE (TRACE) THE CORRECT CONTRA-
PARTY IDENTIFIER FOR TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES;
REPORTED TO TRACE TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES IT
WAS NOT REQUIRED TO REPORT. FAILED TO CONTEMPORANEOUSLY OR
PARTIALLY EXECUTE CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES
AFTER IT TRADED EACH SUBJECT SECURITY FOR ITS OWN MARKET-
MAKING ACCOUNT AT A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE SATISFIED EACH
CUSTOMER'S LIMIT ORDER. FAILED TO REPORT, OR TIMELY REPORT, TO
THE NASDAQ MARKET CENTER (NMC) THE CANCELLATIONS OF TRADES
PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED TO NASDAQ; INCORRECTLY REPORTED TO THE
NMC THE 2ND LEG OF "RISKLESS" PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS IN
DESIGNATED SECURITIES AND INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED THE CAPACITY
AS "PRINCIPAL;" FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC THE CORRECT SYMBOL
INDICATING WHETHER IT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES IN A PRINCIPAL OR AGENCY CAPACITY; [CONTINUED IN
COMMENTS]

Resolution Date: 09/24/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS: THE FIRM SHALL REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REGARDING
TRACE, QUALITY OF MARKETS, OATS RECEIVING INTERFIRM ROUTE
MATCHING STATISTICS,
TRANSACTION REPORTING, SHORT SALES, SHORT SALES BID AND TICK
TEST COMPLIANCE, OATS
CLOCK SYNCHRONIZATION, SAFE HARBOR COMPLIANCE,
RECORDKEEPING,LIMIT ORDER
PROTECTION, THE ONE PERCENT RULE, THREE-QUOTE RULE, ETC.
WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE
FIRM'S COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT AND TRADING DESKS WILL DEVELOP A
WRITTEN PLAN TO
IMPROVE ITS COMPLIANCE IN TRADE REPORTING, OATS REPORTING AND
BEST EXECUTION OVER
THE 12 MONTHS FOLLOWING ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC; IDENTIFY
INDIVIDUALS RESPONSIBLE FOR
OVERSEEING SUPERVISION IN THESE AREAS; AND IDENTIFY THE
RESOURCES NEEDED TO IMPROVE
ITS COMPLIANCE. AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE 12 MONTHS, THE FIRM'S
CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER OR DESIGNEE AND ONE OTHER
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL FROM ONE OF THE TRADING DESKS SHALL MEET
WITH FINRA REPRESENTATIVES TO DESCRIBE THE FIRM'S PROGRESS IN
THESE AREAS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $242,500.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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UNDERTAKINGS: THE FIRM SHALL REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REGARDING
TRACE, QUALITY OF MARKETS, OATS RECEIVING INTERFIRM ROUTE
MATCHING STATISTICS,
TRANSACTION REPORTING, SHORT SALES, SHORT SALES BID AND TICK
TEST COMPLIANCE, OATS
CLOCK SYNCHRONIZATION, SAFE HARBOR COMPLIANCE,
RECORDKEEPING,LIMIT ORDER
PROTECTION, THE ONE PERCENT RULE, THREE-QUOTE RULE, ETC.
WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC BY THE NAC. WITHIN 90 DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE
FIRM'S COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT AND TRADING DESKS WILL DEVELOP A
WRITTEN PLAN TO
IMPROVE ITS COMPLIANCE IN TRADE REPORTING, OATS REPORTING AND
BEST EXECUTION OVER
THE 12 MONTHS FOLLOWING ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC; IDENTIFY
INDIVIDUALS RESPONSIBLE FOR
OVERSEEING SUPERVISION IN THESE AREAS; AND IDENTIFY THE
RESOURCES NEEDED TO IMPROVE
ITS COMPLIANCE. AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE 12 MONTHS, THE FIRM'S
CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER OR DESIGNEE AND ONE OTHER
REGISTERED PRINCIPAL FROM ONE OF THE TRADING DESKS SHALL MEET
WITH FINRA REPRESENTATIVES TO DESCRIBE THE FIRM'S PROGRESS IN
THESE AREAS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS
CENSURED, FINED $242,500, AND ORDERED TO PAY $11,358.65, PLUS
INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION. A REGISTERED
PRINCIPAL OF THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT SATISFACTORY PROOF OF
PAYMENT OF THE RESTITUTION, OR OF REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED
EFFORTS UNDERTAKEN TO EFFECT RESTITUTION NO LATER THAN 120
DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC. ANY UNDISTRIBUTED
RESTITUTION AND INTEREST SHALL BE FORWARDED TO THE
APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED PROPERTY OR ABANDONED
PROPERTY FUND FOR THE STATE IN WHICH THE CUSTOMER LAST
RESIDED.

Firm Statement FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC OR THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) THE
CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER TRANSACTIONS WERE BUY,
SELL, SELL SHORT, SELL SHORT
EXEMPT OR CROSS FOR TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES;
FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC
THE CORRECT EXECUTION TIME FOR TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPORT, OR TIMELY REPORT TO THE OTC REPORTING FACILITY THE
CANCELLATIONS OF TRADES
PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED; TRANSMITTED TO OATS REPORTS THAT
CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. FAILED TO PROVIDE
WRITTEN NOTIFICATION
DISCLOSING TO ITS CUSTOMERS THAT TRANSACTIONS WERE EXECUTED
AT AN AVERAGE PRICE;
FAILED TO PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING ITS EXECUTING
CAPACITY IN A
TRANSACTION.THE FIRM FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR A PERIOD OF NOT
LESS THAN 3 YEARS, THE FIRST 2
IN AN ACCESSIBLE PLACE, BROKERAGE ORDER MEMORANDA; IN SHORT
SALE ORDER TRANSACTIONS,
FAILED TO PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT; INCORRECTLY
DESIGNATED AS ".W" TO THE FNTRF
LAST SALE REPORTS OF DESIGNATED SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS;
INCORRECTLY REPORTED TOP THE
FNTRF THE 2ND LEG OF "RISKLESS" PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS IN
DESIGNATED SECURITIES BECAUSE
IT INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED THE CAPACITY AS "PRINCIPAL;" FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE FNTRF LAST
SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES;
INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".PRP"
ONE LAST SALE REPORT; FAILED TO REPORT THE CANCELLATION OF ONE
TRADE PREVIOUSLY
SUBMITTED; FAILED TO REPORT THE CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION OF A
LAST SALE REPORT;
REPORTED THE CANCELLATION OF ONE LAST SALE REPORT IT WAS NOT
REQUIRED TO;FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE FNTRF THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER IT
EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN
REPORTABLE SECURITIES IN A PRINCIPAL OR AGENCY CAPACITY. THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE RE: TRACE, QUALITY OF
MARKETS, TRANSCTION REPORTING, SHORT SALES, OATS, ETC.
FINE OF $242,500.00 WAS PAID ON 10/16/2008.
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FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC OR THE FINRA/NASDAQ TRADE
REPORTING FACILITY (FNTRF) THE
CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER TRANSACTIONS WERE BUY,
SELL, SELL SHORT, SELL SHORT
EXEMPT OR CROSS FOR TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE SECURITIES;
FAILED TO REPORT TO THE NMC
THE CORRECT EXECUTION TIME FOR TRANSACTIONS IN REPORTABLE
SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPORT, OR TIMELY REPORT TO THE OTC REPORTING FACILITY THE
CANCELLATIONS OF TRADES
PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED; TRANSMITTED TO OATS REPORTS THAT
CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA. FAILED TO PROVIDE
WRITTEN NOTIFICATION
DISCLOSING TO ITS CUSTOMERS THAT TRANSACTIONS WERE EXECUTED
AT AN AVERAGE PRICE;
FAILED TO PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING ITS EXECUTING
CAPACITY IN A
TRANSACTION.THE FIRM FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR A PERIOD OF NOT
LESS THAN 3 YEARS, THE FIRST 2
IN AN ACCESSIBLE PLACE, BROKERAGE ORDER MEMORANDA; IN SHORT
SALE ORDER TRANSACTIONS,
FAILED TO PROPERLY MARK THE ORDERS AS SHORT; INCORRECTLY
DESIGNATED AS ".W" TO THE FNTRF
LAST SALE REPORTS OF DESIGNATED SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS;
INCORRECTLY REPORTED TOP THE
FNTRF THE 2ND LEG OF "RISKLESS" PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS IN
DESIGNATED SECURITIES BECAUSE
IT INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED THE CAPACITY AS "PRINCIPAL;" FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE FNTRF LAST
SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN DESIGNATED SECURITIES;
INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".PRP"
ONE LAST SALE REPORT; FAILED TO REPORT THE CANCELLATION OF ONE
TRADE PREVIOUSLY
SUBMITTED; FAILED TO REPORT THE CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION OF A
LAST SALE REPORT;
REPORTED THE CANCELLATION OF ONE LAST SALE REPORT IT WAS NOT
REQUIRED TO;FAILED TO
REPORT TO THE FNTRF THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER IT
EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN
REPORTABLE SECURITIES IN A PRINCIPAL OR AGENCY CAPACITY. THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE RE: TRACE, QUALITY OF
MARKETS, TRANSCTION REPORTING, SHORT SALES, OATS, ETC.
FINE OF $242,500.00 WAS PAID ON 10/16/2008.

Disclosure 344 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Date Initiated: 05/07/2008

Docket/Case Number: 2008013132401

Allegations: NASD RULE 2210(D)(1)(A): A FIRM INFORMATIONAL BROCHURE (THE
 "BROCHURE") DISTRIBUTED TO A NATIONAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS
PROVIDER'S ("COMPANY'S") EMPLOYEES BETWEEN 1998 AND 2001 (THE
 "RELEVANT PERIOD") DETAILING THE FIRM'S HANDLING OF THE
COMPANY'S EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN
("ESOP") FAILED TO PROVIDE A SOUND BASIS FOR EVALUATING THE
FACTS IN REGARD TO EMPLOYING THE EXERCISE AND HOLD STRATEGY
ON MARGIN BY OMITTING DISCLOSURE OF CERTAIN OF THE ASSOCIATED
RISKS. THIRTEEN COMPANY EMPLOYEES WHO PURSUED THE EXERCISE
AND HOLD STRATEGY DESCRIBED IN THE BROCHURE BROUGHT
ARBITRATION ACTIONS AGAINST THE FIRM RESULTING IN AN AWARD AND
SETTLEMENTS TOTALING APPROXIMATELY $6.7 MILLION IN DAMAGES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s): EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN

Resolution Date: 05/07/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $50,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Date Initiated: 05/07/2008

Docket/Case Number: 2008013132401

Allegations: NASD RULE 2210(D)(1)(A): A FIRM INFORMATIONAL BROCHURE
DISTRIBUTED TO A NATIONAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS PROVIDER'S
EMPLOYEES BETWEEN 1998 AND 2001 DETAILING THE FIRM'S HANDLING
OF THE COMPANY'S EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN  FAILED TO PROVIDE
A SOUND BASIS FOR EVALUATING THE FACTS IN REGARD TO EMPLOYING
THE EXERCISE AND HOLD STRATEGY ON MARGIN BY OMITTING
DISCLOSURE OF CERTAIN OF THE ASSOCIATED RISKS. THIRTEEN
COMPANY EMPLOYEES WHO PURSUED THE EXERCISE AND HOLD
STRATEGY DESCRIBED IN THE BROCHURE BROUGHT ARBITRATION
ACTIONS AGAINST THE FIRM RESULTING IN AN AWARD AND SETTLEMENTS
TOTALING APPROXIMATELY $6.7 MILLION IN DAMAGES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

MONETARY FINE

Docket/Case Number: 2008013132401

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s): EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN

Resolution Date: 05/07/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED
$50,000.

Firm Statement FINE WAS PAID 5/21/2008.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 345 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 RULES 10B-10(A) AND 17A-3, NASD
RULES 2110, 2230, 2260, 3010(A) AND (B) AND 3110: FROM AT LEAST
JANUARY 2001 UNTIL JANUARY 2006, AS A RESULT OF CERTAIN
OPERATIONAL AND SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED
TO TIMELY AND CONSISTENTLY UPDATE THE FIRM'S RECORD SYSTEM
RELATING TO CERTAIN INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND FEE-BASED
ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH A REASONABLE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO UPDATE THE RELEVANT CLIENT PROFILES IN A
CLIENT ACCOUNT RECORD MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (THE "KDI SYSTEM") ,
WHICH CONTAINS CLIENT IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION, ACCOUNT
RECORD INFORMATION AND ACCOUNT TRAITS FOR THE AFFECTED
INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND FEE-BASED PROGRAMS. WHILE MERRILL
LYNCH ESTABLISHED A MANUAL UPDATE PROCEDURE, THE FIRM FAILED
TO ESTABLISH A REASONABLE SYSTEM TO MONITOR FOR THE PROPER
COMPLETION OF THE MANUAL PROCESS. ADDITIONALLY, THE FIRM FAILED
TO HAVE ADEQUATE WRITTEN PROCEDURES REGARDING THE PROCESS
FOR IMPLEMENTING UPDATES TO THE AFFECTED PROGRAMS. AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM'S CLIENT ACCOUNT SERVICES MANAGED SOLUTIONS
OPERATIONS ("CAS") DEPARTMENT USED INCONSISTENT METHODS TO
UPDATE THE SYSTEM. THE FIRM CAUSED PROXIES TO BE DELIVERED TO
THE WRONG ADDRESS WHEN CERTAIN CLIENTS IN THE AFFECTED
INVESTMENT ADVISORY OR FEE-BASED ACCOUNTS EITHER (I) CHANGED
INVESTMENT ADVISORS, (II) CHANGED INVESTMENT ADVISORY OR FEE-
BASED PROGRAMS, OR (III) TERMINATED THEIR ENROLLMENT IN THE
AFFECTED PROGRAMS. THE CLIENT'S ORIGINAL INVESTMENT ADVISOR
CONTINUED TO RECEIVE PROXIES THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DELIVERED
TO EITHER ANOTHER INVESTMENT ADVISOR OR THE CLIENT. MERRILL
LYNCH'S OPERATIONAL PROBLEM ALSO RESULTED IN THE FIRM'S FAILURE
TO DELIVER TRADE CONFIRMATIONS TO CERTAIN CLIENTS WHO
TERMINATED ENROLLMENT IN THE AFFECTED INVESTMENT ADVISORY
AND FEE-BASED PROGRAMS AND THE MISDELIVERY OF TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS TO CERTAIN CLIENTS WHO CHANGED INVESTMENT
ADVISORS OR INVESTMENT ADVISORY OR FEE-BASED PROGRAMS.
(CONTINUED IN COMMENTS SECTION)

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/25/2008

Docket/Case Number: 2007009456801

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED TYPES OF SECURITIES

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 RULES 10B-10(A) AND 17A-3, NASD
RULES 2110, 2230, 2260, 3010(A) AND (B) AND 3110: FROM AT LEAST
JANUARY 2001 UNTIL JANUARY 2006, AS A RESULT OF CERTAIN
OPERATIONAL AND SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED
TO TIMELY AND CONSISTENTLY UPDATE THE FIRM'S RECORD SYSTEM
RELATING TO CERTAIN INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND FEE-BASED
ACCOUNTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH A REASONABLE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM TO UPDATE THE RELEVANT CLIENT PROFILES IN A
CLIENT ACCOUNT RECORD MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (THE "KDI SYSTEM") ,
WHICH CONTAINS CLIENT IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION, ACCOUNT
RECORD INFORMATION AND ACCOUNT TRAITS FOR THE AFFECTED
INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND FEE-BASED PROGRAMS. WHILE MERRILL
LYNCH ESTABLISHED A MANUAL UPDATE PROCEDURE, THE FIRM FAILED
TO ESTABLISH A REASONABLE SYSTEM TO MONITOR FOR THE PROPER
COMPLETION OF THE MANUAL PROCESS. ADDITIONALLY, THE FIRM FAILED
TO HAVE ADEQUATE WRITTEN PROCEDURES REGARDING THE PROCESS
FOR IMPLEMENTING UPDATES TO THE AFFECTED PROGRAMS. AS A
RESULT, THE FIRM'S CLIENT ACCOUNT SERVICES MANAGED SOLUTIONS
OPERATIONS ("CAS") DEPARTMENT USED INCONSISTENT METHODS TO
UPDATE THE SYSTEM. THE FIRM CAUSED PROXIES TO BE DELIVERED TO
THE WRONG ADDRESS WHEN CERTAIN CLIENTS IN THE AFFECTED
INVESTMENT ADVISORY OR FEE-BASED ACCOUNTS EITHER (I) CHANGED
INVESTMENT ADVISORS, (II) CHANGED INVESTMENT ADVISORY OR FEE-
BASED PROGRAMS, OR (III) TERMINATED THEIR ENROLLMENT IN THE
AFFECTED PROGRAMS. THE CLIENT'S ORIGINAL INVESTMENT ADVISOR
CONTINUED TO RECEIVE PROXIES THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DELIVERED
TO EITHER ANOTHER INVESTMENT ADVISOR OR THE CLIENT. MERRILL
LYNCH'S OPERATIONAL PROBLEM ALSO RESULTED IN THE FIRM'S FAILURE
TO DELIVER TRADE CONFIRMATIONS TO CERTAIN CLIENTS WHO
TERMINATED ENROLLMENT IN THE AFFECTED INVESTMENT ADVISORY
AND FEE-BASED PROGRAMS AND THE MISDELIVERY OF TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS TO CERTAIN CLIENTS WHO CHANGED INVESTMENT
ADVISORS OR INVESTMENT ADVISORY OR FEE-BASED PROGRAMS.
(CONTINUED IN COMMENTS SECTION)

Resolution Date: 02/25/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $175,000.00

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $175,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

837©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $175,000.00

Regulator Statement (FINDINGS CONTINUED)ALTHOUGH THE AFFECTED CLIENTS CONTINUED
TO RECEIVE MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS THAT REFLECTED DETAILS
ABOUT THE TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED IN THEIR RESPECTIVE
ACCOUNTS, THE MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS WERE NOT
PRODUCED PRIOR TO OR CONTEMPORANEOUSLY WITH SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS. THE OPERATIONAL DEFICIENCY AFFECTED AT LEAST
42,626 ACCOUNTS, SOME OF WHICH WERE DORMANT.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Date Initiated: 02/25/2008

Docket/Case Number: 2007009456801

Principal Product Type: Other

Allegations: SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 RULES 10B-10(A) AND 17A-3, NASD
RULES 2110, 2230, 2260, 3010(A) AND (B) AND 3110: FROM AT LEAST
JANUARY 2001 UNTIL JANUARY 2006, AS A RESULT OF CERTAIN
OPERATIONAL AND SUPERVISORY DEFICIENCIES, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED
TO TIMELY AND CONSISTENTLY UPDATE THE FIRM'S RECORD SYSTEM
RELATING TO CERTAIN INVESTMENT ADVISORY AND FEE-BASED
ACCOUNTS.   THE FIRM CAUSED PROXIES TO BE DELIVERED TO THE
WRONG ADDRESS WHEN CERTAIN CLIENTS IN THE AFFECTED
INVESTMENT ADVISORY OR FEE-BASED ACCOUNTS EITHER (I) CHANGED
INVESTMENT ADVISORS, (II) CHANGED INVESTMENT ADVISORY OR FEE-
BASED PROGRAMS, OR (III) TERMINATED THEIR ENROLLMENT IN THE
AFFECTED PROGRAMS. THE CLIENT'S ORIGINAL INVESTMENT ADVISOR
CONTINUED TO RECEIVE PROXIES THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN DELIVERED
TO EITHER ANOTHER INVESTMENT ADVISOR OR THE CLIENT. MERRILL
LYNCH'S OPERATIONAL PROBLEM ALSO RESULTED IN THE FIRM'S FAILURE
TO DELIVER TRADE CONFIRMATIONS TO CERTAIN CLIENTS WHO
TERMINATED ENROLLMENT IN THE AFFECTED INVESTMENT ADVISORY
AND FEE-BASED PROGRAMS AND THE MISDELIVERY OF TRADE
CONFIRMATIONS TO CERTAIN CLIENTS WHO CHANGED INVESTMENT
ADVISORS OR INVESTMENT ADVISORY OR FEE-BASED PROGRAMS.
ALTHOUGH THE AFFECTED CLIENTS CONTINUED TO RECEIVE MONTHLY
ACCOUNT STATEMENTS THAT REFLECTED DETAILS ABOUT THE
TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED IN THEIR RESPECTIVE ACCOUNTS, THE
MONTHLY ACCOUNT STATEMENTS WERE NOT PRODUCED PRIOR TO OR
CONTEMPORANEOUSLY WITH SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED TYPES OF SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 02/25/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $175,000.00.  THE FINE WAS
PAID ON MARCH 8, 2008.

Firm Statement FINE OF $175,000 WAS PAID ON MARCH 8, 2008.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $175,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 346 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110 AND 3010: FROM JANUARY 1, 2002 THROUGH
DECEMBER 31, 2004, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO: (I) IDENTIFY CERTAIN OPPORTUNITIES FOR INVESTORS TO
PURCHASE MUTUAL FUNDS AT NET ASSET VALUE ("NAV") UNDER NAV
TRANSFER PROGRAMS, AND (II) PROVIDE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WITH THE
BENEFIT OF AVAILABLE NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS.  IN PARTICULAR,
CERTAIN MUTUAL FUNDS OFFERED NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS THAT
ALLOWED INVESTORS TO PURCHASE CLASS A SHARES AT NAV AND NOT
PAY ANY SALES CHARGES IF THE INVESTOR PROCEEDS FROM THE
REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF ANOTHER MUTUAL FUND WITHIN SPECIFIED
TIME FRAMES AND PREVIOUSLY HAD PAID EITHER A FRONT-END OR BACK-
END SALES CHARGE. DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, THE FIRM FAILED
TO EXERCISE DU DILIGENCE TO IDENTIFY THE ESSENTIAL TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF THE NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS OF CERTAIN MUTUAL
FUNDS, AND FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SYSTEM
AND PROCEDURES RELATING TO NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS. AS A RESULT OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES, CERTAIN INVESTORS WHO WERE ELIGIBLE TO PURCHASE
CLASS A SHARES UNDER NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS (1) PURCHASED
CLASS A SHARES AND INCURRED FRONT-END SALES CHARGES THAT
THEY SHOULD HAVE NOT PAID, AND/OR (2) PURCHASED OTHER SHARE
CLASSES OF THESE MUTUAL FUNDS AND THEREBY BECAME SUBJECT TO
BACK-END SALES CHARGES, ALSO KNOW AS CONTINGENT DEFERRED
SALES CHARGES ("CDSCS"), AS WELL AS HIGHER ONGOING DISTRIBUTION
AND SERVICE FEES, TYPICALLY ASSOCIATED WITH SHARE CLASSES
OTHER THAN CLASS A.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/28/2008

Docket/Case Number: EAF0401090003

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 2110 AND 3010: FROM JANUARY 1, 2002 THROUGH
DECEMBER 31, 2004, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO: (I) IDENTIFY CERTAIN OPPORTUNITIES FOR INVESTORS TO
PURCHASE MUTUAL FUNDS AT NET ASSET VALUE ("NAV") UNDER NAV
TRANSFER PROGRAMS, AND (II) PROVIDE ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WITH THE
BENEFIT OF AVAILABLE NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS.  IN PARTICULAR,
CERTAIN MUTUAL FUNDS OFFERED NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS THAT
ALLOWED INVESTORS TO PURCHASE CLASS A SHARES AT NAV AND NOT
PAY ANY SALES CHARGES IF THE INVESTOR PROCEEDS FROM THE
REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF ANOTHER MUTUAL FUND WITHIN SPECIFIED
TIME FRAMES AND PREVIOUSLY HAD PAID EITHER A FRONT-END OR BACK-
END SALES CHARGE. DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, THE FIRM FAILED
TO EXERCISE DU DILIGENCE TO IDENTIFY THE ESSENTIAL TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF THE NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS OF CERTAIN MUTUAL
FUNDS, AND FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE A SYSTEM
AND PROCEDURES RELATING TO NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS THAT WAS
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS. AS A RESULT OF THESE
DEFICIENCIES, CERTAIN INVESTORS WHO WERE ELIGIBLE TO PURCHASE
CLASS A SHARES UNDER NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS (1) PURCHASED
CLASS A SHARES AND INCURRED FRONT-END SALES CHARGES THAT
THEY SHOULD HAVE NOT PAID, AND/OR (2) PURCHASED OTHER SHARE
CLASSES OF THESE MUTUAL FUNDS AND THEREBY BECAME SUBJECT TO
BACK-END SALES CHARGES, ALSO KNOW AS CONTINGENT DEFERRED
SALES CHARGES ("CDSCS"), AS WELL AS HIGHER ONGOING DISTRIBUTION
AND SERVICE FEES, TYPICALLY ASSOCIATED WITH SHARE CLASSES
OTHER THAN CLASS A.

Resolution Date: 02/28/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $250,000.00 AND MUST
COMPLY WITH THE FOLLOWING UNDERTAKINGS: THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE
REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS WHO, DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY 1,
2002 THROUGH NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, AND QUALIFIED
FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, THE BENEFIT OF AN NAV TRANSFER
PROGRAM. THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE REMEDIATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH
A METHODOLOGY NOT UNACCEPTABLE TO FINRA STAFF (THE
 "REMEDIATION METHODOLOGY"). THE REMEDIATION METHODOLOGY
WILL BE PROVIDED IN WRITING TO FINRA STAFF PRIOR TO RETAINING THE
THIRD PARTY EXAMINER. WITHIN 60 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THE
NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, RETAIN A THIRD PARTY EXAMINER
TO ASSESS THE FIRM'S REMEDIATION AND PROVIDE A REPORT TO FINRA
STAFF. WITHIN 90 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC,
THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT TO FINRA FOR REVIEW A SAMPLE LETTER
NOTIFYING CLIENTS OF REMEDIATION PAYMENTS. THE LETTER SHALL
NOT BE UNACCEPTABLE TO FINRA. WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE
OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL DESIGNATE AND TRAIN
STAFF (THE "RESPONSE TEAM") TO FIELD AND RESPOND TO CLIENT
INQUIRIES IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AWC AND THE REMEDIATION
PROCESSES PURSUANT TO THIS AWC. WITHIN 300 DAYS FROM THE
NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL COMPLETE THE
REMEDIATION PROCESS. WITHIN 360 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL FILE A REPORT WITH FINRA,
AND SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH THE THIRD PARTY EXAMINER. WITHIN 420
DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE
FIRM SHALL REQUIRE ITS THIRD PARTY EXAMINER TO SUBMIT A WRITTEN
FINAL REPORT TO THE FIRM, AND TO FINRA.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $250,000.00 AND MUST
COMPLY WITH THE FOLLOWING UNDERTAKINGS: THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE
REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS WHO, DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY 1,
2002 THROUGH NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, AND QUALIFIED
FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, THE BENEFIT OF AN NAV TRANSFER
PROGRAM. THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE REMEDIATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH
A METHODOLOGY NOT UNACCEPTABLE TO FINRA STAFF (THE
 "REMEDIATION METHODOLOGY"). THE REMEDIATION METHODOLOGY
WILL BE PROVIDED IN WRITING TO FINRA STAFF PRIOR TO RETAINING THE
THIRD PARTY EXAMINER. WITHIN 60 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THE
NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, RETAIN A THIRD PARTY EXAMINER
TO ASSESS THE FIRM'S REMEDIATION AND PROVIDE A REPORT TO FINRA
STAFF. WITHIN 90 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC,
THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT TO FINRA FOR REVIEW A SAMPLE LETTER
NOTIFYING CLIENTS OF REMEDIATION PAYMENTS. THE LETTER SHALL
NOT BE UNACCEPTABLE TO FINRA. WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE
OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL DESIGNATE AND TRAIN
STAFF (THE "RESPONSE TEAM") TO FIELD AND RESPOND TO CLIENT
INQUIRIES IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AWC AND THE REMEDIATION
PROCESSES PURSUANT TO THIS AWC. WITHIN 300 DAYS FROM THE
NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL COMPLETE THE
REMEDIATION PROCESS. WITHIN 360 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL FILE A REPORT WITH FINRA,
AND SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH THE THIRD PARTY EXAMINER. WITHIN 420
DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE
FIRM SHALL REQUIRE ITS THIRD PARTY EXAMINER TO SUBMIT A WRITTEN
FINAL REPORT TO THE FIRM, AND TO FINRA.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 02/28/2008

Docket/Case Number: EAF0401090003

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110 AND 3010: FROM JANUARY 1, 2002 THROUGH
DECEMBER 31, 2004, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN
AND ENFORCE A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO: (I) IDENTIFY CERTAIN OPPORTUNITIES FOR
INVESTORS TO PURCHASE MUTUAL FUNDS AT NET ASSET VALUE ("NAV")
UNDER NAV TRANSFER PROGRAMS, AND (II) PROVIDE
ELIGIBLE INVESTORS WITH THE BENEFIT OF AVAILABLE NAV TRANSFER
PROGRAMS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 02/28/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $250,000.00 AND MUST
COMPLY WITH THE FOLLOWING UNDERTAKINGS: THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE
REMEDIATION TO CUSTOMERS WHO, DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY 1,
2002 THROUGH NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, AND QUALIFIED
FOR, BUT DID NOT RECEIVE, THE BENEFIT OF AN NAV TRANSFER
PROGRAM. THE FIRM WILL PROVIDE REMEDIATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH
A METHODOLOGY NOT UNACCEPTABLE TO FINRA STAFF (THE
 "REMEDIATION METHODOLOGY"). THE REMEDIATION METHODOLOGY
WILL BE PROVIDED IN WRITING TO FINRA STAFF PRIOR TO RETAINING THE
THIRD PARTY EXAMINER. WITHIN 60 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THE
NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, RETAIN A THIRD PARTY EXAMINER
TO ASSESS THE FIRM'S REMEDIATION AND PROVIDE A REPORT TO FINRA
STAFF. WITHIN 90 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC,
THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT TO FINRA FOR REVIEW A SAMPLE LETTER
NOTIFYING CLIENTS OF REMEDIATION PAYMENTS. THE LETTER SHALL
NOT BE UNACCEPTABLE TO FINRA. WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE
OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL DESIGNATE AND TRAIN
STAFF (THE "RESPONSE TEAM") TO FIELD AND RESPOND TO CLIENT
INQUIRIES IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AWC AND THE REMEDIATION
PROCESSES PURSUANT TO THIS AWC. WITHIN 300 DAYS FROM THE
NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL COMPLETE THE
REMEDIATION PROCESS. WITHIN 360 DAYS FROM THE NOTICE OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL FILE A REPORT WITH FINRA,
AND SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH THE THIRD PARTY EXAMINER. WITHIN 420
DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC,THE
FIRM SHALL REQUIRE ITS THIRD PARTY EXAMINER TO SUBMIT A WRITTEN
FINAL REPORT TO THE FIRM, AND TO FINRA.

Firm Statement FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $250,000. WAS PAID ON MARCH 13, 2008.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 347 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE & DESIST; DISGORGEMENT; CENSURE; HIRING OF AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO REVIEW THE SUPERVISORY
BREAKDOWNS/INCENTIVES THAT ALLOWED WRONGDOING TO OCCUR;
TAKE ALL OTHER ACTION NECESSARY FOR THE PROTECTION OF
MASSACHUSETTS INVESTORS

Date Initiated: 02/01/2008

Docket/Case Number: E-2008-0001

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CDO

Allegations: REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES OF MLPFS SOLD UNSUITABLE
INVESTMENTS TO THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MASSACHUSETTS,
WITHOUT DISCLOSING THE RISKS OF THE PRODUCTS, ONE OF WHICH
WAS UNDERWRITTEN BY MLPFS. MLPFS DID NOT RECEIVE PROPER
AUTHORIZATION BEFORE MAKING THE SALES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/13/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PERMANENTLY CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATION OF
MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE OFFICE OF THE
SECRETARY OF THE COMMONWEALTH (MSD) ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF
THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT, WHICH, IN PART,
PROHIBITS UNETHICAL OR DISHONEST CONDUCT OR PRACTICES IN THE
SECURITIES BUSINESS, CONCERNING THE SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES ISSUED BY COLLATERAL DEBT OBLIGATIONS (ARS CDOS) TO
THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MASSACHUSETTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF
THE COMMONWALTH SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/01/2008

Docket/Case Number: 2008-0001

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ISSUED BY COLLATERAL DEBT OBLIGATIONS

Allegations: THE MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE OFFICE OF THE
SECRETARY OF THE COMMONWEALTH (MSD) ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF
THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT, WHICH, IN PART,
PROHIBITS UNETHICAL OR DISHONEST CONDUCT OR PRACTICES IN THE
SECURITIES BUSINESS, CONCERNING THE SALE OF AUCTION RATE
SECURITIES ISSUED BY COLLATERAL DEBT OBLIGATIONS (ARS CDOS) TO
THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, MASSACHUSETTS.

Resolution Date: 04/13/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE MSD'S ALLEGATIONS, THE
APPLICANT AGREED TO CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATIONS OF THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT
AND TO MSD ENTERING AN ORDER CENSURING THE APPLICANT FOR ITS
ACTIONS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MATTER.

Firm Statement ON OR ABOUT JANUARY 31, 2008, THE APPLICANT PURCHASED FROM THE
CITY OF SPRINGFIELD ARS CDOS AT THE PAR VALUE OF $13,900,000.00
FOR LOSSES ASSOCIATED WITH THE INAPPROPRIATE SALE OF ARS CDOS
TO THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 348 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **1/17/08** STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY NYSE
REGULATION DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1.
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 410 IN THAT, ON APPROXIMATELY 1,000 OCCASIONS,
A SALES TRADER MADE POST-EXECUTION ACCOUNT DESIGNATION
CHANGES WITHOUT PRIOR SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN
APPROVAL. 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE OR CONTROL CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-
UP AND REVIEW TO DETERMINE THAT DELEGATED AUTHORITY AND
RESPONSIBILITY WAS BEING PROPERLY EXERCISED, IN THAT IT FAILED TO
ENFORCE ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REQUIRING PRIOR
SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN APPROVAL OF POST-EXECUTION
ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES. 3. VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4
THEREUNDER, AND NYSE RULE 440, IN THAT A SALES TRADER CAUSED
THE FIRM TO MAKE AND PRESERVE INACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS
RELATING TO CUSTOMER ORDERS. 4. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342.17 IN
THAT IT FAILED TO DEVELOP WRITTEN SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES IN CONNECTION WITH THE REVIEW OF INSTANT MESSAGE
COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PUBLIC RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS.
STIPULATED SANCTION: THE IMPOSITION BY NYSE REGULATION, INC. OF A
CENSURE AND A $300,000 FINE. **1/17/08** REVISED STIPULATION AND
CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY NYSE REGULATION DIVISION OF
ENFORCEMENT CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 410 IN
THAT, ON APPROXIMATELY 1,000 OCCASIONS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
PREVENT A SALES TRADER FROM MAKING POST-EXECUTION ACCOUNT
DESIGNATION CHANGES IN THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS WITHOUT
PRIOR SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN APPROVAL.** CONTINUED ON
#13C**

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/17/2008

Docket/Case Number: HBD# 08-06

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **1/17/08** STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY NYSE
REGULATION DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1.
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 410 IN THAT, ON APPROXIMATELY 1,000 OCCASIONS,
A SALES TRADER MADE POST-EXECUTION ACCOUNT DESIGNATION
CHANGES WITHOUT PRIOR SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN
APPROVAL. 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE OR CONTROL CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-
UP AND REVIEW TO DETERMINE THAT DELEGATED AUTHORITY AND
RESPONSIBILITY WAS BEING PROPERLY EXERCISED, IN THAT IT FAILED TO
ENFORCE ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REQUIRING PRIOR
SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN APPROVAL OF POST-EXECUTION
ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES. 3. VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4
THEREUNDER, AND NYSE RULE 440, IN THAT A SALES TRADER CAUSED
THE FIRM TO MAKE AND PRESERVE INACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS
RELATING TO CUSTOMER ORDERS. 4. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342.17 IN
THAT IT FAILED TO DEVELOP WRITTEN SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES IN CONNECTION WITH THE REVIEW OF INSTANT MESSAGE
COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PUBLIC RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS.
STIPULATED SANCTION: THE IMPOSITION BY NYSE REGULATION, INC. OF A
CENSURE AND A $300,000 FINE. **1/17/08** REVISED STIPULATION AND
CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY NYSE REGULATION DIVISION OF
ENFORCEMENT CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 410 IN
THAT, ON APPROXIMATELY 1,000 OCCASIONS, THE FIRM FAILED TO
PREVENT A SALES TRADER FROM MAKING POST-EXECUTION ACCOUNT
DESIGNATION CHANGES IN THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS WITHOUT
PRIOR SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN APPROVAL.** CONTINUED ON
#13C**

Resolution Date: 03/18/2008

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Decision
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **CONTINUED FROM #7** 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE OR CONTROL CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-
UP AND REVIEW TO DETERMINE THAT DELEGATED AUTHORITY AND
RESPONSIBILITY WAS BEING PROPERLY EXERCISED, IN THAT IT FAILED TO
ENFORCE ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REQUIRING PRIOR
SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN APPROVAL OF POST-EXECUTION
ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES. 3. VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND
RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4 THEREUNDER, AND NYSE RULE 440, IN THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO PREVENT A SALES TRADER FROM ENTERING
INACCURATE INFORMATION ON THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS
RELATING TO CUSTOMER ORDERS. 4. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342.17 IN
THAT IT FAILED TO DEVELOP WRITTEN SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES IN CONNECTION WITH THE REVIEW OF INSTANT MESSAGE
COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PUBLIC RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS.
STIPULATED SANCTION: THE IMPOSITION BY NYSE REGULATION, INC. OF A
CENSURE AND A $300,000 FINE. **2/28/08** HEARING BOARD DECISION
ISSUED 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 410 IN THAT, ON APPROXIMATELY 1,000
OCCASIONS, THE
FIRM FAILED TO PREVENT A SALES TRADER FROM MAKING       POST-
EXECUTION ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES IN THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS WITHOUT PRIOR SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN
APPROVAL. 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE OR CONTROL CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-
UP AND REVIEW TO DETERMINE THAT DELEGATED AUTHORITY AND
RESPONSIBILITY WAS BEING PROPERLY EXERCISED, IN THAT IT FAILED TO
ENFORCE ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REQUIRING PRIOR
SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN APPROVAL OF POST-EXECUTION
ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES. **CONTINUED ON #14**

Regulator Statement **CONTINUED FROM 13C** 3. VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4
THEREUNDER, AND NYSE RULE 440, IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
PREVENT A SALES TRADER FROM ENTERING INACCURATE INFORMATION
ON THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS RELATING TO CUSTOMER ORDERS.
4. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342.17 IN THAT IT FAILED TO DEVELOP WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
REVIEW OF INSTANT MESSAGE COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PUBLIC
RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS. STIPULATED SANCTION: THE IMPOSITION BY
NYSE REGULATION, INC. OF A CENSURE AND A $300,000 FINE. UNLESS A
REVIEW BY THE NYSE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS REQUESTED, THIS
DECISION WILL BECOME FINAL 25 BUSINESS DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE
HEARING PANEL'S DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE
RESPONDENT. **3/18/08** THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE
OF BUSINESS ON MARCH 17, 2008 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON
THAT SAME DATE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00
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**CONTINUED FROM 13C** 3. VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4
THEREUNDER, AND NYSE RULE 440, IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
PREVENT A SALES TRADER FROM ENTERING INACCURATE INFORMATION
ON THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS RELATING TO CUSTOMER ORDERS.
4. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342.17 IN THAT IT FAILED TO DEVELOP WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
REVIEW OF INSTANT MESSAGE COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PUBLIC
RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS. STIPULATED SANCTION: THE IMPOSITION BY
NYSE REGULATION, INC. OF A CENSURE AND A $300,000 FINE. UNLESS A
REVIEW BY THE NYSE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS REQUESTED, THIS
DECISION WILL BECOME FINAL 25 BUSINESS DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE
HEARING PANEL'S DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE
RESPONDENT. **3/18/08** THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE
OF BUSINESS ON MARCH 17, 2008 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON
THAT SAME DATE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Date Initiated: 01/17/2008

Docket/Case Number: HBD# 08-06

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **1/17/08** REVISED STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE REGULATION DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT CONSENTED TO
FINDINGS: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 410 IN THAT, ON APPROXIMATELY 1,000
OCCASIONS, THE FIRM FAILED TO PREVENT A SALES TRADER FROM
MAKING POST-EXECUTION ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES IN THE
FIRM'S CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS WITHOUT PRIOR SUPERVISORY REVIEW
AND WRITTEN APPROVAL. 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE OR CONTROL CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-
UP AND REVIEW TO DETERMINE THAT DELEGATED AUTHORITY AND
RESPONSIBILITY WAS BEING PROPERLY EXERCISED, IN THAT IT FAILED TO
ENFORCE ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REQUIRING PRIOR
SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN APPROVAL OF POST-EXECUTION
ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES. 3. VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4
THEREUNDER, AND NYSE RULE 440, IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
PREVENT A SALES TRADER FROM ENTERING INACCURATE INFORMATION
ON THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS RELATING TO CUSTOMER ORDERS.
4. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342.17 IN THAT IT FAILED TO DEVELOP WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
REVIEW OF INSTANT MESSAGE COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PUBLIC
RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS.  STIPULATED SANCTION: THE IMPOSITION BY
NYSE REGULATION, INC. OF A CENSURE AND A $300,000 FINE.**2/28/08**
HEARING BOARD DECISION ISSUED 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 410 IN THAT,
ON APPROXIMATELY 1,000 OCCASIONS, THE FIRM FAILED TO PREVENT A
SALES TRADER FROM MAKING POST-EXECUTION ACCOUNT DESIGNATION
CHANGES IN THE FIRM'S CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS WITHOUT PRIOR
SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN APPROVAL.  **CONTINUED ON #13**

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 03/17/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **CONTINUED FROM #7**  2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE OR CONTROL CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING ESTABLISHING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-
UP AND REVIEW TO DETERMINE THAT DELEGATED AUTHORITY AND
RESPONSIBILITY WAS BEING PROPERLY EXERCISED, IN THAT IT FAILED TO
ENFORCE ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REQUIRING PRIOR
SUPERVISORY REVIEW AND WRITTEN APPROVAL OF POST-EXECUTION
ACCOUNT DESIGNATION CHANGES.  3. VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(1) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4
THEREUNDER, AND NYSE RULE 440, IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
PREVENT A SALES TRADER FROM ENTERING INACCURATE INFORMATION
ON THE FIRM'S BOOKS AND RECORDS RELATING TO CUSTOMER ORDERS.
4. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342.17 IN THAT IT FAILED TO DEVELOP WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
REVIEW OF INSTANT MESSAGE COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PUBLIC
RELATING TO ITS BUSINESS. STIPULATED SANCTION: THE IMPOSITION BY
NYSE REGULATION, INC. OF A CENSURE AND A $300,000 FINE. UNLESS A
REVIEW BY THE NYSE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS REQUESTED, THIS
DECISION WILL BECOME FINAL 25 BUSINESS DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF THE
HEARING PANEL'S DETERMINATION HAS BEEN SERVED UPON THE
RESPONDENT.  **3/18/08** THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE
OF BUSINESS ON MARCH 17, 2008 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON
THAT SAME DATE.

Firm Statement FINE OF $300,000.00 WAS PAID ON 2/26/2008.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 349 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **12/12/07** STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY
FILED BY NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND
PENDING.CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 411(B)(1) BY
INTRODUCING FOR EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, PRIOR TO THE OPENING,
CUSTOMER ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS THAT AGGREGATE 100 SHARES
OR MORE WITHOUT HAVING THOSE ORDERS CONSOLIDATED INTO ROUND
LOTS AS FAR AS POSSIBLE; AND 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS,
INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES
AND POLICIES PERTAINING TO ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS BEING ROUTED
TO THE NYSE PRIOR TO THE OPENING THROUGH THE FIRM'S
ELECTRONIC ORDER ENTRY SYSTEM. STIPULATED SANCTION:  CENSURE
AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $160,000.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/12/2007

Docket/Case Number: HBD# 07-163

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **12/12/07** STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY
FILED BY NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND
PENDING.CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 411(B)(1) BY
INTRODUCING FOR EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, PRIOR TO THE OPENING,
CUSTOMER ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS THAT AGGREGATE 100 SHARES
OR MORE WITHOUT HAVING THOSE ORDERS CONSOLIDATED INTO ROUND
LOTS AS FAR AS POSSIBLE; AND 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS,
INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES
AND POLICIES PERTAINING TO ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS BEING ROUTED
TO THE NYSE PRIOR TO THE OPENING THROUGH THE FIRM'S
ELECTRONIC ORDER ENTRY SYSTEM. STIPULATED SANCTION:  CENSURE
AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $160,000.

Resolution Date: 02/13/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **12/20/07** DECISION NO. 07-163 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING
BOARD. DECISION: VIOLATED NYSE RULE 411(B)(1) BY INTRODUCING FOR
EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, PRIOR TO THE OPENING, CUSTOMER ODD-LOT
MARKET ORDERS THAT AGGREGATE 100 SHARES OR MORE WITHOUT
HAVING THOSE ORDERS CONSOLIDATED INTO ROUND LOTS AS FAR AS
POSSIBLE; AND VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING
TO ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS BEING ROUTED TO THE NYSE PRIOR TO
THE OPENING THROUGH THE FIRM'S ELECTRONIC ORDER ENTRY
SYSTEM.CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $160,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $160,000.00

Decision
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**12/20/07** DECISION NO. 07-163 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING
BOARD. DECISION: VIOLATED NYSE RULE 411(B)(1) BY INTRODUCING FOR
EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, PRIOR TO THE OPENING, CUSTOMER ODD-LOT
MARKET ORDERS THAT AGGREGATE 100 SHARES OR MORE WITHOUT
HAVING THOSE ORDERS CONSOLIDATED INTO ROUND LOTS AS FAR AS
POSSIBLE; AND VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING
TO ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS BEING ROUTED TO THE NYSE PRIOR TO
THE OPENING THROUGH THE FIRM'S ELECTRONIC ORDER ENTRY
SYSTEM.CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $160,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **2/13/08** THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS
ON JANUARY 14, 2008 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON THAT SAME
DATE. CONTACT: EDGAR RUSSELL 646-315-8672.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/12/2007

Docket/Case Number: HBD# 07-163

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **12/12/07** STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE REGULATION'S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND
PENDING.CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 411(B)
(1) BY INTRODUCING FOR EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, PRIOR TO THE
OPENING, CUSTOMER ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS THAT AGGREGATE 100
SHARES OR MORE WITHOUT HAVING THOSE ORDERS CONSOLIDATED
INTO ROUND LOTS AS FAR AS POSSIBLE; AND 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342
BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE
RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING TO ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS BEING
ROUTED TO THE NYSE PRIOR TO THE OPENING THROUGH THE FIRM'S
ELECTRONIC ORDER ENTRY SYSTEM. STIPULATED SANCTION: CENSURE
AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $160,000.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/13/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **12/20/07** DECISION NO. 07-163 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD.
DECISION: VIOLATED NYSE RULE 411(B)(1) BY INTRODUCING FOR
EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, PRIOR TO THE OPENING, CUSTOMER ODD-LOT
MARKET ORDERS THAT AGGREGATE 100 SHARES OR MORE WITHOUT
HAVING THOSE ORDERS CONSOLIDATED INTO ROUND LOTS AS FAR AS
POSSIBLE; AND VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING
TO ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS BEING ROUTED TO THE NYSE PRIOR TO
THE OPENING THROUGH THE FIRM'S ELECTRONIC ORDER ENTRY
SYSTEM.CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $160,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $160,000.00

Decision
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Sanction Details: **12/20/07** DECISION NO. 07-163 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD.
DECISION: VIOLATED NYSE RULE 411(B)(1) BY INTRODUCING FOR
EXECUTION ON THE NYSE, PRIOR TO THE OPENING, CUSTOMER ODD-LOT
MARKET ORDERS THAT AGGREGATE 100 SHARES OR MORE WITHOUT
HAVING THOSE ORDERS CONSOLIDATED INTO ROUND LOTS AS FAR AS
POSSIBLE; AND VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, REASONABLY DESIGNED
TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND POLICIES PERTAINING
TO ODD-LOT MARKET ORDERS BEING ROUTED TO THE NYSE PRIOR TO
THE OPENING THROUGH THE FIRM'S ELECTRONIC ORDER ENTRY
SYSTEM.CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $160,000 FINE.

Firm Statement **2/13/08** THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS
ON JANUARY 14, 2008 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON THAT SAME
DATE.  FINE OF $160,000.00 WAS PAID ON FEBRUARY 26, 2006.

Disclosure 350 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FINRA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/18/2007

Docket/Case Number: 2006005150101

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3310 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH'S AGGREGATE TRADE VOLUME (BUY AND SELL) FOR EQUITY
SECURITIES ADVERTISED IN PRIVATE SERVICE PROVIDERS FOR ONE
MONTH SUBSTANTIALLY EXCEEDED THE FIRM'S EXECUTED TRADE
VOLUME FOR THE SAME SECURITIES. THE FIRM FAILED TO DETERMINE
WHETHER THE TRADE VOLUME THAT IT ADVERTISED IN THESE SERVICES
ACCURATELY REFLECTED ITS EXECUTED TRADE VOLUME. THE FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS, REGULATIONS AND NASD RULES CONCERNING NASD
RULE 3310 - THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR
SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE ADVERTISED TRADE VOLUME ON
SUBSCRIBER SERVICES AND APPLICABLE RULES. THE FIRM DID NOT
SUPERVISE THE TRADE VOLUME THAT IT ADVERTISED IN THESE
SYSTEMS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 12/18/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $200,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $200,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Date Initiated: 12/18/2007

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3310 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH'S AGGREGATE TRADE VOLUME
(BUY AND SELL) FOR THREE EQUITY SECURITIES ADVERTISED IN PRIVATE
SERVICE PROVIDERS FOR ONE MONTH SUBSTANTIALLY EXCEEDED THE
FIRM'S EXECUTED TRADE VOLUME FOR THE SAME SECURITIES. THE FIRM
FAILED TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE TRADE VOLUME THAT IT
ADVERTISED IN THESE SERVICES ACCURATELY REFLECTED ITS
EXECUTED TRADE VOLUME. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS, REGULATIONS AND
NASD RULES CONCERNING NASD RULE 3310 - THE IDENTIFICATION OF
THE PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE
ADVERTISED TRADE VOLUME ON SUBSCRIBER SERVICES AND
APPLICABLE RULES. THE FIRM DID NOT SUPERVISE THE TRADE VOLUME
THAT IT ADVERTISED IN THESE SYSTEMS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. 20060051501-01

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/18/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS
CENSURED AND FINED $200,000. WHICH WAS MAILED TO FINRA ON
01/04/2008.

Firm Statement SEE ITEM 12C.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $200,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 351 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Allegations: **7/17/07** STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY THE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT OF NYSE REGULATION INC. AND PENDING
A. MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED CONSENTS
TO FINDINGS THAT IT: 1) VIOLATED NYSE RULE 123C BY FAILING TO
COMPLY WITH REQUIREMENTS GOVERNING THE ENTRY AND
CANCELLATION OF MOC AND LOC ORDERS; AND 2) VIOLATED NYSE RULE
342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY DISCHARGE ITS DUTIES AND
OBLIGATIONS IN CONNECTION WITH SUPERVISION AND CONTROL OF AND
PROVIDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW WITH
RESPECT TO, CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES BY FAILING TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES AND SYSTEMS
WITH RESPECT TO THE ENTRY AND CANCELLATION OF MARKET-ON-
CLOSE AND LIMIT-ON-CLOSE ORDERS. B. THE IMPOSITION BY THE NYSE
OF A: 1. CENSURE; AND 2. A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/17/2007

Docket/Case Number: HBD# 07-123

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/18/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **8/21/07** DECISION 07-123 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD
DECISION: VIOLATED NYSE RULE 123C BY FAILING TO COMPLY WITH
REQUIREMENTS GOVERNING ENTRY AND CANCELLATION OF MARKET-
ON-CLOSE AND LIMIT-ON-CLOSE ORDERS; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY
FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES AND
SYSTEMS WITH RESPECT TO ENTRY AND CANCELLATION OF MARKET-ON-
CLOSE AND LIMIT-ON-CLOSE ORDERS  CONSENT TO CENSURE AND
$100,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **9/18/07** THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS
ON SEPTEMBER 17, 2007 AND THE FINE BECAME PAYABLE ON THAT SAME
DATE. CONTACT: PEGGY GERMINO 212-656-8540.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: **7/17/07** STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY THE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT OF NYSE REGULATION INC. AND PENDING A.
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED CONSENTS
TO FINDINGS THAT IT: 1) VIOLATED NYSE RULE 123C BY FAILING TO
COMPLY WITH REQUIREMENTS GOVERNING THE ENTRY AND
CANCELLATION OF MOC AND LOC ORDERS; AND 2) VIOLATED NYSE RULE
342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS FOR MOC AND LOC ORDERS
UNDER NYSE RULE 342.  B. THE IMPOSITION BY THE NYSE OF A: 1.
CENSURE; AND 2. A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 07/17/2007

Docket/Case Number: HBD# 07-123

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

**7/17/07** STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY THE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT OF NYSE REGULATION INC. AND PENDING A.
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED CONSENTS
TO FINDINGS THAT IT: 1) VIOLATED NYSE RULE 123C BY FAILING TO
COMPLY WITH REQUIREMENTS GOVERNING THE ENTRY AND
CANCELLATION OF MOC AND LOC ORDERS; AND 2) VIOLATED NYSE RULE
342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS FOR MOC AND LOC ORDERS
UNDER NYSE RULE 342.  B. THE IMPOSITION BY THE NYSE OF A: 1.
CENSURE; AND 2. A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000.

Resolution Date: 09/18/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13.

Firm Statement 8/21/17** DECISION 07-123 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD DECISION:
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 123C BY FAILING TO COMPLY WITH REQUIREMENTS
GOVERNING ENTRY AND CANCELLATION OF MARKET-ON-CLOSE AND
LIMIT-ON-CLOSE ORDERS; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO
IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES (SEE LANGUAGE
ABOVE) CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $100,000 FINE.  FINE PAID OCTOBER
9, 2007.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 352 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 6130(D), 6955(A) - IN TRANSACTIONS FOR OR
WITH A PUBLIC CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SALE IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO
ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER
TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WERE A BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT,
SELL SHORT EXEMPT OR CROSS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE
FIRM TRANSMITTED TO OATS REPORTS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/26/2007

Docket/Case Number: 2005000261201

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 6130(D), 6955(A) - IN TRANSACTIONS FOR OR
WITH A PUBLIC CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SALE IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO
ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER
TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WERE A BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT,
SELL SHORT EXEMPT OR CROSS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE
FIRM TRANSMITTED TO OATS REPORTS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA.

Resolution Date: 06/26/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED CONSENTED TO THE
DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS, THEREFORE,
THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $40,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY $927.90
PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO PUBLIC CUSTOMERS. IF FOR ANY
REASON RESPONDENT CANNOT LOCATE THE CUSTOMER(S) AFTER
REASONABLE AND DOCUMENTED EFFORTS, WITHIN A REASONABLE TIME
PERIOD, THE RESPONDENT SHALL FORWARD ANY UNDISTRIBUTED
RESTITUTION AND INTEREST TO THE APPROPRIATE ESCHEAT, UNCLAIMED
PROPERTY, OR ABANDONED PROPERTY FUNDS FOR THE STATE IN WHICH
THE CUSTOMER IS LAST KNOWN TO HAVE RESIDED.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $40,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 06/26/2007

Docket/Case Number: 20050002612-01

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 6130(D), 6955(A) - IN TRANSACTIONS FOR OR
WITH A PUBLIC CUSTOMER, THE FIRM FAILED TO USE REASONABLE
DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET AND FAILED
TO BUY OR SALE IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO
ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS. THE FINDINGS STATED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REPORT THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER TRANSACTIONS IN
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WERE A BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT, SELL SHORT
EXEMPT OR CROSS. THE FINDINGS ALSO STATED THAT THE FIRM
TRANSMITTED TO OATS REPORTS THAT CONTAINED INACCURATE,
INCOMPLETE OR IMPROPERLY FORMATTED DATA.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/26/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED CONSENTED TO THE
DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS, THEREFORE,
THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $40,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY $927.90
PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO PUBLIC CUSTOMERS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED CONSENTED TO THE
DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS, THEREFORE,
THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED $40,000 AND ORDERED TO PAY $927.90
PLUS INTEREST, IN RESTITUTION TO PUBLIC CUSTOMERS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $40,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Disclosure 353 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/19/2007

Docket/Case Number: 2005002117701

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEC RULE 15C2-11, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 6740 - MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. PUBLISHED QUOTATIONS IN OTC EQUITY
SECURITIES OR, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SUBMITTED SUCH
QUOTATIONS FOR PUBLICATION IN A QUOTATION MEDIUM AND DID NOT
HAVE IN ITS RECORDS THE DOCUMENTATION REQUIRED BY SEC RULE
15C2-11(A) ("PARAGRAPH (A) INFORMATION"); DID NOT HAVE A
REASONABLE BASIS UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES FOR BELIEVING THAT
THE PARAGRAPH (A) INFORMATION WAS ACCURATE IN ALL MATERIAL
RESPECTS; AND DID NOT HAVE A REASONABLE BASIS UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES FOR BELIEVING THAT THE SOURCES OF THE
PARAGRAPH(A) INFORMATION WERE RELIABLE; THE QUOTATIONS DID
NOT REPRESENT A CUSTOMER'S INDICATION OF UNSOLICITED INTEREST.
FOR EACH QUOTATION, THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE A FORM 211 WITH NASD
AT LEAST THREE BUSINESS DAYS BEFORE THE FIRM'S QUOTATIONS
WERE PUBLISHED OR DISPLAYED IN A QUOTATION MEDIUM. THE FIRM
FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WHICH
SPECIFIED THAT PRIOR TO QUOTING ANY NON-NASDAQ OTC SECURITY,
THE FIRM'S TRADERS WERE REQUIRED TO REQUEST PERMISSION TO
QUOTE THE SECURITY FROM A SUPERVISOR AND FURTHER, THAT THE
SUPERVISOR AND TRADER DISCUSS ANY TRADING OR QUOTING
RESTRICTIONS RELATING TO THE SECURITY. THE PROCEDURES ALSO
REQUIRED THE SUPERVISOR TO DOCUMENT SUCH REQUESTS, ALONG
WITH THE NAME OF THE SECURITY AND RESOLUTION OF THE REQUEST,
ON A SUPERVISORY CHECKLIST.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/19/2007

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 06/19/2007

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DNEYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $15,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 06/19/2007

Docket/Case Number: 20050021177-01

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEC RULE 15C2-11, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 6740 - MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. PUBLISHED QUOTATIONS IN OTC EQUITY
SECURITIES OR, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SUBMITTED SUCH
QUOTATIONS FOR PUBLICATION IN A QUOTATION MEDIUM AND DID NOT
HAVE IN ITS RECORDS THE DOCUMENTATION REQUIRED BY SEC RULE
15C2-11(A) ("PARAGRAPH (A) INFORMATION"); DID NOT HAVE A
REASONABLE BASIS UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES FOR BELIEVING THAT
THE PARAGRAPH (A) INFORMATION WAS ACCURATE IN ALL MATERIAL
RESPECTS; AND DID NOT HAVE A REASONABLE BASIS UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES FOR BELIEVING THAT THE SOURCES OF THE
PARAGRAPH(A) INFORMATION WERE RELIABLE; THE QUOTATIONS DID
NOT REPRESENT A CUSTOMER'S INDICATION OF UNSOLICITED INTEREST.
FOR EACH QUOTATION, THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE A FORM 211 WITH NASD
AT LEAST THREE BUSINESS DAYS BEFORE THE FIRM'S QUOTATIONS
WERE PUBLISHED OR DISPLAYED IN A QUOTATION MEDIUM. THE FIRM
FAILED TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 06/19/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $15,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $15,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 354 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Date Initiated: 05/23/2007

Docket/Case Number: HBD# 07-93

Allegations: **5/23/07** STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY THE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT OF NYSE REGULATION AND PENDING
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO SUPERVISE REASONABLY OR CONTROL CERTAIN OF ITS
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES, PROVIDE FOR APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES OF
SUPERVISION AND CONTROL AND ESTABLISH A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW UP AND REVIEW TO DETERMINE THAT DELEGATED AUTHORITY
AND RESPONSIBILITY WAS BEING PROPERLY EXERCISED IN THAT: A) IT
FAILED TO IDENTIFY, REGISTER AND SUPERVISE LOCATIONS FROM WHICH
CERTAIN  REGISTERED EMPLOYEES WERE CONDUCTING LIMITED
BUSINESS; AND  B) IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND REGISTER LOCATIONS
WHICH CERTAIN FIRM EMPLOYEES WERE SHARING OFFICE SPACE WITH
EMPLOYEES OF A FIRM AFFILIATE; AND 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 343 IN
THAT THE FIRM PERMITTED OFFICE SHARING ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN
CERTAIN FIRM BRANCH OFFICES AND A FIRM AFFILIATE THAT HAD NOT
BEEN APPROVED BY THE NYSE AS REQUIRED BY THE RULE. CONSENTED
TO PENALTY:  A CENSURE AND A PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $400,000.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: HBD# 07-93

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 07/17/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **6/20/07** DECISION 07-93 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD
DECISION: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
SUPERVISE REASONABLY OR CONTROL CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, PROVIDE FOR APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES OF SUPERVISION
AND CONTROL AND ESTABLISH A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW UP AND
REVIEW TO DETERMINE THAT DELEGATED AUTHORITY AND
RESPONSIBILITY WAS BEING PROPERLY EXERCISED IN THAT:
A) IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY, REGISTER AND SUPERVISE LOCATIONS FROM
WHICH CERTAIN REGISTERED EMPLOYEES WERE CONDUCTING LIMITED
BUSINESS; AND B) IT FAILED TO IDENTIFY AND REGISTER LOCATIONS
WHICH CERTAIN FIRM EMPLOYEES WERE SHARING OFFICE SPACE WITH
EMPLOYEES OF A FIRM AFFILIATE; AND 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 343 IN
THAT THE FIRM PERMITTED OFFICE SHARING ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN
CERTAIN FIRM BRANCH OFFICES AND A FIRM AFFILIATE THAT HAD NOT
BEEN APPROVED BY THE NYSE AS REQUIRED BY THE RULE. PENALTY:
CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $400,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **7/17/07** THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS
ON JULY 16, 2007. CONTACT: PEGGY GERMINO 212-656-8450.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $400,000.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: **5/23/07** STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY THE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT OF NYSE REGULATION AND PENDING
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO IDENTIFY, REGISTER AND SUPERVISE ALTERNATE LOCATIONS
FROM WHICH CERTAIN REGISTERED EMPLOYEES WERE CONDUCTING
LIMITED BUSINESS; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 343 IN THAT THE FIRM
PERMITTED OFFICE SHARING ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN CERTAIN FIRM
BRANCH OFFICES AND A FIRM AFFILIATE THAT HAD NOT BEEN APPROVED
BY THE NYSE AS REQUIRED BY THE RULE. CONSENTED TO PENALTY: A
CENSURE AND A PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $400,000.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/23/2007

Docket/Case Number: HBD# 07-93

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

**5/23/07** STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY THE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT OF NYSE REGULATION AND PENDING
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS: 1. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO IDENTIFY, REGISTER AND SUPERVISE ALTERNATE LOCATIONS
FROM WHICH CERTAIN REGISTERED EMPLOYEES WERE CONDUCTING
LIMITED BUSINESS; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 343 IN THAT THE FIRM
PERMITTED OFFICE SHARING ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN CERTAIN FIRM
BRANCH OFFICES AND A FIRM AFFILIATE THAT HAD NOT BEEN APPROVED
BY THE NYSE AS REQUIRED BY THE RULE. CONSENTED TO PENALTY: A
CENSURE AND A PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $400,000.

Resolution Date: 07/17/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **6/20/07** DECISION 07-93 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD DECISION: 1.
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342
IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY, REGISTER AND SUPERVISE
ALTERNATE LOCATIONS FROM WHICH CERTAIN REGISTERED EMPLOYEES
WERE CONDUCTING LIMITED BUSINESS; AND 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 343
IN THAT THE FIRM PERMITTED OFFICE SHARING ARRANGEMENTS
BETWEEN CERTAIN FIRM BRANCH OFFICES AND A FIRM AFFILIATE THAT
HAD NOT BEEN APPROVED BY THE NYSE AS REQUIRED BY THE RULE.
PENALTY: CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $400,000 FINE.  PAYMENT MADE
JULY 18,2007

Firm Statement **6/20/07** DECISION 07-93 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD DECISION: 1.
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342
IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY, REGISTER AND SUPERVISE
ALTERNATE LOCATIONS FROM WHICH CERTAIN REGISTERED EMPLOYEES
WERE CONDUCTING LIMITED BUSINESS; AND 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 343
IN THAT THE FIRM PERMITTED OFFICE SHARING ARRANGEMENTS
BETWEEN CERTAIN FIRM BRANCH OFFICES AND A FIRM AFFILIATE THAT
HAD NOT BEEN APPROVED BY THE NYSE AS REQUIRED BY THE RULE.
PENALTY: CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $400,000 FINE.  PAYMENT MADE
JULY 18,2007

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $400,000.00

Decision

862©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

**6/20/07** DECISION 07-93 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING BOARD DECISION: 1.
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342
IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IDENTIFY, REGISTER AND SUPERVISE
ALTERNATE LOCATIONS FROM WHICH CERTAIN REGISTERED EMPLOYEES
WERE CONDUCTING LIMITED BUSINESS; AND 2. VIOLATED NYSE RULE 343
IN THAT THE FIRM PERMITTED OFFICE SHARING ARRANGEMENTS
BETWEEN CERTAIN FIRM BRANCH OFFICES AND A FIRM AFFILIATE THAT
HAD NOT BEEN APPROVED BY THE NYSE AS REQUIRED BY THE RULE.
PENALTY: CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $400,000 FINE.  PAYMENT MADE
JULY 18,2007

Disclosure 355 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ILLINOIS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/01/2007

Docket/Case Number: 0400672

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: A TRUST CERTIFICATION FORM FOR A CLIENT AT THE LADUE, MISSOURI
OFFICE WAS IMPROPERLY NOTARIZED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/27/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS MERRILL AGREED
TO ASSIST THE CLIENT INVOLVED BY PAYING CERTAIN LEGAL FEES
INCURRED IN ADDRESSING CONCERNS RELATED TO THE NOTARIZATION.
FURTHERMORE, OF THE $40,000 MONETARY PAYMENT, $25,000 IS FOR
INVESTOR EDUCATION, 15K WAS FOR THE COST OF INVESTIGATION.

Regulator Statement IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTION PLEASE CONTACT JASON CHRONOPOULOS
AT 312-793-3384

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered:

Stipulation and Consent
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ILLINOIS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/01/2007

Docket/Case Number: 0400672

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: A TRUST CERTIFICATION FORM FOR A CLIENT AT THE LADUE, MISSOURI
OFFICE WAS IMPROPERLY NOTARIZED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/27/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS MERRILL LYNCH
AGREED TO ASSIST THE CLIENT INVOLVED BY PAYING CERTAIN LEGAL
FEES INCURRED IN ADDRESSING CONCERNS RELATED TO THE
NOTARIZATION.  FURTHERMORE, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO DONATE
$25,000 TO THE STATE OF ILLINOIS INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND AND
$15,000 FOR THE COST OF INVESTIGATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS MERRILL LYNCH
AGREED TO ASSIST THE CLIENT INVOLVED BY PAYING CERTAIN LEGAL
FEES INCURRED IN ADDRESSING CONCERNS RELATED TO THE
NOTARIZATION.  FURTHERMORE, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO DONATE
$25,000 TO THE STATE OF ILLINOIS INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND AND
$15,000 FOR THE COST OF INVESTIGATION.

Sanctions Ordered:

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 356 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **12/18/06**STIPULATION AND CONSENT FILED BY NYSE REGULATION'S
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:1.VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342, IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW, APPROPRIATELY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
NYSE RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS REGARDING
RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE TRANSMISSION
AND EXECUTION OF CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY TRADES ON
THE NYSE FLOOR.2.VIOLATED NYSE RULE 401, IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO CONDUCT ITS BUSINESS AFFAIRS IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRINCIPLES
OF GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICE BY FAILING TO ADEQUATELY DOCUMENT A
CUSTOMER'S PERMISSION TO TRADE ALONG, WHICH PERMISSION IS
REQUIRED BY NYSE RULE 92(B).3.VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES17A-3 AND 17A-4 THEREUNDER, AND NYSE
RULE 440, BY PREPARING AND MAINTAINING INACCURATE AND/OR
INCOMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS.STIPULATED SANCTION:THE
IMPOSITION BY THE EXCHANGE OF THE PENALTY OF:
(A)A CENSURE; AND(B)A $175,000 FINE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/18/2006

Docket/Case Number: HPD#07-5

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **12/18/06**STIPULATION AND CONSENT FILED BY NYSE REGULATION'S
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:1.VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342, IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW, APPROPRIATELY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
NYSE RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS REGARDING
RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE TRANSMISSION
AND EXECUTION OF CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY TRADES ON
THE NYSE FLOOR.2.VIOLATED NYSE RULE 401, IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO CONDUCT ITS BUSINESS AFFAIRS IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRINCIPLES
OF GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICE BY FAILING TO ADEQUATELY DOCUMENT A
CUSTOMER'S PERMISSION TO TRADE ALONG, WHICH PERMISSION IS
REQUIRED BY NYSE RULE 92(B).3.VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES17A-3 AND 17A-4 THEREUNDER, AND NYSE
RULE 440, BY PREPARING AND MAINTAINING INACCURATE AND/OR
INCOMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS.STIPULATED SANCTION:THE
IMPOSITION BY THE EXCHANGE OF THE PENALTY OF:
(A)A CENSURE; AND(B)A $175,000 FINE.

Resolution Date: 02/09/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **1/12/07**HEARING BOARD DECISION 07-005 ISSUED
DECISION:VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, APPROPRIATELY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS REGARDING RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO TRANSMISSION AND EXECUTION OF CERTAIN PROPRIETARY
TRADES ON NYSE FLOOR; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 401 BY FAILING TO
ADEQUATELY DOCUMENT CUSTOMER'S PERMISSION TO TRADE ALONG,
WHICH PERMISSION IS REQUIRED BY NYSE RULE 92(B); VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A) OF SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3
AND 17A-4 THEREUNDER, AND NYSE RULE 440, BY PREPARING AND
MAINTAINING INACCURATE OR INCOMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS ---
CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $175,000 FINE.THE HEARING PANEL IMPOSED
THE SANCTION, CONSENTED TO BY MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED, OF A CENSURE AND A FINE OF $175,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $175,000.00

Decision

865©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance
**1/12/07**HEARING BOARD DECISION 07-005 ISSUED
DECISION:VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW, APPROPRIATELY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES AND FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS REGARDING RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS WITH
RESPECT TO TRANSMISSION AND EXECUTION OF CERTAIN PROPRIETARY
TRADES ON NYSE FLOOR; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 401 BY FAILING TO
ADEQUATELY DOCUMENT CUSTOMER'S PERMISSION TO TRADE ALONG,
WHICH PERMISSION IS REQUIRED BY NYSE RULE 92(B); VIOLATED
SECTION 17(A) OF SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3
AND 17A-4 THEREUNDER, AND NYSE RULE 440, BY PREPARING AND
MAINTAINING INACCURATE OR INCOMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS ---
CONSENT TO CENSURE AND $175,000 FINE.THE HEARING PANEL IMPOSED
THE SANCTION, CONSENTED TO BY MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INCORPORATED, OF A CENSURE AND A FINE OF $175,000.

Regulator Statement **2/9/07**THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS
ON FEBRUARY 6, 2007.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Date Initiated: 12/18/2006

Docket/Case Number: HPD#07-5

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **12/18/06**STIPULATION AND CONSENT FILED BY NYSE REGULATION'S
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING. CONSENTED TO
FINDINGS:1.VIOLATED NYSE RULE 342, IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE CONTROLS,
INCLUDING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW,
APPROPRIATELY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES
AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS REGARDING RECORDKEEPING
REQUIREMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE TRANSMISSION AND EXECUTION
OF CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY TRADES ON THE NYSE
FLOOR.2.VIOLATED NYSE RULE 401, IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
CONDUCT ITS BUSINESS AFFAIRS IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRINCIPLES OF
GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICE BY FAILING TO ADEQUATELY DOCUMENT A
CUSTOMER'S PERMISSION TO TRADE ALONG, WHICH PERMISSION IS
REQUIRED BY NYSE RULE 92(B).3.VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES17A-3 AND 17A-4 THEREUNDER, AND NYSE
RULE 440, BY PREPARING AND MAINTAINING INACCURATE AND/OR
INCOMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS.STIPULATED SANCTION:THE
IMPOSITION BY THE EXCHANGE OF THE PENALTY OF: (A)A CENSURE;
AND(B)A $175,000 FINE.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 02/09/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **1/12/07**HEARING BOARD DECISION 07-5 ISSUED DECISION:VIOLATED
NYSE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AND IMPLEMENT
ADEQUATE CONTROLS, INCLUDING SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP
AND REVIEW, APPROPRIATELY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
NYSE RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS REGARDING
RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS WITH RESPECT TO TRANSMISSION
AND EXECUTION OF CERTAIN PROPRIETARY TRADES ON NYSE FLOOR;
VIOLATED NYSE RULE 401 BY FAILING TO ADEQUATELY DOCUMENT
CUSTOMER'S PERMISSION TO TRADE ALONG, WHICH PERMISSION IS
REQUIRED BY NYSE RULE 92(B); VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4 THEREUNDER, AND
NYSE RULE 440, BY PREPARING AND MAINTAINING INACCURATE OR
INCOMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS --- CONSENT TO CENSURE AND
$175,000 FINE.THE HEARING PANEL IMPOSED THE SANCTION,
CONSENTED TO BY MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED, OF A CENSURE AND A FINE OF $175,000.

Firm Statement **2/9/07**THE DECISION BECAME FINAL AS OF THE CLOSE OF BUSINESS
ON FEBRUARY 6, 2007.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $175,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 357 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: THE 11/22/2006 CONSENT ORDER ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
MAINTAIN CERTAIN BOOKS AND RECORDS RELATING TO TRADE
EXECUTION IN ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED AT MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES
FOR THE PURPOSE OF FACILITATING MARKET TIMING BY A HEDGE FUND
CLIENT OF THE FIRM.  THE TRADES WERE HANDLED BY AGENTS OF THE
FIRM'S FORT LEE, NEW JERSEY BRANCH OFFICE.  THE CONSENT ORDER
ALSO CLAIMED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO EXERCISE ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY CONTROLS OVER THE FORT LEE, NEW JERSEY AGENTS
WHO CIRCUMVENTED THE FIRM'S POLICY AGAINST MARKET TIMING
MUTUAL FUNDS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CONNECTICUT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/22/2006

Docket/Case Number: CO-2006-7013-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

THE 11/22/2006 CONSENT ORDER ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
MAINTAIN CERTAIN BOOKS AND RECORDS RELATING TO TRADE
EXECUTION IN ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED AT MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES
FOR THE PURPOSE OF FACILITATING MARKET TIMING BY A HEDGE FUND
CLIENT OF THE FIRM.  THE TRADES WERE HANDLED BY AGENTS OF THE
FIRM'S FORT LEE, NEW JERSEY BRANCH OFFICE.  THE CONSENT ORDER
ALSO CLAIMED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO EXERCISE ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY CONTROLS OVER THE FORT LEE, NEW JERSEY AGENTS
WHO CIRCUMVENTED THE FIRM'S POLICY AGAINST MARKET TIMING
MUTUAL FUNDS.

Resolution Date: 11/22/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE CONSENT ORDER FINED THE FIRM $1 MILLION.  THE CONSENT
ORDER ALSO REQUIRED THAT THE FIRM CONTRIBUTE AN ADDITIONAL $1.5
MILLION OVER A THREE YEAR PERIOD TO THE MERRILL LYNCH & CO.
FOUNDATION INC., AND EARMARK THAT AMOUNT TO PROMOTE FINANCIAL
LITERACY IN PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN ALL MEMBER JURISDICTIONS OF THE
NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION.  IN
ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER DIRECTED THE FIRM TO 1) PAY THE
STATE OF CONNECTICUT DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION $500,000 OVER
THREE YEARS TO PROMOTE FINANCIAL LITERACY INITIATIVES IN
CONNECTICUT PUBLIC SCHOOLS AS DETERMINED BY THE
COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION; AND 2) PAY $500,000 OVER THREE YEARS
TO THE NATIONAL WHITE COLLAR CRIME CENTER TO TRAIN
CONNECTICUT REGULATORY AND LAW ENFORCEMENT PERSONNEL IN
INVESTIGATING AND PROSECUTING VIOLATIONS OF FINANCIAL, BANKING,
CORPORATE AND SECURITIES LAWS.

Sanction Details: SEE RESPONSE TO ITEM 13.B.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00

Consent
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Sanction Details: SEE RESPONSE TO ITEM 13.B.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CONNECTICUT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/22/2006

Docket/Case Number: CO-2006-7013-S

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE 11/22/2006 CONSENT ORDER ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
MAINTAIN CERTAIN BOOKS AND RECORDS RELATING TO TRADE
EXECUTION IN ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED AT MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES
FOR THE PURPOSE OF FACILITATING MARKET TIMING BY A HEDGE FUND
CLIENT OF THE FIRM. THE TRADES WERE HANDLED BY AGENTS OF THE
FIRM'S FORT LEE, NEW JERSEY BRANCH OFFICE. THE
CONSENT ORDER ALSO CLAIMED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO EXERCISE
ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY CONTROLS OVER THE FORT LEE, NEW JERSEY
AGENTS WHO CIRCUMVENTED THE FIRM'S POLICY AGAINST MARKET
TIMING MUTUAL FUNDS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/22/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE CONSENT ORDER FINED THE FIRM $1 MILLION AND IT WAS PAID ON
11/22/2006. THE CONSENT ORDER ALSO REQUIRED THAT THE FIRM
CONTRIBUTE AN ADDITIONAL $1.5 MILLION OVER A THREE YEAR PERIOD
TO THE MERRILL LYNCH & CO. FOUNDATION INC., AND EARMARK THAT
AMOUNT TO PROMOTE FINANCIAL LITERACY IN PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN ALL
MEMBER JURISDICTIONS OF THE NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES
ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION. IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER
DIRECTED THE FIRM TO 1) PAY THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT
DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION $500,000 OVER THREE YEARS TO PROMOTE
FINANCIAL LITERACY INITIATIVES IN CONNECTICUT PUBLIC SCHOOLS AS
DETERMINED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION; AND 2) PAY
$500,000 OVER THREE YEARS TO THE NATIONAL WHITE COLLAR CRIME
CENTER TO TRAIN CONNECTICUT REGULATORY AND LAW ENFORCEMENT
PERSONNEL IN INVESTIGATING AND PROSECUTING VIOLATIONS OF
FINANCIAL, BANKING, CORPORATE AND SECURITIES LAWS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000,000.00

Consent
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THE CONSENT ORDER FINED THE FIRM $1 MILLION AND IT WAS PAID ON
11/22/2006. THE CONSENT ORDER ALSO REQUIRED THAT THE FIRM
CONTRIBUTE AN ADDITIONAL $1.5 MILLION OVER A THREE YEAR PERIOD
TO THE MERRILL LYNCH & CO. FOUNDATION INC., AND EARMARK THAT
AMOUNT TO PROMOTE FINANCIAL LITERACY IN PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN ALL
MEMBER JURISDICTIONS OF THE NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES
ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION. IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER
DIRECTED THE FIRM TO 1) PAY THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT
DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION $500,000 OVER THREE YEARS TO PROMOTE
FINANCIAL LITERACY INITIATIVES IN CONNECTICUT PUBLIC SCHOOLS AS
DETERMINED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION; AND 2) PAY
$500,000 OVER THREE YEARS TO THE NATIONAL WHITE COLLAR CRIME
CENTER TO TRAIN CONNECTICUT REGULATORY AND LAW ENFORCEMENT
PERSONNEL IN INVESTIGATING AND PROSECUTING VIOLATIONS OF
FINANCIAL, BANKING, CORPORATE AND SECURITIES LAWS.

Firm Statement SEE 12C. ABOVE

Disclosure 358 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VIRGINIA - DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Date Initiated: 10/24/2006

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2006-00070

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): INVESTIGATION FOCUSED ON MERRILL LYNCH'S RETENTION AND USE OF
INFORMATION COLLECTED ON ITS RETAIL ACCOUNT PROFILE AND ON ITS
FINANCIAL FOUNDATION REPORTS. AS A RESULT OF THE EXAMINATION,
ALLEGATIONS AROSE OF PROBLEMATIC AREAS IN MERRILL LYNCH'S MLUA
PROGRAM AND 529 PLAN PROGRAM AS WELL.

Allegations: THE DIVISION ALLEGES THAT THE DEFENDANT: (1) VIOLATED SECURITIES
RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B BY FAILING TO EXERCISE DILIGENT SUPERVISION
OVER THE SECURITIES ACTIVITIES OF ALL OF ITS AGENTS, INCLUDING
INSTANCES OF OVER-BURDENED BRANCH MANAGEMENT; (2) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-280 A 3, BY FAILING TO MAINTAIN ALL
INFORMATION KNOWN ABOUT CUSTOMERS CONTAINED IN THE FFRS AND
MERRILL LYNCH'S INTERNAL COMPUTER DESIGNATION FOR CLIENT
ACCOUNT PROFILES ("KDIS"), INCLUDING THE FAILURE TO RECONCILE
SUCH INFORMATION BETWEEN THE FFRS AND THE KDI SYSTEM, AND BY
FAILING TO ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY REVIEW TO ENSURE THAT
APPROPRIATE DISCLOSURES WERE DOCUMENTED WHEN IT OFFERED
ONLY THE STATE OF MAINE 529 PLAN WITHOUT COMPARISON OF THIS
PLAN TO VIRGINIA'S IN-STATE 529 PLAN; AND (3) VIOLATED SECURITIES
RULE 21 VAC 5-20-280 A 12 BY FAILING TO CONSISTENTLY NOTIFY CERTAIN
CLIENTS WITH MLUA ACCOUNTS OF THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE
FEES THEY HAD INCURRED IN THE MLUA PROGRAM AND THE STANDARD
TRANSACTION CHARGES THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN CHARGED HAD THE
ACCOUNT NOT BEEN IN MLUA.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

PURSUANT TO EXAMINATIONS CONDUCTED BY BISYS REGULATORY
SERVICES AND THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES, MERRILL LYNCH MADE
MULTIPLE REVISIONS TO ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REGARDING
THE UTILIZATION AND/OR IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS (1) CLIENT ACCOUNT
DATA AND RETENTION, (2) FOUNDATION FINANCIAL REPORTS AND THE
COMPARISON OF THAT INFORMATION TO CLIENT ACCOUNT DATA, (3) MLUA
PROGRAM, AND (4) SALES OF ITS 529 PLANS TO VIRGINIA CUSTOMERS.
MERRILL LYNCH ALSO REIMBURSED THE DIVISION FOR ITS COST OF THE
EXAMINATION ($75,000).

Resolution Date: 10/24/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: DEFENDANT NEITHER ADMITTED, NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS, BUT
THE FIRM ADMITTED TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER THE
MATTER AND AGREED TO AND HAS (IN MOST INSTANCES) CHANGED ITS
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO CORRECT THE CRITICISMS NOTED.
DEFENDANT ALSO HAS FULFILLED ITS OBLIGATIONS FOR SEC-2003-00041
AND MERRILL LYNCH HAS PAID $75,000 TO THE DIVISION TO DEFRAY THE
COST OF THE INVESTIGATION.

Sanction Details: SAME AS ABOVE.

Regulator Statement PER THE ALLEGATIONS NOTED ABOVE, THE DEFENDANT NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS, BUT ADMITTED TO THE
COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER THE MATTER AND AGREED TO PAY
$75,000 TO DEFRAY THE DIVISION'S COST OF THE INVESTIGATION. THE
DEFENDANT ALSO AGREED TO CHANGE PORTIONS OF ITS POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES MANUAL THAT ARE INSTRUMENTAL TO MERRILL LYNCH'S
SUPERVISORY EFFORTS GOING FORWARD WITH THE USE OF ITS
FINANCIAL FOUNDATION REPORTS (IN RELATION TO THE INFORMATION
ON RECORD FOR A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT), 529 PLAN PROGRAM IN
VIRGINIA, AND ITS MLUA PROGRAM IN VIRGINIA. DEFENDANT WILL
ENSURE THAT ALL INFORMATION ABOUT A CUSTOMER WILL BE
RECORDED AND COMPARED TO INSURE ACCURACY OF THE INFORMATION
SO RECOMMENDATIONS WOULD BE OF A MORE SUITABLE NATURE.
DEFENDANT WILL ALSO ENSURE THAT SUPERVISORY PERSONNEL WILL
REVIEW SALES OF OUT-OF-STATE 529 PRODUCTS MORE THOROUGHLY TO
INSURE THAT THE PRODUCT IS SUITABLE FOR VIRGINIA CUSTOMERS, AS
COMPARED TO THE VIRGINIA IN-STATE PRODUCTS, AND DEFENDANT WILL
ENSURE THAT THEIR VIRGINIA CUSTOMERS PARTICIPATING IN THE FIRM'S
MLUA PROGRAM ARE SUITABLE PARTICIPANTS, BASED ON THE
CUSTOMER'S NEEDS, TRADING ACTIVITY, AND OBJECTIVES. THE FIRM IS
ALSO IN THE DESIGN PROCESS OF A NEW COMPUTER SYSTEM TO
MAINTAIN CUSTOMER ACCOUNT INFORMATION. AS STATED IN THE
SETTLEMENT ORDER, THE FIRM IS REQUIRED TO NOTIFY THE DIVISION OF
UPGRADES TO THE NEW COMPUTER SYSTEM AND ITS CHANGES AT EACH
MATERIAL STAGE OF IMPLEMENTATION. ONCE THAT HAS BEEN
COMPLETED, THEN IT IS CONTEMPLATED THAT THE SEC-2006-00070 WILL
BE CLOSED. THE SETTLEMENT ORDER FOR THIS MATTER IS A LONG,
COMPLICATED SETTLEMENT THAT HAS ONLY BEEN PARAPRASED HERE.
FOR MORE INFORMATION, PLEASE CONTACT KEVIN FURR OR GARLAND
SHARP TO 804-371-9051.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered:

Settled
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PER THE ALLEGATIONS NOTED ABOVE, THE DEFENDANT NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS, BUT ADMITTED TO THE
COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER THE MATTER AND AGREED TO PAY
$75,000 TO DEFRAY THE DIVISION'S COST OF THE INVESTIGATION. THE
DEFENDANT ALSO AGREED TO CHANGE PORTIONS OF ITS POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES MANUAL THAT ARE INSTRUMENTAL TO MERRILL LYNCH'S
SUPERVISORY EFFORTS GOING FORWARD WITH THE USE OF ITS
FINANCIAL FOUNDATION REPORTS (IN RELATION TO THE INFORMATION
ON RECORD FOR A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT), 529 PLAN PROGRAM IN
VIRGINIA, AND ITS MLUA PROGRAM IN VIRGINIA. DEFENDANT WILL
ENSURE THAT ALL INFORMATION ABOUT A CUSTOMER WILL BE
RECORDED AND COMPARED TO INSURE ACCURACY OF THE INFORMATION
SO RECOMMENDATIONS WOULD BE OF A MORE SUITABLE NATURE.
DEFENDANT WILL ALSO ENSURE THAT SUPERVISORY PERSONNEL WILL
REVIEW SALES OF OUT-OF-STATE 529 PRODUCTS MORE THOROUGHLY TO
INSURE THAT THE PRODUCT IS SUITABLE FOR VIRGINIA CUSTOMERS, AS
COMPARED TO THE VIRGINIA IN-STATE PRODUCTS, AND DEFENDANT WILL
ENSURE THAT THEIR VIRGINIA CUSTOMERS PARTICIPATING IN THE FIRM'S
MLUA PROGRAM ARE SUITABLE PARTICIPANTS, BASED ON THE
CUSTOMER'S NEEDS, TRADING ACTIVITY, AND OBJECTIVES. THE FIRM IS
ALSO IN THE DESIGN PROCESS OF A NEW COMPUTER SYSTEM TO
MAINTAIN CUSTOMER ACCOUNT INFORMATION. AS STATED IN THE
SETTLEMENT ORDER, THE FIRM IS REQUIRED TO NOTIFY THE DIVISION OF
UPGRADES TO THE NEW COMPUTER SYSTEM AND ITS CHANGES AT EACH
MATERIAL STAGE OF IMPLEMENTATION. ONCE THAT HAS BEEN
COMPLETED, THEN IT IS CONTEMPLATED THAT THE SEC-2006-00070 WILL
BE CLOSED. THE SETTLEMENT ORDER FOR THIS MATTER IS A LONG,
COMPLICATED SETTLEMENT THAT HAS ONLY BEEN PARAPRASED HERE.
FOR MORE INFORMATION, PLEASE CONTACT KEVIN FURR OR GARLAND
SHARP TO 804-371-9051.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: VIRGINIA DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Date Initiated: 10/24/2006

Docket/Case Number: SEC 2006-00070

Allegations: THE DIVISION ALLEGES THAT THE DEFENDANT: (1) VIOLATED SECURITIES
RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B BY FAILING TO EXERCISE DILIGENT SUPERVISION
OVER THE SECURITIES ACTIVITIES OF ALL OF ITS AGENTS, INCLUDING
INSTANCES OF OVER-BURDENED BRANCH MANAGEMENT; (2) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-280 A 3, BY FAILING TO MAINTAIN ALL
INFORMATION KNOWN ABOUT CUSTOMERS CONTAINED IN THE FFRS AND
MERRILL LYNCH'S INTERNAL COMPUTER DESIGNATION FOR CLIENT
ACCOUNT PROFILES ("KDIS"), INCLUDING THE FAILURE TO RECONCILE
SUCH INFORMATION BETWEEN THE FFRS AND THE KDI SYSTEM, AND BY
FAILING TO ESTABLISH A SUPERVISORY REVIEW TO ENSURE THAT
APPROPRIATE DISCLOSURES WERE DOCUMENTED WHEN IT OFFERED
ONLY THE STATE OF MAINE 529 PLAN WITHOUT COMPARISON OF THIS
PLAN TO VIRGINIA'S IN-STATE 529 PLAN; AND (3) VIOLATED SECURITIES
RULE 21 VAC 5-20-280 A 12 BY FAILING TO CONSISTENTLY NOTIFY CERTAIN
CLIENTS WITH MLUA ACCOUNTS OF THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE
FEES THEY HAD INCURRED IN THE MLUA PROGRAM AND THE STANDARD
TRANSACTION CHARGES THEY WOULD HAVE BEEN CHARGED HAD THE
ACCOUNT NOT BEEN IN MLUA.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

PURSUANT TO EXAMINATIONS CONDUCTED BY BISYS REGULATORY
SERVICES AND THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES, MERRILL LYNCH MADE
MULTIPLE REVISIONS TO ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
REGARDING THE UTILIZATION AND/OR IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS (1) CLIENT
ACCOUNT DATA AND RETENTION, (2) FOUNDATION FINANCIAL REPORTS
AND THE COMPARISON OF THAT INFORMATION TO
CLIENT ACCOUNT DATA, (3) MLUA PROGRAM, AND (4) SALES OF ITS 529
PLANS TO VIRGINIA.

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): INVESTIGATION FOCUSED ON MERRILL LYNCH'S RETENTION AND USE OF
INFORMATION COLLECTED ON ITS RETAIL ACCOUNT PROFILE AND ON ITS
FINANCIAL FOUNDATION REPORTS. AS A RESULT OF THE
EXAMINATION, CONCERNS AROSE WITH RESPECT TO MERRILL LYNCH'S
MLUA PROGRAM AND 529 PLAN PROGRAM AS WELL.

Resolution Date: 10/24/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: DEFENDANT NEITHER ADMITTED, NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS, BUT
THE FIRM ADMITTED TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER THE
MATTER AND AGREED TO AND HAS CHANGED ITS POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES TO CORRECT THE CRITICISMS NOTED. DEFENDANT ALSO
HAS FULFILLED ITS OBLIGATIONS FOR SEC-2003-00041 AND MERRILL
LYNCH HAS PAID $75,000 TO THE DIVISION TO DEFRAY THE COST OF THE
INVESTIGATION.

Sanctions Ordered:

Settled

Disclosure 359 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 2720(1), 2830(N): RESPONDENT FAILED TO INCLUDE A
LEGEND REGARDING THE EXISTENCE OF CONTINGENT DEFERRED SALES
CHARGES ON CERTAIN WRITTEN CONFIRMATIONS IT PROVIDED ITS
CUSTOMERS EFFECTING FIRM'S EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS AND
EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN "CALLABLE STRIDES" EQUITY-LINKED FIXED
INCOME SECURITIES ISSUED BY THE PARENT COMPANY IN CUSTOMERS'
DISCRETIONARY ACCOUNTS WITHOUT OBTAINING PRIOR WRITTEN
APPROVAL FROM THE CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/20/2006

Docket/Case Number: 2005003467601

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY-LINKED FIXED INCOME SECURITIES

NASD RULES 2110, 2720(1), 2830(N): RESPONDENT FAILED TO INCLUDE A
LEGEND REGARDING THE EXISTENCE OF CONTINGENT DEFERRED SALES
CHARGES ON CERTAIN WRITTEN CONFIRMATIONS IT PROVIDED ITS
CUSTOMERS EFFECTING FIRM'S EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS AND
EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN "CALLABLE STRIDES" EQUITY-LINKED FIXED
INCOME SECURITIES ISSUED BY THE PARENT COMPANY IN CUSTOMERS'
DISCRETIONARY ACCOUNTS WITHOUT OBTAINING PRIOR WRITTEN
APPROVAL FROM THE CUSTOMERS.

Resolution Date: 11/20/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS; RESPONDENT MEMBER
FIRM CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Date Initiated: 11/20/2006

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO INCLUDE A LEGEND
REGARDING THE EXISTENCE OF CONTINGENT DEFERRED SALES
CHARGES ON CERTAIN WRITTEN CONFIRMATIONS IT PROVIDED ITS
CUSTOMERS EFFECTING FIRM'S EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
AND EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN "CALLABLE STRIDES" EQUITY-LINKED
FIXED INCOME SECURITIES ISSUED BY THE PARENT COMPANY IN
CUSTOMERS' DISCRETIONARY ACCOUNTS WITHOUT OBTAINING PRIOR
WRITTEN APPROVAL FROM THE CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 11/20/2006

Docket/Case Number: 20050034676-01

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY-LINKED FIXED INCOME SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 11/20/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS; RESPONDENT MEMBER
FIRM CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000.00.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS; RESPONDENT MEMBER
FIRM CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000.00, WHICH
WAS PAID ON DECEMBER 8, 2006.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 360 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VIRGINIA - DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Date Initiated: 10/31/2006

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2006-00026

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE DEFENDANT: (1) VIOLATED SECURITIES RULE
21 VAC 5-20-280 A 3 WHEN THE DEFENDANT, THROUGH ITS REGISTERED
AGENT FRANCIS LEE SUMMERS, III, RECOMMENDED UNSUITABLE
TRANSACTIONS BY ADVISING A VIRGINIA RESIDENT TO SELL STOCK
SHARES TO PURCHASE OTHER SHARES OF STOCK THAT WERE
UNSUITABLE, GIVEN THE INVESTOR'S OBJECTIVES; AND (2) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B BY FAILING TO EXERCISE DILIGENT
SUPERVISION OVER SUMMERS' SECURITIES RECOMMENDATIONS TO A
VIRGINIA INVESTOR.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL & ADMIN. PENALTY/FINE

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2006-00026

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/31/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: IN LIEU OF A PENALTY ASSESSMENT, THE DEFENDANT AGREED TO AND
OFFERED THE COMPLAINANT RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000.00
DEFENDANT ALSO REIMBURSED THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES FOR ITS
COST OF INVESTIGATION, WHICH TOTALED $8,000.00.

Sanction Details: SAME AS 13.B.

Regulator Statement AS A RESULT OF AN INVESTIGATION CONDUCTED BY THE DIVISION OF
SECURITIES, IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE DEFENDANT: (1) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-280 A 3 WHEN THE DEFENDANT, THROUGH
ITS REGISTERED AGENT FRANCIS LEE SUMMERS, III, RECOMMENDED
UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS BY ADVISING A VIRGINIA RESIDENT TO SELL
STOCK SHARES TO PURCHASE OTHER SHARES OF STOCK THAT WERE
UNSUITABLE, GIVEN THE INVESTOR'S OBJECTIVES; AND (2) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B BY FAILING TO EXERCISE DILIGENT
SUPERVISION OVER MR. SUMMERS' SECURITIES RECOMMENDATIONS TO
A VIRGINIA INVESTOR. IN LIEU OF A PENALTY ASSESSMENT, THE
DEFENDANT AGREED TO AND OFFERED THE COMPLAINANT RESTITUTION
IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000.00.  DEFENDANT ALSO REIMBURSED THE
DIVISION OF SECURITIES FOR ITS COST OF INVESTIGATION, WHICH
TOTALED $8,000.00. THIS MATTER IS NOW CLOSED. FOR FURTHER
INFORMATION, PLEASE CONTACT KEVIN FURR OR GARLAND SHARP AT
804-371-9051.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Settled
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

DISGORGEMENT AND RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 10/31/2006

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2006-0026

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY LISTED (COMMON & PREFERRED STOCK)

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE DEFENDANT: (1) VIOLATED SECURITIES RULE
21 VAC 5-20-280 A 3 WHEN THE DEFENDANT, THROUGH ITS REGISTERED
AGENT FRANCIS LEE SUMMERS, III, RECOMMENDED UNSUITABLE
TRANSACTIONS BY ADVISING A VIRGINIA RESIDENT TO SELL STOCK
SHARES TO PURCHASE OTHER SHARES OF STOCK THAT WERE
UNSUITABLE, GIVEN THE INVESTOR'S OBJECTIVES; AND (2) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B BY FAILING TO EXERCISE DILIGENT
SUPERVISION OVER SUMMERS' SECURITIES RECOMMENDATIONS TO A
VIRGINIA INVESTOR.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/31/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: IN LIEU OF A PENALTY ASSESSMENT, THE DEFENDANT AGREED TO AND
OFFERED THE COMPLAINANT RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000.00
DEFENDANT ALSO REIMBURSED THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES FOR ITS
COST OF INVESTIGATION, WHICH TOTALED $8,000.00.

Sanction Details: SAME AS 13B

Firm Statement AS A RESULT OF AN INVESTIGATION CONDUCTED BY THE DIVISION OF
SECURITIES, IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE DEFENDANT: (1) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-280 A 3 WHEN THE DEFENDANT, THROUGH
ITS REGISTERED AGENT FRANCIS LEE SUMMERS, III, RECOMMENDED
UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS BY ADVISING A VIRGINIA RESIDENT TO SELL
STOCK SHARES TO PURCHASE OTHER SHARES OF STOCK THAT WERE
UNSUITABLE, GIVEN THE INVESTOR'S OBJECTIVES; AND (2) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B BY FAILING TO EXERCISE DILIGENT
SUPERVISION OVER MR. SUMMERS' SECURITIES RECOMMENDATIONS TO
A VIRGINIA INVESTOR. IN LIEU OF A PENALTY ASSESSMENT, THE
DEFENDANT AGREED TO AND OFFERED THE COMPLAINANT RESTITUTION
IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000.00. DEFENDANT ALSO REIMBURSED THE
DIVISION OF SECURITIES FOR ITS COST OF INVESTIGATION, WHICH
TOTALED $8,000.00. THIS MATTER IS NOW CLOSED. FOR FURTHER
INFORMATION, PLEASE CONTACT KEVIN FURR OR GARLAND SHARP AT
804-371-9051.

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Settled
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AS A RESULT OF AN INVESTIGATION CONDUCTED BY THE DIVISION OF
SECURITIES, IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE DEFENDANT: (1) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-280 A 3 WHEN THE DEFENDANT, THROUGH
ITS REGISTERED AGENT FRANCIS LEE SUMMERS, III, RECOMMENDED
UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS BY ADVISING A VIRGINIA RESIDENT TO SELL
STOCK SHARES TO PURCHASE OTHER SHARES OF STOCK THAT WERE
UNSUITABLE, GIVEN THE INVESTOR'S OBJECTIVES; AND (2) VIOLATED
SECURITIES RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B BY FAILING TO EXERCISE DILIGENT
SUPERVISION OVER MR. SUMMERS' SECURITIES RECOMMENDATIONS TO
A VIRGINIA INVESTOR. IN LIEU OF A PENALTY ASSESSMENT, THE
DEFENDANT AGREED TO AND OFFERED THE COMPLAINANT RESTITUTION
IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000.00. DEFENDANT ALSO REIMBURSED THE
DIVISION OF SECURITIES FOR ITS COST OF INVESTIGATION, WHICH
TOTALED $8,000.00. THIS MATTER IS NOW CLOSED. FOR FURTHER
INFORMATION, PLEASE CONTACT KEVIN FURR OR GARLAND SHARP AT
804-371-9051.

Disclosure 361 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VIRGINIA - DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING: COST OF A SPECIAL EXAMINATION WHERE A THIRD-PARTY
EXAMINER WAS RETAINED.

Date Initiated: 10/17/2006

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2003-00041

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY - OTC

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE DEFENDANT VIOLATED COMMISSION RULES 21
VAC 5-20-280 A 3 ON NUMEROUS OCCASIONS BY RECOMMENDING
SECURITIES TO VIRGINIA INVESTORS THAT WERE NOT SUITABLE GIVEN
THE INVESTORS' OBJECTIVES, FINANCIAL FOUNDATION REPORT PLANS,
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION. IT WAS FURTHER ALLEGED THAT THE
DEFENDANT FAILED TO EXERCISE DILIGENT SUPERVISION OVER THE
SECURITIES ACTIVITIES OF AN AGENT IN YORK, PENNSYLVANIA AND
ANOTHER AGENT IN WILLIAMSBURG, VIRGINIA, IN VIOLATION OF
COMMISSION RULE 21 VAC 5-20-260 B.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/17/2006

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: DEFENDANT AGREED TO AND OFFERED RESTITUTION TO TWO VIRGINIA
INVESTORS. THE RESTITUTION AMOUNTS RESPECTIVELY WERE
$73,544.81 AND $268,723.12. DEFENDANT ALSO AGREED TO A SPECIAL
EXAMINATION PROJECT. BISYS REGULATORY SYSTEMS WAS RETAINED BY
THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES (AT DEFENDANT'S EXPENSE OF $479,322.61)
TO CONDUCT AUDITS AT EIGHT SELECTED MERRILL LYNCH OFFICES IN
THE EASTERN THIRD OF THE USA OUTSIDE VA. THE THIRD PARTY
EXAMINER WAS REQUIRED TO FOCUS ON (1) DEFENDANT'S
RECOMMENDATIONS AND CLIENTS' TRADING ACTIVITY COMPARED WITH
THE CUSTOMER'S STATED OBJECTIVES, FINANCIAL PLANS (FFR'S), AND
FINANCIAL CONDITION; (2) DEFENDANT'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES REGARDING NEW ACCOUNTS AND SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO CUSTOMER SUITABILITY; AND
(3)DEFENDANT'S SEPARATE SYSTEM OF REVIEW REGARDING THE
EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH
REGARD TO CUSTOMER SUITABILITY. THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES ALSO
CONDUCTED AN EXAMINATION OF A VIRGINIA OFFICE THAT FOCUSED ON
THE SAME CRITERIA.

Sanction Details: SEE DETAIL PROVIDED IN 13. B.

Regulator Statement DEFENDANT AGREED TO AND OFFERED RESTITUTION TO TWO VIRGINIA
INVESTORS. THE RESTITUTION AMOUNTS RESPECTIVELY WERE
$73,544.81 AND $268,723.12. DEFENDANT ALSO AGREED TO A SPECIAL
EXAMINATION PROJECT. BISYS REGULATORY SYSTEMS WAS RETAINED BY
THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES (AT DEFENDANT'S EXPENSE OF $479,322,61)
TO CONDUCT AUDITS AT EIGHT SELECTED MERRILL LYNCH OFFICES IN
THE EASTERN THIRD OF THE USA OUTSIDE VA. THE EXAMINATION
PROJECT COMMENCED IN MARCH 2004 AND WAS COMPLETED IN
SEPTEMBER 2005. THE THIRD PARTY EXAMINER WAS REQUIRED TO
FOCUS ON (1) DEFENDANT'S RECOMMENDATIONS AND CLIENTS' TRADING
ACTIVITY COMPARED WITH THE CUSTOMER'S STATED OBJECTIVES,
FINANCIAL PLANS (FFR'S), AND FINANCIAL CONDITION; (2) DEFENDANT'S
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING NEW ACCOUNTS AND
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO CUSTOMER SUITABILITY; AND
(3) DEFENDANT'S SEPARATE SYSTEM OF REVIEW REGARDING THE
EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH
REGARD TO CUSTOMER SUITABILTY. THE DIVISION OF SECUTITIES ALSO
CONDUCTED AN EXAMINATION OF A VIRGINIA OFFICE THAT FOCUSED ON
THE SAME CRITERIA. THIS EXAMINATION BEGAN IN OCTOBER 2004 AND
WAS COMPLETED NOVEMBER 2005. ALLEGATIONS/CRITICISMS WERE
PRESENTED TO MERRILL LYNCH IN NOVEMBER 2005 AND NEGOTIATIONS
BEGAN TO CONCLUDE MATTERS ARISING FROM THE EXAMINATIONS.
THOSE MATTERS WILL BE SETTLED IN CASE NUMBER SEC-2006-00070.
THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES CONCLUDED THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD
FULFILLED ITS OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO SEC-2003-00041 ON OCTOBER
17, 2006. PLEASE CONTACT KEVIN FURR OR GARLAND SHARP AT 804-371-
9051 FOR FURTHER INFORMATION.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution
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DEFENDANT AGREED TO AND OFFERED RESTITUTION TO TWO VIRGINIA
INVESTORS. THE RESTITUTION AMOUNTS RESPECTIVELY WERE
$73,544.81 AND $268,723.12. DEFENDANT ALSO AGREED TO A SPECIAL
EXAMINATION PROJECT. BISYS REGULATORY SYSTEMS WAS RETAINED BY
THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES (AT DEFENDANT'S EXPENSE OF $479,322,61)
TO CONDUCT AUDITS AT EIGHT SELECTED MERRILL LYNCH OFFICES IN
THE EASTERN THIRD OF THE USA OUTSIDE VA. THE EXAMINATION
PROJECT COMMENCED IN MARCH 2004 AND WAS COMPLETED IN
SEPTEMBER 2005. THE THIRD PARTY EXAMINER WAS REQUIRED TO
FOCUS ON (1) DEFENDANT'S RECOMMENDATIONS AND CLIENTS' TRADING
ACTIVITY COMPARED WITH THE CUSTOMER'S STATED OBJECTIVES,
FINANCIAL PLANS (FFR'S), AND FINANCIAL CONDITION; (2) DEFENDANT'S
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING NEW ACCOUNTS AND
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO CUSTOMER SUITABILITY; AND
(3) DEFENDANT'S SEPARATE SYSTEM OF REVIEW REGARDING THE
EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH
REGARD TO CUSTOMER SUITABILTY. THE DIVISION OF SECUTITIES ALSO
CONDUCTED AN EXAMINATION OF A VIRGINIA OFFICE THAT FOCUSED ON
THE SAME CRITERIA. THIS EXAMINATION BEGAN IN OCTOBER 2004 AND
WAS COMPLETED NOVEMBER 2005. ALLEGATIONS/CRITICISMS WERE
PRESENTED TO MERRILL LYNCH IN NOVEMBER 2005 AND NEGOTIATIONS
BEGAN TO CONCLUDE MATTERS ARISING FROM THE EXAMINATIONS.
THOSE MATTERS WILL BE SETTLED IN CASE NUMBER SEC-2006-00070.
THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES CONCLUDED THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD
FULFILLED ITS OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO SEC-2003-00041 ON OCTOBER
17, 2006. PLEASE CONTACT KEVIN FURR OR GARLAND SHARP AT 804-371-
9051 FOR FURTHER INFORMATION.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF VIRGINIA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Disgorgement

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 10/17/2006

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2003-00041

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY LISTED (COMMON & PREFERRED STOCK)

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE DEFENDANT VIOLATED COMMISSION RULES 21
VAC 5-20-280 A3 ON NUMEROUS OCCASIONS BY RECOMMENDING
SECURITIES TO VIRGINIA INVESTORS THAT WERE NOT SUITABLE GIVEN
THE INVESTORS' OBJECTIVES, FINANCIAL FOUNDATION REPORT PLANS,
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION.  IT WAS FURTHER ALLEGED THAT THE
DEFENDANT FAILED TO EXERCISE DILIGENT SUPERVISION OVER THE
SECURITIES ACTIVITIES OF AN AGENT IN YORK, PENNSYLVANIA AND
ANOTHER AGENT IN WILLIAMSBURG, VA IN VIOLATION OF COMISSION
RULE 21 VAC 5-20-206 B.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/17/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: DEFENDANT AGREEDTO AND OFFERED RESTITUTION TO TWO VIRGINIA
INVESTORS.  THE RESTITUTION AMOUNTS RESPECTIVELY WERE
$73,554.81 AND $268,723.12  DEFENDANT ALSO AGREED TO A SPECIAL
EXAMINATION PROJECT.  BISYS REGULATORY SYSTEMS WAS RETAINED
BY THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES (AT DEFENDANT'S EXPENSE OF
$479,322.61) TO CONDUCT AUDITS AT EIGHT SELECTED MERRILL LYNCH
OFFICES IN THE EASTERN THIRD OF THE USA OUTSIDE VA.

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Consent
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DEFENDANT AGREEDTO AND OFFERED RESTITUTION TO TWO VIRGINIA
INVESTORS.  THE RESTITUTION AMOUNTS RESPECTIVELY WERE
$73,554.81 AND $268,723.12  DEFENDANT ALSO AGREED TO A SPECIAL
EXAMINATION PROJECT.  BISYS REGULATORY SYSTEMS WAS RETAINED
BY THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES (AT DEFENDANT'S EXPENSE OF
$479,322.61) TO CONDUCT AUDITS AT EIGHT SELECTED MERRILL LYNCH
OFFICES IN THE EASTERN THIRD OF THE USA OUTSIDE VA.

Sanction Details: SEE DETAIL PROVIDED IN 12B.

Firm Statement THE EXAMINATION PROJECT COMMENCED IN MARCH 2004 AND WAS
COMPLETED IN SEPTEMBER 2005.   THE THIRD PARTY EXAMINER WAS
REQUIRED TO FOCUS ON (1) DEFENDANT'S RECOMMENDATIONS AND
CLIENTS TRADING ACTIVITY COMPARED WITH THE CUSTOMER'S STATED
OBJECTIVES, FINANCIAL PLANS (FFR'S), AND FINANCIAL CONDITION; (2)
DEFENDANT'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING NEW
ACCOUNTS AND SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO CUSTOMER
SUITABILITY; AND (3)  DEFENDANT'S SEPARATE SYSTEM OF REVIEW
REGARDING THE EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WITH REGARD TO CUSTOMER SUITABILITY.  THE DIVISION
OF SECURITIES ALSO CONDUCTED AN EXAMINATION OF A VIRGINIA
OFFICE THAT FOCUSED ON THE SAME CRITERIA.   THIS EXAMINATION
BEGAN IN OCTOBER 2004 AND WAS COMPLETED IN NOVEMBER 2005, AND
NEGOTIATIONS BEGAN TO CONCLUDE MATTERS ARISING FROM THE
EXAMINATIONS.  THOSE MATTERS WILL BE SETTLED IN CASE NUMBER
SEC-2006-00070.  THE DIVISION OF SECURITIES CONCLUDED THAT THE
DEFENDANT HAD FULFILLED ITS OBGLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO SEC-2003-
00041 ON OCTOBER 17, 2006.  PLEASE CONTACT KEVIN FURR OR
GARLAND SHARP AT 804-371-9051 FOR FURTHER INFORMATION.

Disclosure 362 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING RELEASE 33-8684, 34-53888, DATED
MAY 31, 2006, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION COMPLAINT
ALLEGES THAT RESPONDENT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A)(2) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT. AS PART OF ITS BROKER-DEALER BUSINESS,
RESPONDENT UNDERWRITE, AND MANAGE AUCTIONS FOR, AUCTION
RATE SECURITIES. FROM AT LEAST JANUARY 1, 2003 THROUGH JUNE 30,
2004, IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN AUCTIONS, RESPONDENT ENGAGED
IN ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING PRACTICES VIOLATIONS:
COMPLETION OF OPEN OR MARKET BIDS, INTERVENTION IN AUCTIONS,
BIDS TO PREVENT FAILED AUCTIONS, BIDS TO A SET A "MARKET" RATE,
BIDS TO PREVENT ALL-HOLD AUCTIONS, PRIORITIZATION OF BIDS,
SUBMISSION OR REVISION OF BIDS AFTER DEADLINES, ALLOCATION OF
SECURITIES, PARTIAL ORDERS, EXPRESS OR TACTIC UNDERSTANDING TO
PROVIDE HIGHER RETURNS, AND PRICE TALK.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE, CIVIL PENALTIES

Date Initiated: 05/31/2006

Docket/Case Number: 3-12310

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s): MUNICIPAL BONDS, CORPORATE BONDS

Resolution Date: 05/31/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NOT LATER THAN 6 MONTHS AFTER THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER,
RESPONDENT SHALL PROVIDE ALL OF ITS CUSTOMERS WHO HOLD
AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("HOLDERS") AND THE ISSUERS OF SUCH
SECURITIES ("ISSUERS") WITH A WRITTEN DESCRIPTION OF THE
RESPONDENT'S MATERIAL AUCTION PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES.
FURTHERMORE, COMMENCING NOT LATER THAN 3 MONTHS AFTER THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, RESPONDENT SHALL AT ALL TIMES MAKE A
DESCRIPTION OF ITS THEN-CURRENT MATERIAL AUCTION PRACTICES
AND PROCEDURES AVAILABLE TO (1) ALL CUSTOMERS AND BROKER-
DEALERS WHO ARE PARTICIPATING THROUGH SUCH RESPONDENT IN AN
AUCTION OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ON THE PORTION OF ITS
WEBSITE THAT IS ACCESSIBLE TO SUCH CUSTOMERS AND BROKER-
DEALERS AND IS RELATED TO SUCH AUCTION AND (2) THE GENERAL
PUBLIC ON ANOTHER PORTION OF ITS WEBSITE ACCESSIBLE TO THE
GENERAL PUBLIC. NOT LATER THAN 6 MONTHS AFTER THE DATE OF THIS
ORDER, UNLESS OTHERWISE EXTENDED BY THE STAFF OF THE
COMMISSION FOR GOOD CAUSE SHOWN, RESPONDENT'S CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR GENERAL COUNSEL SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING
TO THE STAFF OF THE COMMISSION THAT RESPONDENT HAS
IMPLEMENTED PROCEDURES THAT ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
PREVENT AND DETECT FAILURES BY RESPONDENT TO CONDUCT THE
AUCTION PROCESS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUCTION PROCEDURES
DISCLOSED IN THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENTS AND ANY SUPPLEMENTAL
DISCLOSURES AND THAT THE RESPONDENT IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS
ORDER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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NOT LATER THAN 6 MONTHS AFTER THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER,
RESPONDENT SHALL PROVIDE ALL OF ITS CUSTOMERS WHO HOLD
AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ("HOLDERS") AND THE ISSUERS OF SUCH
SECURITIES ("ISSUERS") WITH A WRITTEN DESCRIPTION OF THE
RESPONDENT'S MATERIAL AUCTION PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES.
FURTHERMORE, COMMENCING NOT LATER THAN 3 MONTHS AFTER THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, RESPONDENT SHALL AT ALL TIMES MAKE A
DESCRIPTION OF ITS THEN-CURRENT MATERIAL AUCTION PRACTICES
AND PROCEDURES AVAILABLE TO (1) ALL CUSTOMERS AND BROKER-
DEALERS WHO ARE PARTICIPATING THROUGH SUCH RESPONDENT IN AN
AUCTION OF AUCTION RATE SECURITIES ON THE PORTION OF ITS
WEBSITE THAT IS ACCESSIBLE TO SUCH CUSTOMERS AND BROKER-
DEALERS AND IS RELATED TO SUCH AUCTION AND (2) THE GENERAL
PUBLIC ON ANOTHER PORTION OF ITS WEBSITE ACCESSIBLE TO THE
GENERAL PUBLIC. NOT LATER THAN 6 MONTHS AFTER THE DATE OF THIS
ORDER, UNLESS OTHERWISE EXTENDED BY THE STAFF OF THE
COMMISSION FOR GOOD CAUSE SHOWN, RESPONDENT'S CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR GENERAL COUNSEL SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING
TO THE STAFF OF THE COMMISSION THAT RESPONDENT HAS
IMPLEMENTED PROCEDURES THAT ARE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
PREVENT AND DETECT FAILURES BY RESPONDENT TO CONDUCT THE
AUCTION PROCESS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE AUCTION PROCEDURES
DISCLOSED IN THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENTS AND ANY SUPPLEMENTAL
DISCLOSURES AND THAT THE RESPONDENT IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS
ORDER.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, RESPONDENT
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER; ACCORDINGLY, PURSUANT
TO SECTION 8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND SECTION 15(B) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT, IS ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT IS CENSURED, SHALL
CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS
AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES
ACT; AND SHALL, WITHIN 10 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $1,500,000 TO THE UNITED STATES TREASURY.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE, CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY, COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS.

Date Initiated: 05/31/2006

Docket/Case Number: 3-12310

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("SEC") FOUND, AND
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S")
NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED, THAT MLPF&S VIOLATED SECTION
17(A)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 BY MANAGING AUCTIONS FOR
AUCTION RATE SECURITIES IN WAYS THAT WERE NOT ADEQUATELY
DISCLOSED OR THAT DID NOT CONFORM TO DISCLOSED PROCEDURES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/31/2006

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: MLPF&S SUBMITTED, AND THE SEC ACCEPTED, AN OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT WHEREBY, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS
CONTAINED IN THE SEC'S ORDER, MLPF&S CONSENTED TO A CEASE AND
DESIST ORDER, A CENSURE, A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $1,500,000 (PAID
TO THE SEC ON JUNE 1, 2006) AND COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS TO PROVIDE CUSTOMERS WITH WRITTEN DESCRIPTIONS
OF MLPF&S'S MATERIAL AUCTION PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES AND TO
IMPLEMENT PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO PREVENT AND
DETECT FAILURES BY MLPF&S TO CONDUCT AUCTIONS FOR AUCTION
RATE SECURITIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH DISCLOSED PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement AS PART OF A SETTLEMENT RELATING TO MANAGING AUCTIONS FOR
AUCTION RATE SECURITIES, THE SEC ACCEPTED MLPF&S'S OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT AND ISSUED A SETTLEMENT ORDER ON MAY 31, 2006.  A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $1,500,000 WAS PAID TO THE SEC ON JUNE 1,
2006.

Disclosure 363 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/25/2006

Docket/Case Number: 2005000065501

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): OTHWER SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 6130(B), 6620 - MERRILL LYNCH FAILED, WITHIN 90
SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH NASDAQ MARKET
CENTER LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN NASDAQ
SECURITIES; FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN NASDAQ MARKET
CENTER TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES
AFTER EXECUTION; FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO
TRANSMIT THROUGH NASDAQ MARKET CENTER LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY SECURITIES; AND FAILED, WITHIN 90
SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH NASDAQ MARKET
CENTER, LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY
SECURITIES AND FAILED TO DESIGNATE EACH SUCH TRANSACTION AS
LATE TO NASDAQ MARKET CENTER.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 04/25/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $37,500.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $37,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Date Initiated: 04/25/2006

Docket/Case Number: 20050000655-01

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH NASDAQ MARKET CENTER LAST
SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES; FAILED TO
ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN NASDAQ MARKET CENTER TRANSACTIONS IN
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION; FAILED
WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH
NASDAQ MARKET CENTER LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
OTC EQUITY SECURITIES; AND FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION TO TRANSMIT THROUGH NASDAQ MARKET CENTER, LAST
SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY SECURITIES AND
FAILED TO DESIGNATE EACH SUCH TRANSACTION AS LATE TO NASDAQ
MARKET CENTER.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): OTHER SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 04/25/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED $37,500.00
TO BE PAID PURSUANT TO NOTIFICATION OF DATE PAYMENT WILL BE DUE.

Firm Statement THE FINE WILL BE PAID WITHIN THE TIME REQUIRED IN THE NOTICE OF
PAYMENT DUE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $37,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 364 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC RULES 10B-10, 11AC1-5, 17A-3, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3110, 4632,
6130(D), 6420(A), 6420(C)(3) - MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUBMIT FOR THE
OFFSETTING "RISKLESS" PORTION OF TRANSACTIONS IN NASDAQ
NATIONAL MARKET SECURITIES (NNM) EITHER A CLEARING-ONLY REPORT
WITH A CAPACITY INDICATOR OF "RISKLESS PRINCIPAL" OR A NON-TAPE,
NON-CLEARING REPORT WITH A CAPACITY INDICATOR OF "RISKLESS
PRINCIPAL"; INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".PRP" THROUGH ACT LAST
SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN NNM SECURITIES; FAILED TO
REPORT THE CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION THROUGH ACT THE LAST
SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES FOR WHICH
THE FIRM HAS RECORDING AND REPORTING OBLIGATIONS UNDER NASD
RULES 6954 AND 6955; FAILED TO REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL
INDICATING WHETHER THE FIRM EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES AS PRINCIPAL, RISKLESS PRINCIPAL, OR AGENT; FAILED TO
REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER
TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WERE A BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT,
SELL SHORT EXEMPT, OR CROSS; FAILED WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN CONSOLIDATED QUOTATION SYSTEM (CQS)
SECURITIES AND FAILED TO DESIGNATE THROUGH  ACT SUCH LAST SALE
REPORTS AS LATE; FAILED TO REPORT THROUGH ACT THE CORRECT
PRICE IN A LAST SALE REPORT OF A TRANSACTION IN A CQS SECURITY;
MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED ORDERS IN NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES THAT IT RECEIVED FOR EXECUTION FROM
ANY PERSON AND THE REPORT INCLUDED INCOMPLETE INFORMATION AS
TO THE CUMULATIVE NUMBER OF SHARES OF COVERED ORDERS
CANCELLED PRIOR TO EXECUTION AND THE INCLUSION OF "NOT HELD"
ORDERS; FAILED IN ORDERS TO PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION
DISCLOSING TO CUSTOMERS ITS CORRECT CAPACITY TO THE
TRANSACTION; FAILED TO PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING
TO ITS CUSTOMERS THE CORRECT REPORTED PRICE; FAILED TO SHOW
THE CORRECT TIME OF RECEIPT AND EXECUTION ON THE MEMORANDUM
OF BROKERAGE ORDERS; [CONTINUED IN COMMENTS SECTION]

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/23/2006

Docket/Case Number: 2004200013601

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET SECURITIES

SEC RULES 10B-10, 11AC1-5, 17A-3, NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3110, 4632,
6130(D), 6420(A), 6420(C)(3) - MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUBMIT FOR THE
OFFSETTING "RISKLESS" PORTION OF TRANSACTIONS IN NASDAQ
NATIONAL MARKET SECURITIES (NNM) EITHER A CLEARING-ONLY REPORT
WITH A CAPACITY INDICATOR OF "RISKLESS PRINCIPAL" OR A NON-TAPE,
NON-CLEARING REPORT WITH A CAPACITY INDICATOR OF "RISKLESS
PRINCIPAL"; INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".PRP" THROUGH ACT LAST
SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN NNM SECURITIES; FAILED TO
REPORT THE CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION THROUGH ACT THE LAST
SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES FOR WHICH
THE FIRM HAS RECORDING AND REPORTING OBLIGATIONS UNDER NASD
RULES 6954 AND 6955; FAILED TO REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL
INDICATING WHETHER THE FIRM EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES AS PRINCIPAL, RISKLESS PRINCIPAL, OR AGENT; FAILED TO
REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER
TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WERE A BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT,
SELL SHORT EXEMPT, OR CROSS; FAILED WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN CONSOLIDATED QUOTATION SYSTEM (CQS)
SECURITIES AND FAILED TO DESIGNATE THROUGH  ACT SUCH LAST SALE
REPORTS AS LATE; FAILED TO REPORT THROUGH ACT THE CORRECT
PRICE IN A LAST SALE REPORT OF A TRANSACTION IN A CQS SECURITY;
MADE AVAILABLE A REPORT ON THE COVERED ORDERS IN NATIONAL
MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES THAT IT RECEIVED FOR EXECUTION FROM
ANY PERSON AND THE REPORT INCLUDED INCOMPLETE INFORMATION AS
TO THE CUMULATIVE NUMBER OF SHARES OF COVERED ORDERS
CANCELLED PRIOR TO EXECUTION AND THE INCLUSION OF "NOT HELD"
ORDERS; FAILED IN ORDERS TO PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION
DISCLOSING TO CUSTOMERS ITS CORRECT CAPACITY TO THE
TRANSACTION; FAILED TO PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING
TO ITS CUSTOMERS THE CORRECT REPORTED PRICE; FAILED TO SHOW
THE CORRECT TIME OF RECEIPT AND EXECUTION ON THE MEMORANDUM
OF BROKERAGE ORDERS; [CONTINUED IN COMMENTS SECTION]

Resolution Date: 03/23/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDWERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS, THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $45,000, AND
REQUIRED TO REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REGARDING THE REGISTRATION OF ASSOCIATED PERSONS, THE
FRONTRUNNING OF ORDERS IN CQS SECURITIES, SEC RULES 11AC1-5
AND 11AC1-6, AND NASD'S THREE QUOTE RULE WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS
OF ACCEPTANCE OF THE AWC BY THE NAC.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $45,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS, THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $45,000, AND
REQUIRED TO REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
REGARDING THE REGISTRATION OF ASSOCIATED PERSONS, THE
FRONTRUNNING OF ORDERS IN CQS SECURITIES, SEC RULES 11AC1-5
AND 11AC1-6, AND NASD'S THREE QUOTE RULE WITHIN 30 BUSINESS DAYS
OF ACCEPTANCE OF THE AWC BY THE NAC.

Regulator Statement FAILED TO SHOW THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS ON THE MEMORANDUM
OF BROKERAGE ORDERS; AND THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM FAILED
TO PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS, REGULATIONS, AND
NASD RULES CONCERNING THE REGISTRATION OF ASSOCIATED
PERSONS, THE FRONTRUNNING OF ORDERS IN CQS SECURITIES, SEC
RULES 11AC1-5 AND 11AC1-6, AND NASD'S THREE QUOTE RULE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT  MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUBMIT, FOR THE
OFFSETTING "RISKLESS" PORTION OF THREE (3) TRANSACTIONS IN
NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET SECURITIES (NNM) EITHER A CLEARING-ONLY
REPORT WITH A CAPACITY INDICATOR OF "RISKLESS PRINCIPAL" OR A
NON-TAPE, NON-CLEARING REPORT WITH A CAPACITY INDICATOR OF
 "RISKLESS PRINCIPAL"; INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".PRP" THROUGH
ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF TWO (2) TRANSACTIONS IN NNM
SECURITIES; IN SEVEN (7) INSTANCES FAILED TO REPORT THE CORRECT
TIME OF EXECUTION THROUGH ACT THE LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES FOR WHICH THE FIRM HAS
RECORDING AND REPORTING OBLIGATIONS; IN TEN (10) INSTANCES
FAILED TO REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER
THE FIRM EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES AS
PRINCIPAL, RISKLESS PRINCIPAL, OR AGENT; IN TWO (2) INSTANCES
FAILED TO REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER
TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WERE A BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT,
SELL SHORT EXEMPT, OR CROSS; FAILED WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF THREE
(3) TRANSACTIONS IN CONSOLIDATED QUOTATION SYSTEM (CQS)
SECURITIES AND FAILED TO DESIGNATE THROUGH ACT SUCH LAST SALE
REPORTS AS LATE; INACCURATELY REPORTED THE PRICE THROUGH ACT
OF ONE (1) LAST SALE REPORT OF A TRANSACTION IN A CQS SECURITY; IN
SEPTEMBER 2003, FAILED TO ACCURATELY REPORT THE CUMULATIVE
NUMBER OF SHARES OF COVERED ORDERS CANCELLED PRIOR TO
EXECUTION IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES THAT IT RECEIVED
FOR EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON AND ERRONEOUSLY INCLUDED "NOT
HELD" ORDERS IN THE REPORT; FAILED IN ORDERS TO PROVIDE WRITTEN
NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING TO CUSTOMERS ITS CORRECT CAPACITY TO
THE TRANSACTION FOR TWO (2) ORDERS; FAILED IN TWO (2) INSTANCES
TO PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING TO ITS CUSTOMERS
THE CORRECT REPORTED PRICE; [CONTINUED IN SECTION 13]

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/23/2006

Docket/Case Number: 20042000136-01

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET SECURITIES

IT IS ALLEGED THAT  MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUBMIT, FOR THE
OFFSETTING "RISKLESS" PORTION OF THREE (3) TRANSACTIONS IN
NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET SECURITIES (NNM) EITHER A CLEARING-ONLY
REPORT WITH A CAPACITY INDICATOR OF "RISKLESS PRINCIPAL" OR A
NON-TAPE, NON-CLEARING REPORT WITH A CAPACITY INDICATOR OF
 "RISKLESS PRINCIPAL"; INCORRECTLY DESIGNATED AS ".PRP" THROUGH
ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF TWO (2) TRANSACTIONS IN NNM
SECURITIES; IN SEVEN (7) INSTANCES FAILED TO REPORT THE CORRECT
TIME OF EXECUTION THROUGH ACT THE LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES FOR WHICH THE FIRM HAS
RECORDING AND REPORTING OBLIGATIONS; IN TEN (10) INSTANCES
FAILED TO REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER
THE FIRM EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES AS
PRINCIPAL, RISKLESS PRINCIPAL, OR AGENT; IN TWO (2) INSTANCES
FAILED TO REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER
TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WERE A BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT,
SELL SHORT EXEMPT, OR CROSS; FAILED WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF THREE
(3) TRANSACTIONS IN CONSOLIDATED QUOTATION SYSTEM (CQS)
SECURITIES AND FAILED TO DESIGNATE THROUGH ACT SUCH LAST SALE
REPORTS AS LATE; INACCURATELY REPORTED THE PRICE THROUGH ACT
OF ONE (1) LAST SALE REPORT OF A TRANSACTION IN A CQS SECURITY; IN
SEPTEMBER 2003, FAILED TO ACCURATELY REPORT THE CUMULATIVE
NUMBER OF SHARES OF COVERED ORDERS CANCELLED PRIOR TO
EXECUTION IN NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM SECURITIES THAT IT RECEIVED
FOR EXECUTION FROM ANY PERSON AND ERRONEOUSLY INCLUDED "NOT
HELD" ORDERS IN THE REPORT; FAILED IN ORDERS TO PROVIDE WRITTEN
NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING TO CUSTOMERS ITS CORRECT CAPACITY TO
THE TRANSACTION FOR TWO (2) ORDERS; FAILED IN TWO (2) INSTANCES
TO PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION DISCLOSING TO ITS CUSTOMERS
THE CORRECT REPORTED PRICE; [CONTINUED IN SECTION 13]

Resolution Date: 03/23/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: SEE SECTION 13

Firm Statement (CONTINUED FROM SECTION 7):  FOR A TOTAL OF THREE (3) FAILED TO
SHOW  EITHER THE CORRECT TIME OF RECEIPT AND/OR THE EXECUTION
ON THE MEMORANDUM OF BROKERAGE ORDERS; IT IS ALSO ALLEGED
THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SHOW THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS ON
THE MEMORANDUM OF BROKERAGE ORDERS FOR FIVE (5) ORDERS; AND
THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR
SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS, REGULATIONS AND NASD RULES
CONCERNING THE REGISTRATION OF ASSOCIATED PERSONS, THE
FRONTRUNNING OF ORDERS IN CQS SECURITIES, SEC RULES 11AC1-5
AND 11AC1-6, AND NASD'S THREE QUOTE
RULE.***********************************************************WITHOUT ADMITTING
OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO A
CENSURE AND $45,000 FINE (PAID ON 4/17/2006), AS WELL AS
UNDERTAKINGS TO REVISE THE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES CONCERNING THE AFOREMENTIONED ALLEGATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $45,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 365 of 595

i
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Disclosure 365 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/13/2006

Docket/Case Number: SEC ADMIN FILE 3-12236/REL 34-53473

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEC ADMIN PROC FILE 3-12236, REL 34-53473, DATED MARCH 13, 2006:
SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-4(B)(4),17A-4(J)
THEREUNDER - THIS ACTION CONCERNS MERRILL LYNCH'S SYSTEMIC
FAILURE TO FURNISH PROMPTLY TO REPRESENTATIVES OF THE
COMMISSION ELECTRONIC MAIL COMMUNICATIONS ("E-MAILS") AS
REQUIRED UNDER SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-
4(J) THEREUNDER. DURING THE PERIOD FROM OCTOBER 2003 THROUGH
FEBRUARY 2005, MERRILL LYNCH REPEATEDLY FAILED TO PROMPTLY
FURNISH TO THE STAFF CERTAIN E-MAILS RELATED TO ITS BUSINESS AS A
BROKER, DEALER, OR MEMBER OF AN EXCHANGE. MERRILL LYNCH ALSO
FAILED TO RETAIN CERTAIN E-MAILS RELATED TO ITS BUSINESS AS SUCH
IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-
4(B)(4) THEREUNDER. DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, MERRILL LYNCH'S
SYSTEMS, POLICIES, AND PROCEDURES DESIGNED FOR THE PROMPT
PRODUCTION AND RETENTION OF E-MAILS WERE DEFICIENT AND
MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ENSURE THAT IT COMPLIED WITH ITS
OBLIGATIONS AS A REGULATED ENTITY. FURTHER, MERRILL LYNCH'S
INABILITY TO PROMPTLY PRODUCE E-MAILS CONTRADICTS STATEMENTS
MADE BY MERRILL LYNCH THAT ITS E-MAIL RETENTION SYSTEMS WERE IN
COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT. SIMILARLY,
MERRILL LYNCH'S FAILURE TO RETAIN CERTAIN E-MAILS CONTRADICTS
STATEMENTS MADE BY MERRILL LYNCH THAT ITS E-MAIL SYSTEMS WERE
RETAINING MORE E-MAILS THAN EXCHANGE ACT SECTION 17(A) AND
RULE 17A-4(B)(4) REQUIRED. THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION DEEMS IT APPROPRIATE AND IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST THAT
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS BE, AND
HEREBY ARE, INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) AND SECTION
21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH").

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 03/13/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING: REVIEW ITS SYSTEMS, POLICIES, AND PROCEDURES
RELATING TO THE PROMPT PRODUCTION OF E-MAILS FOR COMPLIANCE
WITH THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND RULES. WITHIN ONE
HUNDRED TWENTY (120) DAYS OF THE ISSUANCE OF THIS ORDER,
UNLESS OTHERWISE EXTENDED BY THE STAFF FOR GOOD CAUSE
SHOWN, MERRILL LYNCH UNDERTAKES AND AGREES TO CERTIFY TO THE
STAFF (THE "INITIAL CERTIFICATION"), IN WRITING, THAT IT HAS
COMPLETED SUCH A REVIEW AND THAT MERRILL LYNCH HAS
ESTABLISHED SYSTEMS, POLICIES, AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS AND RULES CONCERNING THE PROMPT PRODUCTION OF E-MAILS
TO THE COMMISSION.

Sanction Details: IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER RESPONDENT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE
PROCEEDINGS, RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) AND SECTION 21C OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING A CEASE-
AND-DESIST ORDER, PENALTY, AND OTHER REMEDIAL SANCTIONS. IT IS
HEREBY ORDERED THAT: RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, AND
RULES 17A-4(B)(4) AND 17A-4(J) THEREUNDER; RESPONDENT MERRILL
LYNCH BE, AND HEREBY IS CENSURED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4)
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT; C. RESPONDENT SHALL COMPLY WITH THE
UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED ABOVE; AND PURSUANT TO SECTION
15(B)(4) AND SECTION 21B OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IT IS FURTHER
ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$2,500,000 TO THE UNITED STATES TREASURY.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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IN ANTICIPATION OF THE INSTITUTION OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT HAS SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT (THE "OFFER")
WHICH THE COMMISSION HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT. SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER PROCEEDINGS
BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION, OR TO WHICH THE
COMMISSION IS A PARTY, AND WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
FINDINGS HEREIN, EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION
OVER RESPONDENT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THESE
PROCEEDINGS, RESPONDENT CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER
INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4) AND SECTION 21C OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, MAKING FINDINGS, AND IMPOSING A CEASE-
AND-DESIST ORDER, PENALTY, AND OTHER REMEDIAL SANCTIONS. IT IS
HEREBY ORDERED THAT: RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, AND
RULES 17A-4(B)(4) AND 17A-4(J) THEREUNDER; RESPONDENT MERRILL
LYNCH BE, AND HEREBY IS CENSURED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(B)(4)
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT; C. RESPONDENT SHALL COMPLY WITH THE
UNDERTAKINGS ENUMERATED ABOVE; AND PURSUANT TO SECTION
15(B)(4) AND SECTION 21B OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IT IS FURTHER
ORDERED THAT RESPONDENT SHALL, WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE
ENTRY OF THIS ORDER, PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$2,500,000 TO THE UNITED STATES TREASURY.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE, CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS

Date Initiated: 03/13/2006

Docket/Case Number: 3-12236

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SEC ALLEGED AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH ,
INCORPORATED ("MLPF&S") NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED, THAT
MLPF&S FAILED TO FURNISH PROMPTLY TO REPRESENTATIVES OF THE
SEC ELECTRONIC MAIL COMMUNICATIONS ("EMAILS") AS REQUIRED
UNDER SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-4(J)
THEREUNDER.  THE SEC ALSO ALLEGED, AND MLPF&S NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED, THAT MLPF&S FAILED TO RETAIN CERTAIN
EMAILS RELATED TO ITS BUSINESS AS SUCH IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
17A OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-4(B)(4) THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/13/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: MLPF&S SUBMITTED, AND THE SEC ACCEPTED, AN OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT WHEREBY, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS
CONTAINED IN THE SEC'S ORDER, MLPF&S CONSENTED TO A CEASE AND
DESIST ORDER, A CENSURE, A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $2,500,000 PAID
TO THE SEC ON                           MARCH 17, 2006, AND COMPLIANCE WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS RELATING TO THE RETENTION OF E-MAILS AND
THE PROMPT PRODUCTION OF E-MAILS TO THE SEC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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MLPF&S SUBMITTED, AND THE SEC ACCEPTED, AN OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT WHEREBY, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS
CONTAINED IN THE SEC'S ORDER, MLPF&S CONSENTED TO A CEASE AND
DESIST ORDER, A CENSURE, A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $2,500,000 PAID
TO THE SEC ON                           MARCH 17, 2006, AND COMPLIANCE WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS RELATING TO THE RETENTION OF E-MAILS AND
THE PROMPT PRODUCTION OF E-MAILS TO THE SEC.

Firm Statement AS PART OF A SETTLEMENT RELATING TO THE RETENTION OF EMAILS AND
THE PROMPT PRODUCTION OF EMAILS TO THE SEC, THE SEC ACCEPTED
MLPF&S'S OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ON MARCH 13, 2006. THE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY OF $2,500,00 WAS PAID ON MARCH 17, 2006.

Disclosure 366 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 3010, 2110, 1021(A), 2830: FROM 2001 TO 2004, MERRILL
LYNCH DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO OVERSEE THE
TRADING ACTIVITIES OF ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES AT THE FAC,
REFERRED TO WITHIN THE FIRM AS INVESTMENT SERVICE ADVISORS
(ISAS). CERTAIN OF THE ISAS ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OF MUTUAL FUND
SWITCH RECOMMENDATIONS THAT WERE ACCOMPANIED BY
MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS OF FACTS TO CUSTOMERS.
FURTHER, MERRILL LYNCH PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS LACKING THE
PROPER SECURITIES LICENSES AND QUALIFICATIONS TO BE
RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SUPERVISION OF THE ISAS. MERRILL LYNCH ALSO
CONDUCTED SEVERAL SALES CONTESTS WHICH IMPROPERLY AWARDED
NON-CASH COMPENSATION TO ISAS IN THE FORM OF ROCK CONCERT
TICKETS, SPORTING EVENTS AND DINNERS BASED SOLELY ON THE SALE
OF THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY MUTUAL FUNDS. MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO
DISCLOSE THAT THE ISAS OFTEN HAD FIVE YEARS OR LESS BROKERAGE
EXPERIENCE, AND THAT WHEN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING
SECURITIES, THEY WERE LIMITED TO MUTUAL FUNDS.  ISAS WERE
PROHIBITED FROM SOLICITING ORDERS IN EQUITIES OR BONDS, UNLESS
REQUESTED TO DO SO BY A CLIENT.

ISAS SOLICITED SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS FROM THE NEWLY
TRANSFERRED CUSTOMERS, GENERATING MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN
ANNUAL GROSS REVENUES FOR MERRILL LYNCH. MERRILL LYNCH
LACKED AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE THE ISAS, PARTICULARLY GIVEN
THE GROWTH OF THE FAC. MERRILL LYNCH, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
LACKED ADEQUATE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING
MUTUAL FUND RECOMMENDATIONS (INCLUDING SWITCH
TRANSACTIONS); DID NOT EMPLOY A SUFFICIENT NUMBER OF PROPERLY
TRAINED AND QUALIFIED SUPERVISORS TO MONITOR ACTIVITIES WITHIN
THE FAC; AND FAILED TO CONDUCT ANNUAL COMPLIANCE AUDITS FOR
THE FAC'S TWO MOST ACTIVE YEARS. THOUSANDS OF MUTUAL FUND
SWITCHES WERE NOT REVIEWED OR WERE NOT ADEQUATELY REVIEWED
BY MERRILL LYNCH PRINCIPALS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/15/2006

Docket/Case Number: E9B2003042104

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 3010, 2110, 1021(A), 2830: FROM 2001 TO 2004, MERRILL
LYNCH DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND
PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY DESIGNED TO OVERSEE THE
TRADING ACTIVITIES OF ITS REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES AT THE FAC,
REFERRED TO WITHIN THE FIRM AS INVESTMENT SERVICE ADVISORS
(ISAS). CERTAIN OF THE ISAS ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OF MUTUAL FUND
SWITCH RECOMMENDATIONS THAT WERE ACCOMPANIED BY
MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS OF FACTS TO CUSTOMERS.
FURTHER, MERRILL LYNCH PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS LACKING THE
PROPER SECURITIES LICENSES AND QUALIFICATIONS TO BE
RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SUPERVISION OF THE ISAS. MERRILL LYNCH ALSO
CONDUCTED SEVERAL SALES CONTESTS WHICH IMPROPERLY AWARDED
NON-CASH COMPENSATION TO ISAS IN THE FORM OF ROCK CONCERT
TICKETS, SPORTING EVENTS AND DINNERS BASED SOLELY ON THE SALE
OF THE FIRM'S PROPRIETARY MUTUAL FUNDS. MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO
DISCLOSE THAT THE ISAS OFTEN HAD FIVE YEARS OR LESS BROKERAGE
EXPERIENCE, AND THAT WHEN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING
SECURITIES, THEY WERE LIMITED TO MUTUAL FUNDS.  ISAS WERE
PROHIBITED FROM SOLICITING ORDERS IN EQUITIES OR BONDS, UNLESS
REQUESTED TO DO SO BY A CLIENT.

ISAS SOLICITED SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS FROM THE NEWLY
TRANSFERRED CUSTOMERS, GENERATING MILLIONS OF DOLLARS IN
ANNUAL GROSS REVENUES FOR MERRILL LYNCH. MERRILL LYNCH
LACKED AN ADEQUATE SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO SUPERVISE THE ISAS, PARTICULARLY GIVEN
THE GROWTH OF THE FAC. MERRILL LYNCH, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
LACKED ADEQUATE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING
MUTUAL FUND RECOMMENDATIONS (INCLUDING SWITCH
TRANSACTIONS); DID NOT EMPLOY A SUFFICIENT NUMBER OF PROPERLY
TRAINED AND QUALIFIED SUPERVISORS TO MONITOR ACTIVITIES WITHIN
THE FAC; AND FAILED TO CONDUCT ANNUAL COMPLIANCE AUDITS FOR
THE FAC'S TWO MOST ACTIVE YEARS. THOUSANDS OF MUTUAL FUND
SWITCHES WERE NOT REVIEWED OR WERE NOT ADEQUATELY REVIEWED
BY MERRILL LYNCH PRINCIPALS.

Resolution Date: 03/15/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS: MERRILL LYNCH WAS ORDERED TO RETAIN AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO RECOMMEND CORRECTIVE MEASURES
TO FIRM POLICIES AND SUPERVISORY AND COMPLIANCE PROCEDURES
AND SYSTEMS FOR THE FAC. UNTIL THOSE CORRECTIVE MEASURES ARE
IMPLEMENTED, MERRILL LYNCH MUST IMPOSE SPECIAL SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES, INCLUDING MONITORING CALLS BETWEEN FAC
PERSONNEL AND CUSTOMERS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $5,000,000.

Regulator Statement ...ALLEGATIONS CONTINUE: MERRILL LYNCH ALLOWED ITS FAC SALES
MANAGERS TO EXERCISE DIRECT SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITY OVER
THE ISAS. THE MAJORITY OF THOSE SALES MANAGERS, HOWEVER, WERE
NOT PROPERLY REGISTERED AS SECURITIES PRINCIPALS. THEY WERE
THEREFORE NOT QUALIFIED TO SUPERVISE ISAS.  NASD ALSO FOUND
THAT, EVEN WITH APPROXIMATELY 300 ISAS GENERATING THOUSANDS OF
TRADES PER DAY, MERRILL LYNCH EMPLOYED ONLY THREE TO SIX
REGISTERED PRINCIPALS TO REVIEW ALL OF THE TRANSACTIONS. IN
2002, THE FAC CONDUCTED THREE SALES CONTESTS THAT VIOLATED
THE NON-CASH COMPENSATION RULE BECAUSE THEY FAVORED THE
SALE OF MERRILL LYNCH'S PROPRIETARY MUTUAL FUNDS. NASD RULES
PROHIBIT NON-CASH COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN FIRMS
AND THEIR BROKERS FOR SALES OF MUTUAL FUNDS AND VARIABLE
CONTRACTS THAT ARE NOT BASED ON CONCEPTS OF "TOTAL
PRODUCTION" AND "EQUAL WEIGHTING" - THAT IS, THE CONTESTS MUST
BE BASED ON TOTAL SALES OF ALL PRODUCTS WITHIN A SINGLE
CATEGORY, SUCH AS MUTUAL FUNDS.

NASD FOUND THAT THE FIRM OFFERED AND AWARDED VARIOUS FORMS
OF NON-CASH COMPENSATION TO THE CONTEST WINNERS. THESE
CONTESTS, ALONG WITH SEVERAL OTHER CONTESTS BASED ON
OVERALL PRODUCTION, CONTRIBUTED TO A DRAMATIC INCREASE IN THE
VOLUME OF PROPRIETARY MUTUAL FUND SALES BY THE FAC

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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...ALLEGATIONS CONTINUE: MERRILL LYNCH ALLOWED ITS FAC SALES
MANAGERS TO EXERCISE DIRECT SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITY OVER
THE ISAS. THE MAJORITY OF THOSE SALES MANAGERS, HOWEVER, WERE
NOT PROPERLY REGISTERED AS SECURITIES PRINCIPALS. THEY WERE
THEREFORE NOT QUALIFIED TO SUPERVISE ISAS.  NASD ALSO FOUND
THAT, EVEN WITH APPROXIMATELY 300 ISAS GENERATING THOUSANDS OF
TRADES PER DAY, MERRILL LYNCH EMPLOYED ONLY THREE TO SIX
REGISTERED PRINCIPALS TO REVIEW ALL OF THE TRANSACTIONS. IN
2002, THE FAC CONDUCTED THREE SALES CONTESTS THAT VIOLATED
THE NON-CASH COMPENSATION RULE BECAUSE THEY FAVORED THE
SALE OF MERRILL LYNCH'S PROPRIETARY MUTUAL FUNDS. NASD RULES
PROHIBIT NON-CASH COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN FIRMS
AND THEIR BROKERS FOR SALES OF MUTUAL FUNDS AND VARIABLE
CONTRACTS THAT ARE NOT BASED ON CONCEPTS OF "TOTAL
PRODUCTION" AND "EQUAL WEIGHTING" - THAT IS, THE CONTESTS MUST
BE BASED ON TOTAL SALES OF ALL PRODUCTS WITHIN A SINGLE
CATEGORY, SUCH AS MUTUAL FUNDS.

NASD FOUND THAT THE FIRM OFFERED AND AWARDED VARIOUS FORMS
OF NON-CASH COMPENSATION TO THE CONTEST WINNERS. THESE
CONTESTS, ALONG WITH SEVERAL OTHER CONTESTS BASED ON
OVERALL PRODUCTION, CONTRIBUTED TO A DRAMATIC INCREASE IN THE
VOLUME OF PROPRIETARY MUTUAL FUND SALES BY THE FAC

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO OVERSEE THE ACTIVITIES OF ITS INVESTMENT SERVICE
ADVISORS ("ISAS") AT THE FAC AND THAT  CERTAIN OF THE ISAS
ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OF MUTUAL FUND SWITCH RECOMMENDATIONS
THAT WERE ACCOMPANIED BY MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS OF
FACTS TO CUSTOMERS.  IT IS ALSO ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS LACKING THE PROPER LICENSES AS
SECURITIES PRINCIPALS TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SUPERVISION OF
THE ISAS AND THAT MERRILL LYNCH EMPLOYED AN INSUFFICIENT
NUMBER OF  REGISTERED PRINCIPALS TO REVIEW ALL OF THE
TRANSACTIONS.    IT IS FURTHER ALLEGED THAT IN 2002, THE FAC
CONDUCTED THREE  SALES CONTESTS WHICH IMPROPERLY AWARDED
NON-CASH COMPENSATION TO ISAS BASED SOLELY ON THE SALE OF THE
FIRM'S PROPRETARY MUTUAL FUNDS.   CONTESTS MUST BE BASED ON
TOTAL SALES OF ALL PRODUCTS WITHIN A SINGLE CATEGORY, SUCH AS
MUTUAL FUNDS.   IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO
DISCLOSE THAT THE ISAS OFTEN HAD FIVE YEARS OR LESS BROKERAGE
EXPERIENCE, AND THAT WHEN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING
SECURITIES, THEY WERE LIMITED TO MUTUAL FUNDS.   FINALLY, IT IS
ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH AMONG OTHER THINGS, LACKED
ADEQUATE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING MUTUAL
FUNDS RECOMMENDATIONS (INCLUDING SWITCH TRANSACTIONS); DID
NOT CONDUCT ANNUAL COMPLIANCE COMPLIANCE AUDITS FOR TWO
YEARS AND  MUTUAL FUND SWITCHES WERE NOT ADEQUATELY
REVIEWED BY MERRILL LYNCH PRINCIPALS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/15/2006

Docket/Case Number: E9B20030421-04

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT HAVE AN ADEQUATE
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES THAT WERE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO OVERSEE THE ACTIVITIES OF ITS INVESTMENT SERVICE
ADVISORS ("ISAS") AT THE FAC AND THAT  CERTAIN OF THE ISAS
ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OF MUTUAL FUND SWITCH RECOMMENDATIONS
THAT WERE ACCOMPANIED BY MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS OF
FACTS TO CUSTOMERS.  IT IS ALSO ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS LACKING THE PROPER LICENSES AS
SECURITIES PRINCIPALS TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SUPERVISION OF
THE ISAS AND THAT MERRILL LYNCH EMPLOYED AN INSUFFICIENT
NUMBER OF  REGISTERED PRINCIPALS TO REVIEW ALL OF THE
TRANSACTIONS.    IT IS FURTHER ALLEGED THAT IN 2002, THE FAC
CONDUCTED THREE  SALES CONTESTS WHICH IMPROPERLY AWARDED
NON-CASH COMPENSATION TO ISAS BASED SOLELY ON THE SALE OF THE
FIRM'S PROPRETARY MUTUAL FUNDS.   CONTESTS MUST BE BASED ON
TOTAL SALES OF ALL PRODUCTS WITHIN A SINGLE CATEGORY, SUCH AS
MUTUAL FUNDS.   IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO
DISCLOSE THAT THE ISAS OFTEN HAD FIVE YEARS OR LESS BROKERAGE
EXPERIENCE, AND THAT WHEN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING
SECURITIES, THEY WERE LIMITED TO MUTUAL FUNDS.   FINALLY, IT IS
ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH AMONG OTHER THINGS, LACKED
ADEQUATE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REGARDING MUTUAL
FUNDS RECOMMENDATIONS (INCLUDING SWITCH TRANSACTIONS); DID
NOT CONDUCT ANNUAL COMPLIANCE COMPLIANCE AUDITS FOR TWO
YEARS AND  MUTUAL FUND SWITCHES WERE NOT ADEQUATELY
REVIEWED BY MERRILL LYNCH PRINCIPALS.

Resolution Date: 03/15/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS:  MERRILL LYNCH WAS ORDERED TO RETAIN AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO RECOMMEND CORRECTIVE MEASURES
TO FIRM POLICIES AND SUPERVISORY AND COMPLIANCE PROCEDURES
AND SYSTEMS FOR THE FAC.  UNTIL THOSE CORRETIVE MEASURES ARE
IMPLEMENTED, MERRILL LYNCH MUST IMPOSE SPECIAL SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES INCLUDING MONTORING CALLS BETWEEN FAC PERSONNEL
AND CUSTOMERS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED 5,000,000.00.

Firm Statement FINE OF $5,000,000.00 PAID ON 3/23/2006.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 367 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A) - RESPONDENT MEMBER FAILED TO
REASONABLY AND PROMPTLY RESPOND TO "RED FLAGS" RAISED BY
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS, WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS, AND TELEPHONE
CONVERSATIONS REGARDING POSSIBLE USE OF DISCRETION BY A
REPRESENTATIVE AND FAILED TO INSTITUTE HEIGHTENED SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES TARGETING POSSIBLE USE OF DISCRETION BY
REPRESENTATIVE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/24/2006

Docket/Case Number: E062002029302

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A) - RESPONDENT MEMBER FAILED TO
REASONABLY AND PROMPTLY RESPOND TO "RED FLAGS" RAISED BY
CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS, WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS, AND TELEPHONE
CONVERSATIONS REGARDING POSSIBLE USE OF DISCRETION BY A
REPRESENTATIVE AND FAILED TO INSTITUTE HEIGHTENED SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES TARGETING POSSIBLE USE OF DISCRETION BY
REPRESENTATIVE.

Resolution Date: 01/24/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, CONSENTED TO THE
DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS, THEREFORE
THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $20,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT RESPONDENT FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY AND
PROMPTLY RESPOND TO "RED FLAGS" RAISED BY CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS, WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS, AND TELEPHONE
CONVERSATIONS REGARDING POSSIBLE USE OF DISCRETION BY A
REPRESENTATIVE AND ALLEGEDLY FAILED TO INSTITUTE HEIGHTENED
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES TARGETING POSSIBLE USE OF DISCRETION
BY REPRESENTATIVE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 01/24/2006

Docket/Case Number: E062002029302

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

IT IS ALLEGED THAT RESPONDENT FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY AND
PROMPTLY RESPOND TO "RED FLAGS" RAISED BY CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS, WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS, AND TELEPHONE
CONVERSATIONS REGARDING POSSIBLE USE OF DISCRETION BY A
REPRESENTATIVE AND ALLEGEDLY FAILED TO INSTITUTE HEIGHTENED
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES TARGETING POSSIBLE USE OF DISCRETION
BY REPRESENTATIVE.

Resolution Date: 01/24/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED, CONSENTED TO THE
DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THEREFORE,
THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED 20,000.00 TO BE PAID TEN BUSINESS
DAYS AFTER FEBRUARY 7, 2006.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 368 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: WHETHER MERRILL LYNCH:

(1) VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 153A DURING THE PERIOD FROM
OCTOBER 2003 THROUGH JUNE 2005 BY SUBMITTING ERRONEOUS BLUE
SHEET TRADE INFORMATION TO THE EXCHANGE IN RESPONSE TO
REQUESTS MADE IN THE CONTEXT OF ONGOING EXCHANGE
INVESTIGATIONS;

(2) VIOLATED EXCHANGE CONSTITUTION ARTICLE V, SECTION 4(H) BY
ENGAGING IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE
PRINCIPLES OF TRADE, IN THAT DURING THE PERIOD FROM OCTOBER
2003 THROUGH JUNE 2005, AND IN RESPONSE TO REQUESTS MADE IN
THE CONTEXT OF ONGOING EXCHANGE INVESTIGATIONS, THE FIRM
SUBMITTED ERRONEOUS ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEET TRADE INFORMATION
TO THE EXCHANGE; AND

(3) VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD FROM OCTOBER
2003 THROUGH JUNE 2005 BY (I) FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
APPROPRIATE POLICIES, SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES OF SUPERVISION
AND CONTROL, INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND
(II) FAILING TO ESTABLISH A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE RULE
PERTAINING TO THE AUTOMATED SUBMISSION OF ACCURATE TRADE
INFORMATION TO THE EXCHANGE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
$500,000.00 FINE

Date Initiated: 10/07/2005

Docket/Case Number: 05-95

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

WHETHER MERRILL LYNCH:

(1) VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 153A DURING THE PERIOD FROM
OCTOBER 2003 THROUGH JUNE 2005 BY SUBMITTING ERRONEOUS BLUE
SHEET TRADE INFORMATION TO THE EXCHANGE IN RESPONSE TO
REQUESTS MADE IN THE CONTEXT OF ONGOING EXCHANGE
INVESTIGATIONS;

(2) VIOLATED EXCHANGE CONSTITUTION ARTICLE V, SECTION 4(H) BY
ENGAGING IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE
PRINCIPLES OF TRADE, IN THAT DURING THE PERIOD FROM OCTOBER
2003 THROUGH JUNE 2005, AND IN RESPONSE TO REQUESTS MADE IN
THE CONTEXT OF ONGOING EXCHANGE INVESTIGATIONS, THE FIRM
SUBMITTED ERRONEOUS ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEET TRADE INFORMATION
TO THE EXCHANGE; AND

(3) VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320 DURING THE PERIOD FROM OCTOBER
2003 THROUGH JUNE 2005 BY (I) FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
APPROPRIATE POLICIES, SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES OF SUPERVISION
AND CONTROL, INCLUDING WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND
(II) FAILING TO ESTABLISH A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE EXCHANGE RULE
PERTAINING TO THE AUTOMATED SUBMISSION OF ACCURATE TRADE
INFORMATION TO THE EXCHANGE.

Resolution Date: 01/17/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: AN UNDERTAKING TO CERTIFY COMPLIANCE WITH ISG MEMORANDUM BY
MARCH 31, 2006.

Sanction Details: CENSURE
$500,000.00 FINE
UNDERTAKING TO CERTIFY COMPLIANCE WITH ISG MEMORANDUM BY
3/31/06.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Stipulation and Consent
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CENSURE
$500,000.00 FINE
UNDERTAKING TO CERTIFY COMPLIANCE WITH ISG MEMORANDUM BY
3/31/06.

Regulator Statement PLEASE CONTACT THE ENFORCEMENT DEPARTMENT OF NASD AMERICAN
STOCK EXCHANGE FOR FURTHER DETAILS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/28/2005

Docket/Case Number: 05-95

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUBMIT ACCURATE
ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS IN RESPONSE TO REQUESTS FOR SUCH
INFORMATION FROM THE EXCHANGES; FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES FOR THE BLUE
SHEET REPORTING REQUIREMENTS; AND FAILED TO ESTABLISH A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW TO REASONABLY
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PERTAINING TO
PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/17/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING AND VALIDATION

Sanction Details: FINE OF 250,000.00 WAS PAID ON 2/23/2006.

Firm Statement A STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY HAS BEEN EXECUTED
AGREEING TO A FINE OF 250,000 WHICH WAS PAID BY MERRILL LYNCH ON
2/23/2006, AS WELL AS A CENSURE AND DATA VALIDATION. ML TO INFORM
AMEX IN WRITING THAT VALIDATION HAS BEEN COMPLETED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Decision
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Disclosure 369 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/19/2005

Docket/Case Number: EAF0300720001

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110, 3010 AND 2310- RESPONDENT FIRM DID NOT
ADEQUATELY MAINTAIN ITS POLICIES AND PROCEDURES  SO THAT, IN
RECOMMENDING MUTUAL FUND SHARES TO CLIENTS, IT DISCLOSED AT
THE POINT OF PURCHASE THAT CERTAIN SHARES WERE SUBJECT TO
HIGHER ANNUAL FEES THAT MIGHT HAVE A NEGATIVE EFFECT ON THE
CLIENTS' INVESTMENT RETURN AND THAT AT A CERTAIN BREAKPOINT
LEVELS, AN EQUAL INVESTMENT IN CLASS A SHARES MIGHT YIELD A
HIGHER RETURN FOR THE PERIOD THAT CLIENTS ANTICIPATED HOLDING
THE INVESTMENT. THE FIRM ALSO FAILED TO REASONABLY ENFORCE
CONSISTENTLY CERTAIN WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
RELATING TO THE PURCHASE OF MUTUAL FUNDS. THE FIRM DID NOT
DISCLOSE AT THE POINT OF PURCHASE OR ADEQUATELY CONSIDER
SUITABILITY ELEMENTS WHEN MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS TO CLIENTS
TO PURCHASE CLASS B AND CLASS C SHARES INSTEAD OF CLASS A
SHARES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/19/2005

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $14,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $14,000,000. FOR
SPECIFIC UNDERTAKINGS SEE AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $14,000,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE AND UNDERTAKINGS

Date Initiated: 12/19/2005

Docket/Case Number: EAF03007200-01

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IN RECOMMENDING CERTAIN CLASS B AND C SHARE MUTUAL FUND
PURCHASES TO CLIENTS, IT IS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT
ADEQUATELY DISCLOSE, AT THE POINT OF PURCHASE, ON A CONSISTENT
BASIS, THAT AN EQUAL INVESTMENT IN CLASS A SHARES WOULD
GENERALLY HAVE BEEN MORE ECONOMICALLY ADVANTAGEOUS FOR
CERTAIN CLIENTS.  IT IS ALSO ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES AND COMPLIANCE POLICIES WERE NOT REASONABLY
ESTABLISHED, MAINTAINED AND ENFORCED WITH RESPECT TO
PROVIDING, ON A CONSISTENT BASIS, ADEQUATE DISCLOSURE OF THE
BENEFITS OF THE VARIOUS MUTUAL FUND SHARE CLASSES AS THEY
APPLIED TO EACH INDIVIDUAL'S CIRCUMSTANCES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/19/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS.  THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED
$14,000,000.00 AND WILL UNDERTAKE A REMEDIATION PLAN WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN CUSTOMERS' PURCHASES OF CLASS B AND C
MUTUAL FUND SHARES AND RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT EXAMINER TO
REVIEW AND REPORT ON THE FIRM'S REMEDIATION EFFORTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $14,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS.  THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED
$14,000,000.00 AND WILL UNDERTAKE A REMEDIATION PLAN WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN CUSTOMERS' PURCHASES OF CLASS B AND C
MUTUAL FUND SHARES AND RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT EXAMINER TO
REVIEW AND REPORT ON THE FIRM'S REMEDIATION EFFORTS.

Firm Statement THE $14 MILLION FINE WAS PAID ON 01/09/2006. THE REMEDIATION
PROCESS IS SCHEDULED TO BE COMPLETED WITHIN 270 DAYS OF
12/19/05 AND THE INDEPENDENT EXAMINER'S REPORT IS DUE WITHIN 420
DAYS FROM 12/19/05.

Disclosure 370 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/11/2005

Docket/Case Number: 2004200004301

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110 AND 2320- RESPONDENT FIRM FAILED TO
USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER
MARKET AND FAILED TO BUY AND SELL IN SUCH MARKET SO THAT THE
RESULTANT PRICE TO ITS CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE
UNDER PREVAILING MARKET CONDITIONS

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/11/2005

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $40,000, AND
RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,697.32 PLUS INTEREST.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $40,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINE AND RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 10/01/2002

Docket/Case Number: 20042000043-01

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT DURING 07/01/2003 - 09/30/2003 MLCO HAD 58
TRANSACTIONS FOR OR WITH A CUSTOMER IN WHICH THE PRICE MOST
FAVORABLE TO THE CUSTOMER WAS NOT OBTAINED.   THE SAME
ALLEGATION IS MADE WITH RESPECT TO 67 TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN
10/01/2002 - 12/31/2002.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/14/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement $40,000.00 PAID BY MLCO 11/14/2005 FOR THE TWO ALLEGATIONS
INVOLVING BEST EXECUTION; AND  RESTITUTION OF $2,697.32  WHICH
MUST BE PAID NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $42,697.32
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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$40,000.00 PAID BY MLCO 11/14/2005 FOR THE TWO ALLEGATIONS
INVOLVING BEST EXECUTION; AND  RESTITUTION OF $2,697.32  WHICH
MUST BE PAID NO LATER THAN 120 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC.

Disclosure 371 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: PACIFIC STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/01/2004

Docket/Case Number: 05-22

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MEMBER FIRM VIOLATED PCXE RULE 7.23(A)(1) WHEN IT FAILED TO
MAINTAIN CONTINUOUS TWO-SIDED Q ORDERS FOR ISSUES IN WHICH IT
IS REGISTERED AS A MARKET MAKER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/08/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: $2,150.00 FINE LEVIED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH, INC. WAS PAID ON OCTOBER 10, 2005.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,150.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED PCXE RULE 7.23(A)(1) ON
FOUR DATES WHEN IT FAILED TO MAINTAIN CONTINUOUS TWO SIDED Q
ORDERS FOR ISSUES IN WHICH IT IS REGISTERED AS A MARKET MAKER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: PACIFIC STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/01/2004

Docket/Case Number: 05-22

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED PCXE RULE 7.23(A)(1) ON
FOUR DATES WHEN IT FAILED TO MAINTAIN CONTINUOUS TWO SIDED Q
ORDERS FOR ISSUES IN WHICH IT IS REGISTERED AS A MARKET MAKER.

Resolution Date: 09/08/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: $2,150.00 FINE LEVIED AGAINST MLPF&S PAID ON 10/10/2005

Firm Statement $2,150.00 FINE LEVIED AGAINST MLPF&S PAID ON 10/10/2005

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,150.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 372 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **9/28/05**STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY NYSE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:
1.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 410A BY FAILING TO SUBMIT ACCURATE
TRADING INFORMATION THROUGH THE SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC
BLUE SHEETS IN RESPONSE TO ONE OR MORE REQUESTS FOR SUCH
INFORMATION BY THE EXCHANGE;2.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 401 BY
FAILING TO ADHERE TO THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICE
IN THE CONDUCT OF THEIR BUSINESS AFFAIRS IN THAT IT SUBMITTED
INACCURATE TRADING INFORMATION ON ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS IN
RESPONSE TO ONE OR MORE REQUESTS FOR SUCH INFORMATION BY
THE EXCHANGE; AND 3.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 342 BY FAILING TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
FOR THE SUPERVISION AND CONTROL OF AREAS RESPONSIBLE FOR
COMPLYING WITH ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEET REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS, AND FAILED TO ESTABLISH A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW TO REASONABLY ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
EXCHANGE RULES RELATING TO THE PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF
ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS.
STIPULATED SANCTION: THE IMPOSITION BY THE EXCHANGE OF A
CENSURE, A $500,000 FINE AND A REQUIREMENT  THAT RESPONDENT WILL
CONDUCT A VALIDATION OF ALL REQUIRED BLUE SHEET DATA ELEMENTS
IN ACCORDANCE WITH ISG REGULATORY MEMORANDUM, ISG 2005-01.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/28/2005

Docket/Case Number: HPD# 05-149

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

**9/28/05**STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY NYSE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:
1.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 410A BY FAILING TO SUBMIT ACCURATE
TRADING INFORMATION THROUGH THE SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC
BLUE SHEETS IN RESPONSE TO ONE OR MORE REQUESTS FOR SUCH
INFORMATION BY THE EXCHANGE;2.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 401 BY
FAILING TO ADHERE TO THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICE
IN THE CONDUCT OF THEIR BUSINESS AFFAIRS IN THAT IT SUBMITTED
INACCURATE TRADING INFORMATION ON ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS IN
RESPONSE TO ONE OR MORE REQUESTS FOR SUCH INFORMATION BY
THE EXCHANGE; AND 3.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 342 BY FAILING TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
FOR THE SUPERVISION AND CONTROL OF AREAS RESPONSIBLE FOR
COMPLYING WITH ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEET REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS, AND FAILED TO ESTABLISH A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW TO REASONABLY ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH
EXCHANGE RULES RELATING TO THE PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF
ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS.
STIPULATED SANCTION: THE IMPOSITION BY THE EXCHANGE OF A
CENSURE, A $500,000 FINE AND A REQUIREMENT  THAT RESPONDENT WILL
CONDUCT A VALIDATION OF ALL REQUIRED BLUE SHEET DATA ELEMENTS
IN ACCORDANCE WITH ISG REGULATORY MEMORANDUM, ISG 2005-01.

Resolution Date: 02/17/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **1/5/06** DECISION 05-149 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING PANEL
DECISION: VIOLATED NYSE RULE 410A BY FAILING TO SUBMIT ACCURATE
TRADING INFORMATION THROUGH THE SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC
BLUE SHEETS; VIOLATED NYSE RULE 401 BY SUBMITTING INACCURATE
TRADING INFORMATION ON ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS; VIOLATED NYSE
RULE 342 BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE
SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES FOR THE SUPERVISION AND CONTROL OF
AREAS RESPONSIBLE FOR COMPLYING WITH ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEET
REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND FAILING TO ESTABLISH A SEPARATE
SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW TO REASONABLY ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH NYSE RULES RELATING TO THE PREPARATION AND
SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS. -CONSENT TO CENSURE,
FINE OF $500,000, AND A REQUIREMENT TO CONDUCT VALIDATION OF ALL
REQUIRED BLUE SHEET DATA ELEMENTS, AND UNDERTAKING TO INFORM
NYSE IN WRITING THAT VALIDATION HAS BEEN COMPLETED.

Regulator Statement **2/17/06**THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND IS EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY.
CONTACT PEGGY GERMINO 212-656-8450.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Decision
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Regulator Statement **2/17/06**THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND IS EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY.
CONTACT PEGGY GERMINO 212-656-8450.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/28/2005

Docket/Case Number: HPD #05-149

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUBMIT ACCURATE
ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS IN RESPONSE TO REQUESTS FOR SUCH
INFORMATION FROM THE EXCHANGES; FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES FOR THE BLUE
SHEET REPORTING REQUIREMENTS; AND FAILED TO ESTABLISH A
SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW TO REASONABLY
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES PERTAINING TO
PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC BLUE SHEETS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/17/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING AND VALIDATION

Sanction Details: REQUIREMENT TO CONDUCT VALIDATION OF ALL REQUIRED BLUE SHEET
DATA ELEMENTS, AND UNDERTAKING TO INFORM NYSE IN WRITING THAT
VALIDATION HAS BEEN COMPLETED.

Firm Statement A STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY HAS BEEN EXECUTED
AGREEING TO A FINE OF $250,000 WHICH WILL BE PAID BY APRIL 3, 2006,
AS WELL AS A CENSURE AND DATA VALIDATION.  DECISION IS FINAL AND
EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 373 of 595

i
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Disclosure 373 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/29/2005

Docket/Case Number: EAF0300610002

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULES 3010, 2210(D)(1)(A), 2210(D)(1)(B) - MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC. FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE
REQUIREMENT OF CONDUCT RULE 2210(D)(1)(A) THAT ADVERTISING
MATERIALS CONTAIN A FAIR AND BALANCED PRESENTATION OF THE
RISKS AS WELL AS THE BENEFITS OF THE PARTICULAR SERVICES
OFFERED AND PROVIDE A SOUND BASIS FOR EVALUATING THE FACTS IN
REGARD TO ANY PARTICULAR SERVICE, AND FAILED TO COMPLY WITH
CONDUCT RULE 2210(D)(1)(B), WHICH PROHIBITS MISLEADING OR
EXAGGERATED STATEMENTS OR CLAIMS. THE FIRM HAD NO
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES IN PLACE RELATING TO THE ACTIVITIES OF
THE FIR'S REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES IN CONNECTION WITH A
MORTGAGE PROGRAM (THE" PROGRAM"). THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH
ANY GUIDELINES OR PROCEDURES FOR MONITORING OR OVERSEEING
THE ACTIVITIES OF THE FIRM'S REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES IN
CONNECTION WITH THE RECOMMENDATIONS THE CUSTOMERS
PARTICIPATE IN THE PROGRAM. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM DID NOT UTILIZE
ANY PROCEDURES, EXCEPTION REPORTS OR OTHER DOCUMENTS THAT
MIGHT ASSIST MANAGERS, COMPLIANCE PERSONNEL OR OTHER STAFF
IN REVIEWING ACCOUNTS THAT UTILIZED THE PROGRAM. AS A RESULT,
THE FIRM FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN PROCEDURES, INCLUDING
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES, OR A SUPERVISORY SYSTEM,
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE IN CONNECTION WITH
THE FIRM'S ACTIVITIES RELATING TO THE PROGRAM.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/29/2005

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC. CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE THE FIRM IS
CENSURED AND FINED $50,000. IN ADDITION, WITHIN 90 DAYS AFTER
ISSUANCE OF THE AWC, AN OFFICER OF THE FIRM SHALL CERTIFY TO
NASD THAT IT HAS REVIEWED PROCEDURES REGARDING THE PROGRAM
AND THAT THE FIRM HAS ESTABLISHED SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
LAWS, REGULATIONS AND RULES RELATING TO THAT PROGRAM.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

MONETARY FINE

Date Initiated: 07/29/2005

Docket/Case Number: EAF0300610002

Principal Product Type: Debt - Asset Backed

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH FAILED TO
PROVIDE ADVERTISING MATERIALS CONTAINING A FAIR AND BALANCED
PRESENTATION OF THE RISKS AS WELL AS THE BENEFITS OF A
MORTGAGE PROGRAM AND PROVIDE A SOUND BASIS FOR EVALUATING
THE FACTS IN REGARD TO A MORTGAGE PROGRAM; AND THAT THEY HAD
NO SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES IN PLACE RELATING TO THE ACTIVITIES
OF THE FIRM'S REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES IN CONNECTION WITH A
MORTGAGE PROGRAM ("THE PROGRAM").

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 07/29/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS
AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED
AND FINED $50,000.  IN ADDITION, WITHIN 90 DAYS AFTER ISSUANCE OF
THE AWC, AN OFFICER OF THE FIRM SHALL CERTIFY TO THE NASD THAT IT
HAS REVIEWED PROCEDURES REGARDING THE PROGRAM AND THAT THE
FIRM HAS ESTABLISHED SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE LAWS,
REGULATIONS AND RULES RELATING TO THAT PROGRAM.

Firm Statement FINE OF 50,000.00 TO BE PAID IMMEDIATELY AND WITHIN 90 DAYS THE
FIRM WILL COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE LAWS, REGULATIONS AND
RULES RELATING TO THE PROGRAM.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 374 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **7/8/05**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.CONSENTED TO
FINDINGS THAT IT:1.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 401 AND 476(A)(6) IN
THAT IT FAILED TO ADHERE TO THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD BUSINESS
PRACTICE AND ENGAGED IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND
EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE BY FAILING TO DELIVER
PROSPECTUSES IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF REGISTERED
SECURITIES IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 5(B)(2) OF THE SECURITIES
ACT.2.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 1100(B) IN THAT IT FAILED TO DELIVER
PRODUCT DESCRIPTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF
EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS.3.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345 IN THAT
THE FIRM:A.PERMITTED CERTAIN EMPLOYEES WHO WERE NOT
PROPERLY REGISTERED WITH THE EXCHANGE TO PERFORM REGULARLY
DUTIES WHICH REQUIRED SUCH REGISTRATION; B.FAILED TO FILE
AND/OR FILE PROMPTLY CERTAIN FORMS U-4 WITH THE EXCHANGE; AND
C.FAILED TO UPDATE CERTAIN CHANGES OF ADDRESS ON FORMS U-
4.4.ENGAGED IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE
PRINCIPLES OF TRADE IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO FULLY COMPLY WITH
AN UNDERTAKING IN CONNECTION WITH AN EARLIER EXCHANGE
HEARING PANEL DECISION.
5.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 440, SECTION 17(A) OF THE SEA AND RULE
17A-4 THEREUNDER IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO PRESERVE CERTAIN
ELECTRONIC MAIL.6.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 401 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
TIMELY REGISTER AS A USER OF THE EFP/PI AS SET FORTH IN
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM 03-55 AND TO RESPOND TO NUMEROUS
EFP/PI REQUESTS.7.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(A) IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO REPORT AND/OR PROMPTLY REPORT CERTAIN REPORTABLE
MATTERS TO THE EXCHANGE.8.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(D) IN THAT
THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT, FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT AND/OR FAILED
TO ACCURATELY REPORT TO THE EXCHANGE, STATISTICAL INFORMATION
REGARDING CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS.9.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345A
BY ALLOWING CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS TO PERFORM DUTIES AS
REGISTERED PERSONS AFTER FAILING TO COMPLY WITH CONTINUING
EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS.**CONTINUED AT 13C**

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/08/2005

Docket/Case Number: HPD#: 05-087

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

**7/8/05**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.CONSENTED TO
FINDINGS THAT IT:1.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 401 AND 476(A)(6) IN
THAT IT FAILED TO ADHERE TO THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD BUSINESS
PRACTICE AND ENGAGED IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND
EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE BY FAILING TO DELIVER
PROSPECTUSES IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF REGISTERED
SECURITIES IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 5(B)(2) OF THE SECURITIES
ACT.2.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 1100(B) IN THAT IT FAILED TO DELIVER
PRODUCT DESCRIPTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF
EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS.3.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345 IN THAT
THE FIRM:A.PERMITTED CERTAIN EMPLOYEES WHO WERE NOT
PROPERLY REGISTERED WITH THE EXCHANGE TO PERFORM REGULARLY
DUTIES WHICH REQUIRED SUCH REGISTRATION; B.FAILED TO FILE
AND/OR FILE PROMPTLY CERTAIN FORMS U-4 WITH THE EXCHANGE; AND
C.FAILED TO UPDATE CERTAIN CHANGES OF ADDRESS ON FORMS U-
4.4.ENGAGED IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE
PRINCIPLES OF TRADE IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO FULLY COMPLY WITH
AN UNDERTAKING IN CONNECTION WITH AN EARLIER EXCHANGE
HEARING PANEL DECISION.
5.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 440, SECTION 17(A) OF THE SEA AND RULE
17A-4 THEREUNDER IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO PRESERVE CERTAIN
ELECTRONIC MAIL.6.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 401 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
TIMELY REGISTER AS A USER OF THE EFP/PI AS SET FORTH IN
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM 03-55 AND TO RESPOND TO NUMEROUS
EFP/PI REQUESTS.7.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(A) IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO REPORT AND/OR PROMPTLY REPORT CERTAIN REPORTABLE
MATTERS TO THE EXCHANGE.8.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(D) IN THAT
THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT, FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT AND/OR FAILED
TO ACCURATELY REPORT TO THE EXCHANGE, STATISTICAL INFORMATION
REGARDING CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS.9.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345A
BY ALLOWING CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS TO PERFORM DUTIES AS
REGISTERED PERSONS AFTER FAILING TO COMPLY WITH CONTINUING
EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS.**CONTINUED AT 13C**

Resolution Date: 09/01/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **7/27/05**HEARING PANEL DECISION ISSUED  (HPD 05-87)
1.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 401 AND 476(A)(6) IN THAT IT FAILED TO
ADHERE TO THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICE AND
ENGAGED IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE
PRINCIPLES OF TRADE BY FAILING TO DELIVER PROSPECTUSES IN
CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF REGISTERED SECURITIES IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 5(B)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.2.VIOLATED
EXCHANGE RULE 1100(B) IN THAT IT FAILED TO DELIVER PRODUCT
DESCRIPTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF EXCHANGE
TRADED FUNDS.3.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345 IN THAT THE
FIRM:A.PERMITTED CERTAIN EMPLOYEES WHO WERE NOT PROPERLY
REGISTERED WITH THE EXCHANGE TO PERFORM REGULARLY DUTIES
WHICH REQUIRED SUCH REGISTRATION; B.FAILED TO FILE AND/OR FILE
PROMPTLY CERTAIN FORMS U-4 WITH THE EXCHANGE; AND C.FAILED TO
UPDATE CERTAIN CHANGES OF ADDRESS ON FORMS U-4.4.ENGAGED IN
CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO FULLY COMPLY WITH AN
UNDERTAKING IN CONNECTION WITH AN EARLIER EXCHANGE HEARING
PANEL DECISION.5.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 440, SECTION 17(A) OF THE
SEA AND RULE 17A-4 THEREUNDER IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
PRESERVE CERTAIN ELECTRONIC MAIL.6.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 401
IN THAT IT FAILED TO TIMELY REGISTER AS A USER OF THE EFP/PI AS SET
FORTH IN INFORMATION MEMORANDUM 03-55 AND TO RESPOND TO
NUMEROUS EFP/PI REQUESTS.**CONTINUED AT #14**

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000,000.00

Decision
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**7/27/05**HEARING PANEL DECISION ISSUED  (HPD 05-87)
1.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 401 AND 476(A)(6) IN THAT IT FAILED TO
ADHERE TO THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICE AND
ENGAGED IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE
PRINCIPLES OF TRADE BY FAILING TO DELIVER PROSPECTUSES IN
CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF REGISTERED SECURITIES IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 5(B)(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.2.VIOLATED
EXCHANGE RULE 1100(B) IN THAT IT FAILED TO DELIVER PRODUCT
DESCRIPTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF EXCHANGE
TRADED FUNDS.3.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345 IN THAT THE
FIRM:A.PERMITTED CERTAIN EMPLOYEES WHO WERE NOT PROPERLY
REGISTERED WITH THE EXCHANGE TO PERFORM REGULARLY DUTIES
WHICH REQUIRED SUCH REGISTRATION; B.FAILED TO FILE AND/OR FILE
PROMPTLY CERTAIN FORMS U-4 WITH THE EXCHANGE; AND C.FAILED TO
UPDATE CERTAIN CHANGES OF ADDRESS ON FORMS U-4.4.ENGAGED IN
CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO FULLY COMPLY WITH AN
UNDERTAKING IN CONNECTION WITH AN EARLIER EXCHANGE HEARING
PANEL DECISION.5.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 440, SECTION 17(A) OF THE
SEA AND RULE 17A-4 THEREUNDER IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO
PRESERVE CERTAIN ELECTRONIC MAIL.6.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 401
IN THAT IT FAILED TO TIMELY REGISTER AS A USER OF THE EFP/PI AS SET
FORTH IN INFORMATION MEMORANDUM 03-55 AND TO RESPOND TO
NUMEROUS EFP/PI REQUESTS.**CONTINUED AT #14**

Regulator Statement **CONTINUED FROM #7**/7.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(A) IN THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO REPORT AND/OR PROMPTLY REPORT CERTAIN
REPORTABLE MATTERS TO THE EXCHANGE.8.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE
351(D) IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT, FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT
AND/OR FAILED TO ACCURATELY REPORT TO THE EXCHANGE,
STATISTICAL INFORMATION REGARDING CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS.9.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345A BY ALLOWING CERTAIN
INDIVIDUALS TO PERFORM DUTIES AS REGISTERED PERSONS AFTER
FAILING TO COMPLY WITH CONTINUING EDUCATION
REQUIREMENTS.10.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 401 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
ADHERE TO THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICE BY FAILING
TO PROVIDE CERTAIN CLIENTS WITH THE OPPORTUNITY TO DECLINE THE
USE OF MARGIN.11.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 (A) AND (B) IN THAT
THE FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY DISCHARGE ITS DUTIES AND
OBLIGATIONS IN CONNECTION WITH SUPERVISION AND CONTROL
INCLUDING MAINTAINING A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND
REVIEW WITH RESPECT TO EACH OF THE ITEMS ENUMERATED
ABOVE.CONSENTED TO A CENSURE, $10,000,000 FINE AND UNDERTAKING.
**9/1/05**THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY.
CONTACT:EVELYN KRIEGEL 212-656-6444

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT:  MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO DELIVER
PROSPECTUSES IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF REGISTERED
SECURITIES; FAILED TO DELIVER PRODUCT DESCRIPTIONS IN
CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS;
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345 IN THAT THE FIRM PERMITTED CERTAIN
EMPLOYEES WHO WERE NOT PROPERLY REGISTERED WITH THE
EXCHANGE TO PERFORM  DUTIES WHICH REQUIRED SUCH
REGISTRATION; FAILED TO FILE AND/OR FILE PROMPTLY CERTAIN FORMS
U4 WITH THE EXCHANGE AND FAILED TO UPDATE CERTAIN CHANGES OF
ADDRESS ON FORMS U4; FAILED TO FULLY COMPLY WITH AN
UNDERTAKING IN CONNECTION WITH AN EARLIER EXCHANGE HEARING
PANEL DECISION; FAILED TO PRESERVE CERTAIN ELECTRONIC MAIL AND
FAILED TO TIMELY REGISTER AS A USER OF THE EFP/PI AS SET FORTH IN
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM, AND TO RESPOND TO NUMEROUS EFP/PI
REQUESTS, CAUSING  THE FIRM'S FAILURE TO REPORT AND/OR
PROMPTLY REPORT CERTAIN REPORTABLE MATTERS TO THE EXCHANGE;
FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT AND/OR ACURATELY REPORT TO THE
EXCHANGE, STATISTICAL INFORMATION REGARDING CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS; ALLOWED CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS TO PERFORM DUTIES AS
REGISTERED PERSONS AFTER FAILING TO COMPLY WITH CONTINUING
EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS; FAILED TO PROVIDE CERTAIN CLIENTS WITH
THE OPPORTUNITY TO DECLINE THE USE OF MARGIN; AND FAILED TO
REASONABLY DISCHARGE ITS DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS IN CONNECTION
WITH SUPERVISION AND CONTROL INCLUDING MAINTAINING A SEPARATE
SYSTEM OF FOLLOWUP AND REVIEW WITH RESPECT TO EACH OF THE
ITEMS ENUMERATED ABOVE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE & UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/08/2005

Docket/Case Number: HPD 05-87

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

IT IS ALLEGED THAT:  MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO DELIVER
PROSPECTUSES IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF REGISTERED
SECURITIES; FAILED TO DELIVER PRODUCT DESCRIPTIONS IN
CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN SALES OF EXCHANGE TRADED FUNDS;
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345 IN THAT THE FIRM PERMITTED CERTAIN
EMPLOYEES WHO WERE NOT PROPERLY REGISTERED WITH THE
EXCHANGE TO PERFORM  DUTIES WHICH REQUIRED SUCH
REGISTRATION; FAILED TO FILE AND/OR FILE PROMPTLY CERTAIN FORMS
U4 WITH THE EXCHANGE AND FAILED TO UPDATE CERTAIN CHANGES OF
ADDRESS ON FORMS U4; FAILED TO FULLY COMPLY WITH AN
UNDERTAKING IN CONNECTION WITH AN EARLIER EXCHANGE HEARING
PANEL DECISION; FAILED TO PRESERVE CERTAIN ELECTRONIC MAIL AND
FAILED TO TIMELY REGISTER AS A USER OF THE EFP/PI AS SET FORTH IN
INFORMATION MEMORANDUM, AND TO RESPOND TO NUMEROUS EFP/PI
REQUESTS, CAUSING  THE FIRM'S FAILURE TO REPORT AND/OR
PROMPTLY REPORT CERTAIN REPORTABLE MATTERS TO THE EXCHANGE;
FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT AND/OR ACURATELY REPORT TO THE
EXCHANGE, STATISTICAL INFORMATION REGARDING CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS; ALLOWED CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS TO PERFORM DUTIES AS
REGISTERED PERSONS AFTER FAILING TO COMPLY WITH CONTINUING
EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS; FAILED TO PROVIDE CERTAIN CLIENTS WITH
THE OPPORTUNITY TO DECLINE THE USE OF MARGIN; AND FAILED TO
REASONABLY DISCHARGE ITS DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS IN CONNECTION
WITH SUPERVISION AND CONTROL INCLUDING MAINTAINING A SEPARATE
SYSTEM OF FOLLOWUP AND REVIEW WITH RESPECT TO EACH OF THE
ITEMS ENUMERATED ABOVE.

Resolution Date: 07/21/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement CENSURE, FINE OF $10,000,000 AND AN UNDERTAKING TO REVIEW
CURRENT POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS
RELEVANT TO THE MATTERS ADDRESSED HEREIN.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000,000.00

Stipulation and Consent
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Firm Statement CENSURE, FINE OF $10,000,000 AND AN UNDERTAKING TO REVIEW
CURRENT POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS
RELEVANT TO THE MATTERS ADDRESSED HEREIN.

Disclosure 375 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NEW JERSEY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTIES, FINE

Date Initiated: 06/03/2005

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: UNREGISTERED AGENT ACTIVITY DUE TO AN INADVERTENT FORM U-5
FILING FOR GERALD BROWNE (CRD# 1245258). CONTINUED COMMISSIONS
WERE PAID AFTER MERRILL DISCOVERED THE ERRONEOUS
TERMINATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/03/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE BUREAU HAS DETERMINED THAT BROWNE WAS EMPLOYED BY
MERRILL AS AN AGENT FROM 12/15/2003 TO 9/23/2004 DURING WHICH
PERIOD BROWNE WAS NOT REGISTERED WITH THE BUREAU IN VIOLATION
OF NJSA 49:3-56(A) AND NJSA 49:3-56(H).

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $53,000.00

Consent

i
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEW JERSEY BUREAU OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $53,000.00

Date Initiated: 05/31/2005

Docket/Case Number: 2004-036

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED NEW JERSEY STATUTES
WHEN IT TERMINATED THE IAR REGISTRATION OF A FINANCIAL ADVISOR
IN ERROR.  THIS ERROR CAUSED THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR TO ENGAGE IN
BUSINESS WITHIN THE STATE WITHOUT THE PROPER REGISTRATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/03/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM FURTHER
VIOLATIONS OF THE NEW JERSEY UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT AND TO PAY
A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY TO THE BUREAU IN THE AMOUNT OF
53,000.00 WHICH WAS PAID JUNE 3, 2005.

Firm Statement IT WAS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED NEW JERSEY STATUTES
WHEN IT TERMINATED THE IAR REGISTRATION OF A FINANCIAL ADVISOR
IN ERROR.  THIS ERROR CAUSED THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR TO ENGAGE IN
BUSINESS WITHIN THE STATE WITHOUT THE PROPER REGISTRATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $53,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 376 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: SEC RULE 11AC1-4; MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.
FAILED TO DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ
SECURITIES IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH ORDER WAS AT A
PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH
SUCH SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO THE
FIRMS BID OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR EACH
SECURITY, AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED MORE THAN A DE
MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM'S
BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/01/2005

Docket/Case Number: CLG050067

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

SEC RULE 11AC1-4; MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.
FAILED TO DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ
SECURITIES IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH ORDER WAS AT A
PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH
SUCH SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO THE
FIRMS BID OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR EACH
SECURITY, AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED MORE THAN A DE
MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM'S
BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY.

Resolution Date: 06/01/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT FIRM
CONSENTED TO TEH DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: DURING THE PERIOD OF APRIL 1, 2002 - JUNE 28, 2002, THE FIRM FAILED
TO DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY 77 CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ
SECURITIES IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH SUCH ORDER WAS AT
A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN
EACH SUCH SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO
THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR
EACH SUCH SECURITY AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED
MORE THAN A DE MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED
WITH THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINE

Date Initiated: 04/22/2005

Docket/Case Number: CLG050067

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

DURING THE PERIOD OF APRIL 1, 2002 - JUNE 28, 2002, THE FIRM FAILED
TO DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY 77 CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ
SECURITIES IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH SUCH ORDER WAS AT
A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN
EACH SUCH SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO
THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR
EACH SUCH SECURITY AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED
MORE THAN A DE MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED
WITH THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY.

Resolution Date: 06/01/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement MLPF&S CENSURED AND FINE PAID OF $10,000.00

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 377 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Date Initiated: 06/03/2005

Docket/Case Number: CLG050079

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 AND MARKETPLACE RULE 6955(A);
RESPONDENT MEMBER SUBMITTED TO OATS REPORTS THAT WERE NOT
IN THE ELECTRONIC FORM PRESCRIBED BY NASD AND WERE
REPAIRABLE. THE FIRM DID NOT CORRECT OR REPLACE THE SUBJECT
REPORTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/03/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAINING TO REVISE FIRM'S WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES APPLICABLE TO OATS.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $7,500.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINE AND UNDERTAKING.

Date Initiated: 04/21/2005

Docket/Case Number: CLG050079

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FIRM DID NOT CORRECT OR REPLACE 94.9% OF THE REJECTED
REPORTS SUBMITTED TO OATS DURING THE PERIOD JANUARY 1, 2003
THROUGH MARCH 31, 2003.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINE AND UNDERTAKING.

Resolution Date: 06/03/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING TO REVISE MLPF&S' SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES FOR
COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES APPLICABLE TO OATS.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement MLPF&S CONSENTS TO THE IMPOSITION AT A MAXIMUM OF A CENSURE, A
$7,500.00 FINE AND AN UNDERTAKING TO REVISE MLPF&S' WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES
APPLICABLE TO OATS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 378 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/19/2005

Docket/Case Number: CLG050058

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 6955(A) - RESPONDENT MEMBER SUBMITTED TO OATS
REPORTS WITH RESPECT TO EQUITY SECURITIES TRADED ON THE
NASDAQ STOCK MARKET THAT WERE NOT IN THE ELECTRONIC FORM
PRESCRIBED BY NASD AND WERE REPAIRABLE, THE SUBJECT REPORTS
WERE REJECTED BY THE OATS SYSTEM AND NOTICE OF SUCH
REJECTION WAS MADE AVAILABLE TO THE FIRM ON THE OATS WEBSITE,
THE FIRM DID NOT CORRECT OR REPLACE 87.1% OF THE SUBJECT
REPORTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 05/19/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED CONSENTED TO THE
DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS, THEREFORE
THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/19/2005

Docket/Case Number: CLG050058

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT BETWEEN OCTOBER 1 AND DECEMBER 31, 2003
MLPF&S SUBMITTED REPORTS TO THE ORDER AUDIT TRAIL SYSTEM
(OATS) THAT WERE NOT IN THE ELECTRONIC FORM PRESCRIBED BY THE
NASD AND THAT WERE REPAIRABLE.  THE SUBJECT REPORTS WERE
REJECTED BY THE OATS SYSTEM AND NOTICE OF SUCH REJECTION WAS
MADE AVAILABLE TO THE FIRM ON THE OATS WEBSITE.  IT IS FURTHER
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT CORRECT OR REPLACE 87.1% OF THE
SUBJECT REPORTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/19/2005

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 05/19/2005

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MLPF&S
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS, THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $12,500.00 TO
BE PAID ON 5/19/2005

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Disclosure 379 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: WISCONSIN

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ASSESSMENT

Date Initiated: 04/29/2005

Docket/Case Number: S-04280

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO SUPPLY, IN A TIMELY FASHION, INFORMATION REQUESTED BY
STAFF AND FAILURE TO UPDATE AGENT'S CRD RECORD.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/29/2005

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,000.00

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SUM OF $7,000 SHALL BE PAID AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT.

Regulator Statement AN ORDER OF CENSURE AND ASSESSMENT WAS ISSUED AGAINST
MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE FENNER & SMITH, INC.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS,
DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/22/2005

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. S-04280 (LX)

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION REQUESTED BY
THE STAFF  REGARDING AN ITEM ON AN AGENT'S INSURANCE LICENSE IN
A TIMELY MANNER.  THEY ALSO FAILED TO UPDATE THE AGENT'S RECORD
TO REFLECT HIS CURRENT ADDRESS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/29/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE SECTION 13

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH WAS ASKED TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION OF A "YES"
ANSWER REGARDING A CONVICTION ON AN AGENT'S INSURANCE
APPLICATION.  MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO PROVIDE THIS INFORMATION IN
A TIMELY MANNER.  MERRILL LYNCH ALSO FAILED TO UPDATE THE
AGENT'S RECORD TO REFLECT HIS CURRENT ADDRESS.  AS A RESULT,
MERRILL LYNCH WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY A FINE OF $7,000
PAID 4/29/2005.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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MERRILL LYNCH WAS ASKED TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION OF A "YES"
ANSWER REGARDING A CONVICTION ON AN AGENT'S INSURANCE
APPLICATION.  MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO PROVIDE THIS INFORMATION IN
A TIMELY MANNER.  MERRILL LYNCH ALSO FAILED TO UPDATE THE
AGENT'S RECORD TO REFLECT HIS CURRENT ADDRESS.  AS A RESULT,
MERRILL LYNCH WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO PAY A FINE OF $7,000
PAID 4/29/2005.

Disclosure 380 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF NEW JERSEY OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF LAW AND PUBLIC SAFETY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/03/2003

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Variable

Other Product Type(s): MUTUAL FUNDS

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT UPON LEARNING OF SHORT TERM TRADING OF
MUTUAL FUNDS BY THREE OF ITS FINANCIAL ADVOSORS, THE FIRM
FAILED TO TAKE EFFECTIVE ACTION TO HALT TRADING, ENHANCE
SUPERVISION, OR ISSUE SUFFICIENT FOLLOW-UP INSTRUCTIONS TO
ENSURE ADHERENCE TO FIRM POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, AS WELL AS
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/03/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: WITHIN 30 DAYS MERRILL LYNCH SHALL (A) SEND A GLOBAL COMPLIANCE
ALERT COMMUNICATION DETAILING THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO REVIEW AND RETENTION OF INCOMING
AND OUTGOING CORRESPONDENCE AND FAX TRANSMISSIONS AS SET
FORTH IN THE COMPLIANCE OUTLINE AND BRANCH OFFICE POLICY
MANUAL; (B) IMPLEMENT AND ENFORCE A POLICY AND PROCEDURE
ADDRESSING HOW FINANCIAL ADVISORS SHOULD DEAL WITH
INSTRUCITONS FROM MERRILL LYNCH CLIENTS TO TRADE MUTUAL FUND
POSITIONS IN ACCOUNTS HELD OUTSIDE OF MERRILL LYNCH; AND (C) A
COPY OF ALL GLOBAL COMPLIANCE ALERTS, INSTRUCTIONS, POLICIES,
PROCEDURES OR NOTICES SET FORTH IN THIS PARAGRAPH 3 SHALL BE
SENT TO THE CHIEF OF ENFORCEMENT OF THE BUREAU WITHIN 10 DAYS
FOLLOWING THEIR PROMULGATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000,000.00

Consent
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WITHIN 30 DAYS MERRILL LYNCH SHALL (A) SEND A GLOBAL COMPLIANCE
ALERT COMMUNICATION DETAILING THE FIRM'S POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO REVIEW AND RETENTION OF INCOMING
AND OUTGOING CORRESPONDENCE AND FAX TRANSMISSIONS AS SET
FORTH IN THE COMPLIANCE OUTLINE AND BRANCH OFFICE POLICY
MANUAL; (B) IMPLEMENT AND ENFORCE A POLICY AND PROCEDURE
ADDRESSING HOW FINANCIAL ADVISORS SHOULD DEAL WITH
INSTRUCITONS FROM MERRILL LYNCH CLIENTS TO TRADE MUTUAL FUND
POSITIONS IN ACCOUNTS HELD OUTSIDE OF MERRILL LYNCH; AND (C) A
COPY OF ALL GLOBAL COMPLIANCE ALERTS, INSTRUCTIONS, POLICIES,
PROCEDURES OR NOTICES SET FORTH IN THIS PARAGRAPH 3 SHALL BE
SENT TO THE CHIEF OF ENFORCEMENT OF THE BUREAU WITHIN 10 DAYS
FOLLOWING THEIR PROMULGATION.

Sanction Details: ON MARCH 3, 2005 $10,000,000.00 SHALL BE PAYALBE TO THE STATE OF
NEW JERSEY BUREAU OF SECURITIES AND SHALL BE DEPOSITED INTO
THE SECURITIES ENFORCEMENT FUND PURSUANT TO NJSA 49:3-66.1.

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH NEITHER ADMITS NOR DENIES THE ALLEGATIONS, AND
SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS PROCEEDING, PRIOR TO A HEARING
AND WITHOUT ADJUDICATION OF ANY ISSUE OF LAW OR FACT, CONSENTS
TO THE ENTRY OF THIS CONSENT ORDER AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES THE
RIGHT TO A HEARING AND JUDICIAL REVIEW.

Disclosure 381 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **3/3/05**STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY NYSE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:
1.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE CERTAIN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES, AND TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN AND MAINTAIN AND MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES FOR
SUPERVISION AND CONTROL WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES INVOLVING THE TRADING OF MUTUAL FUNDS.
2 VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342.16 IN THAT IT FAILED TO REVIEW AND
MAINTAIN CERTAIN INCOMING AND OUTGOING COMMUNICATIONS WITH
THE PUBLIC.3.VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, SEC RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4 AND EXCHANGE
RULE 440 IN THAT IT FAILED TO MAKE/OR PRESERVE ACCURATE BOOKS
AND RECORDS REFLECTING AND/OR RELATING TO ORDERS AND/OR
CONFIRMATIONS FOR TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY FIRM EMPLOYEES IN
VARIABLE ANNUITY PRODUCT SUB-ACCOUNTS HELD AWAY FROM THE
FIRM.CONSENTED TO SANCTION:THE IMPOSITION BY THE EXCHANGE OF
THE PENALTY OF;A PENALTY OF A CENSURE AND A FINE IN THE AMOUNT
$13,500,000. THE AMOUNT PAID TO THE EXCHANGE BY MERRILL LYNCH
SHALL BE WAIVED IN CONSIDERATION OF A $10,000,000 FINE PAID TO THE
STATE OF NEW JERSEY AND A PAYMENT TOTALING $3,500,000 IN
FURTHERANCE OF A SETTLEMENT WITH THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT.
THE PAYMENT TO CONNECTICUT WILL BE PAID AS FOLLOWS: $1,000,000 AS
MONETARY PENALTY; A COMMITMENT TO SPEND AN ADDITIONAL
$2,000,000 OVER THE NEXT FOUR YEARS TO THE FIRM'S  "INVESTING PAYS
OFF" INVESTOR EDUCATION INITIATIVE, AND A CONTRIBUTION OF $500,000
FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT/ REGULATORY TRAINING RELATED TO
FINANCIAL ISSUES.
THE FIRM SHALL COMPLETE AN UNDERTAKING TO INFORM TH EXCHANGE
IN WRITING THAT IT HAS COMPLIED WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS.  THE
CONDITIONS ARE SET FORTH IN THE  HEARING PANEL DECISION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/03/2005

Docket/Case Number: HPD# 05-27

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

**3/3/05**STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY NYSE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:
1.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY
SUPERVISE CERTAIN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES, AND TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN AND MAINTAIN AND MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES FOR
SUPERVISION AND CONTROL WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES INVOLVING THE TRADING OF MUTUAL FUNDS.
2 VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342.16 IN THAT IT FAILED TO REVIEW AND
MAINTAIN CERTAIN INCOMING AND OUTGOING COMMUNICATIONS WITH
THE PUBLIC.3.VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, SEC RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4 AND EXCHANGE
RULE 440 IN THAT IT FAILED TO MAKE/OR PRESERVE ACCURATE BOOKS
AND RECORDS REFLECTING AND/OR RELATING TO ORDERS AND/OR
CONFIRMATIONS FOR TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY FIRM EMPLOYEES IN
VARIABLE ANNUITY PRODUCT SUB-ACCOUNTS HELD AWAY FROM THE
FIRM.CONSENTED TO SANCTION:THE IMPOSITION BY THE EXCHANGE OF
THE PENALTY OF;A PENALTY OF A CENSURE AND A FINE IN THE AMOUNT
$13,500,000. THE AMOUNT PAID TO THE EXCHANGE BY MERRILL LYNCH
SHALL BE WAIVED IN CONSIDERATION OF A $10,000,000 FINE PAID TO THE
STATE OF NEW JERSEY AND A PAYMENT TOTALING $3,500,000 IN
FURTHERANCE OF A SETTLEMENT WITH THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT.
THE PAYMENT TO CONNECTICUT WILL BE PAID AS FOLLOWS: $1,000,000 AS
MONETARY PENALTY; A COMMITMENT TO SPEND AN ADDITIONAL
$2,000,000 OVER THE NEXT FOUR YEARS TO THE FIRM'S  "INVESTING PAYS
OFF" INVESTOR EDUCATION INITIATIVE, AND A CONTRIBUTION OF $500,000
FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT/ REGULATORY TRAINING RELATED TO
FINANCIAL ISSUES.
THE FIRM SHALL COMPLETE AN UNDERTAKING TO INFORM TH EXCHANGE
IN WRITING THAT IT HAS COMPLIED WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS.  THE
CONDITIONS ARE SET FORTH IN THE  HEARING PANEL DECISION.

Resolution Date: 04/07/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **3/7/05**HEARING PANEL DECISION 05-27 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING
PANEL  DECISION: VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE CERTAIN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES, AND TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES FOR
SUPERVISION AND CONTROL WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES INVOLVING THE TRADING OF MUTUAL FUNDS;VIOLATED
EXCHANGE RULE 342.16 IN THAT IT FAILED TO REVIEW AND MAINTAIN
CERTAIN INCOMING AND OUTGOING COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PUBLIC;
AND VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934, SEC RULES 17A3 AND 17A-4 AND EXCHANGE RULE 440 IN THAT IT
FAILED TO MAKE AND/OR PRESERVE ACCURATE BOOKS AND RECORDS
REFLECTING AND/OR RELATING TO ORDERS AND/OR CONFIRMATIONS
FOR MUTUAL FUND TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY FIRM EMPLOYEES IN
ANNUITY SUB-ACCOUNTS HELD AWAY FROM THE FIRM---CONSENT TO
CENSURE, A FINE OF $13,500,000 AND AN UNDERTAKING.

Regulator Statement **4/07/05**THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND EFFECTIVE
IMMEDIATELY.CONTACT:MICHELE VAN TASSEL 212-656-5340

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $13,500,000.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT UPON LEARNING OF SHORT TERM TRADING OF
MUTUAL FUNDS BY THREE OF ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS, THE FIRM FAILED
TO TAKE EFFECTIVE ACTION TO HALT TRADING, ENHANCE SUPERVISION,
OR ISSUE SUFFICIENT FOLLOW-UP INSTRUCTIONS TO ENSURE
ADHERENCE TO FIRM POLICIES AND PRCEDURES, AS WELL AS
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/03/2003

Docket/Case Number: HPD # 05-27

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Variable

Other Product Type(s): MUTUAL FUNDS

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT UPON LEARNING OF SHORT TERM TRADING OF
MUTUAL FUNDS BY THREE OF ITS FINANCIAL ADVISORS, THE FIRM FAILED
TO TAKE EFFECTIVE ACTION TO HALT TRADING, ENHANCE SUPERVISION,
OR ISSUE SUFFICIENT FOLLOW-UP INSTRUCTIONS TO ENSURE
ADHERENCE TO FIRM POLICIES AND PRCEDURES, AS WELL AS
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS.

Resolution Date: 03/03/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: HEARING PANEL DECISION OF 05-27 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING PANEL -
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
CERTAIN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
APPROPRIATE PRCEDURES FOR SUPERVISION AND CONTROL WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES INVOLVING THE TRADING OF
MUTUAL FUNDS; VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342.16 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
REVIEW AND MAINTAIN CERTAIN INCOMING AND OUTGOING
COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BUPLIC AND VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF
THE SEC ACT OF 1934, SEC RULES 17(A)3 AND 17(A)4 AND EXCHANGE
RULE 440 IN THAT IT FAILED TO MAKE AND/OR PRESERVE ACCURATE
BOOKS AND RECORDS REFLECTING AND/OR RELATING TO ORDERS
AND/OR CONFIRMATION FOR MUTUAL FUNDS TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED
BY FIRM EMPLOYEES IN ANNUITY SUB-ACCOUNTS HELD AWAY FROM THE
FIRM - CONSENT TO CENSURE.  AND A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$13,500,000.00 - HOWEVER, THIS SHALL BE WAIVED IN CONSIDERATION OF
A $10,000,000.00 FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY AND A
PAYMENT TOTALLING $3,500,000.00 IN FURTHERANCE OF A SETTLEMENT
WITH THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT.  THE PAYMENT TO CT WILL BE PAID AS
FOLLOWS:  $1,000,000.00 AS MONETARY PENALTY; A COMMITMENT TO
SPEND AN ADDITIONAL $2,000,000.00 OVER THE NEXT FOUR YEARS TO
THE FIRM'S "INVESTING PAYS OFF" INVESTOR TRAINING RELATED TO
FINANCIAL ISSUES.  THE FIRM SHALL COMPLETE AN UNDERTAKING TO
INFORM THE EXCHANGE IN WRITING THAT IT HAS COMPLIED WITH
CERTAIN CONDITIONS SET FORTH IN THE HEARING PANEL DECISION.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $13,500,000.00

Consent
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HEARING PANEL DECISION OF 05-27 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING PANEL -
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
CERTAIN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
APPROPRIATE PRCEDURES FOR SUPERVISION AND CONTROL WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES INVOLVING THE TRADING OF
MUTUAL FUNDS; VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342.16 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
REVIEW AND MAINTAIN CERTAIN INCOMING AND OUTGOING
COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BUPLIC AND VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF
THE SEC ACT OF 1934, SEC RULES 17(A)3 AND 17(A)4 AND EXCHANGE
RULE 440 IN THAT IT FAILED TO MAKE AND/OR PRESERVE ACCURATE
BOOKS AND RECORDS REFLECTING AND/OR RELATING TO ORDERS
AND/OR CONFIRMATION FOR MUTUAL FUNDS TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED
BY FIRM EMPLOYEES IN ANNUITY SUB-ACCOUNTS HELD AWAY FROM THE
FIRM - CONSENT TO CENSURE.  AND A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$13,500,000.00 - HOWEVER, THIS SHALL BE WAIVED IN CONSIDERATION OF
A $10,000,000.00 FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY AND A
PAYMENT TOTALLING $3,500,000.00 IN FURTHERANCE OF A SETTLEMENT
WITH THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT.  THE PAYMENT TO CT WILL BE PAID AS
FOLLOWS:  $1,000,000.00 AS MONETARY PENALTY; A COMMITMENT TO
SPEND AN ADDITIONAL $2,000,000.00 OVER THE NEXT FOUR YEARS TO
THE FIRM'S "INVESTING PAYS OFF" INVESTOR TRAINING RELATED TO
FINANCIAL ISSUES.  THE FIRM SHALL COMPLETE AN UNDERTAKING TO
INFORM THE EXCHANGE IN WRITING THAT IT HAS COMPLIED WITH
CERTAIN CONDITIONS SET FORTH IN THE HEARING PANEL DECISION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING GUILT, MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO
A FINDING BY THE HEARING PANEL THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED EXCHANGE
RULE 342 BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE CERTAIN BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342.16 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
REVIEW AND MAINTAIN CERTAIN INCOMING AND OUTGOING
COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE PUBLIC AND THAT IT VIOLATED SECTION
17(A) OF THE SEC ACT OF 1934 IN THAT IT FAILED TO MAKE AND/OR
PRESERVE ACCURATE RECORDS RELATING TO ORDERS EXECUTED BY
FIRM EMPLOYEES IN VARIABLE ANNUITY PRODUCT SUB-ACCOUNTS HELD
AWAY FROM THE FIRM. THE FIRM HAS AGREED TO AN UNDERTAKING TO
INFORM THE EXCHANGE IN WRITING THAT IT HAS ISSUED A GLOBAL
COMPLIANCE ALERT COMMUNICATION DETAILING THE FIRM'S POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES REGARDING INCOMING AND OUTGOING
CORRESPONDENCE AS SET FORTH IN THE COMPLIANCE OUTLINE AND
BRANCH OFFICE POLICY MANUAL.  THE FIRM WILL ALSO IMPLEMENT A
POLICY AND PROCEDURE ADDRESSING HOW FINANCIAL ADVISORS
SHOULD DEAL WITH INSTRUCTIONS FROM CLIENTS TO TRADE MUTUAL
FUNDS POSITIONS IN ACCOUNTS HELD OUTSIDE OF MERRILL LYNCH.  THE
COMMENCEMENT OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF TECHNOLOGY TO ALLOW
THE RECORDING OF CLIENT REALLOCATION REQUESTS REGARDING THE
UNDERLYING ACCOUNTS OF NON-PROPRIETARY VARIABLE ANNUITY
PRODUCTS WHERE SUCH REQUETS ARE RELAYED FROM A CLIENT TO
THE INSURANCE CARRIER THROUGH A MERRILL LYNCH EMPLOYEE.  AND,
THE IMPLEMENTATION BY FINANCAIL DATA SERVICES ("FDS"), AN
AFFILIATE OF MERRILL LYNCH, OF A PROCEDURE REQUIRING FDS TO
PROVIDE CLIENT TAX ID NUMBERS TO NSCC WHEN TRANSMITTING
ORDERS TO MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES ON BEHALF OF MERRILL LYNCH
CLIENTS TO BUY/SELL MUTUAL FUNDS POSITIONS, PROVIDED THE
MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES ELECT TO RECEIVE THE TAX ID NUMBER.

Disclosure 382 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Allegations: NASD RULE 6230(C)(6) - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH FAILED
TO REPORT TO TRACE THE CORRECT CONTRA-PARTY IDENTIFIER OF
TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/09/2004

Docket/Case Number: CMS040172

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Resolution Date: 11/09/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTION AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS, THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS FINED $5,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 11/09/2004

Docket/Case Number: CMS040172

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TRACE-ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO REPORT TO TRACE THE
CORRECT CONTRA-PARTY INDENTIFIER OF TRANSACTIONS IN TRACE-
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 11/09/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS AND A $5,000 FINE PAID 12-14-
2004.

Firm Statement SEE ITEM 12C

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 383 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/30/2004

Docket/Case Number: CAF040088

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ARTICLE V, SECTIONS 2(C) AND 3(B) OF NASD'S BY-LAWS, NASD RULES
2110, 3010 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
FILED AT LEAST 1,420 LATE AMENDMENTS TO FORMS U4 AND U5,
REPRESENTING APPROXIMATELY 30% OF THE REQUIRED AMENDMENTS
RELATING TO REPORTABLE CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS, TERMINATIONS,
REGULATORY ACTIONS, AND CRIMINAL DISCLOSURES. IN ADDITION, NASD
FOUND THAT THE FIRM FILED 36 INCORRECT DISCLOSUES OF BRANCH
OFFICE ADDRESSES ON FORM U4 AND IN 12 INSTANCES, FAILED TO FILE
DISCLOSURES ON FORM U4 RELATING TO ARBITRATIONS AND CUSOTMER
COMPLAINTS. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS
ARTICLE V REPORTING OBLIGATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 11/30/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PROHIBITION, UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS, THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $1,600,000 WHICH
SHALL BE PAID WITHIN 10 DAYS OF NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC. THE FIRM SHALL BE PROHIBITED FROM REGISTERING ANY
ASSOCIATED PERSONS, IN A NON-SUPERVISORY SALES CAPACITY, FOR
FIVE CONSECUTIVE BUSINESS DAYS. PROMPTLY FOLLOWING NOTICE OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM'S INTERNAL AUDIT DEPT. OR
PERSONNEL NOT DIRECTLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE FIRM'S ARTICLE V
REPORTING OBLIGATIONS AND THEIR IMMEDIATE SUPERVISORS SHALL
CONDUCT AN AUDIT FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1, 2004 THROUGH
SEPTEMBER 30, 2004 TO ASSESS THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS SYSTEM
AND PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING TIMELY FILING OF FORM U4 AND U5
AMENDMENTS AND SHALL PREPARE A WRITTEN REPORT SUMMARIZING
FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND SHALL FOR THE NEXT FOUR
CALENDAR QUARTERS BEGINNING FOURTH QUARTER 2004, CONDUCT A
SIMILAR AUDIT AND PREPARE A SIMILAR WRITTEN AUDIT REPORT. NO
LATER THAN 90 DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, AN
OFFICER OF THE FIRM SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING TO NASD THAT AN
AUDIT WAS CONDUCTED AND THE OFFICER HAS REVIEWED THE
CURRENT AUDIT REPORT. NO LATER THAN 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF
THE REPORT, AN OFFICER SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING TO NASD THAT THE
FIRM HAS IMPLEMENTED, OR HAS BEGUN TO IMPLEMENT, ANY
RECOMMENDATIONS WITHIN A SPECIFIED TIME PERIOD. NO LATER THAN
60 DAYS AFTER THE LAST DAY OF THE NEXT FOUR QUARTERS, AN
OFFICER SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING TO NASD THAT AN AUDIT WAS
CONDUCTED, THE CURRENT AUDIT REPORT WAS REVIEWED, AND
RECOMMENDATIONS IMPLEMENTED, OR BEGUN TO BE IMPLEMENTED. NO
LATER THAN SIX MONTHS AFTER NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC,
AN OFFICER SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING TO NASD THAT THE FIRM HAS
REVIEWED ITS SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES FOR COMPLYING WITH ITS
ARTICLE V REPORTING OBLIGATIONS AND HAS ESTABLISHED A SYSTEM
AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,600,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS, THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $1,600,000 WHICH
SHALL BE PAID WITHIN 10 DAYS OF NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC. THE FIRM SHALL BE PROHIBITED FROM REGISTERING ANY
ASSOCIATED PERSONS, IN A NON-SUPERVISORY SALES CAPACITY, FOR
FIVE CONSECUTIVE BUSINESS DAYS. PROMPTLY FOLLOWING NOTICE OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM'S INTERNAL AUDIT DEPT. OR
PERSONNEL NOT DIRECTLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE FIRM'S ARTICLE V
REPORTING OBLIGATIONS AND THEIR IMMEDIATE SUPERVISORS SHALL
CONDUCT AN AUDIT FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1, 2004 THROUGH
SEPTEMBER 30, 2004 TO ASSESS THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ITS SYSTEM
AND PROCEDURES FOR ENSURING TIMELY FILING OF FORM U4 AND U5
AMENDMENTS AND SHALL PREPARE A WRITTEN REPORT SUMMARIZING
FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND SHALL FOR THE NEXT FOUR
CALENDAR QUARTERS BEGINNING FOURTH QUARTER 2004, CONDUCT A
SIMILAR AUDIT AND PREPARE A SIMILAR WRITTEN AUDIT REPORT. NO
LATER THAN 90 DAYS AFTER NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC, AN
OFFICER OF THE FIRM SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING TO NASD THAT AN
AUDIT WAS CONDUCTED AND THE OFFICER HAS REVIEWED THE
CURRENT AUDIT REPORT. NO LATER THAN 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF
THE REPORT, AN OFFICER SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING TO NASD THAT THE
FIRM HAS IMPLEMENTED, OR HAS BEGUN TO IMPLEMENT, ANY
RECOMMENDATIONS WITHIN A SPECIFIED TIME PERIOD. NO LATER THAN
60 DAYS AFTER THE LAST DAY OF THE NEXT FOUR QUARTERS, AN
OFFICER SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING TO NASD THAT AN AUDIT WAS
CONDUCTED, THE CURRENT AUDIT REPORT WAS REVIEWED, AND
RECOMMENDATIONS IMPLEMENTED, OR BEGUN TO BE IMPLEMENTED. NO
LATER THAN SIX MONTHS AFTER NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC,
AN OFFICER SHALL CERTIFY IN WRITING TO NASD THAT THE FIRM HAS
REVIEWED ITS SYSTEM AND PROCEDURES FOR COMPLYING WITH ITS
ARTICLE V REPORTING OBLIGATIONS AND HAS ESTABLISHED A SYSTEM
AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.

Regulator Statement THE FIRM CANNOT REGISTER ANY ASSOCIATED PERSONS, IN A NON-
SUPERVISORY SALES CAPACITY EFFECTIVE JANUARY 24, 2005 TO CLOSE
OF BUSINESS JANUARY 28, 2005.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE, PROHIBITION AND UNDERTAKINGS

Date Initiated: 11/30/2004

Docket/Case Number: CAF040088

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THE MERRILL LYNCH VIOALTED NASD RULES BY FILING
LATE  AMENDMENTS TO FORMS U4 AND U5.  ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM HAD INCORRECT OFFICE ADDRESSES ON FORM
U4 AND FAILED TO REPORT DISCLOSURES IN 12 INSTANCES. IT WAS
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
WERE NOT REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH ITS
REPORTING OBLIGATIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/30/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PROHIBITIONS, UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS.  THE FIRM IS
CENSURED, FINED (PAID BY DECEMBER 10, 2004), AND PROHIBITED FROM
REGISTERING ANY ASSOCIATED PERSONS IN A NON-SUPERVISORY SALES
CAPACITY FOR 5 CONSECUTIVE BUSINESS DAYS (JANUARY 24, 2005 -
JANUARY 28, 2005). THE FIRM SHALL CONDUCT PERIODIC AUDITS AND
REPORT ITS FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS. ADDITIONALLY, AN
OFFICER OF THE FIRM SHALL PERIODICALLY CERTIFY IN WRITING TO THE
NASD THAT THE AUDITS WERE DONE AND THAT THE RECOMMENDATIONS
HAVE BEEN IMPLEMENTED OR ARE IN THE PROCESS OF BEING
IMPLEMENTED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,600,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS.  THE FIRM IS
CENSURED, FINED (PAID BY DECEMBER 10, 2004), AND PROHIBITED FROM
REGISTERING ANY ASSOCIATED PERSONS IN A NON-SUPERVISORY SALES
CAPACITY FOR 5 CONSECUTIVE BUSINESS DAYS (JANUARY 24, 2005 -
JANUARY 28, 2005). THE FIRM SHALL CONDUCT PERIODIC AUDITS AND
REPORT ITS FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS. ADDITIONALLY, AN
OFFICER OF THE FIRM SHALL PERIODICALLY CERTIFY IN WRITING TO THE
NASD THAT THE AUDITS WERE DONE AND THAT THE RECOMMENDATIONS
HAVE BEEN IMPLEMENTED OR ARE IN THE PROCESS OF BEING
IMPLEMENTED.

Firm Statement SEE ITEM 12C.

Disclosure 384 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/20/2004

Docket/Case Number: CMS040146

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULES 6420(A) AND
6620(A) - RESPONDENT MEMBER FAILED WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES; FAILED TO DESIGNATE
THROUGH ACT SUCH LAST SALE REPORTS AS LATE; INCORRECTLY
DESIGNATED AS LATE TO ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES; AND, FAILED WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY SECURITIE AND FAILED TO DESIGNATE
THROUGH ACT SUCH LAST SALE REPORTS AS LATE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/20/2004

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
MEMBER CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS, THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED
$27,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $27,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/20/2004

Docket/Case Number: CMS040146

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY LISTED (COMMON & PREFERRED STOCK)

Allegations: IS IS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 AND
MARKETPLACE RULES 6420(A) AND 6620(A).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/20/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE MEMBER FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS AND DESCRIBED SANCTIONS
INCLUDING A CENSURE AND FINE OF $27,000 PAID ON 9/20/2004.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $27,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE MEMBER FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS AND DESCRIBED SANCTIONS
INCLUDING A CENSURE AND FINE OF $27,000 PAID ON 9/20/2004.

Disclosure 385 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/20/2004

Docket/Case Number: CMS040131

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULE 3370 AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6130(D) -
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. EFFECTED 9 SHORT SALE
TRANSACTIONS IN CERTAIN SECURITIES AND FAILED TO MAKE AN
AFFIRMATIVE DETERMINATION PRIOR TO EFFECTING SUCH
TRANSACTION. IN ADDITION, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INC. FAILED TO REPORT TO AUTOMATED CONFIRMATION TRANSACTION
SERVICE ("ACT") THE CORRECT SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER THE
TRANSACTION WAS A BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT, SELL SHORT EXEMPT OR
CROSS FOR 202 TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/20/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS
CENSURED AND FINED $9,000 (COMPOSED OF A $3,000 FINE FOR THE
AFFIRMATIVE DETERMINATION VIOLATIONS AND A $6,000 FINE FOR THE
ACT REPORTING VIOLATIONS).

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED
SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS
CENSURED AND FINED $9,000 (COMPOSED OF A $3,000 FINE FOR THE
AFFIRMATIVE DETERMINATION VIOLATIONS AND A $6,000 FINE FOR THE
ACT REPORTING VIOLATIONS).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/20/2004

Docket/Case Number: CMS040131

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFID SECURITIES

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD CONDUCT RULE 3370
AND MARKETPLACE RULE 613(D) IN THAT IT FAILED TO MAKE AN
AFFIRMATIVE DETERMINATION PRIOR TO 9 SHORT SALE TRANSACTIONS
AND FAILED TO REPORT THE CORRECT SYMBOLS AND TYPE OF
TRANSACTION ON 202 TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/20/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 13 BELOW

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
AGREED TO AN AWC, CENSURE AND A FINE OF $9,000 (PAID AS OF
8/20/2004).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 386 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: FLORIDA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/17/2004

Docket/Case Number: 0133-S-4/04

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: UNREGISTERED BRANCH ACTIVITY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/17/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: NA

Regulator Statement UNREISTERED BRANCH ACTIVITY.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FLORIDA

Date Initiated: 06/17/2004

Docket/Case Number: 0133-S-4/04

Principal Product Type: No Product

Allegations: UNREGISTERED BRANCH ACTIVITY

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/17/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement DUE TO ADMINISTRATIVE ERROR, 2 OFFICES WERE NOT PROPERLY
LICENSED WITH THE STATE OF FLORIDA.  THEY WERE LICENSED WITH TH
ENASD AND NYSE.  FIRM AGREED TO THE STIPULATION SET FORTH
ABOVE.  (FINE PAID AS OF 6/17/2004.)

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 387 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Date Initiated: 07/19/2004

Docket/Case Number: CAF040054

Allegations: NASD RULE 2110, IM-10100 - MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED FAILED TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS
UNDER THE CODE OF ARBITRATION PROCEDURE OR UNDER OTHER
APPLICABLE SELF-REGULATORY CODES OF ARBITRATION IN SEVEN
ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS AND FAILED TO PRODUCE DOCUMENTS
SOUGHT BY THE CLAIMANT IN EACH CASE. IN MOST OF THE
PROCEEDINGS, AFTER DOCUMENTS HAD NOT BEEN PRODUCED,
MOTIONS TO COMPEL WERE FILED AND GRANTED BY THE ARBITRATON
PANELS, AND ORDERS WERE ISSUED BY THE ARBITRATION PANELS
REQUIRING THE FIRM TO PRODUCE DOCUMENTS BY SPECIFIC DATES,
AND DESPITE THE ORDERS, THE FIRM FAILED TO PRODUCE DOCUMENTS
AS REQUIRED. THE ARBITRATION PANELS SANCTIONED THE FIRM FOR
THESE DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS ON AMOUNTS RANGING FROM $1,300 TO
$52,000.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: CAF040054

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 07/19/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS, THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $250,000, AND
REQUIRED TO, WITHIN 30 DAYS OF ISSUANCE OF THIS AWC, TO NOTIFY
ALL COUNSEL HANDLING ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS FOR THE FIRM OF
THE FIRM'S POLICY TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY REQUIREMENTS AND
TO COMPLY WITH ALL ORDERS OF ARBITRATION PANELS RELATING TO
DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS; ESTABLISH A WRITTEN PROCEDURE FOR
REVIEW BY AN ATTORNEY WITH MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES IN THE
LAW DEPT. OF THE FIRM OF ANY ORDER BY AN ARB PANEL GRANTING A
MOTION TO COMPEL AND REQUIRING THE FIRM TO PRODUCE
DOCUMENTS; ESTABLISH A WRITTEN PROCEDURE FOR REVIEW BY A
FIRST VICE PRESIDENT OR SIMILAR OFFICER OF THE FIRM WITH
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PRIVATE CLIENT LITIGATION OF ANY INSTANCE
WHERE AN ARB PANEL HAS SANCTIONED THE FIRM FOR VIOLATION OF
DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS OR FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH AN ORDER
OF THE ARB PANEL REGARDING DISCOVERY MATTERS. THE FIRST VICE
PRESIDENT OR SIMILAR OFFICER SHALL REVIEW SUCH INSTANCES TO
ENSURE THE APPROPRIATE STEPS ARE TAKEN. AT SIX MONTHS AND ONE
YEAR FROM DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL CONFIRM TO NASD THAT
THE FIRM HAS COMPLIED WITH THESE PROCEDURES AND INFORM NASD
ON THOSE DATES OF ANY REVIEW BY THE FIRST VICE PRESIDENT OR
SIMILAR OFFICER AND ANY ACTIONS TAKEN IN RESPONSE TO SUCH
REVIEW.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS, THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $250,000, AND
REQUIRED TO, WITHIN 30 DAYS OF ISSUANCE OF THIS AWC, TO NOTIFY
ALL COUNSEL HANDLING ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS FOR THE FIRM OF
THE FIRM'S POLICY TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY REQUIREMENTS AND
TO COMPLY WITH ALL ORDERS OF ARBITRATION PANELS RELATING TO
DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS; ESTABLISH A WRITTEN PROCEDURE FOR
REVIEW BY AN ATTORNEY WITH MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES IN THE
LAW DEPT. OF THE FIRM OF ANY ORDER BY AN ARB PANEL GRANTING A
MOTION TO COMPEL AND REQUIRING THE FIRM TO PRODUCE
DOCUMENTS; ESTABLISH A WRITTEN PROCEDURE FOR REVIEW BY A
FIRST VICE PRESIDENT OR SIMILAR OFFICER OF THE FIRM WITH
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PRIVATE CLIENT LITIGATION OF ANY INSTANCE
WHERE AN ARB PANEL HAS SANCTIONED THE FIRM FOR VIOLATION OF
DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS OR FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH AN ORDER
OF THE ARB PANEL REGARDING DISCOVERY MATTERS. THE FIRST VICE
PRESIDENT OR SIMILAR OFFICER SHALL REVIEW SUCH INSTANCES TO
ENSURE THE APPROPRIATE STEPS ARE TAKEN. AT SIX MONTHS AND ONE
YEAR FROM DATE OF THIS AWC, THE FIRM SHALL CONFIRM TO NASD THAT
THE FIRM HAS COMPLIED WITH THESE PROCEDURES AND INFORM NASD
ON THOSE DATES OF ANY REVIEW BY THE FIRST VICE PRESIDENT OR
SIMILAR OFFICER AND ANY ACTIONS TAKEN IN RESPONSE TO SUCH
REVIEW.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/19/2004

Docket/Case Number: CAF040054

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY
OBLIGATIONS IN 7 PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO THE APPLICABLE CODE
OF ARBITRATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/19/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13 BELOW

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE AWC. THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED (PAID
7/19/2004) AND REQUIRED TO NOTIFY ALL COUNSEL HANDLING
ARBITRATION MATTERS OF THE FIRM'S POLICY OF COMPLYING WITH
DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS AND ORDERS FROM ARBITRATION PANELS
RELATING TO DISCOVERY. THE FIRM ALSO WILL ESTABLISH WRITTEN
PROCEDURES AS FOLLOWS: (1) REQUIRE AN ATTORNEY IN OGC TO
REVIEW ANY ORDER BY AN ARBITRATION PANEL GRANTING A MOTION TO
COMPEL; (2) REQUIRE REVIEW BY FVP OR SIMILAR OFFICER OF ANY
SANCTIONS BY AN ARB PANEL FOR DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS TO ENSURE
PROPER STEPS ARE TAKEN; AND (3) AT 6 MONTHS AND 1 YEAR THE FIRM
SHALL CONFIRM TO THE NASD THAT  IT HAS COMPLIED WITH THE AWC
AND INFORM THE NASD OF ANY FVP REVIEWS AND THE ACTIONS TAKEN
PURSUANT TO THE FVP REVIEW.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE AWC. THE FIRM WAS CENSURED, FINED (PAID
7/19/2004) AND REQUIRED TO NOTIFY ALL COUNSEL HANDLING
ARBITRATION MATTERS OF THE FIRM'S POLICY OF COMPLYING WITH
DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS AND ORDERS FROM ARBITRATION PANELS
RELATING TO DISCOVERY. THE FIRM ALSO WILL ESTABLISH WRITTEN
PROCEDURES AS FOLLOWS: (1) REQUIRE AN ATTORNEY IN OGC TO
REVIEW ANY ORDER BY AN ARBITRATION PANEL GRANTING A MOTION TO
COMPEL; (2) REQUIRE REVIEW BY FVP OR SIMILAR OFFICER OF ANY
SANCTIONS BY AN ARB PANEL FOR DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS TO ENSURE
PROPER STEPS ARE TAKEN; AND (3) AT 6 MONTHS AND 1 YEAR THE FIRM
SHALL CONFIRM TO THE NASD THAT  IT HAS COMPLIED WITH THE AWC
AND INFORM THE NASD OF ANY FVP REVIEWS AND THE ACTIONS TAKEN
PURSUANT TO THE FVP REVIEW.

Disclosure 388 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/28/2004

Docket/Case Number: C05040045

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): MUNICIPAL SECURITIES

Allegations: MSRB RULES G-17 AND G-30(A) - RESPONDENT MEMBER MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED RECEIVED REQUESTS FROM
PUBLIC CUSTOMERS TO LIQUIDATE TWELVE DIFFERENT MUNICIPAL
SECURITY POSITIONS.  RESPONDENT MEMBER CONTACTED A BROKER'S
BROKER AND OBTAINED BIDS FOR THE CUSTOMERS' SECURITIES.  BASED
ON THE BIDS PROVIDED BY THE BROKER'S BROKE, RESPONDENT
MEMBER PURCHASED THE SECURITIES FROM THE CUSTOMERS FOR ITS
OWN ACCOUNT AND THEN SOLD THE SECURITIES TO THE BROKER'S
BROKER AT A NOMINAL GAIN.  IN ALL TWELVE INSTANCES, THE PRICES
PAID TO THE CUSTOMERS, AND RECEIVED BY RESPONDENT MEMBER,
WERE BELOW THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF EACH SECURITY, IN AMOUNTS
RANGING FROM 11.76% TO 115.50%.  BY RELYING SOLELY ON THE BIDS
PROVIDED BY THE BROKER'S BROKER TO DETERMINE THE FAIR MARKET
VALUE OF THE SECURITY, RESPONDENT MEMBER FAILED TO ENSURE
THAT THE TRANSACTIONS WERE EXECUTED AT AGGREGATE PRICES THAT
WERE FAIR AND REASONABLE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/28/2004

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE RESPONDENT
MEMBER MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
CONSENTED TO THE FINDING OF THE ALLEGATIONS AND TO THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS: CENSURED AND FINED $55,000.00, AND SHALL
PAY RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMER IN THE AMOUNT OF $54,527.40, PLUS
INTEREST. SATISFACTORY PROOF OF PAYMENT OF RESTITUTION SHALL
BE PROVIDED TO NASD NO LATER THAN 90 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF
THIS AWC.  ADDITIONALLY, WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE ACCEPTANCE OF THIS
AWC, THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE NASD WITH A COPY OF ITS UPDATED
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AS THEY RELATE TO THE
DETERMINATION OF THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF MUNICIPAL SECURITIES
BEING BOUGHT OR SOLD FROM A PUBLIC CUSTOMER.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $55,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION AND UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 06/28/2004

Docket/Case Number: C05040045

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): MUNICIPAL SECURITIES

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THE THE FIRM BY RELYING ON BIDS FROM ONLY ONE
BROKER FAILED TO ENSURE THE 12 TRANSACTIONS IN
MUNICIAPLSECURITIES WERE EXECUTED AT AGGREGATE PRICES THAT
WERE FAIR IN REASONABLE

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 06/28/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
CONSENTED TO THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS: CENSURED AND FINE
$55,000 (PAID 6/28/2004); RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS OF $54,527.40
PLUS INTEREST; AND THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE THE NASD WITH A COPY
OF ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REALTING TO
DETERMINING THE FMV OF MUNICIPAL SECURITIES BEING BOUGHT AND
SOLD FROM A PUBLIC CUSTOMER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $55,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 389 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Date Initiated: 04/29/2004

Docket/Case Number: C05040022

Principal Product Type: Insurance

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 3010(A), 3010(B), 3010(C) - RESPONDENT MEMBER
FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE AN ADEQUATE SYSTEM
TO SUPERVISE AND MONITOR ACTIVITIES IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE
OF VARIABLE LIFE INSURANCE PRODUCTS. THE FIRM FAILED TO HAVE
SUFFICIENT PROCEDURES CONCERNING THE REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF
VARIABLE LIFE INSURANCE PURCHASES OTHER THAN REPLACEMENTS
AND PRINCIPALS WERE NOT GIVEN ADEQUATE SUITABILITY GUIDELINES
TO EVALUATE WHETHER REPLACING AN EXISTING CONTRACT WOULD
IMPROVE THE CLIENT'S POSITION CONSIDERING ENHANCEMENTS, COST
STRUCTURES, SUB-ACCOUNTS, AND SURRENDER CHARGES; THE FIRM
REQUIRED PRINCIPALS TO REVIEW ALL REPLACEMENT SALES AND
PROPRIETARY VARIABLE LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT SALES WHILE NON-
PROPRIETARY SALES THAT WERE NOT REPLACEMENTS WERE REVIEWED
ONLY AT THE DISCRETION OF THE REVIEWING PRINCIPAL.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/29/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INCORPORATED CONSENTED TO THE
DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS, THEREFORE,
THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $75,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $75,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/29/2004

Docket/Case Number: C05040022

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Variable

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT BETWEEN APRIL 1996 AND DECEMBER 1999,
MERILL LYNCH FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE AN
ADEQUATE SYSTEM TO SUPERVISE AND MONITOR ACTIVITIES IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF VARIABLE LIFE INSURANCE PRODUCTS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 04/26/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO A
SETTLEMENT AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE
OF $75,000 PAID ON 4/29/2004.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO A
SETTLEMENT AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE
OF $75,000 PAID ON 4/29/2004.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $75,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 390 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA; STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/30/2004

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2003-00041

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE COMMONWELTH OF VIRGINIA LODGED AN INVESTIGATION INTO
ALLEGATIONS OF UNSUITABLE TRADING BY FORMER FINANCIAL
ADVISORS IN THE ACCOUNTS OF TWO CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/30/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Order
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Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO MAKE RESTITUTION TO THE CUSTOMERS IN
THE AMOUNT OF $73,544.81 AND $268,723.12, RESPECTIVELY.

Firm Statement IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER AMICABLY, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED
TO OFFER RESTITUTION TO THE CUSTOMERS IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF
$342,267.93.  IN ADDITION, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS AS OUTLINED IN THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

Disclosure 391 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/03/2004

Docket/Case Number: HPD#: 04-30

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **02/03/2004**STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY NYSE
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS:  WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING GUILT, THE
FIRM CONSENTS TO:A. A FINDING BY THE HEARING PANEL THAT IT:1.
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO HAVE AND
REASONABLY IMPLEMENT APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES OF SUPERVISION
AND CONTROL TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE BY ITS EMPLOYEES WITH
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, EXCHANGE RULES AND FIRM POLICIES AND
TO PROVIDE A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW WITH
RESPECT TO THE DISSEMINATION OF MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC
INFORMATION AS IT RELATES TO CHANGES IN PENDING RESEARCH
REPORT RATINGS AND/OR EARNINGS ESTIMATES.
2. VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 401 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ADHERE
TO THE PRINCIPLES OF GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICES IN THAT IT FAILED
PREVENT THE PREMATURE DISSEMINATION BY ITS EMPLOYEES OF AN
ANALYSTS CHANGES IN RATINGS AND EARNINGS ESTIMATES.B. THE
IMPOSITION BY THE EXCHANGE OF THE PENALTY OF A: 1. CENSURE; AND
2. A FINE OF $625,000.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Decision 946©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Resolution Date: 04/08/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **3/8/04**DECISION 04-30 ISSUED BY THE HEARING PANEL
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO HAVE AND
REASONABLY IMPLEMENT APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES OF SUPERVISION
AND CONTROL TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE BY ITS EMPLOYEES WITH
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS, EXCHANGE RULES AND FIRM POLICIES AND
TO PROVIDE A SEPARATE SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW WITH
RESPECT TO THE DISSEMINATION OF MATERIAL NON-PUBLIC
INFORMATION AS IT RELATES TO CHANGES IN PENDING RESEARCH
REPORT RATINGS AND/OR EARNINGS ESTIMATES, AND VIOLATED
EXCHANGE RULE 401 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ADHERE TO THE
PRINCIPLES OF GOOD BUSINESS PRACTICES IN THAT IT FAILED PREVENT
THE PREMATURE DISSEMINATION BY ITS EMPLOYEES OF AN ANALYSTS
CHANGES IN RATINGS AND EARNINGS ESTIMATES - CONSENT TO
CENSURE AND $625,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **04/08/2004**THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND EFFECTIVE
IMMEDIATELY.CONTACT: MICHELE VAN TASSEL 212-656-5340

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $625,000.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 05/12/2004

Docket/Case Number: HPD# 04-30

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT MERILL LYNCH VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 342 &
401 IN THAT IT FAILED TO HAVE AND REASONABLY IMPLEMENT
APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE BY ITS
EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE DISSEMINATION OF MATERIAL NON-
PUBLIC INFORMATION AS IT RELATED TO CHANGES IN PENDING
RESEARCH REPORT RATINGS AND/OR EARNINGS ESTIMATES.  THE
ALLEGATIONS ARE BASED ON ONE SPECIFIC OCCURRENCE IN JULY 2002.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 05/12/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A
CENSURE AND AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OF $625,000 PAID ON 5/12/2004.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A
CENSURE AND AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OF $625,000 PAID ON 5/12/2004.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $625,000.00

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 392 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/23/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030296

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULE 6130(D) - RESPONDENT MEMBER FAILED TO REPORT TO THE
AUTOMATED CONFIRMATION TRANSACTION SERVICE (ACT) THE CORRECT
SYMBOL INDICATING WHETHER THE TRANSACTION WAS A BUY, SELL, SELL
SHORT, SELL SHORT EXEMPT OR CROSS FOR TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES;

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/23/2003

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS, THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $9,000.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/23/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030296

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD MARKETPLACE RULE
6130(D) IN THAT IT FAILED TO REPORT TO THE AUTOMATED
CONFIRMATION TRANSACTION SERVICE ("ACT") THE CORRECT SYMBOL
INDICATING WHETHER THE TRANSACTION WAS A BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT,
SELL SHORT EXEMPT OR CROSS FOR SPECIFIC TRANSACTIONS IN
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/23/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 13 BELOW.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 13 BELOW.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $9000 FINE.

Disclosure 393 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/21/2003

Docket/Case Number: 02-02

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH, INC. ("MERRILL")VIOLATED
EXCHANGE RULE 208 AND ARTICLE V, SECTION 4(H) OF THE EXCHANGE
CONSTITUTION IN THAT THE FIRM DID NOT AGGREGATE MULTIPLE ODD-
LOT ORDERS ENTERED BY A CUSTOMER THROUGH THE FIRM'S POST
EXECUTION REPORTING SYSTEM ("PER") CONNECTION TO THE
EXCHANGE FLOOR.  MERRILL VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320(B) IN THAT
THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE POLICIES OR PROCEDURES IN
PLACE DESIGNED TO DETECT OR PREVENT AN ACCOUNT OR RELATED
ACCOUNTS FROM ENTERING MULTIPLE ODD-LOT ORDERS, RATHER THAN
LARGER ROUND LOT ORDERS, INTO THE FIRM'S PER SYSTEM.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/04/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Stipulation and Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL WAS CENSURED AND FINED $30,000.

Regulator Statement PLEASE CONTACT THE ENFORCEMENT DEPARTMENT OF THE AMERICAN
STOCK EXCHANGE FOR RUTHER DETAILS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/14/2003

Docket/Case Number: 02-02

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 208 AND
ARTICLE V, SECTION 4(H) OF THE EXCHANGE CONSTITUTION IN THAT THE
FIRM DID NOT AGGREGATE MULTIPLE ODD-LOT ORDERS ENTERED BY A
CUSTOMER THROUGH THE FIRM'S PER CONNECTION TO THE EXCHANGE
FLOOR.  IT WAS FURTHER ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT HAVE
REASONABLE POLICIES OR PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO DETECT OR
PREVENT THIS VIOLATION FROM OCCURRING.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/14/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 13 BELOW.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A
CENSURE AND A $30,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 394 of 595

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/31/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030251

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): OPTION CONTRACTS

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110, 2860(B)(5)(A), 2860(B)(3)(A)(V), AND 3010 -
RESPONDENT MEMBER ("FIRM') FAILED TO FILE WITH NASD A REPORT
WITH RESPECT TO EACH ACCOUNT WHICH HAD ESTABLISHED AN
AGGREGATE POSITION OF 200 OR MORE CONVENTIONAL OPTION
CONTRACTS (WHETHER LONG OR SHORT) OF THE PUT CLASS AND CALL
CLASS ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET COVERING THE SAME
UNDERLYING SECURITY OR INDEX. IN CONNECTION WITH THE
FACILITATION OF AN OTC COLLAR TRANSACTION FOR A CUSTOMER, FIRM
ESTABLISHED A SHORT STOCK POSITION IN AN EQUITY SECURITY IN
COMPLIANCE WITH NASD RULE 2860(B)(3)(A)(V). THEREAFTER, FIRM
FAILED TO MAINTAIN THE SIZE OF ITS SHORT STOCK POSITION IN THE
SECURITY IN COMPLIANCE WITH NASD RULE 2860(B)(3)(A)(V). IN ADDITION,
THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION
REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO
THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS CONCERNING
THE REPORTING OF OPTIONS POSITIONS TO NASD. SPECIFICALLY, THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES PROVIDING FOR: (1) THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE
PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR MONITORING WITH RESPECT TO THE
APPLICABLE RULES; (2) A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEP(S) TO
BE TAKE BY THE IDENTIFIED PERSON(S); (3) A STATEMENT AS TO HOW
OFTEN SUCH PERSON(S) SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEP(S); AND (4) A
STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE COMPLETION OF THE STEP(S) INCLUDE IN
THE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES SHOULD BE DOCUMENTED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/31/2003

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT FIRM
CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS; THEREFORE, FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $12,500, AND
REQUIRED TO UNDERTAKE TO REVISE THE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS CONCERNING THE REPORTING OF OPTIONS POSITIONS TO
NASD WITHIN 30 DAYS.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/31/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030251

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110,
2860(B)(5)(A), 2860(B)(A)(V) AND 3010 IN THAT IT FAILED TO FILE A REPORT
WITH THE NASD WITH RESPECT TO EACH ACCOUNT WHICH HAD
ESTABLISHED AN AGGREGATE POSITION OF 200 OR MORE
CONVENTIONAL OPTION CONTRACTS ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET
COVERING THE SAME UNDERLYING SECURITY OR INDEX.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/31/2003

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 13 BELOW.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $12,500 FINE.  IN ADDITION TO
THE MONETARY PENALTY, THE FIRM AGREED TO AN UNDERTAKING IN
WHICH IT WOULD REVISE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS
CONCERNING THE REPORTING OF OPTION CONTRACTS TO THE NASD
WITHIN 30 DAYS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Disclosure 395 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/19/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030215

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULE 3320, NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 4613(B), AND SEC
RULE 11AC1-1 - RESPONDENT MEMBER ("FIRM") WAS A MARKET MAKER IN
SECURITIES, AND AN ORDER WAS PRESENTED TO THE FIRM AT THE
FIRM'S PUBLISHED BID OR PUBLISHED OFFER IN AN AMOUNT UP TO ITS
PUBLISHED QUOTATION SIZE. THE FIRM FAILED TO EXECUTE THE ORDERS
UPON PRESENTMENT AND THEREBY FAILED TO HONOR ITS PUBLISHED
QUOTATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/19/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $6,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
MEMBER CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED
$6,000.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/19/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030215

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES.

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD CONDUCT RULES 3320,
NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 4613(B) AND SEC RULE 11AC1-1, IN THAT IT
FAILED TO HONOR ITS PUBLISHED QUOTATION FOR SPECIFIC
TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/13/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 13 BELOW.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $6,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $6,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 396 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6620(A) -
RESPONDENT MEMBER ("FIRM") FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY SECURITIES, AND FAILED TO DESIGNATE
THROUGH ACT SUCH LAST SALE REPORTS AS LATE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/27/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030195

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6620(A) -
RESPONDENT MEMBER ("FIRM") FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER
EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT THROUGH ACT LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY SECURITIES, AND FAILED TO DESIGNATE
THROUGH ACT SUCH LAST SALE REPORTS AS LATE.

Resolution Date: 08/27/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
MEMBER CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED
$8,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $8,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Date Initiated: 08/27/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030195

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110
AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6620 IN THAT IT FAILED TO TIMELY
TRANSMIT TO THE AUTOMATED CONFIRMATION TRANSACTION SERVICE
("ACT") CERTAIN LAST SALE REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY
SECURITIES, AND FAILED TO DESIGNATE THROUGHT ACT SUCH LAST
SALE REPORTS AS LATE.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: CMS030195

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 08/27/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO A AWC
AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $8000.00 FINE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO A AWC
AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $8000.00 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $8,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 397 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: UTAH DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/09/2002

Docket/Case Number: SD-02-0083

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESEARCH ANALYSTS CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/09/2002

Resolution: Order
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Resolution Date: 10/09/2002

Other Sanctions Ordered: PLEASE VISIT THE DIVISION'S WEB SITE AT:
HTTP://WWW.SECURITIES.STATE.UT.US/ACTIONSEVENTS.ASP?
DOCKET+NUMBER=SD%2D02%2D0083

Sanction Details: PLEASE VISIT THE DIVISION'S WEB SITE AT:
HTTP://WWW.SECURITIES.STATE.UT.US/ACTIONSEVENTS.ASP?
DOCKET+NUMBER=SD%2D02%2D0083

Regulator Statement TO VIEW THE CONSENT ORDER IN ITS ENTIRETY,PLEASE VISIT THE
DIVISION'S WEB SITE AT:
HTTP://WWW.SECURITIES.STATE.UT.US/ACTIONSEVENTS.ASP?
DOCKET+NUMBER=SD%2D02%2D0083

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: UTAH DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/09/2002

Docket/Case Number: SD-02-0083

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/09/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ENHANCEMENTS TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES.

Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 13 BELOW.

Firm Statement THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF UTAH IS A
PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF UTAH DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A
SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Settled
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THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF UTAH IS A
PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF UTAH DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A
SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Disclosure 398 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/23/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030142

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110, 2320(G), 3010 AND 3110(B)(2), AND SEC RULE
11AC1-4 - RESPONDENT MEMBER ("FIRM"), IN CONNECTION WITH SEVEN
TRANSACTIONS IN NON-NASDAQ SECURITIES, FAILED TO CONTACT AND
OBTAIN QUOTATIONS FROM DEALERS TO DETERMINE THE BEST INTER-
DEALER MARKET FOR EACH SUBJECT SECURITY. IN ADDITION, THE FIRM
FAILED TO DISPLAY IMMEDIATELY CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ
SECURITIES IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH SUCH ORDER WAS AT
A PRICE THAT WOULD HAVE IMPROVED FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH
SUCH SECURITY; OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO FIRM'S
BID OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR EACH SUCH
SECURITY, AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED MORE THAN A DE
MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED WITH FIRM'S BID
OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM
DID NOT PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS AND REGULATIONS CONCERNING OBTAINING AND DOCUMENTING
QUOTATIONS IN NON-NASDAQ SECURITIES. SPECIFICALLY, FIRM'S
SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES PROVIDING FOR: (1) THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE
PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION WITH RESPECT TO THE
APPLICABLE RULES; (2) A STATEMENT OF THE SUPERVISORY STEP(S) TO
BE TAKE BY THE IDENTIFIED PERSON(S); (3) A STATEMENT AS TO HOW
OFTEN SUCH PERSON(S) SHOULD TAKE SUCH STEP(S); AND (4) A
STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE COMPLETION OF THE STEP(S) INCLUDE IN
THE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES SHOULD BE DOCUMENTED.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 06/23/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
MEMBER CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED
$12,500, AND REQUIRED TO UNDERTAKE TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS CONCERNING OBTAINING AND
DOCUMENTING QUOTATIONS IN NON-NASDAQ SECURITIES WITHIN 30
DAYS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 06/23/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030142

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD RULES 2110, 2320(G),
3010 AND 3110(B)(2), AND SEC RULE 11AC1-4 IN THAT IT FAILED TO
DETERMINE THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET IN CONNECTION WITH
SEVEN TRANSACTIONS IN NON-NASDAQ SECURITIES.  IT WAS FURTHER
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO IMMEDIATELY DISPLAY CUSTOMER
LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES IN ITS PUBLIC QUOTATION.
FURTHER, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS NOT ADEQUATE TO
ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS
CONCERNING OBTAINING AND DOCUMENTING QUOTATIONS IN NON-
NASDAQ SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 06/23/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING.

Sanction Details: SEE FIELD 13.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $12,500 FINE.  IN ADDITION, THE
FIRM AGREED TO AN UNDERTAKING TO REVISE ITS SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS CONCERNING OBTAINING AND DOCUMENTING
QUOTATIONS IN NON-NASDAQ SECURITIES WITHIN 30 DAYS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $12,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 399 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CONNECTICUT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/30/2002

Docket/Case Number: CO-2002-6590-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IN ENTERING THE 9/30/2002 CONSENT ORDER, THE CONNECTICUT
BANKING COMMISSIONER ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM HAD ENGAGED IN
DISHONEST OR UNETHICAL BUSINESS PRACTICES IN CONJUNCTION WITH
ITS SECURITIES RESEARCH ACTIVITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
961©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 09/30/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PURSUANT TO THE CONSENT ORDER, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY $567,346
TO THE DEPARTMENT.  OF THAT AMOUNT, $525,000 CONSTITUTED AN
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE AND $42,346 REPRESENTED
REIMBURSEMENT FOR THE AGENCY'S LEGAL AND INVESTIGATIVE COSTS.
THE CONSENT ORDER ALSO DIRECTED THE FIRM TO IMPLEMENT
SPECIFIC REMEDIAL MEASURES, INCLUDING ENHANCED
DISCLOSURE OF UNDERWRITING COMPENSATION RELATING TO ENTITIES
COVERED BY RESEARCH REPORTS; DIVORCING RESEARCH ANALYST
EVALUATIONS FROM INVESTMENT BANKING CONSIDERATIONS;
ESTABLISHING A RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS COMMITTEE TO
ENSURE THAT EQUITY RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS WERE
OBJECTIVE; MONITORING ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN
INVESTMENT BANKERS AND EQUITY RESEARCH ANALYSTS; PROHIBITING
ANALYSTS FROM IMPLYING THAT THERE WOULD BE A QUID PRO QUO FOR
INVESTMENT BANKING TRANSACTIONS AWARDED TO THE FIRM; AND THE
DESIGNATION OF AN EMPLOYEE TO ACT AS COMPLIANCE MONITOR TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE POLICIES REFLECTED IN THE CONSENT
ORDER.

Sanction Details: SEE ABOVE.

Regulator Statement SEE ABOVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $525,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CONNECTICUT BANKING AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/30/2002

Docket/Case Number: CO-2002-6590-S

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 09/30/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ENHANCEMENTS TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES.

Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 13 BELOW.

Firm Statement THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT
IS A PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT DOES NOT
CONSTITUTE A SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $525,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 400 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **4/21/2003**STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY EXECUTED AND
SENT TO HEARING BOARD WITH THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS:
THE FIRM:(1)VIOLATED SECTIONS 15(C)(1) AND 15(C)(2) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE 15C1-2 THEREUNDER,
AND EXCHANGE RULES 476(A)(6), 401 AND 472, BY ISSUING RESEARCH
REPORTS ON GOTO AND INFOSPACE THAT WERE MATERIALLY
MISLEADING BECAUSE THEY WERE CONTRARY TO MERRILL LYNCH
RESEARCH ANALYSTS; PRIVATELY EXPRESSED NEGATIVE VIEWS,
RESULTING IN THE FIRM EFFECTING TRANSACTIONS IN, OR INDUCING
THE PURCHASE OR SALE OF, SECURITIES BY MEANS OF ACTS DEEMED
TO BE MANIPULATIVE, DECEPTIVE OR OTHERWISE FRAUDULENT DEVICES
OR CONTRIVANCES.(2)VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 476(A)(6) BY ENGAGING
IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE BY:A.ENGAGING IN ACTS AND PRACTICES THAT CREATED OR
MAINTAINED INAPPROPRIATE INFLUENCE BY INVESTMENT BANKING OVER
RESEARCH ANALYSTS, THEREFORE IMPOSING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
ON ITS RESEARCH ANALYSTS, AND FAILING TO MANAGE THESE
CONFLICTS IN AN ADEQUATE OR APPROPRIATE MANNER; AND B.ISSUING
RESEARCH REPORTS ON 24/7 MEDIA, INC., LIFEMINDERS, INC.,
HOMESTORE.COM,INC., EXCITE@HOME,  AND INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP
THAT WERE AFFECTED BY THE CONFLICTS OF INTEREST IMPOSED ON ITS
RESEARCH ANALYSTS AS DESCRIBED ABOVE.
**CONTINUED AT  #12C**

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/21/2003

Docket/Case Number: HPD#: 03-67

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

**4/21/2003**STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY EXECUTED AND
SENT TO HEARING BOARD WITH THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS:
THE FIRM:(1)VIOLATED SECTIONS 15(C)(1) AND 15(C)(2) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE 15C1-2 THEREUNDER,
AND EXCHANGE RULES 476(A)(6), 401 AND 472, BY ISSUING RESEARCH
REPORTS ON GOTO AND INFOSPACE THAT WERE MATERIALLY
MISLEADING BECAUSE THEY WERE CONTRARY TO MERRILL LYNCH
RESEARCH ANALYSTS; PRIVATELY EXPRESSED NEGATIVE VIEWS,
RESULTING IN THE FIRM EFFECTING TRANSACTIONS IN, OR INDUCING
THE PURCHASE OR SALE OF, SECURITIES BY MEANS OF ACTS DEEMED
TO BE MANIPULATIVE, DECEPTIVE OR OTHERWISE FRAUDULENT DEVICES
OR CONTRIVANCES.(2)VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 476(A)(6) BY ENGAGING
IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF
TRADE BY:A.ENGAGING IN ACTS AND PRACTICES THAT CREATED OR
MAINTAINED INAPPROPRIATE INFLUENCE BY INVESTMENT BANKING OVER
RESEARCH ANALYSTS, THEREFORE IMPOSING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
ON ITS RESEARCH ANALYSTS, AND FAILING TO MANAGE THESE
CONFLICTS IN AN ADEQUATE OR APPROPRIATE MANNER; AND B.ISSUING
RESEARCH REPORTS ON 24/7 MEDIA, INC., LIFEMINDERS, INC.,
HOMESTORE.COM,INC., EXCITE@HOME,  AND INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP
THAT WERE AFFECTED BY THE CONFLICTS OF INTEREST IMPOSED ON ITS
RESEARCH ANALYSTS AS DESCRIBED ABOVE.
**CONTINUED AT  #12C**

Resolution Date: 05/23/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CONSENT TO CENSURE, A TOTAL PAYMENT OF $200,000,000 AND AN
UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: **4/22/03**VIOLATED SEA SECTIONS 15(C)(1) AND 15(C)(2), SEC RULE 15C1-
2 AND EXCHANGE RULES 476 (A)(6), 401 AND 472 BY ISSUING CERTAIN
RESEARCH REPORTS THAT WERE MATERIALLY MISLEADING BECAUSE
THEY WERE CONTRARY TO MERRILL LYNCH RESEARCH ANALYSTS
PRIVATELY EXPRESSED VIEWS RESULTING IN THE FIRM EFFECTING
TRANSACTIONS IN OR INDUCING THE PURCHASE OR SALE OF
SECURITIES BY MANIPULATIVE, DECEPTIVE OR OTHERWISE FRAUDULENT
DEVICES; VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 476(A)(6) AND 401 BY ENGAGING IN
ACTS AND PRACTICES THAT CREATED OR MAINTAINED INAPPROPRIATE
INFLUENCE BY INVESTMENT BANKING OVER RESEARCH ANALYSTS,
THEREFORE IMPOSING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST ON ITS RESEARCH
ANALYSTS, BY FAILING TO MANAGE THESE CONFLICTS, AND BY ISSUING
CERTAIN RESEARCH REPORTS THAT WERE AFFECTED BY THE CONFLICTS
OF INTEREST; VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 472 BY ISSUING CERTAIN
RESEARCH REPORTS THAT CONTAINED RECOMMENDATIONS AND/OR
RATINGS THAT WERE EXAGGERATED OR UNWARRANTED AND/OR
CONTAINED OPINIONS FOR WHICH THERE WAS NO REASONABLE BASIS;
AND VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN POLICIES FOR SUPERVISION, SYSTEMS, AND PROCEDURES AND
CONTROL OF ITS RESEARCH AND INVESTMENT BANKING DEPARTMENTS
CONSENT TO CENSURE, A TOTAL PAYMENT OF $200,000,000 AND AN
UNDERTAKING.

Regulator Statement **5/23/03**THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND EFFECTIVE
IMMEDIATELY.CONTACT: EVELYN PENA 212-656-5211

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $200,000,000.00

Decision
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Regulator Statement **5/23/03**THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND EFFECTIVE
IMMEDIATELY.CONTACT: EVELYN PENA 212-656-5211

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE, INC.  #187

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

PAYMENTS FOR THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH AND TO
PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION, A CENSURE AND COMPLIANCE WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Date Initiated: 04/22/2003

Docket/Case Number: EXCHANGE HEARING PANEL DECISION 03-67.

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NYSE ALLEGED, AND MLPFS NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DEINED THE
ALLEGATIONS, THAT MLPFS VIOLATED SECTION 15(C) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND RULE 15C1-2 THERUNDER, AS WELL AS NYSE RULE 342,401,472
AND 476 IN CONNECTION WITH ITS INVESTIGATION INTO RESEARCH
ANALYSTS CONFLICTS OF INTEREST.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/19/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, AN NYSE HEARING
PANEL ACCEPTED A STIPULATION AND CONSENT ENTERED INTO
BETWEEN THE NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND MLPFS WHEREBY
MLPFS, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE NYSE'S ALLEGATIONS,
CONSENTED TO A CENSURE.  IN ADDITION, MLPFS AGREED TO A PAYMENT
OF:  (I) $100 MILLION, WHICH WAS OFFSET IN ITS ENTIRETY BY THE
AMOUNT ALREADY PAID BY MLPFS IN THE RELATED PROCEEDING WITH
THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND OTHER STATES; (II) $75 MILLION TO FUND
THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS; AND (III)
$25 MILLION TO PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION.  THE PAYMENTS FOR
THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS AND TO
PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION ARE REQUIRED TO BE MADE OVER THE
COURSE OF THE NEXT FIVE YEARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00

Stipulation and Consent
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PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, AN NYSE HEARING
PANEL ACCEPTED A STIPULATION AND CONSENT ENTERED INTO
BETWEEN THE NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND MLPFS WHEREBY
MLPFS, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE NYSE'S ALLEGATIONS,
CONSENTED TO A CENSURE.  IN ADDITION, MLPFS AGREED TO A PAYMENT
OF:  (I) $100 MILLION, WHICH WAS OFFSET IN ITS ENTIRETY BY THE
AMOUNT ALREADY PAID BY MLPFS IN THE RELATED PROCEEDING WITH
THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND OTHER STATES; (II) $75 MILLION TO FUND
THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS; AND (III)
$25 MILLION TO PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION.  THE PAYMENTS FOR
THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS AND TO
PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION ARE REQUIRED TO BE MADE OVER THE
COURSE OF THE NEXT FIVE YEARS.

Firm Statement AS PART OF A JOINT SETTLEMENT WITH THE SEC, THE NASD AND THE
NYSE ARISING FROM A JOINT INVESTIGATION BY THE SEC, THE NASD AND
THE NYSE INTO RESEARCH ANALYSTS CONFLICTS OF INTERST, MLPFS
ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE NYSE. PURSUANT TO THE
TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, WITH THE NYSE, AN NYSE HEARING PANEL
ACCEPTED A STIPULATION AND CONSENT ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE
NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND MLPFS WHEREBY MLPFS,
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE NYSE'S ALLEGATIONS,
CONSENTED TO A CENSURE.  IN ADDITION, MLPFS AGREED TO A PAYMENT
OF:  (I) $100 MILLION, WHICH WAS OFFSET IN ITS ENTIRETY BY THE
AMOUNT ALREADY PAID BY MLPFS IN THE RELATED PROCEEDING WITH
THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND OTHER STATES; (II) $75 MILLION TO FUND
THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS; AND (III)
$25 MILLION TO PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION.  THE PAYMENTS FOR
THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS AND TO
PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION ARE REQUIRED TO BE MADE OVER THE
COURSE OF THE NEXT FIVE YEARS.  MLPFS ALSO AGREED TO COMPLY
WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.  SIMILAR DISCLOSURE HAS BEEN MADE
WITH RESPECT TO THE DETAILS OF THE RELATED SETTLEMENTS WITH
THE SEC AND THE NASD ARISING FROM THE JOINT INVESTIGATION.

Disclosure 401 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110 AND 3010, NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6740,
AND SEC RULE 15C2-11 – RESPONDENT MEMBER ("FIRM") PUBLISHED
QUOTATIONS FOR A COMPANY, AN OTC EQUITY SECURITY, OR, DIRECTLY
OR INDIRECTLY, SUBMITTED SUCH QUOTATIONS FOR PUBLICATION, IN A
QUOTATION MEDIUM AND: (I) DID NOT HAVE IN ITS RECORDS THE
DOCUMENTATION REQUIRED BY SEC RULE 15C2-11(A); (II) DID NOT HAVE A
REASONABLE BASIS UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES FOR BELIEVING THAT
THE INFORMATION WAS ACCURATE IN ALL MATERIAL RESPECTS; OR (III)
DID NOT HAVE A REASONABLE BASIS UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES FOR
BELIEVING THAT THE SOURCES OF THE INFORMATION WERE RELIABLE.
THE QUOTATIONS DID NOT REPRESENT A CUSTOMER'S INDICATION OF
UNSOLICITED INTEREST. THE FIRM, FOR EACH QUOTATION, FAILED TO
FILE A FORM 211 WITH NASD AT LEAST THREE BUSINESS DAYS BEFORE
THE FIRM'S QUOTATIONS WERE PUBLISHED OR DISPLAYED IN A
QUOTATION MEDIUM. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS CONCERNING SEC RULE 15C2-11 AND NASD MARKETPLACE
RULE 6740. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES PROVIDING FOR (I) THE
IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION
WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE RULES; (II) A STATEMENT OF THE
SUPERVISORY STEP(S) TO BE TAKE BY THE IDENTIFIED PERSON(S); (III) A
STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH PERSON(S) SHOULD TAKE SUCH
STEP(S); AND (IV) A STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE COMPLETION OF THE
STEP(S) INCLUDE IN THE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES SHOULD
BE DOCUMENTED.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/28/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030108

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110 AND 3010, NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6740,
AND SEC RULE 15C2-11 – RESPONDENT MEMBER ("FIRM") PUBLISHED
QUOTATIONS FOR A COMPANY, AN OTC EQUITY SECURITY, OR, DIRECTLY
OR INDIRECTLY, SUBMITTED SUCH QUOTATIONS FOR PUBLICATION, IN A
QUOTATION MEDIUM AND: (I) DID NOT HAVE IN ITS RECORDS THE
DOCUMENTATION REQUIRED BY SEC RULE 15C2-11(A); (II) DID NOT HAVE A
REASONABLE BASIS UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES FOR BELIEVING THAT
THE INFORMATION WAS ACCURATE IN ALL MATERIAL RESPECTS; OR (III)
DID NOT HAVE A REASONABLE BASIS UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES FOR
BELIEVING THAT THE SOURCES OF THE INFORMATION WERE RELIABLE.
THE QUOTATIONS DID NOT REPRESENT A CUSTOMER'S INDICATION OF
UNSOLICITED INTEREST. THE FIRM, FOR EACH QUOTATION, FAILED TO
FILE A FORM 211 WITH NASD AT LEAST THREE BUSINESS DAYS BEFORE
THE FIRM'S QUOTATIONS WERE PUBLISHED OR DISPLAYED IN A
QUOTATION MEDIUM. THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
PROVIDE FOR SUPERVISION REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS CONCERNING SEC RULE 15C2-11 AND NASD MARKETPLACE
RULE 6740. SPECIFICALLY, THE FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT
INCLUDE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES PROVIDING FOR (I) THE
IDENTIFICATION OF THE PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR SUPERVISION
WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE RULES; (II) A STATEMENT OF THE
SUPERVISORY STEP(S) TO BE TAKE BY THE IDENTIFIED PERSON(S); (III) A
STATEMENT AS TO HOW OFTEN SUCH PERSON(S) SHOULD TAKE SUCH
STEP(S); AND (IV) A STATEMENT AS TO HOW THE COMPLETION OF THE
STEP(S) INCLUDE IN THE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES SHOULD
BE DOCUMENTED.

Resolution Date: 04/28/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING.

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
MEMBER CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED
$10,000, AND REQUIRED TO UNDERTAKE TO REVISE ITS WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS CONCERNING THE SEC RULE15C2-
11 AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6740 WITHIN 30 DAYS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110
AND 3010, NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6740, AND SEC RULE 15C2-11 AFTER
THE NASD CONDUCTED A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S QUOTING ACTIVITY ON A
SPECIFIC DATE FOR A SPECIFIED OTC SECURITY.  IT WAS FURTHER
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERCISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR
ADEQUATE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS AND REGULATIONS CONCERNING SEC RULE 15C2-11 AND NASD
MARKETPLACE RULE 6740.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/28/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030108

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110
AND 3010, NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6740, AND SEC RULE 15C2-11 AFTER
THE NASD CONDUCTED A REVIEW OF THE FIRM'S QUOTING ACTIVITY ON A
SPECIFIC DATE FOR A SPECIFIED OTC SECURITY.  IT WAS FURTHER
ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM'S SUPERCISORY SYSTEM DID NOT PROVIDE FOR
ADEQUATE COMPLIANCE WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS AND REGULATIONS CONCERNING SEC RULE 15C2-11 AND NASD
MARKETPLACE RULE 6740.

Resolution Date: 04/28/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $10,000 FINE.  IN ADDITION, THE
FIRM AGREED TO AN UNDERTAKING IN WHICH IT WILL REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE
APPLICABLE SECURITES LAWS AND REGULATIONS CONCERNING SEC
RULE 15C2-11 AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6740 WITHIN 30 DAYS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $10,000 FINE.  IN ADDITION, THE
FIRM AGREED TO AN UNDERTAKING IN WHICH IT WILL REVISE ITS
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO THE
APPLICABLE SECURITES LAWS AND REGULATIONS CONCERNING SEC
RULE 15C2-11 AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6740 WITHIN 30 DAYS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 402 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/21/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030093

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110, AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6955(A) -
RESPONDENT MEMBER REPORTED TO OATS EXECUTION REPORTS THAT
CONTAINED EITHER INACCURATE, INCOMPLETE, OR IMPROPERLY
FORMATTED DATA. SPECIFICALLY, THE REPORTS FAILED TO MATCH TO AN
ACT TRADE REPORT. RESPONDENT MEMBER ALSO TRANSMITTED TO
OATS REPORTS CONTAINING INACCURATE DATA AS TO THE: (1) RECEIVING
TERMINAL ID; (2) RECEIVING DEPARTMENT ID; AND (3) ORIGINATING
DEPARTMENT ID.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/21/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
MEMBER CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED
$10,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110
AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6955 IN THAT THE FIRM REPORTED
EXECUTION REPORTS TO ORDER AUDIT TRAIL ("OATS") THAT FAILED TO
MATCH TO AN ACT TRADE REPORT.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/21/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030093

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/21/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE FIELD 13

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $10,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 403 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/21/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030090

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Allegations: NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 4613(E)(1)(C) - RESPONDENT MEMBER, A
MARKET MAKER IN SECURITIES, WAS A PARTY TO A LOCKED OR CROSSED
MARKET CONDITION PRIOR TO THE MARKET OPENING AND RECEIVED A
TRADE-OR-MOVE MESSAGE IN EACH INSTANCE THROUGH SELECTNET
AND WITHIN 30 SECONDS OF RECEIVING SUCH MESSAGES, FAILED TO
FILL THE INCOMING TRADE-OR-MOVE MESSAGE FOR THE FULL SIZE OF
THE MESSAGE OR MOVE ITS BID DOWN (OFFER UP) BY A QUOTATION
INCREMENT THAT WOULD HAVE UNLOCKED/UNCROSSED THE MARKET.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 04/21/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
MEMBER CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS; THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED
$15,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/21/2003

Docket/Case Number: CMS030090

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT ON SPECIFIC DAYS, MERRILL LYNCH WAS A PARTY
TO LOCKED/CROSSED MARKET CONDITION PRIOR TO THE MARKET
OPENING AND RECEIVED A TRADE-OR-MOVE MESSAGE IN EACH
INSTANCE THROUGH SELECTNET.  WITHIN 30 SECONDS OF RECEIVING
THE MESSAGES, THE FIRM FAILED TO FILL THE INCOMING TRADE-OR-
MOVE MESSAGE FOR THE FULL SIZE OF THE MESSAGE OR MOVE DOWN
ITS BID OFFER BY A QUOTATION INCREMENT THAT WOULD HAVE
UNLOCKED/UNCROSSED THE MARKET.  THE ALLEGED CONDUCT
CONSTITUTES VIOLATIONS OF NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 4613 (E)(1)(C).

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 04/21/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE FIELD 13

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND FINE OF    $15,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 404 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Date Initiated: 04/24/2003

Docket/Case Number: CAF030028

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD CONDUCT RULES 2110, 2210(D)(1), 2210(D)(2) AND 3010, AND
SECTION 15 ( C) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT, RULE 15C1-2
THEREUNDER - RESPONDENT MEMBER PUBLISHED RESEARCH REPORTS
ON INTERNET COMPANIES THAT WERE MATERIALLY MISLEADING
BECAUSE THEY WERE CONTRARY TO THE FIRM RESEARCH ANALYSTS'
PRIVATELY EXPRESSED NEGATIVE VIEWS, AS A RESULT THE FIRM
EFFECTED TRANSACTIONS IN, OR INDUCED THE PURCHASE OR SALE OF,
SECURITIES BY MEANS OF ACTS DEEMED TO BE MANIPULATIVE,
DECEPTIVE OR OTHERWISE FRAUDULENT DEVICES OR CONTRIVANCES IN
VIOLATION OF SEC AND NASD RULES; ISSUED RESEARCH REPORTS ON
INTERNET COMPANIES THAT WERE NOT BASED ON PRINCIPLES OF FAIR
DEALING AND GOOD FAITH AND DID NOT PROVIDE A SOUND BASIS FOR
EVALUATING FACTS, CONTAINED EXAGGERATED OR UNWARRANTED
CLAIMS ABOUT THESE COMPANIES, AND/OR CONTAINED OPINIONS FOR
WHICH THERE WAS NO REASONABLE BASIS; ENGAGED IN ACTS AND
PRACTICES THAT CREATED OR MAINTAINED INAPPROPRIATE INFLUENCE
BY INVESTMENT BANKING OVER RESEARCH ANALYST, THEREBY
IMPOSING CONFLICT OF INTEREST ON ITS RESEARCH ANALYSTS; FAILED
TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN A SYSTEM TO SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES
OF EACH REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE AND ASSOCIATED PERSON THAT
IS REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS, AND WITH NASD RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/24/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, RESPONDENT
MEMBER CONSENTED TO THE DESCRIBED SANCTIONS AND TO THE
ENTRY OF FINDINGS, THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED
$200,000.000, AS SPECIFIED IN THE FINAL JUDGMENT ORDERED IN A
RELATED ACTION FILED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION AS FOLLOWS: $100,000,000 AS A FINE, $75,000,000, TO BE
USED FOR PROCUREMENT OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH, $25,000,000, TO
BE USED FOR INVESTOR EDUCATION. THE MONETARY SANCTIONS
IMPOSED BY NASD SHALL BE REDUCED BY THE AMOUNTS PAID BY
RESPONDENT MEMBER PURSUANT TO THE FINAL JUDGMENT.

Regulator Statement RESPONDENT AGREES THAT IT SHALL NOT SEEK OR ACCEPT, DIRECTLY
OR INDIRECTLY, REIMBURSEMENT OR INDEMNIFICATION, INCLUDING BUT
NOT LIMITED TO PAYMENT MADE PURSUANT TO ANY INSURANCE POLICY,
WITH REGARD TO ANY FINE/PENALTY AMOUNTS THAT RESPONDENT
SHALL PAY PURSUANT TO SECTION II OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT,
REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH FINE/PENALTY AMOUNTS OR ANY PART
THEREOF ARE ADDED TO THE DISTRIBUTION FUND ACCOUNT OR
OTHERWISE USED FOR THE BENEFIT OF INVESTORS. RESPONDENT
FURTHER AGREES THAT IT SHALL NOT CLAIM, ASSET, OR APPLY FOR A TAX
DEDUCTION OR TAX CREDIT WITH REGARD TO ANY FEDERAL, STATE, OR
LOCAL TAX FOR ANY FINE/PENALTY AMOUNTS THAT RESPONDENT SHALL
PAY PURSUANT TO SECTION II OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT, REGARDLESS OF
WHETHER SUCH FINE/PENALTY AMOUNTS OR ANY PART THEREOF ARE
ADDED TO THE DISTRIBUTION FUND ACCOUNT OR OTHERWISE USED FOR
THE BENEFIT OF INVESTORS. RESPONDENT UNDERSTANDS AND
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THESE PROVISIONS ARE NOT INTENDED TO IMPLY
THAT NASD WOULD AGREE THAT ANY OTHER AMOUNTS RESPONDENT
SHALL PAY PURSUANT TO THE FINAL JUDGMENT MAY BE REIMBURSED OR
INDEMNIFIED (WHETHER PURSUANT TO AN INSURANCE POLICY OR
OTHERWISE) UNDER APPLICABLE LAW OR MAY BE THE BASIS FOR ANY
TAX DEDUCTION OR TAX CREDIT WITH REGARD TO ANY FEDERAL, STATE,
OR LOCAL TAX.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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RESPONDENT AGREES THAT IT SHALL NOT SEEK OR ACCEPT, DIRECTLY
OR INDIRECTLY, REIMBURSEMENT OR INDEMNIFICATION, INCLUDING BUT
NOT LIMITED TO PAYMENT MADE PURSUANT TO ANY INSURANCE POLICY,
WITH REGARD TO ANY FINE/PENALTY AMOUNTS THAT RESPONDENT
SHALL PAY PURSUANT TO SECTION II OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT,
REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH FINE/PENALTY AMOUNTS OR ANY PART
THEREOF ARE ADDED TO THE DISTRIBUTION FUND ACCOUNT OR
OTHERWISE USED FOR THE BENEFIT OF INVESTORS. RESPONDENT
FURTHER AGREES THAT IT SHALL NOT CLAIM, ASSET, OR APPLY FOR A TAX
DEDUCTION OR TAX CREDIT WITH REGARD TO ANY FEDERAL, STATE, OR
LOCAL TAX FOR ANY FINE/PENALTY AMOUNTS THAT RESPONDENT SHALL
PAY PURSUANT TO SECTION II OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT, REGARDLESS OF
WHETHER SUCH FINE/PENALTY AMOUNTS OR ANY PART THEREOF ARE
ADDED TO THE DISTRIBUTION FUND ACCOUNT OR OTHERWISE USED FOR
THE BENEFIT OF INVESTORS. RESPONDENT UNDERSTANDS AND
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THESE PROVISIONS ARE NOT INTENDED TO IMPLY
THAT NASD WOULD AGREE THAT ANY OTHER AMOUNTS RESPONDENT
SHALL PAY PURSUANT TO THE FINAL JUDGMENT MAY BE REIMBURSED OR
INDEMNIFIED (WHETHER PURSUANT TO AN INSURANCE POLICY OR
OTHERWISE) UNDER APPLICABLE LAW OR MAY BE THE BASIS FOR ANY
TAX DEDUCTION OR TAX CREDIT WITH REGARD TO ANY FEDERAL, STATE,
OR LOCAL TAX.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.  #186

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

PAYMENTS FOR THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH AND TO
PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION, A CENSURE AND COMPLIANCE WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Date Initiated: 04/24/2003

Docket/Case Number: CAF0300028

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NASD ALLEGED, AND MLPFS NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE
ALLEGATIONS, THAT MLPFS VIOLATED SECTION 15(C) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND RULE 15C1-2 THEREUNDER, AS WELL AS NASD RULE 2110, 2210
AND 3010 IN CONNECTION WITH ITS INVESTIGATION INTO RESEARCH
ANALYST CONFLICTS OF INTEREST.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/24/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS SUBMITTED, AND
THE NASD ACCEPTED, A LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT
WHEREBY MLPFS, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE NASD'S
ALLEGATIONS, CONSENTED TO A CENSURE.  IN ADDITION, MLPFS AGREED
TO A PAYMENT OF: (I)$100 MILLION, WHICH WAS OFFSET IN ITS ENTIRETY
BY THE AMOUNT ALREADY PAID BY MLPFS IN THE RELATED PROCEEDING
WITH THE NEW YORK AND OTHERE STATES (II) 75 MILLION TO FUND THE
PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS; AND (II) $25
MILLION TO PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION.  THE PAYMENTS FOR THE
PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS AND TO
PROMOTE INVESTOR
EDUCATION ARE REQUIRED TO BE MADE OVER THE COURSE OF THE
NEXT FIVE YEARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLPFS SUBMITTED, AND
THE NASD ACCEPTED, A LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT
WHEREBY MLPFS, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE NASD'S
ALLEGATIONS, CONSENTED TO A CENSURE.  IN ADDITION, MLPFS AGREED
TO A PAYMENT OF: (I)$100 MILLION, WHICH WAS OFFSET IN ITS ENTIRETY
BY THE AMOUNT ALREADY PAID BY MLPFS IN THE RELATED PROCEEDING
WITH THE NEW YORK AND OTHERE STATES (II) 75 MILLION TO FUND THE
PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS; AND (II) $25
MILLION TO PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION.  THE PAYMENTS FOR THE
PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS AND TO
PROMOTE INVESTOR
EDUCATION ARE REQUIRED TO BE MADE OVER THE COURSE OF THE
NEXT FIVE YEARS.

Firm Statement AS PART OF A JOINT SETTLEMENT WITH THE SEC, THE NASD AND THE
NYSE ARISING FROM A JOINT INVESTIGATION BY THE SEC, THE NASD AND
THE NYSE INTO RESEARCH ANALYSTS CONFLICTS OF INTEREST, MLPFS
ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE NASD.  PURSUANT TO THE
TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT WITH THE NASD, MLPFS SUBMITTED, AND
THE NASD ACCEPTED, A LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT
WHEREBY MLPFS, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE NASD'S
ALLEGATIONS, CONSENTED TO A CENSURE. IN ADDITION, MLPFS AGREED
TO A PAYMENT OF (I) $100 MILLION, WHICH WAS OFFSET IN ITS ENTIRETY
BY THE AMOUNT ALREADY PAID BY MLPFS IN THE RELATED PROCEEDING
WITH THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND OTHER STATES (II) $75 MILLION TO
FUND THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS; AND
(III) $25 MILLION TO PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION. THE PAYMENTS
FOR THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO INVESTORS AND
TO PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION ARE REQUIRED TO BE MADE OVER
THE COURSE OF THE NEXT FIVE YEARS. MLPFS ALSO AGREED TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS. SIMILAR DISCLOSURE HAS BEEN
MADE WITH RESPECT TO THE DETAILS OF THE RELATED SETTLEMENTS
WITH THE SEC AND NYSE ARISING FROM THE JOINT INVESTIGATION.

Disclosure 405 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 11/04/2002

Docket/Case Number: CO-2002-0028

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH ANALYSTS DEVELOPED A PATTERN OF PRACTICE IN
WHICH RATINGS AND RESEARCH REPORTS WERE MISREPRESENTED TO
THE PUBLIC.  THE ANALYSTS PUBLICLY TOUTED THE STOCK WHILE
PRIVATELY DENOUNCING THE STOCK.  ON NOVEMBER 4, 2002, A CONSENT
ORDER WAS ISSUED TO MERRILL LYNCH WHO CONSENTED TO THE
ENTRY OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER ON THAT SAME DATE.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Resolution Date: 11/04/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CO-2002-0028 ISSUED 11-4-02.

Regulator Statement CO-2002-0028 ISSUED 11-4-02.

Sanctions Ordered:

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 11/04/2002

Docket/Case Number: CO-2002-0028

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/04/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ENHANCEMENTS TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES.

Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 13 BELOW.

Firm Statement THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF ALABAMA IS A
PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF ALABAMA DOES NOT
CONSTITUTE A SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $740,429.50

Consent
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THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF ALABAMA IS A
PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF ALABAMA DOES NOT
CONSTITUTE A SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Disclosure 406 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/16/2003

Docket/Case Number: HPD#: 03-99

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: **4/16/03**STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY FILED BY
NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING.
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS THAT IT:1.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342(A)
AND (B) IN THAT IT FAILED TO REASONABLY DISCHARGE ITS DUTIES AND
OBLIGATIONS IN CONNECTION WITH SUPERVISION AND CONTROL OF AND
PROVIDING SEPARATE SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES BY FAILING TO
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES AND SYSTEMS
NECESSARY TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THE FOLLOWING: A.OBTAINING
AND REVIEWING CUSTOMER NEW ACCOUNT FORMS;B.MONITORING
ACTIVITY IN CERTAIN OF THE FIRM&#8217;S CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS;
C.REVIEWING ACTIVELY TRADED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS;D.PROPERLY
REVIEWING ACCOUNTS FOR UNAPPROVED DISCRETIONARY
TRADING;E.SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENTS IN CERTAIN OF THE
FIRM&#8217;S CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS;F.ADEQUATELY FOLLOWING UP ON
COMPLIANCE VISIT FINDINGS IN THE FIRM&#8217;S
WINTER PARK, FLORIDA OFFICE SO THAT CORRECTIVE ACTIONS WERE
TAKEN; AND G.TIMELY ALLOCATING BLOCK ORDERS IN CERTAIN
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS.2.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 405 IN THAT THE
FIRM FAILED TO LEARN THE ESSENTIAL FACTS RELATIVE TO CERTAIN OF
ITS CUSTOMERS.3.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 440 AND SEC RULES 17A-3
AND 17A-4 BECAUSE CERTAIN INFORMATION ON ITS BOOKS AND
RECORDS CONCERNING CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS WAS
INACCURATE.STIPULATED SANCTION:CENSURE AND FINE IN THE AMOUNT
OF $900,000.

Current Status: Final

977©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 07/11/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **6/13/03**DECISION NO. 03-99 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING PANEL.
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342(A) AND (B) IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO REASONABLY DISCHARGE ITS DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS IN
CONNECTION WITH SUPERVISION AND CONTROL OF AND PROVIDING
SEPARATE SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW WITH RESPECT TO
CERTAIN OF ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND
MAINTAIN APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES AND SYSTEMS NECESSARY TO
ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE A NUMBER OF SPECIFIED MATTERS; VIOLATED
EXCHANGE RULE 405 IN THE FIRM FAILED TO LEARN THE ESSENTIAL
FACTS RELATIVE TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS; AND VIOLATED
EXCHANGE RULE 440 AND SEC RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4 BECAUSE
CERTAIN INFORMATION ON ITS BOOKS AND RECORDS CONCERNING
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS WAS INACCURATE.MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND
$900,000 FINE.

Regulator Statement **7/11/2003**THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND EFFECTIVE
IMMEDIATELY.CONTACT:EVELYN PENA 212-656-5211

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $900,000.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342(A) AND (B) IN THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY DISCHARGE ITS DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS IN CONNECTION
WITH SUPERVISION AND CONTROL OF AND PROVIDING SEPARATE
SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF
ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES AND SYSTEMS NECESSARY TO ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE THE FOLLOWING: A) OBTAINING AND REVIEWING CUSTOMER
NEW ACCOUNT FORMS; B.) MONITORING ACTIVITY IN CERTAIN OF THE
FIRM'S WINTER PARK, FLORIDA OFFICE CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS; C)
REVIEWING ACTIVELY TRADED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS; D) PROPERLY
REVIEWING ACCOUNTS FOR UNAPPROVED DISCRETIONARY TRADING; E)
SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENTS IN CERTAIN OF THE FIRM WINTER PARK
FLORIDA OFFICE CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS; F) ADEQUATELY FOLLOWING UP
ON COMPLIANCE VISIT FINDINGS IN THE FIRMS WINTER PARK, FLORIDA
OFFICE SO THAT CORRECTIVE ACTIONS WERE TAKEN; AND G) TIMELY
ALLOCATING BLOCK ORDERS IN CERTAIN CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS. 2)
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 405 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO LEARN THE
ESSENTIAL FACTS RELATIVE TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS. 3)
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 440 AND SEC RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4
BECAUSE CERTAIN INFORMATION ON ITS BOOKS AND RECORDS
CONCERNING CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS WAS INACCURATE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/16/2003

Docket/Case Number: HPD#: 03-99

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342(A) AND (B) IN THAT IT FAILED TO
REASONABLY DISCHARGE ITS DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS IN CONNECTION
WITH SUPERVISION AND CONTROL OF AND PROVIDING SEPARATE
SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN OF
ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES AND SYSTEMS NECESSARY TO ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE THE FOLLOWING: A) OBTAINING AND REVIEWING CUSTOMER
NEW ACCOUNT FORMS; B.) MONITORING ACTIVITY IN CERTAIN OF THE
FIRM'S WINTER PARK, FLORIDA OFFICE CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS; C)
REVIEWING ACTIVELY TRADED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS; D) PROPERLY
REVIEWING ACCOUNTS FOR UNAPPROVED DISCRETIONARY TRADING; E)
SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENTS IN CERTAIN OF THE FIRM WINTER PARK
FLORIDA OFFICE CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS; F) ADEQUATELY FOLLOWING UP
ON COMPLIANCE VISIT FINDINGS IN THE FIRMS WINTER PARK, FLORIDA
OFFICE SO THAT CORRECTIVE ACTIONS WERE TAKEN; AND G) TIMELY
ALLOCATING BLOCK ORDERS IN CERTAIN CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS. 2)
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 405 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO LEARN THE
ESSENTIAL FACTS RELATIVE TO CERTAIN OF ITS CUSTOMERS. 3)
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 440 AND SEC RULES 17A-3 AND 17A-4
BECAUSE CERTAIN INFORMATION ON ITS BOOKS AND RECORDS
CONCERNING CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS WAS INACCURATE.

Resolution Date: 07/08/2003

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A
CENSURE AND A $900,000 FINE.

Firm Statement PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 12C ABOVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $900,000.00

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 407 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FLORIDA

Date Initiated: 04/08/2002

Docket/Case Number: 3513-S-7/02

Allegations: RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: 3513-S-7/02

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/22/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NA

Sanction Details: NA

Regulator Statement RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,662,560.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF FLORIDA #181

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/08/2002

Docket/Case Number: 3513-S-7/02

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/22/2002

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,662,560.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: ENHANCEMENTS TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES

Sanction Details: PLEASE SEE BELOW.

Firm Statement THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF FLORIDA IS A
PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF FLORIDA DOES NOT
CONSTITUTE A SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,662,560.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 408 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: MINNESOTA OF COMMERCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/01/2002

Docket/Case Number: SE22055819

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH ADMITS THE JURISDICTION OF THE MN DEPT OF
COMMERCE, AND NEITHER ADMITS NOR DENIES THE FINDINGS OF FACT
AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND CONSENTS TO THE ENTRY OF THIS
ORDER WITHOUT HEARING PROVIDED UNDER MN STAT 14.59(2000) & MN
RULE 1400.5900(2001). MERRILL LYNCH ACKMOWLRDGES IT HAS BEEN
ADVISED OF ITS RIGHT TO A HEARING IN THIS MATTER TO PROVIDE
ARGUMENTS TO THE COMMISSIONER & TO APPEAL FROM ANY ADVERSE
DETERMINATION AFTER A HEARING, & MERRILL LYNCH HEREBY EXPREELY
WAIVES ITS RIGHTS. MERRILLL LYNCH AKNOWLEDGES IT HAS BEEN
REPRESENTED BY LEGAL COUNSEL. THE COMMISSIONER HAD
JURISDICATION OVER THIS MATTER,( MN STAT 45.011(2000)).

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Order 981©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Resolution Date: 12/20/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT THIS ORDER CONCLUDES THE
INVESTIGATION & ANY OTHER ACTIONS THAT THE DEPARTMENT COULD
COMMENCE UNDER MN STAT 45(2000) ON BEHALF OF MINNESOTA AS IT
RELATES TO MERRILL LYNCH, ITS AFFILIATES, CURRENT OR FORMER
EMPLOYEES, OFFICERS & DIRECTORS OF MERRILL LYNCH RELATING TO
RESEARCH PRACRICES AT MERRILL LYNCH & IS ENTERED INTO SOLELY
FOR THE PURPOSE OF RESOLVING THE ONVESTIGATION, & IS NOT TO BE
USED FOR ANY OTHER PURPOSE.

Sanction Details: IT IS FURTHER ORDERED; MERRRILL LYNCH WILL COMPLY ALL
APPROPRIATE PROVISIONS WITH MN STST 80A(2000) IN ITS ACTIVITIEAS
AS BROKER DEALER IN MINNESOTA; AS OF THIS DATE MERRILL LYNCH
WILL STATE ON EACH MERRILL LYNCH GLOBAL EQUITY RESEARCH
REPORT WHETHER MERRILL LYNCH REC'D OR IS ENTITLED T RECEIVE
COMPENSATION OVER THE PAST 12 MONTHS, OR WHETHER  MERRILL
LYNCH IS ETITLED TO RECEIVE COMPENSATION FROM ANY PUBLICALY
ANNOUNCED EQUITY UNDERWRITING OR MERGER & AQUISTITION. AS OF
7/8/2002, THE DISCLOSURES SHALL BE REPALCED WITH THE
DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY NYSE RULE 472(K)(1)(II) & NASD RULE 2711
(H) (2) (A)(II).

Regulator Statement CONTACT MN DEPT OF COMMERCE, ENFORCEMENT DIVISION (651-296-
2488) TO REQUEST  A COPY OF THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $819,899.00

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE #184

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/01/2002

Docket/Case Number: SE22055819

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 12/20/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ENHANCEMENTS TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES

Sanction Details: PLEASE SEE BELOW.

Firm Statement THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF MINNESOTA IS
A PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF MINNESOTA DOES NOT
CONSTITUTE A SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $819,899.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 409 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VIRGINIA - DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/26/2002

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2002-00028

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THIS MATTER SETTLED ISSUES REGARDING ANALYST RESEARCH
PRACTICES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/26/2002

Resolution: Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Resolution Date: 11/26/2002

Other Sanctions Ordered: $1,179,237.00 FINE.

Sanction Details: $1,179,237.00

Regulator Statement ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN THE AMOUNT $1,179,237.00 WAS RECEIVED AS
PART OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO
WITH THE STATE OF NEW YORK'S ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE.
ASSERTIONS WERE MADE REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH
PRACTICES. AS A RESULT OF THE PROCEEDING, ALL FIFTY STATES, THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA AND THE COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO,
THROUGH A COMMITTEE OF THE NORTH AMERICAN SECURITIES
ADMINISTRATORS ASSOCIATION NEGOTIATED AN AGREEMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,179,237.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: VIRGINIA DIVISION OF SECURITIES #183

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/26/2002

Docket/Case Number: SEC-2002-00028

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/26/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ENHANCEMENTS TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES

Sanction Details: PLEASE SEE BELOW.

Firm Statement THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF VIRGINIA IS A
PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF VIRGINIA DOES NOT
CONSTITUTE A SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,179,237.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF VIRGINIA IS A
PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF VIRGINIA DOES NOT
CONSTITUTE A SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Disclosure 410 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: TEXAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ORDER ASSESSING ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN AMOUNT OF $3,473,787 AND
COMPLIANCE WITH UNDERTAKING CONTAINED
WITHIN THE ORDER.

Date Initiated: 09/27/2002

Docket/Case Number: SSB DKT NO 02-41, FIN-1486

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): GENERAL SECURITIES

Allegations: THIS MATTER SETTLED ISSUES REGARDING ANALYST RESEARCH
PRACTICES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/26/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COMPLIANCE WITH UNDERTAKING CONTAINED IN THE ORDER

Sanction Details: ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN AMOUNT OF $3,473,787 WAS PAID TO THE STATE
OF TEXAS ON 11/26/2002.

Regulator Statement FINAL ORDER AND UNDERTAKING

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,473,787.00

Settled

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: THE STATE OF TEXAS #185

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/27/2002

Docket/Case Number: SSB DKT NO 02-41, FIN-1486

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/26/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ENHANCEMENTS TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES

Sanction Details: PLEASE SEE BELOW.

Firm Statement THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF TEXAS IS A
PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING
STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF TEXAS DOES NOT CONSTITUTE
A SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,473,787.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 411 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULE 2110 AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6620(A)-WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INC. CONSENTED TO ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT
FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT TO THE
AUTOMATED CONFIRMATION TRANSACTION SERVICE ("ACT") LAST SALES
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY SECURITIES.  A NUMBER OF
THE TRANSACTIONS CONSTITUTE 2.59% OF ALL TRANSACTIONS IN OTC
EQUITY SECURITIES THAT RESPONDENT MEMBER WAS REQUIRED TO
REPORT TO ACT DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD; ALSO FAILED TO
DESIGNATE THROUGH ACT CERTAIN LAST SALES REPORTS AS LATE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/03/2002

Docket/Case Number: CMS020227

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

NASD RULE 2110 AND NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6620(A)-WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INC. CONSENTED TO ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT
FAILED, WITHIN 90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TO TRANSMIT TO THE
AUTOMATED CONFIRMATION TRANSACTION SERVICE ("ACT") LAST SALES
REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY SECURITIES.  A NUMBER OF
THE TRANSACTIONS CONSTITUTE 2.59% OF ALL TRANSACTIONS IN OTC
EQUITY SECURITIES THAT RESPONDENT MEMBER WAS REQUIRED TO
REPORT TO ACT DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD; ALSO FAILED TO
DESIGNATE THROUGH ACT CERTAIN LAST SALES REPORTS AS LATE.

Resolution Date: 12/03/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CENSURE AND $7500.00 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.  #178

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 12/03/2002

Docket/Case Number: CMS020227

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 IN
THAT IT FAILED TO TIMELY TRANSMIT TO THE AUTOMATED CONFIRMATION
TRANSACTION SERVICE ("ACT") CERTAIN LAST SALE REPORTS OF
TRANSACTIONS IN OTC EQUITY SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 12/03/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PLEASE SEE BELOW.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $7500 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 412 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: PA SECURITIES COMMISSION
CONTACT: MICHAEL BYRNE 717.783.5178

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESPONDENT IS ORDERED TO PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT OF
$2,045,949.

Date Initiated: 09/24/2002

Docket/Case Number: 2002-04-026

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SECURITIES

Allegations: RESPONDENT VIOLATED THE REGISTRATION PROVISIONS OF THE
PENNSYLVANIA SECURITIES ACT OF 1972.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/24/2002

Resolution:

Regulator Statement PENNSYLVANIA ISSUED AN ORDER TO RESPONDENT, ALLEGING, IF, IN A
CONTESTED PROCEEDING UNDER THE 1972 ACT, IT WAS PROVEN THAT
RESPONDENT ENGAGED IN ACTS AND CONDUCT WITH RESPECT TO
RESEARCH PRACTICES AS DESCRIBED IN THE AFFIDAVIT OF ERIC R.
DINALLO, ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL, FILED OF RECORD IN THE
MATTER OF ELIOT SPITZER, PETITIONER, WITH REGARD TO ACTS AND
PRACTICES OF MERRILL LYNCH & CO., INC., ET AL.  RESPONDENTS, NY
SUPREME COURT OF THE COUNTY OF NEW YORK, INDEX NO. 02/401522,
RESPONDENT WOULD HAVE BEEN IN VIOLATION OF THE 1972 ACT.

Settled
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PENNSYLVANIA ISSUED AN ORDER TO RESPONDENT, ALLEGING, IF, IN A
CONTESTED PROCEEDING UNDER THE 1972 ACT, IT WAS PROVEN THAT
RESPONDENT ENGAGED IN ACTS AND CONDUCT WITH RESPECT TO
RESEARCH PRACTICES AS DESCRIBED IN THE AFFIDAVIT OF ERIC R.
DINALLO, ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL, FILED OF RECORD IN THE
MATTER OF ELIOT SPITZER, PETITIONER, WITH REGARD TO ACTS AND
PRACTICES OF MERRILL LYNCH & CO., INC., ET AL.  RESPONDENTS, NY
SUPREME COURT OF THE COUNTY OF NEW YORK, INDEX NO. 02/401522,
RESPONDENT WOULD HAVE BEEN IN VIOLATION OF THE 1972 ACT.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: PENNSYLVANIA SECURITIES COMMISSION #182

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/24/2002

Docket/Case Number: 2002-04-026

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESEARCH PRACTICES WERE IN QUESTION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/24/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ENHANCEMENTS TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES

Sanction Details: PLEASE SEE BELOW.

Firm Statement THIS MATTER IS IN CONNECTION WITH THE $100 MILLION SETTLEMENT
ENTERED INTO WITH THE NEW YORK STATE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN APRIL
2002 REGARDING THE FIRM'S RESEARCH PRACTICES.  THE CONDITIONS
OF THE FIRM'S SETTLEMENT WITH THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL
WERE DISCLOSED ON A FORM BD AMENDMENT FILED AT THE TIME OF THE
SETTLEMENT.  THE MONETARY FINE PAID TO THE STATE OF
PENNSYLVANIA IS A PERCENTAGE OF THE $50 MILLION ALLOCATED TO
THE REMAINING STATES.  THIS PAYMENT TO THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA
DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A SEPARATE PENALTY OR PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,045,949.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 413 of 595

i
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Disclosure 413 of 595

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: PACIFIC EXCHANGE, INC.  #177

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/18/2002

Docket/Case Number: ENFORCEMENT CASE NO. OS0107021

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT ON SPECIFIC DATES DURING MARCH AND APRIL
2001, MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 6.8(A) IN THAT IT FAILED
TO MAINTAIN AN AGGREGATE SHORT PUT/LONG CALL POSITION IN EACH
OPTION CLASS OF NO MORE THAN 75,000 CONTRACTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/02/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A
CENSURE AND A $10,000 FINE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A
CENSURE AND A $10,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 414 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Date Initiated: 10/01/2002

Allegations: NASD RULE 3360 - WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS,
THE RESPONDENT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT
SUBMITTED TO NASD ITS SHORT INTEREST POSITION REPORT.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/01/2002

Docket/Case Number: CMS020182

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/01/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A $2,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/01/2002

Docket/Case Number: CMS020182

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD RULE 3360 IN THAT IT
FAILED TO PROPERLY SUBMIT TO NASD ITS SHORT INTEREST POSITION
REPORT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/01/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A $2000.00 FINE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A $2000.00 FINE.

Disclosure 415 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Date Initiated: 09/18/2002

Allegations: **9/17/2002**STIPULATION AND CONSENT TO PENALTY EXECUTED AND
FILED BY THE NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING
A. CONSENTED TO FINDINGS BY THE HEARING PANEL THAT IT:
1.  VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 346(F) IN THAT IT HAD PERSONS
ASSOCIATED WITH IT WHO WERE SUBJECT TO STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION.2.VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(A)(9) IN THAT IT
FAILED TO PROMPTLY REPORT ITS ASSOCIATION WITH PERSONS
SUBJECT TO A STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION.3.VIOLATED EXCHANGE
RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR, ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN
ADEQUATE PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS, INCLUDING A SYSTEM OF
FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW OF ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES, TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS
RELATING TO EMPLOYMENT OF STUTORY DISQUALIFIED
INDIVIDUALS.B.THE IMPOSITION BY THE EXCHANGE OF THE PENALTY
OF:1.A CENSURE, AND;2.A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $300,000, AND:3.A
REQUIREMENT THAT THE FIRM COMPLY WITH THE FOLLOWING
UNDERTAKING:A.WITHIN 30 DAYS FROM THE DATE THAT THE DECISION
BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL RETAIN AN OUTSIDE CONSULTANT (THE
&#8220;CONSULTANT&#8221;), NOT UNACCEPTABLE TO THE EXCHANGE,
TO PERFORM A REVIEW AND PREPARE A REPORT (THE
&#8220;REPORT&#8221;) OF THE FIRM&#8217;S SYSTEMS, POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES, INCLUDING RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DIFFERENT OR
ADDITIONAL SYSTEMS, POLICIES OR PROCEDURES, IF NECESSARY,
RELATING TO THE HIRING OF INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE SUBJECT TO
STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION INCLUDING THOSE WHO DISCLOSED
THEIR CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS DURING THE HIRING PROCESS. B.WITHIN
120 DAYS FROM THE DATE THAT THE DECISION BECOMES FINAL THE
CONSULTANT SHALL PROVIDE THE FIRM&#8217;S BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND THE EXCHANGE&#8217;S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT WITH A COPY
OF THE REPORT.
**CONTINUED AT 12C**

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/18/2002

Docket/Case Number: HPD# 02-228

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/13/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CONSENT TO CENSURE, $300,000 FINE AND AN UNDERTAKING.

Sanction Details: **11/15/2002**DECISION HPD 02-228 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING PANEL
DECISION: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING GUILT, THE FIRM CONSENTS
TO FINDINGS THAT IT: VIOLATED RULE 346(F) IN THAT IT HAD PERSONS
ASSOCIATED WITH IT WHO WERE SUBJECT    TO STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION; VIOLATED RULE 351(A)(9) IN THAT IT FAILED TO
PROMPTLY REPORT ITS ASSOCIATION WITH PERSONS SUBJECT TO A
STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION; AND VIOLATED RULE 342 IN THAT IT
FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR,
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS,
INCLUDING A SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW OF ITS BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES AND
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS RELATING TO EMPLOYMENT OF STATUTORY
DISQUALIFIED INDIVIDUALS.CONSENT TO A CENSURE A $300,000 FINE AND
A REQUIREMENT THAT:A.WITHIN 30 DAYS FROM THE DATE THAT THE
DECISION BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL RETAIN AN OUTSIDE
CONSULTANT (THE &#8220;CONSULTANT&#8221;), NOT UNACCEPTABLE TO
THE EXCHANGE, TO PERFORM A REVIEW AND PREPARE A REPORT (THE
&#8220;REPORT&#8221;) OF THE FIRM&#8217;S SYSTEMS, POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES, INCLUDING RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DIFFERENT OR
ADDITIONAL SYSTEMS, POLICIES OR PROCEDURES, IF NECESSARY,
RELATING TO THE HIRING OF INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE SUBJECT TO
STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION INCLUDING THOSE WHO DISCLOSED
THEIR CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS DURING THE HIRING PROCESS.
B.WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE DATE THAT THE DECISION BECOMES FINAL
THE CONSULTANT SHALL PROVIDE THE FIRM&#8217;S BOARD OF
DIRECTORS AND THE EXCHANGE&#8217;S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT
WITH A COPY OF THE REPORT.**CONTINUED AT #13**

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Decision
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**11/15/2002**DECISION HPD 02-228 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING PANEL
DECISION: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING GUILT, THE FIRM CONSENTS
TO FINDINGS THAT IT: VIOLATED RULE 346(F) IN THAT IT HAD PERSONS
ASSOCIATED WITH IT WHO WERE SUBJECT    TO STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION; VIOLATED RULE 351(A)(9) IN THAT IT FAILED TO
PROMPTLY REPORT ITS ASSOCIATION WITH PERSONS SUBJECT TO A
STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION; AND VIOLATED RULE 342 IN THAT IT
FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR,
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS,
INCLUDING A SYSTEM OF FOLLOW-UP AND REVIEW OF ITS BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES AND
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS RELATING TO EMPLOYMENT OF STATUTORY
DISQUALIFIED INDIVIDUALS.CONSENT TO A CENSURE A $300,000 FINE AND
A REQUIREMENT THAT:A.WITHIN 30 DAYS FROM THE DATE THAT THE
DECISION BECOMES FINAL, THE FIRM SHALL RETAIN AN OUTSIDE
CONSULTANT (THE &#8220;CONSULTANT&#8221;), NOT UNACCEPTABLE TO
THE EXCHANGE, TO PERFORM A REVIEW AND PREPARE A REPORT (THE
&#8220;REPORT&#8221;) OF THE FIRM&#8217;S SYSTEMS, POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES, INCLUDING RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DIFFERENT OR
ADDITIONAL SYSTEMS, POLICIES OR PROCEDURES, IF NECESSARY,
RELATING TO THE HIRING OF INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE SUBJECT TO
STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION INCLUDING THOSE WHO DISCLOSED
THEIR CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS DURING THE HIRING PROCESS.
B.WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE DATE THAT THE DECISION BECOMES FINAL
THE CONSULTANT SHALL PROVIDE THE FIRM&#8217;S BOARD OF
DIRECTORS AND THE EXCHANGE&#8217;S DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT
WITH A COPY OF THE REPORT.**CONTINUED AT #13**

Regulator Statement **12/13/2002**THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY.
CONTACT:PEGGY GERMINO 212-656-8450

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE, INC.  #179

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/18/2002

Docket/Case Number: EXCHANGE HEARING PANEL DECISION 02-228

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT MERILL LYNCH VIOLATED RULE 346(F) BY HAVING
PERSONS ASSOCIATED WITH IT WHO WERE SUBJECT TO STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION; VIOLATED 352(A)(9) BY FAILING TO PROMPTLY REPORT
ITS ASSOCIATION WITH PERSONS SUBJECT TO STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION; VIOLATED RULE 342 BY FAILING TO PROVIDE FOR,
ESTABLISH, AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH EXCHANGE RULES AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS
RELATING TO EMPLOYMENT OF STATUTORY DISQUALIFIED INDIVIDUALS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/18/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: IN ADDITION TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED
TO A CENSURE AND AN UNDERTAKING DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13.

Firm Statement A SETTLEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MERRILL LYNCH WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS IN THE
ORDER.  AS PART OF AN UNDERTAKING MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO DO
THE FOLLOWING:  1) RETAIN A CONSULTANT TO PERFORM A REVIEW AND
PREPARE A REPORT OF THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS, POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES, INCLUDING RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DIFFERENT OR
ADDITIONAL SYSTEMS, RELATING TO THE HIRING OF INDIVIDUALS WHO
ARE SUBJECT TO STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION INCLUDING THOSE WHO
DISCLOSED THEIR CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS DURING THE HIRING
PROCESS; 2) WITHIN 120 DAYS, THE CONSULTANT WILL PROVIDE THE
FIRM'S BROAD OF DIRECTORS AND THE EXCHANGE'S DIVISION OF
ENFORCEMENT WITH A COPY OF THE REPORT; 3) THE FIRM SHALL ADOPT
AND IMPLEMENT ALL POLICIES, PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES OF THE
REPORT WITH THE CONSENT OF ITS BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE
EXCHANGE; 4) WITHIN 60 DAYS OF DELIVERY OF THE REPORT TO ITS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT TO THE EXCHANGE A
WRITTEN REPRESENTATION FROM THE CEO SETTING FORTH THE
DETAILS OF THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS
CONTAINED IN THE REPORT.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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A SETTLEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MERRILL LYNCH WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS IN THE
ORDER.  AS PART OF AN UNDERTAKING MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO DO
THE FOLLOWING:  1) RETAIN A CONSULTANT TO PERFORM A REVIEW AND
PREPARE A REPORT OF THE FIRM'S SYSTEMS, POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES, INCLUDING RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DIFFERENT OR
ADDITIONAL SYSTEMS, RELATING TO THE HIRING OF INDIVIDUALS WHO
ARE SUBJECT TO STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION INCLUDING THOSE WHO
DISCLOSED THEIR CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS DURING THE HIRING
PROCESS; 2) WITHIN 120 DAYS, THE CONSULTANT WILL PROVIDE THE
FIRM'S BROAD OF DIRECTORS AND THE EXCHANGE'S DIVISION OF
ENFORCEMENT WITH A COPY OF THE REPORT; 3) THE FIRM SHALL ADOPT
AND IMPLEMENT ALL POLICIES, PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES OF THE
REPORT WITH THE CONSENT OF ITS BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE
EXCHANGE; 4) WITHIN 60 DAYS OF DELIVERY OF THE REPORT TO ITS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THE FIRM SHALL SUBMIT TO THE EXCHANGE A
WRITTEN REPRESENTATION FROM THE CEO SETTING FORTH THE
DETAILS OF THE FIRM'S IMPLEMENTATION OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS
CONTAINED IN THE REPORT.

Disclosure 416 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/30/2002

Docket/Case Number: CMS020153

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES.

Allegations: NASD RULES 6130(D) - WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
ALLEGATIONS, THE RESPONDENT CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF
FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL
INDICATING WHETHER THE TRANSACTION WAS BUY, SELL, SELL SHORT,
SELL SHORT EXEMPT OR CROSS FOR TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES. RESPONDENT EXECUTED PROPRIETARY SHORT SALE
TRANSACTIONS AND FAILED TO REPORT EACH OF THESE TRANSACTIONS
TO ACT WITH A SHORT SALE MODIFIER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/30/2002

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A CENSURE AND A $7,500 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.  #176

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/30/2002

Docket/Case Number: CMS020153

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED NASD MARKETPLACE RULE
6130(D) IN THAT IT FAILED TO REPORT TO THE AUTOMATED
CONFIRMATION TRANSACTION SERVICE ("ACT") SPECIFIC TRANSACTIONS
FOR CERTAIN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/30/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $7,500 FINE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND A $7,500 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 417 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF DELAWARE SECURITIES COMMISSIONER - #174

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/11/2002

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. 01-3-5

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE STATE OF DELAWARE LODGED AN INVESTIGATION INTO ALLEGATIONS
OF UNAUTHORIZED TRADING BY A FINANCIAL ADVISOR IN A CUSTOMER'S
ACCOUNT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/23/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: RESTITUTION

Sanction Details: IN ADDITION TO THE MONETARY FINE, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO MAKE
RESTITUTION TO THE CUSTOMER IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,290.93.

Firm Statement IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER AMICABLY, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED
TO PAY A FINE OF $20,000 TO THE STATE OF DELAWARE SECURITIES
DIVISION AND OFFER RESTITUTION TO THE CUSTOMER IN THE AMOUNT
OF $8, 290.93.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 418 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NEW HAMPSHIRE
BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION

Allegations: RESPONDENT SOLD FIVE UNREGISTERED SECURITIES THROUGH ITS
AGENT TO ABOUT 59 INVESTORS FROM 1994 TO 1998. THE AGENT FAILED
TO TELL THE INVESTORS THAT THE STOCKS WERE NOT COVERED BY
MERRILL LYNCH RESEARCH, AND THAT THEY WERE UNREGISTERED AND
NON-EXEMPT. THE AGENT MISMARKED THE ORDER CONFIRMATIONS TO
INDICATE THAT THE TRADES WERE UNSOLICITED WHEN THEY WERE
SOLICITED WITHOUT THE AUTHORITY OR APPROVAL OF MERRILL LYNCH.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW HAMPSHIRE
BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESCISSION, COST OF INVESTIGATION, GLOBAL COMPLIANCE ALERT, AND
INDEPENDENT COMPLIANCE REVIEW.

Date Initiated: 11/01/1999

Docket/Case Number: INV99-022

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Penny Stock(s)

Other Product Type(s): N/A

Resolution Date: 07/17/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: RESCISSION, GLOBAL COMPLIANCE ALERT, INDEPENDENT COMPLIANCE
REVIEW, COST OF INVESTIGATION.

Sanction Details: WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE DATE OF THE CONSENT ORDER, RESPONDENT
SHALL OFFER RESCISSION TO THE INVESTORS. RESPONDENT MAY
REQUIRE INVESTORS TO ENTER INTO NON-BINDING ARBITRATION ON THE
SOLE ISSUE OF SOLICITATION VS. NON-SOLICITATION. IF TRADE WAS
SOLICITED, RESPONDENT TO OFFER RESCISSION PLUS 10 PERCENT
INTEREST. ALL ARBITRATIONS SHALL BE COMPLETED WITHIN ONE YEAR
FROM CONSENT. WITHIN 60 DAYS FROM THE ORDER RESPONDENT SHALL
CONDUCT AN INDEPENDENT COMPLIANCE REVIEW. WITHIN 120 DAYS OF
THE CONSENT, RESPONDENT TO RELEASE A GLOBAL COMPLIANCE ALERT
ADDRESSING THE ISSUES UNCOVERED BY THE INVESTIGATION.
RESPONDENT TO PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE OF $500,000 AND COST OF
THE INVESTIGATION OF $75,000.

Regulator Statement SAME AS ABOVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE BUREAU ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE A FINANCIAL ADVISOR IN IT'S MANCHESTER OFFICE.  IT WAS
ALLEGED THAT THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR SOLICITED CLIENTS TO
PURCHASE STOCKS THAT WERE NOT BLUE SKIED OR COVERED BY THE
FIRM'S RESEARCH DEPARTMENT, AGAINST REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
AND FIRM POLICY.  IT WAS ALSO ALLEGED THAT THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR
MISMARKED THE ORDERS AS UNSOLICITED.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE BUREAU OF SECURITIES REGULATION #173

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING TO RETAIN A CONSULTANT TO REVIEW THE COMPLIANCE
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES OF THE MANCHESTER OFFICE, AND
AGREEMENT TO OFFER RESCISSION OF SPECIFIC PURCHASES BY
CERTAIN CLIENTS.

Date Initiated: 07/17/2002

Docket/Case Number: INV99-022

Principal Product Type: Penny Stock(s)

Other Product Type(s):

THE BUREAU ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE A FINANCIAL ADVISOR IN IT'S MANCHESTER OFFICE.  IT WAS
ALLEGED THAT THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR SOLICITED CLIENTS TO
PURCHASE STOCKS THAT WERE NOT BLUE SKIED OR COVERED BY THE
FIRM'S RESEARCH DEPARTMENT, AGAINST REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
AND FIRM POLICY.  IT WAS ALSO ALLEGED THAT THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR
MISMARKED THE ORDERS AS UNSOLICITED.

Resolution Date: 07/12/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: IN ADDITION TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE FINE, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO
REIMBURSE THE BUREAU $75,000 FOR THE APPROXIMATE COST OF THEIR
INVESTIGATION.

Firm Statement A SETTLEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MERRILL LYNCH WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS IN THE
ORDER.  AS PART OF AN UNDERTAKING MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO DO
THE FOLLOWING:  (1) RETAIN A CONSULTANT TO REVIEW THE CURRENT
COMPLIANCE POLICY AND PROCEDURES IN THE MANCHESTER BRANCH
OFFICE WITH FOCUS ON CERTAIN SPECIFIED AREAS, (2) CIRCULATE A
GLOBAL COMPLIANCE ALERT TO ALL U.S. PRIVATE CLIENT PERSONNEL
ADDRESSING THE ISSUES RAISED IN THIS MATTER AND (3) OFFER
RESCISSION OF THE PURCHASES OF THE SPECIFIC STOCKS BY THOSE
CLIENTS OF THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 419 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(A)OF NASD BY-LAWS, NASD RULE 2110 - WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE RESPONDENT MEMBER
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO FILE FORMS
U-5 WITHIN 30 DAYS OF TERMINATION OF THE ASSOCIATED PERSON.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/07/2002

Docket/Case Number: C10020077

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(A)OF NASD BY-LAWS, NASD RULE 2110 - WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE RESPONDENT MEMBER
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF FINDINGS THAT IT FAILED TO FILE FORMS
U-5 WITHIN 30 DAYS OF TERMINATION OF THE ASSOCIATED PERSON.

Resolution Date: 08/07/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: CENSURED, FINED $65,000, AND REQUIRED, WITHIN 60 DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF AWC, A COPY OF THE FIRM'S WRITTEN PROCEDURES
WITH REGARD TO THE ACCURATE AND PROMPT SUBMISSION OF ALL
FORM U-5 FILINGS PERTAINING TO THE TERMINATION OF PERSONS FOR
WHOM THE FIRM HAS MAINTAINED NASD REGISTRATION, INDICATING THE
NAME AND TITLE OF PRINCIPALS RESPONSIBLE THEREFORE, WILL BE
SUBMITTED TO NASD'S DISTRICT 10 OFFICE. FOR ONE YEAR FOLLOWING
NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF AWC, THE FIRM WILL CONTINUE THE FIRM'S
ONGOING "SIX SIGMA" REVIEW OF ITS CURRENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES RELEVANT TO THE REPORTING OF TERMINATIONS ON
FORMS U-5 TO INCLUDE, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE ACCURACY AND
PROMPT SUBMISSIONS OF FORMS U-5, THE IDENTIFICATION OF
RESPONSIBLE PRINCIPALS FOR SUCH SUBMISSIONS, A REVIEW OF ANY
OTHER CORRECTIVE PROCEDURES DEVELOPED AS PART OF THE SIX
SIGMA REVIEW WITH REGARD TO SUCH FORMS U-5; PREPARE SEMI-
ANNUAL REPORTS SIX MONTHS AND ONE YEAR AFTER NOTICE OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC THAT SHALL BE PROVIDED TO THE FIRM'S
DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES AND TO THE GENERAL COUNSEL WITH
A COPY PROVIDED TO NASD'S DISTRICT 10 OFFICE WHICH SHALL SET
FORTH THE FINDINGS OF THE SIX SIGMA REVIEW, ANY CORRECTIVE
ACTIONS IMPLEMENTED IN RESPONSE TO SIX SIGMA REVIEW. THE
REVIEW SHALL ALSO STATE THAT THE REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE V,
SECTION 3 OF THE NASD'S BY-LAWS RELATED TO THE REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS OF THE FORM U-5 AS WELL AS ALL APPLICABLE RULES
AND REGULATIONS WERE TAKEN INTO ACOUNT IN CONDUCTING THE
REVIEW. [CONTINUED]

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $65,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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CENSURED, FINED $65,000, AND REQUIRED, WITHIN 60 DAYS OF
ACCEPTANCE OF AWC, A COPY OF THE FIRM'S WRITTEN PROCEDURES
WITH REGARD TO THE ACCURATE AND PROMPT SUBMISSION OF ALL
FORM U-5 FILINGS PERTAINING TO THE TERMINATION OF PERSONS FOR
WHOM THE FIRM HAS MAINTAINED NASD REGISTRATION, INDICATING THE
NAME AND TITLE OF PRINCIPALS RESPONSIBLE THEREFORE, WILL BE
SUBMITTED TO NASD'S DISTRICT 10 OFFICE. FOR ONE YEAR FOLLOWING
NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF AWC, THE FIRM WILL CONTINUE THE FIRM'S
ONGOING "SIX SIGMA" REVIEW OF ITS CURRENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES RELEVANT TO THE REPORTING OF TERMINATIONS ON
FORMS U-5 TO INCLUDE, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE ACCURACY AND
PROMPT SUBMISSIONS OF FORMS U-5, THE IDENTIFICATION OF
RESPONSIBLE PRINCIPALS FOR SUCH SUBMISSIONS, A REVIEW OF ANY
OTHER CORRECTIVE PROCEDURES DEVELOPED AS PART OF THE SIX
SIGMA REVIEW WITH REGARD TO SUCH FORMS U-5; PREPARE SEMI-
ANNUAL REPORTS SIX MONTHS AND ONE YEAR AFTER NOTICE OF
ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AWC THAT SHALL BE PROVIDED TO THE FIRM'S
DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES AND TO THE GENERAL COUNSEL WITH
A COPY PROVIDED TO NASD'S DISTRICT 10 OFFICE WHICH SHALL SET
FORTH THE FINDINGS OF THE SIX SIGMA REVIEW, ANY CORRECTIVE
ACTIONS IMPLEMENTED IN RESPONSE TO SIX SIGMA REVIEW. THE
REVIEW SHALL ALSO STATE THAT THE REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE V,
SECTION 3 OF THE NASD'S BY-LAWS RELATED TO THE REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS OF THE FORM U-5 AS WELL AS ALL APPLICABLE RULES
AND REGULATIONS WERE TAKEN INTO ACOUNT IN CONDUCTING THE
REVIEW. [CONTINUED]

Regulator Statement BOTH SIX MONTHS AND ONE YEAR AFTER NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE OF
AWC, THE FIRM SHALL PROVIDE NASD'S DISTRICT 10 OFFICE SUMMARY
REPORTS OUTLINING THE DETAILS OF EVERY LATE FORM U-5 PERTAINING
TO THE TERMINATION OF A PERSON FOR WHOM THE FIRM MAINTAINED A
REGISTRTION, IF ANY, MADE WITHIN THE PRIOR SIX MONTHS WITH AN
EXPLANATION OF THE CAUSE OF DELAY, THE PRINCIPAL RESPONSIBLE
FOR ENSURING THE TIMELY FILING OF THE FORMS U-5 IN QUESTION, AND
ANY CORRECTIVE ACTION TAKEN.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.  #175

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKINGS

Date Initiated: 08/07/2002

Docket/Case Number: C10020077

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(A) OF
THE NASD BY-LAWS IN THAT IT FAILED TO FILE FORMS U-5 WITHIN 30 DAYS
OF TERMINATION OF THE ASSOCIATED PERSON.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/07/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanction Details: PLEASE SEE BELOW.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A FINE
AND AN UNDERTAKING THAT IT WILL REVIEW AND REVISE THE CURRENT
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REGARDING THE REPORTING OF FORM U-5
TERMINATION NOTICES AND ADVISE THE NASD OF THE FIRM'S PROGRESS
AT REGULAR INTERVALS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $65,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO A FINE
AND AN UNDERTAKING THAT IT WILL REVIEW AND REVISE THE CURRENT
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REGARDING THE REPORTING OF FORM U-5
TERMINATION NOTICES AND ADVISE THE NASD OF THE FIRM'S PROGRESS
AT REGULAR INTERVALS.

Disclosure 420 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL  #172

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/08/2002

Docket/Case Number: INDEX NO. 02401522

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NY ATTORNEY GENERAL CONDUCTED AN INVESTIGATION
CONCERNING THE PRACTICES RELATING TO THE OFFER, SALE,
ISSUANCE, ADVERTISEMENT, PROMOTION, EXCHANGE, MARKETING,
INVESTMENT ADVICE, DISTRIBUTION AND TRANSFER OF SECURITIES IN
AND FROM THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/21/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ENHANCEMENTS TO THE FIRM'S POLICIES.

Sanction Details: PLEASE SEE BELOW.

Firm Statement IN ORDER TO SETTLE THIS MATTER AND WITH NO ADMISSION OF
WRONGDOING OR LIABILITY, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY         $48,000,000.00
TO THE STATE OF NEW YORK, $50,000,000.00 TO THE REMAINING STATES,
WASHINGTON, D.C. & PUERTO RICO AND $2,000,000.00 TO NASAA.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 421 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/07/2001

Docket/Case Number: CMS010173

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 6240(A)(2) AND 6240(B)(3) - WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE FINDINGS
THAT IT FAILED TO REPORT TO FIXED INCOME PRICING SYSTEM (FIPS)
TRANSACTIONS IN FIPS SECURITIES WITHIN FIVE MINUTES AFTER
EXECUTION; AND, INCORRECTLY REPORTED TO FIPS TRANSACTIONS IN
FIPS SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/07/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: NONE

Regulator Statement 04/18/02AC FINES & COST PAID IN FULL $7,500.00 12/24/01 INVOICE # 01-
MS- 682

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD REGULATION, INC.  #165

Date Initiated: 08/30/2001

Allegations: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC IN THAT THEY VIOLATED NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6240(A)(2) AND
NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 FOR FAILING TO REPORT TO THE FIXED
INCOME PRICING SYSTEM ("FIPS") 78 TRANSACTIONS IN FIPS SECURITIES
WITHIN FIVE MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION, AND NASD MARKETPLACE
RULE 6240(B)(3) IN THAT MERRILL LYNCH INCORRECTLY REPORTED TO
FIPS 260 TRANSACTIONS IN FIPS SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/30/2001

Docket/Case Number: CMS010173

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CORPORATE BOND

Resolution Date: 11/07/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC IN THAT THEY VIOLATED NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6240(A)(2) AND
NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 FOR FAILING TO REPORT TO THE FIXED
INCOME PRICING SYSTEM ("FIPS") 78 TRANSACTIONS IN FIPS SECURITIES
WITHIN FIVE MINUTES AFTER EXECUTION, AND NASD MARKETPLACE
RULE 6240(B)(3) IN THAT MERRILL LYNCH INCORRECTLY REPORTED TO
FIPS 260 TRANSACTIONS IN FIPS SECURITIES.

Firm Statement SEE 7 ABOVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 422 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Date Initiated: 06/27/2001

Allegations: NASD RULE 4613(E)(1)(C) - A MARKET MAKER IN SECURITIES
LOCKED/CROSSED THE MARKET DURING THE PRE-OPENING MARKET
PERIOD BETWEEN 9:20 AND 9:29:59 A.M., EASTERN TIME AND FAILED TO
IMMEDIATELY THEREAFTER SEND A TRADE-OR-MOVE MESSAGE
THROUGH SELECTNET TO THE MARKET PARTICIPANT(S) WHOSE QUOTE
LOCKED OR CROSSED THAT WAS PRICED AT THE RECEIVING MARKET
PARTICIPANT?S QUOTED PRICE AND/OR FAILED TO SEND A TRADE-OR-
MOVE MESSAGE(S) THROUGH SELECTNET WITH AN AGGREGATE SIZE OF
AT LEAST 5,000 SHARES TO ALL MARKET PARTICIPANTS WHOSE QUOTES
IT LOCKED/CROSSED.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/27/2001

Docket/Case Number: CMS0101109

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/27/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CENSURED AND FINED $25,000.00

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD REGULATION, INC.  #167

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 06/25/2001

Docket/Case Number: CMS010109

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT FROM NOVEMBER 27, 2000 THROUGH DECEMBER
1, 2000, MERRILL LYNCH LOCKED/CROSSED THE MARKET DURING THE
PRE-OPENING MARKET PERIOD AND: (1) FAILED TO IMMEDIATELY SEND A
TRADE-OR-MOVE MESSAGE THROUGH SELECTNET TO THE MARKET
PARTICIPANTS WHOSE QUOTE IT LOCKED OR CROSSED: AND/OR (2)
FAILED TO SEND A TRADE-OR-MOVE MESSAGE(S) THROUGH SELECTNET
WITH AN AGGREGATE SIZE OF AT LEAST 5,000 SHARES TO ALL MARKET
PARTICIPANTS WHOSE QUOTES IT LOCKED/CROSSED.  THE ALLEGED
CONDUCT CONSTITUTES VIOLATIONS OF NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 4613
(E)(1)(C).

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 06/25/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND FINE OF $25,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING, MERRILL LYNCH ENTERED INTO AN
AWC AND AGREED TO A CENSURE AND FINE OF $25,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 423 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VERMONT SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE

Date Initiated: 03/28/2001

Docket/Case Number: 01-018-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO OBTAIN INVESTMENT ADVISER REPRESENTATIVE
(IAR)REGISTRATION FOR APPROXIMATELY 30 PERSONS REQUIRING SUCH
IAR REGISTRATION IN EACH OF YEARS 1995, 1996, 1997, 1998, AND 1999.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/28/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ADMINISTRATIVE FINE $50,000.00

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Consent
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Regulator Statement IN EACH OF YEARS 1995, 1996, 1997, 1998, AND 1999, RESPONDENT FAILED
TO OBTAIN INVESTMENT ADVISER REPRESENTATIVE (IAR) REGISTRATION
FOR APPROXIMATELY 30 PERSONS REQUIRING SUCH IAR REGISTRATION.
RESPONDENT ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER AGREEING TO PAY FINE
OF $50,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: VERMONT DEPT. OF BANKING   #161

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/28/2001

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): IAR REGISTRATION

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH, AS A RESULT OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE ERROR,
INADVERTENTLY FAILED TO REGISTER, OR RENEW THE ANNUAL
REGISTRATION OF APPROXIMATELY 30 FCS AND CSAS AS IARS IN THE
STATE OF VERMONT IN EACH OF THE YEARS 1995, 1996, 1997, 1998 AND
1999.  DURING THE LAST QUARTER OF 2000, MERRILL LYNCH FILED IAR
REGISTRATION APPLICATIONS FOR ALL OF ITS PERSONNEL REQUIRING
VERMONT REGISTRATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/28/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH, AS A RESULT OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE ERROR,
INADVERTENTLY FAILED TO REGISTER, OR RENEW THE ANNUAL
REGISTRATION OF APPROXIMATELY 30 FCS AND CSAS AS IARS IN THE
STATE OF VERMONT IN EACH OF THE YEARS 1995, 1996, 1997, 1998 AND
1999.  DURING THE LAST QUARTER OF 2000, MERRILL LYNCH FILED IAR
REGISTRATION APPLICATIONS FOR ALL OF ITS PERSONNEL REQUIRING
VERMONT REGISTRATION.

Firm Statement PLEASE SEE NUMBER 7 ABOVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Settled
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Firm Statement PLEASE SEE NUMBER 7 ABOVE.

Disclosure 424 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE, LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/14/2000

Docket/Case Number: 99-022

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 904(A) IN THAT IT EFFECTED
OPENING TRANSACTIONS IN UNISOURCE ENERGY CORP. ("UNS") OPTIONS
FOR THE ACCOUNT OF A PUBLIC CUSTOMER, WHICH RESULTED IN THAT
ACCOUNT MAINTAINING AN UNHEDGED OPTION POSITION THAT
EXCEEDED THE POSITION LIMIT OF 4,500 CONTRACTS, DUIRNG THE
PERIOD SEPT. 17, 1998 THROUGH OCTOBER 22, 1998.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/08/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A CHECK IN THE AMOUNT OF $10,000 SHOULD BE FORWARDED TO THE
AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE ON OR BEFORE FEBRUARY 15, 2001.

Regulator Statement PLEASE CONTACT HAROLD YUEN, SENIOR ATTORNEY, ENFORCEMENT &
INVESTIGATIONS DEPARTMENT, AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE, LLC (212)
306-1570.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: ML SETTLED WITH THE ASE AND STIPULATED THAT IT VIOLATED ASE RULE
904 (A), IN THAT IN 1998, IT EFFECTED OPENING TRADES IN OPTIONS FOR
A CUSTOMER, WHICH RESULTED IN AN UNHEDGED OPTION POSITION
THAT EXCEEDED POSITION LIMITS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE #160

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINE

Date Initiated: 04/01/2000

Docket/Case Number: 99-022

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ML SETTLED WITH THE ASE AND STIPULATED THAT IT VIOLATED ASE RULE
904 (A), IN THAT IN 1998, IT EFFECTED OPENING TRADES IN OPTIONS FOR
A CUSTOMER, WHICH RESULTED IN AN UNHEDGED OPTION POSITION
THAT EXCEEDED POSITION LIMITS.

Resolution Date: 01/19/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: CENSURE

Sanction Details: ALL TRANSACTIONS WERE UNSOLICITED. THE CLIENT REFUSED TO BRING
THE OPTION POSITION INTO COMPLIANCE. THE FIRM WAS COMPELLED TO
EFFECT FORCED LIQUIDATIONS.

Firm Statement PLEASE SEE NUMBER 7 ABOVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 425 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Date Initiated: 11/02/2000

Allegations: 11-15-00,NASD RULES 2110 AND 3010 - RESPONDENT MEMBER FAILED
REASONABLY TO ENFORCE ITS WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
INCLUDING SUPERVISION OF TRADING ACTIVITY FOR THE DETECTION OF
POTENTIAL UNSUITABLE AND EXCESSIVE TRADING AND THE REVIEW OF
ACCOUNTS APPEARING ON EXCEPTION REPORTS;AND THE FIRM FAILED
TO NOTIFY A BRANCH THAT TESTAMENTARY DOCUMENTS HAD NOT BEEN
RECEIVED UNTIL THE ABSENCE OF SUCH DOCUMENTS WAS DETECTED
DURING THE ANNUAL COMPLIANCE EXAMINATION.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/02/2000

Docket/Case Number: C11000026

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 11/02/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CENSURED AND FINED $25,000

05-03-01, $25,000 PAID 2/15/01

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD REGULATION, INC.  #158

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 11/01/2000

Docket/Case Number: AWC. NO.C11000026

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGED VIOLATION OF NASD CONDUCT RULES 3010 AND 2110

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/15/2000

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: 25,000.00 FINE PAID NOVEMBER 22, 2000

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Disclosure 426 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: NASD RULES 2110, 2320, 3010, 3370, 4613(E), 4642, 6130, 6420, 6620 AND
SEC RULE 11AC1-4:FAILED TO REPORT TO ACT THE CORRECT SYMBOL
INDICATING WHETHER TRANSACTIONS IN ELIGIBLE SECURITIES WERE AS
PRINCIPAL OR AGENT, FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE IN ACT A
TRANSACTION IN AN ELIGIBLE SECURITY, AND FAILED TO DISPLAY
IMMEDIATELY CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN NASDAQ SECURITIES IN ITS
PUBLIC QUOTATION, WHEN EACH SUCH ORDER WAS AT A PRICE THAT
WOULD HAVE IMPROVED THE FIRM'S BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH
SECURITY, OR WHEN THE ORDER WAS PRICED EQUAL TO THE FIRM'S BID
OR OFFER AND THE NATIONAL BEST BID OR OFFER FOR EACH SUCH
SECURITY, AND THE SIZE OF THE ORDER REPRESENTED MORE THAN A DE
MINIMIS CHANGE IN RELATION TO THE SIZE ASSOCIATED WITH THE FIRM'S
BID OR OFFER IN EACH SUCH SECURITY; ENTERED OR MAINTAINED
QUOTATIONS IN NASDAQ DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS WHERE THE
BID QUOTATION ENTERED WAS EQUAL TO OR GREATER THAN THE ASKED
QUOTATION OF ANOTHER MARKET MAKER ENTERING QUOTATIONS IN THE
SAME SECURITY, AND FAILED TO USE REASONABLE DILIGENCE TO
ASCERTAIN THE BEST INTER-DEALER MARKET FOR THE SECURITY AND
BUY OR SELL IN MARKET SO THAT THE RESULTANT PRICE TO THE
CUSTOMER WAS AS FAVORABLE AS POSSIBLE UNDER PREVAILING
MARKET CONDITIONS; EXECUTED SHORT SALE ORDERS AND FAILED TO
MAKE AN AFFIRMATIVE DETERMINATION PRIOR TO EXECUTING
TRANSACTIONS, AND EXECUTED SHORT SALE TRANSACTIONS AND
FAILED TO REPORT THESE TRANSACTIONS TO ACT WITH A SHORT SALE
MODIFIER; ENGAGED IN A PATTERN OF LATE TRANSACTION REPORTING
WITHOUT EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES BY FAILING TO REPORT WITHIN
90 SECONDS AFTER EXECUTION, TRANSACTIONS IN ACT-ELIGIBLE
SECURITIES TO ACT, AND FAILED TO TRANSMIT THROUGH ACT WITHIN 90
SECOND AFTER EXECUTION, LAST SALES REPORTS OF TRANSACTIONS IN
NNM,NASD SMALLCAP, LISTED AND OTC EQUITY SECURITIES, AND FAILED
TO DESIGNATE EACH SUCH TRANSACTION AS LATE TO ACT; AND, THE
FIRM'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM DID NOT ADEQUATELY PROVIDE FOR
SUPERVISION TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE W/ APPLICABLE SECURITIES
LAWS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/27/2000

Docket/Case Number: CMS000225

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/27/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: SUBMIT TO THE NASD WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THIS AWC'S ACCEPTANCE BY
THE NASD, REVISED WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
CONCERNING NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6130(D)(6), ACT COMPLIANCE,
BEST EXECUTION , AND THE SEC'S ORDER HANDLING RULES.

Sanction Details: 03-23-01, $97,000 PAID 1/03/01

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $97,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS       #157

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FIRM WAS CENSURED.

Date Initiated: 11/22/2000

Docket/Case Number: CMS000225

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF NASD MARKET MAKING RULES RELATED TO BEST
EXECUTION, SHORT SALE, LIMIT ORDER DISPLAY, AND LATE REPORTING.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC) 1012©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Resolution Date: 12/20/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ON DECEMBER 20, 2000 ML PAID $97,000 TO SETTLE AN AWC RELATED TO
ALLEGED VIOLATION OF NASD MARKET MAKING RULES RELATED TO BEST
EXECUTION, SHORT SALE REPORTING, LIMIT ORDERS DISPLAY, LATE
REPORTING OF TRADES, AND LOCKED AND CROSSED MARKETS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $97,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 427 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/12/1988

Docket/Case Number: CLE-334

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2, AND 27(A) OF THE RULES OF
FAIR PRACTICE

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/09/1990

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: LETTER OF FUTURE OBSERVANCE AND COMPLIANCE AND THE FIRM WILL
COMPLY WITH AN UNDERTAKING.

Regulator Statement [TOP] COMPLAINT NO. CLE-334 (DISTRICT NO. 8) FILED 07/12/1988 AGAINST
RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (THE FIRM), BRUCE A. JAMIESON AND TODD LEROY
DESMOND ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2, AND 27(A)
OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE (RFP) IN THAT DESMOND
RECOMMENDED TO A PUBLIC CUSTOMER THE WRITING OF UNCOVERED
CALL OPTION CONTRACTS ON COMMON STOCK WITHOUT HAVING
REASONABLE GROUNDS FOR BELIEVING THE RECOMMENDATIONS WERE
SUITABLE FOR THE CUSTOMER BASED ON THE CUSTOMERS' OTHER
SECURITIES HOLDINGS, FINANCIAL SITUATION AND NEEDS; THE FIRM AND
JAMIESON FAILED TO ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES SO AS TO
PROPERLY SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF DESMOND; WITHOUT THE
KNOWLEDGE OR CONSENT OF THE FIRM, DESMOND MADE OR CAUSED
TO BE MADE FALSE JOURNAL ENTRIES TO THE ACCOUNT OF A CUSTOMER
WHICH WERE CREDITED AS INTEREST ADJUSTMENTS AND WHICH ACTED
TO THE FINANCIAL DETRIMENT OF THE FIRM; AND, FAILED TO RESPOND
TO NASD REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE IV,
SECTION 5 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE. 04/19/1990 - NOTICE OF
INTENT TO WITHDRAW THE COMPLAINT CONCERNING JAMIESON WAS
APPROVED BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE.
DECISION RENDERED 07/09/1990, WHEREIN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT
SUBMITTED BY THE FIRM WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, THE DECISION
WILL SERVE AS A LETTER OF FUTURE OBSERVANCE AND COMPLIANCE
AND THE FIRM WILL COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKING THAT IT WILL ISSUE
AN INFORMATION MEMORANDUM TO ITS SALES MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL, OPERATIONS MANAGERS AND WIRE OPERATORS WHICH
SET FORTH THE FACTS OF THIS CASE AND CAUTIONS THEM OF THE NEED
TO REQUIRE THAT ORDER TICKETS BE PROPERLY COMPLETED AND
CODED AT THE TIME OF ORDER ENTRY.

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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[TOP] COMPLAINT NO. CLE-334 (DISTRICT NO. 8) FILED 07/12/1988 AGAINST
RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (THE FIRM), BRUCE A. JAMIESON AND TODD LEROY
DESMOND ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2, AND 27(A)
OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE (RFP) IN THAT DESMOND
RECOMMENDED TO A PUBLIC CUSTOMER THE WRITING OF UNCOVERED
CALL OPTION CONTRACTS ON COMMON STOCK WITHOUT HAVING
REASONABLE GROUNDS FOR BELIEVING THE RECOMMENDATIONS WERE
SUITABLE FOR THE CUSTOMER BASED ON THE CUSTOMERS' OTHER
SECURITIES HOLDINGS, FINANCIAL SITUATION AND NEEDS; THE FIRM AND
JAMIESON FAILED TO ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES SO AS TO
PROPERLY SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF DESMOND; WITHOUT THE
KNOWLEDGE OR CONSENT OF THE FIRM, DESMOND MADE OR CAUSED
TO BE MADE FALSE JOURNAL ENTRIES TO THE ACCOUNT OF A CUSTOMER
WHICH WERE CREDITED AS INTEREST ADJUSTMENTS AND WHICH ACTED
TO THE FINANCIAL DETRIMENT OF THE FIRM; AND, FAILED TO RESPOND
TO NASD REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE IV,
SECTION 5 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE. 04/19/1990 - NOTICE OF
INTENT TO WITHDRAW THE COMPLAINT CONCERNING JAMIESON WAS
APPROVED BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE.
DECISION RENDERED 07/09/1990, WHEREIN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT
SUBMITTED BY THE FIRM WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, THE DECISION
WILL SERVE AS A LETTER OF FUTURE OBSERVANCE AND COMPLIANCE
AND THE FIRM WILL COMPLY WITH THE UNDERTAKING THAT IT WILL ISSUE
AN INFORMATION MEMORANDUM TO ITS SALES MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL, OPERATIONS MANAGERS AND WIRE OPERATORS WHICH
SET FORTH THE FACTS OF THIS CASE AND CAUTIONS THEM OF THE NEED
TO REQUIRE THAT ORDER TICKETS BE PROPERLY COMPLETED AND
CODED AT THE TIME OF ORDER ENTRY.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NASD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Date Initiated: 07/12/1988

Docket/Case Number: CLE-334

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT IS ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH MADE UNSUITABLE
RECOMMENDATIONS (UNCOVERED CALL OPTION CONTRACTS) FOR
CUSTOMER AND FAILED TO ENFORCE WRITTEN PROCEDURES RELATING
TO SUPERVISION.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 07/09/1990

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: LETTER OF FUTURE OBSERVANCE AND COMPLIANCE WITH AN
UNTERTAKING

Firm Statement OFFER OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY FIRM WAS ACCEPTED AS A
LETTER OF FUTURE OBSERVANCE AND COMPLIANCE.  ADDITINOALLY, THE
FIRM ISSUED AN INFORMATION MEMORANDUM TO ITS SALES
MANAGEMENT, OPERATIONS MANAGERS AND WIRE OPERATORS SETTING
FORTH THE FACTS OF THIS CASE AND REMINDING THEM OF THE NEED
FOR ORDER TICKETS TO BE PROPERLY COMPLETED AND CODED AT THE
TIME OF ORDER ENTRY.

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 428 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE #146

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/31/2000

Docket/Case Number: 99-0056

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FIRM FAILED TO INSURE THE SUPERVISION OF A REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE'S BROKERAGE OF STOCK AND OPTIONS ORDERS FOR
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/31/2000

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $22,500.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IN
THE STATEMENT OF CHARGES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $22,500.00

Disclosure 429 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS  #145

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE, UNDERTAKING TO RETAIN A CONSULTANT TO
REVIEW THE COMPLIANCE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES IN THE BOSTON
OFFICE, AND AGREEMENT TO OFFER AN EXPEDITED MEDIATION
PROCESS.

Date Initiated: 05/15/2000

Docket/Case Number: 2000-26

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE DIVISION ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE TWO FINANCIAL CONSULTANTS IN ITS BOSTON OFFICE.  IT
WAS ALLEGED THAT ONE FINANCIAL CONSULTANT OVERCONCENTRATED
CERTAIN SECURITIES IN CUSTOMERS' ACCOUNTS IN A MANNER NOT
SUITABLE FOR THOSE ACCOUNTS WHILE THE OTHER FINANCIAL
CONSULTANT ENGAGED IN A FRAUDULENT SCHEME TO STEAL MONEY
FROM CUSTOMERS OVER A TEN (10) YEAR PERIOD.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/15/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: IN ADDITION TO AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE, MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO
REIMBURSE THE MASSACHUSETTS INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND $100,000
FOR THE APPROXIMATE COST OF THE INVESTIGATION.

Firm Statement A SETTLEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MERRILL LYNCH WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS IN THE
ORDER.  AS PART OF AN UNDERTAKING MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO DO
THE FOLLOWING: (1) RETAIN A CONSULTANT TO REVIEW AND REPORT
UPON THE CURRENT COMPLIANCE POLICY AND PROCEDURES WITH
FOCUS IN CERTAIN SPECIFIED AREAS, AND (2) OFFER AN EXPEDITED
MEDIATION PROCESS WHEREBY CUSTOMERS WITH CERTAIN
CONCENTRATED SECURITIES POSITIONS MAY SEEK COMPENSATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $750,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Firm Statement A SETTLEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MERRILL LYNCH WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE ALLEGATIONS OR FINDINGS IN THE
ORDER.  AS PART OF AN UNDERTAKING MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO DO
THE FOLLOWING: (1) RETAIN A CONSULTANT TO REVIEW AND REPORT
UPON THE CURRENT COMPLIANCE POLICY AND PROCEDURES WITH
FOCUS IN CERTAIN SPECIFIED AREAS, AND (2) OFFER AN EXPEDITED
MEDIATION PROCESS WHEREBY CUSTOMERS WITH CERTAIN
CONCENTRATED SECURITIES POSITIONS MAY SEEK COMPENSATION.

Disclosure 430 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: **05/10/2000** STIPULATION AND CONSENT FILED BY NYSE DIVISION OF
ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING THE FIRM CONSENTED TO FINDINGS THAT
IT: VIOLATED SEC RULE 15C3-1(A) IN THAT IT FAILED TO MAINTAIN MINIMUM
NET CAPITAL AT THE REQUIRED LEVEL WHILE ENGAGING IN SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS DURING THE PERIOD OF OCTOBER 27 THROUGH
OCTOBER 29, 1998. VIOLATED SEC RULE 15C3-1(E)(1) AND (2) IN THAT IT
WITHDREW EQUITY CAPTIAL DURING THE PERIOD OF OCTOBER 27
THROUGH OCTOBER 29, 1998 WHEN IT DID NOT HAVE MINIMUM NET
CAPITAL AT THE REQUIRED LEVEL, AND FAILED TO PROVIDE NOTICE THAT
IT WAS WITHDRAWING ITS EQUITY CAPITAL. VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE
345.17 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE AND/OR FAILED TO PROMPTLY
FILE FORMS U-5 AND AMENDMENTS TO FORMS U-5 WITH THE EXCHANGE.
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(A) IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT
AND/OR FAILED TO PROMPTLY REPORT MATTERS TO THE EXCHANGE AS
REQUIRED. VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345. 12 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO FILE AND/OR FAILED TO PROMPTLY FILE FORMS U-4 AND
AMENDMENTS TO FORMS U-4 WITH THE EXCHANGE. VIOLATED
EXCHANGE RULE 346(F) BY HAVING ASSOCIATED WITH IT PERSONS WHO
WERE KNOWN OR IN THE EXERCISE
OF REASONABLE CARE SHOULD HAVE BEEN KNOWN TO BE SUBJECT TO A
STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION. VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(A)(9) IN
THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO PROMPTLY REPORT TO THE EXCHANGE ITS
ASSOCIATION WITH PERSONS WHO WERE SUBJECT TO A STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION. VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(D) IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO REPORT,  FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT AND/OR FAILED TO
ACCURATELY REPORT TO THE EXCHANGE STATISTICAL INFORMATION
REGARDING CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS.
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR,
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS,
INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW UP AND REVIEW: (I) OF ITS FINANCING
WITH ITS PARENT, TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES RELATING
TO WITHDRAWAL AND MAINTENANCE OF MINIMUM NET CAPITAL; AND
**CONTINUED IN #13**

Current Status: Final

1017©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: NYSE DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/10/2000

Docket/Case Number: HPD#00-109

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

**05/10/2000** STIPULATION AND CONSENT FILED BY NYSE DIVISION OF
ENFORCEMENT AND PENDING THE FIRM CONSENTED TO FINDINGS THAT
IT: VIOLATED SEC RULE 15C3-1(A) IN THAT IT FAILED TO MAINTAIN MINIMUM
NET CAPITAL AT THE REQUIRED LEVEL WHILE ENGAGING IN SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS DURING THE PERIOD OF OCTOBER 27 THROUGH
OCTOBER 29, 1998. VIOLATED SEC RULE 15C3-1(E)(1) AND (2) IN THAT IT
WITHDREW EQUITY CAPTIAL DURING THE PERIOD OF OCTOBER 27
THROUGH OCTOBER 29, 1998 WHEN IT DID NOT HAVE MINIMUM NET
CAPITAL AT THE REQUIRED LEVEL, AND FAILED TO PROVIDE NOTICE THAT
IT WAS WITHDRAWING ITS EQUITY CAPITAL. VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE
345.17 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO FILE AND/OR FAILED TO PROMPTLY
FILE FORMS U-5 AND AMENDMENTS TO FORMS U-5 WITH THE EXCHANGE.
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(A) IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO REPORT
AND/OR FAILED TO PROMPTLY REPORT MATTERS TO THE EXCHANGE AS
REQUIRED. VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 345. 12 IN THAT THE FIRM FAILED
TO FILE AND/OR FAILED TO PROMPTLY FILE FORMS U-4 AND
AMENDMENTS TO FORMS U-4 WITH THE EXCHANGE. VIOLATED
EXCHANGE RULE 346(F) BY HAVING ASSOCIATED WITH IT PERSONS WHO
WERE KNOWN OR IN THE EXERCISE
OF REASONABLE CARE SHOULD HAVE BEEN KNOWN TO BE SUBJECT TO A
STATUTORY DISQUALIFICATION. VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(A)(9) IN
THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO PROMPTLY REPORT TO THE EXCHANGE ITS
ASSOCIATION WITH PERSONS WHO WERE SUBJECT TO A STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION. VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 351(D) IN THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO REPORT,  FAILED TO TIMELY REPORT AND/OR FAILED TO
ACCURATELY REPORT TO THE EXCHANGE STATISTICAL INFORMATION
REGARDING CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS.
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342 IN THAT IT FAILED TO PROVIDE FOR,
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS,
INCLUDING SYSTEMS OF FOLLOW UP AND REVIEW: (I) OF ITS FINANCING
WITH ITS PARENT, TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES RELATING
TO WITHDRAWAL AND MAINTENANCE OF MINIMUM NET CAPITAL; AND
**CONTINUED IN #13**

Resolution Date: 08/11/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: **07/07/2000** DECISION HPD 00-109 ISSUED BY NYSE HEARING PANEL
(6/29/00)DECISION: VIOLATED SEC RULE 15C3-1(A) BY FAILING TO
MAINTAIN NET CAPITAL AT THE REQUIRED LEVEL;  VIOLATED SEC
RULE15C3-1(E)1 AND (2) BY WITHDRAWING EQUITY CAPITAL WHEN IT DID
NOT HAVE MINIMUM NET CAPITAL AT THE REQUIRED LEVEL;  VIOLATED
RULE 345.17 BY FAILING TO FILE OR FILE PROMPTLY FORMS U-5;
VIOLATED RULE 351(A) BY FAILING TO REPORT MATTERS TO THE
EXCHANGE AS REQUIRED; VIOLATED RULE 345.12 BY FAILING TO FILE OR
FILE PROMPTLY FORMS U-4;  VIOLATED RULE 346(F) BY HAVING PERSONS
ASSOCIATED WITH IT WHO WERE SUBJECT TO STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION;  VIOLATED RULE 351(A)(9) BY FAILING TO PROMPTLY
REPORT ITS ASSOCIATION WITH PERSONS SUBJECT TO A STATUTORY
DISQUALIFICATION;  VIOLATED RULE 351(D) BY FAILING TO REPORT AS
REQUIRED STATISTICAL INFORMATION REGARDING CUSTOMER
COMPLAINTS; AND VIOLATED RULE 342 BY FAILING TO PROVIDE FOR,
ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN ADEQUATE PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS -
CONSENT TO CENSURE, $250,000 FINE AND AN UNDERTAKING (TO CAUSE
A REVIEW TO BE PERFORMED AND A WRITTEN REPORT PREPARED BY
THE FIRM'S GENERAL COUNSEL, WITHIN 120 DAYS FROM THE DATE THE
HPD BECOMES FINAL, TO REVIEW ITS SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES
REGARDING REPORTING EVENTS PURSUANT TO RULES 345 AND 351, A
COPY TO BE PROVIDED TO THE EXCHANGE)

Regulator Statement (II) OF ITS REGULATORY REPORTING FUNCTION, TO ENSURE PROMPT
REPORTING TO THE EXCHANGE OF EMPLOYEE ARRESTS, REPORTABLE
EVENTS GENERALLY AND ITS ASSOCIATION WITH STATUTORILY
DISQUALIFIED PERSONS; AND TO ENSURE EXCHANGE PERMISSION WAS
OBTAINED FOR ITS ASSOCIATIONS WITH STATUTORILY DISQUALIFIED
PERSONS. CONSENT TO A CENSURE, A F INE OF $250,000 AND AN
UNDERTAKING TO PREPARE A REPORT TO THE FIRM'S GENERAL COUNSEL
AS SET FORTH IN THE STIPULATION. CONTACT: **08/11/2000** THE
DECISION IS NOW FINAL. THE BAR OR SUSPENSION IMPOSED IS
EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY. PEGGY GERMINO (212) 656-8450.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Decision
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Regulator Statement (II) OF ITS REGULATORY REPORTING FUNCTION, TO ENSURE PROMPT
REPORTING TO THE EXCHANGE OF EMPLOYEE ARRESTS, REPORTABLE
EVENTS GENERALLY AND ITS ASSOCIATION WITH STATUTORILY
DISQUALIFIED PERSONS; AND TO ENSURE EXCHANGE PERMISSION WAS
OBTAINED FOR ITS ASSOCIATIONS WITH STATUTORILY DISQUALIFIED
PERSONS. CONSENT TO A CENSURE, A F INE OF $250,000 AND AN
UNDERTAKING TO PREPARE A REPORT TO THE FIRM'S GENERAL COUNSEL
AS SET FORTH IN THE STIPULATION. CONTACT: **08/11/2000** THE
DECISION IS NOW FINAL. THE BAR OR SUSPENSION IMPOSED IS
EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY. PEGGY GERMINO (212) 656-8450.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE            152

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 08/30/2000

Docket/Case Number: HEARING PANEL DECISION  00-109

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MLPFS CONSENTED TO NYSE DECISION WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING  THAT  ON 3 DAYS IN 1998,IT HAD A NET CAPITAL DEFICIENCY
AND OBTAINED APPROVAL TO PREPAY PART OF A SUBORDINATED LOAN.
IN ADDITION, BETWEEN 1995 AND 1998, MLPFS FAILED TO TIMELY FILE
FORMS CONCERNING  CERTAIN REPORTABLE EVENTS RELATING TO THE
FIRM AND ITS EMPLOYEES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/30/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MLPFS IS TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF ITS REGULATORY REPORTING
PROCEDURES AND SUBMIT A REPORT ON SUCH PROCEDURES AND ANY
ENHANCEMENTS WITHIN 120 DAYS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Decision
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Disclosure 431 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/31/2000

Docket/Case Number: CMS000041

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: 05-04-00, SEC RULES 17A-3,17A-4,NASD RULES 2110 AND 3010 -
RESPONDENT MEMBER FAILED TO MAINTAIN, KEEP CURRENT, OR
PRESERVE A RECORD OF THE TIMES CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS WERE
TRANSMITTED FOR EXECUTION, THE MANNER IN WHICH IT WAS
TRANSMITTED, OR THE IDENTITY OF THE MEMBER TO WHICH THE ORDER
WAS TRANSMITTED AND FOR ORDERS THAT WERE CANCELLED, THE
IDENTITY OF THE FIRM TO WHICH THE ORDER WAS TRANSMITTED WAS
NOT MAINTAINED, KEPT CURRENT, OR PRESERVED IN ANY RECORD; AND
FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN, AND ENFORCE ADEQUATE WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES CONCERNING THE TRANSMISSION AND
HANDLING OF CUSTOMER LIMIT ORDERS IN SECURITIES IN WHICH THE
FIRM DID NOT MAKE A MARKET.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/31/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CENSURED AND FINED $9,000

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: BOOKS AND RECORDS VIOLATION RELATED TO NASDAQ MARKET MAKING.

Current Status: Final

1020©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS     #147

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/13/2000

Docket/Case Number: CMS 000041 AWC

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: BOOKS AND RECORDS VIOLATION RELATED TO NASDAQ MARKET MAKING.

Resolution Date: 06/13/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC. WAS FINED AND
CENSURED FOR VIOLATIONS RELATED TO BOOKS AND RECORDS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 432 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SEC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/06/1982

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Index Option(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: WILFULLY VIOLATED ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933 AND THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 IN CONNECTION WITH
OFFER AND SALE OF EXCHANGE LISTED OPTIONS.  FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE EMPLOYEES AND CONTROL THEM.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 08/06/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ADOPT PROCEDURES

Sanction Details: WILL MAKE OFFERS OF RESTITUTION TO CERTAIN CUSTOMERS. IN
ADDITION MLP WILL ADOPT PROCEDURES TO IMPROVE ITS CAPABILITY TO
SURVEY AND CONTROL OPTIONS TRANSACTIONS IN CUSTOMER
ACCOUNTS AND ESTABLISH AN OPTION REVIEW COMMITTEE TO
IMPLEMENT SUCH PROCEDURES, TO ASSURE ALL PROCEDURES ARE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE SELF-REGULATORY GUIDELINES AND TO
IMPLEMENT NEW OR REVISED PROCEDURES, WHERE WARRANTED, IN
CONNECTION WITH MLP'S OPTION BUSINESS.

Regulator Statement [TOP] SEC NEWS DIGEST, 8/6/82, ISSUE 82-151 PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDINGS  INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INC. (MLP), A REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER WITH PRINCIPAL
OFFICES IN NEW YORK, NEW YORK,
AND 10 EMPLOYEES OR FORMER EMPLOYEES OF 4 MLP BRANCHES IN
CLEVELAND AND COLUMBUS, OHIO, SOUTHFIELD AND DETROIT,
MICHIGAN. ORDER ALLEGES MLP, BUSCH, HURT, WIRT, MEULEBROUCK,
LEE, AND WILDS WILFULLY VIOLATED ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
IN CONNECTION WITH OFFER AND SALE OF EXCHANGE LISTED OPTIONS.
IT ALSO ALLEGES MLP, HUTTON, BRANDT, PICKARD AND MCCOMAS FAILED
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE EMPLOYEES AND CONTROL THEM. SEC
ACCEPTED RESPONDENTS SETTLEMENT OFFERS WHERE THEY
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS OF WILLFUL VIOLATIONS WITHOUT ADMITTING
OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS, AND SANCTIONS SET FORTH BELOW. ORDER
CENSURES MLP, HUTTON, BRANDT, PICKARD AND MCCOMAS;  SUSPENDS
BUSCH FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY BROKER OR DEALER, FOR 12
MONTHS; AND SUSPENDS HURT, WIRT, MUELEBROUCK, WILDS, AND LEE
FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY BROKER, DEALER, INVESTMENT ADVISER,
INVESTMENT COMPANY OR AFFILIATE FOR 6 MONTHS, 60 DAYS, 20 DAYS,
10 DAYS AND 10 DAYS, RESPECTIVELY. ADDITIONALLY, MLP STATES IT WILL
MAKE OFFERS OF RESTITUTION TO CERTAIN CUSTOMERS. IN ADDITION
MLP WILL ADOPT PROCEDURES TO IMPROVE ITS CAPABILITY TO SURVEY
AND CONTROL OPTIONS TRANSACTIONS IN CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS AND
ESTABLISH AN OPTION REVIEW COMMITTEE TO IMPLEMENT SUCH
PROCEDURES, TO ASSURE ALL PROCEDURES ARE IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SELF-REGULATORY GUIDELINES AND TO IMPLEMENT NEW OR
REVISED PROCEDURES, WHERE WARRANTED, IN CONNECTION WITH
MLP'S OPTION BUSINESS. IN ADDITION, HUTTON, BRANDT, PICKARD, AND
MCCOMAS EACH STATES THAT HE WILL BE RETRAINED AS A SUPERVISOR
FOR 10 BUSINESS DAYS, IN WHICH HE WILL RELINQUISH SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITY, AND WILL REQUALIFY AS A REGISTERED OPTION
PRINCIPAL. (REL. 34-18923).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Consent

1022©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

[TOP] SEC NEWS DIGEST, 8/6/82, ISSUE 82-151 PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDINGS  INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INC. (MLP), A REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER WITH PRINCIPAL
OFFICES IN NEW YORK, NEW YORK,
AND 10 EMPLOYEES OR FORMER EMPLOYEES OF 4 MLP BRANCHES IN
CLEVELAND AND COLUMBUS, OHIO, SOUTHFIELD AND DETROIT,
MICHIGAN. ORDER ALLEGES MLP, BUSCH, HURT, WIRT, MEULEBROUCK,
LEE, AND WILDS WILFULLY VIOLATED ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
IN CONNECTION WITH OFFER AND SALE OF EXCHANGE LISTED OPTIONS.
IT ALSO ALLEGES MLP, HUTTON, BRANDT, PICKARD AND MCCOMAS FAILED
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE EMPLOYEES AND CONTROL THEM. SEC
ACCEPTED RESPONDENTS SETTLEMENT OFFERS WHERE THEY
CONSENTED TO FINDINGS OF WILLFUL VIOLATIONS WITHOUT ADMITTING
OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS, AND SANCTIONS SET FORTH BELOW. ORDER
CENSURES MLP, HUTTON, BRANDT, PICKARD AND MCCOMAS;  SUSPENDS
BUSCH FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY BROKER OR DEALER, FOR 12
MONTHS; AND SUSPENDS HURT, WIRT, MUELEBROUCK, WILDS, AND LEE
FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY BROKER, DEALER, INVESTMENT ADVISER,
INVESTMENT COMPANY OR AFFILIATE FOR 6 MONTHS, 60 DAYS, 20 DAYS,
10 DAYS AND 10 DAYS, RESPECTIVELY. ADDITIONALLY, MLP STATES IT WILL
MAKE OFFERS OF RESTITUTION TO CERTAIN CUSTOMERS. IN ADDITION
MLP WILL ADOPT PROCEDURES TO IMPROVE ITS CAPABILITY TO SURVEY
AND CONTROL OPTIONS TRANSACTIONS IN CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS AND
ESTABLISH AN OPTION REVIEW COMMITTEE TO IMPLEMENT SUCH
PROCEDURES, TO ASSURE ALL PROCEDURES ARE IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE SELF-REGULATORY GUIDELINES AND TO IMPLEMENT NEW OR
REVISED PROCEDURES, WHERE WARRANTED, IN CONNECTION WITH
MLP'S OPTION BUSINESS. IN ADDITION, HUTTON, BRANDT, PICKARD, AND
MCCOMAS EACH STATES THAT HE WILL BE RETRAINED AS A SUPERVISOR
FOR 10 BUSINESS DAYS, IN WHICH HE WILL RELINQUISH SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITY, AND WILL REQUALIFY AS A REGISTERED OPTION
PRINCIPAL. (REL. 34-18923).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

DISGORGEMENT, RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 08/06/1982

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATION OF VIOLATION OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF SECURITIES
ACTS OF 1933 AND 1934.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/06/1982

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement THE COMMISSION SIMULTANEOUSLY ACCEPTED OFFERS OF SETTLEMENT
OF THE RESPONDENTS WHEREIN THEY CONSENTED TO FINDINGS OF
VIOLATIONS WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE
COMMISSION'S ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Settled

Disclosure 433 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

(1) CENSURE AND (2) DISGORGEMENT

Date Initiated: 04/06/2000

Docket/Case Number: RELS. 33-7838; 34-42640; FILE #3-10180

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): MUNICIPAL BONDS - "YIELD BURNING"

Allegations: THE SEC'S ORDERS ALLEGE AS FOLLOWS: FROM 1990 THROUGH 1994,
EACH OF THE TEN BROKERAGE FIRMS CHARGED ISSUERS OF MUNICIPAL
REFUNDING BONDS EXCESSIVE, UNDISCLOSED MARKUPS ON TREASURY
SECURITIES. THE FIRMS ALSO CERTIFIED THAT THE PRICES THEY
CHARGED DID NOT EXCEED THE SECURITIES' FAIR MARKET VALUE
UNDER THE FEDERAL TAX LAWS, EVEN THOUGH THEY KNEW OR SHOULD
HAVE KNOWN THAT THEY WERE CHARGING PRICES ABOVE FAIR MARKET
VALUE. THE FALSE REPRESENTATIONS BY THE FIRMS ABOUT THE FAIR
MARKET VALUE OF THE SECURITIES WERE CRITICAL TO ESTABLISHING
THE TAX-EXEMPT STATUS OF THE ASSOCIATED MUNICIPAL REFUNDING
BONDS. THAT TAX-EXEMPT STATUS WAS THE BONDS' ESSENTIAL
INVESTMENT FEATURE. IN SOME CASES, A BROKERAGE FIRM'S
OVERCHARGING DIVERTED MONEY FROM THE U.S. TREASURY TO THE
FIRM. IN THE REMAINING CASES, OVERCHARGING BY THE BROKERAGE
FIRM TOOK MONEY AWAY FROM THE MUNICIPALITY BY REDUCING,
DOLLAR FOR DOLLAR, THE SAVINGS THAT THE MUNICIPALITY RECEIVED
FROM THE REFUNDING. THEREFORE, EACH OF THE FIRMS VIOLATED THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS BY SELLING SECURITIES TO MUNICIPALITIES
AT INFLATED PRICES AND JEOPARDIZING THE TAX-EXEMPT STATUS OF
THE MUNICIPALITIES' REFUNDING BONDS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/06/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: (1) A CENSURE; (2) A CEASE AND DESIST ORDER PROHIBITING FROM
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933; AND (3) DISGORGEMENT OF $5 MILLION ($4.5
MILLION TO THE TREASURY AND $500,000 TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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(1) A CENSURE; (2) A CEASE AND DESIST ORDER PROHIBITING FROM
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933; AND (3) DISGORGEMENT OF $5 MILLION ($4.5
MILLION TO THE TREASURY AND $500,000 TO MUNICIPAL ISSUERS).

Regulator Statement +04/09/2000+ SEC NEWS DIGEST, ISSUE NO. 2000-65, DATED 04/06/2000,
ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS DISCLOSES: THE SEC TODAY BROUGHT
AND SETTLED CIVIL ADMINISTRATIVE FRAUD CHARGES AGAINST TEN
WALL STREET AND REGIONAL BROKERAGE FIRMS FOR OVERCHARGING
MUNICIPALITIES FOR GOVERNMENT SECURITIES IN A PRACTICE
COMMONLY KNOWN AS "YIELD BURNING." THE SETTLEMENTS
ANNOUNCED TODAY ARE PART OF A GLOBAL RESOLUTION OF ALL YIELD
BURNING CLAIMS WITH A TOTAL OF SEVENTEEN BROKERAGE FIRMS BY
THE SEC, NASD REGULATION, INC., THE U.S. ATTORNEY FOR THE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, AND THE DEPARTMENT OF THE
TREASURY. THIS GLOBAL RESOLUTION REQUIRES THE FIRMS TO PAY A
TOTAL OF MORE THAN $139 MILLION. INCLUDING THE ACTIONS
ANNOUNCED TODAY, MORE THAN $172 MILLION WILL HAVE BEEN PAID BY
21 FIRMS TO RESOLVE CHARGES OF YIELD BURNING AND RELATED
CLAIMS. YIELD BURNING INVOLVES OVERCHARGES BY BROKERAGE
FIRMS ON TREASURY SECURITIES PURCHASED WITH PROCEEDS FROM
THE SALE OF MUNICIPAL BONDS. YIELD BURNING BY BROKERAGE FIRMS
JEOPARDIZED THE TAX-EXEMPT STATUS OF INTEREST PAID TO HOLDERS
OF THOSE BONDS. WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS,
EACH FIRM INCLUDING MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED CONSENTED TO A CENSURE, A CEASE AND DESIST
ORDER PROHIBITING FUTURE VIOLATIONS, AND AGREED TO DISGORGE
THE ILL-GOTTEN GAINS IT RECEIVED FROM THE OVERCHARGING. (RELS.
33-7838; 34-42640; FILE NO. 3-10180)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION      #139

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FIRM ALSO AGREED TO MAKE PAYMENTS TO CERTAIN MUNICIPALITIES
AND TO THE UNITED STATES TREASURY

Date Initiated: 04/06/2000

Docket/Case Number: SEA REL. 42640; 95 CIV. 1353 (SDNY)

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATION THAT TREASURY SECURITIES WERE PRICED TOO HIGH
WHEN SOLD IN CONNECTION WITH MUNICIPAL ADVANCE REFUNDING
BOND OFFERINGS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FIRM ALSO AGREED TO MAKE PAYMENTS TO CERTAIN MUNICIPALITIES
AND TO THE UNITED STATES TREASURY

Resolution Date: 04/06/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY $972,482 TO MUNICIPALITIES AND $4,614,869 TO
THE UNITED STATES TREASURY.

Firm Statement THE FIRM JOINED IN A GLOBAL SETTLEMENT OF THE SEC'S INDUSTRY-
WIDE INVESTIGATION RELATING TO THE PRICING OF GOVERNMENT
SECURITIES IN ADVANCE REFUNDS (SEA REL. NO. 42640) AND A RELATED
QUI TAM SUIT BROUGHT BY MICHAEL LISSACK ON BEHALF OF THE UNITED
STATES (95 CIV. 1353 (SDNY)).  UNDER THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT,
MERRILL LYNCH, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING LIABILITY,
CONSENTED TO AN SEC ADMINISTRATIVE CEASE AND DESIST ORDER
UNDER SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
ACT, AND A CENSURE AND AGREED TO PAYMENTS TO MUNICIPALITIES AND
TO THE UNITED STATES TREASURY.  THE QUI TAM SUIT AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH WAS THEN DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE AND THE INTERNAL
REVENUE SERVICE AGREED TO PROVIDE ASSURANCES TO
MUNICIPALITIES RELATING TO THE TAX EXEMPT STATUS OF
APPROXIMATELY 260 TRANSACTIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $972,482.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 434 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: MARYLAND DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Date Initiated: 12/27/1999

Docket/Case Number: 97-0659

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): STOCK

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH'S AGENTS MADE UNSUITABLE PURCHASES FOR
CUSTOMERS, PRIMARILY FROM OVER CONCENTRATION OF
INVESTMENTS, ENGAGED IN EXCESSIVE TRANSACTIONS IN CERTAIN
CUSTOMERS ACCOUNTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

PAYMENT OF COMMISSIONS TO CUSTOMERS.

Other Product Type(s): STOCK

Resolution Date: 12/27/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: RESPONDENT WAS ORDERED TO PAY INVESTORS WHAT THEY WERE
CHARGED FOR COMMISSIONS ($175,253.00), AND TO MAINTAIN OR
ENHANCE CERTAIN COMPLIANCE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.

Sanction Details: FINED $50,000.00.  COMMISSIONS RETURNED TO INVESTORS -
($175,253.00).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $50,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES COMMISSIONER OF MARYLAND #133

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER - SEE PARAGRAPHS 12 AND 13.

Date Initiated: 12/27/1999

Docket/Case Number: NO. 97-0659

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT TRANSACTIONS WERE UNSUITABLE IN MOSSIMO
INC. STOCK AS TO CERTAIN CUSTOMERS PRIMARILY BECAUSE OF AN
OVER CONCENTRATION; THAT CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S FINANCIAL
CONSULTANTS' ENGAGED IN EXCESSIVE TRADNG IN CERTAIN ACCOUNTS;
AND, THAT THE FIRM DID NOT TIMELY FILE AND IN SOME CASES DID NOT
FILE CERTAIN REGULATORY REPORTS.

Current Status: Final

Appealed To and Date Appeal
Filed:

N/A

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 12/27/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: SEE PARAGRAPHS 12.C. AND 13. BELOW.

Sanction Details: THE CONSENT ORDER INCLUDED THE FIRM'S AGREEMENT TO REFUND
COMMISSIONS PAID BY CERTAIN CUSTOMERS ON TRANSACTIONS IN
MOSSIMO INC. STOCK IN THE AMOUNT OF $175,253.  THIS SUM WAS PAID
TO THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF MARYLAND ON OR ABOUT DECEMBER
27, 1999 FOR DISTRIBUTION TO CUSTOMERS.

Firm Statement IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING, THE FIRM UNDERTOOK THE
FOLLOWING WITH RESPECT TO ITS BALTIMORE OFFICE; CONTINUATION
OF MANDATORY TRAINING SESSIONS; COMPLIANCE WITH POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES OF THE FIRM; PROVIDE TO THE COMMISSIONER COPIES OF
SALES PRACTICE COMPLAINTS RECEIVED IN THE YEARS 2000 AND 2001;
MAINTENANCE OF ADEQUATE ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL;
REIMBURSEMENT OF THE REASONABLE COSTS INCURRED IN UP TO TWO
INSPECTIONS WHICH MAY BE CONDUCTED BY THE SECURITIES DIVISION
DURING THE NEXT THREE YEARS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 435 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: WISCONSIN DIVISION OF SECURITIES     #135

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 08/06/1999

Docket/Case Number: S-97061(LX)

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE ENGAGED IN EXCESSIVE AND
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING IN CUSTOMERS' ACCOUNTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/10/1999

Resolution: Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM DID NOT CONTEST THE MATTER AND SIGNED A WAIVER AND
ORDER OF ASSESSMENT (CONSENT) VOLUNTARILY UNDERTAKING TO PAY
$2,500 AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500.00

Disclosure 436 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE ("CBOE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/26/1985

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO SUPERVISE AN ACOUNT EXECUTIVE WHO PERMITTED A
PUBLIC CUSTOMER TO TRADE OPTIONS BEYOND HIS FINANCIAL MEANS
AND RECOMMENDED OTHERWISE UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/26/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: IN SETTLEMENT OF THE PROCEEDING THE FIRM AND THE BRANCH
MANAGER WERE JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY FINED AND CENSURED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Settled

Disclosure 437 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FIRM AND OFFICE MANAGER FAILED TO SUPERVISE REGARDING OPTIONS
TRANSACTIONS THAT WERE ALLEGED UNSUITABLE IN A NUMBER OF
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS DURING FEBRUARY 1982 THROUGH FEBRUARY
1983.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE ("CBOE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 01/03/1985

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM AND OFFICE MANAGER FAILED TO SUPERVISE REGARDING OPTIONS
TRANSACTIONS THAT WERE ALLEGED UNSUITABLE IN A NUMBER OF
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS DURING FEBRUARY 1982 THROUGH FEBRUARY
1983.

Resolution Date: 01/03/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE OF THE CBOE ACCEPTED THE
OFFER OF CONSENT AND ISSUED A DECISION CENSURING THE FIRM AND
ASSESSING A FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Decision

Disclosure 438 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Date Initiated: 02/06/1970

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM AND FIRST NATIONAL CITY BANK VIOLATED SECTION 5 OF THE
SECURITIES ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 02/06/1970

Resolution:

Firm Statement SEC FILED A COMPLAINT FOR AN INJUNCTION IN THE UNITED STATES
DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK.  MERRILL
LYNCH ENTERED INTO A STIPULATION AND UNDERTAKING WITH THE SEC
WHEREIN IT DENIED THAT IT ENGAGED IN ANY ILLEGAL ACTS BUT AGREED
TO CEASE ACTING IN CONNECTION WITH THE BANKS' SPECIAL
INVESTMENT ADVISORY SERVICE.  AN ORDER WAS ENTERED THE SAME
DAY BY THE COURT DISMISSING THE SEC'S COMPLAINT WITHOUT
PREJUDICE.

Dismissed

Disclosure 439 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Injunction

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/02/1975

Docket/Case Number: CIVIL ACTION #75-1065

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND
SECTION 10(B) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE 10-
5 THEREUNDER IN CONNECTION WITH THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF THE
SECURITIES OF COMEX.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/02/1975

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF JUDGMENT OF PERMANENT
INJUCTION FOLLOWING THE FILING OF A COMPLAINT BY THE SEC
AGAINST STIRLING HOMEX CORPORATION, MERRILL LYNCH AND VARIOUS
OTHER DEFENDANT IN THE U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL ADOPT, IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN
CERTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY CALCULATED TO
PREVENT REOCURRENCE OF VIOLATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Sanction Details: FIRM CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF JUDGMENT OF PERMANENT
INJUCTION FOLLOWING THE FILING OF A COMPLAINT BY THE SEC
AGAINST STIRLING HOMEX CORPORATION, MERRILL LYNCH AND VARIOUS
OTHER DEFENDANT IN THE U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.  MERRILL LYNCH SHALL ADOPT, IMPLEMENT AND MAINTAIN
CERTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES REASONABLY CALCULATED TO
PREVENT REOCURRENCE OF VIOLATIONS.

Disclosure 440 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/26/1999

Docket/Case Number: CMS 990053 AWC

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF THE NASD'S REPORTING REQUIREMENTS TO ITS FIXED
INCOME PRICING SYSTEM.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/26/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CENSURE AND $5,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 441 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 11/25/1968

Allegations: VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 17(A), 10(B) AND 15(C)(1) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULES 10B-5 AND 15(C)-2

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Suspension

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/25/1968

Docket/Case Number: SEA RELEASE #8459

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED DEBT

Resolution Date: 11/25/1968

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: NY INSTITUTIONAL SALES OFFICE SUSPENDED FOR 21 DAYS BEGINNING
12/5/68 AND WEST COAST UNDERWRITING OFFICE SUSPENDED FOR 15
DAYS BEGINNING 12/11/68.

Firm Statement NY INSTITUTIONAL SALES OFFICE SUSPENDED FOR 21 DAYS BEGINNING
12/5/68 AND WEST COAST UNDERWRITING OFFICE SUSPENDED FOR 15
DAYS BEGINNING 12/11/68.

Sanctions Ordered: Suspension

Other

Disclosure 442 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: D.C. AND THE MASS WATER RESOURCES AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/01/1995

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. SECTIONS 1341, 1345, 1346 AND MASSACHUSETTS
STATUTE G.L. 93A, SECTION 2.

Current Status: Final

1033©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 09/01/1995

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM PAID $12.01 MILLION WHICH IS COMPOSED OF THE FOLLOWING: 8.8
MILLION IN AN ADMINISTRATIVE PAYMENT TO THE U.S., 2.5 MILLION IN A
CIVIL PENALTY TO THE U.S., $500,000 IN A CIVIL PENALTY TO
MASSACHUSETTS AND $300,000 FOR CERTAIN COSTS AND EXPENSES OF
LITIGATION TO THE U.S. AND MASSACHUSETTS.  FIRM HAS CONSENTED,
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY FINDINGS, TO THE ISSUANCE OF
AN ORDER OF THE SEC CONTAINING FINDINGS THAT FIRM VIOLATED RULE
G-17 OF THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD.  UNDER THE
ORDER FIRM IS CENSURED, IS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
ANY FUTURE VIOLATION OF RULE G-17, IS ORDERED TO PAY A CIVIL
PENALTY OF 2.5 MILLION AND RESTITUTION OF 3.8 MILLION TO THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA AND THE MASSACHUSETTS WATER RESOURCES
AUTHORITY AND TO COMPLY WITH ITS UNDERTAKING TO MAINTAIN
CERTAIN PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $120,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 443 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: RHODE ISLAND SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/04/1993

Docket/Case Number: CA-93-12

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CERTAIN SALES AGENTS OF THE FIRM WERE EMPLOYED AS INVESTMENT
ADVISOR REPRESENTATIVES WITHOUT BEING LICENSED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/04/1993

Resolution: Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM ENTERED INTO A CONSENT AGREEMENT WITH THE STATE
REPRESENTING THAT SUCH EMPLOYMENT WAS UNINTENTIONAL AND
AGREED TO PAY BACK FEES OF $1,300 AND AN ADDITIONAL $14,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,300.00

Disclosure 444 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/01/1995

Docket/Case Number: 95-0021

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF CBOE RULE 4.11 REGARDING POSITION LIMITS THROUGH
THE ESTABLISHMENT OF LONG CALL, SHORT PUT POSITIONS ON
TELEFONOS DE MEXICO IN DECEMBER 1993.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/22/1995

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ACCEPTANCE OF THE FIRM'S LETTER OF CONSENT TO THE IMPOSITION
OF A $20,000.00 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 445 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3 IN
THAT IT FAILED TO PROPERLY RECORD ON ITS BOOKS AND RECORDS
CERTAIN TRADES OF HIGH YIELD AND TREASURY SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/22/1993

Docket/Case Number: ADMIN. PROCEEDING 3-3255, SEC REL. 33367

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3 IN
THAT IT FAILED TO PROPERLY RECORD ON ITS BOOKS AND RECORDS
CERTAIN TRADES OF HIGH YIELD AND TREASURY SECURITIES.

Resolution Date: 12/22/1993

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CONSENTED WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE MATTERS SET FORTH
TO THE ISSUANCE OF AN ORDER OF CENSURE, CEASE AND DESIST AND
REQUIREMENT TO MAINTAIN CERTAIN PROCEDURES TO ASSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACT AND RULE THEREUNDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 446 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 02/27/1991

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FIRM FAILED TO SUPERVISE A FINANCIAL CONSULTANT WHO
ALLEGEDLY MADE UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS TO HIS CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 02/27/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE NASD ACCEPTED OFFERS OF SETTLEMENT RESULTING IN THE
IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE AND A FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Settled

Disclosure 447 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY EXCHANGE INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/01/1980

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Commodity Option(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF RULES RELATING TO CUSTOMER'S POSITION LIMITS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/01/1980

Resolution:

Firm Statement IN A DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING A FINE WAS IMPOSED.

Settled

Disclosure 448 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Allegations: COMMITTEE VOTED TO ACCEPT AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED
BY THE FIRM.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/22/1991

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/05/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY ALLEGATIONS, MLPF&S AGREED
TO PAY A FINE OF $1,000.00

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 449 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY/FINE.

Date Initiated: 05/29/1990

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FLOOR GOVERNORS COMMITTEE VOTED TO ACCEPT A JOINT OFFER
OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY MERRILL LYNCH AND MERRILL LYNCH
GOVERNMENT SECURITIES INC.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Decision
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Resolution Date: 07/05/1990

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SETTLEMENT OFFER, THE COMMITTEE
IMPOSED A FINE.  IN ACCEPTING THE SETTLEMENT OFFER, THE
COMMITTEE TOOK INTO CONSIDERATION THE BROKERAGE FEES EARNED
BY FIRM AND THE TWO MEMBERS IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE
MEMBERSHIP RESTRICTIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Disclosure 450 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/21/1982

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Commodity Option(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF A SPECULATIVE JOINT LIMIT RULE BY A CUSTOMER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/21/1982

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM CONSENTED TO A CEASE AND DESIST ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 451 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: VIOLATION OF RULE 450.00 IN THAT FIRM FAILED TO REMIT EXCHANGE
SERVICE FEES AND RULE 504.00 IN THAT FIRM ENGAGED IN ACTS
DETRIMENTAL TO THE INTEREST AND WELFARE OF THE EXCHANGE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/21/1989

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF RULE 450.00 IN THAT FIRM FAILED TO REMIT EXCHANGE
SERVICE FEES AND RULE 504.00 IN THAT FIRM ENGAGED IN ACTS
DETRIMENTAL TO THE INTEREST AND WELFARE OF THE EXCHANGE.

Resolution Date: 12/21/1989

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE CHICAGO MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ISSUED A CEASE & DESIST
ORDER BY AGREEMENT WITH MERRILL LYNCH FUTURES INC.AN OFFER
OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY CERTAIN
FEES, INTEREST AND A FINE WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING A
VIOLATION OF RULES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 452 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Date Initiated: 03/26/1987

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Allegations: FIRM VIOLATED REGULATION 480.87 IN THAT IT FAILED TO NOTIFY THE
EXCHANGE IN A TIMELY NATURE THROUGH THE NATIONAL FUTURES
ASSOCIATION OF THE TERMINATION OF A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF
REGISTERED COMMODITY REPRESENTATIVES WHO LEFT THE FIRMS'
EMPLOY.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/20/1987

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM WAS FINED.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 453 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY(IES)/FINE(S)

Date Initiated: 11/15/1988

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF FREE-RIDING AND WITHHOLDING INTERPRETATION,
ARTICLE III, SECTION 1 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/15/1988

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM EXECUTED TWO LETTERS OF ACCEPTANCE WAIVER AND CONSENT
#NY6099 AND #NY7000.  THERE WERE NO SHARES WITHHELD FOR THE
FIRMS' ACCOUNT AND THE TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED CONSTITUTED
APPROXIMATELY 1/4 OF 1% OF THE SHARES SOLD BY THE FIRM IN THE
PUBLIC OFFERINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details: FIRM EXECUTED TWO LETTERS OF ACCEPTANCE WAIVER AND CONSENT
#NY6099 AND #NY7000.  THERE WERE NO SHARES WITHHELD FOR THE
FIRMS' ACCOUNT AND THE TRANSACTIONS INVOLVED CONSTITUTED
APPROXIMATELY 1/4 OF 1% OF THE SHARES SOLD BY THE FIRM IN THE
PUBLIC OFFERINGS.

Disclosure 454 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/17/1984

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF AN EXISTING CEASE AND DESIST ORDER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/17/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PREVENT TRADING IN DISCRETIONARY
ACCOUNTS WITH EQUITY LESS THAN $5000.00 AND WAS REQUIRED TO
PERFORM CERTAIN FUNCTIONS RELATING TO THE HANDLING OF
DISCRETIONARY ACCOUNTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Order

Disclosure 455 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FIRM VIOLATED AN EXCHANGE RULE IN THAT BETWEEN JANUARY 21 AND
FEBRUARY 17, 1982 FIRM FURNISHED INCORRECT INFORMATION
REGARDING DAILY TRADING ACTIVITY TO THE BOARD OF TRADE
CLEARING CORPORATION.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/19/1982

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

FIRM VIOLATED AN EXCHANGE RULE IN THAT BETWEEN JANUARY 21 AND
FEBRUARY 17, 1982 FIRM FURNISHED INCORRECT INFORMATION
REGARDING DAILY TRADING ACTIVITY TO THE BOARD OF TRADE
CLEARING CORPORATION.

Resolution Date: 06/04/1982

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: BOARD OF TRADE CLEARING CORPORATION ORDERED FIRM TO CEASE
AND DESIST FROM VIOLATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 456 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/30/1984

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO SUPERVISE ACTIVITIES OF TWO FORMER ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVES AND THEIR HANDLING OF THREE UNRELATED OPTION
ACCOUNTS IN 1979 AND 1980.  THE CHARGES AGAINST THE ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVES DEALT WITH THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF UNSUITABLE
OPTIONS TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final

1043©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 11/30/1984

Resolution:

Firm Statement NASD ACCEPTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.

Settled

Disclosure 457 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/24/1989

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: DURING THE APPROXIMATE PERIOD IN OR ABOUT OCTOBER 1987 AND IN
OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 1988 SECURITIES OPTIONS CORPORATION FAILED
TO REFLECT THE ACCOUNT OF A NOMINEE ON THE FIRMS FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND NET CAPITAL COMPUTATIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/24/1989

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE CBOE ACCEPTED AN OFFER BY SECURITIES OPTIONS CORPORATION
WHEREIN WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IT
CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF A FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 458 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE ("CBOE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ADMONISHED

Date Initiated: 06/14/1985

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: A NUMBER OF CBOE RULE VIOLATIONS REQUIRING THE TIMELY FILING OF
EXERCISE ADVISE FORMS AND EXERCISE NOTICES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/14/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM WAS ADMONISHED.

Sanction Details: CBOE BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ACCEPTED A LETTER OF
CONSENT-ADMONISHED AND FINED FIRM.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $12,729.00

Consent

Disclosure 459 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF OPTIONS EXCHANGE ("CBOE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 07/19/1984

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM AND OFFICE MANAGER FAILED TO REASONBLY SUPERVISE AN
ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE WHO RECOMMENDED OPTION TRANSACTIONS TO A
PUBLIC CUSTOMER WHICH WERE UNSUITABLE.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 07/19/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION HAD BEEN
COMMITTED, ACCEPTED FINES AND EXECUTED A LETTER OF CONSENT IN
SETTLEMENT OF THE CBOE PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,500.00

Consent

Disclosure 460 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: INDIANA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ORDER

Date Initiated: 03/18/1992

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: STATE ENTERED AN ORDER APPROVING A CONSENT AGREEMENT TO
DISMISS AN ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT AGAINST THE FIRM.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/18/1992

Resolution:

Firm Statement FIRM AGREED TO PROVIDE RESTITUTION TO AN INDIANA RESIDENT.  THE
AGREEMENT ALSO PROVIDED THAT THE STIPULATION DID NOT
CONSTITUTE ADMISSION OF GUILT.

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 461 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS SECRETARY OF STATE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/09/1990

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: INFORMATION NOT PROVIDED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/09/1990

Resolution:

Firm Statement FIRM WAS TO AMEND ITS WRITTEN POLICY IN CONNECTION WITH RETAIL
SALES TO THE PUBLIC IN MASSACHUSETTS, FILE SUCH MATERIALS WITH
THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE, IMPLEMENT A PERIODIC
PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION FOR ITS FINANCIAL CONSULTANTS
CONCERNING INTERNAL USE MATERIALS AND REPORT PERIODICALLY
COMPLIANCE WITH THE WRITTEN POLICY.

Consent

Disclosure 462 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: GEORGIA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/28/1980

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGED SALE OF SECURITIES IN GEORGIA BY AN ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE
NOT REGISTERED IN GEORGIA.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 04/28/1980

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FIRM WAS REPRIMANDED.

Sanction Details: THE ORDER WAS ISSUED AFTER THE FIRM WAIVED ITS RIGHTS TO A
HEARING AND AFTER CONSENTING TO ITS ENTRY WITHOUT ADMITTING
OR DENYING THE ALLEGATION.

Sanctions Ordered:

Order

Disclosure 463 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ARIZONA CORPORATION COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/26/1988

Docket/Case Number: S-2548-I

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THREE SALESPERSONS OFFERED TO SELL SECURITIES WITHIN OR FROM
ARIZONA WITHOUT BEING REGISTERED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/26/1988

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: AN ORDER ASSESSING AN ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY ON CONSENT WAS
ENTERED ON 10/26/88.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Order

Disclosure 464 of 595

i
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: WISCONSIN COMMISSIONER OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/20/1977

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM ENGAGED IN CONDUCT IN VIOLATION OF WISCONSIN UNIFORM
SECURITIES LAW IN THE AREA OF AGENT REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/20/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM SUBMITTED AND DISTRIBUTED REVISED SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES AND INSTRUCTIONS FOR AGENTS CONCERNING
COMPLIANCE WITH AGENT LICENSING PROVISIONS OF THE WISCONSIN
STATUTE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Order

Disclosure 465 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 02/24/1986

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF THE TIME STAMPING AND ORDER TICKET PREPARATION
AND MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 02/24/1986

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM FUTURE VIOLATIONS, PAY A
CIVIL PENALTY AND REVISE ITS COMPUTER PROGRAM AND OPERATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $35,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 466 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST AND UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/30/1985

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUPERVISE ACTIVITIES OF A FORMER MERRILL
LYNCH FUTURES INC. EMPLOYEE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/30/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO REVIEW CERTAIN PROCEDURES.

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH FUTURES INC. CONSENTED, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS TO A CEASE AND DESIST.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $75,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH FUTURES INC. CONSENTED, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS TO A CEASE AND DESIST.

Disclosure 467 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST ORDER
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 11/14/1985

Docket/Case Number: 85-6

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 4C(A)&(B) OF THE ACT AND REGULATIONS 1.38
AND 166.3 PROHIBITING WASH SALES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/14/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT - $50,000  CIVIL
PENALTY AND AN ORDER TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS TO
REVIEW/REFORM ITS SUPERVISORY AND TRAINING
POLICIES/PROCEDURES AND TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM SAID
VIOLATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 468 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 08/30/1983

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 17A-3
THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final

1051©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 08/30/1983

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 08/30/1983

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM AGREED TO A CENSURE AND TO INSTITUTE NEW PROCEDURES
WITH RESPECT TO STOCK LOAN TRANSACTIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Order

Disclosure 469 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/30/1999

Docket/Case Number: CMS990035

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESPONDENT MEMBER: FAILED TO EXECUTE PREFERENCED SELECTNET
ORDERS WHICH HAD BEEN PRESENTED TO THE FIRM AT THE FIRM'S
PUBLISHED BID OR PUBLISHED OFFER IN AN AMOUNT UP TO ITS
PUBLISHED QUOTATION SIZE AND THEREBY FAILED TO HONOR ITS
PUBLISHED QUOTATION; FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES REASONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS CONCERNING SEC AND NASD FIRM QUOTE RULES. [SEC
RULE 11AC1-1; NASD RULES 2110, 3010, 3320, 4613(B)]

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 03/30/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: $15,000.00 FINE; CENSURE

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/30/1999

Docket/Case Number: CMS990035

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF SEC RULE 11AC-1 AND NAST RULES 2110, 3010, 3320 AND
4613(B).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/30/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FINE PAID AS OF 03/30/1999

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO EXECUTE PREFERENCED SELECT NET
ORDERS WHICH HAD BEEN PRESENTED TO THE FIRM AT THE FIRM'S
PUBLISHED BID OR PUBLISHED OFFER IN AN AMOUNT UP TO ITS
PUBLISHED QUOTATION SIZE AND THEREBY FAILED TO HONOR ITS
PUBLISHED QUOTATION; FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES RESONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS CONCERNING SEC AND NASD FIRM QUOTE RULES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO EXECUTE PREFERENCED SELECT NET
ORDERS WHICH HAD BEEN PRESENTED TO THE FIRM AT THE FIRM'S
PUBLISHED BID OR PUBLISHED OFFER IN AN AMOUNT UP TO ITS
PUBLISHED QUOTATION SIZE AND THEREBY FAILED TO HONOR ITS
PUBLISHED QUOTATION; FAILED TO ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN WRITTEN
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES RESONABLY DESIGNED TO ACHIEVE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS AND
REGULATIONS CONCERNING SEC AND NASD FIRM QUOTE RULES.

Disclosure 470 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/24/1984

Docket/Case Number: WA-426-SC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/29/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement SUMMARY COMPLAINT NO. WA-426-SC FILED FEBRUARY 24, 1984 BY
DISTRICT NO. 10 ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 1
IN THAT RESPONDENT MEMBER ERRONEOUSLY TRANSFERRED SHARES
OUT OF
A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT AND FAILED TO ACT PROMPTLY TO CORRECT
THE
ERRONEOUS TRANSFER.

SUMMARY COMPLAINT ACCEPTED JUNE 29, 1984, WHEREIN RESPONDENT
IS
FINED $500.00. DECISION IS FINAL.

$500 FINE PAID 7/5/84

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Decision
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SUMMARY COMPLAINT NO. WA-426-SC FILED FEBRUARY 24, 1984 BY
DISTRICT NO. 10 ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 1
IN THAT RESPONDENT MEMBER ERRONEOUSLY TRANSFERRED SHARES
OUT OF
A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT AND FAILED TO ACT PROMPTLY TO CORRECT
THE
ERRONEOUS TRANSFER.

SUMMARY COMPLAINT ACCEPTED JUNE 29, 1984, WHEREIN RESPONDENT
IS
FINED $500.00. DECISION IS FINAL.

$500 FINE PAID 7/5/84

Disclosure 471 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/09/1989

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/09/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 6/27/89< AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE WEEKLY BULLETIN DATED JUNE 9,
1989 DISCLOSES: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC., A
REGULAR MEMBER ORGANIZATION, AND HARVEY COOK, OF BOSTON,
MASSACHUSETTS, A BRANCH OFFICE MANAGER AND REGISTERED
EMPLOYEE
OF MERRILL LYNCH, WERE DISCIPLINED BY AN EXCHANGE DISCIPLINARY
PANEL. MERRILL LYNCH AND COOK SETTLED THE CHARGES WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE EXCHANGE'S ALLEGATIONS. THE PANEL
DETERMINED THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 153, 320,
411, 921 AND 922 IN THAT IT FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS
BOSTON AND FRESNO BRANCH OFFICES, FAILED TO SUPERVISE TWO
FORMER REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES IN ITS BOSTON OFFICE AND
ONE
FORMER REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE IN ITS FRESNO OFFICE WHO
MISHANDLED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS DURING 1982-1985, AND FAILED TO
HAVE A DESIGNATED BRANCH OFFICE MANAGER CONTINOUSLY ON THE
PREMISES AT ITS FRESNO OFFICE. THE PANEL FURTHER DETERMINED
THAT MERRILL LYNCH ENGAGED IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST
AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE V
SECTION 4(h) OF THE EXCHANGE CONSTITUTION IN CONNECTION WITH
ITS FAILURE TO FILE CERTAIN REPORTS OF SETTLEMENTS WITH
CUSTOMERS, AND THE FILING OF AN INADVERTENTLY INACCURATE
TERMINATION REPORT. THE PANEL ALSO DETERMINED THAT COOK
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320(b) AND COMMENTARY .06 AND RULE 921
THERETO BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE TWO REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES AND PREVENT TWO REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES
FROM
EFECTING OPTION TRANSACTIONS IN CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS PRIOR TO
OBTAINING REGISTERED OPTIONS PRINCIPAL APPROVAL. MERRILL LYNCH
WAS CENSURED AND FINED $100,000. FURTHER, MERRILL LYNCH
UNDERTOOK TO FORMALIZE A POLICY WHEREBY IT WILL REVIEW SALES
PRACTICES, CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS AND RELATED LITIGATION MATTERS
WHENEVER THERE IS A CHANGE IN A RESIDENT VICE PRESIDENT, OFFICE
MANAGER. SUCH REVIEW WILL INCLUDE CONSULTATION BETWEEN AND
AMONG THE REGIONAL DIRECTOR, THE INCOMING AND OUTGOING
RESIDENT
VICE PRESIDENTS, AND T*See FAQ #1*

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000.00

Settled
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6/27/89< AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE WEEKLY BULLETIN DATED JUNE 9,
1989 DISCLOSES: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC., A
REGULAR MEMBER ORGANIZATION, AND HARVEY COOK, OF BOSTON,
MASSACHUSETTS, A BRANCH OFFICE MANAGER AND REGISTERED
EMPLOYEE
OF MERRILL LYNCH, WERE DISCIPLINED BY AN EXCHANGE DISCIPLINARY
PANEL. MERRILL LYNCH AND COOK SETTLED THE CHARGES WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE EXCHANGE'S ALLEGATIONS. THE PANEL
DETERMINED THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 153, 320,
411, 921 AND 922 IN THAT IT FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ITS
BOSTON AND FRESNO BRANCH OFFICES, FAILED TO SUPERVISE TWO
FORMER REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES IN ITS BOSTON OFFICE AND
ONE
FORMER REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE IN ITS FRESNO OFFICE WHO
MISHANDLED CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS DURING 1982-1985, AND FAILED TO
HAVE A DESIGNATED BRANCH OFFICE MANAGER CONTINOUSLY ON THE
PREMISES AT ITS FRESNO OFFICE. THE PANEL FURTHER DETERMINED
THAT MERRILL LYNCH ENGAGED IN CONDUCT INCONSISTENT WITH JUST
AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADE IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE V
SECTION 4(h) OF THE EXCHANGE CONSTITUTION IN CONNECTION WITH
ITS FAILURE TO FILE CERTAIN REPORTS OF SETTLEMENTS WITH
CUSTOMERS, AND THE FILING OF AN INADVERTENTLY INACCURATE
TERMINATION REPORT. THE PANEL ALSO DETERMINED THAT COOK
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 320(b) AND COMMENTARY .06 AND RULE 921
THERETO BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE TWO REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES AND PREVENT TWO REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES
FROM
EFECTING OPTION TRANSACTIONS IN CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS PRIOR TO
OBTAINING REGISTERED OPTIONS PRINCIPAL APPROVAL. MERRILL LYNCH
WAS CENSURED AND FINED $100,000. FURTHER, MERRILL LYNCH
UNDERTOOK TO FORMALIZE A POLICY WHEREBY IT WILL REVIEW SALES
PRACTICES, CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS AND RELATED LITIGATION MATTERS
WHENEVER THERE IS A CHANGE IN A RESIDENT VICE PRESIDENT, OFFICE
MANAGER. SUCH REVIEW WILL INCLUDE CONSULTATION BETWEEN AND
AMONG THE REGIONAL DIRECTOR, THE INCOMING AND OUTGOING
RESIDENT
VICE PRESIDENTS, AND T*See FAQ #1*

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 12/01/1989

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM FAILED TO SUPERVISE THREE REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES
LOCATED IN TWO OF ITS BRANCH OFFICES DURING THE PERIOD 1984
THROUGH 1985.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 12/01/1989

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF A FINE AND CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $100,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 472 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/15/1990

Docket/Case Number: MS-910-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/07/1990

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement     MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-910-AWC (A):
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT FILED FEBRUARY 15,
1990 AGAINST RESPONDENT MEMBER MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER
&
SMITH, INC. ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 1 AND
42 IN THAT THE RESPONDENT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN LISTED
SECURITIES WHICH WERE THE SUBJECT OF A TRADING HALT.

THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT WAS ACCEPTED BY
THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON APRIL 20, 1990 AND BY THE
NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON JUNE 7, 1990. $500.00
FINE.
   ***$500.00 PAID ON 8/2/90 INVOICE #90-MS-772***

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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    MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-910-AWC (A):
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT FILED FEBRUARY 15,
1990 AGAINST RESPONDENT MEMBER MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER
&
SMITH, INC. ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 1 AND
42 IN THAT THE RESPONDENT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN LISTED
SECURITIES WHICH WERE THE SUBJECT OF A TRADING HALT.

THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT WAS ACCEPTED BY
THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON APRIL 20, 1990 AND BY THE
NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON JUNE 7, 1990. $500.00
FINE.
   ***$500.00 PAID ON 8/2/90 INVOICE #90-MS-772***

Disclosure 473 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ILLINOIS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Prohibition

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/11/1991

Docket/Case Number: 9000151

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL INFORMATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/13/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CIVIL AND ADMINSTRATIVE FINE

Regulator Statement NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED ON MARCH 13, 1991. CONSENT ORDER
OF PROHIBITION WAS ISSUED DECEMBER 13, 1991.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

Yes

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Consent

i
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ILLINOIS SECURITIES DEPRTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Prohibition

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/11/1991

Docket/Case Number: 9000151

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL INFORMATION

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/13/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINE

Firm Statement NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED ON MARCH 13, 1991.  CONSENT ORDER
OF PROHIBITION WAS ISSUED DECEMBER 13, 1991.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 474 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/13/1987

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 10/13/1987

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON JUNE 30, 1975, THE COMMISSION INSTITUTED PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT
TO SECTION 15(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SIMULTANEOUSLY
THEREWITH ACCEPTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT BY MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED MADE SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE
OF THAT PROCEEDING.  THE COMMISSION'S ORDER, FINDINGS AND
OPINION (SEE RELEASE NO. 11515) STATED THAT INFORMATION HAD
COME TO ITS ATTENTION RELATING TO (1) TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES OF FIRM IN A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT IN
SHORT, INTERMEDIATE AND LONG-TERM GOVERNMENT SECURITIES,
INCLUDING GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION WHEN-
ISSUED
COMMITTMENTS AND (2) CERTAIN SELLING PRACTICES OF THE FIRM IN
CONNECTION WITH SECURITIES WHICH WERE BEING OFFERED BY A
COMPANY UNDER THE SPONSORSHIP OF AN AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM.  THE
COMMISSION ACCEPTED THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT WHEREIN THE FIRM
HAD UNDERTAKEN TO ADOPT CERTAIN SUPPLEMENTAL POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE RECURRENCE OF THE ALLEGED
CONDUCT.
(FORM BD: JD 12186, SEQUENCE NO 10106).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Allegations: THE COMMISSION STATED THAT ON JUNE 30, 1975 INFORMATION HAD
COME TO ITS ATTENTION ALLEGING CERTAIN CONDUCT (NOT EXPLAINED)
RELATING TO TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES IN SHORT , INTERMEDIATE AND LONG TERM
GOVERNMENT SECURITIES ALONG WITH CERTAIN SELLING PRACTICES
OF THE FIRM IN CONNECTION WITH SECURITIES WHICH WERE BEING
OFFERED BY A COMPANY UNDER THE SPONSORSHIP OF AN AFFILIATE OF
THE FIRM.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/13/1987

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s): GNMA

Resolution Date: 10/13/1987

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement THE COMMISSION STATED THAT ON JUNE 30, 1975 INFORMATION HAD
COME TO ITS ATTENTION ALLEGING CERTAIN CONDUCT (NOT EXPLAINED)
RELATING TO TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES IN SHORT , INTERMEDIATE AND LONG TERM
GOVERNMENT SECURITIES ALONG WITH CERTAIN SELLING PRACTICES
OF THE FIRM IN CONNECTION WITH SECURITIES WHICH WERE BEING
OFFERED BY A COMPANY UNDER THE SPONSORSHIP OF AN AFFILIATE OF
THE FIRM.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 475 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/22/1973

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 10/02/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ND 73-122 06/25/73
REL. 34-10233
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS ORDERED ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF
ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS IN THE MAKING OF UNTRUE STATEMENTS
(OR OMISSIONS) CONCERNING THE FUTURE PRICE OF SHARES, THE
LIKELIHOOD OF SUCH SHARES BEING LISTED ON A NATIONAL EXCHANGE,
COMPARISONS IN THE COMPANY'S GROWTH TO WELL ESTABLISHED
COMPANIES;  IN THE MISUSE OF INSIDE INFORMATION;  AND FOR
FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE.  REGISTRANT FAILED TO VERIFY
INFORMATION THROUGH INDEPENDENT ANALYSIS OR INQUIRY
CONCERNING
SHARES IT WAS RECOMMENDING FOR PURCHASE.
ND 77-218 11/11/77
REL 34-14149
06/22/73 COMMISSION INSTITUTED PROCEEDING.
HEARING - MARCH 1974 THRU JUNE 1976.
EFFECTIVE 11/21/77 IT IS ORDERED THAT:
1) FIRM IS CENSURED.
2) SUBJECT TO THE TERMS, CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS IN ITS
OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, FIRM SHALL:
A) PAY A SUM OF UP TO $1,600,000 TO COMPENSATE ITS CUSTOMERS.
B) REVIEW ITS GUIDELINES AND, WHERE APPROPRIATE, ADOPT NEW
GUIDELINES RELATING TO ITS RESEARCH AND SALES ACTIVITIES
DESIGNED TO PREVENT FURTHER VIOLATIONS.
C) REVIEW AND, WHERE NECESSARY, STRENGTHEN ITS ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVE
TRAINING PROGRAMS TO PREVENT FURTHER VIOLATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $1,600,000.00

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 11/09/1977

Docket/Case Number: SEA RELEASE #14149

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE CERTAIN INDIVIDUAL
RESPONDENTS THEREBY PREVENTING VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(A) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT & RULE 10B-5
THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/09/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS AS SET FORTH IN SEC'S
ORDER.

Sanction Details: AGREED TO PAY SUM OF UP TO $1,600,000 TO COMPENSATE ITS
CUSTOMERS WHO SUFFERED LOSSES RESULTING FROM  TRANSACTIONS
IN THE COMMON STOCK OF SCIENTIFIC CONTROL CORPORATION DURING
THE PERIOD MARCH 1, 1968 TO NOVEMBER 21, 1969.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order

Disclosure 476 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 12/09/1976

Docket/Case Number: R 77-49

Principal Product Type: Commodity Option(s)

Allegations: NA

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Commodity Option(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/06/1978

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: 04/06/78 ORDERED TO PAY REPARATIONS IN AMOUNT OF $9,732.50 PLUS
INTEREST AT 8% FROM 07/26/76 TO DATE OF PAYMENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,732.50

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

PLUS INTEREST AND CLAIMANT'S FILING FEE OF $25.00

Date Initiated: 12/09/1976

Docket/Case Number: R 77-49

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS THAT FINANCIAL ADVISOR FAILED TO FOLLOW
INSTRUCTIONS OF CLAIMANT AND MADE UNAUTHORIZED TRANSFER OF
STOCK.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/06/1978

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,732.50
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order
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Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH ORDERED TO PAY REPARATIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF
$9,732.50 PLUS INTEREST AT 8% FROM JULY 26, 1976 TO DATE OF
PAYMENT.  COMPLAINT DISMISSED AGAINST TOMLINSON, SMITH AND
SULLIVAN.

Disclosure 477 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/20/1978

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/20/1978

Resolution:

Regulator Statement NEWS DIGEST 78-250, 12/28/78. RELEASE 34-15421. CENSURED,
PURSUANT TO OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING
ALLEGATIONS. 7/11/86, SEC NEWS DIGEST, ISSUE 86-110, JUNE 9,
1986: THE COMMISSION ENTERED AN ORDER MODIFYING ORDER
IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER, &
SMITH, INC. ON DECEMBER 20, 1978, THE COMMISSION ENTERED
FINDINGS AND ORDER IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS UNDER
SECTIONS
15(b) AND 19(h) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST
MERRILL AND OTHERS [REL. 34-15421]. THE COMMISSION'S MODIFYING
ORDER GRANTS MERRILL'S REQUEST FOR RELIEF FROM THAT PORTION
OF
THE DECEMBER 20, 1978 ORDER PROHIBITING IT FROM HAVING BLANK
MERRILL LYNCH GOVERNMENT SECURITIES, INC. (GSI) CONFIRMATIONS
AVAILABLE IN ANY OF ITS INSTITUTIONAL SALES OFFICES. FURTHER,
UNDER MERRILL'S CONSENT, THE COMMISSION ORDERED MERRILL TO
COMPLY WITH ITS UNDERTAKING THAT BLANK GSI CONFIRMATIONS WILL
ONLY BE AVAILABLE AND ISSUED FROM MERRILL'S REGIONAL
INSTITUTIONAL OPERATIONS FACILITIES PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT
SUCH
CONFIRMATIONS WILL BE MAINTAINED IN AN AREA NOT ACCESSIBLE TO
SALES PERSONNEL AND, WHEN NOT IN USE, WILL BE SECURED. (REL.
34-23269)

Stipulation and Consent
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NEWS DIGEST 78-250, 12/28/78. RELEASE 34-15421. CENSURED,
PURSUANT TO OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING
ALLEGATIONS. 7/11/86, SEC NEWS DIGEST, ISSUE 86-110, JUNE 9,
1986: THE COMMISSION ENTERED AN ORDER MODIFYING ORDER
IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER, &
SMITH, INC. ON DECEMBER 20, 1978, THE COMMISSION ENTERED
FINDINGS AND ORDER IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS UNDER
SECTIONS
15(b) AND 19(h) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AGAINST
MERRILL AND OTHERS [REL. 34-15421]. THE COMMISSION'S MODIFYING
ORDER GRANTS MERRILL'S REQUEST FOR RELIEF FROM THAT PORTION
OF
THE DECEMBER 20, 1978 ORDER PROHIBITING IT FROM HAVING BLANK
MERRILL LYNCH GOVERNMENT SECURITIES, INC. (GSI) CONFIRMATIONS
AVAILABLE IN ANY OF ITS INSTITUTIONAL SALES OFFICES. FURTHER,
UNDER MERRILL'S CONSENT, THE COMMISSION ORDERED MERRILL TO
COMPLY WITH ITS UNDERTAKING THAT BLANK GSI CONFIRMATIONS WILL
ONLY BE AVAILABLE AND ISSUED FROM MERRILL'S REGIONAL
INSTITUTIONAL OPERATIONS FACILITIES PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT
SUCH
CONFIRMATIONS WILL BE MAINTAINED IN AN AREA NOT ACCESSIBLE TO
SALES PERSONNEL AND, WHEN NOT IN USE, WILL BE SECURED. (REL.
34-23269)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REMEDIAL SANCTIONS

Date Initiated: 12/20/1978

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATION THAT CONFIRMS WERE NOT LOCKED UP

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/20/1978

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH WAS CENSURED PURSUANT TO OFFER OF SETTLEMENT
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS.  MERRILL LYNCH WAS
PROHIBITED FROM HAVING BLANK GOVERNMENT SECURITIES CONFIRMS
AVAILABLE IN ANY OF ITS INSTITUTIONAL SALES OFFICES.  MERRILL WAS
PERMITTED TO HAVE THESE CONFIRMS AVAILABLE ONLY IN ITS REGIONAL
INSTITUTIONAL OPERATIONS

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH WAS CENSURED PURSUANT TO OFFER OF SETTLEMENT
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS.  MERRILL LYNCH WAS
PROHIBITED FROM HAVING BLANK GOVERNMENT SECURITIES CONFIRMS
AVAILABLE IN ANY OF ITS INSTITUTIONAL SALES OFFICES.  MERRILL WAS
PERMITTED TO HAVE THESE CONFIRMS AVAILABLE ONLY IN ITS REGIONAL
INSTITUTIONAL OPERATIONS

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Stipulation and Consent
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MERRILL LYNCH WAS CENSURED PURSUANT TO OFFER OF SETTLEMENT
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS.  MERRILL LYNCH WAS
PROHIBITED FROM HAVING BLANK GOVERNMENT SECURITIES CONFIRMS
AVAILABLE IN ANY OF ITS INSTITUTIONAL SALES OFFICES.  MERRILL WAS
PERMITTED TO HAVE THESE CONFIRMS AVAILABLE ONLY IN ITS REGIONAL
INSTITUTIONAL OPERATIONS

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH WAS CENSURED PURSUANT TO OFFER OF SETTLEMENT
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS.  MERRILL LYNCH WAS
PROHIBITED FROM HAVING BLANK GOVERNMENT SECURITIES CONFIRMS
AVAILABLE IN ANY OF ITS INSTITUTIONAL SALES OFFICES.  MERRILL WAS
PERMITTED TO HAVE THESE CONFIRMS AVAILABLE ONLY IN ITS REGIONAL
INSTITUTIONAL OPERATIONS FACILITIES AND ORDERED TO KEEP THEM IN
AN AREA NOT AVAILABLE TO SALES PERSONNEL AND TO SECURE THEM
WHEN NOT IN USE.

Disclosure 478 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/05/1979

Docket/Case Number: R-76-19

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/20/1979

Resolution:

Regulator Statement CFTC DOCKET NO. R 76-19, 01/05/79.
INITIAL DECISION TO BECOME FINAL
15 DAYS AFTER SERVICE OF ORDER.

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE COMPLAINANTS IN THIS MATTER CLAIMED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED SECTION 4B OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT (THE "ACT")
IN THE HANDLING OF COMPLAINANTS ACCOUNTS BY FAILING TO
EXECUTE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN BY ONE OF THE COMPLAINANTS; BY
ENTERING UNAUTHORIZED TRADES ON THE ACCOUNTS; BY CHURNING
THE ACCOUNTS; AND BY FAILING TO CORRECT COMPUTER ERRORS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMODITIES FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/05/1979

Docket/Case Number: R-76-19

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE COMPLAINANTS IN THIS MATTER CLAIMED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
VIOLATED SECTION 4B OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT (THE "ACT")
IN THE HANDLING OF COMPLAINANTS ACCOUNTS BY FAILING TO
EXECUTE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN BY ONE OF THE COMPLAINANTS; BY
ENTERING UNAUTHORIZED TRADES ON THE ACCOUNTS; BY CHURNING
THE ACCOUNTS; AND BY FAILING TO CORRECT COMPUTER ERRORS.

Resolution Date: 01/20/1979

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NONE

Sanction Details: ON OCTOBER 20, 1977, A CFTC ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE FOUND THAT
COMPLAINANTS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED
THE ACT OR THE REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER IN THE
HANDLING OF COMPLAINANTS' ACCOUNTS AND THE PROCEEDING WAS
ACCORDINGLY DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. AN APPLICATION FOR
REVIEW WAS SUBSEQUENTLY FILED BY THE COMPLAINANTS.  UPON
CONSIDERATION OF THE COMPLAINANTS' APPLICATION FOR REVIEW, THE
CFTC DISCERNED NO QUESTION OF FACT OR LAW TO WARRANT CFTC
CONSIDERATION OF THE MERITS OF THE INITIAL DECISION FILED BY THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE.  ACCORDINGLY, THE CFTC DETERMINED
THAT COMPLAINANTS' APPLICATION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.
ACCORDINGLY, THE CFTC ORDERED THAT THE INITIAL DECISION OF THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE (DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE) BECOME
FINAL WITH RESPECT TO THE PARTIES FIFTEEN DAYS AFTER SERVICE OF
THE ORDER.

Firm Statement ON OCTOBER 20, 1977, A CFTC ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE FOUND THAT
COMPLAINANTS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED
THE ACT OR THE REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER IN THE
HANDLING OF COMPLAINANTS' ACCOUNTS AND THE PROCEEDING WAS
ACCORDINGLY DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. AN APPLICATION FOR
REVIEW WAS SUBSEQUENTLY FILED BY THE COMPLAINANTS.  UPON
CONSIDERATION OF THE COMPLAINANTS' APPLICATION FOR REVIEW, THE
CFTC DISCERNED NO QUESTION OF FACT OR LAW TO WARRANT CFTC
CONSIDERATION OF THE MERITS OF THE INITIAL DECISION FILED BY THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE.  ACCORDINGLY, THE CFTC DETERMINED
THAT COMPLAINANTS' APPLICATION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.
ACCORDINGLY, THE CFTC ORDERED THAT THE INITIAL DECISION OF THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE (DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE) BECOME
FINAL WITH RESPECT TO THE PARTIES FIFTEEN DAYS AFTER SERVICE OF
THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered:

Stipulation and Consent
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ON OCTOBER 20, 1977, A CFTC ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE FOUND THAT
COMPLAINANTS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED
THE ACT OR THE REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER IN THE
HANDLING OF COMPLAINANTS' ACCOUNTS AND THE PROCEEDING WAS
ACCORDINGLY DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. AN APPLICATION FOR
REVIEW WAS SUBSEQUENTLY FILED BY THE COMPLAINANTS.  UPON
CONSIDERATION OF THE COMPLAINANTS' APPLICATION FOR REVIEW, THE
CFTC DISCERNED NO QUESTION OF FACT OR LAW TO WARRANT CFTC
CONSIDERATION OF THE MERITS OF THE INITIAL DECISION FILED BY THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE.  ACCORDINGLY, THE CFTC DETERMINED
THAT COMPLAINANTS' APPLICATION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.
ACCORDINGLY, THE CFTC ORDERED THAT THE INITIAL DECISION OF THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE (DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE) BECOME
FINAL WITH RESPECT TO THE PARTIES FIFTEEN DAYS AFTER SERVICE OF
THE ORDER.

Disclosure 479 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/22/1982

Docket/Case Number: R 81-1361-82-453

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/22/1982

Resolution:

Regulator Statement CFTC DOCKET NO. R 81-1361-82-453, J. MANDEL TENCER, COMPLAINANT,
V. MERRILL LYNCH INC., RESPONDENT.
THE COMPLAINANT ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO LIQUIDATE TWO
LONG GOLD POSITIONS WHEN REQUESTED.  THE COMMISSION FOUND
THE
COMPLAINANT'S ALLEGATIONS TO BE TRUE, AND ORDERED THE FIRM TO
PAY REPARATIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF $28,627.00, PLUS INTEREST, TO
COVER THE DAMAGES OF LOSS PROFIT WHICH OCCURRED BY THE
FIRM'S
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE COMPLAINANT'S REQUEST.  DECISION
WAS RENDERED DECEMBER 22, 1982.

Decision
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/08/1981

Docket/Case Number: R 81-1361-82-453

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: COMPLAINANT ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO LIQUIDATE TWO LONG
GOLD POSITIONS WHEN REQUESTED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/22/1982

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PAY REPARATIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF
$28,627.00 PLUS INTEREST TO COVER DAMAGES OF LOST PROFIT WHICH
OCCURRED BY THE FIRM'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE
COMPLAINANT'S REQUEST.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $28,627.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Decision

Disclosure 480 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 09/08/1983

Docket/Case Number: R81-664-82-181

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/08/1983

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement CFTC DOCKET NO. R81-664-82-181, CHARLES E. STEVENS, JR.,
COMPLAINANT, V. MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.
RESPONDENT.  DECISION DATED SEPTEMBER 8, 1983.
THE COMPLAINANT ALLEGED THAT THE RESPONDENT FIRM FAILED TO
PROMPTLY FURNISH AN ACCURATE MONTHLY STATEMENT AND WRITTEN
STATEMENT FOR EACH TRANSACTION;  FAILED TO SUPERVISE THE
HANDLING OF ALL COMMODITY INTEREST ACCOUNTS IT CARRIED;  AND
FAILED TO MAKE CORRECTIONS TO STATEMENTS WITHIN A REASONABLE
TIME.  THE COMMISSION FOUND THESE ALLEGATIONS TO BE TRUE AND
FOUND THAT THE RESPONDENT FIRM REMOVED A TRANSACTION VALUED
AT
$13,740.40 FROM THE COMPLAINANT'S ACCOUNT.  THE COURT ORDERED
THE FIRM TO MAKE RESTITUTION TO THE COMPLAINANT IN THE AMOUNT
OF $13,740.40, PLUS INTEREST AND FILING FEE.

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 04/08/1981

Docket/Case Number: R81-664-82-181

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO PROMPTLY FURNISH AN
ACCURATE MONTHLY STATEMENT AND WRITTEN STATEMENT FOR EACH
TRANSACTION, FAILED TO SUPERVISE THE HANDLING OF ACCOUNTS AND
FAILED TO MAKE CORRECTIONS TO STATEMENTS WITHIN A REASONABLE
TIME.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/08/1983

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST FROM SEPTEMBER 8, 1983 UNTIL DATE OF PAYMENT ALONG
WITH PAYMENT OF CLAIMANT'S $25.00 FILING FEE.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement FINDINGS THAT CORRECTIONS TO STATEMENTS WERE NOT MADE BY
RESPONDENT IN A REASONABLE TIME.  RESPONDENT ORDERED TO PAY
REPARATIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF $13,740.40 WITH INTEREST FROM
SEPTEMBER 8, 1983 UNTIL PAID, ALONG WITH PAYMENT OF CLAIMANT'S
$25.00 FILING FEE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $13,740.40
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order

Disclosure 481 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/23/1984

Docket/Case Number: R 81-1170-82-330

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Order
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Resolution Date: 02/23/1984

Regulator Statement FROM DECISION ORDER RECEIVED: THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION ISSUED AN ORDER, ON FEBRUARY 23, 1984, IN THE MATTER
OF CFTC DOCKET NO. R 81-1170-82-330, IRA A. COWEN, complainant,
vs. MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., THOMAS R. BAKER
AND MELVIN G. DAVIDSON, respondents. THE COMPLAINANT ALLEGED
THAT FIVE TRADES WERE PLACED BY THE RESPONDENTS THAT WERE
UNAUTHORIZED. THE CFTC, UPON REVIEW OF THE EVIDENCE, FOUND
THAT
THE RESPONDENT FIRM AND BAKER DID EXECUTE THE UNAUTHORIZED
TRADES AS ALLEGED. THE CFTC ORDERED THESE TWO RESPONDENTS
TO PAY
REPARATIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF $507.50, PLUS INTEREST AND FILING
FEES TO THE COMPLAINANT. THE CFTC FOUND NO EVIDENCE TO
SUPPORT
ANY ALLEGATIONS AGAINST RESPONDENT DAVIDSON AND ORDERED THE
COMPLAINT BE DISMISSED WITH REGARD TO HIM.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/13/1981

Docket/Case Number: R 81-1170-82-330

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CLAIMANT ALLEGES THAT FINANCIAL ADVISOR MADE 5 UNAUTHORIZED
TRADES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/23/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST PLUS PAYMENT OF COMPLAINANT'S $25.00 FILING FEE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $507.50
Disgorgement/Restitution

Decision

1073©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST PLUS PAYMENT OF COMPLAINANT'S $25.00 FILING FEE.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement COMMISSION ORDERED RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH AND THOMAS R.
BAKER TO PAY CLAIMANT $507.50 PLUS INTEREST UNTIL PAID ALONG WITH
CLAIMANTS $25.00 FILING FEE.  COMMISSION ORDERED THAT COMPLAINT
BE DISMISSED AGAINST MELVIN G. DAVIDSON.

Disclosure 482 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/31/1984

Docket/Case Number: R 79-684-80-132

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/31/1984

Resolution:

Regulator Statement FROM DECISION ORDER RECD 11/12/84: THE COMMODITY FUTURES
TRADING
COMMISSION ISSUED AN ORDER, ON OCTOBER 31, 1984, IN THE MATTER
OF CFTC DOCKET NO. R 79-684-80-132, ANGELO MILANO, complainant,
vs. MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. AND DAVID A.
BONDY, respondents. THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THE MISREPRESENTATION
OF THE GENERAL NATURE OF THE COMMODITIES MARKET BY BONDY
AND,
HIS FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THE MOST ESSENTIAL FACTS RELATIVE TO
INVESTMENTS; WHICH CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF ss 4b OF THE
COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT. THE CFTC ORDERED THAT RESPONDENTS
PAY
REPARATIONS TO THE COMPLAINANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $32,590.00 WITH
INTEREST AT THE ANNUAL RATE OF 11% FROM OCTOBER 1, 1978, TO THE
DATE OF PAYMENT, PLUS $25.00, THE AMOUNT OF THE FILING FEE.
LIABILITY OF THE RESPONDENTS IS JOINT AND SEVERAL.

Order
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FROM DECISION ORDER RECD 11/12/84: THE COMMODITY FUTURES
TRADING
COMMISSION ISSUED AN ORDER, ON OCTOBER 31, 1984, IN THE MATTER
OF CFTC DOCKET NO. R 79-684-80-132, ANGELO MILANO, complainant,
vs. MERRILL LYNCH PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. AND DAVID A.
BONDY, respondents. THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THE MISREPRESENTATION
OF THE GENERAL NATURE OF THE COMMODITIES MARKET BY BONDY
AND,
HIS FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THE MOST ESSENTIAL FACTS RELATIVE TO
INVESTMENTS; WHICH CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF ss 4b OF THE
COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT. THE CFTC ORDERED THAT RESPONDENTS
PAY
REPARATIONS TO THE COMPLAINANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $32,590.00 WITH
INTEREST AT THE ANNUAL RATE OF 11% FROM OCTOBER 1, 1978, TO THE
DATE OF PAYMENT, PLUS $25.00, THE AMOUNT OF THE FILING FEE.
LIABILITY OF THE RESPONDENTS IS JOINT AND SEVERAL.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/27/1981

Docket/Case Number: R 79-684-80-132

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS OF UNAUTHORIZED TRADING, CHURNING AND
MISREPRESENTATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/31/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST FROM OCTOBER 1, 1978 UNTIL DATE OF PAYMENT ALONG WITH
PAYMENT OF CLAIMANT'S $25.00 FILING FEE.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement RESPONDENT FOUND IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 4B OF TH ECOMMODITY
EXCHANGE ACT.  MERRILL LYNCH AND DAVID BONDY ORDERED TO PAY
REPARATIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF $32,590.00 PLUS INTEREST FROM
OCTOBER 1, 1978 UNTIL DATE OF PAYMENT, ALONG WITH CLAIMANT'S
$25.00 FILING FEE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $32,590.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order

Disclosure 483 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

1075©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/12/1985

Docket/Case Number: R 81-649-81-770

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 03/12/1985

Resolution:

Regulator Statement CFTC DOCKET NO. R 81-649-81-770, RICHARD G. THOMPSPN,
COMPLAINANT, V. MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH,
INC., AND GREGORY A. LEIGHTON, RESPONDENTS. THE COMPLAINANT
ORIGINALLY SOUGHT REPARATIONS FROM RESPONDENTS IN THE
AMOUNT
OF $8,890. HE INCREASED THIS AMOUNT TO $28,000 AT THE TIME
OF THE HEARING. COMPLAINANT ALLEGES THAT RESPONDENTS
ENGAGED
IN FRAUDULENT ACTIVITIES, SPECIFICALLY NONDISCLOSURE
OF RISKS, FRAUD IN THE TRANSFER OF FUNDS OUT OF HIS ACCOUNT,
AND UNAUTHORIZED TRADING, AS PROHIBITED BY SECTION 4b OF THE
ACT, 7 U.S.C. 6b (1982). THE COURT DEEMED THESE ALLEGATIONS
TO BE TRUE AND ORDERED RESPONDENTS TO PAY REPARATIONS IN
THE AMOUNT OF $8,890.00, PLUS INTEREST AND FILING FEE.
LIABILITY IS JOINT AND SEVERAL. ORDER DATED 3/12/85.

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 04/09/1981

Docket/Case Number: R 81-649-81-770

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Allegations: ALLEGATION THAT FINANCIAL ADVISOR FAILED TO DISCLOSE RISKS OF
COMMODITIES TRADING.  CLAIMANT ALSO ALLEGES UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING BY FINANCIAL ADVISOR.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 03/12/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST FROM NOVEMBER 14, 1980 UNTIL DATE OF PAYMENT, ALONG
WITH PAYMENT OF COMPLAINANT'S $25.00 FILING FEE.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement COMMISSION ORDERED RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH AND GREGORY
LEIGHTON TO PAY REPARATIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,890.00 PLUS
INTEREST UNTIL PAID ALONG WITH CLAIMANT'S FILING FEE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $8,890.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order

Disclosure 484 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/29/1985

Docket/Case Number: 83-R262

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/29/1985

Resolution:

Regulator Statement CFTC DOCKET NO. 83-R262, SOLOMON GROSS, COMPLAINANT, V. MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., JAMES ALVA AND BLAISE J.
MASONE, RESPONDENTS. THE COMPLAINANT ASKED THE COMMISSION
TO
ORDER THE RESPONDENTS TO PAY HIM $970.80 REPARATION DAMAGES,
WHICH HE ALLEGED HE LOST BECAUSE OF VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL
COMMODITIES LAW BY THE RESPONDENTS. THE COMMISSION ORDERED
RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH AND BLAISE J. MASONE TO PAY DAMAGES
TO
THE COMPLAINANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $928.80, PLUS INTEREST AND
FILING FEE. IT WAS FURTHER ORDERED THAT THE COMPLAINANT IN THIS
PROCEEDING BE DISMISSED AGAINST RESPONDENT JAMES ALVA. ORDER
DATED MARCH 29, 1985.

Order
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Regulator Statement CFTC DOCKET NO. 83-R262, SOLOMON GROSS, COMPLAINANT, V. MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., JAMES ALVA AND BLAISE J.
MASONE, RESPONDENTS. THE COMPLAINANT ASKED THE COMMISSION
TO
ORDER THE RESPONDENTS TO PAY HIM $970.80 REPARATION DAMAGES,
WHICH HE ALLEGED HE LOST BECAUSE OF VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL
COMMODITIES LAW BY THE RESPONDENTS. THE COMMISSION ORDERED
RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH AND BLAISE J. MASONE TO PAY DAMAGES
TO
THE COMPLAINANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $928.80, PLUS INTEREST AND
FILING FEE. IT WAS FURTHER ORDERED THAT THE COMPLAINANT IN THIS
PROCEEDING BE DISMISSED AGAINST RESPONDENT JAMES ALVA. ORDER
DATED MARCH 29, 1985.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/17/1983

Docket/Case Number: 83R-262

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATION THAT FINANCIAL ADVISOR VIOLATED SECTION 4B OF THE
COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT BY FAILING TO DISCLOSE TO THE
COMPLAINANT THAT THE PRICE OF GOLD DECLINED ON SEPTEMBER 7,
1982.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/29/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST PLUS PAYMENT OF COMPLAINANT'S $25.00 FILING FEE.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement COMMISSION ORDERED RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH AND BLAISE
MASON TO PAY DAMAGES TO THE COMPLAINANT IN THE AMOUNT OF
$25.00 FOR THEIR FILING FEE ALONG WITH $928.80 PLUS INTEREST FROM
MARCH 29, 1985 UNTIL PAID.  IT WAS ORDERED THAT THE PROCEEDING BE
DISMISSED AGAINST RESPONDENT JAMES ALVA.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $928.80
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order
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Firm Statement COMMISSION ORDERED RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH AND BLAISE
MASON TO PAY DAMAGES TO THE COMPLAINANT IN THE AMOUNT OF
$25.00 FOR THEIR FILING FEE ALONG WITH $928.80 PLUS INTEREST FROM
MARCH 29, 1985 UNTIL PAID.  IT WAS ORDERED THAT THE PROCEEDING BE
DISMISSED AGAINST RESPONDENT JAMES ALVA.

Disclosure 485 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/17/1985

Docket/Case Number: 79-173-80-255

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/17/1985

Resolution:

Regulator Statement 9/17/85, CFTC DOCKET NO. 79-173-80-255, ORDER OF SUMMARY
AFFIRMANCE. ZEVART MANOYIAN, M.D. V. MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH, INC. AND SALVATORE LANZA. UPON CONSIDERATION OF
THE BRIEFS AND THE RECORD AS A WHOLE, THE COMMITTEE IS
SATISFIED THAT THE INITIAL DECISION IS SUBSTANTIALLY CORRECT IN
RESULT, AND THAT NO IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW OR POLICY HAS
BEEN
RAISED ON APPEAL. ACCORDINGLY, THE COMMITTEE HAS DETERMINED
THAT
THE INITIAL DECISION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED WITHOUT OPINION.

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: CHARGED WITH EXECUTING THREE WASH TRADES FOR ONE OF ITS
CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 09/27/1985

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CHARGED WITH EXECUTING THREE WASH TRADES FOR ONE OF ITS
CUSTOMERS.

Resolution Date: 09/27/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CASE SETTLED WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS BY
AGREEING TO A CIVIL PENALTY AND ENTRY OF A CEASE AND DESIST
ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $40,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 486 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/23/1985

Docket/Case Number: 83-R883

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 10/23/1985

Resolution:

Regulator Statement CFTC DOCKET NO. 83-R883, ALEXANDER DOREVITCH, COMPLAINANT VS.
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., JAMES A. GARY, AND
JANE M. READ, RESPONDENTS. THE COMPLAINANT ASKED THE
COMMISSION
TO FIND THAT THE RESPONDENTS VIOLATED FEDERAL COMMODITIES
LAW IN
THEIR DEALINGS WITH HIM AND ASKED THE COMMISSION TO ORDER THE
RESPONDENTS TO PAY HIM $1,601.43 REPARATION DAMAGES FOR THE
LOSSES ALLEGEDLY SUSTAINED BY HIM AS A RESULT OF THE VIOLATIONS.
THE ALLEGATION WERE DEEMED TRUE AS TO RESPONDENTS MERRILL
LYNCH
AND JANES M. READ AND THEY WERE ORDERED TO PAY DAMAGES TO
THE
COMPLAINANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,308.83, PLUS INTEREST AND FILING
FEE. THE COMMISSION FOUND NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE
ALLEGATIONS
AGAINST RESPONDENT GARY AND ORDERED THAT THE COMPLAINT BE
DISMISSED AS TO GARY. ORDER DATED 10/23/85.

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/14/1983

Docket/Case Number: 83-R883

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATION THAT FINANCIAL ADVISOR MADE UNAUTHORIZED TRADE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/23/1985

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,308.83
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: INTEREST PLUS PAYMENT OF COMPLAINANT'S $25.00 FILING FEE.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH AND JANE M. READ WERE ORDERED TO
PAY DAMAGES IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,308.83 PLUS INTEREST FROM
OCTOBER 23, 1985 UNTIL PAID, ALONG WITH CLAIMANT'S $25.00 FILING
FEE.  ORDER THAT COMPLAINT BE DISMISSED AGAINST RESIDENT VICE
PRESIDENT JAMES A. GARY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,308.83
Disgorgement/Restitution

Disclosure 487 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/11/1999

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 15(C)(1) AND (2), AND 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT, AND RULES 15C1-2, 15C2-7 AND 17A-3 THEREUNDER

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/11/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CEASE AND DESIST AND PAY A CIVIL PENALTY OF $472,500.

Regulator Statement [TOP]+02/11/99+ SEC NEWS DIGEST, ISSUE NO. 99-6, DATED 01/11/1999,
ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS DISCLOSED: SEC ANNOUNCED THE
INSTITUTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS AGAINST 28 NASDAQ
MARKET MAKING FIRMS AND 51 INDIVIDUALS ASSOCIATED WITH SUCH
FIRMS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (?34 ACT) AND, AS TO ONE FIRM, PURSUANT TO
SECTION 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940.
SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH THE FILING OF THE ACTION, ALL OF THE
RESPONDENTS CONSENTED, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING SEC?S
FINDINGS, TO THE ENTRY OF ORDERS WHICH IMPOSE CIVIL PENALTIES
WHICH TOTALED $26,302,500, DISGORGEMENT OF WRONGFUL GAINS
TOTALING $791,525, SUSPENSIONS OR BARS, CEASE AND DESIST ORDERS
AND OTHER SANCTIONS. THE ORDERS FOUND THAT THE RESPONDENTS
HAD ENGAGED PRIMARILY IN ONE OR MORE VIOLATIONS ARISING FROM
MARKET MAKING ACTIVITIES IN THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INCLUDING:
THE COORDINATION OF QUOTATIONS AND TRANSACTIONS BY TRADERS
MAKING MARKETS IN NASDAQ STOCKS IN VIOLATION OF ANTIFRAUD AND
FICTITIOUS QUOTATION RULES, THE INTENTIONAL DELAY OF TRADE
REPORTS, OTHER MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY, FAILURE TO HONOR QUOTED
PRICES, FAILURE TO PROVIDE CUSTOMER ORDERS WITH BEST
EXECUTION, TRADING AS PRINCIPAL WITH ADVISORY CLIENTS OR
DISCRETIONARY CUSTOMERS, FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE BOOKS
AND RECORDS REQUIREMENTS, AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE.  2/12/99CW
SEC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING FILE NO. 3-9803 01/11/1999
DISCLOSES; MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH SHALL CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY FUTURE VIOLATION OF,
AND COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY FUTURE VIOLATION OF SECTIONS
15(C)(1) AND (2), AND 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, AND RULES 15C1-2,
15C2-7 AND 17A-3 THEREUNDER; SHALL PAY A CIVIL PENALTY OF $472,500;
AND PROVIDE TO THE SEC-APPOINTED INDEPENDANT CONSULTANT A
DESCRIPTION OF ITS POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND PRACTICES RELATING
TO PREVENTION OR DETECTION OF THE TYPES OF IMPROPER CONDUCT
INVOLVING MERRILL, LYNCH DESCRIBED IN SECTION II OF THIS ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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[TOP]+02/11/99+ SEC NEWS DIGEST, ISSUE NO. 99-6, DATED 01/11/1999,
ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS DISCLOSED: SEC ANNOUNCED THE
INSTITUTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS AGAINST 28 NASDAQ
MARKET MAKING FIRMS AND 51 INDIVIDUALS ASSOCIATED WITH SUCH
FIRMS PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 15(B) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (?34 ACT) AND, AS TO ONE FIRM, PURSUANT TO
SECTION 203(K) OF THE INVESTMENT ADVISERS ACT OF 1940.
SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH THE FILING OF THE ACTION, ALL OF THE
RESPONDENTS CONSENTED, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING SEC?S
FINDINGS, TO THE ENTRY OF ORDERS WHICH IMPOSE CIVIL PENALTIES
WHICH TOTALED $26,302,500, DISGORGEMENT OF WRONGFUL GAINS
TOTALING $791,525, SUSPENSIONS OR BARS, CEASE AND DESIST ORDERS
AND OTHER SANCTIONS. THE ORDERS FOUND THAT THE RESPONDENTS
HAD ENGAGED PRIMARILY IN ONE OR MORE VIOLATIONS ARISING FROM
MARKET MAKING ACTIVITIES IN THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INCLUDING:
THE COORDINATION OF QUOTATIONS AND TRANSACTIONS BY TRADERS
MAKING MARKETS IN NASDAQ STOCKS IN VIOLATION OF ANTIFRAUD AND
FICTITIOUS QUOTATION RULES, THE INTENTIONAL DELAY OF TRADE
REPORTS, OTHER MANIPULATIVE ACTIVITY, FAILURE TO HONOR QUOTED
PRICES, FAILURE TO PROVIDE CUSTOMER ORDERS WITH BEST
EXECUTION, TRADING AS PRINCIPAL WITH ADVISORY CLIENTS OR
DISCRETIONARY CUSTOMERS, FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE BOOKS
AND RECORDS REQUIREMENTS, AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE.  2/12/99CW
SEC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING FILE NO. 3-9803 01/11/1999
DISCLOSES; MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH SHALL CEASE
AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY FUTURE VIOLATION OF,
AND COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY FUTURE VIOLATION OF SECTIONS
15(C)(1) AND (2), AND 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, AND RULES 15C1-2,
15C2-7 AND 17A-3 THEREUNDER; SHALL PAY A CIVIL PENALTY OF $472,500;
AND PROVIDE TO THE SEC-APPOINTED INDEPENDANT CONSULTANT A
DESCRIPTION OF ITS POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND PRACTICES RELATING
TO PREVENTION OR DETECTION OF THE TYPES OF IMPROPER CONDUCT
INVOLVING MERRILL, LYNCH DESCRIBED IN SECTION II OF THIS ORDER.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 01/11/1999

Docket/Case Number: NASDAQ MARKET MAKERS RELEASE#34-40900&15

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IN AN ACTION BROUGHT AGAINST ALMOST ALL MAJOR NASDAQ MARKET
MAKERS, SEC FOUND THAT IN 1994 MARKET MAKERS, INCLUDING
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES
LAWS IN CONNECTION WITH THEIR ACTIVITIES IN NASDAQ SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 01/11/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, FIRM AGREED TO A CEASE
AND DESIST ORDER AND TO SUBMIT CERTAIN OF ITS POLICIES TO AN
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $472,500.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 488 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/05/1998

Docket/Case Number: C07980055

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/05/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON NOVEMBER 5, 1998, DISTRICT NO. 7 NOTIFIED RESPONDENT MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED THAT THE LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. C07980055 WAS ACCEPTED;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $25,000, AND REQUIRED
TO UNDERTAKE CORRECTIVE ACTIONS  - (NASD RULES 2110 AND IM
3110(f)(4) - RESPONDENT MEMBER WAS NAMED AS A RESPONDENT IN
CERTAIN ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS FILED WITH THE NASD BY VARIOUS
PUBLIC CUSTOMERS WHO INCLUDED DEMANDS FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES
AND/OR ATTORNEYS' FEES IN THE PROCEEDINGS. EACH OF THOSE
CUSTOMERS SIGNED AN AGREEMENT WITH THE FIRM STATING THAT THE
TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT WOULD BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK. IN 17 OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT MEMBER ASSERTED THAT NEW YORK LAW APPLIED TO THE
PROCEEDING BY VIRTUE OF THE GOVERNING LAW CLAUSE IN THE
CUSTOMER AGREEMENT AND THAT NEW YORK LAW PRECLUDED AN
AWARD OF
PUNITIVE DAMAGES OR ATTORNEYS' FEES).

**$25,000.00 PAID ON 12/18/98, INVOICE# 98-07-960**

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

1084©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Regulator Statement ON NOVEMBER 5, 1998, DISTRICT NO. 7 NOTIFIED RESPONDENT MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED THAT THE LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. C07980055 WAS ACCEPTED;
THEREFORE, THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $25,000, AND REQUIRED
TO UNDERTAKE CORRECTIVE ACTIONS  - (NASD RULES 2110 AND IM
3110(f)(4) - RESPONDENT MEMBER WAS NAMED AS A RESPONDENT IN
CERTAIN ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS FILED WITH THE NASD BY VARIOUS
PUBLIC CUSTOMERS WHO INCLUDED DEMANDS FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES
AND/OR ATTORNEYS' FEES IN THE PROCEEDINGS. EACH OF THOSE
CUSTOMERS SIGNED AN AGREEMENT WITH THE FIRM STATING THAT THE
TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT WOULD BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK. IN 17 OF THESE PROCEEDINGS,
RESPONDENT MEMBER ASSERTED THAT NEW YORK LAW APPLIED TO THE
PROCEEDING BY VIRTUE OF THE GOVERNING LAW CLAUSE IN THE
CUSTOMER AGREEMENT AND THAT NEW YORK LAW PRECLUDED AN
AWARD OF
PUNITIVE DAMAGES OR ATTORNEYS' FEES).

**$25,000.00 PAID ON 12/18/98, INVOICE# 98-07-960**

Disclosure 489 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/24/1998

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
AND RULE G-17 OF THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING BOARD.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/24/1998

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CEASE-AND-DESIST AND MERRILL LYNCH TO PAY A CIVIL PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $2 MILLION.

Regulator Statement [TOP] 8/25/98JW SEC NEWS DIGEST ISSUE 98-163 DATED 08/24/1998
ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS DISCLOSED; SEC ANNOUNCED THAT ON
AUGUST 24, IT INSTITUTED AND SETTLED A PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE AND
CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDING AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INCORPORTATED (MERRILL LYNCH). THE ACTION
CONCERNS MERRILL LYNCH'S UNDERWRITING $875 MILLION IN MUNICIPAL
SECURITIES ISSUED BY ORANGE COUNTY AND THE ORANGE COUNTY
FLOOD CONTROL DISTRICT THROUGH FOUR OFFERINGS IN JULY AND
AUGUST 1994, JUST MONTHS BEFORE ORANGE COUNTY'S BANKRUPTCY.
MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING SEC?S FINDINGS. MERRILL LYNCH ALSO AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $2 MILLION. SEC FOUND THAT MERRILL
LYNCH SOLD THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES TO INVESTORS THROUGH
OFFICIAL STATEMENTS THAT OMITTED MATERIAL INFORMATION ABOUT
THE ORANGE COUNTY INVESTMENT POOLS (THE POOLS), INCLUDING THE
POOLS' INVESTMENT STRATEGY, THE RISKS OF THAT STRATEGY, AND THE
POOLS' INVESTMENT LOSSES.  IN ADDITION, MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH
ITS INVESTMENT BANKERS RESPONSIBLE FOR REVIEWING AND/OR
APPROVING THE OFFICIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE NOTE OFFERINGS,
ALSO KNEW OR REASONABLY SHOULD HAVE KNOWN MATERIAL
INFORMATION ABOUT THE POOLS AND/OR THE NOTES' INTEREST RATE.
FROM A REVIEW OF THE OFFICIAL STATEMENTS, MERRILL LYNCH,
THROUGH ITS INVESTMENT BANKERS, KNEW OR REASONABLY SHOULD
HAVE KNOWN THAT THE OFFICIAL STATEMENTS OMITTED TO DISCLOSE
MATERIAL INFORMATION THAT WAS IN ITS POSSESSION OR REASONABLY
ACCESSIBLE TO IT ABOUT THE POOLS AND THE NOTES' INTEREST RATES.
SEC FOUND THAT, AS A RESULT, MERRILL LYNCH, THROUGH NEGLIGENT
CONDUCT, VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT
OF 1933 AND RULE G-17 OF THE MUNICIPAL SECURITIES RULEMAKING
BOARD. SEC, ACCORDINGLY, ORDERED MERRILL LYNCH TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATION AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE ABOVE PROVISIONS AND TO PAY A $2
MILLION CIVIL PENALTY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine
Cease and Desist/Injunction

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: THE SEC ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC.
VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF '33
SECTION 15B(C)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF '34 AND RULE G-17 OF THE
MSRB.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION            #136

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/24/1998

Docket/Case Number: FILE #3-9683

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SEC ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC.
VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF '33
SECTION 15B(C)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF '34 AND RULE G-17 OF THE
MSRB.

Resolution Date: 08/24/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC. WAS DIRECTED TO CEASE
& DESIST FROM ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 17(A)2 AND (3) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT OF '33 AND SECTION 15B(C)(1) OF SECURITIES ACT
OF '34; TO PAY A CIVIL PENALTY OF $2 MILLION; TO COMPLY WITH
UNDERTAKINGS TO MAINTAIN PREVIOUSLY REVISED POLICIES &
PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 490 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/27/1998

Docket/Case Number: CMS980043 AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 04/27/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. CMS980043 AWC.

ON APRIL 27, 1998, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.
WAS NOTIFIED THAT THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT
(AWC) WAS ACCEPTED BY NASD REGULATION, INC.'S DEPARTMENT OF
ENFORCEMENT AND THE NATIONAL ADJUDICATORY COUNCIL.  THE AWC
ALLEGES THAT THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITY OCCURRED:

MLCO FAILED TO DESIGNATE AS LATE TO ACT 12 TRANSACTIONS IN
NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET SECURITIES IN VIOLATION OF NASD
MARKETPLACE RULE 4632(a).  MLCO FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE ONE
TRANSACTION IN AN ELIGIBLE SECURITY WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER
EXECUTION IN VIOLATION OF NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6130(b). MLCO
IMPROPERLY USED FORM T TO REPORT TWO TRANSACTIONS IN LISTED
SECURITIES, IN THAT THE ELECTRONIC ENTRY OF EACH TRANSACTION
WAS FEASIBLE.  THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF NASD
MARKETPLACE RULE 6420(a).

MLCO FAILED TO CONTEMPORANEOUSLY EXECUTE 22 CUSTOMER LIMIT
ORDERS AFTER IT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS FOR ITS OWN MARKET
MAKING
ACCOUNT AT PRICES EQUAL TO OR BETTER THAN EACH SUCH
CUSTOMER
LIMIT ORDER IN VIOLATION OF NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 AND
IM-2110-2.

IN ADDITION, MLCO FAILED TO MEMORIALIZE ON MEMORANDA OF FIVE
BROKERAGE ORDERS THE CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION IN VIOLATION
OF
SEC RULE 17a-3(a)(7) AND NASD CONDUCT RULE 3110.

MLCO WAS CENSURED AND FINED $9,500.

****** $9,500 PAID ON 7/1/98, INVOICE NO. 98-MS-483 ****

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. CMS980043 AWC.

ON APRIL 27, 1998, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.
WAS NOTIFIED THAT THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT
(AWC) WAS ACCEPTED BY NASD REGULATION, INC.'S DEPARTMENT OF
ENFORCEMENT AND THE NATIONAL ADJUDICATORY COUNCIL.  THE AWC
ALLEGES THAT THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITY OCCURRED:

MLCO FAILED TO DESIGNATE AS LATE TO ACT 12 TRANSACTIONS IN
NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET SECURITIES IN VIOLATION OF NASD
MARKETPLACE RULE 4632(a).  MLCO FAILED TO ACCEPT OR DECLINE ONE
TRANSACTION IN AN ELIGIBLE SECURITY WITHIN 20 MINUTES AFTER
EXECUTION IN VIOLATION OF NASD MARKETPLACE RULE 6130(b). MLCO
IMPROPERLY USED FORM T TO REPORT TWO TRANSACTIONS IN LISTED
SECURITIES, IN THAT THE ELECTRONIC ENTRY OF EACH TRANSACTION
WAS FEASIBLE.  THIS CONDUCT CONSTITUTES A VIOLATION OF NASD
MARKETPLACE RULE 6420(a).

MLCO FAILED TO CONTEMPORANEOUSLY EXECUTE 22 CUSTOMER LIMIT
ORDERS AFTER IT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS FOR ITS OWN MARKET
MAKING
ACCOUNT AT PRICES EQUAL TO OR BETTER THAN EACH SUCH
CUSTOMER
LIMIT ORDER IN VIOLATION OF NASD CONDUCT RULE 2110 AND
IM-2110-2.

IN ADDITION, MLCO FAILED TO MEMORIALIZE ON MEMORANDA OF FIVE
BROKERAGE ORDERS THE CORRECT TIME OF EXECUTION IN VIOLATION
OF
SEC RULE 17a-3(a)(7) AND NASD CONDUCT RULE 3110.

MLCO WAS CENSURED AND FINED $9,500.

****** $9,500 PAID ON 7/1/98, INVOICE NO. 98-MS-483 ****

Disclosure 491 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: Not Provided

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/26/1998

Docket/Case Number: HPD98-89

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: Not Provided

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/01/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: Not Provided

Regulator Statement **10/1/1998** THE DECISION IS NOW FINAL AND IS
EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY. CONTACT: PEGGY GERMINO 212 656-8450.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $85,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 06/26/1998

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE RULE 440 AND SEC REGULATIONS 17A-3 AND
17A-4 AND VIOLATIONS OF EXCHANGE RULE 342.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/26/1998

Docket/Case Number: HPD 98-89

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/01/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FINE PAID AS OF 10/01/1998

Firm Statement VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 440 AND SEC REG 17A3 AND 17A4 BY FAILING
TO MAKE AND PRESERVE REQUIREED RECORDS RELATIONG TO RECEIPT
AND EXECUTION OF CUTOMER ORDERS, VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 342
BY FAILING TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE ACTIVITIES TO ASSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH RULES FOR MAKING AND PRESERVING TIMELY ORDER
RECORDS SHOWING ALLOCATION OF TRADES TO CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $85,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 492 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/15/1997

Docket/Case Number: C10970186

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 12/15/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON DECEMBER 15, 1997, DISTRICT NO. 10 NOTIFIED RESPONDENT
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED THAT THE
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. C10970186 WAS
ACCEPTED; THEREFORE THE FIRM IS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000 -
(MSRB RULE G-36 - RESPONDENT SERVED AS SOLE OR MANAGING
UNDERWRITER IN PRIMARY OFFERINGS OF MUNICIPAL SECURITIES AND
FAILED TO TIMELY SUBMIT OFFICIAL STATEMENTS AND/OR OTHER
DOCUMENTS TO THE MSRB)

********* $10,000 PAID ON 1/23/98, INVOICE NO. 98-10-19 ****

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 493 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CBOE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/12/1997

Docket/Case Number: 97-SF0001

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEE SUMMARY

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/12/1997

Resolution: Decision
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., AN
EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION, WAS FINED $2,500.

Regulator Statement MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., AN
EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION, WAS FINED $2,500 FOR THE
FOLLOWING CONDUCT.  DURING THE PERIODS INVOLVED, THE
APPLICABLE
POSITION LIMIT IN THE STANDARD & POOR'S 100 STOCK INDEX (OEX)
CLASS OF OPTION CONTRACTS WAS 25,000 CONTRACTS ON THE SAME
SIDE
OF THE MARKET.  ON APRIL 10 AND 11, 1996, MERRILL LYNCH
CONTROLLED A LONG CALL POSITION OF 30,625 OEX OPTION CONTRACTS
IN ONE OF ITS CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS. (CBOE RULES 4.11 AND 24.4(a))

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CBOE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/12/1997

Docket/Case Number: 97-SF0001

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH CONTROLLED A LONG CALL POSITION IN EXCESS OF
APPLICABLE POSITION LIMITS IN VIOLATION OF CBOE RULES 4.11 AND 24.
4(A).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/12/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FINE PAID AS OF 11/12/1997

Firm Statement DURING THE PERIOD INVOLVED, THE APPLICABLE POSITION LIMIT IN THE
S&P STOCK INDEX CLASS OF OPTION CONTRACTS WAS 25,000 ON THE
SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET.  ON APRIL 10 AND 11, 1996, ML CONTROLLED
A LONG CALL POSITION OF 30,625 OPTION CONTRACTS IN ONE OF ITS
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500.00

Decision
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Firm Statement DURING THE PERIOD INVOLVED, THE APPLICABLE POSITION LIMIT IN THE
S&P STOCK INDEX CLASS OF OPTION CONTRACTS WAS 25,000 ON THE
SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET.  ON APRIL 10 AND 11, 1996, ML CONTROLLED
A LONG CALL POSITION OF 30,625 OPTION CONTRACTS IN ONE OF ITS
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS.

Disclosure 494 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: Department of Justice, State of Delaware,
Division *See FAQ #1*

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/27/1997

Docket/Case Number: 95-12-01

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: Between April 1978 and May 1995 John Sailer,
Jr. (CRD #409073) was employed as a broker-dealer agent
(Financial Consultant) at Merrill Lynch's Wilmington, Delaware
branch office. Sailer used his office and his position as a
Merrill Lynch Sales Agent to exploit and steal from elderly
clients, some infirm, enriching himself to the detriment of
those clients. In addition to a request that the Commissioner
take action against Sailer's registration on the basis of
certain felony convictions arising out of the above-described
misconduct, the Securities Division requests that the
Commissioner discipline Mr. Sailer for engaging in dishonest
and unethical conduct in violation of the Delaware Securities
Act. Further, the Division alleges that Merrill Lynch and Mr.
Leckey failed reasonably to supervise Mr. Sailer in violation
of the Delaware Securities Act. Any questions should be
directed to Peter Jamison, Deputy Attorney General at (302)
577-8940.

Current Status: Pending

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered:
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: The hearing date is pending regarding the stated
charges.

Regulator Statement Not Provided

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/27/1997

Docket/Case Number: 95-12-01

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATION OF FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/27/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUPERVISE.  MERRILL
LYNCH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS.  ONCE
MERRILL LYNCH PAID RESTITUTION TOTALING 100,000.00 ON OR BEFORE
MARCH 17, 1998, THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
FILED A NOTICE OF DISMISSAL WITH PREFUDICE OF THE CHARGES
AGAINST MERRILL

Sanction Details: ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUPERVISE.  MERRILL
LYNCH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS.  ONCE
MERRILL LYNCH PAID RESTITUTION TOTALING 100,000.00 ON OR BEFORE
MARCH 17, 1998, THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
FILED A NOTICE OF DISMISSAL WITH PREFUDICE OF THE CHARGES
AGAINST MERRILL

Firm Statement ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUPERVISE.  MERRILL
LYNCH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS.  ONCE
MERRILL LYNCH PAID RESTITUTION TOTALING 100,000.00 ON OR BEFORE
MARCH 17, 1998, THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
FILED A NOTICE OF DISMISSAL WITH PREFUDICE OF THE CHARGES
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Settled
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Firm Statement ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO SUPERVISE.  MERRILL
LYNCH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE ALLEGATIONS.  ONCE
MERRILL LYNCH PAID RESTITUTION TOTALING 100,000.00 ON OR BEFORE
MARCH 17, 1998, THE SECURITIES DIVISION OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
FILED A NOTICE OF DISMISSAL WITH PREFUDICE OF THE CHARGES
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH.

Disclosure 495 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/25/1997

Docket/Case Number: C05970025

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEE NO.13

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/25/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CENSURED

Regulator Statement ON AUGUST 25, 1997, DISTRICT NO. 5 NOTIFIED MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED AND MICHAEL E. ELLIS THAT
THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. C05970025
WAS
ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED AND WILL
UNDERTAKE TO ENFORCE AND MONITOR THE REVISED PROCEDURES,
WHICH
HAVE BEEN DETERMINED TO BE SATISFACTORY BY NASDR, WHICH THE
FIRM HAS IMPLEMENTED (OR SUCH OTHER AMENDED OR REPLACEMENT
PROCEDURES AS MAY BE APPROPRIATE) AND WHICH ARE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO MONITOR PAYMENTS BY MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES
TOWARDS
THE COSTS OF EDUCATIONAL MEETINGS. RESPONDENT ELLIS IS
CENSURED, FINED $35,000, AGREES TO PARTICIPATE IN A COMPLIANCE
CONFERENCE CONDUCTED BY REPRESENTATIVES OF THE DISTRICT
STAFF
AND ATTENDED BY A MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIVE OF RESPONDENT
MEMBER'S COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT, AND AGREES TO UNDERGO
TRAINING
IN A MANNER SATISFACTORY TO NASDR STAFF, SPECIFICALLY DESIGNED
TO ADDRESS HIS SUPERVISION OF THE FIRM'S MUTUAL FUNDS SALES
ACTIVITIES, AS A PORTION OF THE FIRM ELEMENT OF RESPONDENT
MEMBER'S CONTINUING EDUCATION PROGRAM - (NASD RULES 2110 AND
3010 - RESPONDENT ELLIS SOLICITED AND FAILED TO RETURN TO
VARIOUS MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES A TOTAL OF $41,699 REPRESENTING
FUNDS PAID BY THE MUTUAL FUNDS COMPANIES IN EXCESS OF THE
COSTS
OF SPONSORING AN EDUCATIONAL MEETING, DID NOT OBTAIN ADVANCE
WRITTEN APPROVAL FOR THE MEETING IN ACCORDANCE WITH FIRM
PROCEDURES; RETAINED POSSESSION OF $5,000 AS A RESULT OF A
CHECK RECEIVED BY RESPONDENT MEMBER FROM ONE OF THE MUTUAL
FUND
COMPANIES WHICH WAS ERRONEOUSLY DEPOSITED INTO HIS PERSONAL
CASH MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT; AND, RESPONDENT MEMBER DID NOT
PREVENT
A BRANCH OFFICE FROM COLLECTING FUNDS IN EXCESS OF THOSE
REASONABLY ANTICIPATED TO BE ISSUED IN CONNECTION WITH
PROPOSED
MEETINGS, AND DID NOT SEPARATELY IDENTIFY THE FUNDS RECEIVED
FOR THAT PURPOSE).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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ON AUGUST 25, 1997, DISTRICT NO. 5 NOTIFIED MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED AND MICHAEL E. ELLIS THAT
THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. C05970025
WAS
ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED AND WILL
UNDERTAKE TO ENFORCE AND MONITOR THE REVISED PROCEDURES,
WHICH
HAVE BEEN DETERMINED TO BE SATISFACTORY BY NASDR, WHICH THE
FIRM HAS IMPLEMENTED (OR SUCH OTHER AMENDED OR REPLACEMENT
PROCEDURES AS MAY BE APPROPRIATE) AND WHICH ARE REASONABLY
DESIGNED TO MONITOR PAYMENTS BY MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES
TOWARDS
THE COSTS OF EDUCATIONAL MEETINGS. RESPONDENT ELLIS IS
CENSURED, FINED $35,000, AGREES TO PARTICIPATE IN A COMPLIANCE
CONFERENCE CONDUCTED BY REPRESENTATIVES OF THE DISTRICT
STAFF
AND ATTENDED BY A MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIVE OF RESPONDENT
MEMBER'S COMPLIANCE DEPARTMENT, AND AGREES TO UNDERGO
TRAINING
IN A MANNER SATISFACTORY TO NASDR STAFF, SPECIFICALLY DESIGNED
TO ADDRESS HIS SUPERVISION OF THE FIRM'S MUTUAL FUNDS SALES
ACTIVITIES, AS A PORTION OF THE FIRM ELEMENT OF RESPONDENT
MEMBER'S CONTINUING EDUCATION PROGRAM - (NASD RULES 2110 AND
3010 - RESPONDENT ELLIS SOLICITED AND FAILED TO RETURN TO
VARIOUS MUTUAL FUND COMPANIES A TOTAL OF $41,699 REPRESENTING
FUNDS PAID BY THE MUTUAL FUNDS COMPANIES IN EXCESS OF THE
COSTS
OF SPONSORING AN EDUCATIONAL MEETING, DID NOT OBTAIN ADVANCE
WRITTEN APPROVAL FOR THE MEETING IN ACCORDANCE WITH FIRM
PROCEDURES; RETAINED POSSESSION OF $5,000 AS A RESULT OF A
CHECK RECEIVED BY RESPONDENT MEMBER FROM ONE OF THE MUTUAL
FUND
COMPANIES WHICH WAS ERRONEOUSLY DEPOSITED INTO HIS PERSONAL
CASH MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT; AND, RESPONDENT MEMBER DID NOT
PREVENT
A BRANCH OFFICE FROM COLLECTING FUNDS IN EXCESS OF THOSE
REASONABLY ANTICIPATED TO BE ISSUED IN CONNECTION WITH
PROPOSED
MEETINGS, AND DID NOT SEPARATELY IDENTIFY THE FUNDS RECEIVED
FOR THAT PURPOSE).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Date Initiated: 05/01/1997

Docket/Case Number: C00 5970025

Principal Product Type: No Product

Allegations: VIOLATION OF CONDUCT RULE 3010 - FAILED TO (1) PREVENT THE
COLLECTION FUNDS FROM MUTUAL FUND SPONSORS IN EXCESS OF
THOSE REASONABLY AUTHORIZED TO BE USED IN CONNECTION WITH
PROPOSED EDUCATIONAL MEETINGS IN ITS MISSISSIPPI COMPLEX AND
(2) SEPARATELY IDENTIFY SUCH FUNDS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 08/26/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM WILL UNDERTAKE TO ENFORCE AND MONITOR THE REVISED
PROCEDURES WHICH IT HAD IMPLEMENTED AND DESIGNED TO THE
SATISFACTION OF THE NASD.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Consent

Disclosure 496 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CBOE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/11/1997

Docket/Case Number: 97-0018

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEE SUMMARY

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/11/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: $7,000 FINE

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $7,000.00

Decision
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Sanction Details: $7,000 FINE

Regulator Statement MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH, INC.,
AN EXCHANGE MEMBER ORGANIZATION, WAS FINED IN THE AMOUNT OF
$7,000 FOR EXCEEDING THE EXCHANGE'S POSITION LIMIT IN THE
ENVIRONMENTAL INDEX (EVX) CLASS OF OPTION CONTRACTS ON ONE
TRADE DATE. (CBOE RULES 4.11 AND 24.4(a))

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CBOE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/11/1997

Docket/Case Number: 97-0018

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: EXCEEDING THE EXCHANGE'S POSITION LIMIT IN THE ENVIRONMENTAL
INDEX CLASS OF OPTION CONTRACTS ON ONE TRADE DATE - CBOE
RULES 4.11 AND 24.4(A).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/11/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FINE PAID AS OF 08/11/1997

Firm Statement EXCEEDING THE EXCHANGE'S POSITION LIMIT IN THE ENVIRONMENTAL
INDEX CLASS OF OPTION CONTRACTS ON ONE TRADE DATE - CBOE
RULES 4.11 AND 24.4(A).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $7,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 497 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/23/1997

Docket/Case Number: CMS960093 AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Resolution Date: 04/23/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER & CONSENT NO. CMS960093 AWC.

ON APRIL 23, 1997, MERRILL LYNCH, PEIRCE, FENNER & SMITH INC.
(MLCO) WAS NOTIFIED THAT THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT (AWC) IT SUBMITTED WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET
REGULATION AND THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEES. THE
AWC ALLEGES THAT MLCO VIOLATED MARKETPLACE RULE 4613(d) FOR
ENTERING QUOTATIONS IN NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM
SECURITIES
THAT EXCEEDED THE PARAMETERS FOR MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE SPREADS
IN
THIRTEEN SECURITIES.

MLCO WAS FINED $1,000.

***$1,000.00 PAID ON 6/2/97, INVOICE #97-MS-393***

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 498 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/13/1997

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Resolution Date: 06/13/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. CMS960092 AWC.

ON JUNE 13, 1997, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.
(MLCO) WAS NOTIFIED THAT THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER &
CONSENT (AWC) IT SUBMITTED WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET
REGULATION AND THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEES.  THE
AWC ALLEGES THAT MLCO VIOLATED CONDUCT RULE 2860(b)(5)(A) FOR
FAILING TO FILE CONVENTIONAL OPTION POSITION REPORTS FOR ITS
CUSTOMERS AND/OR PROPRIETARY ACCOUNTS.  MLCO EXECUTED 45
TRANSACTIONS OF 200 CONTRACTS OR MORE DURING THE PERIOD
FROM
JANUARY 1994 TO DECEMBER 1995.

MLCO WAS CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.

**$10,000 PAID ON 7/14/97, INVOICE # 97-MS-541**

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FIRM FAILED TO FILE OPTION POSITION REPORTS FOR CONVENTIONAL
OVER THE COUNTER OPTION POSITIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 04/21/1997

Docket/Case Number: CMS 960092 AWC

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM FAILED TO FILE OPTION POSITION REPORTS FOR CONVENTIONAL
OVER THE COUNTER OPTION POSITIONS.

Resolution Date: 06/13/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CONSENT TO CENSURE AND FINE WAS ACCEPTED BY NASD.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 499 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/23/1997

Docket/Case Number: CMS960189

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
1101©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 04/23/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER & CONSENT NO. CMS960189 AWC.

ON APRIL 23, 1997, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC.
(MLCO) WAS NOTIFIED THAT THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT (AWC) IT SUBMITTED WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET
REGULATION AND THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEES.  THE
AWC ALLEGES THAT MLCO VIOLATED MARKETPLACE RULE 4613(d) FOR
ENTERING QUOTATIONS IN NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM
SECURITIES
THAT EXCEEDED THE PARAMETERS FOR THE MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE
SPREADS
IN TWO SECURITIES.

MLCO WAS FINED $5,000.

***$5,000.00 PAID ON 6/2/97, INVOICE #97-MS-422***

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/06/1996

Docket/Case Number: CMS 960189 AWC

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM ENTERED QUOTATIONS IN THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET SECURITIES
THAT EXCEEDED THE PARAMETERS FOR MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE SPREADS
PURSUANT TO MARKETPLACE RULE 4613 (D).

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 04/23/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM AGREED TO A FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 500 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/04/1997

Docket/Case Number: C8A970014

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULES 2110, 3010, AND 3050(C)

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/10/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $5,000, AND REQUIRED TO PROVIDE
EVIDENCE OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE UNDERTAKINGS DESCRIBED.

Regulator Statement [TOP] COMPLAINT NO. C8A970014 FILED 04/04/1997 BY DISTRICT NO. 8
AGAINST RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (THE FIRM); JAMES R. GUNN, WILLIAM S. MACKAY, AND
CARRIE L. STINE ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULES 2110, 3010, AND
3050(C) IN THAT GUNN PURCHASED SHARES OF STOCK, AND MACKAY
SOLD TO GUNN SHARES OF STOCK, THAT TRADED AT A PREMIUM IN THE
IMMEDIATE AFTERMARKET, IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE BOARD OF
GOVENORS' INTERPRETATION ON FREE-RIDING AND WITHHOLDING; GUNN
OPENED AND MAINTAINED SECURITIES ACCOUNTS WITH HIS MEMBER
FIRMS AND FAILED AND NEGLECTED TO GIVE ORAL NOTICE TO THE FIRMS
THAT HE WAS REGISTERED WITH HIS MEMBER FIRMS AND FAILED TO GIVE
WRITTEN NOTICE TO HIS MEMBER FIRM THAT HE HAD OPENED THE
ACCOUNT; AND THE FIRM, THROUGH STEIN, FAILED TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN AND/OR ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
AND/OR FAILED TO OTHERWISE PROPERLY SUPERVISE MACKAY TO
PREVENT THE OCCURRENCE OF SUCH VIOLATIONS. ON 12/10/1998, THE
DECISION AND ORDER OF ACCEPTANCE OF OFFER OF SETTLEMENT
SUBMITTED BY THE FIRM, MACKAY AND STINE WAS ISSUED; THEREFORE,
THE ALLEGATIONS AGAINST MACKAY AND STINE CONTAINED IN THE
COMPLAINT ARE DISMISSED; THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $5,000, AND
REQUIRED TO PROVIDE EVIDENCE OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE
UNDERTAKINGS DESCRIBED BELOW: THE FIRM WILL SEND A WRITTEN
STATEMENT TO ALL FINANCIAL CONSULTANTS REMINDING SUCH
PERSONNEL OF THE NASD'S FREE-RIDING AND WITHHOLDING
PROVISIONS, AND INCLUDE REFERENCE TO THE UNDERLYING FACTS OF
THIS MATTER AND ITS RESOLUTION. THE REMINDER WILL SUGGEST THAT
WHENEVER INFORMATION INDICATES A CLIENT MAY BE AFFILIATED WITH
THE INSURANCE INDUSTRY, FINANCIAL CONSULTANTS SHOULD
UNDERTAKE A FURTHER INQUIRY (E.G., THE SPECIFIC POSITION OF THE
CLIENT IN THE INSURANCE INDUSTRY AND WHETHER THE INDIVIDUAL IS A
REGISTERED PERSON OR OTHERWISE AFFILIATED WITH AN NASD
MEMBER) TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE CUSTOMER SHOULD BE
DEEMED RESTRICTED UNDER THE NASD'S FREE-RIDING AND
WITHHOLDING GUIDELINES. 05-10-99, $5,000 PAID.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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[TOP] COMPLAINT NO. C8A970014 FILED 04/04/1997 BY DISTRICT NO. 8
AGAINST RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED (THE FIRM); JAMES R. GUNN, WILLIAM S. MACKAY, AND
CARRIE L. STINE ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF NASD RULES 2110, 3010, AND
3050(C) IN THAT GUNN PURCHASED SHARES OF STOCK, AND MACKAY
SOLD TO GUNN SHARES OF STOCK, THAT TRADED AT A PREMIUM IN THE
IMMEDIATE AFTERMARKET, IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE BOARD OF
GOVENORS' INTERPRETATION ON FREE-RIDING AND WITHHOLDING; GUNN
OPENED AND MAINTAINED SECURITIES ACCOUNTS WITH HIS MEMBER
FIRMS AND FAILED AND NEGLECTED TO GIVE ORAL NOTICE TO THE FIRMS
THAT HE WAS REGISTERED WITH HIS MEMBER FIRMS AND FAILED TO GIVE
WRITTEN NOTICE TO HIS MEMBER FIRM THAT HE HAD OPENED THE
ACCOUNT; AND THE FIRM, THROUGH STEIN, FAILED TO ESTABLISH,
MAINTAIN AND/OR ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
AND/OR FAILED TO OTHERWISE PROPERLY SUPERVISE MACKAY TO
PREVENT THE OCCURRENCE OF SUCH VIOLATIONS. ON 12/10/1998, THE
DECISION AND ORDER OF ACCEPTANCE OF OFFER OF SETTLEMENT
SUBMITTED BY THE FIRM, MACKAY AND STINE WAS ISSUED; THEREFORE,
THE ALLEGATIONS AGAINST MACKAY AND STINE CONTAINED IN THE
COMPLAINT ARE DISMISSED; THE FIRM IS CENSURED, FINED $5,000, AND
REQUIRED TO PROVIDE EVIDENCE OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE
UNDERTAKINGS DESCRIBED BELOW: THE FIRM WILL SEND A WRITTEN
STATEMENT TO ALL FINANCIAL CONSULTANTS REMINDING SUCH
PERSONNEL OF THE NASD'S FREE-RIDING AND WITHHOLDING
PROVISIONS, AND INCLUDE REFERENCE TO THE UNDERLYING FACTS OF
THIS MATTER AND ITS RESOLUTION. THE REMINDER WILL SUGGEST THAT
WHENEVER INFORMATION INDICATES A CLIENT MAY BE AFFILIATED WITH
THE INSURANCE INDUSTRY, FINANCIAL CONSULTANTS SHOULD
UNDERTAKE A FURTHER INQUIRY (E.G., THE SPECIFIC POSITION OF THE
CLIENT IN THE INSURANCE INDUSTRY AND WHETHER THE INDIVIDUAL IS A
REGISTERED PERSON OR OTHERWISE AFFILIATED WITH AN NASD
MEMBER) TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE CUSTOMER SHOULD BE
DEEMED RESTRICTED UNDER THE NASD'S FREE-RIDING AND
WITHHOLDING GUIDELINES. 05-10-99, $5,000 PAID.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: VIOLATED AND FAILED TO SUPERVISE REGARDING RULES 2110 & 3010 IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF 100 SHARES OF A HOT ISSUE TO A
RESTRICTED PERSON.

CTED CUSTOMER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 04/04/1997

Docket/Case Number: C8A970014

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s): OPTIONS

VIOLATED AND FAILED TO SUPERVISE REGARDING RULES 2110 & 3010 IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF 100 SHARES OF A HOT ISSUE TO A
RESTRICTED PERSON.

CTED CUSTOMER.

Resolution Date: 12/10/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CENSURED, FINED $5,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

1105©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sanction Details: CENSURED, FINED $5,000.

Disclosure 501 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/09/1996

Docket/Case Number: C10960175

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/09/1996

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON DECEMBER 9, 1996, DISTRICT NO. 10 NOTIFIED MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED THAT THE LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAVIER AND CONSENT NO. C10960175 WAS ACCEPTED;
THEREFORE, RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED; FINED $20,000;
WITHIN
180 DAYS OF THE EXECUTION OF THIS AWC, RESPONDENT MEMBER
AGREES
TO REVIEW ALL JOB CLASSIFICATIONS TO IDENTIFY ANY INDIVIDUAL
WHO HAS NOT OBTAINED THE APPRORPRIATE NASD REGISTRATIONS,
AND
TO CAUSE TO BE REGISTERED ANY INDIVIDUALS FOUND, AS A RESULT OF
THIS REVIEW, TO LACK THE APPROPRIATE REGISTRATIONS, OR TO
CHANGE THOSE INDIVIDUALS' DUTIES TO THOSE FOR WHICH THEY ARE
REGISTERED; ON AN ONGOING BASIS, RESPONDENT MEMBER WILL HAVE
WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO ENABLE THE MEMBER TO IDENTIFY
ALL EMPLOYEES REQUIRED TO BE NASD REGISTERED INCLUDING THOSE
EMPLOYEES WHO OBTAIN SUCH POSITIONS AS A RESULT OF A
PROMOTION
AND/OR AN INTER-DEPARTMENT TRANSFER. A REVIEW WILL ALSO BE
CONDUCTED, AT LEAST QUARTERLY, TO ENSURE THAT THESE
PROCEDURES
ARE BEING ENFORCED, AND A WRITTEN REPORT OF THE REVIEW WILL BE
PREPARED AND MAINTAINED; AND, RESPONDENT MEMBER WILL
DISSEMINATE TO ITS EMPLOYEES, NO LATER THAN 30 DAYS FROM THE
DATE OF THIS AWC, A MEMORANDUM REMINDING ALL EMPLOYEES OF
THEIR
OBLIGATIONS TO BECOME REGISTERED PURSUANT TO THE NASD RULES -
(NASD RULES 2110 AND 3010 - RESPONDENT MEMBER PERMITTED TEN
OFFICERS TO ACT IN THE CAPACITY OF A GENERAL SECURITIES
PRINCIPAL AND/OR REPRESENTATIVE WITHOUT THE APPROPRIATE
REGISTRATION; AND, FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND FAILED TO ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF INDIVIDUALS ACTING IN THE
CAPACITY OF A GENERAL SECURITES PRINCIPAL).

**$20,000.00 PAID ON 12/31/96, INVOICE #96-10-926**

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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ON DECEMBER 9, 1996, DISTRICT NO. 10 NOTIFIED MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED THAT THE LETTER OF
ACCEPTANCE, WAVIER AND CONSENT NO. C10960175 WAS ACCEPTED;
THEREFORE, RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED; FINED $20,000;
WITHIN
180 DAYS OF THE EXECUTION OF THIS AWC, RESPONDENT MEMBER
AGREES
TO REVIEW ALL JOB CLASSIFICATIONS TO IDENTIFY ANY INDIVIDUAL
WHO HAS NOT OBTAINED THE APPRORPRIATE NASD REGISTRATIONS,
AND
TO CAUSE TO BE REGISTERED ANY INDIVIDUALS FOUND, AS A RESULT OF
THIS REVIEW, TO LACK THE APPROPRIATE REGISTRATIONS, OR TO
CHANGE THOSE INDIVIDUALS' DUTIES TO THOSE FOR WHICH THEY ARE
REGISTERED; ON AN ONGOING BASIS, RESPONDENT MEMBER WILL HAVE
WRITTEN PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO ENABLE THE MEMBER TO IDENTIFY
ALL EMPLOYEES REQUIRED TO BE NASD REGISTERED INCLUDING THOSE
EMPLOYEES WHO OBTAIN SUCH POSITIONS AS A RESULT OF A
PROMOTION
AND/OR AN INTER-DEPARTMENT TRANSFER. A REVIEW WILL ALSO BE
CONDUCTED, AT LEAST QUARTERLY, TO ENSURE THAT THESE
PROCEDURES
ARE BEING ENFORCED, AND A WRITTEN REPORT OF THE REVIEW WILL BE
PREPARED AND MAINTAINED; AND, RESPONDENT MEMBER WILL
DISSEMINATE TO ITS EMPLOYEES, NO LATER THAN 30 DAYS FROM THE
DATE OF THIS AWC, A MEMORANDUM REMINDING ALL EMPLOYEES OF
THEIR
OBLIGATIONS TO BECOME REGISTERED PURSUANT TO THE NASD RULES -
(NASD RULES 2110 AND 3010 - RESPONDENT MEMBER PERMITTED TEN
OFFICERS TO ACT IN THE CAPACITY OF A GENERAL SECURITIES
PRINCIPAL AND/OR REPRESENTATIVE WITHOUT THE APPROPRIATE
REGISTRATION; AND, FAILED TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE
WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND FAILED TO ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE THE REGISTRATION STATUS OF INDIVIDUALS ACTING IN THE
CAPACITY OF A GENERAL SECURITES PRINCIPAL).

**$20,000.00 PAID ON 12/31/96, INVOICE #96-10-926**

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 09/11/1996

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF CONDUCT RULES - SEC. 2110 - FIRM PERMITTED TEN
OFFICERS TO ACT IN THE CAPACITY OF A GENERAL SECURITIES
PRINCIPAL; AND/OR REPRESENTATIVE WITHOUT APPROPRIATE
REGISTRATIONS. SEC. 3010 - FAILING TO ESTABLISH, MAINTAIN AND
ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES AND ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE REGISTRATION STATUS OF THOSE ACTING IN THE CAPACITY
OF A GENERAL SECURITIES PRINCIPAL.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 09/11/1996

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: NASD IMPOSED A FINE AND A CENSURE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 502 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/15/1996

Docket/Case Number: CMS960024

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/15/1996

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. CMS960024

ON JULY 15, 1996, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMIHT, INC.
(MLCO) WAS NOTIFIED THAT THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT IT SUBMITTED WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE
AND THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEES.  UNDER THE AWC
MLCO IS ALLEGEDLY IN VIOLATION OF SEC RULE 10b-6A IN THAT ON
THREE OCCASIONS, MLCO ENTERED BIDS WHICH WERE ABOVE THE
LEVEL
OF THE HIGHEST INDEPENDENT MARKET MAKERS' BID.  MLCO IS ALSO
ALLEGEDLY IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 27 OF THE
ASSOCIATION'S RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE FOR FAILING TO ENFORCE
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE VIOLATIONS DESCRIBED
ABOVE. MLCO IS FINED $1,000.   THE AWC BECOMES FINAL ON JULY
15, 1996.

***$1,000.00 PAID ON 09/17/96, INVOICE #96-MS-552***

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. CMS960024

ON JULY 15, 1996, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMIHT, INC.
(MLCO) WAS NOTIFIED THAT THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT IT SUBMITTED WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE
AND THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEES.  UNDER THE AWC
MLCO IS ALLEGEDLY IN VIOLATION OF SEC RULE 10b-6A IN THAT ON
THREE OCCASIONS, MLCO ENTERED BIDS WHICH WERE ABOVE THE
LEVEL
OF THE HIGHEST INDEPENDENT MARKET MAKERS' BID.  MLCO IS ALSO
ALLEGEDLY IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 27 OF THE
ASSOCIATION'S RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE FOR FAILING TO ENFORCE
SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE VIOLATIONS DESCRIBED
ABOVE. MLCO IS FINED $1,000.   THE AWC BECOMES FINAL ON JULY
15, 1996.

***$1,000.00 PAID ON 09/17/96, INVOICE #96-MS-552***

Disclosure 503 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/01/1996

Docket/Case Number: CMS950200

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/01/1996

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. CMS950200 AWC

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) SUBMITTED BY
MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. (MLCO) AND
ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE AND THE NATIONAL BUSINESS
CONDUCT COMMITTEES ON JULY 1, 1996 WHEREIN MLCO IS ALLEGEDLY IN
VIOLATION OF PART IV, a)2(A) OF THE FIXED INCOME PRICING SYSTEM
(FIPS) RULES FOR FAILING TO REPORT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS WITHIN
FIVE MINUTES OF EXECUTION.

MLCO IS HEREBY FINED $1,000.  THE AWC BECAME FINAL ON JULY 1,
1996.

***$1,000.00 PAID ON 08/27/96, INVOICE #96-MS-649***

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. CMS950200 AWC

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) SUBMITTED BY
MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. (MLCO) AND
ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE AND THE NATIONAL BUSINESS
CONDUCT COMMITTEES ON JULY 1, 1996 WHEREIN MLCO IS ALLEGEDLY IN
VIOLATION OF PART IV, a)2(A) OF THE FIXED INCOME PRICING SYSTEM
(FIPS) RULES FOR FAILING TO REPORT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS WITHIN
FIVE MINUTES OF EXECUTION.

MLCO IS HEREBY FINED $1,000.  THE AWC BECAME FINAL ON JULY 1,
1996.

***$1,000.00 PAID ON 08/27/96, INVOICE #96-MS-649***

Disclosure 504 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/26/1995

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/26/1995

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 11-12-95-SEC NEWS DIGEST ISSUE NO. 95-208, DATED OCTOBER 27,
1995 ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS DISCLOSES; "COMMISSION
SANCTIONS
LAZARD FRERES AND MERRILL LYNCH."   THE COMMISSION ANNOUNCED
TODAY THAT LAZARD FRERES & CO. LLC. (LAZARD) AND MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MERRILL) CONSENTED,
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, TO A COMMISSION
ORDER REQUIRING THEM TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATIONS OF
MSRB RULE G-17. LAZARD AND MERRILL WERE EACH ORDERED TO PAY A
PENALTY OF $2.5 MILLION AND TO MAINTAIN CERTAIN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES. LAZARD AND MERRILL WERE ORDERED TO PAY
RESTITUTION
OF $3.92 MILLION AND $3.8 MILLION RESPECTIVELY. THE COMMISSION
FOUND THAT IN 1990, LAZARD AND MERRILL ENTERED INTO A CONTRACT
WHICH PROVIDED THAT MERRILL AND LAZARD WOULD WORK TOGETHER
CONCERNING INTEREST RATE SWAPS WITH MUNICIPAL ISSUERS. TWO OF
LAZARD'S FINANCIAL ADVISORY CLIENTS THAT WERE SERVICED BY A
FORMER PARTNER OF LAZARD, THE MASACHUSETTS WATER RESOURCES
AUTHORITY (MWRA) AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA (DISTRICT), WERE
NOT FULLY INFORMED OF THE CONTRACT AND OTHER FACTS AT THE TIME
THEY EVALUATED THE ADVICE OF THE FORMER PARTNER CONCERNING
THE
SELECTION OF MERRILL TO PROVIDE CERTAIN FINANCIAL SERVICES.
CONSEQUENTLY, THE CONTRACT CREATED AT LEAST A POTENTIAL
CONFLICT OF INTEREST FOR LAZARD THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN
DISCLOSED
TO THE MWRA AN D D.C. MERRILL FAILED TO ADEQUATE STEPS TO
ENSURE THAT THE CONTRACT AND OTHER FACTS WERE FULLY
DISCLOSED
TO THE MWRA AND THE DISTRICT. THE COMMISSION IS DEFERRING THE
FILING OF FURTHER CIVIL PROCEEDINGS AT THE PERSENT TIME IN VIEW
OF THE PENDENCY OF A CRIMINAL PROCEEDING. REL.34-36419

+04/01/97+ SEC DOCKET, VOLUME 60, NO. 10, DATED NOVEMBER 21,
1995, PAGE 1698, DISCLOSES; THE ORDER CONTAINING THE CEASE AND
DESIST ORDER AGAINST RESPONDENT IS DATED OCTOBER 26, 1995.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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11-12-95-SEC NEWS DIGEST ISSUE NO. 95-208, DATED OCTOBER 27,
1995 ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS DISCLOSES; "COMMISSION
SANCTIONS
LAZARD FRERES AND MERRILL LYNCH."   THE COMMISSION ANNOUNCED
TODAY THAT LAZARD FRERES & CO. LLC. (LAZARD) AND MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED (MERRILL) CONSENTED,
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, TO A COMMISSION
ORDER REQUIRING THEM TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATIONS OF
MSRB RULE G-17. LAZARD AND MERRILL WERE EACH ORDERED TO PAY A
PENALTY OF $2.5 MILLION AND TO MAINTAIN CERTAIN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES. LAZARD AND MERRILL WERE ORDERED TO PAY
RESTITUTION
OF $3.92 MILLION AND $3.8 MILLION RESPECTIVELY. THE COMMISSION
FOUND THAT IN 1990, LAZARD AND MERRILL ENTERED INTO A CONTRACT
WHICH PROVIDED THAT MERRILL AND LAZARD WOULD WORK TOGETHER
CONCERNING INTEREST RATE SWAPS WITH MUNICIPAL ISSUERS. TWO OF
LAZARD'S FINANCIAL ADVISORY CLIENTS THAT WERE SERVICED BY A
FORMER PARTNER OF LAZARD, THE MASACHUSETTS WATER RESOURCES
AUTHORITY (MWRA) AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA (DISTRICT), WERE
NOT FULLY INFORMED OF THE CONTRACT AND OTHER FACTS AT THE TIME
THEY EVALUATED THE ADVICE OF THE FORMER PARTNER CONCERNING
THE
SELECTION OF MERRILL TO PROVIDE CERTAIN FINANCIAL SERVICES.
CONSEQUENTLY, THE CONTRACT CREATED AT LEAST A POTENTIAL
CONFLICT OF INTEREST FOR LAZARD THAT SHOULD HAVE BEEN
DISCLOSED
TO THE MWRA AN D D.C. MERRILL FAILED TO ADEQUATE STEPS TO
ENSURE THAT THE CONTRACT AND OTHER FACTS WERE FULLY
DISCLOSED
TO THE MWRA AND THE DISTRICT. THE COMMISSION IS DEFERRING THE
FILING OF FURTHER CIVIL PROCEEDINGS AT THE PERSENT TIME IN VIEW
OF THE PENDENCY OF A CRIMINAL PROCEEDING. REL.34-36419

+04/01/97+ SEC DOCKET, VOLUME 60, NO. 10, DATED NOVEMBER 21,
1995, PAGE 1698, DISCLOSES; THE ORDER CONTAINING THE CEASE AND
DESIST ORDER AGAINST RESPONDENT IS DATED OCTOBER 26, 1995.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 10/26/1995

Docket/Case Number:

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS THAT LAZARD AND MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO FULLY
INFORM MUNICIPAL ISSUERS OF THEIR CONTRACT REGARDING INTEREST
RATE SWAPS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

MONETARY, DISGORGEMENT/RESTITUTION

Principal Product Type: Debt - Municipal

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/26/1995

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH AND LAZARD CONSENTED WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING ALLEGATIONS THAT THEY ENTERED INTO A CONTRACT
REGARDING INTEREST RATE SWAPS, AND DID NOT FULLY INFORM THE
MUNICIPAL ISSUERS OF THE CONTRACT.  $3,800,000.00 PAID IN
RESTITUTION ON OR BEFORE OCTOBER 26, 1995.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 505 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/18/1995

Docket/Case Number: CMS940118

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Pending

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT NO. CMS940118

THIS COMPLAINT WAS FILED ON AUGUST 18, 1995 BY THE MARKET
SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE (MSC) AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH, INC. (MLCO), MEMBER, (CRD NO. 7691).

THE COMPLAINT CONTAINS SEVEN CAUSES OF COMPLAINT.  EACH CAUSE
ALLEGES  A FAILURE TO EXECUTE A SELECTNET ORDER IN VIOLATION OF
RULE 11Ac1-1(c) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, PART V,
SECTION 2(b) OF SCHEDULE D TO THE ASSOCIATION'S BY-LAWS AND
ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 6 OF THE ASSOCIATION'S RULES OF
FAIR PRACTICE (RFP) BY MLCO.

EACH CAUSE OF COMPLAINT IS THE RESULT OF A FILING OF A REPORT
OF "BACKING AWAY" AGAINST MLCO DURING THE PERIOD APRIL 19, 1994
THROUGH AUGUST 30, 1994.  IN ALL BUT THE SECOND CAUSE OF
COMPLAINT, THE ALLEGED BACKING AWAY WAS FILED BY DATEK
SECURITIES CORP. (DATK).  IN THE SECOND CAUSE, THE ALLEGED
BACKING AWAY WAS FILED BY ALL-TECH INVESTMENT GROUP, INC.
(ALST).
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Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT NO. CMS940118

THIS COMPLAINT WAS FILED ON AUGUST 18, 1995 BY THE MARKET
SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE (MSC) AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH, INC. (MLCO), MEMBER, (CRD NO. 7691).

THE COMPLAINT CONTAINS SEVEN CAUSES OF COMPLAINT.  EACH CAUSE
ALLEGES  A FAILURE TO EXECUTE A SELECTNET ORDER IN VIOLATION OF
RULE 11Ac1-1(c) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, PART V,
SECTION 2(b) OF SCHEDULE D TO THE ASSOCIATION'S BY-LAWS AND
ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 6 OF THE ASSOCIATION'S RULES OF
FAIR PRACTICE (RFP) BY MLCO.

EACH CAUSE OF COMPLAINT IS THE RESULT OF A FILING OF A REPORT
OF "BACKING AWAY" AGAINST MLCO DURING THE PERIOD APRIL 19, 1994
THROUGH AUGUST 30, 1994.  IN ALL BUT THE SECOND CAUSE OF
COMPLAINT, THE ALLEGED BACKING AWAY WAS FILED BY DATEK
SECURITIES CORP. (DATK).  IN THE SECOND CAUSE, THE ALLEGED
BACKING AWAY WAS FILED BY ALL-TECH INVESTMENT GROUP, INC.
(ALST).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/18/1995

Docket/Case Number: CMS940118; AWC NO. CMS990035

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF THE FIRM QUOTE RULE AND RELATED
SUPERVISORY REQUIREMENTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/29/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE MATTER WAS SETTLED WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
VIOLATIONS.  THERE WERE NO ALLEGATIONS THAT THE VIOLATIONS
WERE INTENTIONAL.

Disclosure 506 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NYSE HEARING PANEL

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/25/1992

Docket/Case Number: HPD # 93-29

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: Not Provided

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/02/1994

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: JUNE 2, 1994 -- DECISION ISSUED BY THE NYSE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS -- FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING AND WITHOUT THE FIRM ADMITTING OR
DENYING ANY OF THE FACTS SET FORTH THEREIN, THE DIVISION AND
THE FIRM HEREBY REQUEST THE BOARD TO INCORPORATE THE
CONTENT OF
HEARING PANEL DECISION #93-29 EXCEPT FOR THE ENTIRE SUMMARY
HEADNOTE ON PAGE ONE THEREOF AND THE THIRD PARAGRAPH ON
PAGE 9
(PENALTY SECTION) THEREOF IN THE BOARD'S DECISION RESOLVING THE
DIVISION'S AND THE FIRM'S REQUESTS FOR REVIEW. WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS OR FINDINGS SET FORTH HEREIN,
THE FIRM CONSENTS TO:  (1) THE BOARD INCORPORATING IN ITS
DECISION FINDINGS THAT THE FI RM, DURING THE PERIOD 1985
THROUGH SEPTEMBER 1988:  a. VIOLATED REGULATION 240.17a-3
PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (THE
"ACT") IN THAT IT MAINTAINED INACCURATE ACCOUNT STATEMENTS; AND
b. VIOLATED REGULATION 240.10b-10 PROMULGATED UNDER THE ACT IN
THAT IT FAILED TO CONFIRM TO ITS CUSTOMERS CERTAIN
TRANSACTIONS
WHICH HAD TAKEN PLACE.  (2) THE IMPOSITION BY THE BOARD OF THE
PENALTY OF A CENSURE AND A FINE OF $90,000 AND THE REQUIREMENTS
THAT THE FIRM:  a. COMPLY WITH ITS VOLUNTARY UNDERTAKINGS AS
SET FORTH BELOW:  i. TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE TO
THOSE CUSTOMERS WHO DID NOT TAKE ADVANTAGE OF THE MORE
VALUABLE
CONVERSION OPPORTUNITY (THE "CUSTOMERS") ALL PROFITS
GENERATED
BY THESE FORMER CONVERSION PRACTICES TOGETHER WITH INTEREST
FROM THE DATES OF THE GENERATION OF THE PROFITS. ii. TO PAY TO
THE SECURITIES INVESTORS PROTECTION CORPORATION OR TO SUCH
OTHER ORGANIZATION FOR THE BENEFIT OF INVESTORS WHICH IS
ACCEPTABLE TO THE EXCHANGE ALL SUMS OTHERWISE PAYABLE TO
THOSE
CUSTOMERS WHOM THE FIRM CANNOT LOCATE DESPITE ITS BEST
EFFORTS.
 iii. TO MAKE ALL SUCH PAYMENTS ON OR BEFORE SIX MONTHS
FOLLOWING THE ISSUANCE OF THE BOARD'S DECISION IN THIS MATTER;
b. CAUSE ITS OUTSIDE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS (THE "AUDITORS") TO
CONDUCT A REVIEW OF TH*See FAQ #1*

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Stipulation and Consent
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JUNE 2, 1994 -- DECISION ISSUED BY THE NYSE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS -- FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING AND WITHOUT THE FIRM ADMITTING OR
DENYING ANY OF THE FACTS SET FORTH THEREIN, THE DIVISION AND
THE FIRM HEREBY REQUEST THE BOARD TO INCORPORATE THE
CONTENT OF
HEARING PANEL DECISION #93-29 EXCEPT FOR THE ENTIRE SUMMARY
HEADNOTE ON PAGE ONE THEREOF AND THE THIRD PARAGRAPH ON
PAGE 9
(PENALTY SECTION) THEREOF IN THE BOARD'S DECISION RESOLVING THE
DIVISION'S AND THE FIRM'S REQUESTS FOR REVIEW. WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS OR FINDINGS SET FORTH HEREIN,
THE FIRM CONSENTS TO:  (1) THE BOARD INCORPORATING IN ITS
DECISION FINDINGS THAT THE FI RM, DURING THE PERIOD 1985
THROUGH SEPTEMBER 1988:  a. VIOLATED REGULATION 240.17a-3
PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (THE
"ACT") IN THAT IT MAINTAINED INACCURATE ACCOUNT STATEMENTS; AND
b. VIOLATED REGULATION 240.10b-10 PROMULGATED UNDER THE ACT IN
THAT IT FAILED TO CONFIRM TO ITS CUSTOMERS CERTAIN
TRANSACTIONS
WHICH HAD TAKEN PLACE.  (2) THE IMPOSITION BY THE BOARD OF THE
PENALTY OF A CENSURE AND A FINE OF $90,000 AND THE REQUIREMENTS
THAT THE FIRM:  a. COMPLY WITH ITS VOLUNTARY UNDERTAKINGS AS
SET FORTH BELOW:  i. TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE TO
THOSE CUSTOMERS WHO DID NOT TAKE ADVANTAGE OF THE MORE
VALUABLE
CONVERSION OPPORTUNITY (THE "CUSTOMERS") ALL PROFITS
GENERATED
BY THESE FORMER CONVERSION PRACTICES TOGETHER WITH INTEREST
FROM THE DATES OF THE GENERATION OF THE PROFITS. ii. TO PAY TO
THE SECURITIES INVESTORS PROTECTION CORPORATION OR TO SUCH
OTHER ORGANIZATION FOR THE BENEFIT OF INVESTORS WHICH IS
ACCEPTABLE TO THE EXCHANGE ALL SUMS OTHERWISE PAYABLE TO
THOSE
CUSTOMERS WHOM THE FIRM CANNOT LOCATE DESPITE ITS BEST
EFFORTS.
 iii. TO MAKE ALL SUCH PAYMENTS ON OR BEFORE SIX MONTHS
FOLLOWING THE ISSUANCE OF THE BOARD'S DECISION IN THIS MATTER;
b. CAUSE ITS OUTSIDE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS (THE "AUDITORS") TO
CONDUCT A REVIEW OF TH*See FAQ #1*

Regulator Statement THE DECISION IS FINAL. CONTACT: PEGGY GERMINO --
(212) 656-8450.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 05/25/1992

Docket/Case Number: HPD # 93-29

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT MAINTAIN ACCURATE
ACCOUNT STATEMENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/02/1994

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement THE BOARD FOUND THAT THE FIRM DURING THE PERIOD OF 1985 -
SEPTEMBER, 1988 FAILED TO CONFIRM TO ITS CUSTOMERS CERTAIN
TRANSACTIONS WHICH HAD TAKEN PLACE.  FIRM WAS FINED $90,000.00
TO BE PAID ON OR BEFORE DECEMBER 2, 1994.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 507 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/04/1993

Docket/Case Number: C06930003

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/04/1993

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

1116©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON OCTOBER 4, 1993, DISTRICT NO. 6 NOTIFIED MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. THAT THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE,
WAIVER AND CONSENT NO. C06930003 WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE,
RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,000 - (ARTICLE III,
SECTION 1 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE AND MSRB RULE
G-15(a)(v) - RESPONDENT MEMBER FAILED TO DISCLOSE THAT CERTAIN
BONDS PURCHASED BY PUBLIC CUSTOMERS COULD BE CALLED AT
SUBSTANTIAL DISCOUNTS TO PAR).

**$2,000.00 PAID ON 12/28/93 INVOICE #93-06-836**

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Disclosure 508 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/22/1993

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/22/1993

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement +5/6/93+ SEC NEWS DIGEST, ISSUE 93-76, DATED APRIL 22, 1993
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS DISCLOSES; "ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDINGS INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INC. TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING RULE 22c-1 OF THE
INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940. SIMULTANEOUSLY, THE
COMMISSION
ACCEPTED MERRILL LYNCH'S OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, IN WHICH MERRILL
LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ORDER, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
THE
COMMISSION'S FINDINGS. ON THE BASIS OF THE ORDER AND OFFER, THE
COMMISSION FOUND THAT, FROM APPROXIMATELY 1972 THROUGH 1987,
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED RULE 22c-1 BY UNDERPAYING UNITHOLDERS
OF
CERTAIN UNIT INVESTMENT TRUSTS (UITs) WHEN IT REPURCHASED UNITS
IN THE SECONDARY MARKET. THE UNDERPAYMENTS OCCURRED
BECAUSE, IN
CALCULATING THE UNIT PRICE, MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT INCLUDE CASH
THAT HAD ACCUMULATED IN THE UITs' INCOME ACCOUNTS AS A RESULT
OF BONDS THAT WERE CALLED, SOLD, OR MATURED FROM THE UITs'
PORTFOLIOS. THE COMMISSION FURTHER FOUND THAT THIS MISPRICING
CAUSED UNITHOLDERS OF THE AFFECTED UITs TO BE UNDERPAID BY
MILLIONS OF DOLLARS WHEN THEY RESOLD UNITS; BY 1987,
UNITHOLDERS WERE BEING UNDERPAID ON AVERAGE APPROXIMATELY
FOUR
DOLLARS PER UNIT. MERRILL LYNCH ALSO CONSENTED TO COMPLY WITH
UNDERTAKINGS TO REPAY UNITHOLDERS THE AMOUNT BY WHICH THEY
WERE
UNDERPAID, PLUS INTEREST, AND TO RETAIN A SPECIAL REVIEW PERSON
TO EXAMINE ITS UIT PRICING PROCEDURES. (REL. 19425)

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Regulator Statement +5/6/93+ SEC NEWS DIGEST, ISSUE 93-76, DATED APRIL 22, 1993
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS DISCLOSES; "ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDINGS INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH INC. TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING RULE 22c-1 OF THE
INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940. SIMULTANEOUSLY, THE
COMMISSION
ACCEPTED MERRILL LYNCH'S OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, IN WHICH MERRILL
LYNCH CONSENTED TO THE ORDER, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
THE
COMMISSION'S FINDINGS. ON THE BASIS OF THE ORDER AND OFFER, THE
COMMISSION FOUND THAT, FROM APPROXIMATELY 1972 THROUGH 1987,
MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED RULE 22c-1 BY UNDERPAYING UNITHOLDERS
OF
CERTAIN UNIT INVESTMENT TRUSTS (UITs) WHEN IT REPURCHASED UNITS
IN THE SECONDARY MARKET. THE UNDERPAYMENTS OCCURRED
BECAUSE, IN
CALCULATING THE UNIT PRICE, MERRILL LYNCH DID NOT INCLUDE CASH
THAT HAD ACCUMULATED IN THE UITs' INCOME ACCOUNTS AS A RESULT
OF BONDS THAT WERE CALLED, SOLD, OR MATURED FROM THE UITs'
PORTFOLIOS. THE COMMISSION FURTHER FOUND THAT THIS MISPRICING
CAUSED UNITHOLDERS OF THE AFFECTED UITs TO BE UNDERPAID BY
MILLIONS OF DOLLARS WHEN THEY RESOLD UNITS; BY 1987,
UNITHOLDERS WERE BEING UNDERPAID ON AVERAGE APPROXIMATELY
FOUR
DOLLARS PER UNIT. MERRILL LYNCH ALSO CONSENTED TO COMPLY WITH
UNDERTAKINGS TO REPAY UNITHOLDERS THE AMOUNT BY WHICH THEY
WERE
UNDERPAID, PLUS INTEREST, AND TO RETAIN A SPECIAL REVIEW PERSON
TO EXAMINE ITS UIT PRICING PROCEDURES. (REL. 19425)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Date Initiated: 04/22/1993

Docket/Case Number: ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING FILE #3-8024

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF RULE 22C-1 OF THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940
FROM 1972 THROUGH 1987.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 04/22/1993

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CONSENTED TO THE ISSUANCE OF A CEASE AND DESIST AND AN
UNDERTAKING TO COMPENSATE AFFECTED UNITHOLDERS.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 509 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/16/1993

Docket/Case Number: C11920017

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/16/1993

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON MARCH 16, 1993, THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT
NO. C11920017 (DISTRICT NO. 11) SUBMITTED BY MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE,
RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED AND FINED $7,500 - (ARTICLE III,
SECTIONS 1 AND 27(a) OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE - RESPONDENT
MEMBER'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS INADEQUATE WITH RESPECT TO
THE
TRANSFER OF AN ACCOUNT FROM ONE BRANCH OFFICE TO ANOTHER IN
THAT THE EXCEPTION REPORT UTILIZED BY RESPONDENT MEMBER
FAILED
TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT INFORMATION TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE
AND/OR
REVIEW ALL TRANSACTIONAL ACTIVITY IN THE ACCOUNT).  **$7,500.00
PAID ON 5/11/93 INVOICE #93-11-239**

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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ON MARCH 16, 1993, THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT
NO. C11920017 (DISTRICT NO. 11) SUBMITTED BY MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE,
RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED AND FINED $7,500 - (ARTICLE III,
SECTIONS 1 AND 27(a) OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE - RESPONDENT
MEMBER'S SUPERVISORY SYSTEM WAS INADEQUATE WITH RESPECT TO
THE
TRANSFER OF AN ACCOUNT FROM ONE BRANCH OFFICE TO ANOTHER IN
THAT THE EXCEPTION REPORT UTILIZED BY RESPONDENT MEMBER
FAILED
TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT INFORMATION TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE
AND/OR
REVIEW ALL TRANSACTIONAL ACTIVITY IN THE ACCOUNT).  **$7,500.00
PAID ON 5/11/93 INVOICE #93-11-239**

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Date Initiated: 03/16/1993

Docket/Case Number: C11920017

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 27(A) OF THE ASSOCIATION'S
RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/16/1993

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM ACCEPTED AND CONSENTED TO THE FINDINGS THAT SUCH
CONDUCT IS IN VIOLATION AND CONSENTS TO A PENALTY OF CENSURE
AND FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Consent
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Disclosure 510 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/23/1992

Docket/Case Number: C05920108

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/28/1993

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT NO. C05920108 FILED NOVEMBER 23, 1992 BY DISTRICT NO.
5 AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED,
CHARLES H. CATLETT AND DANTE M. BRAMBLETT ALLEGING VIOLATIONS
OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2 AND 27 OF THE RULES OF FAIR
PRACTICE IN THAT RESPONDENT BRAMBLETT RECOMMENDED AND
ENGAGED
IN PURCHASE AND SALE TRANSACTIONS IN THE ACCOUNTS OF PUBLIC
CUSTOMERS WITHOUT HAVING REASONABLE GROUNDS FOR BELIEVING
THAT
SUCH RECOMMENDATIONS AND THE RESULTANT TRANSACTIONS WERE
SUITABLE FOR THE CUSTOMERS BASED ON THEIR FINANCIAL
SITUATIONS,
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, AND NEEDS; EXECUTED UNAUTHORIZED
PURCHASE AND SALE TRANSACTIONS IN THE ACCOUNTS OF PUBLIC
CUSTOMERS; AND, RESPONDENT MEMBER, ACTING THROUGH
RESPONDENT
CATLETT, FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF
RESPONDENT BRAMBLETT.

  DECISION RENDERED MAY 28, 1993, WHEREIN THE OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY THE RESPONDENTS WAS ACCEPTED;
THEREFORE, RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED AND FINED $5,000;
AND,
RESPONDENT BRAMBLETT IS CENSURED, SUSPENDED FROM
ASSOCIATION
WITH ANY MEMBER OF THE NASD IN ANY CAPACITY FOR TWO MONTHS,
AND
REQUIRED TO REQUALIFY BY EXAMINATION AS A GENERAL SECURITIES
REPRESENTATIVE BY TAKING AND PASSING THE SERIES 7 EXAMINATION
WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE ACCEPTANCE OF THIS OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.
THE COMMITTEE DISMISSED THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT
AGAINST RESPONDENT CATLETT IN THAT THE SUPERVISORY
OVERSIGHTS
BY RESPONDENT CATLETT WERE ADEQUATELY ADDRESSED BY A STAFF
INTERVIEW CONDUCTED BY THE DISTRICT STAFF.

   ***$5,000.00 PAID ON 6/18/93 INVOICE #93-05-453***

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Settled
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COMPLAINT NO. C05920108 FILED NOVEMBER 23, 1992 BY DISTRICT NO.
5 AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED,
CHARLES H. CATLETT AND DANTE M. BRAMBLETT ALLEGING VIOLATIONS
OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2 AND 27 OF THE RULES OF FAIR
PRACTICE IN THAT RESPONDENT BRAMBLETT RECOMMENDED AND
ENGAGED
IN PURCHASE AND SALE TRANSACTIONS IN THE ACCOUNTS OF PUBLIC
CUSTOMERS WITHOUT HAVING REASONABLE GROUNDS FOR BELIEVING
THAT
SUCH RECOMMENDATIONS AND THE RESULTANT TRANSACTIONS WERE
SUITABLE FOR THE CUSTOMERS BASED ON THEIR FINANCIAL
SITUATIONS,
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, AND NEEDS; EXECUTED UNAUTHORIZED
PURCHASE AND SALE TRANSACTIONS IN THE ACCOUNTS OF PUBLIC
CUSTOMERS; AND, RESPONDENT MEMBER, ACTING THROUGH
RESPONDENT
CATLETT, FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF
RESPONDENT BRAMBLETT.

  DECISION RENDERED MAY 28, 1993, WHEREIN THE OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY THE RESPONDENTS WAS ACCEPTED;
THEREFORE, RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED AND FINED $5,000;
AND,
RESPONDENT BRAMBLETT IS CENSURED, SUSPENDED FROM
ASSOCIATION
WITH ANY MEMBER OF THE NASD IN ANY CAPACITY FOR TWO MONTHS,
AND
REQUIRED TO REQUALIFY BY EXAMINATION AS A GENERAL SECURITIES
REPRESENTATIVE BY TAKING AND PASSING THE SERIES 7 EXAMINATION
WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE ACCEPTANCE OF THIS OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.
THE COMMITTEE DISMISSED THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT
AGAINST RESPONDENT CATLETT IN THAT THE SUPERVISORY
OVERSIGHTS
BY RESPONDENT CATLETT WERE ADEQUATELY ADDRESSED BY A STAFF
INTERVIEW CONDUCTED BY THE DISTRICT STAFF.

   ***$5,000.00 PAID ON 6/18/93 INVOICE #93-05-453***

Disclosure 511 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/17/1992

Docket/Case Number: C3B910049

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/17/1992

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON MARCH 17, 1992, THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT
NO. C3B910049 (DISTRICT NO. 3) SUBMITTED BY RESPONDENT MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH, INC., ROBERT L. SHEERAN, AND
CLINTON E. KRATZKE WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, THEY ARE CENSURED
AND FINED $30,000, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY - (ARTICLE III,
SECTIONS 1 AND 27 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE - RESPONDENT
MEMBER, ACTING THROUGH RESPONDENTS SHEERAN AND KRATZKE,
FAILED
TO SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF A REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE IN
ORDER TO PREVENT THE INDIVIDUAL FROM EFFECTING UNSUITABLE AND
UNAUTHORIZED TRANSACTIONS).
   ***$30,000.00 J&S PAID ON 4/10/92 INVOICE #92-3B-329***

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Disclosure 512 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/31/1991

Docket/Case Number: MS-1071-AWC (A)

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/22/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-1071-AWC (A)
LETTER
OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT FILED MAY 31, 1991 AGAINST
RESPONDENT MEMBER MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.
ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART VIM SECTION 2(b) OF SCHEDULE D OF
THE ASSOCIATION'S BY=LAWS FOR BACKING AWAY:

THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT WAS ACCEPTED BY
THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON JULY 15, 1991 AND BY THE
NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON AUGUST 22, 1991. $500.00
FINE.
    ***$500.00 PAID ON 9/17/91 INVOICE #91-MS-1022***

Disclosure 513 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FLORIDA DIVISION OF SECURITIES AND INVESTOR
PROTECT*See FAQ #1*

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/12/1991

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH ALLOWED UNREGISTERED
ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO SELL SECURITIES TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS
FROM
ITS MANCHESTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE BRANCH OFFICE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/25/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered:

Stipulation and Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH AGREES TO PAY THE
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE $3,000.00 PAYABLE TO
THE ANTI-FRAUD TRUST FUND.

Regulator Statement Not Provided

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FLORIDA DIVISION OF SECURITIES AND INVESTOR PROTECTION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/12/1991

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS THAT MERRILL LYNCH ALLOWED UNREGISTERED
ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO SELL SECURITIES TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS
FROM ITS MANCHESTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE BRANCH OFFICE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/25/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH ALLOWED UNREGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS TO SELL SECURITIES TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS FROM ITS
MANCHESTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE BRANCH.  RESPONDENT AGREES TO PAY
THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE $3000.00, PAYABLE
TO THE ANTI-FRAUD TRUST FUND.

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH ALLOWED UNREGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS TO SELL SECURITIES TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS FROM ITS
MANCHESTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE BRANCH.  RESPONDENT AGREES TO PAY
THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE $3000.00, PAYABLE
TO THE ANTI-FRAUD TRUST FUND.

Firm Statement RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH ALLOWED UNREGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS TO SELL SECURITIES TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS FROM ITS
MANCHESTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE BRANCH.  RESPONDENT AGREES TO PAY
THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE $3000.00, PAYABLE
TO THE ANTI-FRAUD TRUST FUND.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,000.00

Consent
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Firm Statement RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH ALLOWED UNREGISTERED ASSOCIATED
PERSONS TO SELL SECURITIES TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS FROM ITS
MANCHESTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE BRANCH.  RESPONDENT AGREES TO PAY
THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE $3000.00, PAYABLE
TO THE ANTI-FRAUD TRUST FUND.

Disclosure 514 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: STATE OF ILLINOIS, ILLINOIS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Prohibition

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/23/1990

Docket/Case Number: 9000144

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEE NOTICE OF HEARING

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/30/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Regulator Statement NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED JULY 25, 1990. THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL WAS ISSUED AUGUST 30, 2013

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered:

Settled

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: STATE OF ILLINOIS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Prohibition

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/23/1990

Docket/Case Number: 9000144

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON JULY 23, 1990, ILLINOIS ISSUED A NOTICE OF HEARING SEEKING AN
ORDER OF SUSPENSION OR PROHIBITION AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED BASED UPON ALLEGED
MISREPRESENTATION AND THE FAILURE OF THE DEALER TO SUPERVISE.
HEARING WAS SET FOR SEPTEMBER 19, 1990.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/30/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED JULY 25, 1990.   THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL WAS ISSUED AUGUST 30, 1991.

Firm Statement THE NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED JULY 25, 1990.  THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL WAS ISSUED AUGUST 30, 1991.

Sanctions Ordered:

Settled

Disclosure 515 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Date Initiated: 02/15/1990

Docket/Case Number: MS-910-AWC(A)

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/07/1990

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-910-AWC (A):
LETTER
OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT FILED FEBRUARY 15, 1990
AGAINST RESPONDENT MEMBER MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &
SMITH
INCORPORATED ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION1 AND
42 OF THE ASSOCIATION'S RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT
RESPONDENT EXECUTED A SELL ORDER IN A SECURITY WHILE SUCH
SECURITY WAS THE SUBJECT OF A TRADING HALT.

THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT WAS ACCEPTED BY
THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON APRIL 20, 1990 AND BY THE
NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON JUNE 7, 1990. $500 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 516 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VERMONT

Allegations: ON JANUARY 8, 1990, MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC.,
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF AN ORDER WHICH FOUND THAT IT HAD
VIOLATED THE VERMONT SECURITIES ACT BY THE SALE OF UNITS OF A
UNIT INVESTMENT TRUST TO VERMONT RESIDENTS THAT EXCEEDED THE
AMOUNT REGISTERED IN VERMONT BY APPROXIMATELY $200,000.
RESPONDENT ACKNOWLEDGED THE VIOLATIONS AND HAS MODIFIED ITS
COMPLIANCE PROCEDURES IN ORDER
TO CURTAIL THE RECURRENCE OF OVERSALES. RESPONDENT AGREED
TO PAY APPROXIMATELY $1,000 IN FEES AND INVESTIGATION COSTS TO
THE STATE. DOCKET/CASE NO. 89-0660-S, DATED 1/8/90.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/08/1990

Docket/Case Number: 89-0660-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED TYPE OF FINANCIAL PRODUCT.

Resolution Date: 01/08/1990

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: AGREED TO PAY $1,000 COSTS OF INVESTIGATION.

Sanctions Ordered:

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: VERMONT SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/08/1990

Docket/Case Number: 89-0660-S

Principal Product Type: Unit Investment Trust(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF THE VERMONT SECURITIES ACT BY THE SALE OF UNITS OF
A UNIT INVESTMENT TRUST TO VERMONT RESIDENTS THAT EXCEEDED
THE AMOUNT REGISTERED IN VERMONT BY APPROXIMATELY $200,000.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/08/1990

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FINE PAID AS OF 01/08/1990

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH ACKNOWLEDGED THE VIOLATIONS AND MODIFIED ITS
COMPLIANCE PROCEDURES TO CURTAIL THE REOCCURRENCE OF
OVERSALES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Disclosure 517 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/31/1989

Docket/Case Number: NY-6099-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/31/1989

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON JANUARY 31, 1989, THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT NO. NY-6099-AWC (DISTRICT NO. 12) SUBMITTED BY
RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., ROBERT
PILLITTERI, STEPHEN DIGILIO, DANIEL JAMES O'SHEA, STEPHEN JOHN
WOOD, ROBERT F. HARRIS, JAMES P. IRWIN, JR., GLENN BACKUS,
ROBERT W. OUTTRIM, JAY D. RICE, CLIFFORD A. RODD, PASQUALE E.
FERRANTE AND LEWIS BRADLEY SIMMONS WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. IS CENSURED AND
FINED $7,500.00, ROBERT PILLITTERI IS CENSURED AND FINED
$2,500.00, STEPHEN DIGILIO IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,000.00,
DANIEL JAMES O'SHEA IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,000.00, STEPHEN
JOHN WOOD IS CENSURED AND FINED $9,500.00, ROBERT F. HARRIS IS
CENSURED AND FINED $4,500.00, JAMES P. IRWIN, JR. IS CENSURED
AND FINED $1,000.00, GLENN BACKUS IS CENSURED AND FINED
$1,000.00, ROBERT W. OUTTRIM IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,000.00,
JAY D. RICE IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,500.00, CLIFFORD A. RODD IS
CENSURED AND FINED $1,300.00, PASQUALE E. FERRANTE IS CENSURED
AND FINED $2,500.00, AND LEWIS BRADLEY SIMMONS IS CENSURED AND
FINED $1,000.00 (ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 27 OF THE RULES OF
FAIR PRACTICE - RESPONDENT MEMBER, WITH REGARD TO THE PUBLIC
DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES WHICH TRADED AT AN IMMEDIATE PREMIUM IN
THE SECONDARY MARKET FROM ITS ALLOTMENT OF SHARES, AND
ACTING
THROUGH RESPONDENTS PILLITTERI, DIGILIO, O'SHEA, WOOD, HARRIS,
IRWIN, BACKUS, OUTTRIM, RICE, RODD, FERRANTE AND SIMMONS, SOLD
SUCH SHARES TO RESTRICTED PERSONS IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE
BOARD
OF GOVERNORS INTERPRETATION WITH RESPECT TO FREE-RIDING AND
WITHHOLDING).
  $7,500 PAID 3/15/89 - DEPOSIT #467

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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ON JANUARY 31, 1989, THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT NO. NY-6099-AWC (DISTRICT NO. 12) SUBMITTED BY
RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., ROBERT
PILLITTERI, STEPHEN DIGILIO, DANIEL JAMES O'SHEA, STEPHEN JOHN
WOOD, ROBERT F. HARRIS, JAMES P. IRWIN, JR., GLENN BACKUS,
ROBERT W. OUTTRIM, JAY D. RICE, CLIFFORD A. RODD, PASQUALE E.
FERRANTE AND LEWIS BRADLEY SIMMONS WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. IS CENSURED AND
FINED $7,500.00, ROBERT PILLITTERI IS CENSURED AND FINED
$2,500.00, STEPHEN DIGILIO IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,000.00,
DANIEL JAMES O'SHEA IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,000.00, STEPHEN
JOHN WOOD IS CENSURED AND FINED $9,500.00, ROBERT F. HARRIS IS
CENSURED AND FINED $4,500.00, JAMES P. IRWIN, JR. IS CENSURED
AND FINED $1,000.00, GLENN BACKUS IS CENSURED AND FINED
$1,000.00, ROBERT W. OUTTRIM IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,000.00,
JAY D. RICE IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,500.00, CLIFFORD A. RODD IS
CENSURED AND FINED $1,300.00, PASQUALE E. FERRANTE IS CENSURED
AND FINED $2,500.00, AND LEWIS BRADLEY SIMMONS IS CENSURED AND
FINED $1,000.00 (ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 27 OF THE RULES OF
FAIR PRACTICE - RESPONDENT MEMBER, WITH REGARD TO THE PUBLIC
DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES WHICH TRADED AT AN IMMEDIATE PREMIUM IN
THE SECONDARY MARKET FROM ITS ALLOTMENT OF SHARES, AND
ACTING
THROUGH RESPONDENTS PILLITTERI, DIGILIO, O'SHEA, WOOD, HARRIS,
IRWIN, BACKUS, OUTTRIM, RICE, RODD, FERRANTE AND SIMMONS, SOLD
SUCH SHARES TO RESTRICTED PERSONS IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE
BOARD
OF GOVERNORS INTERPRETATION WITH RESPECT TO FREE-RIDING AND
WITHHOLDING).
  $7,500 PAID 3/15/89 - DEPOSIT #467

Disclosure 518 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/30/1989

Docket/Case Number: NY-7000-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/30/1989

Resolution: Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Resolution Date: 01/30/1989

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON JANUARY 30, 1989, THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND
CONSENT NO. NY-7000-AWC (DISTRICT NO. 12) SUBMITTED BY
RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., ROGER
THOMAS PATCH, MALCOLM MURDOCH MATHESON, JOHN TRAINOR
KURZAVA,
JR., JOEL HERBERT MESHEL, PHILIP ROBERT DOSTER, SCOTT LANE
RAIDER, MITCHELL PLAAT, MICHAEL JOSEPH SULLIVAN, STEPHEN
GARDINER MANTIUS AND ALFRED HANS WALBRECKER, JR. WAS
ACCEPTED;
THEREFORE, RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED AND FINED $7,500.00,
RESPONDENT PATCH IS CENSURED AND FINED $2,000.00; RESPONDENT
MATHESON IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,500.00; RESPONDENT KURZAVA,
JR. IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000.00; RESPONDENT MESHEL IS
CENSURED AND FINED $1,000.00; RESPONDENT DOSTER IS CENSURED
AND
FINED $1,000.00; RESPONDENT RAIDER IS CENSURED AND FINED
$1,250.00; RESPONDENT PLAAT IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,250.00;
RESPONDENT SULLIVAN IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,750.00;
RESPONDENT
WALBRECKER, JR. IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,250.00; AND RESPONDENT
MANTIUS IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,250.00 (ARTICLE III, SECTION 1
OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE - RESPONDENT MEMBER, FROM ITS
ALLOCATION OF SHARES WHICH TRADED AT AN IMMEDIATE PREMIUM IN
THE
SECONDARY MARKET AND ACTING THROUGH RESPONDENTS PATCH,
MATHESON,
KURZAVA, MESHEL, DOSTER, RAIDER, PLAAT, SULLIVAN, MANTIUS AND
WALBRECKER, SOLD SHARES TO RESTRICTED PERSONS AT THE PUBLIC
OFFERING PRICE IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS
INTERPRETATION WITH RESPECT TO FREE-RIDING AND WITHHOLDING).
  $7,500 PAID 3/15/89 - DEPOSIT #467

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNOR'S FREE-RIDING AND
WITHHOLDING INTERPRETATION, ARTICLE III, SECTION 1 OF THE NASD'S
RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE REGARDING THE PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION OF
SECURITIES ISSUED IN CONVERSION OFFERINGS BY CERTAIN SAVINGS
AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY(IES)/FINE(S)

Date Initiated: 01/31/1989

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

VIOLATIONS OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNOR'S FREE-RIDING AND
WITHHOLDING INTERPRETATION, ARTICLE III, SECTION 1 OF THE NASD'S
RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE REGARDING THE PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION OF
SECURITIES ISSUED IN CONVERSION OFFERINGS BY CERTAIN SAVINGS
AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS.

Resolution Date: 01/31/1989

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND FINE OF $7500.00.  FINANCIAL
CONSULTANTS CONSENTED TO CENSURES AND FINES RANGING FROM
$1000 TO 9500.  BRANCH MANAGER CONSENTED TO A CENSURE AND FINE
OF $2500 BASED ON THE VIOLATION AND FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH
SECTION 27 OF THE RULES OF  FAIR PRACTICE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 519 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/24/1984

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 06/29/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement SUMMARY COMPLAINT NO. WA-426-SC FILED FEBRUARY 24, 1984 BY
DISTRICT NO. 10 ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 1
IN THAT RESPONDENT MEMBER ERRONEOUSLY TRANSFERRED SHARES
OUT OF
A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT AND FAILED TO ACT PROMPTLY TO CORRECT
THE
ERRONEOUS TRANSFER.

SUMMARY COMPLAINT ACCEPTED JUNE 29, 1984, WHEREIN RESPONDENT
IS
FINED $500.00. DECISION IS FINAL.

$500 FINE PAID 7/5/84

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Decision

Disclosure 520 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/10/1987

Docket/Case Number: LA-4154

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Decision
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Resolution Date: 05/25/1989

Resolution:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT NO. LA-4154 FILED NOVEMBER 10, 1987 BY DISTRICT NO.
2S AGAINST RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INCORPORATED, RONALD PATTERSON, BRADFORD JAMES UNDERDAHL
AND
DENNIS ANDREW COSTARAKIS ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III,
SECTIONS 1 AND 27 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT
RESPONDENT MEMBER, ACTING THROUGH RESPONDENTS UNDERDAHL
AND
COSTARAKIS, FAILED TO MAKE A BONA FIDE PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION OF
SHARES WHICH TRADED AT AN IMMEDIATE PREMIUM IN THE SECONDARY
MARKET IN THAT SHARES WERE SOLD TO RESTRICTED ACCOUNTS; AND,
RESPONDENT MEMBER, ACTING THROUGH RESPONDENT PATTERSON,
FAILED
TO MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
CONCERNING THE FREE-RIDING INTERPRETATION.

DECISION RENDERED SEPTEMBER 27, 1988, WHEREIN RESPONDENT
MEMBER
AND RESPONDENT PATTERSON ARE CENSURED, FINED $4,000.00, JOINTLY
AND SEVERALLY AND ASSESSED COSTS OF $629.25 AND THIS DECISION
SHALL SERVE AS A LETTER OF CAUTION FOR RESPONDENTS UNDERDAHL
AND COSTARAKIS. IF NO FURTHER ACTION, DECISION IS FINAL
NOVEMBER 11, 1988.

NOVEMBER 8, 1988 - CALLED FOR REVIEW.

BOARD OF GOVERNORS DECISION RENDERED APRIL 26, 1989, WHEREIN
THE FINDINGS MADE AND SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE MODIFIED;
THEREFORE, THE FINDINGS ARE AFFIRMED WITH RESPECT TO CAUSE
ONE,
WITH RESPECT TO CAUSE TWO, THE DISTRICT COMMITTEE'S FINDINGS
ARE AFFIRMED AS TO PATTERSON, BUT ARE DISMISSED AS TO
RESPONDENT MEMBER; THE DECISION SHALL SERVE AS A LETTER OF
CAUTION AS TO RESPONDENTS UNDERDAHL AND COSTARIKIS;
RESPONDENT
PATTERSON IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000.00; THIS DECISION SHALL
SERVE AS A LETTER OF CAUTION IN REGARD TO RESPONDENT MEMBER
WITH RESPECT TO THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH
THE
FREE-RIDING INTERPRETATION; AND, RESPONDENTS MEMBER AND
PATTERSON ARE ASSESSED COSTS OF $629.25. IF NO FURTHER ACTION,
DECISION IS FINAL MAY 25, 1989.

MAY 25, 1989 - DECISION IS FINAL.

$629.25 COSTS PAID J&S 6/16/89

Decision
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COMPLAINT NO. LA-4154 FILED NOVEMBER 10, 1987 BY DISTRICT NO.
2S AGAINST RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INCORPORATED, RONALD PATTERSON, BRADFORD JAMES UNDERDAHL
AND
DENNIS ANDREW COSTARAKIS ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III,
SECTIONS 1 AND 27 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT
RESPONDENT MEMBER, ACTING THROUGH RESPONDENTS UNDERDAHL
AND
COSTARAKIS, FAILED TO MAKE A BONA FIDE PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION OF
SHARES WHICH TRADED AT AN IMMEDIATE PREMIUM IN THE SECONDARY
MARKET IN THAT SHARES WERE SOLD TO RESTRICTED ACCOUNTS; AND,
RESPONDENT MEMBER, ACTING THROUGH RESPONDENT PATTERSON,
FAILED
TO MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY PROCEDURES
CONCERNING THE FREE-RIDING INTERPRETATION.

DECISION RENDERED SEPTEMBER 27, 1988, WHEREIN RESPONDENT
MEMBER
AND RESPONDENT PATTERSON ARE CENSURED, FINED $4,000.00, JOINTLY
AND SEVERALLY AND ASSESSED COSTS OF $629.25 AND THIS DECISION
SHALL SERVE AS A LETTER OF CAUTION FOR RESPONDENTS UNDERDAHL
AND COSTARAKIS. IF NO FURTHER ACTION, DECISION IS FINAL
NOVEMBER 11, 1988.

NOVEMBER 8, 1988 - CALLED FOR REVIEW.

BOARD OF GOVERNORS DECISION RENDERED APRIL 26, 1989, WHEREIN
THE FINDINGS MADE AND SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE MODIFIED;
THEREFORE, THE FINDINGS ARE AFFIRMED WITH RESPECT TO CAUSE
ONE,
WITH RESPECT TO CAUSE TWO, THE DISTRICT COMMITTEE'S FINDINGS
ARE AFFIRMED AS TO PATTERSON, BUT ARE DISMISSED AS TO
RESPONDENT MEMBER; THE DECISION SHALL SERVE AS A LETTER OF
CAUTION AS TO RESPONDENTS UNDERDAHL AND COSTARIKIS;
RESPONDENT
PATTERSON IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000.00; THIS DECISION SHALL
SERVE AS A LETTER OF CAUTION IN REGARD TO RESPONDENT MEMBER
WITH RESPECT TO THE FIRM'S PROCEDURES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH
THE
FREE-RIDING INTERPRETATION; AND, RESPONDENTS MEMBER AND
PATTERSON ARE ASSESSED COSTS OF $629.25. IF NO FURTHER ACTION,
DECISION IS FINAL MAY 25, 1989.

MAY 25, 1989 - DECISION IS FINAL.

$629.25 COSTS PAID J&S 6/16/89

Disclosure 521 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/26/1982

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/26/1982

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ON JULY 26, 1982, THE COMMISSION ISSUED AN ORDER INSTITUTING
PROCEEDINGS AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS WHEREIN THE SEC
ACCEPTED OFFERS OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED AND VARIOUS PRESENT AND
FORMER EMPLOYEES.  THE FIRM AND ACCOUNT EXECUTIVES
CONSENTED TO
FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(a) OF THE SECURITIES ACT
AND SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10b-5
THEREUNDER
IN CONNECTION WITH PURCHASES AND SALES OF LISTED OPTIONS
DURING
VARIOUS PERIODS OF TIME BETWEEN FEBRUARY, 1975 AND MARCH, 1979,
THE FIRM'S MANAGERS CONSENTED TO FINDINGS OF FAILURE TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE RESPONDENT ACCOUNT EXECUTIVES
UNDER
THEIR RESPECTIVE SUPERVISION; AND RESPONDENT FIRM CONSENTED
TO
FINDINGS OF VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(a) OF THE SECURITIES ACT
AND SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10b-5
THEREUNDER
AND FAILURE, TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE NAMED ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVES. THE RESPONDENT ACCOUNT EXECUTIVES AGREED TO THE
IMPOSITION OF SUSPENSIONS FROM ASSOCIATION WITH A REGISTERED
BROKER/DEALER FOR VARIOUS PERIODS OF TIME. THE RESPONDENT
MANAGERS AGREED TO THE IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE. A TEN-DAY
PERIOD
OF RETRAINING, AND REQUALIFICATION AS REGISTERED OPTIONS
PRINCIPALS. FIRM AGREED TO A CENSURE AND AN UNDERTAKING
REQUIRING THE FORMATION OF AN OPTIONS REVIEW COMMITTEE TO
CONSIDER CERTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
OPTIONS
SELLING PRACTICES. SEA RELEASE NO. 18923 (JULY 26, 1982). (FORM
BD: JD 03186, SEQUENCE NO 11464).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Settled
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ON JULY 26, 1982, THE COMMISSION ISSUED AN ORDER INSTITUTING
PROCEEDINGS AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS WHEREIN THE SEC
ACCEPTED OFFERS OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED AND VARIOUS PRESENT AND
FORMER EMPLOYEES.  THE FIRM AND ACCOUNT EXECUTIVES
CONSENTED TO
FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(a) OF THE SECURITIES ACT
AND SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10b-5
THEREUNDER
IN CONNECTION WITH PURCHASES AND SALES OF LISTED OPTIONS
DURING
VARIOUS PERIODS OF TIME BETWEEN FEBRUARY, 1975 AND MARCH, 1979,
THE FIRM'S MANAGERS CONSENTED TO FINDINGS OF FAILURE TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE RESPONDENT ACCOUNT EXECUTIVES
UNDER
THEIR RESPECTIVE SUPERVISION; AND RESPONDENT FIRM CONSENTED
TO
FINDINGS OF VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(a) OF THE SECURITIES ACT
AND SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10b-5
THEREUNDER
AND FAILURE, TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE NAMED ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVES. THE RESPONDENT ACCOUNT EXECUTIVES AGREED TO THE
IMPOSITION OF SUSPENSIONS FROM ASSOCIATION WITH A REGISTERED
BROKER/DEALER FOR VARIOUS PERIODS OF TIME. THE RESPONDENT
MANAGERS AGREED TO THE IMPOSITION OF A CENSURE. A TEN-DAY
PERIOD
OF RETRAINING, AND REQUALIFICATION AS REGISTERED OPTIONS
PRINCIPALS. FIRM AGREED TO A CENSURE AND AN UNDERTAKING
REQUIRING THE FORMATION OF AN OPTIONS REVIEW COMMITTEE TO
CONSIDER CERTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO
OPTIONS
SELLING PRACTICES. SEA RELEASE NO. 18923 (JULY 26, 1982). (FORM
BD: JD 03186, SEQUENCE NO 11464).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/26/1982

Docket/Case Number: SEA RELEASE #18923

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF  SECTION 17(A) OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND SECTION
10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10B-5 THEREUNDER BY THE FIRM
AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/26/1982

Resolution: Order
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Resolution Date: 07/26/1982

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM AGREED TO A CENSURE AND AN UNDERTAKING REQUIRING THE
FORMATION OF AN OPTIONS REVIEW COMMITTEE TO CONSIDER POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES WITH RESPECT TO OPTIONS SELLING PRACTICES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Disclosure 522 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/30/1975

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/30/1975

Resolution:

Regulator Statement ON JUNE 30, 1975, THE COMMISSION INSTITUTED PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT
TO SECTION 15(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SIMULTANEOUSLY
THEREWITH ACCEPTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT BY MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED MADE SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE
OF THAT PROCEEDING.  THE COMMISSION'S ORDER, FINDINGS AND
OPINION (SEE RELEASE NO. 11515) STATED THAT INFORMATION HAD
COME TO ITS ATTENTION RELATING TO (1) TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES OF FIRM IN A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT IN
SHORT, INTERMEDIATE AND LONG-TERM GOVERNMENT SECURITIES,
INCLUDING GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION WHEN-
ISSUED
COMMITTMENTS AND (2) CERTAIN SELLING PRACTICES OF THE FIRM IN
CONNECTION WITH SECURITIES WHICH WERE BEING OFFERED BY A
COMPANY UNDER THE SPONSORSHIP OF AN AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM.  THE
COMMISSION ACCEPTED THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT WHEREIN THE FIRM
HAD UNDERTAKEN TO ADOPT CERTAIN SUPPLEMENTAL POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE RECURRENCE OF THE ALLEGED
CONDUCT.
(FORM BD: JD 12186, SEQUENCE NO 10106).

Settled
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ON JUNE 30, 1975, THE COMMISSION INSTITUTED PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT
TO SECTION 15(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SIMULTANEOUSLY
THEREWITH ACCEPTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT BY MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED MADE SOLELY FOR THE
PURPOSE
OF THAT PROCEEDING.  THE COMMISSION'S ORDER, FINDINGS AND
OPINION (SEE RELEASE NO. 11515) STATED THAT INFORMATION HAD
COME TO ITS ATTENTION RELATING TO (1) TRANSACTIONS EXECUTED BY
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES OF FIRM IN A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT IN
SHORT, INTERMEDIATE AND LONG-TERM GOVERNMENT SECURITIES,
INCLUDING GOVERNMENT NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION WHEN-
ISSUED
COMMITTMENTS AND (2) CERTAIN SELLING PRACTICES OF THE FIRM IN
CONNECTION WITH SECURITIES WHICH WERE BEING OFFERED BY A
COMPANY UNDER THE SPONSORSHIP OF AN AFFILIATE OF THE FIRM.  THE
COMMISSION ACCEPTED THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT WHEREIN THE FIRM
HAD UNDERTAKEN TO ADOPT CERTAIN SUPPLEMENTAL POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES TO PREVENT THE RECURRENCE OF THE ALLEGED
CONDUCT.
(FORM BD: JD 12186, SEQUENCE NO 10106).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/30/1975

Docket/Case Number: SEA RELEASE #11515

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGED CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS WERE UNSUITABLE AND THAT
TRADES WERE NOT PROPERLY REFLECTD ON FIRM RECORDS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/30/1975

Resolution:

Firm Statement FIRM HAS UNDERTAKEN TO ADOPT CERTAIN SUPPLEMENTAL POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES TO PREVENT REOCCURANCE OF ALLEGED CONDUCT.

Order

Disclosure 523 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Date Initiated: 02/19/1987

Docket/Case Number: MS-491-AWC

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

1139©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 07/29/1987

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-491-AWC, FILED
2/19/87:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) ALLEGES
VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION C.3.(c) OF SCHEDULE D IN THAT
RESPONDENT (MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC) FAILED
TO REPORT ITS NASDAQ VOLUME. THE AWC WAS ACCEPTED BYTHE
MARKET
SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON 3/23/87 AND BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS
CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON 7/29/87. $500 FINE

******** NFC #237 - $500.00 FINE PAID 3/11/87 *********

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 524 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/15/1987

Docket/Case Number: WA-511

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 06/03/1987

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT NO. WA-511 FILED JANUARY 15, 1987 BY DISTRICT NO. 10
AGAINST RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INCORPORATED ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 1 OF
THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO TIMELY
RESPOND TO THE ASSOCIATION'S REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION MADE
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE IV, SECTION 5 OF THE RULES OF FAIR
PRACTICE.

DECISION RENDERED JUNE 3, 1987, WHEREIN THE OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT
SUBMITTED BY THE RESPONDENT IS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, THE FIRM
IS
FINED $1,500.00.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,500.00

Settled

Disclosure 525 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/18/1985

Docket/Case Number: MS-158-SC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 07/17/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 2-4-86: MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-158-SC

FILED: 6/18/85

ALLEGED VIOLATION(S): EXCESS SPREAD

DECISION RENDERED 7/17/85: $250 FINE

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250.00

Decision

Disclosure 526 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/09/1985

Docket/Case Number: MS-117

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/17/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,000.00

Settled
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Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 6/15/93: COMPLAINT #MS-117 WAS FILED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE
COMMITTEE ON ASPRIL 9, 1985 AND AMENDED ON APRIL 22, 1985 AND
JUNE 18, 1985 TO INCLUDE NASDAQ VOLUME OMISSION THAT OCCURED
AFTER THE COMPLAINT WAS FILED.

MOTC ALLEGEDLY OMITTED VOLUME ON NOVEMBER 23, AND DECEMBER
21
AND DECEMBER 28, 1984; FEBRUARY 15, FEBRUARY 27, MARCH 8, APRIL
19, APRIL 26, AND MAY 3, 1985 IN VIOLATION OF PART I, SECTION
C.3 (c) OF SCHEDULE D TO THE ASSOCITION'S BY LAWS.

MOTC SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ON JUNE 29, 1985 WHICH
WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MSC ON AUGUST 8, 1985 AND BY THE NBCC ON
OCTOBER 17, 1985. IN THE OFFER, MOTC CONSENTED TO THE
FOLLOWING
SANCTIONS:

CENSURED, FINED $4000.

Disclosure 527 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/08/1985

Docket/Case Number: CHI-861

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/24/1986

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ENTERED 11/22/85:

COMPLAINT NO. CHI-861 FILED 10/8/85 BY DISTRICT NO. 8 AGAINST
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH, INC. AND KEITH JUDSON
ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 1 OF THE RULES OF
FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT RESPONDENT MEMBER, ACTING THROUGH
RESPONDENT JUDSON, FAILED TO MAKE A BONA FIDE PUBLIC
DISTRIBUTION OF SHARES WHICH TRADED AT AN IMMEDIATE PREMIUM IN
THE SECONDARY MARKET IN THAT SHARES WERE SOLD TO A
RESTRICTED
ACCOUNT IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS'
INTERPRETATION WITH RESPECT TO FREE-RIDING AND WITHHOLDING;
AND, RESPONDENT MEMBER SOLD SHARES IN SAID ACCOUNT WITHOUT
FULL
PAYMENT FOR THE PURCHASE HAVING BEEN MADE AND ISSUED A CHECK
TO
THE CUSTOMER WHICH CHECK INCLUDED THE PROFIT ON THE SAME DAY
PURCHASE AND SALE.
ENTERED 5/8/86: DECISION RENDERED APRIL 24, 1986, WHEREIN THE
OFFER OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY RESPONDENTS WAS ACCEPTED;
THEREFORE, THEY ARE CENSURED AND FINED $2,000.00, JOINTLY AND
SEVERALLY. ***5/19/86, FC# 9404, PAID IN FULL.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Disclosure 528 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/26/1985

Docket/Case Number: LA-4012

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 05/19/1986

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement NASD COMPLAINT #LA-4012; FILED AUGUST 26, 1985; DISTRICT #2S:
ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2 AND 27 AND
SECTION 19 OF APPENDIX E OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT
HILLYER B. BROWN, DURING A FIFTEEN MONTH PERIOD, TURNED OVER A
CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT 11.16 TIMES AND DURING A SIX MONTHS PERIOD,
TURNED OVER THE CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT 6.01 TIMES; AND, MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., C. DEE SIMPSON AND GERALD
ERWIN MILLER FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF
BROWN.

DECISION RENDERED MAY 19, 1986, WHEREIN THE OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT
SUBMITTED BY THE RESPONDENTS WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE,
MEMBER IS
CENSURED AND FINED $10,000.00, RESPONDENT BROWN IS CENSURED,
FINED $5,000.00, SUSPENDED FROM ASSOCIATIONN WITH ANY MEMBER
OF
THE ASSOCIATION IN ANY CAPACITY FOR SIXTY (60) DAYS AND BARRED
FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY MEMBER OF THE ASSOCIATION AS A
PRINCIPAL, AND THE DECISION IS TO SERVE AS A LETTER OF CAUTION
WITH REGARD TO RESPONDENTS SIMPSON AND MILLER. *****$10,000.00
PAID IN FULL, AUGUST 27, 1986, FC#9459.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Settled

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Date Initiated: 05/19/1986

Allegations: THE ACCOUNT OF A PUBLIC CUSTOMER AS EXCESSIVELY TRADED
DURING PERIODS JUNE 1982 THROUGH AUGUST 1083 BY AN ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVE.  FIRM FAILED TO REVIEW AND MONITOR ACTIVITY IN THE
ACCOUNT.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/19/1986

Docket/Case Number: LA-4012

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/19/1986

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM WAS CENSURED AND FINED.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 529 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/11/1985

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/11/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement SEC NEW DIGEST, ISSUE 85-176, SEPTEMBER 11, 1985: ORDER
INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL SANCTIONS
AGAINST
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., OTHERS. THE SAN
FRANCISCO BRANCH OFFICE ANNOUNCED THAT PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDINGS HAVE BEEN INSTITUTED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH, INC., A REGISTERED BROKER-DEALER, ROBERT M.
FISHER AND VICTOR G. MATL, FORMERLY OFFICE MANAGER AND
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVE OF MERRILL LYNCH'S SAN FRANCISCO,
CALIFORNIA OFFICE, RESPECTIVELY. SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH THE
INSTITUTION OF THE PROCEEDINGS, THE COMMISSION ACCEPTED
OFFERS
OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY MERRILL LYNCH, FISHER AND MATL.
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED, MERRILL
LYNCH, FISHER AND MATL CONSENTED TO AN ORDER FINDING THAT MATL
VIOLATED THE ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES LAWS AND
THAT MERRILL LYNCH AND FISHER FAILED REASONABLY TO SUPERVISE
MATL. THE COMMISSION ORDERED THAT: (1) MATL BE BARRED FROM
ASSOCIATION IN ANY CAPACITY WITH ANY BROKER, DEALER, INVESTMENT
COMPANY, INVESTMENT ADVISER OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER;
(2) MERRILL LYNCH BE CENSURED AND COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS TO ADOPT OR MAINTAIN PROCEDURES; AND (3) FISHER
BE
SUSPENDED FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY BROKER, DEALER,
INVESTMENT
COMPANY, INVESTMENT ADVISOR OR MUNICIPAL SECURITIES DEALER
FOR
A PERIOD OF TIME AND THAT HE BE RETRAINED IN CERTAIN COMPLIANCE
PROCEDURES. (REL. 34-22395).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 09/11/1985

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Allegations: FIRM FAILED TO PROPERLY SUPERVISE AN ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 08/30/1983

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM ACCEPTED THE SANCTIONS WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
THE SEC'S CHARGES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Order

Disclosure 530 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/06/1982

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/06/1982

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Settled
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Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement SEC NEWS DIGEST, AUGUST 6, 1982, ISSUE 82-151
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS HAVE BEEN INSTITUTED AGAINST
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC., A REGISTERED
BROKER-DEALER WITH ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICES IN NEW YORK, NEW YORK,
AND TEN EMPLOYEES OR FORMER EMPLOYEES OF FOUR OF MERRILL'S
BRANCH OFFICES LOCATED IN CLEVELAND, OHIO, COLUMBUS, OHIO,
SOUTHFIELD, MICHIGAN, AND DETROIT, MICHIGAN.  THE TEN MERRILL
EMPLOYEES ARE PAUL R. BUSCH, HARMON C. HURT, STEPHEN M. WIRT,
AND JOAN LEE, FORMER REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES AT MERRILL;
ROLAND L. MEULEBROUCK AND ROBERT WILDS, REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVES AT MERRILL;  AND DEAN HUTTON, RICHARD BRANDT,
FREDERICK PICKARD, AND FREDERIC MCCOMAS, CURRENT EMPLOYEES
OF
MERRILL WHO WERE MANAGERS OF MERRILL'S BRANCH OFFICES
DURING
THE PERIOD OF TIME THE VIOLATIVE CONDUCT DISCUSSED BELOW
OCCURRED.
THE ORDER FOR PROCEEDINGS ALLEGES THAT MERRILL, BUSCH, HURT,
WIRT, MEULEBROUCK, LEE, AND WILDS WILFULLY VIOLATED THE
ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFER
AND SALE OF EXCHANGE LISTED OPTIONS.  THE ORDER FURTHER
ALLEGES
THAT MERRILL, HUTTON, BRANDT, PICKARD AND MCCOMAS FAILED TO
REASONABLY SUPERVISE EMPLOYEES UNDER THEIR SUPERVISION AND
CONTROL.
THE COMMISSION SIMULTANEOUSLY ACCEPTED OFFERS OF SETTLEMENT
OF
THE RESPONDENTS WHEREIN THEY CONSENTED TO FINDINGS OF WILFUL
VIOLATIONS WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE
COMMISSION'S ORDER, AND THE SANCTIONS SET FORTH BELOW.
THE COMMISSION'S ORDER ACCEPTING THE SETTLEMENTS CENSURES
MERRILL, HUTTON, BRANDT, PICKARD AND MCCOMAS;  SUSPENDS BUSCH
FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY BROKER OR DEALER, FOR A PERIOD OF 12
MONTHS;  AND SUSPENDS HURT, WIRT, MUELEBROUCK, WILDS, AND LEE
FROM ASSOCIATION WITH ANY BROKER, DEALER, INVESTMENT ADVISER,
INVESTMENT COMPANY OR AFFILIATE FOR PERIODS OF SIX MONTHS, 60
DAYS, 20 DAYS, 10 DAYS AND 10 DAYS, RESPECTIVELY.
ADDITIONALLY, IN ITS OFFER OF*See FAQ #1*

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/06/1982

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Index Option(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGED TO HAVE VIOLATED PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933 AND THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 IN CONNECTION WITH
THE OFFER AND SALE OF EXCHANGE LISTED OPTIONS, INCLUDING
FAILURE TO SUPERVISE EMPLOYEES.

Resolution Date: 08/06/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ADOPT PROCEDURES

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH MADE OFFERS OF RESTITUTION TO CERTAIN
CUSTOMERS.  ADDITIONALLY, MERRILL LYNCH ADOPTED PROCEDURES TO
IMPROVE ITS ABILITY TO SURVEY AND CONTROL OPTIOINS
TRANSACTIONS.  MERRILL LYNCH ESTABLISHED AN OPTIONS REVIEW
COMMITTEE TO IMPLEMENT THE PROCEDURES AND ENSURE ALL
PROCEDURES ARE IN COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE RULES AND
GUIDELINES.

Firm Statement SEC ACCEPTED SETTLEMENT OFFERS CONSENTING TO FINDINGS
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS.  CENSURE IMPOSED
INCLUDING SUSPENSION FOR SEVERAL EMPLOYEES AS SPECIFIED IN THE
ORDER.  ADDITIONALLY, MERRILL LYNCH MADE OFFERS OF RESTITITION
TO CERTAIN CUSTOMERS AND ESTABLISHED AN OPTIONS REVIEW
COMMITTEE TO IMPLEMENT REVISED PROCEDURES TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE GUIDELINES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Consent

Disclosure 531 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/30/1981

Docket/Case Number: AWC-76

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Resolution Date: 12/30/1981

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT #AWC-76 FILED 12/30/81.
DISTRICT #10
DECISION 12/30/81:  CENSURED & FINED $300.00.
12/30/81:  ALL RIGHTS WAIVED.
12/30/81:  DECISION FINAL.
FINES & COSTS FC #8133 PD 01/26/82

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $300.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 532 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/19/1995

Docket/Case Number: CMS950055 AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 08/15/1995

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT NO. CMS950055 AWC

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) FILED APRIL 19,
1995 AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. (MLCO)
ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF SCHEDULE D TO THE ASSOCIATION'S BY-LAWS,
PART X, SECTION 2(a)(8), PART XI, SECTION 2(a)(8) AND THE
INTERPRETATION OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS CONCERNING THE
OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBERS TO REPORT TRANSACTIONS WITHIN 90
SECONDS
OF EXECUTION.  THIS AWC ALSO CONSTITUTES VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE
III, SECTION 1 OF THE ASSOCIATION'S RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE.
RESPONDENT MLCO REPORTED OR CAUSED TO BE REPORTED TO THE
NASDAQ
SYSTEM, TRADE REPORTS THAT WERE LATE AND IN EXCESS OF 90
SECONDS OF EXECUTION. THE AWC WAS ACCEPTED BY THE NATIONAL
BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON AUGUST 15, 1995.  RESPONDENT
MLCO
WAS CENSURED AND FINED $9,500. THE AWC BECAME FINAL ON AUGUST
15, 1995.

**$9,500.00 PAID ON 9/12/95, INVOICE #95-MS.522**

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $9,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Date Initiated: 04/19/1995

Allegations: DURING ONE WEEK IN 1994, FIRM REPORTED 3.1% OF ITS TRADE
REPORTS WITH A .SLD MODIFIER DESIGNATING A REPORT IN EXCESS OF
90 SECONDS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/19/1995

Docket/Case Number: CMS 950055

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/08/1995

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM FILED A MITIGATION STATEMENT AND SETTLED THE MATTER
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE CLAIMS ASSERTED.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 533 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/24/1995

Docket/Case Number: CMS950008 AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/15/1995

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT NO. CMS950008 AWC

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT FILED FEBRUARY 24,
1995 AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. (MLCO)
ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF RULE 10b-6A OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934 WITH REGARD TO PASSIVE MARKET MAKING IN THAT
RESPONDENT MLCO EXCEEDED ITS 30% ADTV LIMIT AND FAILED TO
REMOVE ITS QUOTES IN A TIMELY MANNER.

THE AWC WAS ACCEPTED BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE
ON AUGUST 15, 1995.  RESPONDENT MLCO WAS CENSURED AND FINED
$500.  THE AWC BECAME FINAL ON AUGUST 15, 1995.

**$500.00 PAID ON 9/12/95, INVOICE #95-MS.499**

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500.00

Disclosure 534 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CBOE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/13/1996

Docket/Case Number: 96-0004

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: see summary

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/13/1996

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $7,200.00

Decision
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: fined $7,200

Regulator Statement was fined for exceeding Exchange position limit
on one trade date.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/01/1996

Docket/Case Number: 96-0004

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF RULES 4.11 AN 24.4(A) REGARDING POSITION LIMITS
THROUGH THE CONTROL OF SHORT CALL AND LONG PUT POSITION OF
NDX OPTION CONTRACTS IN OCTOBER 1995.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/09/1996

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF A $7,200 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $7,200.00

Consent

Disclosure 535 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Date Initiated: 08/29/1980

Docket/Case Number: NY-2019

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: NY-2019

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/16/1981

Resolution:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT NO. NY-2019 FILED AUGUST 29, 1980 BY DISTRICT NO. 12
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. ALLEGING
VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 8 OF THE RULES OF
FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT RESPONDENT MEMBER PAID HIGHER PRICES FOR
DEBENTURES THAN THE FAIR MARKET PRICE OF SAID DEBENTURES AT
THE
TIME OF PURCHASE.

  DECISION RENDERED DECEMBER 16, 1981, WHEREIN THE OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY RESPONDENT MEMBER WAS ACCEPTED;
THEREFORE, THE DBCC HAS DECIDED TO IMPOSE NO PENALTY BECAUSE
OF
THE CONFUSION SURROUNDING THE RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF MEMBERS
IN
EXECUTING SWAP TRANSACTIONS PRIOR TO THE AMENDMENTS TO THE
"PAPILSKY" RULES.

Settled

Disclosure 536 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/05/1980

Docket/Case Number: P-485

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 12/05/1980

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT #P-485 FILED 12/05/80
DIST. #11
FINES & COSTS FC #8120 $2,500 PD. 03/03/82.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/02/1981

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE THE ACTION OF AN ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVE WHO ALLEGEDLY ENGAGED IN UNSUITABLE TRANSACTIONS
FOR AN ACCOUNT OF A CUSTOMER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/02/1981

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: NASD ACCEPTED FIRMS' OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, CENSURE AND FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500.00

Settled
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Sanction Details: NASD ACCEPTED FIRMS' OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, CENSURE AND FINE.

Disclosure 537 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ILLINOIS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/01/1979

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/16/1979

Resolution:

Regulator Statement STATE OF IL:  MARCH 79 BULLETIN:  ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS
HEARINGS TO BE HELD:  04/16/79.
STATE OF IL:  07/16/79
SECURITIES DEPARTMENT BULLETIN JULY 1979
CONSENT ORDER OF PROHIBITION ENTERED.

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF ILLINOIS

Date Initiated: 03/01/1979

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NO INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

NO INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 07/16/1979

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NO INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement STATE OF ILLINOIS:  MARCH 79 BULLETIN: ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS
HEARINGS TO BE HELD: 04/16/1979.  STATE OF IL: 07/16/79 SECURITIES
DEPARTMENT BULLETIN JULY 1979 CONSENT ORDER OF PROHIBITION
ENTERED.

Sanctions Ordered:

Consent

Disclosure 538 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ILLINOIS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/01/1979

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/16/1979

Resolution:

Regulator Statement STATE OF IL:  MARCH 79 BULLETIN:  ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS
HEARINGS TO BE HELD:  04/16/79.
STATE OF IL:  07/16/79
SECURITIES DEPARTMENT BULLETIN JULY 1979
CONSENT ORDER OF PROHIBITION ENTERED.

Consent
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Regulator Statement STATE OF IL:  MARCH 79 BULLETIN:  ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS
HEARINGS TO BE HELD:  04/16/79.
STATE OF IL:  07/16/79
SECURITIES DEPARTMENT BULLETIN JULY 1979
CONSENT ORDER OF PROHIBITION ENTERED.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: STATE OF ILLINOIS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

NO INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6

Date Initiated: 03/01/1979

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NO INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/16/1979

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NO INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement STATE OF ILLINOIS:  MARCH 79 BULLETIN: ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS
HEARINGS TO BE HELD: 04/16/1979. STATE OF IL: 07/16/79 SECURITIES
DEPARTMETN BULLETIN JULY 1979 CONSENT ORDER OF PROHIBITION
ENTERED.

Sanctions Ordered:

Consent

Disclosure 539 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FLORIDA

Date Initiated: 05/24/1979

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/24/1979

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/24/1979

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement FLORIDA CRIMINAL ACTION REPORT 05/24/79
PAGE 69
DEALER CENSURE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNABLE TO DETERMINE FROM INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6
REGULATORY DRP.

Date Initiated: 05/24/1979

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNABLE TO DETERMINE FROM INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6
REGULATORY ACTION DRP.

Allegations: UNABLE TO DETERMINE FROM INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6
REGULATORY ACTION DRP.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Decision 1161©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Resolution Date: 05/24/1979

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement FLORIDA CRIMINAL ACTION REPORT 05/24/1979, PAGE 69 DEALER
CENSURE LETTER - LEGISLATIVE LIBRAY UNABLE TO PRODUCE.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Decision

Disclosure 540 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/31/1977

Docket/Case Number: P-442

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/23/1978

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement   COMPLAINT NO. P-442 FILED MAY 31, 1977 BY DISTRICT NO. 11
AGAINST MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., JACK
MCNAIRY, ROBERT F. TURNER, AND JACK R. SIMPSON ALLEGING
VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2, 27(a) AND (d) OF THE
RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT RESPONDENT SIMPSON MADE
UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS TO A PUBLIC CUSTOMER; AND,
RESPONDENTS MEMBER, MCNAIRY AND TURNER FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF RESPONDENT SIMPSON.

  DECISION RENDERED JULY 10, 1978, WHEREIN RESPONDENT MEMBER IS
CENSURED, FINED 45,000 AND ASSESSED COSTS OF $2,745.25;
RESPONDENT MCNAIRY IS CENSURED AND FINED $500; RESPONDENT
TURNER IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000; AND, RESPONDENT SIMPSON IS
CENSURED AND FINED $1,000. IF NO FURTHER ACTION, DECISION IS
FINAL AUGUST 23, 1978.

   AUGUST 23, 1978 - DECISION IS FINAL.

  FC #7121 - OCTOBER 18, 1978.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $45,000.00

Decision
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  COMPLAINT NO. P-442 FILED MAY 31, 1977 BY DISTRICT NO. 11
AGAINST MERRILL, LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., JACK
MCNAIRY, ROBERT F. TURNER, AND JACK R. SIMPSON ALLEGING
VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2, 27(a) AND (d) OF THE
RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT RESPONDENT SIMPSON MADE
UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS TO A PUBLIC CUSTOMER; AND,
RESPONDENTS MEMBER, MCNAIRY AND TURNER FAILED TO PROPERLY
SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF RESPONDENT SIMPSON.

  DECISION RENDERED JULY 10, 1978, WHEREIN RESPONDENT MEMBER IS
CENSURED, FINED 45,000 AND ASSESSED COSTS OF $2,745.25;
RESPONDENT MCNAIRY IS CENSURED AND FINED $500; RESPONDENT
TURNER IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000; AND, RESPONDENT SIMPSON IS
CENSURED AND FINED $1,000. IF NO FURTHER ACTION, DECISION IS
FINAL AUGUST 23, 1978.

   AUGUST 23, 1978 - DECISION IS FINAL.

  FC #7121 - OCTOBER 18, 1978.

Disclosure 541 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/01/1977

Docket/Case Number: W-328

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/18/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement   COMPLAINT NO. W-328 FILED MAY 10, 1977 BY DISTRICT NO. 10
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., WILLIAM F.
WATERS AND ROBERT D. FAIRMAN ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE
III, SECTIONS 1, 2 AND 27 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT
RESPONDENT FAIRMAN MADE UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS TO A
PUBLIC
CUSTOMER BASED ON INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CUSTOMER'S
OTHER
SECURITIES HOLDINGS, HIS FINANCIAL SITUATION AND HIS INVESTMENT
OBJECTIVES AND NEED;S AND, RESPONDENTS MEMBER AND WATERS
FAILED
TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF RESPONDENT FAIRMAN.

  DECISION RENDERED OCTOBER 21, 1977, WHEREIN THE COMPLAINT IS
DISMISSED AS TO RESPONDENT WATERS. IF NO FURTHER ACTION,
DECISION IS FINAL DECEMBER 5, 1977.

  DECISION RENDERED NOVEMBER 18, 1977, WHEREIN THE OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY RESPONENTS MEMBER AND FAIRMAN WAS
ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, THEY ARE FINED $1,500, JOINTLY AND
SEVERALLY.

  FC $6943 - JANUARY 19, 1978.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,500.00

Settled
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  COMPLAINT NO. W-328 FILED MAY 10, 1977 BY DISTRICT NO. 10
AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC., WILLIAM F.
WATERS AND ROBERT D. FAIRMAN ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE
III, SECTIONS 1, 2 AND 27 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT
RESPONDENT FAIRMAN MADE UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS TO A
PUBLIC
CUSTOMER BASED ON INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CUSTOMER'S
OTHER
SECURITIES HOLDINGS, HIS FINANCIAL SITUATION AND HIS INVESTMENT
OBJECTIVES AND NEED;S AND, RESPONDENTS MEMBER AND WATERS
FAILED
TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF RESPONDENT FAIRMAN.

  DECISION RENDERED OCTOBER 21, 1977, WHEREIN THE COMPLAINT IS
DISMISSED AS TO RESPONDENT WATERS. IF NO FURTHER ACTION,
DECISION IS FINAL DECEMBER 5, 1977.

  DECISION RENDERED NOVEMBER 18, 1977, WHEREIN THE OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY RESPONENTS MEMBER AND FAIRMAN WAS
ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, THEY ARE FINED $1,500, JOINTLY AND
SEVERALLY.

  FC $6943 - JANUARY 19, 1978.

Disclosure 542 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/28/1975

Docket/Case Number: D-369

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/05/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Decision
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT #D-369 FILED 03/28/75 DIST. #3
DECISION 11/19/76:  CENSURED;  ASSESSED COSTS $3,694.75.
01/03/77:  TO BE FINAL.
FINES & COSTS 12/20/77 FC#6872 PAID.
APPEAL ACTION 12/03/76:  APPEALED TO B/G;  DBCC DEC. STAYED.
07/07/77:  B/G AFFIRMED PENALITIES OF DBCC.
CENSURED;  ASSESSED COSTS $3,692.75 (DBCC) &
$1,098.96 (B/G)
08/05/77:  TO BE FINAL.
08/05/77:  FINAL.

Disclosure 543 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/17/1972

Docket/Case Number: P-SC-18

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/18/1973

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMP. #P-SC-18 FILED 11/17/72 AGAINST THE FIRM'S
BRANCH OFFICE LOCATED AT 4 PENN CENTER PLAZA,
PHILADELPHIA, PA.
COMPLAINT FINAL 01/18/73
FINES AND COSTS PAID 12/07/72.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine

Decision
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COMP. #P-SC-18 FILED 11/17/72 AGAINST THE FIRM'S
BRANCH OFFICE LOCATED AT 4 PENN CENTER PLAZA,
PHILADELPHIA, PA.
COMPLAINT FINAL 01/18/73
FINES AND COSTS PAID 12/07/72.

Disclosure 544 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/22/1972

Docket/Case Number: 432

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/08/1973

Resolution:

Regulator Statement COMP. #432 FILED 02/22/72 AGAINST THE
FIRM'S BRANCH OFFICE LOCATED AT 800 W. LOCUST
STREET, DES MOINES, IOWA.  COMPLAINT FINAL 01/08/73.

Decision

Disclosure 545 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/14/1971

Docket/Case Number: C-147

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 10/14/1971

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMP. C-147 FILED.  DECISION RENDERED 10/14/71.
MEMBER IS CENSURED, FINED $1,000.00.  COMPLAINT
FINAL 10/14/71.  OFFER OF SETTLEMENT.  FINE
PAID 10/29/71.  $11600.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 546 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/11/1971

Docket/Case Number: C-SC-13

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/14/1971

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine

Decision
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Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMP. #C-SC-13 FILED 02/11/71 AGAINST THE
FIRM'S CLEVELAND, OHIO BRANCH OFFICE.
COMPLAINT FINAL 03/14/71.  FINES PAID.

Disclosure 547 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/11/1970

Docket/Case Number: NY-1123

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/11/1970

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMP. NV-SC-44 FILED 11/14/68.  12/31/68 S/C REJECTED.
COMP. #NY-1123, FORMAL COMPLAINT FILED.  DECISION 09/05/69
MEMBER IS CENSURED, FINED $500 AND ASSESSED
COSTS OF $160.80.  09/24/69, B/G CALLED COMPLAINT
FOR REVIEW.  DBCC DECISION STAYED.  03/12/70, B/G
ON REVIEW INCREASED PENALITIES;  MEMBER IS FINED
$2,000 AND ASSESSED COSTS OF $160.80.
COMPLAINT FINAL 04/11/70.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 548 of 595

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/27/1968

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/20/1972

Resolution:

Regulator Statement ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS, SEC 68-168 08/27/68.
#70-26 SEC FILED COMPLAINT IN THE DISTRICT
COURT OF NEW YORK CITY VIA INVESTMENT CO.
OCTOBER.  FINAL 08/20/72.

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

NONE PROVIDED ON U6

Date Initiated: 08/27/1968

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: NO INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Decision
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Resolution Date: 08/20/1972

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NO INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS, SEC 68-168 08/27/68.  #70-26 SEC FILED
COMPLAINT IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF NEW YORK CITY VIA INVESTMENT
CO. OCTOBER. FINAL 08/20/1972.

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision

Disclosure 549 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: INDIANA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/13/1968

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Pending

Regulator Statement STATE PROCEEDING INSTITUTED
FOR THE STATE OF INDIANA.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF INDIANA

Date Initiated: 02/13/1968

Allegations: UNABLE TO DETERMINE FROM INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6
REGULATORY DRP.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

NOT CLEAR FROM INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6 REGULATORY ACTION
DRP.

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNABLE TO DETERMINE FROM INFORMATION PROVIDED ON U6
REGULATORY DRP.

Resolution Date: 02/13/1968

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: RESOLUTION DETAIL NOT KNOWN.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement INDIANA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS STATES THAT ALL
INFORMATION PERTAINING TO THIS MATTER HAS BEEN DESTROYED.

Sanctions Ordered:

Other

Disclosure 550 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/12/1963

Docket/Case Number: A-232

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/08/1964

Resolution:

Regulator Statement LISTED BELOW ARE SEVERAL COMPLAINTS WHICH WERE
FILED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH BRANCH OFFICES:
(1) COMP. #P-269 FILED 11/04/64(YORK, PA). FINAL 11/14/65.
(2) COMP. #133 FILED 12/07/64 (SEATTLE, WA). FINAL 11/07/65
(3) COMP. P-278 FILED 12/29/64 (PHILADELPHIA, PA). DISMISSED ON
APPEAL.
(4) COMP. A-389 FILED 10/28/70 (SAN FRANCISCO, CA).
(5) COMP. LA-37, DIST. 2, (LOS ANGELES, CA). FINAL 12/04/54.
(6) COMP. A-288 FILED 04/05/65 (LOS ANGELES, CA) FINAL 11/17/65.
(7) ATL-345 FILED 03/25/66 (ORLANDO, FL.). FINAL 10/30/66
(8) TEX-109 FILED (AUSTIN, TX.). FINAL 11/16/66.
(9) COMP. #106 FILED 02/14/63 (PORTLAND, OR.) DISMISSED AND
FINAL
05/02/63. (11.) COMP. A-232 FILED 08/12/63((LA JOLLA, CA).
FINAL 01/08/64.

Decision

1171©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Regulator Statement LISTED BELOW ARE SEVERAL COMPLAINTS WHICH WERE
FILED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH BRANCH OFFICES:
(1) COMP. #P-269 FILED 11/04/64(YORK, PA). FINAL 11/14/65.
(2) COMP. #133 FILED 12/07/64 (SEATTLE, WA). FINAL 11/07/65
(3) COMP. P-278 FILED 12/29/64 (PHILADELPHIA, PA). DISMISSED ON
APPEAL.
(4) COMP. A-389 FILED 10/28/70 (SAN FRANCISCO, CA).
(5) COMP. LA-37, DIST. 2, (LOS ANGELES, CA). FINAL 12/04/54.
(6) COMP. A-288 FILED 04/05/65 (LOS ANGELES, CA) FINAL 11/17/65.
(7) ATL-345 FILED 03/25/66 (ORLANDO, FL.). FINAL 10/30/66
(8) TEX-109 FILED (AUSTIN, TX.). FINAL 11/16/66.
(9) COMP. #106 FILED 02/14/63 (PORTLAND, OR.) DISMISSED AND
FINAL
05/02/63. (11.) COMP. A-232 FILED 08/12/63((LA JOLLA, CA).
FINAL 01/08/64.

Disclosure 551 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/16/1966

Docket/Case Number: TEX-109

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/16/1966

Resolution:

Regulator Statement LISTED BELOW ARE SEVERAL COMPLAINTS WHICH WERE
FILED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH BRANCH OFFICES:
(1) COMP. #P-269 FILED 11/04/64(YORK, PA). FINAL 11/14/65.
(2) COMP. #133 FILED 12/07/64 (SEATTLE, WA). FINAL 11/07/65
(3) COMP. P-278 FILED 12/29/64 (PHILADELPHIA, PA). DISMISSED ON
APPEAL.
(4) COMP. A-389 FILED 10/28/70 (SAN FRANCISCO, CA).
(5) COMP. LA-37, DIST. 2, (LOS ANGELES, CA). FINAL 12/04/54.
(6) COMP. A-288 FILED 04/05/65 (LOS ANGELES, CA) FINAL 11/17/65.
(7) ATL-345 FILED 03/25/66 (ORLANDO, FL.). FINAL 10/30/66
(8) TEX-109 FILED (AUSTIN, TX.). FINAL 11/16/66.
(9) COMP. #106 FILED 02/14/63 (PORTLAND, OR.) DISMISSED AND
FINAL
05/02/63. (11.) COMP. A-232 FILED 08/12/63((LA JOLLA, CA).
FINAL 01/08/64.

Decision
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LISTED BELOW ARE SEVERAL COMPLAINTS WHICH WERE
FILED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH BRANCH OFFICES:
(1) COMP. #P-269 FILED 11/04/64(YORK, PA). FINAL 11/14/65.
(2) COMP. #133 FILED 12/07/64 (SEATTLE, WA). FINAL 11/07/65
(3) COMP. P-278 FILED 12/29/64 (PHILADELPHIA, PA). DISMISSED ON
APPEAL.
(4) COMP. A-389 FILED 10/28/70 (SAN FRANCISCO, CA).
(5) COMP. LA-37, DIST. 2, (LOS ANGELES, CA). FINAL 12/04/54.
(6) COMP. A-288 FILED 04/05/65 (LOS ANGELES, CA) FINAL 11/17/65.
(7) ATL-345 FILED 03/25/66 (ORLANDO, FL.). FINAL 10/30/66
(8) TEX-109 FILED (AUSTIN, TX.). FINAL 11/16/66.
(9) COMP. #106 FILED 02/14/63 (PORTLAND, OR.) DISMISSED AND
FINAL
05/02/63. (11.) COMP. A-232 FILED 08/12/63((LA JOLLA, CA).
FINAL 01/08/64.

Disclosure 552 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/25/1966

Docket/Case Number: ATL-345

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/30/1966

Resolution:

Regulator Statement LISTED BELOW ARE SEVERAL COMPLAINTS WHICH WERE
FILED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH BRANCH OFFICES:
(1) COMP. #P-269 FILED 11/04/64(YORK, PA). FINAL 11/14/65.
(2) COMP. #133 FILED 12/07/64 (SEATTLE, WA). FINAL 11/07/65
(3) COMP. P-278 FILED 12/29/64 (PHILADELPHIA, PA). DISMISSED ON
APPEAL.
(4) COMP. A-389 FILED 10/28/70 (SAN FRANCISCO, CA).
(5) COMP. LA-37, DIST. 2, (LOS ANGELES, CA). FINAL 12/04/54.
(6) COMP. A-288 FILED 04/05/65 (LOS ANGELES, CA) FINAL 11/17/65.
(7) ATL-345 FILED 03/25/66 (ORLANDO, FL.). FINAL 10/30/66
(8) TEX-109 FILED (AUSTIN, TX.). FINAL 11/16/66.
(9) COMP. #106 FILED 02/14/63 (PORTLAND, OR.) DISMISSED AND
FINAL
05/02/63. (11.) COMP. A-232 FILED 08/12/63((LA JOLLA, CA).
FINAL 01/08/64.

Decision
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LISTED BELOW ARE SEVERAL COMPLAINTS WHICH WERE
FILED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH BRANCH OFFICES:
(1) COMP. #P-269 FILED 11/04/64(YORK, PA). FINAL 11/14/65.
(2) COMP. #133 FILED 12/07/64 (SEATTLE, WA). FINAL 11/07/65
(3) COMP. P-278 FILED 12/29/64 (PHILADELPHIA, PA). DISMISSED ON
APPEAL.
(4) COMP. A-389 FILED 10/28/70 (SAN FRANCISCO, CA).
(5) COMP. LA-37, DIST. 2, (LOS ANGELES, CA). FINAL 12/04/54.
(6) COMP. A-288 FILED 04/05/65 (LOS ANGELES, CA) FINAL 11/17/65.
(7) ATL-345 FILED 03/25/66 (ORLANDO, FL.). FINAL 10/30/66
(8) TEX-109 FILED (AUSTIN, TX.). FINAL 11/16/66.
(9) COMP. #106 FILED 02/14/63 (PORTLAND, OR.) DISMISSED AND
FINAL
05/02/63. (11.) COMP. A-232 FILED 08/12/63((LA JOLLA, CA).
FINAL 01/08/64.

Disclosure 553 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/05/1965

Docket/Case Number: A-288

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/17/1965

Resolution:

Regulator Statement LISTED BELOW ARE SEVERAL COMPLAINTS WHICH WERE
FILED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH BRANCH OFFICES:
(1) COMP. #P-269 FILED 11/04/64(YORK, PA). FINAL 11/14/65.
(2) COMP. #133 FILED 12/07/64 (SEATTLE, WA). FINAL 11/07/65
(3) COMP. P-278 FILED 12/29/64 (PHILADELPHIA, PA). DISMISSED ON
APPEAL.
(4) COMP. A-389 FILED 10/28/70 (SAN FRANCISCO, CA).
(5) COMP. LA-37, DIST. 2, (LOS ANGELES, CA). FINAL 12/04/54.
(6) COMP. A-288 FILED 04/05/65 (LOS ANGELES, CA) FINAL 11/17/65.
(7) ATL-345 FILED 03/25/66 (ORLANDO, FL.). FINAL 10/30/66
(8) TEX-109 FILED (AUSTIN, TX.). FINAL 11/16/66.
(9) COMP. #106 FILED 02/14/63 (PORTLAND, OR.) DISMISSED AND
FINAL
05/02/63. (11.) COMP. A-232 FILED 08/12/63((LA JOLLA, CA).
FINAL 01/08/64.

Decision

Disclosure 554 of 595

i

1174©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/04/1954

Docket/Case Number: LA-37

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/04/1954

Resolution:

Regulator Statement LISTED BELOW ARE SEVERAL COMPLAINTS WHICH WERE
FILED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH BRANCH OFFICES:
(1) COMP. #P-269 FILED 11/04/64(YORK, PA). FINAL 11/14/65.
(2) COMP. #133 FILED 12/07/64 (SEATTLE, WA). FINAL 11/07/65
(3) COMP. P-278 FILED 12/29/64 (PHILADELPHIA, PA). DISMISSED ON
APPEAL.
(4) COMP. A-389 FILED 10/28/70 (SAN FRANCISCO, CA).
(5) COMP. LA-37, DIST. 2, (LOS ANGELES, CA). FINAL 12/04/54.
(6) COMP. A-288 FILED 04/05/65 (LOS ANGELES, CA) FINAL 11/17/65.
(7) ATL-345 FILED 03/25/66 (ORLANDO, FL.). FINAL 10/30/66
(8) TEX-109 FILED (AUSTIN, TX.). FINAL 11/16/66.
(9) COMP. #106 FILED 02/14/63 (PORTLAND, OR.) DISMISSED AND
FINAL
05/02/63. (11.) COMP. A-232 FILED 08/12/63((LA JOLLA, CA).
FINAL 01/08/64.

Decision

Disclosure 555 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 27(A)OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE:
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH SEC NET CAPITA REQUIREMENT AND FAILURE
TO PREPARE A SUPERVISON PROCEDURE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/12/1969

Docket/Case Number: ATL-389

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 11/19/1969

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: DECISION FINAL NOVEMBER 19, 1969, WHEREIN RESPONDENT MEMBER IS
CENSURED AND FINED $500.

Sanction Details:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 06/12/1969

Docket/Case Number: ATL-389

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1 AND 27(A)OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE:
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH SEC NET CAPITA REQUIREMENT AND FAILURE
TO PREPARE A SUPERVISON PROCEDURE.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE

Resolution Date: 11/19/1969

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: DECISION FINAL NOVEMBER 19, 1969, WHEREIN RESPONDENT MEMBER IS
CENSURED AND FINED $500.

Firm Statement FINE OF $500.00 WAS PAID IN 1969.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $500.00

Decision

Disclosure 556 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/04/1964

Docket/Case Number: P-269

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/14/1965

Resolution:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Decision
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: LISTED BELOW ARE SEVERAL COMPLAINTS WHICH WERE
FILED AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH BRANCH OFFICES:
(1) COMP. #P-269 FILED 11/04/64(YORK, PA). FINAL 11/14/65.
(2) COMP. #133 FILED 12/07/64 (SEATTLE, WA). FINAL 11/07/65
(3) COMP. P-278 FILED 12/29/64 (PHILADELPHIA, PA). DISMISSED ON
APPEAL.
(4) COMP. A-389 FILED 10/28/70 (SAN FRANCISCO, CA).
(5) COMP. LA-37, DIST. 2, (LOS ANGELES, CA). FINAL 12/04/54.
(6) COMP. A-288 FILED 04/05/65 (LOS ANGELES, CA) FINAL 11/17/65.
(7) ATL-345 FILED 03/25/66 (ORLANDO, FL.). FINAL 10/30/66
(8) TEX-109 FILED (AUSTIN, TX.). FINAL 11/16/66.
(9) COMP. #106 FILED 02/14/63 (PORTLAND, OR.) DISMISSED AND
FINAL
05/02/63. (11.) COMP. A-232 FILED 08/12/63((LA JOLLA, CA).
FINAL 01/08/64.

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered:

Disclosure 557 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/04/1961

Docket/Case Number: NY-488

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Decision 1178©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Resolution Date: 05/17/1962

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMP. NY-488 FILED 10/04/61.
DECISION RENDERED 04/17/62, RESPONDENT IS
FINED $1,000.  COMPLAINT FINAL 05/17/62.
CHECK RECEIVED FOR $1,000. RE:  MEMO 05/29/62.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 558 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ILLINOIS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/19/1990

Docket/Case Number: 8900697

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEE NOTICE OF HEARING & AMENDED NOTICE OF HEARING

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/30/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Does the order constitute a
final order based on
violations of any laws or
regulations that prohibit
fraudulent, manipulative, or
deceptive conduct?

No

Sanctions Ordered:

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Regulator Statement THE NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED FEBRUARY 9, 1990. AMENDED
NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED JUNE 19. 1990. THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL WAS ISSUED AUGUST 30, 1991

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ILLINOIS SECURITIES DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/19/1990

Docket/Case Number: 8900697

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THAT A MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ("MERRILL LYNCH") FINANCIAL ADVISOR
MISREPRESENTED OR OMITTED MATERIAL FACTS IN RECOMMENDING
AND PURCHASING CERTAIN SECURITIES AND FURTHER ALLEGED
UNSUITABLE RECOMMENDATIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/30/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED FEBRUARY 9, 1990. AMENDED
NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED JUNE 19, 1990.  THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL WAS ISSUED AUGUST 30, 1991.

Firm Statement THE NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED FEBRUARY 9, 1990. AMENDED
NOTICE OF HEARING WAS ISSUED JUNE 19, 1990.  THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL WAS ISSUED AUGUST 30, 1991.

Sanctions Ordered:

Settled

Disclosure 559 of 595

i
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Disclosure 559 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NYSE HEARING PANEL

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/21/1992

Docket/Case Number: 93-29

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: Not Provided

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/02/1994

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: JUNE 2, 1994 -- DECISION ISSUED BY THE NYSE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS -- FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING AND WITHOUT THE FIRM ADMITTING OR
DENYING ANY OF THE FACTS SET FORTH THEREIN, THE DIVISION AND
THE FIRM HEREBY REQUEST THE BOARD TO INCORPORATE THE
CONTENT OF
HEARING PANEL DECISION #93-29 EXCEPT FOR THE ENTIRE SUMMARY
HEADNOTE ON PAGE ONE THEREOF AND THE THIRD PARAGRAPH ON
PAGE 9
(PENALTY SECTION) THEREOF IN THE BOARD'S DECISION RESOLVING THE
DIVISION'S AND THE FIRM'S REQUESTS FOR REVIEW. WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS OR FINDINGS SET FORTH HEREIN,
THE FIRM CONSENTS TO:  (1) THE BOARD INCORPORATING IN ITS
DECISION FINDINGS THAT THE FI RM, DURING THE PERIOD 1985
THROUGH SEPTEMBER 1988:  a. VIOLATED REGULATION 240.17a-3
PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (THE
"ACT") IN THAT IT MAINTAINED INACCURATE ACCOUNT STATEMENTS; AND
b. VIOLATED REGULATION 240.10b-10 PROMULGATED UNDER THE ACT IN
THAT IT FAILED TO CONFIRM TO ITS CUSTOMERS CERTAIN
TRANSACTIONS
WHICH HAD TAKEN PLACE.  (2) THE IMPOSITION BY THE BOARD OF THE
PENALTY OF A CENSURE AND A FINE OF $90,000 AND THE REQUIREMENTS
THAT THE FIRM:  a. COMPLY WITH ITS VOLUNTARY UNDERTAKINGS AS
SET FORTH BELOW:  i. TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE TO
THOSE CUSTOMERS WHO DID NOT TAKE ADVANTAGE OF THE MORE
VALUABLE
CONVERSION OPPORTUNITY (THE "CUSTOMERS") ALL PROFITS
GENERATED
BY THESE FORMER CONVERSION PRACTICES TOGETHER WITH INTEREST
FROM THE DATES OF THE GENERATION OF THE PROFITS. ii. TO PAY TO
THE SECURITIES INVESTORS PROTECTION CORPORATION OR TO SUCH
OTHER ORGANIZATION FOR THE BENEFIT OF INVESTORS WHICH IS
ACCEPTABLE TO THE EXCHANGE ALL SUMS OTHERWISE PAYABLE TO
THOSE
CUSTOMERS WHOM THE FIRM CANNOT LOCATE DESPITE ITS BEST
EFFORTS.
 iii. TO MAKE ALL SUCH PAYMENTS ON OR BEFORE SIX MONTHS
FOLLOWING THE ISSUANCE OF THE BOARD'S DECISION IN THIS MATTER;
b. CAUSE ITS OUTSIDE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS (THE "AUDITORS") TO
CONDUCT A REVIEW OF TH*See FAQ #1*

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Stipulation and Consent
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JUNE 2, 1994 -- DECISION ISSUED BY THE NYSE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS -- FOR THE SOLE PURPOSE OF SETTLING THIS
DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING AND WITHOUT THE FIRM ADMITTING OR
DENYING ANY OF THE FACTS SET FORTH THEREIN, THE DIVISION AND
THE FIRM HEREBY REQUEST THE BOARD TO INCORPORATE THE
CONTENT OF
HEARING PANEL DECISION #93-29 EXCEPT FOR THE ENTIRE SUMMARY
HEADNOTE ON PAGE ONE THEREOF AND THE THIRD PARAGRAPH ON
PAGE 9
(PENALTY SECTION) THEREOF IN THE BOARD'S DECISION RESOLVING THE
DIVISION'S AND THE FIRM'S REQUESTS FOR REVIEW. WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FACTS OR FINDINGS SET FORTH HEREIN,
THE FIRM CONSENTS TO:  (1) THE BOARD INCORPORATING IN ITS
DECISION FINDINGS THAT THE FI RM, DURING THE PERIOD 1985
THROUGH SEPTEMBER 1988:  a. VIOLATED REGULATION 240.17a-3
PROMULGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (THE
"ACT") IN THAT IT MAINTAINED INACCURATE ACCOUNT STATEMENTS; AND
b. VIOLATED REGULATION 240.10b-10 PROMULGATED UNDER THE ACT IN
THAT IT FAILED TO CONFIRM TO ITS CUSTOMERS CERTAIN
TRANSACTIONS
WHICH HAD TAKEN PLACE.  (2) THE IMPOSITION BY THE BOARD OF THE
PENALTY OF A CENSURE AND A FINE OF $90,000 AND THE REQUIREMENTS
THAT THE FIRM:  a. COMPLY WITH ITS VOLUNTARY UNDERTAKINGS AS
SET FORTH BELOW:  i. TO USE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE TO
THOSE CUSTOMERS WHO DID NOT TAKE ADVANTAGE OF THE MORE
VALUABLE
CONVERSION OPPORTUNITY (THE "CUSTOMERS") ALL PROFITS
GENERATED
BY THESE FORMER CONVERSION PRACTICES TOGETHER WITH INTEREST
FROM THE DATES OF THE GENERATION OF THE PROFITS. ii. TO PAY TO
THE SECURITIES INVESTORS PROTECTION CORPORATION OR TO SUCH
OTHER ORGANIZATION FOR THE BENEFIT OF INVESTORS WHICH IS
ACCEPTABLE TO THE EXCHANGE ALL SUMS OTHERWISE PAYABLE TO
THOSE
CUSTOMERS WHOM THE FIRM CANNOT LOCATE DESPITE ITS BEST
EFFORTS.
 iii. TO MAKE ALL SUCH PAYMENTS ON OR BEFORE SIX MONTHS
FOLLOWING THE ISSUANCE OF THE BOARD'S DECISION IN THIS MATTER;
b. CAUSE ITS OUTSIDE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS (THE "AUDITORS") TO
CONDUCT A REVIEW OF TH*See FAQ #1*

Regulator Statement THE DECISION IS FINAL. CONTACT: PEGGY GERMINO --
(212) 656-8450.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 05/21/1992

Docket/Case Number: 93-29

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF RLE 476(A)(6), REGULATIONS 240.17A-3.15C3-3, 240.17A-
5,240.10B-10. FIRM'S COVERSION PRATICES BETWEEN 1985 & 1988 WERE
INCONSISTENT WITH JUST AND EQUITABL PRINCIPLES OF TRADE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 06/02/1994

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING TO USE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE TO CUSTOMER ALL
PROFITS GENERATED FROM CONVERSION OPPORTUNITIES.  FIRM
AGREED TO HAVE OUTSIDE AUDITORS REVIEW.

Sanction Details: FIRM AGREED TO A CENSURE AND FINE.  FIRM WAS EXONERATED OF THE
CHARGES THAT IT VIOLATED (I)NYSE RULE 476(A)(6) JUST AND EQUITABLE
PRINCIPLES OF TRADE STANDARD, (II) REGUALTION 240.145C3-3-3
RESERVE BANK ACCOUNT REQUIREMENTS AN (III) REGULATION 240.17A 5
FOCUS REPORT REQUIREMENTS. FIRM WAS FOUND TO HAVE ACTED IN
GOOD FAITH AND THAT THE INTENT OF THE CUSTOMERS WAS FULFILLED
AND NO CUSTOMER WAS HARMED OR PLACED AT RISK BY FIRMS'
PRACTICES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $90,000.00

Disclosure 560 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/22/1988

Docket/Case Number: 88-13

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/22/1988

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement +08/12/97+ CFTC PROCEEDINGS BULLETIN DATED DECEMBER 31, 1996,
PAGE 197, DISCLOSES; MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC
("MLPFS") VIOLATED CFTC ACTS 4b(A), 4g(1) AND REGULATIONS
1.31(a)(1), 1.31(a)(2), 1.35(a), 1.35(a-1)(1) & (2) AND 166.3.
MLPFS WAS ISSUED A CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AND PENALIZED IN THE
AMOUNT OF $150,000 JOINTLY OWED. DOCKET/CASE NO. 88-13, DATED
03/22/88.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Settled
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Regulator Statement +08/12/97+ CFTC PROCEEDINGS BULLETIN DATED DECEMBER 31, 1996,
PAGE 197, DISCLOSES; MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC
("MLPFS") VIOLATED CFTC ACTS 4b(A), 4g(1) AND REGULATIONS
1.31(a)(1), 1.31(a)(2), 1.35(a), 1.35(a-1)(1) & (2) AND 166.3.
MLPFS WAS ISSUED A CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AND PENALIZED IN THE
AMOUNT OF $150,000 JOINTLY OWED. DOCKET/CASE NO. 88-13, DATED
03/22/88.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 03/22/1988

Docket/Case Number: 88-13

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM  CHARGED WITH VARIOUS BOOKKEEPING VIOLATIONS.  FIRM ALSO
CHARGED WITH BEING LIABLE FOR THE FINANCIAL CONSULTANT'S
CONDUCT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/22/1988

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO A CIVIL PENALTY OF $150,000 AND WAS ORDERED TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $150,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 561 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Allegations: A STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY
WAS SUBSEQUENTLY ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE EXCHANGE AND
MERRILL
LYNCH AND WAS ACCEPTED BY AN EXCHANGE DISCIPLINARY PANEL AT A
HEARING HELD ON DECEMBER 15, 1993. MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO
A
FINDING THAT IT ENGAGED IN CONDUCT OR PROCEEDING INCONSISTENT
WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADES, IN VIOLATION OF
ARTICLE V, SECTION 4(h) OF THE EXCHANGE CONSTITUTION, IN THAT
IT ENGAGED IN FRONTRUNNING, BY EFFECTING TRANSACTIONS IN
CHEMICAL BANKING CORPORTION PUT OPTIONS FOR ITS PROPRIETARY
ACCOUNT AT A TIME WHEN IT HAD KNOWLEDGE OF LARGE PENDING
TRANSACTION IN THE UNDERLYING STOCK.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: AMEX

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/15/1993

Docket/Case Number: 93-D-08

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: A STIPULATION OF FACTS AND CONSENT TO PENALTY
WAS SUBSEQUENTLY ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE EXCHANGE AND
MERRILL
LYNCH AND WAS ACCEPTED BY AN EXCHANGE DISCIPLINARY PANEL AT A
HEARING HELD ON DECEMBER 15, 1993. MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO
A
FINDING THAT IT ENGAGED IN CONDUCT OR PROCEEDING INCONSISTENT
WITH JUST AND EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES OF TRADES, IN VIOLATION OF
ARTICLE V, SECTION 4(h) OF THE EXCHANGE CONSTITUTION, IN THAT
IT ENGAGED IN FRONTRUNNING, BY EFFECTING TRANSACTIONS IN
CHEMICAL BANKING CORPORTION PUT OPTIONS FOR ITS PROPRIETARY
ACCOUNT AT A TIME WHEN IT HAD KNOWLEDGE OF LARGE PENDING
TRANSACTION IN THE UNDERLYING STOCK.

Resolution Date: 02/16/1994

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH WAS CENSURED, FINED $10,000 AND
REQUIRED THAT IT RE-CIRCULATE TO ALL ITS TRADERS EXCHANGE
INFORMATION CIRCULARS 79-12 AND 80-36.

Regulator Statement Not Provided

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Settled

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: VIOLATION OF ARTICLE V SECTION 4(H) OF THE AMEX CONSTITUTION BY
EFFECTING TRANSACTIONS IN AN OPTION WHEN HAVING KNOWLEDGE OF
A PENDIG TRANSACTION IN UNDERLYING STOCK.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CENSURE
UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 07/21/1993

Docket/Case Number: 93-D-08

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

VIOLATION OF ARTICLE V SECTION 4(H) OF THE AMEX CONSTITUTION BY
EFFECTING TRANSACTIONS IN AN OPTION WHEN HAVING KNOWLEDGE OF
A PENDIG TRANSACTION IN UNDERLYING STOCK.

Resolution Date: 04/01/1994

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS CONSENTED TO
THE IMPOSITION OF A FINE AND CENSURE AND AGREED TO DISTRIBUTE
CERTAIN AMEX RELEASES TO ITS PERSONNEL.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 562 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/23/1993

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 12/23/1993

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement +1/7/93 SEC NEWS DIGEST, ISSUE 93-246, DATED DECEMBER 23, 1993,
ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS DISCLOSES; "MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE & SMITH
INC., FREDERICK ROEMER AND ROBERT PLUNKETT SANCTIONED"; THE
COMMISSION HAS ISSUED AN ORDER INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS
PURSUANT
TO SECTIONS 15(b) AND 21C OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934, ACCEPTING OFFERS OF SETTLEMENT, MAKING FINDINGS, IMPOSING
REMEDIAL SANCTIONS AND ORDERING RESPONDENTS TO CEASE AND
DESIST
AGAINST MERRILLY LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC., FREDERICK
J. ROEMER AND ROBERT J. PLUNKETT. SIMULTANEOUSLY, THE
COMMISSION ACCEPTED OFFERS OF SETTLEMENT, WHEREBY, EACH
RESPONDENT CONSENTED TO THE ORDER, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING
THE FINDINGS CONTAINED THEREIN. ON THE BASES OF THE ORDER AND
THE OFFERS OF SETTLEMENT, THE COMMISSION FOUND THAT MERRILL
LYNCH WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(a) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND RULE 17a-3 THEREUNDER BASED ON THE
FIRM'S FAILURE TO RECORD PROPERLY ON ITS BOOKS AND RECORDS
CERTAIN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS IN TWO SEPARATE MATTERS. IN
CONNECTION WITH ONE OF THOSE MATTERS, THE COMMISSION ALSO
FOUND
THAT BOEMER AND PLUNKETT WILLFULLY AIDED AND ABETTED AND
CAUSED
MERRILL LYNCH'S VIOLATIONS PURSUANT TO THE ORDER AND THE
OFFERS
OF SETTLEMENT, MERRILL LYNCH WAS REQUIRED TO ADOPT AND
IMPLEMENT CERTAIN PROCEDURES. IN ADDITION, EACH RESPONDENT
WAS
CENSURED AND ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST. (REL 34-33367)

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: SEC ALLEGES THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED SECTIONS OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.  IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO PROPERLY RECORD SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS ON ITS
BOOKS AND RECORDS.

Current Status: Final

1187©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 12/23/1993

Docket/Case Number: UNAVAILABLE

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEC ALLEGES THAT MERRILL LYNCH VIOLATED SECTIONS OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.  IT WAS ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM
FAILED TO PROPERLY RECORD SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS ON ITS
BOOKS AND RECORDS.

Resolution Date: 12/23/1993

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH MADE AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT WITHOUT ADMITTING
OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS.  THE SEC ACCEPTED THE OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT.  THE FIRM WAS CENSURED AND ORDERED TO CEASE AND
DESIST.  THE FIRM WAS REQUIRED TO IMPLEMENT CERTAIN
PROCEDURES TO ENSURE PROPER RECORDKEEPING.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 563 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: FLORIDA DIVISION OF SECURITIES AND INVESTOR
PROTECT*See FAQ #1*

Date Initiated: 09/24/1993

Docket/Case Number: 1938-S-9/93

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Allegations: Not Provided

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/24/1993

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ON SEPTEMBER 24, 1993 THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF
BANKING AND FINANCE ENTERED INTO A STIPULATION AND CONSENT
AGREEMENT WITH FINAL ORDER WITH RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH, INC. WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
LIABILITY, RESPONDENT AGREES TO REIMBURSE THE DEPARTMENT FOR
INVESTIGATIVE COSTS IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000. IN CONSIDERATION
OF THE FOREGOING, THE DEPARTMENT WILL GRANT RESPONDENT'S
REQUEST TO REGISTER TWO BRANCH OFFICES THAT WERE OPERATING
PRIOR TO REGISTRATION. RESPONDENT AGREES TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM ALL VIOLATIONS OF CHAPTER 517, FLORIDA STATUTES.

Regulator Statement CONTACT: ALISA GOLDBERG (904) 488-9805

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FLORIDA DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/24/1993

Docket/Case Number: 1938-S-9/93

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: OPERATING THREE BRANCH OFFICES IN THE STATE OF FLORIDA THAT
WERE NOT LICENSED WITH THE DEPARTMENT.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 09/24/1993

Resolution:

Firm Statement STATE AND FIRM ENTERED INTO A STIPULATION AND CONSENT
AGREEMENT.  FINAL ORDER DATED 9/24/1993.

Order

Disclosure 564 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/09/1992

Docket/Case Number: S90-0012

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: PURSUANT TO AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE CERTAIN
ALLEGED ACTIVITIES OF JOEL EDWARD PORTER, A FORMER EMPLOYEE IN
THE MERRILL LYNCH OFFICE IN BIRMINGHAM, AL. A SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MERRILL LYNCH= AND THE STATE OF
ALABAMA WHEREIN MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO SUBMIT TO A FULL
COMPLIANCE REVIEW OF ITS BIRMINGHAM, AL OFFICE. IT IS TO BE
CONDUCTED BY A "BIG-SIX" ACCOUNTING FIRM AT THE EXPENSE OF
MERRILL LYNCH; MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO REIMBURSE EIGHT
CUSTOMERS OF PORTER'S A TOTAL OF $322,028.00. MERRILL LYNCH
AGREED TO PAY COSTS OF INVESTIGATION, TO WIT: $300,000.00 TO
THE OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, AND $154,000.00 TO THE
ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION; AND MERRILL LYNCH AGREED TO
PAY
TO THE STATE OF ALABAMA, GENERAL FUND, AN ADMINISTRATIVE
ASSESSMENT OF $646,000.00.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/28/1992

Resolution: Stipulation and Consent

1190©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 08/28/1992

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: NOTE: A COPY OF THE COMPLETE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENTE MAY BE OBTAINED FROM THE ALABAMA SECURITIES
COMMISSION UPON REQUEST.

Regulator Statement SAME AS ALLEGATIONS

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ALABAMA SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Disgorgement

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

AGREEMENT TO PAY COSTS OF INVESTIGATION, PAYMENT OF AN
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT, AND A COMPLIANCE REVIEW OF THE
BIRMINGHAM, AL OFFICE.

Date Initiated: 03/09/1992

Docket/Case Number: S90-0012

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: PURSUANT TO AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE ACTIVITIES OF JOEL EDWARD
PORTER, A FORMER EMPLOYEE IN THE BIRMINGHAM, AL, OFFICE, A
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MERRILL LYNCH.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/28/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: AGREED TO PAY $300,000 FOR THE COST OF INVESTIGATION TO THE
ATTORNEY GENERAL AND $154,000 TO THE ALABAMA SECURITIES
COMMISSION, AGREED TO PAY AN ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT OF
$646,000 TO THE STATE GENERAL FUND, AND AGREED TO A COMPLIANCE
REVEIEW OF THE BIRMINGHAM, AL, OFFICE.

Sanction Details: ALL AMOUNTS REFERRED TO IN B ABOVE WERE PAID AS OF 8/28/1992.

Firm Statement PURSUANT TO AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE ACTIVITIES OF JOEL EDWARD
PORTER, A FORMER EMPLOYEE IN THE BIRMINGHAM, AL, OFFICE, A
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MERRILL LYNCH.

THIS IS AN AGREEMENT RATHER THAN AN ORDER.  PLEASE REMOVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Settled
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Firm Statement PURSUANT TO AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE ACTIVITIES OF JOEL EDWARD
PORTER, A FORMER EMPLOYEE IN THE BIRMINGHAM, AL, OFFICE, A
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BY MERRILL LYNCH.

THIS IS AN AGREEMENT RATHER THAN AN ORDER.  PLEASE REMOVE.

Disclosure 565 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VERMONT SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/29/1992

Docket/Case Number: 92-015-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESPONDENT FAILED TO MAINTAIN CONTINUOUS
SURETY BOND AS REQUIRED UNDER THE VERMONT SECURITIES ACT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/29/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT ENTERED INTO A CONSENT ORDER WITH THE
STATE OF VERMONT, WITHOUT ADMITTING THE VIOLATION, WHEREBY
RESPONDENT AGREED TO PAY $1,000 IN SETTLEMENT OF THIS MATTER
AND $500 FOR COSTS OF INVESTIGATION. THE PARTIES AGREED THAT
THE CONSENT ORDER IS NOT INTENDED TO RESULT IN THE
DISQUALIFICATION OF RESPONDENT FROM PARTICIPATION IN ANY
OFFERING OF SECURITIES OR FROM ANY EXEMPTION FROM SECURITIES
REGISTRATION.

Regulator Statement Not Provided

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source:
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Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: VERMONT COMMISSIONER OF BANKING, INSURANCE & SECURITIES.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/26/1992

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: A REPLACEMENT BOND FILING WAS OVERLOOKED IN 1989 IN VIOLATION
OF THE VERMONT SECURITIES ACT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/26/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF AN ORDER ASSESSING $1,000.00 IN
SETTLEMENT OF AN INQUIRY AND AN ADDITIONAL $500.00 IN COSTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,500.00

Order

Disclosure 566 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VIRGINIA - STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Date Initiated: 09/24/1991

Docket/Case Number: SEC910112

URL for Regulatory Action:

Allegations: VIOLATED RULE 602 III C OF THE COMMISSION'S
SECURITIES ACT RULES BY FAILING TO EVIDENCE THE MAINTENANCE OF
A RECORD OF THE INFORMATION WHICH INDICATED THAT PARTICIPANT,
MET SUITABILITY STANDARDS EMPLOYED IN CONNECTION WITH THE
INVESTMENT.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/24/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM FINED $800.00 FOR ALLEGED 602 III C.
VIOLATIONS AND INVESTIGATION COSTS.

Regulator Statement CONTACT HAZEL B. CHEATHAM, BROKER-DEALER
EXAMINER, 804-371-2685.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $800.00

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/01/1991

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF STATE RULES RELATING TO THE MAINTENANCE OF
RECORDS FOR REAL ESTATE PROGRAMS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/01/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $800.00

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM CONSENTED WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS.

Disclosure 567 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/25/1973

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/21/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement ND 73-122 06/25/73
REL. 34-10233
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS ORDERED ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF
ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS IN THE MAKING OF UNTRUE STATEMENTS
(OR OMISSIONS) CONCERNING THE FUTURE PRICE OF SHARES, THE
LIKELIHOOD OF SUCH SHARES BEING LISTED ON A NATIONAL EXCHANGE,
COMPARISONS IN THE COMPANY'S GROWTH TO WELL ESTABLISHED
COMPANIES;  IN THE MISUSE OF INSIDE INFORMATION;  AND FOR
FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE.  REGISTRANT FAILED TO VERIFY
INFORMATION THROUGH INDEPENDENT ANALYSIS OR INQUIRY
CONCERNING
SHARES IT WAS RECOMMENDING FOR PURCHASE.
ND 77-218 11/11/77
REL 34-14149
06/22/73 COMMISSION INSTITUTED PROCEEDING.
HEARING - MARCH 1974 THRU JUNE 1976.
EFFECTIVE 11/21/77 IT IS ORDERED THAT:
1) FIRM IS CENSURED.
2) SUBJECT TO THE TERMS, CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS IN ITS
OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, FIRM SHALL:
A) PAY A SUM OF UP TO $1,600,000 TO COMPENSATE ITS CUSTOMERS.
B) REVIEW ITS GUIDELINES AND, WHERE APPROPRIATE, ADOPT NEW
GUIDELINES RELATING TO ITS RESEARCH AND SALES ACTIVITIES
DESIGNED TO PREVENT FURTHER VIOLATIONS.
C) REVIEW AND, WHERE NECESSARY, STRENGTHEN ITS ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVE
TRAINING PROGRAMS TO PREVENT FURTHER VIOLATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Decision
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ND 73-122 06/25/73
REL. 34-10233
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS ORDERED ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF
ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS IN THE MAKING OF UNTRUE STATEMENTS
(OR OMISSIONS) CONCERNING THE FUTURE PRICE OF SHARES, THE
LIKELIHOOD OF SUCH SHARES BEING LISTED ON A NATIONAL EXCHANGE,
COMPARISONS IN THE COMPANY'S GROWTH TO WELL ESTABLISHED
COMPANIES;  IN THE MISUSE OF INSIDE INFORMATION;  AND FOR
FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE.  REGISTRANT FAILED TO VERIFY
INFORMATION THROUGH INDEPENDENT ANALYSIS OR INQUIRY
CONCERNING
SHARES IT WAS RECOMMENDING FOR PURCHASE.
ND 77-218 11/11/77
REL 34-14149
06/22/73 COMMISSION INSTITUTED PROCEEDING.
HEARING - MARCH 1974 THRU JUNE 1976.
EFFECTIVE 11/21/77 IT IS ORDERED THAT:
1) FIRM IS CENSURED.
2) SUBJECT TO THE TERMS, CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS IN ITS
OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, FIRM SHALL:
A) PAY A SUM OF UP TO $1,600,000 TO COMPENSATE ITS CUSTOMERS.
B) REVIEW ITS GUIDELINES AND, WHERE APPROPRIATE, ADOPT NEW
GUIDELINES RELATING TO ITS RESEARCH AND SALES ACTIVITIES
DESIGNED TO PREVENT FURTHER VIOLATIONS.
C) REVIEW AND, WHERE NECESSARY, STRENGTHEN ITS ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVE
TRAINING PROGRAMS TO PREVENT FURTHER VIOLATIONS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION

Date Initiated: 06/25/1973

Docket/Case Number: ND 73-122

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGED VIOLATES OF ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS INCLUDING MAKING
UNTRUE STATEMENTS OR OMISSIONS CONCERNING FUTURE PRICE OF
SHARES, THE COMPARISON OF THE COMPANY'S GROWTH TO OTHER
WELL ESTABLISHED COMPANIES AND THE LIKELIHOOD OF THE SHARES
BEING LISTED ON A NATIONAL EXCHANGE.  ADDITIONALLY, IT WAS
ALLEGED THAT THERE WAS MISUSEOF INSIDE INFORMATION AND A
FAILURE TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/21/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Disgorgement/Restitution

Decision
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement CENSURED; UNDERTAKING PURSUANT TO OFFER OF SETTLEMENT
INCLUDING (1) PAY RESTITUTION TO CUSTOMERS, (2) REVIEW AND REVISE
PROCEDURES AS APPROPRIATE RELATING TO RESEARCH AND SALES
ACTIVITIES AND (3) REVIEW AND REVISE AS APPROPRIATE THE ACCOUNT
EXECUTIVE TRAINING PROGRAMS.

Disclosure 568 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/20/1985

Docket/Case Number: MS-181

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/28/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 12/5/85: MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-181
SC-SUMMARY COMPLAINT FILED ON SEPTEMBER 20, 1985 ALLEGING
VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION C.3.(a) OF SCHEDULE D OF THE
ASSOCIATON'S BY-LAWS IN THAT RESPONDENT ENTERED QUOTATIONS
INTO
THE NASDAQ SYSTEM ON JUNE 1985 THAT WERE NOT REASONABLY
RELATED
TO THE PREVAILING MARKET. SUMMARY COMPLAINT ACCEPTED 10/28/85.
$1,000 FINE PAID 11/5/85. ***11/6/85, NFC# 23, PAID IN FULL.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Decision
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12/5/85: MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-181
SC-SUMMARY COMPLAINT FILED ON SEPTEMBER 20, 1985 ALLEGING
VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION C.3.(a) OF SCHEDULE D OF THE
ASSOCIATON'S BY-LAWS IN THAT RESPONDENT ENTERED QUOTATIONS
INTO
THE NASDAQ SYSTEM ON JUNE 1985 THAT WERE NOT REASONABLY
RELATED
TO THE PREVAILING MARKET. SUMMARY COMPLAINT ACCEPTED 10/28/85.
$1,000 FINE PAID 11/5/85. ***11/6/85, NFC# 23, PAID IN FULL.

Disclosure 569 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/30/1982

Docket/Case Number: NEW-346

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/30/1982

Resolution:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT #NEW-346, FILED 11/30/82, DIST. #5, ALLEGING
VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2 AND 33, APPENDIX E,
SECTIONS 19 AND 20 AND SECTION 27)a) OF THE RULES OF FAIR
PRACTICE - RESPONDENT MEMBER, ACTING THRU ROBERT D. SHERMAN
FAILED TO PROPERLY DISCHARGE SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITIES. THE
COMPLAINT WAS DISMISSED WITH REGARD TO RESPONDENT GEORGE C.
BOLTON IN THAT THE COMMITTEE DETERMINED THAT HE HAD NO
SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITIES. ****DECISION RENDERED 11/30/84,
WHEREIN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY RESPONDENTS
WAS
ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, MEMBER AND SHERMAN ARE CENSURED AND
MEMBER
IS ASSESSED COSTS OF $90. ALL RIGHTS OF APPEAL AND REVIEW HAVE
BEEN WAIVED, THIS DECISION WAS FINAL 11/30/84. ***3/21/85, FC#
8985, PAID IN FULL.

Settled

Disclosure 570 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Initiated By: FLORIDA DIVISION OF SECURITIES AND INVESTOR
PROTECT*See FAQ #1*

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/25/1991

Docket/Case Number: 1041-S-2/89

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH ALLOWED UNREGISTERED
ASSOCIATED PERSONS TO SELL SECURITIES TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS
FROM
ITS MANCHESTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE BRANCH OFFICE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/25/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH AGREES TO PAY THE
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE $3,000.00 PAYABLE TO
THE ANTI-FRAUD TRUST FUND.

Regulator Statement Not Provided

Sanctions Ordered:

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE

Date Initiated: 04/12/1991

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Allegations: TWO UNREGISTERED ASSOCIATED PERSONS ENGAGED IN SALES OF
SECURITIES TO RESIDENTS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA PRIOR TO
SEPTEMBER 1988.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/25/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: A CONSENT FINAL ORDER WAS DOCKETED WHICH REQUIRED PAYMENT
OF $3,000 AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE FEE BY THE FIRM.  THE ORDER WAS
BASED ON A STIPULATION AND CONSENT DATED 4/12/91.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,000.00

Order

Disclosure 571 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VIRGINIA - STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/29/1991

Docket/Case Number: SEC890037

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH EMPLOYED AN
UNREGISTERED AGENT WHO OFFERED AND SOLD SECURITIES IN THIS
COMMONWEALTH.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/29/1991

Resolution: Consent
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS,
MERRILL LYNCH, AGREED TO PAY A PENALTY OF $1,000 AND TO
REEMPHASIZE THE FIRM'S POLICY ABOUT REASSIGNMENT OF ACCOUNTS
TO
REPSENTATIVES WHO WERE PROPERLY REGISTERED.

Regulator Statement MERRILL LYNCH REASSIGNED A VIRGINIA ACCOUNT TO A
REPRESENTATIVE NOT REGISTERED IN VIRGINIA. REPRESENTATIVE
SUBSEQUENTLY SOLD SECURITIES TO THE VIRGINIA INVESTOR. CONTACT
DAN APPLEWHITE, CHIEF EXAMINER, 804-786-7751.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/29/1991

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM EMPLOYED AN UNREGISTERED AGENT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/29/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ALLEGATIONS FIRM CONSENTED TO
THE ENTRY OF AN ORDER BY THE VIRGINIA STATE CORPORATION
COMMISSION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Order

Disclosure 572 of 595

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VERMONT SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/20/1990

Docket/Case Number: 89-0880-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SALES OF SECURITIES BY UNREGISTERED SALES
REPRESENTATIVES IN THE STATE OF VERMONT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/20/1990

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ON JUNE 20, 1990, THE VERMONT SECURITIES DIVISION
ENTERED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH,
PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. IN SETTLEMENT OF THIS MATTER,
RESPONDENT AGREED TO PAY $9,000 AND TO CONTINUE TO ADDRESS
THE
PROBLEM OF REGISTRATION OF ITS SALES REPRESENTATIVES WITH A
VIEW TO PREVENTING FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE VERMONT
SECURITIES
ACT.

Regulator Statement CERTAIN SALES REPRESENTATIVES EMPLOYED BY
RESPONDENT AT VARI0US BRANCH OFFICES OUTSIDE OF VERMONT
EFFECTED SALES OF SECURITIES FOR VERMONT CUSTOMERS WITHOUT
BEING REGISTERED IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE VERMONT SECURITIES
ACT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,000.00

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: VERMONT SECURITIES DIVISION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/20/1990

Docket/Case Number: 89-0880-S

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SALES OF SECURITIES BY UNREGISTERED SALES REPRESENTATIVES IN
THE STATE OF VERMONT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/20/1990

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: VERMONT SECURITIES DIVISION ENTERED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST
THE FIRM.  IN SETTLEMENT OF THE MATTER, FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE
AND TO CONTINUE TO ADDRESS THE PROBLEM OF REGISTRATION OF ITS
SALES REPRESENTATIVES WITH A VIEW TO PREVENTING FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,000.00

Order

Disclosure 573 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/01/1989

Docket/Case Number: C8A890003

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 02/27/1991

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT NUMBER CHI-1239 (DISTRICT NO. 8) FILED NOVEMBER 1,
1989 AGAINST RESPONDENTS MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INC., JAMES ALLEN BELL, ROBERT DOUGLAS KNAPP AND FRED DWAYNE
BOSTELMAN ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTIONS 1, 2 AND
27 OF THE RULES OF FAIR PRACTICE IN THAT RESPONDENT BELL
RECOMMENDED THE PURCHASE OF HIGH YIELD BONDS TO CUSTOMERS
WITHOUT HAVING REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT SUCH
RECOMMENDATIONS WERE SUITABLE FOR THE CUSTOMERS'; AND,
RESPONDENT MEMBER, ACTING THROUGH RESPONDENTS KNAPP AND
BOSTELMAN, FAILED TO MAINTAIN AND ENFORCE WRITTEN SUPERVISORY
PROCEDURES OR TO OTHERWISE PROPERLY AND ADEQUATELY
SUPERVISE
RESPONDENT BELL.

    DECISION RENDERED FEBRUARY 27, 1991, C8A890003 (CHI-1239)
WHEREIN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT SUBMITTED BY THE
RESPONDENTS
WAS ACCEPTED; THEREFORE, RESPONDENT MEMBER IS CENSURED AND
FINED $2,500 AND RESPONDENT BELL IS CENSURED AND FINED $1,000.
THE COMPLAINT WAS DISMISSED AS TO RESPONDENT KNAPP IN THAT
THE
COMMITTEE DETERMINED THAT GIVEN THE LIMITED TIME HE SERVED AS
BRANCH OFFICE MANAGER, IT COULD NOT BE CONCLUDED THAT HE
FAILED
TO REASONABLE SUPERVISE BELL. THE COMPLAINT WAS DISMISSED AS
TO
RESPONDENT BOSTELMAN IN THAT THE COMMITTEE DETERMINED THAT
HE
DID NOT HAVE SPECIFIC SUPERVISORY DUTIES CONCERNING THE
ACTIVITIES OF RESPONDENT BELL.
   ***$2,500.00 PAID ON 3/25/91 INVOICE #91-8A-314***

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $2,500.00

Settled

Disclosure 574 of 595
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Disclosure 574 of 595

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: VERMONT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/25/1989

Docket/Case Number: 88-0405-S

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: RESPONDENT EFFECTED TWO TRANSACTIONS FOR THE ACCOUNTS OF A
VERMONT RESIDENT THROUGH AN UNREGISTERED AGENT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/25/1989

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE VERMONT SECURITIES DIVISION ENTERED A CONSENT ORDER WITH
RESPECT TO RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH
INC. RESPONDENT CONSENTED TO ENTRY OF THE ORDER WHILE
DENYING ANY VIOLATION OF VERMONT LAW, AND AGREED TO PAY $1,500
IN SETTLEMENT OF THE MATTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,500.00

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: VERMONT COMMISSIONER OF BANKING AND INSURANCE

Date Initiated: 04/25/1989

Docket/Case Number: 88-0405-S

Principal Product Type: Other

Allegations: A SALES PERSON EMPLOYED BY FIRM ENGAGED IN TWO TRANSACTIONS
IN VERMONT WITHOUT BEING REGISTERED.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NOT ENOUGH INFORMATION PROVIDED

Resolution Date: 04/25/1989

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WHILE FIRM DENIED VIOLATION OF ANY VERMONT SECURITIES LAW OR
REGULATION, AN ORDER ASSESSING COSTS AND FEES ON CONSENT WAS
ENTERED.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,500.00

Consent

Disclosure 575 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/19/1988

Docket/Case Number: MS-696-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/11/1988

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-696-AWC:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT FILED APRIL 19, 1988
AGAINST RESPONDENT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART VI, SECTION 4(a) OF
SCHEDULE D IN THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO REPORT ITS NASDAQ
VOLUME.

THE LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) WAS
ACCEPTED
BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON JUNE 28, 1988 AND BY
THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON AUGUST 11, 1988.
$250 FINE

$250 FINE PAID 5/26/88

Disclosure 576 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/05/1987

Docket/Case Number: MS-623-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/03/1988

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-623-AWC:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) FILED OCTOBER
5,
1987 ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART VI, SECTION 2(d) OF SCHEDULE D
FOR ENTERING NASDAQ QUOTATIONS CONTAINING EXCESS SPREADS.
THE
AWC WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON
JANUARY 29, 1988 AND BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE
ON MARCH 3, 1988. $2,000 FINE

***$2,000 FINE PAID 12/1/87

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

1207©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-623-AWC:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) FILED OCTOBER
5,
1987 ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART VI, SECTION 2(d) OF SCHEDULE D
FOR ENTERING NASDAQ QUOTATIONS CONTAINING EXCESS SPREADS.
THE
AWC WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON
JANUARY 29, 1988 AND BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE
ON MARCH 3, 1988. $2,000 FINE

***$2,000 FINE PAID 12/1/87

Disclosure 577 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF OPTION EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/26/1987

Docket/Case Number: 87-0047

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/26/1987

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 12/29/87-CBOE DECISION ACCEPTING OFFER OF SETTLEMENT IN THE
MATTER OF: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH, INC., AND
WALTER STORER, RESPONDENTS; FILE NO.87-0047. THIS PROCEEDING
WAS INSTITUTED BY THE BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE OF THE CBOE
AS
A RESULT OF AN INVESTIGATION BY THE STAFF OF THE EXCHANGE,
WHICH INDICATED THAT THERE WAS PROBABLE CAUSE FOR FINDING A
VIOLATION WITHIN THE DISCIPLINARY JURISDICTION OF THE EXCHANGE.
IN SUBMITTING THIS OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, THE RESPONDENTS
NEITHER
ADMIT NOR DENY THE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IN THE STATEMENT OF
CHARGES. ON THE BASIS OF THE STATEMENT OF CHARGES AND OFFER
OF
SETTLEMENT, THE COMMITTEE HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT THE
RESPONDENTS' OFFER OF SETTLEMENT BASED UPON ITS FINDING OF
THE
FOLLOWING FACTS: DURING ALL RELEVANT PERIODS HEREIN, THE
RESPONDENT, MERRILL LYNCH, WAS A MEMBER OF THE EXCHANGE;
RESPONDENT WALTER STORER WAS EMPLOYED BY AND ASSOCIATED
WITH
MERRILL LYNCH AS A FINANCIAL CONSULTANT. DURING ALL RELEVANT
PERIODS, THE APPLICABLE POSITION LIMIT IN THE STANDARD & POOR'S
100 STOCK INDEX ("OEX") CLASS OF OPTION CONTRACTS WAS 15,000
CONTRACTS ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET. ON JULY 14, 1986, A
PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN
AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT POSITION OF 16,860 OEX OPTION
CONTRACTS. ON JULY 15, 1986, A PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH
AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT
POSITION OF 17,580 OEX OPTION CONTRACTS. ON JULY 16, 1986, A
PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN
AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT POSITION OF 17,580 OEX OPTION
CONTRACTS. ON JULY 17, 1986, A PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH
AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT
POSITION OF 17,215 OEX OPTION CONTRACTS. ON JULY 18, 1986, A
PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN
AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT POSITION OF 18,909 OEX OPTION
CONTRACTS. THE COMMITTEE HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT THE
RESPONDENTS' OFFER OF *See FAQ #1*

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,000.00

Settled
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12/29/87-CBOE DECISION ACCEPTING OFFER OF SETTLEMENT IN THE
MATTER OF: MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER AND SMITH, INC., AND
WALTER STORER, RESPONDENTS; FILE NO.87-0047. THIS PROCEEDING
WAS INSTITUTED BY THE BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE OF THE CBOE
AS
A RESULT OF AN INVESTIGATION BY THE STAFF OF THE EXCHANGE,
WHICH INDICATED THAT THERE WAS PROBABLE CAUSE FOR FINDING A
VIOLATION WITHIN THE DISCIPLINARY JURISDICTION OF THE EXCHANGE.
IN SUBMITTING THIS OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, THE RESPONDENTS
NEITHER
ADMIT NOR DENY THE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IN THE STATEMENT OF
CHARGES. ON THE BASIS OF THE STATEMENT OF CHARGES AND OFFER
OF
SETTLEMENT, THE COMMITTEE HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT THE
RESPONDENTS' OFFER OF SETTLEMENT BASED UPON ITS FINDING OF
THE
FOLLOWING FACTS: DURING ALL RELEVANT PERIODS HEREIN, THE
RESPONDENT, MERRILL LYNCH, WAS A MEMBER OF THE EXCHANGE;
RESPONDENT WALTER STORER WAS EMPLOYED BY AND ASSOCIATED
WITH
MERRILL LYNCH AS A FINANCIAL CONSULTANT. DURING ALL RELEVANT
PERIODS, THE APPLICABLE POSITION LIMIT IN THE STANDARD & POOR'S
100 STOCK INDEX ("OEX") CLASS OF OPTION CONTRACTS WAS 15,000
CONTRACTS ON THE SAME SIDE OF THE MARKET. ON JULY 14, 1986, A
PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN
AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT POSITION OF 16,860 OEX OPTION
CONTRACTS. ON JULY 15, 1986, A PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH
AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT
POSITION OF 17,580 OEX OPTION CONTRACTS. ON JULY 16, 1986, A
PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN
AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT POSITION OF 17,580 OEX OPTION
CONTRACTS. ON JULY 17, 1986, A PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH
AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT
POSITION OF 17,215 OEX OPTION CONTRACTS. ON JULY 18, 1986, A
PUBLIC CUSTOMER OF MERRILL LYNCH AND STORER, CONTROLLED AN
AGGREGATE LONG CALL, SHORT PUT POSITION OF 18,909 OEX OPTION
CONTRACTS. THE COMMITTEE HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT THE
RESPONDENTS' OFFER OF *See FAQ #1*

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE CHICAGO BOARD OF OPTIONS EXCHANGE ("CBOE")

Allegations: FOR A FIVE DAY PERIOD IN JULY, 1986 A PUBLIC CUSTOMER AND A
FINANCIAL CONSULTANT CONTROLLED AN AGGREGATE LONG CALL,
SHORT PUT POSITION OF OEX OPTION CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF THOSE
PERMITTED BY CBOE RULES.

Current Status: Final

1209©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: THE CHICAGO BOARD OF OPTIONS EXCHANGE ("CBOE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/26/1987

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 10/26/1987

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE CBOE ACCEPTED A JOINT OFFER OF SETTLEMENT ON BEHALF OF
THE FIRM AND ITS FINANCIAL CONSULTANT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $3,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 578 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/13/1987

Docket/Case Number: MS-507-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/05/1987

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-507-AWC:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) ALLEGES
VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION C.3.(a) OF SCHEDULE D FOR
ENTERING NASDAQ QUOTATIONS CONTAINING EXCESS SPREADS. THE
AWC
WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON 9/22/87
AND
BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON 10/5/87. $1,000
FINE PAID.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Disclosure 579 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/12/1978

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/11/1981

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement BY A CONSENT ORDER ISSUED ON DECEMBER 20, 1978, A PROCEEDING
INSTITUTED BY THE SEC ON DECEMBER 12, 1978 WAS SETTLED. THE
PROCEEDING INVOLVED THE HANDLING OF U.S. GOVERNMENT
SECURITIES
ARBITRAGE TRANSACTIONS IN TWO CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS SERVICED BY
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED. THE ORDER
OF
SETTLEMENT STATED THAT THE SEC CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM HAD
VIOLATED SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10b-5 IN
CONNECTION WITH THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF U.S. TREASURY NOTES
AND
FURTHER, THAT FIRM AND THE MANAGER OF THE BRANCH OFFICE
WHERE
THE ACCOUNTS WERE MAINTAINED FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
THE
ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE SERVICING THE ACCOUNTS. FIRM AND THE
BRANCH
OFFICE MANAGER AGREED TO THE SETTLEMENT. THE ORDER PROVIDED
FOR
THE ACCEPTANCE OF A CENSURE BY FIRM AND THE BRANCH OFFICE
MANAGER AND AN AGREEMENT BY FIRM TO ADOPT AND IMPLEMENT
CERTAIN
NEW PROCEDURES RELATED TO THE OPENING, REVIEWING AND
HANDLING OF
GOVERNMENT SECURITIES ACCOUNTS IN ITS INSTITUTIONAL OFFICES.
FIRM CONSENTED TO FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO SUPERVISE
ONE
ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE IN REGARD TO THE OFFER AND SALE OF COMMON
STOCK OF HARNISCHFEGER CORP. NO PENALTY WAS ASSESSED AGAINST
THE
FIRM; HOWEVER, THE FIRM UNDERTOOK TO REVISE SOME OF ITS
PROCEDURES REGARDING THE DISTRIBUTION OF TENDER MATERIALS TO
ITS
CUSTOMERS. ON MAY 11, 1981, THE SEC ISSUED AN ORDER WHICH
INCORPORATED THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT. SEA
RELEASE
NO. 17793 (MAY 11, 1981). (FORM BD: JD 03186, SEQUENCE NO
11464).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Settled
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BY A CONSENT ORDER ISSUED ON DECEMBER 20, 1978, A PROCEEDING
INSTITUTED BY THE SEC ON DECEMBER 12, 1978 WAS SETTLED. THE
PROCEEDING INVOLVED THE HANDLING OF U.S. GOVERNMENT
SECURITIES
ARBITRAGE TRANSACTIONS IN TWO CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS SERVICED BY
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED. THE ORDER
OF
SETTLEMENT STATED THAT THE SEC CONCLUDED THAT THE FIRM HAD
VIOLATED SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10b-5 IN
CONNECTION WITH THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF U.S. TREASURY NOTES
AND
FURTHER, THAT FIRM AND THE MANAGER OF THE BRANCH OFFICE
WHERE
THE ACCOUNTS WERE MAINTAINED FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE
THE
ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE SERVICING THE ACCOUNTS. FIRM AND THE
BRANCH
OFFICE MANAGER AGREED TO THE SETTLEMENT. THE ORDER PROVIDED
FOR
THE ACCEPTANCE OF A CENSURE BY FIRM AND THE BRANCH OFFICE
MANAGER AND AN AGREEMENT BY FIRM TO ADOPT AND IMPLEMENT
CERTAIN
NEW PROCEDURES RELATED TO THE OPENING, REVIEWING AND
HANDLING OF
GOVERNMENT SECURITIES ACCOUNTS IN ITS INSTITUTIONAL OFFICES.
FIRM CONSENTED TO FINDINGS THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO SUPERVISE
ONE
ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE IN REGARD TO THE OFFER AND SALE OF COMMON
STOCK OF HARNISCHFEGER CORP. NO PENALTY WAS ASSESSED AGAINST
THE
FIRM; HOWEVER, THE FIRM UNDERTOOK TO REVISE SOME OF ITS
PROCEDURES REGARDING THE DISTRIBUTION OF TENDER MATERIALS TO
ITS
CUSTOMERS. ON MAY 11, 1981, THE SEC ISSUED AN ORDER WHICH
INCORPORATED THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT. SEA
RELEASE
NO. 17793 (MAY 11, 1981). (FORM BD: JD 03186, SEQUENCE NO
11464).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10B-5
AND THAT FIRM AND A MANAGER FAILED TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE AN
ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/12/1978

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/20/1978

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: AGREEMENT TO ADOPT AND IMPLEMENT CERTAIN NEW PROCEDURES
RELATED TO THE OPENING, REVIEWING AND HANDLING OF GOVERNMENT
SECURITIES ACCOUNTS IN ITS INSTITUTIONAL OFFICES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Order

Disclosure 580 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/12/1969

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/21/1971

Resolution: Decision

1213©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 12/21/1971

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement A PRIVATE PROCEEDING WAS COMMENCED BY AN SEC ORDER DATED
APRIL
12, 1969 RELATED TO THE SALE OF 10,000 SHARES OF THE COMMON
STOCK OF MOUNTAIN STATES DEVELOPMENT COMPANY THROUGH
MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED. ON DECEMBER 21,
1971, THE HEARING OFFICER FILED AND SERVED INITIAL FINDINGS
CONCLUDING THAT FIRM AND ONE OF ITS SALESMEN VIOLATED SECTION
5(a) AND (c) OF THE SECURITIES ACT BY THE SALE OF NON- EXEMPT
UNREGISTERED STOCK AND THAT THE MANAGER OF THE FIRM'S SALES
OFFICE IN QUESTION VIOLATED SECTION 15(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT IN
THAT HE FAILED TO EXERCISE REASONABLE SUPERVISION TO PREVENT
SUCH VIOLATIONS. ON PETITION FOR REVIEW, THE COMMISSION ISSUED
FINDINGS, OPINION AND ORDER (SEE RELEASE NO. 9959) AFFIRMING THE
INITIAL DECISIONS OF THE HEARING OFFICER AND ORDERING THAT THE
FIRM'S BRANCH OFFICE IN SALT LAKE CITY BE SUSPENDED FROM
CONDUCTING ANY SECURITIES BUSINESS FOR FIVE BUSINESS DAYS AND
THAT THE FIRM'S SALESMAN AND MANAGER BE SUSPENDED FOR
PERIODS OF
TEN AND FIVE BUSINESS DAYS RESPECTIVELY. (FORM BD: JD 12186,
SEQUENCE NO 10106).

Sanctions Ordered: Suspension

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION       002

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ORDER

Date Initiated: 04/12/1969

Docket/Case Number: SEA RELEASE # 9959

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM AND ONE SALESMAN VIOLATED SECTION 5(A) & (C) OF THE ACT BY
SALES OF NON-EXEMPT UNREGISTERED STOCK.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ORDER

Resolution Date: 12/21/1971

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: BRANCH OFFICE WAS SUSPENDED FROM CONDUCTING SECURITIES
BUSINESS FOR FIVE BUSINESS DAYS.  SALESMAN AND MANAGER
SUSPENDED FOR TEN AND FIVE BUSINESS DAYS, RESPECTIVELY.

Sanctions Ordered: Suspension

Order

Disclosure 581 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/19/1986

Docket/Case Number: MS-390-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/08/1986

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-390-AWC:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) WAS FILED ON
AUGUST 19, 1986, ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION C.3.(c)
OF SCHEDULE D OF THE ASSOCIATION'S BY-LAWS IN THAT RESPONDENT
FAILED TO REPORT ITS NASDAQ VOLUME IN ONE SECURITY ON 5/22/86.
THE AWC WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE
ON
NOVEMBER 13, 1986 AND BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE ON DECEMBER 8, 1986. $500 FINE RECEIVED 9/26/86

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-390-AWC:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) WAS FILED ON
AUGUST 19, 1986, ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION C.3.(c)
OF SCHEDULE D OF THE ASSOCIATION'S BY-LAWS IN THAT RESPONDENT
FAILED TO REPORT ITS NASDAQ VOLUME IN ONE SECURITY ON 5/22/86.
THE AWC WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE
ON
NOVEMBER 13, 1986 AND BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE ON DECEMBER 8, 1986. $500 FINE RECEIVED 9/26/86

Disclosure 582 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/25/1986

Docket/Case Number: MS-421-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/08/1986

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-421-AWC:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC WAS FILED ON
SEPTEMBER 25, 1986, ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION
C.3.(c) OF SCHEDULE D OF THE ASSOCAITION'S BY-LAWS IN THAT
RESPONDENT (MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC.) FAILED
TO REPORT ITS NASDAQ VOLUME IN EIGHTY-SIX (86) SECURITIES ON
7/21/86. THE AWC WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE
COMMITTEE ON NOVEMBER 13, 1986 AND BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS
CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON DECEMBER 8, 1986. $500 FINE RECEIVED
10/20/86

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-421-AWC:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC WAS FILED ON
SEPTEMBER 25, 1986, ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION
C.3.(c) OF SCHEDULE D OF THE ASSOCAITION'S BY-LAWS IN THAT
RESPONDENT (MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC.) FAILED
TO REPORT ITS NASDAQ VOLUME IN EIGHTY-SIX (86) SECURITIES ON
7/21/86. THE AWC WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE
COMMITTEE ON NOVEMBER 13, 1986 AND BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS
CONDUCT COMMITTEE ON DECEMBER 8, 1986. $500 FINE RECEIVED
10/20/86

Disclosure 583 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/11/1986

Docket/Case Number: MS-339-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/10/1986

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 9/24/86: MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-339-AWC:

LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) WAS FILED ON
6/11/86, ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION C.3.(c) OF
SCHEDULE D OF THE ASSOCIATION'S BY-LAWS IN THAT RESPONDENT
(MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATE) FAILED TO
REPORT ITS NASDAQ VOLUME IN FIVE SECURITIES ON 4/8/86. THE AWC
WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE ON 8/6/86
AND
BY THE NBCC ON 9/10/86.

11/18/86: $500 FINE PAID 7/16/86

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 584 of 595

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/23/1986

Docket/Case Number: MS-310-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/13/1986

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 8/29/86: MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-310-AWC:
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT (AWC) ISSUED ON
4/23/86 ALLEGING VIOLATIONS OF PART I, SECTION C.3.(c) OF
SCHEDULE D OF THE ASSOCIATION'S BY-LAWS IN THAT RESPONDENT
FAILED TO REPORT ITS NASDAQ VOLUME IN ONE SECURITY ON 12/24/85,
TWO SECURITIES ON 1/13/86, AND ONE SECURITY ON 1/16/86 AND
1/29/86. THE AWC WAS ACCEPTED BY THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE
COMMITTEE ON 6/27/86 AND BY THE NATIONAL BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE ON 8/13/86. $500 FINE RECEIVED 5/22/86

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $500.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 585 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: WISCONSIN

Date Initiated: 09/30/1982

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/30/1982

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, MERRILL LYNCH
ACCEPTED A CENSURE IN AN ORDER SIGNED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF
SECURITIES OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN ON 9/30/82. THE STAFF HAD
ALLEGED A FAILURE TO DETECT AND PREVENT UNAUTHORIZED
TRANSACTIONS IN A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT AND A FAILURE TO FILE A
COPY OF A CIVIL COMPLAINT AND ANSWER AS REQUIRED BY WISCONSIN
BLUE SKY REGULATION 4.04(2).

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: WISCONSIN SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/30/1982

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM FAILED TO DETECT AND PREVENT UNAUTHORIZED TRANSACTIONS
IN A CUSTOMER'S ACCOUNT AND FAILED TO FILE A COPY OF A CIVIL
COMPLAINT AND ANSWER.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 09/30/1982

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FIRM ACCEPTED A CENSURE ON SEPTEMBER 30, 1982 IN AN ORDER
SIGNED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF SECURITIES

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Order

Disclosure 586 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/26/1985

Docket/Case Number: MS-183-AWC

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/23/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 2/5/86: MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-183-AWC

FILED: 9/26/85

ALLEGED VIOLATION(S): NO VOLUME

DECISION RENDERED 10/23/85: $4,000 & CENSURE

*11/6/85, NFC# 25, PAID IN FULL.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $4,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)
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2/5/86: MARKET SURVEILLANCE COMMITTEE COMPLAINT #MS-183-AWC

FILED: 9/26/85

ALLEGED VIOLATION(S): NO VOLUME

DECISION RENDERED 10/23/85: $4,000 & CENSURE

*11/6/85, NFC# 25, PAID IN FULL.

Disclosure 587 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: MISSOURI

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/21/1983

Docket/Case Number: AO-83-44

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/21/1983

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement IN THE MATTER OF MERRILL LYNCH.  STATE OF MISSOURI, OFFICE OF
THE SECRETARY OF STATE, CONSENT ORDER FILE NO. AO-83-44
JULY 21, 1983.
ON JULY 21, 1983, THE COMMISSIONER OF SECURITIES ENTERED INTO
A CONSENT ORDER WITH RESPONDENT WHEREBY RESPONDENT AGREED
TO
OFFER TO MAKE RESTITUTION TO THE MISSOURI INVESTOR INVOLVED.
RESPONDENT ALSO AGREED THAT THEY WILL NOT SEND OUT MATERIAL
SUGGESTING INVESTORS CONTACT PERSONS WHO ARE NOT
REGISTERED IN
MISSOURI.

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Stipulation and Consent
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IN THE MATTER OF MERRILL LYNCH.  STATE OF MISSOURI, OFFICE OF
THE SECRETARY OF STATE, CONSENT ORDER FILE NO. AO-83-44
JULY 21, 1983.
ON JULY 21, 1983, THE COMMISSIONER OF SECURITIES ENTERED INTO
A CONSENT ORDER WITH RESPONDENT WHEREBY RESPONDENT AGREED
TO
OFFER TO MAKE RESTITUTION TO THE MISSOURI INVESTOR INVOLVED.
RESPONDENT ALSO AGREED THAT THEY WILL NOT SEND OUT MATERIAL
SUGGESTING INVESTORS CONTACT PERSONS WHO ARE NOT
REGISTERED IN
MISSOURI.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: MISSOURI DIVISION OF SECURITIES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/13/1983

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: AN UNREGISTERED EMPLOYEE ACCEPTED AN ORDER TO SELL
SECURITIES FROM A PUBLIC CUSTOMER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/30/1982

Resolution:

Firm Statement AS PART OF THE CONSENT ORDER, FIRM AGREED TO CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS WITH RESPECT TO PROCEDURES INVOLVING CUSTOMER
COMMUNICATIONS WITH NON-REGISTERED EMPLOYEES.

Order

Disclosure 588 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/21/1976

Docket/Case Number: TEX-272

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 05/19/1981

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement COMPLAINT TEX-272 10/21/76
DIST 6.
DECISION 05/19/81:  CENSURED;  FINE $10,000.
05/19/81:  ALL RIGHTS WAIVED.
05/19/81:  FINAL.
FINES & COSTS 08/19/81 FC#7996 PD.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 589 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: ARKANSAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/02/1980

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/21/1981

Resolution:

Regulator Statement STATE OF AR:  09/02/80
COMPLAINT FILED 09/02/80,
HEARING TO BE HELD ON 10/28/80 TO CONSIDER WHETHER
REGISTRATION
OF RESPONDENT SHOULD BE SUSPENDED OR REVOKED OR OTHER
APPROPRIATE ACTION TAKEN, 01/21/81 UNDERTAKES AND AGREE TO
MAINTAIN A PROPER COMPLAINT FILE AS REQUIRED BY RULE 5.01(F)
OF THE ARKANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSIONER'S RULES, AGREE AND
UNDERTAKES THAT THIS CONSENT ORDER SHALL BE DISCLOSED IN ALL
APPLICABLE B/D OR AGENT RE-REGISTRATION OR RENEWAL
APPLICATIONS
AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER INVOLVING AN ASPECT OF THE
SECURITIES
BUSINESS.  THEREFORE AGREED THAT THIS CONSENT ORDER
SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT AND UNDERTAKING SHALL FULLY AND COMPLETELY
RESOLVE
ALL MATTERS REFERRED TO IN THE DEPARTMENT'S COMPLAINT.

Stipulation and Consent
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Regulator Statement STATE OF AR:  09/02/80
COMPLAINT FILED 09/02/80,
HEARING TO BE HELD ON 10/28/80 TO CONSIDER WHETHER
REGISTRATION
OF RESPONDENT SHOULD BE SUSPENDED OR REVOKED OR OTHER
APPROPRIATE ACTION TAKEN, 01/21/81 UNDERTAKES AND AGREE TO
MAINTAIN A PROPER COMPLAINT FILE AS REQUIRED BY RULE 5.01(F)
OF THE ARKANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSIONER'S RULES, AGREE AND
UNDERTAKES THAT THIS CONSENT ORDER SHALL BE DISCLOSED IN ALL
APPLICABLE B/D OR AGENT RE-REGISTRATION OR RENEWAL
APPLICATIONS
AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER INVOLVING AN ASPECT OF THE
SECURITIES
BUSINESS.  THEREFORE AGREED THAT THIS CONSENT ORDER
SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT AND UNDERTAKING SHALL FULLY AND COMPLETELY
RESOLVE
ALL MATTERS REFERRED TO IN THE DEPARTMENT'S COMPLAINT.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: ARKANSAS SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/04/1980

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FRAUD, MISREPRESENTATION, CHURNING AND FAILURE TO SUPERVISE IN
CONNECTION WITH TRADING IN TWO ACCOUNTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/21/1981

Resolution:

Firm Statement ARKANSAS INSTITUTED AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING AGAINST THE
FIRM, BRANCH MANAGER AND A FORMER ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE.  ON
1/21/1981 WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS THE FIRM
AGREED TO AN UNDERTAKING IN RESOLUTION OF THE MATTER.

Settled
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ARKANSAS INSTITUTED AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING AGAINST THE
FIRM, BRANCH MANAGER AND A FORMER ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE.  ON
1/21/1981 WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS THE FIRM
AGREED TO AN UNDERTAKING IN RESOLUTION OF THE MATTER.

Disclosure 590 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: OKLAHOMA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/30/1979

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/25/1980

Resolution:

Regulator Statement APRIL 1979: STATE OF OK: AN INVESTIGATION HAS BEEN BEGUN
REGARDING THE AGENT IN OKLAHOMA CITY OFFICE. ORDER OF
INVESTIGATION WAS ISSUED ALLEGING POSSIBLE VIOLATIONS OF THE
SECURITIES ACT. STATE OF OK: 01/31/80 STATE BULLETIN APRIL 1980
ORDER SETTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR DISQUALIFICATION OF
HEARING EXAMINER DUE TO PREJUDICE SIGNED BY ADMINISTRATOR.
02/13/80 - NOTICE OF HEARING. 03/20/80 - ADMINISTRATOR
DISQUALIFIED IN HEARING BEFORE THE OKLAHOMA SECURITIES
COMMISSION. HEARING SET FOR MAY 22, 1980.******ON SEPTEMBER 25,
1980, THE OKLAHOMA SECURITIES COMMISSION ISSUED AN AMENDED
FINAL
ORDER REVOKING THE PREVIOUS ORDER SUSPENDING THE OKLAHOMA
CITY
BRANCH OFFICE OF MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED AND ACCEPTING THE FILING OF CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS,
DOCUMENT PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS IN FINAL
SETTLEMENT OF
AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING THAT HAD BEEN INITIATED AGAINST
THE
FIRM ON NOVEMBER 30,1979. THE MATTER HAD INVOLVED THE
COMPLAINT
OF ONE CUSTOMER OF THE OKLAHOMA CITY BRANCH OFFICE WHEN
ALLEGED
LACK OF SUITABILITY AND EXCESSIVE TRADING. (FORM BD: JD 03186,
SEQUENCE NO 11464).

Stipulation and Consent

1225©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

APRIL 1979: STATE OF OK: AN INVESTIGATION HAS BEEN BEGUN
REGARDING THE AGENT IN OKLAHOMA CITY OFFICE. ORDER OF
INVESTIGATION WAS ISSUED ALLEGING POSSIBLE VIOLATIONS OF THE
SECURITIES ACT. STATE OF OK: 01/31/80 STATE BULLETIN APRIL 1980
ORDER SETTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR DISQUALIFICATION OF
HEARING EXAMINER DUE TO PREJUDICE SIGNED BY ADMINISTRATOR.
02/13/80 - NOTICE OF HEARING. 03/20/80 - ADMINISTRATOR
DISQUALIFIED IN HEARING BEFORE THE OKLAHOMA SECURITIES
COMMISSION. HEARING SET FOR MAY 22, 1980.******ON SEPTEMBER 25,
1980, THE OKLAHOMA SECURITIES COMMISSION ISSUED AN AMENDED
FINAL
ORDER REVOKING THE PREVIOUS ORDER SUSPENDING THE OKLAHOMA
CITY
BRANCH OFFICE OF MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED AND ACCEPTING THE FILING OF CERTAIN
UNDERTAKINGS,
DOCUMENT PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS IN FINAL
SETTLEMENT OF
AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING THAT HAD BEEN INITIATED AGAINST
THE
FIRM ON NOVEMBER 30,1979. THE MATTER HAD INVOLVED THE
COMPLAINT
OF ONE CUSTOMER OF THE OKLAHOMA CITY BRANCH OFFICE WHEN
ALLEGED
LACK OF SUITABILITY AND EXCESSIVE TRADING. (FORM BD: JD 03186,
SEQUENCE NO 11464).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: OKLAHOMA SECURITIES COMMSSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/30/1979

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CUSTOMER COMPLAINT ALLEGING LACK OF SUITABILITY AND EXCESSIVE
TRADING.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/25/1980

Resolution:

Firm Statement OKLAHOMA COMMISSION ISSUED AN AMENDED FINAL ORDER REVOKING
THE PREVIOUS ORDER SUSPENDING THE BRANCH OFFICE OF THE FIRM
AND ACCEPTED THE FILING OF CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, DOCUMENT
PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS.

Order

Disclosure 591 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF OPTION EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 04/23/1979

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/23/1979

Docket/Case Number: 78-0152

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/23/1979

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement CBOE FILE NO. 78-0152.
04/23/79
CONSENTS TO FINE OF $1,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Settled

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OPTIONS EXCHANGE ("CBOE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/23/1979

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATED SECTIONS 9.7 AND 9.8 OF THE CBOE RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/23/1979

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CBOE RULES REQUIRE WRITTEN APPROVAL BY A MANAGER/REGISTERED
OPTIONS PRINCIPAL PRIOR TO THE ENTRY OF ANY ORDER IN AN OPTION
ACCOUNT.  CBOE ACCEPTED FIRM'S OFFER OF SETTLEMENT AND
IMPOSED THE AGREED UPON FINE OF $1,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,000.00

Disclosure 592 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/26/1978

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/26/1978

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement STATE OF MASS., 12/26/78.
ORDER SUSPENDING BROKER-DEALER
REGISTRATION, STIPULATION, AND CONSENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Suspension

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Allegations: FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASSACHUSETTS
UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT AND CERTAIN RULES THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/29/1978

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM VIOLATED CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MASSACHUSETTS
UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT AND CERTAIN RULES THEREUNDER.

Resolution Date: 12/29/1978

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE CHARGES THE FIRM
AGREED TO ACCEPT A TEN DAY SUSPENSION OF ITS BROKER DEALER
REGISTRATION.  THE SUSPENSION WAS CANCELLED CONDITIONED UPON
THE FIRM'S FURTHER AGREEMENT TO DISTRIBUTE TO ITS BRANCH
OFFICES A STATEMENT OF POLICY SETTING FORTH PROCEDURES TO
PREVENT FURTHER VIOLATIONS

Sanctions Ordered: Suspension

Stipulation and Consent

Disclosure 593 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: WISCONSIN

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/21/1977

Docket/Case Number:

URL for Regulatory Action:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 07/21/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement NO DATE (JULY '77 BULL.) STATE OF WI:
BROKER-DEALER LICENSE SUSPENDED IN WI. FOR
FIVE BUSINESS DAYS COMMENCING 07/25/77,
UNLESS THE FIRM PREPARES REVISED INTERNAL
OPERATING PROCEDURES PRIOR TO THAT DATE.
07/21/77, STATE OF WI:  (BULL. AUG. '77)
PETITION FOR REVIEW.

Sanctions Ordered: Suspension

Decision

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Suspension

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/21/1977

Docket/Case Number: 455-691 & 158-194

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATION THAT FINANCIAL ADVISOR WAS NOT LICENSED IN STATE OF
WISCONSIN.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/21/1977

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision
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Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH ORDERED TO PREPARE REVISED INTRENAL OPERATING
PROCEDURES PRIOR TO THAT DAY (JULY 25, 1977) AND DISTRIBUTE THEM
TO EACH OF ITS LICENSED AGENTS IN WISCONSIN.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement DECISION ENTERED STATING THAT AN AGENT PROVIDING ESSENTIAL
SERVICES TO THE ACCOUNT OF A WISCONSIN INVESTOR MUST COMPLY
WITH THE LICENSING REQUIREMENTS OF THE WISCONSIN SECURITIES
LAW, NOTWITHSTANDING THE FACT THAT THE ACCOUNT IS CARRIED
UNDER THE NAME OF A WISCONSIN LICENSED AGENT WHO ALSO
PROVIDES CERTAIN SERVICES TO THE ACCOUNT.  MERRILL LYNCH
ORDERED TO PREPARE REVISED INTERNAL OPERATING PROCEDURES
AND DISTRIBUTE THEM TO EACH OF ITS WISCONSIN AGENTS.

Disclosure 594 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/20/1981

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/17/1983

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details:

Regulator Statement 05/20/81-ND 81-97, REL. 34-17792 AND 34-17793:  05/20/81
COMMISSION ANNOUNCED INSTITUTION OF PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE FIRM.
COMMISSION SIMULTANEOUSLY ISSUED AN ORDER IN WHICH IT FOUND
THAT
THE FIRM HAD FAILED REASONABLE TO SUPERVISE JAMES F. NOVAK.
COMMISSION ORDERED THE FIRM TO COMPLY WITH ITS UNDERTAKING TO
IMPLEMENT CERTAIN PROCEDURES.  THE FIRM CONSENTED TO FINDINGS
AND ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OR
FINDINGS.
SEC DOCKET, VOLUME 28, NO. 11, AUGUST 30, 1983.
RELEASE NO. 20097, AUGUST 17, 1983, ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING
NO. 3-6278)
THE COMMISSION HAS ACCEPTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT FROM THE
FIRM IN CONJUNCTION WITH ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT
AGAINST THE FIRM.  MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO FINDINGS THAT
IT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULE 17A-3 THEREUNDER BY FAILING TO ACCURATELY MAKE AND
KEEP CERTAIN OF ITS STOCK LOAN BOOKS AND RECORDS;  AND FAILED
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE A PERSON SUBJECT TO ITS SUPERVISION
WITH A VIEW TOWARDS PREVENTING VIOLATIONS OF THE ANTIFRAUD
AND RECORDKEEPING PROVISIONS OF THE ACT.  THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO A CENSURE AND TO UNDERTAKINGS CONCERNING ITS INTERNAL
STOCK
LOAN PROCEDURES.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Consent
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05/20/81-ND 81-97, REL. 34-17792 AND 34-17793:  05/20/81
COMMISSION ANNOUNCED INSTITUTION OF PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE FIRM.
COMMISSION SIMULTANEOUSLY ISSUED AN ORDER IN WHICH IT FOUND
THAT
THE FIRM HAD FAILED REASONABLE TO SUPERVISE JAMES F. NOVAK.
COMMISSION ORDERED THE FIRM TO COMPLY WITH ITS UNDERTAKING TO
IMPLEMENT CERTAIN PROCEDURES.  THE FIRM CONSENTED TO FINDINGS
AND ORDER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OR
FINDINGS.
SEC DOCKET, VOLUME 28, NO. 11, AUGUST 30, 1983.
RELEASE NO. 20097, AUGUST 17, 1983, ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING
NO. 3-6278)
THE COMMISSION HAS ACCEPTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT FROM THE
FIRM IN CONJUNCTION WITH ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT
AGAINST THE FIRM.  MERRILL LYNCH CONSENTED TO FINDINGS THAT
IT WILLFULLY VIOLATED SECTION 17(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULE 17A-3 THEREUNDER BY FAILING TO ACCURATELY MAKE AND
KEEP CERTAIN OF ITS STOCK LOAN BOOKS AND RECORDS;  AND FAILED
TO REASONABLY SUPERVISE A PERSON SUBJECT TO ITS SUPERVISION
WITH A VIEW TOWARDS PREVENTING VIOLATIONS OF THE ANTIFRAUD
AND RECORDKEEPING PROVISIONS OF THE ACT.  THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO A CENSURE AND TO UNDERTAKINGS CONCERNING ITS INTERNAL
STOCK
LOAN PROCEDURES.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ORDER

Date Initiated: 05/11/1981

Docket/Case Number: SEA RELEASE #17793

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FIRM FAILED TO SUPERVISE AN ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE IN REGARD TO THE
OFFER AND SALE OF COMMON STOCK OF HARNISCHFEGER CORP.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/11/1981

Resolution: Settled
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Resolution Date: 05/11/1981

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE FIRM UNDERTOOK TO REVISE SOME OF ITS PROCEDURES
REGARDING THE DISTRIBUTION OF TENDER MATERIALS TO ITS
CUSTOMERS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Disclosure 595 of 595

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/19/1977

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type:

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/19/1977

Resolution:

Regulator Statement ND 77-138 07/19/77.
REL 34-13770, 13769.
PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS ORDERED.
FIRM CONSENTED, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS TO FINDINGS THAT
IT VIOLATED THE BOOKS AND RECORDS PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND HAS BEEN ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION
TO
INSTITUTE CERTAIN RECORDKEEPING PROCEDURES TO AVOID A
REPETITION
OF THIS TYPE OF SITUATION.

Stipulation and Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm
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Initiated By: U.S. SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/19/1977

Docket/Case Number: SEC REL. 13769, SEC REL. 13770

Principal Product Type: Equity - OTC

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATIONS OF SEC RULE 17A3

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/19/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ADOPT AND MAINTAIN CERTAIN RECORDKEEPING PROCEDURES.

Sanction Details: FIRM CONSENTED, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS,
TO FINDING THAT IT FIOLATED RULE 17A3 AND HAS BEEN ORDERED BY
THE SEC TO INSTITUTE CERTAIN RECORDKEEPING PROCEDURES TO
AVOID A REPETITION OF THIS TYPE OF SITUATION.

Firm Statement FIRM CONSENTED, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS,
TO FINDING THAT IT FIOLATED RULE 17A3 AND HAS BEEN ORDERED BY
THE SEC TO INSTITUTE CERTAIN RECORDKEEPING PROCEDURES TO
AVOID A REPETITION OF THIS TYPE OF SITUATION.

Sanctions Ordered:

Stipulation and Consent
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Civil - Final

This type of disclosure event involves (1) an injunction issued by a foreign or domestic court within the last 10 years in
connection with investment-related activity, (2) a finding by a court of a violation of any investment-related statute or
regulation, or (3) an action dismissed by a court pursuant to a settlement agreement.

Disclosure 1 of 4

Reporting Source: Regulator

SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 22772, AUGUST 7, 2013:
ON AUGUST 6, 2013, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
("COMMISSION") FILED A CIVIL INJUNCTIVE ACTION AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. F/K/A BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC ("FIRM") AND OTHER ENTITIES (COLLECTIVELY THE
 "ENTITIES"). THE COMMISSION ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES MADE
MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS IN CONNECTION WITH
THE SALE OF RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES.
SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES FAILED TO
DISCLOSE THE DISPROPORTIONATE CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE
LOANS (72% BY UNPAID PRINCIPAL BALANCE) UNDERLYING THE
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES AS COMPARED TO PRIOR
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES OFFERINGS. THE
COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE
KNOWN RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE HIGH CONCENTRATION OF
WHOLESALE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED
SECURITIES INCLUDING HIGHER LIKELIHOOD THAT THE LOANS WOULD BE
SUBJECT TO MATERIAL UNDERWRITING ERRORS, BECOME SEVERELY
DELINQUENT, FAIL EARLY IN THE LIFE OF THE LOAN, OR PREPAY. THE
COMPLAINT FURTHER ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES VIOLATED
REGULATION S-K AND SUBPART REGULATION AB OF THE SECURITIES ACT
OF 1933 (THE "SECURITIES ACT") BY FAILING TO DISCLOSE THE MATERIAL
CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POOL OF LOANS UNDERLYING THE
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. THE COMPLAINT ALSO
ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS
AND OMISSIONS IN ITS PUBLIC FILINGS AND IN THE LOAN TAPES IT
PROVIDED TO INVESTORS AND RATING AGENCIES THAT THE LOANS IN
THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES COMPLIED
UNDERWRITING STANDARDS WHEN A MATERIAL AMOUNT DID NOT.
FINALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED SECTION
5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT BY FAILING TO FILE WITH THE
COMMISSION CERTAIN LOAN TAPES THAT IT PROVIDED ONLY TO SELECT
INVESTORS.
THE COMMISSION'S COMPLAINT, FILED IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA, CHARGES
THE FIRM WITH VIOLATING THE ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE
COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED SECTION 5(B)(1) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT SEEKS AGAINST THE FIRM A
PERMANENT INJUNCTION, DISGORGEMENT WITH PREJUDGMENT
INTEREST AND CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIES PURSUANT SECTION 20(D) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Relief Sought: Injunction

Other Relief Sought: DISGORGEMENT WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST AND CIVIL MONETARY
PENALTIES

Date Court Action Filed: 08/06/2013

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES

Court Details: UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH
CAROLINA, CHARLOTTE, NORTH CAROLINA, CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:13-CV-447

SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 22772, AUGUST 7, 2013:
ON AUGUST 6, 2013, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
("COMMISSION") FILED A CIVIL INJUNCTIVE ACTION AGAINST MERRILL
LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH, INC. F/K/A BANC OF AMERICA
SECURITIES LLC ("FIRM") AND OTHER ENTITIES (COLLECTIVELY THE
 "ENTITIES"). THE COMMISSION ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES MADE
MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS IN CONNECTION WITH
THE SALE OF RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES.
SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES FAILED TO
DISCLOSE THE DISPROPORTIONATE CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE
LOANS (72% BY UNPAID PRINCIPAL BALANCE) UNDERLYING THE
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES AS COMPARED TO PRIOR
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES OFFERINGS. THE
COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE
KNOWN RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE HIGH CONCENTRATION OF
WHOLESALE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED
SECURITIES INCLUDING HIGHER LIKELIHOOD THAT THE LOANS WOULD BE
SUBJECT TO MATERIAL UNDERWRITING ERRORS, BECOME SEVERELY
DELINQUENT, FAIL EARLY IN THE LIFE OF THE LOAN, OR PREPAY. THE
COMPLAINT FURTHER ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES VIOLATED
REGULATION S-K AND SUBPART REGULATION AB OF THE SECURITIES ACT
OF 1933 (THE "SECURITIES ACT") BY FAILING TO DISCLOSE THE MATERIAL
CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POOL OF LOANS UNDERLYING THE
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. THE COMPLAINT ALSO
ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS
AND OMISSIONS IN ITS PUBLIC FILINGS AND IN THE LOAN TAPES IT
PROVIDED TO INVESTORS AND RATING AGENCIES THAT THE LOANS IN
THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES COMPLIED
UNDERWRITING STANDARDS WHEN A MATERIAL AMOUNT DID NOT.
FINALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED SECTION
5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT BY FAILING TO FILE WITH THE
COMMISSION CERTAIN LOAN TAPES THAT IT PROVIDED ONLY TO SELECT
INVESTORS.
THE COMMISSION'S COMPLAINT, FILED IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA, CHARGES
THE FIRM WITH VIOLATING THE ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS. THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE
COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED SECTION 5(B)(1) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT SEEKS AGAINST THE FIRM A
PERMANENT INJUNCTION, DISGORGEMENT WITH PREJUDGMENT
INTEREST AND CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIES PURSUANT SECTION 20(D) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT.

Resolution: Judgment Rendered

Resolution Date: 11/25/2014

Other Sanctions: PERMANENTLY RESTRAINED; PREJUDGMENT INTEREST ON
DISGORGEMENT

Sanction Details: THE FIRM IS PERMANENTLY RESTRAINED AND ENJOINED FROM
VIOLATING SECTION 17(A)(2) AND (A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
AND SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT; IS JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY
LIABLE FOR DISGORGEMENT OF $109,220,000, TOGETHER WITH
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST THEREON IN THE AMOUNT OF $6,620,000, AND A
CIVIL PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $109,220,000.

Regulator Statement FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER RENDERED NOVEMBER 25, 2014 BY THE
U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA,
CHARLOTTE DIVISION: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
HAVING FILED A COMPLAINT AND DEFENDANT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INC. F/K/A BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC HAVING
ENTERED A GENERAL APPEARANCE; CONSENTED TO THE COURT'S
JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS
ACTION; CONSENTED TO ENTRY OF THIS FINAL JUDGMENT; WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT (EXCEPT
AS TO JURISDICTION); WAIVED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW; AND WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO APPEAL FROM THIS FINAL JUDGMENT.
ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED THAT
DEFENDANT IS PERMANENTLY RESTRAINED AND ENJOINED FROM
VIOLATING SECTION 17(A)(2) AND (A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
AND SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. DEFENDANT IS JOINTLY
AND SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR DISGORGEMENT OF $109,220,000,
REPRESENTING PROFITS GAINED AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT
ALLEGED IN THE COMPLAINT, TOGETHER WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST
THEREON IN THE AMOUNT OF $6,620,000, AND A CIVIL PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $109,220,000. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND
DECREED THAT THIS COURT SHALL RETAIN JURISDICTION OF THIS
MATTER FOR THE PURPOSES OF ENFORCING THE TERMS OF THIS FINAL
JUDGMENT.

Monetary/Fine $109,220,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER RENDERED NOVEMBER 25, 2014 BY THE
U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA,
CHARLOTTE DIVISION: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
HAVING FILED A COMPLAINT AND DEFENDANT MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INC. F/K/A BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC HAVING
ENTERED A GENERAL APPEARANCE; CONSENTED TO THE COURT'S
JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS
ACTION; CONSENTED TO ENTRY OF THIS FINAL JUDGMENT; WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT (EXCEPT
AS TO JURISDICTION); WAIVED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW; AND WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO APPEAL FROM THIS FINAL JUDGMENT.
ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED THAT
DEFENDANT IS PERMANENTLY RESTRAINED AND ENJOINED FROM
VIOLATING SECTION 17(A)(2) AND (A)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
AND SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. DEFENDANT IS JOINTLY
AND SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR DISGORGEMENT OF $109,220,000,
REPRESENTING PROFITS GAINED AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT
ALLEGED IN THE COMPLAINT, TOGETHER WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST
THEREON IN THE AMOUNT OF $6,620,000, AND A CIVIL PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF $109,220,000. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND
DECREED THAT THIS COURT SHALL RETAIN JURISDICTION OF THIS
MATTER FOR THE PURPOSES OF ENFORCING THE TERMS OF THIS FINAL
JUDGMENT.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 22772, AUGUST 7, 2013: ON AUGUST 6, 2013, THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") FILED A CIVIL
INJUNCTIVE ACTION AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INC. F/K/A BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC ("FIRM") AND OTHER
ENTITIES (COLLECTIVELY THE "ENTITIES"). THE COMMISSION ALLEGES
THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS AND
OMISSIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF RESIDENTIAL
MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPLAINT
ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE
DISPROPORTIONATE CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE LOANS (72% BY
UNPAID PRINCIPAL BALANCE) UNDERLYING THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-
BACKED SECURITIES AS COMPARED TO PRIOR RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-
BACKED SECURITIES OFFERINGS. THE COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT
THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE KNOWN RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE
HIGH CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL
MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES INCLUDING HIGHER LIKELIHOOD THAT
THE LOANS WOULD BE SUBJECT TO MATERIAL UNDERWRITING ERRORS,
BECOME SEVERELY DELINQUENT, FAIL EARLY IN THE LIFE OF THE LOAN,
OR PREPAY. THE COMPLAINT FURTHER ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES
VIOLATED REGULATION S-K AND SUBPART REGULATION AB OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (THE "SECURITIES ACT") BY FAILING TO
DISCLOSE THE MATERIAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POOL OF LOANS
UNDERLYING THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. THE
COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL
MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS IN ITS PUBLIC FILINGS AND IN
THE LOAN TAPES IT PROVIDED TO INVESTORS AND RATING AGENCIES
THAT THE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
COMPLIED WITH UNDERWRITING STANDARDS WHEN A MATERIAL AMOUNT
DID NOT. FINALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED
SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT BY FAILING TO FILE WITH THE
COMMISSION CERTAIN LOAN TAPES THAT IT PROVIDED ONLY TO SELECT
INVESTORS. THE COMMISSION'S COMPLAINT, FILED IN THE UNITED
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH
CAROLINA, CHARGES THE FIRM WITH VIOLATING THE ANTIFRAUD
PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS. THE COMPLAINT
ALLEGES THAT THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT
SEEKS AGAINST THE FIRM A PERMANENT INJUNCTION, DISGORGEMENT
WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST AND CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIES
PURSUANT SECTION 20(D) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Relief Sought: Injunction

Other Relief Sought: DISGORGEMENT WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST AND CIVIL MONETARY
PENALTIES

Date Court Action Filed: 08/06/2013

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES

Court Details: UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH
CAROLINA, CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:13-CV-447

SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 22772, AUGUST 7, 2013: ON AUGUST 6, 2013, THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") FILED A CIVIL
INJUNCTIVE ACTION AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INC. F/K/A BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC ("FIRM") AND OTHER
ENTITIES (COLLECTIVELY THE "ENTITIES"). THE COMMISSION ALLEGES
THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS AND
OMISSIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF RESIDENTIAL
MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPLAINT
ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE
DISPROPORTIONATE CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE LOANS (72% BY
UNPAID PRINCIPAL BALANCE) UNDERLYING THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-
BACKED SECURITIES AS COMPARED TO PRIOR RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-
BACKED SECURITIES OFFERINGS. THE COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT
THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE KNOWN RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE
HIGH CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL
MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES INCLUDING HIGHER LIKELIHOOD THAT
THE LOANS WOULD BE SUBJECT TO MATERIAL UNDERWRITING ERRORS,
BECOME SEVERELY DELINQUENT, FAIL EARLY IN THE LIFE OF THE LOAN,
OR PREPAY. THE COMPLAINT FURTHER ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES
VIOLATED REGULATION S-K AND SUBPART REGULATION AB OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (THE "SECURITIES ACT") BY FAILING TO
DISCLOSE THE MATERIAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POOL OF LOANS
UNDERLYING THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. THE
COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL
MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS IN ITS PUBLIC FILINGS AND IN
THE LOAN TAPES IT PROVIDED TO INVESTORS AND RATING AGENCIES
THAT THE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
COMPLIED WITH UNDERWRITING STANDARDS WHEN A MATERIAL AMOUNT
DID NOT. FINALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED
SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT BY FAILING TO FILE WITH THE
COMMISSION CERTAIN LOAN TAPES THAT IT PROVIDED ONLY TO SELECT
INVESTORS. THE COMMISSION'S COMPLAINT, FILED IN THE UNITED
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH
CAROLINA, CHARGES THE FIRM WITH VIOLATING THE ANTIFRAUD
PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS. THE COMPLAINT
ALLEGES THAT THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT
SEEKS AGAINST THE FIRM A PERMANENT INJUNCTION, DISGORGEMENT
WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST AND CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIES
PURSUANT SECTION 20(D) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Resolution: Judgment Rendered

Resolution Date: 11/25/2014

Other Sanctions: DISGORGEMENT OF $109,220,000, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF
$6,620,000, AND CIVIL PENALTY OF $109,220,000.

Sanction Details: ON NOVEMBER 25, 2014, THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA ("DISTRICT COURT") ENTERED A
FINAL JUDGMENT ("JUDGMENT") AGAINST THE FIRM , BANK OF AMERICA,
N.A. ("BANA"), AND BANC OF AMERICA MORTGAGE SECURITIES, INC.
("BOAMS") (COLLECTIVELY, THE "RESPONDENTS") THAT ENJOINED
RESPONDENTS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT"), AND
THE FIRM AND BOAMS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY,
SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  BANA WAS NOT NAMED AS A
DEFENDANT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SECTION 5(B)(1) CLAIM AND
THEREFORE DID NOT CONSENT TO ENTRY OF AN INJUNCTION UNDER
THAT SECTION.  ADDITIONALLY, AS STATED IN THE SEC'S PRESS RELEASE,
 "[A]S PART OF THE [GLOBAL RMBS SETTLEMENT], BANK OF AMERICA
AGREED TO RESOLVE THE U.S. [SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION'S ("SEC" OR "COMMISSION")] ORIGINAL CASE BY PAYING
DISGORGEMENT OF $109.22 MILLION, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $6.62
MILLION, AND A PENALTY OF $109.22 MILLION."

Cease and Desist/InjunctionSanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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ON NOVEMBER 25, 2014, THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA ("DISTRICT COURT") ENTERED A
FINAL JUDGMENT ("JUDGMENT") AGAINST THE FIRM , BANK OF AMERICA,
N.A. ("BANA"), AND BANC OF AMERICA MORTGAGE SECURITIES, INC.
("BOAMS") (COLLECTIVELY, THE "RESPONDENTS") THAT ENJOINED
RESPONDENTS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT"), AND
THE FIRM AND BOAMS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY,
SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  BANA WAS NOT NAMED AS A
DEFENDANT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SECTION 5(B)(1) CLAIM AND
THEREFORE DID NOT CONSENT TO ENTRY OF AN INJUNCTION UNDER
THAT SECTION.  ADDITIONALLY, AS STATED IN THE SEC'S PRESS RELEASE,
 "[A]S PART OF THE [GLOBAL RMBS SETTLEMENT], BANK OF AMERICA
AGREED TO RESOLVE THE U.S. [SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION'S ("SEC" OR "COMMISSION")] ORIGINAL CASE BY PAYING
DISGORGEMENT OF $109.22 MILLION, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $6.62
MILLION, AND A PENALTY OF $109.22 MILLION."

Firm Statement ON NOVEMBER 25, 2014, THE DISTRICT COURT ENTERED A FINAL
JUDGMENT AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS THAT ENJOINED RESPONDENTS
FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND (3)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT"), AND THE FIRM AND
BOAMS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SECTION 5(B)(1) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT.  BANA WAS NOT NAMED AS A DEFENDANT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SECTION 5(B)(1) CLAIM AND THEREFORE DID NOT
CONSENT TO ENTRY OF AN INJUNCTION UNDER THAT SECTION. THE
RESPONDENTS CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT.
THE DISTRICT COURT RETAINED JURISDICTION OVER THE
ADMINISTRATION OF ANY DISTRIBUTION OF THE FUNDS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 22772, AUGUST 7, 2013: ON AUGUST 6, 2013, THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") FILED A CIVIL
INJUNCTIVE ACTION AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INC. F/K/A BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC ("FIRM") AND OTHER
ENTITIES (COLLECTIVELY THE "ENTITIES"). THE COMMISSION ALLEGES
THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS AND
OMISSIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF RESIDENTIAL
MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPLAINT
ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE
DISPROPORTIONATE CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE LOANS (72% BY
UNPAID PRINCIPAL BALANCE) UNDERLYING THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-
BACKED SECURITIES AS COMPARED TO PRIOR RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-
BACKED SECURITIES OFFERINGS. THE COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT
THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE KNOWN RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE
HIGH CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL
MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES INCLUDING HIGHER LIKELIHOOD THAT
THE LOANS WOULD BE SUBJECT TO MATERIAL UNDERWRITING ERRORS,
BECOME SEVERELY DELINQUENT, FAIL EARLY IN THE LIFE OF THE LOAN,
OR PREPAY. THE COMPLAINT FURTHER ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES
VIOLATED REGULATION S-K AND SUBPART REGULATION AB OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (THE "SECURITIES ACT") BY FAILING TO
DISCLOSE THE MATERIAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POOL OF LOANS
UNDERLYING THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. THE
COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL
MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS IN ITS PUBLIC FILINGS AND IN
THE LOAN TAPES IT PROVIDED TO INVESTORS AND RATING AGENCIES
THAT THE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
COMPLIED WITH UNDERWRITING STANDARDS WHEN A MATERIAL AMOUNT
DID NOT. FINALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED
SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT BY FAILING TO FILE WITH THE
COMMISSION CERTAIN LOAN TAPES THAT IT PROVIDED ONLY TO SELECT
INVESTORS. THE COMMISSION'S COMPLAINT, FILED IN THE UNITED
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH
CAROLINA, CHARGES THE FIRM WITH VIOLATING THE ANTIFRAUD
PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS. THE COMPLAINT
ALLEGES THAT THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT
SEEKS AGAINST THE FIRM A PERMANENT INJUNCTION, DISGORGEMENT
WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST AND CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIES
PURSUANT SECTION 20(D) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Relief Sought: Injunction

Other Relief Sought: DISGORGEMENT WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST AND CIVIL MONETARY
PENALTIES

Date Court Action Filed: 08/06/2013

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES

Court Details: UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH
CAROLINA, CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:13-CV-447

SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 22772, AUGUST 7, 2013: ON AUGUST 6, 2013, THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") FILED A CIVIL
INJUNCTIVE ACTION AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH,
INC. F/K/A BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC ("FIRM") AND OTHER
ENTITIES (COLLECTIVELY THE "ENTITIES"). THE COMMISSION ALLEGES
THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS AND
OMISSIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF RESIDENTIAL
MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPLAINT
ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE
DISPROPORTIONATE CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE LOANS (72% BY
UNPAID PRINCIPAL BALANCE) UNDERLYING THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-
BACKED SECURITIES AS COMPARED TO PRIOR RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-
BACKED SECURITIES OFFERINGS. THE COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT
THE ENTITIES FAILED TO DISCLOSE KNOWN RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE
HIGH CONCENTRATION OF WHOLESALE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL
MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES INCLUDING HIGHER LIKELIHOOD THAT
THE LOANS WOULD BE SUBJECT TO MATERIAL UNDERWRITING ERRORS,
BECOME SEVERELY DELINQUENT, FAIL EARLY IN THE LIFE OF THE LOAN,
OR PREPAY. THE COMPLAINT FURTHER ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES
VIOLATED REGULATION S-K AND SUBPART REGULATION AB OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (THE "SECURITIES ACT") BY FAILING TO
DISCLOSE THE MATERIAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POOL OF LOANS
UNDERLYING THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES. THE
COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE ENTITIES MADE MATERIAL
MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS IN ITS PUBLIC FILINGS AND IN
THE LOAN TAPES IT PROVIDED TO INVESTORS AND RATING AGENCIES
THAT THE LOANS IN THE RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES
COMPLIED WITH UNDERWRITING STANDARDS WHEN A MATERIAL AMOUNT
DID NOT. FINALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED
SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT BY FAILING TO FILE WITH THE
COMMISSION CERTAIN LOAN TAPES THAT IT PROVIDED ONLY TO SELECT
INVESTORS. THE COMMISSION'S COMPLAINT, FILED IN THE UNITED
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH
CAROLINA, CHARGES THE FIRM WITH VIOLATING THE ANTIFRAUD
PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS. THE COMPLAINT
ALLEGES THAT THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND 17(A)(3)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT ALSO ALLEGES THAT THE FIRM
VIOLATED SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT. THE COMPLAINT
SEEKS AGAINST THE FIRM A PERMANENT INJUNCTION, DISGORGEMENT
WITH PREJUDGMENT INTEREST AND CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIES
PURSUANT SECTION 20(D) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Resolution: Judgment Rendered

Resolution Date: 11/25/2014

Other Sanctions: DISGORGEMENT OF $109,220,000, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF
$6,620,000, AND CIVIL PENALTY OF $109,220,000.

Sanction Details: ON NOVEMBER 25, 2014, THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA ("DISTRICT COURT") ENTERED A
FINAL JUDGMENT ("JUDGMENT") AGAINST THE FIRM , BANK OF AMERICA,
N.A. ("BANA"), AND BANC OF AMERICA MORTGAGE SECURITIES, INC.
("BOAMS") (COLLECTIVELY, THE "RESPONDENTS") THAT ENJOINED
RESPONDENTS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT"), AND
THE FIRM AND BOAMS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY,
SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  BANA WAS NOT NAMED AS A
DEFENDANT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SECTION 5(B)(1) CLAIM AND
THEREFORE DID NOT CONSENT TO ENTRY OF AN INJUNCTION UNDER
THAT SECTION.  ADDITIONALLY, AS STATED IN THE SEC'S PRESS RELEASE,
 "[A]S PART OF THE [GLOBAL RMBS SETTLEMENT], BANK OF AMERICA
AGREED TO RESOLVE THE U.S. [SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION'S ("SEC" OR "COMMISSION")] ORIGINAL CASE BY PAYING
DISGORGEMENT OF $109.22 MILLION, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $6.62
MILLION, AND A PENALTY OF $109.22 MILLION."

Cease and Desist/InjunctionSanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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ON NOVEMBER 25, 2014, THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA ("DISTRICT COURT") ENTERED A
FINAL JUDGMENT ("JUDGMENT") AGAINST THE FIRM , BANK OF AMERICA,
N.A. ("BANA"), AND BANC OF AMERICA MORTGAGE SECURITIES, INC.
("BOAMS") (COLLECTIVELY, THE "RESPONDENTS") THAT ENJOINED
RESPONDENTS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SECTIONS
17(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT"), AND
THE FIRM AND BOAMS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY,
SECTION 5(B)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.  BANA WAS NOT NAMED AS A
DEFENDANT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SECTION 5(B)(1) CLAIM AND
THEREFORE DID NOT CONSENT TO ENTRY OF AN INJUNCTION UNDER
THAT SECTION.  ADDITIONALLY, AS STATED IN THE SEC'S PRESS RELEASE,
 "[A]S PART OF THE [GLOBAL RMBS SETTLEMENT], BANK OF AMERICA
AGREED TO RESOLVE THE U.S. [SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION'S ("SEC" OR "COMMISSION")] ORIGINAL CASE BY PAYING
DISGORGEMENT OF $109.22 MILLION, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF $6.62
MILLION, AND A PENALTY OF $109.22 MILLION."

Firm Statement ON NOVEMBER 25, 2014, THE DISTRICT COURT ENTERED A FINAL
JUDGMENT AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS THAT ENJOINED RESPONDENTS
FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SECTIONS 17(A)(2) AND (3)
OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 ("SECURITIES ACT"), AND THE FIRM AND
BOAMS FROM VIOLATING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SECTION 5(B)(1) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT.  BANA WAS NOT NAMED AS A DEFENDANT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SECTION 5(B)(1) CLAIM AND THEREFORE DID NOT
CONSENT TO ENTRY OF AN INJUNCTION UNDER THAT SECTION. THE
RESPONDENTS CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT.
THE DISTRICT COURT RETAINED JURISDICTION OVER THE
ADMINISTRATION OF ANY DISTRIBUTION OF THE FUNDS.

Disclosure 2 of 4

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: GAIL CAHALY, ET AL.

Date Court Action Filed: 02/07/2011

Court Details: MASS. SUPERIOR, SUFFOLK COUNTY, MA, NO. 01-116-BLS2
(CONSOLIDATED WITH OTHERS).

PLAINTIFFS ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AIDED AND ABETTED A FRAUD,
VIOLATION OF A CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW, AND BREACH OF
FIDUCIARY DUTY ALLEGEDLY PERPETRATED BY BENISTAR, A FORMER
MERRILL LYNCH CLIENT, IN CONNECTION WITH TRADING IN BENISTAR'S
ACCOUNT.  DURING THE PROCEEDINGS, PLAINTIFF ALSO MADE
ALLEGATIONS THAT APPLICANT ENGAGED IN SANCTIONABLE CONDUCT IN
CONNECTION WITH THE DISCOVERY PROCESS AND THE TRIAL.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Money Damages (Private/Civil Complaint)

Other Relief Sought:

Date Court Action Filed: 02/07/2011

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Types:

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 12/26/2012

Other Sanctions: THE ABOVE AMOUNT REPRESENTS MONETARY DAMAGES DIRECTED BY
THE COURT AND DOES NOT INCLUDE ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS OR
STATUTORY INTEREST.  AS DESCRIBED BELOW, FOLLOWING THE
ISSUANCE OF THE COURT'S JUDGMENT, THE PARTIES AGREED TO
SETTLE.

Sanction Details: ON FEBRUARY 7, 2011, THE COURT ISSUED FINAL JUDGMENT REQUIRING
APPLICANT TO PAY $9,669,443.58 IN CONSEQUENTIAL AND
COMPENSATORY DAMAGE PLUS STATUTORY INTEREST, AND $8,700,000 IN
ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS; BUT DENYING PLAINTIFFS' REQUESTS
FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES AND SANCTIONS.  THE CLIENT, A CO-
DEFENDANT, FILED A NOTICE OF APPEAL ON OR ABOUT JANUARY 19, 2011.
PLAINTIFFS AND APPLICANT ALSO APPEALED.  WHILE THE APPEALS WERE
PENDING, ON DECEMBER 26, 2012, PLAINTIFFS AND APPLICANT AGREED
TO SETTLE FOR $22,500,000.

Firm Statement PLAINTIFFS ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AIDED AND ABETTED A FRAUD,
VIOLATION OF A CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW, AND BREACH OF
FIDUCIARY DUTY ALLEGEDLY PERPETRATED BY A FORMER MERRILL
LYNCH CLIENT, IN CONNECTION WITH TRADING IN THE CLIENT'S
ACCOUNT.  IN 2002, FOLLOWING A TRIAL, A JURY RENDERED A VERDICT
FOR PLAINTIFFS.  THEREAFTER, THE COURT GRANTED APPLICANT'S
MOTION TO VACATE AND PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.  ON JUNE
25, 2009, FOLLOWING A RETRIAL, THE JURY FOUND IN PLAINTIFFS' FAVOR.
ON JANUARY 11, 2011, THE COURT ISSUED RULINGS DENYING PLAINTIFFS'
MOTION FOR SANCTIONS AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES, AWARDING CERTAIN
PLAINTIFFS CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, AND AWARDING ATTORNEYS'
FEES AND COSTS.  ON FEBRUARY 7, 2011, THE COURT ISSUED FINAL
JUDGMENT REQUIRING APPLICANT TO PAY $9,669,443.58 IN
CONSEQUENTIAL AND COMPENSATORY DAMAGE PLUS STATUTORY
INTEREST, AND $8,700,000 IN ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS; BUT
DENYING PLAINTIFFS' REQUESTS FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES AND
SANCTIONS.  THE CLIENT, A CO-DEFENDANT, FILED A NOTICE OF APPEAL
ON OR ABOUT JANUARY 19, 2011.  PLAINTIFFS AND APPLICANT ALSO
APPEALED.  WHILE THE APPEALS WERE PENDING, ON DECEMBER 26,
2012, PLAINTIFFS AND APPLICANT AGREED TO SETTLE FOR $22,500,000.

Monetary/Fine $9,669,443.58Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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PLAINTIFFS ALLEGED THAT APPLICANT AIDED AND ABETTED A FRAUD,
VIOLATION OF A CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW, AND BREACH OF
FIDUCIARY DUTY ALLEGEDLY PERPETRATED BY A FORMER MERRILL
LYNCH CLIENT, IN CONNECTION WITH TRADING IN THE CLIENT'S
ACCOUNT.  IN 2002, FOLLOWING A TRIAL, A JURY RENDERED A VERDICT
FOR PLAINTIFFS.  THEREAFTER, THE COURT GRANTED APPLICANT'S
MOTION TO VACATE AND PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.  ON JUNE
25, 2009, FOLLOWING A RETRIAL, THE JURY FOUND IN PLAINTIFFS' FAVOR.
ON JANUARY 11, 2011, THE COURT ISSUED RULINGS DENYING PLAINTIFFS'
MOTION FOR SANCTIONS AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES, AWARDING CERTAIN
PLAINTIFFS CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, AND AWARDING ATTORNEYS'
FEES AND COSTS.  ON FEBRUARY 7, 2011, THE COURT ISSUED FINAL
JUDGMENT REQUIRING APPLICANT TO PAY $9,669,443.58 IN
CONSEQUENTIAL AND COMPENSATORY DAMAGE PLUS STATUTORY
INTEREST, AND $8,700,000 IN ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS; BUT
DENYING PLAINTIFFS' REQUESTS FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES AND
SANCTIONS.  THE CLIENT, A CO-DEFENDANT, FILED A NOTICE OF APPEAL
ON OR ABOUT JANUARY 19, 2011.  PLAINTIFFS AND APPLICANT ALSO
APPEALED.  WHILE THE APPEALS WERE PENDING, ON DECEMBER 26,
2012, PLAINTIFFS AND APPLICANT AGREED TO SETTLE FOR $22,500,000.

Disclosure 3 of 4

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Relief Sought: Injunction

Other Relief Sought: CIVIL PENALTIES

Date Court Action Filed: 04/28/2003

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Types:

Court Details: UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 03
CV 2941 (WHP) (S.D.N.Y.)

SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 18115, APRIL 28, 2003: MERRILL LYNCH
PUBLISHED RESEARCH REPORTS ON INTERNET COMPANIES THAT
VIOLATED ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS,
AND PUBLISHED RESEARCH REPORTS ON OTHER INTERNET COMPANIES
THAT EXPRESSED VIEWS INCONSISTENT WITH THE ANALYSTS' PRIVATELY
EXPRESSED NEGATIVE VIEWS IN VIOLATION OF NASD'S AND NYSE'S
ADVERTISING RULES. ALLOWED ITS INVESTMENT BANKING FUNCTION TO
EXERCISE UNDUE INFLUENCE OVER RESEARCH ANALYSTS, THEREBY
RESULTING IN CONFLICTS OF INTEREST FOR ITS RESEARCH ANALYSTS,
AND IT FAILED TO MANAGE THESE CONFLICTS IN AN ADEQUATE OR
APPROPRIATE MANNER. MERRILL LYNCH'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
THAT WERE INTENDED TO MAINTAIN THE INDEPENDENCE OF RESEARCH
ANALYSTS FROM INVESTMENT BANKING WERE INADEQUATE TO ENSURE
ITS RESEARCH ANALYSTS ISSUED OBJECTIVE RESEARCH AND WERE NOT
COMPROMISED BY THE CONFLICTS OF INTEREST DESCRIBED ABOVE. AS
A RESULT, MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THE
ACTIVITIES AND CONDUCT OF ITS RESEARCH ANALYSTS.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Judgment Rendered

Resolution Date: 10/31/2003

Other Sanctions: UNDERTAKING

Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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Sanction Details: SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 18438, OCTOBER 31, 2003: RESPONDENT, HIS
AGENTS, SERVANTS, EMPLOYEES, ATTORNEYS AND ALL PERSONS IN
ACTIVE CONCERT OR PARTICIPATION WITH THEM WHO RECEIVE ACTUAL
NOTICE OF THIS FINAL JUDGMENT BY PERSONAL SERVICE OR
OTHERWISE, CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THIS FINAL JUDGMENT
WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT,
THEREFORE THE FIRM IS PERMANENTLY RESTRAINED AND ENJOINED
FROM VIOLATING SECTION 15(C)OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 15C1-2
PROMULGATED THEREUNDER; NASD RULES 2110, 2210 AND 3010; NYSE
RULES 342, 401, 472, 476; DEFENDANT SHALL PAY A TOTAL AMOUNT OF
$200,000,000 WHICH INCLUDES, $100,000,000 AS A PENALTY; $75,000,000,
TO BE USED FOR THE PROCUREMENT OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH,
$25,000,000 TO BE USED FOR INVESTOR EDUCATION FUND. IT IS FURTHER
ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED THAT, FOR A PERIOD OF FIVE YEARS
FROM THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS FINAL JUDGMENT OR SUCH
SHORTER OR LONGER PERIOD AS THE COURT MAY ORDER, DEFENDANTS
ARE HEREBY ENJOINED FROM DESTROYING, MUTILATING, CONCEALING,
ALTERING, OR DISPOSING OF ANY DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE
COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER REGULATORY AUTHORITY RELATING TO
THIS COMPLAINT.

Regulator Statement MERRILL LYNCH HAS AGREED TO PAY $100 MILLION IN PENALTIES, TO BE
DEEMED SATISFIED BY MERRILL LYNCH'S $100 MILLION PAYMENT TO
STATE SECURITIES REGULATORS LAST YEAR ARISING FROM SIMILAR
CONDUCT. MERRILL LYNCH ALSO WILL PAY, OVER FIVE YEARS, $75
MILLION TO PROVIDE THE FIRM'S CLIENTS WITH INDEPENDENT
RESEARCH, AND $25 MILLION TO BE USED FOR INVESTOR EDUCATION. IN
THE SEC ACTION, MERRILL LYNCH HAS AGREED TO A FEDERAL COURT
ORDER THAT WILL ENJOIN THE FIRM FROM FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND NASD AND NYSE RULES, AND REQUIRE
THE FIRM TO MAKE CHANGES IN THE OPERATIONS OF ITS EQUITY
RESEARCH AND INVESTMENT BANKING DEPARTMENTS.

SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 21457, MARCH 19, 2010: THE HONORABLE
JUDGE OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN
DISTRICT OF NEW YORK ISSUED AN ORDER ON MARCH 15, 2010
APPROVING MODIFICATIONS TO THE FINAL JUDGMENTS ENTERED
AGAINST THE DEFENDANT AND OTHERS. THE FINAL JUDGMENTS
CONTAINED AN EXTENSIVE ADDENDUM WITH PROVISIONS MANDATING
STRUCTURAL AND OTHER REFORMS THAT ADDRESSED POTENTIAL
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST BETWEEN EQUITY RESEARCH ANALYSTS AND
INVESTMENT BANKING. THE SETTLEMENT PROVIDED THAT WITH
RESPECT TO ANY PROVISION THAT HAD NOT BEEN EXPRESSLY
SUPERSEDED BY SUBSEQUENT RULEMAKING WITHIN FIVE YEARS, THE
SEC WOULD AGREE TO AN AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION OF SUCH TERM,
SUBJECT TO COURT APPROVAL, UNLESS THE SEC BELIEVES IT WOULD
NOT BE IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST. THE COURT APPROVED REMOVING A
NUMBER OF PROVISIONS. THE ADDENDUM NO LONGER INCLUDES
PROHIBITIONS AGAINST INVESTMENT BANKING INPUT INTO RESEARCH
ANALYST COMPENSATION AND THE BAR AGAINST RESEARCH ANALYSTS
PARTICIPATING IN EFFORTS TO SOLICIT INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS,
AMONG OTHER THINGS. THE MODIFIED ADDENDUM AS ORDERED BY THE
COURT AND SUPPORTED BY THE SEC MAINTAINED THE REQUIREMENT
THAT A CHAPERONE FROM LEGAL OR COMPLIANCE BE PRESENT WHEN
INVESTMENT BANKING SEEKS THE VIEWS OF RESEARCH ANALYSTS
CONCERNING A PROPOSED TRANSACTION OR A POTENTIAL CANDIDATE
FOR A TRANSACTION.  ONE PROPOSED MODIFICATION WOULD HAVE
ALLOWED INVESTMENT BANKING TO SEEK THE VIEWS OF RESEARCH
ANALYSTS REGARDING MARKET OR INDUSTRY TRENDS, CONDITIONS, OR
DEVELOPMENTS WITHOUT THE REQUIREMENT OF A CHAPERONE,
SUBJECT TO CERTAIN LIMITATIONS INCLUDING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF
CONTROLS AND TRAINING AS DESCRIBED IN THE NOVEMBER 30, 2009
LETTER TO THE COURT FROM THE SETTLING FIRMS.  IN HIS MARCH 15,
2010 ORDER, THE HONORABLE JUDGE DID NOT APPROVE THIS
PROPOSED MODIFICATION. AS A RESULT OF THE COURT'S ORDER, THE
DEFENDANT REMAINS SUBJECT TO A NUMBER OF IMPORTANT
RESTRICTIONS THAT APPLY ONLY TO IT AND OTHER FIRMS AFFECTED BY
THE FINAL JUDGMENTS AND SETTLEMENT.  TOGETHER WITH THE REST
OF THE INDUSTRY, THEY ALSO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ALL OF THE
PROVISIONS OF NASD RULE 2711, NYSE RULE 472, AND THE SEC'S
REGULATION AC THAT ADDRESS RESEARCH ANALYST CONFLICTS OF
INTEREST.
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MERRILL LYNCH HAS AGREED TO PAY $100 MILLION IN PENALTIES, TO BE
DEEMED SATISFIED BY MERRILL LYNCH'S $100 MILLION PAYMENT TO
STATE SECURITIES REGULATORS LAST YEAR ARISING FROM SIMILAR
CONDUCT. MERRILL LYNCH ALSO WILL PAY, OVER FIVE YEARS, $75
MILLION TO PROVIDE THE FIRM'S CLIENTS WITH INDEPENDENT
RESEARCH, AND $25 MILLION TO BE USED FOR INVESTOR EDUCATION. IN
THE SEC ACTION, MERRILL LYNCH HAS AGREED TO A FEDERAL COURT
ORDER THAT WILL ENJOIN THE FIRM FROM FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND NASD AND NYSE RULES, AND REQUIRE
THE FIRM TO MAKE CHANGES IN THE OPERATIONS OF ITS EQUITY
RESEARCH AND INVESTMENT BANKING DEPARTMENTS.

SEC LITIGATION RELEASE 21457, MARCH 19, 2010: THE HONORABLE
JUDGE OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN
DISTRICT OF NEW YORK ISSUED AN ORDER ON MARCH 15, 2010
APPROVING MODIFICATIONS TO THE FINAL JUDGMENTS ENTERED
AGAINST THE DEFENDANT AND OTHERS. THE FINAL JUDGMENTS
CONTAINED AN EXTENSIVE ADDENDUM WITH PROVISIONS MANDATING
STRUCTURAL AND OTHER REFORMS THAT ADDRESSED POTENTIAL
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST BETWEEN EQUITY RESEARCH ANALYSTS AND
INVESTMENT BANKING. THE SETTLEMENT PROVIDED THAT WITH
RESPECT TO ANY PROVISION THAT HAD NOT BEEN EXPRESSLY
SUPERSEDED BY SUBSEQUENT RULEMAKING WITHIN FIVE YEARS, THE
SEC WOULD AGREE TO AN AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION OF SUCH TERM,
SUBJECT TO COURT APPROVAL, UNLESS THE SEC BELIEVES IT WOULD
NOT BE IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST. THE COURT APPROVED REMOVING A
NUMBER OF PROVISIONS. THE ADDENDUM NO LONGER INCLUDES
PROHIBITIONS AGAINST INVESTMENT BANKING INPUT INTO RESEARCH
ANALYST COMPENSATION AND THE BAR AGAINST RESEARCH ANALYSTS
PARTICIPATING IN EFFORTS TO SOLICIT INVESTMENT BANKING BUSINESS,
AMONG OTHER THINGS. THE MODIFIED ADDENDUM AS ORDERED BY THE
COURT AND SUPPORTED BY THE SEC MAINTAINED THE REQUIREMENT
THAT A CHAPERONE FROM LEGAL OR COMPLIANCE BE PRESENT WHEN
INVESTMENT BANKING SEEKS THE VIEWS OF RESEARCH ANALYSTS
CONCERNING A PROPOSED TRANSACTION OR A POTENTIAL CANDIDATE
FOR A TRANSACTION.  ONE PROPOSED MODIFICATION WOULD HAVE
ALLOWED INVESTMENT BANKING TO SEEK THE VIEWS OF RESEARCH
ANALYSTS REGARDING MARKET OR INDUSTRY TRENDS, CONDITIONS, OR
DEVELOPMENTS WITHOUT THE REQUIREMENT OF A CHAPERONE,
SUBJECT TO CERTAIN LIMITATIONS INCLUDING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF
CONTROLS AND TRAINING AS DESCRIBED IN THE NOVEMBER 30, 2009
LETTER TO THE COURT FROM THE SETTLING FIRMS.  IN HIS MARCH 15,
2010 ORDER, THE HONORABLE JUDGE DID NOT APPROVE THIS
PROPOSED MODIFICATION. AS A RESULT OF THE COURT'S ORDER, THE
DEFENDANT REMAINS SUBJECT TO A NUMBER OF IMPORTANT
RESTRICTIONS THAT APPLY ONLY TO IT AND OTHER FIRMS AFFECTED BY
THE FINAL JUDGMENTS AND SETTLEMENT.  TOGETHER WITH THE REST
OF THE INDUSTRY, THEY ALSO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ALL OF THE
PROVISIONS OF NASD RULE 2711, NYSE RULE 472, AND THE SEC'S
REGULATION AC THAT ADDRESS RESEARCH ANALYST CONFLICTS OF
INTEREST.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Relief Sought: Injunction

Date Court Action Filed: 04/28/2003

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Types:

Court Details: UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW
YORK NO.03 CIV.2941.

THE SEC ALLEGED, AND MLPFS NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE
ALLEGATIONS, THAT MLPFS VILOATED SECTION 15(C) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND RULE 15C1-2 THEREUNDER, AS WELL AS NASD RULED 2110, 2210
AND 3010, AND NYSE RULES 342, 401, 472, AND 476 IN CONNECTION WITH
ITS INVESTIGATION INTO RESEARCH ANALYSTS CONFLICTS OF INTEREST.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Injunction

Other Relief Sought: THE PAYMENT OF VARIOUS DOLLAR AMOUNTS AND COMPLIANCE WITH
CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Resolution: Judgment Rendered

Resolution Date: 10/31/2003

Other Sanctions:

Sanction Details: PLEASE REFER TO ITEM 14 BELOW.

Firm Statement AS PART OF A JOINT SETTLEMENT WITH THE SEC, THE NASD AND THE
NYSE ARISING FROM A JOINT INVESTIGATION BY THE SEC, NASD AND
NYSE INTO RESEARCH ANALYSTS CONFLICTS OF INTEREST, MLPFS
ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE SEC. PURSUANT TO THE TERMS
OF THE SETTLEMENT WITH THE SEC, MLPFS, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE SEC'S COMPLAINT, CONSENTED TO
THE ENTRY OF A FINAL JUDGMENT PERMANENTLY ENJOINING MLPFS
FROM CERTAIN VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 15(C)OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULE 15 C1-2 THEREUNDER, AS WELL AS NASD RULES 2110, 2210 AND
3010 AND NYSE RULES 342, 401, 472, AND 476. IN ADDITION, MLPFS
AGREED TO A PAYMENT OF : (I) $100 MILLION, WHICH WAS OFFSET IN ITS
ENTIRETY BY THE AMOUNT ALREADY PAID BY MLPFS IN THE RELATED
PROCEEDING WITH THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND OTHER STATES; (II) $75
MILLION TO FUND THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO
INVESTORS; AND (III) $25 MILLION TO PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION.
THE PAYMENTS FOR THE PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT RESEARCH TO
INVESTORS AND TO PROMOTE INVESTOR EDUCATION ARE REQUIRED TO
BE MADE OVER THE COURSE OF THE NEXT FIVE YEARS. SIMILAR
DISCLOSURE HAS BEEN MADE WITH RESPECT TO THE DETAILS OF THE
RELATED SETTLEMENTS WITH THE NASD AND THE NYSE ARISING FROM
THE JOINT INVESTIGATION.

Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:

Disclosure 4 of 4

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL #171

A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION WAS GRANTED ON AN EX PARTE MOTION BY
NYAG TO ENJOIN MERRILL LYNCH AND ALL ITS AFFILIATES FROM
VIOLATIONS OF THE MARTIN ACT AND FROM PRODUCING RESEARCH
REPORTS WITHOUT ADDITIONAL SPECIFIED DISCLOSURES.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL #171

Relief Sought: Injunction

Other Relief Sought:

Date Court Action Filed: 04/08/2002

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Types:

Court Details: SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, INDEX NO. 02401522

Resolution: Other

Resolution Date: 04/18/2002

Other Sanctions:

Sanction Details:

Firm Statement THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION WAS GRANTED ON APRIL 8, 2002 UPON AN
EX PARTE MOTION BY THE NYAG.  THE INJUNCTION WAS STAYED LATER
THE SAME DAY UNTIL APRIL 11, 2002.  THE STAY WAS EXTENDED UNTIL
APRIL 19, 2002 AND IT WAS VACATED ON APRIL 18, 2002.  ON MAY 21, 2002,
THE STAY WAS PERMANENTLY VACATED AND THE ACTION BY THE NYAG
WAS DISMISSED.

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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Civil - Pending

This type of disclosure event involves a pending civil court action that with seek an injunction to cease certain investment-
related activity or alleges a violation of any investment-related statute or regulation.

Disclosure 1 of 1

Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED CREDITORS OF TRIBUNE CO.;
MARC KIRSCHNER, LITIGATION TRUSTEE SUBSTITUTED IN AS PLAINTIFF

Relief Sought: Money Damages (Private/Civil Complaint)

Other Relief Sought:

Date Court Action Filed: 11/01/2010

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Types:

Court Details: INITIATED IN UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR DISTRICT OF
DELAWARE; TRANSFERRED TO UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

PLAINTIFF ALLEGES THAT PROCEEDS OF THE LEVERAGED BUY-OUT OF
TRIBUNE RECEIVED BY DEFENDANTS WERE FRAUDULENT
CONVEYANCES.

Allegations:

Current Status: Pending

Date Notice/Process Served: 04/23/2012

Firm Statement CREDITORS' COMMITTEE SUED ALL FORMER SHAREHOLDERS OF
TRIBUNE SEEKING TO DISGORGE PROCEEDS OF TRIBUNE LBO AS
INTENTIONAL FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCES.  CASE WAS DISMISSED BY
DISTRICT COURT.  PLAINTIFF HAS INDICATED HE WILL APPEAL, BUT HIS
RIGHT TO APPEAL HAS NOT RIPENED.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED CREDITORS OF TRIBUNE CO.;
MARC KIRSCHNER, LITIGATION TRUSTEE SUBSTITUTED IN AS PLAINTIFF

Court Details: INITIATED IN UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR DISTRICT OF
DELAWARE; TRANSFERRED TO UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

PLAINTIFF ALLEGES THAT PROCEEDS OF THE LEVERAGED BUY-OUT OF
TRIBUNE RECEIVED BY DEFENDANTS WERE FRAUDULENT
CONVEYANCES.

Allegations:

Current Status: Pending
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Relief Sought: Money Damages (Private/Civil Complaint)

Other Relief Sought:

Date Court Action Filed: 11/01/2010

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Types:

INITIATED IN UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR DISTRICT OF
DELAWARE; TRANSFERRED TO UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Date Notice/Process Served: 04/23/2012

Firm Statement CREDITORS' COMMITTEE SUED ALL FORMER SHAREHOLDERS OF
TRIBUNE SEEKING TO DISGORGE PROCEEDS OF TRIBUNE LBO AS
INTENTIONAL FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCES.  CASE WAS DISMISSED BY
DISTRICT COURT.  PLAINTIFF HAS INDICATED HE WILL APPEAL, BUT HIS
RIGHT TO APPEAL HAS NOT RIPENED.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED CREDITORS OF TRIBUNE CO.;
MARC KIRSCHNER, LITIGATION TRUSTEE SUBSTITUTED IN AS PLAINTIFF

Relief Sought: Money Damages (Private/Civil Complaint)

Other Relief Sought:

Date Court Action Filed: 11/01/2010

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Types:

Court Details: INITIATED IN UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR DISTRICT OF
DELAWARE; TRANSFERRED TO UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

PLAINTIFF ALLEGES THAT PROCEEDS OF THE LEVERAGED BUY-OUT OF
TRIBUNE RECEIVED BY DEFENDANTS WERE FRAUDULENT
CONVEYANCES.

Allegations:

Current Status: Pending

Date Notice/Process Served: 04/23/2012

Firm Statement CREDITORS' COMMITTEE SUED ALL FORMER SHAREHOLDERS OF
TRIBUNE SEEKING TO DISGORGE PROCEEDS OF TRIBUNE LBO AS
INTENTIONAL FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCES.  CASE WAS DISMISSED BY
DISTRICT COURT.  PLAINTIFF HAS INDICATED HE WILL APPEAL, BUT HIS
RIGHT TO APPEAL HAS NOT RIPENED.
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i
Reporting Source: Firm

Initiated By: OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED CREDITORS OF TRIBUNE CO.;
MARC KIRSCHNER, LITIGATION TRUSTEE SUBSTITUTED IN AS PLAINTIFF

Relief Sought: Money Damages (Private/Civil Complaint)

Other Relief Sought:

Date Court Action Filed: 11/01/2010

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Types:

Court Details: INITIATED IN UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR DISTRICT OF
DELAWARE; TRANSFERRED TO UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

PLAINTIFF ALLEGES THAT PROCEEDS OF THE LEVERAGED BUY-OUT OF
TRIBUNE RECEIVED BY DEFENDANTS WERE FRAUDULENT
CONVEYANCES.

Allegations:

Current Status: Pending

Date Notice/Process Served: 04/23/2012

Firm Statement CREDITORS' COMMITTEE SUED ALL FORMER SHAREHOLDERS OF
TRIBUNE SEEKING TO DISGORGE PROCEEDS OF TRIBUNE LBO AS
INTENTIONAL FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCES.  CASE WAS DISMISSED BY
DISTRICT COURT.  PLAINTIFF HAS INDICATED HE WILL APPEAL, BUT HIS
RIGHT TO APPEAL HAS NOT RIPENED.
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Arbitration Award - Award / Judgment

Brokerage firms are not required to report arbitration claims filed against them by customers; however, BrokerCheck
provides summary information regarding FINRA arbitration awards involving securities and commodities disputes
between public customers and registered securities firms in this section of the report.
 The full text of arbitration awards issued by FINRA is available at www.finra.org/awardsonline.

Disclosure 1 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/17/2000

00-00080

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$256,687.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/24/2001

$0.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 2 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

03/17/2000

00-00675

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES 1251©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$300,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/26/2001

$186,145.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 3 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/28/2000

00-01203

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$63,309.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/13/2000

$40,285.39

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 4 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/07/2000

00-01326

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$99,999.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/08/2001

$67,108.42

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 5 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/14/2000

00-02402

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; EXECUTIONS-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$130,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/30/2001

$73,104.16

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 6 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE 1253©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/14/2000

00-02403

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$58,855.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/11/2003

$3,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 7 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/10/2000

00-02837

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$164,369.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/21/2002

$184,148.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 8 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/17/2000

00-02929

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$4,860,950.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/02/2001

$56,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 9 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/27/2000

00-03119

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/26/2005

$109,582.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 10 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/31/2000

00-03134

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; MUTUAL FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$563,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/14/2001

$36,926.51

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 11 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/22/2000

00-03514

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$28,925.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/20/2001

$4,156.01
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $4,156.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 12 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/01/2000

00-03568

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,300,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/04/2002

$135,944.10

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 13 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

08/28/2000

00-03699

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-COLLECTION; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$24,921.24

AWARD AGAINST PARTY 1257©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/03/2001

$13,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 14 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/29/2000

00-03701

ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-EXECUTION PRICE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$59,900.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/14/2001

$3,425.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 15 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

09/19/2000

00-03831

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS 1258©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$1,600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/09/2003

$272,708.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 16 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/20/2000

00-04054

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$1,000,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/25/2002

$287,799.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 17 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

11/02/2000

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

11/02/2000

00-04443

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$750,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/31/2002

$250,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 18 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/17/2000

00-04531

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,000,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/11/2002

$61,973.34

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 19 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE 1260©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/09/2001

00-04580

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$80,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/21/2002

$9,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 20 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/27/2000

00-05059

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$35,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/25/2001

$7,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 21 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/06/2000

00-05222

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$51,750.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/28/2001

$15,031.26

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 22 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/06/2000

00-05231

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$10,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/30/2003

$1,561,781.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 23 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/30/2000

00-05270

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$207,107.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/31/2001

$76,621.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 24 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/17/2001

00-05507

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$49,400.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/22/2002

$27,650.50
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 25 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/28/2001

00-05541

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$80,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/31/2002

$27,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 26 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

02/05/2001

00-05729

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS

$925,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

10/18/2002

$30,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 27 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/04/2001

00-05757

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$40,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/02/2002

$100,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 28 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

02/09/2001

01-00613

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/24/2003

$1,800,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 29 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/21/2001

01-00742

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$100,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/30/2002

$99,225.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 30 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

02/22/2001

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

02/22/2001

01-00781

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$270,372.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/09/2002

$21,194.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 31 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/27/2001

01-00923

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/01/2002

$8,374.40

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 32 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/14/2001

01-01184

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$40,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/28/2003

$1,404,742.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 33 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/19/2001

01-01244

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE
TO EXECUTE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,490,200.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/28/2002

$500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 34 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/07/2001

01-01466

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$40,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/20/2002

$15,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 35 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/06/2001

01-01520

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/06/2003

$510,955.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 36 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/18/2001

01-01813

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
TRADING DISPUTES-STOCK LOANS

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$437,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/03/2003

$25,237.11

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 37 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/24/2001

01-01902

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/02/2002

$42,500.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $42,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 38 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/25/2001

01-02014

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$422,500.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/27/2003

$25,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 39 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

05/01/2001

01-02047

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$631,558.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/24/2002

$192,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 40 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/07/2001

01-02064

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$58,454.97

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/01/2002

$20,991.28

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 41 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

08/02/2001

01-02065

EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,317.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/01/2002

$1,392.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 42 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/05/2001

01-02577

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,899,838.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/14/2003

$2,137,619.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 43 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

08/06/2001

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

08/06/2001

01-02677

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$712,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/20/2003

$53,776.78

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 44 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/26/2001

01-02780

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,303,230.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/24/2003

$127,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 45 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/27/2001

01-02785

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/06/2002

$51,575.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 46 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/03/2001

01-02955

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$117,749.83

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/03/2002

$118,154.83

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 47 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/07/2001

01-03369

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$247,089.37

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/16/2002

$256,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 48 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/26/2001

01-03886

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$222,554.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/30/2003

$123,912.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 49 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/07/2001

01-04007

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,950,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/19/2003

$537,948.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 50 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/03/2001

01-04073

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$286,700.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/03/2003

$23,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 51 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/04/2001

01-04203

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; EXECUTIONS-
FAILURE TO EXECUTE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/06/2003

$1,125.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 52 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/01/2001

01-04391

ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-TRANSFER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,030.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/22/2002

$405.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $405.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 53 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/22/2001

01-04406

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$34,900,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/21/2004

$704,036.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 54 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

10/08/2001

01-04488

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-
FAILURE TO EXECUTE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

Unspecified Damages
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/09/2004

$12,609.14

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 55 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/06/2001

01-04713

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$14,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/10/2003

$112,700.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 56 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

10/16/2001

01-04935

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; OTHER-OTHER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$164,888.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/30/2002

$164,888.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 57 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/04/2001

01-05189

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$369,776.42

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/29/2002

$12,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 58 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

10/11/2001

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

10/11/2001

01-05267

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/16/2004

$317,246.30

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 59 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/28/2001

01-05332

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/29/2003

$300,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 60 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/31/2001

01-05486

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS;
MUTUAL FUNDS

$750,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/22/2003

$243,632.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 61 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/23/2001

01-05536

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$4,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/19/2003

$300,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 62 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/26/2001

01-05581

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$96,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/04/2005

$114,591.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 63 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/08/2001

01-05877

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$283,123.10

AWARD AGAINST PARTY - VACATED IN WHOLE OR PART

09/30/2003

$75,795.74

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 64 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/20/2001

01-06174

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,750,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/30/2003

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 65 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

11/30/2001

01-06242

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$720,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/22/2003
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $750,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 66 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/02/2001

01-06309

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$225,318.17

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/29/2003

$16,800.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 67 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

12/13/2001

01-06350

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$25,425.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/01/2002

$18,962.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 68 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/22/2002

01-06374

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$28,300.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/27/2002

$15,923.81

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 69 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

12/05/2001

01-06382

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/09/2004

$1,092,090.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 70 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/30/2001

01-06397

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$170,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/12/2003

$330,704.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 71 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

12/04/2001

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

12/04/2001

01-06453

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$132,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/13/2003

$57,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 72 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/18/2001

01-06750

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$234,812.51

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/17/2003

$115,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 73 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/27/2001

01-06934

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$460,745.32

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/23/2004

$100,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 74 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/23/2002

01-07098

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$99,882.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/10/2003

$76,028.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 75 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/08/2002

01-07176

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/11/2003

$350,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 76 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/12/2002

02-00006

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$207,229.28

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/02/2003

$207,487.22

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 77 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/09/2002

02-00037

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/30/2003

$70,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 78 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/10/2002

02-00117

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$360,535.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/05/2003

$90,660.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 79 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/15/2002

02-00172

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

$208,878.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/26/2003

$71,761.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 80 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

01/16/2002

02-00211

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$500,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/08/2003
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $92,000.03

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 81 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/07/2002

02-00249

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$95,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/29/2003

$38,708.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 82 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

01/23/2002

02-00278

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$237,673.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/30/2003

$150,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 83 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/29/2002

02-00379

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/08/2004

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 84 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

01/28/2002

02-00381

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES

$1,500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/16/2004

$150,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 85 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/04/2002

02-00487

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/20/2003

$46,666.66

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 86 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/05/2002

02-00503

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,800,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/08/2003

$75,220.17

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 87 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/05/2002

02-00505

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$346,166.15

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/17/2003

$28,710.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 88 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE;
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/25/2002

02-00527

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE;
EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; TRADING DISPUTES-TRANSFERS

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$14,937.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/13/2003

$5,496.94

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 89 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/03/2002

02-00568

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-TRANSFER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$25,425.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/14/2002

$9,925.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 90 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/19/2002

02-00687

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; EXECUTIONS-
FAILURE TO EXECUTE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$30,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/10/2003

$220.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 91 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/06/2002

02-00699

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$25,425.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/21/2002

$25,425.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 92 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/14/2002

02-00747

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$200,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/04/2003

$1,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 93 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

02/19/2002

02-00792

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
OPTIONS

$10,712,440.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/06/2004
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

02/06/2004

$774,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 94 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/19/2002

02-00862

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/09/2003

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 95 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

03/20/2002

02-00977

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$4,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/06/2003

$1,730,691.91

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 96 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/27/2002

02-01016

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/28/2003

$69,765.20

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 97 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

03/04/2002

02-01088

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

1302©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

02-01088

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$74,956.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/30/2003

$22,357.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 98 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/12/2002

02-01363

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$986,670.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/20/2003

$214,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 99 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/14/2002

02-01455

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$10,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/21/2006

$1,250,600.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 100 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/22/2002

02-01478

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/24/2004

$207,066.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 101 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/03/2002

02-01720

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$62,516.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/14/2003

$80,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 102 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/02/2002

02-01769

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$440,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/19/2003

$20,173.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 103 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/04/2002

02-01879

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$8,470,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/12/2004

$285,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 104 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/08/2002

02-01910

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$2,700,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/14/2004

$400,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 105 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/23/2002

02-02017

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

ANNUITIES; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; MUNICIPAL BONDS; MUTUAL
FUNDS

$9,950,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/09/2003

$600,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 106 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

05/08/2002

02-02050

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-
INCORRECT QUANTITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$147,426.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/11/2003
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

09/11/2003

$45,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 107 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/23/2002

02-02077

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$163,491.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/14/2003

$44,950.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 108 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

05/16/2002

02-02159

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$767,088.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/16/2004

$256,165.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 109 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/15/2002

02-02179

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$7,025.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/20/2003

$6,285.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 110 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

05/07/2002

02-02295

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

02-02295

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/10/2003

$156,741.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 111 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/08/2002

02-02395

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$542,142.84

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/23/2003

$12,006.08

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 112 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/22/2002

02-02456

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
WARRANTS/RIGHTS

$102,375.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/24/2003

$44,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 113 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/15/2002

02-02595

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/14/2003

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 114 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/16/2002

02-02717

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

ANNUITIES; COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/03/2004

$512,034.46

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 115 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/20/2002

02-02783

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/29/2004

$46,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 116 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/31/2002

02-02807

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
PREFERRED STOCK

$2,811,700.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/11/2003

$56,539.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 117 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

06/11/2002

02-03158

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/10/2004

1313©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sum of All Relief Awarded: $75,300.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 118 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/19/2002

02-03225

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$375,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/24/2003

$67,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 119 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

06/12/2002

02-03259

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$70,596.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/08/2004

$21,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 120 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/27/2002

02-03301

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$75,640.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/09/2004

$63,345.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 121 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

06/13/2002

02-03324

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE 1315©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/07/2003

$229,015.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 122 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/17/2002

02-03447

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/24/2003

$115,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 123 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

06/21/2002

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

06/21/2002

02-03552

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$281,696.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/24/2003

$342,274.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 124 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/24/2002

02-03553

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,324,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/02/2003

$759,744.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 125 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/27/2002

02-03559

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$69,816.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/03/2003

$68,211.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 126 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/23/2002

02-03664

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/14/2005

$950,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 127 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/24/2002

02-03676

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-OTHER

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$24,564.32

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/11/2003

$8,548.71

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 128 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/02/2002

02-03765

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-TRANSFER; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$16,329.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/01/2003

$5,921.75

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 129 of 874

i
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Disclosure 129 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/09/2002

02-03817

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$198,176.61

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/03/2004

$98,176.61

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 130 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/08/2002

02-03857

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUTUAL FUNDS

$1,100,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/16/2004

$61,745.01
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 131 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/12/2002

02-03931

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$700,586.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/06/2004

$37,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 132 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

07/29/2002

02-03959

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$848,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/30/2004

$424,375.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 133 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/01/2002

02-04039

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$2,360,003.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/17/2005

$850,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 134 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

07/25/2002

02-04066

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES

$10,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/06/2004

$41,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 135 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/30/2002

02-04305

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$750,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/30/2003

$249,375.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 136 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

07/30/2002

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

07/30/2002

02-04308

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$550,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/15/2003

$20,812.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 137 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/05/2002

02-04364

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$130,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/24/2003

$125,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 138 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/28/2002

02-04389

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/23/2004

$135,090.69

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 139 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/01/2002

02-04402

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$57,600.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/06/2003

$47,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 140 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/06/2002

02-04422

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/05/2004

$5,991,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 141 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/28/2002

02-04431

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$99,999.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/21/2003

$54,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 142 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/23/2002

02-04453

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT
SECURITIES; MUTUAL FUNDS

$149,606.79

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/24/2003

$75,633.73

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 143 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

08/23/2002

02-04477

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$321,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/11/2003
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $15,800.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 144 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/06/2002

02-04478

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/03/2003

$150,300.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 145 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

09/23/2002

02-04536

EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$180,866.07

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/25/2004

$50,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 146 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/05/2002

02-04580

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$269,733.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/18/2004

$86,860.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 147 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

08/14/2002

02-04630

EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$99,900.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/21/2003

$5,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 148 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/16/2002

02-04770

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$51,750.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/19/2003

$24,462.51

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 149 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

08/20/2002

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

08/20/2002

02-04804

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$49,184.64

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/23/2003

$6,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 150 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/29/2002

02-04929

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$900,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/21/2004

$214,981.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 151 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/18/2002

02-04965

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$25,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/16/2003

$22,700.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 152 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/23/2002

02-04985

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES;
MUTUAL FUNDS

$1,250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/01/2003

$10,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 153 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/08/2002

02-05166

ACCOUNT RELATED-TRANSFER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED;
TRADING DISPUTES-SELL OUTS

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$4,485.75

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/06/2003

$4,222.63

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 154 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/11/2002

02-05250

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$140,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/05/2003

$13,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 155 of 874

i
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Disclosure 155 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/12/2002

02-05269

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$245,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/30/2003

$88,320.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 156 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/27/2002

02-05454

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$845,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/09/2004

$20,000.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 157 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/23/2002

02-05509

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
SECURITIES

$196,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/30/2003

$15,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 158 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

09/27/2002

02-05526

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS

$50,000.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/30/2003

$6,428.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 159 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/14/2002

02-05598

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,014,478.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/07/2004

$303,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 160 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

09/25/2002

02-05604

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; PREFERRED STOCK
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; PREFERRED STOCK

$582,220.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/09/2004

$23,694.22

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 161 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/18/2002

02-05805

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/24/2006

$847,375.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 162 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

10/08/2002

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

10/08/2002

02-05886

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/23/2003

$223,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 163 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/14/2002

02-06095

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/09/2004

$15,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 164 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/25/2002

02-06196

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$567,236.50

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/17/2003

$19,442.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 165 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/25/2002

02-06251

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$22,502.56

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/26/2003

$2,712.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 166 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/04/2002

02-06252

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$24,435.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/01/2003

$7,590.78

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 167 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/24/2002

02-06481

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$38,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/30/2003

$16,415.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 168 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/11/2002

02-06518

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$345,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/25/2005

$39,800.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 169 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/03/2002

02-06525

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$896,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/13/2004

$57,855.27

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 170 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/06/2002

02-06547

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/21/2003

$43,644.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 171 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

11/12/2002

02-06589

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS

$2,000,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/04/2004
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

06/04/2004

$15,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 172 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/15/2003

02-06642

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
CONTROVERSIES

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$9,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/02/2004

$2,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 173 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

11/15/2002

02-06659

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS

$319,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$319,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/30/2004

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 174 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/21/2002

02-06713

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,149,954.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/10/2004

$148,087.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 175 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

11/14/2002

02-06771

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

02-06771

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$99,999.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/06/2004

$108,187.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 176 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/22/2002

02-06797

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$226,186.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/11/2003

$211,246.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 177 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/25/2002

02-06825

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/24/2004

$186,832.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 178 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/12/2002

02-07262

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$161,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/19/2004

$12,575.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 179 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/13/2002

02-07452

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$97,200.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/12/2004

$55,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 180 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/26/2002

02-07563

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-MARGIN CALLS

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$1,111,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/02/2004

$1,564,001.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 181 of 874

i
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Disclosure 181 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/26/2002

02-07575

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$260,179.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/25/2004

$50,000.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 182 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/24/2002

02-07652

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$800,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/29/2004

$100,000.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 183 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/26/2002

02-07691

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$21,191.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/29/2004

$23,691.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 184 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

01/09/2003

02-07771

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/20/2003
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $72,954.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 185 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/14/2003

02-07858

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$41,338.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/02/2003

$2,425.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 186 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

01/14/2003

02-07887

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
PREFERRED STOCK

$697,634.99
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$697,634.99

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/10/2004

$500,250.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 187 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/15/2003

03-00036

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; TRADING
DISPUTES-MANIPULATION

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$950,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/20/2004

$425,294.05

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 188 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

02/13/2003

03-00244

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
OTHER
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

03-00244

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/03/2004

$92,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 189 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/24/2003

03-00352

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$408,356.08

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/22/2004

$406,000.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 190 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-OTHER
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/07/2003

03-00384

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$100,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/02/2004

$25,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 191 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/27/2003

03-00404

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$70,782.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/04/2004

$35,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 192 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/28/2003

03-00433

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$876,397.88

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/22/2004

$61,375.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 193 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/13/2003

03-00548

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/08/2004

$73,990.05

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 194 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/05/2003

03-00581

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,150,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/17/2004

$16,828.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 195 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/06/2003

03-00598

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$193,307.93

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/30/2004

$15,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 196 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/11/2003

03-00759

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$138,426.81

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/16/2004

$22,855.90

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 197 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

02/11/2003

03-00784

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/03/2004
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $94,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 198 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/27/2003

03-00790

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$230,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/20/2003

$16,023.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 199 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

02/11/2003

03-00899

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$21,382.42
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/02/2004

$10,425.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 200 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/19/2003

03-00956

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/24/2006

$659,139.30

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 201 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

02/20/2003

03-00986

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUTUAL FUNDS

1358©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUTUAL FUNDS

$100,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/30/2004

$28,960.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 202 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/24/2003

03-01044

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,825,519.64

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/30/2004

$457,788.12

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 203 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/03/2003

03-01121

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/08/2004

$32,475.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 204 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/25/2003

03-01161

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
EXCHANGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$363,282.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/26/2004

$99,250.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 205 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/30/2003

03-01265

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$800,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/25/2005

$375.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 206 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/13/2003

03-01274

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$305,960.32

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/18/2004

$526,328.23

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 207 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/04/2003

03-01334

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$150,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/26/2004

$45,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 208 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/03/2003

03-01336

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$904,366.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/11/2004

$66,100.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 209 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/09/2003

03-01425

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$300,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/17/2005

$320,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 210 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/24/2003

03-01438

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$25,425.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/02/2003

$14,799.01
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $14,799.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 211 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/10/2003

03-01464

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$29,781.74

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/01/2004

$29,056.77

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 212 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

03/28/2003

03-01513

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
OTHER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
OPTIONS

$1,022,000.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/21/2004

$96,860.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 213 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/10/2003

03-01524

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$988,978.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/30/2006

$4,875.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 214 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

03/10/2003

03-01537

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMODITIES FUTURES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE 1365©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMODITIES FUTURES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/21/2004

$76,700.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 215 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/20/2003

03-01540

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$22,352.52

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/03/2003

$5,325.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 216 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

03/13/2003

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

03/13/2003

03-01583

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS; MUTUAL
FUNDS

$267,045.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/14/2004

$267,045.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 217 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/13/2003

03-01670

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,100,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/26/2004

$692,594.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 218 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/19/2003

03-01689

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$175,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/19/2004

$11,982.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 219 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/13/2003

03-01691

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$89,708.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/29/2004

$24,648.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 220 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/14/2003

03-01720

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/11/2004

$121,350.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 221 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/25/2003

03-01866

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$700,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/13/2004

$240,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 222 of 874

i
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Disclosure 222 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/27/2003

03-02100

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$4,200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/10/2004

$1,071,809.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 223 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/31/2003

03-02107

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$4,200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/22/2004

$752,000.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 224 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/01/2003

03-02159

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$160,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/12/2004

$10,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 225 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

04/02/2003

03-02166

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$90,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

04/13/2004

$90,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 226 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/21/2003

03-02294

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$497,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/24/2004

$75,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 227 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

04/09/2003

03-02386

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$403,029.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/06/2005

$172,999.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 228 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/14/2003

03-02457

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/12/2004

$1,574,967.61

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 229 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

04/15/2003

03-02513

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

03-02513

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$300,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/19/2005

$76,585.55

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 230 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/05/2003

03-02539

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,200,000.03

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/15/2004

$197,500.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 231 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/14/2003

03-02554

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$4,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/14/2005

$3,762,935.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 232 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/01/2003

03-02870

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$407,054.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/26/2004

$187,273.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 233 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/29/2003

03-02877

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$1,511,233.77

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/02/2004

$399,145.09

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 234 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/06/2003

03-02931

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$317,338.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/29/2004

$172,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 235 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/07/2003

03-03000

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; EXECUTIONS-
FAILURE TO EXECUTE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$50,625.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/31/2004

$17,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 236 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/20/2003

03-03015

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
OPTIONS

$24,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/05/2005

$1,600,000.02
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 237 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/15/2003

03-03056

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/28/2004

$196,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 238 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

05/06/2003

03-03089

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$571,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/27/2004

$150,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 239 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/07/2003

03-03208

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$7,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/16/2004

$575,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 240 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

05/16/2003

03-03259

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MANIPULATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$3,281.73

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/02/2004

$5,097.74

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 241 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/03/2003

03-03293

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$188,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/14/2004

$59,573.44

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 242 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

05/29/2003

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

05/29/2003

03-03301

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$6,604,828.59

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/22/2004

$304,634.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 243 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/12/2003

03-03313

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$129,435.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/04/2004

$42,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 244 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/15/2003

03-03474

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$495,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/13/2004

$200,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 245 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/12/2003

03-03717

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$1,264,698.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/04/2005

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 246 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/03/2003

03-03829

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$4,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/29/2004

$250,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 247 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/26/2003

03-03939

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$24,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/23/2004

$19,425.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 248 of 874

i
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Disclosure 248 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/12/2003

03-04054

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$623,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/29/2004

$168,244.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 249 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/16/2003

03-04172

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$625,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/17/2006

$495,000.01
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 250 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/17/2003

03-04255

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$13,200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/01/2005

$35,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 251 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

06/17/2003

03-04263

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$16,501,800.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

10/11/2004

$200,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 252 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/18/2003

03-04302

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/08/2004

$244,849.64

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 253 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

06/26/2003

03-04401

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$135,297.70
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$135,297.70

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/04/2004

$54,097.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 254 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/26/2003

03-04426

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

ANNUITIES; COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; MUTUAL FUNDS

$300,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/27/2004

$0.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 255 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

06/23/2003

03-04481

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE
TO EXECUTE
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

03-04481

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$40,683.10

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/05/2004

$18,916.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 256 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/26/2003

03-05143

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; PREFERRED STOCK

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/18/2005

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 257 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/24/2003

03-05313

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/15/2005

$105,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 258 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/31/2003

03-05367

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$175,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/11/2005

$103,800.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 259 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

1389©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/08/2003

03-05482

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$50,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/11/2005

$251,394.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 260 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/30/2003

03-05520

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; MUTUAL FUNDS; OPTIONS; REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT
TRUST

$5,778,961.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/26/2004

$86,300.46

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 261 of 874

i
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Disclosure 261 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/15/2003

03-05554

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/11/2004

$305,396.98

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 262 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/07/2003

03-05651

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$316,470.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY - VACATED IN WHOLE OR PART

03/13/2006

$30,000.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 263 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/05/2003

03-05667

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,228,882.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/26/2004

$181,803.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 264 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

08/07/2003

03-05673

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

06/24/2005

$303,493.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 265 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/13/2003

03-05688

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$75,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/26/2005

$47,323.93

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 266 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

08/21/2003

03-05954

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUTUAL FUNDS
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUTUAL FUNDS

$792,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/06/2006

$136,627.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 267 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/28/2003

03-06020

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/31/2005

$112,250.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 268 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

09/04/2003

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

09/04/2003

03-06175

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$450,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/24/2005

$55,950.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 269 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/04/2003

03-06176

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$4,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/17/2005

$1,030,909.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 270 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/23/2003

03-06222

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/02/2004

$15,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 271 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/17/2003

03-06281

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/31/2005

$10,150.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 272 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/04/2003

03-06283

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$577,854.93

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/03/2005

$150,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 273 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/05/2003

03-06393

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$25,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/24/2004

$25,425.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 274 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/11/2003

03-06483

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/31/2005

$103,214.86

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 275 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/25/2003

03-06490

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$150,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/22/2004

$148,000.01
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $148,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 276 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/16/2003

03-06582

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/10/2004

$66,722.06

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 277 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

09/18/2003

03-06617

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES;
PREFERRED STOCK

$10,200,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$10,200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/15/2004

$150,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 278 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/23/2003

03-06681

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$313,278.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/26/2004

$195,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 279 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

09/24/2003

03-06758

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

03-06758

ANNUITIES; COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$158,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/17/2005

$76,499.20

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 280 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/23/2003

03-06839

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
TRADING DISPUTES-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$188,443.83

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/23/2005

$165,142.57

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 281 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/01/2003

03-06867

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$388,539.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/18/2004

$125,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 282 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/25/2003

03-06904

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$20,124.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/15/2004

$25,425.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 283 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/01/2003

03-06920

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/02/2004

$250.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 284 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/27/2004

03-07035

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$407,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/24/2004

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 285 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/01/2003

03-07038

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$20,122.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/10/2004

$10,273.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 286 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/09/2004

03-07452

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$996,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/08/2005

$400,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 287 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/05/2004

03-07620

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$25,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/29/2004

$5,212.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 288 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

11/19/2003

03-07687

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$6,356.29

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/08/2004

1405©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sum of All Relief Awarded: $6,681.29

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 289 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/31/2003

03-07737

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/28/2005

$215,939.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 290 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

11/19/2003

03-07758

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$5,000.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/06/2004

$1,087.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 291 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/05/2003

03-07760

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$915,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/07/2005

$4,994.77

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 292 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

10/30/2003

03-07770

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS 1407©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$2,731,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/28/2005

$110,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 293 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/06/2003

03-07912

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUNICIPAL BONDS

$450,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/24/2004

$85,973.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 294 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/20/2003

03-08104

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$725,624.42

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/22/2004

$160,880.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 295 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/18/2003

03-08209

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$24,184.95

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/01/2004

$16,360.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 296 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/25/2003

03-08350

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,919.53

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/28/2005

$11,344.63

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 297 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/20/2004

03-08413

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,762,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/14/2005

$2,639.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 298 of 874

i

1410©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/02/2003

03-08469

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$15,839.43

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/22/2004

$25,425.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 299 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/08/2003

03-08494

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$2,400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/17/2005

$17,068.59

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 300 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/15/2003

03-08737

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$350,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/10/2005

$54,300.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 301 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

12/17/2003

03-08786

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$9,920.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/27/2004
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $1,918.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 302 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/31/2003

03-08844

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$428,279.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/22/2005

$102,750.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 303 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

01/28/2005

03-08967

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$50,000.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/22/2006

$10,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 304 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/24/2003

03-09038

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$9,173.67

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/24/2004

$9,498.67

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 305 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

01/15/2004

03-09039

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE 1414©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$230,005.07

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/07/2005

$92,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 306 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/18/2004

03-09088

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/08/2005

$129,195.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 307 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

01/12/2004

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-
FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/12/2004

03-09125

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/01/2005

$287,612.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 308 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/06/2004

04-00029

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED;
EMPLOYMENT-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$20,397.86

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/14/2004

$8,840.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 309 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE 1416©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/02/2004

04-00170

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$10,639.32

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/02/2004

$11,064.32

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 310 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/23/2004

04-00396

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$745,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/21/2006

$158,367.99

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 311 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/21/2004

04-00600

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$61,768.04

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/15/2005

$26,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 312 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/11/2004

04-00650

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/17/2005

$73,200.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 313 of 874

i
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Disclosure 313 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/06/2004

04-00700

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/24/2005

$195,717.05

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 314 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/13/2004

04-00889

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$14,293.68

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/25/2004

$16,688.99
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 315 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/13/2004

04-00896

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$8,413.30

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/15/2004

$4,400.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 316 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

02/26/2004

04-01066

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$664,139.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

08/12/2005

$120,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 317 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/01/2004

04-01259

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$25,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/01/2004

$25,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 318 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

03/01/2004

04-01273

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$3,160,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/13/2005

$1,835,343.30

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 319 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/22/2004

04-01355

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-
INCORRECT QUANTITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
PREFERRED STOCK

$12,022.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/30/2004

$6,774.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 320 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

03/12/2004

04-01363

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

04-01363

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$100,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/02/2005

$8,478.72

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 321 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/16/2004

04-01425

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$7,773,223.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/03/2006

$0.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 322 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/18/2004

04-01495

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$13,285.45

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/25/2004

$4,892.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 323 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/11/2004

04-01584

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$44,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/29/2005

$15,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 324 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/13/2004

04-01908

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/22/2005

$90,700.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 325 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/24/2004

04-01915

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$658,264.02

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/27/2005

$30,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 326 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/24/2004

04-01961

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$312,660.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/14/2005

$150,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 327 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/31/2004

04-02021

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$24,911.50

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/11/2005

$17,736.51

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 328 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/31/2004

04-02051

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$108,414.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/30/2005

$11,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 329 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/31/2004

04-02103

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$243,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/08/2005

$198,000.00
1427©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sum of All Relief Awarded: $198,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 330 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/07/2004

04-02376

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$344,347.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/15/2005

$82,026.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 331 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

04/23/2004

04-02411

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$96,435.16
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/02/2006

$72,634.41

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 332 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/26/2004

04-02634

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$25,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/24/2005

$25,425.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 333 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

05/25/2004

04-02659

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES 1429©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$569,467.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/20/2005

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 334 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/19/2004

04-02682

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$5,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/27/2006

$841,794.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 335 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

04/27/2004

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

04/27/2004

04-02917

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$40,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/13/2005

$50,257.18

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 336 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/04/2004

04-03184

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$68,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/18/2005

$89,089.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 337 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/11/2004

04-03409

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/16/2005

$156,006.56

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 338 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/13/2004

04-03416

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; TRADING DISPUTES-MANIPULATION

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$140,385.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/12/2005

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 339 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

1432©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/04/2004

04-03915

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,000,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/14/2005

$300,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 340 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/14/2004

04-04080

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES

$6,016,522.45

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/10/2006

$790,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 341 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/12/2004

04-04172

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED; TRADING DISPUTES-
SELL OUTS

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$15,785.40

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/11/2005

$2,925.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 342 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/17/2004

04-04209

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/07/2005

$107,872.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 343 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/18/2004

04-04274

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$480,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/05/2005

$84,529.68

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 344 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

06/23/2004

04-04363

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,075,164.17

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/15/2005
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $244,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 345 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/15/2004

04-04690

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$1,042,827.69

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/15/2005

$15,495.41

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 346 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

09/02/2004

04-04826

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$2,994,716.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/26/2005

$160,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 347 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/05/2004

04-04860

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE
TO EXECUTE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$12,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/10/2005

$203,400.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 348 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

07/16/2004

04-05026

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES 1437©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/15/2005

$81,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 349 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/16/2004

04-05033

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$120,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/12/2005

$62,714.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 350 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

07/19/2004

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

07/19/2004

04-05063

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$17,850,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/09/2007

$700,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 351 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/23/2004

04-05236

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/22/2007

$36,412.81

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 352 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/28/2004

04-05341

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$858,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/12/2006

$48,874.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 353 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/18/2004

04-05423

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$188,280.56

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/23/2005

$201,461.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 354 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/17/2004

04-05622

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$25,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/02/2005

$35,425.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 355 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/29/2004

04-06128

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$449,857.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/10/2006

$75,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 356 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/07/2004

04-06710

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$25,736.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/26/2005

$13,355.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 357 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/24/2004

04-06723

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$499,999.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/07/2005

$200,000.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 358 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/27/2004

04-06732

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/11/2006

$11,265.29

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 359 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

10/04/2004

04-06894

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$260,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

11/04/2005

$210,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 360 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/06/2004

04-07259

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/05/2005

$40,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 361 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

12/02/2004

04-07438

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$820,243.59
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$820,243.59

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/04/2005

$119,181.89

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 362 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/28/2004

04-07518

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,604,116.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/25/2005

$186,457.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 363 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

11/02/2004

04-07582

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE
TO EXECUTE
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

04-07582

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$85,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/06/2006

$68,215.46

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 364 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/14/2004

04-07679

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/24/2006

$1,160,411.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 365 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/10/2004

04-07758

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$900,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/30/2005

$10,824.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 366 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/10/2004

04-07999

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$14,234.55

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/15/2005

$5,705.84

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 367 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/28/2005

04-08240

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$275,365.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/18/2006

$40,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 368 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/30/2004

04-08299

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$300,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/26/2006

$20,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 369 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/09/2004

04-08333

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/31/2006

$60,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 370 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/28/2004

04-08635

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$30,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/29/2005

$29,381.90

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 371 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/23/2005

05-00451

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$769.13

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/17/2005

$794.13

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 372 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

02/08/2005

05-00624

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,520,430.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/01/2006
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $350,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 373 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/23/2005

05-00714

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$25,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/18/2005

$24,977.75

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 374 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

02/16/2005

05-00820

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$250,000.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/14/2006

$85,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 375 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/24/2005

05-00920

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/15/2006

$10,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 376 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

03/11/2005

05-01215

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE 1452©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$185,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/18/2006

$30,300.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 377 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/29/2005

05-01369

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/13/2006

$250,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 378 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

04/05/2005

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

04/05/2005

05-01370

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$211,174.75

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/09/2006

$17,212.87

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 379 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/29/2005

05-01561

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$75,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY - VACATED IN WHOLE OR PART

04/24/2006

$56,025.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 380 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; EXECUTIONS-EXECUTION PRICE; TRADING DISPUTES-
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/07/2005

05-01710

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; EXECUTIONS-EXECUTION PRICE; TRADING DISPUTES-
MARK-UPS

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$23,356.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/03/2005

$10,397.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 381 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/05/2005

05-01725

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/18/2006

$40,747.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 382 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/11/2005

05-01826

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$8,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/21/2006

$16,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 383 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/11/2005

05-01858

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/03/2006

$62,475.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 384 of 874

i
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Disclosure 384 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/02/2005

05-02244

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED; OTHER-OTHER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/19/2005

$20,017.03

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 385 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/04/2005

05-02267

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,195,629.95

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/23/2006

$909,594.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 386 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/22/2005

05-02896

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT
RELATED-MARGIN CALLS

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/23/2006

$1,415,014.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 387 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/10/2005

05-02986

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$138,102.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/15/2006

$14,741.07
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $14,741.07

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 388 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/15/2005

05-03065

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$77,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/05/2006

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 389 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

06/24/2005

05-03072

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$91,410.81

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/17/2006

$5,225.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 390 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/14/2005

05-03362

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/05/2007

$1,483,723.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 391 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

07/11/2005

05-03460

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES 1460©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$130,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/10/2006

$51,514.32

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 392 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/15/2005

05-03607

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$9,500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/23/2007

$2,115,018.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 393 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

09/09/2005

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

09/09/2005

05-04677

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$959,797.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/20/2006

$406,352.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 394 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/21/2005

05-04833

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$1,125,107.61

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/29/2006

$35,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 395 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/30/2005

05-04870

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$1,500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/24/2006

$300,500.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 396 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/26/2005

05-04971

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/31/2007

$195,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 397 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/14/2005

05-05179

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/08/2007

$550,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 398 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/27/2006

05-05479

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$93,756.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/23/2007

$1.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 399 of 874

i
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Disclosure 399 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/17/2006

05-05710

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; FANNIE MAE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$738,539.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/16/2007

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 400 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/16/2005

05-06385

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$373,837.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/12/2007

$301,470.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 401 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/23/2006

05-06610

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$350,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/20/2007

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 402 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

01/17/2006

06-00182

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$5,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/18/2007

$3,321,442.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 403 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/04/2006

06-00559

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$18,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/25/2007

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 404 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

06/13/2006

06-01360

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES 1467©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/29/2007

$835,857.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 405 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/24/2006

06-01447

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$2,400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/04/2007

$330,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 406 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

06/15/2006

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

06/15/2006

06-01748

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$229,712.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/14/2008

$4,976.82

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 407 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/04/2006

06-02189

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$492,247.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/14/2007

$100,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 408 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/13/2006

06-02349

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/06/2007

$158,801.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 409 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/23/2006

06-02967

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/03/2007

$180,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 410 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/30/2006

06-03120

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$12,736.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/05/2007

$4,815.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 411 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/20/2006

06-04981

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

CERTIFICATE OF DEPOSIT; CORPORATE BONDS; MUNICIPAL BONDS;
MUTUAL FUNDS

$200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/22/2008

$2,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 412 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/29/2007

07-00223

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
CONTROVERSIES

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$925,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/13/2007

$690,430.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 413 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

09/14/2007

07-02363

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/03/2008

$25,840.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $25,840.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 414 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

11/06/2007

07-02938

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$6,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/07/2008

$51,400.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 415 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

FINRA

01/31/2008

08-00097

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$686,587.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/03/2009

$146,515.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 416 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

02/29/2008

08-00568

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; STOCK INDEX FUTURES

$30,600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/20/2009

$30,600,600.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 417 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

FINRA

03/17/2008

08-00746

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$20,514.17

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/11/2008

$1,232.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 418 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

05/15/2008

08-01247

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
SECURITIES

$21,123.93

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/03/2008

$6,809.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 419 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

FINRA

05/09/2008

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

05/09/2008

08-01310

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$22,830.86

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/17/2008

$4,388.59

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 420 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

06/10/2008

08-01816

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
CONTROVERSIES

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$300,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/09/2010

$85,467.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 421 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

06/24/2008

08-01986

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/19/2010

$63,617.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 422 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

10/20/2008

08-03676

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

ANNUITIES; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUTUAL FUNDS

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/22/2010

$8,475.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 423 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

10/23/2008

08-03841

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$405,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/09/2009

$235,416.47

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 424 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

11/24/2008

08-04321

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/01/2010

$255,300.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

1478©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Disclosure 425 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

12/02/2008

08-04427

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

AUCTION RATE SECURITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$64,550,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/18/2011

$525,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 426 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

12/01/2008

08-04503

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; FANNIE MAE

$24,943.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/13/2009

$24,414.52
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $24,414.52

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 427 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

01/12/2009

08-04586

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,250,001,800.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/21/2011

$8,100,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 428 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

FINRA

02/12/2009

09-00652

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY 1480©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/03/2010

$61,891.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 429 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

03/04/2009

09-00840

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-
OTHER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; FREDDIE MACS; PREFERRED STOCK;
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS

$116,926.31

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/16/2010

$588.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 430 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

FINRA

05/22/2009

09-00951

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

09-00951

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
SECURITIES; VARIABLE ANNUITIES

$195,828.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/14/2013

$294,480.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 431 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

03/20/2009

09-01490

ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER

$360,502.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/09/2010

$363,503.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 432 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

FINRA

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

03/27/2009

09-01606

OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$1,600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/09/2010

$568,798.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 433 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

03/30/2009

09-01631

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

MUTUAL FUNDS

$69,153.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/05/2010

$32,500.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 434 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

05/08/2009

09-02059

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/18/2010

$500,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 435 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

07/08/2009

09-03329

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK

$6,157,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/15/2010

$500,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 436 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

06/17/2009

09-03429

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

$3,600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/08/2011

$435,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 437 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

FINRA

07/02/2009

09-03601

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-TRANSFER; TRADING DISPUTES-MANIPULATION; TRADING
DISPUTES-TRANSFERS

ANNUITIES; VARIABLE ANNUITIES

$308,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/14/2010
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

06/14/2010

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 438 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

06/30/2009

09-03814

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK

$135,797.91

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/19/2010

$27,159.58

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 439 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

FINRA

08/10/2009

09-04362

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-DIVIDENDS; ACCOUNT RELATED-
EXCHANGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

1486©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

09-04362

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS

$1,781,068.24

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/25/2011

$291,624.25

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 440 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

08/19/2009

09-04606

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; FANNIE MAE; FREDDIE MACS

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/02/2010

$90,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 441 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

FINRA

EXECUTIONS-OTHER
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

09/11/2009

09-04857

COMMON STOCK

$25,100.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/28/2010

$7,750.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 442 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

09/29/2009

09-05535

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

VARIABLE ANNUITIES

$150,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/22/2011

$25,100.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 443 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

10/08/2009

09-05668

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

VARIABLE ANNUITIES

$145,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/10/2010

$1.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 444 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

11/24/2009

09-05763

EXECUTIONS-EXECUTION PRICE

CORPORATE BONDS

$6,176.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/21/2010

$6,139.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 445 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

11/04/2009

09-05801

$230,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/06/2010

$68,547.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 446 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

10/23/2009

09-05842

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; VARIABLE ANNUITIES

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/17/2011

$131,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

1490©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Disclosure 447 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

11/09/2009

09-06111

EMPLOYMENT-BREACH OF CONTRACT; EMPLOYMENT-PROMISSORY
NOTES

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/15/2011

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 448 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

11/25/2009

09-06623

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES; PREFERRED STOCK

$177,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/26/2011

$74,907.01
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 449 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

12/04/2009

09-06739

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT
RELATED-OTHER

CERTIFICATE OF DEPOSIT; COMMON STOCK

$53,693.44

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/11/2010

$2,018.33

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 450 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

FINRA

12/24/2009

09-06762

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK

$1,700,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

06/23/2011

$880,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 451 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

01/13/2010

09-07121

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE
TO EXECUTE

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; EXCHANGE-TRADED FUNDS;
GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; MUTUAL FUNDS; PREFERRED STOCK

$640,633.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/19/2011

$520,283.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 452 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

FINRA

02/12/2010

09-07153

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AUCTION RATE SECURITIES

$30,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/10/2010

$25,425.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 453 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

02/19/2010

09-07161

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; TRADING DISPUTES-STOCK LOANS

CERTIFICATE OF DEPOSIT; COMMON STOCK

$1,000,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/31/2011

$470,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 454 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
OTHER

1494©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

02/08/2010

10-00519

CORPORATE BONDS

$282,082.60

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/18/2013

$82,356.82

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 455 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

03/17/2010

10-01151

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

VARIABLE ANNUITIES

$48,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/31/2010

$40,150.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 456 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

03/19/2010

10-01198

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

$3,057,822.78

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/03/2011

$2,512,200.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 457 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

04/16/2010

10-01725

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

FANNIE MAE; PREFERRED STOCK

$309,358.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/04/2011

$189,983.85

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 458 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

05/24/2010

10-02338

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$6,400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/02/2011

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 459 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

FINRA

06/08/2010

10-02524

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

FANNIE MAE; FREDDIE MACS; PREFERRED STOCK; STRUCTURED
PRODUCTS

$679,227.02

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/07/2011
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $259,399.22

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 460 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

08/03/2010

10-03400

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/13/2012

$1,239,032.92

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 461 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

FINRA

09/08/2010

10-03719

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

VARIABLE ANNUITIES

$600,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/04/2011

$230,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 462 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

09/21/2010

10-04068

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; MUTUAL FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$2,235,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/13/2011

$728,961.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 463 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

FINRA

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

11/08/2010

10-04928

OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$2,150,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/15/2012

$630,357.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 464 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

02/04/2011

11-00432

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

PREFERRED STOCK

$883,122.50

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/31/2012

$1,377,010.24

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 465 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

03/30/2011

11-00867

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK

$2,525,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/11/2012

$1,714,485.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 466 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

05/09/2011

11-01766

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

HEDGE FUND; MUTUAL FUNDS

$73,764.75

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/09/2012

$96,825.23

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 467 of 874

i
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Disclosure 467 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

05/23/2011

11-01948

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

FANNIE MAE

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/16/2012

$1,336,463.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 468 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

11/15/2011

11-04204

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

MUTUAL FUNDS; PRIVATE EQUITIES

$492,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/12/2012

$60,300.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 469 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

12/13/2011

11-04486

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

MUTUAL FUNDS

$7,291,789.83

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/15/2013

$146,024.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 470 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

FINRA

01/19/2012

11-04821

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$85,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/21/2012

1503©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sum of All Relief Awarded: $50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 471 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

06/26/2012

12-02000

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

VARIABLE ANNUITIES

$3,600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/01/2013

$1,198,437.22

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 472 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

FINRA

07/13/2012

12-02362

ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; EXECUTIONS-EXECUTION PRICE;
EXECUTIONS-FACEBOOK IPO

COMMON STOCK

$445,735.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/13/2013

$67,254.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 473 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

01/09/2014

13-03666

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

CORPORATE BONDS; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$925,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/20/2015

$158,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 474 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

FINRA

06/02/2014

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

14-01662

MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS; MUNICIPAL BONDS

$1,606,861.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/16/2016

$352,815.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 475 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

09/12/2014

14-02501

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; OTHER-OTHER

MUNICIPAL BONDS

$49,895.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/06/2015

$15,568.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 476 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

FINRA

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

10/22/2015

15-02707

ANNUITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/22/2017

$685,579.32

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 477 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

06/16/2016

16-01635

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE

OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$3,900,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/20/2017

$600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 478 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

1507©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

07/22/2016

16-02003

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$50,614.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/01/2017

$27,867.51

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 479 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

08/18/2016

16-02395

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-FRAUD;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; MUTUAL FUNDS

$700,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/09/2017

$37,916.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 480 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

06/22/2017

17-01639

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-FRAUD;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; EXECUTIONS-
EXECUTION ERROR

MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS; MUNICIPAL BONDS

$8,000,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/21/2020

$1,820,532.93

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 481 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

FINRA

10/09/2018

18-03492

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; TRADING DISPUTES-OTHER

OPTIONS
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

OPTIONS

$550,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/14/2019

$330,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 482 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

FINRA

12/06/2018

18-04115

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/02/2020

$25,739.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 483 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

FINRA

06/10/2022

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-OTHER; OTHER-RAIDING DISPUTES
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

06/10/2022

22-01292

COMMON STOCK; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$600,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/05/2023

$456,310.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 484 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1986

86-01115

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$65,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/30/1989

$7,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 485 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1987

87-00198

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$340,112.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/25/1989

$12,504.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 486 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1987

87-01195

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-TRANSFER; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$8,866.41

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/31/1989

$500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 487 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1987

87-01460

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; UNKNOWN
TYPE OF SECURITIES

$267,037.52

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/30/1990

$7,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 488 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1987

87-01731

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$12,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/26/1989

$4,978.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 489 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1987

87-02459

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$136,354.82

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/30/1990

$129,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 490 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1987

87-02519

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$224,853.69

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/18/1989

$37,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 491 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1987

87-02703

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$2,403.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/27/1989

$2,403.70

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 492 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1987

87-02717

ACCOUNT RELATED-COLLECTION; ACCOUNT RELATED-DIVIDENDS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$3,600.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/12/1989

$275.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 493 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-00075

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$468,284.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/11/1989

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 494 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-00116

ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$1,171.73

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/02/1989

$585.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $585.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 495 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-00528

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$49,174.56

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/31/1989

$5,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 496 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-00553

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
SECURITIES

$45,817.49
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$45,817.49

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/29/1989

$30,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 497 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-00691

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$90,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/31/1989

$115,750.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 498 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-00693

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

88-00693

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$2,258,899.49

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/31/1989

$696,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 499 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-00723

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$116,267.44

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/28/1989

$81,762.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 500 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-00957

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$377,169.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/21/1989

$30,788.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 501 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01005

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$13,667.19

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/03/1989

$9,403.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 502 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/21/1988

88-01098

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$830,151.60

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/13/1990

$96,952.60

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 503 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01126

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-
CHARGES; EXECUTIONS-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$4,910.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/15/1989

$2,384.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 504 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01127

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$3,105.13

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/02/1989

$3,105.13

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 505 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01169

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$349,701.66

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/06/1989

$210,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 506 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/24/1988

88-01280

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$619,434.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/26/1990

$34,079.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 507 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01444

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$196,928.22

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/19/1990

$28,974.15

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 508 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01601

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$127,056.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/16/1989

$24,263.96

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 509 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/17/1988

88-01686

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$865,804.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/17/1991

$40,397.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 510 of 874

i
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Disclosure 510 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01751

ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$25,069.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/10/1989

$21,003.95

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 511 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01762

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$48,932.28

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/29/1989

$14,454.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

i
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Disclosure 512 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01779

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$119,077.90

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/02/1989

$157,177.12

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 513 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01783

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$67,973.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/12/1989

$13,547.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 514 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/21/1988

88-01801

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/26/1991

$60,720.15

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 515 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/21/1988

88-01821

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$186,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/06/1991

$64,804.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 516 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01845

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$133,198.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/17/1989

$22,320.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 517 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01910

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$12,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/27/1990

$3,000.00
1528©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sum of All Relief Awarded: $3,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 518 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01918

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$880,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/18/1990

$18,825.28

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 519 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-01941

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$167,969.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY 1529©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/16/1990

$84,206.64

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 520 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02011

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$300,234.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/22/1989

$39,444.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 521 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02032

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$76,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$76,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/16/1990

$32,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 522 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02071

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$9,187.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/07/1989

$7,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 523 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02097

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

88-02097

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS

$1,265.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/11/1989

$1,265.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 524 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02108

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$838,725.11

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/11/1989

$81,220.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 525 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

01/01/1988

ACCOUNT RELATED-COLLECTION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/01/1988

88-02169

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/31/1990

$154,087.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 526 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02189

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
MARGIN CALLS

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$53,962.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/02/1990

$10,017.98

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 527 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02228

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$407,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/05/1990

$7,501.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 528 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02358

ACCOUNT RELATED-COLLECTION; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-
CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$37,567.47

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/26/1989

$12,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 529 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02363

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$71,523.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/25/1989

$29,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 530 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/10/1988

88-02421

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$386,680.92

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/28/1990

$85,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 531 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02486

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$82,060.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/31/1989

$8,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 532 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02610

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$5,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/02/1989

$1,765.89

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 533 of 874

i
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Disclosure 533 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02672

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$4,188.33

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/12/1989

$4,188.83

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 534 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02687

EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$4,897.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/09/1989

$875.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 535 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02790

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$89,361.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/26/1990

$89,361.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 536 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-02956

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$3,186.83

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/27/1990

$3,286.83
1538©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sum of All Relief Awarded: $3,286.83

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 537 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03212

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE;
EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$25,637.05

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/01/1990

$146,517.56

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 538 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03327

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$200,000.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/23/1990

$18,110.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 539 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03356

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$2,800,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/06/1989

$370,653.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 540 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03364

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
COLLECTION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

Unspecified Damages
1540©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/03/1990

$96,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 541 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03556

EXECUTIONS-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$10,620.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/26/1989

$833.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 542 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03560

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; MUTUAL
FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; MUTUAL
FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/21/1990

$265,076.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 543 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03570

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,109,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/17/1989

$19,076.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 544 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

01/01/1988

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/01/1988

88-03573

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$5,043,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/21/1989

$21,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 545 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03594

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/20/1990

$10,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 546 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

1543©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03666

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,601.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/02/1989

$1,491.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 547 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/21/1988

88-03671

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$4,347,750.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/16/1991

$250,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 548 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03703

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$6,400.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/29/1989

$2,063.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 549 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03708

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$35,002.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/24/1990

$35,002.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 550 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/02/1989

88-03726

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$5,467,952.16

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/08/1990

$1,944,554.75

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 551 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/13/1988

88-03727

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$216,708.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/17/1991

$127,948.21

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 552 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/01/1989

88-03757

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$20,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/01/1991

$2,652.25

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 553 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03813

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$16,640.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/30/1990

$4,074.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 554 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/04/1989

88-03853

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,237,912.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/28/1991

$156,700.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 555 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/19/1989

88-03912

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/18/1991

$163,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 556 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03928

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS

$115,608.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/26/1990

$2,503.70

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 557 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03935

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; EXECUTIONS-
FAILURE TO EXECUTE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$5,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/23/1989

$2,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 558 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-03952

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$49,994.83

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/15/1989

$27,764.34

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 559 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1988

88-99930

EXECUTIONS-EXECUTION PRICE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$12,671.66

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/19/1989

$8,205.78

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 560 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/02/1989

89-00010

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$232,444.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/22/1991

$69,884.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 561 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/12/1989

89-00069

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$3,661,506.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/19/1991

$1,661,350.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 562 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-00082

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$975.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/26/1989

$923.19

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 563 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-00293

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$27,520.77

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/25/1990

$4,200.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $4,200.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 564 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/20/1989

89-00440

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$140,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/27/1991

$20,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 565 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/08/1989

89-00740

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$180,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/30/1990

$3,500.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $3,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 566 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/07/1989

89-00795

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$159,216.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/25/1990

$24,940.08

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 567 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/24/1989

89-01039

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$186,760.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/31/1991

$13,001.85
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $13,001.85

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 568 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-01061

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED; TRADING DISPUTES-MARK-UPS

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$763.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/28/1989

$382.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 569 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-01257

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MANIPULATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$101,775.04

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/09/1990
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

04/09/1990

$25,598.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 570 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-01416

ACCOUNT RELATED-EXCHANGES; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$4,561.38

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/25/1990

$4,561.38

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 571 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-01605

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; EXECUTIONS-
FAILURE TO EXECUTE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$59,760.86

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/16/1990

$18,201.59

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 572 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-01610

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$4,917.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/05/1989

$113.57

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 573 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

08/09/1989

89-01799

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$100,000.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/29/1991

$82,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 574 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/07/1989

89-01817

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$31,515.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/20/1990

$5,200.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 575 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-01995

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$93,020.00
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$93,020.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/15/1990

$14,125.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 576 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/25/1989

89-02008

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$273,294.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/05/1990

$175,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 577 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

08/21/1989

89-02035

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/12/1990

$13,915.31

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 578 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/15/1989

89-02109

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMODITIES FUTURES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$15,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/26/1990

$13,430.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 579 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-02252

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$34,330.38

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/06/1990

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 580 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/07/1989

89-02324

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$53,794.42

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/04/1990

$81,984.46

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 581 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-02487

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/16/1990

$2,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 582 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/22/1989

89-02790

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/05/1994

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 583 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

01/01/1989

89-02807

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

89-02807

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$100,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/16/1990

$7,783.56

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 584 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/12/1989

89-02869

EXECUTIONS-EXECUTION PRICE; EXECUTIONS-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMODITIES FUTURES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$26,724.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/28/1991

$12,400.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 585 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

10/30/1989

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

10/30/1989

89-02874

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/23/1990

$12,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 586 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/20/1989

89-02959

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/01/1991

$411,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 587 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/06/1989

89-03197

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$249,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/27/1991

$12,175.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 588 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/09/1990

90-00025

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,513,239.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/20/1992

$444,233.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 589 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

1565©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/06/1990

90-00343

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$20,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/14/1991

$17,334.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 590 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/01/1990

90-00413

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$900.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/31/1990

$450.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 591 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/16/1990

90-00446

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$35,662.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/30/1991

$17,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 592 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/08/1990

90-00497

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$580,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/23/1992

$30,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 593 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/03/1990

90-00859

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$179,518.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/19/1991

$8,640.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 594 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/20/1990

90-01038

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$28,831.60

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/16/1991

$23,431.60

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 595 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/10/1990

90-01139

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; OTHER-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/19/1991

$35,900.52

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 596 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/03/1990

90-01214

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS

$61,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/28/1991

$8,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 597 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/16/1990

90-01338

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED; TRADING DISPUTES-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$5,416.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/03/1991

$5,216.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 598 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/18/1990

90-01380

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-OTHER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$20,930,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/30/1991

$11,775.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 599 of 874

i

1570©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/08/1990

90-01571

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$24,647.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/22/1991

$1,100.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 600 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/29/1990

90-01772

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$27,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/30/1991

$18,549.55

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 601 of 874

i
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Disclosure 601 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/31/1990

90-01825

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMODITIES FUTURES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/14/1992

$25,999.72

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 602 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/13/1990

90-02125

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/04/1991

$1,465.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 603 of 874

i
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Disclosure 603 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/29/1990

90-02338

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

OPTIONS; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$856,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/14/1991

$55,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 604 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/07/1990

90-02676

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS

$9,099.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/06/1991

$150.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 605 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/06/1991

90-02820

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

MUTUAL FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
SECURITIES

$6,640.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/19/1991

$1,130.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 606 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/20/1991

90-02848

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/22/1992

$1,500.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $1,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 607 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/15/1990

90-02856

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER

OPTIONS; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$468,091.66

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/07/1991

$80,417.75

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 608 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

12/05/1990

90-02890

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$12,649.34

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/13/1991

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 609 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/28/1990

90-03021

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

ANNUITIES; COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$175,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/03/1991

$49,250.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 610 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

11/28/1990

90-03197

ACCOUNT RELATED-TRANSFER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$10,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/04/1991

$5,700.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 611 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/03/1990

90-03304

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$5,791.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/22/1991

$7,708.45

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 612 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

07/02/1991

90-03378

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

90-03378

GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,333.33

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/10/1992

$600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 613 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/23/1991

90-03517

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND
FUNDS

$764,796.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/15/1994

$302,427.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 614 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/15/1991

91-00169

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$20,108,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/08/1993

$2,000,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 615 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/25/1991

91-00173

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$5,900.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/23/1991

$1,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 616 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF CONTROVERSIES
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/28/1991

91-00373

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF CONTROVERSIES

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$2,115,112.50

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/19/1991

$44,477.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 617 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/11/1991

91-00413

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS

$255,976.25

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/31/1992

$86,334.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 618 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/22/1991

91-00460

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

MUTUAL FUNDS; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$133,087.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/02/1992

$105,087.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 619 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/28/1991

91-00467

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

PREFERRED STOCK; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$8,470.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/19/1991

$2,805.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 620 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/08/1991

91-00470

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$344,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/22/1991

$40,559.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 621 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/22/1991

91-00472

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$122,562.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/02/1992

$106,668.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 622 of 874

i
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Disclosure 622 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/22/1991

91-00473

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

MUTUAL FUNDS; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$68,336.54

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/02/1992

$7,265.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 623 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/28/1991

91-00695

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; UNKNOWN TYPE OF CONTROVERSIES

COMMON STOCK; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS;
UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$406,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/06/1992

$61,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 624 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/18/1991

91-00700

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; MUTUAL
FUNDS

$183,755.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/23/1992

$86,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 625 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

10/21/1991

91-00790

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
SECURITIES

$45,429.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/25/1992
1584©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

04/25/1992

$11,700.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 626 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/18/1991

91-00823

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; UNKNOWN TYPE OF
SECURITIES

$2,400.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/07/1991

$6,837.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 627 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

04/29/1991

91-00904

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-
CHARGES; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$15,400.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/23/1992

$1,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 628 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/10/1991

91-00947

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS;
PREFERRED STOCK

$300,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/10/1992

$32,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 629 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

04/22/1991

91-00980

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
OTHER
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

91-00980

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$61,362.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/11/1991

$61,362.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 630 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/10/1991

91-00985

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS;
WARRANTS/RIGHTS

$314,973.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/09/1992

$214,541.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 631 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/23/1991

91-01152

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; OPTIONS

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/27/1991

$59,400.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 632 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/21/1991

91-01363

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$2,500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/09/1992

$85,058.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 633 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/21/1991

91-01458

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$9,309.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/31/1992

$9,309.35

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 634 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/20/1991

91-01515

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-OTHER

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/28/1992

$4,800.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 635 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/03/1991

91-01519

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES;
ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$812.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/19/1991

$977.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 636 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/05/1991

91-01678

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$61,935.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/18/1991

$835.44

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 637 of 874

i
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Disclosure 637 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/05/1991

91-01700

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; MUTUAL
FUNDS

$16,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/28/1993

$51,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 638 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/08/1991

91-01769

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$7,632.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/23/1992

$5,480.96
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 639 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/02/1991

91-01996

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$125,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/17/1992

$153,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 640 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

07/02/1991

91-02002

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$100,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

08/17/1992

$5,020.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 641 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/15/1991

91-02302

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$35,171.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/27/1992

$2,188.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 642 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

08/08/1991

91-02378

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$2,400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/28/1992

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 643 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/25/1991

91-02846

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$6,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/26/1992

$1,085.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 644 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

10/17/1991

91-02942

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/31/1992

$65,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 645 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/01/1991

91-02965

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

OPTIONS; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$59,815.36

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/17/1992

$12,460.79

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 646 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

06/26/1992

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

06/26/1992

91-03030

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$21,816.50

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/15/1993

$3,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 647 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/27/1992

91-03103

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$80,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/27/1992

$10,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 648 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/03/1991

91-03292

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES;
MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/14/1994

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 649 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/04/1991

91-03342

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$135,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/11/1992

$20,505.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 650 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/06/1991

91-03427

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/18/1992

$4,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 651 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/13/1992

91-03476

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$30,001.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/31/1992

$12,744.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 652 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/14/1991

91-03524

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; GINNIE MAES; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS

$1,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/29/1993

$390,332.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 653 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

01/14/1992

91-03631

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$16,750.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/06/1992
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $6,015.22

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 654 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/05/1991

91-03720

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$225,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/01/1993

$40,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 655 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

12/04/1991

91-03725

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$400,000.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/11/1992

$48,898.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 656 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/08/1992

91-03736

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE;
EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$131,348.78

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/30/1995

$49,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 657 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

03/05/1992

92-00027

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$23,256.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/17/1993

$15,504.06

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 658 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/10/1992

92-00084

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/08/1992

$510.40

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 659 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

01/24/1992

92-00138

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

1602©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

92-00138

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$9,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/29/1992

$9,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 660 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/25/1992

92-00161

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$274,135.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/07/1992

$1,667.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 661 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/26/1992

92-00381

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$7,670.84

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/15/1992

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 662 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/10/1992

92-00383

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/02/1993

$23,075.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 663 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/18/1992

92-00514

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$48,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/16/1992

$25,200.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 664 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/27/1992

92-00641

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS

$36,963.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/18/1993

$24,687.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 665 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/22/1992

92-00705

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS

$652,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/03/1994

$93,408.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 666 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/15/1992

92-00801

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,202,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/21/1994

$167,000.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 667 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/23/1992

92-01221

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND
FUNDS

$175,443.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/10/1994

$11,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 668 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

04/21/1992

92-01238

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,897.73

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/15/1993
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/15/1993

$8,125.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 669 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/06/1992

92-01388

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$15,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/22/1992

$15,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 670 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

04/24/1992

92-01400

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$52,563.21

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/30/1992

$26,281.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 671 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/26/1992

92-01525

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS

$84,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/10/1993

$60,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 672 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

05/15/1992

92-01565

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS; MUTUAL FUNDS 1609©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS; MUTUAL FUNDS

$700,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/16/1994

$60,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 673 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/05/1992

92-01624

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/29/1993

$17,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 674 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

06/16/1992

92-01771

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

92-01771

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$9,866.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/17/1992

$8,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 675 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/22/1992

92-01877

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$800,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/11/1993

$7,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 676 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/17/1992

92-01999

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$9,140.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/17/1992

$4,241.66

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 677 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/21/1992

92-02356

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; PREFERRED STOCK

$6,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/23/1993

$293,595.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 678 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/07/1992

92-02521

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$197,995.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/14/1993

$40,069.83

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 679 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/10/1992

92-02688

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$117,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/12/1993

$17,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 680 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/19/1992

92-02761

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$700,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/30/1993

$250,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 681 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/21/1992

92-02799

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/07/1994

$20,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 682 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/06/1992

92-02919

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/01/1993

$73,295.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 683 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/02/1992

92-03209

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS

$120,803.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/09/1993

$30,803.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $30,803.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 684 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/23/1992

92-03733

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-
BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$318,287.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/10/1993

$70,786.59

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 685 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

03/29/1993

92-03834

ACCOUNT RELATED-TRANSFER; EXECUTIONS-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$11,740.30

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/25/1994

$7,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 686 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/30/1992

92-03840

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$482,154.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/07/1994

$12,482.88

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 687 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

11/24/1992

92-03867

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS

$35,184.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/22/1993

$3,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 688 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/21/1994

92-04379

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$43,104.61

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/06/1995

$25,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 689 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

02/02/1993

93-00115

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

93-00115

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/02/1993

$1,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 690 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/19/1993

93-00131

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$30,075.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/01/1994

$12,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 691 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; EXECUTIONS-
FAILURE TO EXECUTE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/25/1993

93-00173

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$29,442.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/22/1994

$1,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 692 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/01/1993

93-00910

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$450,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/19/1994

$155,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 693 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/23/1993

93-01265

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$8,007.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/01/1993

$8,089.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 694 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/28/1993

93-01303

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$120,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/23/1996

$99,100.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 695 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/20/1993

93-01433

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; WARRANTS/RIGHTS

$93,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/14/1994

$15,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 696 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/09/1993

93-01708

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/11/1994

$494,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 697 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/15/1993

93-01789

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS; REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

$9,999.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/03/1994

$850.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 698 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

06/16/1993

93-02261

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$17,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/09/1994
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $21,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 699 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/08/1993

93-02278

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS

$53,876.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/23/1995

$6,939.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 700 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

08/19/1993

93-02354

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING

COMMON STOCK; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS;
PREFERRED STOCK

$89,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$89,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/09/1994

$33,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 701 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/06/1993

93-02404

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$21,950.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/10/1994

$8,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 702 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

07/27/1993

93-02490

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED;
OTHER-OTHER

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/20/1994

$10,463.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 703 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/24/1994

93-03135

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$98,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/15/1997

$62,812.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 704 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

08/20/1993

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

08/20/1993

93-03153

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$9,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/30/1995

$6,880.64

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 705 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/16/1993

93-03215

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-
TRANSFER; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$240,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/09/1994

$41,447.32

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 706 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/15/1993

93-03353

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/31/1994

$5,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 707 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/15/1993

93-03623

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$7,346.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/06/1994

$2,746.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 708 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/27/1993

93-03673

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; MUNICIPAL
BOND FUNDS

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/08/1994

$25,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 709 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/23/1993

93-03703

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/10/1996

$76,399.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 710 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/11/1993

93-03721

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/30/1996

$10,150.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 711 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/30/1993

93-03728

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/08/1995

$6,602.30

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 712 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/28/1993

93-03729

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/08/1995

$6,602.30

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 713 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

10/20/1993

93-03759

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/24/1995
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $32,348.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 714 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/07/1993

93-03827

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/01/1994

$6,800.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 715 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

11/29/1993

93-03866

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$5,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/25/1996

$3,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 716 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/18/1993

93-03907

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/01/1996

$6,602.30

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 717 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

11/29/1993

93-03932

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,359.40

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/18/1994

$3,484.40

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 718 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/15/1993

93-03940

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/01/1995

$6,811.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 719 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

10/15/1993

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

10/15/1993

93-03941

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/12/1997

$10,075.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 720 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/22/1993

93-03963

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/16/1995

$9,561.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 721 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/29/1993

93-03965

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$14,752.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/29/1996

$11,505.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 722 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/18/1993

93-04022

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$5,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/20/1996

$5,150.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 723 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/07/1994

93-04058

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/06/1995

$7,986.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 724 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/30/1993

93-04064

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/29/1996

$6,675.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 725 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/18/1993

93-04077

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/28/1996

$7,650.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 726 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/10/1994

93-04136

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT
SECURITIES; MUTUAL FUNDS

$5,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/18/1994

$1,573.50
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $1,573.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 727 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/11/1993

93-04151

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$7,784.97

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/18/1994

$1,303.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 728 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

10/22/1993

93-04229

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,150.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/05/1995

$6,677.30

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 729 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/22/1993

93-04281

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/03/1996

$6,736.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 730 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

12/09/1993

93-04310

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$5,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/24/1994

$2,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 731 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/07/1993

93-04316

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$329,383.93

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/22/1994

$52,836.63

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 732 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

01/04/1994

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

1641©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/04/1994

93-04393

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES

$45,676.67

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/29/1995

$35,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 733 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/08/1993

93-04888

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,938,909.28

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/29/1996

$433,100.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 734 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/24/1994

93-05284

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS;
MUNICIPAL BONDS

$52,081.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/31/1995

$48,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 735 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/28/1994

93-05309

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$9,750.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/27/1994

$9,750.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 736 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/26/1994

93-05395

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND
FUNDS

$29,591.66

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/31/1994

$21,405.19

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 737 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/12/1994

94-00036

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,150.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/23/1994

$7,650.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 738 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/07/1994

94-00071

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF
CONTRACT

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,118,332.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/30/1996

$280,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 739 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/22/1994

94-00277

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$29,466.30

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/04/1995

$19,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $19,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 740 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/21/1994

94-00404

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$40,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/23/1995

$30,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 741 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

04/05/1994

94-00440

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,855.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/22/1995

$1,250.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 742 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/24/1995

94-01126

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; MUTUAL FUNDS; PREFERRED
STOCK

$9,990.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/05/1996

$2,359.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 743 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

06/29/1994

94-01136

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/31/1996

$17,571.04

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 744 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/10/1994

94-01243

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/27/1995

$4,300.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 745 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

07/07/1994

94-01742

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

94-01742

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$9,999.47

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/27/1995

$16,469.24

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 746 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/21/1994

94-01795

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$5,040,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/23/1996

$200,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 747 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

11/18/1994

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED; OTHER-OTHER
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

11/18/1994

94-01924

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$24,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/14/1995

$16,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 748 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/02/1994

94-02093

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$2,040.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/29/1995

$929.38

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 749 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/16/1994

94-02099

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$3,360.99

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/18/1995

$3,360.99

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 750 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/02/1994

94-02266

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND
FUNDS

$3,640.07

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/01/1995

$1,845.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 751 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE; EXECUTIONS-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED 1651©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/21/1994

94-02508

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE; EXECUTIONS-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$67,778.85

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/10/1996

$17,489.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 752 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/28/1994

94-02741

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$390,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/06/1996

$90,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 753 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/15/1994

94-02984

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/27/1996

$67,155.98

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 754 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/05/1994

94-03405

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$8,700.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/03/1995

$4,350.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 755 of 874

i
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Disclosure 755 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/25/1994

94-03472

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS

$5,450,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/22/1995

$8,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 756 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/05/1994

94-03541

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$2,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/12/1996

$918.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 757 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/10/1994

94-03742

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; EXECUTIONS-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; FANNIE MAE; FREDDIE MACS; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES

$60,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/09/1995

$7,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 758 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

11/02/1994

94-03817

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$700,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/02/1996

$110,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 759 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/07/1994

94-03842

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$7,759.96

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/19/1995

$4,418.31

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 760 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

12/20/1994

94-04593

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$248,087.50

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/30/1995

$44,688.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 761 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/20/1995

94-04790

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
OTHER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$68,274.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/27/1996

$25,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 762 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

01/30/1995

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/30/1995

94-04805

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$4,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/07/1995

$3,180.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 763 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/30/1994

94-04899

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/23/1995

$7,700.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 764 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/21/1995

94-05242

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/24/1996

$33,152.43

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 765 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/26/1995

94-05378

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$460,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/05/1997

$75,197.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 766 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/29/1994

94-05461

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENT TRUST

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/28/1995

$7,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 767 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/18/1995

95-00225

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES

$9,990.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/24/1995

$2,937.20

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 768 of 874

i
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Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/31/1995

95-00231

UNKNOWN TYPE OF CONTROVERSIES

UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$7,849.11

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/14/1995

$1,800.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 769 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/08/1995

95-00398

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; FANNIE MAE; FREDDIE MACS;
GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$934,046.67

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/14/1996

$933,896.67

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 770 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/14/1995

95-00496

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$44,421.97

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/04/1997

$39,421.97

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 771 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/28/1995

95-00706

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$65,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/20/1996

$30,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $30,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 772 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/16/1995

95-00880

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$150,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/02/1998

$130,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 773 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

03/09/1995

95-00922

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$100,171.24

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/19/1996

$4,604.29

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 774 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/05/1995

95-00979

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$9,953.35

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/22/1995

$6,650.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 775 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

03/02/1995

95-00999

ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$897,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

$897,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/09/1996

$25,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 776 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/29/1995

95-01029

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$132,436.34

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/16/1996

$53,436.34

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 777 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

03/29/1995

95-01155

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

95-01155

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/13/1996

$4,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 778 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/23/1995

95-01175

NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED; EMPLOYMENT-COMPENSATION

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$11,729,375.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/03/2000

$190,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 779 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

05/02/1995

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

05/02/1995

95-01598

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$191,337.96

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/09/1996

$240,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 780 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

04/17/1995

95-01656

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES; PREFERRED STOCK

$10,072.84

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/22/1996

$6,512.48

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 781 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/17/1995

95-01819

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$99,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/01/1996

$121,555.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 782 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/10/1995

95-02052

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$1,645.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/27/1995

$569.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 783 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/08/1995

95-02259

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

$22,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/03/1996

$6,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 784 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/05/1995

95-02591

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$328,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/25/1996

$273,957.42

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 785 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/15/1995

95-02730

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$100,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/17/1996

$3,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 786 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/27/1995

95-03556

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS;
OPTIONS

$11,600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/09/1997

$40,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 787 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/15/1995

95-03582

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/12/1996

$10,075.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 788 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/22/1995

95-03716

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$66,605.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/10/1996

$13,125.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 789 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/04/1996

95-04462

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/22/1996

$8,832.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 790 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

12/06/1995

95-05401

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; MUTUAL
FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/05/1997
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Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

08/05/1997

$539,086.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 791 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/01/1995

95-05543

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; EXECUTIONS-EXECUTION PRICE; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$3,214.45

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/13/1996

$2,935.54

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 792 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

NASD

11/30/1995

95-05567

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$8,408.00
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/29/1996

$1,604.04

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 793 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/02/1996

95-05755

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/31/1996

$1,185.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 794 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

01/03/1996

95-05769

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-
TRANSFER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES
1674©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org
https://www.finra.org/arbitration-mediation/arbitration-awards-online?search=95-05755
https://www.finra.org/arbitration-mediation/arbitration-awards-online?search=95-05769


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$6,388.40

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/22/1996

$6,032.90

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 795 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/09/1996

95-05821

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$4,076.88

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/25/1996

$1,980.63

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 796 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

01/25/1996

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/25/1996

95-05982

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$1,383,500.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/04/1997

$467,896.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 797 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/17/1996

95-05986

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BOND
FUNDS; MUTUAL FUNDS

$179,714.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/24/1998

$25,950.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 798 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/13/1996

96-00420

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

GINNIE MAES; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS; MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES

$118,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/08/1996

$9,270.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 799 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/01/1996

96-00449

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$39,858.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/14/1997

$8,700.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 800 of 874

i
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Disclosure 800 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/15/1996

96-00477

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$6,607.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/10/1996

$2,357.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 801 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/07/1996

96-00596

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF SECURITIES

$1,415.08

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/27/1996

$357.67

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
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Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 802 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/28/1996

96-00730

ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN
CALLS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$18,952.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/23/1997

$11,912.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 803 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

04/02/1996

96-00964

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED
TRADING; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMODITIES FUTURES; COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC
INVOLVE

$398,155.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/03/1996
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $25,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 804 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/22/1996

96-01127

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,114.12

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/18/1996

$1,082.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 805 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

05/16/1996

96-01815

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/04/1996

$75.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 806 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/22/1996

96-02734

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED
PARTNERSHIPS; MUTUAL FUNDS

$73,489.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/17/1997

$30,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 807 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

08/23/1996

96-03101

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

96-03101

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$4,865,011.48

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/23/1997

$2,432,505.74

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 808 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/04/1996

96-03245

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO
EXECUTE; EXECUTIONS-LIMIT V MRKT ORDR; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$2,760.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/10/1997

$125.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 809 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/26/1996

96-03568

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$3,672.61

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/12/1997

$125.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 810 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/24/1996

96-03633

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES;
EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$97,982.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/14/1997

$81,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 811 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/28/1996

96-03669

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; MUTUAL FUNDS; OTHER
TYPES OF SECURITIES

$9,999.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/12/1997

$10,149.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 812 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/02/1996

96-04039

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS;
REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

$7,428.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/25/1997

$150.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 813 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/03/1996

96-04352

ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$6,047.62

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/10/1997

$2,299.52

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 814 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/13/1996

96-04866

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$299,100.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/24/1998

$15,550.00

1685©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org
https://www.finra.org/arbitration-mediation/arbitration-awards-online?search=96-04352
https://www.finra.org/arbitration-mediation/arbitration-awards-online?search=96-04866


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 815 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/11/1996

96-04983

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$700,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/08/1999

$51,349.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 816 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

01/16/1997

96-05311

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-OTHER

ANNUITIES; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS

$26,453.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/29/1997

$400.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 817 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/13/1996

96-05341

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; EXECUTIONS-EXECUTION
PRICE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

$15,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/15/1997

$1,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 818 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

12/13/1996

96-05406

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; FREDDIE MACS; OTHER TYPES OF
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; FREDDIE MACS; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$1,651,403.36

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/24/1998

$25,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 819 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/07/1997

96-05718

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$600,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/17/1997

$504,361.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 820 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

01/27/1997

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER;
EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/27/1997

96-05725

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$1,783.38

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/30/1997

$38.38

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 821 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/22/1997

97-00167

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$10,063.69

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/16/1997

$1,200.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 822 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/11/1997

97-00546

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$106,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/18/1997

$4,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 823 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/13/1997

97-00656

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUNICIPAL BONDS

$48,214.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/18/1999

$47,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 824 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

1690©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org
https://www.finra.org/arbitration-mediation/arbitration-awards-online?search=97-00546
https://www.finra.org/arbitration-mediation/arbitration-awards-online?search=97-00656


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

05/13/1997

97-01195

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; MUNICIPAL
BONDS; MUTUAL FUNDS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/11/1997

$75.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 825 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

08/07/1997

97-01981

ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/25/1999

$10,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 826 of 874

i
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Disclosure 826 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/25/1997

97-02436

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$400,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/13/1998

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 827 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/25/1997

97-02468

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT
SECURITIES

$2,890,727.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/01/1999

$0.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 828 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/20/1997

97-02978

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$330,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/05/1998

$51,182.28

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 829 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

06/27/1997

97-03153

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT
RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$21,549.85

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/28/1998
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $46,724.69

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 830 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/08/1997

97-04866

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

ANNUITIES; COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE;
MUNICIPAL BOND FUNDS

$336,424.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/08/1998

$15,734.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 831 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

10/28/1997

97-04885

EXECUTIONS-FAILURE TO EXECUTE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$61,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/25/1999

$1,187.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 832 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/08/1997

97-04944

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$10,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/17/1998

$75.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 833 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

12/23/1997

97-05408

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$10,150.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/23/1998

$3,910.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 834 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/03/1998

97-05527

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING;
ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$517,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/09/1999

$66,500.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 835 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

01/08/1998

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

01/08/1998

97-05875

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$140,875.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/08/1999

$111,535.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 836 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/09/1998

98-00031

ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$50,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/30/1999

$35,730.48

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 837 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

02/25/1998

98-00201

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$7,662.11

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/01/1998

$75.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 838 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/19/1998

98-00513

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE BONDS; PREFERRED STOCK;
WARRANTS/RIGHTS

$300,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/17/1999

$149,179.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 839 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/03/1998

98-00760

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$145,621.55

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/18/1998

$65,950.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 840 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/23/1998

98-00991

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/15/2005

$1,173,296.26

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 841 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/29/1998

98-02191

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

Unspecified Damages

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

08/08/2003

$320,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 842 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/05/1999

98-03451

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$250,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/27/2000

$0.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 843 of 874

i
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Disclosure 843 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/02/1998

98-03563

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,671,011.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/30/1999

$256,900.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 844 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

10/16/1998

98-03586

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; ACCOUNT RELATED-
FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$305,457.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/06/1999

$499,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 845 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/23/1998

98-03615

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$391,408.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/17/1999

$133,788.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 846 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/03/1998

98-04040

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
TRANSFER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$54,312.50

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/12/1999

$18,348.00
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There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 847 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/11/1998

98-04158

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY;
ACCOUNT RELATED-MARGIN CALLS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$240,565.76

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/22/2000

$77,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 848 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

NASD

11/24/1998

98-04285

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$118,682.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/07/1999
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $43,554.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 849 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/21/1999

98-04900

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; PREFERRED STOCK

$280,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

03/29/2000

$20,001.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 850 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

01/19/1999

99-00063

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION OF FACTS;
ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$800,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/31/2000

$299,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 851 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

02/19/1999

99-00711

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$306,771.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/05/2000

$150,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 852 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

05/04/1999

99-00718

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES 1705©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$446,174.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/20/2003

$110,435.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 853 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

03/31/1999

99-00953

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$89,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/10/2000

$26,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 854 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

NASD

06/29/1999

99-01480

ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

99-01480

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUTUAL FUNDS

$12,936.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

02/22/2000

$12,961.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 855 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/16/1999

99-02122

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OTHER; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED; OTHER-DEFAMATION

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$800,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/24/2000

$383,653.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 856 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Allegations:

NASD

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/10/1999

99-02160

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT
SECURITIES; MUTUAL FUNDS

$144,539.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/09/2002

$19,688.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 857 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/15/1999

99-02191

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$200,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

10/11/2000

$10,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 858 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

06/17/1999

99-02450

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
OMISSION OF FACTS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$5,000,000.01

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/31/2002

$386,532.02

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 859 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/12/1999

99-02503

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; NO
OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$242,789.70

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/14/2000

$41,000.01

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 860 of 874

i
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Disclosure 860 of 874

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/23/1999

99-02601

ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER; EXECUTIONS-OTHER; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$9,907.25

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

06/08/2000

$9,907.25

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 861 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

07/23/1999

99-02602

ACCOUNT RELATED-ERRORS-CHARGES; ACCOUNT RELATED-OTHER;
EXECUTIONS-OTHER; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$9,907.25

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

05/23/2000

$10,232.25

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure 862 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/04/1999

99-03464

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$24,902.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

11/06/2000

$17,361.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 863 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/15/1999

99-03558

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER
CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$174,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/29/2001

$6,000.00
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Sum of All Relief Awarded: $6,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 864 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/15/1999

99-03566

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-UNAUTHORIZED TRADING; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY
INVOLVED

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$125,774.51

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

01/02/2001

$98,150.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 865 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

NASD

09/30/1999

99-03587

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$500,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY
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Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/08/2000

$70,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 866 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

09/30/1999

99-03698

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT;
ACCOUNT RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; MUNICIPAL BONDS; OTHER TYPES OF
SECURITIES

$191,556.13

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/12/2001

$50,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 867 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

NASD

10/17/1999

99-04175

ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT RELATED-
NEGLIGENCE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; WARRANTS/RIGHTS 1713©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; WARRANTS/RIGHTS

$256,410.22

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/26/2001

$73,927.05

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 868 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

11/15/1999

99-04357

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT
RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$8,920,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

09/26/2002

$129,000.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 869 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Allegations:

NASD

11/22/1999

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-MISREPRESENTATION; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-OMISSION
OF FACTS; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED
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Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

11/22/1999

99-04522

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; GOVERNMENT SECURITIES; MUTUAL
FUNDS

$140,200.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/18/2000

$10,861.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 870 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/15/1999

99-04802

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO SUPERVISE; ACCOUNT
RELATED-OTHER

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$1,560,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/19/2000

$25,662.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 871 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Allegations: ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED 1715©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/22/1999

99-05032

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH
OF CONTRACT; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

ANNUITIES; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE

$172,497.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/09/2001

$78,937.28

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 872 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

12/30/1999

99-05049

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE
TO SUPERVISE

COMMON STOCK; NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; OPTIONS

$3,000,000.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

12/17/2001

$450,600.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 873 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator
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Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/25/2000

99-05112

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-SUITABILITY; ACCOUNT RELATED-FAILURE TO
SUPERVISE; NO OTHER CONTROVERSY INVOLVED

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$22,604.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

04/11/2001

$11,514.50

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.

Disclosure 874 of 874

i

Reporting Source: Regulator

Type of Event: ARBITRATION

Arbitration Forum:

Case Initiated:

Case Number:

Allegations:

Disputed Product Type:

Sum of All Relief Requested:

Disposition:

Disposition Date:

Sum of All Relief Awarded:

NASD

01/04/2000

99-05126

ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-BRCH OF FIDUCIARY DT; ACCOUNT ACTIVITY-
CHURNING; ACCOUNT RELATED-BREACH OF CONTRACT; ACCOUNT
RELATED-NEGLIGENCE

NO OTHER TYPE OF SEC INVOLVE; UNKNOWN TYPE OF SECURITIES

$947,001.00

AWARD AGAINST PARTY

07/18/2001

$118,603.00

There may be a non-monetary award associated with this arbitration.
Please select the Case Number above to view more detailed information.
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Disclosure Events for Non-Registered Control Affiliates

All firms registered to sell securities or provide investment advice are required to disclose regulatory actions, criminal or
civil judicial proceedings, and certain financial matters in which the firm or one of its control affiliates has been involved.
For your convenience, below is a matrix of the number and status of disclosure events involving this brokerage firm or
one of its control affiliates. Further information regarding these events can be found in the subsequent pages of this
report.

Final On AppealPending

Regulatory Event 0 163 0

Criminal 1 0 0

Civil Event 0 9 0
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Disclosure Event Details

Regulatory - Final

Disclosure 1 of 163

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/05/2024

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO DSA-2023-05-0192G-DSA-L-BA

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR CERTAIN REPORTING VIOLATIONS BETWEEN MARCH 31, 2022
AND SEPTEMBER 30, 2022.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/05/2024

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP49,200.00
(APPROXIMATELY USD877) ON BANA. THE PAYMENT WILL BE MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP49,200.00
(APPROXIMATELY USD877) ON BANA. THE PAYMENT WILL BE MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $877.00

Other

Disclosure 2 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm
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Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/22/2024

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO DSA-2024-01-0136AA-DSA-L-BA

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRICULTURE, FISHERIES AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT
(AFRD) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 9-30-2022 THROUGH 12-31-2022.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/22/2024

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP3,309,740.78
(APPROXIMATELY USD59,030) ON BANA. THE PAYMENT WILL BE MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP3,309,740.78
(APPROXIMATELY USD59,030) ON BANA. THE PAYMENT WILL BE MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $59,030.00

Other

Disclosure 3 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

Allegations: ON JANUARY 23, 2024, THE AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES EXCHANGE LTD
(ASX) PUBLISHED A DISCIPLINARY NOTICE ALLEGING THAT MERRILL
LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (MLEAL) DID NOT COMPLY WITH
ASX SETTLEMENT OPERATING RULE 6.8A.5(A), (B) AND (C) IN CONNECTION
WITH FAILURES TO ACCURATELY REPORT ITS SECURITIES ON LOAN AND
SECURITIES BORROWED POSITIONS BY THE PRESCRIBED TIME AND ITS
SECURITIES COMMITTED POSITION BY THE PRESCRIBED DATE AND TIME.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES EXCHANGE LTD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/23/2024

Docket/Case Number: 2022003

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

ON JANUARY 23, 2024, THE AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES EXCHANGE LTD
(ASX) PUBLISHED A DISCIPLINARY NOTICE ALLEGING THAT MERRILL
LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED (MLEAL) DID NOT COMPLY WITH
ASX SETTLEMENT OPERATING RULE 6.8A.5(A), (B) AND (C) IN CONNECTION
WITH FAILURES TO ACCURATELY REPORT ITS SECURITIES ON LOAN AND
SECURITIES BORROWED POSITIONS BY THE PRESCRIBED TIME AND ITS
SECURITIES COMMITTED POSITION BY THE PRESCRIBED DATE AND TIME.

Resolution Date: 01/23/2024

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE DISCIPLINARY NOTICE REQUIRED MLEAL TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF AUD 20,000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 13,185).  THE FINE WAS
PAID AS DIRECTED.

Firm Statement THE DISCIPLINARY NOTICE REQUIRED MLEAL TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF AUD 20,000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 13,185).  THE FINE WAS
PAID AS DIRECTED.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $13,185.00

Other

Disclosure 4 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE S.A.

Initiated By: EUREX DEUTSCHLAND

Date Initiated: 12/04/2023

Allegations: EUREX ALLEGED THAT A BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE S.A. EXCHANGE
TRADER HAD VIOLATED NUMBER 2.6 OF THE CONDITIONS FOR TRADING
AT EUREX DEUTSCHLAND IN CONNECTION WITH A TRADE REQUEST THAT
HAD BEEN ENTERED WITHOUT A SUBSEQUENT CORRESPONDING ORDER.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/04/2023

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF A 2023/35

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/04/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: EUREX IMPOSED A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR1000 (APPROXIMATELY
USD1100) ON BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE S.A. AND TO BEAR THE COSTS
OF THE PROCEEDING TOTALING EUR2000 (APPROXIMATELY USD2200).

Firm Statement EUREX IMPOSED A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR1000 (APPROXIMATELY
USD1100) ON BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE S.A. AND TO BEAR THE COSTS
OF THE PROCEEDING TOTALING EUR2000 (APPROXIMATELY USD2200).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,100.00

Decision

Disclosure 5 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

Date Initiated: 11/28/2023

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 2023-CFPB-0016

Allegations: THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU ("CFPB") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE FIRM) FAILED TO
ACCURATELY COLLECT, RECORD, AND REPORT INFORMATION ON
MORTGAGE LOAN APPLICANTS' RACE, ETHNICITY, AND SEX, IN VIOLATION
OF SECTION 2803 OF THE HOME MORTGAGE DISCLOSURE ACT ("HDMA"),
REGULATION C, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1003.4, 1003.5, AND SECTION 1036(A)(1)(A) OF
THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT OF 2010 ("CFPA"), 12 U.S.C.
§ 5536(A)(1)(A).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 11/28/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE
CONSENT ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE THE HMDA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 2801-2810,
AND REGULATION C, 12 C.F.R. PT. 1003, (3) CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, AND
(4) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $12,000,000. THE
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS
OF THE ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE
CONSENT ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE THE HMDA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 2801-2810,
AND REGULATION C, 12 C.F.R. PT. 1003, (3) CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, AND
(4) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $12,000,000. THE
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS
OF THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $12,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 6 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: THE RESERVE BANK OF INDIA (RBI) ISSUED A SPEAKING ORDER AND
IMPOSED A MONETARY PENALTY AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION (BANA) FOR ALLEGEDLY CONTRAVENING INSTRUCTIONS
ISSUED TO AD BANKS VIDE A.P. (DIR SERIES) CIRCULAR NO. 23 DATED
APRIL 12, 2018 BY FAILING TO UPLOAD CERTAIN INFORMATION RELATED
TO TRANSACTIONS UNDERTAKEN UNDER THE LIBERALISED REMITTANCE
SCHEME.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: RESERVE BANK OF INDIA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/13/2023

Docket/Case Number: CO.FED.EPD.NO. 21.53.003/2023-2024

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 11/30/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: RBI IMPOSED A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF INR10,000 (APPROXIMATELY
USD120) ON BANA.  THE FINE WAS PAID AS DIRECTED.

Firm Statement RBI IMPOSED A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF INR10,000 (APPROXIMATELY
USD120) ON BANA.  THE FINE WAS PAID AS DIRECTED.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $120.00

Order

Disclosure 7 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 09/29/2023

Allegations: THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("CFTC") ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT ORDER ("ORDER") WITH BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
("BANA") AND MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI", AND COLLECTIVELY
WITH BANA, ("BOFA")). SETTLING AN ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION
CONCERNING BOFA'S (A) FAILURE TO ACCURATELY REPORT SWAP DATA IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 2(A)(13)(F) AND (G) OF THE COMMODITY
EXCHANGE ACT ("ACT") AND CFTC REGULATIONS ("REGULATIONS") 43.3,
45.3, 45.4, AND 45.14 AND (B) FAILURE TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE THE
BANA AND MLI SWAP DEALER BUSINESSES IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE ACT AND REGULATION 23.602(A).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST, UNDERTAKING

Docket/Case Number: CFTC DOCKET NO. 23-58

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SWAP TRANSACTION REPORTING

Resolution Date: 09/29/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: BOFA ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT ORDER,
ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR CONDUCT VIOLATED THE ACT AND REGULATIONS
AND AGREED TO THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (A) TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING SECTIONS 2(A)(13)(F) AND (G) AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE
ACT, AND REGULATIONS 23.602(A), 43.3, 45.3, 45.4, AND 45.14, (B) TO PAY A
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,000,000, AND (C) TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Firm Statement BOFA ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT ORDER,
ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR CONDUCT VIOLATED THE ACT AND REGULATIONS
AND AGREED TO THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (A) TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING SECTIONS 2(A)(13)(F) AND (G) AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE
ACT, AND REGULATIONS 23.602(A), 43.3, 45.3, 45.4, AND 45.14, (B) TO PAY A
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,000,000, AND (C) TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $8,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Allegations: THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("CFTC") ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT ORDER ("ORDER") WITH BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
("BANA") AND MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI", AND COLLECTIVELY
WITH BANA, ("BOFA")). SETTLING AN ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION
CONCERNING BOFA'S (A) FAILURE TO ACCURATELY REPORT SWAP DATA IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 2(A)(13)(F) AND (G) OF THE COMMODITY
EXCHANGE ACT ("ACT") AND CFTC REGULATIONS ("REGULATIONS") 43.3,
45.3, 45.4, AND 45.14 AND (B) FAILURE TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE THE
BANA AND MLI SWAP DEALER BUSINESSES IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE ACT AND REGULATION 23.602(A).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST, UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/29/2023

Docket/Case Number: CFTC DOCKET NO. 23-58

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SWAP TRANSACTION REPORTING

THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("CFTC") ENTERED
INTO A SETTLEMENT ORDER ("ORDER") WITH BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
("BANA") AND MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI", AND COLLECTIVELY
WITH BANA, ("BOFA")). SETTLING AN ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION
CONCERNING BOFA'S (A) FAILURE TO ACCURATELY REPORT SWAP DATA IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 2(A)(13)(F) AND (G) OF THE COMMODITY
EXCHANGE ACT ("ACT") AND CFTC REGULATIONS ("REGULATIONS") 43.3,
45.3, 45.4, AND 45.14 AND (B) FAILURE TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE THE
BANA AND MLI SWAP DEALER BUSINESSES IN VIOLATION OF SECTION
4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE ACT AND REGULATION 23.602(A).

Resolution Date: 09/29/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: BOFA ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT ORDER,
ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR CONDUCT VIOLATED THE ACT AND REGULATIONS
AND AGREED TO THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (A) TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING SECTIONS 2(A)(13)(F) AND (G) AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE
ACT, AND REGULATIONS 23.602(A), 43.3, 45.3, 45.4, AND 45.14, (B) TO PAY A
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,000,000, AND (C) TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Firm Statement BOFA ADMITTED TO THE FACTS IN THE SETTLEMENT ORDER,
ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR CONDUCT VIOLATED THE ACT AND REGULATIONS
AND AGREED TO THE FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (A) TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM VIOLATING SECTIONS 2(A)(13)(F) AND (G) AND 4S(H)(1)(B) OF THE
ACT, AND REGULATIONS 23.602(A), 43.3, 45.3, 45.4, AND 45.14, (B) TO PAY A
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,000,000, AND (C) TO
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $8,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 8 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

1726©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/15/2023

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF. HM 46-2022

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 15, 2023, MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") WAS
NOTIFIED THAT THE FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE ("FSE") ISSUED A
DECISION ALLEGING THAT MLI FAILED TO CONVERT SHORT CODES USED
INTO LONG CODES BY THE END OF THE FOLLOWING TRADING DAY IN
VIOLATION OF FSE RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/15/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1040).

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1040).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision

Disclosure 9 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY ("OCC") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE FIRM) ASSESSED
MULTIPLE OVERDRAFT AND INSUFFICIENT FUNDS FEES AGAINST
CUSTOMERS FOR A SINGLE TRANSACTION IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 5 OF
THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT ("FTC ACT"), 15 U.S.C. § 45(A)(1).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/11/2023

Docket/Case Number: AA-ENF-2023-19

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY ("OCC") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE FIRM) ASSESSED
MULTIPLE OVERDRAFT AND INSUFFICIENT FUNDS FEES AGAINST
CUSTOMERS FOR A SINGLE TRANSACTION IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 5 OF
THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT ("FTC ACT"), 15 U.S.C. § 45(A)(1).

Resolution Date: 07/11/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS CONTAINED IN THE
ORDER, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO PAY A CIVIL PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT
OF $60 MILLION.  THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS CONTAINED IN THE
ORDER, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO PAY A CIVIL PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT
OF $60 MILLION.  THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $60,000,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 10 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU ("CFPB") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE FIRM) (1) WITH
RESPECT TO PROMOTIONAL BONUS OFFERS ON REWARDS CREDIT
CARDS, CREATED THE DECEPTIVE NET IMPRESSION THAT BONUSES
LINKED TO REWARDS CREDIT CARDS WERE AVAILABLE TO ALL
CONSUMERS WHEN THOSE BONUSES WERE ONLY AVAILABLE TO
CONSUMERS WHO APPLIED ONLINE, AND DENIED BONUSES TO CERTAIN
TARGETED CONSUMERS WHO APPLIED IN-PERSON AND OVER THE
PHONE; AND (2) WITH RESPECT TO OFFERING CONSUMER CREDIT CARD
ACCOUNTS, IN SOME INSTANCES, APPLIED FOR AND OPENED CREDIT
CARDS FOR CONSUMERS WITHOUT THEIR CONSENT AND OBTAINED
CONSUMER REPORTS FOR THOSE CONSUMERS WITHOUT A PERMISSIBLE
PURPOSE. THE CFPB ALLEGES THAT THESE ACTS VIOLATED THE TRUTH
IN LENDING ACT, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 ET SEQ., AND ITS IMPLEMENTING
REGULATION, REGULATION Z, 12 C.F.R. PART 1026; THE FAIR CREDIT
REPORTING ACT (CFPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681B(F); AND THE CONSUMER
FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT OF 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 AND 5536.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/11/2023

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 2023-CFPB-0007

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU ("CFPB") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE FIRM) (1) WITH
RESPECT TO PROMOTIONAL BONUS OFFERS ON REWARDS CREDIT
CARDS, CREATED THE DECEPTIVE NET IMPRESSION THAT BONUSES
LINKED TO REWARDS CREDIT CARDS WERE AVAILABLE TO ALL
CONSUMERS WHEN THOSE BONUSES WERE ONLY AVAILABLE TO
CONSUMERS WHO APPLIED ONLINE, AND DENIED BONUSES TO CERTAIN
TARGETED CONSUMERS WHO APPLIED IN-PERSON AND OVER THE
PHONE; AND (2) WITH RESPECT TO OFFERING CONSUMER CREDIT CARD
ACCOUNTS, IN SOME INSTANCES, APPLIED FOR AND OPENED CREDIT
CARDS FOR CONSUMERS WITHOUT THEIR CONSENT AND OBTAINED
CONSUMER REPORTS FOR THOSE CONSUMERS WITHOUT A PERMISSIBLE
PURPOSE. THE CFPB ALLEGES THAT THESE ACTS VIOLATED THE TRUTH
IN LENDING ACT, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 ET SEQ., AND ITS IMPLEMENTING
REGULATION, REGULATION Z, 12 C.F.R. PART 1026; THE FAIR CREDIT
REPORTING ACT (CFPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1681B(F); AND THE CONSUMER
FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT OF 2010, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 AND 5536.

Resolution Date: 07/11/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE SECTIONS 1031 AND 1036 OF THE CFPA, 12 USC
§§ 5531 AND 5536, (3) IDENTIFY AFFECTED CONSUMERS NOT PREVIOUSLY
REMEDIATED TO PAY OR PROVIDE REDRESS, (4) CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
AND (5) PAYMENT OF A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$30,000,000.  THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE SECTIONS 1031 AND 1036 OF THE CFPA, 12 USC
§§ 5531 AND 5536, (3) IDENTIFY AFFECTED CONSUMERS NOT PREVIOUSLY
REMEDIATED TO PAY OR PROVIDE REDRESS, (4) CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
AND (5) PAYMENT OF A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$30,000,000.  THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $30,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE SECTIONS 1031 AND 1036 OF THE CFPA, 12 USC
§§ 5531 AND 5536, (3) IDENTIFY AFFECTED CONSUMERS NOT PREVIOUSLY
REMEDIATED TO PAY OR PROVIDE REDRESS, (4) CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
AND (5) PAYMENT OF A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$30,000,000.  THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Disclosure 11 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/11/2023

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 2023-CFPB-0006

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU (CFPB) ALLEGED THAT
BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE FIRM) COMMITTED
UNFAIR ACTS AND PRACTICES WHEN IT CHARGED CONSUMERS REPEAT
NON-SUFFICIENT FUNDS (NSF) FEES ON TRANSACTIONS RESUBMITTED
TO THE FIRM FOR PAYMENT AFTER THEY WERE INITIALLY DECLINED (RE-
PRESENTMENT FEES) IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 1031 AND 1036 OF THE
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT OF 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§
5531(A) AND (C)(1), 5536(A)(1)(B).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/11/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE SECTIONS 1031 AND 1036 OF THE CFPA, 12 U.S.C.
§§ 5531 AND 5536 AND NOT ASSESS RE-PRESENTMENT NSF FEES, (3)
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, (4) PAY REDRESS TO AFFECTED
CUSTOMERS, AND (5) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$60 MILLION. THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $60,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE SECTIONS 1031 AND 1036 OF THE CFPA, 12 U.S.C.
§§ 5531 AND 5536 AND NOT ASSESS RE-PRESENTMENT NSF FEES, (3)
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, (4) PAY REDRESS TO AFFECTED
CUSTOMERS, AND (5) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$60 MILLION. THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT OR
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE SECTIONS 1031 AND 1036 OF THE CFPA, 12 U.S.C.
§§ 5531 AND 5536 AND NOT ASSESS RE-PRESENTMENT NSF FEES, (3)
COMPLY WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, (4) PAY REDRESS TO AFFECTED
CUSTOMERS, AND (5) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$60 MILLION. THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Disclosure 12 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/04/2023

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF. H 30-2022

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON JULY 4, 2023, MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") WAS NOTIFIED
THAT THE FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE ("FSE") ISSUED A DECISION
ALLEGING THAT MLI FAILED TO DULY UPLOAD CERTAIN TRADING
ALGORITHMS USED AS PART OF ITS PARTICIPATION IN EXCHANGE
TRADING PRIOR TO DEPLOYING THEM, IN VIOLATION OF FSE RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/04/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1097).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision
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Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1097).

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1097).

Disclosure 13 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE SA

Initiated By: FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/04/2023

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF. H 27-2022

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON JULY 4, 2023, BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE SA ("BOFASE") WAS NOTIFIED
THAT THE FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE ("FSE") ISSUED A DECISION
ALLEGING THAT BOFASE FAILED TO DULY UPLOAD CERTAIN TRADING
ALGORITHMS USED AS PART OF ITS PARTICIPATION IN EXCHANGE
TRADING PRIOR TO DEPLOYING THEM, IN VIOLATION OF FSE RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/04/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1097).

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1097).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision
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Disclosure 14 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA YATIRIM BANK A.S.

Initiated By: CAPITAL MARKETS BOARD OF TURKEY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/08/2023

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON JUNE 8, 2023, BANK OF AMERICA YATIRIM BANK A.S. ("BAYB") WAS
NOTIFIED THAT THE CAPITAL MARKETS BOARD OF TURKEY ("CMB")
ISSUED AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE TO BAYB, AND EIGHTEEN OTHER
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, FOR VIOLATIONS OF GROSS SETTLEMENT
RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/08/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE CMB ISSUED BAYB AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF TRY
209,349 (APPROXIMATELY USD 8,040) ON JUNE 8, 2023. BAYB WILL PAY THE
FINE AS DIRECTED.

Firm Statement THE CMB ISSUED BAYB AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF TRY
209,349 (APPROXIMATELY USD 8,040) ON JUNE 8, 2023. BAYB WILL PAY THE
FINE AS DIRECTED.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $8,040.00

Other

Disclosure 15 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate:
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Affiliate: BOFA SECURITIES INDIA LIMITED

Initiated By: NATIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE OF INDIA LTD.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/26/2023

Docket/Case Number: NSE/WRO-MEM/2022/3283

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NATIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE OF INDIA LTD. (NSE) APPROVED THE
IMPOSITION OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE ON BOFA SECURITIES INDIA
LIMITED (BOFASI) FOR APPOINTING A DIRECTOR WITHOUT PRE-APPROVAL
FROM NSE OR THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA, IN
BREACH OF CIRCULARS SEBI/MIRSD/CIR.NO.03/2010 AND
CIR/MIRSD/2/2011.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/26/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: NSE IMPOSED A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF INR50,000(APPROXIMATELY
USD609) ON BOFASI.  THE FINE WAS PAID AS DIRECTED.

Firm Statement NSE IMPOSED A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF INR50,000(APPROXIMATELY
USD609) ON BOFASI.  THE FINE WAS PAID AS DIRECTED.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $609.00

Other

Disclosure 16 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: BLOOMBERG SEF LLC ("BLOOMBERG SEF") ALLEGED THAT BANK OF
AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION ("THE FIRM") FAILED TO NOTIFY
BLOOMBERG SEF OF AN ERROR TRADE AND FAILED TO USE BLOOMBERG
SEF'S OFFSET AND CORRECT FUNCTIONALITY, IN VIOLATION OF RULE 516.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BLOOMBERG SEF LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/12/2023

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

BLOOMBERG SEF LLC ("BLOOMBERG SEF") ALLEGED THAT BANK OF
AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION ("THE FIRM") FAILED TO NOTIFY
BLOOMBERG SEF OF AN ERROR TRADE AND FAILED TO USE BLOOMBERG
SEF'S OFFSET AND CORRECT FUNCTIONALITY, IN VIOLATION OF RULE 516.

Resolution Date: 04/12/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH
THE NOTICE OF FINE IS BASED, THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PAY A $2,000
FINE. THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE NOTICE OF FINE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH
THE NOTICE OF FINE IS BASED, THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PAY A $2,000
FINE. THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE NOTICE OF FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,000.00

Other

Disclosure 17 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BLOOMBERG SEF LLC

Date Initiated: 04/12/2023

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Allegations: BLOOMBERG SEF LLC ("BLOOMBERG SEF") ALLEGED THAT BANK OF
AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION ("THE FIRM") FAILED TO NOTIFY
BLOOMBERG SEF OF AN ERROR TRADE AND FAILED TO USE BLOOMBERG
SEF'S OFFSET AND CORRECT FUNCTIONALITY, IN VIOLATION OF RULE 516.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/12/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH
THE NOTICE OF FINE IS BASED, THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PAY A $1,750
FINE. THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE NOTICE OF FINE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH
THE NOTICE OF FINE IS BASED, THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PAY A $1,750
FINE. THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE NOTICE OF FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,750.00

Other

Disclosure 18 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BLOOMBERG SEF LLC

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 04/12/2023

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: BLOOMBERG SEF LLC ("BLOOMBERG SEF") ALLEGED THAT BANK OF
AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION ("THE FIRM") FAILED TO NOTIFY
BLOOMBERG SEF OF AN ERROR TRADE AND FAILED TO USE BLOOMBERG
SEF'S OFFSET AND CORRECT FUNCTIONALITY, IN VIOLATION OF RULE 516.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 04/12/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH
THE NOTICE OF FINE IS BASED, THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PAY A $1,250
FINE. THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE NOTICE OF FINE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH
THE NOTICE OF FINE IS BASED, THE FIRM WAS ORDERED TO PAY A $1,250
FINE. THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF
THE NOTICE OF FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,250.00

Other

Disclosure 19 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE, SA

Initiated By: EUREX DEUTSCHLAND

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/23/2023

Docket/Case Number: A 2022/41

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EXCHANGE FOR SWAPS TRANSACTIONS

Allegations: ON MARCH 23, 2023, BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE, SA ("BOFASE") WAS
NOTIFIED THAT EUREX DEUTSCHLAND ("EUREX") ISSUED A DECISION
ALLEGING THAT BOFASE SUBMITTED INCORRECT INTEREST RATES IN
EXCHANGE FOR SWAPS TRADES DUE TO A TECHNICAL ERROR IN A THIRD-
PARTY VENDOR'S SOFTWARE, IN VIOLATION OF EUREX RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 03/23/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE EUREX REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 2000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 2170).

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE EUREX REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 2000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 2170).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision

Disclosure 20 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/16/2023

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO DSA-2023-01-0230F_DSA-L-BA; DTS NO. DSA-2023-01-0230

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 3-31-2022 THROUGH 6-
30-2022.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/16/2023

Resolution: Other
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Resolution Date: 03/16/2023

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP6,701,462.54
(APPROXIMATELY USD121,723) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WILL BE MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP6,701,462.54
(APPROXIMATELY USD121,723) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WILL BE MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $121,723.00

Disclosure 21 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE S.A., LTD.

Initiated By: EUREX DEUTSCHLAND

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/01/2023

Docket/Case Number: M 2022/12

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON FEBRUARY 1, 2023, BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE S.A., LTD. ("BOFASE")
WAS NOTIFIED THAT EUREX DEUTSCHLAND ("EUREX") ISSUED A DECISION
ALLEGING THAT BOFASE FAILED TO CONVERT SHORT CODES USED INTO
LONG CODES BY THE END OF THE FOLLOWING TRADING DAY IN
VIOLATION OF EUREX RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/01/2023

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE EUREX REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1065).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision
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Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE EUREX REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1065).

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE EUREX REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1065).

Disclosure 22 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: COMMISSIONE NAZIONALE PER LE SOCIETA E LA BORSA (CONSOB)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/05/2022

Docket/Case Number: DECISION NO. 22460

Principal Product Type: Debt - Corporate

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: COMMISSIONE NAZIONALE PER LE SOCIETA E LA BORSA (CONSOB)
ISSUED A DECISION IMPOSING AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE ON BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION (BAC) FOR IN CONNECTION WITH THE LATE
COMMUNICATION TO THE PUBLIC OF INSIDE INFORMATION CONCERNING
THE DECISION TO EXERCISE THE CALL OF A BOND ISSUED BY BAC
BECAUSE THE PRESS RELEASE WAS ISSUED TOO CLOSE IN TIME TO THE
DATE OF THE EARLY REDEMPTION IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 17,
PARAGRAPH 1 OF THE COUNCIL OF 16 APRIL 2014 ON MARKET ABUSE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/05/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: CONSOB IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR15,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD14,582) ON BAC. THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE DECISION.

Firm Statement CONSOB IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR15,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD14,582) ON BAC. THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE DECISION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $14,582.00

Other
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Firm Statement CONSOB IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR15,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD14,582) ON BAC. THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE DECISION.

Disclosure 23 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: BUNDESANSTALT FUR FINANZDIENSTLEISTUNGSAUFSICHT (BAFIN)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/22/2022

Docket/Case Number: WA 15-WP 3121-2020/0001; WA 15-WP 3121-2020/0002; WA 15=WP 3121-
2020/0003; WA 15-WP 3120-2020/0012

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE BUNDESANSTALT FUR FINANZDIENSTLEISTUNGSAUFSICHT (BAFIN)
APPROVED THE IMPOSITION OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE FINE ON BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION FOR FAILURE TO TAKE THE SUPERVISORY AND
ORGANISATIONAL MEASURES THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN REQUIRED IN
ORDER TO ENSURE THE CORRECT AND COMPLETE SUBMISSION OF
VOTING RIGHTS NOTIFICATIONS WITHIN THE PRESCRIBED PERIOD, IN
BREACH OF SECTION 130(1) OF THE GERMAN ACT ON BREACHES OF
ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS IN CONJUNCTION WITH SECTIONS 33 (1)
SENTENCE 1, SECTION 38(1) SENTENCE 1 AND 39 (1) OF THE GERMAN
SECURITIES TRADING ACT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/22/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: BAFIN IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR5,100,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD5,071,950) ON BAC AND COSTS OF THE
PROCEEDING IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR7,500 (APPROXIMATELY USD 7,479).
THE PAYMENTS WERE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE
ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,071,950.00

Other
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BAFIN IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR5,100,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD5,071,950) ON BAC AND COSTS OF THE
PROCEEDING IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR7,500 (APPROXIMATELY USD 7,479).
THE PAYMENTS WERE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE
ORDER.

Firm Statement BAFIN IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR5,100,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD5,071,950) ON BAC AND COSTS OF THE
PROCEEDING IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR7,500 (APPROXIMATELY USD 7,479).
THE PAYMENTS WERE MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE
ORDER.

Disclosure 24 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/16/2022

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO DSA-202207-0124_CMD-L-KB-BA; DTS NO. DSA-2022-07-0126

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 3-31-2021 THROUGH 12-
31-2021.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/16/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP12,588,039.11
(APPROXIMATELY USD223,827) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP12,588,039.11
(APPROXIMATELY USD223,827) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $223,827.00

Other
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Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP12,588,039.11
(APPROXIMATELY USD223,827) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Disclosure 25 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/17/2022

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO DSA-202207-0027_CMD-L-KB-BA

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 3-31-2020 THROUGH 12-
31-2020.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/17/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP12,785,711.62
(APPROXIMATELY USD244,002) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP12,785,711.62
(APPROXIMATELY USD244,002) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $244,002.00

Other

Disclosure 26 of 163

i
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Disclosure 26 of 163

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/14/2022

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 2022-CFPB-0004

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU ("CFPB") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE FIRM) (1)
ENGAGED IN UNFAIR ACTS OR PRACTICES BY DETERMINING NO ERROR
HAD OCCURRED AND FREEZING CARDHOLDER ACCOUNTS BASED SOLELY
ON THE RESULTS OF ITS AUTOMATED FRAUD FILTER, IN VIOLATION OF
SECTIONS 1031 AND 1036 OF THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION
ACT OF 2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(A) AND (C), 5536(A)(1)(B); (2) FAILED
TO CONDUCT REASONABLE INVESTIGATIONS OF UNEMPLOYMENT
INSURANCE BENEFIT PREPAID DEBIT CARDHOLDERS' NOTICES OF
ERROR, IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 908 AND 909 OF THE ELECTRONIC
FUND TRANSFER ACT (EFTA), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693F AND 1693G, AND SECTION
1005.11 OF REGULATION E; (3) ENGAGED IN ABUSIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES
BY RETROACTIVELY APPLYING ITS AUTOMATED FRAUD FILTER TO
REVERSE PERMANENT CREDITS FOR UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE
BENEFIT PREPAID DEBIT CARDHOLDERS WHOSE NOTICES OF ERROR IT
HAD PREVIOUSLY INVESTIGATED AND PAID, IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS
1031 AND 1036 OF THE CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(A) AND (D)(2)(B),
5536(A)(1)(B); (4) ENGAGED IN UNFAIR ACTS OR PRACTICES BY IMPEDING
UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE BENEFIT PREPAID DEBIT CARDHOLDERS'
EFFORTS TO FILE NOTICES OF ERROR AND SEEK LIABILITY PROTECTION
FROM UNAUTHORIZED EFTS, IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 1031 AND 1036
OF THE CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(A) AND (C), 5536(A)(1)(B); AND (5) FAILED
TO TIMELY INVESTIGATE AND RESOLVE UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE
BENEFIT PREPAID DEBIT CARDHOLDERS' NOTICES OF ERROR
CONCERNING ALLEGED UNAUTHORIZED EFTS, IN VIOLATION OF EFTA, 15
U.S.C. § 1693F(A), (C), AND SECTION 1005.11(C)(2)-(3) OF REGULATION E.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 07/14/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FAT OF
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW CONTAINED WITHIN THE ORDER, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO (A) CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING
ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE PROVISIONS
DETAILED ABOVE, (B) CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, (C) PAYMENT OF
REDRESS TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS, AND (D) PAYMENT OF A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100 MILLION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FAT OF
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW CONTAINED WITHIN THE ORDER, THE FIRM
CONSENTED TO (A) CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING
ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE PROVISIONS
DETAILED ABOVE, (B) CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS, (C) PAYMENT OF
REDRESS TO AFFECTED CUSTOMERS, AND (D) PAYMENT OF A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $100 MILLION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 27 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Date Initiated: 07/14/2022

Allegations: THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY ("OCC") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE FIRM) (1) IN
CONNECTION WITH THE FIRM'S ADMINISTRATION OF PREPAID CARDS FOR
UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, ENGAGED IN (I) UNSAFE OR UNSOUND
PRACTICE(S), INCLUDING DEFICIENCIES IN ITS RISK MANAGEMENT,
OPERATIONAL PROCESSES AND CONTROLS, INTERNAL AUDIT, AND
INVESTIGATION AND RESOLUTION OF CONSUMER CLAIMS OF
UNAUTHORIZED TRANSACTIONS; AND (II) UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE
PRACTICES IN VIOLATION(S) OF SECTION 5 OF THE FEDERAL TRADE
COMMISSION ACT ("FTC ACT"), 15 U.S.C. § 45(A)(1); AND (2) ENGAGED IN
UNSAFE OR UNSOUND PRACTICES RELATED TO DEFICIENCIES IN ITS
ENTERPRISE-WIDE COMPLAINTS RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/14/2022

Docket/Case Number: AA_ENF-2022-22

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 07/14/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS CONTAINED IN THE
ORDER, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF
$125,000,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS CONTAINED IN THE
ORDER, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF
$125,000,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $125,000,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 28 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 06/13/2022

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF. H 59-2021

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON JUNE 13, 2022, MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") WAS NOTIFIED
THAT THE FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE ("FSE") ISSUED A DECISION
ALLEGING THAT MLI FAILED TO CONVERT SHORT CODES USED INTO LONG
CODES BY THE END OF THE FOLLOWING TRADING DAY IN VIOLATION OF
FSE RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/13/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1040).

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1040).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision

Disclosure 29 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE SA

Initiated By: FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/27/2022

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF. H 54-2021

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON MAY 27, 2022, BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE SA ("BOFASE") RECEIVED
NOTICE THAT THE FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE ("FSE") ISSUED A
DECISION ALLEGING THAT BOFASE FAILED TO DULY CONVERT SHORT
CODES USED INTO LONG CODES IN VIOLATION OF FSE RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Decision 1747©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Resolution Date: 05/27/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1070).

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1070).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision

Disclosure 30 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES INC.

Initiated By: ICE FUTURES EUROPE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/19/2022

Docket/Case Number: CIRCULAR 22/075

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ICE FUTURES EUROPE ("ICE EUROPE") ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
COMMODITIES INC. ("MLCI") FAILED TO SUBMIT ITS ANNUAL MEMBER
RETURN IN A TIMELY FASHION IN BREACH OF ICE EUROPE RULE B.5.1(C).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/19/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: MLCI WAS ISSUED A SUMMARY FINE OF GBP 5,000 (APPROXIMATELY USD
6,250).  THE FINE WILL BE PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NOTICE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $6,250.00

Other
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Sanction Details: MLCI WAS ISSUED A SUMMARY FINE OF GBP 5,000 (APPROXIMATELY USD
6,250).  THE FINE WILL BE PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NOTICE.

Firm Statement MLCI WAS ISSUED A SUMMARY FINE OF GBP 5,000 (APPROXIMATELY USD
6,250).  THE FINE WILL BE PAID IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NOTICE.

Disclosure 31 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 05/04/2022

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. 2022-CFPB-0002

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU ("CFPB") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE FIRM) (1)
ENGAGED IN UNFAIR ACTS AND PRACTICES BY RESPONDING TO AND
PROCESSING GARNISHMENT NOTICES AGAINST OUT-OF-STATE BANK
ACCOUNTS IN VIOLATION OF CERTAIN GARNISHMENT-ISSUING STATES'
PROHIBITIONS AGAINST OUT-OF-STATE GARNISHMENT; (2) ENGAGED IN
UNFAIR ACTS AND PRACTICES BY FAILING TO APPLY THE APPROPRIATE
STATE EXEMPTIONS TO CERTAIN CONSUMERS' DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS
AFTER RECEIVING GARNISHMENT NOTICES; (3) ENGAGED IN DECEPTIVE
ACTS AND PRACTICES BY MISREPRESENTING TO CONSUMERS, BY
IMPLICATION, THE APPLICABLE STATE EXEMPTION RIGHTS FOR
GARNISHMENT BY APPLYING THE ISSUING STATE'S EXEMPTIONS INSTEAD
OF THE EXEMPTIONS OF THE CONSUMER'S STATE OF RESIDENCE,
WHERE THE STATES OF ISSUANCE AND RESIDENCE DIFFER; (4) ENGAGED
IN UNFAIR ACTS AND PRACTICES BY USING A DEPOSIT AGREEMENT THAT
REQUIRED CONSUMERS TO DIRECT THE FIRM NOT TO CONTEST LEGAL
PROCESS AND WAIVE THE FIRM'S LIABILITY FOR ITS UNLAWFUL
GARNISHMENT CONDUCT; AND (5) ENGAGED IN DECEPTIVE ACTS AND
PRACTICES BY SUGGESTING CONSUMERS COULD NOT BRING LEGAL
CLAIMS MISREPRESENTING CONSUMERS' LEGAL RIGHTS AGAINST THE
FIRM REGARDING GARNISHMENT PROCEEDINGS. THE CFPB ALLEGES
THAT THESE ACTS VIOLATED SECTIONS 1031(A) AND 1036(A)(1)(B) OF THE
CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION ACT OF 2010 ("CFPA"), 12 USC §§
5531(A)  AND (C)(1)  AND 5536(A)(1)(B).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST, RESTITUTION, UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 05/04/2022

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE SECTIONS 1031(A)
AND 1036(A)(1)(B) OF THE CFPA, 12 USC §§ 5531(A)  AND (C)(1)  AND
5536(A)(1)(B), (3) REFUND ALL GARNISHMENT-RELATED FEES PAID BY THE
AFFECTED CONSUMERS TOTALING NO LESS THAN $592,000 AND CANCEL
ANY UNPAID GARNISHMENT RELATED FEES, (4) CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
AND (5) PAYMENT OF A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$10,000,000.  THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, THE FIRM CONSENTED
TO (1) THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER, (2) NOT VIOLATE SECTIONS 1031(A)
AND 1036(A)(1)(B) OF THE CFPA, 12 USC §§ 5531(A)  AND (C)(1)  AND
5536(A)(1)(B), (3) REFUND ALL GARNISHMENT-RELATED FEES PAID BY THE
AFFECTED CONSUMERS TOTALING NO LESS THAN $592,000 AND CANCEL
ANY UNPAID GARNISHMENT RELATED FEES, (4) CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS,
AND (5) PAYMENT OF A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$10,000,000.  THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS PAID IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE TERMS OF THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 32 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR MICRO-, SMALL-, AND MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES
(MSMES) FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 3-31-2017.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/09/2017

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO DRDI-KB-2017-05-066; DTS NO. SDC-201705-0231

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Resolution Date: 05/09/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD10,011) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD10,011) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,011.00

Other
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Date Initiated: 05/02/2018

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO. SDC-201804-0017_DRD1-L-KB-BA; DTS NO. SDC-201804-1381

Principal Product Type: Other

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR MICRO-, SMALL-, AND MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES
(MSMES) FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 3-31-2018.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Resolution Date: 05/02/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,666) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,666) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,666.00

Other
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/02/2018

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO. SDC-201901-0013_DRD1-L-KB-BA; DTS NO. SDC-201801-1100

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR MICRO-, SMALL-, AND MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES
(MSMES) FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 9-30-2017.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 02/02/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,702) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,702) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,702.00

Other
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/29/2018

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO. SDC-201801-0006_DRD1-L-XB-BA

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR MICRO-, SMALL-, AND MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES
(MSMES) FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 12-31-2017.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/29/2018

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,768.00

Other
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Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,768) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,768) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,768.00
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/05/2019

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO DSA-201910-0052_RUD1-L-KB-BA; DTS NO. CSA-201910-1001

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR MICRO-, SMALL-, AND MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES
(MSMES) FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 6-16-2018.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/05/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,946) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,946.00

Other
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THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,946) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,946) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Disclosure 37 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/22/2017

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO SDC-2DJ709-33C5_DRD1-L-KB-BA; DTS NO. SDC-201709-0590

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR MICRO-, SMALL-, AND MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISES
(MSMES) FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 6-30-2017.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/22/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,902) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP500,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD9,902) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $9,902.00

Other
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/10/2018

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO. SDC-201805-201806_002D_DRD1-L-KB-BA; DTS NO. DSA-201805-
0225

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 3-31-2017 THROUGH 12-
31-2017.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/10/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP4,222,649.20
(APPROXIMATELY USD81,462) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP4,222,649.20
(APPROXIMATELY USD81,462) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $81,462.00

Other
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/14/2019

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO SDC-201902-0003-DRD1-L-KB-BA; DTS NO. DSA-201902-0461

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 3-31-2018 THROUGH 12-
31-2018.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/14/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP6,145,640
(APPROXIMATELY USD115,286) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP6,145,640
(APPROXIMATELY USD115,286) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $115,286.00

Other
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/25/2021

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO DSA-202101-0004_ROD1-L-K-BA; DTS NO. DSA-202101-0009

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 3-31-2018 THROUGH 12-
31-2018.

Resolution Date: 01/25/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP6,145,640
(APPROXIMATELY USD127,795) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP6,145,640
(APPROXIMATELY USD127,795) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $127,795.00

Other
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 9-30-2015 THROUGH 12-
31-2016.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/20/2017

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 9-30-2015 THROUGH 12-
31-2016.

Resolution Date: 08/20/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP5,105,759.
72(APPROXIMATELY USD100,527) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP5,105,759.72
(APPROXIMATELY USD100,527) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,527.00

Other
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Date Initiated: 10/05/2021

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 3-31-2019 THROUGH 12-
31-2019.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/05/2021

Docket/Case Number: REF. NO DSA-202109-0411 RODI-L-KB-BA; DTS NO. DSA-202101-0011

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Resolution Date: 10/05/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP8,747,166.22
(APPROXIMATELY USD172,925) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP8,747,166.22
(APPROXIMATELY USD172,925) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $172,925.00

Other

Disclosure 43 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Date Initiated: 08/18/2017

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): BANK LOANS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANDATORY CREDIT
ALLOCATION FOR AGRARIAN REFORM CREDIT/OTHER AGRICULTURAL
CREDIT (AGRI-AGRA) FOR THE QUARTERS ENDED 6-30-2014 THROUGH 6-
30-2015.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 08/18/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP7,385,295
(APPROXIMATELY USD144,049) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP7,385,295
(APPROXIMATELY USD144,049) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $144,049.00

Other

Disclosure 44 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE SA

Initiated By: FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

COSTS OF PROCEEDING

Date Initiated: 12/14/2021

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF. H 38-2021

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON DECEMBER 14, 2021, BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE SA ("BOFASE") WAS
NOTIFIED THAT THE FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE ("FSE") ISSUED A
DECISION ALLEGING THAT BOFASE FAILED TO PROPERLY UPLOAD
CERTAIN TRADING ALGORITHMS PRIOR TO THEIR USE IN VIOLATION OF
FSE RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Decision
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Resolution Date: 12/14/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1131).

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED BOFASE
AND ORDERED BOFASE TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH
TOTALED EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1131).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision

Disclosure 45 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA YATIRIM BANK A.S.

Initiated By: CAPITAL MARKETS BOARD OF TURKEY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/14/2021

Docket/Case Number: DECISION NO. 64

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON DECEMBER 14, 2021, BANK OF AMERICA YATIRIM BANK A.S. ("BAYB")
WAS NOTIFIED THAT THE CAPITAL MARKETS BOARD OF TURKEY ("CMB")
ISSUED A DECISION ALLEGING THAT BAYB ENGAGED IN UNLAWFUL SHORT
SELLING IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 24 OF THE COMMUNIQUE SERIAL: V,
NO. 65 ON MARGIN PURCHASE SHORT SALE BORROWING AND LENDING
OF CAPITAL MARKET INSTRUMENTS AND ARTICLES 4 AND 5 OF THE
COMMUNIQUE SERIAL V NO. 68 ON PRINCIPLES REGARDING THE
INTERNAL AUDITING SYSTEMS OF BROKERAGE HOUSES

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/14/2021

Resolution: Decision
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Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE CMB ORDERED BAYB TO PAY A
FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF TRY 2,347,876 (APPROXIMATELY USD 172,000).  IF
BAYB PAYS THE FINE WITHIN TWO MONTHS, THE FINE IS REDUCED BY 25
PERCENT.

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE CMB ORDERED BAYB TO PAY A
FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF TRY 2,347,876 (APPROXIMATELY USD 172,000).  IF
BAYB PAYS THE FINE WITHIN TWO MONTHS, THE FINE IS REDUCED BY 25
PERCENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $172,000.00

Disclosure 46 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

COSTS OF PROCEEDING

Date Initiated: 12/09/2021

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF. H 40-2021

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON DECEMBER 9, 2021, MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") WAS
NOTIFIED THAT THE FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE ("FSE") ISSUED A
DECISION ALLEGING THAT MLI FAILED TO PROPERLY UPLOAD CERTAIN
TRADING ALGORITHMS PRIOR TO THEIR USE IN VIOLATION OF FSE RULES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/09/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1131).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision
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Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1131).

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE FSE REPRIMANDED MLI AND
ORDERED MLI TO PAY THE COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING, WHICH TOTALED
EUR 1000 (APPROXIMATELY USD 1131).

Disclosure 47 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/28/2021

Docket/Case Number: CBOT 21-1460-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: A PANEL OF THE CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE ("BCC") ALLEGED THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION (THE "FIRM") (1) EXECUTED AN EXCHANGE FOR RELATED
RISK ("EFR") TRANSACTION THAT CONSISTED OF THE SIMULTANEOUS
EXECUTION OF FUTURES POSITIONS WITHOUT THE EXCHANGE OF
CORRESPONDING OTC SWAPS, THEREBY CONSTITUTING A NON-BONA
FIDE EFR; AND (2) AS PART OF THE SAME LARGE, COUNTERPARTY-
PROPOSED TRANSACTION, EXECUTED BUY AND SELL ORDERS FOR THE
SAME ACCOUNT AND KNEW OR REASONABLY SHOULD HAVE KNOWN THAT
THE ORDERS WOULD MATCH AND AVOID ANY MARKET RISK.  THE BCC
FOUND THAT THE FIRM VIOLATED CBOT RULES 538.C AND 534.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/28/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATION OR FACTUAL
FINDINGS UPON WHICH THE PENALTY IS BASED, THE BCC ORDERED THE
FIRM TO PAY A $30,000 FINE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $30,000.00

Other
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Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATION OR FACTUAL
FINDINGS UPON WHICH THE PENALTY IS BASED, THE BCC ORDERED THE
FIRM TO PAY A $30,000 FINE.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATION OR FACTUAL
FINDINGS UPON WHICH THE PENALTY IS BASED, THE BCC ORDERED THE
FIRM TO PAY A $30,000 FINE.

Disclosure 48 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE S.A.

Initiated By: EUREX DEUTSCHLAND

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/17/2021

Docket/Case Number: CASE REF 2021/27

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: EUREX ALLEGED THAT AN EXCHANGE TRADER HAD VIOLATED NUMBER
2.6 OF THE CONDITIONS FOR TRADING AT EUREX DEUTSCHLAND IN
CONNECTION WITH THREE TRADE REQUESTS THAT HAD BEEN ENTERED
WITHOUT SUBSEQUENT CORRESPONDING ORDERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/17/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: EUREX IMPOSED A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR2000 (APPROXIMATELY
USD2362) ON BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE S.A. AND TO BEAR THE COSTS
OF THE PROCEEDING TOTALING EUR2000 (APPROXIMATELY USD2362).

Firm Statement EUREX IMPOSED A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR2000 (APPROXIMATELY
USD2362) ON BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE S.A. AND TO BEAR THE COSTS
OF THE PROCEEDING TOTALING EUR2000 (APPROXIMATELY USD2362).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,362.00

Decision
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Disclosure 49 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/06/2021

Docket/Case Number: FILE/REF. NO PVSDMG-2021-AG5226LT

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): FX TRANSACTIONS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(BANA) FOR VIOLATION OF SECTION 4.1 OF THE MANUAL OF
REGULATIONS ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS, AS AMENDED,
EFFECTIVE AT THE TIME OF THE FX TRANSACTIONS, AND PURSUANT TO
THEN APPENDIX 67 OF THE MANUAL OF REGULATIONS FOR BANKS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/21/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP10,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD200) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Firm Statement THE BSP IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF PHP10,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD200) ON BANA.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE LETTER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $200.00

Other

Disclosure 50 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: 1766©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH MARKETS SINGAPORE PTE LIMITED ("MLMS")

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/26/2021

Docket/Case Number: SETTLEMENT APPLICATION NO. 4253 OF 2020

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): OFFSHORE DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA ("SEBI") ALLEGED
MERRILL LYNCH MARKETS SINGAPORE PTE LIMITED (MLMS)
INCORRECTLY REPORTED OFFSHORE DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS IN
MONTHLY REPORTS FILED WITH SEBI, IN VIOLATION OF REGULATION 21
OF THE SEBI (FOREIGN PORTFOLIO INVESTORS) REGULATIONS, 2019 (FPI
REGULATIONS), AND GUIDELINES DATED NOVEMBER 5, 2019 ISSUED BY
SEBI UNDER THE FPI REGULATIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/26/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLMS AGREED TO PAY INR 25,35,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD 34,088) TOWARDS THE SETTLEMENT TERMS. MLMS
MADE THE PAYMENT IN FULL ON JUNE 25, 2021.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MLMS AGREED TO PAY INR 25,35,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD 34,088) TOWARDS THE SETTLEMENT TERMS. MLMS
MADE THE PAYMENT IN FULL ON JUNE 25, 2021.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $34,088.00

Order

Disclosure 51 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL
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Initiated By: CAPITAL MARKETS BOARD OF TURKEY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/22/2021

Docket/Case Number: DECISION NO. 17/555

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON APRIL 22, 2021, MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") WAS NOTIFIED
THAT THE CAPITAL MARKETS BOARD OF TURKEY ("CMB") ISSUED A
DECISION ALLEGING THAT MLI ENGAGED IN UNLAWFUL SHORT SELLING IN
VIOLATION OF ARTICLES 24 AND 28 OF THE COMMUNIQUE SERIAL: V, NO.
65 ON "MARGIN PURCHASE SHORT SALE BORROWING AND LENDING OF
CAPITAL MARKET INSTRUMENTS."

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/22/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE CMB ORDERED MLI TO PAY A
FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF TRY 6,321,045 (APPROXIMATELY USD 780,000).  IF
MLI PAYS THE FINE WITHIN TWO MONTHS, THE FINE IS REDUCED BY 25
PERCENT.

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE CMB ORDERED MLI TO PAY A
FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF TRY 6,321,045 (APPROXIMATELY USD 780,000).  IF
MLI PAYS THE FINE WITHIN TWO MONTHS, THE FINE IS REDUCED BY 25
PERCENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $780,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 52 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Allegations: ON APRIL 19, 2021, MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") WAS NOTIFIED
THAT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE HELLENIC CAPITAL MARKET
COMMISSION ISSUED A DECISION ALLEGING THAT MLI VIOLATED ARTICLE
12 § 1(B) OF REGULATION (EU) NO 236/2012 OF THE EUROPEAN
PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL ON SHORT SELLING AND CERTAIN
ASPECTS OF CREDIT DEFAULT SWAPS, AS SPECIFIED IN THE PREAMBLE
(RECITAL 8) IN CONJUNCTION WITH ARTICLE 5 § 1(E) OF COMMISSION
IMPLEMENTING REGULATION (EU) NO 827/2012, IN CONNECTION WITH
CERTAIN SHORT SALES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: HELLENIC CAPITAL MARKET COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/19/2021

Docket/Case Number: DECISION NO. 6/897/20.11.2020

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON APRIL 19, 2021, MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") WAS NOTIFIED
THAT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE HELLENIC CAPITAL MARKET
COMMISSION ISSUED A DECISION ALLEGING THAT MLI VIOLATED ARTICLE
12 § 1(B) OF REGULATION (EU) NO 236/2012 OF THE EUROPEAN
PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL ON SHORT SELLING AND CERTAIN
ASPECTS OF CREDIT DEFAULT SWAPS, AS SPECIFIED IN THE PREAMBLE
(RECITAL 8) IN CONJUNCTION WITH ARTICLE 5 § 1(E) OF COMMISSION
IMPLEMENTING REGULATION (EU) NO 827/2012, IN CONNECTION WITH
CERTAIN SHORT SALES.

Resolution Date: 04/19/2021

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE HCMC ORDERED MLI TO PAY A
FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR 238,436.00 (APPROXIMATELY USD
289,309.00).  IF MLI ACCEPTS THE DECISION AND PAYS THE FINE WITHIN
TWO MONTHS, THE FINE IS REDUCED BY 20 PERCENT.

Firm Statement IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION, THE HCMC ORDERED MLI TO PAY A
FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR 238,436.00 (APPROXIMATELY USD
289,309.00).  IF MLI ACCEPTS THE DECISION AND PAYS THE FINE WITHIN
TWO MONTHS, THE FINE IS REDUCED BY 20 PERCENT.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $289,309.00

Decision

Disclosure 53 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES INC.

Allegations: THE NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ("NYMEX") ALLEGED THAT THE
FIRM EXECUTED MULTIPLE NON-BONA FIDE EXCHANGE FOR RELATED
POSITION ("EFRP") TRANSACTIONS IN CERTAIN FUTURES CONTRACTS IN
VIOLATION OF NYMEX RULE 538.C.  NYMEX FOUND THAT THE EFRP
TRANSACTIONS WERE NON-BONA FIDE AS THEY WERE CONTINGENT
UPON EACH OTHER AND WERE EXECUTED IN A MANNER DESIGNED TO
AVOID ANY MATERIAL MARKET RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE EFRPS'
RELATED POSITION COMPONENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/23/2020

Docket/Case Number: NYMEX 19-1161-BC-4

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ("NYMEX") ALLEGED THAT THE
FIRM EXECUTED MULTIPLE NON-BONA FIDE EXCHANGE FOR RELATED
POSITION ("EFRP") TRANSACTIONS IN CERTAIN FUTURES CONTRACTS IN
VIOLATION OF NYMEX RULE 538.C.  NYMEX FOUND THAT THE EFRP
TRANSACTIONS WERE NON-BONA FIDE AS THEY WERE CONTINGENT
UPON EACH OTHER AND WERE EXECUTED IN A MANNER DESIGNED TO
AVOID ANY MATERIAL MARKET RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE EFRPS'
RELATED POSITION COMPONENTS.

Resolution Date: 10/23/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH
THE PENALTY WAS BASED, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $50,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH
THE PENALTY WAS BASED, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $50,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $50,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 54 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BOFA SECURITIES EUROPE SA

Allegations: THE FIRM PERMITTED A CLIENT TO ENTER A CROSS TRADE USING AN
ORDER ROUTING SYSTEM PROVIDED BY THE FIRM ON ONE OCCASION IN
VIOLATION OF NUMBER 2.6 OF THE CONDITIONS FOR TRADING AT EUREX
DEUTSCHLAND.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: EUREX DEUTSCHLAND

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

COST OF THE PROCEEDING

Date Initiated: 01/28/2020

Docket/Case Number: 2019/32

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

THE FIRM PERMITTED A CLIENT TO ENTER A CROSS TRADE USING AN
ORDER ROUTING SYSTEM PROVIDED BY THE FIRM ON ONE OCCASION IN
VIOLATION OF NUMBER 2.6 OF THE CONDITIONS FOR TRADING AT EUREX
DEUTSCHLAND.

Resolution Date: 01/28/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING

Sanction Details: THE FIRM WAS ISSUED A REPRIMAND AND WAS REQUIRED TO BEAR THE
COST OF THE PROCEEDING IN THE AMOUNT OF 500 EURO
(APPROXIMATELY USD549).

Firm Statement THE FIRM WAS ISSUED A REPRIMAND AND WAS REQUIRED TO BEAR THE
COST OF THE PROCEEDING IN THE AMOUNT OF 500 EURO
(APPROXIMATELY USD549).

Sanctions Ordered:

Decision

Disclosure 55 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: CBOE FUTURES EXCHANGE, LLC

Date Initiated: 01/16/2020

Docket/Case Number: FILE NO. CFE 19-0006

Allegations: THE CBOE FUTURES EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT ON SIX TRADE DATES
THE FIRM RECEIVED SIMULTANEOUS BUY AND SELL ORDERS IN THE SAME
VX FUTURES CONTRACT EXPIRATION AT THE IDENTICAL PRICE TO BE
GIVEN UP TO THE SAME CUSTOMER ACCOUNT, FAILED TO INQUIRE AS TO
THE BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF THE ORDERS, AND ACCOMMODATED
THE EXECUTION OF MATCHING ORDERS IN VIOLATION OF CFE RULE 616.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 01/16/2020

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULES HAD BEEN COMMITTED, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $25,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THAT A VIOLATION OF EXCHANGE
RULES HAD BEEN COMMITTED, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $25,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $25,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 56 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: ICE FUTURES US

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 11/15/2019

Docket/Case Number: 2018-033

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ICE FUTURES US ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM MAY HAVE VIOLATED ICE
FUTURES US RULE 4.07(C) BY MISREPORTING THE CORRECT EXECUTION
TIME OF BLOCK TRADES AND SUBMITTING BLOCK TRADES BEYOND THE
15-MINUTE REPORTING WINDOW, ICE FUTURES US RULE 4.07(A)(II)(A) BY
FAILING TO EXPLICITLY STATE THAT AN ORDER MAY BE EXECUTED BY
MEANS OF A BLOCK TRADE, AND RULE 4.01(A) BY FAILING TO SUPERVISE
THE EXCHANGE-RELATED ACTIVITIES OF ITS EMPLOYEES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 11/15/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGED RULE VIOLATIONS, THE
FIRM AGREED TO PAY A MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $200,000.

Firm Statement ICE FUTURES US NOTED THAT MLI TOOK REMEDIAL ACTIONS TO PREVENT
THE REOCCURRENCE OF THE AFOREMENTIONED ACTIVITY AND
COOPERATED WITH THE EXCHANGE'S MARKET REGULATION STAFF.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $200,000.00

Other

Disclosure 57 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.

Initiated By: U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 06/25/2019

Docket/Case Number: CFTC DOCKET NO. 19-07

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON NUMEROUS OCCASIONS FROM AT LEAST 2008 TO 2014, MERRILL
LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC. ("MLCI"), BY AND THROUGH CERTAIN OF ITS
TRADERS, PLACED ORDERS TO BUY OR SELL PRECIOUS METALS
FUTURES CONTRACTS TRADED ON THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE, INC.
WITH THE INTENT TO CANCEL THE ORDERS BEFORE EXECUTION IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 9(A)(2) OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT (THE
 "ACT"), 7 U.S.C. § 13(A)(2) (2012) AND, FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING ON OR
AFTER AUGUST 15, 2011, SECTIONS 4C(A)(5)(C), 6(C)(1), 6(C)(3) OF THE ACT,
7 U.S.C. §§ 6C(A)(5)(C), 9(1), 9(3) (2012), AND REGULATIONS 180.1 AND 180.2,
17 C.F.R. §§ 180.1, 180.2 (2019).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; DISGORGEMENT; RESTITUTION; UNDERTAKING

Resolution Date: 06/25/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: (I) TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTIONS 4C(A)(5), 6(C)(1),
6(C)(3), AND 9(A)(2) OF THE CEA AND REGULATIONS 180.1 AND 180.2
THEREUNDER; (II) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
$11,500,000; (III) PAY DISGORGEMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,100,000
(WHICH SHALL BE OFFSET, UP TO THE FULL AMOUNT, BY THE AMOUNT OF
ANY PAYMENT MADE PURSUANT TO THE DOJ NON-PROSECUTION
AGREEMENT ("NPA") FOR A SEPARATE BUT RELATED INVESTIGATION OF
PRECIOUS METALS TRADING ACTIVITY); (IV) PAY RESTITUTION IN THE
AMOUNT OF $2,364,585 (WHICH SHALL BE OFFSET, UP TO THE FULL
AMOUNT, BY THE AMOUNT OF ANY PAYMENT MADE PURSUANT TO THE
NPA); AND (V) COMPLY WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS
SET FORTH IN THE CFTC ORDER. THE CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY WAS
PAID ON JULY 1, 2019.

Firm Statement ON JUNE 25, 2019, THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
("CFTC") ISSUED AN ORDER (THE "CFTC ORDER") FINDING THAT, ON
NUMEROUS OCCASIONS FROM AT LEAST 2008 TO 2014, MERRILL LYNCH
COMMODITIES, INC. ("MLCI"), BY AND THROUGH CERTAIN OF ITS TRADERS,
PLACED ORDERS TO BUY OR SELL PRECIOUS METALS FUTURES
CONTRACTS TRADED ON THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE, INC. WITH THE
INTENT TO CANCEL THE ORDERS BEFORE EXECUTION IN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 9(A)(2) OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT (THE "ACT"), 7 U.S.C.
§ 13(A)(2) (2012) AND, FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING ON OR AFTER AUGUST
15, 2011, SECTIONS 4C(A)(5)(C),  6(C)(1), 6(C)(3) OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. §§
6C(A)(5)(C), 9(1), 9(3) (2012), AND REGULATIONS 180.1 AND 180.2, 17 C.F.R.
§§ 180.1, 180.2 (2019).  WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS
OR CONCLUSIONS IN THE CFTC ORDER, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT
ADMITTED IN A PARALLEL NON-PROSECUTION AGREEMENT ("NPA") WITH
THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, CRIMINAL DIVISION,
FRAUD SECTION ("FRAUD SECTION"), MLCI CONSENTED TO THE
IMPOSITION OF THE FOLLOWING: (I) TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTIONS 4C(A)(5), 6(C)(1), 6(C)(3), AND 9(A)(2) OF THE ACT AND
REGULATIONS 180.1 AND 180.2 THEREUNDER; (II) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,500,000; (III) PAY DISGORGEMENT IN THE
AMOUNT OF $11,100,000 (WHICH SHALL BE OFFSET, UP TO THE FULL
AMOUNT, BY THE AMOUNT OF ANY PAYMENT MADE PURSUANT TO THE
NPA); (IV) PAY RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,364,585 (WHICH SHALL
BE  OFFSET, UP TO THE FULL AMOUNT, BY THE AMOUNT OF ANY PAYMENT
MADE PURSUANT TO THE NPA); AND (V)COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
CONDITIONS  AND UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE CFTC ORDER.  ON
JUNE 25, 2019, MLCI ALSO ENTERED INTO AN NPA WITH THE FRAUD
SECTION TO RESOLVE THE FRAUD SECTION'S SEPARATE, BUT RELATED
INVESTIGATION OF PRECIOUS METALS TRADING ACTIVITY UNDER WHICH
MLCI (I) ACCEPTED RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACTS OF ITS AGENTS AS
SET FORTH IN THE NPA'S STATEMENT OF FACTS; (II) STIPULATED THAT
THE FACTS DESCRIBED THEREIN ARE TRUE AND ACCURATE; AND (III)
ACKNOWLEDGED THAT THE FACTS DESCRIBED THEREIN CONSTITUTE A
VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. § 1348.  UNDER THE NPA, MLCI FURTHER AGREED
TO (I) PAY $25,000,000 TO THE UNITED STATES, WHICH INCLUDES A
CRIMINAL FINE, FORFEITURE, AND RESTITUTION; (II) CONTINUE TO
IMPLEMENT A COMPLIANCE AND ETHICS PROGRAM DESIGNED TO
PREVENT AND DETECT VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL WIRE AND SECURITIES
AND COMMODITIES FRAUD LAWS AND ANTI-SPOOFING PROVISION OF THE
ACT; AND (III) UNDERTAKE CERTAIN OBLIGATIONS, GENERALLY FOR A
THREE-YEAR TERM, CONCERNING COOPERATION, DISCLOSURE, AND
REPORTING AS SET FORTH IN THE NPA.  MLCI'S INDIRECT PARENT
COMPANY, BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION, ALSO AGREED TO
UNDERTAKE CERTAIN OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE NPA.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $11,500,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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ON JUNE 25, 2019, THE COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
("CFTC") ISSUED AN ORDER (THE "CFTC ORDER") FINDING THAT, ON
NUMEROUS OCCASIONS FROM AT LEAST 2008 TO 2014, MERRILL LYNCH
COMMODITIES, INC. ("MLCI"), BY AND THROUGH CERTAIN OF ITS TRADERS,
PLACED ORDERS TO BUY OR SELL PRECIOUS METALS FUTURES
CONTRACTS TRADED ON THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE, INC. WITH THE
INTENT TO CANCEL THE ORDERS BEFORE EXECUTION IN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 9(A)(2) OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT (THE "ACT"), 7 U.S.C.
§ 13(A)(2) (2012) AND, FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING ON OR AFTER AUGUST
15, 2011, SECTIONS 4C(A)(5)(C),  6(C)(1), 6(C)(3) OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. §§
6C(A)(5)(C), 9(1), 9(3) (2012), AND REGULATIONS 180.1 AND 180.2, 17 C.F.R.
§§ 180.1, 180.2 (2019).  WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS
OR CONCLUSIONS IN THE CFTC ORDER, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT
ADMITTED IN A PARALLEL NON-PROSECUTION AGREEMENT ("NPA") WITH
THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, CRIMINAL DIVISION,
FRAUD SECTION ("FRAUD SECTION"), MLCI CONSENTED TO THE
IMPOSITION OF THE FOLLOWING: (I) TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
VIOLATING SECTIONS 4C(A)(5), 6(C)(1), 6(C)(3), AND 9(A)(2) OF THE ACT AND
REGULATIONS 180.1 AND 180.2 THEREUNDER; (II) PAY A CIVIL MONETARY
PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,500,000; (III) PAY DISGORGEMENT IN THE
AMOUNT OF $11,100,000 (WHICH SHALL BE OFFSET, UP TO THE FULL
AMOUNT, BY THE AMOUNT OF ANY PAYMENT MADE PURSUANT TO THE
NPA); (IV) PAY RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,364,585 (WHICH SHALL
BE  OFFSET, UP TO THE FULL AMOUNT, BY THE AMOUNT OF ANY PAYMENT
MADE PURSUANT TO THE NPA); AND (V)COMPLY WITH CERTAIN
CONDITIONS  AND UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE CFTC ORDER.  ON
JUNE 25, 2019, MLCI ALSO ENTERED INTO AN NPA WITH THE FRAUD
SECTION TO RESOLVE THE FRAUD SECTION'S SEPARATE, BUT RELATED
INVESTIGATION OF PRECIOUS METALS TRADING ACTIVITY UNDER WHICH
MLCI (I) ACCEPTED RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACTS OF ITS AGENTS AS
SET FORTH IN THE NPA'S STATEMENT OF FACTS; (II) STIPULATED THAT
THE FACTS DESCRIBED THEREIN ARE TRUE AND ACCURATE; AND (III)
ACKNOWLEDGED THAT THE FACTS DESCRIBED THEREIN CONSTITUTE A
VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. § 1348.  UNDER THE NPA, MLCI FURTHER AGREED
TO (I) PAY $25,000,000 TO THE UNITED STATES, WHICH INCLUDES A
CRIMINAL FINE, FORFEITURE, AND RESTITUTION; (II) CONTINUE TO
IMPLEMENT A COMPLIANCE AND ETHICS PROGRAM DESIGNED TO
PREVENT AND DETECT VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL WIRE AND SECURITIES
AND COMMODITIES FRAUD LAWS AND ANTI-SPOOFING PROVISION OF THE
ACT; AND (III) UNDERTAKE CERTAIN OBLIGATIONS, GENERALLY FOR A
THREE-YEAR TERM, CONCERNING COOPERATION, DISCLOSURE, AND
REPORTING AS SET FORTH IN THE NPA.  MLCI'S INDIRECT PARENT
COMPANY, BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION, ALSO AGREED TO
UNDERTAKE CERTAIN OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE NPA.

Disclosure 58 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.

Initiated By: NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE

Date Initiated: 04/22/2019

Docket/Case Number: NYMEX 18-1025-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ("NYMEX") ALLEGED THAT THE
FIRM HELD A FUTURES POSITION WHICH WAS OVER THE FIRM'S
APPROVED HEDGE EXEMPTION NATURAL GAS POSITION LIMIT IN
VIOLATION OF NYMEX RULE 562.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/22/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH
THE PENALTY WAS BASED, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $75,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH
THE PENALTY WAS BASED, THE FIRM AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE
AMOUNT OF $75,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $75,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 59 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/11/2019

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BSP) APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON THE FIRM FOR NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE
100.0 PERCENT EXPANDED/FOREIGN CURRENCY DEPOSIT UNIT (E/FCDU)
ASSET COVER REQUIREMENT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Other 1776©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
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Resolution Date: 04/26/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE MONETARY BOARD IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
PHP1,011,442.07 (USD19,473.80) ON THE FIRM.

Sanction Details: THE MONETARY BOARD IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
PHP1,011,442 (USD19,473.80) ON THE FIRM.  PURSUANT TO THE BSP'S
RULES, THE FIRM'S DEMAND DEPOSIT ACCOUNT WITH THE BSP SHALL BE
AUTOMATICALLY DEBITED THE ABOVE REFERENCED AMOUNT UPON THE
LAPSE OF FIFTEEN CALENDAR DAYS FROM RECEIPT OF THE FINAL
BILLING LETTER.  THEREFORE, THE AMOUNT MAY BE DEBITED NO
EARLIER THAN APRIL 26, 2019.

Firm Statement THE MONETARY BOARD IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
PHP1,011,442 (USD19,473.80) ON THE FIRM.  PURSUANT TO THE BSP'S
RULES, THE FIRM'S DEMAND DEPOSIT ACCOUNT WITH THE BSP SHALL BE
AUTOMATICALLY DEBITED THE ABOVE REFERENCED AMOUNT UPON THE
LAPSE OF FIFTEEN CALENDAR DAYS FROM RECEIPT OF THE FINAL
BILLING LETTER.  THEREFORE, THE AMOUNT MAY BE DEBITED NO
EARLIER THAN APRIL 26, 2019.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $19,473.80

Other

Disclosure 60 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION - HONG KONG (SFC)

Date Initiated: 03/14/2019

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Allegations: THE SFC ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM FAILED TO DISCHARGE ITS DUTIES AS A
SPONSOR IN RELATION TO A COMPANY'S LISTING APPLICATION FOR THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED AND IN PARTICULAR FAILED
TO (A) CONDUCT ADEQUATE AND REASONABLE DUE DILIGENCE
INQUIRIES IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S LISTING APPLICATION AND
USE ALL REASONABLE EFFORTS TO ENSURE THAT THE INFORMATION AND
REPRESENTATIONS PROVIDED IN THE PROSPECTUS WERE TRUE,
ACCURATE AND NOT MISLEADING; (B) PERFORM ADEQUATE AND
REASONABLE DUE DILIGENCE INQUIRIES IN RELATION TO THE
COMPANY'S CUSTOMERS; AND (C) COMPLY WITH ALL REGULATORY
REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO THE CONDUCT OF A SPONSOR.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 03/14/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND

Sanction Details: THE SFC REPRIMANDED THE FIRM AND FINED IT HK$128 MILLION, WHICH
IS APPROXIMATELY USD16,333,440.

Firm Statement THE SFC REPRIMANDED THE FIRM AND FINED IT HK$128 MILLION, WHICH
IS APPROXIMATELY USD16,333,440.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $16,333,440.00

Other

Disclosure 61 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: RESERVE BANK OF INDIA ("RBI")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/25/2019

Docket/Case Number: EFD.CO.SO/590/02.03.044/2018-19

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE RESERVE BANK OF INDIA ("RBI") ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM'S
RECONCILIATION OF LOGS GENERATED FROM SWIFT WAS NOT
SUFFICIENT AND VIOLATED THE DIRECTION OF THE RBI.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Order
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Resolution Date: 02/25/2019

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE RBI ORDERED THE FIRM TO PAY A MONETARY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF INR10,000,000, WHICH IS APPROXIMATELY USD $144,952.00.

Firm Statement THE RBI ORDERED THE FIRM TO PAY A MONETARY PENALTY IN THE
AMOUNT OF INR10,000,000, WHICH IS APPROXIMATELY USD $144,952.00.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $144,952.00

Order

Disclosure 62 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 09/19/2018

Docket/Case Number: CFTC DOCKET NO. 18-34

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): U.S. DOLLAR INTERNATIONAL SWAPS AND DERIVATIVES ASSOCIATION FIX

Allegations: THE U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION (CFTC) ALLEGED
THAT, ON OCCASION FROM JANUARY 2007 THROUGH DECEMBER 2012,
THE FIRM, BY AND THROUGH CERTAIN OF ITS TRADERS, ATTEMPTED TO
MANIPULATE THE U.S. DOLLAR INTERNATIONAL SWAPS AND DERIVATIVES
ASSOCIATION FIX (USD ISDAFIX), A BENCHMARK RELATED TO INTEREST-
RATE PRODUCTS, TO BENEFIT THE FIRM'S DERIVATIVES POSITIONS IN
VIOLATION OF SECTION 9(A)(2) OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
(CEA); SECTION 6(C) AND 6(D) OF THE CEA, FOR CONDUCT OCCURRING
PRIOR TO AUGUST 15, 2011; AND SECTION 6(C)(1), 6(C)(1)(A), 6(C)(3) AND
6(D) OF THE CEA, AND REGULATIONS 180.1(A) AND 180.2, FOR CONDUCT
OCCURRING ON OR AFTER AUGUST 15, 2011.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/19/2018

Resolution: Order
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Resolution Date: 09/19/2018

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OR CONCLUSIONS IN
THE ORDER, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING
SECTIONS 6(C)(1), 6(C)(1)(A), 6(C)(3), 6(D), AND 9(A)(2) OF THE CEA AND
REGULATIONS 180.1(A) AND 180.2 THEREUNDER, (2) TO PAY A CIVIL
MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $30,000,000, AND (3) TO COMPLY
WITH CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS OR CONCLUSIONS IN
THE ORDER, THE FIRM CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING
SECTIONS 6(C)(1), 6(C)(1)(A), 6(C)(3), 6(D), AND 9(A)(2) OF THE CEA AND
REGULATIONS 180.1(A) AND 180.2, (2) TO PAY A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY
IN THE AMOUNT OF $30,000,000, WHICH THE FIRM PAID ON SEPTEMBER 24,
2018, AND (3) CONTINUE TO UNDERTAKE CERTAIN REMEDIATION
EFFORTS, INCLUDING PROVIDING A REPORT TO THE CFTC WITHIN 120
DAYS OF THE ORDER ADDRESSING REMEDIATION EFFORTS BOTH PRIOR
TO AND SINCE ENTRY OF THE ORDER, AND PROVIDING AN ADDITIONAL
REPORT TO THE CFTC, NO LATER THAN 365 DAYS FROM ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, EXPLAINING HOW THE FIRM HAS COMPLIED WITH THE
UNDERTAKINGS SET FORTH IN THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $30,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 63 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: BUNDESANSTALT FUR FINANZDIENSTLEISTUNGSAUFSICHT (BAFIN)

Date Initiated: 04/23/2018

Docket/Case Number: NA

Allegations: THE BAFIN ALLEGED THAT NECESSARY AND REASONABLE SUPERVISORY
AND ORGANIZATIONAL MEASURES WHICH COULD HAVE ENSURED THE
CORRECT AND COMPLETE SUBMISSION OF VOTING RIGHTS
NOTIFICATIONS WITHIN THE TIME STIPULATED WERE NOT TAKEN ON TIME
OR TO THE ADEQUATE EXTENT BY THE COMPANY CONCERNED, WHICH
LED TO VIOLATIONS OF VOTING RIGHTS NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FEE FOR COSTS OF PROCEEDING

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/14/2018

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE BAFIN IMPOSED A FINE ON THE FIRM IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR
1,340,000/USD 1,635,872 AND A FEE FOR COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING IN
THE AMOUNT OF EUR 7,500/USD 9,156.

Sanction Details: THE BAFIN IMPOSED A FINE ON THE FIRM IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR
1,340,000/USD 1,635,872 AND A FEE FOR COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING IN
THE AMOUNT OF EUR 7,500/USD 9,156.  THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE
NOTICE IS TWO WEEKS AFTER THE DELIVERY OF THE NOTICE - DURING
WHICH TIME THE FIRM CAN APPEAL THE NOTICE.  THE FIRM DID NOT
APPEAL THE NOTICE AND THE NOTICE BECAME EFFECTIVE ON MAY 14,
2018.

Firm Statement THE BAFIN IMPOSED A FINE ON THE FIRM IN THE AMOUNT OF EUR
1,340,000/USD 1,635,872 AND A FEE FOR COSTS OF THE PROCEEDING IN
THE AMOUNT OF EUR 7,500/USD 9,156.  THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE
NOTICE IS TWO WEEKS AFTER THE DELIVERY OF THE NOTICE - DURING
WHICH TIME THE FIRM CAN APPEAL THE NOTICE.  THE FIRM DID NOT
APPEAL THE NOTICE AND THE NOTICE BECAME EFFECTIVE ON MAY 14,
2018.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,635,872.00

Other

Disclosure 64 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF THE REPUBLIC OF THE
PHILIPPINES

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF THE PHILIPPINES
("PHILIPPINES SEC") ALLEGED THAT THE FIRM DID NOT MEET CERTAIN
REPORTING REQUIREMENTS IN THE PHILIPPINES REGARDING ITS
REGIONAL AREA HEADQUARTERS ("RHQ"), WHICH HAD NOT ENGAGED IN
ANY OPERATIONS IN THE PHILIPPINES FOR DECADES AND DID NOT PLAN
TO ENGAGE IN ANY OPERATIONS IN THE PHILIPPINES IN THE FUTURE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF THE REPUBLIC OF THE
PHILIPPINES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Suspension

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/28/2017

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 11/28/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE PHILIPPINES SEC SUSPENDED THE FIRM'S RHQ LICENSE TO
TRANSACT BUSINESS IN THE PHILIPPINES.

Firm Statement AN RHQ IS A SPECIAL TYPE OF "BRANCH" WHOSE AUTHORIZED ACTIVITIES
ARE LIMITED TO ACTING AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE BRANCH OF A
MULTINATIONAL COMPANY ENGAGED IN INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND
PRINCIPALLY SERVES AS A SUPERVISION, COMMUNICATIONS AND
COORDINATION CENTER FOR ITS SUBSIDIARIES, BRANCHES OR
AFFILIATES IN THE ASIA-PACIFIC REGION AND OTHER FOREIGN MARKETS.
THE FIRM'S RHQ HAD BEEN DORMANT FOR DECADES AND DID NOT
ENGAGE IN ANY SECURITIES ACTIVITIES.  AS A MEANS TO DEREGISTER
THE RHQ, THE FIRM REQUESTED THAT THE PHILIPPINES SEC SUSPEND
ITS LICENSE AND THE PHILIPPINES SEC GRANTED THE FIRM'S REQUEST.

Sanctions Ordered: Suspension

Order

Disclosure 65 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: THE OFFICE OF ANTIBOYCOTT COMPLIANCE, BUREAU OF INDUSTRY AND
SECURITY, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE ("BIS") ALLEGED, AS SET
FORTH IN A PROPOSED CHARGING LETTER, THAT BANK OF AMERICA N.A.
("BOFA"), ON THIRTEEN OCCASIONS, VIOLATED THE EXPORT
ADMINISTRATION REGULATIONS (CURRENTLY CODIFIED AT 15 C.F.R. 730-
774 (2017) ("REGULATIONS"), WHICH ARE ISSUED UNDER THE AUTHORITY
OF THE EXPORT ADMINISTRATION ACT OF 1979, AS AMENDED.  THE
ALLEGATIONS WERE RESOLVED PURSUANT TO A SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT BETWEEN BIS AND BOFA.  UNDER THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT, BIS ENTERED AN ORDER IMPOSING A CIVIL PENALTY, BUT
DID NOT INITIATE ANY ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL PROCEEDING OR
MAKE A REFERRAL TO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE FOR CRIMINAL
PROCEEDINGS AGAINST BOFA WITH RESPECT TO SECTION 8 OF THE
EXPORT ADMINISTRATION ACT OR PART 760 OF THE REGULATIONS.  NO
FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS WERE MADE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: OFFICE OF ANTIBOYCOTT COMPLIANCE, BUREAU OF INDUSTRY AND
SECURITY, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/13/2017

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. 16-03

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE OFFICE OF ANTIBOYCOTT COMPLIANCE, BUREAU OF INDUSTRY AND
SECURITY, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE ("BIS") ALLEGED, AS SET
FORTH IN A PROPOSED CHARGING LETTER, THAT BANK OF AMERICA N.A.
("BOFA"), ON THIRTEEN OCCASIONS, VIOLATED THE EXPORT
ADMINISTRATION REGULATIONS (CURRENTLY CODIFIED AT 15 C.F.R. 730-
774 (2017) ("REGULATIONS"), WHICH ARE ISSUED UNDER THE AUTHORITY
OF THE EXPORT ADMINISTRATION ACT OF 1979, AS AMENDED.  THE
ALLEGATIONS WERE RESOLVED PURSUANT TO A SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT BETWEEN BIS AND BOFA.  UNDER THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT, BIS ENTERED AN ORDER IMPOSING A CIVIL PENALTY, BUT
DID NOT INITIATE ANY ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL PROCEEDING OR
MAKE A REFERRAL TO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE FOR CRIMINAL
PROCEEDINGS AGAINST BOFA WITH RESPECT TO SECTION 8 OF THE
EXPORT ADMINISTRATION ACT OR PART 760 OF THE REGULATIONS.  NO
FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS WERE MADE.

Resolution Date: 11/13/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN BOFA AND BIS,
BIS ISSUED AN ORDER IMPOSING A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $44,625 ON
BOFA.  NO FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS WERE MADE AND NO OTHER
SANCTIONS WERE IMPOSED ON BOFA.

Firm Statement BOFA ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH BIS.  THE
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT RESOLVED ALLEGATIONS BY THE BIS THAT
BOFA, ON THIRTEEN OCCASIONS, VIOLATED THE EXPORT
ADMINISTRATION REGULATIONS (CURRENTLY CODIFIED AT 15 C.F.R. 730-
774 (2017) ("REGULATIONS"), WHICH ARE ISSUED UNDER THE AUTHORITY
OF THE EXPORT ADMINISTRATION ACT OF 1979, AS AMENDED.  UNDER
THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, BIS ENTERED AN ORDER IMPOSING A
CIVIL PENALTY, BUT DID NOT INITIATE ANY ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL
PROCEEDING OR MAKE A REFERRAL TO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
FOR CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST BOFA WITH RESPECT TO SECTION
8 OF THE EXPORT ADMINISTRATION ACT OR PART 760 OF THE
REGULATIONS.  NO FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS WERE MADE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $44,625.00

Order
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BOFA ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH BIS.  THE
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT RESOLVED ALLEGATIONS BY THE BIS THAT
BOFA, ON THIRTEEN OCCASIONS, VIOLATED THE EXPORT
ADMINISTRATION REGULATIONS (CURRENTLY CODIFIED AT 15 C.F.R. 730-
774 (2017) ("REGULATIONS"), WHICH ARE ISSUED UNDER THE AUTHORITY
OF THE EXPORT ADMINISTRATION ACT OF 1979, AS AMENDED.  UNDER
THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, BIS ENTERED AN ORDER IMPOSING A
CIVIL PENALTY, BUT DID NOT INITIATE ANY ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL
PROCEEDING OR MAKE A REFERRAL TO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
FOR CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST BOFA WITH RESPECT TO SECTION
8 OF THE EXPORT ADMINISTRATION ACT OR PART 760 OF THE
REGULATIONS.  NO FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS WERE MADE.

Disclosure 66 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

Initiated By: AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 11/03/2017

Docket/Case Number: MDP5863/17

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON NOVEMBER 3, 2017, THE MARKETS DISCIPLINARY PANEL ("MDP") OF
THE AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS COMMISSION ("ASIC")
GAVE AN INFRINGEMENT NOTICE TO MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES
(AUSTRALIA) LIMITED ("MLEA") UNDER REGULATION 7.2A.04 OF THE
CORPORATIONS REGULATIONS 2001 ON THE BASIS THAT IT HAS
GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT MLEA HAD CONTRAVENED SUBSECTION
798H(1) OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 BY REASON OF CONTRAVENING
THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS OF THE ASIC MARKET INTEGRITY RULES
(COMPETITION IN EXCHANGE MARKETS) 2011 AND THE ASIC MARKET
INTEGRITY RULES (CHI-X AUSTRALIA MARKET) 2011:  COMPETITION RULE
3.1.1(4) BEST EXECUTION OPT OUT RULE; COMPETITION RULE 3.1.1(5)(A)
PERIODIC REVIEW OF OPT OUT INSTRUCTIONS RULE; COMPETITION RULE
4A.4.4(1) CROSSING SYSTEM OPT OUT RULE; AND CHI-X RULE 3.3.1(B)
CLIENT INSTRUCTIONS RULE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 11/03/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE ASIC MDP IMPOSED A FINANCIAL PENALTY ON MLEA IN THE AMOUNT
OF AUD140,000 (APPROX. USD107,949).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $107,949.00

Decision
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Sanction Details: THE ASIC MDP IMPOSED A FINANCIAL PENALTY ON MLEA IN THE AMOUNT
OF AUD140,000 (APPROX. USD107,949).

Firm Statement THE ASIC MDP IMPOSED A FINANCIAL PENALTY ON MLEA IN THE AMOUNT
OF AUD140,000 (APPROX. USD107,949).

Disclosure 67 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: FINANCIAL CONDUCT AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/18/2017

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Derivative(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FINANCIAL CONDUCT AUTHORITY (FCA) IMPOSED A FINANCIAL
PENALTY ON THE FIRM FOR BREACHES OF PRINCIPLE 3 (MANAGEMENT
AND CONTROL) OF THE FCA'S PRINCIPLES FOR BUSINESSES AND
ARTICLE 9 OF THE EUROPEAN MARKETS INFRASTRUCTURE REGULATION
(EMIR) IN CONNECTION WITH THE REPORTING OF EXCHANGE TRADED
DERIVATIVES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/23/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FCA IMPOSED A FINANCIAL PENALTY ON THE FIRM IN THE AMOUNT OF
GBP34,524,000 (APPROX. USD45,525,500).

Sanction Details: THE FCA IMPOSED A FINANCIAL PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
GBP34,524,000 (APPROX. USD45,525,500) ON THE FIRM.

Firm Statement THE FCA IMPOSED A FINANCIAL PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
GBP34,524,000 (APPROX. USD45,525,500) ON THE FIRM.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $45,525,500.00

Order
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Disclosure 68 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/26/2017

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Allegations: THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS (BS") APPROVED THE IMPOSITION
OF A MONETARY PENALTY ON THE FIRM FOR THE FOLLOWING VIOLATIONS
OF THE MANUAL OF REGULATIONS ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE
TRANSACTIONS:  DEFICIENCY IN E/FOREIGN CURRENCY DEPOSIT UNIT
(FCDU) ASSET COVER REQUIREMENT, FALSE/ERRONEOUS CERTIFICATION
OF COMPLIANCE WITH E/FCDU COVER AND BREACH ON THE CAP ON
ALLOWABLE LENDING OF FCDU FUNDS TO REGULAR BANKING UNITS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/12/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE MONETARY BOARD IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
PHP67,303,484.29 (APPROX. USD1,306,930) ON THE FIRM.

Sanction Details: THE MONETARY BOARD IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
PHP67,303,484.29 (APPROX. USD1,306,930) ON THE FIRM.  PURSUANT TO
THE BSP'S RULES, THE FIRM'S DEMAND DEPOSIT ACCOUNT WITH THE BSP
SHALL BE AUTOMATICALLY DEBITED THE ABOVE REFERENCED AMOUNT
UPON THE LAPSE OF FIFTEEN CALENDAR DAYS FROM RECEIPT OF THE
FINAL BILLING LETTER.  THEREFORE, THE AMOUNT MAY BE DEBITED NO
EARLIER THAN OCTOBER 12, 2017.

Firm Statement THE MONETARY BOARD IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
PHP67,303,484.29 (APPROX. USD1,306,930) ON THE FIRM.  PURSUANT TO
THE BSP'S RULES, THE FIRM'S DEMAND DEPOSIT ACCOUNT WITH THE BSP
SHALL BE AUTOMATICALLY DEBITED THE ABOVE REFERENCED AMOUNT
UPON THE LAPSE OF FIFTEEN CALENDAR DAYS FROM RECEIPT OF THE
FINAL BILLING LETTER.  THEREFORE, THE AMOUNT MAY BE DEBITED NO
EARLIER THAN OCTOBER 12, 2017.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,306,930.00

Other
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THE MONETARY BOARD IMPOSED A PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF
PHP67,303,484.29 (APPROX. USD1,306,930) ON THE FIRM.  PURSUANT TO
THE BSP'S RULES, THE FIRM'S DEMAND DEPOSIT ACCOUNT WITH THE BSP
SHALL BE AUTOMATICALLY DEBITED THE ABOVE REFERENCED AMOUNT
UPON THE LAPSE OF FIFTEEN CALENDAR DAYS FROM RECEIPT OF THE
FINAL BILLING LETTER.  THEREFORE, THE AMOUNT MAY BE DEBITED NO
EARLIER THAN OCTOBER 12, 2017.

Disclosure 69 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) FUTURES LIMITED

Initiated By: AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS COMMISSION ("ASIC")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/14/2017

Docket/Case Number: MDP 6028/17

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: DURING THE PERIOD BETWEEN OCTOBER 22, 2010 AND JUNE 20, 2016,
MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) FUTURES LIMITED ("MLAF") PROVIDED
ACCESS TO THE ASX 24 MARKET USING SEVEN (7) PATHWAYS.  IN 2016, AS
THE RESULT OF AN AD HOC REVIEW OF MARKET LIMITS THAT APPLIED AT
THE DOWNSTREAM LEVEL, MLAF IDENTIFIED FOUR (4) PATHWAYS THAT
HAD INAPPROPRIATE LIMITS FOR MLAF AND ITS CLIENTS.  THEREFORE,
DURING THE RELEVANT PERIOD, ASIC HAS REASONABLE GROUNDS TO
BELIEVE THAT MLAF CONTRAVENED RULE 2.2.1(1)(A) BY REASON OF
FAILING TO SET AND DOCUMENT APPROPRIATE VOLUME LIMITS FOR
EACH CLIENT ACCOUNT AND CONTRAVENED RULE 2.2.1(1)(B) BY REASON
OF FAILING TO SET AND DOCUMENT APPROPRIATE MAXIMUM PRICE
CHANGE LIMITS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/14/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: PENALTY OF AUD$60,000 (USD$47,355.50).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $47,355.50

Decision
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Sanction Details: PENALTY OF AUD$60,000 (USD$47,355.50).

Firm Statement ASIC TOOK INTO ACCOUNT THE FOLLOWING MITIGATING FACTORS:  MLAF
IDENTIFIED THE ISSUES FROM THEIR OWN REVIEW, SELF-REPORTED TO
ASIC, PROMPTLY TOOK STEPS TO REMEDY THE BREACH ONCE MLAF
BECAME AWARE OF IT, AND COOPERATED WITH ASIC FOLLOWING THE
REPORT.  THERE WAS NO APPARENT CLIENT OR MARKET IMPACT.

Disclosure 70 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.

Initiated By: NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

DISGORGEMENT

Date Initiated: 06/14/2017

Docket/Case Number: NYMEX 16-0597-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE (NYMEX) ALLEGED THAT
MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC. ("MLCI") REACHED AN OPEN
JANUARY 2017 CRUDE OIL FUTURES CONTRACT FUTURES POSITION OF
4,562 LONG CONTRACTS, WHICH WAS 1,562 CONTRACTS (52,06%) OVER
THE STANDARD 3,000 CONTRACT POSITION LIMIT, IN VIOLATION OF NYMEX
RULE 562, AND THAT MLCI REALIZED A PROFIT OF $11,560.20 BY REDUCING
ITS EXCESS POSITIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/16/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: DISGORGEMENT OF $11,560.20DISGORGEMENT OF $11,560.20

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH THE PENALTY
WAS BASED, MLCI CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE FOLLOWING
SANCTIONS:  (1) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000, AND (2)
DISGORGEMENT OF PROFITS IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,560.20.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $25,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH THE PENALTY
WAS BASED, MLCI CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE FOLLOWING
SANCTIONS:  (1) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000, AND (2)
DISGORGEMENT OF PROFITS IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,560.20.

Firm Statement PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE RULE VIOLATION UPON WHICH THE PENALTY
WAS BASED, MLCI CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE FOLLOWING
SANCTIONS:  (1) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000, AND (2)
DISGORGEMENT OF PROFITS IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,560.20.

Disclosure 71 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.

Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

DISGORGEMENT

Date Initiated: 06/06/2017

Docket/Case Number: CBOT-17-0661-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE (CBOT) ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
COMMODITIES, INC. ("MLCI") HELD A FUTURES POSITION OF 660 SHORT
MARCH 2017 SOYBEAN CONTRACTS WHICH WAS 60 CONTRACTS (10%)
OVER THE SPOT MONTH LIMIT, IN VIOLATION OF CBOT RULE 562, AND
THAT MLCI REALIZED A PROFIT OF $124.20 FROM THE LIQUIDATION OF ITS
EXCESS POSITION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/08/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: DISGORGEMENT OF $124.20

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH THE
PENALTY WAS BASED, MLCI CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $35,000, AND (2)
DISGORGEMENT OF PROFITS IN THE AMOUNT OF $124.20.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $35,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH THE
PENALTY WAS BASED, MLCI CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $35,000, AND (2)
DISGORGEMENT OF PROFITS IN THE AMOUNT OF $124.20.

Firm Statement PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER
ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH THE
PENALTY WAS BASED, MLCI CONSENTED TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE
FOLLOWING SANCTIONS:  (1) A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $35,000, AND (2)
DISGORGEMENT OF PROFITS IN THE AMOUNT OF $124.20.

Disclosure 72 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: ICE FUTURES US, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/04/2007

Docket/Case Number: CASE NO. 2016-088

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ICE FUTURES US, INC. ("IFUS") CONCLUDED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") MAY HAVE VIOLATED RULE 4.07(C) BY FAILING TO
REPORT CERTAIN BLOCK AT INDEX CLOSE ("BIC") TRADES IN A TIMELY
MANNER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/04/2007

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: MLI WAS ISSUED A SUMMARY FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000 PURSUANT
TO IFUS DISCIPLINARY RULE 21.02.

Firm Statement MLI WAS ISSUED A SUMMARY FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $5,000 PURSUANT
TO IFUS DISCIPLINARY RULE 21.02.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Other
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Disclosure 73 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: RESERVE BANK OF INDIA ("RBI")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/25/2016

Docket/Case Number: FE.CO.EPD/5871/21.33.006/2016-17

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE RESERVE BANK OF INDIA (RBI") CAME TO THE CONCLUSION THAT
THERE WERE LAPSES ON THE PART OF BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION (BANA) IN REPORTING OF THE NETTING OFF
TRANSACTIONS ON GROSS BASIS IN R RETURNS, WHICH VIOLATED THE
INSTRUCTION ISSUED BY THE RBI.  THIS RESULTED IN THE
TRANSACTIONS NOT BEING DETECTED/SCRUTINIZED FOR MORE THAN
THREE YEARS (I.E., FROM 2012 TO 2015).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/08/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE RESERVE BANK OF INDIA ORDERED BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION TO PAY MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF 10,000
RUPEES, WHICH IS APPROXIMATELY USD150.

Firm Statement THE RESERVE BANK OF INDIA ORDERED BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION TO PAY MONETARY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF 10,000
RUPEES, WHICH IS APPROXIMATELY USD150.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $150.00

Other
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED

Initiated By: HONG KONG SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 03/23/2017

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THIS DISCIPLINARY ACTION WAS TAKEN ACCORDING TO AN AGREEMENT
PURSUANT TO SECTION 201 OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
ORDINANCE DATED MARCH 23, 2017 IN RELATION TO MERRILL LYNCH FAR
EAST LIMITED'S AND MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED'S INTERNAL
CONTROL FAILURES RELATED TO ITS REPORTING OF LARGE OPEN
POSITIONS, ELECTRONIC TRADING SYSTEMS, DISTRIBUTION OF
RESEARCH REPORTS INVOLVING FUTURES CONTRACTS, AND
DISCLOSURE OF MARKET MAKING ACTIVITIES IN RESEARCH REPORTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/23/2017

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND AND UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION HAS PUBLICLY
REPRIMANDED AND FINED MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED AND
MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED A TOTAL OF HKD15 MILLION
(APPROXIMATELY USD1,931,134) PURSUANT TO SECTION 194 OF THE
SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE.  IN ADDITION, MERRILL LYNCH
FAR EAST LIMITED'S BOARD OF DIRECTORS HAVE UNDERTAKEN THAT THE
PROBLEMS UNVEILED IN THE REVIEW FINDINGS CONCERNING THE
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS FOR LOP REPORTING WILL BE
RECTIFIED WITHIN 12 MONTHS AND WILL NOT REOCCUR AFTER 12
MONTHS

Firm Statement IN REACHING THIS RESOLUTION, THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
COMMISSION (SFC) TOOK INTO ACCOUNT THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST
LIMITED AND MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED SELF-REPORTED TO
THE SFC THE UNLICENSED ACTIVITY AND NON-DISCLOSURE OF MARKET
MAKING ACTIVITIES IN ITS RESEARCH REPORTS; INVOLVED THEIR SENIOR
MANAGEMENT IN THE LIAISON WITH THE SFC; TOO THE INITIATIVE TO
BRING THIS MATTER TO AN EARLY CONCLUSION BY FULLY AND FRANKLY
DISCUSSION THE REGULATORY CONCERNS WITH THE SFC; UNDERTOOK A
CREDIBLE REVIEW WITH THE SEFC TO ADDRESS THE REGULATORY
CONCERNS AND IDENTIFY THE DEFICIENCIES IN ITS INTERNAL
CONTROLS; AND COOPERATED WITH THE DISCIPLINARY ACTION BY
RESOLVING THE SFC'S REGULATORY CONCERNS.  THE SFC ALSO TOOK
INTO CONSIDERATION MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED'S BOARD OF
DIRECTORS HAVE UNDERTAKEN THAT THE PROBLEMS UNVEILED IN THE
REVIEW FINDINGS CONCERNING THE COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS
FOR LOP REPORTING WILL BE RECTIFIED WITHIN 12 MONTHS AND WILL
NOT REOCCUR AFTER 12 MONTHS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,931,134.00

Decision
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IN REACHING THIS RESOLUTION, THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
COMMISSION (SFC) TOOK INTO ACCOUNT THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST
LIMITED AND MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED SELF-REPORTED TO
THE SFC THE UNLICENSED ACTIVITY AND NON-DISCLOSURE OF MARKET
MAKING ACTIVITIES IN ITS RESEARCH REPORTS; INVOLVED THEIR SENIOR
MANAGEMENT IN THE LIAISON WITH THE SFC; TOO THE INITIATIVE TO
BRING THIS MATTER TO AN EARLY CONCLUSION BY FULLY AND FRANKLY
DISCUSSION THE REGULATORY CONCERNS WITH THE SFC; UNDERTOOK A
CREDIBLE REVIEW WITH THE SEFC TO ADDRESS THE REGULATORY
CONCERNS AND IDENTIFY THE DEFICIENCIES IN ITS INTERNAL
CONTROLS; AND COOPERATED WITH THE DISCIPLINARY ACTION BY
RESOLVING THE SFC'S REGULATORY CONCERNS.  THE SFC ALSO TOOK
INTO CONSIDERATION MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED'S BOARD OF
DIRECTORS HAVE UNDERTAKEN THAT THE PROBLEMS UNVEILED IN THE
REVIEW FINDINGS CONCERNING THE COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS
FOR LOP REPORTING WILL BE RECTIFIED WITHIN 12 MONTHS AND WILL
NOT REOCCUR AFTER 12 MONTHS.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED

Initiated By: HONG KONG SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 03/23/2017

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THIS DISCIPLINARY ACTION WAS TAKEN ACCORDING TO AN AGREEMENT
PURSUANT TO SECTION 201 OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
ORDINANCE DATED MARCH 23, 2017 IN RELATION TO MERRILL LYNCH FAR
EAST LIMITED'S AND MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED'S INTERNAL
CONTROL FAILURES RELATED TO ITS REPORTING OF LARGE OPEN
POSITIONS, ELECTRONIC TRADING SYSTEMS, DISTRIBUTION OF
RESEARCH REPORTS INVOLVING FUTURES CONTRACTS, AND
DISCLOSURE OF MARKET MAKING ACTIVITIES IN RESEARCH REPORTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/23/2017

Resolution: Decision
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Resolution Date: 03/23/2017

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND AND UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION HAS PUBLICLY
REPRIMANDED AND FINED MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED AND
MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED A TOTAL OF HKD15 MILLION
(APPROXIMATELY USD1,931,134) PURSUANT TO SECTION 194 OF THE
SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE.  IN ADDITION, MERRILL LYNCH
FAR EAST LIMITED'S BOARD OF DIRECTORS HAVE UNDERTAKEN THAT THE
PROBLEMS UNVEILED IN THE REVIEW FINDINGS CONCERNING THE
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS FOR LOP REPORTING WILL BE
RECTIFIED WITHIN 12 MONTHS AND WILL NOT REOCCUR AFTER 12
MONTHS

Firm Statement IN REACHING THIS RESOLUTION, THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES
COMMISSION (SFC) TOOK INTO ACCOUNT THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST
LIMITED AND MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED SELF-REPORTED TO
THE SFC THE UNLICENSED ACTIVITY AND NON-DISCLOSURE OF MARKET
MAKING ACTIVITIES IN ITS RESEARCH REPORTS; INVOLVED THEIR SENIOR
MANAGEMENT IN THE LIAISON WITH THE SFC; TOO THE INITIATIVE TO
BRING THIS MATTER TO AN EARLY CONCLUSION BY FULLY AND FRANKLY
DISCUSSION THE REGULATORY CONCERNS WITH THE SFC; UNDERTOOK A
CREDIBLE REVIEW WITH THE SEFC TO ADDRESS THE REGULATORY
CONCERNS AND IDENTIFY THE DEFICIENCIES IN ITS INTERNAL
CONTROLS; AND COOPERATED WITH THE DISCIPLINARY ACTION BY
RESOLVING THE SFC'S REGULATORY CONCERNS.  THE SFC ALSO TOOK
INTO CONSIDERATION MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED'S BOARD OF
DIRECTORS HAVE UNDERTAKEN THAT THE PROBLEMS UNVEILED IN THE
REVIEW FINDINGS CONCERNING THE COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS
FOR LOP REPORTING WILL BE RECTIFIED WITHIN 12 MONTHS AND WILL
NOT REOCCUR AFTER 12 MONTHS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,931,134.00

Disclosure 75 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Allegations: DUE TO A BOOKING ERROR ON A BLOCK OF KOREA EXCHANGE (KRX)
LISTED ORDINARY SHARES MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL (MLI) WAS
ENTITLED TO RECEIVE, A POSITION WAS DOUBLE BOOKED AND MLI SOLD
MORE SHARES THAN IT HAD IN INVENTORY.  THIS RESULTED IN MLI
SELLING SHORT IN THE MARKET WITHOUT SUFFICIENT INVENTORY TO
MEET SETTLEMENT OBLIGATIONS IN VIOLVATION OF KRX LOCAL SHORT
SALE REGULATIONS.  AHEAD OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLI ARRANGED A
BORROW TO ALLOW THE TRADE SETTLEMENT.  THE KRX REPORTED THE
MATTER TO THE FINANCIAL SUPERVISORY SERVICE.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINANCIAL SUPERVISORY SERVICE (SOUTH KOREA)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CAUTION

Date Initiated: 07/23/2015

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

DUE TO A BOOKING ERROR ON A BLOCK OF KOREA EXCHANGE (KRX)
LISTED ORDINARY SHARES MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL (MLI) WAS
ENTITLED TO RECEIVE, A POSITION WAS DOUBLE BOOKED AND MLI SOLD
MORE SHARES THAN IT HAD IN INVENTORY.  THIS RESULTED IN MLI
SELLING SHORT IN THE MARKET WITHOUT SUFFICIENT INVENTORY TO
MEET SETTLEMENT OBLIGATIONS IN VIOLVATION OF KRX LOCAL SHORT
SALE REGULATIONS.  AHEAD OF THE SETTLEMENT, MLI ARRANGED A
BORROW TO ALLOW THE TRADE SETTLEMENT.  THE KRX REPORTED THE
MATTER TO THE FINANCIAL SUPERVISORY SERVICE.

Resolution Date: 11/10/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MLI WAS ISSUED A CAUTION.

Sanction Details: MLI WAS ISSUED A CAUTION.

Firm Statement MLI WAS ISSUED A CAUTION.

Sanctions Ordered:

Other

Disclosure 76 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION OF HONG KONG

Date Initiated: 06/29/2016

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION OF HONG KONG ("SFC")
ALLEGED THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND MERRILL
LYNCH INTERNATIONAL (COLLECTIVELY, THE "RESPONDENTS") FAILED TO
DISCLOSE DEALINGS IN RELEVANT SECURITIES IN TWO TRANSACTIONS IN
2015 AS REQUIRED BY THE HONG KONG CODE ON TAKEOVERS AND
MERGERS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY SWAPS

Resolution Date: 06/29/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE SFC PUBLICLY CENSURED THE RESPONDENTS.

Firm Statement THE SFC PUBLICLY CENSURED THE RESPONDENTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Other

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION OF HONG KONG

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/29/2016

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY SWAPS

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION OF HONG KONG ("SFC")
ALLEGED THAT BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND MERRILL
LYNCH INTERNATIONAL (COLLECTIVELY, THE "RESPONDENTS") FAILED TO
DISCLOSE DEALINGS IN RELEVANT SECURITIES IN TWO TRANSACTIONS IN
2015 AS REQUIRED BY THE HONG KONG CODE ON TAKEOVERS AND
MERGERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Other

1796©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Resolution Date: 06/29/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: THE SFC PUBLICLY CENSURED THE RESPONDENTS.

Firm Statement THE SFC PUBLICLY CENSURED THE RESPONDENTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Other

Disclosure 77 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (SINGAPORE BRANCH)

Initiated By: BANK OF THAILAND

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/15/2016

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NON-RESIDENT BAHT ACCOUNT (NRBAS) BALANCES

Allegations: ON FEBRUARY 15, 2016, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A./SINGAPORE BRANCH
EXCEEDED THE PRESCRIBED NON-RESIDENT BAHT ACCOUNT (NRBAS)
BALANCE LIMIT AS PRESCRIBED IN BANK OF THAILAND ("BOT") CIRCULAR
NO. BOT.ECD.(02) C. 371/2551 RE: SEEING COOPERATION FOR
COMPLIANCE WITH MEASURES TO PREVENT THAI BAHT SPECULATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 03/09/2016

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A./SINGAPORE BRANCH WAS ASSESSED A
PRESCRIBED PENALTY OF APPROXIMATELY US$8,918.58. IN ADDITION, BOT
REITERATED TO THE LOCAL BANK OF AMERICA BRANCH IN THAILAND
(BANK OF AMERICA, N.A./BANGKOK BRANCH) ITS NEED TO HAVE STRICT
MONITORING OF THAI BAHT LIMITS AND INFORM CLIENTS OF THIS
REGULATION.

Sanctions Ordered:

Other
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Sanction Details: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A./SINGAPORE BRANCH WAS ASSESSED A
PRESCRIBED PENALTY OF APPROXIMATELY US$8,918.58. IN ADDITION, BOT
REITERATED TO THE LOCAL BANK OF AMERICA BRANCH IN THAILAND
(BANK OF AMERICA, N.A./BANGKOK BRANCH) ITS NEED TO HAVE STRICT
MONITORING OF THAI BAHT LIMITS AND INFORM CLIENTS OF THIS
REGULATION.

Firm Statement BANK OF AMERICA, N.A./SINGAPORE BRANCH WAS ASSESSED A
PRESCRIBED PENALTY OF APPROXIMATELY US$8,918.58. IN ADDITION, BOT
REITERATED TO THE LOCAL BANK OF AMERICA BRANCH IN THAILAND
(BANK OF AMERICA, N.A./BANGKOK BRANCH) ITS NEED TO HAVE STRICT
MONITORING OF THAI BAHT LIMITS AND INFORM CLIENTS OF THIS
REGULATION.

Disclosure 78 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NA

Initiated By: COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Date Initiated: 06/29/2015

Docket/Case Number: AA-EC-2015-18 AND AA-EC-2015-19

Principal Product Type: No Product

Allegations: ON JUNE 29, 2015, THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY ("OCC")
ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AND A CONSENT ORDER FOR A CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY (TOGETHER, THE "ORDERS") AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
("BANA") RELATING TO THE BANA'S PRACTICES THAT RESULTED IN
VIOLATIONS OF THE NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE ACT OF 1968, AS
AMENDED, AND THE FLOOD DISASTER PROTECTION ACT OF 1973, AS
AMENDED (COLLECTIVELY, "FDPA"), 42 U.S.C. § 4001, ET SEQ., AND THEIR
IMPLEMENTING REGULATIONS.  SPECIFICALLY, THE OCC FOUND THAT,
SINCE AT LEAST 2011, BANA VIOLATED 42 U.S.C. § 4012A(E) (PLACEMENT
OF FLOOD INSURANCE BY LENDER) AND 12 C.F.R. §§ 22.3 (REQUIREMENT
TO PURCHASE FLOOD INSURANCE WHERE AVAILABLE) AND 22.9 (NOTICE
OF SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARDS AND AVAILABILITY OF FEDERAL DISASTER
RELIEF ASSISTANCE) IN MAKING, INCREASING, EXTENDING, RENEWING,
AND/OR SERVICING "DESIGNATED LOANS" (LOANS SECURED BY
BUILDINGS OR MOBILE HOMES LOCATED IN SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD
AREAS IN WHICH FLOOD INSURANCE IS AVAILABLE UNDER THE NATIONAL
FLOOD INSURANCE ACT OF 1968).  THE OCC FOUND THAT THESE
VIOLATIONS RESULTED FROM DEFICIENT POLICIES, PROCEDURES, AND
PROCESSES AND AN INEFFECTIVE FDPA COMPLIANCE PROGRAM.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REMEDIAL ACTIONS

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/29/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REMEDIAL ACTIONS

Sanction Details: IN THE ORDERS, BANA AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
TOTAL AMOUNT OF $1,104,530.00, WHICH WAS PAID ON JULY 1, 2015, AND
HAS AGREED TO CERTAIN REMEDIAL ACTIONS.  SPECIFICALLY, BANA
AGREED TO: (A) APPOINT AND MAINTAIN A COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE TO
MONITOR AND OVERSEE BANA'S COMPLIANCE WITH THE ORDERS AND TO
APPROVE MEASURES TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE; (B) SUBMIT AN
ACCEPTABLE PLAN CONTAINING A COMPLETE DESCRIPTION OF THE
ACTIONS TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE ORDERS; (C) SUBMIT A
WRITTEN PLAN TO EFFECTIVELY IMPLEMENT AN ENTERPRISE-WIDE
PROGRAM TO ENSURE BANA'S COMPLIANCE WITH THE FDPA, ITS
IMPLEMENTING REGULATIONS, AND FDPA-RELATED REGULATORY
GUIDANCE; (D) SUBMIT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR OUTSOURCING
FDPA COMPLIANCE FUNCTIONS TO ANY AGENT, INDEPENDENT
CONTRACTOR, CONSULTING FIRM, LAW FIRM, OR OTHER THIRD-PARTY
(INCLUDING ANY AFFILIATE OF BANA); (E) DEVELOP A COMPREHENSIVE
WRITTEN FDPA COMPLIANCE AUDIT PROGRAM; AND (F) SUBMIT THE
WRITTEN PLANS, PROGRAMS, POLICIES, AND PROCEDURES REQUIRED
BY THE ORDERS FOR REVIEW AND DETERMINATION OF NO SUPERVISORY
OBJECT WITHIN A SPECIFIC TIME.

Firm Statement IN SETTLEMENT OF THIS MATTER, BANA CONSENTED AND AGREED TO
THE ISSUANCE OF THE ORDERS, WHICH THE OCC HAS DETERMINED TO
ACCEPT AND HAS ISSUED.  BANA NEITHER ADMITS NOR DENIES THE
FINDINGS IN THE ORDERS.  THE ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS
AND SANCTIONS OF THE ORDERS ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND
12.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,104,530.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 79 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

1799©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REMEDIAL ACTIONS

Date Initiated: 05/29/2015

Docket/Case Number: AA-EC-2015-1 AND AA-EC-2015-2

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON MAY 29, 2015, THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY ("OCC") ISSUED
AN ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST AND ORDER OF ASSESSMENT OF A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY (TOGETHER, THE "ORDERS") AGAINST BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A. ("BANA") RELATING TO THE SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL
RELIEF ACT ("SCRA") AND BANA'S SWORN DOCUMENT AND COLLECTIONS
LITIGATION PRACTICES.  IN THE ORDERS, THE OCC IDENTIFIED (I) UNSAFE
OR UNSOUND PRACTICES IN CONNECTION WITH BANA'S EFFORTS TO
COMPLY WITH THE SCRA, (II) SCRA VIOLATIONS, AND (III) UNSAFE OR
UNSOUND PRACTICES IN CONNECTION WITH BANA'S SWORN DOCUMENT
AND COLLECTIONS LITIGATION PRACTICES.  REGARDING THE SCRA, THE
ORDERS STATED BANA FAILED TO HAVE EFFECTIVE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH SCRA; FAILED TO DEVOTE
SUFFICIENT FINANCIAL, STAFFING, AND MANAGERIAL RESOURCES TO
ENSURE PROPER ADMINISTRATION OF ITS SCRA COMPLIANCE
PROCESSES; FAILED TO DEVOTE TO ITS SCRA COMPLIANCE PROCESSES
ADEQUATE INTERNAL CONTROLS, COMPLIANCE RISK MANAGEMENT,
INTERNAL AUDIT, THIRD PARTY MANAGEMENT, AND TRAINING; AND
ENGAGED IN VIOLATIONS OF THE SCRA.  REGARDING THE SWORN
DOCUMENT AND COLLECTIONS LITIGATION PROCESS, THE ORDERS
STATED THAT BANA FILED OR CAUSED TO BE FILED IN COURTS
AFFIDAVITS EXECUTED BY ITS EMPLOYEES OR EMPLOYEES OF THIRD
PARTY SERVICE PROVIDERS MAKING ASSERTIONS THAT, IN MANY CASES,
WERE NOT BASED ON PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE OR REVIEW OF RELEVANT
BOOKS AND RECORDS; FILED OR CAUSED TO BE FILED IN COURT
AFFIDAVITS WHEN BANA DID NOT FOLLOW PROPER NOTARY
PROCEDURES; FAILED TO DEVOTE SUFFICIENT FINANCIAL, STAFFING,
AND MANAGERIAL RESOURCES TO ENSURE PROPER ADMINISTRATION OF
ITS SWORN DOCUMENT AND COLLECTIONS LITIGATION PROCESSES; AND
FAILED TO SUFFICIENTLY OVERSEE OUTSIDE COUNSEL AND OTHER
THIRD-PARTY PROVIDERS HANDLING SWORN DOCUMENT AND
COLLECTIONS LITIGATION SERVICES.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; REMEDIAL ACTIONS

Resolution Date: 05/29/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REMEDIAL ACTIONS

Sanction Details: IN THE ORDERS, BANA AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
TOTAL AMOUNT OF $30 MILLION, HAS BEGUN CORRECTIVE ACTION, AND IS
COMMITTED TO TAKING ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE STEPS TO
REMEDY THE DEFICIENCIES, UNSAFE OR UNSOUND PRACTICES, AND
VIOLATIONS OF LAW IDENTIFIED BY THE OCC, AND TO ENHANCE ITS SCRA
COMPLIANCE PRACTICES AND SWORN DOCUMENT AND COLLECTIONS
LITIGATION PRACTICES.  SPECIFICALLY, BANA AGREED TO: (A) APPOINT
AND MAINTAIN A COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE TO MONITOR AND OVERSEE
BANA'S COMPLIANCE WITH THE ORDERS AND TO APPROVE MEASURES TO
ENSURE COMPLIANCE; (B) SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE PLAN CONTAINING A
COMPLETE DESCRIPTION OF THE ACTIONS TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE ORDERS; (C) SUBMIT A WRITTEN PLAN TO EFFECTIVELY
IMPLEMENT AN ENTERPRISE-WIDE COMPLIANCE RISK MANAGEMENT
PROGRAM REGARDING COMPLIANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS,
REGULATIONS, AND REGULATORY GUIDANCE; (D) CONDUCT A WRITTEN,
COMPREHENSIVE ASSESSMENT OF ITS RISK IN SCRA COMPLIANCE
OPERATIONS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, OPERATIONAL,
COMPLIANCE, LEGAL, AND REPUTATIONAL RISKS; (E) SUBMIT
ACCEPTABLE WRITTEN PLANS TO ENSURE ITS COMPLIANCE WITH THE
SCRA AND WITH REGARD TO COLLECTIONS LITIGATION; [CONTINUED IN
13. BELOW]

Firm Statement [CONTINUED FROM 12.C. ABOVE] (F) SUBMIT PLANS TO CONDUCT A SCRA
REVIEW AND A COLLECTIONS LITIGATION REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS, SCRA
AND COLLECTIONS LITIGATION REMEDIATION, AND SCRA INTERNAL AUDIT;
(G) SUBMIT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR SCRA THIRD PARTY
MANAGEMENT AND IMPROVEMENTS TO ITS MANAGEMENT INFORMATION
SYSTEMS FOR SCRA COMPLIANCE ACTIVITIES, AND TO PROVIDE CERTAIN
REPORTS TO THE COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE; (H) SUBMIT WRITTEN PLANS,
PROGRAMS, POLICIES, AND PROCEDURES REQUIRED BY THE ORDERS;
AND (I) SUBMIT A WRITTEN PROGRESS REPORT DEALING THE FORM AND
MANNER OF ALL ACTIONS TAKEN TO SECURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
PROVISION OF THE ORDERS AND THE RESULTS THEREOF. ***** IN
SETTLEMENT OF THIS MATTER, BANA CONSENTED AND AGREED TO THE
ISSUANCE OF THE ORDERS, WHICH THE OCC HAS DETERMINED TO
ACCEPT AND HAS ISSUED.  BANA NEITHER ADMITS NOR DENIES THE
FINDINGS IN THE ORDERS.  THE ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS
AND SANCTIONS OF THE ORDERS ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND
12.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $30,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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[CONTINUED FROM 12.C. ABOVE] (F) SUBMIT PLANS TO CONDUCT A SCRA
REVIEW AND A COLLECTIONS LITIGATION REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS, SCRA
AND COLLECTIONS LITIGATION REMEDIATION, AND SCRA INTERNAL AUDIT;
(G) SUBMIT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR SCRA THIRD PARTY
MANAGEMENT AND IMPROVEMENTS TO ITS MANAGEMENT INFORMATION
SYSTEMS FOR SCRA COMPLIANCE ACTIVITIES, AND TO PROVIDE CERTAIN
REPORTS TO THE COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE; (H) SUBMIT WRITTEN PLANS,
PROGRAMS, POLICIES, AND PROCEDURES REQUIRED BY THE ORDERS;
AND (I) SUBMIT A WRITTEN PROGRESS REPORT DEALING THE FORM AND
MANNER OF ALL ACTIONS TAKEN TO SECURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE
PROVISION OF THE ORDERS AND THE RESULTS THEREOF. ***** IN
SETTLEMENT OF THIS MATTER, BANA CONSENTED AND AGREED TO THE
ISSUANCE OF THE ORDERS, WHICH THE OCC HAS DETERMINED TO
ACCEPT AND HAS ISSUED.  BANA NEITHER ADMITS NOR DENIES THE
FINDINGS IN THE ORDERS.  THE ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS
AND SANCTIONS OF THE ORDERS ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND
12.

Disclosure 80 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: FINANCIAL CONDUCT AUTHORITY (FCA)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/15/2015

Docket/Case Number: FCA REF. NO. WS00235

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): UNSPECIFIED SECURITIES

Allegations: THE FINANCIAL CONDUCT AUTHORITY ("FCA") TOOK ACTION BECAUSE
MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") CONTRAVENED SUP 17.1.4R AND
SUP 17.4.1 EU BY FAILING TO REPORT OR TO ACCURATELY REPORT
CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN NOVEMBER 2007 AND NOVEMBER
2014.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/22/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: MLI AGREED TO SETTLE THIS MATTER WITH THE FCA IN THE EARLY
STAGES AND THE FCA IMPOSED A FINANCIAL PENALTY  OF GBP13,285,900
(USD 19,989,553,67).

Firm Statement MLI AGREED ON APRIL 15, 2015 TO SETTLE THE MATTER FOR PAYMENT OF
GBP13,285,900 (USD 19,989,553.67).  THE FINAL NOTICE WAS PUBLISHED
ON THE FCA'S WEBSITE ON APRIL 22, 2015.  THE SETTLEMENT PAYMENT
WAS MADE ON APRIL 23, 2015. IN DETERMINING THE FINE IMPOSED, THE
FCA TOOK INTO ACCOUNT THE RESOURCE DEVOTED BY MLI TO
ENSURING ACCURATE TRANSACTION REPORTING AND REMEDIATING THE
CAUSES OF THE FAILINGS, INCLUDING ENGAGING A PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES FIRM TO REVIEW INTERNAL SYSTEMS AND PROCESSES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $19,989,553.67

Settled
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MLI AGREED ON APRIL 15, 2015 TO SETTLE THE MATTER FOR PAYMENT OF
GBP13,285,900 (USD 19,989,553.67).  THE FINAL NOTICE WAS PUBLISHED
ON THE FCA'S WEBSITE ON APRIL 22, 2015.  THE SETTLEMENT PAYMENT
WAS MADE ON APRIL 23, 2015. IN DETERMINING THE FINE IMPOSED, THE
FCA TOOK INTO ACCOUNT THE RESOURCE DEVOTED BY MLI TO
ENSURING ACCURATE TRANSACTION REPORTING AND REMEDIATING THE
CAUSES OF THE FAILINGS, INCLUDING ENGAGING A PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES FIRM TO REVIEW INTERNAL SYSTEMS AND PROCESSES.

Disclosure 81 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
OTHER
REMEDIAL ACTIONS

Date Initiated: 05/20/2015

Docket/Case Number: 15-010-B-HC, 15-010-CMP-HC

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Allegations: ON MAY 20, 2015, THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE
SYSTEM ("FRB") ISSUED AN ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST AND ORDER OF
ASSESSMENT OF A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION ("BAC") RELATING TO ITS FOREIGN EXCHANGE ("FX")
ACTIVITIES ("ORDER") FROM 2008 THROUGH 2013.  THE ORDER STATES
THAT (A) BAC LACKED ADEQUATE FIRM-WIDE GOVERNANCE, RISK
MANAGEMENT, COMPLIANCE AND AUDIT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO
ENSURE THAT CERTAIN OF THE FIRM'S  FX ACTIVITIES COMPLIED WITH
SAFE AND SOUND BANKING PRACTICES, APPLICABLE U.S. LAWS AND
REGULATIONS, INCLUDING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO PREVENT
POTENTIAL VIOLATIONS OF THE U.S. COMMODITIES, ANTITRUST AND
CRIMINAL FRAUD LAWS, AND APPLICABLE INTERNAL POLICIES; (B) BAC'S
DEFICIENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES PREVENTED BAC FROM
DETECTING AND ADDRESSING PERIODIC CONDUCT BY BANK OF AMERICA,
N.A.'S TRADERS RELATING TO CERTAIN COMMUNICATIONS BY THESE
TRADERS; AND (C) AS A RESULT OF DEFICIENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES DESCRIBED ABOVE, BAC ENGAGED IN UNSAFE AND
UNSOUND BANKING PRACTICES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/20/2015

Resolution: Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: REMEDIAL ACTIONS

Sanction Details: IN THE ORDER, BAC AGREED TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE
TOTAL AMOUNT OF $205 MILLION AND CONTINUE TO IMPLEMENT
ADDITIONAL IMPROVEMENTS IN ITS INTERNAL CONTROLS, COMPLIANCE,
RISK MANAGEMENT, AND AUDIT PROGRAMS FOR THE FX ACTIVITIES IN
ORDER TO COMPLY WITH BAC POLICIES, SAFE AND SOUND BANKING
PRACTICES, AND APPLICABLE U.S. LAWS/REGULATION. SPECIFICALLY, BAC
AGREED: (A) BAC SHALL SUBMIT A WRITTEN PLAN TO IMPROVE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT'S OVERSIGHT OF BAC'S COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
U.S. LAWS/REGULATIONS AND INTERNAL POLICIES IN CONNECTION WITH
CERTAIN WHOLESALE TRADING AND SALES ACTIVITIES; (B) BAC SHALL
SUBMIT AN ENHANCED WRITTEN INTERNAL CONTROLS AND COMPLIANCE
PROGRAM TO COMPLY WITH APPLICABLE U.S. LAWS/REGULATIONS WITH
RESPECT TO CERTAIN WHOLESALE TRADING AND SALES ACTIVITIES; (C)
BAC SHALL SUBMIT A WRITTEN PLAN TO IMPROVE ITS COMPLIANCE RISK
MANAGEMENT PROGRAM WITH REGARD TO COMPLIANCE WITH
APPLICABLE U.S. LAWS/REGULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN
WHOLESALE TRADING AND SALES ACTIVITIES; (D) BAC MANAGEMENT
SHALL ANNUALLY CONDUCT A REVIEW OF COMPLIANCE POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES APPLICABLE TO CERTAIN WHOLESALE TRADING AND SALES
ACTIVITIES AND THEIR IMPLEMENTATION AND AN APPROPRIATE RISK-
FOCUSED SAMPLING OF OTHER KEY CONTROLS FOR CERTAIN
WHOLESALE TRADING AND SALES ACTIVITIES; (E) BAC SHALL SUBMIT AN
ENHANCED WRITTEN INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRAM WITH RESPECT TO
COMPLIANCE WITH U.S. LAWS/REGULATIONS IN CERTAIN WHOLESALE
TRADING AND SALES ACTIVITIES; AND [CONTINUED IN 13. BELOW]

Firm Statement [CONTINUED FROM 12.C. ABOVE] (F) BAC SHALL NOT IN THE FUTURE
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY RETAIN ANY INDIVIDUAL AS AN OFFICER,
EMPLOYEE, AGENT, CONSULTANT, OR CONTRACTOR OF BAC OR OF ANY
SUBSIDIARY WHO, BASED ON THE INVESTIGATIVE RECORD COMPILED BY
U.S. AUTHORITIES, PARTICIPATED IN THE MISCONDUCT UNDERLYING THE
ORDER, HAS BEEN SUBJECT TO FORMAL DISCIPLINARY ACTION AS A
RESULT OF BAC'S INTERNAL DISCIPLINARY REVIEW OR PERFORMANCE
REVIEW IN CONNECTION WITH THE CONDUCT, AND HAS EITHER
SEPARATED FROM BAC OR ANY SUBSIDIARY THEREOF OR HAD HIS/HER
EMPLOYMENT TERMINATED IN CONNECTION WITH THE CONDUCT.

IN SETTLEMENT OF THIS MATTER, BAC CONSENTED AND AGREED TO THE
ISSUANCE OF THE ORDER, WHICH THE FRB HAS DETERMINED TO ACCEPT
AND HAS ISSUED.  THE ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS AND
SANCTIONS OF THE ORDER ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND 12.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $205,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction
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Disclosure 82 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.

Initiated By: NYMEX BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ("BCC COMMITTEE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/15/2015

Docket/Case Number: NYMEX 14-9800-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NYMEX (THE "EXCHANGE") FOUND THAT ON TRADE DATE DECEMBER
10, 2013, MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC. ("MLCI") ENTERED INTO AN
EFRP TRANSACTION THAT DID NOT CONTAIN ADEQUATE DOCUMENTATION
OF THE RELATED SWAP TRANSACTION, AND THEREFORE WAS NOT A
BONA FILED EFRP.  AS A RESULT, MLCI VIOLATED EXCHANGE LEGACY
RULE 538.H.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/17/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, MLCI PRESENTED AT A
HEARING ON APRIL 15, 2015, IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER ADMITTED OR
DENIED THE RULE VIOLATION, AND THE BCC COMMITTEE ORDERED MLCI
TO PAY A FINE OF $7,500.  THE DECISION BECAME FINAL ON APRIL 15, 2015
AND BECAME EFFECTIVE ON APRIL 17, 2015.

Firm Statement PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, MLCI PRESENTED AT A
HEARING ON APRIL 15, 2015, IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER ADMITTED OR
DENIED THE RULE VIOLATION, AND THE BCC COMMITTEE ORDERED MLCI
TO PAY A FINE OF $7,500.  THE DECISION BECAME FINAL ON APRIL 15, 2015
AND BECAME EFFECTIVE ON APRIL 17, 2015.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $7,500.00

Settled
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Disclosure 83 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED

Initiated By: HONG KONG SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION ("SFC")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND

Date Initiated: 03/11/2015

Docket/Case Number: 513/EN/102

Principal Product Type: Futures - Financial

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SFC INVESTIGATED MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED IN
CONNECTION WITH THE HOLDING OF 14,181 CONTRACT ON THE HANG
SENG CHINA ENTERPRISES INDEX ("HSCEI") ON MAY 30, 2013 IN BREACH
OF THE PRESCRIBED POSITION LIMIT OF 12, 000 CONTRACTS.  THE SFC
FOUND THAT MERRILL LYNCH FAILED TO IMPLEMENT ADEQUATE
INTERNAL CONTROLS TO MONITOR POSITIONS IN HSCEI FUTURES AND
OPTIONS CONTRACTS TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE PRESCRIBED
POSITION LIMIT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/02/2015

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED WAS REPRIMANDED AND FINE OF
HK$2,000,000 (APPROXIMATELY US$257,571.29).

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED WAS REPRIMANDED AND FINE OF
HK$2,000,000 (APPROXIMATELY US$257,571.29).  IN DETERMINING THE
PENALTY, THE SFC HAS TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT MERRILL LYNCH FAR
EAST'S COOPERATION AND THAT IT HAS TAKEN STEPS TO STRENGTHEN
ITS INTERNAL CONTROLS ON THE MONITORING OF POSITION LIMITS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $257,571.29

Decision
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Disclosure 84 of 163

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD.

Initiated By: SINGAPORE EXCHANGE ("SGX")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/09/2014

Docket/Case Number: SUR/ENF/2014/10/14

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 8, 2014, MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. WAS
LATE IN REPORTING TWO MARRIED TRADES TO THE SGX WHICH WAS NOT
IN COMPLIANCE WITH SGX-ST RULE 8.7.5 WHICH REQUIRES MARRIED
TRADES TO BE REPORTED IN THE FIRST 20 MINUTES OF THE OPENING
ROUTINE ON THE FOLLOWING MARKET DAY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/12/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE SGX FINED MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. SGD$7,000
(APPROXIMATELY USD$5,330.68).  MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD.
PAID THE FINE ON DECEMBER 12, 2014 AND THE SGX ACKNOWLEDGE
RECEIPT OF THE PAYMENT ON DECEMBER 16, 2014.

Firm Statement THE LATE REPORTING OCCURRED WHEN A SYSTEM UPGRADE FAILED TO
RECOGNIZE THE COMMAND TO SEND NOTICE OF THE MARRIED TRADES
TO SGX.  THIS FAILURE WILL BE INCORPORATED INTO TESTING
PROTOCOLS FOR FUTURE UPGRADES.  MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE)
PTE. LTD. SELF-REPORTED THE MATTER TO THE SGX AS SOON AS IT WAS
DISCOVERED.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,330.68

Decision
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 08/21/2014

Docket/Case Number: ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING NO. 3-16028

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION ("BAC") FAILED TO MAKE
REQUIRED DISCLOSURES IN THE MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS ("MD&A") SECTIONS OF
PERIODIC FILINGS, RELATED TO KNOWN UNCERTAINTIES AS TO WHETHER
CERTAIN COSTS RELATED TO LOANS BAC WOULD ULTIMATELY BE
REQUIRED TO REPURCHASE FROM CERTAIN INSURERS WOULD HAVE A
MATERIAL EFFECT ON BAC'S FUTURE INCOME FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS.  THE COMMISSION ALLEGED THAT BAC VIOLATED SECTION
13(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 12B-20 AND 13A-13
THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/21/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: BAC AGREED TO (1) CEASE AND DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING
ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 13(A) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 12B-20 AND 13A-13 PROMULGATED
THEREUNDER; AND (2) PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $20 MILLION.

Firm Statement BAC ADMITTED TO CERTAIN FACTS SET OUT IN AN ANNEX TO THE
ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER, ACKNOWLEDGED THAT ITS CONDUCT SET
FORTH IN THE ANNEX TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER VIOLATED THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAW AND ADMITTED TO THE COMMISSION'S
JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE
PROCEEDINGS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $20,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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BAC ADMITTED TO CERTAIN FACTS SET OUT IN AN ANNEX TO THE
ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER, ACKNOWLEDGED THAT ITS CONDUCT SET
FORTH IN THE ANNEX TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER VIOLATED THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAW AND ADMITTED TO THE COMMISSION'S
JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE
PROCEEDINGS.

Disclosure 86 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY OF THE UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA

Allegations: ON NOVEMBER 11, 2014, THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE
CURRENCY OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ("OCC") ISSUED A
CONSENT ORDER AND A CONSENT ORDER FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. ("BANK OF
AMERICA") RELATED TO ITS FOREIGN EXCHANGE (FX) BUSINESS
("ORDERS") FROM 2008 THROUGH 2013.  THE OCC FOUND, AND BANK OF
AMERICA NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED, THAT BANK OF AMERICA HAD
DEFICIENCIES IN ITS INTERNAL CONTROLS AND HAD ENGAGED IN
UNSAFE OR UNSOUND BANKING PRACTICES WITH RESPECT TO THE
OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNANCE OF BANK OF AMERICA'S FX TRADING
BUSINESS SUCH THAT THE BANK FAILED TO DETECT AND PREVENT
CERTAIN CONDUCT.  SPECIFICALLY, THE OCC FOUND THAT: A)  BANK OF
AMERICA'S COMPLIANCE RISK ASSESSMENT LACKED SUFFICIENT
GRANULARITY AND FAILED TO IDENTIFY THE RISKS RELATED TO SALES,
TRADING AND SUPERVISORY EMPLOYEES IN THAT BUSINESS
("EMPLOYEE"); B) BANK OF AMERICA'S TRANSACTION MONITORING AND
COMMUNICATIONS SURVEILLANCE LACKED AN ADEQUATE ANALYSIS OF
RISK-BEHAVIOR RELATED TO EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT IN ITS
WHOLESALE FOREIGN EXCHANGE BUSINESS WHERE IT IS ACTING AS
PRINCIPAL ("FX TRADING"); C) BANK OF AMERICA'S COMPLIANCE TESTING
PROCEDURES WERE INADEQUATE TO MEASURE ADHERENCE TO ITS
STANDARDS OF EMPLOYEE CONDUCT AND FIRM POLICIES APPLICABLE
TO EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT IN FX TRADING; AND D) BANK OF
AMERICA'S RISK ASSESSMENT AND COVERAGE OF THE FX TRADING
BUSINESS NEEDED IMPROVEMENT TO IDENTIFY AND MITIGATE
COMPLIANCE RISKS RELATED TO EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT; E) BANK
OF AMERICA'S CUSTOMER INFORMATION CONTROLS WERE INADEQUATE
REGARDING THE WM/REUTERS ORDER BOOK TO PREVENT THE MISUSE
OF CUSTOMER INFORMATION; F) BANK OF AMERICA'S RISK AND
PROFITABILITY REPORTING WAS INADEQUATE TO IDENTIFY POTENTIAL
EMPLOYEE MARKET MISCONDUCT IN FX TRADING; AND G) BANK OF
AMERICA'S FX BUSINESS SUPERVISION ROUTINES WERE INADEQUATE
BECAUSE THEY CREATED "GAPS" IN THE EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT
SUPERVISORY FRAMEWORK.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY OF THE UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REMEDIAL SANCTIONS

Date Initiated: 11/11/2014

Docket/Case Number: AA-EC-14-99

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Resolution Date: 11/11/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REMEDIAL ACTIONS

Sanction Details: THE SETTLEMENT RESULTED IN THE OCC ISSUING THE ORDERS FINDING
THAT BANK OF AMERICA HAD DEFICIENCIES IN ITS INTERNAL CONTROLS
AND HAD ENGAGED IN UNSAFE OR UNSOUND BANKING PRACTICES WITH
RESPECT TO THE OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNANCE OF BANK OF AMERICA'S
FX TRADING BUSINESS SUCH THAT THE BANK FAILED TO DETECT AND
PREVENT CERTAIN CONDUCT.  BANK OF AMERICA NEITHER ADMITTED
NOR DENIED THE FINDINGS.  IN THE ORDERS, BANK OF AMERICA AGREED
TO MAKE A PAYMENT OF A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT
OF $250 MILLION.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE ON NOVEMBER 17, 2014.
ALSO, BANK OF AMERICA COMMITTED (AND HAD ALREADY BEGUN)
TAKING ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE STEPS TO REMEDY THE
DEFICIENCIES AND UNSAFE OR UNSOUND PRACTICES IDENTIFIED BY THE
OCC AND HAS BEGUN IMPLEMENTING PROCEDURES TO REMEDIATE THE
PRACTICES ADDRESSED IN THE ORDERS.  SPECIFICALLY, BANK OF
AMERICA AGREED TO: A) MAINTAIN A BOARD COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
RESPONSIBLE FOR MONITORING AND COORDINATING BANK OF
AMERICA'S COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS IN THE ORDERS; B)
SUBMIT TO THE OCC AN ACTION PLAN DESCRIBING THE ACTIONS THAT
ARE NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
CERTAIN ASPECTS OF THE ORDERS; C) SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE
OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNANCE WRITTEN PLAN TO PROVIDE FOR CERTAIN
MANAGEMENT OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNANCE RELATING TO EMPLOYEE
MARKET CONDUCT IN FX TRADING; D) SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE
COMPLIANCE RISK ASSESSMENT WRITTEN PLAN TO PROVIDE FOR A
COMPLIANCE RISK ASSESSMENT SUFFICIENTLY GRANULAR TO IDENTIFY
RISKS RELATED TO EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT IN FX TRADING; E)
SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE MONITORING AND SURVEILLANCE WRITTEN
PLAN TO PROVIDE FOR APPROPRIATE MONITORING AND
COMMUNICATIONS SURVEILLANCE RELATED TO EMPLOYEE MARKET
CONDUCT IN FX TRADING;  F) SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE COMPLIANCE
TESTING WRITTEN PLAN TO PROVIDE FOR APPROPRIATE COMPLIANCE
TESTING RELATED TO EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT IN FX TRADING;
(CONTINUED IN 13 BELOW)

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250,000,000.00

Settled
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THE SETTLEMENT RESULTED IN THE OCC ISSUING THE ORDERS FINDING
THAT BANK OF AMERICA HAD DEFICIENCIES IN ITS INTERNAL CONTROLS
AND HAD ENGAGED IN UNSAFE OR UNSOUND BANKING PRACTICES WITH
RESPECT TO THE OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNANCE OF BANK OF AMERICA'S
FX TRADING BUSINESS SUCH THAT THE BANK FAILED TO DETECT AND
PREVENT CERTAIN CONDUCT.  BANK OF AMERICA NEITHER ADMITTED
NOR DENIED THE FINDINGS.  IN THE ORDERS, BANK OF AMERICA AGREED
TO MAKE A PAYMENT OF A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT
OF $250 MILLION.  THE PAYMENT WAS MADE ON NOVEMBER 17, 2014.
ALSO, BANK OF AMERICA COMMITTED (AND HAD ALREADY BEGUN)
TAKING ALL NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE STEPS TO REMEDY THE
DEFICIENCIES AND UNSAFE OR UNSOUND PRACTICES IDENTIFIED BY THE
OCC AND HAS BEGUN IMPLEMENTING PROCEDURES TO REMEDIATE THE
PRACTICES ADDRESSED IN THE ORDERS.  SPECIFICALLY, BANK OF
AMERICA AGREED TO: A) MAINTAIN A BOARD COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
RESPONSIBLE FOR MONITORING AND COORDINATING BANK OF
AMERICA'S COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS IN THE ORDERS; B)
SUBMIT TO THE OCC AN ACTION PLAN DESCRIBING THE ACTIONS THAT
ARE NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH
CERTAIN ASPECTS OF THE ORDERS; C) SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE
OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNANCE WRITTEN PLAN TO PROVIDE FOR CERTAIN
MANAGEMENT OVERSIGHT AND GOVERNANCE RELATING TO EMPLOYEE
MARKET CONDUCT IN FX TRADING; D) SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE
COMPLIANCE RISK ASSESSMENT WRITTEN PLAN TO PROVIDE FOR A
COMPLIANCE RISK ASSESSMENT SUFFICIENTLY GRANULAR TO IDENTIFY
RISKS RELATED TO EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT IN FX TRADING; E)
SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE MONITORING AND SURVEILLANCE WRITTEN
PLAN TO PROVIDE FOR APPROPRIATE MONITORING AND
COMMUNICATIONS SURVEILLANCE RELATED TO EMPLOYEE MARKET
CONDUCT IN FX TRADING;  F) SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE COMPLIANCE
TESTING WRITTEN PLAN TO PROVIDE FOR APPROPRIATE COMPLIANCE
TESTING RELATED TO EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT IN FX TRADING;
(CONTINUED IN 13 BELOW)

Firm Statement (CONTINUED FROM 12.C. ABOVE) G) SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE INTERNAL
AUDIT WRITTEN PLAN FOR THE INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRAM TO
ADEQUATELY ADDRESS EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT IN FX TRADING;
AND H) SUBMIT AN ACCEPTABLE OTHER TRADING ACTIVITIES WRITTEN
PLAN TO ENSURE THAT BANK OF AMERICA PROACTIVELY USES A RISK-
BASED APPROACH TO APPLY EMPLOYEE MARKET CONDUCT REMEDIAL
MEASURES IN THE ORDERS TO OTHER WHOLESALE TRADING AS
PRINCIPAL FOR THE BANK OF AMERICA AND BENCHMARK ACTIVITIES AS
APPROPRIATE AND DEFINED IN THE BANK OF AMERICA'S WRITTEN PLAN.
[ITEM 13 SUMMARY]

IN SETTLEMENT OF THIS MATTER, BANK OF AMERICA CONSENTED AND
AGREED TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE ORDERS, WHICH THE OCC HAS
DETERMINED TO ACCEPT AND HAS ISSUED.  THE ALLEGATIONS,
DISPOSITIONS, FINDINGS AND SANCTIONS OF THE ORDERS ARE
DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEMS 7 AND 12.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 09/29/2014

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") ALLEGED
THAT BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION ("BAC"), AS PART OF ITS
REGULATORY CAPITAL CALCULATIONS, FAILED TO DEDUCT CERTAIN
REALIZED LOSSES ON CERTAIN STRUCTURED NOTES AND OTHER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (THE "NOTES") ISSUED BY MERRILL LYNCH &
CO., INC. ("ML&CO.") THAT BAC ASSUMED OR ACQUIRED AS PART OF ITS
ACQUISITION OF ML&CO. AND, THEREFORE, BAC OVERSTATED ITS
REGULATORY CAPITAL IN ITS FORM 10-Q FILINGS FROM 2009-2014 AND IN
ITS FORM 10-K FILINGS FOR FINANCIAL YEARS 2009-2013.  THE
COMMISSION ALLEGED THAT BAC VIOLATED SECTION 13(B)(2)(A) AND (B)
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 09/29/2014

Docket/Case Number: 3-16177

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 09/29/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: BAC, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS,
EXCEPT AS TO THE COMMISSION'S JURISDICTION OVER IT AND THE
SUBJECT MATTER OF THE PROCEEDINGS, AGREED TO (1) CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY
FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 13(B)(2)(A) AND 13(B)(2)(B) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT, AND (2) PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF $7,650,000.  THE
PENALTY WAS PAID ON OCTOBER 7, 2014.

Firm Statement THE COMMISSION NOTED THAT BAC SELF IDENTIFIED AND SELF
REPORTED THE OVERSTATEMENTS AND THE COMMISSION NOTED THAT
BAC HAD PROVIDED SUBSTANTIAL COOPERATION TO THE COMMISSION
STAFF.  THE COMMISSION ALSO NOTED THAT BAC HAD VOLUNTARILY
UNDERTAKEN STEPS TO REMEDIATE AND ADDRESS, AMONG OTHER
THINGS, THE INADEQUATE BOOKS AND RECORDS AND INTERNAL
ACCOUNTING CONTROL DEFICIENCIES THAT WERE THE SUBJECT OF THE
PROCEEDING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $7,650,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.

Allegations: A SUBCOMMITTEE OF THE ICE FUTURES U.S.'S BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE DETERMINED THAT MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.
("MLCI")  MAY HAVE VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 6.20(B) IN FOUR (4)
INSTANCES BY EXCEEDING THE SPOT MONTH SPECULATIVE POSITION
LIMIT IN THE ICE HENRY LD1 FIXED PRICE FUTURE CONTRACT ON JUNE 24
AND 26, 2013, AND JANUARY 29, 2014, AND BY EXCEEDING THE SPOT
MONTH SPECULATIVE POSITION LIMIT IN THE ICE TRANSCO ZONE 6 (NON
NY) SWING FUTURE ON MARCH 28, 2014; AND EXCHANGE RULE 4.01 IN
ONE (1) INSTANCE BY FAILING TO SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF THE
FIRM'S EMPLOYEES IN ALLOWING THE REPEAT VIOLATIONS OF RULE 6.
20(B).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: ICE FUTURES U.S., INC. BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST
DISGORGEMENT

Date Initiated: 09/26/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2013-00194

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

A SUBCOMMITTEE OF THE ICE FUTURES U.S.'S BUSINESS CONDUCT
COMMITTEE DETERMINED THAT MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.
("MLCI")  MAY HAVE VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULE 6.20(B) IN FOUR (4)
INSTANCES BY EXCEEDING THE SPOT MONTH SPECULATIVE POSITION
LIMIT IN THE ICE HENRY LD1 FIXED PRICE FUTURE CONTRACT ON JUNE 24
AND 26, 2013, AND JANUARY 29, 2014, AND BY EXCEEDING THE SPOT
MONTH SPECULATIVE POSITION LIMIT IN THE ICE TRANSCO ZONE 6 (NON
NY) SWING FUTURE ON MARCH 28, 2014; AND EXCHANGE RULE 4.01 IN
ONE (1) INSTANCE BY FAILING TO SUPERVISE THE ACTIVITIES OF THE
FIRM'S EMPLOYEES IN ALLOWING THE REPEAT VIOLATIONS OF RULE 6.
20(B).

Resolution Date: 09/26/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: DISGORGEMENT OF $9,972.50

Sanction Details: IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF SETTLEMENT, IN WHICH MLCI
NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE RULE VIOLATIONS, MLCI PAID A
MONETARY PENALTY OF $89,972.50, WHICH INCLUDES DISGORGEMENT OF
PROFITS IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,972.50, AND AGREED TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF RULES 6.20(B) AND 4.01.

Firm Statement IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF SETTLEMENT, IN WHICH MLCI
NEITHER ADMITTED NOR DENIED THE RULE VIOLATIONS, MLCI PAID A
MONETARY PENALTY OF $89,972.50, WHICH INCLUDES DISGORGEMENT OF
PROFITS IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,972.50, AND AGREED TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF RULES 6.20(B) AND 4.01.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $80,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate:
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Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.

Initiated By: NYMEX BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE ("BCC COMMITTEE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/17/2014

Docket/Case Number: NYMEX 13-9546-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE NYMEX (THE "EXCHANGE") ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
COMMODITIES, INC. ("MLCI") VIOLATED NYMEX RULE 432.W WHEN, ON
TRADE DATE APRIL 29, 2013, A TRADER EMPLOYED BY MLCI FAILED TO
MONITOR THE OPERATION OF A CRUDE OIL AUTO-SPREADER UTILIZED BY
MLCI, MINIMIZING THE AUTO-SPREADER APPLICATION AND FAILING TO
MONITOR THE ORDER MODIFICATION ACTIVITY.  THIS RESULTED IN THE
AUTO SPREADER STREAMING PRICE MODIFICATIONS AND DISCLOSING
PRICES TO THE MARKET THAT WERE NOT VIABLE, REQUIRING THE
EXCHANGE TO INITIATE A PORT CLOSURE ON APRIL 29, 2013.  MLCI FAILED
TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE ITS TRADER IN A MANNER SUFFICIENT TO
ENSURE THAT THE AUTO-SPREADER WAS ADEQUATELY MONITORED AND
MAINTAINED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 09/19/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, MLCI PRESENTED AT A
HEARING ON SEPTEMBER 17, 2014, IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER ADMITTED OR
DENIED THE RULE VIOLATION, AND THE BCC COMMITTEE ORDERED MLCI
TO PAY A FINE OF $60,000.

Firm Statement PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, MLCI PRESENTED AT A
HEARING ON SEPTEMBER 17, 2014, IN WHICH MLCI NEITHER ADMITTED OR
DENIED THE RULE VIOLATION, AND THE BCC COMMITTEE ORDERED MLCI
TO PAY A FINE OF $60,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $60,000.00

Settled
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Disclosure 90 of 163

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

Initiated By: AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES & INVESTMENTS COMMISSION ("ASIC")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: MDP REF NO:  20034/13; ASIC REF NO. 23929/12

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED ("MLE(A)L")
CONTRAVENED ASIC MARKET INTEGRITY RULES 5.6.1 AND 5.9.1 AND
THEREBY CONTRAVENED SUBSECTION 798H(1) OF THE ACT IN THAT THE
MLE(A)L FAILED TO HAVE IN PLACE AN APPROPRIATE AUTOMATED PRICE
FILTER FOR ONE CLIENT ACCOUNT, WHICH INTERFERED WITH THE
EFFICIENCY AND INTEGRITY OF THE MARKET; AND MLE(A)L'S
MISCONDUCT RESULTED IN A MARKET NOT BEING BOTH FAIR AND
ORDERLY.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING TO GUILT OR LIABILITY IN RELATION TO THE
ALLEGED CONTRAVENTION, MLE(A)L AGREED TO PAY A PENALTY OF
AUD$96,000.00 (APPROXIMATELY USD$89,108.95).  MLE(A)L COOPERATED
WITH ASIC THROUGHOUT ITS INVESTIGATION.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING TO GUILT OR LIABILITY IN RELATION TO THE
ALLEGED CONTRAVENTION, MLE(A)L AGREED TO PAY A PENALTY OF
AUD$96,000.00 (APPROXIMATELY USD$89,108.95).  MLE(A)L COOPERATED
WITH ASIC THROUGHOUT ITS INVESTIGATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $89,108.95

Other
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Disclosure 91 of 163

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH YATIRIM BANK A.S.

Initiated By: BANKING REGULATION AND SUPERVISION AGENCY (BRSA)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 05/20/2014

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): FX SWAP (FX ROLL)

Allegations: INCONSISTENCY IN THE ACCOUNTING OF MERRILL LYNCH YATIRIM BANK
A.S.'S FX SWAP (FX ROLL) TRANSACTIONS ACCORDING TO THE BRSA'S
BANKING LAW NO: 5411 ARTICLE 39 AND REGULATION ON LOCAL CHART
OF ACCOUNTS ARTICLE 9.  BRSA INFORMED MERRILL LYNCH YAIRIM BANK
A.S. (MLYB) THAT THERE WAS AN INCONSISTENCY BETWEEN THE LOCAL
CHART OF ACCOUNTS (COA) DESCRIPTIONS VERSUS MLYB'S FX SWAPS
(FX ROLL) TRANSACTION BOOKINGS FOR THE SHORT LEG OF THESE
TRADES WHICH DID NOT HAVE SAME DAY MATURITY WITH THE TRADE
DATE. THE CONCERN WAS RELATED WITH THE ACCOUNT UNDER WHICH
THE SHORT LEG OF THE FX SWAP (FX ROLL) TRANSACTIONS WHICH HAD
MATURITIES LONGER THAN TRADE DATE (T) WERE BEING BOOKED.
THOUGH MLYB HAD BEEN BOOKING THESE TRADES UNDER
 "DERIVATIVES" MAIN ACCOUNT, BRSA STATED THAT ONLY THE LONG LEG
NEEDS TO BE BOOKED UNDER "DERIVATIVES" MAIN ACCOUNT AND THE
SHORT LEG NEEDS TO BE BOOKED UNDER "OTHER LIABILITIES" ACCOUNT
WITHIN THE OFF BALANCE SHEET.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/20/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH YATIRIM BANK, A.S. WAS FINED TRY18,589
(APPROXIMATELY USD$8,450) BY BRSA.

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH YATIRIM BANK, A.S. WAS FINED TRY18,589
(APPROXIMATELY USD$8,450) BY BRSA.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $8,450.00

Other
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Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH YATIRIM BANK, A.S. WAS FINED TRY18,589
(APPROXIMATELY USD$8,450) BY BRSA.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA ("SEBI")

Date Initiated: 06/06/2014

Allegations: GEMINI COMMUNICATIONS LTD ("GCL") HAD ISSUED EURO 15 MILLION AT
6% FOREIGN CURRENCY CONVERTIBLE BONDS ("FCCBS") TO MERRILL
LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") ON JULY 17, 2007 WITH A MATURITY DATE
OF JULY 18, 2012. MLI HAD THE RIGHT TO CONVERT THE FCCBS INTO
19,746,885 EQUITY SHARES OF GCL (REPRESENTING 15.59% OF THE
TOTAL SHARE CAPITAL OF GCL) AT A CONVERSION PRICE SPECIFIED
FROM TIME TO TIME DURING THE CONVERSION PERIOD (I.E., BETWEEN
AUGUST 1, 2007 AND JUNE 18, 2012). FURTHER, AS PER THE TERMS OF
THE FCCBS THE CONVERSION OPTION OF MLI REVIVES IF (A) AN EVENT
OF DEFAULT OCCURS; OR (B) FCCBS ARE NOT REDEEMED ON THE
MATURITY DATE.  ON 26TH OCTOBER 26, 2012, MLI FILED A DISCLOSURE
UNDER THE TERMS OF REGULATION 29(2) OF THE SEBI (SUBSTANTIAL
ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND TAKEOVER) REGULATIONS, 2011
("TAKEOVER REGULATIONS") READ WITH REGULATION 28(2) OF THE
TAKEOVER REGULATIONS IN RELATION TO CESSATION OF THE RIGHT TO
CONVERT THE FCCBS.  THEREAFTER, ON NOVEMBER 12, 2012, MLI MADE
A DISCLOSURE UNDER REGULATION 29(1) OF THE TAKEOVER
REGULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO REVIVAL OF THE RIGHT TO CONVERT
THE FCCBS INTO EQUITY SHARES OF GCL DUE TO DEFAULT OF PAYMENT
OF GCL UPON MATURITY OF THE FCCBS.  SEBI ISSUED A SHOW CAUSE
NOTICE ON APRIL 5, 2013 IN WHICH IT ALLEGED THAT MLI HAS NOT MADE
THE DISCLOSURES IN RELATION TO CESSATION AND REVIVAL OF THE
CONVERSION RIGHT IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION 29(1), (2) READ
WITH REGULATION 29(3) AND 28(2) OF THE TAKEOVER REGULATIONS.
SPECIFICALLY, SEBI HAS ALLEGED THAT (A) THE DISCLOSURE IN
RELATION TO CESSATION OF THE RIGHT TO CONVERT THE FCCBS WAS
REQUIRED TO BE DISCLOSED BY JUNE 20, 2012; HOWEVER THE
NECESSARY DISCLOSURE WAS MADE BY MLI ON OCTOBER 26, 2012,
AFTER DELAY OF MORE THAN 4 MONTHS; AND (II) THE DISCLOSURE IN
RELATION TO REVIVAL OF THE CONVERSION RIGHT WAS REQUIRED TO BE
MADE BY JULY 20, 2012; HOWEVER, THE NECESSARY DISCLOSURE WAS
MADE BY MLI ON NOVEMBER 12, 2012, AFTER A DELAY OF 3 MONTHS AND
22 DAYS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/06/2014

Docket/Case Number: EFD / DRA-1 / OW / 16186 / 2014

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/06/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: SEBI HAS AGREED IN PRINCIPAL TO ACCEPT THE TERMS OF THE
CONSENT PROPOSED BY MLI.  SEBI HAS AGREED TO A SETTLEMENT
AMOUNT OF INR40,34,185 (USD68,170.94).

Firm Statement SEBI HAS AGREED IN PRINCIPAL TO ACCEPT THE TERMS OF THE
CONSENT PROPOSED BY MLI.  SEBI HAS AGREED TO A SETTLEMENT
AMOUNT OF INR40,34,185 (USD68,170.94).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $68,170.94

Settled

Disclosure 93 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

Initiated By: AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES & INVESTMENTS COMMISSION ("ASIC")

Date Initiated: 06/10/2014

Docket/Case Number: MDP07/14

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED IS ALLEGED TO HAVE
CONTRAVENED SECTION 798HH(1) OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 BY
REASON OF CONTRAVENING RULE 5.9.1 OF THE ASIC MARKET INTEGRITY
RULES 2010 BY FAILING TO PREVENT THE ENTRY IN THE ASX TRADING
PLATFORM OF AN ERRONEOUS ORDER (A MISTAKE IN ENTERING THE
PRICE FOR AN ORDER) WHICH RESULTING IN A MARKET FOR RIO TINTO
LIMITED ORDINARY SHARES NOT BEING BOTH FAIR AND ORDERLY.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/10/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING TO GUILT OR LIABILITY IN RELATION TO THE
ALLEGED CONTRAVENTION, MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA)
LIMITED AGREED TO PAY A PENALTY OF AUD$65,000.00 (APPROXIMATELY
USD$60,885.02).  MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED
COOPERATED WITH ASIC THROUGHOUT ITS INVESTIGATION AND TOOK
REMEDIAL MEASURES TO PREVENT RECURRENCE OF THE BREACH.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING TO GUILT OR LIABILITY IN RELATION TO THE
ALLEGED CONTRAVENTION, MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA)
LIMITED AGREED TO PAY A PENALTY OF AUD$65,000.00 (APPROXIMATELY
USD$60,885.02).  MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED
COOPERATED WITH ASIC THROUGHOUT ITS INVESTIGATION AND TOOK
REMEDIAL MEASURES TO PREVENT RECURRENCE OF THE BREACH.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $60,885.02

Other

Disclosure 94 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: ON APRIL 7, 2014, THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU
("CFPB") ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION.  THE ORDER IDENTIFIED DEFICIENCIES IN CONNECTION
WITH FULFILLMENT OF CUSTOMER PROCESSING CONCERNING THE
PROVISION OF IDENTITY THEFT PROTECTION PRODUCTS AS WELL AS
VENDOR AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROTOCOLS CONCERNING SO-CALLED
 "ADD-ON" PRODUCTS.  IN ADDITION, THE CFPB IDENTIFIED WHAT IT
ALLEGED WERE DECEPTIVE STATEMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF CREDIT CARD DEBT CANCELLATION
PRODUCTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; RESTITUTION; UNDERTAKINGS

Date Initiated: 04/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2014-CFPB-0004

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CREDIT PROTECTION AND IDENTITY PROTECTION PRODUCTS

ON APRIL 7, 2014, THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU
("CFPB") ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION.  THE ORDER IDENTIFIED DEFICIENCIES IN CONNECTION
WITH FULFILLMENT OF CUSTOMER PROCESSING CONCERNING THE
PROVISION OF IDENTITY THEFT PROTECTION PRODUCTS AS WELL AS
VENDOR AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROTOCOLS CONCERNING SO-CALLED
 "ADD-ON" PRODUCTS.  IN ADDITION, THE CFPB IDENTIFIED WHAT IT
ALLEGED WERE DECEPTIVE STATEMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF CREDIT CARD DEBT CANCELLATION
PRODUCTS.

Resolution Date: 04/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY FINDINGS OF FACT OR
VIOLATIONS OF LAW OR WRONGDOING, BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $20,000,000 AND  TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF LAW IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND ADMINISTRATION OF CREDIT
PROTECTION PRODUCTS AND THE BILLING AND ADMINISTRATION OF
IDENTITY PROTECTION PRODUCTS.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER
REQUIRES A RESTITUTION PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE CFPB AND,
FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO
BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE
SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR MANAGEMENT POLICIES;
ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES; AND
ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON PRODUCTS TO ASSESS
UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY FINDINGS OF FACT OR
VIOLATIONS OF LAW OR WRONGDOING, BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $20,000,000 AND  TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF LAW IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND ADMINISTRATION OF CREDIT
PROTECTION PRODUCTS AND THE BILLING AND ADMINISTRATION OF
IDENTITY PROTECTION PRODUCTS.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER
REQUIRES A RESTITUTION PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE CFPB AND,
FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO
BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE
SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR MANAGEMENT POLICIES;
ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES; AND
ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON PRODUCTS TO ASSESS
UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $20,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY FINDINGS OF FACT OR
VIOLATIONS OF LAW OR WRONGDOING, BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $20,000,000 AND  TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF LAW IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND ADMINISTRATION OF CREDIT
PROTECTION PRODUCTS AND THE BILLING AND ADMINISTRATION OF
IDENTITY PROTECTION PRODUCTS.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER
REQUIRES A RESTITUTION PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE CFPB AND,
FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO
BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE
SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR MANAGEMENT POLICIES;
ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES; AND
ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON PRODUCTS TO ASSESS
UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST; RESTITUTION; UNDERTAKINGS

Date Initiated: 04/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: 2014-CFPB-0004

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CREDIT PROTECTION AND IDENTITY PROTECTION PRODUCTS

Allegations: ON APRIL 7, 2014, THE CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU
("CFPB") ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION.  THE ORDER IDENTIFIED DEFICIENCIES IN CONNECTION
WITH FULFILLMENT OF CUSTOMER PROCESSING CONCERNING THE
PROVISION OF IDENTITY THEFT PROTECTION PRODUCTS AS WELL AS
VENDOR AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROTOCOLS CONCERNING SO-CALLED
 "ADD-ON" PRODUCTS.  IN ADDITION, THE CFPB IDENTIFIED WHAT IT
ALLEGED WERE DECEPTIVE STATEMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE
MARKETING AND SALE OF CREDIT CARD DEBT CANCELLATION
PRODUCTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/07/2014

Resolution:

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $20,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY FINDINGS OF FACT OR
VIOLATIONS OF LAW OR WRONGDOING, BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $20,000,000 AND  TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF LAW IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND ADMINISTRATION OF CREDIT
PROTECTION PRODUCTS AND THE BILLING AND ADMINISTRATION OF
IDENTITY PROTECTION PRODUCTS.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER
REQUIRES A RESTITUTION PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE CFPB AND,
FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO
BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE
SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR MANAGEMENT POLICIES;
ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES; AND
ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON PRODUCTS TO ASSESS
UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY FINDINGS OF FACT OR
VIOLATIONS OF LAW OR WRONGDOING, BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF $20,000,000 AND  TO
CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF LAW IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING AND ADMINISTRATION OF CREDIT
PROTECTION PRODUCTS AND THE BILLING AND ADMINISTRATION OF
IDENTITY PROTECTION PRODUCTS.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER
REQUIRES A RESTITUTION PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE CFPB AND,
FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO
BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE
SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR MANAGEMENT POLICIES;
ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES; AND
ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON PRODUCTS TO ASSESS
UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

Monetary/Fine $20,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 95 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: ON APRIL 7, 2014, THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY OF THE UNITED
STATES OF AMERICA ("OCC") ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST BANK
OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION.  THE ORDER IDENTIFIED DEFICIENCIES IN CONNECTION
WITH FULFILLMENT OF CUSTOMER PROCESSING CONCERNING THE
PROVISION OF IDENTITY THEFT PROTECTION PRODUCTS AS WELL AS
VENDOR AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROTOCOLS CONCERNING SO-CALLED
 "ADD-ON" PRODUCTS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: AA-EC-2014-6

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): IDENTITY PROTECTION PRODUCTS

ON APRIL 7, 2014, THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY OF THE UNITED
STATES OF AMERICA ("OCC") ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST BANK
OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION.  THE ORDER IDENTIFIED DEFICIENCIES IN CONNECTION
WITH FULFILLMENT OF CUSTOMER PROCESSING CONCERNING THE
PROVISION OF IDENTITY THEFT PROTECTION PRODUCTS AS WELL AS
VENDOR AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROTOCOLS CONCERNING SO-CALLED
 "ADD-ON" PRODUCTS.

Resolution Date: 04/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF
$25,000,000.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES A RESTITUTION
PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE OCC AND, FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE
PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE
CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR
MANAGEMENT POLICIES; ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES; AND ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON
PRODUCTS TO ASSESS UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR
PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF
$25,000,000.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES A RESTITUTION
PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE OCC AND, FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE
PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE
CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR
MANAGEMENT POLICIES; ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES; AND ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON
PRODUCTS TO ASSESS UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR
PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $25,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF
$25,000,000.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES A RESTITUTION
PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE OCC AND, FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE
PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE
CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR
MANAGEMENT POLICIES; ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES; AND ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON
PRODUCTS TO ASSESS UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR
PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

RESTITUTION; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 04/07/2014

Docket/Case Number: AA-EC-2014-6

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): IDENTITY PROTECTION PRODUCTS

Allegations: ON APRIL 7, 2014, THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY OF THE UNITED
STATES OF AMERICA ("OCC") ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST BANK
OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION.  THE ORDER IDENTIFIED DEFICIENCIES IN CONNECTION
WITH FULFILLMENT OF CUSTOMER PROCESSING CONCERNING THE
PROVISION OF IDENTITY THEFT PROTECTION PRODUCTS AS WELL AS
VENDOR AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROTOCOLS CONCERNING SO-CALLED
 "ADD-ON" PRODUCTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF
$25,000,000.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES A RESTITUTION
PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE OCC AND, FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE
PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE
CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR
MANAGEMENT POLICIES; ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES; AND ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON
PRODUCTS TO ASSESS UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR
PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $25,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Order
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF
$25,000,000.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES A RESTITUTION
PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE OCC AND, FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE
PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE
CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR
MANAGEMENT POLICIES; ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES; AND ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON
PRODUCTS TO ASSESS UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR
PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE FINDINGS, BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND FIA CARD SERVICES, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION CONSENTED TO A CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY OF
$25,000,000.  FURTHER, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES A RESTITUTION
PLAN TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE OCC AND, FOLLOWING APPROVAL, THE
PROVISION OF RESTITUTION TO BORROWERS.  IN ADDITION, THE
CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES THE SUBMISSION OF ENHANCED VENDOR
MANAGEMENT POLICIES; ENHANCED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES; AND ENHANCED INTERNAL AUDIT REVIEWS OF ADD-ON
PRODUCTS TO ASSESS UNFAIR, DECEPTIVE, OR ABUSIVE ACTS OR
PRACTICES ("UDAAP") RISK.

Disclosure 96 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES (EUROPE) LIMITED

Initiated By: NASDAQ OMX COMMODITIES OSLO ASA (THE "EXCHANGE")

Date Initiated: 05/23/2013

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Allegations: ON JUNE 15, 2013, THE EXCHANGE ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH
COMMODITIES (EUROPE) LIMITED ("MLCE") ON TWO OCCASIONS OFFERED
SELL ORDERS ON THE EXCHANGE WHICH LOWERED THE BEST ASKING
PRICE OF AN EXCHANGE PRODUCT.  WHILE OFFERING THE SELL ORDERS
MLCE ALLEGEDLY BOUGHT LARGER QUANTITIES IN THE OVER-THE-
COUNTER MARKET AND PAID THE SAME PRICE AS THE PRICE OF ITS SELL
ORDERS.  THE EXCHANGE FOUND THAT THE SELL ORDERS GAVE OR
WERE LIKELY TO GIVE MISLEADING SIGNALS AS TO THE SUPPLY AND
PRICE OF THE EXCHANGE PRODUCT, AND THAT THE SELL ORDERS MOST
LIKELY WERE OFFERED WITH INTENT TO IMPROPERLY INFLUENCE THE
TRADING OF OTHER MARKET PARTICIPANTS.  THE EXCHANGE
THEREFORE DETERMINED THAT MLCE VIOLATED THE PROHIBITION
AGAINST MARKET MANIPULATION SET OUT IN THE MARKET CONDUCT
RULES, SECTION 5.1.  THE EXCHANGE FURTHER DEEMED IT TO BE
MITIGATING THAT THE POTENTIAL BENEFIT FROM THE MANIPULATIVE
ACTIVITY WAS LIMITED.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 07/04/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: A FINANCIAL PENALTY OF NOK 350.000 (APPROXIMATELY US$57,329.02)
WAS IMPOSED ON MLCE.

Sanction Details: A FINANCIAL PENALTY OF NOK 350.000 (APPROXIMATELY US$57,329.02)
WAS IMPOSED ON MLCE.

Firm Statement A FINANCIAL PENALTY OF NOK 350.000 (APPROXIMATELY US$57,329.02)
WAS IMPOSED ON MLCE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $57,329.02

Other

Disclosure 97 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES (EUROPE) LIMITED

Initiated By: NEW YORK MERCANTILE EXCHANGE ("NYMEX")

Date Initiated: 02/05/2014

Docket/Case Number: NYMEX 13-9457-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Allegations: A PANEL OF THE NYMEX BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE (THE "PANEL")
FOUND THAT MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES (EUROPE) LIMITED ("MLCE")
IS SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE EXCHANGE BECAUSE IT IS AN
AFFILIATE OF A NYMEX MEMBER AND THAT ON CERTAIN DATES IN APRIL
2012, A TRADER EMPLOYED BY MLCE ENTERED INTO A SERIES OF BUY
AND SELL ORDERS IN VARIOUS CRUDE OPTIONS AND FUTURES
CONTRACTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTS WITH THE SAME BENEFICIAL OWNER.
THE PANEL ALSO FOUND THAT MLCE FAILED TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE
ITS TRADER IN THE CONDUCT OF HIS BUSINESS WITH THE EXCHANGE.
THE PANEL FOUND THAT AS A RESULT OF THE FOREGOING, MLCE
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 432.W. AND 534.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 02/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT THAT MLCE PRESENTED AT A
HEARING ON 2/5/2014, IN WHICH MLCE NEITHER ADMITTED OR DENIED
THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH THE PENALTY IS BASED, THE PANEL
ORDERED MLCE TO PAY A FINE TO THE EXCHANGE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$15,000.00.

Firm Statement PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT THAT MLCE PRESENTED AT A
HEARING ON 2/5/2014, IN WHICH MLCE NEITHER ADMITTED OR DENIED
THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH THE PENALTY IS BASED, THE PANEL
ORDERED MLCE TO PAY A FINE TO THE EXCHANGE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$15,000.00.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 98 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES (EUROPE) LIMITED

Initiated By: COMMODITY EXCHANGE ("COMEX")

Allegations: A PANEL OF THE COMEX BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE (THE "PANEL")
FOUND THAT MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES (EUROPE) LIMITED ("MLCE")
IS SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE EXCHANGE BECAUSE IT IS AN
AFFILIATE OF A COMEX MEMBER AND THAT ON CERTAIN DATES IN APRIL
2012, A TRADER EMPLOYED BY MLCE ENTERED INTO A SERIES OF BUY
AND SELL ORDERS IN VARIOUS GOLD OPTIONS AND COPPER FUTURES
CONTRACTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTS WITH THE SAME BENEFICIAL OWNER.
THE PANEL ALSO FOUND THAT MLCE FAILED TO DILIGENTLY SUPERVISE
ITS TRADER IN THE CONDUCT OF HIS BUSINESS WITH THE EXCHANGE.
THE PANEL FOUND THAT AS A RESULT OF THE FOREGOING, MLCE
VIOLATED EXCHANGE RULES 432.W. AND 534.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMMODITY EXCHANGE ("COMEX")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/05/2014

Docket/Case Number: COMEX 12-9058-BC

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 02/07/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT THAT MLCE PRESENTED AT A
HEARING ON 2/5/2014, IN WHICH MLCE NEITHER ADMITTED OR DENIED
THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH THE PENALTY IS BASED, THE PANEL
ORDERED MLCE TO PAY A FINE TO THE EXCHANGE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$15,000.00.

Firm Statement PURSUANT TO AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT THAT MLCE PRESENTED AT A
HEARING ON 2/5/2014, IN WHICH MLCE NEITHER ADMITTED OR DENIED
THE RULE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH THE PENALTY IS BASED, THE PANEL
ORDERED MLCE TO PAY A FINE TO THE EXCHANGE IN THE AMOUNT OF
$15,000.00.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 99 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Allegations: ON THREE INSTANCES BETWEEN MAY AND AUGUST 2011, MERRILL LYNCH
INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") FILED TO ACCURATELY COMPLETE ITS CLOSE OUT
PROCEDURE BY THE 10 A.M. CUT-OFF TIME AS REQUIRED BY THE
EXCHANGE, WHICH CONTRIBUTED TO THE EXCHANGE PUBLISHING
OVERSTATED OPEN INTEREST FIGURES.  AN INVESTIGATION WAS
LAUNCHED REQUESTING THE MLI REPORT BACK TO THE EXCHANGE ON
THE REASONS BEHIND THESE FAILURES AND THE STEPS TAKEN TO
PREVENT A RECURRENCE.  MLI NOTED THAT PROCEDURAL FAILURES
WERE THE CAUSE OF THE INCIDENTS.

Current Status: Final

1828©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Initiated By: ICE FUTURES EUROPE (THE "EXCHANGE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/28/2011

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

ON THREE INSTANCES BETWEEN MAY AND AUGUST 2011, MERRILL LYNCH
INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") FILED TO ACCURATELY COMPLETE ITS CLOSE OUT
PROCEDURE BY THE 10 A.M. CUT-OFF TIME AS REQUIRED BY THE
EXCHANGE, WHICH CONTRIBUTED TO THE EXCHANGE PUBLISHING
OVERSTATED OPEN INTEREST FIGURES.  AN INVESTIGATION WAS
LAUNCHED REQUESTING THE MLI REPORT BACK TO THE EXCHANGE ON
THE REASONS BEHIND THESE FAILURES AND THE STEPS TAKEN TO
PREVENT A RECURRENCE.  MLI NOTED THAT PROCEDURAL FAILURES
WERE THE CAUSE OF THE INCIDENTS.

Resolution Date: 09/28/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: A FINANCIAL PENALTY OF £20,000 (APPROXIMATELY US$31,295.84) WAS
IMPOSED ON MLI.

Sanction Details: A FINANCIAL PENALTY OF £20,000 (APPROXIMATELY US$31,295.84) WAS
IMPOSED ON MLI.

Firm Statement A FINANCIAL PENALTY OF £20,000 (APPROXIMATELY US$31,295.84) WAS
IMPOSED ON MLI.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $31,295.84

Other

Disclosure 100 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: IRISH STOCK EXCHANGE ("ISE")

Date Initiated: 03/26/2013

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: DURING 2011 AND 2012, ISE IDENTIFIED 131 IRISH GOVERNMENT BOND
TRADES THAT MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") FAILED TO REPORT
TO ISE CONSTITUTING A BREACH OF ISE RULES 2.52(B) AND 4.7.2.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 08/30/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: A FINE OF 10,000 EUROS (APPROXIMATELY US$13,196.25) WAS IMPOSED
ON MLI.

Sanction Details: A FINE OF 10,000 EUROS (APPROXIMATELY US$13,196.25) WAS IMPOSED
ON MLI.

Firm Statement A FINE OF 10,000 EUROS (APPROXIMATELY US$13,196.25) WAS IMPOSED
ON MLI.  MLI IDENTIFIED AND SELF-REPORTED THESE ERRORS TO ISE
AND TOOK IMMEDIATE STEPS TO ENSURE THAT THE RELEVANT BOOKS
WERE CORRECTLY INCLUDED IN MLI'S DAILY REPORTING GOING
FORWARD.  MLI ALSO CHANGED ITS DATA GATHERING PROCESS TO
PREVENT SUCH OMISSIONS OCCURRING AGAIN IN THE FUTURE AND IS IN
THE PROCESS OF ESTABLISHING AN ADDITIONAL LAYER OF
OVERSIGHT/GOVERNANCE TO THE ISE REPORTING PROCESS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $13,196.26

Other

Disclosure 101 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: IRISH STOCK EXCHANGE ("ISE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 09/16/2013

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: FAILURE BY MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") TO REPORT 129 VALID
IRISH GOVERNMENT BOND TRADES TO ISE BETWEEN AUGUST 12, 2013
AND  SEPTEMBER 5, 2013 CONSTITUTING A BREACH OF ISE RULES 2.52(B)
AND 4.7.2.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 01/15/2014

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: A FINE OF 15,000 EUROS (APPROXIMATELY US$20,405.65) WAS IMPOSED
ON MLI.

Sanction Details: A FINE OF 15,000 EUROS (APPROXIMATELY US$20,405.65) WAS IMPOSED
ON MLI.

Firm Statement A FINE OF 15,000 EUROS (APPROXIMATELY US$20,405.65) WAS IMPOSED
ON MLI.  THE ISE HAS TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT THAT MLI HAS COOPERATED
FULLY WITH THE ISE AT ALL STAGES OF THE INVESTIGATION, HAS TAKEN
ACTION TO ADDRESS THE IDENTIFIED ERRORS AND HAS ALSO TAKEN THE
NECESSARY ADDITIONAL ACTIONS TO ENSURE THE CORRECT AND
ACCURATE REPORTING OF ITS TRADES IN IRISH GOVERNMENT BONDS TO
THE ISE GOING FORWARD.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $20,405.65

Other

Disclosure 102 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH MÉXICO, S.A. DE C.V., CASA DE BOLSA

Initiated By: COMISION NACIONAL BANCARIA Y DE VALORES ("CNBV")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 11/01/2013

Docket/Case Number: EXP.: 211.115.11 (1185) "2011"/192/4

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CNBV ALLEGED THAT DURING THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2008,
MERRILL LYNCH MÉXICO, S.A. DE C.V., CASA DE BOLSA PARTICIPATED IN
TRADING ACTIVITY INVOLVING MEXICAN GOVERNMENT BONDS THAT RAN
CONTRARY TO PROVISIONS UNDER ARTICLE 370 OF THE MEXICAN
SECURITIES LAW.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 11/01/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE CNBV FINED MERRILL LYNCH MÉXICO, S.A. DE C.V., CASA DE BOLSA,
23,428,845.00 PESOS  (APPROXIMATELY USD$1,772,000) FOR THE
VIOLATION.

Firm Statement THE CNBV FINED MERRILL LYNCH MÉXICO, S.A. DE C.V., CASA DE BOLSA
23,428,845.00 PESOS  (APPROXIMATELY USD$ 1,772,000) FOR
PARTICIPATING IN TRADING ACTIVITY INVOLVING MEXICAN GOVERNMENT
BONDS, IN THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2008, THAT RAN CONTRARY TO
PROVISIONS UNDER ARTICLE 370 OF THE MEXICAN SECURITIES LAW.
BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO, S.A., INSTITUCIÓN DE BANCA MÚLTIPLE AND
MERRILL LYNCH MÉXICO, S.A. DE C.V., CASA DE BOLSA PAID SAID FINES
ON NOVEMBER 1, 2013.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $1,772,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 103 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO, S.A. INSTITUCIÓN DE BANCA MÚLTIPLE

Initiated By: COMISION NACIONAL BANCARIA Y DE VALORES ("CNBV")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 11/01/2013

Docket/Case Number: EXP.: 211.115.11(109)"2011"/196/4

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CNBV ALLEGED THAT DURING THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2008, BANK
OF AMERICA MEXICO, S.A., INSTITUCIÓN DE BANCA MÚLTIPLE
PARTICIPATED IN TRADING ACTIVITY INVOLVING MEXICAN GOVERNMENT
BONDS THAT RAN CONTRARY TO PROVISIONS UNDER ARTICLE 370 OF
THE MEXICAN SECURITIES LAW.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 11/01/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE CNBV FINED BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO, S.A. 7,257,420.00 PESOS
(APPROXIMATELY USD$540,000) FOR THE VIOLATION.

Firm Statement THE CNBV FINED BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO, S.A., INSTITUCIÓN DE BANCA
MÚLTIPLE 7,257,420.00 PESOS (APPROXIMATELY USD$  540,000) FOR
PARTICIPATING IN TRADING ACTIVITY INVOLVING MEXICAN GOVERNMENT
BONDS, IN THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2008, THAT RAN CONTRARY TO
PROVISIONS UNDER ARTICLE 370 OF THE MEXICAN SECURITIES LAW.
BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO, S.A., INSTITUCIÓN DE BANCA MÚLTIPLE PAID
SAID FINES ON NOVEMBER 1, 2013.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $540,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 104 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: IRISH STOCK EXCHANGE ("ISE")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/30/2013

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: DURING 2011 AND 2012, ISE IDENTIFIED 131 IRISH GOVERNMENT BOND
TRADES THAT MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL ("MLI") FAILED TO REPORT
TO ISE CONSTITUTING A BREACH OF ISE RULES 2.52(B) AND 4.7.2.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 08/30/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: A FINE OF 10,000 EUROS (APPROXIMATELY US $13,196.25) WAS IMPOSED
ON MLI.

Sanction Details: A FINE OF 10,000 EUROS (APPROXIMATELY US $13,196.25) WAS IMPOSED
ON MLI.

Firm Statement A FINE OF 10,000 EUROS (APPROXIMATELY US $13,196.25) WAS IMPOSED
ON MLI.  MLI IDENTIFIED AND SELF-REPORTED THESE ERRORS TO ISE
AND TOOK IMMEDIATE STEPS TO ENSURE THAT THE RELEVANT BOOKS
WERE CORRECTLY INCLUDED IN MLI'S DAILY REPORTING GOING
FORWARD.  MLI ALSO CHANGED ITS DATA GATHERING PROCESS TO
PREVENT SUCH OMISSIONS OCCURRING AGAIN IN THE FUTURE AND IS IN
THE PROCESS OF ESTABLISHING AN ADDITIONAL LAYER OF
OVERSIGHT/GOVERNANCE TO THE ISE REPORTING PROCESS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $13,196.25

Other

Disclosure 105 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: MONETARY AUTHORITY OF SINGAPORE ("MAS")

Date Initiated: 07/16/2012

Allegations: THE MAS TOOK ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (SINGAPORE BRANCH) ("BANA SINGAPORE") AND
EIGHTEEN OTHER BANKS IN THE MARKET FOR DEFICIENCIES IN
GOVERNANCE, RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROLS, AND
SURVEILLANCE SYSTEMS FROM 2007 TO 2011 RELATED TO THE
SUBMISSION PROCESSES FOR SINGAPORE DOLLAR INTEREST RATE
BENCHMARKS - SPECIFICALLY, SIBOR AND SOR - AND FOREIGN
EXCHANGE SPOT BENCHMARKS IN FOUR EMERGING MARKET ASIAN
CURRENCIES.  IN ADDITION, THE MAS DETERMINED BANA SINGAPORE
PERSONNEL ENGAGED IN ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS IN WHICH
THEY INITIATED, RECEIVED, ACKNOWLEDGED, OR RELAYED REQUESTS
TO IMPROPERLY INFLUENCE SUBMISSIONS FOR CERTAIN OF THE ABOVE-
REFERENCED ABS BENCHMARKS.  THE MAS STATED IT HAD NOT MADE
THE FINDING THAT THE ABS BENCHMARKS HAD BEEN MANIPULATED BY
ANY OF THE NINETEEN BANKS SUBJECT TO ITS ORDER, BUT FOUND THAT
THE ACTION OF THE BANA SINGAPORE (AND OTHER BANKS') PERSONNEL
REFLECTED A LACK OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT AND INTEGRITY.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Censure

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ADOPT CERTAIN MEASURES TO ADDRESS DEFICIENCIES, REPORT
PROGRESS ON QUARTERLY BASIS, CONDUCT INDEPENDENT REVIEWS,
AND INCREASE STATUTORY RESERVES.

Date Initiated: 07/16/2012

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): REFERENCE RATE SUBMISSIONS FOR SIBOR, SOR, AND FOREIGN
EXCHANGE BENCHMARK RATES FOR NON-DELIVERABLE FORWARDS
CONTRACTS FOR MALAYSIAN RINGGIT, INDONESIAN RUPIAH,
VIETNAMESE DONG, AND THAI BAHT ADMINISTERED BY THE ASSOCIATION
OF BANKS IN SINGAPORE ("ABS BENCHMARKS").

Resolution Date: 06/14/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE MAS IS REQUIRING BANA SINGAPORE TO ADOPT MEASURES TO
ADDRESS THE DEFICIENCIES, REPORT ITS PROGRESS IN ADDRESSING
THESE DEFICIENCIES ON A QUARTERLY BASIS, AND CONDUCT
INDEPENDENT REVIEWS TO ENSURE THE ROBUSTNESS OF THE
REMEDIAL MEASURES.  BANA SINGAPORE WAS NOT FINED, BUT INSTEAD
WAS REQUIRED TO POST WITH THE MAS FOR ONE YEAR A STATUTORY
RESERVE OF 700 MILLION SINGAPORE DOLLARS (APPROXIMATELY US$551
MILLION) WHICH IS REFUNDABLE UPON SATISFACTION OF THE MAS'S
ORDER ON REMEDIAL MEASURES.

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO SECTION 49(2) OF THE SINGAPORE BANKING ACT, THE MAS
REQUIRED BANA SINGAPORE TO POST THE ABOVE-REFERENCED
STATUTORY RESERVE OF 700 MILLION SINGAPORE DOLLARS
(APPROXIMATELY US$551 MILLION).  IN ADDITION, THE MAS REQUIRED
BANA SINGAPORE TO MEET CERTAIN MILESTONES OVER THE NEXT YEAR
TO ADOPT MEASURES TO ADDRESS THE DEFICIENCIES, REPORT THEIR
PROGRESS IN ADDRESSING THESE DEFICIENCIES ON A QUARTERLY
BASIS, AND CONDUCT INDEPENDENT REVIEWS TO ENSURE THE
ROBUSTNESS OF THE REMEDIAL MEASURES.

Firm Statement ON JUNE 13, 2013, THE MAS SENT BANA SINGAPORE A LETTER SETTING
FORTH: (I) CERTAIN CONCLUSIONS REGARDING THE DEFICIENCIES THE
AMS IDENTIFIED IN THE REVIEW REPORTS AND RELATED
DOCUMENTATION BANA SINGAPORE HAD SUBMITTED TO THE MAS
REGARDING THE ABS REFERENCE RATES; (II) DIRECTING BANA
SINGAPORE, PURSUANT TO SECTION 49(2) OF THE SINGAPORE BANKING
ACT, TO TAKE CERTAIN MEASURES TO ADDRESS GOVERNANCE AND
CONTROL DEFICIENCIES; AND (III) DIRECTING BANA SINGAPORE,
PURSUANT TO SECTION 38(1) OF THE SINGAPORE BANKING ACT, TO
MAINTAIN AN ADDITIONAL STATUTORY RESERVE OF 700 MILLION
SINGAPORE DOLLARS (APPROXIMATELY US$551 MILLION) WITH THE MAS
FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR.  ON JUNE 14, 2013, THE MAS MADE A PUBLIC
ANNOUNCEMENT REGARDING THE CONCLUSION OF ITS INQUIRY INTO
THE ABS BENCHMARKS AND PROVIDED MARKET-WIDE FINDINGS WITH
RESPECT TO COMMUNICATIONS DEEMED TO DEMONSTRATE A LACK OF
PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT AND INTEGRITY. BANA SINGAPORE HAS
COMPLETED THE ACTIONS REQUIRED BY MAS, INCLUDING COMPLETING
THE ENHANCEMENTS TO ITS SUBMISSION PRACTICES WITH THE MAS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Other
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ON JUNE 13, 2013, THE MAS SENT BANA SINGAPORE A LETTER SETTING
FORTH: (I) CERTAIN CONCLUSIONS REGARDING THE DEFICIENCIES THE
AMS IDENTIFIED IN THE REVIEW REPORTS AND RELATED
DOCUMENTATION BANA SINGAPORE HAD SUBMITTED TO THE MAS
REGARDING THE ABS REFERENCE RATES; (II) DIRECTING BANA
SINGAPORE, PURSUANT TO SECTION 49(2) OF THE SINGAPORE BANKING
ACT, TO TAKE CERTAIN MEASURES TO ADDRESS GOVERNANCE AND
CONTROL DEFICIENCIES; AND (III) DIRECTING BANA SINGAPORE,
PURSUANT TO SECTION 38(1) OF THE SINGAPORE BANKING ACT, TO
MAINTAIN AN ADDITIONAL STATUTORY RESERVE OF 700 MILLION
SINGAPORE DOLLARS (APPROXIMATELY US$551 MILLION) WITH THE MAS
FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR.  ON JUNE 14, 2013, THE MAS MADE A PUBLIC
ANNOUNCEMENT REGARDING THE CONCLUSION OF ITS INQUIRY INTO
THE ABS BENCHMARKS AND PROVIDED MARKET-WIDE FINDINGS WITH
RESPECT TO COMMUNICATIONS DEEMED TO DEMONSTRATE A LACK OF
PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT AND INTEGRITY. BANA SINGAPORE HAS
COMPLETED THE ACTIONS REQUIRED BY MAS, INCLUDING COMPLETING
THE ENHANCEMENTS TO ITS SUBMISSION PRACTICES WITH THE MAS.

Disclosure 106 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BA INSURANCE GROUP, INC.

Initiated By: NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 04/18/2013

Docket/Case Number: IN THE MATTER OF BALBOA INSURANCE CO., ET AL.

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LENDER-PLACED INSURANCE

Allegations: THE NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES (THE "DFS")
ENGAGED IN SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS WITH BALBOA INSURANCE
COMPANY ("BIC"), MERITPLAN INSURANCE COMPANY ("MIC"), BA
INSURANCE GROUP, INC., AND CERTAIN OTHER UNAFFILIATED ENTITIES
(COLLECTIVELY, THE "RESPONDENTS") IN CONNECTION WITH AN
INVESTIGATION CONCERNING SO CALLED FORCE-PLACED INSURANCE
OR LENDER-PLACED INSURANCE POLICIES ISSUED IN NEW YORK STATE.
ON APRIL 18, 2013, THE DFS ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST THE
RESPONDENTS FINDING THAT BIC AND MIC VIOLATED NEW YORK
INSURANCE LAW SECTIONS 2303, 2324, AND 2403.  SPECIFICALLY, THE
CONSENT ORDER FOUND THAT SPECIFIED PRACTICES BY RESPONDENTS
CONCERNING (1) THE LENDER-PLACED INSURANCE RATES AND
ASSOCIATED LOSS RATIOS AND (2) THE POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF
INTEREST PRESENTED BY THE PROVISION OF LENDER-PLACED
INSURANCE TO AFFILIATED PARTIES VIOLATED THE REFERENCED
PROVISIONS OF THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

COST OF CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR, RESTITUTION, AND CERTAIN REMEDIAL
ACTIONS (SEE ITEM 12.B BELOW)

Resolution Date: 04/18/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES QBE INSURANCE CORPORATION TO PAY,
ON BEHALF OF BIC AND MIC, A CIVIL PENALTY OF $6 MILLION, COSTS OF
THE CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR AND RESTITUTION PURSUANT TO A PRE-
EXISTING CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN QBE INSURANCE
CORPORATION AND BIC AND MIC.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER
REQUIRES CERTAIN REMEDIAL ACTIONS.

Sanction Details: THE TERMS OF THE CONSENT ORDER APPLY TO BIC, MIC, AND CERTAIN
SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OF BA INSURANCE GROUP, INC.  BA
INSURANCE GROUP, INC. IS PARTY TO THE CONSENT ORDER SOLELY FOR
THE PURPOSE OF BINDING CERTAIN OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES.
IN THE CONSENT ORDER, BIC AND MIC, WHICH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR
DENIED THE FINDINGS OR ALLEGATIONS IN THE CONSENT ORDER,
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN ANY ACTS IN
VIOLATION OF THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW AND FINANCIAL SERVICES
LAW AND WILL COMPLY WITH THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW AND
FINANCIAL SERVICES LAW.  THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES QBE
INSURANCE CORPORATION TO PAY, ON BEHALF OF BIC AND MIC, A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $6 MILLION, COSTS OF THE CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR AND
RESTITUTION PURSUANT TO A PRE-EXISTING CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN QBE INSURANCE CORPORATION AND BIC AND
MIC.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES CERTAIN REMEDIAL
ACTIONS.  THE CIVIL PENALTY WAS PAID ON APRIL 23, 2013.

Firm Statement IN THE SETTLEMENT WITH THE DFS, THE RESPONDENTS AGREED TO
CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER AND NEITHER
AGREED NOR DENIED THE FINDINGS AND ALLEGATIONS IN THE CONSENT
ORDER.  ON APRIL 18, 2013, THE DFS ISSUED THE CONSENT ORDER, THE
HIGHLIGHTS OF WHICH ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEM 7.  THE
SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE EXPLAINED ABOVE IN ITEM 12.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $6,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERITPLAN INSURANCE COMPANY
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Initiated By: NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

COST OF CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR, RESTITUTION, AND CERTAIN REMEDIAL
ACTIONS (SEE ITEM 12.B BELOW)

Date Initiated: 04/18/2013

Docket/Case Number: IN THE MATTER OF BALBOA INSURANCE CO., ET AL.

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LENDER-PLACED INSURANCE

Allegations: THE NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES (THE "DFS")
ENGAGED IN SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS WITH BALBOA INSURANCE
COMPANY ("BIC"), MERITPLAN INSURANCE COMPANY ("MIC"), BA
INSURANCE GROUP, INC., AND CERTAIN OTHER UNAFFILIATED ENTITIES
(COLLECTIVELY, THE "RESPONDENTS") IN CONNECTION WITH AN
INVESTIGATION CONCERNING SO CALLED FORCE-PLACED INSURANCE
OR LENDER-PLACED INSURANCE POLICIES ISSUED IN NEW YORK STATE.
ON APRIL 18, 2013, THE DFS ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST THE
RESPONDENTS FINDING THAT BIC AND MIC VIOLATED NEW YORK
INSURANCE LAW SECTIONS 2303, 2324, AND 2403.  SPECIFICALLY, THE
CONSENT ORDER FOUND THAT SPECIFIED PRACTICES BY RESPONDENTS
CONCERNING (1) THE LENDER-PLACED INSURANCE RATES AND
ASSOCIATED LOSS RATIOS AND (2) THE POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF
INTEREST PRESENTED BY THE PROVISION OF LENDER-PLACED
INSURANCE TO AFFILIATED PARTIES VIOLATED THE REFERENCED
PROVISIONS OF THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/18/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES QBE INSURANCE CORPORATION TO PAY,
ON BEHALF OF BIC AND MIC, A CIVIL PENALTY OF $6 MILLION, COSTS OF
THE CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR AND RESTITUTION PURSUANT TO A PRE-
EXISTING CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN QBE INSURANCE
CORPORATION AND BIC AND MIC.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER
REQUIRES CERTAIN REMEDIAL ACTIONS.

Sanction Details: THE TERMS OF THE CONSENT ORDER APPLY TO BIC, MIC, AND CERTAIN
SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OF BA INSURANCE GROUP, INC.  BA
INSURANCE GROUP, INC. IS PARTY TO THE CONSENT ORDER SOLELY FOR
THE PURPOSE OF BINDING CERTAIN OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES.
IN THE CONSENT ORDER, BIC AND MIC, WHICH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR
DENIED THE FINDINGS OR ALLEGATIONS IN THE CONSENT ORDER,
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN ANY ACTS IN
VIOLATION OF THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW AND FINANCIAL SERVICES
LAW AND WILL COMPLY WITH THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW AND
FINANCIAL SERVICES LAW.  THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES QBE
INSURANCE CORPORATION TO PAY, ON BEHALF OF BIC AND MIC, A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $6 MILLION, COSTS OF THE CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR AND
RESTITUTION PURSUANT TO A PRE-EXISTING CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN QBE INSURANCE CORPORATION AND BIC AND
MIC.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES CERTAIN REMEDIAL
ACTIONS.  THE CIVIL PENALTY WAS PAID ON APRIL 23, 2013.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $6,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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THE TERMS OF THE CONSENT ORDER APPLY TO BIC, MIC, AND CERTAIN
SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OF BA INSURANCE GROUP, INC.  BA
INSURANCE GROUP, INC. IS PARTY TO THE CONSENT ORDER SOLELY FOR
THE PURPOSE OF BINDING CERTAIN OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES.
IN THE CONSENT ORDER, BIC AND MIC, WHICH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR
DENIED THE FINDINGS OR ALLEGATIONS IN THE CONSENT ORDER,
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN ANY ACTS IN
VIOLATION OF THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW AND FINANCIAL SERVICES
LAW AND WILL COMPLY WITH THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW AND
FINANCIAL SERVICES LAW.  THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES QBE
INSURANCE CORPORATION TO PAY, ON BEHALF OF BIC AND MIC, A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $6 MILLION, COSTS OF THE CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR AND
RESTITUTION PURSUANT TO A PRE-EXISTING CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN QBE INSURANCE CORPORATION AND BIC AND
MIC.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES CERTAIN REMEDIAL
ACTIONS.  THE CIVIL PENALTY WAS PAID ON APRIL 23, 2013.

Firm Statement IN THE SETTLEMENT WITH THE DFS, THE RESPONDENTS AGREED TO
CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER AND NEITHER
AGREED NOR DENIED THE FINDINGS AND ALLEGATIONS IN THE CONSENT
ORDER.  ON APRIL 18, 2013, THE DFS ISSUED THE CONSENT ORDER, THE
HIGHLIGHTS OF WHICH ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEM 7.  THE
SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE EXPLAINED ABOVE IN ITEM 12.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BALBOA INSURANCE COMPANY

Initiated By: NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Date Initiated: 04/18/2013

Allegations: THE NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL SERVICES (THE "DFS")
ENGAGED IN SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS WITH BALBOA INSURANCE
COMPANY ("BIC"), MERITPLAN INSURANCE COMPANY ("MIC"), BA
INSURANCE GROUP, INC., AND CERTAIN OTHER UNAFFILIATED ENTITIES
(COLLECTIVELY, THE "RESPONDENTS") IN CONNECTION WITH AN
INVESTIGATION CONCERNING SO CALLED FORCE-PLACED INSURANCE
OR LENDER-PLACED INSURANCE POLICIES ISSUED IN NEW YORK STATE.
ON APRIL 18, 2013, THE DFS ISSUED A CONSENT ORDER AGAINST THE
RESPONDENTS FINDING THAT BIC AND MIC VIOLATED NEW YORK
INSURANCE LAW SECTIONS 2303, 2324, AND 2403.  SPECIFICALLY, THE
CONSENT ORDER FOUND THAT SPECIFIED PRACTICES BY RESPONDENTS
CONCERNING (1) THE LENDER-PLACED INSURANCE RATES AND
ASSOCIATED LOSS RATIOS AND (2) THE POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF
INTEREST PRESENTED BY THE PROVISION OF LENDER-PLACED
INSURANCE TO AFFILIATED PARTIES VIOLATED THE REFERENCED
PROVISIONS OF THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

COST OF CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR, RESTITUTION, AND CERTAIN REMEDIAL
ACTIONS (SEE ITEM 12.B BELOW)

Date Initiated: 04/18/2013

Docket/Case Number: IN THE MATTER OF BALBOA INSURANCE CO., ET AL.

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LENDER-PLACED INSURANCE

Resolution Date: 04/18/2013

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES QBE INSURANCE CORPORATION TO PAY,
ON BEHALF OF BIC AND MIC, A CIVIL PENALTY OF $6 MILLION, COSTS OF
THE CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR AND RESTITUTION PURSUANT TO A PRE-
EXISTING CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN QBE INSURANCE
CORPORATION AND BIC AND MIC.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER
REQUIRES CERTAIN REMEDIAL ACTIONS.

Sanction Details: THE TERMS OF THE CONSENT ORDER APPLY TO BIC, MIC, AND CERTAIN
SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OF BA INSURANCE GROUP, INC.  BA
INSURANCE GROUP, INC. IS PARTY TO THE CONSENT ORDER SOLELY FOR
THE PURPOSE OF BINDING CERTAIN OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES.
IN THE CONSENT ORDER, BIC AND MIC, WHICH NEITHER ADMITTED NOR
DENIED THE FINDINGS OR ALLEGATIONS IN THE CONSENT ORDER,
AGREED TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ENGAGING IN ANY ACTS IN
VIOLATION OF THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW AND FINANCIAL SERVICES
LAW AND WILL COMPLY WITH THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW AND
FINANCIAL SERVICES LAW.  THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES QBE
INSURANCE CORPORATION TO PAY, ON BEHALF OF BIC AND MIC, A CIVIL
PENALTY OF $6 MILLION, COSTS OF THE CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR AND
RESTITUTION PURSUANT TO A PRE-EXISTING CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN QBE INSURANCE CORPORATION AND BIC AND
MIC.  IN ADDITION, THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES CERTAIN REMEDIAL
ACTIONS.  THE CIVIL PENALTY WAS PAID ON APRIL 23, 2013.

Firm Statement IN THE SETTLEMENT WITH THE DFS, THE RESPONDENTS AGREED TO
CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER AND NEITHER
AGREED NOR DENIED THE FINDINGS AND ALLEGATIONS IN THE CONSENT
ORDER.  ON APRIL 18, 2013, THE DFS ISSUED THE CONSENT ORDER, THE
HIGHLIGHTS OF WHICH ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEM 7.  THE
SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE EXPLAINED ABOVE IN ITEM 12.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $6,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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IN THE SETTLEMENT WITH THE DFS, THE RESPONDENTS AGREED TO
CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER AND NEITHER
AGREED NOR DENIED THE FINDINGS AND ALLEGATIONS IN THE CONSENT
ORDER.  ON APRIL 18, 2013, THE DFS ISSUED THE CONSENT ORDER, THE
HIGHLIGHTS OF WHICH ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEM 7.  THE
SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE EXPLAINED ABOVE IN ITEM 12.

Disclosure 107 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED

Initiated By: HONG KONG SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION ("SFC")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND; UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 08/22/2012

Docket/Case Number: 515/EN/255

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION ("SFC") TOOK THE VIEW
THAT MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED ("MLAP") FAILED TO
PROPERLY INVESTIGATE THE COMPLAINTS MADE BY 11 CLIENTS OF MLAP
IN 2008 AGAINST A FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE ACCREDITED TO
MLAP, IN BREACH OF GENERAL PRINCIPALS 2 AND PARAGRAPH 12.3 OF
THE CODE OF CONDUCT FOR PERSONS LICENSED BY OR REGISTERED
WITH THE SFC.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/22/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMANDED, FINED HKD$3.5 MILLION (APPROXIMATELY
USD$130,632.60) AND UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: MLAP WAS REPRIMANDED AND FINED HKD$3.5 MILLION (APPROXIMATELY
USD$130,632.60).  IN ADDITION, MLAP AGREED THAT AN INDEPENDENT
LAW FIRM AND AUDITOR WOULD CONDUCT A REVIEW OF ALL CLIENT
ACCOUNTS HANDLED BY THE FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE AND
ASSESS THE AMOUNT OF LOSS (IF ANY) IN EACH ACCOUNT ARISING AS A
RESULT OF THE FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE'S MISCONDUCT.
MLAP ALSO AGREED TO FULLY COMPENSATE ANY CLIENT WHOSE
ACCOUNT WAS HANDLED BY THE FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE
AND WHO SUFFERED LOSS AS A RESULT OF ANY MISCONDUCT BY THE
FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE LESS ANY COMPENSATION THAT
MAY HAVE BEEN PAID ALREADY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $130,632.60

Decision
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MLAP WAS REPRIMANDED AND FINED HKD$3.5 MILLION (APPROXIMATELY
USD$130,632.60).  IN ADDITION, MLAP AGREED THAT AN INDEPENDENT
LAW FIRM AND AUDITOR WOULD CONDUCT A REVIEW OF ALL CLIENT
ACCOUNTS HANDLED BY THE FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE AND
ASSESS THE AMOUNT OF LOSS (IF ANY) IN EACH ACCOUNT ARISING AS A
RESULT OF THE FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE'S MISCONDUCT.
MLAP ALSO AGREED TO FULLY COMPENSATE ANY CLIENT WHOSE
ACCOUNT WAS HANDLED BY THE FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE
AND WHO SUFFERED LOSS AS A RESULT OF ANY MISCONDUCT BY THE
FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE LESS ANY COMPENSATION THAT
MAY HAVE BEEN PAID ALREADY.

Firm Statement MLAP WAS REPRIMANDED AND FINED HKD$3.5 MILLION (APPROXIMATELY
USD$130,632.60).  IN ADDITION, MLAP AGREED THAT AN INDEPENDENT
LAW FIRM AND AUDITOR WOULD CONDUCT A REVIEW OF ALL CLIENT
ACCOUNTS HANDLED BY THE FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE AND
ASSESS THE AMOUNT OF LOSS (IF ANY) IN EACH ACCOUNT ARISING AS A
RESULT OF THE FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE'S MISCONDUCT.
MLAP ALSO AGREED TO FULLY COMPENSATE ANY CLIENT WHOSE
ACCOUNT WAS HANDLED BY THE FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE
AND WHO SUFFERED LOSS AS A RESULT OF ANY MISCONDUCT BY THE
FORMER LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE LESS ANY COMPENSATION THAT
MAY HAVE BEEN PAID ALREADY.  THE SFC NOTED THAT MLAP ALREADY
COMPENSATED A TOTAL OF NINE OF THE 11 CLIENTS WHO COMPLAINED
TO THE SFC AND HAS MADE SIGNIFICANT EFFORTS TO RESOLVE THE
COMPLAINTS OF THE REMAINING TWO COMPLAINANTS.  THE SFC
FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGED MLAP'S FULL COOPERATION TO RESOLVE THE
SFC'S CONCERNS AND NOTED THAT IT HAS STRENGTHENED ITS
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS ON COMPLAINTS HANDLING.

Disclosure 108 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BOSTON SECURITIES S.A. SOCIEDAD DE BOLSA

Initiated By: BUENOS AIRES (ARGENTINA) STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Suspension

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 09/21/2011

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ON SEPTEMBER 21, 2011, THE BUENOS AIRES (ARGENTINA) STOCK
EXCHANGE INITIATED AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING AGAINST
BOSTON SECURITIES S.A. SOCIEDAD DE BOLSA AND SEVEN OF ITS
FORMER DIRECTORS, ALLEGING NEGLIGENCE AND LACK OF CONTROL ON
ONE FORMER EMPLOYEE´S ACTIVITIES ON THE GROUNDS OF SECTIONS
4, 22 AND 42 OF ITS INTERNAL CODE.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 12/12/2012

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THIRTY (30) DAY SUSPENSION TO BOSTON SECURITIES S.A. SOCIEDAD DE
BOLSA FROM DECEMBER 13, 2012.  THE CHARGES AGAINST THE SEVEN
DIRECTORS WERE DISMISSED.

Firm Statement THIRTY (30) DAY SUSPENSION TO BOSTON SECURITIES S.A. SOCIEDAD DE
BOLSA FROM DECEMBER 13, 2012.  THE CHARGES AGAINST THE SEVEN
DIRECTORS WERE DISMISSED.

Sanctions Ordered: Suspension

Consent
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: ITALIAN COMMISSIONE NAZIONALE PER LE SOCIETA E LA BORSA
("CONSOB")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 01/10/2008

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): EQUITY SWAP AGREEMENT

Allegations: CONSOB INVESTIGATED EVENTS OCCURRING BETWEEN APRIL 20, 2005
AND SEPTEMBER 20, 2005 REGARDING AN EQUITY SWAP AGREEMENT
WHICH RESULTED IN MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL BECOMING THE
LEGAL OWNER OF A MORE THAN 5 PERCENT HOLDING IN AN ITALIAN
COMPANY WHICH WAS DEEMED UNDER ITALIAN LAW TO BE A SIGNIFICANT
HOLDING FOR THE PURPOSES OF FULFILLING NOTIFICATION
OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE FOLLOWING ITALIAN LEGISLATION:
ARTICLES 120 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE NO 58/98 AND 119 OF REGULATION
NO. 11971/99 AND WAS ACCORDINGLY TO BE NOTIFIED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE MANNER AND TERMS PROVIDED UNDER ARTICLE 121 OF SAID
REGULATION.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 01/10/2008

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL WAS ORDERED TO PAY AN
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF 250,000.00 EUROS
(APPROXIMATELY USD$369,950.00).

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL WAS ORDERED TO PAY AN
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF 250,000.00 EUROS
(APPROXIMATELY USD$369,950.00).

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL WAS ORDERED TO PAY AN
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF 250,000.00 EUROS
(APPROXIMATELY USD$369,950.00).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $369,950.00

Decision

Disclosure 110 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL BANK LIMITED

Initiated By: FINANCIAL REGULATOR (RIALTÓIR AIRGAEDAIS) IN IRELAND

Allegations: THERE WERE TWO SEPARATE INCIDENTS IN WHICH TRADERS FAILED TO
APPROPRIATELY VALUE THEIR POSITIONS AND WHICH OCCURRED IN THE
LONDON BRANCH OF MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL BANK LIMITED
("MLIB").  THE FIRST INCIDENT OCCURRED BETWEEN DECEMBER 2008
AND FEBRUARY 2009, RESULTING IN LOSSES TO MLIB OF $456 MILLION.
THE SECOND OCCURRED BETWEEN MAY AND AUGUST 2009, RESULTING
IN LOSSES OF $5.3 MILLION.  FULL DETAILS OF THE SECOND INCIDENT
WERE NOTIFIED TO THE FINANCIAL REGULATOR DURING THE COURSE OF
THE EXAMINATION INTO THE FIRST INCIDENT.  BREACHES OF
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS COMMENT TO BOTH INCIDENTS WERE A
FAILURE TO HAVE IN PLACE A WELL DEFINED AND TRANSPARENT LINE OF
SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITY; A FAILURE TO SUPERVISE THE TRADER'S
ACTIVITY AND AN INADEQUATE MONTH END INDEPENDENT PRICE
VERIFICATION PROCESS.  IN RELATION TO THE FIRST INCIDENT, IT WAS
ALSO FOUND THAT THERE WAS A FAILURE TO MANAGE EFFECTIVELY
MARKET RISK LIMITS IN RESPECT OF THE TRADER'S ACTIVITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINANCIAL REGULATOR (RIALTÓIR AIRGAEDAIS) IN IRELAND

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND

Date Initiated: 10/22/2009

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): DEBT-GOVERNMENT, FORWARD RATE AGREEMENTS, OVERNIGHT INDEX
SWAPS, OPTIONS, FX SPOT/FORWARDS AND OPTIONS, CROSS CURRENCY
SWAPS, AND INTEREST RATES SWAPS.

Resolution Date: 10/22/2009

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: THE FINANCIAL REGULATOR REPRIMANDED MLIB AND REQUIRED MLIB TO
PAY A MONETARY PENALTY IN THE SUM OF 2,750,000 EUROS
(APPROXIMATELY $4,131,600.00 IN US DOLLARS).

Sanction Details: THE FINANCIAL REGULATOR REPRIMANDED MLIB AND REQUIRED MLIB TO
PAY A MONETARY PENALTY IN THE SUM OF 2,750,000 EUROS
(APPROXIMATELY $4,131,600.00 IN US DOLLARS).

Firm Statement THE FINANCIAL REGULATOR REPRIMANDED MLIB AND REQUIRED MLIB TO
PAY A MONETARY PENALTY IN THE SUM OF 2,750,000 EUROS
(APPROXIMATELY $4,131,600.00 IN US DOLLARS).  MLIB PROMPTLY
NOTIFIED THE FINANCIAL REGULATOR IN RESPECT OF EACH INCIDENT,
COMMISSIONED FULL INVESTIGATIONS AND SUBSEQUENTLY SUBMITTED
DETAILED REPORTS OF EACH INVESTIGATION TO THE FINANCIAL
REGULATOR.  MLIB FULLY CO-OPERATED WITH THE FINANCIAL
REGULATOR AND HAS BEEN OPEN AND TRANSPARENT THROUGHOUT THE
EXAMINATION.  MLIB CONFIRMS THAT IT HAS TAKEN COMPLETE REMEDIAL
ACTION TO FULLY RECTIFY THE BREACHES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $4,131,600.00

Settled

Disclosure 111 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL BANK LIMITED

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL BANK LIMITED ("MLIB") BREACHED
SECTION 99B(3) OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT ("SFA") BETWEEN
NOVEMBER 26, 2010 AND AUGUST 31, 2011 WHEN MLIB PERMITTED 90 OF
ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO CARRY OUT THE REGULATED ACTIVITY OF
FUND MANAGEMENT BEFORE THE REGULATED ACTIVITY WAS DULY
REFLECTED AGAINST THEIR NAMES IN THE PUBLIC REGISTER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: MONETARY AUTHORITY OF SINGAPORE ("MAS")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/09/2011

Docket/Case Number: CMI FA 04/2003 PT 17/ST

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL BANK LIMITED ("MLIB") BREACHED
SECTION 99B(3) OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT ("SFA") BETWEEN
NOVEMBER 26, 2010 AND AUGUST 31, 2011 WHEN MLIB PERMITTED 90 OF
ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO CARRY OUT THE REGULATED ACTIVITY OF
FUND MANAGEMENT BEFORE THE REGULATED ACTIVITY WAS DULY
REFLECTED AGAINST THEIR NAMES IN THE PUBLIC REGISTER.

Resolution Date: 12/19/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MLIB'S AGREEMENT THAT THE OFFENCE BE DEALT WITH UNDER SECTION
336 OF THE SFA READ WITH REGULATION 2 OF THE SECURITIES AND
FUTURES (COMPOSITION OF OFFENCES) REGULATIONS ("SFR"), AND
MLIB'S ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFER OF COMPOSITION MADE BY MAS.
MLIB AGREED TO THE OFFENCE BEING DEALT WITH UNDER SECTION 336
OF THE SFA READ WITH REGULATION 2 OF THE SFR AND ACCEPTED THE
OFFER OF COMPOSITION FROM MAS ON DECEMBER 19, 2011.

Sanction Details: MLIB AGREED TO THE OFFENCE BEING DEALT WITH UNDER SECTION 336
OF THE SFA READ WITH REGULATION 2 OF THE SFR AND ACCEPTED THE
OFFER OF COMPOSITION FROM MAS ON DECEMBER 19, 2011.  IN
ADDITION, MLIB PAID THE FINE OF SGD$27,000 (APPROXIMATELY
USD$20,722.36) ON DECEMBER 19, 2011.

Firm Statement MLIB AGREED TO THE OFFENCE BEING DEALT WITH UNDER SECTION 336
OF THE SFA READ WITH REGULATION 2 OF THE SFR AND ACCEPTED THE
OFFER OF COMPOSITION FROM MAS ON DECEMBER 19, 2011.  IN
ADDITION, MLIB PAID THE FINE OF SGD$27,000 (APPROXIMATELY
USD$20,722.36) ON DECEMBER 19, 2011.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $20,722.36

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC.

Initiated By: COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION ("CFTC")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 03/29/2011

Docket/Case Number: 12-05

Principal Product Type: Futures - Commodity

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE CFTC ALLEGED THAT MERRILL LYNCH COMMODITIES, INC. ("MLCI")
VIOLATED SECTION 4A(B)(2) OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT , AS
AMENDED, AND CFTC REGULATION 150.2, 17 C.F.R. § 150.02 (2011) WHEN
MLCI HELD NET SHORT FUTURES EQUIVALENT POSITIONS IN COTTON NO.
2 FUTURES CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF SPECULATIVE POSITION LIMITS
SET BY THE CFTC AS A RESULT OF ITS TRADING ON THE
INTERCONTINENTALEXCHANGE U.S. OVER FOUR CONSECUTIVE DAYS
FROM JANUARY 31, 2011 THROUGH FEBRUARY 3, 2011.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/07/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS IN THE ORDER, MLCI CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, SHALL  CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION 4A(B)(2) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT , AS AMENDED, AND CFTC REGULATION
150.2, 17 C.F.R. § 150.02 (2011), AND PAID A CIVIL MONETARY PAYMENT OF
$350,000.00.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS IN THE ORDER, MLCI CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, SHALL  CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION 4A(B)(2) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT , AS AMENDED, AND CFTC REGULATION
150.2, 17 C.F.R. § 150.02 (2011), AND PAID A CIVIL MONETARY PAYMENT OF
$350,000.00.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $350,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY OF THE FINDINGS OR
CONCLUSIONS IN THE ORDER, MLCI CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, SHALL  CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING SECTION 4A(B)(2) OF
THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT , AS AMENDED, AND CFTC REGULATION
150.2, 17 C.F.R. § 150.02 (2011), AND PAID A CIVIL MONETARY PAYMENT OF
$350,000.00.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH MEXICO, S.A. DE C.V., CASA DE BOLSA

Initiated By: BANCO DE MEXICO

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/29/2011

Docket/Case Number: RESOLUTION: S34-133-2011

Principal Product Type: Derivative(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: BANCO DE MEXICO ALLEGED THAT DURING THE PERIOD FROM MARCH 14-
29, 2011,  MERRILL LYNCH MEXICO S.A. DE C.V., CASA DE BOLSA ("MERRILL
LYNCH MEXICO") (1) VIOLATED NUMERAL 5, THIRD PARAGRAPH, OF
CIRCULAR 4/2006 WHEN THREE OPTION TRANSACTIONS IN EFFECT AS OF
AUGUST 14, 2009 WERE NOT CONFIRMED THROUGH ANY MEANS WITH
WRITTEN PROOF OF THE EXECUTION OF THE CORRESPONDING
TRANSACTIONS ON THE SAME DAY THEY WERE EXECUTED AND (2)
VIOLATED NUMERAL 10.5 OF CIRCULAR 4/2006 WHEN MERRILL LYNCH
MEXICO EXECUTED CREDIT DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/06/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: BANCO DE MEXICO FINED MERRILL LYNCH MEXICO 22,858.00 PESOS
(APPROXIMATELY USD$1,690.11) AND 57,441.00 PESOS (APPROXIMATELY
USD$4,247.15)  FOR THE RESPECTIVE VIOLATIONS FOR A TOTAL FINE OF
80,299 PESOS (APPROXIMATELY USD$5,937.26).

Firm Statement BANCO DE MEXICO FINED MERRILL LYNCH MEXICO (1) 22,858.00 PESOS
(APPROX. USD$1,690.11)  FOR THE VIOLATION OF NUMERAL 5, THIRD
PARAGRAPH, OF CIRCULAR 4/2006 WHEN THREE OPTION TRANSACTIONS
IN EFFECT AS OF AUGUST 14, 2009 WERE NOT CONFIRMED THROUGH ANY
MEANS WITH WRITTEN PROOF OF THE EXECUTION OF THE
CORRESPONDING TRANSACTIONS ON THE SAME DAY THEY WERE
EXECUTED AND (2) 57,441.00 PESOS (APPROXIMATELY USD$4,247.15)  FOR
THE VIOLATION OF NUMERAL 10.5 OF CIRCULAR 4/2006 WHEN MERRILL
LYNCH MEXICO EXECUTED CREDIT DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS.  MERRILL
LYNCH MEXICO PAID SAID FINES ON OCTOBER 25, 2011.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,937.26

Decision
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BANCO DE MEXICO FINED MERRILL LYNCH MEXICO (1) 22,858.00 PESOS
(APPROX. USD$1,690.11)  FOR THE VIOLATION OF NUMERAL 5, THIRD
PARAGRAPH, OF CIRCULAR 4/2006 WHEN THREE OPTION TRANSACTIONS
IN EFFECT AS OF AUGUST 14, 2009 WERE NOT CONFIRMED THROUGH ANY
MEANS WITH WRITTEN PROOF OF THE EXECUTION OF THE
CORRESPONDING TRANSACTIONS ON THE SAME DAY THEY WERE
EXECUTED AND (2) 57,441.00 PESOS (APPROXIMATELY USD$4,247.15)  FOR
THE VIOLATION OF NUMERAL 10.5 OF CIRCULAR 4/2006 WHEN MERRILL
LYNCH MEXICO EXECUTED CREDIT DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS.  MERRILL
LYNCH MEXICO PAID SAID FINES ON OCTOBER 25, 2011.

Disclosure 114 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO, S.A., INSTITUCION DE BANCA MULTIPLE

Initiated By: BANCO DE MEXICO

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/11/2011

Docket/Case Number: RESOLUTION: S34-128-2011

Principal Product Type: Derivative(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: BANCO DE MEXICO ALLEGED THAT DURING THE PERIOD FROM MARCH 14-
29, 2011,  BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO, S.A., INSTITUCION DE BANCA
MULTIPLE ("BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO") VIOLATED NUMERALS 3.1.1 AND
3.2.1 OF CIRCULAR 4/2006 WHEN BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO PERFORMED
CREDIT DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS AS INTERMEDIARY WITHOUT HAVING
THE BANCO DE MEXICO AUTHORIZATION TO PERFORM SUCH
TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/06/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: BANCO DE MEXICO FINED BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO 99,482.00 PESOS
(APPROXIMATELY USD$7,355.56 FOR THE VIOLATION.

Firm Statement BANCO DE MEXICO FINED BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO 99,482.00 PESOS
(APPROXIMATELY USD$7,355.56)  FOR THE VIOLATION OF NUMERALS 3.1.1
AND 3.2.1 OF CIRCULAR 4/2006 WHEN BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO
PERFORMED CREDIT DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS AS INTERMEDIARY
WITHOUT HAVING THE BANCO DE MEXICO AUTHORIZATION TO PERFORM
SUCH TRANSACTIONS.  BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO PAID SAID FINES ON
OCTOBER 25, 2011.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $7,355.56

Decision
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Firm Statement BANCO DE MEXICO FINED BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO 99,482.00 PESOS
(APPROXIMATELY USD$7,355.56)  FOR THE VIOLATION OF NUMERALS 3.1.1
AND 3.2.1 OF CIRCULAR 4/2006 WHEN BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO
PERFORMED CREDIT DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS AS INTERMEDIARY
WITHOUT HAVING THE BANCO DE MEXICO AUTHORIZATION TO PERFORM
SUCH TRANSACTIONS.  BANK OF AMERICA MEXICO PAID SAID FINES ON
OCTOBER 25, 2011.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED

Initiated By: HONG KONG SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION (SFC)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND

Date Initiated: 12/09/2010

Docket/Case Number: 500/EN/715

Principal Product Type: Derivative(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SFC RAISED CONCERNS THAT MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC)
LIMITED (MLAPL) FAILED TO PROPERLY ASSESS THE FINANCIAL SITUATION
AND INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES OF OVER 40 OF THE 72 CUSTOMERS WHO
INVESTED IN TWO INDEX-LINKED NOTES DURING 2007.  THE SFC WAS
ALSO CONCERNED THAT KEY PRODUCT INFORMATION WAS ONLY
PROVIDED TO CLIENTS AFTER THEY HAD AGREED TO INVEST IN THE
INDEX-LINKED NOTES AND THAT MLAPL KEPT INADEQUATE
DOCUMENTATION TO EXPLAIN THE RATIONALE BEHIND THE ADVISE THEY
HAD GIVEN TO THEIR CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 05/12/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REPRIMAND, REPURCHASE PROGRAM AND UNDERTAKINGS

Sanction Details: THE SFC ISSUED A REPRIMAND TO MLAPL AND FINED IT HKD3 MILLION
(USD385,921).  IN ADDITION, MLAPL HAS AGREED TO IMPLEMENT A
RESOLUTION SCHEME IN WHICH IT WILL MAKE PAYMENT TO REPURCHASE
FROM CUSTOMERS HOLDING THE OUTSTANDING INDEX-LINKED NOTES
WITHIN 30 DAYS OF MLAPL RECEIVING VALID ACCEPTANCE FORMS FORM
CUSTOMERS AT 100% OF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT INVESTMENT.  IN
ADDITION, MLAPL HAS AGREED TO OFFER TOP UP PAYMENTS TO
CUSTOMERS WHO BOUGHT THE INDEX-LINKED NOTES THROUGH MLAPL
AND REDEEMED THEM FOR LESS THAN THEIR PRINCIPAL INVESTED.
MLAPL WILL IMPLEMENT ENHANCED COMPLAINT-HANDLING PROCEDURES
TO REVIEW CLIENT COMPLAINTS REGARDING ITS DISTRIBUTION, SALE,
AND PROVISION OF INVESTMENT ADVICE IN RELATION TO UNLISTED
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS OTHER THAN THE TWO INDEX-LINED NOTES
THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF THIS DISCLOSURE.  MLAPL WILL ALSO
ENGAGE AN INDEPENDENT AUDIT FIRM TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF ITS
INTERNAL DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $385,921.00

Settled
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THE SFC ISSUED A REPRIMAND TO MLAPL AND FINED IT HKD3 MILLION
(USD385,921).  IN ADDITION, MLAPL HAS AGREED TO IMPLEMENT A
RESOLUTION SCHEME IN WHICH IT WILL MAKE PAYMENT TO REPURCHASE
FROM CUSTOMERS HOLDING THE OUTSTANDING INDEX-LINKED NOTES
WITHIN 30 DAYS OF MLAPL RECEIVING VALID ACCEPTANCE FORMS FORM
CUSTOMERS AT 100% OF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT INVESTMENT.  IN
ADDITION, MLAPL HAS AGREED TO OFFER TOP UP PAYMENTS TO
CUSTOMERS WHO BOUGHT THE INDEX-LINKED NOTES THROUGH MLAPL
AND REDEEMED THEM FOR LESS THAN THEIR PRINCIPAL INVESTED.
MLAPL WILL IMPLEMENT ENHANCED COMPLAINT-HANDLING PROCEDURES
TO REVIEW CLIENT COMPLAINTS REGARDING ITS DISTRIBUTION, SALE,
AND PROVISION OF INVESTMENT ADVICE IN RELATION TO UNLISTED
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS OTHER THAN THE TWO INDEX-LINED NOTES
THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF THIS DISCLOSURE.  MLAPL WILL ALSO
ENGAGE AN INDEPENDENT AUDIT FIRM TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF ITS
INTERNAL DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS.

Firm Statement THE SFC ISSUED A REPRIMAND TO MLAPL AND FINED IT HKD3 MILLION
(USD385,921).  IN ADDITION, MLAPL HAS AGREED TO IMPLEMENT A
RESOLUTION SCHEME IN WHICH IT WILL MAKE PAYMENT TO REPURCHASE
FROM CUSTOMERS HOLDING THE OUTSTANDING INDEX-LINKED NOTES
WITHIN 30 DAYS OF MLAPL RECEIVING VALID ACCEPTANCE FORMS FORM
CUSTOMERS AT 100% OF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT INVESTMENT.  IN
ADDITION, MLAPL HAS AGREED TO OFFER TOP UP PAYMENTS TO
CUSTOMERS WHO BOUGHT THE INDEX-LINKED NOTES THROUGH MLAPL
AND REDEEMED THEM FOR LESS THAN THEIR PRINCIPAL INVESTED.
MLAPL WILL IMPLEMENT ENHANCED COMPLAINT-HANDLING PROCEDURES
TO REVIEW CLIENT COMPLAINTS REGARDING ITS DISTRIBUTION, SALE,
AND PROVISION OF INVESTMENT ADVICE IN RELATION TO UNLISTED
STRUCTURED PRODUCTS OTHER THAN THE TWO INDEX-LINED NOTES
THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF THIS DISCLOSURE.  MLAPL WILL ALSO
ENGAGE AN INDEPENDENT AUDIT FIRM TO CONDUCT A REVIEW OF ITS
INTERNAL DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS.  THE SFC
ACKNOWLEDGED MLAPL'S FULL COOPERATION TO RESOLVE THE SFC'S
CONCERNS AND NOTES THAT MLAPL HAS ALREADY COMMENCED ITS
OWN REVIEW OF INTERNAL SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED

Allegations: THE SFC FOUND THAT DURING THE PERIOD FROM DECEMBER 2007 TO
OCTOBER 2008, A MANAGING DIRECTOR OF MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA
PACIFIC) LIMITED (MLAPL) AND MERRILL LYNCH FUTURES (HONG KONG)
LIMITED (MLFHKL) HAD MISMARKED A TRADING BOOK IN EXOTICS
OPTIONS (BOOK) BY MANIPULATING THE VOLATILITY MARKS IN THE
VALUATION MODEL, AND ACCESSED THE COMPUTER SYSTEM WITHOUT
AUTHORITY TO ALTER PRICING PARAMETERS ON VARIOUS OCCASIONS.
THE MISMARKING ACTIVITIES, WHICH DID NOT APPLY TO OTHER BOOKS,
RESULTED IN THE VALUE OF THE BOOK BEING INFLATED BY
APPROXIMATELY US$25 MILLION AND CAUSED THE ACTUAL LOSS IN THE
BOOK TO BE WRONGLY REPORTED INTERNALLY.  THE SFC FOUND THAT
MLAPL AND MLFHKL DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE INTERNAL CONTROLS
PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO MANAGE THE RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH
MISMARKING, IN THAT (I) THERE WAS UNCERTAINTY AS TO SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIES OVER THE TRADER AND THE BOOK; (II) THE PRICE
VERIFICATION MECHANISM APPLIED TO OTHER TRADING BOOKS WAS NOT
APPLIED TO THE BOOK; (III) THERE WERE INADEQUATE CHECKS AND
BALANCES OVER THE BOOK TO MITIGATE OPERATION RISKS INCLUDING
RISKS ASSOCIATE WITH FRAUD AND DISHONEST ACTIVITIES; (IV) THERE
WAS INSUFFICIENT SAFEGUARD OVER INFORMATION SECURITY AND
INTEGRITY AS REGARDS THE BOOK; (V) TRADING AND VALUATION
POLICIES WERE NOT SUFFICIENTLY IMPLEMENTED OVER THE BOOK; AND
(IV) SENIOR MANAGEMENT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MANAGE THE RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE BOOK.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: HONG KONG SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION (SFC)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND

Date Initiated: 03/03/2009

Docket/Case Number: 500/3N/703

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

THE SFC FOUND THAT DURING THE PERIOD FROM DECEMBER 2007 TO
OCTOBER 2008, A MANAGING DIRECTOR OF MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA
PACIFIC) LIMITED (MLAPL) AND MERRILL LYNCH FUTURES (HONG KONG)
LIMITED (MLFHKL) HAD MISMARKED A TRADING BOOK IN EXOTICS
OPTIONS (BOOK) BY MANIPULATING THE VOLATILITY MARKS IN THE
VALUATION MODEL, AND ACCESSED THE COMPUTER SYSTEM WITHOUT
AUTHORITY TO ALTER PRICING PARAMETERS ON VARIOUS OCCASIONS.
THE MISMARKING ACTIVITIES, WHICH DID NOT APPLY TO OTHER BOOKS,
RESULTED IN THE VALUE OF THE BOOK BEING INFLATED BY
APPROXIMATELY US$25 MILLION AND CAUSED THE ACTUAL LOSS IN THE
BOOK TO BE WRONGLY REPORTED INTERNALLY.  THE SFC FOUND THAT
MLAPL AND MLFHKL DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE INTERNAL CONTROLS
PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO MANAGE THE RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH
MISMARKING, IN THAT (I) THERE WAS UNCERTAINTY AS TO SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIES OVER THE TRADER AND THE BOOK; (II) THE PRICE
VERIFICATION MECHANISM APPLIED TO OTHER TRADING BOOKS WAS NOT
APPLIED TO THE BOOK; (III) THERE WERE INADEQUATE CHECKS AND
BALANCES OVER THE BOOK TO MITIGATE OPERATION RISKS INCLUDING
RISKS ASSOCIATE WITH FRAUD AND DISHONEST ACTIVITIES; (IV) THERE
WAS INSUFFICIENT SAFEGUARD OVER INFORMATION SECURITY AND
INTEGRITY AS REGARDS THE BOOK; (V) TRADING AND VALUATION
POLICIES WERE NOT SUFFICIENTLY IMPLEMENTED OVER THE BOOK; AND
(IV) SENIOR MANAGEMENT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MANAGE THE RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE BOOK.

Resolution Date: 05/31/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE SFC FINED MLAPL AND MLFHKL HKD$3,500,000 (USD449,000.00) FOR
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS FAILINGS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MISMARKING
ACTIVITIES IN A TRADING BOOK.

Firm Statement THE SFC FINED MLAPL AND MLFHKL HKD$3,500,000 (USD 449,000.00) FOR
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS FAILINGS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MISMARKING
ACTIVITIES IN A TRADING BOOK.  MLAPL AND MLFHKL ACCEPTED THAT ITS
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS FELL SHORT OF THOSE EXPECTED IN RESPECT
OF THE BOOK.  THE SFC ACCEPTED THAT MLAPL'S AND MLFHKL'S
MISCONDUCT WAS NOT INTENTIONAL AND MLAPL AND MLFHKL HAVE
TAKEN REMEDIAL STEPS TO ADDRESS THE COMPLIANCE WEAKNESSES.
IN DECIDING ON THE SANCTIONS, THE SFC TOOK INTO ACCOUNT MLAPL'S
AND MLFHKL'S COOPERATION IN RESOLVING THE CASE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $449,000.00

Decision
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THE SFC FINED MLAPL AND MLFHKL HKD$3,500,000 (USD 449,000.00) FOR
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS FAILINGS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MISMARKING
ACTIVITIES IN A TRADING BOOK.  MLAPL AND MLFHKL ACCEPTED THAT ITS
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS FELL SHORT OF THOSE EXPECTED IN RESPECT
OF THE BOOK.  THE SFC ACCEPTED THAT MLAPL'S AND MLFHKL'S
MISCONDUCT WAS NOT INTENTIONAL AND MLAPL AND MLFHKL HAVE
TAKEN REMEDIAL STEPS TO ADDRESS THE COMPLIANCE WEAKNESSES.
IN DECIDING ON THE SANCTIONS, THE SFC TOOK INTO ACCOUNT MLAPL'S
AND MLFHKL'S COOPERATION IN RESOLVING THE CASE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH FUTURES (HONG KONG) LIMITED

Initiated By: HONG KONG SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION (SFC)

Date Initiated: 03/03/2009

Docket/Case Number: 500/3N/703

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE SFC FOUND THAT DURING THE PERIOD FROM DECEMBER 2007 TO
OCTOBER 2008, A MANAGING DIRECTOR OF MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA
PACIFIC) LIMITED (MLAPL) AND MERRILL LYNCH FUTURES (HONG KONG)
LIMITED (MLFHKL) HAD MISMARKED A TRADING BOOK IN EXOTICS
OPTIONS (BOOK) BY MANIPULATING THE VOLATILITY MARKS IN THE
VALUATION MODEL, AND ACCESSED THE COMPUTER SYSTEM WITHOUT
AUTHORITY TO ALTER PRICING PARAMETERS ON VARIOUS OCCASIONS.
THE MISMARKING ACTIVITIES, WHICH DID NOT APPLY TO OTHER BOOKS,
RESULTED IN THE VALUE OF THE BOOK BEING INFLATED BY
APPROXIMATELY US$25 MILLION AND CAUSED THE ACTUAL LOSS IN THE
BOOK TO BE WRONGLY REPORTED INTERNALLY.  THE SFC FOUND THAT
MLAPL AND MLFHKL DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE INTERNAL CONTROLS
PROCEDURES IN PLACE TO MANAGE THE RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH
MISMARKING, IN THAT (I) THERE WAS UNCERTAINTY AS TO SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIES OVER THE TRADER AND THE BOOK; (II) THE PRICE
VERIFICATION MECHANISM APPLIED TO OTHER TRADING BOOKS WAS NOT
APPLIED TO THE BOOK; (III) THERE WERE INADEQUATE CHECKS AND
BALANCES OVER THE BOOK TO MITIGATE OPERATION RISKS INCLUDING
RISKS ASSOCIATE WITH FRAUD AND DISHONEST ACTIVITIES; (IV) THERE
WAS INSUFFICIENT SAFEGUARD OVER INFORMATION SECURITY AND
INTEGRITY AS REGARDS THE BOOK; (V) TRADING AND VALUATION
POLICIES WERE NOT SUFFICIENTLY IMPLEMENTED OVER THE BOOK; AND
(IV) SENIOR MANAGEMENT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY MANAGE THE RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE BOOK.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 05/31/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE SFC FINED MLAPL AND MLFHKL HKD$3,500,000 (USD449,000.00) FOR
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS FAILINGS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MISMARKING
ACTIVITIES IN A TRADING BOOK.

Firm Statement THE SFC FINED MLAPL AND MLFHKL HKD$3,500,000 (USD 449,000.00) FOR
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS FAILINGS ASSOCIATED WITH THE MISMARKING
ACTIVITIES IN A TRADING BOOK.  MLAPL AND MLFHKL ACCEPTED THAT ITS
SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS FELL SHORT OF THOSE EXPECTED IN RESPECT
OF THE BOOK.  THE SFC ACCEPTED THAT MLAPL'S AND MLFHKL'S
MISCONDUCT WAS NOT INTENTIONAL AND MLAPL AND MLFHKL HAVE
TAKEN REMEDIAL STEPS TO ADDRESS THE COMPLIANCE WEAKNESSES.
IN DECIDING ON THE SANCTIONS, THE SFC TOOK INTO ACCOUNT MLAPL'S
AND MLFHKL'S COOPERATION IN RESOLVING THE CASE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $449,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 117 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Allegations: ON APRIL 13, 2011, THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY OF THE
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ("OCC") ISSUED A CEASE AND DESIST
CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER") AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION ("BANA").  THE ORDER IDENTIFIED CERTAIN DEFICIENCIES
AND UNSAFE OR UNSOUND PRACTICES IN RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE
SERVICING AND IN BANA'S INITIATION AND HANDLING OF FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS.  THE ORDER FINDS THAT IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN
FORECLOSURES OF LOANS IN IT IS RESIDENTIAL SERVICING PORTFOLIO,
BANA; (A) FILED OR CAUSED TO BE FILED IN COURTS EXECUTED
AFFIDAVITS MAKING VARIOUS ASSERTIONS THAT WERE NOT BASED ON
THE AFFIANTS' PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE OR REVIEW OF RELEVANT BOOKS
AND RECORDS; (B) FILED OR CAUSED TO BE FILED IN COURTS
NUMEROUS AFFIDAVITS OR OTHER MORTGAGE-RELATED DOCUMENTS
THAT WERE NOT PROPERLY NOTARIZED; (C) LITIGATED FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS AND INITIATED NON-JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS WITHOUT ALWAYS ENSURING THAT THE PROMISSORY
NOTE OR THE MORTGAGE DOCUMENT WERE PROPERLY ENDORSED OR
ASSIGNED AND, IF NECESSARY, IN THE POSSESSION OF THE
APPROPRIATE PARTY AT THE APPROPRIATE TIME; (D) FAILED TO DEVOTE
SUFFICIENT RESOURCES TO ENSURE PROPER ADMINISTRATION OF ITS
FORECLOSURE PROCESSES; (E) FAILED TO DEVOTE TO ITS
FORECLOSURE PROCESSES ADEQUATE OVERSIGHT, INTERNAL
CONTROLS, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, COMPLIANCE RISK
MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL AUDIT, THIRD PARTY MANAGEMENT AND
TRAINING; AND (F) FAILED TO SUFFICIENTLY OVERSEE THIRD-PARTY
PROVIDERS HANDING FORECLOSURE-RELATED SERVICES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY OF THE UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REMEDIATION ACTIONS

Date Initiated: 04/13/2011

Docket/Case Number: AA-EC-11-12

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING

ON APRIL 13, 2011, THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY OF THE
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ("OCC") ISSUED A CEASE AND DESIST
CONSENT ORDER ("ORDER") AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION ("BANA").  THE ORDER IDENTIFIED CERTAIN DEFICIENCIES
AND UNSAFE OR UNSOUND PRACTICES IN RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE
SERVICING AND IN BANA'S INITIATION AND HANDLING OF FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS.  THE ORDER FINDS THAT IN CONNECTION WITH CERTAIN
FORECLOSURES OF LOANS IN IT IS RESIDENTIAL SERVICING PORTFOLIO,
BANA; (A) FILED OR CAUSED TO BE FILED IN COURTS EXECUTED
AFFIDAVITS MAKING VARIOUS ASSERTIONS THAT WERE NOT BASED ON
THE AFFIANTS' PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE OR REVIEW OF RELEVANT BOOKS
AND RECORDS; (B) FILED OR CAUSED TO BE FILED IN COURTS
NUMEROUS AFFIDAVITS OR OTHER MORTGAGE-RELATED DOCUMENTS
THAT WERE NOT PROPERLY NOTARIZED; (C) LITIGATED FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS AND INITIATED NON-JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS WITHOUT ALWAYS ENSURING THAT THE PROMISSORY
NOTE OR THE MORTGAGE DOCUMENT WERE PROPERLY ENDORSED OR
ASSIGNED AND, IF NECESSARY, IN THE POSSESSION OF THE
APPROPRIATE PARTY AT THE APPROPRIATE TIME; (D) FAILED TO DEVOTE
SUFFICIENT RESOURCES TO ENSURE PROPER ADMINISTRATION OF ITS
FORECLOSURE PROCESSES; (E) FAILED TO DEVOTE TO ITS
FORECLOSURE PROCESSES ADEQUATE OVERSIGHT, INTERNAL
CONTROLS, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, COMPLIANCE RISK
MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL AUDIT, THIRD PARTY MANAGEMENT AND
TRAINING; AND (F) FAILED TO SUFFICIENTLY OVERSEE THIRD-PARTY
PROVIDERS HANDING FORECLOSURE-RELATED SERVICES.

Resolution Date: 04/13/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REMEDIATION ACTIONS

Sanction Details: THE ORDER REQUIRES THAT BANA CEASE AND DESIST AND REQUIRES
BANA'S BOARD TO MAINTAIN A COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE THAT IS
RESPONSIBLE FOR MONITORING AND COORDINATING BANA'S
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ORDER.  THE ORDER PROVIDES FOR BANA TO: (A)
SUBMIT A COMPREHENSIVE ACTION PLAN THAT INCLUDES A COMPLIANCE
PROGRAM, THIRD-PARTY MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES,
CONTROLS AND OVERSIGHT OF BANA'S ACTIVITIES WITH RESPECT TO
THE MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEM AND COMPLIANCE
WITH MERSCORP'S MEMBERSHIP RULES, TERMS, AND CONDITIONS; (B)
RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT AN INDEPENDENT
REVIEW OF RESIDENTIAL FORECLOSURE ACTIONS REGARDING
INDIVIDUAL BORROWERS; (C) PLAN FOR OPERATION OF MANAGEMENT
INFORMATION SYSTEMS; (D) SUBMIT A PLAN FOR EFFECTIVE
COORDINATION OF COMMUNICATIONS WITH BORROWERS RELATED TO
LOSS MITIGATION OR LOAN MODIFICATION AND FORECLOSURE
ACTIVITIES; (E) CONDUCT AN ASSESSMENT OF BANA'S RISKS IN
MORTGAGE SERVICING OPERATIONS; AND (F) SUBMIT PERIODIC WRITTEN
PROGRESS REPORTS DETAILING THE FORM AND MANNER OF ALL
ACTIONS TAKEN TO SECURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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THE ORDER REQUIRES THAT BANA CEASE AND DESIST AND REQUIRES
BANA'S BOARD TO MAINTAIN A COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE THAT IS
RESPONSIBLE FOR MONITORING AND COORDINATING BANA'S
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ORDER.  THE ORDER PROVIDES FOR BANA TO: (A)
SUBMIT A COMPREHENSIVE ACTION PLAN THAT INCLUDES A COMPLIANCE
PROGRAM, THIRD-PARTY MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES,
CONTROLS AND OVERSIGHT OF BANA'S ACTIVITIES WITH RESPECT TO
THE MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEM AND COMPLIANCE
WITH MERSCORP'S MEMBERSHIP RULES, TERMS, AND CONDITIONS; (B)
RETAIN AN INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT TO CONDUCT AN INDEPENDENT
REVIEW OF RESIDENTIAL FORECLOSURE ACTIONS REGARDING
INDIVIDUAL BORROWERS; (C) PLAN FOR OPERATION OF MANAGEMENT
INFORMATION SYSTEMS; (D) SUBMIT A PLAN FOR EFFECTIVE
COORDINATION OF COMMUNICATIONS WITH BORROWERS RELATED TO
LOSS MITIGATION OR LOAN MODIFICATION AND FORECLOSURE
ACTIVITIES; (E) CONDUCT AN ASSESSMENT OF BANA'S RISKS IN
MORTGAGE SERVICING OPERATIONS; AND (F) SUBMIT PERIODIC WRITTEN
PROGRESS REPORTS DETAILING THE FORM AND MANNER OF ALL
ACTIONS TAKEN TO SECURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE ORDER.

Firm Statement BANA SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT TO THE OCC.  IN THE OFFER
OF SETTLEMENT, BANA AGREED TO CONSENT TO THE ENTRY OF THE
ORDER, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY WRONGDOING.  THE
ORDER WAS ISSUED ON APRIL 13, 2011, AND MADE THE FINDINGS OF
VIOLATIONS DESCRIBED ABOVE IN ITEM 7.  THE SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE
EXPLAINED ABOVE IN ITEM 12.C.  ON FEBRUARY 27, 2012, BANA ENTERED
INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH THE OCC, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING
ANY WRONGDOING, TO FORGO THE ASSESSMENT OF CIVIL MONEY
PENALTIES AND TO RELEASE FROM CERTAIN CLAIMS IN THE ORDER SO
LONG AS BANA: (A) PROVIDES BORROWERS ASSISTANCE AND CERTAIN
PAYMENTS PURSUANT TO A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE UNITED
STATES OF AMERICA, ACTING THROUGH THE UNITED STATES
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND WITH THE ATTORNEYS GENERAL OF
VARIOUS STATES, TO SETTLE CERTAIN POTENTIAL STATE AND FEDERAL
CLAIMS RELATING TO BANA'S RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE ORIGINATION,
SERVICING AND FORECLOSURE PRACTICES; (B) PROVIDES DETAILED
REPORTS AND ACCOUNTING FOR THE PAYMENTS DESCRIBED ABOVE;
AND (C) SHALL MAKE AVAILABLE CERTAIN DOCUMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH
THE PAYMENTS ABOVE UPON THE REQUEST OF THE OCC.  ON JUNE 17,
2015, THE OCC TERMINATED THIS ORDER AGAINST BANA BECAUSE THE
OCC DETERMINED THAT THE PROTECTION OF THE DEPOSITORS, OTHER
CUSTOMERS, AND SHAREHOLDERS OF BANA, AS WELL AS ITS SAFE AND
SOUND OPERATION, DOES NOT REQUIRE THE CONTINUED EXISTENCE OF
THE ORDER ISSUED IN APRIL, 2011 AND BANA HAS SATISFIED ALL OF THE
REQUIREMENTS OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE ORDER ISSUED IN
FEBRUARY, 2013.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Allegations: ON APRIL 13, 2011, THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL
RESERVE SYSTEM ("FEDERAL RESERVE") ISSUED A CEASE AND DESIST
CONSENT ORDER ("CONSENT ORDER") AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION ("BAC").  THE CONSENT ORDER MAKES NO FINDING ON
ANY ISSUES OF FACT OR LAW OR ANY EXPLICIT ALLEGATION
CONCERNING BAC.  THE CONSENT ORDER DESCRIBES A CONSENT
ORDER THAT THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY
("OCC") AND BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (THE "BANK"), WHICH IS OWNED AND
CONTROLLED BY BAC, ENTERED INTO ADDRESSING AREAS OF
WEAKNESS IDENTIFIED BY THE OCC IN MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING,
LOSS MITIGATION, FORECLOSURE ACTIVITIES, AND RELATED FUNCTIONS
BY THE BANK.  THE CONSENT ORDER ALSO STATES THAT THE OCC'S
FINDINGS RAISED CONCERNS THAT BAC DID NOT ADEQUATELY ASSESS
THE POTENTIAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH SUCH ACTIVITIES OF THE BANK.
THE CONSENT ORDER DIRECTS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF BAC TO
TAKE APPROPRIATE STEPS TO ENSURE THAT THE BANK COMPLIES WITH
THE OCC CONSENT ORDER.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REMEDIATION ACTIONS

Date Initiated: 04/13/2011

Docket/Case Number: 11-029-B-HC

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING

Allegations: ON APRIL 13, 2011, THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL
RESERVE SYSTEM ("FEDERAL RESERVE") ISSUED A CEASE AND DESIST
CONSENT ORDER ("CONSENT ORDER") AGAINST BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION ("BAC").  THE CONSENT ORDER MAKES NO FINDING ON
ANY ISSUES OF FACT OR LAW OR ANY EXPLICIT ALLEGATION
CONCERNING BAC.  THE CONSENT ORDER DESCRIBES A CONSENT
ORDER THAT THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY
("OCC") AND BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (THE "BANK"), WHICH IS OWNED AND
CONTROLLED BY BAC, ENTERED INTO ADDRESSING AREAS OF
WEAKNESS IDENTIFIED BY THE OCC IN MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING,
LOSS MITIGATION, FORECLOSURE ACTIVITIES, AND RELATED FUNCTIONS
BY THE BANK.  THE CONSENT ORDER ALSO STATES THAT THE OCC'S
FINDINGS RAISED CONCERNS THAT BAC DID NOT ADEQUATELY ASSESS
THE POTENTIAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH SUCH ACTIVITIES OF THE BANK.
THE CONSENT ORDER DIRECTS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF BAC TO
TAKE APPROPRIATE STEPS TO ENSURE THAT THE BANK COMPLIES WITH
THE OCC CONSENT ORDER.

Resolution Date: 04/13/2011

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: REMEDIATION ACTIONS

Sanction Details: THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES BAC AND ITS INSTITUTION-AFFILIATED
PARTIES TO CEASE AND DESIST AND TAKE SPECIFIED AFFIRMATIVE
ACTION, INCLUDING THAT BAC OR ITS BOARD:  (1) TAKE STEPS TO
ENSURE THE BANK COMPLIES WITH THE OCC ORDER; (2) SUBMIT
WRITTEN PLANS TO STRENGTHEN THE BOARD'S OVERSIGHT OF RISK
MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL AUDIT, AND COMPLIANCE PROGRAMS
CONCERNING CERTAIN MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING, LOSS MITIGATION,
AND FORECLOSURE ACTIVITIES CONDUCTED THROUGH THE BANK; AND
(3) PERIODICALLY SUBMIT WRITTEN PROGRESS REPORTS DETAILING THE
FORM AND MANNER OF ALL ACTIONS TAKEN TO SECURE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE CONSENT ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES BAC AND ITS INSTITUTION-AFFILIATED
PARTIES TO CEASE AND DESIST AND TAKE SPECIFIED AFFIRMATIVE
ACTION, INCLUDING THAT BAC OR ITS BOARD:  (1) TAKE STEPS TO
ENSURE THE BANK COMPLIES WITH THE OCC ORDER; (2) SUBMIT
WRITTEN PLANS TO STRENGTHEN THE BOARD'S OVERSIGHT OF RISK
MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL AUDIT, AND COMPLIANCE PROGRAMS
CONCERNING CERTAIN MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING, LOSS MITIGATION,
AND FORECLOSURE ACTIVITIES CONDUCTED THROUGH THE BANK; AND
(3) PERIODICALLY SUBMIT WRITTEN PROGRESS REPORTS DETAILING THE
FORM AND MANNER OF ALL ACTIONS TAKEN TO SECURE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE CONSENT ORDER.

Firm Statement BAC SUBMITTED AN OFFER OF SETTLEMENT TO THE FEDERAL RESERVE.
IN THE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, BAC AGREED TO CONSENT TO THE
ENTRY OF THE CONSENT ORDER, WITHOUT THE CONSENT ORDER
CONSTITUTING AN ADMISSION BY BAC OR ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES OF
ANY ALLEGATION MADE OR IMPLIED BY THE FEDERAL RESERVE IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MATTER.  THE CONSENT ORDER WAS ISSUED ON
APRIL 13, 2011, THE HIGHLIGHTS OF WHICH ARE DESCRIBED ABOVE IN
ITEM 7.  THE SANCTIONS IMPOSED ARE EXPLAINED ABOVE IN ITEM 12.C.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 12/07/2010

Docket/Case Number: #2010-239

Principal Product Type: Derivative(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY (THE "COMPTROLLER")
EXAMINED CERTAIN ACTIVITIES RELATED TO THE PARTICIPATION OF
CERTAIN BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (THE "BANK")
EMPLOYEES IN THE SALE OF CERTAIN DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL PRODUCTS
TO MUNICIPALITIES AND NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS, AND REVIEWED
INFORMATION INDICATING THAT CERTAIN BANK EMPLOYEES ENGAGED IN
ILLEGAL BIDDING ACTIVITY RELATED TO THE SALE OF THOSE DERIVATIVE
FINANCIAL PRODUCTS VARIOUSLY BETWEEN 1998 AND JANUARY 2004.
FOLLOWING THE REVIEW, THE BANK AND THE COMPTROLLER ENTERED
INTO A FORMAL WRITTEN AGREEMENT TO ENSURE THAT THE BANK
PROACTIVELY AND APPROPRIATELY MANAGES ITS COMPLIANCE RISK
RELATED TO VARIOUS COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING
THOSE RELATED TO DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL PRODUCTS TO
MUNICIPALITIES AND NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 12/07/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PAYMENT OF UNJUST ENRICHMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,217,218 AND
UNDERTAKING

Sanction Details: THE BANK HAS ENTERED INTO A WRITTEN AGREEMENT ON DECEMBER 7,
2010, WITH THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY.  UNDER THE TERMS
OF THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT, THE BANK AGREED TO INSTITUTE AND/OR
CONTINUE CERTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING
COMPLIANCE, TRAINING AND AUDIT PROGRAMS, RELATING TO
COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS FOR THE SALE OF DERIVATIVE
FINANCIAL PRODUCTS TO MUNICIPALITIES AND NON-PROFIT
ORGANIZATIONS THAT ARE INTENDED TO INVEST OR RE-INVEST THE
PROCEEDS OF BONDS ISSUED BY THESE ORGANIZATIONS OR TO
MANAGE OR TRANSFER THE INTEREST RATES OF BONDS ISSUED BY THE
ORGANIZATIONS.  IN ADDITION, THE BANK AGREED TO DO A FORMAL
ASSESSMENT OF ALL BUSINESS LINES THAT ENGAGE IN CERTAIN TYPES
OF COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS, TO COMPLETE A FORMAL
EVALUATION OF THE OPERATIONAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
APPLICABLE TO SUCH BUSINESSES TO ENSURE THAT ADEQUATE
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES EXIST TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH SAFE
AND SOUND BANKING PRACTICES, LAW, AND REGULATIONS RELATED TO
THE COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS, AND TO DEVELOP AN INTERNAL
TRAINING PROGRAM TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS AND
REGULATIONS RELATED TO COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS.  UPON
APPROVAL BY THE COMPTROLLER, THE BANK MUST IMMEDIATELY BEGIN
TO IMPLEMENT THE POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND PROGRAMS CALLED
FOR BY THE AGREEMENT.  FINALLY, THE BANK AGREED TO PAY UNJUST
ENRICHMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,217,218 TO CERTAIN
COUNTERPARTIES INDENTIFIED BY THE COMPTROLLER.

Firm Statement THE BANK HAS ENTERED INTO A WRITTEN AGREEMENT ON DECEMBER 7,
2010, WITH THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY.  UNDER THE TERMS
OF THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT, THE BANK AGREED TO INSTITUTE AND/OR
CONTINUE CERTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING
COMPLIANCE, TRAINING AND AUDIT PROGRAMS, RELATING TO
COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS FOR THE SALE OF DERIVATIVE
FINANCIAL PRODUCTS TO MUNICIPALITIES AND NON-PROFIT
ORGANIZATIONS THAT ARE INTENDED TO INVEST OR RE-INVEST THE
PROCEEDS OF BONDS ISSUED BY THESE ORGANIZATIONS OR TO
MANAGE OR TRANSFER THE INTEREST RATES OF BONDS ISSUED BY THE
ORGANIZATIONS.  IN ADDITION, THE BANK AGREED TO DO A FORMAL
ASSESSMENT OF ALL BUSINESS LINES THAT ENGAGE IN CERTAIN TYPES
OF COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS, TO COMPLETE A FORMAL
EVALUATION OF THE OPERATIONAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
APPLICABLE TO SUCH BUSINESSES TO ENSURE THAT ADEQUATE
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES EXIST TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH SAFE
AND SOUND BANKING PRACTICES, LAW, AND REGULATIONS RELATED TO
THE COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS, AND TO DEVELOP AN INTERNAL
TRAINING PROGRAM TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS AND
REGULATIONS RELATED TO COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS.  UPON
APPROVAL BY THE COMPTROLLER, THE BANK MUST IMMEDIATELY BEGIN
TO IMPLEMENT THE POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND PROGRAMS CALLED
FOR BY THE AGREEMENT.  FINALLY, THE BANK AGREED TO PAY UNJUST
ENRICHMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,217,218 TO CERTAIN
COUNTERPARTIES INDENTIFIED BY THE COMPTROLLER.

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Settled
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THE BANK HAS ENTERED INTO A WRITTEN AGREEMENT ON DECEMBER 7,
2010, WITH THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY.  UNDER THE TERMS
OF THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT, THE BANK AGREED TO INSTITUTE AND/OR
CONTINUE CERTAIN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES, INCLUDING
COMPLIANCE, TRAINING AND AUDIT PROGRAMS, RELATING TO
COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS FOR THE SALE OF DERIVATIVE
FINANCIAL PRODUCTS TO MUNICIPALITIES AND NON-PROFIT
ORGANIZATIONS THAT ARE INTENDED TO INVEST OR RE-INVEST THE
PROCEEDS OF BONDS ISSUED BY THESE ORGANIZATIONS OR TO
MANAGE OR TRANSFER THE INTEREST RATES OF BONDS ISSUED BY THE
ORGANIZATIONS.  IN ADDITION, THE BANK AGREED TO DO A FORMAL
ASSESSMENT OF ALL BUSINESS LINES THAT ENGAGE IN CERTAIN TYPES
OF COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS, TO COMPLETE A FORMAL
EVALUATION OF THE OPERATIONAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
APPLICABLE TO SUCH BUSINESSES TO ENSURE THAT ADEQUATE
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES EXIST TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH SAFE
AND SOUND BANKING PRACTICES, LAW, AND REGULATIONS RELATED TO
THE COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS, AND TO DEVELOP AN INTERNAL
TRAINING PROGRAM TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS AND
REGULATIONS RELATED TO COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS.  UPON
APPROVAL BY THE COMPTROLLER, THE BANK MUST IMMEDIATELY BEGIN
TO IMPLEMENT THE POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND PROGRAMS CALLED
FOR BY THE AGREEMENT.  FINALLY, THE BANK AGREED TO PAY UNJUST
ENRICHMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,217,218 TO CERTAIN
COUNTERPARTIES INDENTIFIED BY THE COMPTROLLER.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE ("IRS")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Restitution

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/08/2010

Docket/Case Number: NONE

Principal Product Type: Derivative(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION (THE "BANK") VIOLATED CERTAIN
BIDDING REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN THE TREASURY REGULATIONS
RELATED TO CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONTRACTS, AND ENTERED INTO
CERTAIN INVESTMENT AND/OR SWAP CONTRACTS (OR PROVIDED BIDS TO
ENTER INTO SUCH CONTRACTS) THAT DID NOT REFLECT THE FAIR
MARKET VALUE OF THOSE CONTRACTS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/08/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000,000

Sanctions Ordered: Disgorgement/Restitution

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $25,000,000

Sanction Details: ON DECEMBER 8, 2010, THE BANK ENTERED INTO A CLOSING AGREEMENT
WITH THE IRS THAT ADDRESSED THE BANK'S VIOLATION OF CERTAIN
BIDDING REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN THE TREASURY REGULATIONS
RELATED TO CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONTRACTS, AND THE BANK'S
ENTERING INTO CERTAIN INVESTMENT AND/OR SWAP CONTRACTS (OR
PROVIDING BIDS TO ENTER INTO SUCH CONTRACTS) THAT DID NOT
REFLECT THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THOSE CONTRACTS. THE BANK
AGREED TO PAY THE IRS $25,000,000 AS RESTITUTION FOR ARBITRAGE
REBATE PAYMENTS AND OTHER AMOUNTS THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN
PAYABLE TO THE IRS AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT AND THE BANK
RECEIVED A RELEASE RELATED TO ITS PARTICIPATION IN, BIDS FOR, OR
STATEMENTS OR OMISSIONS RELATED TO ANY CONTRACTS THAT THE
BANK BID ON FROM 1998 THROUGH 2006.

Firm Statement ON DECEMBER 8, 2010, THE BANK ENTERED INTO A CLOSING AGREEMENT
WITH THE IRS THAT ADDRESSED THE BANK'S VIOLATION OF CERTAIN
BIDDING REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN THE TREASURY REGULATIONS
RELATED TO CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONTRACTS, AND THE BANK'S
ENTERING INTO CERTAIN INVESTMENT AND/OR SWAP CONTRACTS (OR
PROVIDING BIDS TO ENTER INTO SUCH CONTRACTS) THAT DID NOT
REFLECT THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THOSE CONTRACTS. THE BANK
AGREED TO PAY THE IRS $25,000,000 AS RESTITUTION FOR ARBITRAGE
REBATE PAYMENTS AND OTHER AMOUNTS THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN
PAYABLE TO THE IRS AS A RESULT OF THE CONDUCT AND THE BANK
RECEIVED A RELEASE RELATED TO ITS PARTICIPATION IN, BIDS FOR, OR
STATEMENTS OR OMISSIONS RELATED TO ANY CONTRACTS THAT THE
BANK BID ON FROM 1998 THROUGH 2006.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Allegations: THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM
CONDUCTED A REVIEW CONCERNING VARIOUS TYPES OF ANTI-
COMPETITIVE ACTIVITY BY CERTAIN BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION
(THE "BANK") EMPLOYEES IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE SALE OF CERTAIN
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL PRODUCTS TO MUNICIPALITIES AND NON-PROFIT
ORGANIZATIONS VARIOUSLY BETWEEN 1998 AND 2003.  FOLLOWING THE
REVIEW, THE BANK AND THE RESERVE BANK ENTERED INTO A FORMAL
WRITTEN AGREEMENT TO ENSURE THAT THE BANK PROACTIVELY AND
APPROPRIATELY MANAGES ITS COMPLIANCE RISK RELATED TO CERTAIN
COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FEDERAL RESERVE BANK OF RICHMOND (THE "RESERVE BANK")

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/06/2010

Docket/Case Number: 10-240-WA/RB-HC

Principal Product Type: Derivative(s)

Other Product Type(s):

THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM
CONDUCTED A REVIEW CONCERNING VARIOUS TYPES OF ANTI-
COMPETITIVE ACTIVITY BY CERTAIN BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION
(THE "BANK") EMPLOYEES IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE SALE OF CERTAIN
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL PRODUCTS TO MUNICIPALITIES AND NON-PROFIT
ORGANIZATIONS VARIOUSLY BETWEEN 1998 AND 2003.  FOLLOWING THE
REVIEW, THE BANK AND THE RESERVE BANK ENTERED INTO A FORMAL
WRITTEN AGREEMENT TO ENSURE THAT THE BANK PROACTIVELY AND
APPROPRIATELY MANAGES ITS COMPLIANCE RISK RELATED TO CERTAIN
COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS.

Resolution Date: 12/06/2010

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: UNDERTAKING TO ASSESS COMPLIANCE RISK PROGRAMS.

Sanction Details: THE BANK HAS ENTERED INTO A WRITTEN AGREEMENT ON DECEMBER 6,
2010, WITH THE RESERVE BANK.  UNDER THE TERMS OF THE WRITTEN
AGREEMENT, THE BANK HAS AGREED TO SUBMIT A WRITTEN PLAN TO
STRENGTHEN BOARD OVERSIGHT OF THE BANK'S COMPLIANCE RISK
MANAGEMENT PROGRAM AS IT RELATES TO CERTAIN TYPES OF
COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS.  IN ADDITION, THE BANK AGREED TO
SUBMIT A WRITTEN PLAN TO STRENGTHEN THE BANK'S COMPLIANCE
RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM REGARDING THOSE SAME COMPETITIVELY
BID TRANSACTIONS, AND TO PROMPTLY IMPLEMENT THAT PLAN ONCE IT
IS APPROVED BY THE RESERVE BANK.

Firm Statement THE BANK HAS ENTERED INTO A WRITTEN AGREEMENT ON DECEMBER 6,
2010, WITH THE RESERVE BANK.  UNDER THE TERMS OF THE WRITTEN
AGREEMENT, THE BANK HAS AGREED TO SUBMIT A WRITTEN PLAN TO
STRENGTHEN BOARD OVERSIGHT OF THE BANK'S COMPLIANCE RISK
MANAGEMENT PROGRAM AS IT RELATES TO CERTAIN TYPES OF
COMPETITIVELY BID TRANSACTIONS.  IN ADDITION, THE BANK AGREED TO
SUBMIT A WRITTEN PLAN TO STRENGTHEN THE BANK'S COMPLIANCE
RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM REGARDING THOSE SAME COMPETITIVELY
BID TRANSACTIONS, AND TO PROMPTLY IMPLEMENT THAT PLAN ONCE IT
IS APPROVED BY THE RESERVE BANK.

Sanctions Ordered:

Settled
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: SOUTHMARK PROPERTIES; THE CITIZENS AND SOUTHERN NATIONAL BANK
(NKA BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION)

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/01/1977

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SEC ALLEGED THAT PUBLIC DISCLOSURE BY THE CITIENS AND SOUTHERN
NATIONAL BANK (NKA BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION) (THE
 "GEORGIA BANK") CONTAINED UNTURE STATEMENTS OF MATERIAL FACTS
OR FAILED TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL FACTS NECESSARY IN ORDER TO
MAKE THE STATEMENTS MISLEADING.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/01/1977

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: INJUNCTION ACTION - CONSENT AND UNDERTAKING

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATION OF THE COMPLAINT
AND IN ORDER TO AVOID LENGTHY LITIGATION, THE GEORGIA BANK
ENTERED INTO A CONSENT SETTLEMENT OF THE INJUNCTION ACTION.
THIS INCLUDED A CONSENT AND UNDERTAKING TO ESTABLISH AN
ACQUISITION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO PERFORM
CERTAIN FUNCTIONS RELATING TO ANY FUTURE ACQUISITIONS OF
CORRESPONDENT ASSOCIATE BANKS, TO ESTABLISH A SPECIAL REVIEW
SUB COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD'S CREDIT COMMITTEE TO REVIEW
CERTAIN CREDIT TRANSACTIONS WITH DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
OFFICERS, AND TO DISCLOSE INFORMATION ABOUT RELATIONSHIPS WITH
CORRESPONDENT ASSOCIATE BANKS AND CERTAIN ACQUISITIONS IN
1975. ON JULY 27, 1984, THE COURT REMOVED THE CONSENT AND
UNDERTAKING AND ONLY THE PERMANENT INJUNCTION REMAINS IN
EFFECT.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent
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WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATION OF THE COMPLAINT
AND IN ORDER TO AVOID LENGTHY LITIGATION, THE GEORGIA BANK
ENTERED INTO A CONSENT SETTLEMENT OF THE INJUNCTION ACTION.
THIS INCLUDED A CONSENT AND UNDERTAKING TO ESTABLISH AN
ACQUISITION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO PERFORM
CERTAIN FUNCTIONS RELATING TO ANY FUTURE ACQUISITIONS OF
CORRESPONDENT ASSOCIATE BANKS, TO ESTABLISH A SPECIAL REVIEW
SUB COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD'S CREDIT COMMITTEE TO REVIEW
CERTAIN CREDIT TRANSACTIONS WITH DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
OFFICERS, AND TO DISCLOSE INFORMATION ABOUT RELATIONSHIPS WITH
CORRESPONDENT ASSOCIATE BANKS AND CERTAIN ACQUISITIONS IN
1975. ON JULY 27, 1984, THE COURT REMOVED THE CONSENT AND
UNDERTAKING AND ONLY THE PERMANENT INJUNCTION REMAINS IN
EFFECT.
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: FLEET FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. (PREDECESSOR TO FLEETBOSTON FINANCIAL
CORPORATION - NOW KNOWN AS BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION)

Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

AGREEMENT WAS TERMINATED

Date Initiated: 01/01/1983

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TRANSFER AGENT SERVICES

Allegations: PRIOR TO ITS AFFILIATION WITH FLEET, SHAWMUT BANK OF BOSTON, N.A.,
ACCEPTED AN AGREEMENT IN 1983 WITH THE OFFICE OF THE
COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY THAT TEMPORARILY AND PARTIALLY
RESTRICTED THE EXPANSION OF SHAWNMUT'S TRANSFER AGENT
SERVICING OPERATION.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 06/30/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: PRIOR TO ITS AFFILIATION WITH FLEET, SHAWMUT BANK OF BOSTON, N.A.,
ACCEPTED AN AGREEMENT IN 1983 WITH THE OFFICE OF THE
COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY THAT TEMPORARILY AND PARTIALLY
RESTRICTED THE EXPANSION OF SHAWMUT'S TRANSFER AGENT
SERVICING OPERATION. THE AGREEMENT WAS TERMINATED, REMOVING
RESTRICTION IN 1984. FLEET FINANCIAL GROUP MERGED WITH SHAWMUT
NATIONAL CORPORATION IN 1995.

Firm Statement PRIOR TO ITS AFFILIATION WITH FLEET, SHAWMUT BANK OF BOSTON, N.A.,
ACCEPTED AN AGREEMENT IN 1983 WITH THE OFFICE OF THE
COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY THAT TEMPORARILY AND PARTIALLY
RESTRICTED THE EXPANSION OF SHAWMUT'S TRANSFER AGENT
SERVICING OPERATION. THE AGREEMENT WAS TERMINATED, REMOVING
RESTRICTION IN 1984. FLEET FINANCIAL GROUP MERGED WITH SHAWMUT
NATIONAL CORPORATION IN 1995.

Sanctions Ordered:

Other
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PRIOR TO ITS AFFILIATION WITH FLEET, SHAWMUT BANK OF BOSTON, N.A.,
ACCEPTED AN AGREEMENT IN 1983 WITH THE OFFICE OF THE
COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY THAT TEMPORARILY AND PARTIALLY
RESTRICTED THE EXPANSION OF SHAWMUT'S TRANSFER AGENT
SERVICING OPERATION. THE AGREEMENT WAS TERMINATED, REMOVING
RESTRICTION IN 1984. FLEET FINANCIAL GROUP MERGED WITH SHAWMUT
NATIONAL CORPORATION IN 1995.

Disclosure 124 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: FLEET FINANCIAL GROUP, INC. (PREDECESSOR TO FLEETBOSTON FINANCIAL
CORPORATION-NOW KNOWN AS BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION)

Initiated By: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/01/1985

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Allegations: NORSTAR BANCORP, INC., THE PREDECESSOR OF FLEET FINANCIAL
GROUP, VOLUNTARILY BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE TREASURY
DEPARTMENT NUMEROUS VIOLATIONS OF THE BANK SECRECY ACT FOR
FAILURE TO REPORT CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN 1980 AND
1985 BY THREE BANK SUBSIDIARIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 12/30/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: TREASURY DEPARTMENT ASSESSED AGAINST NORSTAR A CIVIL PENALTY
OF $269,904 IN COMPLETE SETTLEMENT OF NORSTAR'S CIVIL LIABILITY
FOR VIOLATIONS BY THREE BANK SUBSIDIARIES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $269,904.00

Settled

Disclosure 125 of 163
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Reporting Source: Firm
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Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA NT & SA

Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/23/1987

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF BOOKS AND RECORDKEEPING PROVISIONS AS WELL AS
OTHER PROVISIONS OF THE U.S. SECURITIES LAWS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/01/1987

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: BOFA WAS SANCTIONED BY THE OCC. PURSUANT TO THE ORDER, BOFA
WAS CENSURED, TWO BOFA OFFICERS WERE SUSPENDED FOR SEVERAL
DAYS AND BOFA WAS DIRECTED TO ADOPT CERTAIN POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES AND TO CREATE A COMPLIANCE REVIEW COMMITTEE. THE
ORDER WAS LIFTED IN 1991.

Firm Statement BOFA WAS SANCTIONED BY THE OCC DUE TO PROBLEMS ASSOCIATED
WITH AN ATTEMPTED CONVERSION TO A NEW SECURITIES TRADE
PROCESSING & RECORD-KEEPING SYSTEM. THE OCC FOUND THAT DUE
TO SYSTEMS PROBLEMS, BOFA VIOLATED BOOKS & RECORD-KEEPING
PROVISIONS AS WELL AS OTHER PROVISIONS OF THE U.S. SECURITIES
LAWS. THE ORDER WAS LIFTED IN 1991.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure

Consent

Disclosure 126 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF BOSTON

Allegations: THAT FNBB, IN CONNECTION WITH ITS CORPORATE TRUST BUSINESS,
HAD VIOLATED CERTAIN RECORDKEEPING AND CUSTOMER RESPONSE
PROVISIONS OF THE SEC'S TRANSFER AGENT REGULATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Undertaking

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 12/31/1990

Docket/Case Number: AA-SCP-92-110

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TRANSFER AGENT SERVICES

Allegations: THAT FNBB, IN CONNECTION WITH ITS CORPORATE TRUST BUSINESS,
HAD VIOLATED CERTAIN RECORDKEEPING AND CUSTOMER RESPONSE
PROVISIONS OF THE SEC'S TRANSFER AGENT REGULATIONS.

Resolution Date: 12/30/1990

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THE COMPTROLLER ACCEPTED FNBB'S OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, UNDER
WHICH FNBB CONSENTED TO THE COMPTROLLER'S ISSUANCE OF AN
ORDER FINDING THAT FNBB HAD WILLFULLY VIOLATED CERTAIN
RECORDKEEPING AND CUSTOMER RESPONSE PROVISIONS OF THE SEC'S
TRANSFER AGENT REGULATIONS AND IMPOSING REMEDIAL MEASURES
DESIGNED TO PREVENT THE RECURRENCE OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATIONS.

Firm Statement THE COMPTROLLER TERMINATED ITS CONSENT ORDER ON MAY 1, 1992,
FOLLOWING AN EXAMINATION IN WHICH IT DETERMINED THAT FNBB HAS
SATISFACTORILY COMPLETED THE REQUIRED REMEDIAL ACTIONS.

Sanctions Ordered:

Settled

Disclosure 127 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: CONTINENTAL BANK, N.A. (NKA BANK OF AMERICA ILLINOIS)

Initiated By: COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Date Initiated: 01/01/1992

Allegations: VIOLATION OF CERTAIN RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT SECURITIES ACT AND COMPTROLLER'S
RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/01/1992

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 01/01/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AND $100,000 FINE TO BANK OF AMERICA
NT&SA; CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AND $100,000 FINE TO CONTINENTIAL
BANK N.A.

Firm Statement IN JANUARY 1992, AS PART OF AN INDUSTRY-WIDE RESOLUTION OF AN
INVESTIGATION OF CERTAIN MARKET PRACTICES FOR THE UNITED
STATES GOVERNMENT SPONSORED ENTERPRISE SECURITIES, THE
COMPTROLLER ISSUED CEASE AND DESIST ORDER TO BOFA, CBNA, AND
APPROXIMATELY 100 OTHER SECURITIES DEALERS (INCLUDING OTHER
BANKS) REQUIRING THESE ENTITIES TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF CERTAIN RECORD-KEEPING REQUIREMENTS
UNDER THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT SECURITIES ACT AND THE
COMPTROLLER'S RULES AND TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES. WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING, THE COMPTROLLER'S FINDINGS, BOFA AGREED
TO PAY A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000. CBNA, WHICH BECAME A
WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF BANKAMERICA CORPORATION IN
SEPTEMBER 1994, AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $200,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA NT & SA

Allegations: VIOLATION OF CERTAIN RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT SECURITIES ACT AND COMPTROLLER'S
RULES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/01/1992

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 01/01/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AND $100,000 FINE TO BANK OF AMERICA
NT&SA; CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AND $100,000 FINE TO CONTINENTIAL
BANK N.A.

Firm Statement IN JANUARY 1992, AS PART OF AN INDUSTRY-WIDE RESOLUTION OF AN
INVESTIGATION OF CERTAIN MARKET PRACTICES FOR THE UNITED
STATES GOVERNMENT SPONSORED ENTERPRISE SECURITIES, THE
COMPTROLLER ISSUED CEASE AND DESIST ORDER TO BOFA, CBNA, AND
APPROXIMATELY 100 OTHER SECURITIES DEALERS (INCLUDING OTHER
BANKS) REQUIRING THESE ENTITIES TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM
FURTHER VIOLATIONS OF CERTAIN RECORD-KEEPING REQUIREMENTS
UNDER THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT SECURITIES ACT AND THE
COMPTROLLER'S RULES AND TO PAY CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES. WITHOUT
ADMITTING OR DENYING, THE COMPTROLLER'S FINDINGS, BOFA AGREED
TO PAY A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000. CBNA, WHICH BECAME A
WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF BANKAMERICA CORPORATION IN
SEPTEMBER 1994, AGREED TO PAY A FINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $100,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $200,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 128 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANKAMERICA NATIONAL TRUST CO. (FORMERLY SECURITY PACIFIC
NATIONAL TRUST CO.)
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Initiated By: COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/01/1992

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS INVOLVED CERTAIN SECURITIES LENDING ACTIVITIES OF
BANKAMERICA NATIONAL TRUST CO. (FORMERLY SECURITY PACIFIC
NATIONAL TRUST CO. (SPNT CO.))AND RELATED ACTIVITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/01/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THIS DISCLOSURE CONCERNS SPNT CO. AND RELATED ENTITIES THAT
CEASED TO EXIST AFTER THEY WERE MERGED INTO BANKAMERICA
CORPORATION.

Firm Statement THIS DISCLOSURE CONCERNS SPNT CO. AND RELATED ENTITIES THAT
CEASED TO EXIST AFTER THEY WERE MERGED INTO BANKAMERICA
CORPORATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $521,823.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 129 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANKAMERICA NATIONAL TRUST CO. (FORMERLY SECURITY PACIFIC
NATIONAL TRUST CO.)

Initiated By: FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS INVOLVED CERTAIN SECURITIES LENDING ACTIVITIES OF
BANKAMERICA NATIONAL TRUST CO. (FORMERLY SECURITY PACIFIC
NATIONAL TRUST CO. (SPNT CO.))AND RELATED ACTIVITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/01/1992

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/01/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THIS DISCLOSURE CONCERNS SPNT CO. AND RELATED ENTITIES THAT
CEASED TO EXIST AFTER THEY WERE MERGED INTO BANKAMERICA
CORPORATION.

Firm Statement THIS DISCLOSURE CONCERNS SPNT CO. AND RELATED ENTITIES THAT
CEASED TO EXIST AFTER THEY WERE MERGED INTO BANKAMERICA
CORPORATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $521,823.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 130 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANKAMERICA NATIONAL TRUST CO. (FORMERLY SECURITY PACIFIC
NATIONAL TRUST CO.)

Initiated By: IRS

Date Initiated: 04/01/1992

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS INVOLVED CERTAIN SECURITIES LENDING ACTIVITIES OF
BANKAMERICA NATIONAL TRUST CO. (FORMERLY SECURITY PACIFIC
NATIONAL TRUST CO. (SPNT CO.))AND RELATED ACTIVITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/01/1992

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: N/A

Sanction Details: THIS DISCLOSURE CONCERNS SPNT CO. AND RELATED ENTITIES THAT
CEASED TO EXIST AFTER THEY WERE MERGED INTO BANKAMERICA
CORPORATION.

Firm Statement THIS DISCLOSURE CONCERNS SPNT CO. AND RELATED ENTITIES THAT
CEASED TO EXIST AFTER THEY WERE MERGED INTO BANKAMERICA
CORPORATION.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $521,823.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 131 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF BOSTON CORPORATION (N/K/A BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION)

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 01/11/1994

Docket/Case Number: ADMIN. PROCEEDING FILING NO. 3-8270

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THAT CERTAIN ASPECTS OF THE MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS PORTION OF BANK OF BOSTON CORPORATION'S 10-Q FOR THE
2ND QUARTER OF 1989 DID NOT COMPLY WITH SECTION 13(A) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (THE "EXCHANGE ACT").

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 02/26/1996

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: BANK OF BOSTON CORPORATION WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 13(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 12B-20
AND 13A-13 THEREUNDER.

Sanction Details: BANK OF BOSTON CORPORATION WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 13(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 12B-20
AND 13A-13 THEREUNDER.

Firm Statement BANK OF BOSTON CORPORATION WAS ORDERED TO CEASE AND DESIST
FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY VIOLATIONS AND ANY FUTURE
VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 13(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 12B-20
AND 13A-13 THEREUNDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 132 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: SEATTLE FIRST NATIONAL BANK

Initiated By: COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/30/1994

Docket/Case Number: EA-94-4

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(F)(1) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934 AND RULE 17(F)(1), PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 07/05/1994

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE MATTERS ASSERTED THEREIN,
SEATTLE-FIRST NATIONAL BANK ("SEAFIRST") A WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARY OF SEAFIRST CORPORATION AND BANKAMERICA
CORPORATION ENTERED INTO A JOINT CONSENT CEASE AND DESIST
ORDER WITH THE SEC AND THE OCC. THE ORDER FOUND THAT SEAFIRST
VIOLATED SECTIONS 17F1 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF '34 AND
RULE 17F1 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, PROHIBITED VIOLATIONS IN
THE FUTURE, AND REQUIRED SEAFIRST TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
OF $75,000.

Firm Statement THE MATTER AROSE OUT THEFTS FROM A COURIER SERVICE OF
SECURITIES SHIPPED BY SEAFIRST IN DEC '92. THE SEC AND OCC FOUND
THAT SEAFIRST FAILED TO CONFIRM RECEIPT OF THE SECURITIES BEING
DELIVERED AFTER THEY WERE NOT PAID WITHIN 10 DAYS AND FAILED TO
REPORT THE LOSS OF SUCH SECURITIES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $75,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 133 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: SEATTLE FIRST NATIONAL BANK

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/01/1994

Docket/Case Number: 3-9409

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: VIOLATION OF SECTION 17(F)(1) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934 AND RULE 17F1, PROMULGATED THEREUNDER.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 07/05/1994

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE MATTERS ASSERTED THEREIN,
SEATTLE-FIRST NATIONAL BANK ("SEAFIRST") A WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARY OF SEAFIRST CORPORATION AND BANKAMERICA
CORPORATION ENTERED INTO A JOINT CONSENT CEASE AND DESIST
ORDER WITH THE SEC AND THE OCC. THE ORDER FOUND THAT SEAFIRST
VIOLATED SECTIONS 17F1 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF '34 AND
RULE 17F1 PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, PROHIBITED VIOLATIONS IN
THE FUTURE, AND REQUIRED SEAFIRST TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
OF $75,000.

Firm Statement THE MATTER AROSE OUT THEFTS FROM A COURIER SERVICE OF
SECURITIES SHIPPED BY SEAFIRST IN DEC '92. THE SEC AND OCC FOUND
THAT SEAFIRST FAILED TO CONFIRM RECEIPT OF THE SECURITIES BEING
DELIVERED AFTER THEY WERE NOT PAID WITHIN 10 DAYS AND FAILED TO
REPORT THE LOSS OF SUCH SECURITIES.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $75,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Disclosure 134 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: NATIONSBANK, N.A. (NKA BANK OF AMERICA, N.A)

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Date Initiated: 05/04/1998

Docket/Case Number: 3-9596

Principal Product Type: Unit Investment Trust(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: ALLEGED THAT NATIONSBANK, N.A. (NKA BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.) WAS A
CAUSE OF NATIONSSECURITIES'(NKA BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES
LLC), A FORMER AFFILIATE BROKER/DEALER, VIOLATION OF SECTION
17(A)(2) & (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT IN REGARDS TO SUPERVISING
REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES IN ASSOCIATION WITH THE INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING OF SHARES OF THE NATIONSL GOVERNMENT INCOME
TERM TRUST 2003, INC. AND NATIONS FOVERNMENT INCOME TERM TRUST
2004, INC.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 05/04/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, NATIONSBANK, N.A.
(NKA BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.) CONSENTED TO AN ORDER TO CEASE AND
DESIST FROM COMMITTING OR CAUSING VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17
(A)(2) AND (3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 135 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: NATIONSBANK, N.A. (NKA BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.)

Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

STIPULATION AND CONSENT ORDER

Date Initiated: 05/04/1998

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Unit Investment Trust(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: OCC FOUND THAT NATIONSBANK,N.A.(N.K.A.BANK OF AMERICA, N.
A.)VIOLATED A CONDITION IN AN OCC APROVAL LETTER AND THEREBY
FAILED TO ADHERE TO AN OCC BANKING CIRCULAR WHICH PROVIDED
GUIDANCE TO ALL NATIONAL BANKS CONCERNING THE SALE &
MARKETING OF INVESTMENT PRODUCTS ON BANK PREMISES, IN
ASSOCIATION WITH THE INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING OF SHARES OF THE
NATIONS GOVERNMENT INCOME TERM TRUST 2003, INC. & NATIONS
GOVERNMENT INCOME TERM TRUST 2004, INC.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 05/04/1998

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING CHARGES, NATIONSBANK, N.A. (NKA
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.) CONSENTED TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF
$750,000.

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING CHARGES, NATIONSBANK, N.A. (NKA
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.) CONSENTED TO PAY A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OF
$750,000.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $750,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 136 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF BOSTON

Initiated By: THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY/FINE/UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/16/1999

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THAT THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF BOSTON ("FNBB"),AS A MEMBER OF A
SELLING GROUP INVOLVED IN THE DISTRIBUTION OF DEBT SECURITIES
FOR CERTAIN GOVERNMENT SPONSORED ENTERPRISES, COMMITTED
CERTAIN RECORDKEEPING VIOLATIONS RELATIVE TO CUSTOMER
ORDERS FOR GSE SECURITIES.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/16/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: IMPLEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE FUTURE
COMPLIANCE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled
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Other Sanctions Ordered: IMPLEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE FUTURE
COMPLIANCE.

Sanction Details: THE COMPTROLLER ACCEPTED FNBB'S OFFER OF SETTLEMENT, UNDER
WHICH FNBB CONSENTED TO THE ISSUANCE OF AN ORDER FINDING THAT
FNBB (1) CEASE AND DESIST FROM VIOLATING THOSE PROVISIONS, (2)
IMPLEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES DESIGNED TO ENSURE FUTURE
COMPLIANCE, (3) PAY A CIVIL PENALTY OF $100,000

Firm Statement THE SETTLEMENT ENTERED INTO BY FNBB WAS PART OF AN INDUSTRY-
WIDE INVESTIGATION OF THE DEBT SECURITIES MARKETS PERTAINING
TO GSE'S. PURSUANT TO THE SETTLEMENT, THE COMPTROLLER AND
OTHER REGULATORY AGENCIES CONCLUDED THEIR INVESTIGATION AS
TO 98 GOVERNMENT SECURITIES BROKER AND DEALERS, INCLUDING
FNBB, THAT HAD PARTICIPATED AS SELLING GROUP MEMBERS IN THE
PRIMARY DISTRIBUTION OF DEBT SECURITIES FOR THE GSE'S. FNBB HAS
INSTITUTED PROCEDURES TO COMPLY WITH THE SETTLEMENT AS WELL
AS THE SEPARATE REQUIREMENTS MANDATED BY THE INDIVIDUAL GSE'S.
THERE HAS BEEN NO RECURRENCE OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATIONS.

Disclosure 137 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A. (NKA BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.)

Initiated By: FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Date Initiated: 07/12/2001

Docket/Case Number: 01-010-B-HC/01-010-CMP-HC

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD AND THE NEW YORK STATE BANKING
DEPARTMENT ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE
LACK OF INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT,AND THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
(EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.).

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 07/12/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ON JULY 11, 2001, U.S. TRUST CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY OF NEW YORK (EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY OF NEW YORK ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO
UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A.)PAID TO THE FEDERAL RESERVE
BOARD A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $5 MILLION AND
MADE A $5 MILLION MONETARY PAYMENT OT THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

Firm Statement U.S. TRUST CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK (EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.), WITHOUT ADMITTING TO ANY ALLEGATIONS, CONSENTED
ON JULY 12, 2001, TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE ORDER TO CEASE AND
DESIST AND ORDER OF ASSESSMENT OF A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY AND
MONETARY PAYMENT ISSUED UPON CONSENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE LACK OF
INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT, AND RELATING TO THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK (AS
OF 4/1/06 UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A.).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: NB HOLDINGS CORPORATION (F/N/A U.S. TRUST CORPORATION)

Allegations: THE FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD AND THE NEW YORK STATE BANKING
DEPARTMENT ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE
LACK OF INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT,AND THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
(EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.).

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/12/2001

Docket/Case Number: 01-010-B-HC/01-010-CMP-HC

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

THE FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD AND THE NEW YORK STATE BANKING
DEPARTMENT ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE
LACK OF INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT,AND THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
(EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.).

Resolution Date: 07/12/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ON JULY 11, 2001, U.S. TRUST CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY OF NEW YORK (EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY OF NEW YORK ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO
UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A.)PAID TO THE FEDERAL RESERVE
BOARD A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $5 MILLION AND
MADE A $5 MILLION MONETARY PAYMENT OT THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

Firm Statement U.S. TRUST CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK (EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.), WITHOUT ADMITTING TO ANY ALLEGATIONS, CONSENTED
ON JULY 12, 2001, TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE ORDER TO CEASE AND
DESIST AND ORDER OF ASSESSMENT OF A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY AND
MONETARY PAYMENT ISSUED UPON CONSENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE LACK OF
INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT, AND RELATING TO THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK (AS
OF 4/1/06 UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A.).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Disclosure 138 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A. (N/K/A BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.)

Initiated By: NEW YORK STATE BANKING DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/12/2001

Docket/Case Number: 01-010-B-HC/01-010-CMP-HC

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD AND THE NEW YORK STATE BANKING
DEPARTMENT ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE
LACK OF INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT,AND THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
(EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 07/12/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ON JULY 11, 2001, U.S. TRUST CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY OF NEW YORK (EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY OF NEW YORK ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO
UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A.)PAID TO THE FEDERAL RESERVE
BOARD A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $5 MILLION AND
MADE A $5 MILLION MONETARY PAYMENT OT THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

Firm Statement U.S. TRUST CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK (EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.), WITHOUT ADMITTING TO ANY ALLEGATIONS, CONSENTED
ON JULY 12, 2001, TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE ORDER TO CEASE AND
DESIST AND ORDER OF ASSESSMENT OF A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY AND
MONETARY PAYMENT ISSUED UPON CONSENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE LACK OF
INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT, AND RELATING TO THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK (AS
OF 4/1/06 UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A.).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order
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Firm Statement U.S. TRUST CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK (EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.), WITHOUT ADMITTING TO ANY ALLEGATIONS, CONSENTED
ON JULY 12, 2001, TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE ORDER TO CEASE AND
DESIST AND ORDER OF ASSESSMENT OF A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY AND
MONETARY PAYMENT ISSUED UPON CONSENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE LACK OF
INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT, AND RELATING TO THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK (AS
OF 4/1/06 UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A.).

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: NB HOLDINGS CORPORATION (F/K/A U.S. TRUST CORPORATION)

Initiated By: NEW YORK STATE BANKING DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/12/2001

Docket/Case Number: 01-010-B-HC/01-010-CMP-HC

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD AND THE NEW YORK STATE BANKING
DEPARTMENT ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE
LACK OF INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE
COMPLIANCE WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT,AND THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
(EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK
ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.).

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Order
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Resolution Date: 07/12/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ON JULY 11, 2001, U.S. TRUST CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY OF NEW YORK (EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY OF NEW YORK ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO
UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A.)PAID TO THE FEDERAL RESERVE
BOARD A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $5 MILLION AND
MADE A $5 MILLION MONETARY PAYMENT OT THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

Firm Statement U.S. TRUST CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK (EFFECTIVE 3/31/2006, UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW
YORK ENGAGED IN A CHARTER CONVERSION INTO UNITED STATES TRUST
COMPANY, N.A.), WITHOUT ADMITTING TO ANY ALLEGATIONS, CONSENTED
ON JULY 12, 2001, TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE ORDER TO CEASE AND
DESIST AND ORDER OF ASSESSMENT OF A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY AND
MONETARY PAYMENT ISSUED UPON CONSENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE
ALLEGED VIOLATIONS AND DEFICIENCIES RELATING TO THE LACK OF
INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INADEQUATE COMPLIANCE
WITH THE BANK SECRECY ACT, AND RELATING TO THE FAILURE TO
MAINTAIN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE BOOKS AND RECORDS IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE STRATEGIC
TRADING GROUP OF UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORK (AS
OF 4/1/06 UNITED STATES TRUST COMPANY, N.A.).

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 139 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANKAMERICA CORPORATION (NKA BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION)

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Date Initiated: 07/30/2001

Allegations: THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("COMMISSION") FOUND
THAT IN 1997 AND 1998, BANKAMERICA CORPORATION ("BANKAMERICA"),
PREDECESSOR OF THE CORPORATE PARENT OF THE APPLICANT,
VIOLATED VARIOUS SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT ACCOUNTING AND
REPORTING PROVISIONS WITH RESPECT TO A BUSINESS ALLIANCE
BETWEEN BANKAMERICA AND D.E. SHAW SECURITIES GROUP, L.P. AND
RELATED ENTITIES.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 07/30/2001

Docket/Case Number: 3-10541

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 07/30/2001

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: ON JULY 30, 2001, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS,
CHARGES OR FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT'S CORPORATE PARENT (BANK
OF AMERICA CORPORATION) CONSENTED TO ENTRY OF AN
ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER PROVIDING THAT IT CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING PROVISIONS CITED IN THE
COMMISSION'S ALLEGATIONS.

Firm Statement ON JULY 30, 2001, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS,
CHARGES OR FINDINGS, THE APPLICANT'S CORPORATE PARENT (BANK
OF AMERICA CORPORATION) CONSENTED TO ENTRY OF AN
ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER PROVIDING THAT IT CEASE AND DESIST FROM
COMMITTING OR CAUSING ANY FUTURE VIOLATIONS OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING PROVISIONS CITED IN THE
COMMISSION'S ALLEGATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Cease and Desist/Injunction

Decision & Order of Offer of Settlement

Disclosure 140 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: NEW YORK COUNTY (NEW YORK) DISTRICT ATTORNEY

Date Initiated: 03/01/2004

Allegations: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION ("BAC") ALLEGEDLY HAD DEFICIENCIES
IN CERTAIN INTERNAL ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING CONTROLS RELATING
TO SOUTH AMERICAN MONEY SERVICE BUSINESS CUSTOMERS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/01/2004

Docket/Case Number: L03-005071

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): CORRESPONDENT BANK ACCOUNT

Resolution Date: 09/28/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: PLUS ADDITIONAL $1.5 MILLION FOR COST OF INVESTIGATION.

Sanction Details: BAC WILL PAY TOTAL OF $7.5 MILLION, $6 MILLION OF WHICH WILL BE PAID
TO THE CITY AND STATE OF NEW YORK AND $1.5 MILLION TO BE PAID TO
THE NEW YORK COUNTY (NEW YORK) DISTRICT ATTORNEY FOR THE COST
OF THE INVESTIGATION.

Firm Statement BAC ENTERED INTO A CIVIL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE NEW
YORK COUNTY (NEW YORK) DISTRICT ATTORNEY (DA) ON SEPTEMBER 28,
2006. THE AGREEMENT PROVIDES THAT, FROM ABOUT 2002 TO 2004, BAC
HAD DEFICIENCIES IN CERTAIN INTERNAL ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING
CONTROLS AND FAILED TO REACT APPROPRIATELY TO THE RISK
PRESENTED BY CERTAIN SOUTH AMERICAN MONEY SERVICES BUSINESS
CUSTOMERS, WHO MOVED FUNDS ILLEGALLY THROUGH BAC. THE
AGREEMENT REQUIRES BAC TO MAKE A TOTAL PAYMENT OF $7.5 MILLION,
TO COOPERATE WITH THE DA IN ONGOING INVESTIGATIONS, AND TO
ABIDE BY ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING CHANGES RECOMMENDED BY BAC'S
REGULATORS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $6,000,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 141 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS THAT BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BY VIRTUE OF REGULATION
9B.07, EXECUTED TRADES INVOLVING PRE-EXECUTION COMMUNICATIONS
WHICH WERE NOT ENTERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRESCRIBED TIME
REQUIRMENTS AND PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF REGULATION 9B.16.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: CHICAGO BOARD OF TRADE, INC.

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINE

Date Initiated: 08/25/2004

Docket/Case Number: 2004-INV-12B

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TREASURY OPTIONS

ALLEGATIONS THAT BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BY VIRTUE OF REGULATION
9B.07, EXECUTED TRADES INVOLVING PRE-EXECUTION COMMUNICATIONS
WHICH WERE NOT ENTERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRESCRIBED TIME
REQUIRMENTS AND PROCEDURES, IN VIOLATION OF REGULATION 9B.16.

Resolution Date: 09/27/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY VIOLATION OF REGULATION 9B.16,
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $20,000.00

Firm Statement WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY VIOLATION OF REGULATION 9B.16,
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. AGREED TO PAY A FINE OF $20,000.00

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $20,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 142 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY

Date Initiated: 02/09/2005

Docket/Case Number: AA-EC-04-35

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY CONDUCTED
ONGOING EXAMINATIONS OF BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
(THE "BANK") INVOLVING THE BANK'S CONDUCT IN CONNECTION WITH
ALLEGED MARKET TIMING, LATE TRADING AND RELATED MATTERS IN THE
BANK'S AFFILIATED NATIONS FUNDS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

SUPERVISORY WRITTEN AGREEMENT

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 02/09/2005

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: NONE

Sanction Details: THE BANK HAS ENTERED INTO A SUPERVISORY WRITTEN AGREEMENT
DATED FEBRUARY 9, 2005, WITH THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY.
UNDER THE TERMS OF THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT, THE BANK HAS
SUBMITTED AN ACTION PLAN (THE "PLAN") THAT IT SHALL IMPLEMENT AND
ADHERE TO UNTIL IT RECEIVES FURTHER WRITTEN NOTICE FROM THE
COMPTROLLER. THE PLAN PROVIDES FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR TRANSACTION DOCUMENTATION OF EACH
SIGNIFICANT NEW CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP, NEW OR UNIQUE PRODUCT
OR SERVICE, OR ANY SIGNIFICANT CHANGE TO AN EXISTING CUSTOMER
RELATIONSHIP, PRODUCT, SERVICE OR BUSINESS PRACTICE
RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL BY THE WEALTH AND INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT GROUP; POLICIES AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING THE
APPROVAL AND RISK MANAGEMENT OF EACH SIGNIFICANT NEW
CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP, NEW OR UNIQUE PRODUCT OR SERVICE, OR
ANY SIGNIFICANT CHANGE TO AN EXISTING CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP,
PRODUCT, SERVICE OR BUSINESS PRACTICE RECOMMENDED FOR
APPROVAL BY THE WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT GROUP; AND
DEVELOPMENT OF AUDIT PROCEDURES TO PROVIDE COMPREHENSIVE
COVERAGE OF ACTIVITY INVOLVING THE WEALTH AND INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT BUSINESS.

Firm Statement THE BANK HAS ENTERED INTO A SUPERVISORY WRITTEN AGREEMENT
DATED FEBRUARY 9, 2005, WITH THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY.
UNDER THE TERMS OF THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT, THE BANK HAS
SUBMITTED AN ACTION PLAN (THE "PLAN") THAT IT SHALL IMPLEMENT AND
ADHERE TO UNTIL IT RECEIVES FURTHER WRITTEN NOTICE FROM THE
COMPTROLLER. THE PLAN PROVIDES FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR TRANSACTION DOCUMENTATION OF EACH
SIGNIFICANT NEW CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP, NEW OR UNIQUE PRODUCT
OR SERVICE, OR ANY SIGNIFICANT CHANGE TO AN EXISTING CUSTOMER
RELATIONSHIP, PRODUCT, SERVICE OR BUSINESS PRACTICE
RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL BY THE WEALTH AND INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT GROUP; POLICIES AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING THE
APPROVAL AND RISK MANAGEMENT OF EACH SIGNIFICANT NEW
CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP, NEW OR UNIQUE PRODUCT OR SERVICE, OR
ANY SIGNIFICANT CHANGE TO AN EXISTING CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP,
PRODUCT, SERVICE OR BUSINESS PRACTICE RECOMMENDED FOR
APPROVAL BY THE WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT GROUP; AND
DEVELOPMENT OF AUDIT PROCEDURES TO PROVIDE COMPREHENSIVE
COVERAGE OF ACTIVITY INVOLVING THE WEALTH AND INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT BUSINESS.

PLEASE REMOVE THIS DISCLOSURE AS IT NOW FALLS OUTSIDE THE TEN
YEAR REPORTING REQUIREMENT IN 11D(4).

Sanctions Ordered:

Consent
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THE BANK HAS ENTERED INTO A SUPERVISORY WRITTEN AGREEMENT
DATED FEBRUARY 9, 2005, WITH THE COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY.
UNDER THE TERMS OF THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT, THE BANK HAS
SUBMITTED AN ACTION PLAN (THE "PLAN") THAT IT SHALL IMPLEMENT AND
ADHERE TO UNTIL IT RECEIVES FURTHER WRITTEN NOTICE FROM THE
COMPTROLLER. THE PLAN PROVIDES FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR TRANSACTION DOCUMENTATION OF EACH
SIGNIFICANT NEW CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP, NEW OR UNIQUE PRODUCT
OR SERVICE, OR ANY SIGNIFICANT CHANGE TO AN EXISTING CUSTOMER
RELATIONSHIP, PRODUCT, SERVICE OR BUSINESS PRACTICE
RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL BY THE WEALTH AND INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT GROUP; POLICIES AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING THE
APPROVAL AND RISK MANAGEMENT OF EACH SIGNIFICANT NEW
CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP, NEW OR UNIQUE PRODUCT OR SERVICE, OR
ANY SIGNIFICANT CHANGE TO AN EXISTING CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP,
PRODUCT, SERVICE OR BUSINESS PRACTICE RECOMMENDED FOR
APPROVAL BY THE WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT GROUP; AND
DEVELOPMENT OF AUDIT PROCEDURES TO PROVIDE COMPREHENSIVE
COVERAGE OF ACTIVITY INVOLVING THE WEALTH AND INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT BUSINESS.

PLEASE REMOVE THIS DISCLOSURE AS IT NOW FALLS OUTSIDE THE TEN
YEAR REPORTING REQUIREMENT IN 11D(4).

Disclosure 143 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: FEDERAL RESERVE BANK OF RICHMOND

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

WRITTEN AGREEMENT

Date Initiated: 02/09/2005

Docket/Case Number:

Principal Product Type: Mutual Fund(s)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM AND
THE RESERVE BANK REVIEWED CERTAIN ACTIVITIES OF BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION'S WEALTH AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT
GROUP. THE RESERVE BANK RAISED CONCERNS THAT BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION (THE "BANK") AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES DID NOT ADEQUATELY
ASSESS THE LEGAL AND REPUTATIONAL RISKS POSED BY CERTAIN
MUTUAL FUND TRADING ACTIVITIES AND ADDRESS FLAWS IN
COMPLIANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PERTAINING TO THE ASSET
MANAGEMENT LINES OF BUSINESS. FOLLOWING THAT REVIEW, THE BANK
AND THE RESERVE BANK EXECUTED A WRITTEN AGREEMENT TO ENSURE
THAT THE BANK AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES MAKE PROGRESS IN THEIR
EFFORTS TO ADOPT AND IMPLEMENT NUMEROUS CORRECTIVE ACTIONS
AND BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS.

Current Status: Final
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Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

WRITTEN AGREEMENT

Resolution Date: 02/09/2005

Resolution:

Firm Statement THE BANK AGREED TO CONTINUE TO TAKE STEPS TO ADOPT AND
IMPLEMENT CORRECTIVE ACTIONS AND BEST PRACTICE
RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE INDEPENDENT CONSULTANTS AND TO
ENHANCE THE ENTERPRISE-WIDE COMPLIANCE PROGRAM TO ENSURE
COMPLIANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS, INCLUDING
BUT NOT LIMITED TO SECURITIES LAWS AND REGULATIONS INCLUDING,
AMONG OTHER THINGS, A PROCESS FOR RESOLVING OR ESCALATING
COMPLIANCE ISSUES, ONGOING TRAINING ON POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS FOR
CERTAIN STAFF OF THE BANK AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES, ENSURE
PROCESSES FOR AN ENHANCED APPROVAL PROCESS FOR NEW CLIENTS,
NEW OR UNIQUE INVESTMENT PRODUCTS, SERVICES OR TRANSACTIONS,
AND MATERIAL CHANGES TO EXISTING PRODUCTS OR SERVICES,
PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THOROUGH ASSESSMENT OF RISKS, POLICIES
AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND
ARRANGEMENTS ARE CONSISTENT WITH BUSINESS EXPERTISE,
STRATEGY AND APPROVED RISK PROFILE, PROCEDURES FOR INTERNAL
AUDIT, MECHANISMS FOR PERIODIC REVIEWS, MONITORING OF
ENTERPRISE-WIDE ADOPTION AND EXECUTION OF NEW POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES AND OTHER RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE INDEPENDENT
CONSULTANTS, AND SUBMISSION OF PROGRESS REPORTS TO RESERVE
BANK.

PLEASE REMOVE THIS DISCLOSURE AS IT NOW FALLS OUTSIDE THE TEN
YEAR REPORTING REQUIREMENT IN 11D(4).

Consent

Disclosure 144 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Allegations: FROM SEPTEMBER 1996 TO DECEMBER 2001, MERRILL LYNCH BREACHED
SFA RULE 5.49 BY FAILING TO ACCURATELY REPORT THE CAPACITY IN
WHICH IT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN NON-UK EUROPEAN EQUITIES
WHEN REPORTING TRANSACTIONS TO THE SFA.  FROM DECEMBER 2001
UNTIL JANUARY 2006, MERRILL LYNCH BREACHED FSA RULE SUP 17.6.2R
BY FAILING TO ACCURATELY REPROT THE CAPACITY IN WHICH IT
EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN NON-UK EUROPEAN EQUITIES WHEN
REPORTING TRANSACTIONS TO THE FSA.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: FINANCIAL SERVICES AUTHORITY

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 08/04/2006

Docket/Case Number: NO DOCKET NUMBER.

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): NON-UK EUROPEAN EQUITIES

FROM SEPTEMBER 1996 TO DECEMBER 2001, MERRILL LYNCH BREACHED
SFA RULE 5.49 BY FAILING TO ACCURATELY REPORT THE CAPACITY IN
WHICH IT EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN NON-UK EUROPEAN EQUITIES
WHEN REPORTING TRANSACTIONS TO THE SFA.  FROM DECEMBER 2001
UNTIL JANUARY 2006, MERRILL LYNCH BREACHED FSA RULE SUP 17.6.2R
BY FAILING TO ACCURATELY REPROT THE CAPACITY IN WHICH IT
EXECUTED TRANSACTIONS IN NON-UK EUROPEAN EQUITIES WHEN
REPORTING TRANSACTIONS TO THE FSA.

Resolution Date: 08/04/2006

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: MONETARY FINE WAS 150,000.00 IN BRITISH POUNDS.  UNABLE TO ENTER
IN PREFORMATTED US DOLLAR SPACE ABOVE.

Sanction Details: N/A

Firm Statement SEVERAL MITIGATING FACTORS WERE CONSIDERED BY THE FINANCIAL
SERVICES AUTHORITY  ("FSA") WHEN IMPOSING THEIR FINE:  MERRILL
LYNCH REPORTED THIS MATTER TO THE FSA AND HAS  COOPERATED
FULLY WITH THE FSA IN RESPECT TO THIS MATTER.  MERRILL LYNCH HAS
TAKEN SUBSTANTIAL STEPS TO IMPROVE ITS SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS
TO ENSURE THAT GOING FORWARD TRANSACTION REPORTS ARE
ACCURATE.  THE FSA HAS STATED THAT MERRILL LYNCH'S FAILURE WAS
NOT DELIBERATE OR RECKLESS.  FINE TO BE PAID BY MERRILL LYNCH ON
OR BEFORE AUGUST 17, 2006.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $150,000.00

Acceptance, Waiver & Consent(AWC)

Disclosure 145 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH EQUITIES AUSTRALIA LIMITED (MLEAL)

Allegations: ALLEGATIONS THAT DEFICIENCIES WERE IDENTIFIED IN MLEAL'S
RELEVANT ORDER RECORDS, SYSTEMS AND PROCESSES.  THERE WERE
ALLEGATIONS OF DEFICIENCIES IN THREE SEPARATE AGENCY ORDER
RECORD MATTERS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: THE AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE (ASX)

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

ORDERED THAT FIRM BE SUBJECT TO AN EDUCATION AND COMPLIANCE
PROGRAM FOR CONTRAVENING ASX'S ORDER RECORD REQUIREMENTS.

Date Initiated: 05/08/2003

Docket/Case Number: REF: 2003052

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

ALLEGATIONS THAT DEFICIENCIES WERE IDENTIFIED IN MLEAL'S
RELEVANT ORDER RECORDS, SYSTEMS AND PROCESSES.  THERE WERE
ALLEGATIONS OF DEFICIENCIES IN THREE SEPARATE AGENCY ORDER
RECORD MATTERS.

Resolution Date: 12/21/2004

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: ORDERED THAT FIRM BE SUBJECT TO AN EDUCATION AND COMPLIANCE
PROGRAM FOR ASX'S ORDER RECORD REQUIREMENTS.

Sanction Details: SEE ITEM 13

Firm Statement THE DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED IN THE RELEVANT ORDER RECORDS OF
THREE MATTERS EVIDENCED FAILINGS OF MLEAL'S SYSTEMS AND
PROCESSES AND ITS OBLIGATION TO COMPLY WITH RULE 1.2.1.2.  THE
FLAWS IN ITS RECORD-KEEPING SYSTEM, AND THE FAILURE TO INPUT OR
RECORD DATA CORRECTLY, RESULTED IN THE CREATING OF COMPLETE
AND ERRONEOUS ORDER RECORDS.  FINE TOTALLING $35,000.00 (AUD)
FOR MATTERS TRANSACTION ON MAY 6TH AND MAY 7TH, 2003.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $35,000.00

Order

Disclosure 146 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL BANK, LTD.

Initiated By: THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES AUTHORITY LIMITED ("SFA") #169

Date Initiated: 04/03/2002

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Allegations: IT WAS ALLEGED THE MLIB FAILED TO ACT WITH DUE SKILL, CARE AND
DILIGENCE AND FAILED TO ARRANGE PROPER PROTECTION FOR A
CLIENT'S ASSETS IN INSTRUCTING THE TRANSFERS OF NINE SECURITIES,
IN BREACH OF PRINCIPLES 2 AND 7 OF SFA'S STATEMENTS OF PRINCIPLE.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

REPRIMAND

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Debt - Government

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 04/03/2002

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MLIB ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE SFA WAS REPRIMANDED,
FINED $177,500 AND HAS AGREED TO PAY A CONTRIBUTION OF $56,800
TOWARDS SFA'S COSTS.

Firm Statement MLIB ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT WITH THE SFA WAS REPRIMANDED,
FINED $177,500 AND HAS AGREED TO PAY A CONTRIBUTION OF $56,800
TOWARDS SFA'S COSTS.

Sanctions Ordered: Censure
Monetary/Fine $177,500.00

Settled

Disclosure 147 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL BANK LIMITED

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND FUTURES AUTHORITY LIMITED ("SFA")  #162

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Date Initiated: 05/23/2001

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): TREASURY BONDS - FLOATING RATE NOTES, ZERO COUPON NOTES AND
CASH.

Allegations: THE SFA HAS DECIDED TO INSTITUTE DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS
AGAINST MLIB ON THE GROUNDS THAT MLIB VIOLATED CERTAIN FSA
PRINCIPLES ARISING FROM A MISAPPROPRIATION BY A FORMER MLIB
EMPLOYEE.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Resolution Date: 05/23/2001

Resolution:

Firm Statement MLIB IMMEDIATELY TOOK THE APPROPRIATE STEPS TO COMPENSATE THE
CUSTOMER, TOOK OTHER CORRECTIVE ACTION AND HAS COOPERATED
FULLY WITH THE SFA.

Other

Disclosure 148 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH PRIVATE (AUSTRALIA) PTY LIMITED

Initiated By: AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE LIMITED A.C.N. ("ASX")    #155

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINE

Date Initiated: 08/22/2000

Docket/Case Number: INSPECTION REPORT # 1999116

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH AUSTRALIA WAS FINED FOR BREACHING VARIOUS ASX
BUSINESS RULES RELATING TO THE BOOKING AND SUPERVISION OF
CERTAIN CLIENT TRANSACTIONS IN A STOCK LISTED ON THE ASX.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 08/22/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FINE WAS $18,000 (AUSTRALIA) APPROXIMATELY $9,400 (US)

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $18,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 149 of 163
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Disclosure 149 of 163

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE PLC  ("LSE")   #154

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINE

Date Initiated: 10/19/2000

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Equity Listed (Common & Preferred Stock)

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: CONTRARY TO LSE RULE 4.64(E) MLI MISTAKENLY SUBMITTED AN ORDER
TO THE ORDER BOOK WITH AN ERRONEOUS PRICE IN BREACH OF ITS
OBLIGATION TO HAVE AT ALL TIMES SUFFICIENT ORDER MANAGEMENT
SYSTEMS, PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS TO PREVENT THE ENTRY OF
SUCH ERRONEOUS ORDERS.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/19/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FINE WAS 10,000 POUNDS (UK)  (APPROXIMATELY $14,240 US)

Firm Statement PLEASE SEE NUMBER 7 ABOVE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $14,240.00

Decision

Disclosure 150 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH MEXICO, S.A. DE C.V., CASA DE BOLSA "ML MEXICO"

Initiated By: COMICION NACIONAL BANCARIA Y DE VALORES #151

Allegations: FOLLOWING AN EXAMINATION BY CNBV OF ML MEXICO OPERATIONS, THE
CNBV IDENTIFIED CERTAIN VIOLATIONS RELATING TO ML MEXICO'S STOCK
LENDING BUSINESS.

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: COMICION NACIONAL BANCARIA Y DE VALORES #151

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

FINE

Date Initiated: 08/30/2000

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): SECURITIES LENDING OPERATIONS

Resolution Date: 08/30/2000

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: FINE WAS 185,320 MEXICAN PESOS, APPROXIMATELY 19,862.81 U.S.
DOLLARS

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $19,862.81

Decision

Disclosure 151 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL & CO. C.V. ("MLICO")

Initiated By: STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED ("SEHK")     #142

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/31/2000

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): DERIVATIVE WARRANTS LISTED ON THE SEHK AND ISSUED BY MLICO  ("ML
WARRANTS")

Allegations: INACCURATE AND INCOMPLETE INFORMATION WAS PROVIDED TO THE
SEHK WITH RESPECT TO THE PLACING AND TRADING ML WARRANTS.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 03/30/2000

Resolution:

Firm Statement SEHK ISSUED A PRESS RELEASE ANNOUNCING A SEVERE REPRIMAND OF
MLICO ARISING FROM AN INVESTIGATION OF TRADING IN ML WARRANTS
BY THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES COMMISSION OF HONG KONG.

Settled

Disclosure 152 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED  ("MLFE")

Initiated By: SECURITIES & FUTURES COMMISSION OF HONG KONG ("SFC")  #141

Date Initiated: 03/31/2000

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): DERIVATIVE WARRANTS LISTED ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG, LTD. ("SHK") AND ISSUED BY MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL & CO.
C.V. ("MLICO") ("ML WARRANTS")

DERIVATIVE WARRANTS LISTED ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG, LTD. ("SHK") AND ISSUED BY MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL & CO.
C.V. ("MLICO") ("ML WARRANTS")

Allegations: SFC CONDUCTED AN INVESTIGATION OF FORMER MLAP STAFF MEMBERS
RELATING TO UNAUTHORIZED AND IMPROPER TRADING OF ML
WARRANTS THROUGH NOMINEE ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED BY THEM AT
THIRD PARTY UNRELATED BROKERS IN HONG KONG.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

DERIVATIVE WARRANTS LISTED ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG, LTD. ("SHK") AND ISSUED BY MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL & CO.
C.V. ("MLICO") ("ML WARRANTS")

DERIVATIVE WARRANTS LISTED ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG, LTD. ("SHK") AND ISSUED BY MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL & CO.
C.V. ("MLICO") ("ML WARRANTS")

Resolution Date: 03/31/2000

Resolution:

Firm Statement SFC ISSUED A PRESS RELEASE ANNOUNCING A SEVERE REPRIMAND OF
MLFE AND MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED FOR THEIR FAILURE TO
ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THE TRADING BY FORMER MLAP EMPLOYEES
OF ML WARRANTS.

Settled

Disclosure 153 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH (ASIA PACIFIC) LIMITED  ("MLAP")

Initiated By: SECURITIES & FUTURES COMMISSION OF HONG KONG ("SFC")  #140

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Reprimand

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 03/31/2000

Docket/Case Number: N/A

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s): DERIVATIVE WARRANTS LISTED ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG, LTD. ("SHK") AND ISSUED BY MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL & CO.
C.V. ("MLICO") ("ML WARRANTS")

Allegations: SFC CONDUCTED AN INVESTIGATION OF FORMER MLAP STAFF MEMBERS
RELATING TO UNAUTHORIZED AND IMPROPER TRADING OF ML
WARRANTS THROUGH NOMINEE ACCOUNTS MAINTAINED BY THEM AT
THIRD PARTY UNRELATED BROKERS IN HONG KONG.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Settled
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Resolution Date: 03/31/2000

Resolution:

Firm Statement SFC ISSUED A PRESS RELEASE ANNOUNCING A SEVERE REPRIMAND OF
MLAP AND MERRILL LYNCH FAR EAST LIMITED FOR THEIR FAILURE TO
ADEQUATELY SUPERVISE THE TRADING BY FORMER MLAP EMPLOYEES
OF ML WARRANTS.

Settled

Disclosure 154 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH FUTURES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD.

Initiated By: SINGAPORE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY EXCHANGE LIMITED

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Other

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 02/10/1999

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH FUTURES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. VIOLATED CERTAIN
RULES RELATING TO THE EXECUTION OF ALLOR NON AND CROSS TRADES
ON THE FLOOR OF THE SIMEX IN CONNECTION WITH THE NIKKEI 225
FUTURES CONTRACT.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/23/1999

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: A FINE OF 4000 SINGAPORE DOLLARS (APPROXIMATELY $2500 US) AND AN
ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST FROM ANY FUTURE SUCH CONDUCT.

Sanction Details: THE INDIVIDUAL WHO EXECUTED TWO TRADES IN QUESTION
MISUNDERSTOOD THE OPERATION OF THE TWO RULES IN QUESTION
SINCE ONE WAS A NEW RULE AT THAT TIME.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $2,500.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Settled

Disclosure 155 of 163

i
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Disclosure 155 of 163

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL

Initiated By: LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 04/30/1997

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL BREACHED LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE
RULE 2.11 (CONDITIONAL TRADES).

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 04/30/1997

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH INTERNATIONAL FINED $10,000 (UK)

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $10,000.00

Decision

Disclosure 156 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH CANANDA LIMITED

Initiated By: INVESTMENT DEALERS ASSOCIATION OF CANADA

Date Initiated: 06/24/1981

Allegations: FAILED TO OBTAIN ESSENTIAL NEW ACCOUNT INFORMATION FOR
VARIOUS CUSTOMERS; FAILED TO PREVENT A REGISTERED
REPRESENTATIVE FROM EXECUTING UNAUTHORIZED TRADES IN THE
ACCOUNTS OF CUSTOMERS; FAILED TO PREVENT IMPROPER CROSS
TRADING BY THE AFORESAID ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE; AND PERMITTED
CERTAIN ACOUNTS TO BECOME UNDER-MARGINED.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/24/1981

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 06/24/1981

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH CANADA LIMITED AGREED TO ACCEPT A FINE IN
CONNECTION WITH A DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING BROUGHT BY THE
WESTERN BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $250,000.00

Settled

Disclosure 157 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY INC.

Initiated By: NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 06/26/1990

Docket/Case Number: CONSENT ORDER #90-19

Principal Product Type: Insurance

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: SOLICITING, NEGOTIATING AND EFFECTING COVERAGES OF INSURANCES
BY ONE OF ITS FORMER EMPLOYEES PRIOR TO HIS BEING LICENSED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution Date: 06/26/1990

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY PAID IN FULL SETTLEMENT OF THE
CONSENT ORDER.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $5,000.00

Consent

Disclosure 158 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY INC.

Initiated By: SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 02/13/1985

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Insurance

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCYS' VIOLATIONS OF THE LICENSING
PROVISIONS OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA INSURANCE CODE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/13/1985

Resolution:

Firm Statement MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY, WITHOUT ADMITTING ANY OF THE
VIOLATIONS, CONSENTED TO AN ADMINISTRATIVE ASSESSMENT, AGREED
THAT NONE OF ITS AGENTS WOULD ACT WITHOUT BEING LICENSED AND
THAT IT WOULD MAINTAIN AN AGENCY LICENSE AT ALL TIMES IN WHICH IT
TRANSACTS THE BUSINESS OF AN INSURANCE AGENT.

Consent

Disclosure 159 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm
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Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY INC.

Initiated By: GEORGIA COMMISSIONER OF INSURANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CEASE AND DESIST

Date Initiated: 02/04/1985

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Insurance

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY VIOLATED THE LICENSING PROVISIONS OF
THE GEORGIA INSURANCE CODE.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 02/04/1985

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING ANY OF THE VIOLATIONS MERRILL LYNCH LIFE
AGENCY CONSENTED TO ISSUANCE OF A CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AND
PENALTY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $100,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Order

Disclosure 160 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY INC.

Initiated By: NORTH CAROLINA COMMISSIONER OF INSURANCE

Date Initiated: 12/07/1984

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY AND CERTAIN OF ITS AGENTS WERE NOT
PROPERLY LICENSED IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF CERTAIN
ANNUITY CONTRACTS.

Current Status: Final
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Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Fixed

Other Product Type(s):

Resolution Date: 12/07/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY AGREED TO SETTLE WITHOUT ADMITTING
OF DENYING ANY OF THE VIOLATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 161 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY INC.

Initiated By: KANSAS COMMISSIONER OF INSURANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Cease and Desist

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY(IES)/FINE(S)

Date Initiated: 10/11/1984

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Fixed

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCYS' VIOLATIONS OF THE KANSAS INSURANCE
CODE IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE OF CERTAIN ANNUITY
CONTRACTS.  CERTAIN MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY AGENTS WERE NOT
PROPERLY LICENSED, FAILED TO DISCLOSE THAT ANNUITY CONTRACTS
WERE GROUP CONTRACTS AND INFORMED SOME ANNUITY HOLDERS
THAT CONTRACTS WERE GUARANTEED BY AN ENTITY OTHER THAN THE
ISSUING CARRIER.

Current Status: Final
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Resolution Date: 10/11/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: WITHOUT ADMITTING ANY OF THE VIOLATIONS FIRM CONSENTED TO A
CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AND THE IMPOSITION OF A PENALTY.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $45,000.00
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Consent

Disclosure 162 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY INC.

Initiated By: KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Date Initiated: 10/11/1984

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Annuity(ies) - Fixed

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCYS' SOLICITATIONS OF CERTAIN ANNUITY
CONTRACTS BY ACCOUNT EXECUTIVES NOT PROPERLY LICENSED AND
NOT HOLDING A VALID CORPORATE LICENSE FOR PERIOD MARCH 1982 TO
MAY 1983.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 10/11/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered: AN ADDITIONAL FINE OF $43,400 FOR NOT HOLDING A VALID CORPORATE
LICENSE.

Sanction Details: KENTUCKY DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE ACCEPTED AN OFFER OF
SETTLEMENT MADE WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING ANY VIOLATIONS.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $56,600.00

Settled
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Disclosure 163 of 163

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY INC.

Initiated By: NEW HAMPSHIRE INSURANCE DEPARTMENT

Principal Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

Civil and Administrative Penalt(ies) /Fine(s)

Other Sanction(s)/Relief
Sought:

UNDERTAKING

Date Initiated: 01/30/1984

Docket/Case Number: UNKNOWN

Principal Product Type: Insurance

Other Product Type(s):

Allegations: MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY AND ITS EMPLOYEES SOLD PRODUCTS
WITHOUT BEING PROPERLY LICENSED.

Current Status: Final

Resolution Date: 01/30/1984

Resolution:

Other Sanctions Ordered:

Sanction Details: UNDERTAKING BY MERRILL LYNCH LIFE AGENCY THAT NO FURTHER
SALES OF INSURANCE PRODUCTS IN NEW HAMPSHIRE WOULD BE DONE
WITHOUT PROPER LICENSING.

Sanctions Ordered: Monetary/Fine $15,000.00

Settled
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Criminal - Pending Charge

Disclosure 1 of 1

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Court Details: BANGKOK SOUTH CRIMINAL COURT, BANGKOK, THAILAND, CASE NO.
1294/2565

Charge Date: 09/05/2022

Felony: Yes

Current Status: Pending

Status Date:

Firm Statement ON OR AROUND SEPTEMBER 5, 2022, BANA RECEIVED NOTIFICATION OF A
CRIMINAL COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") FILED BY THAILAND'S OFFICE OF
THE ATTORNEY GENERAL ("THAILAND") IN THE BANGKOK SOUTH
CRIMINAL COURT (THE "COURT").  THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT BANA
PROVIDED AN ELECTRONIC BILL PAYMENT COLLECTION SERVICE
WITHOUT OBTAINING AN AUTHORIZATION FROM THE OFFICE OF THE
ELECTRONIC TRANSACTIONS COMMISSION BETWEEN MAY 14, 2009 AND
JUNE 23, 2016.  THAILAND CONDUCTED AN INQUIRY PRIOR TO FILING THE
COMPLAINT.  BANA DENIED THE CHARGES AT THE INQUIRY STAGE.  THE
CHARGES AGAINST BANA ARE CURRENTLY PENDING BEFORE THE COURT.

Charge Details: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (BANA) WAS CHARGED WITH
PROVIDING AN ELECTRONIC BILL PAYMENT COLLECTION SERVICE
WITHOUT OBTAINING AUTHORIZATION FROM THE OFFICE OF THE
ELECTRONIC TRANSACTIONS COMMISSION, IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS
32, 34 AND 45 OF THE ELECTRONIC TRANSACTIONS ACT B.E. 2544 (2001),
SECTIONS 12,14 AND 24 OF THE ELECTRONIC TRANSACTIONS ACT (NO.3)
B.E. 2562 (2019), AND SECTIONS 3 AND 7 OF THE ROYAL DECREE
REGULATING ON ELECTRONIC PAYMENT SERVICES B.E. 2551 (2008).  BANA
ENTERED A NOT GUILTY PLEA.
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Civil - Final

Disclosure 1 of 9

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Initiated By: UNITED STATES ATTORNEY FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
("US ATTORNEY")

Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; TREBLE DAMAGES

Date Court Action Filed: 07/31/2014

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: WHOLE LOAN SALES

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, CASE NO. 1:12-
CV-1422-JSR

AFTER AN INDIVIDUAL COMMENCED A QUI TAM LAWSUIT, THE U.S.
ATTORNEY FILED A COMPLAINT-IN-INTERVENTION IN 2012 IN THE UNITED
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
("COURT") AGAINST COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE
BANK, FSB, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. AND CERTAIN AFFILIATES
("DEFENDANTS") ALLEGING THAT THE DEFENDANTS ENGAGED IN AN
INTENTIONAL SCHEME TO MISREPRESENT THE QUALITY OF THE
MORTGAGE LOANS THAT IT PROCESSED THROUGH A PARTICULAR LOAN
ORIGINATION PROGRAM AND SOLD TO FANNIE MAE AND FREDDIE MAC
DURING AUGUST 2007 TO MAY 2008.  THE COMPLAINT SOUGHT TO
RECOVER TREBLE DAMAGES AND PENALTIES UNDER THE FALSE CLAIMS
ACT, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 ET. SEQ. ("FCA") AND CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER THE
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY, AND ENFORCEMENT ACT,
12 U.S.C. § 1833A ("FIRREA").

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Judgment Rendered

Resolution Date: 07/31/2014

Other Sanctions:

Sanction Details: IN 2013, THE COURT GRANTED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS
THE CLAIM FOR TREBLE DAMAGES AND PENALTIES UNDER THE FCA.
LATER IN 2013, A JURY FOUND COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC. AND
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB AND ITS SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST, BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A. (COLLECTIVELY, THE "BANK DEFENDANTS") CIVILLY LIABLE
FOR VIOLATING FIRREA.  ON JULY 30, 2014, THE COURT ENTERED ITS
OPINION AND ORDER DIRECTING THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO ENTER A
JUDGMENT DIRECTING BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., ON BEHALF OF THE BANK
DEFENDANTS, TO PAY THE SUM OF $1,267,491,770.  ON JULY 31, 2014, THE
CLERK OF THE COURT ENTERED A JUDGMENT.  THE BANK DEFENDANTS
POSTED A BOND ON AUGUST 22, 2014.  ON MAY 23, 2016, THE SECOND
CIRCUIT REVERSED THE OUTCOME AT THE TRIAL COURT AND ORDERED
THE DISTRICT COURT TO ENTER JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE
DEFENDANTS. THE SECOND CIRCUIT RULED, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THAT THE US ATTORNEY DID NOT ARGUE OR PROVE AT TRIAL THAT THE
CONTRACTUAL REPRESENTATIONS AT ISSUE WERE EXECUTED WITH
CONTEMPORANEOUS INTENT NEVER TO PERFORM, AND THE TRIAL
RECORD CONTAINS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANTS HAD
FRAUDULENT INTENT IN THE CONTRACT NEGOTIATION OR EXECUTION.

Monetary/Fine $1,267,491,770.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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IN 2013, THE COURT GRANTED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS
THE CLAIM FOR TREBLE DAMAGES AND PENALTIES UNDER THE FCA.
LATER IN 2013, A JURY FOUND COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC. AND
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB AND ITS SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST, BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A. (COLLECTIVELY, THE "BANK DEFENDANTS") CIVILLY LIABLE
FOR VIOLATING FIRREA.  ON JULY 30, 2014, THE COURT ENTERED ITS
OPINION AND ORDER DIRECTING THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO ENTER A
JUDGMENT DIRECTING BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., ON BEHALF OF THE BANK
DEFENDANTS, TO PAY THE SUM OF $1,267,491,770.  ON JULY 31, 2014, THE
CLERK OF THE COURT ENTERED A JUDGMENT.  THE BANK DEFENDANTS
POSTED A BOND ON AUGUST 22, 2014.  ON MAY 23, 2016, THE SECOND
CIRCUIT REVERSED THE OUTCOME AT THE TRIAL COURT AND ORDERED
THE DISTRICT COURT TO ENTER JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE
DEFENDANTS. THE SECOND CIRCUIT RULED, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THAT THE US ATTORNEY DID NOT ARGUE OR PROVE AT TRIAL THAT THE
CONTRACTUAL REPRESENTATIONS AT ISSUE WERE EXECUTED WITH
CONTEMPORANEOUS INTENT NEVER TO PERFORM, AND THE TRIAL
RECORD CONTAINS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANTS HAD
FRAUDULENT INTENT IN THE CONTRACT NEGOTIATION OR EXECUTION.

Firm Statement THE ACTIONS, ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITION, AND FINDINGS OF THIS
MATTER ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEMS 7 AND 13 ABOVE.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB

Initiated By: UNITED STATES ATTORNEY FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
("US ATTORNEY")

Date Court Action Filed: 07/31/2014

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, CASE NO. 1:12-
CV-1422-JSR

AFTER AN INDIVIDUAL COMMENCED A QUI TAM LAWSUIT, THE U.S.
ATTORNEY FILED A COMPLAINT-IN-INTERVENTION IN 2012 IN THE UNITED
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
("COURT") AGAINST COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE
BANK, FSB, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. AND CERTAIN AFFILIATES
("DEFENDANTS") ALLEGING THAT THE DEFENDANTS ENGAGED IN AN
INTENTIONAL SCHEME TO MISREPRESENT THE QUALITY OF THE
MORTGAGE LOANS THAT IT PROCESSED THROUGH A PARTICULAR LOAN
ORIGINATION PROGRAM AND SOLD TO FANNIE MAE AND FREDDIE MAC
DURING AUGUST 2007 TO MAY 2008.  THE COMPLAINT SOUGHT TO
RECOVER TREBLE DAMAGES AND PENALTIES UNDER THE FALSE CLAIMS
ACT, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 ET. SEQ. ("FCA") AND CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER THE
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY, AND ENFORCEMENT ACT,
12 U.S.C. § 1833A ("FIRREA").

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; TREBLE DAMAGES

Date Court Action Filed: 07/31/2014

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: WHOLE LOAN SALES

Resolution: Judgment Rendered

Resolution Date: 07/31/2014

Other Sanctions:

Sanction Details: IN 2013, THE COURT GRANTED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS
THE CLAIM FOR TREBLE DAMAGES AND PENALTIES UNDER THE FCA.
LATER IN 2013, A JURY FOUND COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC. AND
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB AND ITS SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST, BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A. (COLLECTIVELY, THE "BANK DEFENDANTS") CIVILLY LIABLE
FOR VIOLATING FIRREA.  ON JULY 30, 2014, THE COURT ENTERED ITS
OPINION AND ORDER DIRECTING THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO ENTER A
JUDGMENT DIRECTING BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., ON BEHALF OF THE BANK
DEFENDANTS, TO PAY THE SUM OF $1,267,491,770.  ON JULY 31, 2014, THE
CLERK OF THE COURT ENTERED A JUDGMENT.  THE BANK DEFENDANTS
POSTED A BOND ON AUGUST 22, 2014.  ON MAY 23, 2016, THE SECOND
CIRCUIT REVERSED THE OUTCOME AT THE TRIAL COURT AND ORDERED
THE DISTRICT COURT TO ENTER JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE
DEFENDANTS. THE SECOND CIRCUIT RULED, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THAT THE US ATTORNEY DID NOT ARGUE OR PROVE AT TRIAL THAT THE
CONTRACTUAL REPRESENTATIONS AT ISSUE WERE EXECUTED WITH
CONTEMPORANEOUS INTENT NEVER TO PERFORM, AND THE TRIAL
RECORD CONTAINS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANTS HAD
FRAUDULENT INTENT IN THE CONTRACT NEGOTIATION OR EXECUTION.

Firm Statement THE ACTIONS, ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITION, AND FINDINGS OF THIS
MATTER ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEMS 7 AND 13 ABOVE.

Monetary/Fine $1,267,491,770.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC.

AFTER AN INDIVIDUAL COMMENCED A QUI TAM LAWSUIT, THE U.S.
ATTORNEY FILED A COMPLAINT-IN-INTERVENTION IN 2012 IN THE UNITED
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
("COURT") AGAINST COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE
BANK, FSB, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. AND CERTAIN AFFILIATES
("DEFENDANTS") ALLEGING THAT THE DEFENDANTS ENGAGED IN AN
INTENTIONAL SCHEME TO MISREPRESENT THE QUALITY OF THE
MORTGAGE LOANS THAT IT PROCESSED THROUGH A PARTICULAR LOAN
ORIGINATION PROGRAM AND SOLD TO FANNIE MAE AND FREDDIE MAC
DURING AUGUST 2007 TO MAY 2008.  THE COMPLAINT SOUGHT TO
RECOVER TREBLE DAMAGES AND PENALTIES UNDER THE FALSE CLAIMS
ACT, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 ET. SEQ. ("FCA") AND CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER THE
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY, AND ENFORCEMENT ACT,
12 U.S.C. § 1833A ("FIRREA").

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: UNITED STATES ATTORNEY FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
("US ATTORNEY")

Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; TREBLE DAMAGES

Date Court Action Filed: 07/31/2014

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: WHOLE LOAN SALES

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, CASE NO. 1:12-
CV-1422-JSR

AFTER AN INDIVIDUAL COMMENCED A QUI TAM LAWSUIT, THE U.S.
ATTORNEY FILED A COMPLAINT-IN-INTERVENTION IN 2012 IN THE UNITED
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
("COURT") AGAINST COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE
BANK, FSB, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. AND CERTAIN AFFILIATES
("DEFENDANTS") ALLEGING THAT THE DEFENDANTS ENGAGED IN AN
INTENTIONAL SCHEME TO MISREPRESENT THE QUALITY OF THE
MORTGAGE LOANS THAT IT PROCESSED THROUGH A PARTICULAR LOAN
ORIGINATION PROGRAM AND SOLD TO FANNIE MAE AND FREDDIE MAC
DURING AUGUST 2007 TO MAY 2008.  THE COMPLAINT SOUGHT TO
RECOVER TREBLE DAMAGES AND PENALTIES UNDER THE FALSE CLAIMS
ACT, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 ET. SEQ. ("FCA") AND CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER THE
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY, AND ENFORCEMENT ACT,
12 U.S.C. § 1833A ("FIRREA").

Allegations:

Resolution: Judgment Rendered

Resolution Date: 07/31/2014

Other Sanctions:

Sanction Details: IN 2013, THE COURT GRANTED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS
THE CLAIM FOR TREBLE DAMAGES AND PENALTIES UNDER THE FCA.
LATER IN 2013, A JURY FOUND COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC. AND
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB AND ITS SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST, BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A. (COLLECTIVELY, THE "BANK DEFENDANTS") CIVILLY LIABLE
FOR VIOLATING FIRREA.  ON JULY 30, 2014, THE COURT ENTERED ITS
OPINION AND ORDER DIRECTING THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO ENTER A
JUDGMENT DIRECTING BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., ON BEHALF OF THE BANK
DEFENDANTS, TO PAY THE SUM OF $1,267,491,770.  ON JULY 31, 2014, THE
CLERK OF THE COURT ENTERED A JUDGMENT.  THE BANK DEFENDANTS
POSTED A BOND ON AUGUST 22, 2014.  ON MAY 23, 2016, THE SECOND
CIRCUIT REVERSED THE OUTCOME AT THE TRIAL COURT AND ORDERED
THE DISTRICT COURT TO ENTER JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE
DEFENDANTS. THE SECOND CIRCUIT RULED, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THAT THE US ATTORNEY DID NOT ARGUE OR PROVE AT TRIAL THAT THE
CONTRACTUAL REPRESENTATIONS AT ISSUE WERE EXECUTED WITH
CONTEMPORANEOUS INTENT NEVER TO PERFORM, AND THE TRIAL
RECORD CONTAINS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANTS HAD
FRAUDULENT INTENT IN THE CONTRACT NEGOTIATION OR EXECUTION.

Monetary/Fine $1,267,491,770.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:

1910©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

IN 2013, THE COURT GRANTED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS
THE CLAIM FOR TREBLE DAMAGES AND PENALTIES UNDER THE FCA.
LATER IN 2013, A JURY FOUND COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC. AND
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB AND ITS SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST, BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A. (COLLECTIVELY, THE "BANK DEFENDANTS") CIVILLY LIABLE
FOR VIOLATING FIRREA.  ON JULY 30, 2014, THE COURT ENTERED ITS
OPINION AND ORDER DIRECTING THE CLERK OF THE COURT TO ENTER A
JUDGMENT DIRECTING BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., ON BEHALF OF THE BANK
DEFENDANTS, TO PAY THE SUM OF $1,267,491,770.  ON JULY 31, 2014, THE
CLERK OF THE COURT ENTERED A JUDGMENT.  THE BANK DEFENDANTS
POSTED A BOND ON AUGUST 22, 2014.  ON MAY 23, 2016, THE SECOND
CIRCUIT REVERSED THE OUTCOME AT THE TRIAL COURT AND ORDERED
THE DISTRICT COURT TO ENTER JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE
DEFENDANTS. THE SECOND CIRCUIT RULED, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THAT THE US ATTORNEY DID NOT ARGUE OR PROVE AT TRIAL THAT THE
CONTRACTUAL REPRESENTATIONS AT ISSUE WERE EXECUTED WITH
CONTEMPORANEOUS INTENT NEVER TO PERFORM, AND THE TRIAL
RECORD CONTAINS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANTS HAD
FRAUDULENT INTENT IN THE CONTRACT NEGOTIATION OR EXECUTION.

Firm Statement THE ACTIONS, ALLEGATIONS, DISPOSITION, AND FINDINGS OF THIS
MATTER ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEMS 7 AND 13 ABOVE.

Disclosure 2 of 9

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: RECONTRUST COMPANY, N.A.

Initiated By: STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON AT SEATTLE,
CASE NO. 2:11-CV-1460

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (THE "AG")
ENGAGED IN SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS WITH RECONTRUST COMPANY,
N.A. ("RECONTRUST") IN CONNECTION WITH AN INVESTIGATION INTO
RECONTRUST'S SERVICES AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE IN THE STATE
OF WASHINGTON. ON AUGUST 4, 2011, THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
ACTING THROUGH THE AG, FILED A COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AGAINST
RECONTRUST IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON KING COUNTY SUPERIOR
COURT ("SUPERIOR COURT") IN A CIVIL ACTION CAPTIONED STATE OF
WASHINGTON V. RECONTRUST COMPANY, N.A. AND THE MATTER WAS
LATER REMOVED TO THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON AT SEATTLE ("DISTRICT COURT").
THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT RECONTRUST, AS A FORECLOSURE
TRUSTEE, FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE PROCEDURES OF THE
WASHINGTON DEED OF TRUST ACT, RCW 61.24, ET SEQ. ("DEED OF TRUST
ACT") IN FORECLOSURES IT CONDUCTED SINCE AT LEAST JUNE 12, 2008.
SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT RECONTRUST: (A) FAILED
TO MAINTAIN AN OFFICE IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON AS REQUIRED BY
LAW, (B) FAILED TO CONDUCT FORECLOSURES AS A NEUTRAL THIRD
PARTY WITH A DUTY OF GOOD FAITH TOWARDS THE BORROWER AND THE
LENDER, (C) CONCEALED OR MISREPRESENTED THE IDENTIFY OF THE
ACTUAL OWNER OF THE DEBT, AND (D) INCLUDED MATERIAL
MISREPRESENTATIONS IN RECONTRUST'S TRUSTEE'S DEEDS.  BASED ON
THESE ALLEGATIONS, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED RECONTRUST VIOLATED
THE DEED OF TRUST ACT AND THE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT,
CHAPTER 19.86 RCW ("CPA").

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Injunction

Other Relief Sought:

Date Court Action Filed: 08/14/2012

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Types:

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON AT SEATTLE,
CASE NO. 2:11-CV-1460

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 08/20/2012

Other Sanctions: PAYMENT OF $1,090,000 FOR, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON'S COSTS AND ATTORNEY FEES.

Sanction Details: RECONTRUST EXECUTED A CONSENT DECREE ("CONSENT"), IN WHICH
RECONTRUST DOES NOT ADMIT THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO THE JURISDICTION.
ON AUGUST 20, 2012, THE DISTRICT COURT ENTERED A JUDGMENT
("JUDGMENT") THAT, AMONG OTHER THINGS, ENJOINED RECONTRUST
FROM DOING BUSINESS AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE UNDER DEEDS OF
TRUST WITH RESPECT TO PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, EXCEPT IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES ("INJUNCTION").
UNDER THE TERMS OF THE INJUNCTION, RECONTRUST MAY CONTINUE
TO ENGAGE IN LAWFUL POST-FORECLOSURE SALE ACTIVITIES FOR
PROPERTIES THAT HAVE ALREADY BEEN SUBJECT TO A FORECLOSURE
SALE. IN ADDITION, IF RECONTRUST (INCLUDING SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS
OR ASSET PURCHASERS THEREOF) IN THE FUTURE RETURNS TO
OPERATING AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE IN THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, IT SHALL NOT CONDUCT NON-JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS INVOLVING RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY UNLESS IT: (A)
MAINTAINS A "PHYSICAL PRESENCE" IN WASHINGTON STATE AS DEFINED
IN THE CONSENT; (B) PROVIDES APPROPRIATE NOTICES, DISCLOSURES,
AND DOCUMENTATION IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH NON-JUDICIAL
FORECLOSURE PROCEEDINGS; AND (C) ABIDES BY CERTAIN CONDITIONS
RELATING TO ITS STATUTORY DUTY OF GOOD FAITH TOWARDS
BORROWERS, BENEFICIARIES, AND GRANTORS. IN ADDITION,
RECONTRUST MAY NOT ACT AS FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE WHERE IT IS
ALSO THE BENEFICIARY OF THE DEED OF TRUST AND MUST COMPLY
WITH REQUIREMENTS RELATING TO NOTICES OF TRUSTEE'S SALE.
RECONTRUST MUST ANNOUNCE THE CONSENT TO ITS RESPECTIVE
DIRECTORS, SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS, OFFICERS, AND MANAGEMENT
LEVEL EMPLOYEES HAVING RESPONSIBILITIES WITH RESPECT TO THE
SUBJECT MATTER OF THE CONSENT AND MAKE ITS TERMS AND
CONDITIONS AVAILABLE TO THEM.  ADDITIONALLY, THE JUDGMENT
REQUIRES RECONTRUST TO PAY $1,090,000 FOR, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON'S COSTS AND ATTORNEY FEES.  (CONTINUED
IN 14 BELOW).

Cease and Desist/InjunctionSanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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RECONTRUST EXECUTED A CONSENT DECREE ("CONSENT"), IN WHICH
RECONTRUST DOES NOT ADMIT THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO THE JURISDICTION.
ON AUGUST 20, 2012, THE DISTRICT COURT ENTERED A JUDGMENT
("JUDGMENT") THAT, AMONG OTHER THINGS, ENJOINED RECONTRUST
FROM DOING BUSINESS AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE UNDER DEEDS OF
TRUST WITH RESPECT TO PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, EXCEPT IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES ("INJUNCTION").
UNDER THE TERMS OF THE INJUNCTION, RECONTRUST MAY CONTINUE
TO ENGAGE IN LAWFUL POST-FORECLOSURE SALE ACTIVITIES FOR
PROPERTIES THAT HAVE ALREADY BEEN SUBJECT TO A FORECLOSURE
SALE. IN ADDITION, IF RECONTRUST (INCLUDING SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS
OR ASSET PURCHASERS THEREOF) IN THE FUTURE RETURNS TO
OPERATING AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE IN THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, IT SHALL NOT CONDUCT NON-JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS INVOLVING RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY UNLESS IT: (A)
MAINTAINS A "PHYSICAL PRESENCE" IN WASHINGTON STATE AS DEFINED
IN THE CONSENT; (B) PROVIDES APPROPRIATE NOTICES, DISCLOSURES,
AND DOCUMENTATION IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH NON-JUDICIAL
FORECLOSURE PROCEEDINGS; AND (C) ABIDES BY CERTAIN CONDITIONS
RELATING TO ITS STATUTORY DUTY OF GOOD FAITH TOWARDS
BORROWERS, BENEFICIARIES, AND GRANTORS. IN ADDITION,
RECONTRUST MAY NOT ACT AS FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE WHERE IT IS
ALSO THE BENEFICIARY OF THE DEED OF TRUST AND MUST COMPLY
WITH REQUIREMENTS RELATING TO NOTICES OF TRUSTEE'S SALE.
RECONTRUST MUST ANNOUNCE THE CONSENT TO ITS RESPECTIVE
DIRECTORS, SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS, OFFICERS, AND MANAGEMENT
LEVEL EMPLOYEES HAVING RESPONSIBILITIES WITH RESPECT TO THE
SUBJECT MATTER OF THE CONSENT AND MAKE ITS TERMS AND
CONDITIONS AVAILABLE TO THEM.  ADDITIONALLY, THE JUDGMENT
REQUIRES RECONTRUST TO PAY $1,090,000 FOR, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON'S COSTS AND ATTORNEY FEES.  (CONTINUED
IN 14 BELOW).

Firm Statement (CONTINUED FROM 13.C. ABOVE):  THIS OBLIGATION HAS BEEN SATISFIED
IN FULL AND IN ITS ENTIRETY BY THE PAYMENT MADE OR CAUSED TO BE
MADE BY BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION ON APRIL 11, 2012 UNDER THE
CONSENT JUDGMENT ENTERED BY THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ON APRIL 5, 2012 IN THE ACTION
CAPTIONED UNITED STATES OF AMERICA V. BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ET AL, NO. 1:12-CV-00361.  THE CONSENT AND ALL
OBLIGATIONS OF RECONTRUST THEREUNDER TERMINATE THREE YEARS
FROM THE DATE OF ENTRY OF THE JUDGMENT AND THE CONSENT.

THE ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS
ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  IN THE CONSENT, RECONTRUST DID
NOT ADMIT THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT OTHER THAN THOSE
FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO THE JURISDICTION.  IN ADDITION, THE
CONSENT STATES THAT THE CONSENT OR THE FACT OF ITS ENTRY DOES
NOT CONSTITUTE EVIDENCE OR AN ADMISSION BY ANY PARTY
REGARDING THE EXISTENCE OR NON-EXISTENCE OF ANY ISSUE, FACT,
OR VIOLATION OF ANY LAW ALLEGED BY THE STATE OF WASHINGTON.
THE CONSENT FULLY AND FINALLY RESOLVES AND FOREVER
DISCHARGES ALL CLAIMS AND CAUSES OF ACTION UNDER THE CPA AND
THE DEED OF TRUSTS ACT THAT THE STATE OF WASHINGTON HAS FILED
OR MAY IN THE FUTURE FILE AGAINST RECONTRUST ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THE FACTS AND MATTERS DESCRIBED IN THE COMPLAINT,
EXCEPT THAT RECONTRUST'S MATERIAL FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE
CONSENT SHALL PERMIT THE AG TO TAKE SUCH FURTHER ACTION
AGAINST RECONTRUST AS PROVIDED IN THE JUDGMENT.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: RECONTRUST COMPANY, N.A.

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (THE "AG")
ENGAGED IN SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS WITH RECONTRUST COMPANY,
N.A. ("RECONTRUST") IN CONNECTION WITH AN INVESTIGATION INTO
RECONTRUST'S SERVICES AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE IN THE STATE
OF WASHINGTON. ON AUGUST 4, 2011, THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
ACTING THROUGH THE AG, FILED A COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AGAINST
RECONTRUST IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON KING COUNTY SUPERIOR
COURT ("SUPERIOR COURT") IN A CIVIL ACTION CAPTIONED STATE OF
WASHINGTON V. RECONTRUST COMPANY, N.A. AND THE MATTER WAS
LATER REMOVED TO THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON AT SEATTLE ("DISTRICT COURT").
THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT RECONTRUST, AS A FORECLOSURE
TRUSTEE, FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE PROCEDURES OF THE
WASHINGTON DEED OF TRUST ACT, RCW 61.24, ET SEQ. ("DEED OF TRUST
ACT") IN FORECLOSURES IT CONDUCTED SINCE AT LEAST JUNE 12, 2008.
SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT RECONTRUST: (A) FAILED
TO MAINTAIN AN OFFICE IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON AS REQUIRED BY
LAW, (B) FAILED TO CONDUCT FORECLOSURES AS A NEUTRAL THIRD
PARTY WITH A DUTY OF GOOD FAITH TOWARDS THE BORROWER AND THE
LENDER, (C) CONCEALED OR MISREPRESENTED THE IDENTIFY OF THE
ACTUAL OWNER OF THE DEBT, AND (D) INCLUDED MATERIAL
MISREPRESENTATIONS IN RECONTRUST'S TRUSTEE'S DEEDS.  BASED ON
THESE ALLEGATIONS, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED RECONTRUST VIOLATED
THE DEED OF TRUST ACT AND THE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT,
CHAPTER 19.86 RCW ("CPA").

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Initiated By: STATE OF WASHINGTON

Relief Sought: Injunction

Other Relief Sought:

Date Court Action Filed: 08/14/2012

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Types:

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON AT SEATTLE,
CASE NO. 2:11-CV-1460

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (THE "AG")
ENGAGED IN SETTLEMENT DISCUSSIONS WITH RECONTRUST COMPANY,
N.A. ("RECONTRUST") IN CONNECTION WITH AN INVESTIGATION INTO
RECONTRUST'S SERVICES AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE IN THE STATE
OF WASHINGTON. ON AUGUST 4, 2011, THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
ACTING THROUGH THE AG, FILED A COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AGAINST
RECONTRUST IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON KING COUNTY SUPERIOR
COURT ("SUPERIOR COURT") IN A CIVIL ACTION CAPTIONED STATE OF
WASHINGTON V. RECONTRUST COMPANY, N.A. AND THE MATTER WAS
LATER REMOVED TO THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON AT SEATTLE ("DISTRICT COURT").
THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT RECONTRUST, AS A FORECLOSURE
TRUSTEE, FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE PROCEDURES OF THE
WASHINGTON DEED OF TRUST ACT, RCW 61.24, ET SEQ. ("DEED OF TRUST
ACT") IN FORECLOSURES IT CONDUCTED SINCE AT LEAST JUNE 12, 2008.
SPECIFICALLY, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT RECONTRUST: (A) FAILED
TO MAINTAIN AN OFFICE IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON AS REQUIRED BY
LAW, (B) FAILED TO CONDUCT FORECLOSURES AS A NEUTRAL THIRD
PARTY WITH A DUTY OF GOOD FAITH TOWARDS THE BORROWER AND THE
LENDER, (C) CONCEALED OR MISREPRESENTED THE IDENTIFY OF THE
ACTUAL OWNER OF THE DEBT, AND (D) INCLUDED MATERIAL
MISREPRESENTATIONS IN RECONTRUST'S TRUSTEE'S DEEDS.  BASED ON
THESE ALLEGATIONS, THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED RECONTRUST VIOLATED
THE DEED OF TRUST ACT AND THE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT,
CHAPTER 19.86 RCW ("CPA").

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 08/20/2012

Other Sanctions: PAYMENT OF $1,090,000 FOR, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON'S COSTS AND ATTORNEY FEES.

Sanction Details: RECONTRUST EXECUTED A CONSENT DECREE ("CONSENT"), IN WHICH
RECONTRUST DOES NOT ADMIT THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO THE JURISDICTION.
ON AUGUST 20, 2012, THE DISTRICT COURT ENTERED A JUDGMENT
("JUDGMENT") THAT, AMONG OTHER THINGS, ENJOINED RECONTRUST
FROM DOING BUSINESS AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE UNDER DEEDS OF
TRUST WITH RESPECT TO PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, EXCEPT IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES ("INJUNCTION").
UNDER THE TERMS OF THE INJUNCTION, RECONTRUST MAY CONTINUE
TO ENGAGE IN LAWFUL POST-FORECLOSURE SALE ACTIVITIES FOR
PROPERTIES THAT HAVE ALREADY BEEN SUBJECT TO A FORECLOSURE
SALE. IN ADDITION, IF RECONTRUST (INCLUDING SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS
OR ASSET PURCHASERS THEREOF) IN THE FUTURE RETURNS TO
OPERATING AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE IN THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, IT SHALL NOT CONDUCT NON-JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS INVOLVING RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY UNLESS IT: (A)
MAINTAINS A "PHYSICAL PRESENCE" IN WASHINGTON STATE AS DEFINED
IN THE CONSENT; (B) PROVIDES APPROPRIATE NOTICES, DISCLOSURES,
AND DOCUMENTATION IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH NON-JUDICIAL
FORECLOSURE PROCEEDINGS; AND (C) ABIDES BY CERTAIN CONDITIONS
RELATING TO ITS STATUTORY DUTY OF GOOD FAITH TOWARDS
BORROWERS, BENEFICIARIES, AND GRANTORS. IN ADDITION,
RECONTRUST MAY NOT ACT AS FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE WHERE IT IS
ALSO THE BENEFICIARY OF THE DEED OF TRUST AND MUST COMPLY
WITH REQUIREMENTS RELATING TO NOTICES OF TRUSTEE'S SALE.
RECONTRUST MUST ANNOUNCE THE CONSENT TO ITS RESPECTIVE
DIRECTORS, SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS, OFFICERS, AND MANAGEMENT
LEVEL EMPLOYEES HAVING RESPONSIBILITIES WITH RESPECT TO THE
SUBJECT MATTER OF THE CONSENT AND MAKE ITS TERMS AND
CONDITIONS AVAILABLE TO THEM.  ADDITIONALLY, THE JUDGMENT
REQUIRES RECONTRUST TO PAY $1,090,000 FOR, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON'S COSTS AND ATTORNEY FEES.  (CONTINUED
IN 14 BELOW).

Cease and Desist/InjunctionSanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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RECONTRUST EXECUTED A CONSENT DECREE ("CONSENT"), IN WHICH
RECONTRUST DOES NOT ADMIT THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO THE JURISDICTION.
ON AUGUST 20, 2012, THE DISTRICT COURT ENTERED A JUDGMENT
("JUDGMENT") THAT, AMONG OTHER THINGS, ENJOINED RECONTRUST
FROM DOING BUSINESS AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE UNDER DEEDS OF
TRUST WITH RESPECT TO PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, EXCEPT IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES ("INJUNCTION").
UNDER THE TERMS OF THE INJUNCTION, RECONTRUST MAY CONTINUE
TO ENGAGE IN LAWFUL POST-FORECLOSURE SALE ACTIVITIES FOR
PROPERTIES THAT HAVE ALREADY BEEN SUBJECT TO A FORECLOSURE
SALE. IN ADDITION, IF RECONTRUST (INCLUDING SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS
OR ASSET PURCHASERS THEREOF) IN THE FUTURE RETURNS TO
OPERATING AS A FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE IN THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON, IT SHALL NOT CONDUCT NON-JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE
PROCEEDINGS INVOLVING RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY UNLESS IT: (A)
MAINTAINS A "PHYSICAL PRESENCE" IN WASHINGTON STATE AS DEFINED
IN THE CONSENT; (B) PROVIDES APPROPRIATE NOTICES, DISCLOSURES,
AND DOCUMENTATION IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH NON-JUDICIAL
FORECLOSURE PROCEEDINGS; AND (C) ABIDES BY CERTAIN CONDITIONS
RELATING TO ITS STATUTORY DUTY OF GOOD FAITH TOWARDS
BORROWERS, BENEFICIARIES, AND GRANTORS. IN ADDITION,
RECONTRUST MAY NOT ACT AS FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE WHERE IT IS
ALSO THE BENEFICIARY OF THE DEED OF TRUST AND MUST COMPLY
WITH REQUIREMENTS RELATING TO NOTICES OF TRUSTEE'S SALE.
RECONTRUST MUST ANNOUNCE THE CONSENT TO ITS RESPECTIVE
DIRECTORS, SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS, OFFICERS, AND MANAGEMENT
LEVEL EMPLOYEES HAVING RESPONSIBILITIES WITH RESPECT TO THE
SUBJECT MATTER OF THE CONSENT AND MAKE ITS TERMS AND
CONDITIONS AVAILABLE TO THEM.  ADDITIONALLY, THE JUDGMENT
REQUIRES RECONTRUST TO PAY $1,090,000 FOR, AMONG OTHER THINGS,
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON'S COSTS AND ATTORNEY FEES.  (CONTINUED
IN 14 BELOW).

Firm Statement (CONTINUED FROM 13.C. ABOVE):  THIS OBLIGATION HAS BEEN SATISFIED
IN FULL AND IN ITS ENTIRETY BY THE PAYMENT MADE OR CAUSED TO BE
MADE BY BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION ON APRIL 11, 2012 UNDER THE
CONSENT JUDGMENT ENTERED BY THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ON APRIL 5, 2012 IN THE ACTION
CAPTIONED UNITED STATES OF AMERICA V. BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ET AL, NO. 1:12-CV-00361.  THE CONSENT AND ALL
OBLIGATIONS OF RECONTRUST THEREUNDER TERMINATE THREE YEARS
FROM THE DATE OF ENTRY OF THE JUDGMENT AND THE CONSENT.

THE ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS
ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  IN THE CONSENT, RECONTRUST DID
NOT ADMIT THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT OTHER THAN THOSE
FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO THE JURISDICTION.  IN ADDITION, THE
CONSENT STATES THAT THE CONSENT OR THE FACT OF ITS ENTRY DOES
NOT CONSTITUTE EVIDENCE OR AN ADMISSION BY ANY PARTY
REGARDING THE EXISTENCE OR NON-EXISTENCE OF ANY ISSUE, FACT,
OR VIOLATION OF ANY LAW ALLEGED BY THE STATE OF WASHINGTON.
THE CONSENT FULLY AND FINALLY RESOLVES AND FOREVER
DISCHARGES ALL CLAIMS AND CAUSES OF ACTION UNDER THE CPA AND
THE DEED OF TRUSTS ACT THAT THE STATE OF WASHINGTON HAS FILED
OR MAY IN THE FUTURE FILE AGAINST RECONTRUST ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THE FACTS AND MATTERS DESCRIBED IN THE COMPLAINT,
EXCEPT THAT RECONTRUST'S MATERIAL FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE
CONSENT SHALL PERMIT THE AG TO TAKE SUCH FURTHER ACTION
AGAINST RECONTRUST AS PROVIDED IN THE JUDGMENT.
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(CONTINUED FROM 13.C. ABOVE):  THIS OBLIGATION HAS BEEN SATISFIED
IN FULL AND IN ITS ENTIRETY BY THE PAYMENT MADE OR CAUSED TO BE
MADE BY BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION ON APRIL 11, 2012 UNDER THE
CONSENT JUDGMENT ENTERED BY THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ON APRIL 5, 2012 IN THE ACTION
CAPTIONED UNITED STATES OF AMERICA V. BANK OF AMERICA
CORPORATION, ET AL, NO. 1:12-CV-00361.  THE CONSENT AND ALL
OBLIGATIONS OF RECONTRUST THEREUNDER TERMINATE THREE YEARS
FROM THE DATE OF ENTRY OF THE JUDGMENT AND THE CONSENT.

THE ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS
ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  IN THE CONSENT, RECONTRUST DID
NOT ADMIT THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT OTHER THAN THOSE
FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO THE JURISDICTION.  IN ADDITION, THE
CONSENT STATES THAT THE CONSENT OR THE FACT OF ITS ENTRY DOES
NOT CONSTITUTE EVIDENCE OR AN ADMISSION BY ANY PARTY
REGARDING THE EXISTENCE OR NON-EXISTENCE OF ANY ISSUE, FACT,
OR VIOLATION OF ANY LAW ALLEGED BY THE STATE OF WASHINGTON.
THE CONSENT FULLY AND FINALLY RESOLVES AND FOREVER
DISCHARGES ALL CLAIMS AND CAUSES OF ACTION UNDER THE CPA AND
THE DEED OF TRUSTS ACT THAT THE STATE OF WASHINGTON HAS FILED
OR MAY IN THE FUTURE FILE AGAINST RECONTRUST ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THE FACTS AND MATTERS DESCRIBED IN THE COMPLAINT,
EXCEPT THAT RECONTRUST'S MATERIAL FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE
CONSENT SHALL PERMIT THE AG TO TAKE SUCH FURTHER ACTION
AGAINST RECONTRUST AS PROVIDED IN THE JUDGMENT.

Disclosure 3 of 9

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: COUNTRYWIDE MORTGAGE VENTURES, LLC

Initiated By: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS GENERAL OF 49
STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Date Court Action Filed: 04/05/2012

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

ON MARCH 12, 2012, THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS
GENERAL OF 49 STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA FILED A
COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AND CONSENT JUDGMENT AGAINST BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BAC HOME LOANS
SERVICING, LP F/K/A COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP,
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE FINANCIAL
CORPORATION, COUNTRYWIDE MORTGAGE VENTURES, LLC, AND/OR
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB (TOGETHER, "BANK OF AMERICA") AND OTHER
MAJOR MORTGAGE SERVICERS TO SETTLE A NUMBER OF RELATED
INVESTIGATIONS INTO RESIDENTIAL LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION
PRACTICES (THE "SETTLEMENT").  THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THE
DEFENDANT'S MISCONDUCT RELATED TO ITS ORIGINATION AND
SERVICING OF SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES CAUSED THE
DEFENDANTS TO HAVE VIOLATED, AMONG OTHER LAWS, THE UNFAIR AND
DECEPTIVE ACTS AND PRACTICES LAWS OF THE PLAINTIFF STATES, THE
FALSE CLAIMS ACT, THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY,
AND ENFORCEMENT ACT OF 1989, THE SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF
ACT, AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY
PROCEDURE.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; ADDITIONAL SERVICING & ORIGINATION STANDARDS

Date Court Action Filed: 04/05/2012

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 04/05/2012

Other Sanctions: THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE SETTLEMENT IS $10,956,615,075.00, AND
CONSISTS OF THE THREE COMPONENTS AS FURTHER DESCRIBED IN
13.C.  UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY AT THE DISCRETION OF THE STATES AND DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.  THE AMOUNT IS BEING DISCLOSED IN THIS SECTION 13.B
INSTEAD OF IN THE BOX ABOVE AS THE EXACT AMOUNT TO BE TREATED
AS A CIVIL PENALTY IS NOT KNOWN.  OTHER SANCTIONS:  ADDITIONAL
SERVICING AND ORIGINATION STANDARDS.

Sanction Details: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Monetary/Fine $0.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Firm Statement BANK OF AMERICA CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT
JUDGMENT WITHOUT ADMITTING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO JURISDICTION.  THE
ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS ARE
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  BANK OF AMERICA MADE ITS PAYMENT TO
THE ESCROW AGENT ON APRIL 11, 2012.  THE SETTLEMENT DOES NOT
RESULT IN AN INJUNCTION OR ANY FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAW.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB

Initiated By: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS GENERAL OF 49
STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Date Court Action Filed: 04/05/2012

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

ON MARCH 12, 2012, THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS
GENERAL OF 49 STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA FILED A
COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AND CONSENT JUDGMENT AGAINST BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BAC HOME LOANS
SERVICING, LP F/K/A COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP,
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE FINANCIAL
CORPORATION, COUNTRYWIDE MORTGAGE VENTURES, LLC, AND/OR
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB (TOGETHER, "BANK OF AMERICA") AND OTHER
MAJOR MORTGAGE SERVICERS TO SETTLE A NUMBER OF RELATED
INVESTIGATIONS INTO RESIDENTIAL LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION
PRACTICES (THE "SETTLEMENT").  THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THE
DEFENDANT'S MISCONDUCT RELATED TO ITS ORIGINATION AND
SERVICING OF SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES CAUSED THE
DEFENDANTS TO HAVE VIOLATED, AMONG OTHER LAWS, THE UNFAIR AND
DECEPTIVE ACTS AND PRACTICES LAWS OF THE PLAINTIFF STATES, THE
FALSE CLAIMS ACT, THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY,
AND ENFORCEMENT ACT OF 1989, THE SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF
ACT, AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY
PROCEDURE.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; ADDITIONAL SERVICING & ORIGINATION STANDARDS

Date Court Action Filed: 04/05/2012

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 04/05/2012

Other Sanctions: THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE SETTLEMENT IS $10,956,615,075.00, AND
CONSISTS OF THE THREE COMPONENTS AS FURTHER DESCRIBED IN
13.C.  UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY AT THE DISCRETION OF THE STATES AND DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.  THE AMOUNT IS BEING DISCLOSED IN THIS SECTION 13.B
INSTEAD OF IN THE BOX ABOVE AS THE EXACT AMOUNT TO BE TREATED
AS A CIVIL PENALTY IS NOT KNOWN.  OTHER SANCTIONS:  ADDITIONAL
SERVICING AND ORIGINATION STANDARDS.

Sanction Details: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Monetary/Fine $0.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Firm Statement BANK OF AMERICA CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT
JUDGMENT WITHOUT ADMITTING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO JURISDICTION.  THE
ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS ARE
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  BANK OF AMERICA MADE ITS PAYMENT TO
THE ESCROW AGENT ON APRIL 11, 2012.  THE SETTLEMENT DOES NOT
RESULT IN AN INJUNCTION OR ANY FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAW.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BAC HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP F/K/A COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS
SERVICING, LP

Initiated By: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS GENERAL OF 49
STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

ON MARCH 12, 2012, THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS
GENERAL OF 49 STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA FILED A
COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AND CONSENT JUDGMENT AGAINST BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BAC HOME LOANS
SERVICING, LP F/K/A COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP,
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE FINANCIAL
CORPORATION, COUNTRYWIDE MORTGAGE VENTURES, LLC, AND/OR
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB (TOGETHER, "BANK OF AMERICA") AND OTHER
MAJOR MORTGAGE SERVICERS TO SETTLE A NUMBER OF RELATED
INVESTIGATIONS INTO RESIDENTIAL LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION
PRACTICES (THE "SETTLEMENT").  THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THE
DEFENDANT'S MISCONDUCT RELATED TO ITS ORIGINATION AND
SERVICING OF SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES CAUSED THE
DEFENDANTS TO HAVE VIOLATED, AMONG OTHER LAWS, THE UNFAIR AND
DECEPTIVE ACTS AND PRACTICES LAWS OF THE PLAINTIFF STATES, THE
FALSE CLAIMS ACT, THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY,
AND ENFORCEMENT ACT OF 1989, THE SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF
ACT, AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY
PROCEDURE.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; ADDITIONAL SERVICING & ORIGINATION STANDARDS

Date Court Action Filed: 04/05/2012

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 04/05/2012

Other Sanctions: THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE SETTLEMENT IS $10,956,615,075.00, AND
CONSISTS OF THE THREE COMPONENTS AS FURTHER DESCRIBED IN
13.C.  UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY AT THE DISCRETION OF THE STATES AND DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.  THE AMOUNT IS BEING DISCLOSED IN THIS SECTION 13.B
INSTEAD OF IN THE BOX ABOVE AS THE EXACT AMOUNT TO BE TREATED
AS A CIVIL PENALTY IS NOT KNOWN.  OTHER SANCTIONS:  ADDITIONAL
SERVICING AND ORIGINATION STANDARDS.

Sanction Details: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Monetary/Fine $0.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Firm Statement BANK OF AMERICA CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT
JUDGMENT WITHOUT ADMITTING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO JURISDICTION.  THE
ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS ARE
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  BANK OF AMERICA MADE ITS PAYMENT TO
THE ESCROW AGENT ON APRIL 11, 2012.  THE SETTLEMENT DOES NOT
RESULT IN AN INJUNCTION OR ANY FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAW.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: COUNTRYWIDE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Initiated By: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS GENERAL OF 49
STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

ON MARCH 12, 2012, THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS
GENERAL OF 49 STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA FILED A
COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AND CONSENT JUDGMENT AGAINST BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BAC HOME LOANS
SERVICING, LP F/K/A COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP,
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE FINANCIAL
CORPORATION, COUNTRYWIDE MORTGAGE VENTURES, LLC, AND/OR
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB (TOGETHER, "BANK OF AMERICA") AND OTHER
MAJOR MORTGAGE SERVICERS TO SETTLE A NUMBER OF RELATED
INVESTIGATIONS INTO RESIDENTIAL LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION
PRACTICES (THE "SETTLEMENT").  THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THE
DEFENDANT'S MISCONDUCT RELATED TO ITS ORIGINATION AND
SERVICING OF SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES CAUSED THE
DEFENDANTS TO HAVE VIOLATED, AMONG OTHER LAWS, THE UNFAIR AND
DECEPTIVE ACTS AND PRACTICES LAWS OF THE PLAINTIFF STATES, THE
FALSE CLAIMS ACT, THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY,
AND ENFORCEMENT ACT OF 1989, THE SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF
ACT, AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY
PROCEDURE.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; ADDITIONAL SERVICING & ORIGINATION STANDARDS

Date Court Action Filed: 04/05/2012

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 04/05/2012

Other Sanctions: THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE SETTLEMENT IS $10,956,615,075.00, AND
CONSISTS OF THE THREE COMPONENTS AS FURTHER DESCRIBED IN
13.C.  UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY AT THE DISCRETION OF THE STATES AND DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.  THE AMOUNT IS BEING DISCLOSED IN THIS SECTION 13.B
INSTEAD OF IN THE BOX ABOVE AS THE EXACT AMOUNT TO BE TREATED
AS A CIVIL PENALTY IS NOT KNOWN.  OTHER SANCTIONS:  ADDITIONAL
SERVICING AND ORIGINATION STANDARDS.

Sanction Details: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Monetary/Fine $0.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Firm Statement BANK OF AMERICA CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT
JUDGMENT WITHOUT ADMITTING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO JURISDICTION.  THE
ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS ARE
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  BANK OF AMERICA MADE ITS PAYMENT TO
THE ESCROW AGENT ON APRIL 11, 2012.  THE SETTLEMENT DOES NOT
RESULT IN AN INJUNCTION OR ANY FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAW.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS GENERAL OF 49
STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

ON MARCH 12, 2012, THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS
GENERAL OF 49 STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA FILED A
COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AND CONSENT JUDGMENT AGAINST BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BAC HOME LOANS
SERVICING, LP F/K/A COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP,
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE FINANCIAL
CORPORATION, COUNTRYWIDE MORTGAGE VENTURES, LLC, AND/OR
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB (TOGETHER, "BANK OF AMERICA") AND OTHER
MAJOR MORTGAGE SERVICERS TO SETTLE A NUMBER OF RELATED
INVESTIGATIONS INTO RESIDENTIAL LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION
PRACTICES (THE "SETTLEMENT").  THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THE
DEFENDANT'S MISCONDUCT RELATED TO ITS ORIGINATION AND
SERVICING OF SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES CAUSED THE
DEFENDANTS TO HAVE VIOLATED, AMONG OTHER LAWS, THE UNFAIR AND
DECEPTIVE ACTS AND PRACTICES LAWS OF THE PLAINTIFF STATES, THE
FALSE CLAIMS ACT, THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY,
AND ENFORCEMENT ACT OF 1989, THE SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF
ACT, AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY
PROCEDURE.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; ADDITIONAL SERVICING & ORIGINATION STANDARDS

Date Court Action Filed: 04/05/2012

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 04/05/2012

Other Sanctions: THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE SETTLEMENT IS $10,956,615,075.00, AND
CONSISTS OF THE THREE COMPONENTS AS FURTHER DESCRIBED IN
13.C.  UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY AT THE DISCRETION OF THE STATES AND DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.  THE AMOUNT IS BEING DISCLOSED IN THIS SECTION 13.B
INSTEAD OF IN THE BOX ABOVE AS THE EXACT AMOUNT TO BE TREATED
AS A CIVIL PENALTY IS NOT KNOWN.  OTHER SANCTIONS:  ADDITIONAL
SERVICING AND ORIGINATION STANDARDS.

Sanction Details: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Monetary/Fine $0.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Firm Statement BANK OF AMERICA CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT
JUDGMENT WITHOUT ADMITTING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO JURISDICTION.  THE
ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS ARE
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  BANK OF AMERICA MADE ITS PAYMENT TO
THE ESCROW AGENT ON APRIL 11, 2012.  THE SETTLEMENT DOES NOT
RESULT IN AN INJUNCTION OR ANY FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAW.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

Initiated By: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS GENERAL OF 49
STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

ON MARCH 12, 2012, THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS
GENERAL OF 49 STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA FILED A
COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AND CONSENT JUDGMENT AGAINST BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BAC HOME LOANS
SERVICING, LP F/K/A COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP,
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE FINANCIAL
CORPORATION, COUNTRYWIDE MORTGAGE VENTURES, LLC, AND/OR
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB (TOGETHER, "BANK OF AMERICA") AND OTHER
MAJOR MORTGAGE SERVICERS TO SETTLE A NUMBER OF RELATED
INVESTIGATIONS INTO RESIDENTIAL LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION
PRACTICES (THE "SETTLEMENT").  THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THE
DEFENDANT'S MISCONDUCT RELATED TO ITS ORIGINATION AND
SERVICING OF SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES CAUSED THE
DEFENDANTS TO HAVE VIOLATED, AMONG OTHER LAWS, THE UNFAIR AND
DECEPTIVE ACTS AND PRACTICES LAWS OF THE PLAINTIFF STATES, THE
FALSE CLAIMS ACT, THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY,
AND ENFORCEMENT ACT OF 1989, THE SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF
ACT, AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY
PROCEDURE.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; ADDITIONAL SERVICING & ORIGINATION STANDARDS

Date Court Action Filed: 04/05/2012

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 04/05/2012

Other Sanctions: THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE SETTLEMENT IS $10,956,615,075.00, AND
CONSISTS OF THE THREE COMPONENTS AS FURTHER DESCRIBED IN
13.C.  UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY AT THE DISCRETION OF THE STATES AND DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.  THE AMOUNT IS BEING DISCLOSED IN THIS SECTION 13.B
INSTEAD OF IN THE BOX ABOVE AS THE EXACT AMOUNT TO BE TREATED
AS A CIVIL PENALTY IS NOT KNOWN.  OTHER SANCTIONS:  ADDITIONAL
SERVICING AND ORIGINATION STANDARDS.

Sanction Details: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Monetary/Fine $0.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Firm Statement BANK OF AMERICA CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT
JUDGMENT WITHOUT ADMITTING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO JURISDICTION.  THE
ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS ARE
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  BANK OF AMERICA MADE ITS PAYMENT TO
THE ESCROW AGENT ON APRIL 11, 2012.  THE SETTLEMENT DOES NOT
RESULT IN AN INJUNCTION OR ANY FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAW.

i
Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC.

Initiated By: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS GENERAL OF 49
STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

ON MARCH 12, 2012, THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND THE ATTORNEYS
GENERAL OF 49 STATES AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA FILED A
COMPLAINT ("COMPLAINT") AND CONSENT JUDGMENT AGAINST BANK OF
AMERICA CORPORATION, BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., BAC HOME LOANS
SERVICING, LP F/K/A COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP,
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., COUNTRYWIDE FINANCIAL
CORPORATION, COUNTRYWIDE MORTGAGE VENTURES, LLC, AND/OR
COUNTRYWIDE BANK, FSB (TOGETHER, "BANK OF AMERICA") AND OTHER
MAJOR MORTGAGE SERVICERS TO SETTLE A NUMBER OF RELATED
INVESTIGATIONS INTO RESIDENTIAL LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION
PRACTICES (THE "SETTLEMENT").  THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THE
DEFENDANT'S MISCONDUCT RELATED TO ITS ORIGINATION AND
SERVICING OF SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES CAUSED THE
DEFENDANTS TO HAVE VIOLATED, AMONG OTHER LAWS, THE UNFAIR AND
DECEPTIVE ACTS AND PRACTICES LAWS OF THE PLAINTIFF STATES, THE
FALSE CLAIMS ACT, THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS REFORM, RECOVERY,
AND ENFORCEMENT ACT OF 1989, THE SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF
ACT, AND THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND FEDERAL RULES OF BANKRUPTCY
PROCEDURE.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final
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Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: RESTITUTION; ADDITIONAL SERVICING & ORIGINATION STANDARDS

Date Court Action Filed: 04/05/2012

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING AND ORIGINATION

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DOCKET NUMBER
1:12-CV-00361-RMC

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 04/05/2012

Other Sanctions: THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE SETTLEMENT IS $10,956,615,075.00, AND
CONSISTS OF THE THREE COMPONENTS AS FURTHER DESCRIBED IN
13.C.  UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY AT THE DISCRETION OF THE STATES AND DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA.  THE AMOUNT IS BEING DISCLOSED IN THIS SECTION 13.B
INSTEAD OF IN THE BOX ABOVE AS THE EXACT AMOUNT TO BE TREATED
AS A CIVIL PENALTY IS NOT KNOWN.  OTHER SANCTIONS:  ADDITIONAL
SERVICING AND ORIGINATION STANDARDS.

Sanction Details: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Monetary/Fine $0.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION AND/OR ITS AFFILIATED ENTITIES
SHALL PAY OR CAUSE TO BE PAID INTO AN INTEREST BEARING ESCROW
ACCOUNT TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THIS PURPOSE THE SUM OF
$2,382,415,075, WHICH SUM SHALL BE ADDED TO FUNDS BEING PAID BY
OTHER INSTITUTIONS RESOLVING CLAIMS IN THIS MATTER AND
ACCORDING TO CERTAIN CRITERIA ESTABLISHED IN THE SETTLEMENT.
UP TO $120 MILLION OF THIS AMOUNT MAY BE TREATED AS A CIVIL
PENALTY.  IN ADDITION, BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $7,626,200,000
OF RELIEF TO CONSUMERS WHO MEET CERTAIN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA
RELATING TO SERVICING OF LOANS.  THE ADDITIONAL SERVICING AND
ORIGINATION STANDARDS INCLUDE THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW OR
ENHANCED PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE BORROWER ASSISTANCE, THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PROPRIETARY PROGRAMS TO PROVIDE EXPANDED
MORTGAGE MODIFICATION SOLUTIONS, INCLUDING THE BROADER USE
OF PRINCIPAL REDUCTIONS IF PERMITTED BY THE MORTGAGE INVESTOR,
ENHANCED PROGRAMS FOR UNEMPLOYED, MILITARY SERVICE MEMBERS
AND OTHER CUSTOMERS WITH IDENTIFIED SPECIAL SITUATIONS,
ENHANCED FACILITATION OF SHORT SALES, AND THE OFFER OF OTHER
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS, SUCH AS DEED-IN-LIEU OF FORECLOSURE AND
FUNDS FOR FAMILIES TRANSITIONING OUT OF HOME OWNERSHIP.  ALSO,
BANK OF AMERICA SHALL PROVIDE $948,000,000 TO A NEW REFINANCING
PROGRAM FOR CURRENT CONSUMERS WHO MEET OTHER ELIGIBILITY
CRITERIA.  THE REFINANCING PROGRAM IS INTENDED TO EXPAND
REFINANCING OPPORTUNITIES OR LOWER INTEREST RATES ON BANK OF
AMERICA OWNED MORTGAGES TO PROVIDE REDUCED PAYMENTS FOR
MANY HOMEOWNERS WHO ARE CURRENT ON THEIR PAYMENTS BUT OWE
MORE THAN THE CURRENT VALUE OF THEIR HOMES.  FOLLOWING
FINALIZATION OF THE SETTLEMENT TERMS, BANK OF AMERICA WILL
FINALIZE ITS PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS AND  PROVIDE ADDITIONAL
DETAILS OF ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS.

Firm Statement BANK OF AMERICA CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF THE CONSENT
JUDGMENT WITHOUT ADMITTING THE ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT
OTHER THAN THOSE FACTS DEEMED NECESSARY TO JURISDICTION.  THE
ALLEGATIONS ARE DESCRIBED IN ITEM 7 ABOVE AND THE SANCTIONS ARE
DESCRIBED IN ITEM 13 ABOVE.  BANK OF AMERICA MADE ITS PAYMENT TO
THE ESCROW AGENT ON APRIL 11, 2012.  THE SETTLEMENT DOES NOT
RESULT IN AN INJUNCTION OR ANY FINDINGS OF VIOLATIONS OF LAW.

Disclosure 4 of 9

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BAC HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP (F/K/A COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS
SERVICING LP)

Initiated By: THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Relief Sought: Money Damages (Private/Civil Complaint)

Other Relief Sought: INJUNCTION; CERTAIN UNDERTAKINGS (SEE 13B BELOW FOR DETAILS)

Date Court Action Filed: 05/26/2011

Principal Product Type: Other

Other Product Types: RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE LOAN SERVICING

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA; LOS
ANGELES, CA; CIVIL ACTION NO. 2:11-CF-04534-PA

THE COMPLAINT ALLEGES THAT FROM JANUARY 1, 2006 THROUGH MAY
31, 2009, HLS FAILED TO DETERMINE CONSISTENTLY AND ACCURATELY
THE MILITARY STATUS OF MORTGAGE LOAN BORROWERS IN
FORECLOSURE, AND THAT AS A RESULT OF THIS FAILURE, FROM JANUARY
1, 2006 THROUGH MAY 31, 2009, HLS WRONGFULLY FORECLOSED
WITHOUT COURT ORDERS ON APPROXIMATELY 160 PROPERTIES OWNED
BY SERVICEMEMBERS PROTECTED BY THE SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL
RELIEF ACT (SCRA).

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent
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Resolution: Consent

Resolution Date: 05/31/2011

Other Sanctions: THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES HLS TO DEPOSIT $20 MILLION INTO A
SETTLEMENT FUND WITHIN 10 BUSINESS DAYS.  THE SETTLEMENT FUND
WILL BE USED TO COMPENSATE PERSONS DETERMINED TO BE VICTIMS
OF VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 533(C) OF SCRA BETWEEN JANUARY 1, 2006
AND MAY 31, 2009.  HLS ALSO MUST:  DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT SCRA
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT IT DOES NOT FORECLOSE
ON PRE-SERVICE MORTGAGES OF SERVICEMEMBERS; DEVELOP AND
IMPLEMENT A FORECLOSURE MONITORING PROGRAM; RECEIVE
APPROVAL OF ITS SCRA FORECLOSURE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES AND
MONITORING PROGRAM BY COUNSEL FOR THE UNITED STATES; PROVIDE,
OR ENSURE THIRD-PARTY VENDORS PROVIDE, SCRA COMPLIANCE
TRAINING TO CERTAIN MANAGEMENT OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES;
COMMENCE A REVIEW OF CERTAIN NONJUDICIAL FORECLOSURES TO
DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 533(C) OF SCRA; AND
CONTRACT WITH ONE OR MORE QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTING
FIRMS TO REVIEW A STATISTICALLY VALID SAMPLE OF HLS' HOME
MORTGAGE FILES DURING JANUARY 1, 2008 THROUGH DECEMBER 31,
2010, AND PREPARE A WRITTEN REPORT THAT ADDRESSES, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, WHETHER, DURING THE PERIOD OF MILITARY SERVICE
AND FOR THE STATUTORILY-REQUIRED PERIOD THEREAFTER, HLS
LIMITED THE INTEREST RATE TO A MAXIMUM OF 6 PERCENT PER YEAR.

Sanction Details: UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED IN THE CONSENT ORDER, THE PROVISIONS
OF THE CONSENT ORDER MUST BE IMPLEMENTED WITHIN 60 DAYS.  THE
CONSENT ORDER IS TO BE IN EFFECT FOR FOUR YEARS, WHICH TERM
MAY BE EXTENDED FOR GOOD CAUSE SHOWN.  HLS DEPOSITED $20
MILLION INTO THE INTEREST BEARING ACCOUNT ON JUNE 8, 2011.  THE
CONSENT ORDER ENJOINS HLS, ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS,
REPRESENTATIVES, AND AFFILIATED ASSIGNEES, AND AFFILIATED
SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST, AND ALL THOSE IN ACTIVE CONCERT OR
PARTICIPATION WITH ANY OF THEM, FROM FORECLOSING ON THE PRE-
SERVICE MORTGAGES OF SCRA PROTECTED BORROWERS WITHOUT
PROVIDING THE PROTECTIONS CONFERRED BY SCRA.

Firm Statement THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES HLS TO DEPOSIT $20 MILLION INTO A
SETTLEMENT FUND WITHIN 10 BUSINESS DAYS.  THE SETTLEMENT FUND
WILL BE USED TO COMPENSATE PERSONS DETERMINED TO BE VICTIMS
OF VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 533(C) OF SCRA BETWEEN JANUARY 1, 2006
AND MAY 31, 2009.  HLS ALSO MUST:  DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT SCRA
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT IT DOES NOT FORECLOSE
ON PRE-SERVICE MORTGAGES OF SERVICEMEMBERS; DEVELOP AND
IMPLEMENT A FORECLOSURE MONITORING PROGRAM; RECEIVE
APPROVAL OF ITS SCRA FORECLOSURE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES AND
MONITORING PROGRAM BY COUNSEL FOR THE UNITED STATES; PROVIDE,
OR ENSURE THIRD-PARTY VENDORS PROVIDE, SCRA COMPLIANCE
TRAINING TO CERTAIN MANAGEMENT OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES;
COMMENCE A REVIEW OF CERTAIN NONJUDICIAL FORECLOSURES TO
DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 533(C) OF SCRA; AND
CONTRACT WITH ONE OR MORE QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTING
FIRMS TO REVIEW A STATISTICALLY VALID SAMPLE OF HLS' HOME
MORTGAGE FILES DURING JANUARY 1, 2008 THROUGH DECEMBER 31,
2010, AND PREPARE A WRITTEN REPORT THAT ADDRESSES, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, WHETHER, DURING THE PERIOD OF MILITARY SERVICE
AND FOR THE STATUTORILY-REQUIRED PERIOD THEREAFTER, HLS
LIMITED THE INTEREST RATE TO A MAXIMUM OF 6 PERCENT PER YEAR.
UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED IN THE CONSENT ORDER, THE PROVISIONS
OF THE CONSENT ORDER MUST BE IMPLEMENTED WITHIN 60 DAYS.  THE
CONSENT ORDER IS TO BE IN EFFECT FOR FOUR YEARS, WHICH TERM
MAY BE EXTENDED FOR GOOD CAUSE SHOWN.  HLS DEPOSITED $20
MILLION INTO THE INTEREST BEARING ACCOUNT ON JUNE 8, 2011.  THE
CONSENT ORDER ENJOINS HLS, ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS,
REPRESENTATIVES, AND AFFILIATED ASSIGNEES, AND AFFILIATED
SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST, AND ALL THOSE IN ACTIVE CONCERT OR
PARTICIPATION WITH ANY OF THEM, FROM FORECLOSING ON THE PRE-
SERVICE MORTGAGES OF SCRA PROTECTED BORROWERS WITHOUT
PROVIDING THE PROTECTIONS CONFERRED BY SCRA.

Cease and Desist/InjunctionSanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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THE CONSENT ORDER REQUIRES HLS TO DEPOSIT $20 MILLION INTO A
SETTLEMENT FUND WITHIN 10 BUSINESS DAYS.  THE SETTLEMENT FUND
WILL BE USED TO COMPENSATE PERSONS DETERMINED TO BE VICTIMS
OF VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 533(C) OF SCRA BETWEEN JANUARY 1, 2006
AND MAY 31, 2009.  HLS ALSO MUST:  DEVELOP AND IMPLEMENT SCRA
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO ENSURE THAT IT DOES NOT FORECLOSE
ON PRE-SERVICE MORTGAGES OF SERVICEMEMBERS; DEVELOP AND
IMPLEMENT A FORECLOSURE MONITORING PROGRAM; RECEIVE
APPROVAL OF ITS SCRA FORECLOSURE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES AND
MONITORING PROGRAM BY COUNSEL FOR THE UNITED STATES; PROVIDE,
OR ENSURE THIRD-PARTY VENDORS PROVIDE, SCRA COMPLIANCE
TRAINING TO CERTAIN MANAGEMENT OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES;
COMMENCE A REVIEW OF CERTAIN NONJUDICIAL FORECLOSURES TO
DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 533(C) OF SCRA; AND
CONTRACT WITH ONE OR MORE QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTING
FIRMS TO REVIEW A STATISTICALLY VALID SAMPLE OF HLS' HOME
MORTGAGE FILES DURING JANUARY 1, 2008 THROUGH DECEMBER 31,
2010, AND PREPARE A WRITTEN REPORT THAT ADDRESSES, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, WHETHER, DURING THE PERIOD OF MILITARY SERVICE
AND FOR THE STATUTORILY-REQUIRED PERIOD THEREAFTER, HLS
LIMITED THE INTEREST RATE TO A MAXIMUM OF 6 PERCENT PER YEAR.
UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED IN THE CONSENT ORDER, THE PROVISIONS
OF THE CONSENT ORDER MUST BE IMPLEMENTED WITHIN 60 DAYS.  THE
CONSENT ORDER IS TO BE IN EFFECT FOR FOUR YEARS, WHICH TERM
MAY BE EXTENDED FOR GOOD CAUSE SHOWN.  HLS DEPOSITED $20
MILLION INTO THE INTEREST BEARING ACCOUNT ON JUNE 8, 2011.  THE
CONSENT ORDER ENJOINS HLS, ITS OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS,
REPRESENTATIVES, AND AFFILIATED ASSIGNEES, AND AFFILIATED
SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST, AND ALL THOSE IN ACTIVE CONCERT OR
PARTICIPATION WITH ANY OF THEM, FROM FORECLOSING ON THE PRE-
SERVICE MORTGAGES OF SCRA PROTECTED BORROWERS WITHOUT
PROVIDING THE PROTECTIONS CONFERRED BY SCRA.

Disclosure 5 of 9

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

Date Court Action Filed: 02/04/2010

Court Details: SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, COUNTY OF NEW YORK

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK ALLEGES THAT
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION ("BAC"), ITS FORMER CEO KENNETH D.
LEWIS AND ITS FORMER CFO JOSEPH L. PRICE ENGAGED IN ACTS AND
PRACTICES IN CONNECTION WITH THE MERGER (THE "MERGER")
BETWEEN BAC AND MERRILL LYNCH & CO. INC. ("MERRILL LYNCH") THAT
VIOLATED CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS
LAW (THE "MARTIN ACT") AND THE NEW YORK EXECUTIVE LAW.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Date Notice/Process Served: 02/04/2010
1932©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org


www.finra.org/brokercheck User Guidance

Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: DISGORGEMENT; INJUNCTION; RESTITUTION; ATTORNEYS' FEES AND
OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Types:

Date Notice/Process Served: 02/04/2010

Resolution: Settled

Resolution Date: 03/25/2014

Other Sanctions: BAC AGREED TO PAY THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL $15,000,000 (AS
COSTS OF INVESTIGATION AND SUBSEQUENT LITIGATION) AS WELL AS
MAKING SEVERAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CHANGES.

Sanction Details: BAC AGREED TO PAY THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL $15,000,000 (AS
COSTS OF INVESTIGATION AND SUBSEQUENT LITIGATION) AS WELL AS
MAKING SEVERAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CHANGES.

Firm Statement ON FEBRUARY 4, 2010, THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL FILED A CIVIL
COMPLAINT IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEW YORK STATE, ENTITLED
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK V. BANK OF AMERICA, ET AL. THE
COMPLAINT NAMES AS DEFENDANTS BAC AND BAC'S FORMER CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICERS, KENNETH D. LEWIS, AND
JOSEPH L. PRICE, AND ALLEGES VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 352, 352-
C(1)(A), 352-C(1)(C), AND 353 OF THE NEW YORK MARTIN ACT, AND
SECTION 63(12) OF THE NEW YORK EXECUTIVE LAW. THE COMPLAINT
ATTACKS THE SUFFICIENCY AND ACCURACY OF BAC'S DISCLOSURES AND
ITS PRACTICES RELATED TO BAC'S MERGER WITH MERRILL LYNCH,
INCLUDING: (I) THE DISCLOSURE OF MERRILL LYNCH'S FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND ITS INTERIM AND PROJECTED LOSSES DURING THE
FOURTH QUARTER OF 2008, (II) BAC'S CONTACTS WITH FEDERAL
GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS REGARDING BAC'S CONSIDERATION OF
INVOKING THE MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT CLAUSE IN THE MERGER
AGREEMENT WITH MERRILL LYNCH AND THE POSSIBILITY OF OBTAINING
ADDITIONAL GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE, (III) THE DISCLOSURE OF THE
PAYMENT AND TIMING OF YEAR-END INCENTIVE COMPENSATION TO
MERRILL LYNCH EMPLOYEES, AND (IV) PUBLIC STATEMENTS REGARDING
THE DUE DILIGENCE CONDUCTED IN CONNECTION WITH THE MERGER
AND POSITIVE STATEMENTS REGARDING THE MERGER.  THE COMPLAINT
SEEKS AN UNSPECIFIED AMOUNT IN DISGORGEMENT, PENALTIES,
RESTITUTION, AND DAMAGES, COSTS AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF,
ALTHOUGH THE NYAG WITHDREW ITS DEMAND FOR DAMAGES.  ON
MARCH 25, 2014, BAC ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
TERMINATING THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL'S LAWSUIT AGAINST
BAC.

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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ON FEBRUARY 4, 2010, THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL FILED A CIVIL
COMPLAINT IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEW YORK STATE, ENTITLED
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK V. BANK OF AMERICA, ET AL. THE
COMPLAINT NAMES AS DEFENDANTS BAC AND BAC'S FORMER CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICERS, KENNETH D. LEWIS, AND
JOSEPH L. PRICE, AND ALLEGES VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 352, 352-
C(1)(A), 352-C(1)(C), AND 353 OF THE NEW YORK MARTIN ACT, AND
SECTION 63(12) OF THE NEW YORK EXECUTIVE LAW. THE COMPLAINT
ATTACKS THE SUFFICIENCY AND ACCURACY OF BAC'S DISCLOSURES AND
ITS PRACTICES RELATED TO BAC'S MERGER WITH MERRILL LYNCH,
INCLUDING: (I) THE DISCLOSURE OF MERRILL LYNCH'S FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND ITS INTERIM AND PROJECTED LOSSES DURING THE
FOURTH QUARTER OF 2008, (II) BAC'S CONTACTS WITH FEDERAL
GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS REGARDING BAC'S CONSIDERATION OF
INVOKING THE MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT CLAUSE IN THE MERGER
AGREEMENT WITH MERRILL LYNCH AND THE POSSIBILITY OF OBTAINING
ADDITIONAL GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE, (III) THE DISCLOSURE OF THE
PAYMENT AND TIMING OF YEAR-END INCENTIVE COMPENSATION TO
MERRILL LYNCH EMPLOYEES, AND (IV) PUBLIC STATEMENTS REGARDING
THE DUE DILIGENCE CONDUCTED IN CONNECTION WITH THE MERGER
AND POSITIVE STATEMENTS REGARDING THE MERGER.  THE COMPLAINT
SEEKS AN UNSPECIFIED AMOUNT IN DISGORGEMENT, PENALTIES,
RESTITUTION, AND DAMAGES, COSTS AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF,
ALTHOUGH THE NYAG WITHDREW ITS DEMAND FOR DAMAGES.  ON
MARCH 25, 2014, BAC ENTERED INTO A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
TERMINATING THE NEW YORK ATTORNEY GENERAL'S LAWSUIT AGAINST
BAC.

Disclosure 6 of 9

i

Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: INJUNCTION

Date Court Action Filed: 01/12/2010

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Types:

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK; 10-
CV-0215(JSR)

THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("SEC") ALLEGED THAT
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION (THE "CORPORATION") VIOLATED THE
FEDERAL PROXY RULES BY FAILING TO DISCLOSE INFORMATION
CONCERNING MERRILL LYNCH & CO., INC.'S KNOWN AND ESTIMATED
LOSSES IN THE FOURTH QUARTER OF 2008 PRIOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER
VOTE ON DECEMBER 5, 2008 TO APPROVE THE MERGER BETWEEN THE
TWO COMPANIES.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent

Resolution Date: 02/24/2010

Other Sanctions: THE CORPORATION AGREED, FOR A PERIOD OF THREE YEARS, TO
COMPLY WITH AND MAINTAIN CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO THE
CORPORATION'S CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND DISCLOSURE
PRACTICES.

Sanction Details: N/A

Firm Statement ON FEBRUARY 24, 2010, A FINAL CONSENT JUDGMENT (THE "FINAL
JUDGMENT") WAS ENTERED BY THE COURT.  UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
FINAL JUDGMENT, THE CORPORATION AGREED TO PAY $1 IN
DISGORGEMENT AND A $150 MILLION CIVIL PENALTY TO BE DISTRIBUTED
TO SHAREHOLDERS AS PART OF THE SEC'S FAIR FUNDS PROGRAM AT A
LATER DATE IN ACCORDANCE WITH FURTHER ORDER OF THE COURT.  IN
ADDITION, AS PART OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT, THE CORPORATION
AGREED, FOR A PERIOD OF THREE YEARS, TO COMPLY WITH AND
MAINTAIN CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO THE CORPORATION'S
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND DISCLOSURE PRACTICES.

Monetary/Fine $150,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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ON FEBRUARY 24, 2010, A FINAL CONSENT JUDGMENT (THE "FINAL
JUDGMENT") WAS ENTERED BY THE COURT.  UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
FINAL JUDGMENT, THE CORPORATION AGREED TO PAY $1 IN
DISGORGEMENT AND A $150 MILLION CIVIL PENALTY TO BE DISTRIBUTED
TO SHAREHOLDERS AS PART OF THE SEC'S FAIR FUNDS PROGRAM AT A
LATER DATE IN ACCORDANCE WITH FURTHER ORDER OF THE COURT.  IN
ADDITION, AS PART OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT, THE CORPORATION
AGREED, FOR A PERIOD OF THREE YEARS, TO COMPLY WITH AND
MAINTAIN CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO THE CORPORATION'S
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND DISCLOSURE PRACTICES.

Disclosure 7 of 9
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION

Initiated By: SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Relief Sought: Civil Penalty(ies)/Fine(s)

Other Relief Sought: INJUNCTION

Date Court Action Filed: 08/03/2009

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Types:

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK; 09-
CV-6829

THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("SEC") ALLEGED THAT
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION (THE "CORPORATION") VIOLATED
SECTION 14(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (THE
 "EXCHANGE ACT") AND RULE 14A-9 THEREUNDER BY FAILING TO
DISCLOSE IN THE CORPORATION'S JOINT PROXY STATEMENT FILED ON
NOVEMBER 3, 2008 THE INCENTIVE COMPENSATION THAT MERRILL LYNCH
& CO., INC. COULD, IN ITS DISCRETION, AWARD TO ITS EMPLOYEES PRIOR
TO COMPLETION OF ITS MERGER WITH THE CORPORATION.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent

Resolution Date: 02/24/2010

Other Sanctions: THE CORPORATION AGREED, FOR A PERIOD OF THREE YEARS, TO
COMPLY WITH AND MAINTAIN CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO THE
CORPORATION'S CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND DISCLOSURE
PRACTICES.

Sanction Details: N/A

Monetary/Fine $150,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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Sanction Details: N/A

Firm Statement ON FEBRUARY 24, 2010, A FINAL CONSENT JUDGMENT (THE "FINAL
JUDGMENT") WAS ENTERED BY THE COURT.  UNDER THE TERMS OF THE
FINAL JUDGMENT, THE CORPORATION AGREED TO PAY $1 IN
DISGORGEMENT AND A $150 MILLION CIVIL PENALTY TO BE DISTRIBUTED
TO SHAREHOLDERS AS PART OF THE SEC'S FAIR FUNDS PROGRAM AT A
LATER DATE IN ACCORDANCE WITH FURTHER ORDER OF THE COURT.  IN
ADDITION, AS PART OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT, THE CORPORATION
AGREED, FOR A PERIOD OF THREE YEARS, TO COMPLY WITH AND
MAINTAIN CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO THE CORPORATION'S
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND DISCLOSURE PRACTICES.

Disclosure 8 of 9
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: FLEET FINANCIAL GROUP (FKA FLEETBOSTON FINANCIAL CORPORATION NKA
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION)

Initiated By: U.S. DISTRICT COURT (CONNECTICUT)

Relief Sought:

Other Relief Sought:

Date Court Action Filed: 01/01/1981

Principal Product Type: Options

Other Product Types: BANKING PRODUCT

Court Details: U.S. DISTRICT COURT

U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOUND THAT FLEET FINANCIAL GROUP ISSUED
DEFICIENT PROXY MATERIALS.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Judgment Rendered

Resolution Date: 06/30/1981

Other Sanctions:

Sanction Details:

Firm Statement PRIOR TO ITS AFFILIATION WITH FLEET, A U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOUND IN
1981 THAT HARTFORD NATIONAL CORPORATION (HNC) ISSUED DEFICIENT
PROXY MATERIALS TO ITS SHAREHOLDERS FOR A MEETING TO APPROVE
A MERGER WITH ANOTHER BANK. NEW PROXY MATERIALS WERE ISSUED
IN LIGHT OF THE COURT'S DECISION AND HNC'S SHAREHOLDERS
REAPPROVED THE MERGER IN 1982.

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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PRIOR TO ITS AFFILIATION WITH FLEET, A U.S. DISTRICT COURT FOUND IN
1981 THAT HARTFORD NATIONAL CORPORATION (HNC) ISSUED DEFICIENT
PROXY MATERIALS TO ITS SHAREHOLDERS FOR A MEETING TO APPROVE
A MERGER WITH ANOTHER BANK. NEW PROXY MATERIALS WERE ISSUED
IN LIGHT OF THE COURT'S DECISION AND HNC'S SHAREHOLDERS
REAPPROVED THE MERGER IN 1982.

Disclosure 9 of 9
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Reporting Source: Firm

Affiliate: MERRILL LYNCH & CO., INC. (N/K/A BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION)

Initiated By: SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION #180

Relief Sought: Injunction

Other Relief Sought: CIVIL PENALTIES AND DISGORGEMENT

Date Court Action Filed: 03/17/2003

Principal Product Type: No Product

Other Product Types:

Court Details: UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF
TEXAS.

IN ITS COMPLAINT, THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
("SEC")ALLEGED THAT THREE YEARS AGO, IN 1999, MERRILL LYNCH & CO.,
INC. ("ML & CO."), THE PARENT COMPANY OF MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH INC. ("MLPFS"), AIDED AND ABETTED ENRON CORP.'S
("ENRON") VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 10(B), 13(A), 13(B)(2) AND 13(B)(5)OF
THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 10B-5, 12B-20, 13A-1, 13A-13 AND 13B 2-1
THEREUNDER, AS A RESULT OF ML & CO. ENGAGING IN CERTAIN YEAR-
END TRANSACTIONS DESIGNED AND PROPOSED BY ENRON.  ML & CO.
SETTLED THE MATTER WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE
ALLEGATIONS.

Allegations:

Current Status: Final

Resolution: Consent

Resolution Date: 03/17/2003

Other Sanctions:

Sanction Details: PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MERRILL LYNCH & CO.,
THE PARENT COMPANY OF MLPFS, CONSENTED, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, TO THE ENTRY OF AN INJUNCTION,
EFFECTIVE MARCH 19, 2003, ENJOINING IT FROM VIOLATING SECTIONS
10(B), 13(A), 13(B)(2) AND 13(B)(5) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 10B-
5, 12B-20, 13A-1, 13A-13 AND 13B2-1 THEREUNDER. ML & CO. ALSO AGREED
TO PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $37,500,000, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF
$5,000,000 AND A CIVIL PENALTY $37,500,000.

Monetary/Fine $80,000,000.00
Disgorgement/Restitution
Cease and Desist/Injunction

Sanctions Ordered or Relief
Granted:
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PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT, MERRILL LYNCH & CO.,
THE PARENT COMPANY OF MLPFS, CONSENTED, WITHOUT ADMITTING OR
DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, TO THE ENTRY OF AN INJUNCTION,
EFFECTIVE MARCH 19, 2003, ENJOINING IT FROM VIOLATING SECTIONS
10(B), 13(A), 13(B)(2) AND 13(B)(5) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 10B-
5, 12B-20, 13A-1, 13A-13 AND 13B2-1 THEREUNDER. ML & CO. ALSO AGREED
TO PAY DISGORGEMENT OF $37,500,000, PREJUDGMENT INTEREST OF
$5,000,000 AND A CIVIL PENALTY $37,500,000.

Firm Statement ML & CO., THE PARENT COMPANY OF MLPFS, CONSENTED TO AN
INJUNCTIVE ACTION INSTITUTED BY THE SEC.  IN ITS COMPLAINT, THE
SEC ALLEGED THAT THREE YEARS AGO, IN 1999, ML & CO. AIDED AND
ABETTED ENRON'S VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 10(B), 13(A), 13(B)(2) AND
13(B)(5) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULES 10B-5, 12B-20, 13A-1, 13A-13
AND 13B2-1 THEREUNDER, AS A RESULT OF ML & CO. ENGAGING IN
CERTAIN YEAR-END TRANSACTIONS DESIGNED AND PROPOSED BY
ENRON.  WITHOUT ADMITTING OR DENYING THE ALLEGATIONS, ML & CO.
CONSENTED TO THE ENTRY OF AN INJUNCTION ENJOINING IT FROM
VIOLATING THE ABOVE-REFERENECED PROVISIONS, AND AGREED TO PAY
DISGORGEMENT, PENALTIES AND INTEREST IN THE AMOUNT OF $80
MILLION.  IN ITS RELEASE ANNOUNCING THE SETTLEMENT, THE
COMMISSION ACKNOWLEDGED THAT IN AGREEING TO RESOVE THIS
MATTER ON THE TERMS DESCRIBED ABOVE, THE COMMISSION TOOK
INTO ACCOUNT CERTAIN AFFIRMATIVE CONDUCT BY ML & CO.
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End of Report

This page is intentionally left blank.

1939©2024 FINRA. All rights reserved.    Report about MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED

http://www.finra.org/brokercheck
http://www.finra.org/brokercheck_reports
http://www.finra.org

	Report Summary
	Firm Profile
	Firm History
	Firm Operations
	Disclosure Events
	Disclosure Information
	Regulatory - Final
	Disclosure #1
	Disclosure #2
	Disclosure #3
	Disclosure #4
	Disclosure #5
	Disclosure #6
	Disclosure #7
	Disclosure #8
	Disclosure #9
	Disclosure #10
	Disclosure #11
	Disclosure #12
	Disclosure #13
	Disclosure #14
	Disclosure #15
	Disclosure #16
	Disclosure #17
	Disclosure #18
	Disclosure #19
	Disclosure #20
	Disclosure #21
	Disclosure #22
	Disclosure #23
	Disclosure #24
	Disclosure #25
	Disclosure #26
	Disclosure #27
	Disclosure #28
	Disclosure #29
	Disclosure #30
	Disclosure #31
	Disclosure #32
	Disclosure #33
	Disclosure #34
	Disclosure #35
	Disclosure #36
	Disclosure #37
	Disclosure #38
	Disclosure #39
	Disclosure #40
	Disclosure #41
	Disclosure #42
	Disclosure #43
	Disclosure #44
	Disclosure #45
	Disclosure #46
	Disclosure #47
	Disclosure #48
	Disclosure #49
	Disclosure #50
	Disclosure #51
	Disclosure #52
	Disclosure #53
	Disclosure #54
	Disclosure #55
	Disclosure #56
	Disclosure #57
	Disclosure #58
	Disclosure #59
	Disclosure #60
	Disclosure #61
	Disclosure #62
	Disclosure #63
	Disclosure #64
	Disclosure #65
	Disclosure #66
	Disclosure #67
	Disclosure #68
	Disclosure #69
	Disclosure #70
	Disclosure #71
	Disclosure #72
	Disclosure #73
	Disclosure #74
	Disclosure #75
	Disclosure #76
	Disclosure #77
	Disclosure #78
	Disclosure #79
	Disclosure #80
	Disclosure #81
	Disclosure #82
	Disclosure #83
	Disclosure #84
	Disclosure #85
	Disclosure #86
	Disclosure #87
	Disclosure #88
	Disclosure #89
	Disclosure #90
	Disclosure #91
	Disclosure #92
	Disclosure #93
	Disclosure #94
	Disclosure #95
	Disclosure #96
	Disclosure #97
	Disclosure #98
	Disclosure #99
	Disclosure #100
	Disclosure #101
	Disclosure #102
	Disclosure #103
	Disclosure #104
	Disclosure #105
	Disclosure #106
	Disclosure #107
	Disclosure #108
	Disclosure #109
	Disclosure #110
	Disclosure #111
	Disclosure #112
	Disclosure #113
	Disclosure #114
	Disclosure #115
	Disclosure #116
	Disclosure #117
	Disclosure #118
	Disclosure #119
	Disclosure #120
	Disclosure #121
	Disclosure #122
	Disclosure #123
	Disclosure #124
	Disclosure #125
	Disclosure #126
	Disclosure #127
	Disclosure #128
	Disclosure #129
	Disclosure #130
	Disclosure #131
	Disclosure #132
	Disclosure #133
	Disclosure #134
	Disclosure #135
	Disclosure #136
	Disclosure #137
	Disclosure #138
	Disclosure #139
	Disclosure #140
	Disclosure #141
	Disclosure #142
	Disclosure #143
	Disclosure #144
	Disclosure #145
	Disclosure #146
	Disclosure #147
	Disclosure #148
	Disclosure #149
	Disclosure #150
	Disclosure #151
	Disclosure #152
	Disclosure #153
	Disclosure #154
	Disclosure #155
	Disclosure #156
	Disclosure #157
	Disclosure #158
	Disclosure #159
	Disclosure #160
	Disclosure #161
	Disclosure #162
	Disclosure #163
	Disclosure #164
	Disclosure #165
	Disclosure #166
	Disclosure #167
	Disclosure #168
	Disclosure #169
	Disclosure #170
	Disclosure #171
	Disclosure #172
	Disclosure #173
	Disclosure #174
	Disclosure #175
	Disclosure #176
	Disclosure #177
	Disclosure #178
	Disclosure #179
	Disclosure #180
	Disclosure #181
	Disclosure #182
	Disclosure #183
	Disclosure #184
	Disclosure #185
	Disclosure #186
	Disclosure #187
	Disclosure #188
	Disclosure #189
	Disclosure #190
	Disclosure #191
	Disclosure #192
	Disclosure #193
	Disclosure #194
	Disclosure #195
	Disclosure #196
	Disclosure #197
	Disclosure #198
	Disclosure #199
	Disclosure #200
	Disclosure #201
	Disclosure #202
	Disclosure #203
	Disclosure #204
	Disclosure #205
	Disclosure #206
	Disclosure #207
	Disclosure #208
	Disclosure #209
	Disclosure #210
	Disclosure #211
	Disclosure #212
	Disclosure #213
	Disclosure #214
	Disclosure #215
	Disclosure #216
	Disclosure #217
	Disclosure #218
	Disclosure #219
	Disclosure #220
	Disclosure #221
	Disclosure #222
	Disclosure #223
	Disclosure #224
	Disclosure #225
	Disclosure #226
	Disclosure #227
	Disclosure #228
	Disclosure #229
	Disclosure #230
	Disclosure #231
	Disclosure #232
	Disclosure #233
	Disclosure #234
	Disclosure #235
	Disclosure #236
	Disclosure #237
	Disclosure #238
	Disclosure #239
	Disclosure #240
	Disclosure #241
	Disclosure #242
	Disclosure #243
	Disclosure #244
	Disclosure #245
	Disclosure #246
	Disclosure #247
	Disclosure #248
	Disclosure #249
	Disclosure #250
	Disclosure #251
	Disclosure #252
	Disclosure #253
	Disclosure #254
	Disclosure #255
	Disclosure #256
	Disclosure #257
	Disclosure #258
	Disclosure #259
	Disclosure #260
	Disclosure #261
	Disclosure #262
	Disclosure #263
	Disclosure #264
	Disclosure #265
	Disclosure #266
	Disclosure #267
	Disclosure #268
	Disclosure #269
	Disclosure #270
	Disclosure #271
	Disclosure #272
	Disclosure #273
	Disclosure #274
	Disclosure #275
	Disclosure #276
	Disclosure #277
	Disclosure #278
	Disclosure #279
	Disclosure #280
	Disclosure #281
	Disclosure #282
	Disclosure #283
	Disclosure #284
	Disclosure #285
	Disclosure #286
	Disclosure #287
	Disclosure #288
	Disclosure #289
	Disclosure #290
	Disclosure #291
	Disclosure #292
	Disclosure #293
	Disclosure #294
	Disclosure #295
	Disclosure #296
	Disclosure #297
	Disclosure #298
	Disclosure #299
	Disclosure #300
	Disclosure #301
	Disclosure #302
	Disclosure #303
	Disclosure #304
	Disclosure #305
	Disclosure #306
	Disclosure #307
	Disclosure #308
	Disclosure #309
	Disclosure #310
	Disclosure #311
	Disclosure #312
	Disclosure #313
	Disclosure #314
	Disclosure #315
	Disclosure #316
	Disclosure #317
	Disclosure #318
	Disclosure #319
	Disclosure #320
	Disclosure #321
	Disclosure #322
	Disclosure #323
	Disclosure #324
	Disclosure #325
	Disclosure #326
	Disclosure #327
	Disclosure #328
	Disclosure #329
	Disclosure #330
	Disclosure #331
	Disclosure #332
	Disclosure #333
	Disclosure #334
	Disclosure #335
	Disclosure #336
	Disclosure #337
	Disclosure #338
	Disclosure #339
	Disclosure #340
	Disclosure #341
	Disclosure #342
	Disclosure #343
	Disclosure #344
	Disclosure #345
	Disclosure #346
	Disclosure #347
	Disclosure #348
	Disclosure #349
	Disclosure #350
	Disclosure #351
	Disclosure #352
	Disclosure #353
	Disclosure #354
	Disclosure #355
	Disclosure #356
	Disclosure #357
	Disclosure #358
	Disclosure #359
	Disclosure #360
	Disclosure #361
	Disclosure #362
	Disclosure #363
	Disclosure #364
	Disclosure #365
	Disclosure #366
	Disclosure #367
	Disclosure #368
	Disclosure #369
	Disclosure #370
	Disclosure #371
	Disclosure #372
	Disclosure #373
	Disclosure #374
	Disclosure #375
	Disclosure #376
	Disclosure #377
	Disclosure #378
	Disclosure #379
	Disclosure #380
	Disclosure #381
	Disclosure #382
	Disclosure #383
	Disclosure #384
	Disclosure #385
	Disclosure #386
	Disclosure #387
	Disclosure #388
	Disclosure #389
	Disclosure #390
	Disclosure #391
	Disclosure #392
	Disclosure #393
	Disclosure #394
	Disclosure #395
	Disclosure #396
	Disclosure #397
	Disclosure #398
	Disclosure #399
	Disclosure #400
	Disclosure #401
	Disclosure #402
	Disclosure #403
	Disclosure #404
	Disclosure #405
	Disclosure #406
	Disclosure #407
	Disclosure #408
	Disclosure #409
	Disclosure #410
	Disclosure #411
	Disclosure #412
	Disclosure #413
	Disclosure #414
	Disclosure #415
	Disclosure #416
	Disclosure #417
	Disclosure #418
	Disclosure #419
	Disclosure #420
	Disclosure #421
	Disclosure #422
	Disclosure #423
	Disclosure #424
	Disclosure #425
	Disclosure #426
	Disclosure #427
	Disclosure #428
	Disclosure #429
	Disclosure #430
	Disclosure #431
	Disclosure #432
	Disclosure #433
	Disclosure #434
	Disclosure #435
	Disclosure #436
	Disclosure #437
	Disclosure #438
	Disclosure #439
	Disclosure #440
	Disclosure #441
	Disclosure #442
	Disclosure #443
	Disclosure #444
	Disclosure #445
	Disclosure #446
	Disclosure #447
	Disclosure #448
	Disclosure #449
	Disclosure #450
	Disclosure #451
	Disclosure #452
	Disclosure #453
	Disclosure #454
	Disclosure #455
	Disclosure #456
	Disclosure #457
	Disclosure #458
	Disclosure #459
	Disclosure #460
	Disclosure #461
	Disclosure #462
	Disclosure #463
	Disclosure #464
	Disclosure #465
	Disclosure #466
	Disclosure #467
	Disclosure #468
	Disclosure #469
	Disclosure #470
	Disclosure #471
	Disclosure #472
	Disclosure #473
	Disclosure #474
	Disclosure #475
	Disclosure #476
	Disclosure #477
	Disclosure #478
	Disclosure #479
	Disclosure #480
	Disclosure #481
	Disclosure #482
	Disclosure #483
	Disclosure #484
	Disclosure #485
	Disclosure #486
	Disclosure #487
	Disclosure #488
	Disclosure #489
	Disclosure #490
	Disclosure #491
	Disclosure #492
	Disclosure #493
	Disclosure #494
	Disclosure #495
	Disclosure #496
	Disclosure #497
	Disclosure #498
	Disclosure #499
	Disclosure #500
	Disclosure #501
	Disclosure #502
	Disclosure #503
	Disclosure #504
	Disclosure #505
	Disclosure #506
	Disclosure #507
	Disclosure #508
	Disclosure #509
	Disclosure #510
	Disclosure #511
	Disclosure #512
	Disclosure #513
	Disclosure #514
	Disclosure #515
	Disclosure #516
	Disclosure #517
	Disclosure #518
	Disclosure #519
	Disclosure #520
	Disclosure #521
	Disclosure #522
	Disclosure #523
	Disclosure #524
	Disclosure #525
	Disclosure #526
	Disclosure #527
	Disclosure #528
	Disclosure #529
	Disclosure #530
	Disclosure #531
	Disclosure #532
	Disclosure #533
	Disclosure #534
	Disclosure #535
	Disclosure #536
	Disclosure #537
	Disclosure #538
	Disclosure #539
	Disclosure #540
	Disclosure #541
	Disclosure #542
	Disclosure #543
	Disclosure #544
	Disclosure #545
	Disclosure #546
	Disclosure #547
	Disclosure #548
	Disclosure #549
	Disclosure #550
	Disclosure #551
	Disclosure #552
	Disclosure #553
	Disclosure #554
	Disclosure #555
	Disclosure #556
	Disclosure #557
	Disclosure #558
	Disclosure #559
	Disclosure #560
	Disclosure #561
	Disclosure #562
	Disclosure #563
	Disclosure #564
	Disclosure #565
	Disclosure #566
	Disclosure #567
	Disclosure #568
	Disclosure #569
	Disclosure #570
	Disclosure #571
	Disclosure #572
	Disclosure #573
	Disclosure #574
	Disclosure #575
	Disclosure #576
	Disclosure #577
	Disclosure #578
	Disclosure #579
	Disclosure #580
	Disclosure #581
	Disclosure #582
	Disclosure #583
	Disclosure #584
	Disclosure #585
	Disclosure #586
	Disclosure #587
	Disclosure #588
	Disclosure #589
	Disclosure #590
	Disclosure #591
	Disclosure #592
	Disclosure #593
	Disclosure #594
	Disclosure #595

	Civil - Final
	Disclosure #1
	Disclosure #2
	Disclosure #3
	Disclosure #4
	Disclosure #5
	Disclosure #6
	Disclosure #7
	Disclosure #8
	Disclosure #9

	Civil - Pending
	Disclosure #1

	Arbitration Award - Award / Judgment
	Disclosure #1
	Disclosure #2
	Disclosure #3
	Disclosure #4
	Disclosure #5
	Disclosure #6
	Disclosure #7
	Disclosure #8
	Disclosure #9
	Disclosure #10
	Disclosure #11
	Disclosure #12
	Disclosure #13
	Disclosure #14
	Disclosure #15
	Disclosure #16
	Disclosure #17
	Disclosure #18
	Disclosure #19
	Disclosure #20
	Disclosure #21
	Disclosure #22
	Disclosure #23
	Disclosure #24
	Disclosure #25
	Disclosure #26
	Disclosure #27
	Disclosure #28
	Disclosure #29
	Disclosure #30
	Disclosure #31
	Disclosure #32
	Disclosure #33
	Disclosure #34
	Disclosure #35
	Disclosure #36
	Disclosure #37
	Disclosure #38
	Disclosure #39
	Disclosure #40
	Disclosure #41
	Disclosure #42
	Disclosure #43
	Disclosure #44
	Disclosure #45
	Disclosure #46
	Disclosure #47
	Disclosure #48
	Disclosure #49
	Disclosure #50
	Disclosure #51
	Disclosure #52
	Disclosure #53
	Disclosure #54
	Disclosure #55
	Disclosure #56
	Disclosure #57
	Disclosure #58
	Disclosure #59
	Disclosure #60
	Disclosure #61
	Disclosure #62
	Disclosure #63
	Disclosure #64
	Disclosure #65
	Disclosure #66
	Disclosure #67
	Disclosure #68
	Disclosure #69
	Disclosure #70
	Disclosure #71
	Disclosure #72
	Disclosure #73
	Disclosure #74
	Disclosure #75
	Disclosure #76
	Disclosure #77
	Disclosure #78
	Disclosure #79
	Disclosure #80
	Disclosure #81
	Disclosure #82
	Disclosure #83
	Disclosure #84
	Disclosure #85
	Disclosure #86
	Disclosure #87
	Disclosure #88
	Disclosure #89
	Disclosure #90
	Disclosure #91
	Disclosure #92
	Disclosure #93
	Disclosure #94
	Disclosure #95
	Disclosure #96
	Disclosure #97
	Disclosure #98
	Disclosure #99
	Disclosure #100
	Disclosure #101
	Disclosure #102
	Disclosure #103
	Disclosure #104
	Disclosure #105
	Disclosure #106
	Disclosure #107
	Disclosure #108
	Disclosure #109
	Disclosure #110
	Disclosure #111
	Disclosure #112
	Disclosure #113
	Disclosure #114
	Disclosure #115
	Disclosure #116
	Disclosure #117
	Disclosure #118
	Disclosure #119
	Disclosure #120
	Disclosure #121
	Disclosure #122
	Disclosure #123
	Disclosure #124
	Disclosure #125
	Disclosure #126
	Disclosure #127
	Disclosure #128
	Disclosure #129
	Disclosure #130
	Disclosure #131
	Disclosure #132
	Disclosure #133
	Disclosure #134
	Disclosure #135
	Disclosure #136
	Disclosure #137
	Disclosure #138
	Disclosure #139
	Disclosure #140
	Disclosure #141
	Disclosure #142
	Disclosure #143
	Disclosure #144
	Disclosure #145
	Disclosure #146
	Disclosure #147
	Disclosure #148
	Disclosure #149
	Disclosure #150
	Disclosure #151
	Disclosure #152
	Disclosure #153
	Disclosure #154
	Disclosure #155
	Disclosure #156
	Disclosure #157
	Disclosure #158
	Disclosure #159
	Disclosure #160
	Disclosure #161
	Disclosure #162
	Disclosure #163
	Disclosure #164
	Disclosure #165
	Disclosure #166
	Disclosure #167
	Disclosure #168
	Disclosure #169
	Disclosure #170
	Disclosure #171
	Disclosure #172
	Disclosure #173
	Disclosure #174
	Disclosure #175
	Disclosure #176
	Disclosure #177
	Disclosure #178
	Disclosure #179
	Disclosure #180
	Disclosure #181
	Disclosure #182
	Disclosure #183
	Disclosure #184
	Disclosure #185
	Disclosure #186
	Disclosure #187
	Disclosure #188
	Disclosure #189
	Disclosure #190
	Disclosure #191
	Disclosure #192
	Disclosure #193
	Disclosure #194
	Disclosure #195
	Disclosure #196
	Disclosure #197
	Disclosure #198
	Disclosure #199
	Disclosure #200
	Disclosure #201
	Disclosure #202
	Disclosure #203
	Disclosure #204
	Disclosure #205
	Disclosure #206
	Disclosure #207
	Disclosure #208
	Disclosure #209
	Disclosure #210
	Disclosure #211
	Disclosure #212
	Disclosure #213
	Disclosure #214
	Disclosure #215
	Disclosure #216
	Disclosure #217
	Disclosure #218
	Disclosure #219
	Disclosure #220
	Disclosure #221
	Disclosure #222
	Disclosure #223
	Disclosure #224
	Disclosure #225
	Disclosure #226
	Disclosure #227
	Disclosure #228
	Disclosure #229
	Disclosure #230
	Disclosure #231
	Disclosure #232
	Disclosure #233
	Disclosure #234
	Disclosure #235
	Disclosure #236
	Disclosure #237
	Disclosure #238
	Disclosure #239
	Disclosure #240
	Disclosure #241
	Disclosure #242
	Disclosure #243
	Disclosure #244
	Disclosure #245
	Disclosure #246
	Disclosure #247
	Disclosure #248
	Disclosure #249
	Disclosure #250
	Disclosure #251
	Disclosure #252
	Disclosure #253
	Disclosure #254
	Disclosure #255
	Disclosure #256
	Disclosure #257
	Disclosure #258
	Disclosure #259
	Disclosure #260
	Disclosure #261
	Disclosure #262
	Disclosure #263
	Disclosure #264
	Disclosure #265
	Disclosure #266
	Disclosure #267
	Disclosure #268
	Disclosure #269
	Disclosure #270
	Disclosure #271
	Disclosure #272
	Disclosure #273
	Disclosure #274
	Disclosure #275
	Disclosure #276
	Disclosure #277
	Disclosure #278
	Disclosure #279
	Disclosure #280
	Disclosure #281
	Disclosure #282
	Disclosure #283
	Disclosure #284
	Disclosure #285
	Disclosure #286
	Disclosure #287
	Disclosure #288
	Disclosure #289
	Disclosure #290
	Disclosure #291
	Disclosure #292
	Disclosure #293
	Disclosure #294
	Disclosure #295
	Disclosure #296
	Disclosure #297
	Disclosure #298
	Disclosure #299
	Disclosure #300
	Disclosure #301
	Disclosure #302
	Disclosure #303
	Disclosure #304
	Disclosure #305
	Disclosure #306
	Disclosure #307
	Disclosure #308
	Disclosure #309
	Disclosure #310
	Disclosure #311
	Disclosure #312
	Disclosure #313
	Disclosure #314
	Disclosure #315
	Disclosure #316
	Disclosure #317
	Disclosure #318
	Disclosure #319
	Disclosure #320
	Disclosure #321
	Disclosure #322
	Disclosure #323
	Disclosure #324
	Disclosure #325
	Disclosure #326
	Disclosure #327
	Disclosure #328
	Disclosure #329
	Disclosure #330
	Disclosure #331
	Disclosure #332
	Disclosure #333
	Disclosure #334
	Disclosure #335
	Disclosure #336
	Disclosure #337
	Disclosure #338
	Disclosure #339
	Disclosure #340
	Disclosure #341
	Disclosure #342
	Disclosure #343
	Disclosure #344
	Disclosure #345
	Disclosure #346
	Disclosure #347
	Disclosure #348
	Disclosure #349
	Disclosure #350
	Disclosure #351
	Disclosure #352
	Disclosure #353
	Disclosure #354
	Disclosure #355
	Disclosure #356
	Disclosure #357
	Disclosure #358
	Disclosure #359
	Disclosure #360
	Disclosure #361
	Disclosure #362
	Disclosure #363
	Disclosure #364
	Disclosure #365
	Disclosure #366
	Disclosure #367
	Disclosure #368
	Disclosure #369
	Disclosure #370
	Disclosure #371
	Disclosure #372
	Disclosure #373
	Disclosure #374
	Disclosure #375
	Disclosure #376
	Disclosure #377
	Disclosure #378
	Disclosure #379
	Disclosure #380
	Disclosure #381
	Disclosure #382
	Disclosure #383
	Disclosure #384
	Disclosure #385
	Disclosure #386
	Disclosure #387
	Disclosure #388
	Disclosure #389
	Disclosure #390
	Disclosure #391
	Disclosure #392
	Disclosure #393
	Disclosure #394
	Disclosure #395
	Disclosure #396
	Disclosure #397
	Disclosure #398
	Disclosure #399
	Disclosure #400
	Disclosure #401
	Disclosure #402
	Disclosure #403
	Disclosure #404
	Disclosure #405
	Disclosure #406
	Disclosure #407
	Disclosure #408
	Disclosure #409
	Disclosure #410
	Disclosure #411
	Disclosure #412
	Disclosure #413
	Disclosure #414
	Disclosure #415
	Disclosure #416
	Disclosure #417
	Disclosure #418
	Disclosure #419
	Disclosure #420
	Disclosure #421
	Disclosure #422
	Disclosure #423
	Disclosure #424
	Disclosure #425
	Disclosure #426
	Disclosure #427
	Disclosure #428
	Disclosure #429
	Disclosure #430
	Disclosure #431
	Disclosure #432
	Disclosure #433
	Disclosure #434
	Disclosure #435
	Disclosure #436
	Disclosure #437
	Disclosure #438
	Disclosure #439
	Disclosure #440
	Disclosure #441
	Disclosure #442
	Disclosure #443
	Disclosure #444
	Disclosure #445
	Disclosure #446
	Disclosure #447
	Disclosure #448
	Disclosure #449
	Disclosure #450
	Disclosure #451
	Disclosure #452
	Disclosure #453
	Disclosure #454
	Disclosure #455
	Disclosure #456
	Disclosure #457
	Disclosure #458
	Disclosure #459
	Disclosure #460
	Disclosure #461
	Disclosure #462
	Disclosure #463
	Disclosure #464
	Disclosure #465
	Disclosure #466
	Disclosure #467
	Disclosure #468
	Disclosure #469
	Disclosure #470
	Disclosure #471
	Disclosure #472
	Disclosure #473
	Disclosure #474
	Disclosure #475
	Disclosure #476
	Disclosure #477
	Disclosure #478
	Disclosure #479
	Disclosure #480
	Disclosure #481
	Disclosure #482
	Disclosure #483
	Disclosure #484
	Disclosure #485
	Disclosure #486
	Disclosure #487
	Disclosure #488
	Disclosure #489
	Disclosure #490
	Disclosure #491
	Disclosure #492
	Disclosure #493
	Disclosure #494
	Disclosure #495
	Disclosure #496
	Disclosure #497
	Disclosure #498
	Disclosure #499
	Disclosure #500
	Disclosure #501
	Disclosure #502
	Disclosure #503
	Disclosure #504
	Disclosure #505
	Disclosure #506
	Disclosure #507
	Disclosure #508
	Disclosure #509
	Disclosure #510
	Disclosure #511
	Disclosure #512
	Disclosure #513
	Disclosure #514
	Disclosure #515
	Disclosure #516
	Disclosure #517
	Disclosure #518
	Disclosure #519
	Disclosure #520
	Disclosure #521
	Disclosure #522
	Disclosure #523
	Disclosure #524
	Disclosure #525
	Disclosure #526
	Disclosure #527
	Disclosure #528
	Disclosure #529
	Disclosure #530
	Disclosure #531
	Disclosure #532
	Disclosure #533
	Disclosure #534
	Disclosure #535
	Disclosure #536
	Disclosure #537
	Disclosure #538
	Disclosure #539
	Disclosure #540
	Disclosure #541
	Disclosure #542
	Disclosure #543
	Disclosure #544
	Disclosure #545
	Disclosure #546
	Disclosure #547
	Disclosure #548
	Disclosure #549
	Disclosure #550
	Disclosure #551
	Disclosure #552
	Disclosure #553
	Disclosure #554
	Disclosure #555
	Disclosure #556
	Disclosure #557
	Disclosure #558
	Disclosure #559
	Disclosure #560
	Disclosure #561
	Disclosure #562
	Disclosure #563
	Disclosure #564
	Disclosure #565
	Disclosure #566
	Disclosure #567
	Disclosure #568
	Disclosure #569
	Disclosure #570
	Disclosure #571
	Disclosure #572
	Disclosure #573
	Disclosure #574
	Disclosure #575
	Disclosure #576
	Disclosure #577
	Disclosure #578
	Disclosure #579
	Disclosure #580
	Disclosure #581
	Disclosure #582
	Disclosure #583
	Disclosure #584
	Disclosure #585
	Disclosure #586
	Disclosure #587
	Disclosure #588
	Disclosure #589
	Disclosure #590
	Disclosure #591
	Disclosure #592
	Disclosure #593
	Disclosure #594
	Disclosure #595
	Disclosure #596
	Disclosure #597
	Disclosure #598
	Disclosure #599
	Disclosure #600
	Disclosure #601
	Disclosure #602
	Disclosure #603
	Disclosure #604
	Disclosure #605
	Disclosure #606
	Disclosure #607
	Disclosure #608
	Disclosure #609
	Disclosure #610
	Disclosure #611
	Disclosure #612
	Disclosure #613
	Disclosure #614
	Disclosure #615
	Disclosure #616
	Disclosure #617
	Disclosure #618
	Disclosure #619
	Disclosure #620
	Disclosure #621
	Disclosure #622
	Disclosure #623
	Disclosure #624
	Disclosure #625
	Disclosure #626
	Disclosure #627
	Disclosure #628
	Disclosure #629
	Disclosure #630
	Disclosure #631
	Disclosure #632
	Disclosure #633
	Disclosure #634
	Disclosure #635
	Disclosure #636
	Disclosure #637
	Disclosure #638
	Disclosure #639
	Disclosure #640
	Disclosure #641
	Disclosure #642
	Disclosure #643
	Disclosure #644
	Disclosure #645
	Disclosure #646
	Disclosure #647
	Disclosure #648
	Disclosure #649
	Disclosure #650
	Disclosure #651
	Disclosure #652
	Disclosure #653
	Disclosure #654
	Disclosure #655
	Disclosure #656
	Disclosure #657
	Disclosure #658
	Disclosure #659
	Disclosure #660
	Disclosure #661
	Disclosure #662
	Disclosure #663
	Disclosure #664
	Disclosure #665
	Disclosure #666
	Disclosure #667
	Disclosure #668
	Disclosure #669
	Disclosure #670
	Disclosure #671
	Disclosure #672
	Disclosure #673
	Disclosure #674
	Disclosure #675
	Disclosure #676
	Disclosure #677
	Disclosure #678
	Disclosure #679
	Disclosure #680
	Disclosure #681
	Disclosure #682
	Disclosure #683
	Disclosure #684
	Disclosure #685
	Disclosure #686
	Disclosure #687
	Disclosure #688
	Disclosure #689
	Disclosure #690
	Disclosure #691
	Disclosure #692
	Disclosure #693
	Disclosure #694
	Disclosure #695
	Disclosure #696
	Disclosure #697
	Disclosure #698
	Disclosure #699
	Disclosure #700
	Disclosure #701
	Disclosure #702
	Disclosure #703
	Disclosure #704
	Disclosure #705
	Disclosure #706
	Disclosure #707
	Disclosure #708
	Disclosure #709
	Disclosure #710
	Disclosure #711
	Disclosure #712
	Disclosure #713
	Disclosure #714
	Disclosure #715
	Disclosure #716
	Disclosure #717
	Disclosure #718
	Disclosure #719
	Disclosure #720
	Disclosure #721
	Disclosure #722
	Disclosure #723
	Disclosure #724
	Disclosure #725
	Disclosure #726
	Disclosure #727
	Disclosure #728
	Disclosure #729
	Disclosure #730
	Disclosure #731
	Disclosure #732
	Disclosure #733
	Disclosure #734
	Disclosure #735
	Disclosure #736
	Disclosure #737
	Disclosure #738
	Disclosure #739
	Disclosure #740
	Disclosure #741
	Disclosure #742
	Disclosure #743
	Disclosure #744
	Disclosure #745
	Disclosure #746
	Disclosure #747
	Disclosure #748
	Disclosure #749
	Disclosure #750
	Disclosure #751
	Disclosure #752
	Disclosure #753
	Disclosure #754
	Disclosure #755
	Disclosure #756
	Disclosure #757
	Disclosure #758
	Disclosure #759
	Disclosure #760
	Disclosure #761
	Disclosure #762
	Disclosure #763
	Disclosure #764
	Disclosure #765
	Disclosure #766
	Disclosure #767
	Disclosure #768
	Disclosure #769
	Disclosure #770
	Disclosure #771
	Disclosure #772
	Disclosure #773
	Disclosure #774
	Disclosure #775
	Disclosure #776
	Disclosure #777
	Disclosure #778
	Disclosure #779
	Disclosure #780
	Disclosure #781
	Disclosure #782
	Disclosure #783
	Disclosure #784
	Disclosure #785
	Disclosure #786
	Disclosure #787
	Disclosure #788
	Disclosure #789
	Disclosure #790
	Disclosure #791
	Disclosure #792
	Disclosure #793
	Disclosure #794
	Disclosure #795
	Disclosure #796
	Disclosure #797
	Disclosure #798
	Disclosure #799
	Disclosure #800
	Disclosure #801
	Disclosure #802
	Disclosure #803
	Disclosure #804
	Disclosure #805
	Disclosure #806
	Disclosure #807
	Disclosure #808
	Disclosure #809
	Disclosure #810
	Disclosure #811
	Disclosure #812
	Disclosure #813
	Disclosure #814
	Disclosure #815
	Disclosure #816
	Disclosure #817
	Disclosure #818
	Disclosure #819
	Disclosure #820
	Disclosure #821
	Disclosure #822
	Disclosure #823
	Disclosure #824
	Disclosure #825
	Disclosure #826
	Disclosure #827
	Disclosure #828
	Disclosure #829
	Disclosure #830
	Disclosure #831
	Disclosure #832
	Disclosure #833
	Disclosure #834
	Disclosure #835
	Disclosure #836
	Disclosure #837
	Disclosure #838
	Disclosure #839
	Disclosure #840
	Disclosure #841
	Disclosure #842
	Disclosure #843
	Disclosure #844
	Disclosure #845
	Disclosure #846
	Disclosure #847
	Disclosure #848
	Disclosure #849
	Disclosure #850
	Disclosure #851
	Disclosure #852
	Disclosure #853
	Disclosure #854
	Disclosure #855
	Disclosure #856
	Disclosure #857
	Disclosure #858
	Disclosure #859
	Disclosure #860
	Disclosure #861
	Disclosure #862
	Disclosure #863
	Disclosure #864
	Disclosure #865
	Disclosure #866
	Disclosure #867
	Disclosure #868
	Disclosure #869
	Disclosure #870
	Disclosure #871
	Disclosure #872
	Disclosure #873
	Disclosure #874

	Criminal - Pending Charge
	Disclosure #1


	Non-Registered Control Affiliate Disclosure Events

